

ΛΛΛΛΛΛΛΛΛΛΛΛΛΛΛΛΛΛΛ

Bulugh Al-Maram

Attainment of the Objective according to Evidence of the Ordinances

Compiled by:

العلامة المافظ ابن حجر العسقلاني رحمة الله Al-Hafiz Ibn Hajar Al-Asqalani

With Brief Notes from the Book Subul-us-Salam written by: Muhammad bin Ismail As-Sanani



DARUSSALAM

A MULTILINGUAL INTL. PUBLISHING HOUSE Riyadh, Houston, New York, London, Lahora

بئلوغ المسرّام من أدلة الأحكام

Bulugh Al-Maram

Attainment of the Objective according to Evidence of the Ordinances

Compiled by:
Al-Hafiz Ibn Hajar Al-Asqalani
With Brief Notes from the Book
Subul-us-Salam

Written by:
Muhammad bin Ismail As-Sanani

Published by:

DARUSSALAM

Publishers & Distributors Riyadh, Saudi Arabia



No part of this book may be reproduced or utilized in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying and recording or by information storage and retrieval system, without the permission of the publisher.

Second Edition: September 2002

Supervised by: ABDUL MALIK MUIAHID

Headquarters:

P.O. Box: 22743, Riyadh 11416, KSA Tel: 00966-1-4033962/4043432

Fax: 00966-1-4021659

E-mail: darussalam@naseei.com.sa Website: http://www.dar-us-salam.com Bookshop: Tel: 00966-1-4614483 Fax: 00966-1-4644945

Branches & Agents:

K.S.A.

- Jeddah: Tel & Fax: 00966-2-6807752
- Al-Khobar: Tel: 00966-3-8692900 Fax: 00966-3-8691551

U.A.F.

Tel: 00971-6-5632623 Fax: 5632624

PAKISTAN

- 50-I ower Mall, I ahore Tel: 0092-42-7240024 Fax: 7354072
- Rahman Market, Ghazni Street Urdu Bazar, Lahore Tel: 0092-42-7120054 Fax: 7320703 U.S.A.
- Houston: P.O. Box: 79194 Tx 77279 Tel: 001-713-722 0419 Fax: 001-713-722 0431 E-mail: sales @ dar-us-salam.com Website: http://www.dar-us-salam.com
- New York: 572 Atlantic Ave. Brooklyn New York-11217, Tel: 001-718-625 5925

U.K.

 London: Darussalam International Publications Ltd., 226 High Street, Walthamstow, London E17 7JH U.K. Tel: 0044-208 520 2666 Mobile: 0044-794 730 6706 Fax: 0044-208 521 7645

 Darussalam International Publications Limited Regent Park Mosque, 146 Park Road, London NW8 7RG. Tel: 0044-207 724 3363

FRANCE

 Editions & Libairie Essalam 135, Bd de Ménilmontant 75011 Paris (France) Tél: 01 43 381956/4483 - Fax 01 43 574431 Website: http://www.Essalam.com

AUSTRALIA

 Lakemba NSW: ICIS: Ground Floor 165-171, Haldon St. Tel: (61-2) 9758 4040 Fax: 9758 4030

E-mail: essalam@essalam.com

MALAYSIA

 E&D BOOKS SDN. BHD. 321 B 3rd Floor, Suria Klcc, Kuala Lumpur City Center 50088 Tel: 00603-216 63433 Fax: 459 72032

SINGAPORE

 Muslim Converts Association of Singapore Singapore-424484 Tel: 0065-440 6924, 348 8344 Fax: 440 6724

SRILANKA

 Darul Kitab 6, Nimal Road, Colombo-4 Tel: 0094-1-589 038 Fax: 0094-74 722433

 Islam Presentation Committee Enlightenment Book Shop, P.O. Box: 1613 Safat 13017 Kuwait Tel: 00965-244 7526 Fax: 240 0057

INDIA

 Islamic Dimensions 56/58 Tandel Street (North) Dongri, Mumbai 4000 009, India Tel: 0091-22-3736875, Fax: Fax: 3730689 E-mail: sales@IRF.net

SOUTH AFRICA

 Islamic Da'wah Movement (IDM) 48009 Qualbert 4078 Durban, South Africa Tel: 0027-31-304-6883, Fax: 0027-31-305-1292 E-mail: idm@ion.co.za

CONTENTS

The Author's Biography	7
Introduction	9
A Note from the Publisher	10
Brief biographies of the eminent $Im\ddot{a}ms$ of $Had\ddot{a}th$ whose names are mentioned in this book	11
1. The Book of Purification	19
Chapterl. Water	19
Chapter 2. Utensils	23
Chapter 3. The nature and cleansing of An-Najasah (impurities)	25
Chapter 4. Wŭdu' (ablution)	28
Chapter 5. Mash (wiping) over Khuffain (two leather socks)	35
Chapter 6. The nullification of Wudu' (ablution)	39
Chapter 7. Manners related to answering the call of nature	45
Chapter 8. Ghusl (bath) and the ruling of the sexually impure person	50
Chapter 9. Tayammum (purification with soil)	55
Chapter 10. Menstruation	59
2. The Book of Prayer	64
Chapter 1. The Times of Salāt (prayers)	64
Chapter 2. Al-Adhān (the call to prayer)	70
Chapter 3. The conditions of Salāt (prayer)	77
Chapter 4. Sutra (screen) in prayer	83
Chapter 5. Khushū'(humility) in Salāt (prayer)	86
Chapter 6. Mosques	89
Chapter 7. The description of the Salāt (prayer)	93
Chapter 8. Sujud As-Sahw and other matters	116
Chapter 9. Voluntary Prayer	124
Chapter 10. Prayer in congregation and the imamate	134
Chapter 11. The prayer of a traveler and a sick person	143
Chapter 12. Al-Jumu'a Prayer	148
Chapter 13. Salāt-ul-Khauf (prayer in time of fear)	156
Chapter 14. The prayers of the two 'Eid (festivals)	160
Chapter 15. Salāt Al-Kusuf (prayer at an eclipse)	164
Chapter 16. Salāt-ul-Istisqa (prayer for rain)	160
Chapter 17. The manners of clothing	171

C	4	4
no.	ren	ITS.

3. The Book of Funerals	174
4. The Book of Zakat	191
Chapter 1. Sadaqat-ul-Fitr	200
Chapter 2. Voluntary alms	201
Chapter 3. The division of Sadaqāt	205
5. The Book of Siyām (fasting)	209
Chapter 1. The voluntary fasting and the days fasting has been prohibited	217
Chapter 2. Al-I'tikāf and offering of prayers during the nights of Ramadān	221
6. The Book of <i>Hajj</i> (pilgrimage)	225
Chapter 1. Hajj – Its merit and the definition of those upon whom it was prescribed	225
Chapter 2. Miqāt	229
Chapter 3. The manners and nature of the <i>Ibrām</i>	231
Chapter 4. The <i>Ibrām</i> and its related activities	231
Chapter 5. The nature of the Hajj (pilgrimage) and entering Makkah	236
Chapter 6. Missing the Hajj (pilgrimage) and being detained	250
7. The Book of Business Transactions	252
Chapter 1. Conditions of business transactions and those which are forbidden	252
Chapter 2. Conditional bargains	266
Chapter 3. Ar-Riba (interest)	268
Chapter 4. Permission regarding the sale of Al -' $Ar\bar{a}ya$ and the sale of trees and fruits	273
Chapter 5. Payment in advance, a loan and a pledge	275
Chapter 6. Bankruptcy and seizure	277
Chapter 7. Reconciliation	281
Chapter 8. The transfer of a debt and surety	283
Chapter 9. Partnership and agency	284
Chapter 10. Al- Iqrār (the confession)	286
Chapter 11. Al-'Aariya (the loan)	286
Chapter 12. Al-Ghasb (the wrongful appropriation)	288
Chapter 13. Asb-Shufa (the option to buy neighbouring property)	290
Chapter 14. Al-Qirād	292
Chapter 15. Al-Musaqāt and Al-Ijara (tending palm-trees and the wages)	293
Chapter 16. The cultivation of barren lands	296
Chapter 17. Al-Waaf (the endowment)	298
Chapter 18. $Hiba$, 'Umra and $Ruqba$ (gifts, life-tenancy, and giving property which goes to the survivor)	300

Contents

Chapter 3. Al-'Aqiqa (Birth Rite Ceremony)	436
13. The Book of Oaths and Vows	438
14. The Book of Judgement	445
Chapter 1. The testimonies	449
Chapter 2. Da'wa and Baiyināt (claims and evidences)	451
15. The Book of Emancipation	455
Chapter 1. Matters pertaining to Mudabbar, Mukātab and Umm-ul-Walad	458
16. The Comprehensive Book	461
Chapter 1. Good manners	461
Chapter 2. Kindness, and joining the ties of relationship	465
Chapter 3. Ascetism and piety	468
Chapter 4. Warning against evil conduct	472
Chapter 5. Exhortation to good character	480
Chapter 6. Remembrance of Allah and supplications	485
Glossary	495

THE AUTHOR'S BIOGRAPHY

The full name of the famous Imam Al-Hāfiz Ibn Hajar Al-'Asqalāni is Abul-Fadl, Shihābuddin Ahmad bin 'Ali bin Muhammad bin Muhammad bin Ahmad Al-Kināni Ash-Shāfi'i. Ibn Hajar Al-'Asqalāni was born on the 10th of Sha'bān, 773 H. in Egypt, where he grew up also. He memorized the Qur'ān at the age of nine years. He also memorized Al-Hāwi, the book Mukhtasar of Ibn Al-Hajib, and other books. He traveled to Makkah and listened to the teaching of its 'Ulama. He admired the knowledge of Hadith and began to acquire it from the great Shaykhs in Hijāz, Ash-Shām, Egypt and stayed with Az-Zain Al-'Irāqi for ten years. He also studied under Al-Balqini, Ibn Al-Mulaqqin and others. Many eminent Shaykhs of his time approved his knowledge and allowed him to give religious verdicts and teach.

He had learned the two sources (Qur'an and *Hadith*) from Al-'Izz bin Jama'a, the language from Al-Majd Al-Fairuzabādi, the Arabic from Al-'Amāri, literature and poetry from Al-Badr Al-Mushtaki and writing from a group of professors. He also recited some parts of the Qur'an in all the seven styles of recitation before At-Tanukhi.

He occupied himself with the promotion of the knowledge of *Hadith*, so he dwelt in its study, teaching, writing and giving *Fatawa* (religious verdicts). He also taught *Tafsīr* (interpretation of the Qur'ān), *Hadith*, *Fiqb* (jurisprudence) and preached at many places like Al-Azhar, Jāmi' 'Amr and others. He also dictated to his students from his memory. Many highly educated people and distinguished scholars traveled to him to acquire from his vast knowledge.

Ibn Hajar Al-'Asqalāni authored more than 150 books – most of them being in the studies of *Haditb* – which flourished during his lifetime, and the kings and princes exchanged them as gifts. His book most worthy of mentioning is *Fath Al-Bāri* – the commentary of *Sabib Al-Bukbāri*, which he started in the beginning of 817 H., after finishing its introductory part in 813 H., and completed the whole commentary in Rajab 842 H. After the completion of the commentary, he had a gathering attended by the Muslim dignitaries and spent 500 Dinar on it. Then some kings requested it and paid 300 Dinar.

Ibn Hajar became the *Qādi* of Egypt, and then Ash-Shām was also added to his jurisdiction which he held for more than twenty-one years. He was against holding the office of the *Qādi* at first, until the Sultan assigned to him a special case. Then, he accepted to represent Al-Balqini, when he begged him very much to preside for him as *Qādi*. Then, he presided for others until he was assigned to hold the office of Chief *Qādi* on 12 Muharram, 827 H. He then left, but had to take the office of the Chief *Qādi* seven times until he left

it finally in 852 H. which is the year in which he died.

As concerns his personality, Al-'Asqalāni was humble, tolerant, patient and enduring. He was also described as being steadfast, prudent, ascetic, selfless, generous, charitable and a person praying and fasting voluntarily. On the other hand, he was said to be used to making light jokes and telling of humorous anecdotes. He also had good manners in dealing with all the Imams, of the earlier generations and later generations, and with all those who sat with him, whether old or young.

Ibn Hajar died after the ${\it 'Isb\bar a}$ prayer on Saturday, 8th Dhul-Hijja, 852 H. May Allah reward him generously.

INTRODUCTION

Praise is to Allah for his apparent and concealed bounties at all times, and peace and blessings be upon His Prophet and Messenger Muhammad, his family and companions who strove steadfastly in the path of serving Allah's religion, and their followers who inherited the knowledge – for the 'Ulama are the heirs of the Prophets – and may they be honored, whether they be Wārith (those who inherit) or Mawrūth (those who are inherited from).

To proceed; this is a concise book comprising the *Hadith* evidence sources of the *Shariah* Rulings, which I have compiled meticulously, so that the one who memorizes it excels among his peers, it may assist the beginner student and the learned one seeking more knowledge may find it indispensable.

I have indicated at the end of every *Haditb* the Imām who collected it, in order to be honest to the (Muslim) *Ummab*. Therefore, *As-Sab'a* (the Seven) stands for Ahmad, Al-Bukhāri, Muslim, Abu Dā'ud, An-Nasā'i, At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Mājah. *As-Sitta* (the Six)^[1] stands for the rest excluding Ahmad. *Al-Khamsa* (the Five)^[2] stands for the rest except Al-Bukhāri and Muslim, or I may say *Al-Arba'a* (the Four)^[3] and Ahmad. I mean by *Al-Arba'a* (the Four) all except the first three (i.e. Ahmad, Al-Bukhāri and Muslim), and by *Atb-Thalātha* (the Three)^[4] I mean all except the first three and the last one. I mean by *Al-Muttafaq 'alaib* (the Agreed upon)^[5] Al-Bukhāri and Muslim, and I might not mention with them anyone else; and whatever is besides these (seven collectors) is clear [i.e. clearly mentioned by name].

I have named it (this book) Bulūgh Al-Marām min Adillat Al-Ahkām (Attainment of the Objective according to Evidence of the Ordinances); and I pray to Allah not to render, what we have learned, a calamity against us; but may He guide us to act according to what pleases Him – the Glorified and Exalted One.

^[1] By Six he means: Al-Bukhāri, Muslim, Abu Dā'ud, An-Nasā'i, At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Mājah.

^[2] By Five he means: Ahmad, Abu Dā'ud, An-Nasā'i, At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Mājah.

^[3] By Four he means: Abu Dā'ud, An-Nasā'i, At-Tirmidhi, and Ibn Mājah.

 ^[4] By Three he means: Abu Dā'ud, An-Nasā'i and At-Tirmidhi.
 [5] By 'the Agreed upon' he means: Abadith accepted and agreed to by both Imam Bukhāri and Imam Muslim.

The Most reliable *Hadith* is that one which has been narrated by Bukhāri and Muslim. Secondly is the *Hadith* which has been narrated only by Bukhāri. Third in reliability is that which has been narrated by Muslim alone. *Abadith* narrated by An-Nasā'i, At-Tirmidhi, Abu Dā'ud, Ibn Mājah and Muwatta' of Imām Mālik are graded thereafter in the line of reliability, and then comes the place of *Abadith* mentioned in other books. This established order of reliability should be followed where there is a contention.

A NOTE FROM THE PUBLISHER

In line with our main object of propagating the pure teachings of Qur'ān and Sunnah, we are presenting the English translation of the book Bulugh Al-Marām based upon the Abadith of our Prophet \$\frac{1}{28}\$. There are many authentic books of Abadith, in all of these collections, Bulugh Al-Marām holds a distinction in the respect that it is based on such Abadith of the Prophet \$\frac{1}{28}\$ which have been the sources of Islamic Jurisprudence. Allama Hafiz Ibn Hajar Asqalāni has also recorded the true significance of almost each Hadīth, thus making it more valuable and useful in many respects. He has also mentioned the origins of the Abadith and made a comparison of the versions in case the sources are more than one. One more distinctive feature, along with others, is that the versions have also been shortened to present just the main purpose of the Hadīth according to its classification under the chapter. Because of these preferential qualities, Bulugh Al-Marām has been accepted widely and is among the most sought-after books of Abadīth.

We hope that like its other translations, this English translation will also acclaim popularity and people will get benefited from it.

We want to point out that the publishing of Islamic books in non-Arabic language is not an easy task as it needs a colossal work and a great deal so that it can be saved from lingual, creedal and methodical errors.

All praise is due to Allah that all of us in Darussalam have great enthusiasm regarding the propagation of the teachings of Qur'ān and Sunnab. The members of Darussalam put their each and every effort and worked very hard all year round to present this book in such a good form. I am thankful to Allah that the task has been completed in the desired way with His help only.

My gratitudes and thanks are for the members of the team who provided their great efforts and fulfilled their tasks assigned to them in computerization, editing, compilation and correction of manuscripts:

I ask Allah $j_{i,j,j}$ to accept this humble task from us, which we have done purely for His pleasure and put it in the balances of all those who participated in this presentation.

Finally, we should admit that being a human task, it may be that any mistake in composing or translation has been overlooked so if any mistake is observed by any reader, it should be sent to us for correction in the next edition. We will be thankful for any such correction indicated.

May peace and blessings of Allah be upon our Prophet Muhammad, his family, Companions and all who follow him.

Abdul Malik Mujahid General Manager Darussalam Publications, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia

BRIEF BIOGRAPHIES OF THE EMINENT *IMAMS*OF *HADITH* WHOSE NAMES ARE MENTIONED IN THIS BOOK THE SEVEN GREAT *IMAMS* OF *HADITH*

1. AHMAD (Ibn Hanbal):

He is Abu 'Abdullah, Ahmad bin Muhammad bin Hanbal Ash-Shaibāni, known by the name Ibn Hanbal. He was a celebrated theologian, jurist and a *Haditb* scholar. He is also one of the four *Fiqb Imāms* and the founder of what later came to be known as *Madbbab Al-Hanbaliya* (The Hanbal's juristic school).

Ahmad was born at Baghdad in Rabi'-ul-Awwal, 164 H. He studied the *Hadith* and *Fiqh* together with other Islamic disciplines in Baghdad, then traveled to Ash-Shām and Hijāz for further studies. He was persecuted during the rule of Al-Mā'mūn bin Hārun Ar-Rashid for refusing to acknowledge the *Bid'a* of claiming 'the creation of the Qur'ān' introduced by the *Mu'tazila*. He, however, stood firm against all the trials and saved the *Sunnab* from the innovation of the wretched *Mu'tazila* thoughts. He was the mostly persecuted and most firm amongst all the *Imāms*. He is most famous for collecting the *Abaditb* of the Prophet \$\frac{18}{26}\$ compiled in the *Musnad Abmad bin Hanbal*, which contains 28 to 29 thousand *Abaditb*. It was said that Ibn Hanbal memorized one million *Abaditb*.

Ibn Hanbal died in Baghdad on Friday, 12 Rabi'-ul-Awwal 241 H.

2. AL-BUKHARI, Muhammad bin Isma'il:

He is the *Amir-ul-Mu'minīn* in the knowledge of *Haditb*, and his full name is Abu 'Abdullah, Muhammad bin Ismā'il bin Ibrāhim bin Al-Mughira bin Bardizbah Al-Ju'fi Al-Bukhāri. He was born in Shawwāl 194 H. in Bukhāra in what is now Uzbekistan. Al-Bukhāri studied *Abaditb* at an early age and traveled widely around the Muslim world collecting *Abaditb* and compiled the most authentic ones in his book *Al-Jāmi' As-Sabib*, which later became known as *Sabib Al-Bukbāri* and contains 2602 *Abaditb* which he selected from the thousands of *Abaditb* that he had memorized

Al-Bukhāri studied under many famous *Hadith Imams* like 'Ali bin Al-Madini and Yahya bin Ma'in. He died in Samarqand, the present day capital of Uzbekistan^[1], the night of 'Eid-ul-Fitr, 256 H. Al-Bukhāri was unique in the science of the methodology of *Hadith* and his book Al-Jāmi' As-Sabib is considered to be the most authentic book after the Qur'an.

3. MUSLIM bin Hajjaj:

Muslim's full name is Muslim bin Al-Hajjāj Al-Qushairi An-Nishapuri. He was born in 204 H., in the city of Nishapur near the city of Mashhad in present Iran. Muslim is considered second only to Al-Bukhāri in the science of the methodology of *Haditb*. He started the study of *Haditb* at an early age and

^[1] Nowadays the capital is Tashkent.

traveled to 'Iraq, Hijāz, Ash-Shām and Egypt and studied under the scholars of *Hadith* at that time like Al-Bukhāri, Ahmad bin Hanbal and Ibn Abu Shaiba. He also taught the famous *Hadith* scholars like At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Abu Hātim.

Muslim compiled the *Hadith* book *Al-Musnad As-Sabib*, which became known as *Sabib Muslim*. This book, which is considered by the Muslim '*Ulama* as the second most authentic *Hadith* book after *Al-Bukhāri*, contains 9,200 *Abadith*. Imam Muslim died at his birthplace in Rajab 261 H.

4. ABU DA'UD, Sulaiman bin Al-Ash'ath:

Abu Dā'ud, Sulaimān bin Al-Ash'ath bin Ishāq Al-Azdi As-Sijistāni, who was one of the eminent *Imāms* of *Hadith*, was born in 202 H. He studied *Abadith* under Imām Ahmad bin Hanbal along with Al-Būkhari and taught many of the later scholars of *Hadith*, like At-Tirmidhi and An-Nasā'i.

Though Abu Dā'ud collected 500,000 *Abaditb*, he only compiled 4,800 *Abaditb* in his book entitled *As-Sunan*, which he taught in Baghdad and other major cities at that time. He died at Basra on Friday in the month of Shawwāl 275 H.

5. AT-TIRMIDHI, Abu 'Isa Muhammad bin 'Isa:

Abu 'Isa, Muhammad bin 'Isa bin Sura At-Tirmidhi was born in 209 H. in a town called Tirmidh in Uzbekistan near the northern border of Afghanistan.

He was a student of Al-Bukhāri, and compiled 4,000 *Abadīth* in his book called *Al-Jāmī* which later came to be known as *Sunan At-Tirmidīti*. He also contributed tremendously to the methodology of *Hadīth* and composed a book on it called *Al-Tlal* (the discrepancies). He was famous for his piousness and asceticism. He became blind and finally died on 13 Rajab 279 H.

6. AN-NASA'I. Abu 'Abdur-Rahman Ahmad bin Shu'aib:

Abu 'Abdur-Rahmān, Ahmad bin 'Ali bin Shu'aib bin 'Ali Al-Hāfiz was born in 215 H. in Nisa', a city in Khurāsan. He became famous for the study of the methodology of *Hadith*, memorizing and mastering it. His book known as *Sunan An-Nasā'i* is third to *Sabib Al-Bukbāri* in terms of containing the least weak *Abadīth*. He lived in Egypt then moved to Damascus, Syria and died in Makkah in the year 303 H.

7. IBN MAJAH, Muhammad bin Yazid:

Abu 'Abdullah, Muhammad bin Yazid bin Mājah Al-Qizwini was born in 207 H. He studied under many scholars of Hadith, and many people narrated *Abadith* from him. He was one of the eminent scholars of *Hadith*, but his *Sunan* contains many weak and even *Munkar Abadīth*. Ibn Mājah died in Ramadān in 273 H.

OTHER HADITH SCHOLARS

8. IBN RAHUWAIH, Ishaq bin Ibrahim:

Abu Ya'qub, Ishāq bin Ibrāhim At-Tamimi Al-Hanzali Al-Marwazi was an eminent and great *Hāfiz*, who was a resident and the 'Aalim of Nishapur. He

was also considered as the *Sbaykb* of the east of his time and was known as Ibn Rāhuwaih. Imām Ahmad said, "I don't know an '*Aalim* equal to Ishaq in Iraq. Abu Zar'a said, "There was nobody so good at memorizing the *Hadith* than Ishāq." Abu Hātim said, "His mastery (of the *Hadith*), accuracy and memorization were very surprising."

يُلوغ المرَام

Ibn Rāhuwaih was born in the year 166 H. or 161 H. and died on 15th Sha'bān 238 H.

9. AL-ISMA'ILI, Ahmad bin Ibrahim:

Abu Bakr, Ahmad bin Ibrāhim bin Ismā'il bin Al-'Abbās Al-Ismā'ili Al-Jurjāni was born in 277 H. He was considered as an *Imām* and a *Hāfiz*, and was given the title *Sbaykb-ul-Islam* due to his wide knowledge and because he was the leader of the *Sbāfi'iya Madbbab* in his region.

10. AL-BAZZAR, Ahmad bin 'Amr:

Abu Bakr, Ahmad bin 'Amr bin 'Abdul-Khāliq Al-Basri was one of the eminent and learned *Haditb* scholars who had attained the rank of *Hāfiz* in the memorization of *Haditb*. He authored two books on *Haditb* which are *Al-Musnad Al-Kabir* and *Al-Ilal*. He studied under At-Tabarāni and others. Al-Bazzār died in 292 H.

11. AL-BAIHAQI, Ahmad bin Al-Husain:

Abu Bakr, Ahmad bin Al-Husain was born in Sha'bān in the year 374 H. He was considered a learned *Hāfiz* among the eminent *Imāms* of *Hadith* and a scholar of jurisprudence, specializing in *Ash-Shāfi'i Madbbab*. He wrote many books like *As-Sunan Al-Kubra* and *As-Sunan As-Sugbra*. Adh-Dhahabi said, "His books exceed one thousand volumes." Al-Baihaq, which he is named after, is a town near Nishapur. Al-Baihaqi died in 458 H.

12. ABU HATIM AR-RAZI, Muhammad bin Idris:

Abu Hātim, Muhammad bin Idris bin Al-Mundhir Al-Hanzali Ar-Rāzi was born in the year 195 H. He was an eminent *Hāfiz* and an *Imām* and one of the prominent scholars who excelled in the methodology of *Hadith*. He was also one of the most respected scholars in the knowledge *Al-Jarb wat-Ta'dil* (verifying the reliability and unreliability of the narrators of the *Hadith*).

13. IBN AL-JARUD, 'Abdullah bin 'Ali:

Abu Muhammad, 'Abdullah bin 'Ali bin Al-Jārud An-Nishapuri, who lived near Makkah, was an *Imām* and a *Hāfiz* who was among those '*Ulama* who mastered the recitation of the Qur'ān. He authored *Al-Muntaqa fil-Abkām* and was among the pious '*Ulama* of his time. Ibn Al-Jārud died in 307 H.

14. AL-HARITH bin Abu Usama:

Imam Abu Muhammad, Al-Hārith bin Abu Usāma Muhammad bin Dāhir At-Tamimi Al-Baghdadi was a *Hāftz* and authored *Al-Musnad* which he did not arrange. Ibrāhim Al-Harbi and Abu Hātim verified him as reliable, and Ad-Dāraqutni said, "He is truthful." Al-Hārith was born in 186 H. and died on the Day of '*Arafa* 282 H.

15. AL-HAKIM, Abu Abdullah:

Abu 'Abdullah, Muhammad bin 'Abdullah An-Nishapuri Al-Hākim known as Ibn Al-Baiyi' was born in 321 H. He was a celebrated *Imām* in the verification of *Haditb*. He authored *Al-Mustadrak*. It is said that he studied under one thousand professors and authored some valuable books. Al-Hākim was pious and religious. He died in Safar 405 H.

16. IBN HIBBAN, Abu Hatim Ibn Hibban:

Abu Hātim, Muhammad bin Hibbān bin Ahmad bin Hibbān Al-Busti was born in Bust in Sijistan. He was one of the celebrities in the knowledge of *Hadith*, pious, *Faqib*, learned and one of the students of Ibn Khuzaima. He died in Samarqand in 354 H., while in his eighties.

17. IBN KHUZAIMA, Muhammad bin Ishaq:

Ibn Khuzaima, Muhammad bin Ishāq was born in 223 H. in Nishapur. He was considered as a Shaykb-ul-Islam (the most learned 'Aalim of Islam) and one of the eminent and senior Hāfiz. He was the Imām and Hāfiz of Khurasan during his time. He also authored more than 140 books. Ibn Khuzaima died in Nishapur in 311 H.

18. IBN ABU KHAYTHAMA:

Abu Bakr, Ahmad bin Abu Khaythama Zuhair bin Harb An-Nasā'i Al-Baghdadi was a celebrated *Imām*, *Hāfiz* and an authority. He authored *At-Tarikh Al-Kabir*. Ad-Dāraqutni said about him, "He was reliable and trustworthy." Al-Khatib said, "He was reliable '*Aalim* (learned), accurate *Hafiz*, knowledgeable in the history of people, and the narration of poetry." He studied *Abadith* under Ahmad bin Hanbal and Ibn Ma'īn. Ibn Abu Khaythama died in Jumadaul-Ula 289 H., at the age of 94 years.

19. AD-DARAQUTNI, 'Ali bin 'Umar:

Abul-Hasan, 'Ali bin 'Umar bin Ahmad bin Mahdi Al-Baghdadi. He was nicknamed after a big store called Dār Al-Qutn in Baghdad. He was a great Hāfiz and a unique Imām who was born in the year 306 H. He was the authority in the methodology of Hadith, the knowledge of the weaknesses of the Hadith narrations and names of the Hadith narrators of his time. Ad-Dāraqutni died on 8th Dhul-Qa'da 385 H.

20. AD-DARIMI, 'Abdullah bin 'Abdur-Rahman:

Abu Muhammad, 'Abdullah bin 'Abdur-Rahmān bin Al-Fadl bin Bahrām At-Tamimi Ad-Dārimi As-Samarqandi was born in the year 181 H. He was a celebrated *Imām*, *Hāfiz* and *Sbaykb-ul-Islam* of Samarqand and the author of *Al-Musnad Al-'Aali*. He heard *Abadith* at Al-Haramain, Khurasān, Ash-Shām, Iraq and Egypt. Muslim, Abu Da'ūd, At-Tirmidhi, An-Nasā'i and others transmitted *Abadith* from him. He was described to be very intelligent and very virtuous and was considered to be an exemplary person in piousness, patience, hard work, worship and abstinence. Ad-Dārimi died on 8th Dhul-Hiiia 255 H.

21. ABU DA'UD, Sulaiman bin Da'ud At-Tayalisi:

Sulaimān bin Dā'ud bin Al-Jārud Al-Basri was a Persian by origin and the freed slave of Az-Zubair. He was a great *Hāfiz* and one of the eminent 'Ulama. Al-Qallās and Ibn Al-Madini both said about him, "I have not seen anyone who is more versed with the *Hadith* than him." Ibn Mahdi said, "He is a most truthful person." He recorded *Abadith* from more than one thousand Sbaykbs. Abu Dā'ud died in the year 204 H. while in his eighties.

22. IBN ABU AD-DUNYA, 'Abdullah bin Muhammad bin 'Ubaid:

Abu Bakr, 'Abdullah bin Muhammad bin 'Ubaid bin Sufyān bin Abu Ad-Dunya Al-Qurashi Al-Baghdadi, the freed slave of Banu Umaiya, was born in 208 H. He was a *Mubaddith* and truthful '*Aalim*. He wrote some books and educated more than one of the caliphs' sons like Al-Mu'tadid. Ibn Abu Ad-Dunya died in Jumāda Al-Ūla, 281 H.

23. ADH-DHUHLI, Muhammad bin Yahya:

Abu 'Abdullah, Muhammad bin Yahya bin 'Abdullah bin Khālid bin Fāris, the freed slave of Banu Dhuhl was born in 170 of the Hijra. He was a Shaykh-ul-Islam and Amīr-ul-Mu'minin in the knowledge of Hadith and the Hāfiz of Nishapur. He acquired Abadith from many professors in Al-Haramain, Ash-Shām, Egypt, Iraq, Ar-Ray, Khurasān, Yemen and Al-Jazira and became very competent in this field and became the authority of knowledge in Khurasān. Ahmad said, "I never saw anyone who knows the Abadith of Az-Zuhri from Muhammad bin Yahya more than Adh-Dhuhli. He died in Rabī'-ul-Awwal, 258 H.

24. ABU ZUR'A AR-RAZI, 'Ubaidullah bin Abdul-Karim:

'Ubaidullah bin 'Abdul-Karim bin Yazid bin Faroukh, Abu Zur'a Ar-Rāzi Al-Qurashi by clientship was a *Hāfiz* and an eminent scholar of the *Haditb*. He was also considered among the *Imāms* of 'Al-Jarb wat-Ta'dil (the critical study of the *Hadītb* narrators). Muslim, At-Tirmidhi, An-Nasā'i, Ibn Mājah and others narrated *Abadītb* from him. Adh-Dhahabi said, "Many people heard *Abadītb* from him in Al-Haramain, 'Iraq, Ash-Shām, Al-Jazira, Khurasan, and Egypt." He was also well acclaimed for his memorization, brightness, piousness, sincerity, knowledge and the good application of his knowledge. Abu Zur'a Ar-Rāzi died towards the end of 264 H. at the age of 64 years.

25. IBN AS-SAKAN, Sa'id bin 'Uthman:

Abu 'Ali Sa'id bin As-Sakan Al-Baghdadi was born in 294 H. He was a celebrated *Hāfiz* and an authoritative *Imām*. He paid much attention to the study of *Haditb*, and collected and wrote books on *Abaditb*, thus becoming very famous in this field. Ibn As-Sakan died in the year 353 H.

26. SA'ID bin Mansur:

Sa'id bin Mansur bin Shu'ba Al-Marwazi or At-Tāligāni then Al-Balkhi lived

near Makkah. He authored the book *As-Sunan*. Ahmad bin Hanbal praised him immensely. Harb Al-Karmāni said, "He (Sa'id) dictated to me about ten thousand *Abadith* from his memory." Sa'id bin Mansur died in Makkah in Ramadān 227 H. while in his nineties.

27. ASH-SHAFI'I, Muhammad bin Idris:

Abu 'Abdullah, Muhammad bin Idris bin Al-'Abbās bin 'Uthmān bin Shāfi' bin As-Sā'ib bin 'Ubaid bin 'Abd Yazid bin Hāshim bin 'Abdul-Muttalib bin 'Abd Manāf Al-Qurashi Al-Makki was born in 150 H. in Ghaza and was taken to Makka while a baby. He lived in Egypt where he died in 204 H. He was considered to be one of the most learned persons amongst the Muslim Ummab, unique, learned and the founder of the science of Usūl Al-Fiqb (the principles of jurisprudence) and the Sbāfi'i Madbbab. His grandfather Shāfi'i was a Sababi who met the Prophet & while a young man.

28. IBN ABU SHAIBA, Abu Bakr:

Abu Bakr 'Abdullah bin Muhammad bin Abu Shaiba Ibrāhim bin 'Uthmān bin Hawasi Al-'Ansi (by clientship) was a unique *Hāftz*. He authored *Al-Musnad* and *Al-Musannaf* and other books. He was a leader in the knowledge of *Haditb* and Abu Zur'a, Al-Bukhāri, Muslim, Abu Dā'ud and Khalaf narrated from him. Abu Bakr died in Muharram, 235 H.

29. AT-TABARANI, Sulaiman bin Ahmad:

Abul-Qāsim, Sulaimān bin Ahmad bin Ayyub bin Mutair Al-Lakhmi At-Tabarāni was born in 260 H. in Tabariya As-Shām. He was an authoritative *Imām* and narrated *Abaditb* from more than one thousand *Sbaykbs* (professors). He left Ash-Shām to acquire the knowledge of *Abaditb* and spent thirty-three years travelling in its pursuance.

He authored many interesting and amusing books, among them are Al-Mu'jam Al-Kabīr, Al-Mu'jam Al-Awsat, and Al-Mu'jam As-Sagbir. At-Tabarāni lived in Asfahan and died there on 27th Dhul-Qa'da, 360 H.

30. AT-TAHAWI, Ahmad bin Muhammad:

Abu Ja'far, Ahmad bin Muhammad Salāma bin Salama Al-Azdi Al-Misri At-Tahāwi Al-Hanafi was born in the year 228 H. or 227 H. He was nicknamed after a village called Taha in Egypt. He was a follower of the Shāfi'i Madbhab (school of jurisprudence) and a student of Al-Muzni, his nephew until the latter one day told him, "By Allah, you will never became anything." At-Tahāwi then became angry and moved to Abu 'Imrān Al-Hanafi and not only became a Hanafi (a follower of the Hanafi Madbhab) but very enthusiastic in proving the Hanafi Madbbab by strengthening the reports, citing the Hadith weakened by others, as evidence to support his Madbhab. Al-Baihaqi also said that he used to weaken the Hadith unfavorable to his Madbhab through methods not approved of by the scholars of Hadith. Among his most famous books is Sharb Ma'āni Al-Āthār. At-Tahāwi died in the beginning of Dhul-Oa'da. 321 H.

31. IBN 'ABDUL-BARR, Yusuf bin 'Abdullah:

Abu 'Umar, Yusuf bin 'Abdullah bin Muhammad bin 'Abdul-Barr bin 'Āsim An-Namari Al-Qurtubi was born in Rabi'-uth-Thāni, 368 H. He was a celebrated learned *Imām* and was the *Shaykb-ul-Islam* and *Hāfiz* of Al-Maghrib (North West Africa). He was considered as the master of his time in the memorization and accurate rendering of the *Haditb*. He was also skilled in the science of genealogy and history. Ibn Hazm said, "I can not talk about the knowledge of the *Haditb* like Ibn 'Abdul-Barr, so how can I do better than him?" He has authored many books, the most famous of which is *Al-Isti'āb*. Ibn 'Abdul-Barr died on a Friday in Rabi'-uth-Thāni, 463 H. at the age of 95 years.

32. 'ABDUL-HAQQ bin 'Abdur-Rahman:

Abu Muhammad, 'Abdul-Haqq bin 'Abdur-Rahmān bin 'Abdullah bin Husain bin Sa'id Al-Azdi Al-Ishbili was born in 510 H. He was a *Hafiz* and an authority in the knowledge of *Hadith*. He resided in Bijaya in Spain where he spread his knowledge and authored books. He was famous and a celebrated 'Aalim and was appointed as the *Kbatib* of Bijaya. He was a *Faqib* and knowledgeable in the methodology of the *Haditb*, its weak ones and the history of the *Haditb* narrators. He was also described to be virtuous, pious, ascetic, and a strict follower of the *Sunna*. He also took interest in the arts and recited poetry. 'Abdul-Haqq died in Bijaya in Rabi'-uth-Thāni, 581 H.

33. 'ABDUR-RAZZAQ bin Humam:

Abu Bakr, 'Abdur-Razzāq bin Humām bin Nāfi' Al-Himyari (by clientship) As-San'āni was considered as one of the strongholds of knowledge. Ahmad, Ishāq, Ibn Ma'in and Adh-Dhuhli narrated *Abadith* from him. He became blind in his old age and became senile. 'Abdur-Razzāq died in 211 H. at the age of 85 years.

34. IBN 'ADI, 'Abdullah:

Abu Ahmad, 'Abdullah bin 'Adi Al-Jurjāni was born in 279 H. He was a famous *Imām*, an eminent *Hāfīz* and one of the celebrated '*Ulama*. He was also nicknamed Ibn Al-Qisār. Ibn 'Adi died in Jumāda-ul-Ākhir, 365 H.

35. AL-'UOAILI, Muhammad bin 'Amr:

Abu Ja'far, Muhammad bin 'Amr bin Mūsa bin Hamād Al-'Uqailī was a *Hāfiz*, an *Imām* and the author of *Kitāb Ad-Du'afā'* Al-Kabīr. He was a celebrated scholar, and the author of many books. Al-'Uqailī lived in Al-Haramain and died in 322 H.

36. 'ALI bin Al-Madını:

Abul-Hasan, 'Ali bin 'Abdullan bin Ja'far bin Najīh As-Sa'di (by clientship) Al-Madīnī was born in 161 H. and was considered to be the most knowledgeable person regarding the *Abadith* of the Prophet #8. Al-Bukhāri said in this context, "I never belittled myself before anyone except 'Ali ibn Al-Madīnī." He was considered to be the *Imām* of *Al-Jarb wat-Ta'dil*, the *Hāfiz* of his time and the exemplary of *Abl Al-Hadītb* (the scholars of the *Hadītb*). 'Ali ibn Al-Madīnī died at Sāmira in present Iraq at a place called Katibata Al-Qa'qa in the

vear 234 H.

37. IBN AL-QATTAN, 'Ali bin Muhammad:

Abul-Hasan, 'Ali bin Muhammad bin 'Abdul-Malik Al-Fāsī was born in Qurtuba in Spain in 562 H. and lived in Fās in Morocco. He was a *Hafīz*, an *Imām* and a learned critic of the *Hadītb* methodology. Moreover, he was more knowledgeable about the *Hadītb* methodology and the mastery of the names and history of the narrators of the *Hadītb* than anyone else of his time. He also authored many books and died in Rabi'-ul-Awwal, 628 H.

38. IMAM MALIK, Malik bin Anas:

Abu 'Abdullah, Mālik bin Anas bin Mālik bin Abu 'Aamir Al-Asbahī (Dhi Asbah, his ninth grandfather was from one of the noblest tribes of Yemen) was born in 93 H. or 94 H. and is one of the four *Imāms* whose *Madbhab* are followed regarding jurisprudence matters. He was the *Imām* of *Dār Al-Hijra* (Al-Madinah), the *Faqib* of the *Ummab* and the leader of *Al-Haditb*. He studied under more than nine hundred professors and an uncountable number of people learned from him, among them being Imam Ash-Shāfi'i, the founder of *Al-Madbhab Asb-Shāfi'iya*.

39. IBN MANDA, Muhammad bin Ishaq:

Abu 'Abdullah, Muhammad bin Ishāq bin Muhammad bin Yahya bin Manda was born in 310 H. and was a *Hāfiz*, an *Imām* and a traveler. He was also one of the eminent *Huffāz* who mastered many *Abaditb*. It is said that he traveled all over the Muslim world of his time and returned with about forty loads of books and his professors were one thousand seven hundred. Ibn Manda died in Dhul-Hijia 395 H.

40. ABU NU'AIM, Al-Asfahani:

Ahmad bin 'Abdullah bin Ahmed bin Ishāq bin Musa bin Mahrān Al-Asfahāni was born in Rajab 334 H. He was a famous Hāfiz, one of the eminent Mubaddithin and one of the great Huffāz. He studied under the celebrated scholars and himself taught many virtuous 'Ulama. He authored many books, among them Al-Mustakbraj 'Ala Al-Bukbāri, and Al-Mustakbraj 'Ala Muslim and Huliyat-ul-Awliyā, which is one of the best books. It is said that when he took it to Nishapur, it sold for four hundred Dinar. Al-Asfahāni died in Safar or 20th Muharram. 430 H. at Asfahān.

41. ABU YA'LA, Ahmad bin 'Ali:

Al-Hāfiz Ahmad bin 'Ali bin Al-Muthanna bin Yahya bin 'Isa bin Hilāl At-Tamimi was born in Shawwāl, 210 H. He authored Al-Musnad Al-Kabīr and was considered as the Mubaddith of Al-Jazira. He was truthful, trustworthy, tolerant and religious. As-Sam'āni said, "I heard Isma'il bin Muhammad bin Al-Fadl Al-Hāfiz say: 'I read the Musnad of Al-'Adani, the Musnad of Ibn Manī' and other Masānid, which are like rivers, but the Musnad of Abu Ya'la is like the sea into which all the rivers flow.' "Abu Ya'la died in the year 307 H.

1. THE BOOK OF PURIFICATION

Chapter 1. WATER

- 1. Narrated Abū Huraira^[1] 泰: Allāh's Messenger 穩 said regarding the sea, "Its water is *Taboor* (purifying) and its dead (animals) are lawful (to eat)". [Al-Arba'a^[2] and Ibn Abi Shaiba reported it. The wording is from the latter. Ibn Khuzaima and At-Tirmidhi graded it Sabib (authentic). Mālik, Ash-Shāfi'i and Ahmad (also) reported it].
- 2. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri^[3] &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Water is *Taboor* (purifying)^[4] and nothing can make it impure." [Reported by *Ath-Thalātha*, ^[5] and Ahmad graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].
- 3. Narrated Abū Umāma Al-Bāhili^[6] ♣: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "Water cannot be rendered impure by anything except something which changes its smell, taste and color^[7]". [Ibn Mājah

١ - كتاب الطُّهَارةِ

١ - بابُ المِيَاهِ

(١) عَن أَبِي هُرَيرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قال رسولُ الله ﷺ في البَحْرِ: هُمُو الطَّهُورُ مَاؤُهُ والحِلُّ مَيْتَتُهُ ۗ. أُخْرَجَهُ الأَرْبَعَةُ وَابْنُ أَبِي شِبْبَةَ وَاللَّفْظُ لَهُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ خُزَيْمَةً والتَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَرَوَاهُ مَالِكُ وَالشَّافِعِيُّ وَأَحْمَدُ.

(Y) وعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللهُ تَعَالَى

 عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قال رسول الله ﷺ: "إنَّ المَاءَ
 طَهُررٌ لا يُنَجِّسُهُ شَيْءٌ». أُخْرَجَهُ النَّلَائَةُ وَصَحْحَهُ

 أخمَدُ.

(٣) وعَنْ أَبِي أُمامَةَ البَاهِلِينِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى
 عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رسولُ الله ﷺ: "إِنَّ المَاءَ لَا
 يُنجُسُهُ شَيْءٌ إِلَّا مَا غَلَبَ عَلَى رَبِحِهِ وَطَعْمِهِ

^[1] His real name is 'Abdullah or 'Abdur-Rahmān bin Sakhr Ad-Dausi. He was one of the greatest Sabāba (Companions of the Prophet ﷺ) and reported the largest number of Abādītb. More than 800 men narrated from him. He became a Muslim in the year of Khaibar (7 H.) and stayed in the company of the Prophet ¾ until he (the Prophet ¾) died. He was appointed a Muslīt (scholar of Islamic verdicts) during the caliphate of 'Umar and later became the governor of Al-Madīnah during the reign of Marwān bin Al-Hakam. He died in 59 H. and was buried at Al-Baqī'.

^[2] The collectors of *Hadīth:* Abū Dā'ud, At-Tirmidhi, An-Nasā'i and Ibn Mājah.

^[3] His name is Sa'd bin Mālik bin Sinān Al-Khazraji Al-Ansāri. He was one of the learned Sabāba, reported many Abādith and gave religious opinions for some time. He died at the beginning of 74 H. at the age of 86 years.

^[4] It is reported by Ahmad, At-Tirmidhi and Abu Dā'ud that the Prophet ﷺ said these words answering a question about the well of Budā'a (نوب بفاعل له), which is located in the vicinity of Al-Madīna, and was always filled with filth. This well was situated in a low lying area and the rain water would carry all the dirt and filth into it. These words are certainly about this well.

^[5] The collectors of *Hadīth*: Abū Dā'ud, At-Tirmidhi, and An-Nasā'i.

^[6] His name is Suday bin 'Ajlān, one of the Sahāba who reported many Abādith. He lived in Egypt then moved to Hims (now in Syria) and died there at the age of 81 or 86 years.

^[7] There are two opinions of the scholars concerning the purity of water if something

reported it and Abū Hātim graded it Da'if (weak)]. Al-Baihaqi reported: "Water is purifying, unless any impure thing is added to it which changes its smell or taste or color."

- 4. Narrated 'Abdullah bin 'Umar^[1] &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "If there is enough water to fill two pots ^[2], it carries no impurity." A narration has: "it does not become impure". [Al-Arba'a reported it. Ibn Khuzaima, Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

وَلَوْنِهِ. أَخْرَجُهُ ابْنُ مَاجُه، وَضَعَّقُهُ أَبُو حَاتِمٍ، وَلَلْتَبْهَقِيِّ: المَآءُ طَهُورٌ إِلَّا إِن تَغَيَّر رِيحُه أَو طَعْمُه أَو لَونُه بِنَجَاسَةٍ تَحدُثُ فِيهِ.

(٤) وعَنْ عَبدِاللهِ بْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما قَالَ: قَالَ رسولُ الله ﷺ: «إِذَا كَانَ اللّمَاءُ فَلْتَيْنِ لَمْ يَحمِلِ الخَبَّ». وفي لَفْظِ: «أَمْ يَحمِلِ الخَبَّ». وفي لَفْظِ: «لَمْ يَنْجُسْ». أَخْرَبُهُ الأَرْبَعَةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ خُرْبُهُ وَابْنُ حِبَّانَ وَالحَاكِمُ.

(٥) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رسولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «لا يَغْتَسِلُ أَحَدُكُمْ فِي المَاءِ الذَّائِمِ وَهُوَ جُنْبٌ». أخرجه مسلم. وللبخاري: «لَا يَبُولَنَّ أَحَدُكُمْ فِي المَاءِ الذَّائِمِ اللَّهِ يَعْتَسِلُ فِيهِ، ولمُسْلِم «منه» وَلَا يَ يَغْتِسِلُ فِيهِ مِنَ الجَنَاتِة».

unclean or impure has been mixed with it. (A) That it remains pure – whether in a small amount or large amount – if neither its color, taste nor smell is changed. (B) If a small amount of water is mixed with impurities it becomes impure, even if none of these qualities (color, taste or small) are changed. However, if it is a large amount of water, it remains pure, unless one of these three qualities are changed by being mixed with impurities. This second opinion is the opinion of the Hanafiya and Shafi'iya. The first opinion is the opinion of Mālik, Abmad (in one of his sayings), Az-Zābiriyyab, a group of Sabābab [including: 'Umar, Ibn Abās, Ibn Mas'ūd, Aa'isha, Abu Hurairah and Hudhaifah], as well as a group of Tābi'in [including: Ibn Al-Musayyib, Sa'id bin Jubair, Mujāhid, 'Ikrimah and Al-Hasan Al-Basri].

^[1] He was among the most ascetic and most knowledgeable Sabāba. He became a Muslim at Makkah while a small boy, and migrated to Al-Madīnah. He first participated in the battle of Al-Khandaq, died in 73 A. H., and was buried at Dhī Tuwa.

^[2] Qulla (33) is a large earthen pot, which may contain water up to two and a half water-skins, viz., one hundred and thirteen kilograms. Ibn Al-Turkumani in Al-Jaubar An-Naqi said: There is such a great difference of opinion as to what a Qulla is equal to, until it is impossible to act upon it.

⁽³⁾ This refers to a small quantity of water. If water is in abundance, it will be regarded as flowing water, which is not impure and is good for bathing. It is prohibited to urinate in the stagnant water because the water may become polluted if one does so habitually. The condition of stagnant water is only because flowing water is always clean and never becomes impure, not even from dirt and filth. The prohibition here of bathing or urinating in stagnant water indicates that it is Harâm (forbidden) when the water is in a small amount and Makrū'h (detestable) when it is a large amount.

6. A man^[1] who accompanied the Prophet an arrated: Allāh's Messenger forbade a woman from bathing with the water left over by a man, and a man from bathing with the water left over by a woman. (Instead) they should both scoop up handfuls of the water together. [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i and its chain of narrators is Sabib (authentic)].

7. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās & [2]: The Prophet & used to bath with the water left over by Maimūna & [Muslim reported it]. And Ashāb As-Sunan (here meaning Abu Dawud, Tirmidhi and Ibn Majah) reported that one of the wives of the Prophet & took a bath from a vessel, then the Prophet & came and when he wanted to take a bath from that (vessel), she said to him, "I was sexually impure." He said, "Water does not become sexually impure." [3] [At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Khuzaima graded it Sabib (authentic)].

 (٦) وعَنْ رَجُل صَحِبَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ أَنْ تَغْتَسِلَ المَرَأَةُ بِفَضْلِ المَرْأَةِ بِفَضْلِ المَرْأَةِ، وَلَيُغْتَرِفَا الرَّجُلِ بِفَضْلِ المَرْأَةِ، وَلَيُغْتَرِفَا المَرْأَةِ، وَلَيُغْتَرِفَا جَمِيعاً. أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَآنِيُّ، وَإِسْنَادُهُ صَحِبِحٌ.

(٧) وعَن ابْن عَبَّاسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيَ ﷺ كَانَ يَغْتَسِلُ بِغَضْل مَيْمُونَةَ رَضِي اللَّه تعالى عنها. أخرجه مسلم. وَلاَصحابِ السُّنر: اغْتَسَل بَغضُ أَزوَاج النَّبِي ﷺ فِي جَفْنَة، فَجَاء النَّبِيُ ﷺ لِيَغْتَسِلَ مِنْهَا، فَقَالَتْ الْهَا لَيْ فَيْكَانَ: ﴿إِنَّ المَاءَ لَا يَجْبُهُ، فَقَالَ: ﴿إِنَّ المَاءَ لَا يَجْبُهُ، وَقَالَ: ﴿إِنَّ المَاءَ لَا يَجْبُهُ، وَابنُ خُرْيْمَةً.

(A) وعَنْ أَبِي هُرُيرةَ رَضِي اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ
 قَالَ: قَالَ رسولُ الله ﷺ: «طُهُورُ إِنَّاءِ أَخَدِكُمْ
 إِذَا وَلَمْ فِيهِ الكَلْبُ أَنْ يَمْسِلُهُ سَبْعَ مَرَّاتٍ،

 $^{^{[1]}}$ This man is one of the $Sah\bar{a}ba$, and failure to mention his name is of no consequence (harm) because the $Sah\bar{a}ba$ are all trustworthy (acceptable narrators).

^[2] He is 'Abdullāh bin 'Abbās bin 'Abdul-Muttalib, the Prophet's cousin and the scholar of the Muslim *Ummab*. He was born 3 years before *Al-Hijra* and died at Tā'if in 67 A.H.

^[3] This *Hadith* appears to be in contradiction to the first. However, it is not, because the order is not of absolute prohibition (i.e. something undesirable (نهي تحريم), but is only of suggestive prohibition (i.e. something undesirable (نهي تحريم)) to avoid any trace of impurity.

^[4] It must be clear that just to clean a thing from impurity, it is not necessary to wash it seven times. The idea behind cleaning a thing seven times is different from that of simple purification. Physicians of today say that mostly in the intestines of dogs there are germs and small worms approximately 4 mm. in length, and these move out from intestines with the excrement and stick to the hair around the anus. When dogs clean this place with the tongue, it gets soiled with these organisms. If a dog licks a pot or someone kisses the dog, as the European and American ladies do, these are transferred from the dog to the pot or to the mouth of the woman and then to the stomach. These organisms keep on moving, and penetrate into blood cells causing many fatal diseases. As the detection of these germs is not possible without microscopic tests, the Shart'a (من من العامة) — Islamic law) declared the dog's saliva

the first cleaning." [Muslim reported it. Another narration of Muslim has: "He should pour out the contents"]. At-Tirmidhi has: "...using surface soil for the first or last (cleaning)".

9. Narrated Abū Qatāda[1] 🞄: Allāh's Messenger # said about the cat: "It is not unclean, but is one of those who intermingle with you." [Reported by Al-Arba'a.[2] At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Khuzaima graded it Sabib (authentic)].

10. Narrated Anas bin Mālik^[3] 🚓: A Bedouin came and urinated in one corner of the mosque. The people shouted at him, but Allāh's Messenger stopped them. When he (the man) finished urinating, the Prophet # ordered for a bucket of water which was poured[4] over it. [Agreed upon].^[5]

11. Narrated Ibn 'Umar 🞄: Allāh's Messenger a said, "Two types of dead animals and two types of bloods have been made lawful for us. The two types of dead animals are locusts and fish. while the two types of bloods are the liver and the spleen." [Reported by Ahmad and Ibn Mājah, and this Hadīth has some Da'f (weakness).]

أُولَاهُنَّ بِالثُّوَابِ ﴾. أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ، وَفِي لَفْظِ لَهُ «فَلِيُرِقْه». وَلِلتِّرمِذِيِّ: «أُخْرَاهُنَّ أَوْ أُولَاهُنَّ مالتُّراب».

(٩) وعن أبى قَتَادةَ رضى اللهُ تعالى عنه أنَّ رَسولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ في الهرَّةِ: ﴿إِنَّهَا لَيْسَتْ بنَجَس، إنَّمَا هِيَ مِنَ الطَّوَّافِينَ عَلَيْكُمْ، أَخْرَجَهُ الأَرْبَعَةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ وَابْنُ خُزَيْمَةً.

(١٠) وعَنْ أَنَس بْنِ مَالِكِ رضى اللهُ تعالى عنه قال: جَاءَ أغرابيٌّ فَبَالَ في طَآتِفَةِ المَسْجِدِ، فَزَجَرَهُ النَّاسُ، فَنَهَاهُمْ رَسولُ اللهِ ﷺ، فلمَّا قَضَى بَولَهُ أَمَرَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ بِذَنُوبٍ من مَآءٍ فأُهْرِيقَ عَلَيْهِ. مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(١١) وعن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رسولُ الله ﷺ: «أُحِلَّتْ لَنَا مَيْتَتَان وَدَمَانَ ، فَأَمَّا المَيْتَتَانَ : فَالجَرَادُ وَالحُوتُ، وَأَمَّا الدَّمَانِ : فَالكَبِدُ وَالطِّحَالُ». أَخْرَجَهُ أَخْمَدُ وآدن مَاجَه، وَفه ضَعْفٌ.

(١٢) وعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْزَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ Allāh's ﷺ 12. Narrated Abū Huraira

an inherently impure thing by a general command, and whenever a thing is polluted with dog's saliva, it must be cleaned seven times (one time - preferably the first - should be with soil) to be sure of its purity. For more details please see the footnotes of the book Abkām-ul-Absan, Sharb Umdat-ul-Abkām].

^[1] He is Al-Hārith bin Rib'i Al-Ansāri, the Prophet's horseman. He fought the battle of Uhud and those which followed. It is said that he died at Al-Madinah or Kūfa in 54 H.

^[2] Abu Dā'ud, Tirmidhi, Nasā'i and Ibn Mājah. This *Hadāth* indicates the purity of the cat and its leftover (food or drink) as long as there isn't any apparent impurities on its mouth.

^[3] He was the Prophet's servant from the time he came to Al-Madīnah till his death. He is known as Abū Hamza and was a Khazraji. He lived in Basra during 'Umar's Caliphate and died there at the age of 99 or 103 years in 91 or 92 or 93 H.

^[4] This Hadith proves that earth is purified by pouring water over the place soiled with impurities. Ibn Abi Shaiba has narrated - as Mawquf (a saying of a Companion) - that the earth is purified when it is dried up.

^[5] Al-Bukhāri and Muslim.

Messenger ﷺ said, "If a fly falls in the drink of one of you, he should fully immerse it and then throw it away because there is disease (poison) in one of its wings and cure in the other." [I [Reported by Al-Bukhāri and Abū Dā'ud who added: "It (the fly) protects itself with the diseased wing (by dipping it first in a drink)].

13. Narrated Abū Wāqid Al-Iaithi^[2] 泰: Allāh's Messenger 慈 said, "Whatever (portion) is cut off from an animal — while it is alive — is dead (meat). [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and At-Tirmidhi who graded it *Hasan* (good), and this wording is At-Tirmidhi's].

Chapter 2 UTENSILS

14. Narrated Hudhaifa bin Al-Yamān^[3] \$\frac{1}{2}\$: Allāh's Messenger \$\frac{1}{2}\$ said, "Do not drink in silver or gold utensils, and do not eat in plates (trays) made from such metals. [4] Indeed such things are for them (the disbelievers) in this world and for you (the believers) in the Hereafter." [Agreed upon]. [5] قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: الْإِذَا وَقَعَ الذَّبَابُ فِي شَرَابٍ أَحَدِكُمْ فَلَيَغْمِسْهُ، ثُمَّ لِيَنْزِعُهُ فَإِنَّ فِي أَحَدِ جَنَاحَيْهِ دَاءً، وَفِي الآخَرِ شِفَاءً». أَخْرَجَهُ البُخَارِيُّ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَزَادَ: 'وَإِنَّهُ يَتَفِي بِجَنَاحِهِ الْذِي فِيهِ الدَّاءُ».

(١٣) وعَنْ أَبِي واقِدِ اللَّينِيُّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسولُ الله ﷺ: "مَا قُطِعَ مِنَ البَهِيمَةِ، وَمِيَ حَيِّةٌ، فَهُوْ مَيْتٌ». أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالتَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَحَسَّنَة، وَاللَّفْظُ لَهُ.

٢ - بَابُ الآنِيَةِ

(١٤) عَنْ حُدَّيْفَةَ بْنِ التِمَانِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رسولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «لَا تَشْرَبُوا فِي آيَيَةِ اللَّمْتِ اللَّمْتِةِ وَلَا تَأْكُلُوا فِي صِحَافِهَا، فَإِنَّهَا لَهُمْ فِي اللَّمْتِا وَلَكُمْ فِي

^[1] It is evident from this *Hadīth* that water or syrup does not become impure if a fly falls into it. Likewise, the creatures of this family – whose blood does not flow – like the mosquito, wasp and spider, etc. do not make the water impure if they have fallen into it or died in it.

^[2] His name is Al-Hārith bin 'Auf and is a descendant of Banû 'Aamir bin Laith. He became a Muslim very early and is counted among the people of Al-Madīnah. It is said that he fought at Badr, lived in Makkah and died there in 65 H. or 68 H. at the age of 57 and was buried at Funj. His *Hadīth* indicates that the cut-off portion of a live animal is forbidden (to eat) and unclean (to touch) like any mayyit (animal which dies by itself, not being slaughtered properly).

^[3] He is nicknamed Abū 'Abdullāh, both him and his father were Sabāba and he became famous for being the confidant of the Prophet 癜 . He died at Midian (Madāin) forty nights after the killing of 'Uthmān in the year 35 H. or 36 H.

^[4] This Hadith is mentioned here to show that if it is prohibited to eat and drink in gold and silver utensils, then using gold and silver utensils for ablution is also prohibited. Otherwise, this Hadith would have been placed in the chapter of eating and drinking. However, other scholars limit the application of the prohibition in this Hadith to eating and drinking – as mentioned in the text. Eating, drinking and performing ablution in utensils studded with rubies and diamonds is permissible, according to the rule of things being permissible unless prohibited by a text.

^[5] Al-Bukhāri and Muslim.

(١٥) وعن أُمْ سَلَمَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعالَى عَنها
 قالت: قَالَ رسولُ الله ﷺ: "الَّذِي يَشْرَبُ فِي
 إِنَّاءِ الفِظَّةِ إِنَّمَا يُجَرِّجِرُ فِي بَطْنِهِ نَارَ جَهَنَّمَ".
 مُثَقَقْ عَلَيْهِ.

16. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās **\$:** Allāh's Messenger **\$\mathbb{x}\$** said, "When the animal hide is tanned it becomes purified.^[2] " [Reported by Muslim]. *Al-Arba'a* have the words: "Any animal hide that is tanned..."

(١٦) وعَن البن عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَبُّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَبُّهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رسولُ الله ﷺ: اإذَا دُبغَ الإهمَابُ فَقَدْ طَهُرَهُ. أَخْرَجَهُ مُشْلِمٌ، وَعِنْدَ الأَرْبَعَةِ اللَّهِ إهابِ مُبغَ».

17. Narrated Salama bin Al-Muhabbiq^[3] 本: Allāh's Messenger 震 said, "The tanning of a dead animal's hide is its purification." [Ibn Hibbān [reported it and] graded it Sabib (authentic)]. (١٧) وعن سَلَمَةً بْنِ المُحَبِّقِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ
 تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قال رسولُ الله ﷺ: «يَبَاغُ
 جُلُودِ المَّيْثَةِ طُهُورُهَا». صَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ.

18. Narrated Maimūna \$\ : The Prophet \$\ \mathref{\mathref{g}} \ passed by a (dead) sheep which some people were dragging. He told them, "If you had taken its hide (it would be better)." They said, "It is dead". He said, "Water and the leaves of the Acacia tree will purify it." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i].

(١٨) وعَنْ مَيْمُونَة رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ:
 مَرَّ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ بَشَاقِ يَجُرُّونَهَا، فَقَالَ: (لَوْ أَخَذْتُمْ
 إِهَابَهَا" فَقَالُوا: إِنَّهَا مُنِيَّةٌ، فَقَالَ: (يُطَهِّرُهَا المَاءُ والقَرَطْ». أَخْرَجُه أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالشَّمَائِيُّ.

19. Narrated Abū Thaʻlaba Al-Khushani^[4] ﷺ: I said, "O Allāh's

(١٩) وعَنْ أَبِي ثَعْلَبَةَ الخُشَنِيُّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ ۖ Al-

^[1] She is Hind bint Abū 'Umaiya. She was married to Abū Salama, and migrated with him to Abyssinia (Ethiopia) and then to Al-Madinah. When Abū Salama died from an injury he had sustained during the battle of Uhud, the Prophet ﷺ married her in Shawall 4 H. It is said that she died in 59 H. or 62 H. at the age of 84 years and was buried at Al-Baqi'.

^[2] This Hadith proves that a hide, after tanning becomes pure and clean, whether the hide is of an animal which is (عدال) prohibited to eat or (عدال) lawful to eat and whether the animal is slaughtered or died. However, some scholars hold that the skins of human beings and some animals are unlawful and not permitted for use. The skin of the human being is unlawful due to his sacredness and reverence, while the skins of animals like the dog and pig are unlawful, and not permitted for use, because they are inherently impure and unclean. Some scholars hold that tanning only purifies the hides of animals that are lawful to eat. It should also be remembered that the hair, teeth and horns of lawful animals are also lawful for use and trade.

^[3] He is nicknamed Abū Sinān of Hudhali tribe. He is considered as a resident of Basra and Al-Hasan Al-Basri learned *Hadīth* from him.

^[4] He is a *Sahābi* (Companion of the Prophet 鑑) descending from Khushain bin An-Nimir of Qudā'a tribe. He was one of the *Asbāb Asb-Shajara* who entered a covenant with the Prophet 繼 on the day of Al-Hudaibiya. He was sent to his people and they accepted Islam.

Messenger! We are living in a land inhabited by the people of the Scriptures, can we eat from their utensils?" He said, "Do not eat from their utensils unless you cannot find utensils other than theirs. [1] [If you cannot find other than theirs,] wash them and eat from them." [Agreed upon].

20. Narrated 'Imrān bin Husain^[2] &: The Prophet & and his Companions performed Wudu' (ablution) from an animal-hide water container^[3] belonging to a polytheist woman. [Agreed upon]. (It is an extract of a long Hadītb)

21. Narrated Anas bin Mālik &: When the cup of the Prophet & was broken, he fixed it with a silver wire^[4] at the crack. [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: لَمُلْتُ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ إِنَّا بِأَرْضِرِ قَوْمِ أَهْلِ كِتَابٍ، أَفَنَأْكُلُ فِي آتِيَتِهِمْ؟ قَالَ: وَلَا تَأْكُلُوا فِيهَا إِلَّا أَنْ لَا تَجِدُوا غَيْرَهَا، فَاغْسِلُوهَا، وَكُلُوا فِيهَا إِلَّا أَنْ لَا تَجِدُوا غَيْرَهَا،

(٢٠) وعَنْ عِمْرانَ بْنِ حُصَيْنِ رَضِيَ اللهُ
 تعالى عنهما: أَنَّ النَّبِيَ ﷺ وأَصْحابَه تَوَضَّؤُوا
 مِن مَزادَةِ امْرَأَةٍ مُشْرِكَةٍ. مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ فِي حَدِيثِ طَوِيلٍ.
 طَوِيلٍ.

(٢١) وعن أنس بنر مالك رَضِيَ الله تعالى
 عنه: أَنَّ قَدَحَ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ انْكَسَرَ فَانَّخَذُ مَكَانَ
 الشَّعْبِ سِلْسِلَةَ مِنْ فِضَةٍ. أَخْرَجُهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

Chapter 3 The Nature and Cleansing of An-Najasah (The Impurities)

22. Narrated Anas bin Mālik 本: Allāh's Messenger 義 was asked about making vinegar out of alcohol. He said, "No (it is prohibited)". [5] [Reported by

٣ - بَابُ إِزَالَةِ النَّجَاسَةِ وَبَيانِها

(۲۲) عَن أَنْسٍ بْنِرِ مَالِكِ رَضِي الله عنه قَالَ:
 شَيْلَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عَن الخَمْرِ تُتَّخَذُ خَلَّا؟
 قال: ﴿لَا» . أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ وَالتَّرْمِينَى، وَقَالَ:

25

He settled in Sham and died there in 75 H.

^[1] This Hadith makes it clear that the utensils of Ablul-Kitāb (People of the Book) are unclean, and if the utensils from a Muslim are available then the utensils of a non-Muslim should not be used for eating, drinking or cooking. If it is certain about a non-Muslim that he does not eat something unlawful or prohibited such as pork and alcohol [as mentioned in the Hadith of Ahmad and Abu Dawud], then his utensils may be used; even then, one should be careful and wash them.

 $^{^{[2]}}$ He is nicknamed Abû Nujeid and is from the Khuzā'a tribe. He accepted Islam in the year of Khaibar. He settled in Basra and died there in 52 H. or 53 H.

^[3] This Hadith clarifies that utensils of the polytheists – about which there is no probability of being polluted by impure substances, such as pork or alcohol – may be used without any hesitations.

^[4] This Hadith proves that the use of a small amount of silver to fix the crack of a utensil is allowed, and eating and drinking in it is not prohibited.

^[5] Making of vinegar from alcohol by adding something to it is prohibited according to the Shaft'i Madhhab; it will not be pure to touch, nor lawful to consume. The stronger opinion is that it is lawful once it is transformed into vinegar. A third opinion considers the intention of the one who made it.

Muslim and At-Tirmidhi and the latter graded it *Hasan-Sahib* (good and authentic)].

حَدِيثٌ حَسَنٌ صَحِيحٌ.

23. Narrated (Anas bin Mālik) 泰: On the day of Khaibar, Allāh's Messenger 鄉 commanded Abū Talha^[1] to announce: "Allāh and His Messenger have prohibited for you (eating of) the flesh of the domesticated donkeys, for it is unclean."^[2] [Agreed upon.]

(٣٣) وعَنْهُ قَالَ: لَمَّا كَانَ يَومُ خَيْيَرَ أَمْرَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ أَبًا طَلْمَةَ فَنَادَى: أَنَّ اللَّهَ وَرَسُولُهُ يَنْهَيَانِكُمْ عَنْ لُمُومِ الحُمُرِ الأَهْلِيَّةِ، فِإنَّهَا رَجْسٌ. مُثَقَقْ عَلَيْه.

24. Narrated 'Amr bin Khārija^[3] &: Allāh's Messenger & delivered a *Khutba* (religious talk) to us at Mina, while mounted on his camel, and its saliva was dripping on my^[4] shoulder(s). [Reported by Ahmad and At-Trimidhi and the latter graded it *Sahib* (authentic)].

(٢٤) وعن عَمْرِو بْن خَارِجَة رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: خَطْبَنَا رَسُولُ الله ﷺ بِمنَى وَهُوَ عَلَى رَاحِلَتِه، وَلَمَائِهَا يَسِيلُ عَلَى كَيْفَيَ. أَخْرَجَهُ أَخْمَدُ وَالتَّرْمِيلِيُّ وَصَحَّحَهُ.

(٢٥) وعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا
 قَالَتْ: كَانَ رسولُ الله ﷺ يَغْسِلُ المَنِيَّ ثُمَّ

^[1] He is Zaid bin Sahl bin Al-Aswad bin Harām Al-Ansāri An-Najāri who was one of the senior Sabāba. He attended the 'Aqaba Covenant and all the battles. He fought bravely during the battle of Uhud and defended the Prophet 穩 till his hand got paralyzed. He also killed 20 men in the battle of Hunain. He died in the year 34 H. or 51 H.

^[2] This Hadīth is a proof that the flesh of domesticated donkey is unlawful to eat. According to some scholars it is also Najts (impure) to touch, as indicated by the Prophet's use of the word Rtjs (dirty, filthy) to describe this animal. Otherwise, the prohibition of consuming something does not necessarily mean that it is also unclean, while the opposite holds true, i.e. the ruling that something is unclean necessitates it being unlawful for consumption, since it is not permissible to touch it. Some hold that the leftover water of a donkey is pure and usable.

^[3] He is 'Amr bin Khārija bin Al-Muntafiq Al-Asadi. He was an ally of Abū Sufyān. He is regarded as being from the clan of Al-Ash'ar. He is among the Sabāba who settled in Shām and this Hadītb was reported by the people of Basra.

^[4] From this *Hadīth* we come to know that the saliva of a *Halāl* [lawful to eat] animal is also pure. This ruling rests upon establishing that the Prophet ﷺ knew that the saliva of his camel was dripping on Amr's shoulder, in which case it would be considered as his *Taqreer* (tacit approval).

^[5] She is the daughter of Abū Bakr As-Siddiq and the Prophet 鑑 married her 2 years before the *Hifra* in the month of Shawwāl, but wedded her in 1 H. at the age of 9 years. She was very learned and reported many *Abāditb*. She died on 17 Ramadān 57 H. or 58 H. Abū Huraira ♣ offered her Funeral prayer and she was buried at Al-Baqi'.

^[6] There is a difference of opinion concerning human semen, whether it is impure or not. Some scholars consider it like saliva or nasal secretion, and according to others it is necessary to wash it. The first group [Al-Hanafiya, Mālikiya and in a saying of Ahmad] gives as its proof

that (very) garment, and I could still see the trace of the washing on it. [Agreed upon]. Muslim has: "I used to scrape it (the semen) off the garment of the Allāh's Messenger (ﷺ) and then he offered prayer wearing it." In yet another narration of Muslim: "Verily! I ('Aisha) used to scrape it (the semen) off his garment with my fingernail while it was dry".

26. Narrated Abū As-Samh^[1] &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "The urine of a baby girl should be washed off and the urine of a baby boy should be sprinkled^[2] (by pouring water over it completely)." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i, and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

27. Narrated 'Asmā' bint Abū Bakr^[3]

\$\displaystyle{\text{as}}: The Prophet \$\frac{\text{ss}}{\text{ss}}\$ said regarding menstruation blood that soils a garment, "She should scrape it, rub it with water (using her fingers), then sprinkle [or wash it (with water)]. Then she may pray in it". [Agreed upon].

28. Narrated Abū Huraira &: Khaula [4] said, "O Messenger of Allāh, suppose the (traces of) blood does not يَخْرُجُ إِلَى الصَّلَاةِ في ذَلِكَ القَّوبِ، وَأَنَا أَنْظُرُ إِلَى الصَّلَاةِ في ذَلِكَ القَّوبِ، وَأَنَا أَنْظُرُ إِلَى الْقَدِينِ اللهِ اللهُ الل

(٢٦) وعَن أَبِي السَّمْحِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: الْيُغْسَلُ مِنْ بَوْلِ ِ الجَارِيَةِ، وَيُرْشُ مِنْ بَوْل ِ الْهُلَامِ». أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوْدَ وَالسَّائِقُ، وَصَحَّحَه الحَاجِمُ.

(٧٧) وعَنْ أَسْمَآءَ بِنْتِ أَبِي بَكْرٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيَ ﷺ قَالَ فِي دَمِ اللَّحْ المُحْتُثُهُ، ثُمَّ تَقُرُصُهُ المُحْتُثُهُ، ثُمَّ تَقْرَصُهُ مِنْمَ تَقُصُهُ، ثُمَّ تُصَلِّي فِيهِ». مُتَقَنَّ عَمَلِي فِيهِ». مُتَقَنَّ عَمَلِي فِيهِ». مُتَقَنَّ عَلَي.

 (۲۸) وعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللهُ تَعَالَىٰ عنه قال: قَالَتْ خَولَةُ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! فَإِن لَمْ

the Hadith of scraping it when dry; while the latter group [Ash-Shafi'iya and in a saying of Ahmad] argues from the Hadith of washing the semen. In fact, if it is moist it should be cleaned by washing; and if it is dry it should be cleaned by scraping, rubbing or wiping. (See the book Natlul-Autar by Imām Shaukāni and Subulus-Salam by Imām As-San'ani)

^[1] His name is Iyyād. He was a manumitted slave and servant of the Prophet ﷺ . Ibn Abdul-Bar said that he was reported to be lost and nobody knew where he died.

^[2] It means that there is a difference in the urine of a boy and girl. In the suckling period, the girl's urine requires washing, while the boy's urine only requires pouring water over the spot soiled by the urine. Most of the scholars hold that the urine of the suckling boy is impure, but the 'sbari'ab has lightened the burden in its cleaning process.

^[3] She is the mother of 'Abdullāh bin Az-Zubair and the elder sister of 'Aisha. She became a Muslim very early in Makkah and migrated to Al-Madīnah. She died less than a month after the killing of her son Ibn Az-Zubair in 73 H. at the age of about 100 years, yet she neither lost a tooth nor suffered from senility. This Hadīth shows the great care that must be taken to wash and remove the traces of the blood from menses.

 $^{^{[4]}}$ Khaula bint Yasār was a *Sabābtya* and Abū Salama bin 'Abdur-Rahmān narrated the *Hadāth* from her.

go?" He said, "(Washing it with) water will suffice you, and its traces won't harm you." [Reported by At-Tirmidhi, and its Sanad (chain of narrators) is weak].

Chapter 4 WUDU' (ABLUTION)

29. Narrated Abū Huraira :: Allāh's Messenger :: said, "If it were not that I would burden my *Ummab* (followers), I would have commanded them to use *Siwāk* [1] (stick toothbrush) along with every ablution." [Reported by Mālik, Ahmad and An-Nasā'i. Ibn Khuzaima graded it *Sabib* (authentic) and Al-Bukhāri mentioned as a *Mu'allaq* (broken chain from the side of the collector, i.e. Al-Bukhari)].

30. Narrated Humrān^[2], the manumitted slave of 'Uthmān^[3]: 'Uthmān & called for water to perform ablution. He washed the palms of his hands three times, then rinsed his mouth and sniffed water in his nose and then blew it out. He then washed his face three times. Thereafter he washed his right hand up to [and including] his elbow three times, [4] then the left one in the

يَذْهَبِ الدَّمُ؟ قَالَ: "يَكْفِيكِ الهَاءُ، وَلَا يَضُرُّكِ أَتُوُهُ». أَخْرَجُهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَسَنَدُهُ ضَعِيفٌ.

٤ - بَابُ الوُضُوءِ

(٢٩) عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رضي الله تعالى عنه عن رسولِ الله ﷺ أنَّهُ قَالَ: اللَّولَا أَنْ أَشُقَ عَلَى أَمْتِي اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهَ اللَّهِ عَلَى أَنْ أَشُقَ عَلَى أَمْتِي اللَّمَوْلَهُمْ بِالسِّوَاكِ مَعَ كُلِّ وُضُوءٍ. أَخْرَجَهُ مَالِكُ وَأَخْمَدُ وَالنَّمَائِيْ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ خُزَيْمَةً، مَالِكُ وَأَخْمَدُ البُنُ خُزَيْمَةً، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ خُزَيْمَةً، وَوَكَمْ البُخَارِيُ تَعْلِيقاً.

(٣٠) وعَنْ حُمْرانَ مَوْلَى عُثْمَانَ رَضِي الله تعالى عنه: أَنَّ عُثْمَانَ دَعَا بِوَصُوءٍ فَمَسَلَ كَفَّيُهِ تعالى عنه: أَنَّ عُثْمَانَ دَعَا بِوَصُوءٍ فَمَسَلَ كَفَّيُهِ ثَلَاثَ مَرَّاتٍ، ثُمَّ عَسَلَ يَدَهُ ثُمَّ عَسَلَ وَجُهَهُ ثَلَاثَ مَرَّاتٍ، ثُمَّ عَسَلَ يَدَهُ اليُسْرَى إلَى المِوْفَقِ ثَلَاثَ مَرَّاتٍ، ثُمَّ اليُسْرَى مِثْلَ ذَيْكَ، ثُمَّ مَسَحَ بِرَأْسِهِ، ثُمَّ غَسَلَ رِجُلَهُ مِثْلَ رِجُلَهُ السُّمْرَى الْكَنْتِينَ ثَلَاثَ مَرَّاتٍ، ثُمَّ السُّمْرَى مِثْلَ رِجُلَهُ السُّمْرَى أَلْكُونَ مُرَّاتٍ، ثُمَّ السُّمْرَى أَلَاثَ مَرَّاتٍ، ثُمَّ السُّمْرَى أَلَاتُ مَرَّاتٍ، ثُمَّ السُّمْرَى أَلَاثَ مَرَّاتٍ، ثُمَّ السُّمْرَى أَلْكُونَ مَرَّاتٍ، ثُمَّ السُّمْرَى أَلَاثَ مَرَّاتٍ، ثُمَّ السُّمْرَى أَلَاثَ مَرَّاتٍ، ثُمَّ السُّمْرَى أَلَاثَ مَرَّاتٍ، ثُمَّ السُّمْرَى أَلَاثَ مَرَّاتٍ، ثُمَّ السُّمْرَى أَلْمَانِهُ مَاللَّهُ مَا السُّمْرَى أَلْكُونَ مَرَّاتٍ، ثُمَّ السُّمْرَى أَلَاتُ مَرَّاتٍ، ثُمَّ السُّمْرَى اللَّهُ مَالِهُ مَالِهُ مَالِهُ مَالِهُ اللَّهُ مَلَى الْمُؤْفَقِ اللَّهُ مَلَّاتٍ مُثَمَّاتٍ مُواتِهُ اللَّهُ مَالِهُ مَالِهُ مَالِهُ مَالِهُ مَالِهُ مَلَّاتٍ مَالَةً مَلْمَاتٍ مُواتٍ مُنْ أَلَاثُ مَرَّاتٍ مَوْلَتِهُ مَلَّاتٍ مُلْكَانِهُ مَالِهُ مَالِهُ مَلْكُونَ مُنْ اللَّهُ مَلْهُ مُنْلِكُ مَلَّاتٍ مُواتِهُ مَالِهُ مَالِهُ مُنْمُ لَلْكُونَ مُولِهُ مُلْكُونَ مَالِهُ مُنْ السُّمْرَاتِهُ مُنْكِلًا لِلْمُنْ مَالِهُ مُنْ اللَّهُ مُسَلِّلًا لِلْكُونَ مُنْ اللَّهُ مُنْ مُسَلِّعُ مَالِهُ مُنْ اللَّهُ مُنْ مُنْ السُّمْرَاتِ مُنْ الْمُنْكُلِقِهُ مِنْ مُنْ الْمُنْكُونِ مِنْ الْمُنْكُونِ مِنْ الْمُنْكُونِ مُنْ مُنْ الْمُنْكُونُ مِنْ الْمُنْكُونِ مِنْ الْمُنْكُونُ مِنْ أَلْكُونُ مُنْ الْمُنْكُونِ مِنْ الْمُنْكُونُ مُنْ السُّمْ مُنْ الْمُنْكُونُ مِنْ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ الْمُنْكُونُ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْكُونُ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ الْمُنْكُونُ مُنْ مُنْكُونُ مُنْ مُنْ الْمُنْكُونُ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ الْمُنْفَالِهُ مُنْكُونُ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْكُونُ مُنْكُونُ مُنْكُونُ مُنْ مُنْكُونُ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْكُونُ مُنْ مُنْكُونُ مُنْكُونُ مُنْ مُنْكُونُ مُنْكُونُ مُنْلِقًا مُنْكُونُ مُنْكُونُ مُنْ مُن

^[1] It means that the use of Siwāk (tooth cleaning stick from the Araak tree) with every ablution is Sunnab [the way of the noble Prophet 鑑]. The Hadīth reported by Muslim mentions that Siwāk should be used before every prayer. Thus, if someone is going to offer prayers having previously performed ablution, even then he should use Siwāk. These Abādīth show the emphasis on constant use of Siwāk for the cleaning of teeth. However, it is Sunnab (supererogatory) and not Wājth (compulsory). Other times when Siwāk is encouraged is when reading the Qur'an, awakening from sleep and whenever there is any change in the condition of the mouth (i.e. odors).

¹²¹ Humran bin Aban was caught by Khalid bin Al-Walid in a war during Abu Bakr's caliphate. He was purchased by 'Uthman who freed him. He is trustworthy of the 2nd grade in the reporting of Abadith. He died in 75 H.

^[3] The third of the Rightly Guided Caliphs. He accepted Islam early and married Ruqaiya and then Umm Kulthum, daughters of the Prophet 藝 and was therefore nicknamed *Dbūn-Nūrain* (the possessor of the two lights, i.e. the daughters of the Prophet 鑑). He was killed as a martyr on Friday, 18th Dhul Hijja, 35 H.

^[4] In this Hadith washing of face, hands and feet is stated to be done three times each, whereas in others, two times and one time washing is regarded as enough. Imam Nawawi has written the consensus of opinions that washing once is Fard (obligatory).

same manner, then he wiped his head (with wet hands). Then he washed his right foot, up to [and including] the ankle three times, then the left one in the same manner. He then said, "I saw Allāh's Messenger performing ablution like this ablution of mine." [Agreed upon].

31. Narrated 'Ali^[1] & regarding the description of the ablution of the Prophet ﷺ: He (the Prophet ﷺ) wiped his head (with wet hands) one time. [2] [Reported by Abū Dā'ud. An-Nasā'i and At-Tirmidhi reported it with a Sabib Sanad (authentic chain of narrators). At-Tirmidhi said, "It's the most authentic Hadītb on this subject'"].

32. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Zaid bin 'Aasim^[3] & regarding the description of ablution: Allāh's Messenger & wiped his head from the forehead back [up to, but *not* including the nape of the neck] and then back to the forehead^[4] with his two (wet) hands. [Agreed upon].

And in another narration of theirs: "He began from the front of his head and took them (his wet hands) to the back of his head and then returned them to the place he had started from."

33. Narrated Abdullāh bin 'Amr^[5] & regarding the description of the

مِثْلَ ذَلِكَ، ثُمَّ قَالَ: رَأَيْتُ رَسُولَ الله ﷺ تَوَضَّأَ نَحْوَ وُضُوثِي هَذَا. مُتَفَقَّ عَلَيْه.

(٣١) وعَنْ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ - فِي صِفَةِ وُضُوءِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ - قَالَ: وَمَسَحَ بِرَأْسِهِ وَاحِدَةً. أَخْرَجهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَأَخْرَجهُ النَّسَائِقُ وَالتَّرْمِذِيُّ بِإِسْنَادِ صَحِيحٍ، بَلْ قَالَ التَّرْمِذِيُّ: إِنَّهُ أَصَحُ شَيْءٍ فِي النَّاسِ.

(٣٧) وعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ زِيْدِ بْنِ عَاصِم, رضي الله تعالى عنه - في صِفَةِ الوُضُوءِ -قَالَ: وَمَسَحَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ بِرَأْسِهِ فَأَقْبَلَ بِيكَذِهِ وَأَدْبَرَ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْه.

وَفِي لَفْظِ لَهُمَا: بَدَأَ بِمُقَدَّمِ رَأْسِهِ حَتَّى ذَهَبَ بِهِمَا إِلَى قَفَاهُ، ثُمَّ رَدَّهُمَا حَتَّى رَجَعَ إِلَى المَكَانِ الَّذِي بَدَأَ مِنْهُ.

(٣٣). وعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ عَمْرُو رضي الله تعالى عنهما – في صِفَةِ الوُضُوءِ – قَالَ: ثُمَّ

¹¹⁾ The fourth of the Rightly Guided Caliphs. He fought all the battles except Tabuk, for the Prophet ﷺ had left him as in-charge in Al-Madīnah. An evildoer called 'Abdur-Rahmān bin Muljam killed him as a martyr on Friday morning 17th Ramadān 40 H. at Kufa.

^[2] It is legislated to wipe the head (*Mash*) only one time. Some scholars hold that wiping the head three times is also legislated.

^[3] He was an Arisāri belonging to Bani Māzin from An-Najār clan. He fought at Uhud and killed Musailima Al-Kadhdhāb together with Wahshi on Al-Yamāma Day. He was killed on the day of Al-Harrah in 63 H.

^[4] This Haditb tells us that Masb (wiping) of head should be started from the front – covering the whole head – and then returning to the starting point.

^[5] He is the son of 'Amr bin Al'-Aas Al-Qurashi. He became a Muslim before his father who was older than him by 13 years. He was an 'Aalim (learned), memorized Abaditb and was very pious. He died in the 63 H. or 70 H.

ablution: "Then he (Allāh's Messenger 醬) wiped his head, inserted his index fingers in his ears and wiped the exterior of his ears with his thumbs."^[1] [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i. Ibn Khuzaima graded it Sabib (authentic)].

34. Narrated Abū Huraira : Allāh's Messenger : said, "When one of you wakes up from his sleep, he must clean his nose (with water, by sniffing it in and then blowing it out) three times, for Satan spends the night inside one's nostrils." [Agreed upon].

35. Narrated (Abū Huraira) . (Allāh's Messenger said,) "When one of you wakes up from his sleep, he must not put his hand in a utensil till he has washed it three times, [3] for he does not know where his hand was (while he slept)." [Agreed upon, and this is Muslim's wording].

36. Narrated Laqit bin Sabra &: Allāh's Messenger # said, "Perform a perfect Wudu' (ablution), run (your fingers) through the fingers (of the hands) as well as between the toes, [4] and sniff

مَسَحَ ﷺ بِرَأْسِهِ وَأَدْخَلَ إِصْبَعَيْهِ السَّبَّاحَتَيْن فِي أُذُنَيْهِ، وَمَسَحَ بِإِنْهَامَيْهِ عَلَى ظَاهِرٍ أُذُنَيْه. أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنِّسَائِيُّ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ خُزَيْمَةً.

(٣٤) وعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رضي الله تعالى عنه قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ الله ﷺ: اإِذَا اسْتَيْقَظَ أَحَدُكُمْ مِنْ مَنامِهِ فَلَيْسْتَنْفِرْ ثَلَانًا، فَإِنَّ الشَّيْطَانَ يَبِيتُ عَلَى خَيْشُومِهِ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْه.

(٣٥) وعَنْهُ: الإِذَا الشَّيْقَظَ أَحَدُكُمْ مِنْ نَوْمِهِ فَلَا يَغْمِدُ فَلَا يَغْمِدُ فَلَا يَغْمِدُ لَكُ عَنْمَ يَغْمِلُهَا فَلَائًا، فَإِنَّهُ لَا يَغْمِدُ عَنْمَ يَغْمِلُهَا فَلَائًا، فَإِنَّهُ لَا يَغْمُ لَا يَغْمُ عَلَيْهِ، وَمَذَا لَفْظُ مُسْلَم.

(٣٦) وعَنْ لَقِيطِ بْنِ صَبِرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى
 عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «أَسْبِغِ
 الوُضُوءَ، وَخَلْلُ بَيْنَ الأَصَابِعِ، وَبَالِغْ فِي

^[1] It means that the ears are to be wiped internally and externally, with the same water used for wiping the head. The side close to the head is external and near the face is internal. At-Tirmidhi – after narrating the *Hadītb* concerning wiping of the ears internally and externally – says: The religious scholars act in accordance with this *Hadītb*.

^[2] Satan's spending the night inside the nostrils of a man is plausible. However, its actual state is better known to Allâh. It may be that this is a figurative expression, because bad excretions gather in the nose and cause laziness, indolence, slackness and negligence. And all these states are satanic dispositions. Blowing water out of the nose upon awakening from sleep might be performed as an individual act, or along with ablution. It is considered obligatory by Ahmad, while the majority of scholars consider it Sunnab.

^[3] It means that hands should not be dipped in the ablution water container, as the word 'ablution' is present in some of the Abāātith narrated by Bukhāri. Allamah Ibn Hajar, in his book Fath Al-Bāri, says: Although this Hadātih apparently seems to be related to the utensils of ablution, it includes all other utensils and bathing water containers. However, if there is a big pool or tank of water then it is permissible to immerse hands in it. This is applicable whether one awakens from the sleep during the night or day. However, Ahmad views it as obligatory upon awakening from sleep of the night.

^[4] It means that both fingers and toes should be washed completely and carefully. It also shows the obligation of performing ablution perfectly, washing every member required in

water up well inside the nose, unless you are fasting." [Reported by Al-Arba'a, [1] and Ibn Khuzaima graded it Sabib (authentic)]. In another narration, Abū Dā'ud has: "If you perform ablution, then rinse your mouth."

38. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Zaid 泰: Two-thirds of a *Mudd*^[3] (of water) was brought to the Prophet 義 (for ablution) so he was rubbing his forearms (between the wrist and the elbow). [Reported by Ahmad, and Ibn Khuzaima graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

39. Narrated ('Abdullāh bin Zaid) &: He saw the Prophet & taking some water to wipe his ears, other than the water he had taken to wipe his head. [Reported by Al-Baihaqi, who said that its Isnād (chain of narrators) is authentic, At-Tirmidhi also graded it Sabib (authentic)].

It has been reported by Muslim, through the same chain as Al-Baihaqi's, with the wording: "he wiped his head with water other than the water remaining from the washing of the hands," and this narration (of Muslim)

الاشتِنشَاقِ إِلَّا أَنْ تَكُونَ صَائِماً». أَخْرَجَهُ الأَرْبَعَةُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ خُرِّيْهَةَ. وَلاِبِي دَاوُدَ فِي رِوَايَةِ: الإِذَا تَوَضَّاتَ فَمَضْمِضْ».

(٣٧) وعَنْ عُنْمَانَ رضي الله تعالى عنه: أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ كَانَ يُخَلِّلُ لِحْيَتُهُ فِي الوُصُّوءِ. أَخْرَجَهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ خُرْيَمَةً.

(٣٨) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ زَيْدِ رَضِيَ اللّهُ تَعَالَى
 عَنهُ: أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ أَي بِثْلُقي مُدَّ فَجَعَلَ يَدْلُكُ
 ذِرَاعَيْدِ. أَخْرَجَهُ أَحْمَدُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ خُزَيْهَةً.

(٣٩) وعَنْهُ: أَنَّهُ رَأَى النَّبِيِّ ﷺ يَأْخُذُ لِأَذْتِيهِ مَاءً خِلَافَ المَاءِ الَّذِي أَخَذَهُ لِرَأْسِهِ. أَخْرَجَهُ البَيْهَةِيْ، وَقَالَ: إِسْنَادُهُ صَحِيعٌ، وَصَحَّحَهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ أَيْضاً.

وَهُوَ عِنْدَ مُسْلِمٍ مِنْ هَذَا الوَجْهِ بِلَفْظ: ومَسَحَ بِرَأْسِهِ بِمَآءِ غَيْرِ فَضْلٍ يَدَيْهِ. وَهُوَ المَحْفُوظُ.

ablution, and washing the mouth and nose thoroughly except the fasting person.

^[1] Abu Dā'ud, Tirmidhi, Nasā'i and Ibn Mājah.

^[2] During the performance of ablution, combing of beard with the fingers is *Sunnab* (supererogatory) and not *Wājib* (compulsory) according to most of the Companions, as reported by Al-Bukhari.

^[3] This is the least quantity of water mentioned for ablution. In some $Ab\bar{a}ditb$ [Muslim reported from Safina], a full Mudd (ω) has been mentioned. One Mudd is about six hundred grams. No maximum limit of water has been fixed. Therefore, any amount of water may be used for ablution and bath. However, one must avoid waste. This $bad\bar{u}tb$ also shows that it is legislated to rub the parts of the body which are washed in ablution. Some scholars hold that it is obligatory.

is Al-Mahfuz (i.e. the correct narration which is acted upon; not the one reported by Al-Baihaqi).

40. Narrated Abū Huraira : I heard Allāh's Messenger : saying, "My people will come on the Day of Resurrection with radiant faces, hands and feet from the traces of Wudu' (ablution). If any of you can extend his brightness, [1] let him do so." [Agreed upon and this is Muslim's wording].

41. Narrated 'Aisha \\$: Allāh's Messenger \\$\ \text{loved to begin with the right while putting on his shoes, combing his hair, in his purification and in all his affairs. \[\text{[Agreed upon]}. \]

42. Narrated Abū Huraira **\$\displays\$:** Allāh's Messenger **\$\displays\$:** said, "When you perform ablution, begin with your right limbs." [Reported by *Al-Arba'a*^[3] and graded *Sabib* (authentic) by Ibn Khuzaima].

43. Narrated Al-Mughira bin Shuʻba^[4] 本: The Prophet 繼 performed ablution and passed wet hands on his forelock, over the turban and over the two leather socks.^[5] [Reported by Muslim].

44. Narrated läbir bin 'Abdulläh & [6]

(٠٤) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَمِغْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ: ﴿إِنَّ أَمْتِي يَاتُونَ يَوْمَ القِيَامَةِ غُرًّا مُحَجَّلِينَ مِنْ أَنْوِ الوُضُوءِ، فَمَن اسْتَطَاعَ مِنكُمْ أَنْ يُطِيلَ غُرَّتُهُ فَلَيْمُهُ...

(٤١) وعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِي الله تعالى عنها قَالَتْ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يُعْجِبُهُ التَّيَّشُنُ فِي تَنَعُّلِهِ وَتَرَجُّلِهِ وَطُهُورِهِ، وَفِي شَانِهِ كُلَّةٍ. مُتَقَنَّ عَلَيْهِ.

(٢٤) وعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةً رضي الله تعالى عنه
 قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا تَوَضَّأَتُمْ فَابْدَءُوا
 بِمَيَامِنِكُمْ ، أَخْرَجَهُ الأَرْبَعَةُ وَصَحَّحَهُ أَبْنُ خُرْبَهَةً

(٤٣) وعَن المُغِيرَةِ بْنِ شُعْبَةَ رضي الله تعالى عنه، أنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ تَوَضَّا فَمَسَخ بِنَاصِيَتِهِ وَعلَى العِمَامَةِ وَالخُفْيْنِ. أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٤٤) وعَنْ جَابِر بْنِ عَبْدِ اللهِ رضى الله تعالى

⁽¹⁾ It may have more than one meaning. It may mean washing of limbs more than the minimum limits, for example, washing of hands up to the shoulders and washing of feet up to the knees, as was understood by Abū Huraira & It may also mean that every limb should be washed three times, instead of washing it one time - the minimum limit for washing. It may also mean to perform ablution again and again or to remain with ablution all the time.

^[2] This mode of action of the noble Prophet 👸 was for noble actions, for other actions like coming out of mosque and entering a toilet etc., one should proceed with the left foot first.

^[3] Abū Dā'ud, Tirmidhi, Nasā'i and Ibn Mājah.

^[4] Abū 'Abdullah or Abū 'Īsa, Al-Mughira bin Shu'ba bin Mas'ūd Ath-Thaqafi was a prominent Sabābi. He became a Muslim in the year of the Kbandaq (trench) and migrated. He first participated in Al-Hudaibiya. He died in 50 H. in Kūfa.

^[5] This Hadith makes it clear that wiping over a turban is legislated. There are two forms of it. First, to wipe partly on the turban and partly on the forelock. There is no difference of opinion on this form of action. Secondly, to wipe over the turban alone. There is a difference of opinion on this, but it is supported by a Sabih Hadith narrated by Tirmidhi, and it is the opinion of Ahmad and Ibn Al-Qayyim.

^[6] Jäbir was an Ansäri from Sulami clan and he was nicknamed Abû 'Abdullâh. He was among the eminent Sabāba. He fought at Badr though some said that he witnessed neither

regarding the description of the *Hajj* (pilgrimage) of the Prophet **\$\simes\$**: He (**\$\simes\$**) said, "Begin with what Allāh had begun with." [Reported by An-Nasā'i in this way – in the command form (*al-amr*) while Muslim has reported it in the informative form (*al-kbabar*)^[2]].

45. Narrated (Jabir bin 'Abdullāh) &: The Prophet & used to run the water down his elbows while performing ablution. [Reported by Ad-Dāraqutni with a Da'ff (weak) chain of narrators].

46. Narrated Abū Huraira . Alāh's Messenger said, "There is no Wudu' (ablution) for one who does not mention Allāh's Name upon it^[3]." [Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and Ibn Mājah with a weak chain of narrators]. At-Tirmidhi reported something similar to the above from Sa'īd bin Zaid^[4] and Abū Sa'īd. Ahmad said: There is nothing authenticated concerning this matter.]

47. Narrated Talha bin Musarrif, [5]

عنهما - فِي صِفَةِ حَجِّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ - قَالَ ﷺ: ﴿ابْدَءُوا بِمَا بَدَأَ اللَّهُ بِهِ. أَخْرَجُهُ النَّسَائِيُّ هَكَذَا بِلَفْظِ الأَمْرِ، وَهُوَ عِنْدَ مُسْلِمٍ بِلْفَظِ الخَبْرِ.

 (62) وعَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ إِذَا تَوَضًا أَدَارَ المَاءَ عَلَى مِرْفَقَيْهِ. أَخْرَجَهُ الدَّارَقُطْنِي بإِسْنَادٍ ضَعِيفَ.

(٤٦) وعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا وُضُوءَ لِمَنْ لَمْ يَلْهُ وَلَهُ وَالْهُ مَاجَهُ بِإِسْنَادٍ ضَعِيفٍ . وَالتَّرْمِذِيُّ عَنْ سَعِيدِ الْهُوَهُ. وَقَالَ أَحْمَدُ: لَا الْهُرْ رَيْدٍ وَأَبِي سَعِيدٍ نَحْوَهُ. وَقَالَ أَحْمَدُ: لَا يَتُبْتُ فِيهِ شَيْءٌ.

(٤٧) وعَنْ طَلْحَةَ بْنِ مُصَرِّفٍ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ

Badr nor Uhud, but took part in those battles that followed them. He was also at Siffin. He was among the memorizers of many *Abādītīb*. He became blind towards the end of his life, and died in 74 H. at the age of 94 years. It is reported that he was the last *Sabābī* to die at Al-Madīnah.

[1] The Noble Qur'an has mentioned As-Safa in the first place among As-Safa and Al-Marwa. The noble Prophet ﷺ started Sa'i (running between Safa and Marwa during Hajj and 'Umrab') from the Safa side. Hence, one should start ablution in the same manner, starting from washing of the face, then hands up to elbows; then wipe the head and wash the feet – following the order mentioned in the Qur'an.

[2] In Muslim's narration the word | u, has been used in the Arabic text, in the sense of giving information (i.e. I begin with...) instead of the command form (i.e. Begin with...), as in the narration of An-Nasa'i.

[3] In this regard, there exist supporting Abāditb (though weak) which strengthen one another concerning the pronouncement of a before performing ablution. The correct position is that the pronouncement of is Sunnab, according to the Hanafiya and Shafi'tya schools. Ahmad holds that it is obligatory for the one who remembers to do so, while the one who forgets is pardoned.

[4] He is Sa'id bin Zaid bin 'Amr Al-Qurashi, nicknamed Abù Al-A'war and is one of the ten who were promised Paradise. He accepted Islam very early and was married to Fatima, the sister of 'Umar, and they were both instrumental in 'Umar becoming a Muslim. He fought all the battles except Badr, because he was away looking for the caravan. He died in 51 H. and was buried at Al-Baqi'.

[5] He is Abū Muhammad or Abū 'Abdullāh Talha bin Musarrif. He was a reliable *Tābi'i* (see

quoting his father on the authority of his grandfather^[1]: "I saw Allāh's Messenger ## rinsing his mouth and sniffing water up his nose and then blowing it out with separate scoops^[2] of water." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud with a Da'ff (weak) chain of narrators].

48. Narrated 'Ali regarding the description of Wudu' (ablution): The Prophet rinsed (his mouth) and cleaned (his nose) sniffing up the water and then blowing it out three times. He sniffed up and blew his nose with the same hand from which he took the water. [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i].

49. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Zaid & regarding Wudu' (ablution): The Prophet & put his hand (in the utensil) rinsed (his mouth) and cleaned (his nose) from one scoop (of water) (sniffing it up and blowing it out). He did that three times. [Agreed upon].

50. Narrated Anas : The Prophet saw a man on whose foot appeared a portion like the size of a fingernail which was not touched by water. He then said, "Go back and perform your Wudu" (ablution) properly. [3] ... [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i].

جَدِّهِ قَالَ: رَأَيْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَفْصِلُ بَيْنَ المَضْمَضَةِ وَالاِسْتِنْشَاقِ. أُخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ بِإِشْنَادِ ضَعِيف.

(48) وعَنْ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ - فِي صِفَةِ الوُصُوءِ -: ثُمَّ تَمَضْمَضَ ﷺ وَاسْتَنْثَرَ نَلَانًا، يُمَضْمِضُ وَيَنْثُرُ مِنَ الكَفَّ اللَّذِي يَأْخُذُ مِنْهُ المَآءَ. أُخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوْدَ وَالشَّائِقُ.

(43) وعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِر زِيْدِ رَضِي اللهِ تعالى عنه - فِي صِفَةِ الوُضُوءِ -: ثُمَّ أَدْخَلَ ﷺ يَدَهُ فَصَصْمَضَ وَاسْتَنْشَقَ مِنْ كَفُ وَاحِدٍ، يَفْعُلُ ذَلِكَ لَلَانًا. ثَلَانًا. مُثَمَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٠٠) وَعَنْ أَنْسٍ رَضِي الله تعالى عنه قالَ:
 رَأَى النَّبِيُ ﷺ رَجُلاً وَفِي قَدَمِهِ مِثْلَ الظُّفْرِ لَمْ
 يُضِبْهُ المَاءً، قَقَالَ: الرَّحِعْ فَأَحْسِنْ وُضُوءَكَا.
 أَخْرِجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَائِقُ.

glossary) of the 5th grade. He was a righteous reciter of the Qur'ān, and died in 112 H. His father Musarrif is *Majhālu-HāL* (i.e. uncertified as a reliable reporter) and this is one of the causes of this *Hadīth* being considered *Da'tf* (weak).

^[1] He is called Ka'b bin 'Amr or 'Amr bin Ka'b bin Juhdub Al-Yāmi – descending from a Yamani tribe called Yām of Hamadān. Ibn 'Abdul-Bār said he (Ka'b) settled in Kufa and is a *Sabābi*.

^[2] This Hadith suggests that the noble Prophet ## used to take water separately for cleaning the nose and rinsing the mouth. According to the author, this Hadith is Da'if (weak). According to Al-Bukhāri and Muslim [see the following Hadīth, no. 49], the noble Prophet ## used a single handful of water for rinsing the mouth and cleaning the nose. Imām Nawawi has described five manners of rinsing the mouth and cleaning the nose and considered as correct the manner recorded by Al-Bukhāri and Muslim.

^[3] This Hadith makes it clear that Gbusl (washing) of the whole foot is obligatory. In a Hadith recorded by Muslim, it is stated that the Fire is for that part of the foot that is dry. In this Hadith, there is repudiation for those who consider the Mash (wiping) of foot as proper and acceptable; or those who consider the Mash (wiping) and Gbusl (washing) both compulsory; or those who consider Mash and Gbusl both permissible.

'Umar^[3] 🚓: 52. Narrated Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "If one of you performs ablution thoroughly, then recites (the following supplication): (Asb-badu an lā ilāba ill-Allābu wahdahu lā sharika lahu, wa ashhadu anna Muhammadan 'Ahdubu wa Rasūlubu) 'I testify that there is no one worthy of worship but Allah. He is Alone and has no partner and I testify that Muhammad is His slave and His Messenger,' - all the eight gates of Paradise will be opened for him and he may enter through any gate he wishes." [Reported by Muslim and At-Tirmidhi who added (the following words to the supplication): (Allābumma aj'alni minat-tawwabina waj'alni min Almutatabbirina) "Oh Allāh! Include me among those who repent often and those who keep themselves pure"].

 (٥١) وعَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَتَوَضَأً بِالمُدِّ، وَيغْتَسِلُ بِالصَّاعِ إِلَى خَمْسَةِ أَمْدَادٍ.
 مُثَقَّنُ عَلَيْهِ.

(٧٠) وعَنْ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَا مِنْكُمْ مِنْ أَحَدِ يَتَوَضَّأُ فَيُسْبِعُ الوُصُوءَ، ثُمَّ يَقُولُ: أَشْهَدُ أَنْ لَا إِلَهَ إِلَّا اللَّهُ، وَحْدَهُ لَا شَرِيكَ لَهُ، وأَشْهَدُ أَنْ مُحَمَّدًا عَبْدُهُ وَرَسُولُهُ، إِلَّا فَيَعَتْ لَهُ أَبْوَابُ الجَنَّةِ». أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ وَالتَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَزَادَ: "اللَّهُمَّ اجْمَلْنِي مِنَ المُنْطَهُرِينَ".

Chapter 5 Mash (Wiping) over Khuffain (Two Leather Socks)

53. Narrated Mughira bin Shu'ba &:
Once I was in the company of the
Prophet ﷺ. He then performed
ablution and I reached down to take off

ه - بَابُ المَسْحِ عَلَى الخُفَّيْنِ

(٣٠) عن المُغِيرَة بْن شُعْبَة رَضِيَ اللَّه تَعَالَى
 عَنْهُ قَالَ: كُنْتُ مَعَ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، فَتَوَشَّاً فَالْمَوْيَثُ
 لِإِنْنِعَ خَفْيْهِ، فَقَالَ: «دَعْهُمَا فَإِنِي أَذْخُلْتُهُمَا

^[1] One *Mudd* (ω) is equal to six hundred grams approx. and one $Sa'(\omega)$ is equal to a little more than two and a half kilograms, and this is the least quantity to be used. It means that one should be very careful in the use of water.

^[2] One Sa' is equivalent to 4 Mudd or 2660 grams.

^[3] The second Guided Caliph who was unique throughout history. He filled the world with wisdom, justice and conquests. He was Quraish's ambassador during the *Jabiliya* (ignorance) period. He accepted Islam in Dhul Hijla, the 6th year of the Prophethood and fought all the battles. He made conquests in Iraq, Persia, Shām, Egypt and other places. He was killed by Abū Lu'lu'a, a slave of Al-Mughira bin Shu'ba and died as a martyr on 1st Muharram 24 H.

his socks (*Khuffain*). He said, "Leave them for I have put them on in a state of purification.^[1]" So he wiped over them. [Agreed upon].

54. Al-Arba'a except An-Nasā'i reported from (Al-Mughira): The Prophet swiped over the upper part of the leather socks and the under part of it. [There is Da'f (weakness) in its chain of narrators].

55. Narrated 'Ali ... If the religion were based on opinion, [2] it would be more fitting to wipe the under parts of the leather socks rather than the upper. However, I have seen Allāh's Messenger wiping over the upper parts of his leather socks. [Reported by Abu Dā'ud with a *Hasan* (good) *Isnād* (chain of narrators)].

56. Narrated Safwan bin 'Assāl^[3] &: When we were on a journey, ^[4] the Prophet ## used to command us not to remove our leather socks (for washing our feet in ablution) for three days and three nights. ^[5] even if we had to

طَاهِرَتَيْنِ ۗ فَمَسَحَ عَلَيْهِمَا. مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(30) وللأَرْبَعَةِ عَنْهُ إِلَّا النَّسَائِيَّ: أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ
 مَسَحَ أَعْلَى الخُفُ وَأَشْفَلَهُ. وَفِي إِشْنَادِهِ
 ضَغْفٌ.

(٥٥) وعَنْ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ:
لَوْ كَانَ الدِّينُ بِالرَّأْيِ لَكَانَ أَشفلُ الخُفِّ أَوْلَى بِالرَّأْيِ لَكَانَ أَشفلُ الخُفِّ أَوْلَى بِالمَشْعِ مِنْ أَعْلَاهُ، وَقَدْ رَأَيْثُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَمْسَحُ عَلَى ظَاهِرٍ خُفَّيْهِ. أَخْرَجُهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ بِإِسْنَادٍ
حَسَن .

(٥٦) وَعَنْ صَفْوَانَ بْنِ عَسَّالِ رضي الله تَعَالَى عنه قَالَ: كَانَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ يَأْمُونا إِذَا كُنَّا سَفْراً أَن لا تَنْزعَ خِفَافَنَا ثَلَاثَةَ أَيَّامٍ ولَيَالِيهُنَّ سَفْراً أَن لا تَنْزعَ خِفَافَنَا ثَلَاثَةَ أَيَّامٍ ولَيَالِيهُنَّ إِلَّا مِنْ خَلَاهٍ وَبَول وَتَوْمٍ.

^[1] Masb (wiping) over the upper side of socks is allowed by the general body of Muslim scholars with its conditions. One of those conditions is that one should have put on the socks after performing ablution. Hence, if socks have been worn without performing an ablution then wiping over the socks is not permissible. Also, it should be known that the Hadīth, which indicates wiping the bottom of socks, is not authentic.

^[2] It means that the religious commands and prohibitions are based on Revelation (Qur'an and Sunnab) and not on the opinions of men. Hence, one cannot accept or reject the Shari'ab rulings based on ones comprehension of them or lack of it. Nonetheless, this does not mean that the commands and prohibitions of religion are necessarily against the intellect and wisdom. This Hadith also proves that giving a verdict against a Sahib (authentic) Hadith is not allowed. This has been clarified in Islamic Jurisprudence and its principles.

^[3] Safwān bin 'Assāl Al-Murādi Al-Jumali was a well-known *Sahābi* who had accompanied the Prophet **a** in twelve *Gbazwāt* (expeditions). He settled at Kufa and it is said that among the *Sahāba*, only 'Abdullāh bin Mas'ūd reported *Hadītb* from him.

ا⁴ Masb (wiping) over the socks is proper and legally proven by Abadītb. There are more than eighty (80) Companions of the noble Prophet 纏 who have narrated and reported about this topic. 'Asbrae-Mubashshara' مشرة مُسِّرة مُسِّرة بُسِّرة بُسِّرة who were given the glad tiding of Paradise in this world) are also included in the list of reporters. Ibn 'Abdul-Barr has related the consensus of opinion concerning this issue.

^[5] It means that Mash (wiping) is allowed for a traveler up to three days and nights, and for a resident up to twenty-four hours. This time period allowed for Mash starts when someone

answer the call of nature (urination or defecation) or slept. However, in case of Janaabab (ejaculation or sexual impurity), [he commanded us to remove the leather socks] (in order to take a complete Ghusl). [Reported by An-Nasa'i and At-Tirmidhi, and the wording is At-Tirmidhi's. He and Ibn Khuzaima graded it Sabib (authentic)].

57. Narrated 'Ali 🐟: The Prophet 🛎 fixed the period of Mash (wiping) over the leather socks (Khifāf - plural of Khuff) for three days and nights for a traveler and one day and a night for the resident person (in a town). [Reported by Muslim].

58. Narrated Thawban^[1] : Messenger s sent out a Sariab (a small group of soldiers) on a military expedition and commanded them to wipe over the turbans[2] and leather socks. [Reported by Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud. Al-Hākim graded it Sahih (authentic)].

أَخْرَجَهُ النَّسَائِينُ وَالتَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَاللَّفْظُ لَهُ، وَابْنُ خُزَنْمَةً وَصَحَّحَاهُ.

(٧٧) وعَنْ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: جَعَلَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ ثَلَاثَةَ أَيَّامٍ وَلَيَالِيَهُنَّ لِلْمُسَافِرِ، وَيَومًا وَلَيْلَةً لِلْمُقِيمِ، يَعْنِي فِي المَسْحِ عَلَى الخُفَّانِ. أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلمٌ.

(٥٨) وعَنْ نُوْبَانَ رضي الله تعالى عنه قَالَ: بَعَثَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ سَريَّةً فَأَمَرَهُمْ أَنْ يَمْسَحُوا عَلَى العَصَآئِبِ، يَعْنَى العَمَائِمَ، وَالتَّسَاخِين، يَعْنِي الخِفَافَ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَصَحَّحَهُ

(٩٥) وعَنْ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ مَوْقُوفًا ، Narrated 'Umar 🐗 in a Mawqūf

renews their ablution - using the permission of wiping over their socks - after having nullified their previous ablution; not from the time of wearing the socks, nor from the time of nullification of ablution. [See: Rabmat Al-Ummah, Shaykh Muhammad Abdur-Rahman Ad-Dimashqi, pg. 21; Fiqb Al-'Ibādāt, Shaykh Al-Uthaimīn, pg. 117, Question no. 73; Taysīr Al-'Allām, Shaykh Abdullah Āl Bassām, Hadith no. 22]. The way of carrying out Mash (حسم wiping) is by wetting the hands with water and wiping the upper surface of the foot. Al-Imam As-San'āni says: There are no authentic Hadīth concerning the exact manner of wiping, except the (previously mentioned) Hadith of 'Ali (no. 55). After the completion of the permitted time or by passing of wind, urine, etc., Mash nullifies, and similarly, it is cancelled by all those things that cancel or nullify ablution. Mash is resorted to with ablution only, and is not allowed with the performance of Ghusl (bath).

^[1] He is Thaubān bin Bujdud bin Jahdar, who was nicknamed Abū 'Abdullāh. He was an inhabitant of As-Surāt which is a place between Makkah and Al-Madīnah. It was also said that he was from Himyar. He stayed with the Prophet 鑑 throughout his life, then settled in Sham and later on moved to Hims, in which he died in 54 H.

^[2] In the Arabic text the word 'Asā'ib (عصائب) is used – meaning a bandage which is used for dressing of wounds; or in case of a broken leg or arm, the wrapping over the wooden strips around the broken bone. Here, however, it refers to the turban. This Hadith is a proof that wiping over the turban is allowed just as wiping over socks is allowed, as held by Ahmad and others. However, the majority disallows wiping over the turban (contrary to this Hadītb). Some said: ...except for some need, such as in cold weather.

report (saying of a companion), and Anas in a *Marfū'* (attributed to the Prophet) *Hadīth*: "If one of you performs ablution and puts on his two leather socks, let him perform *Mash* (wipe) over them (with water) and pray in them, and he may not take them off during washing for ablution, if he so wishes, [1] except (in case of bathing) for *Janābah* (ejaculation or sexual impurity). [Reported by Ad-Dāraqutni and Al-Hākim and the latter graded it *Sabīth* (authentic)].

60. Narrated Abū Bakra^[2] &: The Prophet & gave permission for the traveler to perform Mash (wiping) over his leather socks for three days and nights and for a non-traveler (resident) for a day and a night, if he had purified himself (by performing ablution) and then put them on (i.e. in a state of purity). [Reported by Ad-Dāraqutni, and graded Sabib (authentic) by Ibn Khuzaima].

61. Narrated Ubai bin 'Imāra^[3] &: I asked, "O Messenger of Allāh, may I wipe over the *Kbuffain* (leather socks)?" The Prophet & replied, "Yes". I asked, "For one day?" He replied, "Yes (for one day?" He replied, "Yes (for two days?" He replied, "Yes (for two days?" He replied, "Yes (for two days?" He replied, "Yes, and as long as you wish". [Reported by Abū Dā'ud, who said, "It is not strong." [4]

وانسِ مَرْفوعاً: ﴿إِذَا تَوَضًا أَحَدُكُمْ وَلَبِسَ خُفَّيْهِ فَلْيَشْسَحْ عَلَيْهِمَا، وَلَيْصَلُ فِيهِمَا، وَلَا يَخْلَمْهُمَا إِنْ شَاءَ إِلَّا مِنْ جَنَابَةِه. أُخْرَجُهُ الدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ وَالحَاكِمُ وَصَحَّحَهُ.

(١٠) وعَنْ أَبِي بَكْرَةَ رَضِي الله تعالى عنه عَن النّبيّ ﷺ أَنّهُ رَخْصَ لِلْمُسَافِرِ ثَلَائَةَ أَيَّامٍ وَلَيْلَيْهُمَّ، وَلِلْمُقِيمِ يَوْماً وَلَيْلَةً، إِذَا تَطَهَّرَ فَلَيسَ خُفْيُهِ، أَنْ يَمْسَحَ عَلَيْهِمَا. أَخْرَجَهُ الدَّارَتُطَنَيُ وَصَحَحَهُ الدَّارَتُطَنَيُ وَصَحَحَهُ الدَّارِ خُرْيُهَةً.

(٦١) وعَنْ أَبِيِّ بْنِ عِمَارَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ أَنْهُ وَلَهُ وَمَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّهُ أَنْهُ وَلَائَةَ أَيَّامٍ ؟ قَالَ: وَثَلَائَةَ أَيَّامٍ ؟ قَالَ: وَثَلَائَةَ أَيَّامٍ ؟ قَالَ: نَعْمُ قَالَ: وَثَلَائَةً أَيْمُ وَالْوَدُنَّ قَالَ: يَعْمُ قَالَ: وَثَلَائَةً أَيْمُ وَالْوَدُنَّ قَالَ: وَثَلَائَةً أَبُو وَالْوَدُنِي .

^{[1] &#}x27;If he so wishes' is applicable within the permitted time for *Mash* (wiping). After completion of the time allowed for *Mash*, it is a must to take off the socks and perform ablution afresh including washing the feet, and then one may put the socks on again.

^[2] His name is Nufai' bin Al-Hārith or bin Al-Masrūh. He descended from Tā'if Fort together with a group of slaves and became a Muslim, whereupon the Prophet 攤 freed him. He was among the virtuous *Sahāba* and died at Basra in 51 H. or 52 H.

^[3] Ubai bin Imāra was a Sabābi from the Ansār of Al-Madīnah. He settled in Egypt. Ibn Hibbān said, He prayed to the two Qiblabs, but I do not rely upon the chain of narrators for his Hadītb."

^[4] The Sanad (... - chain of transmission) of this Hadith is not authentic - according to many scholars including Al-Bukhari, Ahmad, Ad-Dāraqutni, Ibn Hibban, Ibn Abdul-Barr, etc. -

Chapter 6 The Nullification^[1] of Wudu' (Ablution)

62. Narrated Anas : The Companions of Allāh's Messenger in his lifetime used to wait for the 'Isbā' (night) prayer, so much so that their heads were lowered down (by dozing). [2] They would then pray without performing ablution. [3] [Reported by Abū Dā'ud, and Ad-Dāraqutni graded it Sabib (authentic). Its basic meaning is in Muslim].

63. Narrated 'Aisha \$: Fātima bint Abū Hubaish^[4] came to the Prophet \$\mathscr{m}\$ and said, "O Messenger of Allāh, I am a woman whose blood keeps flowing (even after the menstruation period).^[5] I am never purified. Should I, therefore, abandon the prayers?" He (the Prophet) said, "No, for that is only (blood from) a vein, and is not menstruation. So, when the

٦ - بَابُ نَوَاقِضِ الْوُضُوءِ

(٦٢) عَنْ أَنَسٍ رضي الله تعالى عنه قَالَ: كَانَ أَصْحَابُ رَسُولِ الله ﷺ عَلَى عَهْدِهِ يَنْتَظِرُونَ الله ﷺ عَلَى عَهْدِهِ يَنْتَظِرُونَ العِشْاءَ. حتَّى تَخْفِقَ رُمُوسُهُم، ثُمَّ يُصَلُّونَ وَلَا يَتَــَوَضَّـــُونَ وَصَحَّحـــهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَصَحَّحــهُ الدَّارَقُطْئِيْ، وَأَصْلُه فِي مُسْلِمٍ.

(١٣) وعَنْ عَائِشَةً رَضِيَ الله تَعَالَى عَنْهَا الله تَعَالَى عَنْهَا الله تَعَالَى عَنْهَا الله تَعَالَى عَنْهَا الله يَعَامَتُ بِنْتُ أَبِي حُبَيْشِ إِلَى اللهِ عِنْهَا اللهِ إِنِّي المُرَاةُ أَشْتَحاضُ فَلَا أَطْهُو، أَفَأَدُعُ الصَّلاةَ؟ قَالَ: «لَا، إِنَّمَا ذَلِكِ عِرْقَ وَلَيْسَ بِحَيْضِر، فَإِذَا أَثْبَلَتْ حَيْضَتُكِ فَلَعِي الصَّلاةَ، وإِذَا أَذْبَرَتُ أَثْبَلَتْ حَيْضَتُكِ فَلَعِي الصَّلاةَ، وإِذَا أَذْبَرَتُ فَاغْمِلِي عَنْكِ الدَّمَ ثُمَّ صَلَّى». مُقَتَّقَ عَلَيْهِ.

whereas the *Hadītb* in which the period of one day (twenty-four hours) for a resident and three days (seventy-two hours) for a traveler is granted is authentic. This *Hadītb* was not taken as an evidence for these two reasons, i.e. its weakness and its contradicting the authentic *Hadītb* that fixed the allowed duration for wiping. An-Nawawi has mentioned in *Sbarb Al-Mubadbdab* that the *Imāms* have agreed on the weakness of this *Hadītb*, and Ahmad said. Its narrators are unknown.

^[1] All those causes which invalidate the *Wudu'* (ablution) also invalidate the *Tayammum* (purification with clean soil in case water is not available), since *Tayammum* is a substitute for ablution.

^[2] It proves that ablution is not cancelled by dozing.

^[3] Whether or not sleep nullifies ablution is a controversial issue. The reconciliation between the *Hadith of Safusan* (no. 56) which indicates nullification, and the present *Hadith* of *Anas* (no. 62) which indicate that it does not nullify ablution, is that with a sound sleep ablution is nullified, otherwise it is not.

^[4] Fātima bint Abū Hubaish is a *Sabābiya* from Quraish and then Asad. Her father is Qais bin 'Abdul-Muttalib bin Asad bin 'Abdul-'Uzza bin Qusai. She was a renowned *Mubajira* and was married to 'Abdullah bin Jahsh.

^[5] Vaginal bleeding is of three types: 1) Hatal (حيض) – Blood of the regular monthly menstrual course which starts at the age of puberty. This type of blood ceases during the period of pregnancy. 2) Nifās (عنس) – Puerperal blood coming after childbirth, which lasts maximum for forty days. 3) Istibāda (استحاف) – The blood which may happen to come from other than the above two types. The blood referred to here is the last mentioned.

menstruation comes, abstain from prayers, and when it ends, wash the blood from your self and then pray." [Agreed upon].

Al-Bukhāri has: "Then perform ablution for every prayer." [1] Muslim indicated that he dropped this addition deliberately.

64. Narrated 'Ali bin Abi Tālib 拳: I was one whose *Madhi* (urethral discharge)^[2] flowed readily. Hence, I asked Miqdād^[3] to ask the Prophet 幾 (about it). He (the Prophet) said: "One should perform *Wudu'* (ablution) in this case." [Agreed upon. The wording is Al-Bukhāri's].

65. Narrated 'Aisha *: The Prophet 鑑kissed^[4] one of his wives and went to pray without performing (fresh) ablution. [Reported by Ahmad. Al-Bukhāri graded it *Da'if* (weak)].

66. Narrated Abū Huraira : Allāh's Messenger : said, "If one of you feels disturbance in his stomach and doubts whether he has released some air or

وَلِلْبُخَارِيِّ: ﴿ثُمَّ تَوَضَّنِي لِكُلِّ صَلَاةٍۗۗ. وَأَشَارَ مُسْلِمٌ إِلَىٰ أَنَّهُ حَذَفَهَا عَمَداً.

(18) وعَنْ عَلِيٌ بُن أَبِي طَالِب رضي الله تعالى عنه قَالَ: كُنتُ رَجُلاً مَذًاء فَأَمَرُث المِقْدَادَ أَن يَشْأَلُ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ، فَسَأَلُهُ، فَقَالَ: فِيهِ الوَّفُدَادَ أَن يَشْأَلُ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ، فَسَأَلُهُ، فَقَالَ: فِيهِ الوُضُوءُ. مُثَقَنَّ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفُظُ لِلْبُحَارِئِ.

(10) وَعَنْ عَالِشَةَ رضي الله تعالى عنها، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَبَّلَ بَغضَ نِسَآلِهِ ثُمَّ خَرَجَ إِلَى الصَّلَاةِ وَلَمْ يَتَوَضَّأً. أُخْرَجَهُ أَحْمَدُ وَضَعْفَهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(٦٦) وعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ
 قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: الْإِذَا وَجَدْ أَحَدُكُمْ
 فِي بَطْنِهِ شَنْبًا فَالشَكَلَ عَلَيْه، أَخْرَجَ مِنْهُ شَيْءً أَمْ

المتحافة ا

^[2] Madbi (مذي) is a white water like lubricant which oozes out involuntarily at the time of sexual desire or foreplay. This urethral discharge invalidates the ablution, but is not a cause for obligatory bath.

^[3] Miqdäd bin 'Amr bin Tha'laba Al-Bahrāni was nicknamed Abul-Aswad or Abū 'Amr and is known as Al-Miqdäd bin Al-Aswad. Al-Aswad bin Yaghuth Az-Zuhri had fostered and entered into a defense agreement with Miqdäd in the Jabiliya days. He was among the virtuous, wise and eminent Sabāba. He was the sixth Muslim, made the two migrations and attended all the major battles. He was a horseman during Badr and participated in the conquest of Egypt. He died at the age of 70 in 33 H. at Al-Jauf, three miles from Al-Madīna so he was carried to Al-Madīna. 'Uthmān offered the Funeral prayer, and he was buried at Al-Baqi'.

^[4] This Hadith confirms that ablution is not cancelled by touching a woman with or without lust. This is supported by a report of Imām Bukhāri narrated by 'Aisha 集: The Prophet 藥 praying in the darkness and I was laying at rest while my feet were at the place where the Prophet 藥 prostrated (on his prayer-mat). At the time of prostration he would touch my feet and I would remove them.

not, then he must not leave the mosque unless he hears (its) sound or smells (its) odor." [Reported by Muslim].

68. Narrated Busra bint Safwān^[4] 象: Allāh's Messenger 織 said, "He who touches his penis must perform ablution."^[5] [Reported by Al-Khamsa. and At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic). Al-Bukhāri said, "It is the most authentic (Hadītb) concerning this issue"].

69. Narrated 'Aisha & Allāh's Messenger said, "Whoever vomits, bleeds through the nose, [6] or releases *Madbi* (urethral discharge) should go away, perform ablution and then complete his *Salāt* (prayer) [7] (by continuing

لَا؟ فَلَا يَخْرُجَنَّ مِنَ المَسْجِدِ، حَتَّى يَسْمَعَ صَوْتًا أَوْ يَجِدَ رِيحًا». أُخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(1v) وعَنْ طَلْقِرِ بْنِرِ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: عَنْهُ قَالَ: عَنْهُ قَالَ: مَثَلَّ وَمُثَلِّ مَسَسْتُ ذَكْرِي، أَوْ قَالَ: الرَّجُلُ يَمَسُنُّ ذَكْرِي، أَوْ قَالَ: الرَّجُلُ يَمَسُنُّ وَمُصَوِّعٌ فَقَالَ النِيُّ عَلَيْهِ وَصُوعٌ فَقَالَ النِيْ عَلَيْهِ وَسُوعٌ مِنْكَ. أَخْرَجُهُ الخَمْسَةُ وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ، وَقَالَ ابْنُ أَلْمُ المِنْ عَلِيثِ بُسْرَةً.

(٦٨) وعَنْ بُسْرَةً بِنْتَ صَفْوَانَ رضي الله تعالى عنها أَنَّ رَسُولَ الله ﷺ قَالَ: همْنْ مَسَّ ذَكْرَهُ فَلْيَتُوضًا أَ. أَخْرَجُهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ شَيْءٍ فِي وَابِنُ حِبَّانَ، وَقَالَ البُخَارِيُّ: هُوَ أَصَحُّ شَيْءٍ فِي هَذَا البَابِ.

(٦٩) وعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهَا أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللَّهِ ﷺ قَالَ: "مَنْ أَصَابُهُ فَيْءٌ أَوْ رُعَافٌ أَوْ وَعَافٌ أَوْ فَلَسِنَ أَوْ مَذْيٌ، فَلَيْنُصَوِفُ فَلْيُتَوَشَّأً، ثُمَّ لِيَبْنِ عَلَى صَلَاتِهِ، وَهُوَ فِي ذَلِكَ لَا يَتَكَلَّمُ».

^[1] This *Hadīth* points out an important principle: That everything remains in its original condition until there is a certain change in it. And that suspicion carries no weight after certainty. This *Hadīth* is equally applicable to one in prayer as well as one not praying.

^[2] He is Abū 'Ali Talq bin 'Ali bin Talq bin 'Amr Al-Hanafi As-Siheimi Al-Yamāmi. He visited the Prophet 攤 as soon as he arrived at Al-Madīnah and worked with him in building the Prophet's Mosque.

^[3] Ahmad, Abu Dā'ud, Tirmidhi, Nasâ'i and Ibn Mājah.

^[4] Busra bint Safwān bin Naufal bin Asad bin 'Abdul-'Uzza Al-Qurashiya Al-Asadiya was a Sabābiya, among the first Muslims, migrated early and lived till the caliphate of Mu'āwiya.

^[5] The foregoing *Hadīth* of Talq bin 'Ali seems to be contradictory to this one, but in fact it ^{*} is not. If the organ is touched uncovered or with lustful intention, then the ablution is nullified, otherwise it is not.

^[6] This *Hadīth* is *Da'tf* (weak), and there is no *Sabib* (authentic) *Hadīth* concerning this issue.

^[7] It means that if a man prayed two Rak'a with the Imām (leader of prayer) and it happens that his ablution is cancelled, he should leave the prayer. Then, after making a fresh ablution he joins again with the Imām in the same part of prayer where he left, then he should finish

from where he had stopped at) on condition that he does not speak in the process." [Reported by Ibn Mājah. Ahmad and others graded it *Da'if* (weak)].

أَخْرَجَهُ ابْنُ مَاجَه، وَضَعَّفَهُ أَحْمَدُ وَغَيْرُهُ.

70. Narrated Jābir bin Samura^[1] 李. A man asked the Prophet 鑑, "Should I perform ablution after eating mutton?" He replied, "If you wish so". He then asked, "Should I perform ablution after eating camel meat?" He (樂) said, "Yes." [Reported by Muslim].

(٧٠) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ بْنِ سَمْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى
 عَنْهُ أَنَّ رَجُلاً سَأَلَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ: أَتَوَشَّأُ مِنْ لُحُومِ الغَنَمِ؟ قَالَ: إِنْ شِئْتَ. قَالَ: أَتَوَشَّأُ مِنْ لُحُومِ الإِبلِ؟ قَالَ: نَعَمْ. أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

71. Narrated Abū Huraira **\$\simes\$**: The Prophet **\$\simes\$** said: "Whoever washes a dead person^[3] should take a bath (thereafter); and whoever carries it should perform ablution." [Reported by Ahmad, An-Nasā'i and At-Tirmidhi who graded it *Hasan* (good). Ahmad said that there is no authentic *Hadītb* in this chapter].

(٧١) وعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ: امْنُ غَشْلَ مَيْتَا فَالْيَتْ فَالَهُ فَلْيَتَوْشَأَهُ. أَخْرَجَهُ أَخْمَدُ فَلْيَتَوْشَأَهُ. أَخْرَجَهُ أَخْمَدُ وَالنَّرُولِيْقُ، وَحَشْنُهُ، وَقَالَ أَخْمَدُ: لَا يَصِحْ شَيْءٌ فِي هَذَا البَابِ.

72. Narrated 'Abdullah bin Abi Bakr^[4]

The book written by Allāh's Messenger for 'Amr bin Hazm^[5]

also contained: "None except a *Tābir*

(٧٧) وعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بِنْ أَبِي بَخْرِ رضي الله تعالىٰ عنهما أَنَّ فِي الكِتَابِ الَّذِي كَتَبَهُ رَسولُ اللهِ ﷺ لِعَمْرِو بْنِرَ حَوْمٍ: أَنْ لَا يَمَسَلُ اللهُرَآنَ

the prayer with the *Imām*. This is the opinion of *Hanafiya* and *Mālikiya*. However, the *Hadītb* is both weak as well as contradictory to authentic *Hadītb*, and therefore can not be used as a proof to support this opinion.

^[1] He is a famous *Sahābi* and the son of Sa'd bin Abi Waqqās' sister. He settled at Kufa and built a house there. He died in 74 H. or 66 H. His father Samura bin Junada As-Sawai Al-'Aamiri is also a *Sahābi*.

^[2] Some understand this to refer to the complete ablution, while others understand it to refer to the rinsing of the mouth (only) since the noble Prophet 養 pointed out fat as its cause and fat always sticks to the mouth only. This Haditb is a proof that eating camel meat nullifies ablution. This is the opinion of the scholars of Haditb including Ahmad, Ash-Shāfi'i and Al-Baihaqi.

^[3] There are no authentic Abādith concerning this issue. Hence, the scholars differed widely. Some say that bath is compulsory on one who washes the dead body; others are of the opinion that bath is only desirable; still others view ablution as compulsory; and still others consider even ablution as unnecessary.

^{[4] &#}x27;Abdullāh bin Abū Bakr bin Muhammad bin 'Amr bin Hazm Al-Ansāri Al-Madani Al-Qādi was a Tabi'i of the 5th grade. He died in 135 H. at the age of 70 years.

^[5] He is a Khazraji, a Najāri and is nicknamed Abū Ad-Dahhāk. He first took part in Al-Khandaq and the Prophet # sent him to Najrān to teach the people about the religion and collect their Sadaqāt. He wrote for them a book containing the obligatory and voluntary acts, the Sadaqāt and the bloodwit, and this is the book mentioned in the Hadīth. He died in Al-Madīnah after the fifties.

(pure) person should touch the Qur'ān."^[1] [Reported by Mālik as a *Mursal* (missing link in the chain after the Tābi'i) and by An-Nasā'i and Ibn Hibbān as *Mawsul* (unbroken chain). And it is graded as *Ma'lul* (defective)].

73. Narrated 'Aisha \$: Allāh's Messenger sused to mention Allāh's Name (praise Him) at all times. [2] [Reported by Muslim. Al-Bukhāri recorded it as Mu'allaq (broken chain from the side of the Hadīth collector)].

74. Narrated Anas bin Mālik 本: The Prophet 藝 had blood extracted from his body^[5] and offered the prayer and did not perform (a new) ablution. [Reported by Ad-Dāraqutni who graded it *Layyin* (weak)].

إِلَّا طَاهِرٌ. زَوَاهُ مَالِكٌ مُرْسَلاً، وَوَٰصَلَهُ النَّسَائِيُّ وابْنُ حِبَّانَ، وَهُوَ مَعْلُولٌ.

(٧٣) وعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا
 قَالَتْ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَذْكُرُ اللَّهَ عَلَى كُلُّ
 أخيانِهِ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ، وَعَلَقْهُ البُخارِيُّ.

(٤٤) وعَنْ أَنْسِ بْنِرِ مَالِكِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ: أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ احْتَجَمَ وَصَلَّى، وَلَمْ يَتَوَشَّلُ. أَخْرَجَهُ الدَّارَقُطْنَيْ، وَلَيْهُ.

(٧٥) وعَنْ مُعَاوِيةٌ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَصُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «العَيْنُ وِكَاءُ السَّهِ، فَإِذَا نَامَتِ المَعْيَئَانِ اسْتَطْلَقَ الوِكَاءُ». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالطَّبْرَانِيُّ، وَزَادَ: «وَمَنْ نَامَ فَلْيَتَوْضًاً».

الله - passing wind, urine or defecation) both necessitate purification. If the Hadath (state of impurity) is that which requires Gbus! (e.g. sexual intercourse) then it is almost unanimously agreed not to touch the noble Qur'an (Musbaf). However, there is a difference of opinion about touching the Musbaf if the Hadath (state of impurity) is that which only requires ablution (e.g. passing wind). In any case, there is no clear (sarib) and authentic (sabib) Hadith that distinguishes between the major and minor states of impurity – in reference to this issue of touching the Musbaf.

^[2] This is not applicable to one engaged in the act of sexual intercourse, answering the call of nature, urinating etc. However, while one is in the state of impurity due to sexual intercourse, remembrance and pronouncing the Name of Allāh is permissible, but touching and reciting the noble Qur'an is prohibited – according to the majority of scholars.

^[3] This Hadītb shows that blood – except from the two openings (i.e. vagina and anus) – does not invalidate ablution. Abādītb of similar meaning have also been narrated by Ibn 'Umar, Ibn 'Abbās and Ibn Abi Aufa ... This is the opinion of Mālīt Asb-Sbāfī'i and a group of Sabābab and Tābī'in.

^[4] Both him and his father Abū Sufyān Sakhr bin Harb became Muslims at the conquest of Makkah. 'Umar appointed him as the governor of Shām after the death of his brother Yazid bin Abū Sufyān and he remained so until 'Ali was appointed as Caliph. Later, he was appointed as the caliph when Al-Hasan stepped down in his favor in the year 40 H. He died in Rajab 60 H. at the age of 78 years.

^[5] This means that sleep is a *way* which leads to *Hadath* (nullification of the state of purity), but it is not, in and of itself, the actual *Hadath* (nullification of one's state of purity).

who added, "Whoever sleeps must perform ablution.]"

This additional wording is also reported by Abū Dā'ud, in the Hadīth of 'Ali, without the words "the string is untied". Both chains of narration contain (Da'f) weakness.

And Ibn 'Abbās & narrated in a Marfu' (attributed to the Prophet) Hadīth that: "Ablution is necessary for one who sleeps while he is lying down (flat).[1] " [Reported by Abū Dā'ud, and there is (Da'f) weakness in its chain of narrators].

76. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās 🞄: Allāh's Messenger a said, "Satan comes to one of you in Salāt (prayer) and blows air in his bottom. Consequently, he imagines that he has passed wind, yet he did not (do so). So, if he gets that feeling he should not leave (his prayer) unless he hears the sound (of passing wind) or smells (its) odor." [Reported by Al-Bazzārl.

Its basic meaning is in the Sabibain (Bukhāri and Muslim) from the Hadīth of 'Abdullah bin Zaid.

وَلِمُسْلِم عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ Muslim has also reported from Abū Huraira a similar narration.

And Abū Sa'īd narrated in a Marfu' (attributed to the Prophet) Hadīth: "If Satan comes to one of you and says: 'You have nullified your ablution (e.g. by passing wind)', let him say: 'You have lied." [Reported by Al-Hākim]. Ibn Hibban also reported the above Hadīth with the wording: "Let him say within himself..."

وَهَذِهِ الزِّيَادَةُ في هَذَا الحَدِيثِ عِنْدَ أَبِي دَاوِدَ مِنْ حَدِيثِ عَلِيٌّ دُونَ قَوْلِهِ: «اسْتَطْلَقَ الوكَّآءُ» وَفِي كِلَا الإسْنَادَيْنِ ضَعْفٌ.

وَلأَبِي دَاوُدَ أَيْضاً عَنِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا مَرْفُوعاً: ﴿إِنَّمَا الْوُضُوءُ عَلَى مَنْ نَامَ مُضْطَجِعاً ﴾. وفي إسناده ضعف أيضاً.

(٧٦) وعَنِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسِ رضى الله تعالى عنهما، أَنَّ رَسُولَ الله ﷺ قَالَ: «يَأْتِي أَحَدَكُمُ الشَّيْطَانُ فِي الصَّلَاةِ فَيَنْفُخُ فِي مَقْعَدَتِهِ، فَيُخَيَّلُ إِلَيْهِ أَنَّهُ أَحْدَثَ، وَلَمْ يُحْدِثْ، فَإِذَا وَجَدَ ذَلِكَ فَلَا يَنْصَرفْ حَتَّى يَسْمَعَ صَوْتاً أَوْ يَجِدَ ريحاً». أَخْ حَهُ الدَّالُ.

وَأَصْلُهُ فِي الصَّحِيحَيْنِ مِنْ حَدِيثِ عَبْدِ اللهِ ابْنِ زَيْدٍ رضى الله عنه.

وَلِلْحَاكِمِ عَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدٍ مَرْفُوعاً: «إذَا جَآءَ أَحَدَكُمُ الشَّيْطانُ، فَقَالَ: إِنَّكَ فَدْ أَحْدَثْتَ، فَلْيَقُلْ: إِنَّكَ كَذَبْتَ". أَخْرَجَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ بَلَفْظِ: الفَلْيَقُلُ فِي نَفْسِهِ،

^[1] It means that sleeping in the flat position (mudtaji'an) results in the invalidation of ablution, whereas in the foregoing Hadīth mere sleep is described as the factor of invalidation. In fact, sleeping in the flat position is an indication of sound sleep, where all the organs of body are at rest. This state enhances the possibility of uncontrolled passing of wind, while in a light sleep or napping one will not be completely unconscious.

Chapter 7 Manners Related to Answering the Call of Nature

77. Narrated Anas bin Mālik & Allāh's Messenger & used to remove his ring^[1] when entering the *Khalaa'* (place of answering the call of nature). [Reported by *Al-Arba'a*^[2], and it is *Ma'lūl* (defective)].

78. Narrated (Anas) \$\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\operature{\

79. Narrated (Anas) *: Whenever Allah's Messenger * went to the *Khalaa'* (to answer the call of nature), I and a small boy used to carry a leather (hide) container full of water and a spearheaded stick, and he (the Prophet) would clean his private parts with the water. [4] [Agreed upon].

80. Narrated Al-Mughira bin Shu'ba 泰: Allāh's Messenger 繼 told me, "Take the leather (hide) water container". He then went forward till he disappeared^[5] from me and then relieved himself. [Agreed upon].

٧ - بَابُ آدَابِ قَضَآءِ الحَاجَةِ

(۷۷) عَنْ أَنَسِ بْنِنِ مَالِكِ رَضِي الله تعالى عنه قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ إِذَا دَخَلَ الخَلاءَ وَضَعَ خَاتَمَهُ. أَخْرَجُهُ الأَرْبَعَةُ، وَهُوَ مَعْلُولٌ.

(٧٨) وعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ إِذَا دَخَلَ الخَلاَءَ قَالَ: «اللَّهُمَّ إِنِّي أَعُودُ بِكَ مِنَ الخُبْثِ وَالخَبَائِثِ». أُخْرَجَهُ السَّبَعَةُ.
السَّبَعَةُ.

(٧٩) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَذْخُلُ الخَلاَء، فَأَخْمِلُ أَنَا وَغُلَامٌ نَحْوِي إِدَاوَةً مِنْ مَّاءٍ، وَعَنَزَةٌ فَبَسْتَنْجِي إِللهَ مَثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٨٠) وعَنِ المُغِيرَةِ بْنِ شُعْبَةَ رَضِي الله تعالى
 عنه قَالَ: قَالَ لِي رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: خُذِ
 الإدَاوَة، فَانْطَلَقَ حَتَّى تَوَارَى عَنِّي، فَقَضَى
 حَاجَتَهُ. مُثَقَقً عَلَيْهِ.

^[1] On that ring [ألحمد رسول الله] 'Muhammad is the Messenger of Allāh' was carved in three lines. This indicates that the Names of Allāh and the Verses of the noble Qur'ān in the written form should not be carried to unclean places (such as the toilet), or while going out to answer the call of nature.

^[2] Abū Dā'ud, Tirmidhi, Nasā'i and Ibn Mājah.

^[3] Usually jinns live in such filthy places, and for this reason the noble Prophet 撰 sought the refuge of Allah. Before entering the lavatory one should recite this prayer in an audible voice. According to the narration of Ana نوضي الله عنه ji one is out in an open field, one should recite this prayer before sitting to answer the call of nature. While answering the call of nature one should be careful to avoid soiling one's body or clothing with impurities.

^[4] Most of the scholars prefer to purify with both pebbles (solid substance) and water.

^[5] This action of the noble Prophet ## teaches us that while going out for the call of nature,

Abū Dā'ud added, on the authority of Mu'ādh^[2] (本): '...and the watering places.' His wording is: [He (the Prophet 撰) said:] "Guard against the three things which cause curse (i.e.) defecating at the watering places, on the main roads and in the (places of) shade." [3] Ahmad reported from Ibn Abbās & [that defecation is prohibited also] at the place where water collects. [And both (chains of narration) (i.e. for this *Hadīth* and the previous one) have *Daf* (weakness)].

Ibn 'Umar's Hadīth (*) has: The prohibition of relieving oneself under fruit-bearing trees and on the bank of a flowing river. [Reported by At-Tabarāni with a Da'tf (weak) chain of narrators].

82. Narrated Jābir * Allāh's Messenger said, "When two people go together to relieve themselves each one of them should conceal himself from the other and do not talk, for Allāh detests that." [Reported by Ahmad. Ibn As-Sakan and

(٨١) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُوَيْرَةَ رضي الله تعالى عنه
 قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ الله ﷺ: «اتَّقُوا اللَّاعِينَيْنِ: النَّقُوا اللَّاعِينَيْنِ: النَّاسِ، أَوْ فِي طَرِيقِ النَّاسِ، أَوْ فِي ظِلْهِمْ، رَوَاه مُسْلِمٌ.

وَزَادَ أَبُو دَاوُدَ عَنْ مُعاذِ: "وَالْمَوارِدِ". وَلَفْظُهُ: "التَّقُوا الْمَلاعِنَ الثَّلاَئَةَ: البَرَازَ فِي المَوَارِدِ، وَقَارِعَةِ الطَّرِيْقِر، والظَّلُّ. ولاحمد عَن الْبَن عَبَّاسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهِما: "أَوْ نَقْعٍ مَآيًا. وَفِهِمَا ضَغَفْ.

وَأَخْرَجَ الطَّبْرَانِيُّ النَّهْيَ عَنْ قَضَاءِ الحَاجَةِ تَحْتَ الأَشْجَارِ المُثْهِرَةِ وَضَفَّةِ النَّهْرِ الجَارِي، مِنْ حَدِيثِ إبْن مُحَدّر بِسَنَادِ ضَعِيف ِ.

(AY) وعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ:
قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: الإِذَا تَغَوَّطَ الرَّجُلَانِ
فَلْيَتَوَارَ كُلُّ وَاحِدٍ مِنْهُمَا عَنْ صَاحِبِهِ، وَلَا
يَتَحَدُّنًا، فَإِنَّ اللَّهَ يَمْفُتُ عَلَى ذَلِكَ. رَوَاهُ

it is necessary to arrange some kind of privacy and to be out of the sight of others. In a *Da'if Hadith* [*Da'if Abu Dawud*, pg. 8, no. 9 (35)], it is stated that in an open field, a mound or heap of sand should be made for the purpose of screening oneself.

^[1] It is prohibited to answer the call of nature near pathways or near the ways in the vicinity of populated areas. Sites of abandoned road or deserted places can be used for this purpose.

^[2] Mu'ādh is an Ansāri of Al-Khazraj tribe and was one of the virtuous, noble and most learned Sahāba. He attended Al-'Aqaba, Badr and other major battles. The Prophet 靏 appointed him as his representative in Yemen. Then 'Umar appointed him as the governor of Shām after Abū 'Ubaida bin Al-Jarrāh. He died in the plague of 'Amwās in 17 H. or 18 H. at the age of 38.

^[3] Altogether these are six places. It is forbidden in a *Hadith Mursal* (missing link in the chain after the *Tābi'i*) to urinate near the gates of the mosques.

Ibn Al-Qattān graded it Sahib (authentic) but it is defective^[1]].

83. Narrated Abū Qatāda 泰: Allāh's Messenger 繼 said, "No one should touch his penis with his right hand^[2] when urinating, nor clean himself (from defecation or urine) using his right hand, nor breathe in the utensil (he is drinking from)." [Agreed upon. The wording is Muslim's].

84. Narrated Salmān^[3] . Allāh's Messenger # forbade us to face the *Qiblab* when defecating or urinating, or to clean ourselves (*Istinjaa'*) using the right hand, or to clean ourselves with less than three stones, or to clean ourselves with dung or a bone. [Reported by Muslim].

85. Narrated Abū Ayub^[4] (本): (Allāh's Messenger 繼 said,) "Neither face nor turn your back to the *Qiblab*^[5] while defecating or urinating, but turn towards the east or the west." [Reported by the As-Sab'a].

أَحْمَدُ وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ السَّكَن ِ وَابْنُ القَطَّانِ، وَهُوَ مَعْلُولٌ.

(AT) وعَنْ أَبِي قَنَادَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رسول الله ﷺ: ﴿لاَ يَمَسَّنْ أَحَدُكُمْ ذَكَرَهُ بِيَعِينِهِ وَهُوَ يَبُولُ، وَلَا يَتَمَسَّحْ مِنَ الخَلَاءِ يَيْمِينِهِ، وَلَا يَتَنَفَّسْ فِي الإنآءِ. مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفَظُ لِمُسْلِم..

(A4) وعَنْ سَلْمَانَ رَضِي اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: لَقَدْ نَهَانَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ أَن نَشْتَقْبِلَ القِبْلَةَ بِغَائِطِ أَوْ الْفَبْلَةَ بِغَائِطِ أَوْ الْفَرْلَةِ الْفَيْلَةِ عَلَيْكِ بِالْكِمِينِ. أَوْ أَن نَشْتَنْجِيَ بِالْكِمِينِ. أَوْ أَن نَشْتَنْجِيَ بِالْكِمِينِ. أَوْ أَنْ نَشْتَنْجِيَ بِاقَلَّ مِنْ ثَلَاثَةِ أَحْجَارٍ، أَوْ أَنْ نَشْتَنْجِيَ بِرَجِعِ أَوْ عَظْمٍ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٨٥) وَلِلسَّبْعَةِ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَبِي أَيُوبَ: لَا
 تَشْتَقْبِلُوا القِبْلَةَ بِخَاتِطٍ أَوْ بَوْلٍ، وَلَا
 تَشْتَدْبِرُوهَا، وَلَكِنْ شَرْقُوا أَوْ غَرْبُوا.

^[1] It is said: This is confirmed by other authentic Abadītb, so it is correct. [However, Al-Albānī graded it Da'tf (weak) in Da'tf Al-Jāmt' no. 6336, Da'tf Ibn Majab no. 76 (342), Al-Misbkāt 1/115, no. 356 and Tamām Al-Mannab, pg. 58]

^[2] Handling the male sex organ with right hand during urination, or while cleaning oneself after urinating or defecating, and breathing in the utensils during drinking are all prohibited. Breathing in the utensil is harmful because this is the cause of transmission of germs from one to another, and the Hadith which informs about three pauses while drinking is an indication that drink should be taken slowly and not in one gulp.

^[3] He was known as "Salman the benevolent" and was nicknamed Abū 'Abdullāh. His origin is from Persia. He traveled in search of the true religion and became a Christian. Then he moved to Al-Madinah, and believed in the Prophet 囊 as soon as he arrived at Al-Madinah. He was a leader in Islam and died in Al-Madinah in 50 H. or 32 H. It is reported that he lived a very long life of either 250 or 350 years.

^[4] His name is Khālid bin Zaid bin Kulaib. He hosted the Prophet 纖 when he first arrived in Al-Madinah. He was one of the senior and most great of the Sabāba. He attended Badr and was martyred while taking part in an expedition against the Byzantinians in 50 H. His grave, situated at the walls of Constantinople (presently Istanbul), is well-known.

^[5] In this issue the 'Forbiddance' is in open places, while it is not forbidden inside the building where there are walls around. This may be understood from the *Hadīth* narrated by 'Abdullāh bin 'Umar 魯. He narrates: "In the house of my sister Hafsa, I went upstairs on the roof and saw the noble Prophet 幾 answering the call of nature while he was facing towards

86. Narrated 'Aisha \$: The Prophet said, "Whoever goes to relieve himself, he must conceal himself." [Reported by Abū Dā'udl.

(٨٦) وَعَنْ عَالِشَةَ رَضِيَ الله تعالى عنها، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «مَنْ أَتَى الغَاتِطَ فَلْبَسْتَيْرْ». رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُد.
 أَبُو دَاوُد.

87. Narrated ('Aisha) . Whenever the Prophet . came out from Al-Ghaa'it (place of answering the call of nature), he used to say, "Ghufrānaka (O Allāh! Grant me Your forgiveness)." [Reported by Al-Khamsa. [1] Abū Hātim and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

(AV) وعَنْهَا رَضِيَ الله عَنْهَا أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ كَانَ إِذَا خَرَجَ مِنَ الغَائِطِ قَالَ: «مُفْرَانَكَ. أُخْرَجَهُ الخمسة وصححه أبُو حَاتِهرِ وَالحَاكِمُ.

88. Narrated Ibn Mas'ūd *: The Prophet * went out to answer the call of nature and asked me to bring three stones. I found two stones but did not find a third one. So I took a dried piece of dung and brought it to him. He took the two stones and threw away the dung! and said, "This is a filthy thing". [Reported by Al-Bukhāri. Ahmad and Ad-Dāraqutni has the addition: "Bring me something other than dung" [3]].

(AA) وعَن ِ ابْن َ مَسْمُودِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ . The :

اللَّبِيُ عَلَيْهُ الْفَاقِطَ، فَأَمْرَنِي أَنْ آتِيُهُ
اللَّهِ الْفَاقِطَ، فَأَمْرَنِي أَنْ آتِيهُ
اللَّهُ الْحَجَارِ، فَوَجَدُتُ حَجَرَيْنِ، وَلَمْ أَجِدُ
الطَّوْنَةُ بِرُوْنَةً ، فَأَخَذَهُمَا وَأَلْقَى الرُّوْنَةً ، اللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّلَا اللَّهُ اللَّلُولُ اللَّلْمُ اللَّهُ اللَّلْمُ اللَّلِمُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللللِّلْمُ اللَّلْمُ اللَّلْمُ اللَّلْمُ اللَّلْمُ اللَّلْمُ اللَّلُولُ الللّهُ الللّهُ اللَّلْمُ الللّهُ اللّهُ اللللْمُ اللللّهُ

89. Narrated Abū Huraira &: Allāh's Messenger & forbade us to use a bone or dung for Istinjaa' (cleaning the private parts) and said, "These two things do not purify." [Reported by Ad-Dāraqutni who graded it Sabib (authentic)].

(٨٩) وعَنْ أَبِي مُرَيرةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: إِنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ نَهَى أَنْ نَسْتَنْجِيَ بِعَظْمِر أَوْ رَوْثٍ، وَقَالَ: "إِنَّهُمَا لَا يُطَهِّرَانٍ. رَوَاهُ الدَّارَتُطْفِعُ وَصَحَّحَهُ.

90. Narrated Abū Huraira &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Beware of (smearing yourselves with) urine, because it is the main cause of punishment in the grave." [Reported by

(٩٠) وعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيزةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ
 قَالَ: قَالَ رَسولُ الله ﷺ: «اسْتَنْزِهُوا مِنَ البَيْرِ مِنْهُ». رَوَاهُ
 البَّوْلِ، فَإِنَّ عَامَّةً عَذَابِ القَبْرِ مِنْهُ». رَوَاهُ
 الدَّارَتُطْفِيْ، وَلِلْحَاكِمِ: «أَكْثَرُ عَذَابِ القَبْرِ مِنْ

Shām." This Hadīth is in Sabib Muslim.

^[1] The Collectors of *Hadīth*: Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud, An-Nasā'i, At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Mājah.

^[2] It is known from this *Hadītb* that one should not clean the private parts with dung or excrement of animals. Likewise, it is forbidden to clean oneself with bones.

^[3] The mentioned addition proves that for cleanliness three clods of mud are needed. Even though two may suffice, the condition of three is a must. More than three may be used if needed, but the number should be odd.

Ad-Dāraqutni]. Al-Hākim has: "Most of the punishment in the grave is from (negligence in allowing oneself to become soiled with) urine." [Its chain of narrators is *Sabib* (authentic)].

91. Narrated Surāqa bin Mālik^[1] &: Allāh's Messenger & taught us concerning (manners of) Al-Kbalaa' (place of answering the call of nature) that we should sit on our left foot^[2] and keep erect our right foot. [Reported by Al-Baihaqi through a Da'ff (weak) chain of narrators]^[3].

92. Narrated 'Īsā bin Yazdād^[4] from his father (�): Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "When one of you passes urine, he should forcefully push out (any urine remaining in) his penis – three times." [Reported by Ibn Mājah through a *Da'tf* (weak) chain of narrators].

93. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The Prophet asked the residents of Qubā' [what had earned them the Praise of Allāh]? He & said: 'Indeed, Allah praises you.' They replied, "We use water after (cleaning the private parts with) stones." [Reported by Al-Bazzār with a Da'if (weak) chain of narrators. Its Asl (basic meaning) is in Abū Dā'ud and At-Tirmidhi. Ibn Khuzaima graded it Sabib (authentic) from the Hadītb of Abū Huraira & without mentioning "the stones."]

البَول ِ» وَهُوَ صَحِيحُ الإشنَادِ.

(٩١) وعَنْ شُرَاقَةَ بْنِرَ مَالِكِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: عَلَّمَنَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ في الخَلاَءِ أَنْ نَفْعُدَ عَلَى اليُسْرَى ونَنْصِبَ اليُمْنَى. رَوَاهُ البَّيْقِيْقِيْ بِسَنَةِ ضَعِيفٍ.

(٩٢) وَعَنْ عِيسَى بْنِرَ يَزْدَادَ (بُرْدَادَ) عَنْ أَيِهِ قَالَ: قَالَ رسولُ الله ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا بَالَ أَحَدُكُمُ فَلْيَنْتُرْ ذَكَرَهُ ثَلَاثَ مَرَّاتٍ إِ. رَوَاهُ ابْنُ مَاجَهُ بِسَدِدٍ ضَعِيفٍ .

(٩٣) وعَن البُن عَبَّاس رضي الله تعالى عَهْما، أَنَّ البَّيِّ ﷺ سَأَلَ أَهْلَ ثُبَّاءٍ فَقَالَ: إِنَّ اللَّهِ بُنِي عَلَيكُمْ. فَقَالُوا: إِنَّا تُبَعُ الحِجَارَة المَّا يُبِي المَاء. رَوَاهُ البَرَّارُ سِنَدِ ضَعِيفٍ. وأَصْلُه فِي أَبِي المَاء. رَوَاهُ البَرَّارُ سِنَدِ ضَعِيفٍ. وأَصْلُه فِي أَبِي دَاوُد، وَصَحَحَهُ أَبْنُ خُرْيَمَةً مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَبِي هُرُيرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، بِدُونِ ذِكْرٍ الحَجَارَة.

^[1] Surāqa bin Mālik bin Ju'shum Al-Mudlaji Al-Kināni, nicknamed Abū Sufyān was a prominent Sabābi. He was the one who pursued Allāh's Messenger ## on his way to migration whereupon the forelegs of his horse sunk into the ground up to the knees. He died in 24 H.

¹²¹We are advised to follow every ommand of Islam, whether we comprehend it or not. The noble Prophet ﷺ instructed us to sit on the left foot (to put the weight of the body on the left foot) while sitting for answering the call of nature. This is because the stomach is on the left side, and thus the action of relieving oneself is made easy in this posture. Likewise, constipation – the mother of diseases – is also eradicated.

^[3] This *Hadīth* is weak because some of the narrators in its chain are *Majhūl* (i.e. whose credibility has not been certified).

^{[4] &#}x27;Īsā and his father Yazdād are both Majhūl (not certified as being reliable reporters). Ibn Ma'in said, " 'Īsā and his father are Majhūl."

Al-Bukbāri\.

Chapter 8 GHUSL (BATH) AND THE RULING REGARDING THE SEXUALLY IMPURE

94. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri \$\&\text{:}\$ Allāh's Messenger \$\%\text{:}\$ said: "The water (of the \$Gbusl\$) is due to the water (of sexual emission)". [Reported by Muslim and its \$Asl\$ (basic meaning) is in

95. Narrated Abū Huraira s: Allāh's Messenger said: "If one of you sits between the four parts (of a woman) and has sexual intercourse with her (penetration), [2] Ghusl (bath) is obligatory." [Agreed upon]. Muslim added: "Even if he does not eiaculate."

95. Narrated Umm Salama \$: Umm Sulaim, [3] the wife of Abū Talha said, "O Allāh's Messenger! Allāh is not ashamed of the truth. Is a *Ghusl* (bath) compulsory for a woman when she has a sexual dream?" [4] He (\$\mathbb{E}\$) replied, "Yes! If she sees (signs of) the liquid (i.e. sexual discharge)." [Agreed upon.]

٨ - بَابُ الغُسْلِ وَحُكْمِ الجُنُبِ

(٩٤) عَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رشولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: «المَاءُ مِنَ المَاءِ». رَوَاهُ مُشْلِمٌ، وَأَصْلُهُ فِي النُّخَارِيِّ.

(٥٥) وعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسولُ الله ﷺ: "إِذَا جَلَسَ بَيْنَ شُعْبِهَا الأَرْبَعِ ثُمَّ جَهَدَهَا، فَقَدْ وَجَبَ الغُسْلُ". مُتَقَنَّ عَلَيه، وَزَادَ مُسْلِمٌ: "وَإِنْ لَمْ يُعْرَلُه.

(٩٦) وَعَنْ أُمُّ سَلَمَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا أَنَّ أُمُ سَلَيْمٍ - وَهِيَ الْمَرَاةُ أَبِي طَلْحَةً - قَالَتْ: يا رسولَ اللهِ! إِنَّ اللَّهَ لَا يَسْتَخْيِي مِنَ الحَقِّ، فَهَلْ عَلَى الحَوَّةِ الْخُسْلُ إِذَا اخْتَلَمَتْ؟ قَالَ: "نَمَمُ، وَإِذَا اخْتَلَمَتْ؟ قَالَ: "نَمَمُ، إِذَا اخْتَلَمَتْ؟ قَالَ: "نَمَمُ، إِذَا اخْتَلَمَتْ؟ قَالَ: "نَمَمُ،

^[1] It means after seminal discharge, taking a bath is essential and obligatory. This *Hadītb* is related to sexual intercourse. Ubai bin K'ab said that in the early period of Islam, in case of sexual intercourse, taking a bath was not obligatory unless seminal discharge occurred. Afterwards this condition [i.e. the occurrence of seminal discharge] was abrogated, and some of the research scholars have reported the consensus of Muslims on this issue, that if the male sexual organ penetrates the female sex organ, the *Gbusl* (bath) becomes obligatory — whether seminal discharge occurs or not.

^[2] It means that the penetration of the female sex organ by the male sex organ makes the taking of a *Gbusl* (bath) obligatory. This *Hadīth* cancels the ruling [i.e. the *condition* of seminal discharge] of the previous *Hadīth*.

^[3] Her name is Ar-Rumaisā' or Al-Ghumaisā' bint Milhān, Anas bin Mālik's mother. She was among the virtuous Sababiyāt. She was married to Mālik bin An-Nasr. Then she became a Muslim and invited him to Islam, but he became angry and went to Shām where he died. She was then proposed to by Abū Talha while he was still a Musbrik, but she made a condition that he should become a Muslim. He then embraced Islam and married her. She died during the caliphate of 'Uthmān.

^[4] As men, women also have 'wet dreams'. Hence, taking a bath in this situation is obligatory for them too.

97. Narrated Anas 本: Allāh's Messenger — concerning the matter of a woman experiencing ejaculation during sleep like a man — said: "She should take a Gbusl (bath)". [Agreed upon]. Muslim added: Umm Salamah said, "Does this happen (to a woman)?" He (續) said, "Yes, otherwise where does the resemblance (of a child to its mother) come from?" [1]

98. Narrated 'Aisha 's: Allāh's Messenger wed to take a bath from four things: Al-Janāba (after sexual intercourse), Al-Jumu'a (on Fridays), Al-Hijāma (after extracting blood from his body) and Ghusl Al-Mayyit (after washing a dead body). [2] [Reported by Abū Dā'ud. Ibn Khuzaima graded it Sabib (authentic).]

99. Narrated Abū Huraira se regarding the story of Thumāma bin Uthāl^[3] when he embraced Islam: The Prophet se ordered him to take a bath.^[4] [Narrated by Abdur-Razzāq and its basic meaning is in Al-Bukbāri and Muslim].

100. Narrated Abū Saʻīd Al-Khudri 🐟: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "Taking a bath on Friday is a must for every (٩٧) وعَنْ أَنْسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهَ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ فِي المَرَأَةِ تَرَى فِي مَنَامِها مَا يَرَى الرَّجُلُ، قال: تَغْتَسِلُ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْه، وَزادَ مُسْلَمٌ: «فَقَالَتْ أُمُّ سَلَمَةُ: رَعَل يَكُونُ هَذا؟ قَالَ: «نَعَمْ، فَمَا: أَنْدَ تَكُونُ الشَّنَهُ؟».

(٩٨) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: كَانَ رَسُولُ الله ﷺ يَغْتَسِلُ مِنْ أَرْبَعٍ.: مِنَ الجَنَابَةِ، وَيومَ الجُمُعَةِ، وَمِنَ الحِجَامَةِ، وَمِنْ غُشْلِ المَيَّتِ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابنُ خُزْيْمَةً.

(٩٩) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رضيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ - فِي وَشَدِ ثُمَامَة بْنِ أَثَالِ عِنْدُمَا أَسْلَمَ - وَأَمَرَهُ النَّبِي عَنْدَمَا أَسْلَمَ - وَأَمَرَهُ النَّبِي عَلَى النَّرَاقِ، وَأَصْلُهُ مُثَنَّى عَلْهُ الرَّزَّاقِ، وَأَصْلُهُ مُثَنَّى عَلْهُ.

(١٠٠) وعَن أَبِي سَعِيدٍ الخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ:

^[1] It means that women also have seminal discharge. Otherwise, how does a child take after the mother? Resemblance of children to their parents is on account of potency of semen.

^{12]} Among these four, taking bath after sexual intercourse is Fard (obligatory) by consensus; on Friday it is Sunna (the way of noble Prophet 鑑) according to the majority, while some hold it to be obligatory based upon the more authentic Abādītb; after Al-Hijāmab (blood-letting) some hold that it is Mustabab (desirable) based on this Hadīth, however it is weak [Da'if Abu Dawud, no. 75/348, Al-Albāni]; after washing the dead, there are many opinions: obligatory, desirable, or that ablution is sufficient.

^[3] Thumāmah bin Uthāl was from Banu Hanifa and the chief of Al-Yāmama people. He went to perform 'Umrah while still a Mushrik and was captured by some horsemen of the Prophet 醬. They brought him to Al-Madīnah and tied him to one of the mosque's pillars. The Prophet 醬 released him after three days. He then became a devoted Muslim and stood firm – during the Ridda (apostasy) days – against his people who were deceived by Musailimah Al-Kadbdhāb (the liar).

^[4] When a non-Muslim embraces Islam, it is obligatory for him to take a bath. Abū Da'ūd [Sabib Sunan Abu Da'ud, 1/72, no. 342 (355)] reported that the noble Prophet 鑑 ordered Qais ibn 'Aasim to take a bath, when he embraced Islam.

adult". [Reported by As-Sab'a[1]].

101. Narrated Samura^[2] ***:** Allāh's Messenger ***:** said, "Whoever performs ablution on the day of *Jumu'ab* has done a good thing and whoever takes a bath, taking a bath is better (for him)." [Reported by *Al-Kbamsa*^[3] and At-Tirmidhi graded it *Hasan* (good).]

102. Narrated 'Ali :: The Prophet see used to teach us the Qur'an except when he was in a state of sexual impurity. [4] [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a. This is the wording of At-Tirmidhi who graded it Hasan (good). And Ibn Hibban graded it Sabib (authentic)].

103. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "If one of you has sexual intercourse with his wife and wishes to repeat, he must perform ablution^[5] between them." [Reported by Muslim.] Al-Hākim added: "Ablution makes one more active for repeating (the sexual act)."

Narrated 'Aisha &: Allāh's Messenger used to sleep in the state of sexual "غُشْلُ يَوْمِ الجُمُعَةِ وَاجِبٌ عَلَى كُلُّ مُحْتَلِمٍ". أَخْرَجَهُ الشَّبْعَةُ.

(١٠١) وَعَنْ سَمُرَةَ بْنِ جُنْدُبٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: هَنْ تَوَضَّأَ يَوْمَ الجُمُعَةِ فَهِهَا وَيَعْمَتْ، وَمَن اغْتَسَلَ فَالغُسُلُ أَفْضَلُ». رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَحَسَنَهُ التُريذِيُّ.

(١٠٣) وعَنْ عَلِيمٌ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ يُقُرِّئُنَا الفُرْآنَ مَا لَمْ يَكُنْ جُنْباً. رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ وَالْخَمْسَةُ، وَهَذَا لَفْظُ الثَّرْمِذِيِّ، وَحَسَّنَهُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ أَنِنُ جِبَّانَ.

(١٠٣) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا أَتَى أَحَدُكُمْ أَهْلَهُ، ثُمَّ أَرَادَ أَنْ يَعُودَ، فَلَيْتَوَضَّأُ يَتَنْهُمَا وُضُوءًا﴾. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ، زَادَ الحَاكِمُ: ﴿فَإِنَّهُ أَنْشُولُمُ الْعَرْدِهِ. أَنْشَلُمُ لِلْعَرْدِهِ.

وَللاَّرْبَعَةِ عَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعالَى عَنْهَا،

 $[\]overline{(1)}$ Bukhāri, Muslim, Abū Dā'ud, Tirmidhi, Nisā'i, Ibn Mājah and Musnad Ahmad. This *Hadāth* is a proof for those scholars who say that the *Ghusl* of *Jumu'ah* is obligatory.

^[2] Samura bin Jundub is a well-known Sabābi nicknamed Abū 'Abdullāh. He was a Fazāri and an ally of the Ansār. He was also one of the Huffādb (memorizers) who narrated many Abāditb. He settled at Basra and was very stem with Al-Haruriya (i.e. Al-Kbawārij, a deviant sect of the Muslims). He died towards the end of the year 59 H.

^[3] Abū Dā'ud, Tirmidhi, Nasā'i, Ibn Mājah and Musnad Ahmad.

^[4] From this *Hadīth* and from others it is proven that reading the Qur'ān is not permissible for a person in a state of major impurity (e.g. after sexual relations) which requires *Ghusl* (bath). [However, this Hadīth is weak. See: *Da'fi Ibn Majab* no. 129 (594), pg. 46; *Misbkat* 1/143, no. 460; *Iruvaa' Al-Ghaleel* 1/206, no. 192]

^[5] This ablution is desirable and not essential, it also brings about a pleasure and freshness in mood. It is reported that if the noble Prophet ## went to his different wives in one night, he used to take a *Ghusl* (bath) after going to each of them. It is also reported that he performed ablution in between and sometimes he did not. So, in this matter one can choose any mode.

impurity without touching water. [13] [Reported by *Al-Arba'a*. This *Hadītb* is defective.]

104. Narrated 'Aisha Whenever Allah's Messenger & took a Gbusl (bath) after sexual intercourse, he would begin by washing his hands, then pour water with his right hand on his left hand and wash his sexual organ. He would then perform ablution, then take some water and run his (wet) fingers through the roots of his hair. Then he would pour three handfuls (of water) on his head, then pour water over the rest of his body and subsequently wash his feet. [Agreed upon and the wording is Muslim's l.

Al-Bukhari and Muslim reported from Maimūna (%): Allāh's Messenger & poured water over his private parts and washed them with his left hand. He then struck his hand against the earth. In another narration: 'He rubbed it (his left hand) with the surface soil.' And in the end of this narration: 'Then I brought him a towel^[2] but he returned it and began wiping off the water with

105. Narrated Umm Salama 物: I said, "O Messenger of Allāh, I am a woman with tightly plaited hair on my head; should I undo it for taking a bath from sexual intercourse?" Another narration has: "from menstruation?" He (美) said, "No, it is enough for you to throw three

his hand.' [Agreed upon].

قَالَتْ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَنَامُ وَهُوَ جُنُبٌ، مِنْ غَيْرِ أَنْ يَمَسَّ مَاءً. وَهُوَ مَعْلُولٌ.

(1.4) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا فَالَتْ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ إِذَا الْحَتَسَلَ مِنَ اللهِ ﷺ إِذَا الْحَتَسَلَ مِنَ اللهِ ﷺ إِذَا الْحَتَسَلَ مِنَ اللهِ عَلَى اللهَ يَبْدُنُهِ، ثُمَّ يَفُوعُ بِيَمِينِهِ عَلَى شَمَالِهِ فَيَنْشِلُ فَرْجَهُ، ثُمَّ يَتَوَصَّا ثُمَّ يَاكُمُدُ المَاءَ فَيَدْخِلُ أَصَابِعَهُ فِي أُصُولِ الشَّغْرِ، ثُمَّ حَفَنَ عَلَى رَأْسِهِ ثَلَاثَ حَفَنَاتِ، ثُمَّ أَفَاضَ عَلَى مَالَيْهِ مَسَلِقٍ جَسَدِهِ، ثُمَّ غَسَلَ رِجْلَيْهِ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ، مَثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفَظُ لِمُسْلِمِ.

وَلَهُمَا مِنْ حَدِيثِ مَيْمُونَةَ: النُّمَّ أَفْرَغَ عَلَى فَرْجِهِ وَغَسَلُهُ بِشِمَالِهِ، ثُمَّ ضَرَبَ بِهَا الأَرْضَ. وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ: افْمَسَحَهَا بِالنُّرَابِ. وَفِي آخِرِهِ: النُّمُّ أَنْيَنُهُ بِالمِنْدِيلِ فَرَدَّهُ، وَفِيه: الوجَعَلَ يَنْتُصُ المَآةَ بِيَلِوا.

(1٠٠) وعَنْ أُمِّ سَلَمَةً رضي الله تعالى عنها قَالَتُ: قُلُتُ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنِّي المُرَاةُ أَشُدُّ شَعَرَ رَأْسِي، أَفَانَقُصُهُ لِغُسُلِ الجَنَابَةِ؟ وَفِي رِوَايَةِ: وَلِلْحَيْضَةِ؟ فَقَالَ: لَا، إِنَّمَا يَكْفِيكِ أَنْ تَحْثِيَ عَلَى رَأْسِكِ ثَلَاثَ حَنَيَاتٍ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

^[1] This *Hadītb* suggests that before going to sleep, ablution is not essential for a *Junubi* (a person in the post-discharge state). However, a *Hadītb* reported by Al-Bukhari and Muslim states that "Umar asked the Prophet: Can one of us sleep while he is in a state of major sexual impurity? The Prophet said: "Yes, if he performs ablution." In another narration, the Prophet said: "...make ablution and wash your private parts, then sleep." [Al-Bukhari no. 287, 288; Muslim no. 600, 602].

^[2] The issue of drying the limbs after performing ablution is discretionary. Therefore, it depends on ones choice whether to dry or not. However, drying with a towel is disliked (according to some scholars), while shaking off the water with ones hand is not disputed.

handfuls of water^[1] on your head". [Reported by Muslim.]

107. Narrated ('Aisha) \$\\$: I and Allāh's Messenger \$\mathbb{X}\$ used to take a *Ghusl* (bath) due to sexual impurity from the same vessel and our hands alternated in (scooping water from) it. [Agreed upon.] Ibn Hibbān added "and (our hands) used to meet."

108. Narrated Abū Hurairah &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "There is sexual impurity under every hair [4], so wash the hair and cleanse the skin." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and At-Tirmidhi who both graded it Da'if (weak). Ahmad has something similar from the Hadītb of 'Aisha & and in the chain is one narrator who is Majbūl (someone whose credibility is not confirmed)].

(١٠٠) وَعَنْ عَآئِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهُ ﷺ: ﴿إِنِّي لَا أُجِلُ المَسْجِدَ لِحَائِضِرِ وَلَا جُنْبِرٍ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ نُحْزِيَعَةً.

(١٠٧) وَعَنْهَا رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهَا فَالَثُ: كُنْتُ أَغْتَسِلُ أَنَا وَرَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ مِنْ إِناتِهِ وَاحِدٍ، تَخْتَلِفُ أَلْدِينَا فِيهِ، مِنَ الجَنَابَةِ. مُثَفَّقُ عَلَيْهِ، وَزَادَ ابْنُ جِبَّانَ: «وَتَلْقِي أَيْدِينًا».

(١٠٨) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِﷺ: وَإِنَّ تَتْحَتَ كُلِّ شَعْرَةٍ جَنَابَةً، فَاغْسِلُوا الشَّعْرَ، وَأَنْقُوا الْبَشَرَّ». رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالتَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَصَعْفَاهُ، وَلاَحْمَدَ عَنْ عَائِشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا نَحْوُه، وَفِيهِ رَاوٍ مَجْهُولٌ.

This Hadith makes it clear that it is not essential for a woman to unravel her hair when performing a Gbusl (bath) after menses or sexual intercourse. There is another Hadith from 'Aisha & in which untying of hair is reported. Some scholars understand this present Hadith (of Umm Salama &) to mean that it is not Wājib (obligatory) to untie the hair, while the Hadith of 'Aisha & indicates that untying of hair is only Mustabab (preferable).

^[2] A menstruating woman is not allowed to enter (and sit in) a mosque, circumambulate the Sacred Ka'ba, nor is she allowed to pray or fast in this period. Prayers of this period are pardoned, whereas missed days of fasting must be fulfilled later on. Reading from – and touching – the noble Qur'ān is also prohibited (according to the majority of scholars). Remembrance of Allāh is allowed to her. She is also allowed to go to the place of 'Eid prayers and participate in supplicating Allāh along with the other Muslims.

^[3] It means that neither a menstruating woman nor anyone in a state of *Janābab* (state of major impurity after seminal emission) is allowed to stay in a mosque, though passing through is allowed. If somebody experiences seminal discharge as a result of a wet dream, while sleeping in a mosque, it is essential for him to go out and take a *Ghusl*. This is unanimously agreed upon.

^[4] We come to know by this Hadith that it is obligatory – by consensus – to wash the whole body after having sexual intercourse. The exception to this is rinsing of the mouth and putting water in the nose. There is difference of opinion about these two. Some hold washing the mouth and nose to be obligatory, while the others hold it to be Sunnah.

Chapter 9 TAYAMMUM (PURIFICATION WITH SOIL)

٩ - بَابُ التَّيَمُم

109. Narrated Jābir bin 'Abdullāh &: The Prophet & said, "I have been given five things which were not given to anyone else before me. Allāh made me victorious by awe (of frightening my enemies) for a distance of one month's journey. The earth has been made for me (and my followers) a place for praying and (means of) purification (i.e. by performing Tayamum). Therefore, anyone (of my followers) must pray wherever the time of Salāt (prayer)[1] becomes due." [2]

(١٠٩) عَنْ جَابِرِ بْنِرَ عَبْدِ اللهِ رَضِيَ اللّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُما، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ قَالَ: الْمُعْلِثُ خَمْسًا لَمْ يُعْطَهُنَّ أَخَدُ قَبْلِي: نُصِرْتُ بِالرُّغْبِ مَسِيرَةً شَهْرٍ، وَجُولَتْ لِيَ الأَرْضُ مَسْجِداً وَطَهُوراً، فَأَيُّما رَجُلِ أَذْرَكَتْهُ الصَّلَاةُ فَلْيُصَلُّ. وذَكَرَ الحَدِيثَ.

In the *Hadīth* of Hudhaifa, Muslim has: "The soil^[3] of the earth has been made for us as a means of purification if/when we do not find water."

Ahmad has, on the authority of 'Ali &:
"The soil has been made for me (and
my followers) a means of purification."

110. Narrated 'Ammār bin Yāsir^[4] &: The Prophet & sent me on an errand, then I became *Junub* (from seminal emission in my sleep). I did not find water, so I rolled on the soil like an animal does (to perform *tayammum*).

وَفِي حَدِيثِ حُدَّيْفَةً عِنْدَ مُشلِمٍ: ﴿وَجُعِلَتُ تُوبَتُهَا لَنَا طَهُوراً، إِذَا لَمْ نَجِدِ المَاءَ».

وَعَنْ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ عِنْدَ أَحْمَدَ: "وَجُعِلَ التُرابُ لِيَ طَهُوراً».

(١١٠) وَعَنْ عَمَّارِ بْنِ يَاسِر رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى
 عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: بَعَنَنِي النَّبِيُ ﷺ فِي حَاجَةِ،
 فَأَجْنَبْتُ، فَلَمْ أَجِدِ المَآءَ، فَتَمَرَّغْتُ فِي الطَّبِي المَآءَ، فَتَمَرَّغْتُ فِي الطَّبِي
 الصَّعِيدِ، كَمَا تَمَرَّغُ الدَابَةُ، ثُمَّ أَتَبْتُ النَّبِي

^[1] It means that if water is not readily available, one should not miss the first part of prayer time in search of water. However, Mālik, Ash-Shāfi'i and Ahmad (according to one narration from him) require that one search for water before performing *Tayammum*.

^[2] The other three things are: a) Booty (spoils of war) has been made lawful; b) The Great Intercession on the Day of Judgement, when all of humanity will be awaiting the start of the Judgement; c) His Messengership is for all of the inhabitants of the earth.

^[3] Soil and all other things from the same class (type) are regarded as equal and *Tayammum* is permissible with them, according to Abu Hanifah and Mālik [with the exception of such things like lime, antimony and arsenic, etc. which are not considered as one with soil]. Ash-Shāfi'i and Ahmad only allow the use of surface soil or the dust upon the surface of things.

^{[4] &#}x27;Ammār was nicknamed Abul-Yaqzān, and was among the most senior and early Muslims, and was tortured in Makkah for his Faith. He made the two migrations and took part in Badr and all the other important battles. The Prophet 燕 told him, "O 'Ammār, the party of transgressors will kill you." He was indeed killed at Siffin in the year 36 H. – when he was with 'Ali – at the age of 73 years.

Then, I returned to the Prophet 繼 and mentioned that to him. He (纖) said, "It would have been sufficient for you to do with your hands this way". He then struck his hands once on the soil, and then rubbed the left hand on the right and the exterior part of his palms and his face. [Agreed upon. The wording is Muslim's].

In a narration of Al-Bukhāri: 'He (Allāh's Messenger #) struck the earth with his palms (both hands)^[1] and then blew off the dust and rubbed both of his palms over his face and hands.'

111. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . Allāh's Messenger said, "Tayammum (purifying with the soil) consists of two strikings^[2] of the soil, one for the face and one for the hands up to the elbows." [Reported by Ad-Dāraqutni, and the *Imāms* graded it *Sahib* as Mawqūf (saying of a Companion)].

112. Narrated Abū Huraira **4**: Allāh's Messenger **5** said, "The soil is a means of ablution for the Muslim believer, even if he does not find water for ten years^[3]; but when he finds water he should guard against disobeying Allāh and let it touch his skin (i.e. use it for purification)." [Reported by Al-Bazzār, and Al-Qattān graded it *Sahib* (authentic). But Ad-Dāraqutni considered the correct opinion is that it

ﷺ، فَذَكَرْتُ لَهُ ذَلِكَ، فَقَالَ: إِنَّمَا كَانَ يَكْفِيكَ أَنْ تَقُولَ بِيَدَيْكَ هَكَذَا، ثُمُّ صَرَبَ بِيدَيهِ الأَرْضَ صَرْبَةً وَاحِدَةً، ثُمَّ مَسَحَ الشِّمَالَ عَلَى اليَومِينِ وظَاهِرَ كَفَّيْهِ وَوَجْهَهُ. متفق عليه وَاللَّفظُ لِمُسْلِمِ.

وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لِلْبُخَارِيِّ 'وَضَرَبَ بِكَفَّيْهِ الأَرْضَ، وَنَفَخ فِيهِمَا، ثُمَّ مَسَحَ بِهِمَا وَجْهَهُ وَكَفَّيْهِ.

(۱۱۱) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «التَّبَيْمُهُ ضَرْبَتَانِ ، ضَرْبَةٌ لِلْوَجْهِ، وَصَرْبَةٌ لِلْبَدَيْنِ». رَوَاهُ اللَّارَقُطْنِيْهُ، وَصَحّْحَ الأَلِيَّةُ وَقَفَهُ.

(١١٢) وَعَن أَبِي هُرِيرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: االصَّعِبدُ وَضُوءُ المُسْلِم، وَإِنْ لَمْ يَجِدِ المَاءَ عَشْرَ سِنِينَ، فَإِذَا وَجَدَ الْمَاءَ فَلْيَتِي اللَّه، وَلْيُمِسَّهُ بَشَرَتُهُ. رَوَاهُ النَّزَّارُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابنُ القَطَّانِ، وَلَكِن صَوَّبَ النَّارَهُ اللَّهُ وَلِللَّهُ وَلِللَّهُ عَنْ أَبِي ذَرْ نَحْوَه، وَصَحَّحَهُ وَالحاكِمُ أَيْضاً.

This Hadith explains Tayammum (purification with soil). Some scholars [e.g. Ahmad, Al-Awzā'i, Ishāq and Abl Al-Hadīth...] are of the opinion that one stroke on earth is enough for the face and both hands. Others [e.g. Abu Hanifah, Mālik and Ash-Shāfi'i] say that two strokes are essential, one for the face and the other for the hands as is mentioned in the next Hadīth. However, the Abadīth which mention 'two strokes' are all Da'tf (weak) or Mawqūf (saying of a Companion).

^[2] The scholars of *Abadītb* have regarded this *Hadītb* as *Da'tf* (weak), and all its chains of narrators are also weak. Hence, it cannot stand as a proof in opposition to the *Hadītb* of 'Ammar which proves the performance of *Tayammum* as one stroke upon the earth.

^[3] It means that at the time of necessity soil is a complete substitute for water and fulfills all purposes of purification whether it concerns ablution or Ghus! (bath) – until water is available. With one Tayammum many obligatory acts can be performed, if there is no factor that nullifies it.

is *Mursal* (missing link in the chain after the *Tābi'i*. At-Tirmidhi reported a similar narration on the authority of Abū Dhar, [1] which he authenticated and so did Al-Hākim].

113. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri 🐟: Two men set out on a journey and when the time of Salāt (prayer) came they had no water. They performed Tavammum with clean earth and prayed. Later on they found water within the time of the prayer. One of them repeated the prayer and ablution but the other did not repeat. Then they came to Allah's Messenger and related the matter to him. Addressing himself to the one who did not repeat, he said, "You followed the Sunnab and your prayer was sufficient (accredited) for you."[2] He said to the other (who performed ablution and repeated): "For you there is a double reward".[3] [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i].

114. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās & regarding the explanation of the Words of Allāh: "And if you are ill^[4] or on a journey

(١١٣) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: خَرَجَ رَجُلَانِ فِي سَفَرٍ، فَحَصَرَتِ الصَّلَاهُ، وَلِيْسَ مَمَهُمَا مَاتُّ، فَتَيَمَّمَا صَعِيداً طَيِّباً، فَصَلَّا، ثُمَّ وَجَدَا المَّاءَ فِي الوَقْتِ، فَلَاعَادَ أَحَدُهُمَا الصَّلَاةَ وَالوُصُوءَ، وَلَمْ يُعِيدِ الآخَرُ، ثُمَّ أَبَيَا رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ، فَذَكَرا وَلَمْ يُعِيدِ الآخَرُ، ثُمَّ أَبَيَا رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ، فَذَكَرا وَأَجْزَأَتُكَ صَلَاتُكَ، وَقَالَ للرَّخَرِ: «لَكَ الأَجْرُ مَرَّتَينٍ إ. رَوَاه أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالشَّائِيُّ.

(١١٤) وَعَن ِ ابْن ِ عَبَّاس ِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، فِي قَوْلِهِ عَزَّ وَجَلَّ: ﴿وَإِن كُنُمُ تَرْتَحَى أَوْ

^[1] Abū Dhar's name was Jundub bin Junāda, and he was among the most prominent Sabāba and an ascetic (Zābid). He became a Muslim very early at Makkah, then went back to his people. He came to the Prophet 鑑 at Al-Madīnah and later settled and died at Rabdha in 32 H

^[2] It means that if somebody has already prayed a certain prayer by performing *Tayammum*, then there is no need to repeat the prayer, even if water is found afterwards and there is still time for the prayer.

^[3] It was not necessary to pray again if the prayer had been offered by performing *Tayammum*. The second person got double reward for praying twice, once with *Tayammum* and once with ablution. It might also be due the reward of the prayer and the reward of exercising judgement (*Ifitbād*) regarding the problem, since there is one reward for the *Muţtabid* (scholar) even when he reached the wrong opinion.

^[4] It means that when someone intends to perform the prayer and there is some hindrance to performing ablution or taking a *Ghusl* (bath), then *Tayammum* is essential. Here illness means the sickness which would be aggravated by the use of water [according to Mālik, the Hanafi school and one of the two saying of Ash-Shāfi'i]. Others [Ahmad, and in one of the two sayings of Ash-Shāfi'i] hold that *Tayammum* is not allowed unless the sick person fears that the use of water would cause death. Daw'ud holds that *Tayammum* is allowed for every sick person – without the condition of fear of harm or death due to the use of water.

...": If a man sustains a wound in the cause of Allāh and an injury, then becomes *Junub* (sexually impure) and fears death if he takes *Gbusl* (bath), he should perform *Tayammum*. [Reported by Ad-Dāraqutni as *Mawqūf* (a saying of a Companion) and Al-Bazzār as *Marfū'* (attributed to the Prophet). Ibn Khuzaima and Al-Hākim graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

115. Narrated 'Ali 拳: One of the bones (ulna) in my forearm was broken, so I asked Allāh's Messenger 癥 [concerning purification in this condition] and he ordered me to wipe over the bandages. [11 [Reported by Ibn Mājah with chain of narrators that is Wābin Jiddan (very weak)].

116. Narrated Jābir & concerning the man who had sustained a wound in his head and took a bath and died: (Allāh's Messenger & said) "It would have been sufficient for him to perform Tayammum, then bind a bandage over the wound and wipe over it (with wet hands) and then wash the rest of his body." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud with a chain containing Daff (weakness), and there is (also) disagreement concerning its narrator].

117. Narrated Ibn Abbās 4s: It is the Sunnab that a person should not pray more than one prayer^[2] with a (one) Tayammum, then he should perform Tayammum for the next Salāt (prayer). [Reported by Ad-Dāraqutni with a chain

عَلَىٰ سَمَدٍ ﴾ قَالَ: إِذَا كَانَتْ بِالرَّجُلِ العِرَاحَةُ فِي سَبِيلِ اللهِ وَالقُرُوحُ، فَيَجْنِبُ، فَيَخَافُ أَن يَمُوتَ إِنِ الْحَسَسَلَ، تَيَمَّمَ. رَوَاهُ الدَّارَقُطَنِيُّ مَوْفُوفاً وَرَفَعَهُ البَرَّارُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ خُرَيْمَةً وَالحَاجِمُ.

(١١٥) وَعَنْ عَلِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: انْكَسَرَتْ إِخْدَى زَنْدَيَّ، فَسَأَلْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ فَأَمَرَنِي أَنْ أَمْسَحَ عَلَى الجَبَائِرِ. رَوَاهُ ابْنُ مَاجَه بِسَنْدِ وَاوِ جِذًا.

(۱۱۲) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، فِي الرَّحُلِ الَّذِي شُجُّ فَاغْتَمَلَ فَمَاتَ: إِنَّمَا كَانَ يَكْفِيهِ أَن يَتَيَمَّمَ وَيغْصِبَ عَلَى جُرْحِهِ خِرْقَةً، ثُمُّ يَغْضِبَ عَلَى جُرْحِهِ خِرْقَةً، ثُمُّ يَغْضِلَ سَائِرَ جَسَدِهِ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدُ بَسَدِهِ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدُ بَسَدِهِ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدُ بَسَدِهِ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو

(١١٧) وَعَنِ الْبَنِ عَبَّاسٍ, رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: مِنَ السُّنَةِ أَنْ لَا يُصَلِّيَ الرَّجُلُ إِللَّهُ مَا يَتَيَمُّمُ لِلصَّلَاةِ الرَّجُلُ اللَّهَيْمُ مِلْكُلَةً وَاجِدَةً، ثُمَّ يَتَيَمَّمُ لِلصَّلَاةِ الأَدْوَقُطْنِيُّ إِلِسْنَادِ ضَعِيفٍ, جِمًّا. الأُخْرَى. رَوَاهُ الدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ إِلِسْنَادِ ضَعِيفٍ, جِمًّا.

^[1] The word in Arabic is Jabā'ir (جبائر) used for the cloth strips – or wooden sticks – which are placed around the broken arm or leg for covering and support and to keep it straight.

^[2] Since Tayammum (purification with soil) is a substitute for ablution, it works the same. Just as many prayers can be offered with one ablution, in the same way many prayers can be offered with one Tayammum. Some people – after performing Tayammum for sexual intercourse or a wet dream – hesitate to enter the mosque or to recite the Qur'an. This is only an evil apprehension and a satanic distraction and should not be cared for. The chain of narrators for this Hadith is weak. Likewise, there are two other Ahadith on the same issue and both of them are also Da'if (weak).

of narrators that is Da'if Jiddan (very weak)]. [1]

Chapter 10 MENSTRUATION

118. Narrated 'Aisha &: Fatima bint Abū Hubaish had a prolonged flow of blood^[2] and Allāh's Messenger ﷺ told her, "The menstruation blood is a dark recognizable blood, so if that comes then avoid prayer. And if it is the other (light colored blood) then perform Wudu' (ablution) and offer Salāt (prayer) [for that is blood of a vein]." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i. Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic). Abū Hātim considered it Munkar (rejected)].

And in the *Hadīth* of Asmā' bint 'Umais^[3] (*) reported by Abū Dā'ud, (the Prophet ﷺ said:) "She should sit in a tub, and when she sees a yellowish color on the surface of the water, she should take a bath once for the *Zubr* and 'Asr prayers, and take another bath for the *Magbrib* and 'Isbā' prayers, and take a bath once for the Fajr prayer, and in between these times she should perform ablution [before performing any act of worship which requires purification]."

١٠ - بَابُ الحَيْضِ

(11۸) عَنْ عَآئِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا أَنَّ فَاطِمَةَ بِنْتَ أَبِي مُبَيْشِرِ كَانَتْ تُسْتَحَاضُ، فَقَالَ لَهَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "إِنَّ دَمَ الْحَيْضِرِ دَمُ أَسْوَدُ يُمُونُ، فَإِذَا كَانَ ذَلِكِ فَأَشْسِكِي عَنِ الصَّلَاةِ، فَإِذَا كَانَ الآخَرُ فَتَوَضَّنِي وَصَلِّي. رَوَاهُ أَبُو ذَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَآئِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابنُ حِبَّانَ وَالحَاكِمُ، وَاسْتَنْكَرُهُ أَبُو حَاتِمٍ.

وَفِي حَدِيثِ أَشَمَاءَ بِنْتِ عُمَيْنِ عِنْدَ أَبِي دَاوُدَ: وَلَتَجْلِسْ فِي مِرْكَنِ، فَإِذَا رَأَتْ صُفْرَةً فَوْقَ المَآءِ فَلْتَغْتَسِلْ لِلطَّهْرِ وَالمَصْرِ عُسُلاً وَاجِداً، وَتَغْتَسِلُ لِلْمَغْرِبِ وَالعِشَاءِ عُسُلاً وَاجِداً، وَتَغْتَسِلُ لِلْفَجْرِ غُسُلاً وَاجِداً، وَتَتَوَضَّأُ فِي مَا بَيْنَ ذَلِكَ.

^[1] This *Hadīth* is weak because it was narrated by Al-Hasan bin 'Umārah who is weak, and for this reason the *Hadīth* scholars did not rely on it. They said: "Allāh has permitted for us the use of soil in the absence of water and since ablution only becomes obligatory after its nullification (i.e. due to urination, defecation or passing wind), so is the case with *Tayammum*."

⁽استنانیة) may be either prolonged post-natal bleeding or prolonged menstruation period (and is regarded as bleeding between the periods). The period of menstruation, according to some scholars is from one to fifteen days; and according to others, its duration is from three to ten days. Experience confirms the later assertion. Every woman knows her period, if bleeding exceeds the normal time, then it would be Istibada.

^[3] She was the wife of Ja'far bin Abū Tālib. She had migrated with him to Abyssinia (Ethiopia) and bore him there children, among them was 'Abdullāh. Then Abū Bakr As-Siddiq married her after the martyrdom of Ja'far at the battle of Mu'ta, and she bore him Muhammad. 'Ali bin Abū Tālib also married her after the death of Abū Bakr and she bore him Yahya. 'Umar used to ask her the interpretation of dreams. She died after the death of 'Ali.

119. Narrated Hamna bint Jahsh[1] 🐁: My prolonged bleeding flowed abundantly and severely. So I came to the Prophet # to ask for his (religious) opinion. He said, "This is [the result of] a stroke/stab by the devil. Therefore, you must observe your menses for six or seven days, then take a bath and when you see that you are purified and quite clean, pray for twenty-three or twenty-four days, and fast and pray, for that will indeed suffice you. And do like this every month - just as the other women menstruate (and are purified). But if you are strong enough^[2] to delay the Zubr prayer and advance the 'Asr prayer, then take a bath and combine the Zubr and the 'Asr prayer; then delay the Magbrib prayer and advance the 'Isba' prayer then take a bath and combine the two prayers, do so; and take a bath at Fair (dawn) and perform the (dawn) prayer." Allah's Messenger said of these two options: "This one appeals more to my liking (i.e. taking a bath at these three times daily)". [Reported by Al-Khamsa except An-Nasā'i. At-Tirmidhi graded it Sabib Hasan (good)].

daily)". [Reported by Al-Khamsa except An-Nasā'i. At-Tirmidhi graded it Sabib (authentic) and Al-Bukhāri graded it Hasan (good)].

120. Narrated 'Aisha &: Umm Habiba bint Jahsh [3] complained to Allāh's Messenger about the blood (which flows beyond the menstruation period).

(١١٩) وَعَنْ حَمْنَةَ بِنْت جَحْشِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: كُنْتُ أُسْتَحَاضُ حَبْضَةً كَثِيرَةً شَدِيدَةً، فَأَتَيْتُ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ أَسْتَفْتِيهِ، فَقَالَ: «إِنَّمَا هِيَ رَكْضَةٌ مِنَ الشَّيْطَانِ ، فَتَحَيَّضِي سِتَّةَ أَيَّام أَوْ سَنْعَةَ أَيَّامِ ، ثُمَّ اغْتَسِلِي ، فَإِذَا اسْتَنْقَأْت فَصَلِّي أَرْبَعَةً وَعِشْرِينَ أَوْ ثَلَاثَةً وَعِشْرِينَ، وَصُومِي وَصَلِّي، فَإِنَّ ذَلِكِ يُجْزِئُكِ، وَكَذَلِكِ فَافْعَلِي كُلَّ شَهْر، كَمَا تَحِيضٌ النِّسَاءُ، فَإِنْ قَويت عَلَى أَنْ تُؤَخِّري الظُّهْرَ وَتُعَجِّلي العَصْرَ، ثُمَّ تَغْتَسِلي حِينَ تَطْهُرينَ، وَتُصَلَّى الظُّهُرَ وَالعَصْرَ جَمِيعاً، ثُمَّ تُؤَخُّرِينَ المَغْرِبَ وَتُعَجِّلُهِ: العِشَاءَ، ثُمَّ تَغْتَسِلِينَ وَتَجْمَعِينَ بَيْنَ الصَّلَاتَيْن فَافْعَلِي، وَتَغْتَسِلينَ مَعَ الصُّبْحِ وَتُصَلِّنَ، قَالَ: وَهُوَ أَعْجِبُ الأَهْرَنْنِ إِلَيَّا". رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ إِلَّا النَّسَائِيَّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَحَسَّنَهُ البُخَارِيُ .

(۱۲۰) وَعَنْ عَآئِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا أَنَّ أَمَّ حَبِيبَةً بِثْتَ جَحْشِر شَكَتْ إِلَى رَسُول ِ اللهِ اللهُ اللهُولِيَّا اللهُ ا

^[1] Hamna bint Jahsh is the sister of the 'Mother of the Believers' Zainab bint Jahsh. She was married to Mus'ab bin 'Umair, who was martyred during the battle of Uhud after which she was married by Talha bin 'Ubaidullāh.

^[2] In this *Hadīth*, Hamna was ordered to take a bath three times a day. One bath for *Zubr* (غير) and 'Asr (عصر) prayers and a second for *Magbrib* (مغرب) and 'Isbā' (عرب) and a third for Fajr (عرب). In the preceding *Hadīth* Fatima bint Abū Hubaish was ordered merely to perform ablution before every prayer. It means in case of *Istibāda* (عربال المتحافقة) taking a bath is not compulsory but performing ablution is obligatory for every prayer. Taking a bath is preferable if weather conditions and health allows. Otherwise, ablution suffices.

^[3] Habiba bint Jahsh was another sister of Zainab bint Jahsh, 'the Mother of the Believers' and she was married to 'Abdur-Rahmān bin 'Auf. Muslim narrated that she had a prolonged flow of blood for seven years. She died in 44 H.

He said, "Keep away (from prayer) the length of time that your menses prevented you, then take a bath (and offer prayers)". And she used to take a bath for every prayer. [1] [Reported by Muslim.]

The narration of Al-Bukhāri has: "Perform ablution for every *Salāt* (prayer)". It has (also) been reported by Abū Dā'ud and others through another chain of narrators.

122. Narrated Anas 泰: The Jews used not to eat with a woman during her menstruation period, so the Prophet 養 said, "Do every thing else apart from sexual intercourse (with your wives)". [Reported by Muslim.]

123. Narrated 'Aisha \clubsuit : Allāh's Messenger \lessapprox used to order me to put on an $Iz\bar{a}r^{[4]}$ and then caress^[5] me

تَخْيِسُكِ حَيْضَتُكِ، ثُمَّ اغْتَسِلِي»، فَكَانَتْ تَغْتَسِلُ لِكُلُّ صَلَاةٍ. رواه مسلم.

وَفِي رِوَايَةِ البُخَارِيِّ "وَتَوَضَّنِي لِكُلِّ صَلَاةٍ". وَهِيَ لأَبِي دَاوُدَ وَغَيْرِهِ مِنْ وَجْهِ آخَرَ.

(١٢١) وَعَنْ أَمْ عَطِيَّةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: كُنَّا لَا نَمُدُّ الكُذُرَةَ وَالصَّفْرَةَ بَعَدَ الطَّهْرِ شَيْئاً. رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَاللَّفْظُ لَهُ.

(۱۲۲) عِنْ أَنَسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ الْبَهُودَ كَانُوا إِذَا حَاضَتِ المَرْأَةُ فِيهِمْ لَمُ يُؤَالِكُوهَا، فَقَالَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ: "اصْنَعُوا كُلُّ شَيْءٍ إِلَّا النَّكَاحَ". رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(١٢٣) وَعَنْ عَآئِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَأْمُرُنِي فَأَتَّزِرُ،

⁽¹⁾ It was only a precautionary or voluntary act of Umm Habiba to take a bath for every prayer. The correct ruling regarding this issue is to take a post-menstruation *Gbusl* (bath) and purify oneself. Concerning prolonged bleeding, what is required is to wash away the blood and perform ablution for every prayer.

^[2] Her name was Nusaiba bint Ka'b or bint Al-Hārith Al-Ansāriya. She was among the prominent Sabābtya women, and she used to accompany Allāh's Messenger 舊 to battles, nursing the sick and treating the injured. She fought during the battle of Uhud like the heroes fought. She witnessed the washing of the body of the daughter of the Prophet 蹇 which she perfected and narrated, and a number of Sabāba and Tabi'i 'Ulama at Basra recorded that from her. Her Hadīth is considered to be the basic (reference) for washing the dead. She was counted to be among the Sabābīya who settled at Basra.

^[3] In the narration of 'Aisha &, yellow and muddy colored discharge is considered as menses. However, this *Hadīth* states: "We considered it nothing." The two *Abadīth* appear to be opposing each other, but actually both are correct in their context. If the yellow or muddy colored discharge oozes out in the menstruation period, it will be considered as 'menses'; and if it come out after the period, it is 'nothing' as the word *Ba'd At-Tubr* (بعد العلم) gives the clue.

^[4] Izar is a piece of cloth worn from the waistline downwards like a skirt.

^[5] Those who do not believe in the Abadīth (i.e. the deniers of Sunnah), create ambiguity

while menstruating. [Agreed upon].

124. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās . Allāh's Messenger said regarding a husband who has sexual intercourse with his wife during her menstruation period, "He should give out (as atonement) one Dinar or 1/2 Dinar in charity." [Reported by Al-Khamsa. Al-Hākim and Ibn Al-Qattān graded it Sabib (authentic). Others held that the stronger view is that it is Mawquf (saying of a Companion)]. [1]

125. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri 卷: Allāh's Messenger 繼 said, "Is it not the case that a woman in her menstruation period neither prays nor fasts?" [2] [Agreed upon. It is part of a long Hadītb.]

126. Narrated 'Aisha \$: When we came to a place called Sarif, I menstruated and the Prophet \$\mathbb{E}\$ said (to me), "Do what a pilgrim does [i.e. regarding the rites of Hajj and 'Umrah] except that you don't circumambulate the Ka'ba

فَيُبَاشِرُنِي وَأَنَا حَآثِضٌ. مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(178) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّه تَعَالَى غُنْهُمَا، عَنْ رَسُول اللهِ ﷺ، فِي الَّذِي يَأْتِي الْمَرَاتُهُ وَهِيَ حَالِضٌ، قَالَ: "يَتَصَدَّقُ بِدِينَارٍ أَوْ يَنِصْف دِينَارٍ". رَوَاهُ الخَسْمَةُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ الحَاكِمُ وَابْنُ الفَطْانِ، وَرَجَّحَ غَيْرُهُمَا وَقَفَهُ.

(۱۲۰) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْدِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ الله ﷺ: «أَلَيْسَ إِذَا خَاضَتِ المَمْزَأَةُ لَمْ تُصُلِّ وَلَمْ تَصُمْ؟». مُتَقَنَّ عَلَيْهِ فِي حَدِيثِ طَوِيلٍ.

(١٢٦) وَعَنْ عَائِشَة رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتُ: لَمَّا جِئْنَا سَرِفَ حِضْتُ، فَقَالَ النَّيْ قَالَتُ: لَمَّا جِئْنَا سَرِفَ حِضْتُ، فَقَالَ النَّيْقِ الْفَيْدِ: «افْعَلِي مَا يَفْعَلُ الحَاتِّ، غَيْرَ أَنْ لا يَقَعُلُونِي بِالبَيْتِ حَتَّى تَعْلُمُونِي البَيْتِ حَتَّى تَعْلُمُونِي البَيْتِ حَتَّى تَعْلُمُونِي البَيْتِ حَتَّى تَعْلُمُونِي البَيْتِ حَتَّى اللَّهُ فِي

and doubt at this point, and make the people suspicious about the Abadītb. They assert that sexual intercourse during the menstruation period is prohibited by the noble Qur'ān. However, according to this Hadītb the Prophet would engage in sexual relations with his wife during that period. Hence, Hadītb is not true. The literal meaning of Mubāsbarab (امباشرة) is to touch and rub the body with the body, and speaking metaphorically it means sexual intercourse. In other Abadītb it has been clarified that sexual intercourse is strictly forbidden during menstruation. Thus, it is quite a dishonesty to translate the word Mubāsbarab (اصاحرة) as sexual intercourse instead of fondling and thereby create suspicion.

^[1] Some of the scholars [e.g. Ash-Shāfi'i and Ibn Abdul-Barr] consider this *Hadīth* to be *Da'tf* (weak), and therefore, most of the scholars do not deem it necessary to expiate. Other scholars [e.g. Ibn Qattan and Ibn Daqiq Al-Eid] consider the *Hadīth* to be *Sabīth* (authentic) and require that it be implemented. However, they hold that the command here [to give charity] is meant to indicate that it is commendable (*Mustabab*), not obligatory (*Wājīth*). In any case, the person who engages in sexual relations with his wife during menses must at least seek Allah's forgiveness and repent from such behavior.

^[2] This is a small portion of a long *Hadīth*. The noble Prophet while delivering a *Khutha* (religious talk) to the women, told them that their *Deen* (i.e. acts of worship) was *Nāqis* (incomplete). They asked, "How?" In the answer to their question, he spoke these words which indicate the prohibition of the menstruating women of performing prayers and fasting. However, this is in no way meant to be a criticism of women, since their abandonment of these acts of worship – during menses – is in obedience to Allah, not disobedience.

until you are purified". [Agreed upon and it is part of a long *Hadīth*.]

127. Narrated Mu'ādh 泰: He asked the Prophet 藥, "What is lawful for a man regarding his wife when she is menstruating?" He 藥 replied, "Whatever is above the *Izār* (waist wrapper) (is lawful)."^[1] [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and he graded it *Da'tf* (weak).]

128. Narrated Umm Salama **\$:** During the time of the Prophet 鑑 the women having bleeding after delivery (postnatal or puerperal blood) would refrain (from prayer) for forty days. ^[2] [Reported by *Al-Khamsa* except An-Nasā'i. The wording is that of Abū Dā'ud].

And in another narration of Abū Dā'ud it has: "The Prophet 續 did not command her to make up for the prayers (abandoned) during the period of bleeding." Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic).

حَدِيث طُويل.

(١٢٧) وَعَنْ مُعَاذِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُ سَأَلُ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، مَا يَجِلُ لِلرَّجُولِ مِنَ امْرَأَتِهِ وَمَنِي حَائِضٌ؟ فَقَالَ: "مَا فَوْقَ الْإِزَارِ". رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وضَعَفَهُ.

(١٢٨) وَعَنْ أُمْ سَلَمَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: كَانَتِ النُّشَسَاءُ تَقْمُدُ على عَهْدِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ بَعْدَ نِفَاسِهَا أَرْبَعِينَ يؤماً. رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ إِلَّا النُسَآنِيُّ، وَاللَّفْظُ لِإِسِي دَاوُدَ.

وَفِي لَفْظِ لَهُ: وَلَمْ يَأْمُرْهَا النَّبِيُ ﷺ بِقَضَاءِ صَلَاةِ النَّفَاسِ. وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ.

[[]۱] "Everything above the Lzar (dress worn below the waist)" أن فوق الإزار] may have two meanings: First, the Lzar may be a figurative speech for 'sexual intercourse'. In other words, everything is permitted except sexual intercourse. Secondly, it may metaphorically mean the portion of body related to Lzar. But this meaning will contradict the stronger and more authentic Hadith stating: "Do everything except intercourse." [اصنعوا كل شيء إلا النكاح]. Therefore, applying the first meaning is preferable, in order to eliminate any contradiction between the two Hadith.

^[2] It means the maximum period of post-natal blood is forty days, while the minimum time for it is not fixed. If it continues more than forty days, it will be regarded as *Istibāda* (bleeding between periods) which is not a hindrance for prayer, fasting and having sexual intercourse. The commands and prohibitions related to post-natal bleeding are the same as those related to menstruation.

2. THE BOOK OF PRAYER

Chapter 1 THE TIMES OF SALAT (PRAYERS)

129. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin 'Amr 🞄: The Prophet said, "The time of the Zubr (noon) prayer^[1] is when the sun passes the meridian and a man's shadow is of the same length as his height. It lasts until the time of the 'Asr (afternoon) prayer. The time of the 'Asr prayer is as long as the sun has not become yellow (during its setting). The time of the Maghrib (sunset) prayer^[2] is as long as the twilight [3] has not disappeared. The time of the 'Ishā' (night) prayer is up to midnight. And the time of the Fair (morning) prayer is from the appearance of dawn as long as the sun has not risen; (but when the sun rises abstain from prayer; for it rises between the two horns of Satan)." [Reported by Muslim].

وَلَهُ مِنْ حَدِيثِ بُرِيْدَةَ فِي الْعَصْرِ: ﴿ وَالشَّمْسُ in another ﴿ هَا الْعَصْرِ: ﴿ وَالشَّمْسُ version of the above Hadīth regarding

٢ - كِتَابُ الصَّلَاةِ

١ - بَاكُ الْمَوَاقِيت

(١٢٩) عَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ عَمْرُو رَضِيَ الله تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿ وَقُتُ الظُّهُرِ إِذَا زَالَتِ الشَّمْسِ، وَكَانَ ظِلُّ الرَّجُلِ كَطُولِهِ، مَا لَمْ يَحْضُر العَصْرُ، وَوَقْتُ العَصْرِ مَا لَمْ تَصْفَرُ الشَّمْسُ، وَوَقْتُ صَلَاةِ المَغْرِبِ مَا لَمْ نَغَبُ الشَّفَقُ، وَوَقْتُ صَلَاةِ العِشَاءِ إِلَى نِصْفِ اللَّيْلِ الأَوْسَطِ، وَوَقْتُ صَلَاةِ الصُّبْحِ مِنْ طُلُوعِ الفَجْرِ مَا لَمْ تَطْلُعِ الشَّمْسُ". رَوَاهُ

^[1] It means that the time for Zuhr (ظهر) prayer is up to the same size shadow [from the start of the sun's decline up to the time when a man's height and the size of his shadow are equal in length]; and after that, the time of 'Asr (عصر) prayer starts. Some of the religious scholars consider the time of Zubr prayer up to double-size shadow, but this is not proven by any authentic Hadith.

^[2] This Hadīth tells that Maghrib (مغرب) prayer also has two timings, early and late. In the Hadith of Jibril only one time is mentioned for Maghrib prayer on both days, but this was an affair of the early period of Islam. Later on, in Al-Madinah, the time for the Maghrib prayer was extended.

^[3] Shafaq (شفت) - twilight is a redness on the western horizon at evening after sunset, as its description is given in the narration of Ad-Daragutni.

^[4] He is Abū 'Abdullāh Buraida bin Al-Husaib Al-Aslami. He embraced Islam together with eighty of his colleagues when the Prophet & passed him on his way to the migration to Al-Madinah. He then came to the Prophet s after the battle of Uhud and then took part in the other battles. He also attended Al-Hudaibiva and Bai'at-ur-Ridwān. He settled at Basra then went with an expedition to Khurāsān settling at Marw where he died and was buried in 62 H. or 63 H.

'Asr (afternoon prayer): "When the sun is white^[1] and clear." [Reported by Musa^[2] Musliml. And Abū narrated regarding the time of 'Asr prayer: "While the sun is high.[3]" [Reported by Muslim in another narration of the former Hadith).

130, Narrated Abū Barza Al-Aslami [4] ♣: Allāh's Messenger 艦 used to offer the 'Asr prayer (and after the prayer) one of us would return to his house at the furthest end of Al-Madinah and arrive while the sun was still hot and bright. And he (鑑) loved to delay the 'Isba' prayer, and he disliked sleeping before it and conversation after it. [5] After the Fair prayer he used to leave when a man could recognize the one sitting beside him and he used to recite between 60 to 100 Verses of the Our'an in the Fair prayer. [Agreed upon].

Narrated Jābir, in the version of Al-Bukhāri and Muslim: (The Prophet 鑑) used to advance the 'Isha' prayer sometimes and delay it at other times. Whenever he saw the people assembled (for the 'Isha' prayer) he would pray مَنْضَآءُ نَقِيَّةٌ وَمِنْ حَدِيثِ أَبِي مُوسَى:

بُلوغ المرَام

(١٣٠) وَعَنْ أَبِي بَرْزَةَ الأَسْلَمِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ الله ﷺ بُصَلِّي العَصْرَ، ثُمَّ يَرْجِعُ أَحَدُنَا إِلَى رَحْلِهِ فِي أَقْصَى المَدِينَةِ وَالشَّمْسُ حَيَّةٌ، وَكَانَ يَسْتَحِتُ أَنْ يُؤَخِّرَ مِنَ العِشَاءِ، وَكَانَ يَكْرَهُ النَّوْمَ قَبْلُهَا وَالحَدِيثَ بَعْدَهَا، وَكَانَ يَنْفَتِلُ مِنْ صَلَاةِ الغَدَاةِ جِينَ يَعْرِفُ الرَّجُلُ جَلِيسَهُ، وَكَانَ يَقْرَأُ بِالسِّنِّينَ إِلَى المائة. مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْه.

وَعِنْدَهُمَا مِنْ حَدِيثِ جَابِر: ﴿وَالعِشَاءَ أَحْيَاناً يُقَدِّمُهَا، وَأَحْيَاناً يُؤَخِّرُهَا، إِذَا رَآهُمُ اجْتَمَعُوا عَجَّلَ، وَإِذَا رَآهُمْ أَيْطَؤُوا أَخَّرَ، وَالصُّبْحِ كَانَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ يُصَلِّيهَا بِغَلَسٍ.

^[1] It means that 'Asr (عصر) prayer should be offered in its early time. After the same size shadow, there is time for four Rak'at only which is common between Zuhr and 'Asr prayers. After that, time for 'Asr begins.

^{[2] &#}x27;Abdullāh bin Oais Al-Ash'ari was one of the most eminent Sabāba. He migrated to Abyssinia (Ethiopia) and then came to the Prophet & at Khaibar. He was assigned to administer Zabid and 'Aden and then became 'Umar's governor for Kufa and Basra, He was instrumental in the conquest of Tastar and several other towns. He probably died in 42 H. or in another year.

^[3] All the mentioned narrations confirm that every Salāt (prayer) has its 'early time' and 'late time' [time of prayer to be offered], but every Salāt (prayer) should be offered in its early time.

^[4] He is Nadla bin 'Ubaid. He became a Muslim very early and witnessed the conquest of Makkah and the other important battles. He settled at Basra, then Khurāsān and died at Marw or Basra in 60 H. or 64 H.

^[5] After 'Isha' prayer it has been prohibited to talk. The motive behind this prevention is that the sins of a believer are pardoned after his offering the prayer, and it is better to go to bed than to talk and indulge oneself in worldly affairs. After offering 'Isha' prayer, going to bed earns double benefit: first, to save oneself from sins and, secondly, that the prayer will be regarded his last action before sleep.

early and if the people delayed, he would delay the prayer. And the Prophet 纖 used to offer the *Fajr* prayer when it was still dark [1]

Narrated Abū Mūsa (泰) in another version of Muslim: He (織) offered the Fajr prayer at daybreak when the people could hardly recognize one another.

131. Narrated Rāfi' bin Khadij^[2] 泰: We used to offer the *Magbrib* prayer with Allāh's Messenger 靏 and then one of us would go (out of the mosque) and be able to see the spot his arrow would fall at. [Agreed upon].

132. Narrated 'Aisha *: The Prophet ## delayed (the 'Ishā' prayer) one night till a great part of the night passed, then he went out and offered the prayer, and said, "This is the proper time for it; [3] were it not that I would impose a burden on my followers." [Reported by Muslim].

133. Narrated Abū Huraira : Allāh's Messenger 整 said, "When it is hot, delay the (Zubr) prayer till it cools down, [4] for the intensity of heat is from the exhalation of Hell." [Agreed upon].

134. Narrated Rafi' bin Khadij &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Offer the

وَلِمُسْلِمِ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَبِي مُوسَى: فَأَقَامَ الفَجْرَ حِينَ انْشَقَّ الفَجْرُ، وَالنَّاسُ لَا يَكَادُ يَعْرِفُ بَغْضُهُمْ بَعْضًا».

(١٣١) وَعَنْ رَافِع بْنِرِ خَدِيعٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كُنَّا نُصَلِّي المَمْرِبَ مَعَ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ، قَيْنُصَرِفُ أَحَدُنَا وَإِنَّهُ لَيْبَصِرُ مَوَاقِعَ نَبْلِهِ. مُثَمِّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٣٢) وَعَنْ عَاتِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: أَعْتَمَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ ذَاتَ لَيْلَةٍ بِالمِشَاءِ، حَتَّى ذَهَبَتْ عَامَّةُ اللَّيْلِ، فَمُّ خَرَجَ فَصَلَّى، وَقَالَ: وإِنَّهُ لَوْتُنْهَا، لَوْلَا أَنْ أَشُقَّ عَلَى أُمِّتِي،، رَوَاهُ مُسْلَمٌ.

(١٣٣) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرُيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا الشَّتَدَّ الحَرُّ فَأَبْرِدُوا بِالصَّلَاةِ، فَإِنَّ شِدَّةَ الحَرِّ مِنْ فَيْحِ جَهَدَّهِ، مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَنَهُ

(١٣٤) وَعَنْ رَافِعٍ بْنِ خَدِيجٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: «أَصْبِحُوا

^[1] Regarding the time of Fajr (morning) prayer, there are various opinions and conjectures of the Companions of the Prophet ﷺ. In this Hadīth, the Arabic word Ghalas (غلب) means when dawn appears in the darkness of night.

^[2] He is an *Ansāri* nicknamed Abū 'Abdullāh. He missed Badr due to young age, but took part in Uhud and the battles that followed. He died in the year 73 H. or 74 H. at the age of 86 years.

^[3] It is preferable to offer the 'Isba' prayer as late as possible. This order is exclusively for 'Isba' prayer only and not for any other prayer. The Prophet # used to wait for and delay this prayer.

^[4] In summer, whether the *Zubr* prayer be offered in its early time or late, there is a difference of opinion regarding this issue. But it is appropriate to make a little delay, until one could walk in the shade of walls. According to Abū Dā'ud and Nasā'i, the noble Prophet 緩 used to delay the *Zubr* prayer till the shadow becomes three to five footsteps long.

morning prayer at dawn, [1] for it is greater for your rewards." [Reported by Al-Khamsa. At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

135. Narrated Abū Huraira **\$:** The Prophet **\$\matheta\$** said, "He who prays a *Rak'a* of the *Fajr* prayer before the sun rises, has offered the dawn prayer in its time, and he who prays a *Rak'a* of the 'Asr prayer before the sun sets has offered the afternoon prayer." [Agreed upon].

Muslim reported the same above *Hadītb* in another version narrated by 'Aisha '& who narrated 'Sajda (prostration)' instead of 'Rak'a (prayer unit)' and then he (Muslim) said, "A Sajda implies a Rak'a."

136. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri .: I heard Allāh's Messenger saying: "No Salāt (prayer) is to be offered after the morning prayer until the sun rises^[2], or after the afternoon prayer until the sun sets." [Agreed upon]. And in the narration of Muslim: "There is no Salāt (prayer) after the Fajr (morning) prayer."

'Uqba bin 'Aamir^[3] anarrated: "There are three times at which Allāh's Messenger used to forbid us to pray

بِالصَّبْحِرِ، فَإِنَّهُ أَغْظَمُ لأُجُورِكُمْ». رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ وَصَحَّحُهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ وَابْنُ جِبَّانَ.

(١٣٥) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنُهُ أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: "مَنْ أَذْرَكَ مِنَ الصُّبْحِ رَكُعَةً قَبْلَ أَنْ تَطْلُعَ الشَّمْسُ فَقَدْ أَذْرَكَ الصُّبْعَ، وَمَنْ أَذْرَكَ رَكْعَةً مِنَ العَصْرِ قَبْلَ أَنْ تَغْرُبَ الشَّمْسُ فَقَدْ أَذْرَكَ العَصْرِ». مُثَقَقْ عَلَيْهِ.

وَلِمُسْلِمٍ عَنْ عَاتِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا نَخُوُه، وَقَالَ: «سَجْدَةً» بَدُّلَ «رَكْعَةً» ثُمَّ قَالَ: وَالسَّجْدَةُ إِنَّمَا هِيَ الرَّكْعَةُ.

(١٣٦) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْدِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ رَسولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ: "لَا صَلَاةَ بَعْدَ الصَّبْحِ حَتَّى تَعْلُمُ الشَّمْسُ، وَلَا صَلَاةَ بَعْدَ العَصْرِ حَتَّى تَعْيبَ الشَّمْسُ». مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَلَفْظُ مُسْلِمٍ: "لَا صَلَاةً بَعْدَ صَلاةٍ الضَّجْهِ».

وَلَهُ عَنْ عُقْبَةَ بْنِ عَامِرٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنُّهُ: ثَلَاكُ سَاعَاتِ كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَنْهَانَا أَنْ

^[1] It only means that morning light should appear clearly and there should be no doubt in it, therefore, this *Hadith* is not contrary to the *Hadith* of "darkness" (*Ghalas* (مند). Another aspect is that the prayer should be started in the darkness and the recitation should be prolonged until the light of morning appears clearly.

الله means that from dawn to sunrise and from 'Asr to sunset, voluntary prayers (Nawafil نوافل) are impermissible. Two Rak'at before obligatory morning prayer (Fajr فرافل) are excluded from this command, as it is proven from the noble Prophet 撰. Though these two Rak'at are offered before obligatory prayer but if these are missed, they can be offered after the obligatory prayer as it is reported in Tirmidhi.

^{[3] &#}x27;Uqba bin 'Aamir was a Juhani nicknamed Abū Hammād or Abū 'Aamir. He became a Muslim, migrated and accompanied the Prophet 穩 very early. He read the Qur'ān a lot, was knowledgeable in inheritance and jurisprudence and was learned and a poet. He was allocated a land in Basra, and took part in Siffin with Mu'āwiya. He later governed Egypt for Mu'āwiya for three years and became incharge of the sea expeditions. He died in 58 H. in Egypt and was buried at Al-Muqtam.

or bury^[1] our dead: (a) when the sun begins to rise till it is fully up, (b) when the sun is at its height at midday till it passes the meridian, and (c) when the sun draws near to setting till it sets." [Reported by Muslim].

Ash-Shāfi'i viewed the second ruling^[2] from a *Hadīth* narrated by Abū Huraira (*) through a weak *Sanad* with the addition: "Except on Friday". Abū Dā'ud reported something similar from Abū Qatāda (**).

137. Narrated Jubair bin Mut'im^[3] &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "O descendants of Abd Manāf! You must not prevent anyone who goes round this House (Ka'ba) and prays [here] at any hour of the night or day that he wishes." [Reported by Al-Khamsa, At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

138. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: The Prophet & said, "The twilight is the redness." [Reported by Ad-Dāraqutni. Ibn Khuzaimah graded it Sabib (authentic) and others graded it Mawqūf (a saying of a Companion)].

139. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: Allāh's Messenger & said that, "Dawn is of two types; the dawn in which eating is forbidden (for the fasting person) and prayer is permitted and the dawn in

نُصُلِّيَ فِيهِنَّ وَأَنْ نَقْبُرُ فِيهِنَّ مَوْتَانَا: حِينَ تَطْلُعُ الشَّمْسُ بَازِغَةُ حَتَّى تَرْتَفَعَ، وَحِينَ يَقُومُ قَائِمُ الظَّهِيرَةِ حَتَّى تَزُولَ الشَّمْسُ، وَحِينَ تَتَضَيَّفُ الشَّمْسُ لِلْغُرُوبِ.

وَالحُكُمُ النَّانِي عِنْدَ الشَّافِعِيُّ رَحِمَهُ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَبِي هُرِيْرَةَ بِسَنَدِ ضَعِيف وَزَادَ: الِّلَا يَوْمَ الجُمُعَةِ، وَكَذَا لِأَبِي دَاوُدَ عَنْ أَبِي قَتَادَةَ نَحُوهُ.

(۱۳۷) وعَنْ مُجَيِّرِ بْنِ مُطْمِهِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "يَا بَنِي عَبْدِ مَنَاف لِا تَمْنَعُوا أَخَداً طَافَ بِهَذَا البَيْتِ، وَصَلَّى أَيَّةً سَاعَةٍ شَاءً مِنْ لَيْلِ أَوْ نَهَارٍ". رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ التُرْمِذِئُ وَابْنُ حِبَّانَ.

(١٣٨) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَمْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ قَالَ: «الشَّفْقُ الحُمْرَةُ». رَوَاهُ الدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَ ابْنُ خُرَيْمَةَ وَغَيْرُهُ وَقَفَهُ.

(١٣٩) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: وَاللَّهُ مُهُمَّا فَالَ رَسُولُ الله ﷺ: «الفَجْرُ فَجْرَانِ: فَخَرٌ يُحَرِّمُ الطَّقَامَ وَتَجِلُّ فِيهِ الطَّلَاةُ، وَفَجْرٌ يَحْرُمُ فِيهِ الطَّلَاةُ، وَفَجْرٌ يَحْدُمُ فِيهِ الطَّلَاةُ، وَيَجلُ تَحْرُمُ فِيهِ الطَّلَاةُ، أَيْ صَلَاةً الطُبْع ، وَيَجلُ

⁽¹⁾ Here "burial" means Funeral prayers. Funeral prayers should not be offered in these times, but the burial of a dead body is permissible. According to certain scholars, even burial is not allowed. Therefore, in such a situation it means that burial should not be deliberated at this time, but if time happens while performing the rites of funeral or there is no other way, then burial is permissible.

^[2] The second ruling means noon time, no prayer should be offered at this time, but Friday is excluded from this order. On Friday it is permitted to pray at decline, as it is evident from a *Hadīth* reported by Abū Huraira.

^[3] He is Abû Muhammad or Abû 'Umaiya Jubair bin Mut'im bin 'Adi bin Naufal Al-Qurashi. He was very tolerant, sober and knowledgeable in the lineage of Quraish. He became a Muslim before the Fatb (conquest of Makkah) and settled at Al-Madinah and died there in 54 H. or 57 H. or 59 H.

which prayer is forbidden i.e. the morning prayer and eating is permitted." [Reported by Ibn Khuzaima and Al-Hākim who (both) graded it Sabib]. Al-Hākim reported something similar to the above Hadīth from Jābir and added to the type of dawn in which eating is forbidden: "it is spread widely in the horizon," and to the other type: "it has the shape of a wolf's rail"

140. Narrated Ibn Mas'ūd 泰: Allāh's Messenger 繼 said, "One of the best deeds is to offer Salāt (prayer) in its early time." [Reported by At-Tirmidhi and Al-Hākim who (both) graded it Sabib. Its basic meaning is in the Sabibain of Al-Bukhāri and Muslim].

142. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . Allāh's Messenger said, "There is no Salāt (i.e. voluntary prayer) after the break of dawn except sajdatain [Sunnab of Fajr]." [Reported by Al-Kbamsa except An-Nasā'i].

In another narration: 'Abdur-Razzāq also narrated: "There is no Salāt

فِيهِ الطَّمَامُ الرَّوَاهُ ابْنُ خُزَيْمَةَ وَالحَاكِمُ،
وَصَّحَاهُ، وَلِلْحَاكِمِ مِنْ حَدِيثِ جَابِرٍ نَحْوُهُ،
وَزَادَ فِي الَّذِي يُحَرَّمُ الطَّمَامُ: إِنَّهُ يَلْمَبُ مُسْتَطِيلاً
فِي الأَفْتِرِ، وَفِي الآخَرِ: "إِنَّهُ كَلْنَبِ
الشُرْحَانِ السَرْحَانِ الْ

(18٠) وَعَن ابْن مَسْعُودِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿ الْفَصَلُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿ الْفَصَلُ اللَّمْعَالُ الصَّلَاةُ فِي أَوْلِ وَقْتِهَا ، رَوَاهُ الشَّرِيدَيُّ وَالحَاكِمُ ، وَصَحَّمَا هُ ، وَأَصْلُه فِي الصَّحِيمَيْن .

(١٤١) وَعَنْ أَبِي مَخْذُورَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: أَوَّلُ الوَقْتِ رِضُوانُ اللهِ اللهِ وَأَوْسُطُهُ رَخْمَةُ اللهِ وَآخِرُهُ عَفْقُ اللهِ اللهِ وَأَخْرَجُهُ الدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ بِسَنَدِ ضَعِيف ِ جِدًّا وَلِلتَرْمِذِيِّ مِنْ حَدِيث ِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ نَحْوُهُ دُونَ الأَوْسَطِ وَهُوَ ضَعِيفٌ إِنْ الأَوْسَطِ وَهُوَ ضَعِيفٌ إِنْ الْأَوْسَطِ وَهُوَ ضَعِيفٌ إَنْضًا.

(١٤٢) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: «لَا صَلَاةَ بَعْدَ الفَجْرِ إِلَّا سَجْدَتَيْنِ». أَخْرَجَهُ الخَمْسَةُ إِلَّا الشَّالَةِ. النَّمْسَةُ إِلَّا الشَّالَةِ.

وَفِي رِوَايَةِ عَبْدِ الرَّزَّاقِ: ﴿لَا صَلَاةَ بَعْدَ طُلُوعٍ

In this Hadith a prayer offered at its early time is regarded as a superior act. In some other Abadith, Imān (belief $(|\omega|)$) Sadaqa (charity $(-\omega)$) and Jibād (fighting in Allah's cause $(-\omega)$) are described as the superior acts. These Abadith are accordant in the way that belief is an action of credence, prayer is an action of body, charity is an action of wealth, and Jibād is an action of youth and health. Therefore, these are all superior acts in their own way and place, and there is no contradiction among them.

^[2] It means that after the appearance of dawn, voluntary (*Nawafil*) prayers are undesirable; but the two *Sunnab Rak'at* of *Fafr* are excepted and can be offered after the break of dawn.

(voluntary prayer) after the break of dawn except the two (Sunnab) Rak'a of Fair." [1]

143. Narrated Umm Salama 🐁: Allāh's Messenger acame to my house after offering 'Asr prayer and offered two Rak'a, then I asked him about that and he replied, "I was kept busy (and failed to pray) the two (Sunnab) Rak'a after Zubr prayer, so I offered them now." I asked him. "Should we offer them if we miss them?" He (鑑) replied, "No."[2] [Reported by Ahmad; the narration of Abū Dā'ud from 'Aisha 🐁 has the same meaning).

الفَجْرِ إِلَّا رَكْعَتَى ِ الفَجْرِ» وَمِثْلُهُ لِلدَّارَقُطْنِيِّ عَنِ ابْن عَمْرو بْنِ العَاص.

(١٤٣) وَعَنْ أُمُّ سَلَمَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: صَلَّى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ العَصْرَ، ثُمَّ دَخَلَ بَيْتِي، فَصَلَّى رَكْعَتَيْنِ، فَسَأَلْتُهُ فَقَالَ: شُغِلْتُ عَنْ رَكْعَتَيْن بَعْدَ الظُّهِر فَصَلَّيْتُهُمَا الآنَ. فَقُلْتُ: أَفَنَقْضهما إذا فَاتَتَا قال: «لَا». أَخْرَجَهُ أَحْمَدُ، وَلِأْسِ وَاوُدَ عَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا بمَعْنَاهُ.

Chapter 2 AL-ADHĀN[3] (THE CALL TO PRAYER)

٢ - مَاتُ الأَذَان

(١٤٤) عَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ زِيْدِ بِنِ عَبْدِ رَبِّهِ رَضِي 144. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Zaid bin Abd-Rabbihi^[4] &: A man appeared to me while I was asleep[5] and told me

اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: طَافَ بي - وَأَنَا نَآثِمٌ -

^[1] The two Rak'a are the Sunnah ones before the obligatory Fajr prayer which the Prophet meyer used to leave even after the break of dawn, as indicated by this Hadith and others.

^[2] This Hadith gives the information that after 'Asr prayer, offering of the missed supererogatory prayers was only for the noble Prophet 25, while others are not allowed to offer the supererogatory or the voluntary prayers at this time. The Prophet 48 prayed because some people of the tribe of Abdul-Qais came to him and some goods of charity were also brought, so their visit and distribution of goods made him late.

^[3] The words of Adhān (ادان – call to prayer) are Divinely fixed. These words cannot be lessened or added to, changed or interchanged. These words were inspired to 'Abdullah bin Zaid Ansāri and 'Umar bin Khattāb by an angel in a dream and were affirmed by the Prophet and obtained the status of Revelation. There is also an indication in the noble Our'an about it.

^{[4] &#}x27;Abdullāh is an Ansāri, a Khazraji and was nicknamed Abū Muhammad. He witnessed Al-'Aqaba, Badr and the important battles. He was shown how to call for prayers in a dream during the first year of the migration, after the building of the Prophet's Mosque. He died in the year 32 H. at the age of 64 years.

^[5] It happened that when the Muslims increased in number, the problem of calling for prayer arose. Different suggestions were forwarded. Some suggested to ring a bell. The Prophet 鑑 answered that this was the way of Christians. Some suggested to blow a horn, the Prophet 經 answered that this was the way of Jews. Some others suggested to light a fire. The Prophet answered that this was the practice of the Magians. No decision was made. Same night 'Abdullāh bin Zaid dreamed that a man was standing with bell in his hand. 'Abdullāh asked him whether he would sell it? The man asked 'Abdullāh about the purpose of the purchase. 'Abdullāh told him that he would call the Muslims for prayer by blowing it. He asked him

to say, "Allābu Akbar, Allābu Akbar (Allāh is the Most Great, Allāh is the Most Great, Allāh is the Most Great)" and he mentioned the Adbān with Allābu Akbar four times without Tarji', [1] and the Iqāma once except Qad qāmat-is-Salāb^[2] (the prayer stood ready to begin), (he repeated it twice). He ('Abdullāh) said when it was morning I went to Allāh's Messenger and he said, "It is a true vision..." [Reported by Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud; At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Khuzaima graded it Sabib (authentic)].

Ahmad added to the end of the above Hadītb, the story of Bilal's^[3] statement in the Fajr Adbān (morning-prayer call): As-Salātu kbairun minan-naum — "Prayer is better than sleep".

Ibn Khuzaima reported from Anas stift is from the Sunnab that when the Mu'adbdbin says [in the first Adban of Fajr (prayer time): 'Haiya 'alal-Falāb (Come to the success)', he says (also) 'As-Salātu kbairun minan-nawm (Prayer is better than sleep).'"

145. Narrated Abū Mahdhūra 🎄: The Prophet ﷺ taught him the Adbān (call to prayer) and he (the narrator) mentioned the Tarji' in it. [Muslim

رَجُلٌ، فَقَالَ: تَقُولُ: «اللَّهُ أَكْبَرُ اللَّهُ أَكْبَرُ فَذَكَرَ الأَذَانَ بِتَرْبِيعِ التَّكْبِيرِ بِغَيْرِ تَرْجِيعِم، وَالإِقَامَةُ فُرَادَى، إِلَّا «قَدْ قَامَتِ الصَّلاَهُ» قَالَ: فَلَمَّا أَصْبَحْتُ أَنْبَتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ، فقال: وإِنَّهَا لَرُوْقًا حَقَّ، الحديث. أَخْرَجُهُ أَخْمَدُ وَأَيْو دَاوُدَ وَصَحَّحُهُ التَّرِيدِيُّ وَابْنُ خُزْيَمَةً.

وَزَادَ أَحْمَدُ فِي آخِرِهِ فِصَّةً قَوْلِ بِلَال ِ فِي أَذَانِ الفَجْرِ: «الصَّلَاةُ خَيْرٌ مِنَ لَنَّوْمٍ».

وَلابْنِ خُوْنِمَةَ عَنْ أَنَسِ قَالَ: مِنَ الشُّبِّةِ إِذَا قَالَ المُؤَذِّنُ فِي الفُجْرِ: «حَيَّ عَلَى الفَلَاحِ» قَالَ: «الصَّلاَةُ خَيْرٌ مِنَ النَّوْمِ».

(١٤٥) وَعَنْ أَبِي مَحْدُورَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ عَلَّمُهُ الأَذَانَ، فَذَكَرَ فِيهِ التَّرْجِيمَ. أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ، وَلٰكِن ذَكَر التَّكْبِيرَ فِي

about telling a better way than that, and recited the words of $Adh\bar{a}n$ (call to the prayer). In the morning 'Abdullāh told this dream to the Prophet $\mathfrak B$ and he testified the dream to be true.

^[1] Tarji' (doubling, repeating or getting back) is to utter the words of testimony (Sbabādatain i.e. Asb-badu an lā ilāba ill-Allāb, Asb-badu anna Mubamadan Rasūlullāb) twice with a low voice, then utter them with a loud voice.

^[2] In *Iqāma* (call to the start of prayer) all the other words of *Takbir* (glorification of Allāh – but here means *Iqāma*) are uttered once except the words '(قد قامت الصلاة)' (meaning: The prayer stood ready to begin) which are to be repeated twice.

^[3] He is Bilâl bin Rabāh, a manumitted slave of Banu Taim. He became a Muslim very early and was tortured in the cause of Allāh. He fought in Badr and in all the other major battles. He was the Mu'adhdbin of Allāh's Messenger # and never announced the Adbān for anyone else, except one time when he came back from Damascus, where he had settled at, to Al-Madīnah. It is said that he did not finish it due to the noise made by the weeping Sabāba out of nostalgia. He died in Shām in 17 H. or 18 H. or 20 H. at the age of sixty and something years and did not leave behind any children.

reported it, but mentioned the phrase (*Takbir*) "Allāh is the Most Great" at its beginning just twice. [11] Al-Kbamsa reported it, but mentioned the *Takbir* four times].

أُوَّلِهِ مَرَّتَيْنِ فَقَطْ، وَرَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ فَذَكَرُوهُ مُرَبّعاً.

146. Narrated Anas 本: Bilāl was commanded to announce the *Adbān* (each phrase) twice^[2] and the *Iqāma* (each phrase) once^[3] except "The prayer stood ready to begin" (to be pronounced twice). [Agreed upon; but Muslim did not mention the exception]. A narration of An-Nasā'i has: "Bilāl was ordered by the Prophet 摇."

(181) وَعَنْ أَنَسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: أُمِرَ بِلَالُ أَن يَشْفَعَ الأَذَانَ، وَيُويَرَ الإِقَامَةَ إِلَّا الإِقَامَةَ. يَشْنِي إِلَّا «قَدْ قَامَتِ الطَّلَاةُ». مُثَقَّنً عَلَيْه، وَلَمْ يَذَكُرْ مُسْلِمُ الاسْتِئْنَآة، وَلِلنَّسَآئِيِّ: أَمَرَ النَّيْنُ ﷺ بِلَالاً.

(۱٤٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي جُحَيْفَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: رَأَيْتُ بِلَالاً يُؤَذِّنُ، وَأَنْتَبَّعُ فَاهُ لَمْهُنَا وَلَمْهُنَا، وَإَصْبَعَاهُ فِي أُذْنَيْهِ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالْمُرِفِيْقُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ.

In a narration of Ibn Mājah — 'and he put his fingers in his ears'; and also a narration of Abū Dā'ud — 'he turned his neck to the right and left when he reached *Haiya 'alas-Salāb* (Come to the prayer) and did not turn his body'; and its basic meaning is in *Sabihain* (Al-Bukhari and Muslim).

وَلا بُن مَاجَهُ: وَجَعَلَ إِصْبَعَيْهِ فِي أُذَنَيهِ. ولا بُن مَاجَهُ: وَجَعَلَ إِصْبَعَيْهِ فِي أُذَنَيهِ. ولا بِي دَاوُدَ: لَوَى عُنْقُهُ لَمَّا بَلَغَ «حَيْ عَلَى الصَّلَاةِ» وَلَمْ يَسْتَبَوْ. وَأَصْلُهُ فِي الصَّحِيحَيْن .

الله - (Allāh is the Most Great الله - At the start of Adbān (call to prayer) the words Allāhu Akbar (Allāh is the Most Great الله) should be repeated four times, repeating them twice is not correct as the Five (Al-Khamsa – Abū Dā'ud, Tirmidhi, Nasā'i, Ibn Mājah and Ahmad) have narrated it.

 $^{^{[2]}}$ Adbān (the call to prayer) with Tarjt' and without Tarjt' is allowed, in the same way $Iq\bar{a}ma$ is also allowed in single or double. But it is preferable to announce the $Adb\bar{a}n$ with Tarjt' and the $Iq\bar{a}ma$ without repetition.

 $^{^{[3]}}$ It means that the words $^{[3]}$ is $^{[3]}$ in the words $^{[3]}$ in the words be uttered only once.

^[4] Abū Juhaifa's name is Wahab bin 'Abdullâh As-Suwā'i Al-'Aamiri who was among the young Sabāba. He settled at Kufa. 'Ali made him the incharge of Baitul-Māl and he witnessed with him all the battles. He died at Kufa in 74 H.

^[5] While pronouncing the words حى على الفلاح and حى على الفلاع turning the face to the right and left is *Sunnab*. Turning of the whole body is not allowed. The *Abadith* which disallow turning mean the turning of whole body and not the face.

148. Narrated Abū Mahdhūra &: The Prophet & liked his voice, [1] so he taught him the Adhān (call to prayer). [Reported by Ibn Khuzaima].

(١٤٨) وَعَنْ أَبِي مَحْذُورَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ أَعْجَبُهُ صَوْتُهُ فَعَلَّمَهُ الأَذَانَ. رَوَاهُ ابْنُ خُزَيْمَةً.

149. Narrated Jābir bin Samura **&:** I prayed with the Prophet **&** the two 'Eids, not only once or twice, ^[2] without an *Adbān* or an *Iqāma*. [Reported by Muslim; a similar narration is in Al-Bukhāri and Muslim narrated by 'Abdullāh bin 'Abbās (**&**) and others].

(114) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ بْنِرَ سَمُرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَى عَنْهُ الْعِيدَيْنِ ، غَيْر مَرَّةً وَلَا إِقَامَةٍ . رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ ، وَنَحْوُهُ فِي المُشَقَّقَ عَلَيْهِ عَنِر ابْنِر عَبَّاسِ وَغَيْرِهِ.

(١٥٠) وَعَنْ أَبِي قَنَادَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ فِي اللَّهِ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ فِي الْخَدِيثِ الطَّرِيلِ فِي نَوْمِهِمْ عَنِ الصَّلَاةِ: ثُمُّ أَذَّنَ بِلَالٌ، فَصَلَّى النَّبِيُّ ﷺ كَمَا كَانَ يَصْنَعُ كُلُّ يَوْمٍ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

Muslim also reported from Jabir &: The Prophet & came to Al-Muzdalifa^[4] and offered at it both the *Maghrib* and 'Isbā' prayers with one *Adhān* and two *Iaāma*.

وَلَهُ عَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ: أَنَّ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ أَنَى المُؤْدَلِفَةَ، فَصَلَّى بِهَا المُغْرِبَ وَالعِشَآءَ بِأَذَانِ وَاحِدٍ وِإِقَامَتَيْنِ.

Muslim also reported from Ibn 'Umar *: The Prophet se combined the Maghrib and 'Ishā' prayers with one وَلَهُ عَنِ ابْنِنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا: جَمَعَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ بَيْنَ المُغْرِبِ وَالعِشَاءِ بِإِقَامَةٍ

 $[\]overline{^{(1)}}$ It means that a *Mu'adbdbin* (the caller to prayer) should be appointed having a melodious voice.

^[2] It means that prayer of the two 'Eid are offered without Adhān and Iqāma (calls to the prayer).

^[3] If a Qada (missed prayer) is intended to be offered in congregation then Adbān (call to prayer) for it is also Sunnab. Once it happened that the Prophet 巍 and his Companions travelled late night. When they stopped and were going to sleep, they were not certain about waking up in the morning at prayer time, therefore, they asked Bilāl to remain awake and watchful. Sleep overwhelmed him and he too went to sleep. The Prophet 爨 was the first to wake up after sunrise and asked the Companions وضي الله عنهم to rise. They moved from the place a little and prayed after calling to the prayer.

^[4] Muzdalifa (غرفانة) is a place between Makkah and 'Arafāt. The night between 9th and 10th of Dhul-Hijja, after returning from 'Arafāt, is spent here during Hafj: Magbrib (sunset) and 'Isba' (night) prayers are offered together here with one Adbān but the Iqāma for each prayer is pronounced separately. It means that whenever congregational prayer is offered, Iaāma should be pronounced for it.

Iqāma. Abū Dā'ud added the words: "for each prayer." And in another narration he reported: the Adbān was not announced for any one of them". [1]

151. Narrated Ibn 'Umar and 'Aisha 秦: Allāh's Messenger 撰 said, "Bilā[^[2] calls for prayer when it is still night, so eat and drink till Ibn Umm Maktūm^[3] calls for prayer." And he (Ibn Umm Maktūm) was a blind man who did not call for prayer until he was told: "It is morning time, it is morning time". [Agreed upon. There is an *Idrāj*^[4] in its last part].

152. Narrated Ibn 'Umar : Bilāl called for prayer before dawn and the Prophet told him to return^[5] and announce: "Lo! the slave of Allāh (i.e. Bilāl) had slept (hence this mistake)". [Reported by Abū Dā'ud, and graded as *Da'if* (weak)].

153. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "When you hear the Adhān repeat^[6] what the Mu'adhdbin (the call-maker) says." [Aereed upon].

وَاحَدَةٍ. وَزَادَ أَبُو دَاوُدَ: ﴿لِكُلِّ صَلَاةٍۥ وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لَه: وَلَمْ يُنَادِ فِي وَاحِدَةٍ مِنْهُمَا.

(١٥١) وَعَن الْبَن عُمَرَ وَعَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما، قَالَا: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: الْإِنَّ بِلَالاً يُؤَذِّنُ بِلَيْلِم، فَكُلُوا وَاشْرَبُوا حَتَّى يُنَادِيَ ابْنُ أُمَّ مَكْثُومٍ، وَكَان رَجُلاً أَعْمَى لَا يُنَادِي حَتَّى يُقَالَ لَهُ: أَصْبَحْتَ أَصْبَحْتَ. مُثَقَنَّ عَلَيْه، وَفِي آخِوهِ إَذْرَاجٌ.

(١٥٧) وَعَنْ الْبُنْ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ عَنْهُما: أَنَّ بِلَالاً أَذَّنَ قَبْلَ الفَجْرِ، فَأَمَرُهُ النَّبِيُ ﷺ أَنْ يَرْجِعَ فَيُنَادِي: أَلَا إِنَّ العَبْدَ نَامَ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَضَعَّفُهُ.

(١٥٣) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: وإِذَا سَمِعْتُمُ النَّدَاءَ فَقُولُوا: مِثْلَ مَا يَقُولُ المُؤَذِّنُّة. مُتَقَنِّ عَلَيْهِ.

^[1] This Hadith is in contradiction with the Hadith narrated by Jābir أرضي الله عنه بالله عنه m which one Adhān and two Iqāma are mentioned; the hadith of Jabir is to be acted upon because affirmation supersedes negation.

¹²¹ The Prophet ﷺ had appointed two Mu'adhdhin (call-makers) one for pronouncing the call to manifest the time of eating Sahūr (predawn meals for fasting) etc., and the other to make the call indicating the beginning of the time for the dawn prayer.

^[3] He is 'Amr or 'Abdullāh bin Qais Al-Qurashi Al-'Aamiri, the blind man mentioned in *Surat* 'Abasa. He became a Muslim long ago and made the *Hifra* (migration). The Prophet 義 placed him in charge of Al-Madīnah 13 times leading the people in prayers. He was martyred at Al-Qādisiya while holding the flag that day.

 $^{^{[4]}}$ $Idrar{a}j$ (insertion – ادراج) means that the sentence... ي وكان رجلا أعمىAnd he was a blind man ...) was not spoken by the Prophet * 8 but the reporter has added this from himself.

^[5] It informs that, by any reason, if Adbān is announced before its time than it should be repeated at its proper time.

^[6] It is an order that, on hearing it, one should repeat the words of Adbān in response – in all cases, whether one is with ablution or not, is in a pure state or in a post-discharge or menstruation state; but while engaged in sexual intercourse or in the toilet, it is not proper

And Al-Bukhāri has reported similarly in a narration by Mu'āwiya &.

وَلِلْبُخَارِيِّ عَنْ مُعَاوِيَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ بِنْلُهُ.

And Muslim reported a narration by 'Umar se regarding the virtue of repeating what the Mu'adbdbin pronounces word by word except when the Mu'adbdbin says: "Haiya 'alas-Salab, Haiya 'alal-Falāb (Come to the prayer and come to the success)", one should say: "Lā hawla wa lā quuwata illā billāb [there is no might and no power except with (the help of) Allāh]."

وَلِمُشْلِم عَنْ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، فِي فَهُمْلِ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، فِي فَهُمْلِ اللَّهُ ذَنَّا كَلِمَةً كَلِمَةً كَلِمَةً وَلِمَةً وَلِمَةً وَلِمَةً وَلِمَةً وَلِمَةً وَلِمَةً وَلِمَةً وَلَا يَتُولُ: لَا حَوْلَ وَلَا فُوَّةً إِلَّا إِلَهُ. بِاللهِ.

154. Narrated 'Uthmān bin Abūl-'Aas^[1] Æ: He said, "O Messenger of Allāh, appoint me as the *Imām* (leader) of my people (in prayers). He (ﷺ) said, "You are their *Imām*, but you should follow (observe the strength of) the weakest^[2] among them and appoint a *Mu'adādāhin* who does not charge^[3] for the call of *Adāān*." [Reported by *Al-Khamsa*, At-Tirmidhi graded it *Hasan* (good) and Al-Hākim graded it *Sabib* (authentic)]. 155. Narrated Mālik bin Al-Huwairith^[4] 泰: The Prophet 霧 said to us, "When the time of *Salāt* (prayer) comes, one of you should announce the *Adhān*."^[5] [Reported by *As-Sab'a*].

(١٥٥) وَعَنْ مَالِكِ بْنِ الْحُوثِيْتِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ لَنَا النَّبِيُّ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا حَضَرَتِ الصَّلَاةُ، فَلْمُؤَذَّذُ لَكُمْ أَحَدُكُمْ، الحَدِيثَ، أَخْرَجُهُ الشَّنْهُ.

to answer.

⁽¹⁾ He is nicknamed Abū Abdullāh and was the youngest among the Tā'if delegation of Banu Thaqif. The Prophet #a appointed him incharge of 'Tā'if, and he stopped his people from appostating so they remained in Islam. Umar appointed him as the governor of Bahrain and 'Omān. He died at Basra in 51 H.

^[2] Imām (leader of the prayer) should consider the weak and old people by not extending the prayer so long, as to cause them to leave the congregational prayer.

^[3] It means that a Mu'adbdbin (call-maker) should not receive a salary for the job, but this is not a prohibition but only a desirable suggestion.

^[4] He belonged to Banū Laith and was nicknamed Abū Salmān. He visited the Prophet 攜 and stayed with him for twenty nights. He settled at Basra and died there in 74 H.

^[5] It means that during a journey also, announcing Adhān (call to prayer) and praying in congregation is Sunnab.

156. Narrated Jäbir &: Allāh's Messenger said to Bilāl, "When you announce the Adbān, utter deliberately and when you pronounce the Iqāma utter quickly, and leave between your Adbān and your Iqāma time for one who is eating to finish^[1] his food." [Reported by At-Tirmidhi who graded it Da'if (weak)].

He also reported from Abū Huraira 毒: The Prophet 鸞 said, "No one should announce Adbān except the one who has performed the ablution^[2]". [Reported by At-Tirmidhi who graded it Daif (weak)].

Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Zaid in another narration of the *Hadīth* reported by Abū Dā'ud: I saw it, i.e. the *Adhān* (in a vision) and I wanted to announce it. Allāh's Messenger said, "You pronounce the *Iaāma*." [This *Hadīth* is also *Da'tf* (weak)].

157. Narrated Abū Huraira 毒: Allāh's Messenger 鑑 said, "The *Mu'adhdhin* has more right to [determine the time to] announce the *Adhān* and the *Imām*

(١٥٦) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ لِلِلَالِ: ﴿إِذَا أَذْنَتَ فَتَرَسَّلُ، وَإِذَا أَقَمْتَ فَاحْدُرْ، وَاجْعَلْ بَنِيْنَ أَذَانِكَ رَإِقَامَتِكَ مِفْدَارَ مَا يَفْرُغُ الآكِلُ مِنْ أَكْلِهِ»، الحديث. رَوَاهُ النَّرِهِنِيُّ، وَضَعَّفَهُ.

وَلَهُ عَنْ أَبِي هُرِيُورَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ اللَّهِ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ اللَّهِ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ اللَّهِ مُتَوَضِّىءًا. وَضَعْنَهُ أَنْضًا.

وَلَهُ عَنْ زِيَادِ بْنِ الحَارِثِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "وَمَنْ أَذَّنَ فَهُوَ يُقِيمُهُ. وَضَعْتَهُ أَيْضاً.

وَلَابِي دَاوُدَ مِن حَدِيثِ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْمَنِ رَبْدٍ، أَنَّهُ قَالَ: أَنَا رَأَيْتُهُ، يَغْنِي الأَذَانَ، وَأَنَا كُنْتُ أُرِيدُه، قَالَ: فَأَقِمْ أَنْتَ. رَفِيهِ ضَغْفٌ أَيْضاً.

(١٥٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «المُؤَذِّنُ أَمْلَكُ بِالأَذَانِ، وَالإِمَامُ أَمْلَكُ بِالإِقَامَةِ». رَوَاهُ النُّ

^[1] Some issues are known with this *Hadītb*: (i) *Adbān* (call for the prayer) should be announced in a loud voice with short pauses in between. (ii) *Iqāma* (call for the start of congregational prayer) should be pronounced quickly. (iii) There should be enough time between *Adbān* and *Salāt*, so that a man can join the congregation after finishing his meals or after answering the call of nature, and performing the ablution. Some religious scholars have measured the time up to four *Rak'at* prayer.

^[2] The supererogatory way is to announce Adbān after performing ablution, but if there is no other way, it can be announced without ablution. This would be a suggestive prohibition and not an absolute one [if the hadith is accepted as a proof].

^[3] He was a *Sabābi* from Sudā' in Yemen. He entered into a covenant with the Prophet 鑑 and pronounced the *Adbān* before him. He is considered to have settled at Basra.

^[4] This indicates that the same person should pronounce *Iqāma* who has announced the *Adbān*, but if he permits, another person can also pronounce *Iqāma*.

has more right to [determine when to] pronounce the *lqāma*." [Reported by Ibn 'Adi who graded it *Da'if* (weak)]. Al-Baihaqi has reported a similar narration from the saying of 'Ali &.

158. Narrated Anās bin Mālik &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "A supplication made between the Adbān and Iqāma is not rejected." [Reported by An-Nasā'i and Ibn Khuzaima graded it Sabib (authentic)].

159. Narrated Jābir &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "If anyone says when he hears the Adhān: 'O Allāh! Lord of this perfect call^[1] and of the regular prayer which is going to be established! Kindly give Muhammad (&) the right of intercession and superiority, ^[2] and send him (on the Day of Judgement) to the best and the highest place in Paradise which You promised him', he will be assured of my intercession on the Day of Judgement." (Reported by Al-Arba'a).

عَدِيٍّ، وَضَعَّفَهُ، وَلِلْبَيْهَقِيِّ نَحْوُهُ عَنْ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ مِنْ قَوْلِهِ.

(١٥٨) وَعَنْ أَنَسِ بْنِ مَالِكٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا يُرَدُّ الدُّعَاءُ بَيْنَ الأَذَانِ وَالإقَامَةِ». رَواهُ النَّسَآئِيُّ وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ خُرْيُهَةً.

(104) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ رَصِّلَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ رَصُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: "مَنْ قَالَ حِينَ يَسْمَعُ النَّذَاءَ: اللَّهُمَّ رَبَّ هَذِهِ اللَّعْوَةِ النَّامَّةِ، وَالصَّلَاةِ النَّائِكَةُ النَّامِيلَةَ وَالفَضِيلَةَ، وَالْبَمْنُهُ مَقَاماً مَحْمُوداً الذِّي وَعَدتُهُ، حَلَّتُ لُهُ شَفَاعَتِي يُومَ القِبَامَةِ". أَخْرَجَهُ الأَرْبَعَةُ، حَلَّتُ لُهُ شَفَاعَتِي يَوْمَ القِبَامَةِ". أَخْرَجَهُ الأَرْبَعَةُ، حَلَّتُ لُهُ شَفَاعَتِي

Chapter 3 THE CONDITIONS OF SALAT (PRAYER)

160. Narrated 'Ali bin Talq^[3] 秦: Allāh's Messenger 義 said, "When one of you releases air (through his anus) during *Salāt* (prayer), he should break the *Salāt* (prayer) then perform ablution and repeat the prayer." [4] [Reported

٣ - بَابُ شُرُوطِ الصَّلَاةِ

(١٦٠) عَنْ عَلِيٍّ بْنِرِ طَلْقرر رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا فَسَا أَحَدُكُمْ فِي الصَّلَاةِ، فَلْيُنْصَرِف، وَلْيَتَوْضًا وَلْيُعِدِ الصَّلَاةَ».
رَوَاهُ الخَفْسَةُ، وَصَحَّحهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ.

^[1] Perfect call (الدعوة الثامة) means the luminosity of the Oneness of Allāh and the light of Prophethood.

^[2] Besides meaning right of intercession and superiority, (وسيلة) is also the name of a place. The Prophet ূ said that only one person, among the creation of Allāh, will reach there and hoped by the grace of Allāh that this would be he (維).

^[3] He is 'Ali bin Talq bin Al-Mundhir bin Qais Al-Hanafi, from Banu Hanifa, As-Sahimi and Al-Yamāmi. He was a *Sahābi* and it was said that he was the father of Talq bin 'Ali, but it was also said that these two names belong to the same person.

^[4] It means that if ablution is nullified during prayer, it should be made afresh and prayer

by *Al-Khamsa* and Ibn Hibbān graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

161. Narrated 'Aisha *: The Prophet *said, "The Salāt (prayer) of a woman, who has reached puberty, is not accepted unless she is wearing a *Kbimār ^[1]." [Reported by *Al-Kbamsa except An-Nasā'i. And Ibn Khuzaima graded it Sabib (authentic)].

162. Narrated Jābir 🎄: The Prophet 🎕 said, "If the garment is ample, wrap it round your body i.e. during the Salāt (prayer)." A narration by Muslim has: "you should cross the two ends, and if it is tight, you should wrap it round your waist." [Agreed upon].

Narrated Abū Huraira &: (The Prophet said:) None of you should offer Salāt (prayer) in a single garment with no part of it on his shoulders. [Agreed upon].

163. Narrated Umm Salama **\$**: She asked the Prophet **\$**/**\$**, "Can a woman pray in a long dress and a veil without wearing a lower garment?" He replied, "If the long dress is ample and covers the surface of her feet." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and the *Imāms* graded it *Mawqūf* (a saying of Umm Salama)].

164. Narrated 'Aamir bin Rabi'a . We were with the Prophet during a dark night and we became uncertain about the *Qiblab* (the direction of Makkah) we then prayed [without be certain]. When the sun rose, we discovered that we had prayed towards a direction other than the *Qiblab*. So this Verse was revealed: "... so wherever you turn

(١٦١) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿لَا يَشْتِلُ اللَّهُ صَلَاةَ حَائِضٍ إِلَّا بِضِمَارٍ». رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ إِلَّا النَّسَاتِيَّ وَصَحْحَهُ إِنْنُ خُزْيْمَةً.

(١٦٧) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ لَهُ: ﴿إِنْ كَانَ النَّوْبُ وَاسِعاً وَالنِّعَا وَالنِّعَا وَالنِّعَا وَالنِّعَا وَالنَّعِثَ عِنْهِ الصَّلَاةِ. وَلِمُسْلِمٍ: فَخَالِفُ بَيْنَ طَرَفَلِهِ، وَإِنْ كَانَ ضَيِّقاً فَاتَّرِزْ بِهِ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

وَلَهُمَا مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ: ﴿ لَا يُصَلِّي أَحُدُكُمْ فِي النَّوبِ الوَاحِدِ، لَيْسَ عَلَى عَاتِقِهِ مِنْهُ شَيْءٌ».

(١٦٣) وَعَنْ أُمْ سَلَمَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا أَنَّهَا سَأَلَتَ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ: أَنُصَلَى المَرْأَةُ فِي دِرْعِ وَرْعِ وَخِمَارٍ بِغَيْرٍ إِزَارِ؟ قَالَ: وإِذَا كَانَ اللَّرْعُ سَابِغاً يُغْطِي ظُهُورَ قَلَمَيْهَا . أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَصَحَّحَ الأَئِمَةُ وَقَعَهُ .

(174) وَعَنْ عَامِرِ بْنِ رَبِيعَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَى أَنْهِ وَلَهُ لَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كُنَّا مَعَ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ فِي لَيْلَةٍ مُظْلِمَةٍ، فَأَشْكَلُتُ فَلَمَّا طَلَعَتِ الشَّمْسُ إِذَا نَحْنُ صَلَّيْنًا إِلَى غَيْرِ القِبْلَةِ، فَنَزَلَت النَّمْسُ إِذَا نَحْنُ صَلَّيْنًا إِلَى غَيْرِ القِبْلَةِ، فَنَزَلَت الآلَهُ فَأَيْدُ وَمَنْهُ اللَّهُ أَلَهُ أَعْمَ اللَّهُ أَلْمُوكُ أَخْرَجُهُ اللَّهُ فَأَوْمَ مَنْهُ أَلْمُ اللَّهُ أَلْمُ اللَّهُ فَاللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللْمُنْ الْمُنْ الْمُنْ الْمُنْ الْمُؤْمُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْمُ اللَّهُ اللْمُولَا اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللْمُولَا اللَّهُ الل

should be offered again. This is preferable.

^[1] A Kbimār is a piece of cloth with which a woman covers her head and neck area. It means that the whole body of a woman should be covered including head hair.

^[2] It is included in the conditions of prayer that a woman should also cover her feet up to heels otherwise her prayer will not be accepted.

yourselves or your faces, there is the Face of Allāh ..."^[1] [Reported by At-Tirmidhi who graded it *Da'if* (weak)].

166. Narrated 'Aamir bin Rabi'a^[3] is: I saw Allāh's Messenger is praying while mounted on his riding animal facing whatever direction it faced. [Agreed upon]. Al-Bukhāri added: "Making gestures with his head and he did not do that (pray while mounted) with obligatory prayers."

Narrated Anas in another narration of the *Hadīth* reported by Abu Dā'ud: When (he 續) traveled, and intended to pray a voluntary prayer, he used to direct^[4] his riding camel towards the *Qiblab*, say, "*Allābu Akbar*" and pray facing whatever direction it faced. [Its chain is *Hasan* (good)].

167. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri 泰: The Prophet 繼 said, "The whole earth is a mosque (to pray on) except a graveyard and a toilet." [Reported by At-Tirmidhi and it has an 'Illa (a defect)].

(١٦٥) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: (مَا بَيْنَ الْمَشْرِقِ وَالمَغْرِبِ قِبْلُهٌ». أُخْرَجَهُ التَّرِيذِيُّ، وَقَوَّاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(١٦٦) وَعَنْ عَامِر بْنِ رَبِيعَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ وَاللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ وَاللَّهِ ﷺ يُصَلَّي عَلَى رَاحِيَةٍ وَرَاحِيَّةٍ حَيْثُ تَوَجَّهَتْ بِهِ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ، زَادَ النَّبَغَارِيُّ: يُومِىءُ بِرَأْسِهِ، وَلَمْ يَكُنْ يَصْنَعُهُ فِي النَّخَارِيُّ: يُومِىءُ بِرَأْسِهِ، وَلَمْ يَكُنْ يَصْنَعُهُ فِي المَكْتُوبَةِ.

وَلَأْبِي دَاوُدَ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَنَسٍ: وَكَانَ إِذَا سَافَرَ فَأَرَادَ أَنْ يَتَطَوَّعَ اسْتَقْتِلَ بِنَاقَتِهِ القِبْلَةَ، فَكَبَّرَ ثُمَّ صَلَّى حَيْثُ كَانَ وَجْهُ رِكَابِهِ. وَإِسْنَادُهُ حَسَنٌ.

(١٦٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: االأَرْضُ كُلُهُا مَسْجِدٌ إِلَّا المَفْبَرَةَ وَالحَمَّامَ». رَوَاهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَلَهُ عِلَّةً.

^[1] Al-Baqarab 2: Verse 115.

^[2] In these words the Prophet ## has explained the direction of Qiblab .— Ka'ba direction) to the whole world. The people who reside in east or west of Qiblab take the meaning of this Haditb that Qiblab is located in between the places of rising and setting of the sun in winter and summer, and those living in north and south locations of Qiblab take the meaning that if they stand keeping east and west at their right and left, then their Qiblab is between these.

^[3] 'Aamir was one of the sons of 'Anz bin Wa'il who was brother to Bakr and Taghlib, sons of Wa'il. He was a *Sabābi* who became Muslim very early and made the two *Hijra*. He participated in Badr and all the other battles and died in 32 H. or 33 H. or 35 H.

ا⁴¹ It means that Nafl عنى – voluntary) prayer can be offered while riding, on the condition that at the time of beginning the prayer, one should turn the mount or vehicle towards Qiblab, afterward change in direction does not affect the prayer. However, obligatory prayers should not be offered while riding, but ships, boats and planes are excepted.

169. Narrated Abū Marthad Al-Ghanawi^[2] 泰: I heard Allāh's Messenger 霧 say, "Don't pray towards graves^[3] and don't sit on them.^[4]" [Reported by Muslim].

171. Narrated Abū Huraira ♣: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "If one of you steps

(170) وَعَن الْبَن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَهُمَ مَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَهُما أَنْ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ نَهَىٰ أَن يُصَلَّى فِي سَبْعٍ مَوَاطِنَ: المَذْبَلَةِ، وَالمَحْبَرَةِ، وَالمَحْبَرَةِ، وَالمَحْبَرَةِ، وَمَعَاطِنِ الإِبلِ، وَقَارِعَةِ الطَّرِيقِ، وَالحَمَّامِ، وَمَعَاطِنِ الإِبلِ، وَقَارِعَةِ الطَّرِيقِ، وَصَعَفَهُ.

رَاهُ) وَعَنْ أَبِي مَرْئُلِدِ الغَنَوِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ الْعَنَوِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ الْعَلَىٰ عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ: ﴿ لَا تُصَلُّوا إِلَى القُبُورِ، وَلَا تَبْطِيسُوا عَلَيْهَا». وَوَلا تَبْطِيسُوا عَلَيْهَا».

(١٧٠) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا جَاءَ أَحَدُكُمُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا جَاءَ أَحَدُكُمُ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ أَذَى أَوْ قَلَمُسْحِهُ، وَلَيُصَلُّ فِيهِمًا». أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ. وَصَحَّحَهُ إِبْنُ خُرْبُهُمَّ.

(١٧١) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «إِذَا وَطِيءَ أَحَدُكُمُ

^[1] This *Hadīth* is a proof that offering of a prayer in a graveyard is not permissible, whether offered over the graves or amidst the graves, and no matter if the graves are of Muslims or non-Muslims. Offering of a prayer in a graveyard gives an impression of worship of other than Allāh, which is major polytheism. It is prohibited to offer a prayer in a toilet because of its impurity and filthiness, moreover toilet is a place of Satan as it is narrated in the *Hadīth*.

^[2] His name is Kannāz bin Husain bin Yarbū' Al-Ghanawi a descendant of Ghani bin Ya'sur, a tribe of Ghatafān. He was a *Saḥābi* who witnessed Badr and was an ally of Hamza bin Abdul-Muttalib and also of his age. He attended all the battles and died in 12 H. at the age of 66 years.

^[3] It means that it is prohibited to offer a prayer facing the graves. Some people built mosques near the graves of saints to seek the favours of deceased soul. This is also prohibited. In a *Hadith* by 'Aisha &, it is clearly worded that 'May Allâh curse Jews and Christians as they made the graves of their Prophets their prayer places'. It may also mean that acts liable to be performed before Allāh in mosques, should not be enacted upon graves; or it may also mean that one should not pray at a place facing graves.

^[4] Sitting on graves has two meanings, one to rest or to lean against the graves and, secondly, to take over the graves as *Mujāwir* (صحابت - custodian of graves, who also collects alms and charity in the form of money and other things from people who visit the graves to get the favour of buried souls). In both the respects, it is strictly prohibited. There may be another meaning that one should not sit on graves for answering the call of nature or urination, etc. It is also prohibited.

on filth with his two leather socks then the earth^[1] is their purification.'' [Reported by Abū Dā'ud, and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)]. الأَذَى بِخُفَّيْهِ فَطَهُورُهُمَا التُّرَابُّ. أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَصَحْحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ.

(١٧٧) وَعَنْ مُعَاوِيَةً بْنِ الحَكَمِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "إِنَّ مَذِهِ الصَّلَاةَ لَا يَصْلُحُ فِيهَا شَيْءٌ مِنْ كَلَامِ النَّاسِ، إِنَّمَا لَهُ التَّمْسِيحُ وَالتَّكْسِرُ وَقِرَاءَةُ القُرْآنِ». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

173. Narrated Zaid bin Arqam^[3] &: We used to talk while engaged in Salāt (prayer) during the lifetime of Allāh's Messenger [8] and one would talk with his companion regarding his needs in prayer till (this verse) was revealed: "Guard strictly the prayers, especially the middle prayer; and stand before Allāh with obedience," then we were commanded to observe silence (in prayer) and were forbidden to talk. [5] [Agreed upon. This wording is from Muslim].

(۱۷۳) وَعَنْ زَيْدِ بْنِ أَرْفَمَ قَالَ: إِنْ كُنَّا لَتَتَكَلَّمُ فِي الصَّلَاةِ عَلَى عَهْدِ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ: يُكَلِّمُ أَحَدُنَا صَاحِبَهُ بِحَاجَةِ، حَتَّى نَزَلَتْ ﴿حَنِفِظُوا عَلَى الصَّكَوْتِ وَالصَّكَوْةِ الْوَسْطَلُ وَقُومُوا بِلَهِ قَنْنِينَ﴾ فَأَيْرُنَا بِالشَّكُوتِ، وَنُهِبنَا عَنِ الكَلَامِ. مُتَّقَقَ عَلَى وَاللَّفَظُ لِمُسْلِمِ. عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفَظُ لِمُسْلِمِ.

174. Narrated Abū Huraira 🌲: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "Glorification of Allāh (i.e. saying is for men and clapping of hands is for women." [Agreed upon. Muslim added: "during

(١٧٤) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرْبُرْةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «التَّشْبِيحُ لِلرِّجَالِ وَالتَّصْفِيقُ لِلنِّسَاءِ». مُتَّقَنْ عَلَيْهِ، زَادَ مُسْلِمٌ: «في

^[1] These two *Abadītb* indicate that offering of a prayer with socks and shoes on is permissible. These also tell that, if shoes get smeared with any kind of filth, dirt, dung and feeces, etc., and whatever its nature may be, it is enough to rub it with dust and there is no need to wash with water.

 $^{^{[2]}}$ He was a $Sah\bar{a}bi$ counted among the inhabitants of Hijāz. He used to visit Al-Madīnah and stay at Banu Sulaim. He died in 1^{17} H.

^[3] He was nicknamed Abū 'Amr d was an Ansāri and a Khazraji. He first took part in the battle of Al-Khandaq and accomp aied the Prophet 鑑 in 17 expeditions. He attended the battle of Siffin with 'Ali because le was one of his close associates. He settled at Kūfa and died there in 66 H.

^[4] Al-Bagarab (2); Verse 238.

^[5] It means that talking during prayer is not allowed. In the early period of Islam people used to talk in the prayer which was prohibited later on.

^[6] In means that if *Imām* (leader of the prayer) makes an unintentional mistake in the prayer, men following him are supposed to say المساق to draw his attention and women

Salāt (prayer)"].[1]

الصَّلَاةِ».

175. Narrated Mutarrif bin Abdullāh bin Shikhkhir^[2] & from his father^[3], who said, "I saw Allāh's Messenger swhen he was engaged in prayer, and heard a sound from his chest, like the bubbling of a pot, from weeping.^[4]" [Reported by Al-Kbamsa except Ibn Mājah, and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

176. Narrated 'Ali ♣: "I had the permission of Allāh's Messenger ﷺ to see him in his house at two times, and whenever I entered to him while he was praying he would clear his throat^[5] as a sign to me." [Reported by An-Nasā'i and Ibn Mājah].

177. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: I asked Bilāl &, "How did you observe the Prophet & replying to their (the Companions) salutation while he was engaged in prayer?" He (Bilāl) said, "He used to do this way," and he (Bilāl) demonstrated by spreading his palm^[6]. [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and AtTirmidhi. The latter graded it Sabib (authentic)].

(١٧٥) وَعَنْ مُطَرِّفِ بْنِنَ عَبْد اللهِ بْنِنِ الشَّخْيِرِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ قَالَ: رَأَيْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يُصَلِّي وَفِي صَدْرِهِ أَزِيزٌ كَأْزِيزِ العِرْجَلِ، مِنَ البُكَآءِ. أَخْرَجَهُ الخَمْسَةُ إِلَّا ابْنَ مَاجَه، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حَانَ.

(١٧٦) وَعَنْ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ لِي مِنْ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ مَذْخَلَانِ، فَكُنْتُ إِذَا أَتَنِنُهُ وَهُوَ يُصَلِّي، تَنْخَنَحَ لِي. رَوَاهُ النَّسَاتِيُّ وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ.

(۱۷۷) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: فَلْتُ لِلِلَالِ: كَيْفَ رَأَيْتَ النَّبِيَ ﷺ يُرُدُّ عَلَيْهِمْ حِينَ يُسَلِّمُونَ عَلَيْهِ، وَهُوَ يُشَلِّمُونَ عَلَيْهِ، وَهُوَ يُشَلِّمُونَ عَلَيْهِ، وَهُوَ يُشَلِّمُونَ عَلَيْهِ، وَهُوَ يُشَلِّمُونَ عَلَيْهِ، وَهُوَ أَنْ يُشَلِّمُونَ عَلَيْهِ، وَهُوَ يُشَلِّمُونَ عَلَيْهُ، أَخْرَجَهُ أَنْهُ وَاللَّهُ مِنْهُمَ وَصَحْحَهُ.

are ordered to clap for this purpose, so that their voice may not be heard by men.

^[1] That is, if one wants to draw the attention of the *Imām* if he forgets something in the prayer, he should say, 'Subbān Allāb'. But if it is a woman she claps by beating two fingers of her right hand on her left palm.

^[2] He is Mutarrif bin 'Abdullāh bin Ash-Shikhkhir Al-Harashi Al-'Aamiri Al-Basri, among the elder *Tabi'in*. He was reliable, virtuous and a lot of praiseworthy deeds are attributed to him. He died in 95 H.

^[3] He is 'Abdullāh bin Ash-Shikhkhir bin 'Auf bin Ka'b Al-Harashi Al-'Aamiri, the latter being a Sabābi. He was a member of the delegation of Banu 'Aamir and is considered to have settled at Basra.

^[4] According to this Hadith weeping in prayer due to the fear of Allah is allowed. While some hold the view that crying with some ailment or adversity invalidates the prayer.

It means that hemming or deliberate coughing once or twice does not disrupt the prayer. The book *Musaffa*, a commentary of *Mwatta* ((ν_{e}), explains that continuous hemming, crying, weeping or laughing, though not a speech, invalidates the prayer.

^[6] It means that a little movement does not disrupt the prayer.

178. Narrated Abū Qatāda 🐟: Allāh's Messenger # was (one time) offering prayer while he was carrying Umāma, daughter of Zainab, [1] when he prostrated[2] he put her down and when he stood up he lifted her up. [Agreed upon]. Muslim has: "While he E led the people in the prayer in the masjid..."

179. Narrated Abū Huraira 🐟: Allāh's Messenger # said, "Kill the two black ones during Salāt (prayer)[3], the snake and the scorpion." [Reported by Al-Arba'a, and Ibn Hibban graded it Sabib (authentic)].

(١٧٨) وَعَنْ أَبِي قَتَادَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يُصَلِّى، وَهُوَ حَامِلٌ أُمَامَةً بِنْتَ زَيْنَبَ، فَإِذَا سَجَدَ وَضَعَهَا، وَإِذَا قَامَ حَمَلَهَا . مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَلِمُسْلِمٍ: «وَهُوَ يَؤُمُّ النَّاسَ فِي المَسْجِدِ».

(١٧٩) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «اقْتُلُوا الأَسْوَدَيْنِ في الصَّلَاةِ: الحَبَّةَ وَالعَقْرَبُ». أَخْرَجَهُ الأَرْبَعَةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ انْدُ حَتَّانَ.

Chapter 4 SUTRA[4] (SCREEN) IN PRAYER

٤ - بَاتُ سُتْرَةِ المُصَلِّي

Hārith^[5] &: Allāh's Messenger 鑑 said, "If the person who passes in front of another person in prayer knew the يَعْلَمُ المَارُّ بَيْنَ يَدَى المُصَلِّى مَاذَا عَلَيْهِ مِنَ magnitude of his sin, it would have

180. Narrated Abū Juhaim bin Al- رَضِيَ رَضِيَ (١٨٠) عَنْ أَبِي جُهَيْمٍ بْنِ الحَارِثِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَم عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «لَوْ

^[1] Umāma was the grand daughter of the Prophet 戀 born to his daughter Zainab and Abūl-'Aas bin Ar-Rabi'. She was married by 'Ali after the death of Fatima 🐁 due to her advice, and when 'Ali was killed, she was married by Al-Mughira bin Naufal, and she died while still under him.

^[2] Shah Waliullah of Delhi wrote in his book Hufjatullābil-Bāligha حجة الله البالغة that the Prophet a deliberately did some small deeds during the prayer to make the people understand that prayer is not disrupted by such. Abadīth confirm that, if need arises, the following do not affect or disrupt the prayer: i) A little utterance. ii) Small movement, small deeds. iii) A little change of place, forward or backward. iv) To make a gesture or indicate a thing with foot. v) To open the door with a small move. vi) To move back, if another person comes to join the prayer. vii) To weep with fear of Allāh. viii) To make a gesture to make something understood. ix) To kill a scorpion or snake. x) To look to either side without moving the neck.

^[3] This Hadīth proves two things: a) Prayer is not disrupted by killing these, and b) One should not take pity on them. These must be killed and should not be spared as these are harmful.

^[4] Sutra (سترة) is something which a person offering the prayer puts in front of him as a barrier between him and others.

^[5] It is said that his name was 'Abdullāh bin Al-Hārith bin As-Simma Al-Ansāri Al-Khazraji. He was a well-known Sahābi who lived up to the caliphate of Mu'āwiya.

been better for him to wait for forty^[1] than pass in front of him.^[2] [Agreed upon. This wording is from Al-Bukhāri]. It is mentioned in Al-Bazzār through another chain with the addition: "forty years."

182. Narrated Sabra bin Ma'bad Al-Juhani^[4] 🌲: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "Let one of you who is in *Salāt* (prayer) put a *Sutra*^[5] in front of him even if it is an arrow." [Reported by Al-Ḥākim].

183. Narrated Abū Dhar Al-Ghifāri &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "In case there is not before him (an object) like the back of a saddle, a Muslim's Salāt (prayer) would be cut off⁶ by (the passing of) a woman, a donkey and a

الإثمر؟ لَكَانَ أَنْ يَقِفَ أَرْبَعِينَ خَيْرًا لَهُ مِنْ أَنْ يُمُوَّ بَيْنَ يَدَيُهِ﴾. مُتَقَقَّ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفْظُ لِللُّهُـَارِيِّ. وَوَقَعَ فِي البَرَّارِ مِنْ وَجْهِ آخَرَ: ﴿أَرْبَعِينَ خَرِيفًا﴾.

(١٨١) وَعَنْ عَآئِشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: سُئِلَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ فِي غَزْوَةَ تَبُوكَ عَنْ شُثْرَةِ المُصَلِّي، فَقَالَ: المِثْلُ مُؤخِرَةِ الرَّحْلِ». أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(١٨٢) وَعَنْ سَبْرَةَ بْنِ مَعْبَدِ الجُهَفِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ الْيَسْتَيْرُ أَحَدُكُمْ فِي الصَّلَاةِ وَلَوْ بِسَهْمٍ». أَخْرَجُهُ الحَاكِمُ.

(۱۸۳) وَعَنْ أَبِي ذَرُّ الفِفَادِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «يَقْطَعُ صَلَاةَ المَرْءِ المُشلِمِ - إِذَا لَمْ يَكُنْ بَيْنَ يَنْفِهِ مِثْلُ مُؤخِرَةِ الرَّحْلِ - المَرْأَةُ وَالحِمَارُ وَالكَلْبُ

^[1] It means that passing in front of a person in prayer is prohibited. The reporter of this *Hadīth* Abū An-Nasr stated that he does not know what is meant by forty, it may be days, months or years. But in another *Hadīth* the word 'year' is given.

^[2] Up to the place of prostration is the 'frontage' of a person offering the prayers. Crossing beyond the frontage is no offence. This warning is for the person who crosses, and not for the person who is already sitting or praying in front of him, and he makes any movement.

^[3] The height of Sutra should be at least equal to the rear part of a camel's saddle. Its approximate measure is about one foot. If nothing is available, a mace (rod or staff) can serve the purpose of Sutra; and if even that is not available, some scholars say that a line can be drawn on the ground as given in the (Da'4) narration of Abū Dā'ud.

^[4] Sabra was a Sabābi from Al-Madīnah who settled at Dhi Marwa. He was nicknamed Abū Thuraiya. He first took part in Al-Kbandaq (battle of the Trench). He was 'Ali's messenger to Mu'āwiya - when he was appointed as Kbalifa to ask him to take the pledge of loyalty of the people of Shām for 'Ali. He died towards the end of Mu'āwiya's caliphate.

^[5] When one prays, the Blessing of Allāh faces him. Sutra serves as a screen and the Blessing of Allāh remains within the limits of the screened area. Anyone who crosses beyond the screen (Sutra) does not confront the Blessing of Allāh and the prayer is not affected. In the absence of the screen (Sutra) there is no boundary for the Blessing of Allāh and a passer-by clashes with it and the concentration towards Allāh is perturbed. For this reason Sutra was made compulsory.

^[6] It means that it only affects the fear of Allāh and humility (concentration) and not the prayer.

black dog." And it concludes: "the black dog is a devil." [Reported by Muslim].

Muslim also reported through Abū Huraira (♣) a similar Hadītb without the mention of Kalb (dog). In another narration Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i reported through Ibn 'Abbās (♣) a similar report without its end and connected the prohibition of a woman passing in front of a praying person to the state of being in her menstruation period.

184. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri &: Allāh's Messenger said, "If one of you prays towards an object separating him from the people and someone tries to pass (between him and the object) in front of him, let him turn him away but if he refuses he should fight^[2] him for he is a devil." [Agreed upon]. In another narration: "for there is a Satan with him."

185. Narrated Abū Huraira *****: Allāh's Messenger ***** said, "When one of you prays, he should put something in front of him, and if he cannot find something he should set up a stick; but if he has no stick with him he should draw a line, then what passes in front of him will not harm him." [Reported by Ahmad and Ibn Mājah. And Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)...].

الأَسْوَدُه. الحَدِيثَ. وَفِيهِ: «الكَلْبُ الأَسْوَدُ شَيْطَانٌ». أُخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

وَلَهُ عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ نَحْوُهُ دُونَ الكَلْبِ، وِلأَبِي دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَلَيْقِ عَن ابْن عَبَّاسٍ نَحُوهُ دُونَ آخِرِو، وَقَيَّدَ المَرْأَةَ بِالحَاقِضِ.

(104) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ ﴿ إِذَا صَلَّى أَحَدُكُمْ إِلَى شَيْءٍ يَسْتُرُه مِنَ النَّاسِ، فَأَرَادَ أَحَدُ أَنْ يَجْتَازَ بَيْنَ يَدَيْهِ، فَلْيَدْفَعُهُ، فَإِنْ أَبَى فَلَيْقَاتِلُهُ، فَإِنَّمَا هُوَ شَيْطَانُهُ، مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ: فَإِنْ أَمَى مَنْهُ القَرِينَ.

(١٨٥) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: هِإِذَا صَلَّى أَحَدُكُمْ فَلْيَجْمَلُ بَلْقَاءَ وَجُهِهِ شَيْنًا، فَإِنْ لَمْ يَجِدُ فَلْيَتَصِبْ عَصاً، فَإِنْ لَمْ يَكُنْ فَلْيَخُطَّ خَطاً، ثُمَّ لَا يَضُرُّهُ مَنْ مَرْ بَيْنَ يَدَيْهِهِ. أَخْرَجَهُ أَحْمَدُ وَابْنُ مَا يَضُرُّهُ مَنْ مَنْ مَرَّ بَيْنَ يَدَيْهِهِ. أَخْرَجَهُ أَحْمَدُ وَابْنُ مَا يَضِبْ مَنْ رَعَمَ مَاجَهُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ، وَلَمْ يُصِبْ مَنْ رَعَمَ أَنْهُ مُضْطَرِتْ بَلْ هُوَ حَسَنْ.

^[2] Passing before the praying person is regarded an aversion unanimously. If a person is praying having *Sutra* before him and someone tries to pass from inside it, he should be stopped by a sign and if he insists, he should be stopped by force. Fight means to stop with force and not the actual fight. If a worshipper is praying without having a *Sutra* before him, it is his fault and not the fault of the passer-by. It also indicates that prayer is not discontinued with this small action, but it does affect the concentration.

186. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "Nothing interrupts^[1] Salāt (prayer), but avert as much as you can (things that cut off prayer)." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and there is weakness in its chain].

Chapter 5 KHUSHŪ⁽²⁾ (HUMILITY) IN SALAT (PRAYER)

187. Narrated Abū Huraira 🎄: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 forbade keeping one's hands on one's waist while praying^[3]. [Agreed upon]. The wording is that of Muslim, and its meaning is to put (one's) hands on his waist.

And in the narration of Al-Bukhāri narrated by 'Aisha \square\sigma' is: "This is a practice of the Iews."

188. Narrated Anas 48: Allāh's Messenger said, "If supper is brought (and the prayer is ready) start with it (the food) before you pray the *Maghrib* (prayer)." [4] [Agreed upon].

189. Narrated Abū Dhar . Allāh's Messenger said, "When one of you is praying he must not remove pebbles (from his face)^[5] for the mercy is facing him." [Reported by Al-Kbamsa with a Sabib (authentic) chain]. And Ahmad added to the above Hadīth:

(١٨٦) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا يَتُطَعُّ الصَّلَاةَ شَيْءٌ، وَادْرَءُوا مَا اسْتَطَعْتُمْ،. أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَفِي سَنَدِهِ ضَغْفٌ.

٥ - بَابُ الحَثِّ عَلَى الخُشُوعِ فِي الصَّلَاةِ

(۱۸۷) عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ أَنْ يُصلِّيَ الرَّجُلُ مُخْتَصِراً. مُثَقَّقُ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفَظُ لِمُسْلِمٍ، وَمَعْنَاهُ أَنْ يَشِعَارَ يَنَهُ عَلَى خَاصَرَتِهِ.

وَفِي البُخَارِيِّ عَنْ عَآئِشُةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا: «أَنَّ ذَلِكَ فِعْلُ اليَهُودِ فِي صَلَاتِهِمْ».

(١٨٨) وَعَنْ أَنْسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿إِذَا قُدُّمَ العَشَاءُ فَابَدَمُوا بِهِ قَبْلَ أَنْ تُصَلُّوا المَغْرِبُ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٨٩) وَعَنْ أَبِي ذَرِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: وَإِذَا قَامَ أَحَدُكُمْ فِي الصَّلَاةِ فَلَا يَمْسَحِ الحَصَى، فَإِنَّ الرَّحْمَةَ لَوَاجِهُهُ. وَوَادَ الرَّحْمَةَ لِإِسْنَادِ صَجِيحٍ، وَزَادَ أَخْمُسُهُ بِإِسْنَادِ صَجِيحٍ، وَزَادَ أَخْمُسُهُ بِإِسْنَادِ صَجِيحٍ، وَزَادَ أَخْمُدُ: وَوَاجِدَةً أَوْدَعْ، وَفِي الصَّجِيحِ عَنْ

^[1] It indicates that prayer is not discontinued by the passing of somebody, but it does affect the concentration.

^[2] Khushu' (خشوع) means calmness, comfort and concentration of the whole body and the mind towards Allāh.

^[3] Placing the hands on flanks (hips) is an arrogant action whereas humility and meekness is required in prayer. The other point explained in the next *Hadīth* is that this action resembled that of the Jews, and their imitation is forbidden.

^[4] If food is served then eating of food is preferable even if there is no hunger for it. The philosophy behind it is that one should stand before Allah with complete concentration being above all worldly needs. On the other hand, it is not permitted to go for eating at the time of prayer, if the food has not been served.

^[5] Removing stones from the place of prostration is prohibited when stones are small and

"(remove the pebbles) once or leave (them)." It is also reported in *As-Sabib* on the authority of Mu'aiqib^[1] without mention of the reason.

190. Narrated 'Aisha 像: I asked Allāh's Messenger 繼 about looking around during prayer and he said, "It is something which the devil snatches from a person's prayer." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

At-Tirmidhi has reported and graded as *Sabth* (authentic) the narration of Anas &: "Avoid looking around when you are engaged in prayer, for looking around is destruction. And if you must do it, do so^[2] in the voluntary prayers." [3]

191. Narrated Anas ♣: Allāh's Messenger ૠ said, "When anyone of you is engaged in Salāt (prayer), he is holding intimate conversation with his Rabb so he should not spit in front of him [4], nor to his right side, but to his left side, under his foot". [Agreed upon]. A narration has: "or under his foot".

192. Narrated (Anas) s: 'Aisha shad a Qirām^[5] with which she had screened

مُعَيْقِيبٍ نَحْوُهُ بِغَيْرِ تَعْلِيلٍ.

(19.) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: سَأَلْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ عَن الالتِفَاتِ فِي الصَّلَاةِ، فَقَالَ: الْمُوَ الْحَيْلَاسُ يَخْتَلِسُهُ الشَّيْطَانُ مِنْ صَلَاةِ العَبْلِهِ. رَوَاهُ البُخَارِئُ. وَلِلشِّمِذِيِّ وَصَحَّحَهُ -: اللَّاكَ وَٱلالتِفَاتَ فِي الصَّلَاةِ، فَإِنَّهُ هَلَكَةٌ، فَإِنْ كَانَ لَا بُدَّ فَفِي الصَّلَاةِ، فَإِنَّهُ هَلَكَةٌ، فَإِنْ كَانَ لَا بُدَّ فَفِي التَّمَوْعِ،

(191) وَعَنْ أَنَسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا كَانَ أَحَدُكُمْ فِي الصَّلَاةِ فَإِنَّهُ يُنَاجِي رَبَّهُ فَلَا يَنْصُفَقَّ بَيْنَ يَدَيْهِ وَلَا عَنْ يَمِينِهِ، وَلَكِنْ عَنْ شِمَالِهِ تَحْتَ فَدَمِهِ، مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ: «أَوْ تَحْتَ فَدَمِهِ».

(١٩٢) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ قِرَامٌ لِعَآئِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ

harmless. If stones are big and troublesome and hamper concentration, then there is no harm in removing them.

^[1] Mu'aiqib bin Abū Fātima Ad-Dausi became a Muslim long ago in Makkah, and migrated to Abyssinia (Ethiopia) during the second *Hifra*. He witnessed Badr. He kept the Prophet's 蹇 seal, and Abū Bakr and then 'Umar put him in charge of the *Battul-Māl*. He died during 'Uthmān's caliphate.

^[2] If at all, it is necessary, could be moved in Nawafil (voluntary) prayers, but not in the Fard (obligatory) prayers, because there is less harm of this act in voluntary prayers. At the time of dire need, it is permissible as is evident from the last illness event of the noble Prophet 鑑, when he came out of his house for prayer, Abū Bakr Siddiq, who was leading the prayer, wanted to draw back but apprehending the gesture of the Prophet 鑑, kept on leading the prayer, and the noble Prophet 鑑 did not object Abū Bakr for this act.

^[3] During the voluntary prayer also if face is moved away from *Qtblab*, then the prayer is discontinued.

^[4] It is to be remembered that one should never spit in the direction of Qiblab, or to one's right side whether in a prayer or not.

^[5] A soft piece of cloth with colours.

one side of her house. The Prophet said, "Take away^[1] this *Qirām* of yours, for its pictures are still displayed in front of me during my prayer." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، سَتَرَتْ بِهِ جَانِبَ بَيْتِهَا، فَقَالَ لَهَا النَّجِيُّ عَنْهَا، فَقَالَ لَهَا النَّبِيُّ ﷺ النَّبِيُّ فَلَاتِيُّ. وَإِنَّهُ لَا تَتَوَالُهُ تَعْرِضُ لِي فِي صَلَاتِيُّ. رَوَاهُ النِّخَارِيُّ. رَوَاهُ النِّخَارِيُّ.

Al-Bukhāri and Muslim have also reported a *Hadītb* narrated by her ('Aisha '\$) in which is mentioned the story of Abū Jahm's^[2] Ambijānia^[3] with the addition: "it (the *Khamisa*)^[4] has distracted me^[5] from my prayer."

وَاتَّفَقَا عَلَى حَدِيثِهَا فِي قِصَّةِ أَنْهِجَائِيَّةِ أَهِي جَهْمٍ، وَفِيهِ: ﴿فَإِنَّهَا أَلْهَتْنِي عَنْ صَلَاتِيِّ.

193. Narrated Jābir bin Samura 本: Allāh's Messenger 義 said, "Those people who raise their eyes to heaven while in *Salāt* (prayer) should stop (doing so) or else their sight will not return^[6] to them." [Reported by Muslim].

(14٣) وَعَنْ جَايِرِ بْنِ سَمُرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْ جَايِرِ بْنِ سَمُرةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَيَنْتَهِينَ أَقْوَامٌ يَرْخُمُونَ أَبْضَارَهُمْ إِلَى السَّمَاءِ فِي الصَّلَاةِ، أَوْلَا يَرْجُمُ إِلَيْهِمْ *. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

Narrated 'Aisha & in another narration of it from Muslim: I heard Allāh's Messenger say, "No Salāt (prayer) can be (rightly offered) with food brought (before the worshipper) or when he is resisting the urge to relieve himself of the two filths [7] (i.e. urine

وَلَهُ عَنْ عَلَيْشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ:

سَمِعْتُ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ: ﴿لَا صَلَاةً
بِحَصْرَةِ الطَّعَامِ ، وَلَا وَهُو يُكَافِئُهُ الأَخْبَنَانِ ».

^[1] It means that anything which diverts the attention should be removed from the place of prayer. If not possible, one should move away and avoid the place.

^[2] He is Ibn Hudhaifa bin Ghānim Al-Qurashi Al-'Adawi. His name is 'Aamir or 'Ubaid. He became a Muslim in the year of the conquest of Makkah. He was among the Sabāba enjoying longevity, for he attended the building of the Ka'ba by Quraish before the advent of the Prophet 患 and witnessed its reconstruction by 'Abdullāh bin Az-Zubair during whose early days of caliphate he died.

^[3] A plain woolen garment.

^[4] A soft piece of clothe with designs and colors.

^[5] It means that mosques should not be decorated with designs and ornaments, etc. as they are impediments for concentration. Imām An-Nawawi has quoted the consensus of Muslim scholars in this regard and considered it as absolute prohibition.

^[6] Imām An-Nawawi has reported consensus of Muslim scholars that this prohibition is an absolute one. Ibn Hazm says that the prayer is invalidated.

^[7] If someone feels a strong need of answering the call of nature, urination or passing wind, and has enough time, one should do it before going to prayer. Otherwise, prayer will be

and feces)."

194. Narrated Abū Huraira **\$:** The Prophet **\$\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\mathre{\matri{\mathre{\mathre{\t**

(194) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُمَرِيْرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ. أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «التَّنَاؤُبُ مِنَ الشَّيْطَانِ، فَإِذَا تَتَاعَبَ أَحَدُكُمْ فَلْيَكْظِمْ مَا اسْتَطَاعَ». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ وَالنَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَزَادَ: فِي الصَّلَاةِ».

Chapter 6 MOSQUES

٦ - بَابُ المَسَاجِدِ

195. Narrated 'Aisha 象: Allāh's Messenger 鄉 ordered that the mosques be built in residential districts^[3] and that it be cleaned and perfumed. [Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and At-Tirmidhi. The latter considered it *Mursal* (mising link in the chain after the *Tābi'i* (student of a Companion)].

Narrated 'Aisha 場 in Al-Bukhāri and Muslim (that Allāh's Messenger 選 said), "When a pious person amongst them (the Jews and Christians) died they used to build a place of worship and prostration on his grave." In the same *Hadītb* is: "Those are the worst of creatures." [4]

(190) عَنْ عَاتِشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: أَمْرَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ بِبِنَآءِ المَسَاجِدِ فِي الدُّدِرِ، وَأَنْ تُتَظَفَّ وَتُعْلَبَ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَصَحْحَ إِرْسَالَهُ.

(١٩٦) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿قَاتَلَ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ النَهُودَ، اتَّخَذُوا مُبُورَ أَنْبِيَانِهِمْ مَسَاجِدَ». مُثَغَنَّ عَلَيْهِ، وَزَادَ مُسْلِمٌ: ﴿وَالنَّصَارَى﴾.

وَلَهُمَا مِنْ حَدِيثِ عَلَيْشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا: كَانُوا إِذَا مَاتَ فِيهِمُ الرُّجُلُ الصَّالِحُ بَنَوا عَلَى قَبْرِهِ مَسْجِداً. وَفِيهِ: أُولَئِكَ شِرَارُ الخَلْةِ.

aversive. According to some it will not be regarded a prayer at all because of lack of concentration, fear of Allāh, and humility. If time is short and need is not very urgent, one should offer the prayer rather than delay it.

^[1] Yawning is a result of filled stomach and laziness. Both these things are of the things loved by Satan, so it is as though the yawning is from Satan.

^[2] Suppressing a yawn, during a prayer or at any other time is Sunnab. During prayer, one should be more careful about yawning as it affects the concentration.

^[3] So that one could pray in the vicinity of his home.

^{[4] &}quot;Turning graves into mosques" has two meanings. First, actions and deeds which are

198. Narrated (Abū Huraira) 泰: 'Umar came over Hassān^[3] while reciting poetry inside the mosque and looked at him sternly, then he (Hassān) said, "I used to recite poetry inside it (the mosque)^[4] in the presence of one who is more pious than you (i.e. the Prophet 義)." [Agreed upon].

199. Narrated (Abū Huraira) ♣: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "Whoever hears a man crying out in the mosque about something he has lost, he should say, 'May Allāh not restore it to you^[5] ', for the mosques were not built for this." [Reported by Muslim].

(١٩٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنُهُ قَالَ: بَنَتَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ خَيْلاً، فَجَاءَتْ بِرَجُل.، فَرَبَطُوهُ بِسَارِيَةٍ مِنْ سَوَارِ المَسْجِدِ، الحَديثَ. مُثَمَّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٩٨) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ عُمَرَ مَرَّ يِحَسَّانَ يُمُثِيدُ فِي المَشجِدِ، فَلَحَظَ إِلَيْهِ، فَقَالَ: قَدْ كُنْتُ أَنْشِدُ فِيه، وَلِيهِ مَنْ هُوَ خَيْرٌ مُنْكَ. مُثَمَّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٩٩) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَنْ سَمِعَ رَجُلاً يَنْشُدُ ضَالَةً فِي المَشْجِدِ فَلْيَقُلْ: لا رَدَّهَا اللَّهُ عَلَيْكَ، فَإِنَّ المَشَاجِد فَلْيَقُلْ: لا رَدَّهَا اللَّهُ عَلَيْكَ، فَإِنَّ المَشَاجِد لَمْ ثَبُن لِهَذَا». رَوَاهُ مُشْلِمٌ.

(۲۰۰) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ رَسُولَ
 الله ﷺ قَالَ: اإِذَا رَأَيْتُمْ مَنْ يَبِيعُ أَوْ يَبْتَاعُ فِي
 المَسْجِدِ فَقُولُوا: لا أَرْبَعَ اللَّهُ يَجَارَتَكَ. رَوَاهُ

supposed to be done before Allāh in the mosques, are performed near or upon the graves, such as prostration, bowing, sitting, or standing with folded hands as a sign of respect; and secondly, to build the mosques near the graves. Whatever the meaning may be, it is prohibited in any way.

^[1] It means that temporarily a mosque can be used for detention of prisoners.

^[2] This *Hadītb* shows that a polytheist can enter a mosque if there is a need for such. However, some scholars make an exception for the Sacred *Masjid* (Al-Ka'ba) in Makkah, saying that a disbeliever can not enter it, just as they cannot perform the pilgrimage.

^[3] He is Hassān bin Thābit Al-Ansāri Al-Khazraji who was the poet of Allāh's Messenger 鑑. Abū 'Ubaida said, 'Arabs have agreed that Hassān bin Thabit was the best poet among them.' He died before 40 H. during the caliphate of 'Ali. It is also said that he died in 50 H. at the age of 120 years of which he lived sixty years in the Jābitiya (Ignorance) and sixty in Islam.

^[4] This is a proof that good moral and elevated poetry can be recited in the mosque. Hassān bin Thābit used to recite poems of significance in response to satirical poetry of the infidels and the noble Prophet 鑑 always praised him by saying, "Gabriel helps you."

^[5] This is by way of condemnation so that people should not discuss that which is not allowed in the mosques. For example, in case of the lost cattle one should not inquire about it inside the mosque, thus disturbing and interrupting the people in their concentration towards Alláh. Instead one may stand at the gate of the mosque and ask the people.

^[6] It means that mosques should not be treated as markets, because it will affect the dignity

(chain)].

and At-Tirmidhi and the latter graded it Hasan (good)].[1]

201. Narrated Hakim bin Hizām^[2] (🍪): Allāh's Messenger & said, "Neither the prescribed punishments nor retaliations should be executed inside the mosque." [Reported by Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud through a weak Sanad

202. Narrated 'Aisha &: On the day of Al-Khandaq (battle of the Trench), Sa'd[3] was injured and Allah's Messenger ## pitched a tent for him in the mosque to visit him from a close distance. [4] [Agreed upon].

203. Narrated ('Aisha) 🐁: I saw Allāh's Messenger at the door of my house screening me while I watched some Abyssinians (Ethiopians)^[5] who were playing in the mosque.[6] [Agreed upon].

204. Narrated ('Aisha) 🐁 : One black slave-girl had a tent in the mosque and she used to come to me and talk (with me) in my house^[7]. [Agreed upon].

النَّسَآئِيُّ وَالتُّرْمِذِيُّ، وَحَسَّنَهُ.

(٢٠١) وَعَنْ حَكِيم بْن حِزَامٍ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «لَا تُقَامُ الحُدُودُ فِي المَسَاجِدِ، وَلَا يُسْتَقَادُ فِيهَا». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ بِسَنَدِ ضَعِيفٍ.

(٢٠٢) وَعَنْ عَآئِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: أُصِيبَ سَعْدٌ يَوْمَ الخَنْدَق ، فَضَرَبَ عَلَيْهِ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ خَيْمَةً فِي الْمَسْجِدِ، لِيَعُودَهُ مِنْ قَريبٍ . مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ .

(٢٠٣) وَعَنْهَا قَالَتْ: رَأَيْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَسْتُرُنِي، وَأَنَا أَنْظُرُ إِلَى الحَبَشَةِ يَلْعَبُونَ فِي المَسْجِد، الْحَدِيثَ. مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٢٠٤) وَعَنْهَا رَضِيَ اللهُ عَنْهَا أَنَّ وَلِيدَةً سَوْدَآءَ كَانَ لَهَا خِبَاءٌ فِي المَسْجِدِ، فَكَانَتْ تَأْتِينِي، فَتَحَدَّثُ عِنْدي الحَديثُ. مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ

91

of mosque and prayers.

^[1] Doing business in mosques is prohibited. Whoever trades there, will be regarded as sinful but the deal will be considered as valid.

^[2] He is Abū Khālid Al-Qurashi Al-Asadi, the son of the brother of Khadija 'Mother of the Believers.' He was among the noble men of Ouraish and was born in the Ka'ba 13 years before the incident of the elephant. He became a Muslim during the year of the conquest of Makkah and died at Al-Madinah in 54 H. at the age of 120 years.

^[3] Sa'd bin Mu'ādh was the leader of Al-Aus and one of the greatest Sahāba. He became a Muslim between the first and second 'Aqaba, and Banu 'Abdul-Ashhal became Muslims due to his Islamic faith. He was bold, noble and obeyed by his people. He was hit by an arrow on his arm during the battle of Kbandaq (battle of Trench) and after the battle of Banu Quraiza, in Dhul Hijja 5 H., he died of that injury.

^[4] This Hadīth is a proof that erecting a tent in the mosque, sleeping there and residing of a sick or wounded person is permissible.

^[5] It means that woman can look at a group of men without singling out any individual.

^[6] The games, helpful in Jibād (fighting in Allāh's cause) are permissible to be played in the mosque, as the Abyssinian were playing war games.

^[7] The complete Hadīth is narrated in Sabih Al-Bukhāri. The object of giving it here is to show that a woman also can stay in the mosque and that erecting a tent is also permissible.

206. Narrated (Anas) &: Allāh's Messenger said, "The Hour (Judgement Day) will not come until people boast (to each other) with (the construction and decoration of) mosques.^[1] " [Reported by Al-Kbamsa except At-Tirmidhi, and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic).]

207. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās . Allāh's Messenger said, "I was not commanded to build beautified^[2] mosques". [Reported by Abū Dā'ud, and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sahib (authentic)].

208. Narrated Anas &: Allāh's Messenger said, "The rewards of my *Ummah* (followers) were shown to me, even a peck of dust a man takes out of the mosque." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and th-Tirmidhi. The latter graded it *Gharib* (having a single narrator), and Ibn Khuzaima graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

209. Narrated Abū Qatāda *****: Allāh's Messenger ***** said, "When one of you enters the mosque, he must not sit until he prays two *Rak'a*." [Agreed upon]

(٢٠٥) وَعَنْ أَنْسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «البُصَاقُ فِي المَسْجِدِ خَطِيَةٌ ، وَكَفَّارَتُهَا دَفْنُهَا». مُثَقِّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٢٠٦) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «لَا تَقُومُ السَّاعَةُ حَتَّى يَتَبَاهَى النَّاسُ فِي المُسَاحِةِ». أَخْرَجَهُ الخَمْسَةُ إِلَّا التُرْمِذِيَّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ خُرَيْهَةً.

(٢٠٧) وَعَنِ ابْنِرِ عَبَّاسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَا أُمِرْتُ يَتَفْهَيدِ المَسَاجِدِهِ. أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَصَحَّحَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَصَحَّمَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالْحَمْهُ الْعَلَيْمِ لَا الْعَلَيْمُ اللَّهُ اللّهُ اللللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّ

(٢٠٨) وَعَنْ أَنَسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: (هُمِرِضَتْ عَلَيَّ أُجُورُ أُمِينِي، حَتَّى القَذَاةُ يُخْرِجُهَا الرَّجُلُ مِنَ المَشْجِدِهِ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ والنَّزِيذِيُّ، وَاسْتَغْرِبُهُ، وَاسْتَغْرِبُهُ، وَصَحْحُهُ أَبِنُ خُرَيْهَةً.

(٢٠٩) وَعَنْ أَبِي قَنَادَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا دَخَلَ أَحَدُكُمُ المَسْجِدَ فَلَا يَجْلِسْ حَتَّى يُصَلِّي رَكْعَتَيْنِ ٤.

⁽¹⁾ It means that they will proudly compete with each other and will boast about the embellishment and beautification of their mosques. It may also mean that they will boast about their superiority and eminence in mosques whereas these are the places of showing humility and humbleness before Allāh.

 $^{^{[2]}}$ This \it{Hadith} indicates that being a Jewish custom, making of designs and ornaments in mosques is forbidden.

^[3] This is evident that these two Rak'at are Tabiyatal-Masjid (salutation to the mosque). Some of the religious scholars consider these as compulsory whereas most of others regard them only desirable. Looking at the evident meanings of the Hadith some scholars have allowed to offer even at the prohibited (odious) time, whereas other scholars forbid in these times.

Chapter 7 THE DESCRIPTION OF THE SALAT (PRAYER)

٧ - بَابُ صِفَةِ الصَّلَاةِ

210. Narrated Abū Huraira &: The Prophet said, "When you get up to pray, perform the ablution perfectly. then face the Qiblah and say: 'Allahu Akbar' (Allah is the Most Great). Then recite a convenient portion of the Our'an;[1] then bow and remain calmly in that position for a moment, then rise up and stand erect; then prostrate and remain calmly in that position for a moment, then rise up and sit calmly^[2], then prostrate and remain calmly in that position for a moment; then do that throughout your prayer." [Reported by As-Sab'a and the wording is that of Al-Bukhāri].

(٧١٠) عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: إِذَا قُمْتَ إِلَى الصَّلَاةِ فَأَسْبِغِ الوُضُوءَ، ثُمَّ اسْتَغْبِلِ القِبْلَةَ فَكَبِّرْ، ثُمَّ افْراً مَا تَيَسَّرَ مَعَكَ مِنَ القُرْآنِ، ثُمَّ ارْكَعْ حَتَّى تَعْلَمَيْنَ رَاكِماً، ثُمَّ ارْفَعْ حَتَّى تَعْتَدِلَ قَائِماً، ثُمَّ اسْجُدْ حَتَّى تَطْمَيْنَ سَاجِداً، ثُمَّ ارْفَعْ حَتَّى تَعْلَمَيْنَ جَالِساً، ثُمَّ اسْجُدْ حَتَّى تَطْمَيْنَ سَاجِداً، ثُمَّ افْعَلْ ذَلِكَ فِي صَلَاتِكَ كُلُّهَا، أَخْرَجُهُ السَّبْعَةُ، وَاللَّفَظُ لِلْبُخَارِيْ.

The narration of Ibn Mājah through a chain of Muslim has: "then rise up and stand erect calmly." And in the narration of Ibn Hibbān and Ahmad the hadith of Rifā'a bin Rāfī' bin Mālik^[3] is similar to the above. And Ahmad has: "keep your back straight till the bones return (to their positions)."

وَلائِينَ مَاجَهُ بِإِسْنَادِ مُسْلَمِ: "حَتَّى تَطْمَيْنَ قَائِماً، وَمِثْلُهُ فِي حَلِيثِ رِفَاعَةً بْنِ رَافِعِ بْنِر مَالِكِ عِنْدَ أَحْمَدَ وَابْنِ حِبَّانَ "حَتَّى تَطْمَيْنَ قَائِماً». وَلاحْمَدَ: "فَأَقِمْ صُلْبُكَ حَتَّى تَوْجِعَ العِظَامُ».

And in the narration of An-Nasā'i and Abū Dā'ud from the *Hadith* of Rifā'a bin Rāfi': "The *Salāt* (prayer) of one of you will not be complete until he performs *Wudu'* (ablution) properly as

وَلِلنَّسَآئِينِ وَأَبِي دَاوُدُ مِنْ حَدِيثِ رِفَاعَةَ بُنرِ رَافِيرٍ: الْإِنَّهَا لَنْ تَتِمَّ صَلَاةُ أَحَدِكُمْ خَتَّى يُسْبَغَ الوُصُوءَ كَمَا أَمَرَهُ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى، ثُمَّ يُكْبَرِّ اللَّه

^[1] It is obvious that the recitation of the noble Qur'an is compulsory. There is a *Hadātb* which reads (رثم اقرأ بأم القرآن). "Then read Umm al-Qur'an". It is evident that it means *Sūrat Al-Fātiba*.

^[2] Those who are careless in the performance of bowing, prostrations, sitting, etc. in their prayer should ponder over this *Hadīth*; careless and hasty actions are inaccurate. These careless actions destroy their prayers. The noble Prophet ﷺ named this kind of prayer as the "prayer of hypocrite" and the performers as "thieves of the worst type."

^[5] He is nicknamed Abū Mu'ādh and was Az-Zurqi Al-Ansāri Al-Madani, – a great Sabābi who attended Al-'Aqaba with his father who was the first Ansāri to become a Muslim. Rifâ'a participated in Badr and all the latter battles and was with 'Ali during the battles of Al-Jamal and Siffin. He died during the beginning of Mu'āwiya's caliphate in 41 H.

Allāh commanded him, then he says Allāhu Akbar and Albamdu lillāh and praises Him." It is also mentioned in the same Hadīth, "If you know any portion of the Qur'ān, read it or else say: Albamdu lillāh, Allāhu Akbar and La tlāha ill-Allāh." And Abū Dā'ud has: "Then read the Ummul-Qur'ān. (i.e. Sūrat Al-Fātiha) and whatever Allāh wishes". Ibn Hibbān also has: "and then (read) whatever you wish."

211. Narrated Abū Humaid As-Sāʻidi^[2] ▲: "I saw Allāh's Messenger^[3] 郷 when he uttered the Takbir, he placed his hands parallel to his shoulders;[4] and when he bowed down, he rested his hands on his knees, then bent his back. When he raised his head up, he stood erect until the bones of his spine became straight. When he prostrated, he placed his arms such that they were neither spread out nor drawn in, and the tips of his toes were facing the Qiblab; when he sat up, at the end of two Rak'a, he sat on his left foot and put erect the right one; and when he sat up after the last Rak'a he put forward the left foot, put erect the other one and sat on his buttock." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

212. Narrated 'Ali bin Abi Tālib 🚓: Whenever Allāh's Messenger 🍇 stood تَمَالَى، وَيَخْمَدَهُ، وَيُثْنِيَ عَلَيْهِ. وفيها: ﴿فَإِنْ كَانَ مَمَكَ فُرْآنُ فَاقْرَأَ، وَالَّا فَاحْمَدِ اللَّهُ، وَكَثِرُهُ، وَهَلَلْهُ. وَلاَبِي دَاوُدُ: ﴿ثُمَّ اقْرَأَ بِأُمْ القُرْآنِ ، وَبِمَا شَآءَ اللَّهُ ۖ وَلاَبْنِ حِبَّانَ: ﴿ثُمَّ بِمَا شِئْتَ».

(۲۱۱) وَعَنْ أَبِي مُحَمِّيْ السَّاعِدِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: رَأَيْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ إِذَا كَبَّرَ مَعْلَ يَدَيُهِ جَدْرَ مَنْكِبَيْهِ، وَإِذَا رَكَعَ أَمْكَنَ يَدَيُهِ مِنْ رُكْبَتَيْهِ ثُمَّ هَصَرَ طَهْرَهُ، فَإِذَا رَقَعَ رَأَسُهُ اسْتَوَى، حَتَّى يَعُودَ كُلُّ فَقَارٍ مَكَانَهُ، فَإِذَا سَجَدَ وَسَعَ يَدَيْهِ عَيْرَ مُفْتَرِشٍ وَلَا قَالِمُ مَكَانَهُ، وَإِذَا سَجَدَ وَاسَعَ رِجْلِيهِ القِبْلَةَ، وَإِذَا سَجَدَ جَلَسَ فِي الرَّكُمْتَيْنِ جَلَسَ فِي الرَّكُمْتِينَ جَلَسَ فِي الرَّكُمْةِ الانجِيرَةِ وَنَصَبَ اللَّهُ عَلَيْ رَجْلِهِ اللِيسْرَى، وَنَصَبَ اللَّهُ عَلَى رَجْلِهِ اللِيسْرَى، وَنَصَبَ اللَّهُ عَرَى، وَقَعَدَ الانجيرَةِ عَلَى مُفْعَدَةٍ الانجيرَةِ عَلَى مُفْعَدَةٍ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَى مُفْعَدَةٍ اللَّهُ عَلَى مُفْعَدَةٍ . أَخْرَبُهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ . وَقَعَدَ اللَّهُ عَلَى مُفْعَدَةٍ . أَخْرَبُهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَى مُفْعَدَةٍ . أَخْرَبُهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَى مُفْعَدَةٍ . أَخْرَبُهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ . وَنَصَبَ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ . وَقَعَدَ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ . وَقَعَدَ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ . وَقَعَدَ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ . وَقَعَدَ اللَّهُ مَنْ مَنْ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ مُنْ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ . أَوْرَبُهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ . أَخْرَبُهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ . أَخْرَبُهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ وَلَهُ . وَنَصَبَ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ . أَخْرَبُهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ . أَخْرَبُهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ . أَخْرَبُهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ . الْعُلِيْمُ الْمُؤْمِنُونَ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ الْمُؤْمِنُ الْمُؤْمِنُ الْمُؤْمُونُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْعُنْمُ الْمُؤْمُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ الْمُؤْمُ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْمِنُ الْمُؤْمُونُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ الْمُؤْمِلُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهُ الْهُونُ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْمُ الْعُلِيْمُ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْمُونُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْعُلْمُ اللَّهُ الْعُرْمُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْعُلْمُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُونُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّ

(٢١٢) وَعَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ أَبِي طَالِبٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ

⁽أَم اَلَمْرَانَ) is a name used for *Sūrat Al-Fātiba*. This *Hadītb* indicates that the recitation of *Al-Fātiba* and some other chapter or Verses of the noble Qur'ān is essential. According to some religious scholars, after the recitation of *Al-Fātiba* a little more recitation is essential, but to others it is only preferable or desired. For more detail see books of *Ahadītb*.

^[2] Abū Humaid is called 'Amr or Mundhir bin Sa'd bin Al-Mundhir or Mālik Al-Ansāri Al-Khazraji Al-Madani. He descended from Sa'ida who is the father of Al-Khazraj. He participated in Uhud and the battles that followed and died either towards the end of Mu'āwiya's caliphate or at the beginning of Yazid's rule in 61 H.

^[3] The Muslim *Ummab* ought to offer their prayers like the prayer of the noble Prophet \$\mathbb{8}\$. He used to pray with peace of mind and perfection. Hasty performance is disapproved.

^[4] In this *Hadīth, Raf' yadain* (raising of hands) is mentioned up to the shoulders. In the narration of Wā'il bin Hujr it is mentioned up to the ears.

for Salāt (praver), he used to say:[1] "I have turned my face (as a monotheist) towards Him who created the heavens and the earth and I am not from the polytheists. My prayer and my devotion, my life and my death belong to Allah. the Lord of the universe, Who has no partner. That is what I have been commanded, and I am a Muslim. O Allah. You are the King. There is nothing which deserves to be worshipped but You. You are my Rabb (Lord) and I am Your slave. [2] I have wronged myself, but I acknowledge my sin, so forgive me all my sins. You alone can forgive sins; and guide me to the best qualities. You alone can guide to the best of them: and turn me from evil ones, You alone can turn from evil qualities. I come to serve and please You. All good is in Your Hands and evil does not pertain to You. I seek refuge in You and turn to You, You are the Blessed and the Exalted. I ask Your forgiveness and turn to You in repentance." [Reported by Muslim]. And in another narration of Muslim: "he used to say that in the night praver..."

213. Narrated Abū Huraira . Allāh's Messenger aused to keep silent – between the opening Takbir of the prayer and the recitation of the Qur'an – for a short while. Then, I asked him (about that) and he replied, "I say, 'O Allāh! Keep me apart from my sins (faults) as you have kept apart the east and west. O Allāh clean me from my sins as a white garment is cleaned from

تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنْ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ، أَنَّهُ كَانَ إِذَا قَامَ إِلَى الصَّلَاةِ، قَالَ: اوَجَّهْتُ وَجْهِيَ لِلَّذِي فَطَرَ السَّمَاوَاتِ والأَرْضَ – إِلَى قَوْلِهِ – مِنَ المُسْلِمِينَ. اللَّهُمَّ أَنْتَ المَلِكُ، لَا إِلَهَ إِلَّا أَنْتَ، أَنْتَ رَبِّي وَأَنَا عَبْدُكَ، إلى آخره». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ، وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لَّهُ: أَنْ ذَلِكَ فِي صَلَاةٍ اللَّلِلِ.

(٧١٣) وَعَنْ أَيِي هُرَيْرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ إِنَّا كَبْتَرَ لِلصَّلَاةِ سَكَتَ هُنَيْهَةً قَبْلَ أَنْ يَقْرَأً، فَسَأَلُنُهُ فَقَالَ: أَقُولُ: «اللَّهُمَّ بَاعِدْ بَبْنِي وَبَيْنَ خَطَايَايَ، كَمَا بَاعَدْتَ بَيْنَ المَشْرِقِ وَالمَغْرِبِ، اللَّهُمَّ نَقْنِي مِنْ خَطَايَايَ، كَمَا يُنَقِّى اللَّوْبُ الأَبْيَصُ مِنَ خَطَايَايَ، كَمَا يُنَقِّى اللَّوْبُ الأَبْيَصُ مِنَ اللَّهُمَّ اغْرِيْنِي مِنْ خَطَايَايَ بِالمَاءِ

^[1] In the end of this Hadīth it is mentioned that the noble Prophet 繼 used to recite this supplication in Tahafjud (نهجد) a prayer offered after midnight). The author in his book Talkhis has reported from Imām Shāfi'i and Ibn Khuzaima that the noble Prophet 鑑 recited it in obligatory prayers. Possibility of recitation of this supplication is there in both the prayers, in the narration of 'Ali المنافعة المنافعة

^[2] In these hallowed words, a Muslim is instructed to ask forgiveness from Allāh for his sins, known and unknown, even though he may be the most obedient and pious.

dirt. O Allah wash me of my sins with water, snow and hail." [Agreed upon].

وَالثُّلْجِ وَالبَرَّدِهِ. مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

214. Narrated 'Umar 本: He (樂) used to say, "How perfect You are O Allāh, and Praise is for You, Blessed is Your Name and Exalted is Your Majesty and there is nothing which deserves to be worshipped besides You." [Reported by Muslim with a Munqati' (broken) chain. And in the version of Ad-Dāraqutni, it is Mawsūl (unbroken chain), and it is Mawqūf (saying of a companion ('Umar)].

كَانَ يَقُولُ: ﴿ مَشْبُحَانَكُ اللَّهُمُ ، وَبِحَمْدِكَ ، وَتَبَارَكُ السُمُكَ ، وَتَعَالَى جَدُّكَ ، وَلَا إِلَهُ غَيْرُكَ ، وَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ بِسَنَةٍ مُنْقَطِعٍ ، وَالدَّارَقُطْنِيُ مَوْصُولًا ، وَهُوَ مَوْقُوفٌ .

(٢١٤) وَعَنْ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُ

Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri &: narrated a similar report Marfu' (reaching back to the Prophet) collected by al-Khamsa, containing the words: He (ﷺ) used to say after the (opening) Takbir (for prayer), "I seek refuge in Allāh, the All-Hearing and the All-Knowing from the accursed devil, from his madness or evil suggestion (Hamz), from his puffing up (Na/kb), and from his witchcraft (Naftb)."

وَتَخَوُهُ عَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيِّ مَرْفُوعاً عِندَ الخَمْسَةِ، وَفِيهِ: وَكَانَ يَقُولُ بَعْدَ التَّكْبِيرِ: الْحُوذُ بِاللهِ السَّمِيمِ المَلِيمِ مِنَ الشَّيْطانِ الرَّجِيمِ مِنْ هَمْزِهِ، وَتَفْخِهِ، وَتَفْيِهِ.

215. Narrated 'Aisha Allāh's Messenger & used to begin the Salāt (prayer) with Takbir (Allabu Akbar -Allah is the Most Great) and the recitation with Albamdu lillābi Rabbil-'alamin (praise is to Allah, the Rabb of the universe)."[1] And when he bowed down, he neither kept his head up nor bent it down, but kept it between that (two positions). When he raised his head from the bowing position, he did not prostrate till he had stood erect; and when he raised his head after a prostration, he did not prostrate again till he had sat up. And at the end of every two Rak'a he said the Tabiyya, and he used to sit on his left foot and position the right one vertically, and he

الله تَعَالَى عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا وَالَّذِ : كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَسْتَفْتِحُ الصَّلَاةَ وَلَا يَرْسَعُونَ اللهِ يَهِ يَسْتَفْتِحُ الصَّلَاةَ وَكَانَ إِذَا رَفَعَ رَأْسَهُ وَلَمْ يُصَوِّبُهُ، وَلَيْ إِنَا العَالَمِينَ، وَلَكِنْ بَيْنَ ذَلِكَ؛ وَكَانَ إِذَا رَفَعَ رَأْسَهُ وَلَى يُصَوِّبُهُ، وَلَكِنْ بَيْنَ ذَلِكَ؛ وَكَانَ إِذَا رَفَعَ رَأْسَهُ وَلَى أَلِمُو لَمْ يَسْجُدُ حَتَّى يَسْتَوِي قَائِماً، وَإِذَا رَفَعَ رَأْسَهُ مِنَ الشَّجُودِ لَمْ يَسْجُدُ حَتَّى يَسْتَوِي وَلَهُ يَسْجُدُ حَتَّى يَسْتَوِي وَلَمْ يَسْجُدُ حَتَّى يَسْتَوِي وَلَهُ عَلَى السَّجُدِ عَلَى يَسْتَوِي وَكُونَ يَشْعُونَ السَّجُودِ لَمْ يَسْجُدُ حَتَّى يَسْتَوِي وَكُونَ يَشْوِي كُلُّ رَكْعَتَيْنِ التَّيْجِيَّةً، وَكَانَ يَغُوشُ رِجْلَهُ البُسْوَى، وَيَنْصِبُ اليُعْمَى أَنْ وَكُنْ يَغْمِلُ اللهِ يَعْمَلُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهُ الله

^[1] Sūrat Al-Fātiha.

prohibited the devil's way of sitting[1] on the buttocks. He forbade people to spread out their arms like a wild beast. And he used to finish the prayer with the Taslim (i.e. saying As-Salāmu 'alaikum) [Reported by Muslim and it has an 'illa (defect)].

216. Narrated Ibn 'Umar Prophet su used to raise his hands parallel to his shoulders[2] when he started the prayer (by saving Allābu Akbar), when he uttered the Takbir to bow and when he raised his head from the Rukū' (bowing posture). [Agreed upon].

Abū Dā'ud reported a Hadīth narrated by Abū Humaid (&) to the effect that he (Allāh's Messenger 鑑) used to raise his hands and bring them parallel to his shoulders, and then utter the Takbir.

Muslim has a Hadīth narrated by Mālik bin Huwairith & similar to the Hadith narrated by Ibn 'Umar (為). But he (Mālik bin Huwairith) mentioned: "He (the Prophet 鑑) raised his hands parallel to the end of his ears."

(٢١٦) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ كَانَ يَرْفَعُ يَدَيْهِ حَذْوَ مَنْكِيَيْهِ إِذَا افْتَتَحَ الصَّلَاةَ، وَإِذَا كَبَّرَ لِلرُّكُوع، وَإِذَا رَفَعَ رَأْسَهُ مِنَ الرُّكُوعِ . مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

وَفِي حَدِيثِ أَبِي حُمَيْدٍ عِنْدَ أَبِي دَاوُدَ يَرْفَعُ يَدَيْهِ حَتَّى يُحَاذِيَ بهمَا مَنْكِبَيْهِ، ثُمَّ يُكَبُّرُ.

وَلِمُسْلِمِ عَنْ مَالِكِ بْنِ الحُوَيْرِثِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ. نَحْوُ حَدِيثِ أَبْنِ عُمَرَ، لَكِنْ قَالَ: حَتَّى يُحَاذِيَ بِهِمَا فُرُوعَ أُذُنَيْهِ.

(۲۱۷) وَعَنْ وَائِلِ بْنِ حُجْر رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى 1 اللَّهِ 17. Narrated Wa'il bin Hujr الله تَعَالَى ا

^[1] Uqbatisb-Sbaytan (the devil's way of sitting) is to put the buttocks on the ground while proposing up the calves and thighs (and knees), with the hands on ground on both sides. Iftirāsb as-Sabu'i (spreading the arms like a wild beast) is to stretch the forearms forward, laying them flat on the ground, while in Sajdah (prostration).

is clear enough to prove that at the رضى الله عنهما This narration of 'Abdullāh bin 'Umar رضى الله عنهما start of a prayer, at the time of bowing and at rising from bowing, the raising of hands up to the shoulders is Sunnah. The words کان یرفع "he used to raise his hands" indicate that it was his regular practice. It proves that raising of hands was not cancelled or given up. All the Abadītb against the 'raising of hands' are Da'if (weak) or Maudū' (forged). Among the weak Ahadith, weaknesses of some are unanimously agreed and some are controversial. From all of them, the narration of 'Abdullāh bin Mas'ud رضى الله عنه is regarded as better. Imām Bukhāri quoted his teacher 'Ali bin al-Madini's legal opinion on the basis of 'Abdullah bin 'Umar's narration that it becomes essential for all Muslims to raise hands. The controversy of this issue is too lengthy to be discussed here.

^[3] Abū Hunaida or Abū Hinda, Wā'il bìn Hujr was a great Sabābi and his father was one of the kings of Hadramout. He visited the Prophet 鑑 who spread out his upper cloth for him to sit on and asked blessings for him and his children. He then appointed him incharge of the Aqyal of Hadramout. He settled at Kufa and died during Mu'awiya's caliphate.

prayed with the Prophet # and he put his right hand on his left (and then placed them) on his chest. [1] [Reported by Ibn Khuzaima].

عَنْهُ قَالَ: صَلَّبْتُ مَعَ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، فَوَضَعَ يَدَهُ النُمْنَى عَلَى يَدِهِ النُسْرَى عَلَى صَدْدِهِ. أَخْرَجَهُ إِبْنُ خُزْيَمَةً.

218. Narrated 'Ubāda bin As-Sāmit^[2] \$: Allāh's Messenger \$\frac{1}{2}\$ said, "There is no \$Salāt\$ (prayer) for him who does not recite \$Ummul-Qur'ān^[3] (\$\tilde{Surat}\$ Al-Fātiba)". [Agreed upon]. (۲۱۸) وَعَنْ عُبَادَةَ ثِمْنِ الطَّامِتِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا صَلَاةَ لِمَنْ لَمْ يَقْرَأُ بِأُمُّ القُرْآنِ». مُثَنَّقَ عَلَيْهِ.

In the narration of Ibn Hibbān and Ad-Dāraqutni is mentioned: "The *Salāt* (prayer) is not complete if one does not recite (*Sūrat*) *Fātiba al-Kitab*." وَفِي رِوَايَةِ لابْنِ حِبَّانَ وَالدَّارَقُطْنِيِّ: ﴿لَا تُجْزِىءُ صَلَاةً لا يُقْرَأُ فِيهَا بِفَاتِخَةِ الكِتَابِۗ.

And in another narration of Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud, At-Tirmidhi, and Ibn Hibbān is: "Perhaps you recite behind your *Imām?*" We replied, "Yes." He (the Prophet ﷺ) said, "Do not do so

وَفِي أُخْرَى لِأَحْمَدَ وَأَبِي دَاوُدَ وَالتَّرْمِذِيُّ وَابْنِ حِبَّان: «لَعَلَّكُمْ تَفْرَءُونَ خَلْفَ إِمَامِكُمْ؟» قُلْنَا: نَعَمْ، قَالَ: «لَا تَفْعَلُوا إِلَّا بِفَاتِحَةِ

^[1] This Hadīth makes clear two things. First, folding of hands during prayer is Sunnab and not the opposite. Some people attribute it to 'Ali مرضي الله عنه but it is not correct. Secondly, hands are to be folded on chest, not under the navel, as some people do. The narration on the basis of which they argue is also incorrect.

^[2] He was one of Al-Ansār group leaders to the first and second 'Aqaba agreements. He also attended Badr and the other battles. 'Umar sent him to Shām as a Qādi and a teacher. So he settled at Hims then moved to Palestine and died there at Ramla or Bait-ul-Maqdis in 34 H. at the age of 72 years.

^[3] The above mentioned *Hadīth* is a clear proof that without reciting *Sūrat Al-Fātīha*, prayer is not valid. The companions of the noble Prophet 25 and the followers of the Companions and most of the scholars believed in this practice. In the Hadīth known as (مسيء الصلاة) the words are: اقرأ أم الكتاب. The noble Prophet 鑑 ordered to pray with the recitation of Al-Fatiba, in every Rak'at. The Imam (leader) and Maqtadi (follower) both have to recite Al-Fătiba. No one is an exception, and similarly in every prayer Sirran (-- secret, silent) or Jebran (جهر loud voice), it is necessary to recite Al-Fātiba. Muslim has narrated a Hadītb from Abū Huraira رضي الله عنه, in which he was asked about the recitation of Al-Fātiba, if the prayer is being offered behind the Imām. Abu Huraira answered that it should be recited secretly (in low voice). Tirmidhi, Abū Dā'ud, and Nasā'i have reported a Hadīth from 'Ubāda رضى الله عنه: The noble Prophet ﷺ asked, "Do you recite anything behind the Imām?" answered in positive then the noble Prophet ﷺ told them to recite رضى الله عنهم Al-Fātiba only and nothing else, because without the recitation of Al-Fātiba, prayer is not valid. There are many other Abadīth which prove that recitation of Al-Fātiba is essential behind the Imam also. As regards the Hadith, which mentions that the recitation of the Imām is enough for the followers, it is Da'if (weak). Among those who admit this view (recitation of Fātiba), some are of the opinion that Al-Fātiba should be recited in between the pauses of the recitation of the Imām, and others say that it should be recited at the completion of Al-Fatiba by the Imam.

except when it is (Sūrat) Fātiba al-Kitab, for the Salāt (prayer) of the one who does not recite it, is not accepted."

And Muslim added: "They would not recite *Bismillābir-Rahmānir-Rahim*, neither in the beginning of the recitation nor at the end^[1] of it."

In another narration from Ahmad, An-Nasā'i and Ibn Khuzaima: "They never used to recite *Bismillabir-Rahmānir-Rahim* aloud."

And in another report from Ibn Khuzaima: "They used to recite Bismillabir-Rahmānir-Rahim silently." [2] The negation (of recitation of the Bismillab) in the report of Muslim can be understood in light of this report (i.e. it was recited silently), as opposed to those who declared Muslim's report as being defective.

220. Narrated Nu'aim Mujmir^[3] (*): "I prayed behind Abū Huraira * and he recited Bismillabir-Rabmānir-Rabim, and then recited Umm-ul-Qur'ān (Al-Fātiba) and when he reached walad-dāllin, he said Amin^[4]; and then said Allābu Akbar, when he

الكِتَابِ، فَإِنَّهُ لَا صَلَاةَ لِمَنْ لَّمْ يَقْرَأُ بِهَا».

(٢١٩) وَعَنْ أَنَسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ وَأَبًا بَكْرٍ وَعُمَرَ كَانُوا يَهْتَبُحُونَ الطَّبِيَّ ﷺ مُثَقَّقُ الطَّلَامِينَ». مُثَقَّقُ عَلَه.

زَادَ مُسْلِمٌ: لَا يَذْكُرُونَ (بِسْمٍ اللهِ الرَّحْمٰنِ, الرَّحِيمِ» فِي أَوَّل ِ قِرَاءَةٍ وَلَا فِي آخِرِهَا.

وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لِأَحْمَدَ وَالنَّسَائِيِّ وَابْنِ خُزَيْمَةً: «لَا يَجْهَرُونَ بِيِشْمِ اللهِ الرَّحْمَنِ الرَّحِيمِ».

وَفِي أُخْرَى لاَبْنِ خُرَيْمَةَ: "كَانُوا يُسِرُّونَ". وَعَلَى هَذَا يُحْمَلُ النَّقْيُ فِي رِوَايَةِ مُسْلِمٍ، خِلَافًا لِمَنْ أَعَلَّهَا.

(٧٢٠) وَعَنْ نُعَيْم الْمُجْمِرِ قَالَ: صَلَّيْتُ وَرَآءَ أَيِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، فَقَرَأَ بِسْم اللهِ الرَّحْمَن الرَّحِيم، ثُمَّ قَرَأً بِأَمَّ القُرْآن، حَتَّى إِذَا بَلَغَ "وَلَا الضَّالِينَ" قَالَ: آمِينَ. وَيَقُولُ كُلِّمَا سَجَدَ، وَإِذَا قَامَ مِنَ الجُلُوسِ: اللَّهُ أَثْبُرُ، ثُمَّ

 $[\]overline{^{[1]}}$ It means that they did not recite it aloud but did it silently as mentioned in the next *Hadith*.

^[2] One can do either way, it is correct.

^[3] He is Abū 'Abdullāh Nu'aim bin 'Abdullāh Al-Mujmir, manumitted slave of 'Umar bin Al-Khattab. He used to burn scents at the Prophet's Mosque every Friday at mid-day, and was thus nicknamed Al-Mujmir. He was a *Tābi'i* and was verified as reliable by Abū Hātim, Ibn Ma'in, Ibn Sa'd and An-Nasā'i.

^[4] After the recitation of Sūrat Al-Fātiha saying Amīn is Sunnah. Whether one is Imām or follower, everyone should say Amīn. (Amīn means: O Allah accept this invocation).

prostrated and when he stood up from his sitting position. And when he uttered the *Taslim* (i.e. *As-Salāmu 'Alaikum*), he said, "I swear by the One (i.e. Allāh) in Whose Hand my soul is, my *Salāt* (prayer) resembles most that of Allāh's Messenger ﷺ than that of anyone among you." [Reported by An-Nasā'i and Ibn Khuzaima].

221. Narrated Abū Huraira *: Allāh's Messenger * said, "Whenever you recite Sūrat Al-Fātiba, recite Bismillabir-Rabmānir-Rabim, for it is one of its Ayāt (Verses)." [Reported by Ad-Dāraqutni who verified it as Mawqūf (the saying of Abu Huraira *].

222. Narrated (Abū Huraira) **\(\Pi \)**: When Allāh's Messenger **\(\Pi \)** completed the recitation of *Sūrat Al-Fātiba*, he raised his voice and said *Amin*^[1]. [Reported by Ad-Dāraqutni who graded it *Hasan* (good) and Al-Hākim who graded it *Sabib* (authentic)]. The narrations of Abū Dā'ud and At-Tirmidhi from the *Haditb* of Wā'il bin Hujr (**\(\pi \)**) are similar to this one.

223. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Abi Aufa^[2] : A man came to the Prophet
and and, "I cannot memorize anything from the Qur'ān, so teach me something which can be a substitute for me." He يَقُولُ إِذَا سَلَّمَ: وَالَّذِي نَفْسِي بِيَدِهِ إِنِّي لأَشْبَهُكُمْ صَلَاةً بِرَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ. رَوَاهُ النَّسَائِيُّ وَائِنُ خُرُيْمَةً.

(۲۲۱) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ
 قَالَ: قال رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "إِذَا قَرَأْتُمُ الفَاتِحَةَ
 فَاقْرُءُوا بِسْمِ اللهِ الرَّحْمَن الرَّحِيم، فَإِنَّهَا إِخْدَى آيَاتِهَا». رَوَاهُ الدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ وَصَوَّبَ وَقُفَهُ.

(۲۲۷) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ إِذَا فَرَغَ مِنْ قِرَاءَةِ أُمَّ الفُرْآنِ، رَفَعَ صَوْتُهُ وَقَالَ: آمِينَ. رَوَاهُ الدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ وَحَسَّنَهُ، وَالحَاكِمُ وَصَحَّحُهُ. وِلابِي دَاوُدَ وَالتَّرْمِذِيِّ مِنْ حَدِيثِ وَاللِ بُنِ حُجْرِ نَحْوُهُ.

(۲۲۳) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ أَبِي أَوْفَي رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: جَاءَ رَجُلٌ إِلَى النَّبِيِّ ﷺ فَقَالَ: إِنِّي لَا أَسْتَطِيعُ أَنْ أَخُذَ مِنَ القُرْآنِ فَقَالَ: وَقُلْ: شَيْئًا، فَقَالَ: وَقُلْ: وَقُلْ:

^[1] Should Amin be pronounced aloud or secretly? There is a difference of opinion on this issue. Hanafi say it secretly and Shafi'i and Abl-Haditb say it in a loud voice. Loud voice (142) means that the person beside you could hear it. Saying of Amin in a loud voice as supported by many other Abaditb. The noble Prophet said Amin in a loud voice and prolonged his voice. Tirmidhi graded this Haditb as Hasan (fair) and Ad-Dāraqutni as Sabib (sound). Moulana Abdul-Hai Lucknowi stated that impartiality demands one to accept that saying Amin in a loud voice is more accurate. As regards the saying of Amin in a low voice, Imām Tirmidhi has narrated a Haditb in which the noble Prophet spronounced Amin, and kept his voice low. Some Hanafi argue on the basis of this Haditb although Imām Tirmidhi himself has challenged this Haditb with four different points of view. However, everyone is free and responsible for his own conduct and deeds.

^[2] He was nicknamed Abū Muhammad or Abū Muʻāwiya and his father's name is 'Alqama bin Al-Hārith Al-Aslami. His father and him were both Companions of the Prophet 選. He witnessed Al-Hudaibiya, Khaibar and the latter battles. He settled at Kufa after the death of

said, "Say Subbān Allāb (Allāh is Free of Imperfections) walbamdu lillāb (and praise is to Allāh), wa la ilāba illa-Allāb (and there is nothing worthy of worship except Allāh), wallābu akbar (and Allāh is the Most Great), wa la bawla wa la quwwata illā billāb al-'Ali al-'Adbeem (and there is no might and no strength but in Allāh, the Most High, the Supreme)^[1] " [Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i; and Ibn Hibbān, Ad-Dāraqutni and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

224. Narrated Abū Qatāda : Allāh's Messenger is used to led us in prayer and recite in the first two Rak'a of the Zubr and 'Asr prayers Surat Al-Fātiba and two (other) Sūrab. And he would sometimes recite loud enough for us to hear the Verses. [2] He would prolong the first Rak'a, and would recite in the last two Rak'a Surat Al-Fātiba (only). [3] [Agreed upon].

225. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri We used to estimate the length of the standing position of Allāh's Messenger sin the *Zubr* and 'Asr prayers, and we estimated that he stood in the first two Rak'a of the Zubr prayer as long as it مُنْبَحَانَ اللهِ، وَالحَمْدُ لِلَّهِ، وَلَا إِلَّهَ إِلَّا اللَّهُ،
وَاللَّهُ أَخْبُرُ، وَلَا حَوْلَ وَلَا قُوْةً إِلَّا بِاللهِ العَلِيِّ
المَعْلِيمِ، الحَدِيثَ. رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ
وَالنَّمَائِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ وَالدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ
وَالتَّمَائِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ وَالدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ
وَالحَاكِمُ.

(۲۲٤) وَعَنْ أَبِي قَنَادَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنُهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يُصَلَّى بِنَا فَيَقْرُأُ فِي الطَّهْرِ وَالعَصْرِ فِي الرَّحْعَتْين الْأُولَيْن بِفَاتِحَةِ الطَّهْرِ وَالعَصْرِ فِي الرَّحْعَتْين الْأُولَيْن بِفَاتِحَةٍ الكِتَابِ وَسُورَتَيْن، وَيُسْمِعُنَا الآيَّةَ أَخْيَانًا، ويُطُولُ ٱلرَّحْعَةَ الأُولَى، وَيُشْرَأُ فِي الأُخْرَيْين بِفَاتِحَةِ الكِتَابِ. مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(۲۲۰) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كُنَّا نَحْرُرُ قِيَامَ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ فِي الطَّهْرِ وَالمَصْرِ، فَحَرْرُنَا قِيَامَهُ فِي الرَّحْمَتَيْنِ الأُولَيَيْنِ مِنَ ٱلظَّهْرِ قَدْرَ ﴿الْمَرْ تَهْيِكُ﴾ السجدة

the Prophet and died there towards the end of 87 H. He became blind and was the last Sabābi to die at Kufa.

^[1] Some people argue on the basis of this *Hadītb* that the recitation of *Sūrat Al-Fātiba* is not essential in the prayer, because the noble Prophet 蠹 did not say that he had to learn *Al-Fātiba*. It must be remembered that there is a consideration for disabled in the *Sbart'at* (Divine law). Prohibitions and commands do not change with such exceptions. If someone says that due to some unavoidable circumstances he cannot perform *Wudu'* (ablution), he is told to perform *Tayammum* (purification with soil); it does not mean that ablution is not obligatory.

 $^{^{[2]}}$ It is unanimously agreed that the recitation in *Zubr* and 'Asr prayers is done silently ($^{(1)}$) – in a low voice).

^[3] Apparently it seems from this *Haditb* that the noble Prophet ﷺ did not recite anything except *Al-Fātiba* in the last two *Rak'at*, but the *Hadītb* of Abū Sa'id in *Sabib Muslim* reports that they estimated the length of the last *Rak'at* as up to fifteen Verses, while *Sūrat Al-Fātiba* is only seven Verses. It seems that the Prophet ﷺ sometimes recited some Verses, and sometimes he did not. Therefore, in the last two *Rak'at*, the recitation (after *Al-Fatiba*) is *Surmab*.

takes to recite Alif-Lām-Mīm, Tanzil (Sūrat As-Sajdab)^[1] and in the last two Rak'a, half the time of that. And in the first two Rak'a of 'Asr, he used to stand as long as the last two of the Zubr. And the last two Rak'a of 'Asr used to be of about half the time of the first two." [Reported by Muslim].

226. Narrated Sulaimān bin Yasār: [2] So-and-so used to prolong the first two Rak'a of the Zubr prayer and shorten the 'Asr prayer, and recite the short Sūrab of Mufassal[3] at Magbrib prayer, its medium Sūrab at the 'Isbā' prayer, and its long ones at the Fajr prayer. Then Abū Huraira & said, "I never prayed behind anyone whose prayer more closely resembles that of Allāh's Messenger & than this person." [Reported by An-Nasā'i with a Sabib (authentic) Isnād].

227. Narrated Jübair bin Mut'im &: I heard Allāh's Messenger # reciting At-Tūr (the Mountain – Sūrat No. 52)^[4] in the Magbrib (sunset) prayer. [Agreed upon].

 وفي الأُخْرَيْيْنِ قدر النَّصْفِ مِنْ ذَلِكَ وَفي الأُولَيْشِرَ مِنَ العَصْرِ، عَلَى قَدْرِ الأُخْرَيْشِرَ مِنَ الظُّهْرِ، وَالأُخْرَيَّيْنِ عَلَى النَّصْفِ مِنْ ذَلِكَ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(۲۲۲) وَعَنْ سُلَيْمَانَ بُنِرَ يَسَارٍ قَالَ: كَانَ فَلَانٌ يُعِيلُ الأُولَئِينِ مِنَ الظَّهْرِ وَيُخَفِّفُ المَعْصَرِ وَيَغَفِّلُ المَعْصَرِ وَيَغَفِّلُ المَعْصَرِ وَيَغِفَلُ المَعْصَرِ وَفِي المُغْرِ بِطِوَالِهِ، فَقَالَ أَبُو مُرْيُرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ: مَا صَلَّيْتُ وَرَآءَ أَخِر أَشْبَةً صَلَاةً بِرَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ مِنْ هَذَا. أَخْرَجَهُ النَّسَائِيُ بِإِسْنَادٍ صَحِيحٍ.

(٢٢٧) وَعَنْ جُبَيْرٍ بْنِرِ مُطْهِمٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقْرَأُ فِي المَغْرِبِ بالطُّورِ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(۲۲۸) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَقْرَأُ فِي صَلَاةِ الفَجْرِ

^[1] Sūrat no. 32, which contains thirty (30) Verses.

^[2] He was one of the seven *Figb* scholars and among the eminent *Tābi in*. He was reliable, pious, very learned and mastered many *Abādītb*. He was nicknamed Abū Ayub and was the manumitted slave of Maimuna 'the Mother of the Believers'. He died in 107 H. at the age of ⁷³ years.

^[3] From Sūrat Al-Hujurāt to the end, all Sūrab are called Mufassal مفصل – detailed) because of the long span between two الرحمن الرحيم From Al-Hujurāt to Al-Burūj are called Tiwāl Mufassal (علوال مفصل المواط مفصل – long detailed). From Al-Burūj to Al-Baiyinab are called Ausāt Mufassal (علوال مفصل – middle detailed) and from Al-Baiyinab to the end are called Qısār Mufassal (عصار مفصل – short detailed). Recitation of Tiwāl in the Fajr (morning) prayers, Ausāt in Tsba' (night) prayers and Qisār in Magbrib (sunset) prayers is Sunna. Zubr (noon) prayer is linked with Fajr (morning) prayer and 'Asr (afternoon) prayer is linked with 'Isba' (night) prayer. Sometimes it is not in accord with this, as is given in the next Hadītb.

^[4] Some Abadītb report that Sūrat Al-A'rāf, As-Sāffāt and Ad-Dukbān were also recited in Magbrib (sunset) prayers. It means that long Sūrab have also been recited in Magbrib (sunset) prayers, and Mu'awwidbatain (Sūrat Al-Falaq and An-Nās) were recited in the Fajr (morning) prayers, but the usual practice was as has been given above.

Tanzil... (As-Sajdab – Sūrat no. 32) and Hal ata 'alal-Insani... (Al-Insān - Sūrat no. 76), which is also called Sūrat Ad-Dabr)^[1] [Agreed upon]. At-Tabarāni narrated the Haditb of Ibn Mas'ūd which has the addition "... he (the Prophet ﷺ) did that constantly.'' [2]

229. Narrated Hudhaifa 本: I prayed with the Prophet 繼 and (noticed that) whenever he came to a verse which spoke of mercy, he stopped and made supplication, and whenever he came to a verse which spoke of punishment, he stopped and sought refuge in Allāh against it." [Reported by Al-Khamsa, and At-Tirmidhi graded it Hasan (good)].

230. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās .: Allāh's Messenger : said, "I have been forbidden to recite the Qur'ān^[3] while bowing or prostrating; so while in the bowing (position) glorify (the Perfection of) the *Rabb* (Lord), and while in the prostrating (position) be earnest in supplication, for it is fitting that your supplications may be answered." [Reported by Muslim].

231. Narrated 'Aisha \$: Allāh's Messenger 鐵 used to say while bowing and prostrating Subbānaka Allābumma Rabbana wa bibamdika, Allābumma igbfir li (How Perfect You are, O Allāh, Our Rabb, and praise is to You, O

يَوْمَ الجُمُعَةِ (آلم تَنْزِيلُ) السَّجْدَةَ، وَهَلْ أَتَى عَلَى الإنْسَانِ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ. وَلِلطَّبَرَانِيُّ مِنْ حَدِيثِ ٱبْنِرَ مَشْعُودٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ: فَلِمِيمُ ذَلِكَ».

(۲۲۹) وَعَنْ حُذَيْفَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: صَلَّيْتُ هِ إِللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: صَلَّيْتُ هِ إِلَهُ فَمَا مَرَّتْ هِ إِلَهُ وَلَا تَبْهُ عَذَابِ إِلَّا وَقَلَ عِنْدُهَا يَسْأَلُ، وَلَا آيَّةُ عَذَابِ إِلَّا تَحَوَّذَ مِنْهَا. أَخْرَجَهُ الخَمْسَةُ وَحَسَّنَهُ وَحَسَّنَهُ الخَمْسَةُ وَحَسَّنَهُ النَّوْمِينَى.

(٧٣٠) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: أَلَا وَإِنِّيُ نَهِيثُ أَنْ أَقَرَا اللهُ آنَ رَاحِماً أَوْ سَاجِداً، فَأَمَّا الرُّكُوعُ فَعَظَمُوا فِيهِ الرَّبَّ، وَأَمَّا السُّجُودُ فَاجَعُودُ إِنْ يُسْتَجَابَ فَفَونٌ أَنْ يُسْتَجَابَ لَكُمْهُ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٣٣١) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ فِي رُكُوعِهِ وَسُجُودِهِ: «سُبْحَانَكَ اللَّهُمَّ رَبَّنَا وَبِحَمْدِكَ، اللَّهُمَّ اغْفِرْ لِي. مُثَمَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

^[1] The creation of Adam, mysteries of creation and the Day of Gathering are mentioned in these chapters; and the Resurrection will happen on Friday. Due to this reason and relevancy, the noble Prophet 醬 used to recite these chapters on Friday, so that the people may think that something is going to happen today and fear Allāh.

^[2] It means that these Sūrab are to be recited every Friday in Fajr (morning) prayer. Any particular Sūrab which the noble Prophet ## recited in any particular prayer with fixation and consistency, it is preferable to recite them in the same manner for that specific prayer as it is Sūnab. Recitation of other Sūrab is also permissible.

^[3] In prostration and bowing, recitation of the noble Qur'an is illegal and odious. The parts of prayer vary and every part has its own look and manner, and every part has special supplications and invocations. In bowing سبحان ربى الأعلى and in prostration in uncertain invocation is also permissible.

Allāh, forgive me)." [Agreed upon].

232. Narrated Abū Huraira &: When Allāh's Messenger 鑑 got up to pray, he would say the Takbir[1] when standing up, then would say the Takbir when bowing, then he would say Sami'Allāhu liman bamidab (Allāh listens to him who praises Him) when rising up from the bowing position, then he would say while standing Rabbana wa lakalbamd (our Rabb, the praise is Yours), then he would say the Takbir when going down for prostration, then when raising his head up, then when he prostrated again, then when raising his head up. He would then do that throughout the whole Salāt (prayer) and he would say the Takbir when he got up - at the end of two Rak'a - from the sitting position." [Agreed upon].

233. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri 🐟: Allāh's Messenger a used to say while raising his head after bowing: "Allābumma Rabbana lakal-bamdu mil'as-samawāti wal-ardi, wa mil'a ma shi'ta min shai'in ba'du, ablaththana'i wal-majdi, ahaqqu mā aāl-al'abdu, wa kullunā laka 'abdun. Allābumma la māni'a limā a'taita, wa lā mu'tiya limā man'ata, wa lā yanfa'u dhal-jaddi minka-l-jaddu (O Allāh, our Rabb (Lord), to You is praise in all the heavens and all the earth, and all that You Will (to create) afterwards, O You, Who are worthy of praise and glory, the most worthy of what a slave savs - and we are all Your slaves: no one can withhold what You give, or give what You withhold, and riches[2]

(۲۲۲) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ إِذَا قَامَ إِلَى الصَّلَاةِ يُكَبِّرُ حِينَ يَرْتُكُم، ثُمَّ يَقُولُ: مِعِنَ يَرْتُكُم، ثُمَّ يَقُولُ: سَمِعَ اللَّهُ لِمَنْ حَمِدَهُ، حِينَ يَرْفَعُ، ثُمَّ يَقُولُ: الرُّكُوع، ثُمَّ يَقُولُ وَهُوَ قَائِمٌ. رَبَّنَا وَلَكَ الرُّكُوع، ثُمَّ يَكْبُرُ حِينَ يَهْوِي سَاجِداً، ثُمَّ يُكَبُّرُ حِينَ يَهْوِي سَاجِداً، ثُمَّ يُكبُرُ حِينَ يَهْوِي سَاجِداً، ثُمَّ يُكبُرُ حِينَ يَهْوَى سَاجِداً، ثُمَّ يُكبُرُ حِينَ يَهْمُو يَنْ يَسْجُدُ. ثُمَّ يُكبُرُ حِينَ يَشْعُدُ فَي الصَّلَاةِ يُكبُرُ حِينَ يَقُومُ مِنِ النَّنَيْزِ بَعْدَ كُلُّهُا، وَيُكبَرِّرُ حِينَ يَقُومُ مِنِ النَّنَيْزِ بَعْدَ لَكُولُوسٍ. مُثَقَنَّ عَلَيْهِ.

(٣٣٣) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْدِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ لَمِنَا مَعْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ إِذَا رَفَعَ رَأَسَهُ مِنَ الرُّحُوعِ قَالَ: ﴿ اللَّهُمَّ رَبَّنَا لَكَ الحَمْدُ مِنْ اللَّهُمَّ رَبَّنَا لَكَ الحَمْدُ مَنْ اللَّهُمَّ رَبَّنَا لَكَ الحَمْدُ شَيْءٍ بَعْدُ، أَهْلَ النَّنَاءِ وَالمَحْدِ، أَحَقُ مَا قَالَ العَبْدُ - وَكُلْنَا لَكَ عَبْدُ - اللَّهُمَّ لَا مَانِعَ لِمَا أَعْشَلَتَ، وَلا مُعْطِي لِمَا مَنعْتَ، وَلا يَنْفُمُ ذَا الجَدِّ مِنْ لَنَهُمُ ذَا الجَدْ مِنْكَ الجَدْهُ، رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

^[1] First Takbīr (saying Allābu Akbar) is called Takbīr At-Tabrīmab (forbidding other things than prayer) or Takbīr Al-Ifītāb (opening) or Takbīr Uula (initial), and the remaining Takbīr are called Takbīrāt Intīqāl, meaning the change in posture during prayer, as from standing to bowing and from bowing to prostration, etc. The first Takbīr is a strict obligation and the rest are Sunnab, and according to some are Wajīb (compulsory).

^[2] The word Jadd جد, used in Arabic, has two meanings: first, grandfather and ancestors and

cannot avail a wealthy person against You."[1] [Reported by Muslim].

234. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās . Allāh's Messenger said, "I have been commanded to prostrate on seven bones; on the forehead – and he pointed at his nose^[2], the hands (the palms), the knees and the tips (toes) of the feet." [Agreed upon].

235. Narrated Ibn Buhaina^[3] 本: When the Prophet 藝 prostrated while praying, he used to spread out his arms so that the whiteness of his armpits would be visible. [Agreed upon].

236. Narrated Al-Barā' bin 'Azib^[4] &: Allāh's Messenger # said, "When you prostrate, place the palms of your hands on the ground and raise your elbows." [Reported by Muslim].

(٢٣٤) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: أَمِرْتُ أَنْ أَشَاهُ تَعَالَى الْجَنْهُةِ - أَشَجُدَ عَلَى سَبْعَةِ أَعْظُم: عَلَى الجَبْهُةِ - وَالْتَكَنْيْن، وَالرُّكْتَنْيْن وَأَشُو - وَالْتَكَنْيْن، وَالرُّكْتَنْيْن وَأَشُو عَلَيْه.

(٣٣٥) وَعَزِرِ الْبَرِ بُحْيَنَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ. أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ كَانَ إِذَا صَلَّى وَسَجَدَ، فَرَّجَ عَنْهُ. أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ كَانَ إِذَا صَلَّى وَسَجَدَ، فَرَّجَ بَيْنَ يَدَيْدُ حَتَّى يَبْدُو بَيَاضُ إِبطَلِيهِ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٣٣٦) وَعَن الْبَرَاءِ بْنِ عَاذِب رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا سَجَدْتَ فَضَعْ كَفَّيْكَ، وَازْفَعْ مِرْفَقَيْكَ». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

237. Narrated Wā'il bin Hujr ﷺ وَمَنْ وَائِلِ بُن حُجْرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى ﷺ whenever the Prophet ﷺ bowed, he عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ كَانَ إِذَا رَكَعَ فَرَّجَ بَيْنَ would spread out his fingers and when

secondly, glory, respect, wealth or good fortune. Both meanings are correct in this context because wealth, nobility of birth and dignity have no value before Allāh. Only good deeds [coupled with correct belief] are a means to escape from Allāh's punishment. The noble Prophet 醬 told his daughter Fatima \$ to do good deeds to save herself from punishment, and should not depend on her father or geneology. Salvation depends on good deeds and faith. If the Prophet 醬 has notified his own daughter in such words, then who else can be proud of his nobility.

^[1] This supplication of the noble Prophet 醬 is an ample proof to refute the assumption of those who just get straight in *Qauma* (standing up in prayer after bowing) and consider that the delay up to three *Tasbib* (saying *Subban Allāb*) will make compensatory prostration compulsory. When something is proven from the Prophet 鑑 then a believer should not follow one's opinion.

^[2] The *Hadith* makes it clear that nose and forehead, both are regarded as one organ. If these are counted separately, the number of organs will become eight.

^[3] He is Abū Muhammad 'Abdullāh bin Mālik bin Al-Qishb Al-Azdi and Buhaina is the name of his mother. He became a Muslim early on and was a hermit (loner), virtuous and used to fast very often. He died at the bottom of Rim valley, three miles from Al-Madinah, between 54 H. and 58 H.

^[4] He is Abū 'Amāra Al-Barā' bin 'Azib bin Al-Hārith bin 'Adi Al-Ansāri Al-Ausi who was a Sabābi and son of a Sabābi. He was left out at Badr due to young age and his first participation was at Uhud or Al-Khandaq. He conquered Ar-Ray and took part in the battles of Al-Jamal, Siffin and Naharwan with 'Ali. He died at Kūā in 72 H.

he prostrated he would bring his fingers together. [Reported by Al-Hākim].

238. Narrated 'Aisha \space : I saw Allāh's Messenger \tilde{\pi} praying while he sat cross-legged \text{\text{\$\frac{1}{2}\$}} . [Reported by An-Nasā'i, and Ibn Khuzaima graded it Sabib (authentic)].

239. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The Prophet used to say between the two prostrations: "Allābumma igbfir li warbamni, wabdini, wa 'āfini warzuqni (O Allāh, forgive me, have mercy on me, guide me, grant me health and well-being, and provide sustenance for me)." [Reported by Al-Arba'a except An-Nasā'i, and this is the wording of Abū Dā'ud. Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

240. Narrated Mālik bin Al-Huwairith s: He saw the Prophet 樂 praying and when he had prayed an odd number of Rak'a, he did not stand up till he had sat up properly. [2] [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

241. Narrated Anas bin Mālik : The Prophet : recited Qunūt (supplication in the prayer) for one month after (rising up from the) bowing (position), invoking curse on some Arab tribes. [3] Afterwards, he gave it up. [Agreed upon].

Ahmad and Ad-Dāraqutni narrated something similar, adding that he (ﷺ) continued to recite *Qunūt*

أَصَابِعِهِ، وَإِذَا سَجَدَ ضَمَّ أَصَابِعَهُ. رَوَاهُ الحَاكِمُ.

(٧٣٨) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: رَأَئِتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يُصَلِّي مُتَرَّبُعاً. رَوَاهُ النَّسَائِيُّ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ خُزِيْمَةً.

(۲۲۹) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ كَانَ يَقُولُ بَيْنَ السَّجْدَتَيْن : اَللَّهُمَّ اغْيْرْ لِي، وَارْحَمْني، وَالْحَمْنِي، وَالْمُعْنِي، وَعَانِي، وَارْدُنني. رَوَاهُ الأَرْبَعَةُ إِلَّا السَّناعُ، وَاللَّفُظُ لِأَبِي وَارْدُنني. رَوَاهُ الأَرْبَعَةُ إِلَّا السَّناعُ، وَسَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ.

(۲۲۰) وَعَنْ مَالِكِ بْنِرَ الحَوْثِيْرِثِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُ رَأَى النَّبِيَّ ﷺ يُصَلِّى، فَإِذَا كَانَ فِي وِثْرِ مِنْ صَلَاتِهِ لَمْ يَنْهَضْ حَتَّى يَسْتَوِيَ قَاعِداً. رواء البخارى.

(۲٤١) وَعَنْ أَنْسِ بْنِرَ مَالِكِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَنْتَ شَهْراً بَعْدَ الرُّمُوعِ، يَدْعُو عَلَى أَحِيَاءِ مِن أَخْيَاءِ العَرَبِ، ثُمَّ تَرَكُهُ. مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

وَلِاحْمَدَ وَالدَّارَقُطْنِيِّ نَحْوُهُ مِنْ وَجْهِ آخَرَ، وَزَادَ: فَأَمَّا فِي الصُّبْحِ فَلَمْ يَزَلْ يَقْنُتُ حَتَّى

^[1] This was due to a legitimate excuse concerning disability as he had fallen down from a horse and suffered the dislocation of a joint in his leg.

^[2] It means in the first and third *Rak'a*, and this is known as *Jalsatal-Istirābat* (resting posture). According to a narration, the Prophet 醬 used to sit in this posture for such a long time that people began to think it is due to his forgetfulness. It was not because of his old age as he never ever lightened any of his obligations due to old age.

^[3] These tribes were Ri'l (دَكُوان), Dhakwān (ذَكُوان), and Usaiya (عُصِية). They entered a covenant with the Prophet ﷺ but betrayed it and killed seventy preachers of Islam, after treacherously inviting them. This incident is known as Bi'r Ma'una.

(supplication in prayer) in the Fajr prayer till he separated from this world.

242. Narrated (Anas) . The Prophet some never used to supplicate [1] [i.e. Qunūt in the prayer] except when he prayed for a people or when he prayed against a people. [Ibn Khuzaima graded it Sabib (authentic)].

243. Narrated Sa'd^[2] bin Tāriq^[3] Al-Ashja'i &: I said to my father, "You have prayed behind Allāh's Messenger &, Abū Bakr, 'Umar, Uthmān, and 'Ali. Did they supplicate (with *Qunūt* while standing) in the *Fajr* prayer?" He replied, "O my son, it is an innovation." [Reported by *Al-Khamsa*, except Abu Dā'ud].

244. Narrated Al-Hasan bin 'Ali^[4] &: Allāh's Messenger # taught me some words to say when standing in supplication during the *Witr*, they were: "O Allāh, guide me among those You have guided, grant me well-being among those You have granted well-being, take me into Your charge among those You have taken into Your charge,

فَارَقَ الدُّنْيَّا. (۲٤٢) وَعَنْهُ أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ كَانَ لَا يَقْنُتُ إِلَّا (نَا رَمَا رَبَّهُ مَنْهُ أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ كَانَ لَا يَقْنُتُ إِلَّا

إِذَا دَعَا لِقَوْمِرِ أَوْ عَلَى قَوْمٍ. صَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ خُزَيْمَةَ.

(٢٤٤) وَعَنِ الحَسَنِ بْنِ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ لَكُولُ وَعَنِي اللَّهُ لَكُ عَلَمْنِي رَسُولُ اللهِ لَللَّهُ لَكُانَى وَسُولُ اللهِ لِللَّهُ اللهِ لَللَّهُمَّ فِي قُنُوتِ الوِثْرِ: «اللَّهُمَّ الْهَبْنِي فِيمَنْ عَاقَئِتَ، وَعَافِنِي فِيمَنْ عَاقَئِتَ، وَتَافِنِي فِيمَنْ عَاقَئِتَ، وَتَاوِلُ لِي فِيمَا أَعْطَئِتَ، وَبَارِكُ لِي فَيمَا أَعْطَئِتَ، وَبَارِكُ لِي فَيمَا أَعْطَيْتَ،

^[1] Apparently, there seems to be a contradiction between these Abadītb. The first one states that the Prophet 醬 always recited Qunūt in the morning prayer; whereas according to the second Hadītb, he recited the same whenever he prayed – either for the welfare of a nation or for their destruction. The third Hadītb states that its recitation in the morning prayer is an innovation (see the next Hadītb no. 243). Hence it becomes clear to us that the Prophet 醬 and his caliphs used to recite Qunūt in their morning prayers. As to the occurrence of the word 'innovation' in the Hadītb, it implies that it was not really taken to be imperative in those days like what the people continually practice during present times. This is only like clinging to the innovation, which in turn means that one should not recite Qunūt in the morning prayers unless there is a compelling need for it. In the first Hadītb the words 'he (鑑) recited Qunūt always in the Fafr prayer,'' denote that its recitation was not nullified and whenever he stood in need of the same, he kept reciting it.

^[2] He is Abū Mālik Sa'd bin Tāriq bin Ashyam bin Mas'ūd Al-Ashja'i Al-Kufi. He was among the reliable Tābi'in. he died around 140 H.

^[3] Tăriq is a Sabābi who only narrated a few Abādith. Only fourteen Abādith were narrated from him, all by his aforementioned son Sa'd. He settled at Kūfa.

^[4] He was the beloved grandson of Allāh's Messenger 鑑 and one of the youth of Paradise. He was born in Ramadān 3 H. and was sworn as the Khalifa after the killing of his father 'Ali. He handed over the caliphate to Mu'āwiya in Jamāda Al-Ula 41 H. after seven months, as he hated to spill the Muslim blood. He died in 49 H. and was buried at Al-Baqi'.

bless me in what You have given, guard me from the evil of what You have decreed, for You decree and none can decree over You. He whom You befriend is not humbled. Blessed and Exalted are You, our *Rabb* (Lord)." [Reported by *Al-Khamsa*]. At-Tabarāni and Al-Baihaqi added: "He whom You hold as enemy is not honoured." An-Naṣā'i reported through another chain of narrators, adding at its end: "May Allāh the Most High send His *Salat* on the Prophet (praising him in the highest assemblies of the angels)."^[1]

Narrated Ibn 'Abbas &: Allah's Messenger # used to teach us a supplication to say in the *Qunūt* of the morning prayer. [Al-Baihaqi reported it and there is a weakness in its chain of narrators].

245. Narrated Abū Huraira *****: Allāh's Messenger ***** said, "When one of you prostrates, he should not kneel in the manner of a camel, but should put down his hands before his knees." [Reported by *Ath-Thalātha*].

This *Hadītb* is more authentic^[2] than the *Hadītb* narrated by Wā'il bin Hujr 本 I saw the Prophet 舞 placing his knees (on the ground) before his hands when he prostrated. [Reported by *Al-Arba'a*]. The first *Hadītb* has a *Sbabid* (supporting evidence) in the *Hadītb* of Ibn 'Umar & (coming next), which is

عَلَيْكَ، إِنَّهُ لَا يَذِكُ مَنْ وَالَيْتَ، تَبَارَكُتَ رَبَّنَا وَتَمَالَيْتَ». رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَزَادَ الطَّبَرَانِيُ وَالبَّهَقِيُّ: ﴿وَلَا يَمِزُ مَنْ عَادَيْتَ». زَادَ السَّائِيُ مِنْ وَجُوِ آخَرَ فِي آخِرِهِ: ﴿وَصَلَّى اللَّهُ عَلَى النَّمِهُ.

وَلِلْبَيْهَتِي عَنِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: كانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يُعَلَّمُنَا دُعَاءً عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: كانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يُعَلَّمُنَا دُعَاءً نَدْعُو بِهِ فِي القُنُوتِ مِنْ صَلاةِ الصَّبْحِ. وَفِي تَنَاهِ شَافَتُهُ

(۲۲۰) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا سَجَدَ أَحَدُكُمْ فَلَا يَبْرُكُ كَمَا يَبْرُكُ البَيْيِرُ، وَلْيَضَعْ يَدَيْهِ قَبْلَ رُكِبَتْيِهِ، أَخْرَجَهُ النَّلَاثَةُ.

وَهُوَ أَفْوَى مِنْ حَدِيثِ وَائِلِ بْنِ حُجْرٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ: ﴿ رَأَيْتُ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ إِنَّا سَجَدَ وَضَعَ رُكَبُتَنِهِ قَبْلَ بَدَیْهِ، أَخْرَجَهُ الأَرْبَقَةُ. وَإِنَّ لِلأَوَّلِ شَاهِداً مِنْ حَدِیثِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما، صَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ خُرْیَمَةً. وَذَكَرَهُ

^[1] It may be clarified that some of the people recite Qumūt with their hands open, before going into the state of Rubu' (bowing), but the right procedure is that one should recite Qumūt with raised hands after standing upright from the state of Rubu'. Some people always recite Qumūt in their Witr (odd prayer), whereas some recite it only in the last ten nights of Ramadān. Some consider Qumūt as Wājib (compulsory), whereas some regard it Sunnab. Some regard the Witr prayers as Wājib; and some take them to be Sunnab. The fact is that they are Sunnab.

^[2] The book Fatbul-Uloom states that both of the Abadītb are strong ones and are acted upon on an equal footing. However, the action of the Mubadditbīn (narrators of the Abadītb) and Hanābela is based on the Hadītb narrated by Abu Huraira. The action of Sbāfī'tya and Hanāfya and (according to a narration) Mālikiya is based on the reference of Wa'il.

authenticated by Ibn Khuzaima. Al-Bukhāri mentioned it as a *Hadītb Mu'allaq* (missing links from the side of the *Hadītb* collector) and *Mawqūf* (saying of a companion).

246. Narrated Ibn 'Umār s: When Allāh's Messenger sat for At-Tashabhud, he placed his left hand on his left knee, and his right hand on his right knee, folded its fingers and pointed with his right index finger. [Reported by Muslim].

In another narration of Muslim: 'and he clenched all his (right hand) fingers and pointed with the index finger.'

247. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Mas'ūd &: Allāh's Messenger & looked at us and said, "When one of you is (sitting) in prayer, he should say, 'All services reported by words, by prayers (acts of worship), and all good things are due to Allāh, peace be upon you, O Prophet, [2] and Allah's mercy and blessings, peace be upon us and upon Allāh's upright slaves. I testify that nothing deserves to be worshipped except Allah and I testify that Muhammad is His slave and Messenger,' Then he may choose any supplication[3] which pleases him most and recite it." [Agreed upon, and this wording is from Al-Bukbāri].

البُخَارِيُّ مُعَلَّقاً مَوْقُوفاً .

(٢٤٦) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَمْمَ مَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ كَانَ إِذَا قَمَدَ لِلتَّشَهُدِ وَضَعَ يَدُهُ البُسْرَى عَلَى رُكْبَتِي البُسْرَى، وَالبُمْنَى عَلَى رُكْبَتِي البُسْرَى، وَالبُمْنَى عَلَى البُمْنَى، وعَقَدَ ثَلَانًا وَخَمْسِينَ، وَأَشَارَ بِإِصْبَعِهِ السَّبَّابَةِ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لَّهُ: وَقَبَضَ أَصَابِعَهُ كُلَّهَا، وَأَشَارَ بالِّتِي تَلِي الإِنْهَامَ.

^[1] It should be done in such a manner that one should keep thumb clung to the bottom of his forefinger while keeping the rest of the three fingers closed. Then he should raise his forefinger and lower it while reciting Lā ilāba ill-Allāb. Some scholars hold that one should point with the forefinger – without moving it – during At-Tasbabbud. Still others hold that the forefinger should be in motion from the beginning of At-Tasbabbud until the end of the prayer [or until standing for the next Rak'ab, if it is not the final sitting].

^[2] At first, the Prophet 藥 taught us to send *Salāt* (greetings, blessings) on him because his right on his *Ummab* (nation) is more than anyone, more than the believer himself.

^[3] This *Hadīth* explains that invocation for something during the prayer is keeping in line with the tradition of the Prophet 鑑. This also clarifies that there is no specification as to what one can ask for during the prayer. One can ask for anything he likes whether it concerns this world or the Hereafter.

In the narration of An-Nasā'i: 'we used to say before At-Tasbabbud^[1] become obligatory on us'; and in the narration of Ahmad: 'The Prophet at taught him At-Tasbabbud and ordered him to teach it to the people.'

In Muslim's narration from Ibn 'Abbās &: Allāh's Messenger # used to teach us At-Tasbabbud: "All services expressed by words, increase in good, acts of worship and all good things are due to Allāh ..." till the end.

248. Narrated Fadāla bin 'Ubaid^[2] 48: Allāh's Messenger # heard a man supplicating during his prayer. He did not praise Allāh, nor did he invoke blessings on the Prophet 鑑. He (鑑) said, "He made haste." He then called him and said, "When any of you prays, he should begin with the glorification of his Rabb (Lord) and praise Him; he should then invoke blessings on the Prophet (鑑); thereafter he should supplicate Allah for anything he wishes." [Ahmad and Atb-Thalatha reported it; At-Tirmidhi, Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

249. Narrated Abū Mas'ūd Al-Ansāri^[3]

\$\dispress : Bashir bin Sa'd^[4] said, "Allāh has commanded us to invoke blessings on you, O Messenger of Allāh! But how

وَلِلنَّسَائِيِّ: •كُنَّا نَقُولُ قَبْلَ أَنْ يُفْرَضَ عَلَيْنَا التَّشَهُدُهُ. وَلِاحْمَدَ: أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ عَلَمْهُ التَّشَهُدُ، وَأَمْرَهُ أَنْ يُعَلِّمُهُ النَّاسَ.

وَلِمُسْلِمِ عَنِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يُعَلَّمُنَا الشَّمَهُدَ: «التَّحِبَّاتُ المُبارَكَاتُ الصَّلَوَاتُ الطَّلَوَاتُ الطَّلِيَّاتُ اللهِ إلَى آخِرهِ.

(٢٤٨) وَعَنْ فَضَالَةً بُنِ عُبَيْدِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ وَالْحِبَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ وَالْحَدَ اللَّهِ وَالْحَدَ اللَّهُ وَلَمْ يُحْمَدِ اللَّهُ وَلَمْ يُصَلَّ عَلَى النَّبِيِّ ﷺ فَقَالَ: فَقَالَ: إِذَا صَلَّى أَصَلَّى عَلَى النَّبِيِّ مَلَا ، ثُمَّ دَعَاهُ، فَقَالَ: إِذَا صَلَّى أَحَدُكُمُ فَلَيَبَدَأَ بِتَحْمِيدِ رَبِّهِ وَالنَّنَاءِ عَلَيهِ، ثُمَّ يُمْعُونِ وَالنَّنَاءِ عَلَيهِ، ثُمَّ يُمْعُونِ وَمَا شَاء. رُوْهُ أَخْمَدُ وَالنَّنَاءِ عَلَيهِ، وَالنَّنَاءِ عَلَيهِ، وَالنَّنَاءِ عَلَيهِ، ثُمَّ يَمْعُونِ مِمَا شَاء. رَوْهُ أَخْمَدُ وَالنَّاءِ عَلَيهُ، وَصَحْحَهُ التَّرْمِلِيْقُ وَالْبُلُونَةُ، وَصَحْحَهُ التَّرْمِلِيْقُ وَالْبُلُ

(٢٤٩) وَعَنْ أَبِي مَسْعُودِ الأَنْصَادِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ بَشِيرُ بْنُ سَعْدِ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! أَمْرَنَا اللَّهُ أَنْ نُصَلِّي عَلَيْكَ، فَكَيْفُ نُصَلِّي

^[1] What the people used to recite before At-Tashahbud became obligatory, has not been mentioned by the narrator, but according to some other Abadīth they used to say: "Blessings of Allāh be upon Gabriel and Michael." The Prophet 義 instructed people to refrain from saying this and then taught them At-Tashahbud.

^[2] Fadāla bin 'Ubaid bin Nāfidh bin Qais is nicknamed Abū Muhammad Al-Ansāri Al-Awsi. He first fought in Uhud and the rest of the latter battles. He pledged allegiance (to the Prophet) at *Bai'atur-Ridwān*. He went to Shām and settled at Damascus and became its *Qādi* appointed by Mu'āwiya when he was going to the battle of *As-Siffin*. He died in the year 56 H

^[3] He is 'Uqba bin 'Amr bin Tha'laba Al-Ansāri Al-Badri who was one of the eminent Sabāba. He took part in the second 'Aqaba while young. He settled in Kufa and died there or in Al-Madinah after the forties of Al-Hijra.

^[4] He is Abū An-Nu'mān Bashir bin Sa'd bin Tha'laba bin Al-Jullās or Al-Khallās Al-Ansāri Al-

should we bless you?" Allāh's Messenger kept quiet (a while) and then said, "Say: [1] 'O Allāh, bless Muhammad and the members of his family as You have blessed Ibrāhim, and grant favours to Muhammad and the members of his family as You have granted favours to Ibrāhim. In the worlds You are indeed Praiseworthy and Glorious.' And the Taslim is as you know." [2] [Reported by Muslim]. Ibn Khuzaima added to it: "How should we invoke blessings on you, whenever we invoke blessing on you in our prayers?"

عَلَيْكَ؟ فَسَكَتَ؟ ثُمَّ قَالَ: «فُولُوا: اللَّهُمَّ صَلَّ عَلَى مُحَمَّدٍ، كَمَا صَلَّيْتَ عَلَى مُحَمَّدٍ، كَمَا صَلَّيْتَ عَلَى إِبْرَاهِيمَ، وَعَلَى آل ِ مُحَمَّدٍ، وَعَلَى آل ِ مُحَمَّدٍ، وَعَلَى آل ِ مُحَمَّدٍ، وَعَلَى آل ِ مُحَمَّدٍ، كَمَا بَارَكْتَ عَلَى إِبْرَاهِيمَ فِي العَالمِينَ، إِنَّكَ حَمِيدٌ مَجِيدٌ. والسَّلاَمُ كَمَا عَلِمُمُّمُ، . رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ، وَزَادَ ابْنُ خُرْئِمَةً فِيهِ: فَكَيْفَ نُصَلِّى عَلَيْكَ مُسَلِمٌ، عَلَيْفَ نُصَلِّى عَلَيْكَ إِنَّ الْحَدْمُ كَمَا عَلِمُمُّمُ، . وَلَاللَّهُ فِي صَلَاتِنَا؟.

250. Narrated Abû Huraira : Allāh's Messenger : said, "When one of you finishes the (last) *Tashabhud*, he should seek refuge in Allāh from four things by saying: 'O Allāh I seek refuge in You against the punishment of *Jahannam* (Hell-fire), the punishment of the grave. The trial of life and death and the evil of the trial of *Masib* Ad-Dajjāl. (Antichrist)." [Agreed upon]. In the narration of Muslim:

(٢٠٠) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ اللَّهِ عَلَى عَنْهُ اللَّهِ عَلَمُ اللَّهِ عَلَمُ اللَّهِ عَلَمُ اللَّهِ عَلَمُ اللَّهِ عَلَمُ اللَّهِ عَلَمُ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ الللَّهِ اللَّهِ الللَّهِ الللَّهِ اللَّهِ الللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ الللَّهِ اللَّهِ الللَّهِ اللَّهِ الللَّهِ الللَّهِ الللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ

Khazraji. He is a *Badri* (fought at Al-Badr) and an 'Aqabi (attended the 'Aqaba agreement). He also attended the battles of Uhud, Al-Khandaq, and the rest of the other important battles. He was killed at 'Ein At-Tamr in the year 13 H.

^[1] The words of the Salāt (sending peace and the blessings of Allāh on the Prophet ﷺ) are mentioned differently in different Abadīth. There is a word more in a Hadīth while there is a word less in another one.

^[2] This clarifies that Salāt (peace and the blessings of Allāh on the Prophet 鑑) should be recited after At-Tashabhud in the prayers and that invocation should be made in the last Tashabhud only. We are further informed that the recitation of Salāt on the noble Prophet 鑑 during prayers is Wājtb (compulsory).

 $^{^{[3]}}$ This *Haditb* tells us that the dead person will face the torment in the grave. Similarly, a true believer is all at ease there. This substance is proven by several *Abadītb*.

^[4] Al-Masth Ad-Dajjāl (Antichrist) will be a disbeliever appearing prior to the Judgement Day to test the Faith of the believers. The faithful persons will adhere to their Faith steadfastly despite extreme adversities, whereas the people having a shaky and weak Belief, disbelievers and hypocrites will fall under his command. The Antichrist will be known as Messiah. Prophet Jesus is also called Messiah. Although the pronunciation of the two is the same but the meanings purported therewith are different. Prophet Jesus is known as Messiah because the sick people were cured if he touched them. The meaning of Messiah is touching. The Antichrist will be known as Messiah because one of his eyes will be a distorted one. Hence, the expression Mamsubul-Aim (the one whose eyes has been touched or tampered with and

"when any of you finishes the last *Tasbahbud*.^[1]"

251. Narrated Abū Bakr As-Siddiq^[2] 泰: He said to Allāh's Messenger 義, "Teach me a supplication to use in my prayer." He (義) said, "Say: O Allāh, I have greatly wronged myself, and no one forgives sins except You, so grant me forgiveness from You and have mercy on me, You are the Forgiving and the Merciful One."^[3] [Agreed upon].

252. Narrated Wā'il bin Hujr &: I prayed with the Prophet and he would give the Taslim (salutation) to his right side (saying), "Peace be upon you and the mercy and blessings of Allāh"; and to his left side (saying), "Peace be upon you and mercy and the blessings of Allāh." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud, with a Sabib (authentic) chain].

253. Narrated Al-Mughira bin Shu'ba

is: The Prophet is used to say after
every obligatory prayer: "There is
nothing worthy of worship except Allāh
Alone, Who has no partner. To Him
belongs the kingdom, to Him praise is
due, and He has power over every

(٢٥١) وَعَنْ أَبِي بَكْرِ الصَّدِّيْنِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُ قَالَ لِرَسُولِ اللَّهِ ﷺ: عَلَّمْنِي دُعَاءَ أَدُعُو بِهِ فِي صَلَاتِي! قَالَ: قُولْ: اللَّهُمَّ إِنِّي ظَلَمْتُ نَفْسِي ظُلُماً كَثِيراً، وَلَا يَغْفِرُ النَّهُ عَلْمُ اللَّهُمَّ اللَّهُمَّ اللَّهُمَّ عَنْهَرَةً مِنْ عِنْدِكَ، اللَّهُمَّ مَنْفَوْرَةً مِنْ عِنْدِكَ، وَالْحِيمُ». مَتَقَنَّ الغَفُورُ الرَّحِيمُ». مَتَقَنَّ

(۲۰۷) وَعَنْ وَائِل بْنِ حُجْرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: عَنْهُ قَالَ: مُثَلِّمُ عَنْهُ قَالَ: يُسَلِّمُ عَنْ يُسِلِّمُ عَنْ يُسِلِمُ عَنْ يُسِلِمُ عَنْ يُسِئِدِ: السَّلَامُ عَلَيْكُمْ وَرَحْمَةُ اللهِ وَبَرَكَاتُهُ، وَعَنْ شِمَالِهِ: السَّلَامُ عَلَيْكُمْ وَرَحْمَةُ اللهِ وَبَرَكَاتُهُ، وَوَحْمَةُ اللهِ وَبَرَكَاتُهُ، وَرَحْمَةُ اللهِ وَبَرَكَاتُهُ، رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ إِلْسَالًامٍ صَحِيحٍ.

(٢٥٣) وَعَن المُغِيرَةِ بْنِ شُعْبَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ كَانَ يَقُولُ فِي دُبُرِ كُلُّ صَلَاةٍ مَكْتُوبَةٍ: ﴿ لَا إِلَٰهَ إِلَّا اللَّهُ، وَخَدَهُ لَا شَرِيكُ لَهُ، لَهُ المُلْكُ، وَلَهُ الحَمْدُ، وَهُوَ عَلَى كُلُّ شَيْءٍ قَدِيرٌ، اللَّهُمَّ لَا مَانِعَ لِمَا أَعْطَنَتَ، كُلُّ شَيْءٍ قَدِيرٌ، اللَّهُمَّ لَا مَانِعَ لِمَا أَعْطَنَتَ،

thus distorted) applies on him.

^[1] In some of the Abadith, the words من المغرم (from debts and sin) are also included. It is reported in Al-Bukhāri that the Prophet 靏 was asked as to why does he seek protection from indebtedness to such a degree? He answered that the person in debt not only tells lies, but also breaks his promises. The calamity of life lies in the ill-fated ending of it (without Faith) and the calamity of death lies in the severity of questioning in the grave.

^[2] He is 'Abdullāh bin 'Uthmān Abū Quhāfa bin 'Aamir At-Taimi, the *Kbaltifa* (successor) of Allāh's Messenger 癥 and his companion in the cave, the best of this Ummah other than the Prophet 癰. He was white with curly hair, pleasant and thin. He is well known and needs no elaboration. He died in Jumada Al-Ukhra of the year 13 H.

^[3] This *Hadith* shows that a man should always be apologetic of his delinquencies even if he acquires the uppermost level of truthfulness and sincerity.

^[4] There are narrations from fifteen Companions of the Prophet ****** concerning *Salām* (*Taslīm* – Salutation). Some of them may be graded as "sound", some are "fair" and some are "weak". None of those contains the words "wa barakātubu" except this hadith of Wa'il bin Hujr. This is the only narration in this regard which is regarded as trustworthy and is acceptable.

thing. O Allāh no one can withhold what You have given, or give what You have withheld and riches cannot avail a wealthy person^[1] against You.'' [Agreed upon].

254. Narrated Sa'd bin Abi Waqqās^[2] ♣: Allāh's Messenger ૠ used to seek Allāh's protection by invoking this supplication (*Du'a*) at the end of every Salāt (prayer): "O Allāh, I seek refuge in You from stinginess, I seek refuge in You from cowardice, I seek refuge in You from old age (and senility), [3] I seek refuge in You from the temptation of the world and I seek refuge in You from the punishment in the grave." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

وَلَا مُعْطِيَ لِمَا مَنَعْتَ، وَلَا يَنْفَعُ ذَا الجَدِّ مِنْكَ الجَدُّهُ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٧٠٤) وَعَنْ سَغْدِ بْنِرَ أَبِي وَقَاصِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ كَانَ يَتَمَوَّهُ بِهِنَّ دُبُرَ كُلُّ صَلَاةٍ: "اللَّهُمَّ إِنِّي أَعُودُ بِكَ مِنَ البُخْلِ، وَأَعُودُ بِكَ مِنَ الجُبْنِ، وَأَعُودُ بِكَ مِنْ مِنْ أَنْ أُرَدَّ إِلَى أَرْدُل ِ العُمُرِ، وَأَعُودُ بِكَ مِنْ فِئْتِةِ الدُّنْيَا، وَأَعُودُ بِكَ مِنْ عَذَابِ القَبْرِ». رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(٧٠٥) وَعَنْ ثَوْيَانَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ:
كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ إِذَا أَنْصَرَفَ مِنْ صَلَاتِهِ السَّغْفَرَ اللهِ ثَلَاثًا، وقَالَ: «اللَّهُمَّ أَنْتَ السَّلَامُ، وَقَالَ: «اللَّهُمَّ أَنْتَ السَّلَامُ، وَمَالَ: هَاللَّهُمَّ أَنْتَ السَّلَامُ، وَمَالَى عَنْهَ المَجلَالِ وَمِيْكُ السَّلَامُ، رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

The Arabic words ذا الجد منك الجد في mean: If Your approval and intimacy is not there, then all the grandeur, pomp and worldly possessions are useless. In another words: Whatever mundane things (i.e., wealth, progeny, honour and power) are acquired, shall not serve in the matter of salvation. Salvation will be achieved by Your mercy and blessing alone.

^[2] He is nicknamed Abū Ishāq bin Mālik and was a Zuhri and a Qurashi. He was the fifth or the seventh Muslim and one of the ten to whom the entry of Paradise was promised. He is the first man to shoot in the cause of Allāh and participated in all the important battles. He opened 'Iraq for Islam and his supplications were accepted. He was short, stout and hairy. He died at Al-'Aqiq which is ten miles from Al-Madīnah and was carried on the people's shoulders up to Al-Madīnah and was buried at Al-Baqi' in the year 55 H.

^[3] In Arabic, the words أرذل العمر 'enote that part of age wherein either all or some of the internal and external capabilities o a man get weakened.

^[4] Showing repentance and asking for the forgiveness of Allāh right after the completion of a prayer is an indication of the fact that the prayer offered is not quite worth presenting to the Lord as long as the slave has committed innumerable trespasses and delinquencies.

^[5] The Prophet 36 showed repentance and asked for the forgiveness of Allâh as an expression of offering thanks to Him as well as imparting an ethical insight to the people, whereas a commoner (an ordinary believer) does the same to atone for the wandering and distracting thoughts he is plagued with during his prayer.

256. Narrated Abū Huraira 🚓: Allāh's Messenger # said, "Whoever glorifies Allah (by saying Subban-Allab) after every Salāt (prayer)[1] thirty-three times, and praises Allāh (by saving Albamdu lillāb) thirty-three times, and exalts Allāh (by saying Allābu Akbar) thirty-three times, those are ninety-nine in all, and says to complete a hundred: La ilāba ill-Allābu, wabdabu lā sbarīka labu, labul-mulku wa labulbamdu, wa Huwa 'ala kulli shai'in Oadir (There is nothing which deserves to be worshipped except Allāh Alone Who has no partner; to Him belongs the kingdom, to Him praise is due, and He has power over everything), his sins will be forgiven, even if they are as abundant as the foam of the sea." [Reported by Muslim]. In another narration it is mentioned: "At-Takbīr (Allāh is the Most Great) is thirty-four times."

257. Narrated Mu'ādh bin Jabal &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ told me, "O Mu'ādh, I will give you some advice - 'Never leave the recitation of this supplication after every prayer: O Allāh, help me to remember You, thank You, and worship You perfectly." [Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i reported it through a strong chain of narrators].

(٧٥٦) وَعَنْ أَبِي مُرْتِرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ،
عَنْ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: هَمْنُ سَتَّحَ اللَّهَ دُبُرُ
كُلُّ صَلَاةٍ ثلاثاً وَتَلاثِينَ، وَحَيدَ اللَّهَ ثَلاثاً
وَثَلَائِينَ، وَخَلِدَ اللَّهُ ثَلاثاً
وَتَلَائِينَ، فَيلْكَ بِسَمْ
وَيَسْمُونَ، وَقَالَ تَمَامَ الهَائِةِ: ﴿لَا إِلَٰهَ إِلَّا اللَّهُ،
وَحْدَهُ لَا شَرِيكَ لَهُ، لَهُ الهُلُكُ، وَلَهُ الحَمْدُ،
وَحُدَهُ لَا شَرِيكَ لَهُ، لَهُ الهُلُكُ، وَلَهُ الحَمْدُ،
كَانَتْ مِثْلَ زَبِدِ البَحْرِ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ، وَفِي رِوَاتَهُ
أَخْرَى: أَنَّ التَّخْيِرَ أَنْعٌ وَتَلاثُونَ.

(۲۰۷) وَعَنْ مُعَاذِ بْنِ جَبَلِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ لَهُ: "أُوصِيكَ يَا مُعَادُ: لا تَدَعَنَّ دُبُرُ كُلُّ صَلَاةٍ أَنْ تَقُولَ: اللَّهُمَّ أَعَنِي عَلَى ذِكْرِكَ، وَشُكْرِكَ، وَشُكْرِكَ، وَحُسْنِ عِبَادَتِكَ». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَائِيُّ بِسَنَدِ قَوَى.

(٢٥٨) وَعَنْ أَبِي أُمَامَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللہِ ﷺ: «مَنْ قَرَأَ آيَةَ الكُرْسِيِّ

^[1] These words represent and epitomize all the good things of this world and the Hereafter. It appears that one should make an utterance of these Adbkār (words of remembrance) after each obligatory and non-obligatory prayer, but some scholars have recommended the observance of these Adbkār after obligatory prayers. Therefore, the propriety of Du'a (supplication) after the obligatory prayer is a proven one. What the Abadīth do not prove is the observance of a collective and congregational supplication with raised hands. One should only do the same individually by uttering the prescribed Adbkār.

^[2] He is Iyās bin Tha'laba Al-Balawi and an ally of Banū Hāritha of the *Ansār*. He is a *Sabābi* and narrated *Abādītb*. He did not take part in Badr for he was nursing his mother.

^[3] Sūrat Al-Baqarab (2); Verse no. 255.

obligatory prayer, nothing but death^[1] will prevent him from entering Paradise."^[2] An-Nasā'i reported it, and Ibn Hibbān graded it *Sabib* (authentic). At-Tabarāni has the addition: "And (*Sūrat Al-Ikblās*) نا مر

259. Narrated Mālik bin Al-Huwairith ♣: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "Pray as you have seen me praying [4]." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

260. Narrated 'Imrān bin Husain &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Pray standing and if you are unable, pray sitting and if you cannot, pray lying on your side, [otherwise pray by signs]." [5] [Reported by Al-Bukhāri, (without the final words)].

261. Narrated Jābir : the saying of the Prophet it to a sick person who prayed on a cushion: The Prophet it threw it away and said, "Pray on the ground, if you are able to do so; otherwise, pray

دُبُرَ كُلِّ صَلَاقٍ مَكْتُوبَةٍ، لَمْ يَمْنَعُهُ مِنْ دُخُول. الجَنَّةِ إِلَّا المَوْثُ». رَوَاهُ النَّسَانِيُّ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ، وَزَادَ فِيهِ الطَّبَرَائِيُّ: «وَقُلْ هُوَ اللَّهُ أَحَدُ».

(٢٠٩) وَعَنْ مَالِكِ بْنِ الحُوثِيْرِثِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ نَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "صَلُّوا كَمَا رَأَيْتُمُونِي أُصَلِّي». رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(۲۲۰) وَعَنْ عِمْرَانَ بْنِرِ حُصَيْنِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُما أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «صَلِّ قَائِماً» فَإِنْ لَمْ تَسْتَطِعْ فَقَاعِداً، فَإِنْ لَمْ تَسْتَطِعْ فَمَلَى جَنْبٍ، وَإِلَّا فَأَوْمٍ". رَوَاهُ البُخَارِئِي.

(٢٦١) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ اللَّهِيَّ ﷺ قَالَ لِمَرِيضٍ – صَلَّى عَلَى وِسَادَةٍ، وَرَكَى عَلَى وِسَادَةٍ، وَرَكَى عِلَى الأَرْضِ إِنِ أَمْنَى عَلَى الأَرْضِ إِنِ السَّطَعْتُ، وَإِلَّا أَذُو إِيمَاءً، وَالْجَمَّلُ شُجُودَكُ

^[1] It means that the only thing preventing him from entering Paradise is his presence in this world, i.e. he shall enter Paradise immediately after his death.

^[2] The precedence accorded to Ayātal-Kursī is due to the fact that it contains the Foundations of the Divine Names and Qualities (of Allāh) and that it is descriptive of His Oneness and Uniqueness, which He loves the most. Surāt Al-Ikblās also carries the same attributes.

^[3] Sūrat Al-Ikblās; no. 112.

^[4] This authentic and great *Hadīth* tells us that all the actions and sayings of the Prophet 醬 are explanations aiming at directing and ordering us to observe prayers according to the orders given in Qur'ān and *Abadīth* about the performance of *Salāt*. This further proves that one should meticulously follow and thoroughly pursue the ways of the Prophet 醬 concerning prayers and each of his actions and utterances as an obligation on him. Therefore, all the actions carried out by the Prophet 醬 and all the speech uttered by him during and regarding his prayers are obligatory on us except the ones that are proven to be otherwise by a clear-cut evidence.

^[5] In case someone – even if for a reason other than illness – may not stand upright, it is permissible for him to pray in a sitting posture as one does sometimes during a train journey provided he thoroughly completes the postures of bowing and prostration. If he is not capable to do so due to sickness, he should perform it by way of gestural inclinations. If he intends to prostrate, he should bow his head further (a few degrees lower) than he does with the intention of bowing. Such is reported in the next Hadith narrated by Jābir أَمْ اللهُ عَنْهُ عَنْهُ اللهُ عَنْهُ عَنْهُ اللهُ عَنْهُ اللهُ عَنْهُ اللهُ عَنْهُ اللهُ عَنْهُ اللهُ عَنْهُ اللهُ عَنْهُ عَنْهُ عَنْهُ عَنْهُ عَنْهُ اللهُ عَنْهُ عَنْهُ

by gesturing signs and make your prostration lower than your bowing." [Al-Baihaqi reported it through a strong chain of narrators, but Abū Hātim regarded it as *Mauqūf* (saying of a Companion)].

Chapter 8 SUJUD AS-SAHW^[1] AND OTHER MATTERS

262. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Buhaina &: The Prophet # led them in the Zubr prayer, and when he stood up at the end of the first two Rak'at and did not sit[2], the people stood up with him. When he finished the Salāt (prayer) and the people expected him to do the Taslim (salutation), he uttered the Takbīr while sitting and made two prostrations before saying the Taslim[3] (salutation), then he uttered the Taslim (salutation). [Reported by As-Sab'a and this is Al-Bukhāri's wording]. In the narration of Muslim it is mentioned that, "He (鑑) uttered the Takbīr for each prostration while sitting and the people prostrated with him to make up for the sitting he had forgotten."

أَخْفَضَ مِنْ رُكُوعِكَ. رَوَاهُ البَّيْهَقِيُّ بِسَنَدٍ قَوِيٍّ. وَلَكِن صَحَّحَ أَبُو حَاتِمٍ وَقُفُهُ.

٨ - بَابُ سُجُودِ السَّهْوِ وَغَيْرِهِ

الله عَنْ عَلْيالُهُ الْبَرْ بُحَيْنَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ عَنْ عَنْهُ: أَنَّ اللَّيِّ ﷺ صَلَّى بِهِمُ الطُّهُرَ فَقَامَ لِيهِمُ الطُّهُرَ فَقَامَ النَّاسُ مَعَهُ، حَتَّى إِذَا قَضَى الصَّلَاةَ، وَانْتَظَرَ النَّاسُ تَسْلِيمَهُ كَبَّرَ وَهُوَ جَالِسٌ، وَسَجَدَ النَّاسُ تَسْلِيمَهُ كَبَّرَ وَهُوَ جَالِسٌ، وَسَجَدَ سَجْدَتَيْنِ قَبْلُ أَنْ يُسَلِّمَ، ثُمَّ سَلَّمَ. أَخْرَجَهُ السَّبْعَةُ، وَهَذَا لَفُظُ البُخَارِيُ. وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لِمُسْلِمِهِ: يُكَبِّرُ فِي كُلِّ سَجْدَةٍ وَهُوَ جَالِسٌ، وَسَجَدَ النَّاسُ مَعَهُ، مَكَانَ مَا نَسِيَ مِنَ الخُدُوسِ وَالَّهُ البُخْلُوسُ.

^[1] Sajdatus-Sahw (prostration due to forgetfulness) becomes compulsory if someone who is offering a prayer either adds or deletes something in it mistakenly.

I^{2]} We must know that the translation of Sahw and Nisyān is 'forgetfulness' but Sahw usually implies to actions, whereas Nisyān usually refers to a piece of information. But both of these words are also taken as synonyms of each other. Among the scholars, no one approves of using the word Nisyān for the Prophet 誓. Hence the Prophet 誓 never ever suffered from confusion in the matters related to preaching and propagation of the Islamic Message. How could he possibly suffer from it while Allāh Almighty is saying: "We shall make you to recite (the Qur'an) and you will not forget." (V. 87:6)

The righteous scholars maintain that the usage of the word Sabw for the Prophet 鑑 is permissible as there are references from several Abadītb in this regard. All of the four famous Imāms agree that the situations concerning forgetfulness (Sabw) for the Prophet 鑑 are the proven ones. There is no objection to it; in fact, they carry several good intentions in their fold (i.e. the forgetfulness of the Prophet 鑑).

^[3] This *Hadītb* tells us that one can atone for leaving the first *Tasbahhud* by performing *Sajdatus-Sahw*. Some of the scholars advocate that it should be performed before *Salām*, whereas some prefer it to be done after *Salām*. Both of these situations are proved from the

263. Narrated Abū Huraira : The Prophet 鑑 led us in two Rak'at of one of the two, Zubr or 'Asr prayers, and said the Taslim (salutation). He then got up and went towards a piece of wood which was at the front part of the mosque and placed his hands upon it. Abū Bakr and 'Umar were among the people, but they were afraid to speak to him. Then some of the hasty type of people came out and said, "Has the Salāt (prayer) been shortened?" A man whom the Prophet & called Dbul Yadain[1] (the long armed) asked: "Have you forgotten, O Allāh's Messenger or has the prayer been shortened?" He said, "I have neither forgotten^[2] nor has it been shortened." He said, "Indeed you have forgotten.[3] " He (the Prophet ﷺ) then prayed the remaining two Rak'at, then said the Taslim (salutation). He then uttered the Takbir and prostrated similar to his normal prostration or

آلَا: وَعَنْ أَيِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ وَلَا: صَلَّى النَّبِيُ ﷺ إِحْدَى صَلَاتَيِ المَشِيِّ وَكُمْتَيْر، مُمَّ اللَّهِ عِلَهُ إِحْدَى صَلَاتَيِ المَشِيِّ وَكُمْتَيْر، مُمَّ اللَّهِ عِلَهُ إِحْدَى صَلَاتَيِ المَشِيِّ أَيُّهُ إِحْدَى صَلَاتَيِ المَشْجِدِ، فَوَصَعَ بَدَهُ عَلَيْهَا، وَفِي القَوْمِ مُقَدَّم المَّسَادُهُ؟ أَيُو بَكُمْ وَعُمْرُ، فَهَالُوا: أَقَصُرَتِ الصَّلَاهُ؟ وَوَرَجُلُ يَدْعُوهُ النَّبِيُ ﷺ ذَا البَدَيْنِ، فَقَالُ: يَا رَمُولَ اللهِ أَنْسِيتَ أَمْ قَصُرَتِ الصَّلَاةُ؟ فَقَالَ: يَلَى فَدْ نَسِيتَ، وَمُؤْلِ اللهِ أَنْسَ وَلَمْ تُقْصَرْ، قَالَ: بَلَى قَدْ نَسِيتَ، فَمَّ وَمُثَلِي الصَّلَاةُ؟ فَقَالَ: يَلَى فَدْ نَسِيتَ، فَصَجُدَ مِثْلَ مُحْدِدِهِ أَوْ أَطْوَلَ، ثُمَّ رَقَعَ رَأْمُهُ فَكَبَّر، فَسَجَدَ مِثْلَ مُحْدِدِهِ أَوْ أَطْوَلَ، ثُمَّ رَقَعَ رَأْمُهُ فَكَبَّر، فَسَجَدَ مِثْلَ اللهُوهِ أَوْ أَطْوَلَ، ثُمَّ رَفَعَ رَأْمُهُ فَكَبَر، وَاللَّفُظُ وَصَعَ رَأْمُهُ فَكَبَر، وَاللَّفُظُ وَصَعَ رَأْمُهُ وَكَبَر، وَعَلَى اللهُوهِ أَوْ أَطُولَ، ثُمَّ وَقَعَرَ، مُتَفَقَ عَلَيْه، وَاللَّفُظُ وَلَانَهُ وَكَبَر، وَاللَّفُظُ وَاللَّهُ وَلَانِهُ وَكَبَر، وَاللَّفُطُ وَيُولَ وَاللَّهُ وَكَبَر، وَعَلَى وَاللَّهُ وَيَعْ رَأْمُهُ وَعَلَى وَاللَّهُ وَلَالُونَ وَلَا اللهُ وَلَالِهُ وَلَالُونَ وَاللَّهُ وَلَالُونَ وَاللَّهُ وَلَانَهُ وَكَبَر، وَاللَّهُ وَلَوْلَ وَلَاهُ وَلَالُونَ وَلَالْهُ وَلَالُونَ وَمُؤْلِ وَلَاللَّهُ وَلَا وَلَالُونَ وَلَوْلَ وَلَالْمُولُولُ وَلَاللَّهُ وَلَهُ وَلَالُونَ وَلَا لَاللَّهُ وَلَا لَهُ وَلَاللْهُ وَلَوْلَ اللَّهُ وَلَوْلَ اللَّهُ وَلَوْلَ اللْهُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَالْمُ وَلَهُ وَلَهُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَيْلُونَا وَلَالْهُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَاللْهُ وَلَاللَهُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَاللْهُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَاللْهُ وَلَيْمَ وَلَالْهُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَالِهُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَوْلَ وَلَالْهُ وَلَوْلُولُ وَلَكُونَ وَلَالْهُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَوْلَ وَلَالْهُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَمْ وَلَالْهُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَهُ وَلَالُونَا وَلَوْلُولُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَوْلَ اللْهُولُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَالُونُ اللَّهُ وَلَالْهُ وَلَعْلَالَ

Prophet 繼. The Prophet 鑑 never specified any hard and fast rule concerning it all through his life. It is mentioned in the book Nailul-Autār that if some omission occurs in the prayer the prostration should be performed before Salām. In case of any addition, it should be performed after Salām. Some of the scholars are of the opinion that in view of the documented evidence, the reports concerning prostration before Salām are more sound and proper.

^[1] He is Al-Khirbaq bin 'Amr As-Sulami of Banu Sulaim tribe. He died during the caliphate of Mu'āwiya فنه عنه. It is also said that he died at Dhi Khashab during the caliphate of 'Umar رضي الله عنه. He had unusually longer hands, hence he was nicknamed *Dbul-Yadain*.

 $^{^{[2]}}$ According to my knowledge, neither I have suffered from any forgetfulness nor has there been any Divine instruction for the prayer to be shortened.

¹³¹ The forgetfulness of the Prophet ½ while being in the prayer, despite the fact that he was completely and utterly steeped in a profound state of meditation while supplicating to Allâh the Almighty, may be construed as a prudently befitting measure and was in fact meant all for the good. First of all, it had an educational purpose to instruct the Ummah (nation) practically on the matters related to Sahu (forgetfulness) as to what its directives are and how to rectify it in case someone is faced with such a situation. Secondly, he wanted to instruct the Ummah that despite his honour, dignity and his exalted position of being superior to all the creation, he is still a human being and inherits all the human instincts such as eating, drinking, sleeping, waking up, walking around, responding to the call of nature, getting sick and becoming cured, etc. All the above human qualities are to be found in his person. He himself made a mention of this act of prudence, as the same shall follow in the Hadith narrated by Ibn Mas'ūd is a single properties.

longer, then raised up his head and uttered the *Takbīr*. ^[1] He then prostrated and uttered the *Takbīr*, and the prostration was similar to his normal prostration or longer. He then raised his head and uttered the *Takbīr*. [Agreed upon, and it is Bukhāri's wording].

And in the narration of Muslim: "'Asr prayer"; and in Abū Dā'ud: "He said, 'Has Dhul-Yadain spoken the truth?' Then they said 'Yes' with gesture". This is found in Sabibain, but with the word "Faqālu تقالو"; and in another narration: "and he did not prostrate till Allāh made him certain of this (i.e. As-Sabw)."

264. Narrated 'Imrān bin Husain . The Prophet ! led them (the Companions .) in prayer and forgot (something). He then made two prostrations and then said the *Tasbābbud* and uttered the *Taslām* (salutation). [Reported by Abū Dā'ud, and At-Tirmidhi who graded it *Hasan* (good), and Al-Hākim who graded it *Sabīb* (authentic)].

265. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "When anyone of you is in doubt about his Salāt (prayer) and does not know how many he has prayed, three or four (Rak'at), he should cast aside his doubt and base his prayer on what he is sure of. [2] Then, he should perform two prostrations before Taslīm (salutation). If he has prayed five Rak'at, they will make his Salāt (prayer) an even

وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لِمُسْلِمٍ: ﴿صَلَاةَ العَصْرِ». وَلِإْبِي دَاوُدُ: فَقَالَ: أَصَدَقَ ذُو البَدَيْنِ؟ فَأَوْمَنُوا أَيْ نَمَمْ. وَهِيَ فِي الصَّحِيحَيْنِرَ، لٰكِنْ بِلَفْظِ: ﴿فَقَالُوا ۗ. وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لَّهُ: ﴿وَلَمْ يَسْجُدُ حَتَّى يَقَّنُهُ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى ذَلِكَ ﴾.

(٢٦٤) وَعَنْ عِمْرَانَ بْنِرِ حُصَيْرِر رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُما، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ صَلَّى بِهِمْ فَسَهَا، فَسَجَدَ سَجْدَتَيْنِ، ثُمَّ تَشَهَد، ثُمَّ سَلَّم. رَوَاهُ أبو دَاوُدَ وَالتَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَحَسَّنَهُ، وَالحَاكِمُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ.

(٧٦٥) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا شَكَّ أَكُدُكُمْ فِي صَلَاتِهِ فَلَمْ يَدْرِ كَمْ صَلَّى أَثَلَانًا أَمْ أَرْبَعًا؟ فَلْيَطْرَحِ الشَّكَ، وَلْيَبْنِ عَلَى مَا الشَيْقَنَ، ثُمَّ يَشْجُدُ سَجْدَتَيْنِ قَبْلَ أَنْ يُسَلِّمَ، فَإِنْ كَانَ صَلَّى مَا شَفْعْنَ لَهُ صَلَاتَهُ، وَإِنْ كَانَ صَلَّى تَمْماماً كَانَنَا تَرْغِيماً لِلشَّيْطَانِ». وَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ، مُسْلِمٌ،

^[1] This *Hadītb* clarifies that in case someone feels certain that he has completed his prayer, performs *Salām*, gets engaged in a conversation and then suddenly realizes his fault by recollection or someone else makes him remember about it, his prayer still remains valid provided he completes it right away.

^[2] It has two meanings. Firstly, in case of doubt, one should base it on the least number, i.e., in case of being uncertain as to whether one has prayed three or four *Rak'at*, he should count it as three as this is nearest to certainty. Secondly, one should act according to what he is predominantly sure about.

number^[1] for him and if he has prayed exactly four, they (i.e. two prostrations) will be humiliation for the devil." [Reported by Muslim].

266. Narrated Ibn Mas'ūd 🐠: Allāh's Messenger & offered prayer and when he said Taslīm (salutation), he was asked, "O Allāh's Messenger! has something new happened to the Salāt (prayer)?" He asked, "What is that?" They said, "You have prayed so many and so many (Rak'at)." He (Ibn Mas'ūd 🚓) said, "He then bent his legs, faced the Oiblab, and made two prostrations and then said the Taslim (salutations). Then he faced us and said, "If something new is introduced to the Salāt (prayer), I shall inform you but I am a human being like you. [2] I forget just as you forget; so if I forget remind me and if any of you is in doubt about his Salāt (prayer) he should act upon what he thinks is correct and complete his prayer in that respect and then he should make two prostrations." [Agreed upon].

And in the narration of Al-Bukhāri: 'he should complete (the prayer) then he should say *Taslīm* and then perform the prostration'; and in the narration of Muslim: 'the Prophet 選 performed two *Sajdatus-Sahw* after *Taslīm* and talking'.

In the narration of Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i from the *Hadith* of 'Abdullāh bin Ja'far^[3] (&) *Marfu'*

(۲۲٦) وَعَن الْبِن مَسْمُودِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: صَلَّى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ فَلَمَّا صَلَّمَ قِيلَ لَهُ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ فَلَمَّا صَلَّمَ قِيلَ لَهُ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ فَلَوْا: صَلَّيْتَ كَذَا وَكَذَا ، قَالَ: فَنَنَى رِجْلَيْهِ، وَاسْتَقْبَلَ اللهِلْلَةَ، فَسَجَدَ قَالَ: فَنَنَى رِجْلَيْهِ، وَاسْتَقْبَلَ اللهِلْلَةَ، فَسَجَدَ فَلَا: وَكَذَا ، فَشَجَدَ نَقْلَ: اللّهُ لَوْ حَدَثَ فِي الصَّلَاةِ شَيْءٌ أَنْبُلُكُمْ فَلَكُورِيْنِ ، وَلَمْ اللّهِ اللّهُ مَنْكُمُ مُ أَنْبُلُكُمْ ، أَنْسَى كَمَا تَشْسُونَ، فَإِذَا نَسِيتُ فَذَكُورِيْنِ ، وَإِذَا شَكَّ تَشْسُونَ، فَإِذَا نَسِيتُ فَذَكُورِيْنِ ، وَإِذَا شَكَّ عَلَيْهُ مَنْ عَلَيْهِ، فَمْ عَلَيْهِ، فَلْ عَلَيْهِ، فَلْمُ يُسَاعِدُ السَّوابَ، فَلْيُهِمْ عَلَيْهِ، فَلْمُ يُسْعَلُ عَلَيْهِ، فَلَمْ عَلَيْهِ، فَلْمُ يَسْعُدُ السَّوابَ، فَلْيُهِمْ عَلَيْهِ، فَلْمُ يُسْعَلُ عَلَيْهِ، فَلْمُ يَسْعُدُ سَاعِدُ السَّعَلَ عَلَيْهِ. فَلْمُ عَلَيْهِ، فَلْمُ اللّهُ عَلَيْهِ ، فَلْمُ اللّهُ عَلَيْهِ ، فَلَيْهَ عَلَيْهِ ، فَلَا يَسْعُدُ سَعِدُهُ اللّهِ عَلَى اللّهُ اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ اللّهُ عَلَيْهُ مَلْهُ اللّهُ عَلَيْهِ ، فَلَمْ عَلَيْهِ ، فَلَمْ عَلَيْهِ ، فَلَيْهُ مَلَى اللّهُ اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ اللّهُ عَلَيْهُ مِنْهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ عَلَيْهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ عَلَيْهِ ، فَلَا اللّهُ اللللّهُ اللللللّهُ الللللّهُ الللّهُ الللللّهُ اللللللّهُ الللللللللللللّ

وَفِي رِوَايَةِ لَلْبُخَارِيُ: ﴿فَلَيْتِمْ، ثُمَّ يُسَلِّمُ، ثُمَّ يَسْجُذُه. وَلِمُسْلِمٍ: أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ سَجَدَ سَجْدَتَيِ السَّهْوِ بَعْدَ السَّلَامِ وَالكَلَامِ.

وَلِأَحْمَدَ وَأَبِي دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَائِيِّ مِنْ حَدِيثِ عَبْدِاللهِ بْنِ جَدِيثِ عَبْدِاللهِ بْنِ جَعْفَرِ مَرْفُوعاً: مَنْ شُكَّ فِي صَلَاتِهِ

^[1] It means that if one has prayed five *Rak'at*, it will become six including *Sajdatus-Sabw*. It appears from the *Hadith* that one should base it on the least number as that is nearer to certainty.

^[2] According to this reference the Prophet 縣 had used the words "أن بشر مثلكم أن أ – I am a human being like you." What a surprise to the people who do not see him as a human being and postulate that the statement "I am a human being like you" made in the Qur'ān aims only at silencing the polytheists; whereas the fact is that the people in question here are the believers and not the polytheists.

^[3] He is Abū Ja'far 'Abdullāh bin Ja'far bin Abū Talib, his mother is Asmā' bint 'Umais. He is

(attributed to the Prophet): 'Whoever doubts about his *Salāt* (prayer), should make two prostrations after the *Taslīm* (salutations).' [Ibn Khuzaima graded it *Sabīb* (authentic)].

267. Narrated Al-Mughira bin Shu'ba s: Allāh's Messenger said, "When one of you doubts and stands at the end of two Rak'at, if he remembers while having stood up completely he should continue^[1] and should not return (to the sitting position) and he should make two prostrations, but if he did not stand up straight he should sit down and there is no forgetfulness (prostration) upon him." [Reported Abū Dā'ud, Ibn Mājah, and Ad-Dāraqutni, with a weak Sanad (chain); the wording is Ad-Daraqutni's].

268. Narrated 'Umar &: The Prophet said, "There is no (prostrations of) forgetfulness for one^[2] who is led (in prayer) by an *Imām*, but when the *Imām* forgets, both should then make prostrations due to forgetfulness." [Al-Bazzār and Al-Baihaqi reported it through a weak chain of narrators].

269. Narrated Thawbān &: The Prophet said, "There are two prostrations after the Taslim (salutation) for each forgetfulness^[3]." [Abū Dā'ud and Ibn Mājah reported it through a weak chain of narrators].

فَلْيَشْجُدْ سَجْدَتَيْنِ بَغْدَ مَا يُسَلِّمُ). وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ خُزْيَمَةً.

(٢٦٧) وَعَن المُفِيرَةِ بْنِ شُعْبَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ، قَالَ: ﴿إِذَا شَكَّ أَحُدُكُمْ، فَقَامَ فِي الرَّحُمَّيْنِ ، فَاسْتَتَمَّ قَائِماً ، فَلَيْمُضِهُ سَجْدَتَيْنِ ، فَإِنْ فَلَيْمَا ، فَلَيْمَتُمَّ قَائِماً ، فَلَيْمَتُمَّ قَائِماً ، فَلَيْمَتُمَّ قَائِماً ، فَلَيْمَتُمَّ قَائِماً ، فَلَا سَهُوَ عَلَيْمِهِ . وَلَا سَهُوَ عَلَيْمِهِ . وَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ وَالدَّارَقُطْئِيْ ، وَاللَّفْظُ . وَاللَّارَقُطْئِيْ ، وَاللَّفْظُ لَهُ ، وَاللَّارَقُطْئِيْ ، وَاللَّفْظُ لَهُ إِلَيْمَا اللَّفْظُ لَهُ إِلَيْهُ مَا اللَّهُ وَالدَّارَقُطْئِيْ ، وَاللَّفْظُ لَهُ ، فِسَدِي ضَعِيفُ . وَاللَّفْظُ

(۲۲۸) وَعَنْ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنْرِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَال: النِّسَ عَلَى مَنْ خَلْفَ الإمّامِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَال: النِّسَةِ الإِمّامُ فَعَلَيْهِ وَعَلَى مَنْ خَلْفَهُ.
رَوَاهُ الثَّرُوذِيُّ وَالبَّبَهْقِيُّ بِسَنَدٍ ضَعِيفٍ.

(٢٦٩) وَعَنْ ثَوْبَانَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ عَنْ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ أَنَّهُ قَالَ: ﴿لِكُلِّ سَهْدٍ سَجْدَتَانِ بَعْدَ مَا يُسَلِّمُ . رَوَاهُ أَبُر دَاوُدَ وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ بِسَنَدِ ضَعِيفٍ .

the first Muslim to be born in Abyssinia (Ethiopia) and his father came with him to Al-Madinah in 7 H. He was amusing, pious and generous. He was the most generous among the Muslims. He died in Al-Madinah in 80 H. at the age of 80 years.

^[1] In case someone forgets to observe the first *Tashabbud* and stands up, he must go ahead and continue his prayer; and if he does not stand up straight fully, he should observe whether he is closer to the standing posture or sitting posture. If he is closer to standing posture, he should stand up and perform *Sajdatus-Sabw*. While if he is closer to the sitting posture, he must sit down, observe *Tashabbud* and need not make *Sajdatus-Sabw*.

^[2] This *Hadītb* tells us that the observance of *Sajdatus-Sabw* becomes compulsory on a *Muqtadī* (the one who is being led in the prayer) only if the *Imām* forgets, and not if he himself forgets.

^[3] The Hadith does not imply that if one commits two or four lapses, he must observe two

بُلوغ المرَام

270. Narrated Abū Huraira 泰: We prostrated with Allāh's Messenger 鑑 (as he recited these *Surab*)^[1] "When the heaven split asunder"^[2] and "Read in the Name of your Lord."^[3] [Reported by Muslim].

271. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās * A prostration while reciting Sūrat Sād^[4] is not one of the 'Azaa'im (those which are always required)^[5], but I have seen Allāh's Messenger 藥 prostrating while reciting it. [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

272. Narrated (Ibn 'Abbās) 泰: The Prophet 鑑 prostrated in *Sūrat An-Najm* (Chapter 53). [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

273. Narrated Zaid bin Thābit^[6] 泰: i recited to the Prophet 藥 "An-Najm" ^[7] but he did not prostrate in it.^[8] [Agreed upon].

(٧٧٠) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنَهُ قَالَ: سَجَدْنَا مَعَ رسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ فِي وَإِذَا السَّمَاءُ النَّشَقَّتُ، والقُرَأُ بِالشمِ رَبُّكَ، رَوَاهُ مُسْلَمٌ. مُسْلَمٌ.

(۷۷۱) وَعَنِ الْبُنِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: (صَ لَيْسَتْ مِنْ عَزَائِمِ السُّجُودِ، وَقَدْ رَأَيْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَسْجُدُ فِيهَا. رَوَاهُ النُّخَارِيُّ. النُّخَارِيُّ.

(٢٧٢) وَعَنْهُ رَضِي اللهُ عَنْهُ أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ سَجَدَ بالنَّجْمِ . رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ .

(۲۷۳) وَعَنْ زَلِدِ بُنِ ثَابِتٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَرَأْتُ عَلَى النَّبِيِّ ﷺ النَّجْمَ، فَلَمْ يَسْهُدُ فِيهَا. مُثَنَّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

Sajdatus-Sabw for each one of his lapses. It only implies that irrespective of the number and nature of the lapses one has committed, just two prostrations suffice to atone for all of them. [Some scholars hold this Hadith to be acceptable. See: Subulus-Salam, 1/418-419, no. 319, and Irvaa' Al-Ghaleel, 2/47-48, no. 339].

^[1] Whether Sajdatut-Tilāwa (prostration during the Qur'ānic recitation) falls within the category of Masbru' (legislated act), Sunnab (supererogatory) or Wājib (compulsory); the majority of the scholars state it as Sunnab, whereas Imām Abū Hanifa maintains that the same is Wājib. There is also a difference of opinion among the scholars as to whether or not one needs to be in a state of ritual purity to observe this prostration.

^[2] Sürat no. 84.

^[3] Sūrat no. 96.

^[4] Sūrat no. 38.

^[5] According to some of the *Imāms*, this is compulsory just like other prostrations. This *Hadāth* only implies that this has not been required as an act of worship, but the same is acted upon as a reminder of the deed practiced by the Prophet Da'ud (David).

^[6] Zaid bin Thābit is an Ansāri, a Najjāri and was nicknamed Abū Sa'id or Abū Khārija. He was the best Qur'ān scribe and most knowledgeable in the science of inheritance. He first fought in the battle of Al-Khandaq. He compiled the Qur'ān during the caliphate of Abū Bakr and copied it during the caliphate of 'Uthman. He learnt the Jewish writing in half a month by the order of the Prophet and used to write for him in it, and he used to write and then read it. He died in Al-Madīnah in the year 45 H. It was also said that he died in a different year.

^[7] Sũrat No. 53.

^[8] This is why the majority of the scholars have regarded Sajdatut-Tilāwa (prostration made during the Qur'ān recitation) as a Sunnab (supererogatory) because the Prophet 縣 did not observe the said prostrations regularly on all occasions. Sometimes he did, and other times he did not.

274. Narrated Khālid bin Ma'dān^[1] \$\sigma Sūrat Al-Haif^[2] has been distinguished by two prostrations. [Abū Dā'ud reported it among Al-Marāsil (a broken chain after the Tābi'i)]. Ahmad and At-Tirmidhi reported the above Hadītb through a full chain of narrators from 'Uqba bin 'Aamir. It has the addition: "If anyone does not make two prostrations (when reciting Sūrat Al-Haif), he should not recite it." [The chain of this Hadītb is Da'if (weak)].

275. Narrated 'Umar &: He said, "O people! We pass (in our recitation) verses to be prostrated at, so whoever prostrates has done the right thing, and there is no sin upon the one who does not prostrate. [3] " [Al-Bukhāri reported it] It also contains the words: 'Allāh the Most High has not made the prostration (of recitation) compulsory, unless one wishes (to do so).' [This Hadīth is in the Muwatta' of Imām Mālik].

276. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . The Prophet # used to recite the Qur'ān to us, and when he came to a place where a prostration should be made, he uttered the *Takbīr* and prostrated and we prostrated with him. [4] [Reported by Abū Dā'ud through a chain containing some weakness].

277. Narrated Abū Bakra 🐟: Whenever the Prophet 🍇 received a matter which

(٢٧٤) وَعَنْ خَالِدِ بْنِرِ مَعْدَانَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: فُضَّلَتْ سُورَةُ الحَجُّ بِسَجْدَتَيْنِ . رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ فِي المَرَاسِيلِ ، وَرَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالتُّرْمِذِيُّ مَوْصُولاً مِنْ حَدِيثِ عُقْبَةً بْنِر عَامِرٍ، وَزَادَ: فَمَنْ لَّمْ يَسْجُدُهُمَا فَلَا يَقْرَأُهَا». وَسَنَدُهُ ضَعِيفٌ.

(٧٧٥) وَعَنْ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ:
يَا أَيُّهَا النَّاسُ! إِنَّا نَمرُ بِالشَّجُودِ، فَمَنْ سَجَدَ فَقَدْ أَصَابَ، وَمَنْ لَمْ يَسْجُدْ فَلَا إِثْمَ عَلَيْهِ.
رَوَاهُ النَّخَارِيُّ.

رَفِيهِ: إِنَّ اللَّهَ تَعَالَى لَمْ يَفْرِضِ السُّجُودَ إِلَّا أَنْ نَشَاءَ. وَهُوَ فِي المُوَطَّاِ.

(۲۷٦) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَمُوهُمُ وَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَمْهُمَا قَالَ: گانَ الفُرْآنَ، فَإِنَّ الفُرْآنَ، فَإِذَا مَدًا وَسَجَدْنَا مَعَهُ. وَسَجَدْنَا مَعَهُ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ بِسَنَدِ فِيو لِينٌ.

(۲۷۷) وَعَنْ أَبِي بَكْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ: أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ كَانَ إِذَا جَاءَهُ أَمْرٌ يَسُرُّهُ خَرَّ

^[1] He is Abu 'Abdullāh Al-Kalā'i from Hims (in Syria). He was among the prominent and most knowledgeable *Tābi'i* generation (who came after the *Sabāba*). He said that he met seventy Companions of the Prophet 醬. He died in the year 103 H. or 104 H. or 108 H.

^[2] Sūrat no. 22

^[3] This *Hadāth* is a clear evidence that *Sajdatut-Tilāwa* is not a compulsory act. 'Umar رضي said so while addressing a gathering of the Companions of the Prophet ﷺ and none of them uttered a word about it, which in turn proved that they maintained a collective silence in regard to this matter.

^[4] This tells us that the prostration is obligatory on both the reciter and the listener, on the condition that they are offering a prayer. The same also applies to Sajdatut-Tilāwa (prostration during the recitation) and Sajdatusb-Shukr (prostration to express thanks).

pleased him he used to prostrate to Allāh [out of thankfulness]. [Reported by Al-Khamsa except An-Nasā'i].

278. Narrated 'Abdur-Rahmān bin 'Aufl'] 泰: The Prophet 鑑 prostrated and prolonged the Sajda, he then raised his head and said, "Jibrael (Gabriel) had come and given me glad tidings, thereafter I prostrated in gratitude to Allāh." [Ahmad reported it and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

279. Narrated Al-Barā' bin 'Azib 象: The Prophet 쬻 sent 'Ali to Yemen. The narrator mentioned the complete Hadītb^[2]. He said, "Ali sent a letter regarding their (the people of Yemen) acceptance of Islam. When Allāh's Messenger 蹇 read the letter, he prostrated in gratitude^[3] to Allāh the Most High for that." [Reported by Al-Baihaqi and its basic meaning is found in Sabib Al-Bukbāri].

ِسَاجِداً للهِ. رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ إِلَّا النَّسَائِيَّ.

(۲۷۸) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ الرَّحْمَنِ بْنِرَ عَوْفَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَثْهُ فَاللَّالَ اللَّهِ عَلَيْ اللَّهِ فَاطَالَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَجَدَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ فَأَطَالَ الشَّجُودَ، ثُمَّ رَفَعَ رَأْسَهُ وَقَالَ: إِنَّ جِبرِيلَ أَتَانِي، فَيَشَرِنِي، فَسَجَدْتُ اللهِ شُكْراً. رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ.

(۲۷۹) وَعَن البَرَاءِ بُن عَازِب رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ بَعَثَ عَلِيّاً إِلَى البَمْن ، فَذَكَرَ الحديث. قال: فكتب عليِّ بإسلامهم، فَلَمَّا قَرَأ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ الكِتَابَ خَرَّ سَاجِداً، شُكْراً اللهِ تَعَالَى عَلَى ذَلِكَ. رَوَاهُ البَيْقِيْ، وَأَصْلُهُ فِي البُخَارِيِّ.

^[2] It is so reported that 'Ali رضي الله عنه الله عنه رحمه to Yemen along with 300 of his men. He invited them (the Yemenites) to Islam. In response to his invitation, the Yemenites attacked them with arrows. 'Ali سنه الله عنه عنه الله عنه عنه الله عنه عنه الله ع

^[3] It comprises an answer to those who do not recognize the proven validity of Sajdatusb-Shukr (prostration to express thanks).

Chapter 9 VOLUNTARY PRAYER

٩ - بَابُ صَلَاةِ التَّطَوُّعِ

280. Narrated Rabi'a bin Ka'b Al-Aslami^[1] *: The Prophet * said to me, "Ask." I said, "I ask your company in Paradise." He replied, "Or something else?" I said, "That is it (i.e. that is what I desire)." He said, "Then help me to achieve this for you by devoting yourself^[2] often to prostration.^[3] " [Reported by Muslim].^[4]

281. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: I memorized from the Prophet & ten (voluntary) Rak'at – two Rak'at before the Zubr prayer and two after it; two Rak'at after Magbrib prayer in his house, and two Rak'at after 'Isbā' prayer in his house, and two Rak'at before the Fajr prayer. [Agreed upon]. Another narration of both (Al-Bukhāri and Muslim) has: 'two Rak'at after Jumu'a prayer in his house.'

Muslim has: 'He never prayed after the break of dawn except two light Rak'at.'

282. Narrated 'Aisha \$: The Prophet \$\overline{8}\$ never left four *Rak'at* before the *Zubr* prayer, and two *Rak'at* before the *Fajr* prayer^[5]. [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

(٧٨٠) عَنْ رَبِيعَةَ بُنِرَ كَعْبِ الأَشْلَمِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ لِيَ اللَّبِيُ ﷺ:
﴿ مَنْ * مَقُلْتُ: أَشَالُكُ مُرَافَقَتَكَ فِي الجَّبُّةِ ﴿ فَقُلْتُ: هُوَ ذَاكَ ، قَالَ: ﴿ فَقُلْتُ: هُوَ ذَاكَ ، قَالَ: ﴿ فَقُلْتُ: هُوَ ذَاكَ ، قَالَ: ﴿ فَقُلْتُ عَلَى نَفْسِكَ بِكَثْرُةِ السُّجُودِ ﴾ . رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ .

(۲۸۱) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: حَفِظْتُ مِنَ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ عَشْرَ رَخْعَاتِ: رَحُعَتَيْن قَبْلَ الظَّهْر، وَرَكُعَتَيْن بَعْدَ المَغْرِب فِي بَيْتِه، وَرَكُعَتَيْن بَعْدَ المَغْرِب فِي بَيْتِه، وَرَكُعَتَيْن قَبْل الطَّمْحِ. وَفِي بَيْتِه، وَرَكُعَتَيْن قَبْل الطَّمْحِ. مُعْقَنِّ عَلَيْه، وَوَكُعَتَيْن قَبْل الطَّمْحِ. مُعْقَنِّ عَلَيْهِ، وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لَّهُمَا: الطُّمْحِ. وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لَّهُمَا: وَرَخْعَتِيْن بَيْدِه، وَرَكْعَتَيْن قَبْل المُحْمَةِ فِي بَيْتِهِ، وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لَّهُمَا: وَرَخْعَتِيْن بَيْدِه.

وَلِمُسْلِمٍ: كَانَ إِذَا طَلَعَ الفَجْرُ لَا يُصَلِّي إِلَّا رَكْمَتَيْن خَفِيفَتَيْن .

(۲۸۲) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ كَانَ لَا يَدَعُ أَرْبَها قَبْلَ الظَّهْرِ، وَرَكُمَتَيْنِ قَبْلَ الغَدَاةِ. رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

^[1] His Kunya is Abū Firās Al-Madani. He was a Sahabi and from the Companions of Suffa. He was a servant of Allāh's Messenger and used to serve and accompany him in journeys and at the home. He died in the year 63 H.

^[2] This tells us that if someone intends to acquire close proximity to Allah and his Prophet 鑑, it is imperative on him to offer Nawafil (voluntary prayers) in abundance.

^[3] This Hadith contains an evidence for those who deem the prostration to be the very best amongst the rest of the constituents of the Salāt.

^[4] The meaning of the *Hadīth* is, "I pray to Allāh to give you what you're asking for, and I will ask Him to give you, but since it is a big thing to ask for, you have to offer a lot of voluntary prayers so that my prayer becomes acceptable".

^[5] This Hadith tells us about four Rak'at which are to be performed as Sunnah (super-erogatory) before the Fard (obligatory) ones in the Zuhr (noon prayer). It has earlier been mentioned through the reference of 'Abdullāh bin 'Umar وضي الله عنها that there are two Rak'at to be offered prior to the obligatory prayer. As an elaboration concerning the applied

283. Narrated ('Aisha) *: The Prophet *: was more particular about offering the two (optional) *Rak'at* at dawn than he was about offering any of the other optional prayers. [Agreed upon].

Muslim has: "The two Rak'at at dawn are better than this world and what it contains."

284. Narrated Umm Habiba^[1] the Mother of the Believers: She heard Allāh's Messenger say, "Whoever prays twelve (voluntary) Rak'at in a day and a night, a house will be built for him in Paradise due to them (the Rak'at)." [Reported by Muslim]. In another narration, it is mentioned: "Voluntarily".

At-Tirmidhi reported it similarly and added: "four Rak'at before Zubr and two Rak'at after it and two Rak'at after Magbrib and two after 'Isbā' and two Rak'at before the Fajr prayer."

And in the narration of Al-Khamsa, by her (Umm Habiba *): "Whoever prays regularly four Rak'at before and four Rak'at after the Zubr prayer, Allah will forbid for him (from entering) the Hellfire."

(۲۸۳) وَعَنْهَا رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: لَمْ يَكُنِ النَّبِيُ ﷺ عَلَى شَيْءً مَنَ النَّوَافِلِ أَشَدًّ تَعَاهُداً مِّنْهُ عَلَى رَكْمَتِي الفَجْرِ. مُثَقِّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

وَلِمُسْلِمٍ: ﴿رَكُمَتَا الفَحْرِ خَيْرٌ مِّنَ الدُّنْيَا وَمَا فِيهَا».

(٧٨٤) وَعَنْ أَمْ حَبِيبَةَ أَمْ المُؤْمِنِينَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ

تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللَّهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ:

مَنْ صَلَّى النَّتِيْ عَشْرَةَ رَكْمَةً فِي يَوْمٍ وَلَيْلَةٍ بُنِي

لَهُ بِهِنَّ بَيْتُ فِي الجَنَّةِ". رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ، وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ:

مَنْهُمَاءً.

وَلِلتَّرْمِذِيِّ نَحُوْهُ وَزَادَ: أَرْبَعَاً قَبْلَ الظَّهْرِ، وَرَكْعَتَيْنِ بَعْدَهَا، وَرَكْعَتَيْنِ بَعْدَ المَغْرِبِ، وَرَكْعَتَيْنِ بَعْدَ العِشَاءِ وَرَكْعَتَيْنِ قَبْلَ صَلَاةٍ الفَجْرِ.

وَلِلْخَمْسَةِ عَنْهَا: "مَنْ حَافَظَ على أَرْبَعٍ قَبْلَ الظُّهُو، وأَرْبَعٍ بِعُدَهَا، حَرَّمَهُ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَلَى النَّارِ».

situation, it is stated that he (醬) used to pray four Rak'at at home as an act of deference to the opening of the gates of the heavens, and two Rak'at Sumnah in the mosque. Some maintain that he (醬) prayed four Rak'at at home and as to the two Rak'at, which he used to offer in the mosque, these were none other than the Tabiyatul-Masjid (mosque greeting prayer). Some of them observe that both of them are Sunnah of the Zubr (noon) prayer and that the Prophet 醬 sometimes prayed four and sometimes prayed two only. Both are correct, but however, the four are preferable to the two. There is no difference of opinion regarding the two Rak'at of Fajr (morning) prayer as they are graded as Sunnat Mu'akkada (a Sunnah offered regularly by the Prophet 蹇). The Prophet 蹇 is not reported to have left them even during his journeys. Therefore, it is binding on a traveler to never ever shun the Witr of night and likewise the Sunnah of the morning prayer.

^[1] She is called Ramla bint Abū Sufyān and is the sister of Muʿāwiya. She become a Muslim long ago, migrated to Abyssinia (Ethiopia), and her husband 'Ubaidullāh bin Jahsh became a Christian and died there. Then, Allāh's Messenger ﷺ married her in the year 7 H. while she was there. Then, she came to Al-Madīnah with the migrants to Abyssinia (Ethiopia). She died in the year 42 H. or 44 H. or 50 H.

285. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "May Allāh have mercy on a person who prays four Rak'at before the 'Asr prayer." [1] [Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and At-Tirmidhi and the latter graded it Hasan (good). Also reported by Ibn (Authentic)].

286. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Mughaffal Al-Muzani^[2] : The Prophet said, "Pray before *Maghrib*, pray before *Maghrib*," then he said at the third time, "Whoever wishes (to)". He said so, because he did not like the people to take it as a *Sunnab*. [41] [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

And in the narration of Ibn Hibbān: "The Prophet 藥 prayed two *Rak'at* before the *Magbrib* (prayer)."

Muslim has reported from Anas & that he said, "We used to pray two *Rak'at* after sunset and the Prophet ## used to see us, but he neither commanded nor forbade us."

(٧٨٥) وَعَن إَبْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "رَجَمَ اللّهُ أَمْرَا صَلّى أَرْبَعاً قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَائِقُ دَائِقُ دَائِقُ دَائِقُ وَالنّرِمِذِيُّ، وَحَسَّنَهُ، وَالبّنُ خُزَيْمَةً، وَالنّرُمِذِيُّ، وَحَسَّنَهُ، وَالبّنُ خُزَيْمَةً، وَمَحَحَدُ.

(٧٨٦) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ مُعَفَّلِ الْمُزَنِيُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى الْمُزَنِيُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: "صَلُّوا قَبْلُ الْمَغْرِبِ»، ثُمَّ قَالَ فِي النَّالِيَةِ: لِمَنْ شَاءَ، كَرَاهِيَةً أَنْ يَتَّخِذَهَا النَّاسُ شُنَّةً. رَوَاهُ البُخارِيُّ.

وَفِي رِوَايَةِ لاَبْنِ حِبَّانَ: أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ صَلَّى قَبْلَ المَغْرِبِ رَكْمَتَيْنِ .

وَلِمُسْلِمٍ عَنْ أَنَسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كُنَّا نُصَلِّي رَكْعَتَيْنِ بِعْدَ غُرُوبِ الشَّمْسِ، وَكَانَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ يَرَانَا، فَلَمْ يَأْمُونَا، وَلَمْ يَنْهَنَا.

^[1] This *Hadītb* tells us that the practice of the four *Rak'at* being offered before 'Asr (afternoon) prayer also existed. If someone offers them, he shall earn reward and virtue to his credit, and if not, there is no blame on him.

^[2] He was among *Asbāb Asb-Sbajara* (who took oath to defend the religion against Quraish at Al-Hudaibiya). He settled at Al-Madīnah and then at Basra. He was among the ten sent by 'Umar رضى الله عنه to Basra to teach the people the religion. He died in the year 60 H.

^[4] This *Hadith* tells us that the validity and propriety of those two *Rak'at* prior to *Magbrib* prayer is proven.

287. Narrated 'Aisha \stacks: The Prophet \stacksis used to make the two (voluntary) Rak'at before the Fajr prayer so short that I would wonder whether he recited Al-Fatiba (or not). [Agreed upon].

288. Narrated Abū Huraira **\$**: The Prophet 轞 recited *Sūrat Al-Kāfirūn*,^[1] and *Sūrat Al-Ikblās*^[2] in the two (voluntary) *Rak'at* of the *Fajr* (prayer). [Reported by Muslim].

289. Narrated 'Aisha \$: The Prophet \$\mathbb{B}\$ used to lie down on his right side \$\mathbb{1}^3\$, after praying the two (voluntary) *Rak'at* of the *Fajr* (prayer). [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

290. Narrated Abū Huraira **\$\displays\$:** Allāh's Messenger **\$\displays\$:** said, "If any of you prays the two *Rak'at* before the dawn prayer, he should lie on his right side." [Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and At-Tirmidhi, the latter graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

291. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "The (voluntary) night prayers are two Rak'at, two Rak'at (in pairs), and if one fears that the dawn prayer is due, he should then offer one Rak'at which will make what he has prayed an odd number." [Agreed upon]. The Khamsa reported it – graded Sahih (authentic) by Ibn Hibbān – with the wording: "the

(۲۸۷) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْها قَالَتْ: كَانَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ يُخَفِّتُ الرَّكْمَتَيْنِ اللَّتِيْنِ قَبْلَ صَلَاةِ الصُّبْحِ، حَتَّى إِنِّي أَقُولُ: أَقَرَأَ بِأُمُّ الكتاب؟ مُقَتَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(۲۸۸) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَرَأً فِي رَحْمَتِي الفَجْرِ: «قُلْ يَا أَيُّهَا الكَافِرُونَ» وَ «قُلْ هُوَ اللَّهُ أَحَدٌ». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(۲۸۹) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا
 قَالَتْ: كَانَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ إِذَا صَلَّى رَثُعَتَى الفَجْرِ
 أَصْطَجَعَ عَلَى شِقْو الأَيْمَنِ . رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ

(٧٩٠) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا صَلَّى أَحَدُكُمُ الرَّحْتَيْنِ قَبَلَ صَلَاةِ الصُّبْحِ فَايْضُطَجِعْ عَلَى جَنْبِهِ الأَيْمَنِ ٩. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدُ وَالثَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَصَحَّحُهُ.

(۲۹۱) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَىٰ عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَصُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "صَلَاةُ اللَّيْلِ مَنْنَى مَنْنَى، فَإِذَا خَشِيَ أَحَدُكُمُ الطَّبْحَ صَلَّى رَكْمَةً وَاحِدَةً، ثُويْرُ لَهُ مَا قَدْ صَلَّى». مُتَقَنِّ عَلَيه، ولِلخَدْمَةِ - وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانٌ حِبَّانٌ - بِلَفْظِ اصَلَاهُ اللَّيْلِ وَالنَّهَارِ مَنْنَى مَنْنَى». وَقَالَ النَّمَاعِيُّ: مَنْنَى مَنْنَى». وَقَالَ النَّمَاعِيُّ: مَنْنَى مَنْنَى». وَقَالَ النَّمَاعِيُّ عَمْلًا مَنْنَى مَنْنَى». وَقَالَ النَّمَاعِيُّ عَمْلًا مَنْنَى مَنْنَى». وَقَالَ النَّمَاعِيُّ عَمْلًا عَلْمُ اللَّهُ الْعَلْمُ اللَّهُ اللْمُوالِمُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللْعُلِمُ

^[1] Sūrat no. 109.

^[2] Sūrat no. 112.

(voluntary) day and night prayers are two *Rak'at*, two *Rak'at* (in pairs)." An-Nasā'i said, "This is a mistake^[1]." ^[2]

292. Narrated Abū Huraira 🎄: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "The most excellent prayer after that which is obligatory is the (voluntary) late night prayer." [Reported by Muslim].

293. Narrated Abū Ayūb Al-Ansāri &: Allāh's Messenger said, "Al-Witr prayer is a duty upon every Muslim, [3] so whoever likes to offer it with five Rak'at let him do so and whoever likes to offer it with one let him do so, and whoever likes to offer it with one let him do so." [4] [Reported by Al-Arba'a except At-Tirmidhi. And Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic) and An-Nasā'i held that the stronger view is that it is Mawqūf (saying of a companion)].

294. Narrated 'Ali bin Abū Tālib .: The Witr prayer is not obligatory as the prescribed prayer is [i.e. the five daily

(۲۹۷) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿أَفْضَلُ الصَّلَاةِ بَمْدَ الفَرِيضَةِ، صَلَاةُ النَّلِمِ ﴾. أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(۲۹۳) وَعَنْ أَبِي أَيُّوبَ الأَنْصَادِيُّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: "الوِثْرُ حَقَّ عَلَى كُلُّ مُسْلِمٍ، مَنْ أَحَبَّ أَنْ يُوتِرَ بِخَسْسٍ فَلْيَفْعَلْ، وَمَنْ أَحَبَّ أَنْ يُوتِرَ بِغَلَاثٍ مِنْكَمْثُ ، وَمَنْ أَحَبَّ أَنْ يُوتِرَ بِغَلَاثٍ . رَوَاهُ الأَرْبَعْةُ إِلَّا النِّرْمِذِيُّ، وَصَحَحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ، وَرَاهُ وَرَجَّحَ النَّسَائِينُ وَفَقَهُ.

(٢٩٤) وَعَنْ عَلِيٌ بْنِ أَبِي طَالِبٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: لَيْسَ الوِنْرُ بِحَثْمٍ كَهَيْئَةِ

^[1] An-Nasā'i states that the words متى مثنى مثنى Salāt-ul-Lail matbna, matbna (the night prayer is two Rak'at two Rak'at) are correct, but the words صلاة الليل والنهار مثنى مثنى (the prayer of the night time and day time are two Rak'at two Rak'at) are incorrect, i.e. the addition of the word والنهاس والسمال (wan-Nabār) is considered to be an excess and thus erroneous (according to the view of Imām An-Nasā'i).

^[2] The point of view of Imām An-Nasā'i concerning this narration and declaring it to be incorrect is insubstantial and lacking authenticity since Al-Baihaqi declares it as correct. Furthermore, Imām Muslim, by drawing on the authority of 'Ali bin 'Abdullāh Bāriqi, (the narrator of the Abadītb of the Prophet ½) accorded it more of the credibility and trustworthiness by approving it. Imām Bukhāri has reported eight Abadītb in this regard, all of which are supportive of it. However, irrespective of the fact whether they are to be offered during the day or night, it is preferable to offer the Nawāfīl in two Rak'at prayers and it is also permissible to offer in four Rak'at prayers.

^[3] This Hadith informs us that the offering of Witr is compulsory. The Ahnāf (followers of Imām Abū Hanifa) follow the same school of thought. The rest of the Imāms and majority of the scholars regard the same as Sunnah. Hence the next Hadīth, which is stronger in terms of chain of transmitters, approves it.

^[4] According to reports, the number of Rak'at in Witr vary from one to eleven. Some scholars accord their preference to three Rak'at. Majority of the Companions (of the Prophet 8/8), their followers, Imām Shafi'i, Imām Ahmad and Imām Mālik recognise and prefer only one Rak'a.

prayers], but it is a *Sunnab* which was established by the practice of Allāh's Messenger ﷺ. [At-Tirmidhi and An-Nasā'i reported it, who graded it *Hasan* (good). Al-Hākim graded it *Sahih* (authentic)].

295. Narrated Jābir &: Allāh's Messenger prayed during the month of Ramadān. Then they (the Sahāba) waited for him on the following night, but he did not come out and he said, "I feared that^[1] the Witr (prayer) might be prescribed^[2] for you." [Reported by Ibn Hibbān].

296. Narrated Khārija bin Hudhāfa^[3]

♣: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "Allāh the Exalted has given you an extra prayer which is better for you than the red camels (high breed camels)." We asked, "What is it O Allāh's Messenger." He said, "The Witr between the 'Isbā' prayer and up till the break of dawn." [4] [Reported by Al-Khamsa except An-Nasā'i and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

ٱلْمَكْتُوبَةِ، وَلَكِنْ سُنَّةً سَنَّهَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: رَوَاهُ النَّسَائِيُّ وَالتُرمِذِيُّ وَحَشَنَهُ، وَالحَاكِمُ وَصَحَّعُهُ

(٧٩٥) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَامَ فِي شَهْرِ رَمَضَانَ، ثُمَّ انْتَظُرُوهُ مِنَ القَابِلَةِ فَلَمْ يَخْرُجُ، وَقَالَ: إِنِّي خَشِيثُ أَن يُكْتَبَ عَلَيْكُمُ الوِيْرُ. رَوَاهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ.

رَهُ (عَمْنُ خَارِجَةً بْنِ حُذَافَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِنَّ اللَّهَ أَمَدَّكُمْ بِصَلَاةِ هِيَ خَيْرٌ لَكُمْ مِنْ حُمْرِ النَّمَمِ»، مُلْنَا: وَمَا هِيَ يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ؟ قَالَ: ﴿الوِثْرُ، مَا بَيْنَ صَلَاةِ المِشَاءِ إِلَى طُلُوعِ الفَجْرِ». رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ إِلَّا النَّسَائِقْ، وَصَحْحَهُ الحَاكِمُ.

^[1] According to *Hadīth*, the Prophet ﷺ led the *Tarāwib* prayer in congregation three nights in his whole life and the regular observance of the same during the whole month started later on in the time of the Caliph 'Umar رضی الله علی .

^[2] This Hadīth describes the prayer of Tarāwih as Witr and the maximum number of Witr Rak'at is eleven. Be it known that the number of Tarāwih is also eleven Rak'at. It is reported from 'Aisha 's that the Prophet 's did not offer more than eleven Rak'at during Ramadān and as well as in regular days. 'Umar وضي الله عنه ordered Ubai bin Ka'b to lead eight Rak'at. It can thus, at the most, be said that people offered 20 Rak'at also during the days of 'Umar وضي الله عنه provided that it is proven by an authentic chain of transmitters. However, there is no traceable sound Hadīth verifying the validity of twenty Rak'at of Tarāwib.

^[3] He is a Qurashi, and an 'Adawi, who was equal to one thousand horsemen. 'Amr bin Al-'Aas الشعب الله عنه papealed to 'Umar bin Al-Khattab المنحي الله عنه to send him three thousand horsemen, but he sent him three men who are: Az-Zubair bin Al-'Awwām, Al-Miqdād bin Al-Aswad and Kharija. He became a *Qadt* in Egypt for 'Amr bin Al-'Aas and was killed there in Ramadān 40 H. by one of the *Khawarij* who mistook him for 'Amr bin Al-'Aas. This was when the *Khawarij* had conspired to kill 'Amr, 'Ali and Mu'āwiya'.

^[4] According to this *Hadīth*, the time of *Witr* stretches from *Isbā'* and goes on until the first streak of dawn. The preferable time is the later part of the night. However, in case one is not sure whether or not he/she may be able to get up from sleep, one should offer *Witr* right

Ahmad reported something similar to the above *Hadīth* from 'Amr^[1] bin Shu'aib^[2] on the authority of his father who reported it on the authority of 'Amr's grandfather.

297. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Buraida^[3] from his father: Allāh's Messenger said, "The Witr is a duty, so he who does not offer it, is not one of us." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud with a Laiyin (weak) chain of narrators and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)]. The above mentioned Hadītb has a Sbabid (supporting narration) which is weak, reported by Ahmad from Abū Huraira

298. Narrated 'Aisha &: Allāh's Messenger 概 did not offer more than eleven (voluntary) Rak'at during Ramadan nor during other than Ramadan. He offered four Rak'at - Do not ask about their beauty and length! [It is beyond description or imitation]. Again he would pray four Rak'at - Do not ask about their beauty and length! [It is beyond description or imitation). Then he would pray three (Rak'at of Witr). 'Aisha 🐁 said, "I said, O Allāh's Messenger will you sleep before you pray Witr?" He said, "O 'Aisha my eyes sleep, but my heart does not sleep." [Agreed upon].

And in another narration of Al-Bukhāri and Muslim, ('Aisha) \$\sqrt{s}\$ narrated: "He used to pray ten *Rak'at* (of prayer), and making it *Witr* by one *Rak'at*, and he

وَرَوَى أَحْمَدُ عَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ شُعَيْبٍ عَن أَبِيهِ عَنْ جَدَّهِ نَحْوَهُ.

(۲۹۷) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْن بُرَيْدَةَ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ
رَضِيّ اللّٰهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ
ﷺ: ﴿الوِنْرُ حَقِّ، فَمَنْ لَمْ يُويْرُ فَلَيْسَ مِنّا ﴾.
أُخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوْدَ بِسَنَدِ لَيُزِر، وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ،
وَلَهُ شَاهِدٌ ضَعِيفٌ عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللّٰهُ
تَعَالَى عَنْهُ عِنْدَ أَحْمَدَ.

(۲۹۸) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا وَاللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا وَاللَّهُ يَزِيدُ فِي رَمَضَانَ وَلَا فِي اللَّهِ يَزِيدُ فِي رَمَضَانَ وَلا فِي غَيْرِهِ عَلَى إِخْدَى عَشْرَةً رَخُعَةً، يُصَلِّي أَرْبَعاً، فَلا تَشَالُ عَنْ حُسْنِهِنَّ وَطُولِهِنَّ، ثُمَّ يُصَلِّي يُصَلِّي أَرْبَعاً، فَلا تَشَالُ عَنْ حُسْنِهِنَّ وَطُولِهِنَّ، ثُمَّ يُصَلِّي أَرْبَعاً، فَلا تَشَالُ عَنْ حُسْنِهِنَّ وَطُولِهِنَّ، ثُمَّ يُصَلِّي اللَّهُ أَنْفَلُتُ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ أَتَنَامُ قَبْلَ أَنْ تُوتِزَ؟ قَالَ: يَا عَائِشَهُ! إِنَّ اللَّهُ وَتِزَ؟ قَالَ: يَا عَائِشَهُ! إِنَّ عَنْهَ عَلَيْهِ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

وَفِي رِوَاتِهَ لَّهُمَّا عَنْهَا رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا كَانَ يُصَلِّي مِنَ اللَّبْلِ عَشْرَ رَكْعَاتٍ، وَيُوثِرُ يِسَجْدَةٍ، وَيَرْكُمُ رَكْعَتَيِ الفَجْرِ، فَيْلُكَ ثَلَاكَ

after the 'Ishā' prayer.

^[1] He is Abû Ibrahim 'Amr bin Shu'aib bin 'Abdullāh bin 'Amr bin Al-'Aas As-Sahmi Al-Qurashi Al-Madani who settled at Ta'if. An-Nasā'i confirmed him reliable. He died in the year 118 H.

^[2] One of the reliable *Tābi'in*. It has been said that his father Muhammad died in his childhood, so his grandfather 'Abdullāh bin 'Amr, the famous *Sabābi* brought him up. And it has been established that he actually heard the *Hadātb* from him, so it is neither *Munqati'* nor *Mursal*, but a *Muttasil* which does not go below the grade of *Hasan* (good).

^[3] He is Abū Sahl the *Qadi* of Marw who was one of the most reliable and prominent *Tābi'in* of the third grade. He died in Marw in the year 115 H.

عَشْرَةً .

used to pray the two (Sunnab) Rak'at of Fajr, so that it became thirteen^[1] Rak'at."

299. Narrated ('Aisha) \$: Allāh's Messenger \$\mathbb{g}\$ used to pray thirteen \$Rak'at\$ during the night, offering a \$Witr\$ out of that with five and sitting only during the last of them. [Agreed upon].

300. Narrated ('Aisha) **\&**: Allāh's Messenger **\&** offered *Witr* prayer (on different nights) at various hours, extending (from the *Ishā'* prayer) up to the last hour of the night. [Agreed upon].

301. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin 'Amr bin Al-'Aas &: Allāh's Messenger & told me, "O 'Abdullāh! Do not be like so-and-so who used to be awake in the night for prayer and then gave it up." [Agreed upon].

302. Narrated 'Ali bin Abi Tālib 毒: Allāh's Messenger 繧 said, "O people of the Qur'ān! offer Witr (prayer), because Allāh is Witr (One)^[2] and loves Witr." (Reported by Al-Khamsa and Ibn Khuzaima graded it Sabib (authentic)].

303. Narrated Ibn 'Umar \(\bar{\pi} \): The Prophet \(\bar{\pi} \) said, "Make the last of your prayer at night \(Witr \) (an odd number) \(\bar{\pi} \) [Agreed upon].

(٢٩٩) وَعَنْهَا رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا فَالَثُ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يُصَلِّي مِنَ اللَّيْلِ ثَلَاثَ عَشْرَةَ رَكْمَةً، يُوتِرُ مِنْ ذَلِكَ بِخَمْسٍ، لَا يَجْلِسُ فِي شَيْءٍ إِلَّا فِي آخِرِهَا.

(٣٠٠) وَعَنْهَا رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا فَالنَّـ:
 مِنْ كُلِّ اللَّيْلِ قَدْ أَوْتَرَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ، فَانْتُهَى
 وِثْرُهُ إِلَى السَّحْرِ. مُثَقَّنَ عَلَيْهِمَا.

(٣٠١) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِرَ عَمْرِو بْنِرِ الْعَاصِرِ رَضِيَ اللّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ لِي رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ وَاللّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ لِي رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ مَنْنَ فَلَانٍ ، كَانَ يَتُومُ مِنَ اللّبْلِ. . مُتَقَنَّ يَتُومُ مِنَ اللّبْلِ. ». مُتَقَنَّ عَلَه.

(٣٠٣) وَعَنْ عَلِيٍّ بْنِ أَبِي طَالِبٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿أَوْنِرُوا يَا أَهْلَ القُرْآنِ! فَإِنَّ اللَّهَ وِنْرُ، يُجِبُّ الوِنْرَ». رَوَاهُ الخَمْسُةُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ خُزِيْمَةً.

(٣٠٣) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَهُمَا ، عَن اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا ، عَن اللَّبِي ﷺ قَالَ: «اجْعَلُوا آخِرَ صَلَاتِكُمْ بِاللَّيْل وثراً». مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْه.

^[1] There is a difference of opinion as to whether the *Tabajjud* (night prayer) comprises of eleven or thirteen *Rak'at*. Eleven are agreed upon and thirteen are in disagreement. The fact is that the Prophet 醬 sometimes offered eleven *Rak'at* prayer of *Tabajjud* including the *Witr* and sometimes thirteen *Rak'at*.

 $^{^{[2]}}$ It alludes to the Qualities of Alläh the Almighty, i.e. He is Unique in His Qualities. ليس كمثله "There is nothing like (equal to) Him."

^[3] According to some narrations, the Prophet ## used to offer two Rak'at of Nafl after Witr prayers and hence is exempted from repeating the Witr. Some observe that one should offer two Rak'at of the Nafl prayer in the later part of night in case he offers his Witr during the earlier part of it. If he does the Witr in the later part of the night, he need not offer that Nafl prayer.

304. Narrated Talq bin 'Ali ... I heard Allāh's Messenger saying, "There are no two Witr (prayers) during one night." [Reported by Ahmad and Atb-Tbalatba and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

305. Narrated Ubai bin Ka'b^[1] &: Allāh's Messenger Æ recited in Witr prayer Sūrat Al-A'la^[2] (in the first Rak'at), Sūrat Al-Kāfirūn (in the second Rak'at) and Sūrat Al-Ikblās (in the third Rak'at). [Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i]. The latter added, "And he did not say the Taslīm (salutation) except in the last (Rak'at) of them."

Abū Dā'ud and At-Tirmidhi report something similar from 'Aisha & that Allāh's Messenger & used to recite a Sūrat in every Rak'at and in the last (third) Rak'at he would recite Qul Huwa Allabu Abad (Sūrat Al-Ikblās) and Al-Mu'awwidbatain^[3].

306. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri &: The Prophet & said, "Offer Witr prayer before it is morning." [Reported by Muslim].

Ibn Hibbān has: 'whosoever reaches the dawn, and he did not offer *Witr*, then there is no *Witr* for him '^[4]

(٣٠٤) وَعَنْ طَلْقِر بْنِ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَلَيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ عَنْهُ قَالَ: لَا عَنْهُ قَالَ: لَا يَشِيْهُ يَقُولُ: لَا وَثِرُانِ فِي لَلِلَةٍ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالثَّلَاثُهُ، وَصَحَّمَهُ

(٣٠٥) وَعَنْ أُبِيّ بْنِ كَفْبِ رَضِيَ اللّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَى اللّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يُوثِرُ بِ اسْبَحِ السُبّحِ السُبّحِ السُبّحِ السُبّحِ السُّمَ رَبِّكَ الأَغْلَى، وَاقُلُ يَا أَيُّهَا الكَافِرُونَ، وَاقُلُ هُوَ اللّهُ أَحَدُهُ رَوَّاهُ أَحْمَدُ رَأَبُو دَاوُدُ وَالْهُمُ إِلّا فِي آخِدِهِنَّ. وَاللّهُ يَالِمُ إِلّا فِي آخِدِهِنَّ.

وَلَابِي دَاوُدَ وَالتَّرْمِذِيِّ نَحْوُهُ عَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، وَفِيهِ: كُلُّ سُورَةٍ فِي رَكْمَةٍ، وَفِي الأَخِيدِرَةِ ﴿قُـلُ هُــوَ اللهُ أَحَــدٌ، وَقِالْمُعَةُ ذَتُكَ. ٩.

(٣٠٦) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُنْدِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿أَوْيَرُوا قَبْلَ أَنْ تُصْبِحُوا ۗ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

وَلاِبْنِ حِبَّانَ: مَنْ أَدْرَكَ الصَّبْحَ وَلَمْ يُوتِرْ، فَلَا وثُرَلَهُ.

¹¹ He is an Ansāri a Najjāri and Khazraji and was nicknamed Abū Al-Mundhir. He was the master of the Qur'ān scholars and one of the scribes of the Waby (the Qur'ānic revelation). He was also one of those who had collected the Qur'ān and gave Fatuva (legal verdict) during the lifetime of Allāh's Messenger £6. He participated in the second 'Aqaba, Badr and the battles that followed. The year of his death has been disagreed on as being 19 H., 20 H., 22 H., 30 H., 32 H., or 33 H.

^[2] Sūrat no. 87.

^[3] Sūrat no. 113, 114.

^[4] This Hadith tells us that the time of Witr ends at the beginning of dawn and as long the time is gone, they have not been offered in accordance with the Prophet's Sunnah and this is what this Hadith implies. It does not mean that if one could not incidentally offer the Witr until morning, he should not offer it at all. An incident concerning one of the Companions of the Prophet sis reported in a Hadith stating that once he slept and got up very late. He sent out his slave to ascertain whether or not the congregational prayer had been offered by

307. Narrated (Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri) &: Allāh's Messenger said, "Whoever oversleeps and misses the Witr, or forgets it, should pray (when he awakens) in the morning^[1] or when he remembers." [Reported by Al-Khamsa except An-Nasā'i].

308. Narrated Jābir &: Allāh's Messenger said, "If anyone is afraid that he may not get up in the latter part of the night, he should offer Witr in the first part of it; and if anyone expects to get up in the last part of it, he should offer Witr at the end of the night, for prayer at the end of the night is witnessed (by the angels) and that is preferable." [Reported by Muslim].

309. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: The Prophet said, "When the dawn breaks, then the time of all night prayers including the *Witr* is over, so observe the *Witr* before dawn." [Reported by At-Tirmidhi].

310. Narrated 'Aisha \$: Allāh's Messenger 經 used to pray four^[2] Rak'at in Duba prayer and increase (the number of Rak'at) as much as Allāh willed.'' [Reported by Muslim]. (٣٠٧) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَنْ نَامَ عَنِ الوِثْرِ أَوْ نَسِيَهُ، فَلْيُصَلُّ إِذَا أَصْبَحَ أَوْ ذَكَرً». رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ إِلَّا النَّسَائِئَ.

(٣٠٨) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «مَنْ خَافَ أَنْ لَّا يَقُومَ مِنْ آخِرِ اللَّيْلِرِ فَلْيُويْزُ أَوَّلُهُ، وَمَنْ طَمِعَ أَنْ يَقُومَ آخِرَهُ فَلْيُويْزُ آخِرَ اللَّيْلِرِ، فَإِنَّ صَلَاةً آخِرِ اللَّيْلِرِ، مَشْهُودَةٌ، وَذَلِكَ أَفْصَلُ*. رَوَاهُ لُسْلِمٌ.

(٣٠٩) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿إِذَا طَلَعَ الفَجُرُ، وَقَلْمَ لَمُنَا اللَّبِلِ، والوثِر، فَقَدْ ذَهَبَ وقُتُ كُلِّ صَلَاةِ اللَّيلِ، والوثِر، فَقَرْوا قَبْلُ طُلُوعِ الفَجْرِ». رَوَاهُ النَّرْمِذِيُ.

(٣١٠) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يُصَلِّي الضَّحَى أَرْبَعاً، وَيَزِيدُ مَا شَاءَ اللَّهُ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

that time. The slave came back answering in affirmative. Upon knowing this, he offered Witr first, then Sunnah, and then the Fard (obligatory) prayer of the morning. It is thus known that if someone could not offer Witr during the specified time limit, he may offer them as Qada (missed) prayers later on. The Prophet 🕸 vigorously emphasized that one must offer Witr prayer at the specified time without fail, and the ones whom he thought may not get up early enough in the morning, he used to instruct them that they should offer Witr at night. Hence he instructed Abū Hurair a without pray in that he must offer his Witr at night.

[11] One should know that should someone miss a prayer out of a sincere oblivion or due to having fallen asleep, he shall not be brought to account in both these cases; and also that he shall get an equal amount of reward as if he had offered a prayer on time. However, it is prohibited to go to sleep at such a time when the time of a certain prayer is about to approach. In case such a thing happens inadvertently and beyond one's capability and control, one shall not be blamed for it.

[2] Let it be known that Isbrāq, Salātul-Awwabīn and Duba are different names that stand for identically the same forenoon prayer. The time of this prayer starts with the sunrise and goes on until one-fourth of the day. The least number of Rak'at of Duba prayer are two and the maximum are twelve. The preferable among them are four which is supported and approved by the Abadīth of the Prophet §. It may also be remembered that this prayer is a Sunnab of

In another narration of Muslim from her: ('Aisha) & was asked, "Did Allāh's Messenger

ge use to offer the *Duba* prayer?" She replied, "No, unless he came back from a journey."

311. Narrated Zaid bin Arqam &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "The prayer of those who are penitent is offered when the young weaned camels feel the heat of the sand [2]." [Reported by At-Tirmidhi].

312. Narrated Anas 泰: Allāh's Messenger 霧 said, "Whoever prays twelve *Rak'at* of *Duba*, Allāh will build a castle for him in Paradise." [Reported by At-Tirmidhi who graded it *Gharib* (reported by a single narrator)].

313. Narrated 'Aisha 's: Allāh's Messenger entered my house and prayed eight Rak'at of Duba prayer. [Reported by Ibn Hibbān in his Sabib].

Chapter 10 PRAYER IN CONGREGATION AND THE IMAMATE

314. Narrated 'Abdullah bin 'Umar &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "The prayer offered in congregation is twentyseven^[3] degrees more rewardable than وَلَهُ عَنْهَا أَنَّهَا شُئِلَتْ: هَلْ كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يُصَلِّى الضَّحَى؟ قَالَتْ: لَا إِلَّا أَن يَجِيءَ مِن منسه.

وَلَهُ عَنْهَا: مَا رَأَيْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يُصَلِّي سُبْحَةَ الضُّحَى قَطُّ، وَإِنِّي لأَسَبِّحُهَا.

(٣١١) وَعَنْ زَيْدِ بْنِ أَرْقَمَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: «صَلَاةُ الأَوَّالِمِينَ حِينَ تَرْمَصُ الفِصَالُ». زَوَاه التَّزْمِذِيُّ.

(٣١٣) وَعَنْ أَنْسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَنْ صَلَّى الشَّحَى لِنْتَيْ عَشْرَةً رَكْمَةً، بَنَى اللَّهُ لَهُ قَصْراً فِي الجَنَّهِ». زَدَاهُ التَّامِنْجُ، وَاسْتَغْرَهُ.

(٣١٣) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: دَخَلَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ بَبَتِي، فَصَلَّى الشُّحَى نَمَانِيَ رَكَعَاتٍ. رَوَاهُ ابْنُ جِبَّانَ فِي

١٠ - بَابُ صَلاةِ الجَمَاعَةِ وَالْإِمَامَةِ

(٣١٤) عَنْ عَنْدِ اللهِ بْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللهُ تَعَالَى
 عَنْهُمَا أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: صَلَاةُ الجَمَاعَةِ أَفْضَلُ مِنْ صَلَاةً الجَمَاعَةِ أَفْضَلُ مِنْ صَلَاةً الجَمَاعَةِ

as well as being Mustabab (desirable). As to the matter of this prayer being called a Bid'a (innovation) by 'Umar رضي الله عنى, it only alludes to the fact that if someone develops a habit of continually offering it, it may be regarded as an innovation, as the Prophet ﷺ did not always offer it.

^[1] Though this *Hadīth* and the two preceding it seem to contradict one another, they however indicate that *Duba* is a voluntary prayer as confirmed by the *Hadīth* scholars.

^[2] This *Hadīth* indicates that the best time of *Duha* prayer is just before noon.

^[3] In the forthcoming narrations, the reward is reported to be as great as 25 times. It

a prayer offered by a single person." [Agreed upon].

Both Al-Bukhāri and Muslim have also reported through Abū Huraira (秦): "Twenty-five degrees (more)." Likewise, Al-Bukhāri reported from Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri: "He (鑑) said (the word) Daraia (degree)."

315. Narrated Abū Huraira 🦡: Allāh's Messenger 鑑 said, "By Him in Whose Hand my soul is, I have thought of giving orders for fuel wood to be gathered, then giving orders for Salāt (prayer) and having the Adban called, then ordering a man to lead the people (in prayer), then going off to some people (men) who are not present at the prayer and burning down^[1] their houses upon them. By Him in Whose Hand my soul is, if one of them knew he would find a fat meaty bone or two fine sheep hooves he would attend the 'Isbā' (evening prayer)." [Agreed upon, and the wording is that of Al-Bukhāri).

316. Narrated (Abū Huraira) **4**: Allāh's Messenger **2** said, "The most burdensome prayers for hypocrites^[2] are the 'Isbā' and the Fajr prayers and if they knew what (rewards) these (prayers) contain, they would have come to them (in the mosques), even though they had to crawl on their knees." [Agreed upon].

مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ. وَلَهُمَا عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ: (بخَمْس وَعِشْرِينَ

ولهها عن بهي حريره. جزءًا» وَكَذَا لِلْبُخَارِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدٍ، وَقَالَ: (دَرَجَةً».

(٣٦٥) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ،

أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿ وَالَّذِي نَفْسِي بِيدِهِ،

لَقَدْ هَمَمْتُ أَنْ آمُرَ بِحَطَب فَيُخْطَب، نُمُ آمُرَ

بِالصَّلَاةِ وَيُؤَذِّنَ لَهَا، ثُمَّ آمُرَ رَجُلاً فَيُؤُمَّ النَّاس،

مُمَّ أَخَالِفَ إِلَى رِجَال لَا يَأْخِدُونَ الصَّلاة فَمُ أَخْرَقُ عَلَيْهِمْ بَيُوتَهُمْ، وَالَّذِي نَفْسِي بِيدِهِ لَوْ يَعْمَاتِين نَفْسِي بِيدِهِ لَوْ يَعْمَاتُ عَرْقاً صَوِيناً، أَوْ مِرْمَاتِين يَعْمَلُهُ عَدْدُهُ اللِّمُظُلِّي عَلَيْه، وَاللَّفظُ حَدَيْق عَلَيْه، وَاللَّفظُ حَدَيْق، وَاللَّفظُ حَدَيْق، وَاللَّفظُ عَلَيْه، وَاللَّفظُ عَلَيْه، وَاللَّفظُ وَلَا يَعْمَلُون اللَّهُ لَهُ يَعِدُ وَاللَّهُ الْمُؤْمِدُ الْمِثْمَاتِه، مُثَمِّقٌ عَلَيْه، وَاللَّفظُ وَاللَّهُ وَالْمُونَ الْسَالُ وَالْمُؤْلِقُونُ الْمُؤْلِقُ وَالْمُؤْلِقُونُ الْمُؤْلِقُ وَالْمُؤْلِقُ وَالْمُؤْلِقُ وَالْمُؤْلِقُونِ وَاللَّهُ وَالْمُؤْلِقُ وَالْمُؤْلِقُ وَالْمُؤْلِقُ وَالْمُؤْلِقُ وَالْمُؤْلِقُ وَالْمِثْمُ اللَّهُ وَالْمُؤْلِقُ وَالْمُؤْلِقُ وَالْمُؤْلِقُ وَالْمُؤْلِقُ وَالْمُؤْلِقُ وَالْمُؤْلِقُ وَالْمُؤْلِقُ وَلَيْنَافِلُونُ اللْمُؤْلِقُ وَالْمُؤْلِقُ وَالْمُؤْ

(٣١٦) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَصُولُ اللهِ ﷺ وَالْمُنَافِقِينَ صَلَاةً الطِّلَاةِ عَلَى المُنَافِقِينَ صَلَاةً الطِشَاءِ وَصَلَاةً الفَجْرِ، وَلَوْ يَغْلَمُونَ مَا فِيهِمَا لأَنُوهُمَا وَلَوْ خَبُواً. مُثَمَّنٌ عَلَيْهِ.

depends on the caliber of the one offering the prayer. The one who is highly graded acquires it 27 times more and the one who is comparatively lower-graded, is only eligible for 25 times more. [The scholars have offered a number of explanations for this difference in number].

^[1] We are informed through this *Hadith* that offering of a prayer in congregation is *Fard 'Ain* (individual duty)." Had it been merely *Fard Kifāya* (collective duty) or *Sunnat Mu'akkada* (regularly practiced), the Prophet would not have used such harsh words for the people who shun attending congregational prayers.

^[2] All of the prayers are a burden upon the hypocrite, except that the 'Isha and Fajr prayers are the most difficult. This is because the hypocrite attends the mosque merely for the purpose of being seen, while he does not believe in the promised reward for the worship of Allah. Hence, the prayer at these two times of darkness, when he will not be seen – 'Isha, when one normally rests, and Fajr, when one normally is enjoying sleep – is the most difficult to attend in the mosque.

317. Narrated (Abū Huraira) 48: blind[1] man came to the Prophet # and said, "O Messenger of Allah, I have no guide to take me to the mosque." He (the Prophet 變) therefore permitted him (to pray at his house). then when the man turned away the Prophet & called him and asked, "Can you hear the Adban (call) for prayer?" He answered, "Yes". He (the Prophet said. "Then respond to it." [Reported by Muslim].

318. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: Allāh's Messenger said, "Whoever hears^[2] the call for prayer and and does not come (to the mosque for prayer), his prayer will not be accepted from him, unless he has a (legitimate) excuse." [Reported by Ibn Mājah, Ad-Dāraqutni, Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim. Its chain of narration meets Muslim's conditions, but some *Hadūtb* scholars held that the stronger view is that it is *Mawqūf* (saying of a Companion)].

319. Narrated Yazid bin Al-Aswad^[3] He offered the morning prayer with Allāh's Messenger 饗 and when Allāh's Messenger 饗 finished his prayer, he saw two men who had not prayed with him. He ordered them to be brought and they were brought trembling^[4] (٣٦٧) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: أَنَّى النَّبِيَّ ﷺ رَجُلُ أَغْمَى فَقَالَ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنَّهُ لَيْسَ لِي قَائِدٌ يَتُودُنِي إِلَّهُ لَيْسَ لِي قَائِدٌ يَتُودُنِي إِلَى المُسْجِدِ، فَرَخَّصَ لَهُ، فَلَمَّا وَلَى دَعَاهُ فَقَالَ: هَمْ تَسْمَعُ النَّذَآة بِالصَّلَاةِ؟» قَالَ: نَمَمْ، قَالَ: هَمْ مَنْالِمَ هُوَالَ: هَمْ مَالَة مُنْالِمٌ.

(٣٦٨) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، عَن اللَّبِيِّ عَلَى عَنْهُمَا، عَن اللَّبِيِّ عَلَى عَنْهُمَا، عَن اللَّبَيْ عَلَى اللَّهَاء فَلَمْ يَأْت فَلَا عَنْهُمْ. رَوَاهُ ابْنُ مَاجَهُ وَاللَّارَقُطْنِيُّ وَابْنُ جَبَّانَ وَالحَاكِمُ، وَإِسْنَادُهُ عَلَى شَرْطِ مُسْلِم، لَكِن رَجَّع بَعْضُهُمْ وَقَفْهُ.

(٣٦٩) وَعَنْ يَزِيدَ بْنِ الْأَسْوَدِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُ صَلَّى مَعَ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ صَلَاةً الشَّمْحِ، فَلَمَّا صَلَّى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ إِذَا هُوَ يَرِجُلْنِرَ لَمْ يُصَلِّلُهَا، فَدَعًا بِهِمًا، فَجِيءَ بِهِمًا، ثُرُّعَدُ فَرَائِصُهُمًا، فَقَالَ لَهُمَا: "مَا مَتَكَكُمًا أَنْ

^[1] This blind person was none other than 'Abdullāh bin Umm Maktum. After the instructions of the Prophet 囊, he attended the mosque with such a constant regularity that he was at last appointed a *Mu'adhdbin* (the call-maker for prayer). As long as a handicapped person is ordered strictly to attend the congregational prayer, what about those who fail to attend congregational prayers without any excuse? The prayer of a handicapped person is acceptable at home, but he too does not get the reward of congregation.

^[2] This *Hadāth* shows that it is obligatory for one who hears the *Adhān* (call to prayer) to respond, by attending the prayer in the mosque. As long as one has heard it, there is no excuse to be absent. Other excuses are: a hurricane, a rainfall, an extreme hunger, defectation, urination and suffering from sickness, etc., which are acceptable excuses for not joining the congregational prayer.

^[3] He is Abu Jābir As-Sawāi Al-'Aamirī who was an ally of Quraish. He was a Sabābi who settled at Ta'if and this is the only Hadith from him by his son Jābir.

^[4] Their bodies started quivering (a tremor seized them) due to a tremendous amount of awe and fear inspired by the personality of the Prophet & as the same normally happens

with fear. He asked them what had prevented you from praying with us?" They said, "We had already prayed at our homes." He said, "Don't do so! If you pray at your homes and then you come while the *Imām* has not yet performed the prayer, you must pray with him, and it will be an voluntary prayer for you." [Reported by Ahmad – with his wording – and *Ath-Thalātha*. At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Hibbān graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

320. Narrated Abū Huraira 🚓: Allāh's Messenger 鑑 said, "The Imām has been appointed to be followed (in the congregational prayers). So, when he utters the Takbir, utter the Takbir too, and do not utter the Takhir until he utters it. When he bows, you should bow, and do not bow until he bows. When he says, "Allah listens to him who praises him," say, "O Allāh, our Rabb, to you is the praise." When he prostrates, you prostrate; and do not prostrate until he prostrates. If he prays standing, pray standing, and if he prays sitting, all of you pray sitting." [1] [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and the wording is his; and its basic meaning is in the Sabibain (of Al-Bukhāri and Muslim)].

321. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri &: When Allāh's Messenger saw a tendency among his Companions of going to the back he said, "Come forward and follow my lead and let those behind you follow you." [Reported by Muslim].

نُصُلِّنَا مَعَنَا؟ قَالَا: قَدْ صَلَّئِنَا فِي رِحَالِنَا، قَالَ: «فَلَا تَفْعَلَا، إِذَا صَلَئِتُمَا فِي رِحَالِكُمَا ثُمَّ أَدْرَكُتُمَا الإِمَامُ وَلَمْ يُصَلِّ فَصَلِّنَا مَعُهُ، فَإِنَّهَا لَكُمَا نَافِلَةً». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ، وَاللَّفْظُ لَهُ، وَالثَّلاثَةُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ التَّرْمِذِي وَابْنُ جِبَّانَ.

(٣٧٠) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ وَإِنَّمَا جُمِلَ الإِمَامُ وَاللَّهَ يَعْلَ الإِمَامُ لِيُؤْمَّةً بِهِ، فَإِذَا كَبَّرَ فَكَبُرُوا، وَلَا تُرْكَعُوا حَتَّى يُكْبَرُوا، وَلَا تَرْكُعُوا حَتَّى يُرْكَعُ، وَإِذَا قَالَ: ﴿سَمِعَ اللَّهُ لِمَنْ حَمِدَهُ وَقُولُوا: ﴿اللَّهُمُ رَبَّنَا لَكَ الحَمْدُهُ وَإِذَا سَجَدَ فَقُولُوا: ﴿اللَّهُمُ رَبَّنَا لَكَ الحَمْدُهُ وَإِذَا سَجَدَ مَإِذَا صَلَّى قَائِماً فَصُلُوا حَتَّى يَسْجُدُ، وَإِذَا صَلَّى قَاعِداً فَصُودًا أَجْمَعِينَ ﴿ . وَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَهَذَا فَصَلَّوا فَيَاماً ، وَإِذَا صَلَّى قَاعِداً فَمُوداً أَجْمَعِينَ ﴿ . وَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَهَذَا لَنَظُولُهُ وَأَصْلُهُ فِي الصَّحِيخِينِ . وَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَهَذَا لَنَظِيمُ وَاللَّهُ وَالْمَاهُ فِي الصَّحِيخِينِ .

(٣٢١) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ زَأَى فِي أَصْحَابِهِ تَأَخُّراً، فَقَالَ: ' تَقَدَّمُوا، فالتَّمُّوا بِي، وَلْيَأْتُمَّ بِكُمْ مَنْ بَعْدَكُمْ". رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

due to a shocking fright.

^[1] This ruling now stands cancelled. The Prophet ﷺ did lead the prayer in a sitting posture when he suffered from the fatal illness pursuant to which he passed away, while those following him offered the prayer in the normal standing position.

^[2] This *Hadith* may be cited as an evidence concerning the *Muqtadi* (followers in a prayer) who may see an *Imām*, but cannot possibly hear him. Such followers must pursue other followers (who are ahead of them in line). We are also enlightened about the fact that the

322. Narrated Zaid bin Thābit &: Allāh's Messenger ## made a small room of a mat [i.e. he used it to designate a space for prayer] and prayed inside it. The people followed him, and they came to pray behind him. [1] The narrator mentioned the rest of the *Hadīth*, and it contains the words: "The most excellent prayer of a person is (that which he prays) in his house except that which is prescribed (the five congregational prayers)." [Agreed upon].

323. Narrated Jābir &: Mu'ādh bin Jabal & led his companions in the Al-Isba (night prayer) and prolonged it for them. Upon this the Prophet

sea said to him, "O Mu'ādh, do you want to become a Fattan^[2]? When you lead people in prayers^[3], recite Asb-Shamsi wa dubābā^[4], Sabbibisma Rabbikal-A'la^[5], Iqra' Bismi Rabbika^[6] and Wal-Laili idba yagbsbā^[7]." [Agreed upon. And the wording is from Muslim]. [8]

(٣٢٧) وَعَنْ زَيْدِ بْنِرِ ثَايِسْرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَى اللهِ اللهِ عَلَمُ حُجْرَةً مُخْرَقًةً مَنْ فَقَالَى اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ عَلَمْ اللهِ اللهِ وَجَالٌ، وَجَالُهُ المَحْلُونَةِ بَيْدِهِ، إِلَّا المَحْلُونَةَ المَرْهِ فِي بَيْدِهِ، إِلَّا المَحْلُونَةَ المَرْهِ فِي بَيْدِهِ، إِلَّا المَحْلُونَةَ المَرْهِ فِي بَيْدِهِ، إِلَّا المَحْلُونَةَ المَرْهُ فِي بَيْدِهِ، إِلَّا المَحْلُونَةَ المَرْهُ فِي بَيْدِهِ، إِلَّا المَحْلُونَةَ المَرْهُ فِي بَيْدِهِ اللهِ المَحْلُونَةَ المَرْهِ فِي بَيْدِهِ اللهِ المَحْلُونَةَ المَالُونِ المَحْلُونَةَ المَالُهُ المَحْلُونَةَ المَالُهُ المَحْلُونَةَ المَالُونُ المَحْلُونَةَ اللهِ المَحْلُونَةَ المَالُونُ اللّهِ المَحْلُونَةَ المَالُونُ اللهِ اللهِ المَحْلُونَةَ اللّهُ اللّهِ اللّهُ الللّهُ الللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ

(٣٢٣) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: صَلَّى مُعَادُ فَالَنَاء، فَطَوَّلَ عَلَيْهِم، صَلَّى مُعَادُ فَالَمَاء، فَطَوَّلَ عَلَيْهِم، فَقَالَ النَّبِي ﷺ: «أَثْرِيهُ أَنْ تَكُونَ يَا مُعَادُ فَتَاناً؟ إِذَا أَمَمْتَ النَّاسَ فَاقْرَأُ «بِالشَّمْسِ وَصُحَامًا» وَ«سَبِّحِ اسْمَ رَبَّكَ الأَعْلَى، وَ«أَقْرَأُ بِالشَمِرِ رَبُّكَ الأَعْلَى، وَ«أَقْرَأُ بِالشَمِرِ رَبُّكَ الأَعْلَى، وَاللَّيْلِ إِذَا يَغْمَى، مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْه، وَاللَّيْلُ إِذَا يَغْمَى، مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْه، وَاللَّيْلُ إِذَا يَغْمَى، مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْه، وَاللَّيْلُ إِذَا يَغْمَى، مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْه، وَاللَّفْظُ

front row is the most preferable one and one should eagerly strive for its occupancy, and that the second row should not be distant from the first row, and similarly that the first row should not be distant from the *Imām*.

^[1] This *Hadīth* specifies that if there exists a wall or partition or some other distance between the *Imām* and his followers, the prayer still remains valid. Some people do not subscribe to the contents of this *Hadīth* but it's validity should suffice to convince them.

^[2] Meaning: "By lengthening the recitation, do you want to inflict pain upon the people who are being led by you, thereby weaning them off the habit of attending congregational prayers?"

^[3] This Hadith informs us that an Imām, during his prayer, should not lengthen his recitation to such an extent that it should get on the nerves of the followers causing them to shun the congregational prayers. Another Hadith following this one states the reason for not lengthening the recitation. However, it should not be shortened to such a degree wherein one could not even complete the constituents of a prayer. The proper method is that the prayer should be led in a light and moderate way according to the Sunnah of the Prophet 幾.

^[4] Sūrat Ash-Shams, no. 91.

^[5] Sūrat Al-A'la, no. 87

^[6] Sūrat Al-'Alaq, no. 96.

^[7] Sūrat Al-Lail, no. 92.

^[8] Another *Hadith* reports that Mu'ādh رضي الله first used to offer his prayers behind the Prophet 繼, then offered his *Nafl* (voluntary prayers) and then used to lead the prayer in

324. Narrated 'Aisha 像 regarding Allāh's Messenger 鑑 leading the people in Salat (prayer) during his illness. She said, "He came and sat on the left side of Abū Bakr (為). So he (織) was leading the people in prayer while sitting and Abū Bakr standing. Abū Bakr was following the prayer of the Prophet 鑑, and the people were following the prayer of Abū Bakr." [Agreed upon].

325. Narrated Abū Huraira **46**: The Prophet **48** said, "When one of you leads the people in prayer he should be brief, for among them are the young and the old, the weak and those who have needs to attend to. But if he prays by himself he may pray as he wishes." [Agreed upon].

326. Narrated 'Amr bin Salima^[1] (*) My father said, "I have come from the true Prophet *, so when the time of Salat (prayer) comes one of you should announce the Adbān and the one of you who knows the Qur'ān most should be your Imām." He ('Amr) said, "They looked around and there was no one who knew the Qur'ān more than I. [2] So they put me forward in front of them and I was only six or seven [3] years old." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri, Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasāi'].

327. Narrated Ibn Mas'ūd ♣: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "The one who

(٣٢٤) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا،

فِي قِصَّةِ صَلَاةِ رَسُول ِ اللهِ ﷺ بِالنَّاس ِ وَهُوَ

مَرِيضٌ، قَالَتْ: فَجَاءَ حَتَّى جَلَسَ عَنْ يَسَارِ

أَبِي بَكْرٍ، فَكَانَ يُصَلِّي بِالنَّاسِ جَلَساً، وَأَبُو

بَكْرٍ قَائِماً، يَقْتَدِي أَبُو بَكْرٍ بِصَلَاةِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ،

وَيَقْتَدِي النَّاسُ بِصَلَاةٍ أَبِي بَكْرٍ. مُثَّقَنَّ عَلَيْهِ.

(٣٢٥) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُونِرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ نَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّاسَ أَنَّ النَّاسَ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿إِذَا أَمَّ أَحَدُكُمُ النَّاسَ فَلْلِيَحْفَفْ، فَإِنَّ فِيهِمُ الصَّغِيرَ وَالكَبِيرَ والضَّعِيفَ وَذَا الحَاجَةِ، فَإِذَا صَلَّى وَحْدَهُ فَلْيُصَلِّ كَيْفَ شَاءً. مُثَنَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٣٣٦) وَعَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ سَلِمَةَ قَالَ: قَالَ أَبِي:
جِئْتُكُمْ مِنْ عِنْدِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ حَقًّا، قَالَ: ﴿فَإِذَا
حَضَرَتِ الصَّلَاةُ فَلْيُؤَذَّنُ أَحَدُكُمْ، وَلَيُؤْتَكُمْ
أَكْثُرُكُمْ قُوْآنَاً»، قَالَ: فَنَظُرُوا، فَلَمْ يَكُنْ أَحَدُ
أَكْثَرُ مِنِّي فُوآناً فَقَلَّمُونِي، وَأَنَا اللهِ يَكُنْ أَحَدُ

مَبْمِ سِنِينَ. رَوَاهُ اللّهَ وَيُ وَأَبُو دَاوَدَ وَالنَّمَائِيُّ.

(٣٢٧) وَعَنِ ابْنِ مَسْعُودٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «يَوْمُ القَوْمَ

another mosque. This explains that one could offer his Fard (obligatory prayers) behind the *Imām* who is offering the Nafl (voluntary prayers).

^[1] He is Abū Yazid or Abū Buraid. He came with his father to the Prophet 攤. It is also said that he did not come with his father. He belonged to the tribe of Jurum and settled in Basra.

^[2] This Haditb explains that the most eligible person to be an Imām is the one who possesses more knowledge of Sbari'a (Islamic law). If two people posses the same amount of knowledge, then the more pious one should lead the prayer. Similar criteria have also been mentioned in the narration of Ibn Mas'ūd.

^[5] This explains that a boy, who has not yet reached his puberty, may lead the prayer of an adult, or a group of adults, in case he happens to be more knowledgeable than those adults in the matter concerning and related to Sbart'a (Islamic law).

knows [by recitation and memorization] the Book of Allâh most should be the *Imām* of the people. If they are equal in the recitation, then the one who knows the *Sumnab* most and if they are equal in the *Sumnab* then the earliest of them to emigrate (to Al-Madīnah) and if they are equal in the emigration then the oldest among them in Islam. In another narration it has "agewise". And no man should lead another in prayer in his domain or sit in his place of honor without his permission." (Reported by Muslim).

328. Ibn Mājah reported the following from Jābir's narration, "A woman is never to lead a man in prayer, neither a bedouin (desert Arab) to lead an emigrant, nor a sinner to lead a believer." [Its chain of narrators is Wābin (extremely weak)].

329. Narrated Anas *: Allāh's Messenger said, "Stand close together in your rows^[1], bring them (the rows) near one another, and stand neck to neck (in straight lines)." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i. And Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

330. Narrated Abū Huraira s: Allāh's Messenger said, "The best of the men's rows is the first and the worst is the last; and the best of the women's rows is the last and the worst is the first." [Reported by Muslim].

أَقْرُوُهُمْ لِكِتَابِ اللهِ تَعَالَى، فَإِنْ كَانُوا فِي القِرَاءَةِ سَوَاءً فَأَعْلَمُهُمْ بِالسُّنَّةِ، فَإِنْ كَانُوا فِي القَبْتَةِ، فَإِنْ كَانُوا فِي الشَّنِّةِ، فَإِنْ كَانُوا فِي الشَّبِّةِ سَوَاءً فَأَفْدَمُهُمْ مِجْرَةً، فَإِنْ كَانُوا فِي الهِجْرَةِ سَوَاءً فَأَفْدَمُهُمْ مِلْماً – وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ: هيئًا» – وَلَا يَؤُمَّنُ الرَّجُلُ الرَّجُلُ فِي سُلْطَانِهِ، وَلَا يَقْمُدُ فِي يَبْيِهِ عَلَى تَكْرِمَتِهِ، إلَّا بِإِذْنِهِهُ. رَوَاهُ

(٣٣٨) وَلا يُنرِ مَاجَهُ مِنْ حَدِيثِ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ؛ ﴿وَلَا تَوُمَّنَّ امْرَأَةٌ رَجُلاً، وَلَا أَعْرَابِيُّ مُهَاجِراً، وَلَا فَاجِرٌ مُؤْمِناً»، وَإِسْنَادُهُ وَاوِ.

(٣٢٩) وَعَنْ أَنَسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ اللَّهِ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ اللَّهِ عَنْهُ أَنَّ اللَّهِ عَنْهُ أَنَّ اللَّهِ عَنْهُ أَنَّ اللَّهِ عَنْهُ أَنُو رَبُوا اللَّمْ عَنْهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالْوَدُوا بِالأَعْنَاقِيِّ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالْمَدُعُهُ أَبْنُ حِبَّانَ.

(٣٣٠) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿خَيْرُ صَفُوفِ الرَّجَالِ أَوْلُهَا، وَشَرُّهَا آخِرُهَا، وَخَيْرُ صَفُوفِ ِ النَّسَاءِ آخِرُهَا، وَشَرُّهَا أَوْلُهَا». وَرَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

^[1] It is reported in Sabibain that the Prophet 鑑 addressed people (with his face facing them) and directed them to straighten their rows or Allāh will create discord within your hearts. The narrator tells us that he has observed people during congregational prayers to the effect that they used to join their ankles and arms close to each other. The Prophet 藝 has said, swearing by Allāh the Almighty, that if the prayer rows become sparsely spread, he can visualize Satan therein. In addition to this, there are many Abadītb related to the proper decorum of the rows for the prayer.

^[2] The last row of men is bad since they have been deprived of the priority and benefit belonging to the first row. The last row of women is better as they are farthest away from the possibility of mixing with men. In case it is an all female gathering and the congregational prayer is also led by a woman, then the same ruling applies on them. (The first row of

331. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās 🞄: "I prayed (the night Tabajjud prayer) with Allah's Messenger & one night and I stood on his left side, whereupon he took me by the back of my head and made me go round to his right side. [Agreed upon].

332. Narrated Anas 🚓: Allāh's Messenger g prayed and an orphan and I[1] prayed behind him and Umm Sulaim & was behind us[2]. [Agreed upon and the wording is Al-Bukhāri's].

333. Narrated Abū Bakra (48): He reached the Prophet & while he was bowing, so he (Abu Bakra) bowed before reaching the row. He mentioned that to the Prophet 2 and the Prophet asaid to him, "May Allah increase your eagerness! But do not repeat[3]." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri]. And Abū Da'ud added: "He bowed before reaching the row then walked and ioined the row."

334. Narrated Wābisa bin Ma'bad^[4] Allāh's Messenger # saw a man praying alone behind the row so he ordered him to repeat the Salāt (prayer). [Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and At-Tirmidhi. The latter graded it Hasan, and Ibn Hibban graded it Sabib (authentic)].

(٣٣١) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: صَلَّيْتُ مَعَ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ ذَاتَ لَيْلَةِ، فَقُمْتُ عَن يَسَارِهِ، فَأَخَذَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ بِرَأْسِي مِنْ وَّرَائِي، فَجَعَلَنِي عَنْ يَمِينِهِ، مُتَّفَقُ

(٣٣٢) وَعَنْ أَنَس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: صَلَّى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ، فَقُمْتُ أَنَا وَتَسَمُّ خَلْفَهُ، وَأُمُّ سُلَيْمِ خَلْفَنَا. مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفْظُ لِلْبُخَارِيُّ.

(٣٣٣) وَعَنْ أَبِي بَكْرَةَ أَنَّهُ ٱنْتَهَى إِلَى النَّبِيِّ ﷺ وَهُوَ رَاكِعٌ، فَرَكَعَ قَبْلَ أَنْ يَصِلَ إِلَى الصَّفّ، ثم مَشَى إلى الصفِّ وَذَكَرَ ذَلِكَ لِلنَّبِي عَلَى، فَقَالَ لَهُ - النَّبِيُّ عِلَيْهِ -: ﴿ زَادَكَ اللَّهُ حِرْصاً ، وَلَا تَعُدُهُ. رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُ، وَزَادَ أَبُو دَاوُدَ فِيهِ: «فَرَكَعَ دُونَ الصَّفِّ، ثُمَّ مَشَى إِلَى الصَّفِّ».

(٣٣٤) وَعَنْ وَابِصَةَ بْنِ مَعْبَدِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ: أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ رَأَى رَجُلاً يُصَلِّى خَلْفَ الصَّفِّ وَحْدَهُ، فَأَمَرَهُ أَنْ يُعدَ الصَّلَاةَ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالتَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَحَسَّنَهُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ اللَّهُ حَاَّلَ.

وَلَهُ عَنْ طَلْق ِ: لَا صَلَاةَ لِمُنْفَرِدٍ خَلْفَ Thn Hibban reported this from Talq

women then gets better than their last row, exactly like men).

^[1] The rule is that the men should form a row first, then the children and then the women. In case there is only one adult and one child, both of them may stand together.

^[2] A lone woman is allowed to pray behind a men's row in the absence of another woman to ioin her.

^[3] May Allāh increase your enthusiasm in performing virtuous deeds but one should not exceed the limits, for example, by racing to enter the prayer. One should proceed to the prayer calmly. [See Hadith no. 335]

^[4] He is an Ansāri from the clan of Asad bin Khuzaima. He was nicknamed Abū Oirsāfa. He first settled at Kūfa then moved to Al-Hīra and died about 90 H.

(bin 'Ali &): "The prayer of a person who prays alone behind the row is not accepted⁽¹⁾". And At-Tabarāni added to the narration of Wābisa, "Why did you not join them or pull back a man (to your position)?"

335. Narrated Abū Huraira . The Prophet said, "If you hear the Iqāma, you must walk to the prayer (place) with tranquillity and dignity, and do not hasten; and whatever portion of the prayer you get^[2] (along with the Imām) offer it, and complete afterwards whatever you missed. [Agreed upon, and the wording is Al-Bukhāri's].

336. Narrated 'Ubai bin Ka'b 泰: Allāh's Messenger 義 said, "A man's prayer offered with another man is purer than his prayer which he offers alone, and his prayer with two men is purer than his prayer with one and if they are more (in number), it is more beloved to Allah, the Mighty the Majestic." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i. And Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

337. Narrated Umm Waraqa^[3] ★: The Prophet ★ commanded her to lead the members of her household^[4] (in prayer). [Reported by Abū Dā'ud; Ibn Khūzaima graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

الصَّفُّ. وَزَادَ الطَّبَرَانِيُّ فِي حَدِيثِ وَابِصَةَ: أَلَا دَخَلْتُ مَعَهُمْ أَوِ اجْتَرَرْتُ رَجُلاً؟

(٣٣٥) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَن النَّبِيِّ ﷺ: الإِنَّا سَمِعْتُمُ اللَّبِيِّ ﷺ: الإِنَّامَةَ فَآمُسُوا إِلَى الصَّلَاةِ، وَعَلَيْكُمُ السَّكِينَةُ وَالوَقَارُ، وَلَا تُشْرِعُوا، فَمَا أَذْرَكُتُمْ فَصَلُوا، وَمَا فَاتَكُمْ فَاتَلُوا، وَمَا فَاتَكُمْ فَأَيْمُوا، مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ. واللَّفْظُ وَلَا يَلْبُخَارِيْ.

(٣٣٦) وَعَنْ أَبَيِّ بْنِ كَغْبِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَشُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "صَلَاهُ الرَّجُلِ مَعَ الرَّجُلِ وَصَلَاهُ الرَّجُلِ وَصَلَاهُ مَعَ الرَّجُلِينِ أَزْكَى مِنْ صَلَاتِهِ مَعَ الرَّجُلِينِ أَزْكَى مِنْ صَلَاتِهِ مَعَ الرَّجُلِينِ أَزْكَى مِنْ صَلَاتِهِ مَعَ الرَّجُلِ ، وَمَا كَانُ أَكْثَرُ فَهُوَ أَحَبُّ إِلَى اللهِ عَزَّ وَجَلًا . رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَائِينُ ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ جَبَّانَ.

(٣٣٧) وَعَنْ أُمِّ وَرَقَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ الشِّيِّ ﷺ أَمَرَهَا أَنْ تَؤُمَّ أَهْلَ دَارِها. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ خُزَيْهَةَ.

⁽¹⁾ Whether or not a single person behind a row qualifies for the prayer (whether his prayer could be recognized as valid), is a disputed point about which there are differences in opinions. The fact is that one should not offer it by standing alone while a congregational prayer is in progress.

^[2] The remainder of the prayer which one joins behind an *Imām* in a congregation, whether it should be considered as a former part of the prayer or as a latter part of it, is again a disputed point.

^[3] She is Bint Naufal or Bint 'Abdullāh bin Al-Harith bin 'Uwaimr Al-Ansāriya. She compiled the Qur'ān and requested the Prophet 幾 to allow her to take part in the battle of Badr. The Prophet 幾 used to visit her and call her "the Martyr". She was killed by her male and female slaves who covered her with a sheet of cloth, thus suffocating her. They then ran away, but were caught and crucified by the orders of 'Umar في الله عند ال

^[4] This Hadīth states that it is permissible and proper for a woman to lead the prayer. It is a proven fact that 'Aisha and Umm Salma مضى الله عنهما did lead prayers. Imām Ash-Shaukāni

339. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: Allah's Messenger ﷺ said, "Pray (funeral prayers) over him who said (believed): 'Nothing deserves to be worshipped except Allāh'; and pray behind him who says: 'Nothing deserves to be worshipped except Allāh'^[2].'' [Ad-Dāraqutni reported it through a weak chain of narrators].

340. Narrated 'Ali bin Abi Tālib & Allāh's Messenger # said: "If one of you comes to Salāt (prayer) and the Imām is at a certain position, he must do as the Imām is doing." [Reported by At-Tirmidhi with a weak chain of narrators].

(٣٣٨) وَعَنْ أَنْسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ اللَّهِ تَعْلَمُ مِنْ يَؤُمُّ النَّاسَ وَهُو أَخْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَنَحْوُهُ لِوَاللَّهِ كَاوُدَ، وَنَحْوُهُ لِإِبْرِ حَبَّانُ عَنْ عَائِشَةً.

(٣٣٩) وَعَرْ ابْنِرْ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «صَلُّوا عَلَى مَنْ قَالَ مَنْ قَالَ لَا للهُ، وصَلُّوا خَلْفَ مَنْ قَالَ لَا إِلَّهَ إِلَّا اللَّهُ. رَوَاهُ الدَّارَقُطْنِيُ بِإِسْنَادِ ضَيِفَرٍ.

(٣٤٠) وَعَنْ عَلِيٌ بْنِ أَيِي طَالِبٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا أَتَى أَحَدُكُمُ الصَّلَاةَ، وَالإِمَامُ عَلَى حَالٍ، فَلْيَصْنَعْ كَمَا يَضْنَعُ الإَمَامُ . رَوَاهُ التَّرْبِذِيُّ بِإِسْنَادٍ ضَيفر.

Chapter 11 THE PRAYER OF A TRAVELER AND A SICK PERSON

١١ - بَابُ صَلَاةِ المُسَافِرِ وَالمَرِيضِ

(٣٤١) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا Salāt (prayer) was first prescribed, it قَالَتْ: أَوَّلُ مَا فُرِضَتِ الصَّلَاةُ رَكْعَتَيْنِ.

said that a woman, if leading a prayer, must not stand alone ahead of the row but should stand within it. If her followers include males also, then they should be none other than their Mahram (the persons so closely related to her that she can not marry them). She cannot lead a prayer of a certain gathering that includes either strangers or Ghair Mahram (the persons allowed to enter a marriage contract with her).

^[1] This *Hadātb* clarifies that a blind person can lead the prayer. Some scholars reluctantly approve of it, but this is against propriety. Some maintain that in the presence of a scholar who enjoys a perfect faculty of sight, it is improper to ask a blind scholar to lead a prayer, and this view is erroneous too. The Prophet 觸 deputed 'Abdullāh bin Umm Maktum' رضي الله in his absence to lead the prayer thirteen times.

^[2] The only point which is intended here is that it is permissible to offer a prayer behind a praying person who neglects the offering of *Wājibāt*. However, such a person must never be appointed an *Imām* (i.e., such a person should never be assigned the duties to lead prayers.).

consisted of two Rak'at.^[1] Afterwards, the prayer during travelling was confirmed (as two Rak'at), while the prayer at the place of residence was completed (as four Rak'at). [Agreed upon].

Al-Bukhāri has: 'Then (Allāh's Messenger 鑑) emigrated and it was prescribed as four, but prayer while travelling was left according to the original prescription (of two Rak'at).'

Ahmad added, 'Except the *Magbrib* (prayer) for it is the *Witr* (prayer) of the day; and except the *Fajr* (prayer), since the recitation (of the Qur'ān) is prolonged in it.'

342. Narrated 'Aisha 🐁: While on a journey, the Prophet 🕸 used to shorten the prayer (sometimes) and offer it completely (sometimes). [2] Similarly, he used to observe fast (sometimes) and break it (sometimes). [Ad-Dāraqutni reported it, and its narrators are reliable, but it is a defective Haditbl. The Mabfudb (correct) narration from 'Aisha (concering this matter) is that it was her practice (that she 🐁 offered prayers in the complete form during travelling) [and not the practice of the Prophet]. She said: 'It is not hard for me.' [Al-Baihagi reported itl.^[3]

فَأْقِرَّتْ صَلَاةُ السَّفَرِ، وَأُتِمَّتْ صَلَاةُ الحَضَرِ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

وَلِلْبُخَارِيِّ: ثُمَّ هَاجَرَ، فَفُرِضَتْ أَوْبَعاً، وَلَيْرِضَتْ أَوْبَعاً، وَأَقِرَّتْ صَلَاةُ السَّفَرِ عَلَى الأَوَّلِ.

وَزَادَ أَحْمَدُ: إِلَّا المَغْرِبَ، فَإِنَّهَا وِثْرُ النَّهَارِ، وَإِلَّا الصُّبحَ، فَإِنَّهَا تُطَوَّلُ فِيهَا القِرَاءَةُ.

(٣٤٧) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهَا أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ كَانَ يَقْصُرُ فِي السَّفَرِ وَيُثِمُّ، وَيَصُومُ وَيَقْطِئُ. رَوَاهُ القَّانُ، إِلَّا أَنَّهُ مَعْلُولٌ، وَالمَحْفُوظُ عَنْ عَائِشَةَ مِنْ فِغْلِهَا، وَقَالَتْ: إِلَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ لَا يَشُقُ مَلَى. أَخْرَجُهُ البَّيْهَةِئِي. وَقَالَتْ: إِنَّهُ لَا يَشُقُ عَلَى. أَخْرَجُهُ البَيِّهَةِئِي.

^[1] This tells us that, in the beginning, only two Rak'at were specified to be offered as an obligatory prayer (like the prayer during a journey). Later on, an addition was made in the prayer of residents, whereas the prayer of a traveller remained as it was, which is now known as Rak'atain (two Rak'at). It has not been narrated authentically that the Prophet 鑑 offered the full form of prayer during a journey.

^[2] The chain of narrators for this *Hadīth* includes 'Ala bin Zuhair, who has been criticized by some (including Ibn Hibban and Ibn Hazm) and accredited by others (including Ibn Ma'in, Ibn Hajar and Ath-Thahabi). See: *Tabdbeeb At-Tabdbeeb* 8/161, no 326. Imām Ibn Taimiyah manitains that this *Hadīth* is nothing but a lie against the Prophet ﷺ. It is stated in *Sabibain* on the authority of 'Abdullāh bin 'Umar من الله عنه بالمعالمة that the Prophet ﷺ never offered more than two *Rak'at* of a four *Rak'at* prayer during a journey.

^[3] This *Hadītb* cannot be used as an evidence because in its chain of narrators is 'Alā bin Zuhair about whom the scholars differ. It also contradicts the *Hadītb* narrated by Ibn 'Umar رضى الله عنهما reported by Al-Bukhāri and Muslim to the effect that the Prophet 鑑 never

343. Narrated Ibn 'Umar ♣: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "Allāh the Most High loves that His permissions be practiced, just as he dislikes that disobedience^[1] to Him be committed.'' [Ahmad reported it. Ibn Khuzaima and Ibn Hibbān graded it *Sabib* (authentic)]. A narration has, "As He loves that His duties be observed."

(٣٤٣) وَعَن ابْن عُمَر رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "إِنَّ اللَّهُ يُحِبُّ أَنْ تُؤْتَى يُحِبُ أَنْ تُؤْتَى رُخَصُهُ، كَمَا يَكُرُهُ أَنْ تُؤْتَى مَمْصِيْتُهُ . رَوَاهُ أَحْمَلُهُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ خُزْيَمَةً وَابْنُ حِبَّانَ، وَفِي رِوَاية: "كَمَا يُحِبُّ أَنْ تُؤْتَى عَزَائِمُهُ.

344. Narrated Anas 本: When Allāh's Messenger 囊 went out on a journey of three miles^[2] or three *Farasikb*^[3], he (織) used to pray two *Rak'at*. [Reported by Muslim].

(٣٤٤) وَعَنْ أَنَسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ إِذَا خَرَجَ مَسِيرَةً ثَلَاثَةٍ أَمْيَالِ أَوْ فَرَاسِخَ صَلَّى رَكْمَتَيْنِ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

345. Narrated (Anas) &: We went from Al-Madīnah to Makkah with Allāh's Messenger & and he prayed two Rak'at at each time of prayer till we returned to Al-Madīnah. [Agreed upon, and the wording is Al-Bukhāri's].

(٣٤٥) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: خَرَجْنَا مَعَ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ مِنَ المَدِينَةِ إِلَى مَكَّةً، فَكَانَ يُصَلِّى رَحُمْتَين حَتَّى رَجَعْنَا إِلَى المَدِينَةِ. مُثَقَنَّ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفْظُ لِلْبُخَارِيِّ.

346. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās 泰: The Prophet 續 (made a journey during which) he had a stop of nineteen days, during which he shortened his prayers. In a narration of Al-Bukhāri: "(he 續 stayed) Nineteen days in Makkah." In a

(٣٤٦) وَعَن ِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: أَقَامَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ تِسْمَةً عَشَرَ يَوْماً يَقْطُورُ وَفِي لَفْظٍ: "بِمِكَنَّة، يِسْمَةً عَشَرَ يَوْماً». يَشْمَةً عَشَرَ يَوْماً». رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ. وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لأَبِي دَاوُدُ: "سَبْعَ

It appears from the *Haditb* that a three-mile trip' is indeed a journey. But as long as *Sbu'ba* doubts it, the scholars have given a ruling that the distance should be three *Farsakb* (i.e., nine miles). Some scholars have specified 36 miles, some 48 miles whereas some other suggested 52 miles. The reference concerning 48 miles is better and stronger, as *Ahnāf* and the scholars of *Hadītb* accord their preference to it. However, these are merely surmises and conjectures and are not substantiated by any conclusive evidence.

prayed more than two Rak'at of a four-Rak'at prayer while traveling.

^[1] This *Hadith* tells us that it is much better to offer two-*Rak'at* prayer, while performing the same in full is a violation.

المطالب A doubt lies in this *Hadith* as to whether it is three miles or three *Farsakh*. The original *Hadith* does not state it, but it is the doubt of a reporter in the chain of narrators, as to whether Anas عنه used the words 'three miles' or 'three *Farsakh*'. We must know that in order to be eligible to offer 'a two-*Rak'at* prayer', no distance has been specified in any *Hadith*. In fact, this concession, like performing *Tayammum* (purification with soil) during a journey, has been kept wide open to the effect that it is permissible to offer a 'two-*Rak'at* prayer' during any trip which is cosidered as 'traveling'.

^[3] Farāsikb (plural of Farsakb) is Persian unit of distance. Farsakb is equal to about three miles.

narration of Abū Dā'ud: "seventeen days." [1] And in another: "fifteen days."

The narration of Abū Dā'ud from 'Imrān bin Husain & has: "eighteen days." His narration from Jābir & has: Allāh's Messenger ## stayed at Tabūk for twenty days, and he shortened the prayers (during his stay). [Its narrators are reliable, except that there is difference about whether or not it is Mawsul (unbroken chain of narrators)].

347. Narrated Anas 泰: When Allāh's Messenger繼 (while on a journey) proceeded before the sun had declined from the centre of the sky, he (樂) delayed the Zubr prayer till the time of the 'Asr prayer; he 穩 would then alight and combine the two prayers. If the sun declined before he 穩 moved off, he (醬) would offer the Zubr prayer and ride (i.e. travel). [Agreed upon].

In the narration of Al-Hākim quoted in the Al-Arba'īn with a Sabib Isnād, "He 霧 prayed Zubr and 'Asr then rode (his beast, to continue his journey.)"

Abū Nu'aim has in his *Mustakbraj* of Muslim, "While on a journey, if the sun declined he 醬 used to pray *Zubr* and 'Asr together and then continue his journey."

348. Narrated Mu'adh bin Jabal 毒: We went out with Allāh's Messenger 藥 on the Tabūk expedition, and he would offer Zubr and 'Asr prayers together^[2]

عَشْرَةً». وَفِي أُخْرَى: "خَمْسَ عَشْرَةً».

وَلَهُ عَنْ عِمْرَانَ بُمِن حُصَيْنِر: «تَمَانِيَ عَشْرَةَ». وَلَهُ عَنْ جَابِرِ: أَقَامَ بِتَبُوكَ عِشْرِينَ يَوْماً يَقْصُرُ الصَّلَاةَ. وَرُوَاتُهُ ثِقَاتٌ، إِلَّا أَنَّهُ اخْتُلِفَ فِي وَصْله.

(٣٤٧) وَعَنْ أَنَسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ إِذَا ارْتَحَلَ قَبْلَ أَنْ تَزِيغَ الشَّمْسُ، أَخَّرَ الظُّهُرَ إِلَى وَفْتِ العَصْرِ، ثُمَّ نَوْل فَجَمَعَ بَيْنَهُمَا، فَإِنْ زَاغَتِ الشَّمْسُ قَبْلَ أَن يَرْتَحِلَ صَلَّى الظُّهْرَ ثُمَّ رَكِبَ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

وَفِي رِوَايَة الحَاكِمِ فِي الأَرْبَعِينَ بِالإَشْنَادِ الصَّحِيحِ: صَلَّى الظُّهْرَ وَالعَصْرَ ثُمَّ رَكِبَ.

وَلِابِي نُعَيْمٍ فِي مُشْتَخْرِجٍ مُشْلِمٍ: كَانَ إِذَا كَانَ فِي سَفَرٍ فَزَالَتِ الشَّمْسُ صَلَّى الظُّهْرَ وَالعَصْرَ جَمِيعاً، ثُمَّ ارْتَحَلَ.

(٣٤٨) وَعَنْ مُعَاذِ بْنِ جَبَلِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ وَاللَّهِ عَلَمُ عَنْهُ قَالَ: خَرَجُنَا مَعَ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ في غَزْوَةِ تَبُوكَ، فَكَانَ يُصَلِّي الظُهْرَ وَالعَصْرَ جَمِيعاً. رَوَاهُ

^[1] There is also a difference of opinion pertaining to the duration of one's stop-over (during a journey). Some have specified four days, others eighteen. In fact it is only a misunderstanding. In case someone has to dwell at a certain place without knowing when they will leave that place, no duration is specified in relation to it and he can go on praying 'two Rak'at' indefinately.

^[2] This Hadith tells us that it is permissible to join Zubr, 'Asr, as well as Maghrib and 'Isbâ' prayers during a journey, irrespective of whether this joining is done at the time of the validity of a former prayer or the latter one. Both of these situations are proven ones by the actions and practice of the Prophet ূ The followers of the Hanafi school of thought do not approve of this practice which amounts to the negation of this Hadith.

and Maghrib and 'Ishā' prayers together. [Reported by Muslim].

349. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās \$\ \text{:: Allāh's Messenger \$\mathbb{Z}\$ said, "Do not shorten the prayer (while travelling) for a distance of less than four \$Burud^{[1]}\$; from Makkah to 'Usfān.'' [Ad-Dāraqutni reported it through a weak chain of narrators, and the right opinion is that it is \$Mawqūf\$ (saying of a companion, i.e. Ibn 'Abbas). Ibn Khuzaima reported it as such].

350. Narrated Jābir ♣: Allāh's Messenger said: "The best of my followers are those who, having done evil, ask for forgiveness (from Allāh); and when on a journey, shorten (the prayer) and break the fast." [At-Tabarāni reported it in Al-'Awsat through a weak chain of narrators. Al-Baihaqi reported it in brief as a Mursal (missing link after the Tābi'i) from Sa'īd bin Al-Musaiyab].

351. Narrated 'Imrān bin Husain . I suffered from piles. So I asked the Prophet . Babout the prayers. He said: "Pray standing; and if you are unable, (pray) sitting; and if you are unable, (pray) lying on your side." Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

352. Narrated Jābir 🎄: The Prophet 🌋 visited a sick man and saw him praying on a cushion, he threw it away and said, "Pray on the ground, if you can, or else pray by gestures^[2] and make your prostration lower than your bowing." [Al-Baihaqi reported it and Abu Hātim graded it Sabib (authentic) in Mawqūf form (as a saying of a companion, i.e. Jabir].

(٣٤٩) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس، رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهِما قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: الآل تَقْصُرُوا الصَّلَاةَ فِي أَقلَ مِنْ أَرْبَعَةِ بُرُو، مِنْ مَكَّةً إِلَى عُشْفَانَ. رَوَاهُ الدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ بِإِسْنَادِ صَعِيفر، عُنْا أَخْرَجُهُ ابْنُ خُرْبَعَةً أَنِي الصَّحِيعُ أَنَّهُ مَوْفُوفٌ، كَذَا أَخْرَجُهُ ابْنُ خُرْبَعَةً.

(٣٥٠) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «خَيْرُ أُمَّنِي الَّذِينَ إِذَا أَسَاءُوا اسْتَغْفَرُوا، وَإِذَا سَافَرُوا فَصَرُوا وَأَفْطُرُوا». أَخْرَجَهُ الطَّبَرَانِيُّ فِي الأَوْسَطِ بِإِسْنَادِ ضَعِيف، وَهُوَ فِي مَراسيل سَعِيدِ بْنِ المُسَيِّبِ

(٣٥١) وَعَنْ عِمْرَانَ بْنِرَ حُصَيْنِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما قَالَ: كَانَتْ بِي بَوَاسِيرُ، فَسَأَلْتُ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ عَنِ الصَّلاةِ، فَقَالَ: «صَلَّ قَاتِماً، فَإِنْ لَمْ تَسْتَعْلِغْ فَقَاعِداً، فَإِنْ لَّمْ تَسْتَعْلِغْ فَعَلَى جَنْسٍ». رَوَاهُ البُخَارِئُي.

(٣٥٢) وَعَنْ جَايِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: عَادَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ مَرِيضًا، فَرَاه يُصَلِّي عَلَى وِسَادَةٍ فَرَمَى بِهَا، وَقَالَ: اصَلِّ عَلَى الأرْضِ إِن اسْتَطَغْتَ، وَإِلَّا فَأَوْمٍ إِيمَاء، وَاجْمَلُ سُجُودَكَ أَخْفَضَ مِنْ رُكُوعِكَ. رَوَاهُ البَيْهَةِيُّ، وَصَحَّمَ أَبُو حَاتِم وَفَقَهُ.

 $[\]overline{^{(1)}}$ Burud: Plural of Barid, which means three Farsakb, and one Farsakb is equal to three miles.

^[2] In case one is not strong enough even to gesticulate, momentarily he is excused. But as soon as he recovers and gets his strength back, he must offer all of them as an obligation. If someone faints and is unconscious, he is excused from his prayers as long as he is in that condition.

353. Narrated 'Aisha 's: I saw the Prophet # praying while sitted in a cross-legged position^[1]. [Reported by An-Nasā'i; and Al-Hākim graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

(٣٥٣) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قالت: رَأَيْتُ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ يُصَلِّي مُتَرَبِّعاً. رَوَاهُ النَّسَائِيُّ، وَصَحَّحُهُ الخَاكِمُ.

Chapter 12 AL-IUMU'A^[2] PRAYER

١٢ - بَابُ صَلَاةِ الجُمُعَةِ

354. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin 'Umar and Abū Huraira *: They heard Allāh's Messenger * say (while standing) upon the planks of his pulpit: "People must cease to neglect the Friday prayers, or else Allāh will seal their hearts and then they will be among the unmindful." [Reported by Muslim].

And in a narration of Muslim: "We used to offer the Friday prayers with him

(٣٥٤) عَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِرِ عُمَرَ، وَأَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللّٰهِ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما، أَنَّهُمَا سَمِعًا رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ عَلَى أَعْوَادٍ مِنْبُرِهِ: النَّبَتْهِينَّ أَقْوَامٌ عَلَى عَنْ وَذْعِهِمُ الجُمُعَاتِ، أَوْ لَيَخْتِمَنَّ اللّٰهُ عَلَى عَنْ وَذْعِهِمُ الجُمُعَاتِ، أَوْ لَيَخْتِمَنَّ اللّٰهُ عَلَى عَنْ وَوَاهُ مُسْدِمٌ. فُلْوَبِهِمْ، ثُمَّ لَكُونُنَّ مِنَ الغَافِلِينَ. وَوَاهُ مُسْدِمٌ.

(٣٥٥) وَعَنْ سَلْمَةَ بْنِ الْأَكْوَعِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كُنَّا نُصَلِّي مَعَ رَسُول. اللهِ ﷺ يُومَ الجُمُعَةِ، ثُمَّ نَصَرِفُ وَلَيْسَ لِلْجِطَانِ ظِلَّ تَسْتَظِلُّ بِدٍ. مُثَمِّقُ عَلَيْهِ، وَالنَّفْظُ لِلْبُخَارِيِّ.

وَفِي لَفْظِ لِّمُسْلِمٍ: كُنَّا نُجَمِّعُ مَعَهُ إِذَا زَالَتِ الشَّمْسُ، ثُمَّ نَرْجُعُ، نَتَتَبَّعُ الفَيْءَ.

The Prophet 鑑 resorted to a sitting posture during a prayer due to a legitimate excuse. A Hadiib states that the Prophet 鑑 suffered from an abscess in his thigh and as long as one suffers from a disease or an injury, he can offer his prayers in whatever posture he can, without any blame. This is a favor from Allāh.

^[2] The day of *Jumu'a* (Friday) was known as *Al-'Arūba* during *Jabiliya* times (the pre-Islamic period). Islam named it *Jumu'a* as the Muslims of a city gather at one place in congregation to offer prayers to Allāh the All-Mighty. In addition to this, there are a few other reasons also.

⁽³⁾ He is Abū Muslim, Salama bin 'Amr bin Al-Akwa' Sinān bin 'Abdullah Al-Aslami Al-Madani. He was one of the bravest Sabāba, and used to run faster than a horse with his feet. He was good, pious and generous. He died at Al-Madīnah in 74 H.

^[4] This Hadith clearly states that the Prophet is used to end his Jumu'a prayer at a time while the shades of the walls were insufficient to cover the people i.e., the Jumu'a prayer was performed at an early time.

^[5] According to Imām Ahmad bin Hanbal, it is permissible to start performing Friday's prayer before Zawāl (the declining of the sun). The rest of the Imāms and the majority of scholars observe that the Friday prayer must be performed immediately after Zawāl. During present times, it has become a practice to delay the Jumu'a prayer much more, even later than the Zubr prayer itself, which is against the tradition of the Prophet ...

(Allāh's Messenger ﷺ) when the sun passed the meridian. We would then return and try to find the afternoon shadow.

356. Narrated Sahl bin Sa'd^[1] 秦: We would not have a siesta (mid-day nap) nor lunch till after the Friday prayer.^[2] [Agreed upon; and the wording is Muslim's]. Another narration his: "during the life time of Allāh's Messenger 蹇.

357. Narrated Jābir 秦: Allāh's Messenger was standing while delivering the Kbutba (religious talk, sermon) on Friday when a caravan from Syria arrived. The people flocked towards it till no one was left (with the Prophet 数) except twelve men. [Reported by Muslim].

358. Narrated Ibn 'Umar ♣: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "Whoever is in time for a *Rak'a* of the Friday prayer, or any other prayer, [3] should add another (*Rak'a*) to it and his prayer will then be complete." [4] An-Nasā'i, Ibn Mājah and Ad-Dāraqutni reported it; the wording is from Ad-Dāraqutni. Its chain of narrators is *Sabib* (authentic), but Abu Hātim confirmed it as *Mursal* (missing link after the *Tābi'i*].

(٣٥٦) وَعَنْ شَهْلِ إِنْ سَعْدِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: مَا كُنَّا نَقِيلُ وَلَا تَتَغَذَّى إِلَّا بَعْدَ الجُمْمَةِ. مَثَقَقً عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفْظُ لِمُسْلِمٍ. وَفِي وَوَالَّةِ فِي عَهْدِ رَسُولِ الله ﷺ.

(٣٥٧) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ كَانَ يَخْطُبُ قَائِماً، فَجَاءَتْ عِيرٌ مِنَ الشَّامِ، فَانْفَقَلَ النَّاسُ إِلَيْهَا، حَتَّى لَمْ يَبْقَ إِلَّا النَّامِ عَشْرَ رَجُلاً. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٣٥٨) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَنْ أَدْرَكُ رَكُمْةً مِنْ صَلَاةٍ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَنْ أَدْرَكُ رَكُمْةً مِنْ صَلَاةٍ الجُمُعَةِ وَغَيْرِهَا فَلْيُضِفْ إِلَيْهَا أُخْرَى، وَقَادُ تَشَتْ صَلَاتُهُ. رَوَاهُ النَّسَائِيُّ وَابْنُ مَاجَةُ وَالنَّارُهُ صَحِيعٌ، مَاجَةُ وَالنَّارُهُ صَحِيعٌ، وَالنَّفُظُ لُهُ، وَإِسْنَادُهُ صَحِيعٌ، لَكِنْ وَقِي أَبُو حَاتِم إِرْسَالُهُ.

^[1] He is Abul-'Abbās Al-Khazraji As-Sa'īdi Al-Ansāri. He reported one hundred *Abadātb* and died in 91 H. at the age of about hundred years. It is said that he is the last *Sabābi* to die in Al-Madīnah.

^[2] It does not mean that he used to perform the Friday prayer even prior to the time of Zawāl (the declining of the sun), since they would only take their lunch and mid-day nap after the time of Zubr. The Friday prayer takes the place of the Zubr prayer, and as long as it involves a Kbutba (religious sermon), it is imperative that it be performed early, so that the prayer is completed within the earlier part of the time for Zubr.

^[3] The narration which is ascribed to Abū Huraira in Sabibain, does not specify and single out Friday prayer, it is only a generalisation in relation to all the prayers. As long as one could pursue one Rak'at with Imām, he accrues the reward of congregation to his credit. The same holds true in relation to Friday prayers. Then, one may stand up and complete the remainder of his prayer.

^[4] This Haditb refutes the view of those who maintain that unless one listens to a part of the Kbutba (religious talk), his Friday prayer is not acceptable.

359. Narrated Jābir bin Samura 本: The Prophet 幾 used to deliver the Kbutba (religious talk, sermon) while standing. He (幾) would then sit down and then stand up and deliver the Kbutba in a standing posture. So, whoever informs you that he (the Prophet 緩) delivered the Kbutba (religious talk, sermon) while sitting has definitely told a lie. [Reported by Muslim].

360. Narrated Jābir bin 'Abdullāh 🞄: Whenever Allāh's Messenger delivered a Kbutba (religious talk), his eves would become red, his voice rose^[2] and his anger would become intensified, as if he (鑑) was like one warning an army and saying, "The enemy has made a morning attack on you. The enemy has made an evening attack on you." He & would also say "Amma ba'du,[3] the best of speech is embodied in the Book of Allah, and the best of guidance is the guidance of Muhammad. And the most evil of affairs are their innovations and every innovation is misguidance." [4] [Reported by Muslim].

And in a narration of Muslim: "In the Prophet's *Kbutba* on Friday: He would praise Allāh and extol Him. Then, following that, he would say – and he had raised his voice..."

(٣٠٩) وَعَنْ جَايِرِ بْنِرِ سَمُرَّةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ كَانَ يَخْطُبُ قَائِماً، يَجْلِسُ ثُمَّ يَقُومُ فَيَخْطُبُ قَائِماً، فَمَنْ أَنْبَأَكَ أَنَّهُ كَانَ يَخْطُبُ جَالِساً فَقَدَ كَانَبَ. أَخْرَجُهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٣٦٠) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ بْنِرِ عَبْدِ اللهِ رَضِيَ اللّهُ يَعَلَى عَنْهُما قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ عَلَمْ إِذَا خَطَبَ أَحْمَرَّتُ عَنْبَاهُ، وَعَلَا صَوْنَهُ، وَاشْتَدُ عَضْبُهُ، حَشَّى كَأَنَّهُ مُنْذِرُ جَيْشِرِ يَقُولُ: ﴿مَا يَغُدُ: وَإِنَّ خَيْرَ الحَدِيثِ وَمَسَّاكُمْ، وَيَقُولُ: ﴿مَا يَغُدُ: وَإِنَّ خَيْرَ العَدْيِ مَدْيُ خَيْرَ العَدْيِ مَدْيُ مُحَمَّدِ، وَشَرَّ الأَمُورِ مُحْدَثَانُهَا، وَكُلَّ بِدْعَةِ ضَكَانُهَا، وَكُلَّ بِدْعَةِ ضَكَانَهُا، وَكُلَّ بِدُعَةً

وَفِي رِوَايَةِ لَّهُ: كَانَتْ خُطْبَةُ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ يَومَ الخُمُمَةِ: يَخْمَدُ اللَّهِ، وَيُثْنِي عَلَيْهِ، نُمُّ يَقُولُ عَلَى وَيُثْنِي عَلَيْهِ، نُمُّ يَقُولُ عَلَى صَوْتُهُ.

This *Hadith* informs us that the Prophet ## used to address people (deliver *Kbutba*) in a standing posture. It further informs us that during a Friday prayer, delivering a *Kbutba* in two parts is in accordance with *Sunnab*, and that a brief sitting in between the said parts also conforms to the tradition of the Prophet ## and a violation of any of the above is regarded as an innovation.

^[2] This *Hadith* enjoins upon us that the *Kbutba* should be delivered loudly (i.e., with a higher pitch of sound) and it should represent such a style which may be effective enough to move the audience.

^[3] An opening phrase for Islamic speeches meaning "to proceed."

^[4] Bid'a (innovation), according to Shari'a (Divine law) stands for any action, speech or belief which is neither established nor authenticated either by the Qur'an or Sunnah, nor is it derived or deduced from it. The words خاصه علم الله كالله على الله على الله

And in another narration from Muslim: "Whoever Allāh guides, no one can lead astray; and whoever Allāh leads astray, no one can guide him." An-Nasā'i has: "Every misguidance is (a cause to enter) the Fire."

361. Narrated 'Ammār bin Yāsir . He heard Allāh's Messenger : say: "The length of a man's prayer and the shortness of his *Kbutba* (religious talk) are a sign of his understanding^[1] (of the religion)." [Reported by Muslim].

362. Umm Hisham^[2] & daughter of Haritha said: I learnt Sūrat Qāf^[3] from no other source than the tongue of Allāh's Messenger who used to recite it every Friday on the pulpit^[4] when he delivered the Khutha (religious talk) to the people.'' [Reported by Muslim].

363. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās **\$:** Allāh's Messenger **\$\malepsilon** said: "Whoever speaks on Friday while the *Imām* is giving the *Kbutba* (religious talk), he is like a donkey which carries books; [5] and he who tells him to be quiet has no *Jumu'a* [6]." [Reported by Ahmad with an acceptable chain of narrators].

رَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لَّهُ: «مَنْ يُهْدِ اللَّهُ فَلَا مُضِلَّ لَهُ، وَمَنْ يُضْلِلْ فَلَا هَادِيَ لَهُ». وَلِلنَّسَائِيُّ: «وَكُلُّ ضَكَالَةٍ فِي النَّارِ».

(٣٦١) وَعَنْ عَمَّادِ بْنِن يَاسِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ: ﴿إِنَّ طُولَ صَلَاةِ الرَّجُلِ وَقِصَرَ خُطْبَيْهِ مَيْنَةٌ مِنْ يْفُهِهِ، رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٣٦٢) وَعَنْ أُمَّ هِشَامِ بِنْتِ حَارِثَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: مَا أَخَذْتُ ﴿قَىٰ الْقَرْانِ الْمَحِيدِ﴾ إِلَّا عَنْ لِسَانِ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ، يَقْرُؤُهَا كُلُّ جُمُمَةٍ عَلَى المِنْبُرِ إِذَا خَطَبَ النَّاسَ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٣٦٣) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّه تَمَالَى عَبُّس رَضِيَ اللَّه تَمَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «مَنْ تَكَلَّمَ يَوْمُ الجُمُعَةِ، وَالإَمَامُ يَخْطُبُ، فَهُو كَمَثَل الجَمَارِ يَحْمِلُ أَشْفَاراً، وَالَّذِي يَقُولُ لَهُ: أَنْصِتْ، نَيْسَتْ لَهُ جُمُعَةً، رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ بِإِسْنَادِ لَا بَأْسَ بو.

^[1] This tells us that one should lengthen the prayer and shorten the *Khutba*. Some of the *Khutbs* (the *Imāms* who lead the Friday prayers and deliver the *Khutba*) during the present times lengthen their *Khutba* to such an extent that it encroaches upon the actual prayer time and then they try to finish the prayer in a hurried manner. This practice is against the tradition of the Prophet 蓋.

^[2] She is Umm Hishām bint Hāritha bin Nu'mān, maternal sister of 'Umra bint 'Abdur-Rahmān. She is Ansāriya from the Najjar clan. It is said that she participated in Bat'atur-Ridwān.

^[3] Sūrat no. 50.

^[4] It is a lesson for the Khatib (speaker) that while addressing people prior to conducting a Friday prayer, one should recite the Qur'an and interpret its meanings to the people.

^[5] Such a person resembles a donkey (i.e., a beast of burden) in that it derives no benefit out of carrying a loadful of books onto its back. Similarly, this person does not accrue any reward to his credit out of performing a Friday prayer.

^[6] It is worth noticing that the Prophet 藝 never said that his prayer will not be accepted, but he is deprived of the reward of a Friday prayer. Hence, the scholars have stated, by deduction, that whoever engages himself in a conversation, shall indeed get credit for the

This *Hadīth* interprets the *Marfu' Hadītb* (attributed to the Prophet) of Abu Huraira reported in the *Sabibain*: On Friday, when the *Imām* is delivering the *Kbutba* (religious talk), if you say to your companion to keep quiet, then indeed you have committed a sin (error/something senseless).

364. Narrated Jābir 泰: A man entered the mosque on a Friday when the Prophet 鑑 was delivering the *Khutba* (religious talk, sermon) and he (the Prophet 鑑) said, "Have you prayed? He replied, "No." He (the Prophet 鑑) said, "Stand and pray two *Rak'at*.^[1]" [Agreed upon].

365. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās ♣: The Prophet ∰ used to recite in *Jumu'a* prayer *Sūrat Al-Jumu'a* and *Al-Munafiqūn*[3]. [Reported by Muslim].

Narrated Nu'mān bin Bashir^[4] (\$\\$: He (Allāh's Messenger \$\%) used to recite in the two 'Eids and in the Friday prayer^[5]: "Sabbib isma Rabbikal-A'la^[6]" and "Hal atāka badītbul gbāsbiyab^[7]". [Reported by Muslim].

366. Narrated Zaid bin Arqam 拳: The Prophet 藥 prayed the 'Eid prayer (on a Friday); and granted a permission (to be excused) from the praying of Friday

وَهُوَ يُفَسَّرُ حَدِيثَ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ فِي الصَّحِيحَيْرِ. مَرْفُوعاً: ﴿إِذَا قُلْتَ لِصَاحِبِكَ: أَنْصِتْ يَوْمَ الجُهُمَةِ، وَالإمَامُ يَخْطُبُ، فَقَدْ لَغَوْتَ.

(٣٦٤) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: دَخُلَ رَجُلٌ يَوْمَ الجُمُعَةِ، وَالنَّبِيُ ﷺ يَخْطُبُ، فَقَالَ: اصْلَيْتَ،؟ قَالَ: لا، قَالَ: افْمُ فَصَلُ رَكْمَتَنَ اللهُ مُثَنَّى عَلَيْهِ.

(٣٦٥) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيَ ﷺ كَانَ يَقْرَأُ فِي صَلَاةِ المُهُمُعَةِ وَالمُمْنَافِقِينَ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.
وَلَهُ عَنِ النُّمْمَانِ بْنِ بَشِيرٍ كَانَ يَقْرَأُ فِي الجُمُعَةِ بِ•سَيْحِ اسْمَ رَبَّكَ العَيدَيْنِ وَفِي الجُمُعَةِ بِ•سَيْحِ اسْمَ رَبَّكَ الغَلْشِيَةِ.
الأعلى، • وَهَلُ أَتَاكَ حَدِيثُ الغَلْشِيَةِ.

(٣٦٦) وَعَنْ زَيْدِ بْنِ أَرْقَمَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: صَلَّى النَّبِيُّ ﷺ العِيدَ، ثُمُّ رَخَّصَ فِي الجُمُمَةِ، فَقَالَ: «مَنْ شَاءَ أَنْ بُصَلِّى فَلْيُصَلِّ».

prayer, but shall be deprived of the reward associated with the Friday prayer.

^[1] The narration of Al-Bukhāri comprises the word دکتین Khafifatain, after رکتین Rak'atain, which means that he should offer two light ones such as to economise time to the maximum in order listen to the Kbutha.

^[2] Sūrat no. 62.

^[3] Sūrat no. 63.

^[4] He is Abū 'Abdullah Al-Ansāri Al-Madani, and was the first Ansārī child to be born after the Hifra of the Prophet 總. He was born in the fourteenth month of the Hifra. He settled in Shām and later became the governor of Kufa and then Hims. Khalid bin Khali Al-Kilā'i killed him on Marj-ar-Rahit day in the year 64 H.

^[5] Among these Sūrab, he used to recite different ones on different occasions.

^[6] Sūrat Al-A'la. no. 87.

^[7] Sürat Al-Gbāshiyab. no. 88.

prayer and said, "Whoever wants to pray it, he may pray." [Reported by Al-Khamsa excluding At-Tirmidhi. Ibn Khuzaima graded it Sabib (authentic)].

367. Narrated Abū Huraira **4**: Allāh's Messenger **4** said, "When anyone of you prays the *Jumu'a* prayer, he should pray four (optional) *Rak'at* after it." [Reported by Muslim].

368. Narrated As-Sāib bin Yazid^[3] (*) that Mu'āwiya * told him, "If you offer the Friday prayer, do not connect it with another prayer, till you talk or go out. Allāh's Messenger * had commanded us accordingly: that we should not connect a prayer to another prayer till we talk or go out^[4] (in between them)." [Reported by Muslim]

369. Narrated Abū Huraira ♣: Allāh's Messenger 義 said, "Whoever takes a bath, then comes to Al-Jumu'a prayer, then prays what was fixed for him, ^[5] then keeps silent till the Imām finishes the Khutba (religious talk – sermon), and then prays along with him – his

رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ إِلَّا التَّرْمِذِيَّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ خُزَيْمَةً.

(٣٦٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا صَلَّى أَحَدُكُمُ الجُمْعَةَ فَلْيُصَلِّ بَعْدَعًا أَرْبَعًا». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٣٦٨) وَعَن السَّائِبِ بْن يَزِيدَ أَنَّ مُعَاوِيَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ لَهُ: إِذَا صَلَّيْتُ الجُمُعَةُ فَلَا تَصِلُقُ الجُمُعَةُ فَلَا تَصِلُقُا بِصَلاَةٍ حَتَّى تَتَكَلَّمَ أَوْ لَخُرُجَ، فَإِنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ أَمْرَنَا بِذَلِكَ: أَنْ لَا نُوصِلَ صَلَاةً بِصَلَاةٍ حَتَّى تَتَكَلَّمَ أَوْ نَخُرُجَ. وَرَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٣٦٩) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «مَن اغْتَسَلَ، ثُمَّ أَنَى الجُمُعَةَ، فَصَلَّى مَا فُذَرَ لُهُ، ثُمَّ أَنْصَتَ حَتَّى يَفْرُغَ الإمّامُ مِنْ خُطْبَتِهِ، ثُمَّ يُصَلِّي مَعْهُ، غُفِرَ لَهُ مَا بَيْنَهُ وَبَيْنَ الجُمْمَةِ الأُخْرَى، وَفَصْلُ

⁽¹⁾ This comprises an evidence that in case 'Eid falls on Friday, it is not obligatory to perform the Friday prayer but it is better to perform it.

^[2] There is difference in opinion as to how many Rak'at one should offer as Sunnah after the Friday prayer. Some recognise it to be just two Rak'at, whereas the others prefer to offer four. Imām Shāfi'i, Imām Ahmad and the majority of the scholars hold this opinion, and it is the preferable one. The Hadīth of four Rak'at, is a saying of the Prophet 藥 himself and one should indeed act upon it accordingly.

 $^{^{[3]}}$ He is Abū Yazid Al-Kindi. He was born in the year 2 H. and attended $\it Hajjatul-Wad\bar{a}'$ with his father. He died in 80 H.

^[4] This *Hadith* tells us that in case someone offers a certain prayer at a certain place, he should not offer another prayer at the same spot and at the same time. There must be a distance in between the two prayers – either by way of change in the place or by way of *Dhiler* (the recitation of the Qur'ān, mentioning Allāh's Names or the utterance of different prescribed supplications). The well-intended motive behind it is that either his record of actions and deeds must either reflect that he has offered his prayers in that many places, or the same must prove that he has offered it that many times.

^[5] There is no specified limit to the number of Nawāfil (voluntary prayers) one can offer while waiting for the Friday prayer. Likewise, there is no specified time limit either. But as the other Hadith clearly states that there is no prohibition on the offering of Nafl (voluntary prayer) on Friday even at the very time of Zawāl – until the Imam ascends the Minbar to offer the Khutbah.

sins (committed) between that time and the next Friday will be forgiven, with an addition of three days more."[1] [Reported by Muslim].

370. Narrated (Abū Huraira) 本: Allāh's Messenger 纖 mentioned the day of Jumu'a and then said, "There is a time in it (Friday) at which no Muslim would stand up while praying and beg Allāh, Who is Great and Glorious, for something except that He would give it to him. [2] He 纖 indicated with his hand that it (this time) is short." [Agreed upon]. A narration of Muslim has: "this time is brief."

371. Narrated Abū Burda from his father's: I heard Allāh's Messenger say, "That time is between the time when the *Imām* sits down and the end of the prayer." [Reported by Muslim]. Ad-Darāqutni held that the stronger view is that it is the saying of Abu Burda.

Ibn Mājah reported from 'Abdullāh bin Salām, and Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i reported from Jābir: "It is between the 'Asr prayer and sunset."

More than forty different sayings were narrated about this (special fortune time on Friday), and I have detailed them in (my book) 'Sbarb Al-Bukbāri'.

372. Narrated Jābir &: It is decided in the *Sunnab*^[3] that the Friday prayer (established/recognized) when forty

ثَلَاثَةِ أَيَّامٍ ٩. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٣٧٠) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ يَشَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ يَشَالُ اللهِ سَاعَةٌ لَا يُولِيهِ سَاعَةٌ لَا يُولِيقُهَا عَبْدٌ مُسْلِمٌ، وَهُو قَائِمٌ يُصَلِّي يَسْأَلُ اللّهَ عَزْ وَجَلَّ شَيْئًا، إلَّا أَعْطَاهُ إِيَّاهُ . وَأَشَارَ بِيَدِه يَتَلَمُهَا، مُثَنَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ. وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لَمُسْلِمٍ: 'وَهِي يَقَلَّهُا. مُثَنِّقٌ عَلَيْهِ. وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لَمُسْلِمٍ: 'وَهِي سَاعَةٌ خَفَقَةً.

(٣٧١) وَعَنْ أَبِي بُرْدَةَ عَنْ أَبِيهِ، قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَتُمُولُ: «هِيَ مَا بَيْنَ أَنْ يَجْلِسَ الإمامُ إِلَى أَنْ تُفْضَى الصَّلاةُ». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ، وَرَجَّحَ اللَّارَقُطْنِيُ أَنَّهُ مِنْ قَوْلَ أَبِي بُرْدَةً.

وَفِي حَدِيثِ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ سَلَامٍ عِنْدَ ابْمِرِ مَاجَهُ، وَجَايِرٍ عِنْدَ أَبِي دَاوُدُ وَالنَّسَائِيِّ: أَنَّهَا مَا بَيْنَ صَلَاةِ العَصْرِ إِلَى عُرُوبِ الشَّمْسِ.

وَقَدِ اخْتَلِفَ فِيهَا عَلَى أَكْثَرَ مِنْ أَرْبَعِينَ قَوْلاً أَمْلَيْتُهَا فِي شَرْحِ البُخَارِيِّ.

(٣٧٢) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: مَضَتِ السُّنَّةُ أَنَّ فِي كُلِّ أَرْبَعِينَ فَصَاعِداً

^[1] Taking a bath on Friday is a Sunnab (supererogatory) act according to the majority of scholars, and it is the most correct opinion. Others, however, view it as Wājib (compulsory).

^[2] There is a certain time recurring on Friday in which a Muslim's invocation is definitely accepted. The Prophet 幾 has not specified any particular moment for it. This moment has also been kept secret, similar to Lailatul-Qadr (the Night of Decree), so that the people spend more time looking for it, and accrue more reward to their account. There are two popular quotations related to it. The first one advocates that this opportune moment occurs between 'Asr and sunset. The second one postulates that such a moment occurs while the Imām delivers his Khutba to the public. Muslims ought to look for it during both of these timings.

^[3] The question of how many people should gather at a certain place so as to necessitate the obligation of offering a Friday prayer, is also a disputed one among the scholars. Different

praying persons or more attend it. [Ad-Dāraqutni reported it through a weak chain of narrators.^[1]]

373. Narrated Samura bin Jundub &: The Prophet & used to ask for (Allāh's) forgiveness for the believing men and believing women, every Jumu'a (Friday prayer). [Al-Bazzār reported it through a weak chain of narrators].

374. Narrated Jābir bin Samura *: The Prophet sused to recite some verses from the Qur'ān in the Friday Kbutba (religious talk – sermon), reminding^[2] the people. [Abū Dā'ud reported, and its basic meaning is in Muslim].

375. Narrated Tāriq bin Shihāb^[3] &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "The Friday prayer in congregation is an obligatory duty upon every Muslim, with the exception of four: a slave, a woman, a child and a sick person." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud, who said that Tāriq did not hear (any *Haditb*) from the Prophet & Al-Hākim also reported it from the narration of the aforementioned Tariq, who narrated from Abū Mūsa].

376. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: Allāh's Messenger & said, ''Jumu'a prayer is not obligatory on a traveller.'' [4]

جُمُعَةً . رَوَاهُ الدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ بِإِسْنَادٍ ضَعِيفٍ .

(٣٧٣) وَعَنْ سَمُرَةً بْنِرِ جُنْلُبِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ كَانَ يَسْتَغْفِرُ لِلْمُؤْمِنِينَ وَالمُؤْمِنَاتِ فِي كُلُّ جُمُعَةٍ. رَوَاهُ البَرَّارُ بِإِسْنَادِ لَتَهْرَ.

(٣٧٤) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ بْنِ سَمُواً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ كَانَ فِي الخُطَّبَةِ يَقُرُأُ آيَاتِ مُنَّ القُرْآنِ ، يُذَكِّرُ النَّاسَ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَوَامُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَوَامُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ،

(٣٧٥) وَعَنْ طَارِق ِ بْنِ شِهَابٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: «الجُمُمَةُ حَقَّ وَاحِبٌ عَلَى كُلِّ مُسْلِمٍ فِي جَمَاعَةٍ، إِلَّا أَرْبَمَةً: مَمْلُوكٌ، وَامْرَأَةٌ وَصَبِيٍّ وَمَرِيضٌ، وواه أَبو داود وقال: لَمْ يَسْمَعْ طَارِق مِنَ النَّبِيِ ﷺ، وَأَخْرَجُهُ الحَاكِمُ مِنْ وَوَايَةٍ طَارِق مِنَ النَّبِيِ ﷺ، وَأَخْرَجُهُ الحَاكِمُ مِنْ وَوَايَةٍ طَارِق المَذْكُورِ عَن أَبِي مُوسَى.

(٣٧٦) وَعَن الْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «لَيْسَ عَلَى

people have mentioned the numbers – three, four, seven, nine, twelve, twenty, forty, fifty and seventy. The fact is that no such number is supported by any *Hadīth*. Both a congregational prayer and a Friday prayer stand valid even if there are just two persons to offer these. This *Hadīth* which states the number as forty is a weak one. It is reported in a *Hadīth* that the first and foremost Friday prayer in Islam was conducted in the village Juwathā.

^[1] This *Hadīth* has been reported by 'Abdul 'Aziz bin 'Abdur-Rahmān whose *Abadīth* have been described by *Hadīth* scholars as 'false', 'fabricated' and himself as 'unreliable'. Therefore this condition for *Al-Jumu'a* prayer does not hold.

^[2] He used to instruct people about the fundamentals of Islam, indispensable essentials of religion; and try to dissuade them from the flashy charms of this world, and persuade them to seek the life of the Hereafter.

^[3] He is an Ahmusi, a Bajali, a Kufi and lived long both in the *Jabilitya* and Islamic eras. He saw the Prophet 選 but did not hear a *Hadīth* from him. He took part in 33 or 34 military expeditions during the caliphate of Abu Bakr and 'Umar. He died in 82 H.

^[4] All these Abādith go to explain that there are six kinds of people upon whom the Friday prayer is not obligatory, they are: slaves, women, children, travellers, sick persons and the

[Reported by At-Tabarāni through a weak chain of narrators].

377. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Mas'ūd 毒: Whenever Allāh's Messenger 續 ascended the *Minbar* (to give the Friday *Khutba*), we used to face him. [At-Tirmidhi reported it through a weak chain of narrators. It has a *Shabid* (supporting narration) in the *Hadith* of Al-Bara', reported by Ibn Khuzaima].

378. Narrated Al-Hakam bin Hazn^[1] s: We attended the Friday prayer with the Prophet 鑑 and he (鑑) stood leaning on a staff or a bow. ^[2] Reported by Abū Dā'ud]. مُسَافِرِ جُمُعَةً". رَوَاهُ الطَّبَرَانِيُّ بِإِسْنَادِ ضَعِيفٍ. (٣٧٧) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِرَ مَسْعُودِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ إِذَا اشْتَوَى عَلَى الطِينَرِ، اسْتَقْبَلْنَاهُ بِوجُوهِنَا. رَوَاهُ النَّزْمِذِيُّ بِإِسْنَادٍ ضَعِيفٍ. وَلَهُ شَاهِدٌ مِنْ حَدِيثِ البَرَاءِ عِنْدَ النَّرَاءِ عَنْدَ النَّاهِ النَّرَاءِ عَنْدَ النَّرَاءِ عَنْدَ النَّرَاءِ عَنْدَ النَّرَاءِ عَنْدَ النَّذِيدَةِ اللَّهُ النَّذِيدَةُ النَّذِيرَاءِ عَنْدَ النَّذِيدَةُ النَّذِيرَاءِ عَنْدَ النَّذِيرَاءِ عَنْدَ الْعَلْدُ النَّذِيرَاءِ عَنْدَ النَّذِيرَاءِ عَنْدُ النَّذِيرَاءِ عَنْدَ النَّذِيرَاءِ عَنْدُ اللَّهُ النَّذِيرَاءِ عَنْدُ النَّالِينَ اللْهِ اللهِ المُلْعِلْمُ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ المُلْعِلَيْنَاءِ اللهِ العَلْمُ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللّهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِل

(٣٧٨) وَعَنِ الحَكَمِ بْنِ حَزْن رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنهُ قَالَ: شَهِدْنَا الجُمُعَةَ مَعَ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، فَقَامَ مُتَوَكِّناً عَلَى عَصاً أَوْ قَوْسٍ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ.

Chapter 13 SALAT-UL-KHAUF (PRAYER IN TIME OF FEAR)

379. Narrated Salih bin Khawwāt^[3] on the authority of one who offered the Fear prayer with Allāh's Messenger 醬 at the battle of *Dbātur-Riqā* ^{-[4]} that a group (of the army) formed a line along with him and a group faced the enemy. He (鑑) led the group which was with him in a *Rak'a*, and then remained standing while they finished their prayer by themselves. They then departed and lined up facing the enemy, and the other party came. He

١٣ - بَابُ صَلَاةِ الخَوْفِ

(٣٧٩) عَنْ صَالِحِ بْنِ خَوَّاتِ، عَمَّنْ صَلَّى مَعَ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ يَوْمَ ذَاتِ الرَّقَاعِ صَلَاةَ الخَوْفِ:

أَنَّ طَائِفَةً مِنْ أَصْحَابِهِ ﷺ صَفَّتْ مَعُهُ، وَطَائِفَةً وَجَاهَ العَدُوْ، فَصَلَّى بِالَّذِينَ مَعُهُ رَكْعَةً، ثُمَّ بُنَتَ فَائِماً، وَأَتَمُوا لِإِنْفُسِهِمْ، ثُمَّ انْصَرَقُوا، فَصَفُّوا فِيَعَةً اللَّحْرَى، وَجَاهَ العَدُوّ، وَجَاهَ الطَّيْفَةُ اللَّحْرَى، فَصَفُّرا فِصَمَّلَى بِهِمُ الرَّكُعَةَ النِّي بَقِيتْ، ثُمَّ ثَبَتَ جَالِساً، وَاتَمُوا لِإِنْفُسِهِمْ، ثُمَّ سَلَّمَ بهمْ. مُثَقَّقُ عَلَيْدِ، وَالْتَعْدَ الْعَدِيمَةُ مَنْ مَلَيْهِمْ، مُثَقِّقًا عَلَيْدِ، وَالْتَعْدَ الْعَدُونَ عَلَيْدِ، مَنْ مَنْ مَنْ مَعْمَ مَعَنْ عَلَيْدِ، وَالْتَمُوا لِإِنْفُسِهِمْ، ثُمَّ سَلَّمَ بهمْ. مُثَقَّقًا عَلَيْدِ، وَالْتَعْدَ الْعَلَيْدُ مَعْمَ عَلَيْدِ، مُثَقَلَّ عَلَيْدِ، وَالْتَعْدَ الْعَلْمَ بَهْمْ. مُثَعِنْ عَلَيْدِهُ اللَّهِ بَهِمْ مُنْ مُثَقِّعًا عَلَيْدِهُ اللَّهِ الْعَلْمَ بهمْ مُنْ مُثَقِّعًا عَلَيْدِهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ الْعَلْمَ بهمْ مُنْ مُنْ اللَّهُ بهمْ مُنْ مُنْ الْعَلَقِهُ عَلَيْدِهُ الْعَلَيْمَةُ الْعَلْمِ اللَّهِ الْوَلِهُ الْعَلَقِهُ الْوَلِهُ الْمُنْفِقِهِمْ مُنْ أَنْ الْعَلَقِهُ مَا الْعَلَقِهُ الْعَلَقِهُ الْعُلْمُ اللَّهُ الْمُنْقِقَةُ الْعَلَقُونُهُ الْعَلَيْ عَلَيْدِهُ الْمُنْفَقِهُ الْوَلِيْفَةُ الْعَلَقِهُ الْمُنْفِقِهُ الْوَلِهُ الْمُنْفِقَةُ الْعَلَقِهُ الْعَلَقِهُ الْعَلَقِهُ الْعَلَقِيقَةُ الْعَلَقِيقَةُ الْعَلَقِيقِهُ الْعُلِقَةُ الْعَلَقِيقِينَ الْعَلَقِيقِ الْعَلَيْفَةُ الْعَلَقِيقُ الْعَلَقِيقِ الْعِلْمُ الْعَلَقَةُ عَلَيْ الْعِلْمُ الْعِلْمُ الْعُلِهُ الْعُلِقِيقِ الْعِلْمُ الْعَلَقِيقِ الْعِلْمُ الْعَلَقِيقِ الْعِلْمِيقِيقِ الْعَلْمُ الْعَلَقِيقِ الْعِلْمُ الْعَلَقِيقِ الْعِلْمُ الْعِلْمُ الْعِلْمُ الْعَلَقِ الْعِلْمُ الْعَلَقِ الْعَلَقِيقِ الْعَلَيْمِ الْعَلَقِيقِ الْعَلَقِيقِ الْعَلَيْمِ الْعَلَقِيقِ الْعِلْمُ الْعِلْمُ الْعِلْمُ الْعُلِقِ الْعِلْمُ الْعِلْمُ الْعِلْمُ الْعُلُولُونُ الْعِلْمُ ا

nomads. Two more categories, i.e. the blind and the lame are mentioned in the Qur'an. If they perform the Friday prayer, they shall be exempted from praying the noon prayer.

^[11] Al-Hakam bin Hazn bin Abu Wahab Al-Makhzumi became a Muslim during the year of the conquest of Makkah and thus attended a *Jumu'a* with the Prophet 26.

^[2] This confirms that a person, while delivering the Kbutba may take the support of some object, to avoid tiredness from a lengthy standing position, or some other reason.

^[3] He is Sālih bin Khawwāt bin Jubair bin An-Nu'mān Al-Ansāri Al-Madani. He was one of the prominent Sabāba and his Abadīth are very authentic.

^[4] Dbātur-Riqa' may be translated as 'the one having strips (rags)'. Muslims were suffering from an extreme poverty, and they were bare-footed without shoes. When their feet blistered, they wrapped them with rags and tattered clothes. Thus, this battle came to be known as Dbātur-Riqa'.

led them in the remaining Rak'a (of his prayer), after which he remained sitting while they finished their prayer by themselves. He then led them in uttering the Taslim (salutation). [11] [Agreed upon]; and this is the wording of Muslim. This (Haditb) has been reported in Al-Ma'rijab of Ibn Mundah: from Salih ibn Khawwat, from his father.

380. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: I went on an expedition with Allah's Messenger to Najd, [2] and when we came in front of the enemy we lined up in ranks facing them. Allāh's Messenger 🗯 then stood up and led us in prayer. One group stood up with him while the other faced the enemy. He prayed a Rak'a with those who were with him and made two prostrations. Then, they changed places with those who had not prayed. When they came Allah's Messenger & prayed a Rak'a with them and made two prostrations. He then uttered the Taslim (salutation) and each of them got up and prayed a Rak'a alone and made two prostrations.[3] [Agreed upon, and the wording if from Al-Bukhāri].

وَهَذَا لَفْظُ مُسْلِمٍ. وَوَقَعَ فِي المَعْرِفَةِ لاَبْنِرِ مَنْدَة: عَنْ صَالِحِ بْنِ خَوَّاتٍ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ.

(٣٨٠) وَعَن إَبْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما قَالَ: عَرْوْتُ مَعَ رَسُول اللهِ ﷺ قِبَلَ نَجْدِ فَوَازَيْنَا اللّمَدُوّ، فَصَافَفْنَاهُمْ، فَقَامَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ وَبَلَ اللهِ ﷺ وَمَدُهُ، وَرَكَعَ بِمَنْ مَعُهُ، وَأَقْبَلَتْ طَافِقَةٌ عَلَى العَدُوّ، وَرَكَعَ بِمَنْ مَعُهُ، وَسَجَدَ سَجْدَتَيْن ، ثُمَّ الْصَرَفُوا مَكَانَ الطَّافِقَةِ اللّهِ اللّهِ اللّهِ اللّهِ اللّهِ اللّهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهُ مَنْهُمْ، وَرَكَعَ بِهِمْ رَكْعَةً، وَسَجَدَ سَجْدَتَيْن ، ثُمَّ سَلَّمَ فَقَامَ كُلُّ وَاحِدِ مَنْهُمْ، وَرَكَعَ لِيَقْمِ وَرُحْعَةً وَسَجَدَ سَجْدَتَيْن ، ثُمَّ سَلَّمَ فَقَامَ كُلُّ وَاحِدِ مَثْفَقًا عَلَيْه ، وَلَكُعَ لِلْهُخَارِيْ.

^[1] This Hadith states that the Prophet 鑑 led a prayer consisting of two Rak'at and a second Hadith states that he led two prayers consisting of two Rak'at each for two different groups of fighters. In as much as the leading of two prayers is mentioned, there is no difference of opinion regarding it. The crux of the matter is that during such a 'prayer of fear', the wartactics have been taken into consideration. Different methods of praying are authentically proven to have been adopted by the Prophet 遵.

blin Hazm has referred to fourteen different methods (styles) of praying depending on what a certain situation calls for. Sometimes it was a lengthy prayer and sometimes a short one. Sometimes it was with one manner and sometime with another. The name of the Companion of the Prophet a from whom this Hadith has been narrated, is not mentioned. According to another reference, his name has been stated as Sahl bin Abī Hathma.

 $^{^{[2]}}$ Najd is the name of that part of the Arabian Peninsula where highlands and hills are situated.

^[3] It appears from this *Hadīth* that the Prophet ﷺ led one *Rak'at* each to two different groups while each group offered the other *Rak'at* by itself. Apparently, this situation coincides with the Qur'an.

381. Narrated Jābir ♣: I witnessed Salāt-al-Khauf with Allāh's Messenger 鑑 and we lined up in two rows behind him with the enemy between us and the Qiblab. The Prophet 2 uttered the Takbir and we all uttered it; then he bowed and we all bowed: then he raised his head after bowing and we all raised ours: then he and the row immediately behind him went down in prostration while the rear row stood facing the enemy. Then, when Allah's Messenger & finished the prostration and the row immediately behind him stood up, the rear row went down in prostration; then they stood up. Then, the rear row went to the front and the front row to the rear. Then, the Prophet # bowed and we all bowed; then he raised his head after bowing and we all raised ours; then he and the row immediately following him - which had been in the rear in the first Rak'a went down in prostration while the rear row stood up facing the enemy. Then, when the Prophet & and the row immediately following him finished the prostration, the rear row went down and prostrated. Finally, the attered with the second the (salutation) and we all did so.[1] [Reported by Muslim].

وَفِي رِوَايَةِ: ثُمَّ سَجَدَ، وَسَجَدَ مَعَهُ الصَّفُّ Abū Dā'ud has reported from Abū 'Aiyāsh Az-Zuraqi^[2] & similarly, and he added: "it was in Usfān." [3]

(٣٨١) وَعَنْ جَابِر رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: شَهِدْتُ مَعَ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ صَلَاةَ الخَوْف ، فَصَفَفْنَا صَفَّيْنِ ، صَفٌّ خَلْفَ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ، وَالْعَدُوُّ بَيِّنَنَا وَبَيْنَ الْقِبْلَةِ، فَكَبَّرَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ، وَكَبَّرْنَا جَمِيعاً، ثُمَّ رَكَعَ، وَرَكَعْنَا جَمِيعاً، ثُمَّ رَفَعَ رَأْسَهُ مِنَ الرُّكُوعِ، وَرَفَعْنَا جَمِيعاً، ثُمَّ انْحَدَرَ بِالسُّجُودِ، وَالصَّفُّ الَّذِي يَلِيهِ، وَقَامَ الصَّفُّ المُؤَخَّرُ فِي نَحْرِ العَدُوِّ، فَلَمَّا قَضَى السُّجُودَ قَامَ الصَّفُّ الَّذِي يَلِيهِ، فَذَكَرَ

الأوَّلُ، فَلَمَّا قَامُوا سَجَدَ الصَّفُّ النَّانِي، ثُمَّ

^[1] The mode (of the prayer) in this *Hadīth* appears to be contrary to the Qur'anic Verse. However, the Fear prayer (Salātal-Khauf) has been performed in different modes keeping in view the gravity of differing circumstances.* Salātal-Khauf is two Rak'at for the Imām. that the Prophet رضي الله عنه That the Prophet وضي الله عنه الله عنه According to Nasa'i, it is mentioned in a Hadīth narrated by Jābir رضي الله عنه that the Prophet 🛎 led two Rak'at each for each of the two groups. In this situation, the Imam prayed four Rak'at, out of which two of them are his Fard and the other two are his Nafl.

^[2] His name is Zaid bin Thäbit who is an Ansāri and a Zurāqi. A group of Muslims reported Hadīth from him and he died after 40 H.

^[3] Usfān is the name of a place which is located at a distance of two Manzil (about two-days iourney) from Makkah.

تَأَخَّرَ الصَّفُ الأَوَّلُ، وَتَقَدَّمَ الصَّفُ النَّانِي، وَذَكَرَ مِنْلَهُ، وَفِي آخِرِو: ثُمَّ سَلَّمَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ، وَسَلَّمَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ، وَسَلَّمَ النَّبِيُ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهَ اللَّهِ اللَّهَ عَنْ أَبِي عَلِيْمَ الزُّرَقِيِّ مِنْلُهُ، وَزَادَ: إِنَّهَا كَانَتُ مُمْشَانَ.

An-Nasā'i reported this narration—through another chain of narrators—from Jābir &: The Prophet & led a group of his Companions in two Rak'at after which he uttered the Taslim (salutation). Then he led another group in two Rak'at after which he uttered the Taslim (salutation)." Abū Dā'ud has reported similarly from Abū Bakra &

وَلِلنَّسَائِيِّ مِنْ وَجُو آخَرَ عَنْ جَابِرِ: أَنَّ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ صَلَّى بِطَائِفَةِ مِّنْ أَصْحَابِهِ رَكْمَتَيْنِ، ثُمَّ سَلَّمَ، ثُمَّ صَلَّى بِآخَرِينَ أَيْضاً رَكْمَتَيْنِ، ثُمَّ سَلَّمَ. وَمِثْلُهُ لِإِنِي دَاوُدَ عَنْ أَبِي بَكْرَةً.

382. Narrated Hudhaifa &: The Prophet performed Salātal-Khauf leading these (Companions) in one Rak'a and those (other Companions) in one Rak'a, and they did not make up the second Rak'a. [Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i. Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)]. Ibn Khuzaima has reported it similarly from Ibn 'Abbās &.

(٣٨٢) وَعَنْ مُحَذَيْفَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ اللَّهِ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ صَلَّى صَلَاةَ الخَوْفِ بِهِؤُلَاءِ رَكْعَةً، وَهُوُلَاءِ رَكْعَةً، وَهُولُلاًءِ رَكْعَةً، وَلَمْ يَقْضُوا. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو كَانَ وَمِثْلُهُ عِنْدًا النِّنَ جَبَّانَ، وَمِثْلُهُ عِنْدَ النِّنَ جَبَّانَ، وَمِثْلُهُ عِنْدَ النِّنَ خَبَّاسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا.

383. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . Allāh's Messenger said, "The prayer in time of danger is one Rak'a, in whatever manner it is (performed)." [Al-Bazzār reported it through a weak chain of narrators].

(٣٨٣) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: "صَلَاةُ الخَوْف رَكُعَةٌ عَلَى أَيِّ وَجُهِ كَانَّ». رَوَاهُ البَرَّارُ بإشَادُ ضَعِيف.

384. Narrated (Ibn 'Umar) & [This Hadith is] attributed to the Prophet & "There is no Sahw (prostration for forgetfulness) in the prayer in time of danger." [Ad-Dāraqutni reported it through a weak chain of narrators].

(٣٨٤) وَعَنْهُ مَرْفُوعاً: لَيْسَ فِي صَلَاةِ الخَوْف ِ سَهْوٌ. أَخْرَجَهُ الدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ بِإِسْنَادِ ضَعِيف.

^[1] From this *Hadīth* some people deduce and conclude that there is one *Rak'a* each, both on the follower and *Imām*. Sufyān also follows the same view.

Chapter 14 THE PRAYERS OF THE TWO 'EID[1] (FESTIVALS)

١٤ - نَاتُ صَلَاةِ الْعِيدَيْنِ

385. Narrated 'Aisha 嘰: Allāh's At-Tirmidhi].

Messenger 鑑 said: "('Eid) Al-Fitr is the day on which the people break the fast, and ('Eid) Al-Adha is the day the people offer sacrifices."[2] [Reported by

386. Narrated Abū 'Umair bin Anas bin Mālik^[3] (🍇) on the authority of some of his paternal uncles who were among the Companions, that some riders came and testified that they had seen the new moon the previous day. The Prophet & therefore commanded the people to break the fast and go out to their place of prayer in the morning.[4] [Reported by Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud. This is Abū Dā'ud's wording and its Isnād is Sabib (authentic)).

387. Narrated Anas Allāh's Messenger 2 would not go out on the day of the breaking of the fast till he ate some dates, which he used to eat in

(٣٨٥) عَنْ عائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "الفِطْرُ يَوْمَ يُفْطِرُ النَّاسُ، وَالأَضْحَى يَوْمَ يُضَحِّى النَّاسُ". رَوَاهُ

(٣٨٦) وَعَنْ أَبِي عُمَيْر بْنِ أَنَس، عَنْ عُمُومَةٍ لَّهُ مِنَ الصَّحَابَةِ، أَنَّ رَكْبًا جَاءُوا، فَشَهدُوا أَنَّهُمْ رَأُوا الهلَالَ بالأمس، فَأَمَرَهُمُ النَّبِي ﷺ أَنْ يُفْطِرُوا، وَإِذَا أَصْبَحُوا أَنْ يَغْدُوا إِلَى مُصَلَّاهُمْ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَنُو دَاوُدَ، وَهَذَا لَفْظُهُ، وَإِسْنَادُهُ صَحِيحٌ .

(٣٨٧) وَعَنْ أَنَس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ لَا يَغْدُو يَومَ الفِطْرِ حَتَّى نَأْكُلَ تَمَرَات (يَأْكُلُهُنَّ وَثُرَاتٍ). أَخْرَجَهُ

^[1] The prayer of 'Eidain (two 'Eid) is Sunnat Mu'akkada (offered regularly by the Prophet 题 - hence a definite Sunnah). Some scholars consider it Fard Kifaya (a collective duty - an obligation which, if performed by some, suffices for the rest, as it is not essential that it be performed by all). Others maintain that it is Fard 'Atn (an individual duty - an obligation essential to be performed by each individual). The first position is more correct.

^[2] This Hadīth implies that in order to observe 'Eidul-Fitr and 'Eidul-Adha prayers, it is necessary to act along with the masses of people - under the authority of the Muslim Ruler. If someone sights the crescent of Shawwal and his testimony is not accepted, he can neither break his fast nor can be celebrate 'Etd alone. Similarly, he can neither offer a sacrifice nor offer a prayer on the other 'Etd. He can do so only on the condition that the general body of Muslims also do so.

^[3] His name is 'Abdullāh bin Anas bin Mālik Al-Ansāri and he was the eldest of Anas' children. He was a reliable narrator of the 4th grade and was one of the young Tabi'in. He lived for a long time after his father.

^[4] This clarifies that in case the moon is not sighted on the 29th of Ramadan, but the next day an authentic news of a confirmed sighting of the moon arrives that the same has been sighted at such and such place, the fasting should be broken in general then and there. If the confirmation arrives prior to Zawāl time (decline of the sun), 'Eid prayer should be offered the same day. If the same is confirmed after Zawāl time, it should be offered the following day.

odd numbers. [Al-Bukhāri reported it]. A *Mu'allaq* narration (broken chain from the side of the *Haditb* collector, i.e. Al-Bukhari) – but connected by Ahmad – Has: "and he used to them one by one."

388. Narrated Ibn Buraida on the authority of his father: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ would not go out on the day of breaking of the fast till he had some food, and he would not to take any food on the day of sacrifice^[1] till he had prayed (the 'Eid prayer). [Reported by Ahmad and At-Tirmidhi; Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

389. Narrated Umm 'Atiya \$\circ\$: We were commanded \(^{12}\) to bring out on 'Eidul-Fitr and 'Eidul-Adba, the young women and the menstruating women to participate in the goodness and supplications of the Muslims. However, the menstruating women would refrain from the (actual) place of prayer \(^{13}\) [Agreed upon].

390. Narrated Ibn 'Umar 泰: Allāh's Messenger 義, Abū Bakr and 'Umar (泰) used to offer the 'Eid prayer before the Kbutba (religious talk – sermon). [4] [Agreed upon].

البُخَارِيُّ، وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ مُعَلَّقَةٍ - وَوَصَلَها أَحْمَدُ - : (وَيَأْكُلُهُنَّ أَفْرَاداً). .

(٣٨٨) وَعَن ابْن بُرِيْدَةَ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ لَا يَخْرُجُ يَوْمَ الفِطْرِ حَتَّى يَطْعَمَ، وَلَا يَطْعُمُ يَوْمَ الأَضْحَى حَتَّى يُصْلِّيَ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالتَّرْمِنِثِي، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ جِبَّانَ.

(٣٨٩) وَعَنْ أُمْ عَطِيَّةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: أُمِوْنَا أَنْ نُخْرِجَ العَوَاتِقَ والخَيِّضَ فِي العِيدَيْنِ، يَشْهَدُنَ الخَيْرَ وَدَعْوَةَ المُسْلِمِينَ، وَتَعْتَرُلُ الخَيِّضُ المُصَلِّى. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٣٩٠) وَعَن الْبِن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ وَأَبُو بَكْمِ وَعُمْرُ يُصَلُّونَ العِيدَيْنِ قَبْلَ الخُطْبَةِ. مُثَقَنَّ عَلَه.

^[1] This *Hadīth* informs us that it is in accordance with *Sunnab* to eat something before *Eidul-Fitr* prayer, and after *Eidul-Adba* prayer. Keeping in view the tradition of the Prophet 鐵 dates are preferable.

^[2] This Hadith tells us that it is preferable to women to go to Musallal-Eid (praying place for offering 'Eid prayer) and pray there along with men. Such a preferance is given to them so that they too may participate in supplication and its accompanying blessings.

^[3] Some people interpret this *Hadīth* maintaining the view that it was allowed during the early days of Islam so that the volume of the Muslim populace may appear to be seemingly abundant. But the permission for the women to come out was revoked later on. To answer their argument effectively, it is sufficient to quote a *Hadīth* narrated by 'Abdullāh bin 'Abbās لمن الله عني which states that even after the conquest of Makkah, he has seen the women going to the *Musallal-'Eid*.

^[4] According to *Sunnab*, the *Khutba* is to be delivered after the prayer, and there is no difference of opinion about it. During the era of Bani Umaiya, Marwān put an innovation into effect that the *Khutba* should precede the prayer, but this practice has no value in Islam.

391. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās 泰: The Prophet 爨 offered two *Rak'at*^[1] on the day of '*Eid*, and did not pray before or after them.^[2] [Reported by *As-Sab'a*].

392. Narrated (Ibn 'Abbās) **\$:** The Prophet **#** offered the 'Eid prayer without an Adbān or an Iqāma. [Reported by Abū Dā'ud; and its basic meaning is in Al-Bukbāri].

393. Narrated Abū Sa'īd &: The Prophet & never used to offer any prayer before the 'Eid prayer. But when he went back home, he used to pray two Rak'at. [Reported by Ibn Mājah through a Hasan (good) chain of narrators].

394. Narrated (Abū Saʿīd) 拳: The Prophet 鸞 used to go out on the day of the breaking of the fast and the day of sacrifice to the place of prayer, and the first thing he would start with was the prayer. When he finished he would stand facing the people, who were seated in their rows, and he would then preach to them and command them. [Agreed upon].

395. Narrated 'Amr bin Shu'aib from his father on the authority of his grand father: The Prophet of Allah & said, "The *Takbīr* in ('Eid) Al-Fitr prayer are seven in the first Rak'a^[3] and five in

(٣٩١) وَعَنر ابْنِر عَبَّاسِر رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ صَلَّى يَوْمَ العِيدِ رَكْمَتَيْنِر، لَمْ يُصُلُّ قَبْلَهُما وَلَا بَعْدَهُمَا. أَخْرَجُهُ الشَّبْعَةُ.

(٣٩٧) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ صَلَّى العِيدَ بِلَا أَذَانِ وَلَا إِفَامَةٍ. أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو وَلَا وَاصْلُهُ فِي البُخَارِيِّ.

(٣٩٣) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ لَا يُصَلِّي قَبْلَ العِيدِ شَيْئاً، فَإِذَا رَجَعَ إِلَى مُنْزِلِهِ صَلَّى رَكْمَتَيْنِ. رَوَاهُ ابْنُ مَاجَهُ بِإِسْنَادِ حَسَنٍ.

(٣٩٤) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ النَّبِيُّ عَلَيْهُ يَخْرُجُ يَومَ الفِطْرِ وَالأَضْحَى إِلَى المُصَلَّى، وَأَوَّلُ شَيْءً يَبْدُأُ بِهِ الصَّلَاةُ، ثُمَّ يَنْضَرِفُ، فَيَقُومُ مُقَابِلِ النَّاسِ - وَالنَّاسُ عَلَى صُفُوفِهِمْ - فَيَعِظْهُمْ وَيَأْمُرُهُمْ. مُثَنَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٣٩٥) وَعَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِرِ شُعَيْبٍ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ جَدَّهِ قَالَ: قَالَ نَبِيُّ اللهِ ﷺ: «التَّكْبِيرُ فِي الفِطْرِ سَبْعٌ فِي الأُولَى، وَحَمْسٌ فِي الأُخْرَى، وَالقِرَاءُةُ بَعْدُهُمًا كِلْتَنْهِمَا». أُخْرَجُهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ،

^[1] If a person fails to join the 'Eid prayer behind the Imām, and prays alone, Ahmad and Ath-Thawri hold that he should offer four Rak'at. Other scholars hold that he may offer it as two Rak'ab, while Abu Hanifa holds that one may choose between offering the missed 'Eid prayer as two or four Rak'ab, (Refer to Fathul-'Allām 2/521).

^[2] No Nafl (voluntary prayer) is to be offered before or after 'Eid prayer in the Musalla ('Eid praying place). However, after returning to one's home, it is permissible to offer two Rak'ab of Nafl prayer.

^[3] There is a difference of opinion among scholars about the reports related to the number of *Takbirātul-Eidain* and their situations, the more correct manner among them is the one mentioned in this *Hadātib*. Some people act upon the *Hadātib* narrated by Ibn Mas'ūd غني in which besides *Takbīr Ifṭtitab* and *Takbīr Ruku'*, there are six extra *Takbirāt*, three of which are to be pronounced in the first *Rak'a* prior to the recitation and the remaining three in the second *Rak'a* after the recitation. In the matter of correctness and propriety, the

the second, and the recitation of the Qur'ān in both is after the *Takbīr*." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud. At-Tirmidhi transmitted its *Tasbib* (grading of authenticity) from Al-Bukhāri].

396. Narrated Abū Wāqid Al-Laithi &: The Prophet & used to recite on ('Eid') Al-Adba and ('Eid') Al-Fitr, Sūrat Qāf (No. 50) and Sūrat Al-Qamar (No. 54) [Reported by Muslim].

397. Narrated Jābir 泰: On an 'Eid day, Allāh's Messenger 囊 would return by a different road^[1] from the one he had taken when going out (for the 'Eid prayer.) [Reported by Al-Bukhāri]. Abū Dā'ud has a similar report from Ibn 'Umar (泰).

399. Narrated 'Ali &: It is Sunnab to go to the 'Eid (prayer) walking. [Reported by At-Tirmidhi who graded it Hasan (good)].

400. Narrated Abū Huraira **\(\operatorname{s}: \)** It rained on an 'Eid day, so the Prophet **\(\operatorname{s} \)** led them (the people) in the 'Eid prayer in the mosque. \(\begin{align*} \begin{align*} \alpha \) [Reported by Abū Dā'ud with a Laiyin (weak) Isnād].

وَنَقَلَ التُّرْمِذِيُّ عَن ِ البُّخَارِيِّ تَصْحِيحَهُ.

(٣٩٦) وَعَنْ أَبِي وَاقِدِ اللَّبْيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ يَشْرَأُ فِي الأَضْحَى وَالفِطْرِ بِهِ فَقَ، وَافْتَرَبَتْهُ.. أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٣٩٧) وَعَنْ جَابِرٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ إِذَا كَانَ يَوْمُ العِيدِ خَالَفَ الطَّرِيقَ. أَخْرَجُهُ البُخَارِيُّ، وَلِأَبِي دَاوُدَ عَنِ إَبْنِ عُمَرَ نَحْوُهُ.

(٣٩٨) وَعَنْ أَنَسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ:
قَدِمَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ المَدِينَةَ، ولَهُمْ يَوْمَانِ يَلْعَبُونَ فِيهِمَا، فَقَالَ: قَدْ أَبْدَلَكُمُ اللَّهُ بِهِمَا خَيْراً مِّنْهُمَا: يَوْمَ الأَضْحَى، وَيَوْمَ الفِطْرِ. أَخْرُبُهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَسَائِينُ بِإِسْنَاد صَحِيحٍ.

(٣٩٩) وَعَنْ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: مِنَ الشُّنَّةِ أَنْ يَخْرُجَ إِلَى العِيدِ مَاشِياً. رَوَاهُ التُرْهِنِثُ، وَحَسَّنَهُ.

(٠٠٤) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُمْ أَصَابَهُمْ مَطَرٌ فِي يَوْم عِيدٍ، فَصَلَّى بِهِمُ النَّبِيُ ﷺ صَلاةً العِيدِ فِي ٱلْمَسْجِدِ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوْدَ بإِسْنَادِ لَيْنِ.

Hadīth narrated by Ibn Mas'ūd stands nowhere.

^[1] That is, while going to *Musallal-Eid*, he adopted a certain route. Then, while coming back from there he chose a different one, for the reason that different places may testify to the worship and the splendour of Islam may become prominent.

^[2] This *Hadith* clarifies that in case it becomes difficult to perform a prayer in a *Musallal-Eid*, due to an excuse, it is permissible to perform the same in a mosque.

bright."

Chapter 15 SALAT AL-KUSUF^[1] (PRAYER AT AN ECLIPSE)

401. Narrated Mughira bin Shu'ba &: That there was a solar eclipse in the time of Allāh's Messenger & on the day his son Ibrāhim^[2] died. The people said, "The eclipse of the sun has happened due to the death of Ibrāhim." Allāh's Messenger & said, "The sun and the moon are two of Allāh's signs; they are not eclipsed due to the death or the life^[3] of anyone. So when you see them (the eclipse of the moon or sun) supplicate to Allāh and offer prayers until the eclipse is

Al-Bukhāri's narration from Abū Bakra has: Pray and supplicate (to Allāh) till (the eclipse) is over."

over. [4] " [Agreed upon]. In a narration of Al-Bukhāri it has: "till it becomes

402. Narrated 'Aisha \\$: Allāh's Messenger \(\mathbb{e}\) recited (from the Qur'ān) in an audible voice^[5] in the prayer at an eclipse, and prayed two Rak'at in

١٥ - بَابُ صَلَاةِ الكُسُوفِ

(٤٠١) عَنْ الْمُغِيرَةِ بْنِ شُغْبَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: ٱلْكَسَعَتِ الشَّمْسُ عَلَى عَهْدِ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ يَوْمَ مَاتَ إِبْرَاهِيمُ، فَقَالَ النَّاسُ: ٱلْكَسَعْتِ الشَّمْسُ لِمَوتِ إِبْرَاهِيمَ، فَقَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "إِنَّ الشَّمْسَ وَالقَمَرَ أَعَلَى وَالقَمَرَ أَعَلَى مَنْ اللَّمْسُ وَالقَمَرَ أَعَلَى وَالْقَمَرُ وَكَلَا لِمَوْتِ أَعَدِ وَلَا لِحَيَاتِهِ، فَإِذَا رَأَيْشُمُوهُمَا فَافْعُوا اللَّهَ وَصَلُوا، حَتَّى تَنْكَشِفَا». مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيه. وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ وَصَلُوا، حَتَّى تَنْكَشِفَا». مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيه. وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لِلْهُورِيَّةِ. وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ

وَلِلْبُخَارِيِّ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَبِي بَكْرَةَ: "فَصَلُوا، وَادْعُوا، حَتَّى يَنْكَشِفَ مَا بِكُمْ.

(٤٠٧) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ جَهَرَ فِي صَلَاةِ الكُسُوفِ بِقِرَاءَتِهِ، فَصَلَّى أَرْبَعَ رَكَعَاتٍ، فِي رَحْمَتَيْنِ وَأَرْبَعَ

^[1] The meaning of the words *Kusūf* and *Khusūf* (the solar and lunar eclipse) is "to become changed". The word *Khusūf* is usually applied to a lunar eclipse, whereas *Kusūf* is applied to a solar one; but these are also used interchangably.

^[2] His mother was Maria, the Egyptian, wife of Allāh's Messenger 繼 and a former slave, given to him as a gift by Al-Muqawqis the ruler of Alexandria and Egypt. Ibrāhim was born in Jumada-al-Ula 9 H. and died on 29 Shawwāl 11 H. at the age of 18 months. He was buried at Al-Baqi' and he (幾) said, "He has someone to complete his suckling period-in Paradise."

^[3] In the days of Jabiliya (pre-Islamic period), people used to believe that whenever a person of eminence is either born or passes away, a solar or lunar eclipse takes place. The Prophet ## refuted this idea.

^[4] This prayer is unanimously regarded as Sunnah. It consists of two Rak'at, with two Ruku' (bowing) in each Rak'a. As this prayer has been instructed to be offered at the sighting of an eclipse, the majority of the scholars have maintained that it be performed even during those hours during which prayers are normally not performed. Furthermore, there are various other modes also related to the offering of this prayer but they are all faulty.

^[5] Whether the lunar and solar Eclipse prayers be offered in an audible voice or an inaudible one is again a disputed point. However, offering it in an audible voice is proven from a Marfu' Hadīth (attributed to the Prophet).

165

which he bowed four times^[1] and prostrated four times." [Agreed upon. This is the wording of Muslim]. In another narration of Muslim: "He 經 sent an announcer to announce: The prayer is (to be offered) in congregation".^[2]

403. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: There was an eclipse of the sun in the life-time of Allāh's Messenger and then he prayed and stood for a long time, about as long as it would take to recite Sürat Al-Bagarah. Then, he bowed for a long time, and then he raised his head and stood for a long time, which was less than the first standing. Then, he bowed again for a long time, which was less than the first bowing. Then, he prostrated (twice) and then he stood for a long time, which was less than the first time standing. Then, he bowed for a long time, which was less than the first bowing. Then, he raised his head and stood up for a long time, which was less than the first standing. Then, he bowed for a long time, which was less than the first bowing. Then he prostrated (twice), and then he finished (the prayer), and the sun had become bright. He then delivered a Khutha (religious talk, sermon).[3] [Agreed upon]. And the wording is Al-Bukhāri's.

In a narration of Muslim: "When there was an eclipse of the sun, Allāh's Messenger ## performed eight bowings with four prostrations [in a two Rak'ab prayer for Eclipse]"

Muslim reported from 'Ali & similarly.

He also reported from Jābir &: "He

صَجَدَاتٍ . مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَهَذَا لَفْظُ مُسْلِمٍ . وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لَّهُ: فَبَعَثُ مُنَادِياً يُنَادِي «اَلصَّلَاةُ جَامِعَةٌ».

وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لَّمُسْلِمٍ: صَلَّى حِينَ كُسِفَتِ الشَّمْسُ ثَمَانِيَ رَكَمَاتِ فِي أَرْبَعِ سَجَدَاتٍ.

^[1] Contrary to other prayers, this prayer is with two Ruku' (bowings) in each Rak'a.

 $^{^{[2]}}$ According to the sound ${\it Had\bar{u}h}$ this manner of calling – for any other prayer except the Eclipse prayer – is not approved.

^[3] It is known from this *Hadīth* that *Khutha* (religious talk, sermon) is also delivered with the Eclipse prayer.

(Allāh's Messenger (3) performed six bowings with four prostrations [in a two *Rak'ab* prayer for Eclipse]."

Narrated Ubai bin Ka'b 泰: "He (the Prophet 鑑) prayed (the Eclipse prayer) and bowed five times and prostrated twice (in the first *Rak'ab*), and in the second *Rak'a* he also did the same." [Abu Dā'ud]

404. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās . No wind ever blew without the Prophet . getting down on his knees and saying, "O Allāh, make it a mercy and do not make it a punishment." [Reported by Ash-Shāfi'i and At-Tabarāni].

405. Narrated (Ibn 'Abbās) &: He (the Prophet ﷺ) prayed during an earthquake six bowings and four prostrations, and said, "This is the way the Prayer of the Signs (of Allah)^[1] (المناب) is offered. [Reported by Al-Baihaqi. Ash-Shāfi'i reported a similar *Hadīth* without its end through 'Ali bin Abū Talib &.

Chapter 16 SALAT-UL-ISTISQA^[2] (PRAYER FOR RAIN)

406. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ went out (of Al-Madinah, to pray for rain) humbling (himself), wearing rough clothes, submissive, walking slowly, supplicating (Allah). Then, he offered two *Rak'at* in the

وَعَنْ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ مِثْلُ ذَلِكَ. وَلَهُ عَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ: صَلَّى سِتَّ رَتَعَات, بَأَرْبَع, سَجَدَات.

وَلِابِي دَاوُدَ عَنْ أُبَيِّ بْنِرَ كَفْسِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ: صَلَّى، فَرَكَمَ خَشْسَ رَكَمَات.ٍ، وَسَجَدَ سَجْدَتَيْنِ، وَفَعَلَ فِي الثَّانِيَةِ مِثْلَ ذَلِكَ.

(٤٠٤) وَعَنِ الْبُنِ عَبَّاسِ, رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: مَا هَبَّتِ الرِّمِعُ قَطَّ، إِلَّا جَنَا النَّبِيُ عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: مَا هَبَّتِ الرِّمِعُ قَطَّ، إِلَّا جَنَا النَّبِيُ عَلَى رُمُجَتَلَهِ، وَقَالَ: ﴿اللَّهُمُ الْجَمَلُهُا رَحْمَةً، وَلَا تَجَمَلُهَا وَكُمْتُهُ، وَوَاهُ الشَّافِيئِ وَالطَّبِرَائِينُ. (٤٠٥) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُ يَشِقَى فِي زَلْزَلَةٍ سِتَّ رَكَعَاتٍ ، وَأَرْبَعَ صَلَّى فِي زَلْزَلَةٍ سِتَّ رَكَعَاتٍ ، وَأَرْبَعَ سَجَدَاتٍ ، وَقَالَ: هُكَذَا صَلَاهُ اللَّابِتِ. رَوَاهُ اللَّبَاتِ . رَوَاهُ اللَّبَاتِ . رَوَاهُ اللَّبَاتِي فَعَلْ بِنْ فَيْ اللَّهِ عَنْهُ عِلْيٌ بْنِرَ أَبِي طَالِبِهِ رَضِي اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ بِفِيهُ عَلْ عَلِي بْنِرَ أَبِي طَالِبِهِ رَضِي اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ بِفِيهُ عَلْ عَلِي بْنِرَ أَبِي طَالِبِهِ . وَهِي رَلْمُ مَنْهُ عِلْهُ عَنْهُ عَلَيْهُ بْنِرَ أَبِي طَالِبِهِ . وَهِي اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ بِعَلْهُ عَلَى اللّهِ مَنْهُ عَلَيْهُ بِهُ وَمَنَ اللَّهُ وَعَنْهُ وَمِنْ اللَّهُ وَعَالَى عَنْهُ عَلْهُ عَلْهُ عَلْهُ وَمِنَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ وَقَالَ اللّهِ الْعَلْهِ مُؤْلِكُ اللّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ وَلَهُ اللّهُ وَعَنْهُ وَلَهُ اللّهِ عَنْهُ وَلَالًا اللّهُ وَعَنْهُ وَلَهُ اللّهُ وَعَالًى اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ وَعَالًى عَنْهُ وَلَكُولُهُ اللّهُ وَاللّهُ وَعَلَالًا اللّهُ وَعَنْ اللّهُ وَعَنْهُ وَلَهُ اللّهُ وَعَنْهُ وَاللّهُ وَعَلَى اللّهُ وَعَنْهُ وَلَا اللّهُ وَعَنْهُ وَاللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ الْعَالَمُ اللّهُ اللهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ الللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ الللللّهُ الللللّهُ الللللّهُ الللللّهُ اللهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ الللللّهُ الللللّهُ الللللّهُ الللللّهُ اللللّهُ الللللّهُ الللللّهُ الللللّهُ الللللّهُ الللللّهُ الللللّهُ الللللّهُ اللّهُ اللللللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللللللّهُ الللللّهُ اللّهُ الللللّهُ الللللّهُ الللللّهُ اللللللّهُ الللللّهُ الللللّهُ الللللّهُ اللللللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ الللللّهُ اللللللّهُ

١٦ - بَابُ صَلَاةِ الاسْتِسْقَاءِ

البن عَبْس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَبْس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: خَرَجَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ مُتَوَاضِعاً، مُتَنَدُلاً، مُتَضَرَّعاً، فَصَلَّى رَحُعَتَيْن. مُتَضَرَّعاً، فَصَلَّى رَحُعَتَيْن. كَمَا يُصَلَّى فِي الهِيدِ، لَمْ يَخْطُبْ خُطْبَتَكُمْ

^[1] This *Hadītb* tells us that in the event of an untoward occurrence, whether an earthly disaster (i.e. an earthquake, an avalanche, etc.) or a catastrophe descending from the sky (i.e. a hurricane, sand-storm, snow-storm, etc.) which inflicts pain and grief on the creatures, people must immediately take upon themselves to offer this prayer which is known as *Salātul-Ayāt*.

^[2] The lexical meaning of *Istisqa'* is "to demand or to ask for water". In the terminology of *Shari'a* (Islamic law), it is typically used for conducting a special prayer gathering wherein supplications are offered to invoke rain. *Istisqa'* is of three kinds: 1) *Adna* (the least one). 2)

same way he prayed 'Eid, [1] but did not deliver your kind of Khutba [2] (religious talk, sermon). [Reported by Al-Khamsa; and At-Tirmidhi, Abu 'Awana and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sahtb (authentic)].

407. Narrated 'Aisha '8: The people complained to Allah's Messenger # of the lack of rain. So, he gave orders for a minbar, which was put for him at the prayer place. He then fixed a day for the people to come out. And he (鑑) came out when the edge of the sun appeared, sat down on the Minbar pronounced the greatness of Allah and expressed His praise. Then, he said, "You have complained of drought in vour abodes. Allah has ordered vou to supplicate Him, and promised that He would answer (your supplications)." Then he 鑑 said: All Praise is due to Allah, the Rabb (Lord) of the universe, the Compassionate, the Merciful, the Master of the Day of Judgement; nothing deserves to be worshipped except Allāh, Who does what He wills. O Allāh! You are Allāh, nothing deserves to be worshipped except You; You are the Rich, and we are the poor; لهٰذِهِ. رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الثَّرْمِذِيُّ وَأَبُّو عَوَانَةً وَابْنُ حِبَّانَ.

(٤٠٧) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا اللَّهُ لَعَالَى عَنْهَا المَصَلَّمِ، فَالَتْ: شَكَا النَّاسُ إِلَى رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ فُحُوطَ المَصَلَّى، المَصَلَّى، وَوَعَدَ النَّاسُ يَوْمُ يَخْرُجُونَ فِيهِ، فَخَرَجَ حِينَ بَدَا حَاجِبُ الشَّمْسِ، فَقَعَدَ عَلَى المِنْبَرِ، فَكَبَّرَ وَحِيدَ اللَّه، ثُمَّ قَالَ: إِنَّكُمْ شَكَوْنُمْ جَدْبَ وَرَعَدَ اللَّه، ثُمَّ قَالَ: إِنَّكُمْ شَكَوْنُمْ جَدْبَ أَنْ يَسْتَجِيبَ لَكُمْ، ثُمَّ قَالَ: الْبَحْمُدُ للهِ رَبِّ المَلْقَبَلَى الرَّحِيمِ، مَالِكِ يَوْمِ المَلْقِينَ، الرَّحِيمِ، مَالِكِ يَوْمِ المَلْقَبَلَى اللَّهُ يَعْمُلُ مَا يُويدُ، اللَّهُمُ اللَّهُ يَعْمُلُ مَا يُويدُ، اللَّهُمُ اللَّهُ اللهُ اللهُ يَعْمُلُ مَا يُويدُ، اللَّهُمُّ اللهُمَ اللهُمُ عَلَيْهِ، وَنَعْنُ مَا النَّذِلَ وَيَعْمُلُ مَا أَنْزَلْتَ الْغَنِيمَ، وَاجْعَلُ مَا أَنْزَلْتَ الْغَنِيمَ، وَاجْعَلُ مَا أَنْزَلْتَ الْغَنِيمَ، وَاجْعَلُ مَا أَنْزَلْتَ النَّاسِ طَهْرَهُ، وَقَلَّ إِلَى حِينٍ. ثُمَّ وَقَعَ يَدَيْهِ، فَلَمْ عَلَيْهِ إِلَى عَلَيْهِ، فُمَّ عَلَى اللهُ يَقْلُ مَا يُولِدُ اللهُ يَنْهُ وَعَلَى اللّهُ اللهُ إِلَى حِينٍ. ثُمَّ وَقَعَ يَدَيْهِ، فَلَمْ يَلِيلُهِ يَوْمُ اللهُ يَعْمُونَ وَافِعُ يَدَيْهِ، وَمُلَّ إِلَى إِلَى حِينٍ وَافِعُ يَدَيْهِ، وَمُلَّ وَوَافِعُ يَدَيْهِ، وَمُو رَافِعُ يَدَيْهِ، وَمُلَّ وَوَافِعُ يَدَيْهِ، وَمُلَّ وَوَافِعُ يَدَيْهِ، وَمُلَّ وَوَافِعُ يَدَيْهِ، وَمُدَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى وَافِعُ يَدَيْهِ، وَمُؤْمَ وَيُوفِعُ يَدَيْهِ، وَكُمْ وَمُؤْمَ وَافِعُ يَدَيْهِ،

Awsat (the middle one). 3) A'la (the superior one). Adna implies a verbal supplication only. Awsat stands for a verbal supplication (in congregation) after offering an obligatory (Fara) prayer. A'la calls for conducting a special congregational prayer to invoke rain. The correct form of Istisqa' prayer is that two Rak'at are offered. The recitation is made in an audible voice followed by two Kbutba (religious talk, sermon), and after it, a verbal supplication is made facing the Otblab.

^[1] There is a sequential and numerical difference in the pronouncing of *Takbir* between an *'Eid* prayer and an *Istisqa'* prayer. As for the *Kbutba*, it should follow the main course of prayer in *Istisqa'* as it does in the *'Eid* prayer.

^[2] The words "did not deliver your kind of Kbutba" allude to the fact that it was not a tiresome and lengthy Kbutba like yours. Shah Waliullah, in his book Hufjatullābīl-Bālīgba, writes that there are many ways of Istisqa' which are ascribed to the Prophet 鑑. The best method which the people may adopt according to Sunnab is that all the people must form a gathering in a forest with the Imām. Then, they should put on ragged clothes and supplicate to Allāh the Almighty, tearfully with a heavy heart. Then, the Imām should lead the prayer consisting of two Rak'at, with audible recitation. After the prayer, the Imām should deliver the Kbutba, making supplications to Allāh, while his face should be in the direction of the Qiblab, and then he should turn his cloak inside out.

send down rain upon us and make what You send down strength and satisfaction for a time." He at then raised his hands[1] and kept rising them till the whiteness of his armoits was visible. He then turned his back to the people and inverted his cloak while keeping his hands raised. He 鑑 then faced the people, descended and prayed two Rak'at. Then, Allah produced a cloud and storms of thunder and lightning came and the rain fell. [Reported by Abū Dā'ud who graded it Gharib (transmitted through a single narrator), but its chain is Jayyid (good)].

ثُمَّ أَقْبَلَ عَلَى النَّاسِ ، وَنَزَلَ، وَصَلَّى رَكْعَتَيْنِ ، فَأَنْشَأُ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى سَحَابَةً، فَرَعَدَتْ، وَبَرَقَتْ، ثُمَّ أَمْطَرَتْ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَقَالَ: غَريبٌ، وَإِسْنَادُهُ جَبُّدٌ.

The story of how the Prophet # inverted his cloak is mentioned in Sahih Al-Bukhāri from the narration of 'Abdullāh bin Zaid. And it contains (the words): "He & faced the Oiblab making supplication. Then, he prayed two Rak'at, reciting (the Qur'an) in them audibly."

وَقِطَّةُ التَّحْوِيلِ فِي الصَّحيحِ مِنْ حَدِيثِ عَبْدِاللهِ بْنِ زَيْدٍ، وَفِيهِ: فَتَوَجَّهَ إِلَى القِبْلَةِ يَدْعُو، ثُمَّ صَلَّى رَكْعَتَيْنِ، جَهَرَ فِيهِمَا بِالقِرَاءَةِ.

Ad-Dăraqutni reported from the Mursal Hadīth of Abū Ja'far Al-Bāgir[2]: "He ﷺ turned his cloak round, so that the drought may turn [from dry land to rained land).

وَلِلدَّارَقُطْنِيٌ مِنْ مُرْسَلِ أَبِي جَعْفَرِ البَاقِر: وَحَوَّلَ وَدَاءَهُ لِيَتَحَوَّلَ القَحْطُ.

408. Narrated Anas &: The Prophet 鑑 was delivering the Kbutba (religious talk, sermon) while standing on a Friday when a man came into the mosque and said. "O Messenger of الأَمْوَالُ، وَانْقَطَعَتِ السُّبُلُ، فَآدُمُ اللَّهَ عَزَّوَجَلَّ Allāh! the livestock have died and the roads are cut off, so supplicate Allah to

(٤٠٨) وَعَنْ أَنَس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَجُلاً دَخَلَ المَسْجِدَ يَوْمَ الجُمُعَةِ، وَالنَّبِيُّ ﷺ قَائِمٌ يَخْطُبُ، فَقَالَ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! هَلَكَتِ يُغشُّنَا، فَرَفَعَ يَدَيْهِ، ثُمَّ قَالَ: «اللَّهُمَّ أَغِثْنَا،

^[1] In this way it is known to us that in Istisqa' prayer, supplications should be made with رضى الله عنه raised hands. Imam An-Nawawi has collected twenty Ahadath to this effect. Anas narrates that he never saw the Prophet & ever raising his hands in any of his supplications other than the one made for Istisga'. This points to the fact that he never saw the Prophet 鑑 raising his hands so high in any prayer other than Istisqa'.

^[2] He is Muhammad Al-Baqir bin 'Ali Zainul-'Abidin bin Husain bin 'Ali bin Abū Tālib, the 5th Imām of the 12 Imāms claimed by the Ithna 'Ashariya Sht'a. He was called Bāqir for his wide knowledge. He was born in 56 H. and died in 117 at 63 years and was buried at Al-Bagi'.

send us down rain." Allāh's Messenger raised his hands and then said, "O Allāh! send us down rain, O Allāh! send us down rain." And the reporter mentioned the complete *Hadīth*, which contains supplication to stop the rain. [Agreed upon].

410. Narrated (Anas) &: Rain fell upon us while we were with Allāh's Messenger &: He opened his garment till some of the rain fell upon him. He then said, "It has only recently been created by its Rabb[3]." [Reported by Muslim].

اللَّهُمَّ أَغِثْنَا، اللَّهُمَّ أَغِثْنَا»، فَذَكَرَ الحَدِيثَ، وَفِيهِ الدُّعَاءُ بِإِمْسَاكِهَا. مُثَقِّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٤٠٩) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ كَانَ إِذَا تُحْطُوا اسْتَشْقَى بِالْمُبَّاسِ بْنِ عَبْدِ المُطَلِّبِ، وَقَالَ: اللَّهُمَّ إِنَّا كُتَّ سَتَشْقِينَا، وَإِنَّا يَتَوْسَلُ كُتَّ سَتَشْقِينَا، وَإِنَّا يَتَوْسَلُ إِلَيْكَ فَيَشْقِينَا، وَإِنَّا يَتَوْسَلُ إِلَيْكَ بِعَمْ نَبِيِّنَا فَاسْقِنَا، فَيُسْقَوْنَ. وَوَاهُ البَّخَارِيُّ. الْمُخَارِيُّ.

(١٠٠) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: أَصَابَنَا - وَنَحْنُ مَعَ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ - مَطَرٌ، قَالَ: فَحَسَرَ نَوْبَهُ حَتَّى أَصَابَهُ مِنَ المَطَرِ، وَقَالَ: إِنَّهُ حَدِيثُ عَهْدٍ بِرَبُّهِ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

^[1] This *Hadītb* teaches us that we should ask the living pious people supplicate for *Istisqa'* and not the dead ones. Many people believe that according to this *Hadītb*, supplications may be made through the dead, making them a medium, which is an erroneous view. Had it been proper and permissible to use the dead as intermediaries, 'Umar نوضي الله عند would not have requested 'Abbās نوضي الله عند to conduct supplications instead of the Prophet 選.

^[2] He is the uncle of the Prophet ﷺ and was nicknamed Abul-Fadl. He was responsible for supplying water to the pilgrims at Makkah and the construction of the Ka'ba. He attended Al-Aqaba agreement to make sure that the Ansār were sincere in their promises even though he had not yet become a Muslim. He was captured in the battle of Badr with the polytheists. He became a Muslim just before the conquest of Makkah and took part in it. He stood firm during the battle of Hunain. He died during Rajab or Ramadān in 32 H. and was buried at Al-Baqi'.

^[3] It means that the rain is directly descending from the heavens. It has not yet touched any vice, and has not yet come down to any place wherein people commit sinful acts. The idea is to teach us to seek Allāh's blessing by utilising the blessed and good things provided to us by Allāh the All-Mighty and then offer our thanks to Him alone.

411. Narrated 'Aisha 象: When the Prophet 鬈 saw rain he said, "O Allāh, (send down) a beneficial downpour." [Agreed upon].

412. Narrated Sa'd &: The Prophet supplicated (Allāh) for rain saying^[1], "O Allāh, cover all the land with accumulated, thundering, plunging and lightening clouds from which You would send us down a showery, drizzly, and pouring rain. O Possessor of Glory and Honour." [Reported by Abū 'Awana in his Sabib].

413. Narrated Abū Huraira : Allāh's Messenger said, Sulaiman (Solomon) went out to pray for rain, and he saw an ant lying on its back, raising its legs to the sky saying, [2] "O Allāh, we are creatures among your creatures, we cannot live without your water." He said (to his companions), "Go back, for you have been given water through the supplication of others." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Hākim graded it Sabth (authentic)].

414. Narrated Anas *****: The Prophet ***** prayed for rain pointing the back of his palms^[3] to the sky. [Reported by Muslim].

(٤١١) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ كَانَ إِذَا رَأَى المَطَرَ قَالَ: «اللَّهُمَّ صَبِّهً نَافِعًا». أُخْرَجَاهُ.

(٤١٧) وَعَنْ سَعْدِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ النَّيِّ ﷺ وَعَلْ مَعْهُ أَنَّ اللَّهُمُّ جَلُلْنَا سَخَاباً كَثِيفاً، فَصِيفاً، دَلُوفاً، ضَحُوكاً، تُمْطِرُنا مِنْهُ رُدَاداً، وَطُقِطاً، سَخْلاً، يَا ذَا الجَلَالِ وَالإَكْرَامِ، رَوَاهُ أَبُو عَوَانَةً فِي صَحِيحِهِ.

(١٣٤) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: خَرَجَ سُلْيَمَانُ عَلَيْهِ السَّلَامُ يَسْتَسْفِي، فَرَأَى نَشْلَةُ مُسْتَلْقِيتَةً عَلَى ظَهْرِهَا، رَافِعَةً قَوَائِمَهَا إِلَى السَّمَآءِ، تَقُولُ: اللَّهُمَّ إِنَّا خَلْقُ مِنْ خَلْقِكَ، لَيْسَ بِنَا غِنْي عَنْ سُقْبَاكَ، فَقَالَ: ﴿أَرْجِمُوا فَقَدْ سُقِيتُمْ بِدَعْوَةٍ عَيْرُكُمْ ﴿. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ.

(٤١٤) وَعَنْ أَنَسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ أَسْتَشْقَى فَأَشَارَ بِظَهْرِ كَفَّيْهِ إِلَى السَّمَاءِ. أَخْرَجُهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

^[1] Many supplications concerning *Istisqa'* are reported from the Prophet 燕 and this is one of them.

^[2] The practice of carrying animals to the *Istisqa'* prayer is proven through this *Hadīth* as Allāh may perhaps accept their supplications.

^[3] The religious scholars state that if a supplication is to be made to invoke Alläh's blessing, one should raise his hands in the usual way (palms facing the praying person). If the same is done to ward off an evil, the situation of hands should be reversed (i.e., raised hands, with palms facing out). It is meant as a sign, that may Alläh effect a change in the situation. The same applies to turning the cloak inside out. Likewise, the gesture of keeping one's palms facing outwards denotes and highlights the good omen – that may Alläh put the clouds lower (being filled with water).

Chapter 17 THE MANNERS OF CLOTHING

١٧ - مَاتُ اللُّمَاسِ

415. Narrated Abū 'Aamir Al-Ash'ari^[1] 🐟: Allāh's Messenger 🗱 said: "There will be among my followers some people who will consider adultery (al-Hir) and the use of silk (Al-Harir) lawful."[2] [Reported by Abū Dā'ud, and its basic meaning is in Al-Bukbāri].

416. Narrated Hudhaifa 🚓: Allāh's Messenger & forbade us from eating and drinking from gold and silver

vessels, and from wearing or siting upon silk or brocade. [Reported by Al-Bukhāril.

417. Narrated Allāh's 'Umar Messenger # forbade the wearing of silk except the space of two or three or four fingers.[3] [Agreed upon, and the wording is from Muslim].

418. Narrated Anas 🐟: The Prophet 🍇 gave permission to 'Abdur-Rahman bin 'Auf and Az-Zubair[4] to wear silk during the journey because of an itching which they suffered from. [Agreed upon].

(٤١٥) عَنْ أَبِي عَامِرِ الأَشْعَرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «لَيَكُونَنَّ مِنْ أُمَّتِي أَقْوَامٌ يَسْتَجِلُّونَ ٱلْخِزَ وَٱلحَرِيرَ ٣. رَوَاهُ أنُه دَاوُدَ، وَأَصْلُه فِي النَّخَارِيِّ.

(٤١٦) وَعَنْ حُذَيْفَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ أَنْ نَشْرَتَ فِي آنِيَة الذَّهَبِ وَالفِضَّةِ، وَأَنْ نَأْكُلَ فِيهَا، وَعَنْ لُبْس الحَرير وَالدِّيبَاجِ، وَأَنْ نَجْلِسَ عَلَيْهِ. رَوَاهُ

(٤١٧) وَعَنْ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عَنْ لُبْسِ الحَريرِ، إلَّا مَوْضِعَ أُصْبُعَيْنِ أَوْ ثَلَاثٍ أَوْ أَرْبَعٍ . مُتَّفَقّ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفْظُ لَمُسْلم .

(٤١٨) وَعَنْ أَنَس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ رَخُّصَ لِعَبْدِ الرَّحْمٰنِ بْنِ عَوْفِ وَالزُّبَيْرِ فِي قَمِيصِ الحَريرِ، فِي سَفَرٍ، مِنْ حِكَّةٍ كَانَتْ بِهِمَا. مُتَّفَقُ عَلَيْهِ.

^[1] He is called 'Abdullāh bin Hāni' or 'Ubaid bin Wahab. He was a Sahābi who settled at Shām and died during the rule of 'Abdul Malik bin Marwān.

^[2] It means that they shall be wearing silken cloth and committing fornication to such an excess as if these things are not forbidden at all.

^[3] The wearing of silk clothing is forbidden for men. However, it is permissible for a man to wear, at the most, a garment that comprises a silken stripe not measuring more than five to ten centimeters. Likewise, it is permissible for a man to wear silk clothing if he either suffers from itching of the skin (i.e., eczema, etc.) or he gets infested with lice. Since the silk clothing benefits the ones suffering from these conditions, they are allowed to keep using them as a supportive measure until they get cured.

^[4] Az-Zubair bin Al-'Awwām bin Khuwailid bin Asad Al-Qurashi Al-Asadi was the disciple of Allāh's Messenger 鑑, the son of Safiya, his paternal aunt and one of the ten who were promised to enter Paradise. He was also one of the Muslim heroes in the battles. He was killed in 36 H. after returning from the battle of Al-Jamal.

419. Narrated 'Ali bin Abi Talib .: The Prophet presented me a silk suit of clothing. [1] I went out wearing it, but on noticing anger on his face, I cut it up (and divided it) among the women of my household. [Agreed upon, and this is the wording of Muslim].

421. Narrated 'Imrān bin Husain &: The Prophet ﷺ said, "When Allāh grants His blessings to His servant, He loves to see the traces of His favour upon him." [2] [Reported by Al-Baihaqi].

422. Narrated 'Ali &: Allāh's Messenger forbade wearing of silk and clothes dyed with safflower (a red dye). [Reported by Muslim]

423. Narrated 'Abdullah bin 'Amr 毒: The Prophet 靏 saw me in two clothes dyed in safflower (a red dye), whereupon he said: "Did your mother order you to do this?^[3] ' [Reported by Muslim].

424. Narrated Asmā' bint Abū Bakr &: She brought out the mantle (over(819) وَعَنْ عَلِيٍّ بْمِنِ أَبِي طَالِبٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَسَانِي النَّبِيُّ ﷺ حُلَّةً سِيرَاء، فَخَرْجُتُ فِيهَا، فَرَأَيْتُ الغَضَبَ فِي وَجْهِو، فَشَقْفُتُهَا بَيْنَ نِسَانِي. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَلهٰذَا لَفْظُ مُسْلَم.

(٤٢٠) وَعَنْ أَبِي مُوسَى رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: «أَجِلَّ الذَّهَبُ وَالحَرِيرُ لِإِنَاثِ أَشْتِي. وَحُرَّمَ عَلَى ذُكُورِهِمْ». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالنَّمَاثِيُّ وَالتَّرْمِذِيُّ وَصَحَّحَهُ.

(٤٢١) وَعَنْ عِمْرَانَ بْنِرِ حُصَيْنِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿إِنَّ اللَّهَ يُرِبُ إِذَا أَلْعَمْ عَلَى عَبْدِهِ يِغْمَةً، أَنْ يَرَى أَثَرَ لِيْمَةِعْ عَلَيْهِ. رَوَاهُ البَيْهَةِئْ.

(٤٢٧) وَعَنْ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ نَهَى عَنْ لُبُسِ الفَسِّيِّ وَالهُعَضْفَر. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِغٌ.

(٤٢٣) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ عَمْرِو رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: رَأَى عَلَيَّ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ ثَوْتِيْنِر مُمُصْفَرَيْنِ ، فَقَالَ: ﴿أَمُكَ أَمَرَتُكَ بِهِذَا؟﴾. رَوَاهُ مُعْنَاً

(٤٧٤) وَعَنْ أَسْمَاءَ بِنْتِ أَبِي بَكْرٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّهَا أَخْرَجَتْ جُئَّةً رَسُول اللهِ

^[1] This garment was presented to the Prophet 攤 by the King of Aila region. It contained embroidery of golden and silken threads.

^[2] This clarifies that wearing good clothes and eating nice foods is not against piety. According to a *Hadīth*, Allāh loves beauty and cleanliness. Mālik bin Murara once asked the Prophet 醬 whether nice food, decent dress, good housing and a good mode of transport are a sign of pride and vanity? He answered in the negative, saying that pride is in considering others inferior to oneself, and is in not accepting the truth.

^[3] The whole *Hadith* goes that 'Abdullâh bin 'Umar مضي الله عنهما asked the Prophet's permission to wash that garment. His answer was in the negative instructing him to burn it instead, which was ostensibly a punitive measure.

garment) of Allāh's Messenger ﷺ – with it's collar, sleeves, front and back hemmed with brocade (silk)^[1]. [Abū Dā'ud reported it]. Its basic meaning in Muslim's *Sabib* with the addition: "It was with 'Aisha & till she died, then I took possession of it. The Prophet ﷺ used to wear it, and we wash it for the sick, seeking cure by means of it." Al-Bukhāri added in *Adab Al-Mufrad*^[2]: "He (the Prophet ﷺ) used to wear it on the visit of a delegation^[3] and on Fridays."

وَ مَكْفُوفَةَ الجَيْبِ والكُمَّيْنِ والفَرْجَيْنِ بِاللَّهِ مَا لَكُمَّيْنِ وَالفَرْجَيْنِ بِاللَّهِ مَا لَهُ وَاصْلُهُ فِي مُسْلِم، وَوَأَصْلُهُ فِي مُسْلِم، وَوَزَادَ: كَانَتْ عِنْدَ عَائِشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا حَتَّى فَيْعَا لَمَعْنَهُا، وَكَانَ النَّبِيُ عَلَيْ لَلْمُسْهَا، فَنَحْنُ نَغْيِلُهَا لِلْمُرْضَى، نَسْتَشْفِي بِهَا. وَزَادَ لَنَحْدُرُ فِي الأَدْبِ المُفْرَدِ: وَكَانَ يَلْبُسُهَا لِلْوَفْدِ وَالْهَمْرَةِ: وَكَانَ يَلْبُسُهَا لِلْوَفْدِ وَلَاكَمْرَةِ: وَكَانَ يَلْبُسُهَا لِلْوَفْدِ وَلَاهُمْرَةِ: وَكَانَ يَلْبُسُهَا لِلْوَفْدِ وَلَاهُمْرَةً فِي المُحْمَةِ.

 $^{{}^{[1]}}$ $Dib\bar{a}j$ is basically an Arabised word. $D\bar{\imath}ba$ is the original word which can be translated as "a thick silken cloth."

^[2] This is the name of a book written by Imam Bukhari .

^[3] This clarifies that the wearing of nice clothing is permissible on the occasion of Friday, on the 'Eid, or to have an audience with an honourable person.

3. THE BOOK OF FUNERALS

425. Narrated Abū Huraira **\$\display\$:** Allāh's Messenger **\$\display\$:** "Remember a lot the cutter (remover) of delights i.e., death. [Reported by At-Tirmidhi and An-Nasā'i; Ibn Hibbān graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

426. Narrated Anas &: Allāh's Messenger said: None of you should wish for death^[2] due to being afflicted by harm. But, if he must wish (for death) he should say: "O Allāh, give me life as long as it is good for me, and give me death if death is better for me.^[3] "[Agreed upon].

427. Narrated Buraida 🎄: The Prophet said, "A believer dies with sweat^[4] on the brow." [Reported by *Atb-Tbalatba*]. And Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic).

428. Narrated Abū Sa'īd and Abū Huraira *: Allāh's Messenger ** said, "Prompt those of you who are dying to repeat after you, "Nothing deserves to be worshipped except Allāh." [Reported by Muslim and Al-Arba'a].

٣ - كِتَابُ الجَنَائِز

(٤٢٥) عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْزَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿أَكْثِرُوا ذِكْرَ هَاذِمِ اللَّذَاتِ: المَوْتِ ِ. رَوَاهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ وَالنَّسَائِيُّ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ جِبَّانَ.

(٤٢٦) وَعَنْ أَنَسْ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ:

• قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا يَتَمَنَّينَ أَحَدُكُمُ المَوْتَ لِللَّهُ مُتَمَنِّياً، فَلَيْشُلِ: ﴿لَكُنْ لَا بُدَّ مُتَمَنِّياً، فَلَيْشُلِ: اللَّهُمَّ أَخْيِنِي مَا كَانَتِ الحَيَّاةُ خَيْراً لِي، وَتَوَفِّنِي مَا كَانَتِ الحَيَّاةُ خَيْراً لِي، وَتَوَفِّنِي مَا كَانَتِ الوَفَاةُ خَيْراً لِي، وَتَوَفِّنِي مَا كَانَتِ الوَفَاةُ خَيْراً لِي، مُثَقَّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

(٤٢٧) وَعَنْ بُرَيْدَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «المُمُؤْمِنُ يَمُوثُ بِعَرَق الجَبِينِ.». رَوَاهُ النَّلاَثُةُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ جَانَ.

(٤٢٨) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ وَأَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَا: قَالَ رَشُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: الْقُنُوا مَوْتَاكُمْ لَا إِلَٰهَ إِلَّا اللَّهُ». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ.

^[1] The mention of death often provokes a feeling of abstinence, self-introspection concerning one's own deeds, and the dreadfulness of the Judgement Day. This, in turn, motivates one to perform good deeds, and molds one's psyche in such a condition so as to be prepared for the Day of Judgement.

^[2] It is forbidden to be desirous of death out of mundane afflictions, poverty and diseases, etc. To wish to meet Allāh the All-Mighty, is indeed an indication of the perfection of one's Faith. It is also permissible for one to wish for death out of fear that one might be led astray from the Right Path.

^[3] Life is a blessing to the believer. A *Hadīth* states that a believer, if pious, shall accrue more piety to his credit. Life is also a blessing to the sinner, as he may shun his sins and bad deeds out of repentance, at any point during the course of his life.

^[4] It has been construed in many ways. The correct version is that one's forehead perspires as the agony of death becomes too difficult; and a believer's agony is made a bit severe as an atonement of whatever sins he has committed in this world and their being forgiven here itself. This too is a favor of Allāh to the believer.

429. Narrated Ma'qil bin Yasār^[1] 拳: The Prophet 醬 said, "Recite *Sūrat Yāsin* over your dead.^[2]" [Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i reported it and Ibn-Hibbān graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

430. Narrated Umm Salama^[3] &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ came in to Abū Salama (when he died). His eyes were fixedly open. Closing them he said, "When the soul is taken, the sight!^[4] follows it." Some of his family wept and wailed, so he (ﷺ) said, "Do not supplicate for yourselves anything but good, for the angels say Amin to what you say." He then said, "O Allāh, forgive Abū Salama, raise his degree among those who are rightly guided, make his grave spacious for him, grant him light in it, and grant him a successor in his descendants who remain." [Reported by Muslim].

(٤٢٩) وَعَنْ مَغْقِلٍ بْنِرْ يَسَادٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «افْرُمُوا عَلَى مَوْتَاكُمْ يسنّ». رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَائِيُّ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ جِئَانَ.

(٤٣٠) وَعَنْ أَمْ سَلَمَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا وَاللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا وَاللَّهُ تَعَالَى أَبِي سَلَمَةً، وَقَالَتْ: دَخَلَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عَلَى أَبِي سَلَمَةً، وَقَالَتْ وَإِنَّ الرُّوحَ إِذَا فُجِضَ أَمْلِهِ، فَضَحَّ نَاسٌ مِنْ أَهْلِهِ، فَقَالَ: وَلاَ تَدْعُوا عَلَى أَنْشُرِكُمْ إِلَّا بِخَيْرٍ، فَإِنَّ الْمَكَرِثِكَةَ تُؤمِّنُ عَلَى مَا تَقُولُونَ»، ثُمَّ قَالَ: والمَنْ تَقُولُونَ»، ثُمَّ قَالَ: والمَنْ تَقُولُونَ»، ثُمَّ قَالَ: المَهْدِيِّنَ، وَافْتَحْ لَهُ فِي شَبْرِهِ، وَنَوْزُ لَهُ فِيهِ، وَوَالْ لَهُ فِيهِ، وَوَالْ لَهُ فِيهِ، وَوَالْ لَهُ فِيهِ، وَوَالْ لَهُ فِيهِ،

431. Narrated 'Aisha & that when the Prophet ﷺ died, he was covered with a striped (Yemeni) garment. [Agreed upon].

(٤٣١) وَعَن عائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ حِينَ تُوفِّي، سُجِّيَ بِبُرْدٍ حِبَرَةَ. مُثَقِّنُ عَلَيْهِ.

^[1] Ma'quil is a Sabābī of Muzaina tribe. He became a Muslim before Hudaibiya expedition and participated in Bat'atur-Ridwān. A river he had dug at Basra by the orders of 'Umar was named after him. And since then a proverb goes: "If Allāh's river comes flowing, the river of Ma'quil becomes useless." It is said that he died at Basra towards the end of Mu'awiya's rule in 60 H. or during the rule of Yazid.

^[2] This mitigates the perdition and one's soul is released out of his body with smoothness and ease. As this Sārab contains a mentioning of Allāh's blessing on his slaves, the same gives strength and predominance to his element of hope and thus his soul effortlessly passes away. [Al-Albāni declared it da'eef (weak) in *Iruvaa*' 3/150, no. 688]

^[3] He is 'Abdullāh bin 'Abdul-Asad Al-Makhzumi Al-Qurashi, the son of the paternal aunt of Allāh's Messenger 醬 and his brother, together with Hamza, in suckling. They were all suckled by Thuwaiba the manumitted slave-woman of Abu Lahab. Abu Salama had migrated to Abyssinia (Ethiopia) with his wife Umm Salama. He attended the battle of Badr and was. wounded in the battle of Uhud. His wound healed, then recurred and he finally died on 3rd Jumad-al-Ula 4 H., leaving behind Umm Salama who was married after him by the Prophet 遙 in Shawwāl 4 H.

^[4] This informs us that the eyes of a dying person become opened wide as they observe the beloved departing soul. The eyes of the deceased should be closed immediately because they do not close after the body loses its warmth, and instinctively strike terror and instill fear in one's mind.

432. Narrated ('Aisha) **\$** that Abū Bakr **\$** kissed^[1] the Prophet 藥 when he was dead. [Reported by Al-Bukhari].

(٤٣٧) وَعَنْهَا أَنَّ أَبَا بَكْرِ الصَّدِّيقَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَبَّلَ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ بَعْدَ مَوْتِهِ. رَوَاهُ النَّخَارِيُّ.

433. Narrated Abū Huraira **\$:** The Prophet 響 said, "A believer's soul is attached to his debt^[2] till it is paid^[3] on his behalf." [Reported by Ahmad and At-Tirmidhi who graded it *Hasan* (good)].

(٤٣٣) رَعَنْ أَبِي مُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: "نَفْسُ المُؤْمِن مُمَلَّقَةً بِدَيْنِه، حَتَّى يُقْضَىٰ عَنْهُ». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالتَّرْمِنِيْقُ، وَحَشَّتُهُ.

434. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The Prophet said concerning the man who fell down from his camel and died, "Wash him with water and lotus leaves 141, and shroud him 151 in his two garments." [Agreed upon].

(\$19\$) وَعَن الْبِن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ قَالَ فِي الَّذِي سَقَطَ عَنْ رَاحِلَتِهِ، فَمَات: اغْسِلُوهُ بِمَاءٍ وَسِدْرٍ، وَكَفْنُوهُ فِي لَوْيَئِنِ. مُثَنَّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

435. Narrated 'Aisha \$: When the people intended to wash the Prophet 瓣 they said; "By Allāh, we do not know whether we should take off the clothes of Allāh's Messenger 瓣 as we take off the clothes of our dead...^[6] " [Reported by Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud].

(٣٥٥) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: لَمَّا أَرَادُوا خُسْلَ اللَّبِيِّ ﷺ، قَالُوا: وَاللهِ مَا نَدْرِي نُجَرَّدُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ كَمَا نُجَرِّدُ مَوْتَانَا أَمْ لَا؟ ٱلْحَدِيثَ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ.

436. Narrated Umm 'Atiya \$: The Prophet ## came in when we were washing his daughter and said, "Wash her with (٤٣٦) وَعَنْ أُمَّ عَطِيَّةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: دَخَلَ عَلَيْنَا اللَّبِيُّ ﷺ وَنَحْنُ نُغَسُّلُ

^[1] This explains that it is permissible to kiss a dead body provided the same belongs to a Muslim.

^[2] According to this *Hadīth*, a person shall remain under his indebtedness even after his death, as long his loans are not paid off.

^[3] This is on the condition that the deceased person, despite possessing wealth and being solvent enough to pay off his debts, died without paying it. If someone dies an accidental death and has little time to pay it off, or a person who does not have the solvency but harbors a good intention of paying it off, is however exempted from it. One of the items related to Zakāt expenditure is that the debts of the indebted people be paid off.

^[4] The blending of Sidr leaves (Nabiq tree) washes the dirt and filth away just like soap.

^[5] This person was standing in 'Arafab with the Prophet 鑑. He fell down from the mount and passed away as he was kicked by the she-camel. The Prophet 鑑 asked the people around neither to cover his head nor to apply scent on his body as Allāh will raise him on the Day of Resurrection in the state of pronouncing Talbiya.

¹⁶¹ The Hadith goes that when the Prophet 囊 expired, the people were undecided about whether or not to undress him (to perform the ritual bathing of the dead body). Suddenly the people were overwhelmed by a feeling of drowsiness and an unknown voice from one of the corners of the house was heard saying that his body should not be undressed, and hence the instruction was duly compiled with and the ritual bathing was done accordingly.

water and lotus leaves three or five times, [1] or more than that if you see fit; and put camphor, or some camphor in the last washing." When we had finished we informed him, and he threw us his lower garment saying, "Put it next to (i.e. directly upon) her body." [Agreed upon]. And in another narration: "Begin with her right side and the places of the ablution." And in a narration of Al-Bukhāri: "We braided her hair in three plaits and placed them behind her back."

437. Narrated 'Aisha \$: Allāh's Messenger 響 was shrouded in three pieces of white, cotton, *Sabūliyab*^[2] cloth among which was neither a shirt nor a turban. [Agreed upon].

439. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The Prophet ﷺ said: "Wear your white garments, for they are among your best garments, and shroud your dead in

ابْنَتُه، فَقَالَ: «اغْسِلْنَهَا ثَلَاناً أَوْ خَمْساً أَوْ أَكْثَرَ مِنْ ذَٰلِكَ، إِنْ رَأَيْتُنَّ ذَلِكَ، بِمَاءٍ وَسِلْدٍ، وَاجْعَلْنَ فِي الأَخِيرَةِ كَافُوراً، أَوْ شَيْئاً مِنْ كَافُورٍ»، فَلَمَّا فَرَغْناً اَذَٰنَاهُ، فَالْقَى إِلَيْنَا حَقْوَهُ، فَقَالَ: أَشْعِرْنَهَا إِنَّاهُ. مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ. وَفِي رِوَاتِةٍ: «اَبْدَأَنْ بِمِبَامِنِهَا، وَمَواضِعِ الوُضُوءِ مِنْهَا». رَفِي لَفْظٍ لِلْبُخَارِيْ: فَضَفَّرْنَا شَعْرَهَا ثَلَاثَةً مُرُونٍ، فَالْقَيْنَاها خَلْفَها.

(٣٣٧) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: كُفِّنَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ فِي ثَلَاثَةٍ أَنُوَابٍ يِضِر سَحُولِيَّةٍ مِنْ كُرْسُف, لَيْسَ فِيهَا قَمِيصٌ وَلَا عِمَامَةٌ. مُثَمَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٤٣٨) وَعَنِ ابْنِرِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، قَالَ: لَمَّا تُوفِّيَ عَبْدُ اللهِ بْنُ أُبِيِّ جَاءَ اللهِ بْنُ أُبِيِّ جَاءَ اللهِ بْنُ أُبِيِّ جَاءَ اللهِ يُلْ أَبِي كَالِي اللهِ عَلَيْهِ فَقَالَ: أَعْطِنِي فَمِيصَكَ أَتَفَةُ فِنِهِ، فَأَعْطَاهُ إِلَّاهُ. مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٢٩٤) وَعَن ِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ قَالَ: «البَسُوا مِنْ ثِيَابِكُمُ اللَّيْ ﷺ قَالَ: «البَسُوا مِنْ ثِيَابِكُمُ اللَّيْضَ فَإِنَّهُمْ وَكُفُنُوا فِيهَا اللَّيْضَ فَإِنَّهُمْ، وَكُفُنُوا فِيهَا

^[1] It clarifies that *Gbusl* (ritual bathing of the dead body) should be done at least three times invariably. If required more than that, it could be done five times or even seven times, but the consensus among the scholars is that one washing suffices.

^[2] Sabūl is the name of a village in Yemen and this fabric is from there.

^[3] He was the chief of Al-Khazraj tribe during the Jabiliya (ignorance) period and head of the hypocrites after the Prophet 舊 migrated to Al-Madinah. He retreated with 300 men from the battle of Badr and was responsib 'for the major part of the falsehood against 'Aisha ♣ He is also the one who said, ''If we retu 't to Al-Madinah the honorable man (meaning himself) will evict the disgraceful one (meanin the Prophet ূ).'' He also said, ''Do not feed those with Allāh's Messenger 簉 till they disperse.'' He died in Dhul Qa'da 9 H. His mother was called Salul.

^[4] He is 'Abdullāh bin 'Abdullāh bin Ubai bin Salul. He was one of the virtuous and benevolent Sabāba, and was martyred in the battle of Al-Yamama. He was the toughest man against his father to the extent that he asked to be permitted to chop his head off when he said that 'the honorable man will evict the disgraceful one.' His name was Hubāb during the Jabiliya days, but the Prophet 👸 renamed him 'Abdullāh.

them." [Reported by Al-Khamsa except An-Nasā'i. At-Tirmidhi graded it Sabib (authentic)].

440. Narrated Jābir \$: Allāh's Messenger \$\mathbb{g}\$ said, "When one of you shrouds his brother, he should use a good shroud." [Reported by Muslim].

441. Narrated (Jābir) 毒: The Prophet 醬 had each pair of those killed at Uhud, wrapped in a single garment. [2] He then asked, "Which of them knew more of the Qur'ān?" Then he would have him put first in the niche inside of the grave. They were neither washed nor prayed upon. [Reported by Al-Bukhāri]. 442. Narrated 'Ali 毒: I heard the Prophet 醬 say, "Do not be extravagant in shrouding, for it will quickly decay." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud].

444. Narrated Asma bint 'Umais \$: Fatima^[4] \$ willed that 'Ali^[5] \$ should

مُؤْتَاكُمْ». رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ إِلَّا النَّسَائِيَّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ التُرْمِذِيُّ.

(٤٤٠) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ:
قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "إِذَا كَفَّنَ أَحَدُكُمْ أَخَاهُ لَلْهِ عَلَىٰ اللهِ عَلَىٰ اللهُ اللهُ عَلَىٰ عَلَىٰ اللهُ ع

(٤٤١) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ النَّبِيُ عَنْهُ يَجْمَعُ بَيْنَ الرَّجُلَيْنِ مِنْ قَتْلَى أُحُدِ فِي تَوْسِر وَاحِدٍ، ثُمَّ يَقُولُ: ﴿أَيُّهُمْ أَكْثَرُ أَخْذاً لِلْقُرْآنِ ﴾ قَيْقَدُمُهُ فِي اللَّحْدِ، وَلَمْ يَمُسَّلُوا، وَلَمْ يُصَلَّ عَلَيْهِمْ. رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(٤٤٢) وَعَنْ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ يَتُولُ: الَّا تَغَالُوا فِي الكَّمْنِ، وَإِنَّهُ إِنْهُ لَكُالُوا فِي الكَمْنِ، وَإِنَّهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ.

(٤٤٣) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ لَهَا: ﴿لَوْ مُتُ قَبْلِي لَفَسَلُتُكِ، وَأَنْ مَاجَهُ، وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ أَبْنُ جَائِنُ مَاجَهُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ أَبْنُ جَائِنُ.

(£££) وَعَنْ أَشْمَاءَ بِنْتَ ِ عُمَيْسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ .

^[1] It only means that the shroud should be neat and clean and not an expensive one as there is a prohibition regarding the same in *Hadīth*.

[2] This was only due to a constraint, as there were not enough clothes to go round at that

time. The proper procedure is that the Funeral prayer of the martyrs should not be performed. [3] It implies an evidence that a man can give Gbusl (bath) to the dead body of his wife and hence the majority follow this rule. Some people oppose it, but the demeanor of the Companions of the Prophet disqualifies this persuasion of theirs. 'Ali المنافع المناف

^[4] Fatima 像 was the youngest among the daughters of the Prophet 縣 and she is the most important lady of this *Ummab*. 'Ali bin Abu Talib رضي الله عنه married her in Ramadān 2 H. and wedded her in Dhul Hijja. She was then 15 years 5 months old. She died in Ramadān 11 H. 6 months after the death of her father.

[.]carried out her will رضى الله عنه Ali (^{5]}

wash her (dead body). [Reported by Ad-Dāraqutni]. تَمَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ فَاطِمَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا أَوْصَتْ أَنْ يُعْسَلَهَا عَلِيُّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ. رَوَاهُ الذَّارَقُطُنِيُّ.

445. Narrated Buraida concerning the woman of (the tribe of) *Ghamid* that the Prophet commanded to be stoned because of fornication. He said: "He (%) then gave command regarding (stoning) her, then prayed over her [or she was prayed over]^[1] and buried." [Reported by Muslim].

(610) وَعَنْ بُرُيْدَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ - فِي قِصَّةِ الغَامِدِيَّةِ الَّتِي أَمَرَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ بِرَجْمِهَا فِي الزَّيْ اللَّهِ عَلَيْهَا اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهَ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهَا اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهَا وَمُؤْتِنَتْ رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

446. Narrated Jabir bin Samura **\$\display\$**: The dead body of a man who had killed himself with a broad headed arrow was brought before the Prophet **\$\frac{1}{2}\$**, but he did not offer prayer^[2] on him. [Reported by Muslim].

(٤٤٦) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ بْنِن سَمُوّةَ رَضِيَ اللّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: أَتِي النَّبِيِّ ﷺ بِرَجُهرِ قَتَلَ نَفْسَهُ بِمَشَاقِص، فَلَمْ يُصَلُّ عَلَيْهِ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

447. Narrated Abū Huraira 泰: Regarding the story of a woman who used to sweep the mosque. The Prophet 藥 asked about her and they (the Companions) told him she had died. He (藥) then said, "Why did you not inform me?" and it appeared as if they had considered her as of little importance. He (藥) said, "Show me her grave", and when they did so, he prayed^[3] on her. [Agreed upon].

(٤٤٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ - فِي قِصَّةِ المَرَأَةِ الَّتِي كَانَتْ تَقُمُّ المَسْجِدَ -قَالَ: فَسَأَلَ عَنْهَا النَّبِيُ ﷺ، فَقَالُوا: مَانَتْ، فَقَالَ: ﴿أَفَلَا كُنْتُمُ اَنَنْتُمُونِي؟» - فَكَأَنَّهُمْ صَغَّرُوا أَمْرَهَا - فَقَالَ: ﴿فَلُونِي عَلَى قَبْرِهَا»، فَدَلُوهُ، فَصَلَّى عَلَيْهَا. مُتَقَنَّ عَلَيْهِ.

[[]I] In some narrations, the word Fasulliya is used which is Majhūl ounknown) and imply that the Prophet ূ himself did not perform the Funeral prayer, but that it was offered by his Companions. The truth of the matter is that the Prophet 藝 himself offered her Funeral prayer.

^[2] There is a difference of opinion among scholars about the Funeral prayer of the one who has died as a result of committing suicide. The majority among them agree that such a person's Funeral prayer must be offered. Qadi 'Ayādh has transmitted from a certain source that all the scholars agree on Funeral prayers of such persons who have been either punished or stoned to death (on a Shari'a ruling), the ones having committed suicide, and illegitimate children (born out of wedlock). The Prophet 緩 would not attend some of the Funeral prayers but used to instruct people to attend them.

^[3] This proves that offering a Funeral prayer at someone's grave is also permissible. It further proves that no time limit is specified in regard to a Funeral prayer. The Prophet 藝 offered the Funeral prayer of the Uhud martyrs after eight years of their passing away. It also proves that a Funeral prayer may also be offered as many as two or three times.

And Muslim added: He (ﷺ) then said, "These graves are full of darkness for their occupants, but Allāh will illuminate them (the graves) for them (the occupants) because of my prayer on them."

448. Narrated Hudhaifa 😹: The Prophet used to forbid the announcing^[1] of death. [Reported by Ahmad, and At-Tirmidhi who graded it *Hasan* (good)].

449. Narrated Abū Huraira **6**: The Prophet **2** announced the death of An-Najāshi (Negus)^[2] on the day he died, took them out to the *Musalla* (the place of prayer) and drew them up in rows and uttered the *Takbīr* four times.^[3] [Agreed upon].

450. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: I have heard the Prophet & say: If any Muslim dies and forty men who associate nothing with Allāh offer prayer on him, Allāh will accept them as intercessors^[4] for him. [Reported by Muslim].

451. Narrated Samura bin Jundub ♣: I prayed behind the Prophet ﷺ and he prayed on a woman who had died in child birth and he stood opposite the

وَزَادَ مُشْلِمٌ: ثُمَّ قَالَ: ﴿إِنَّ هَذِهِ الغُبُورَ مَمْلُوءَةً ظُلْمَةً عَلَى أَهْلِهَا، وَإِنَّ اللَّهَ يُنَوِّرُهَا لَهُمْ بِصَلَاتِي عَلَيْهِمْ﴾.

(٤٤٨) وَعَنْ حُدَيْفَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ كَانَ يَنْهَى عَنِرِ النَّعْمِرِ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالثَّرْوِيْقُ، وَحَسَّنَهُ.

(٤٤٩) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ نَعَى النَّجَاشِيَّ فِي اليَوْمِ الَّذِي مَاتَ فِيهِ، وَخَرَجَ بِهِمْ إِلَى المُصَلَّى، فَصَفَّ بهمْ، وَكَبَرَ عَلَيْهِ أَرْبَعاً. مُثَقَّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

(٠٠) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ يَقُولُ: «مَا مِنْ رَجُل مُسْلِم يَمُوتُ، فَيَقُومُ عَلَى جَنَازَيهِ أَرْبَعُونَ رَجُلاً، لَا يُشْرِكُونَ بِاللهِ شَيْئاً، إِلَّا شَشْمُهُمُ اللَّهُ فِيهَ!. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٤٥١) وَعَنْ سَمُرَةً بْنِرِ جُنْنُبٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: صَلَّيْتُ وَرَاءَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ عَلَى الْمِزَاَّةِ مَانَتْ فِي نِفَاسِهَا، فَقَامَ وَسُطْهَا. مُثَّقَنُّ

The meaning of \overline{N} is 'to convey the news of someone's death'. It was a custom in the days of Jabitiya (pre-Islamic period) that whenever a person of eminence and repute died, the news about his death was announced all over the city. This practice is forbidden. However, one can inform his relatives and pious people to participate in the funeral.

^[2] An-Najāshi (Negus) was the title of the Abyssinian (Ethiopian) ruler whose real name was Ashama bin Al-Abjar. The Muslims migrated to him fleeing with their Faith from the suppression of the infidels at Makkah. The Prophet 響 sent him a letter calling him to Islam with 'Amr bin Umaiya Ad-Damari towards the end of 6 H. or in Muharram 7 H. He received the letter, put it against his eyes, descended from his throne and became a Muslim at the hands of Ja'far bin Abu Tālib who wrote to the Prophet 響 to that effect. An-Najāshi died in Rajab 9 H. after the expedition of Tābuk and the Prophet 響 offered Salātul-Janāza on him in absentia. The Prophet ﷺ then wrote to his successor calling him to Islam.

^[3] This informs us that offering someone's Funeral prayer in the absence of his dead body is permissible.

^[4] This explains that the intercession of a Muslim for another Muslim (by way of invocating for his salvation) is acceptable to Allāh.

middle part^[1] of her body. [Agreed upon].

يَان.

452. Narrated 'Aisha **\$:** I swear by Allāh, that Allāh's Messenger **#** prayed on (the dead bodies of) the two sons of Baidā^[2] in the mosque.^[3] [Reported by Muslim].

453. Narrated 'Abdur-Rahman bin Abū Laila^[4]: Zaid bin Arqam used to utter the *Takbūr* four times on their dead, but once he uttered it five times,^[5] on a dead body, and I asked him about it. He said, "Allāh's Messenger ﷺ used to utter those *Takbūrāt*." [Reported by

454. Narrated 'Ali that he uttered *Takbīr* six times on Sahl bin Hunaif^[6] and said, "He was one of the

Muslim and Al-Arba'a].

(٤٥٢) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: وَاللهِ لَقَدْ صَلَّى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عَلَى البُنِّيْ بَيْضَاءَ فِي المَسْجِدِ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(307) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ الرَّحْمُن ِ بْنِرَ أَبِي لَيْلَى
رَضِيَ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ زَيْدُ بْنُ أَزْقَمَ يُكَبُّرُ
عَلَى جَنَائِزِنَا أَرْبَعاً، وَاللَّهُ كَبُّرَ عَلَى جَنَازَةِ
خَمْساً، فَسَأَلْتُهُ، فَقَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ
يُكْبُرُهَا. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ.

(٤٥٤) وَعَنْ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُ كَبَّرَ عَلَى سَهْلِ بْن_ز حُنَيْف ٍ سِتَّا، وَقَالَ: إِنَّهُ

 $[\]overline{}^{[1]}$ If the dead body belongs to a male, the $Im\bar{a}m$ should stand by his head, and if it belongs to a female, the $Im\bar{a}m$ should stand besides the middle part of her body.

^[2] Baidā' is the nickname of the mother called Da'ad bint Al-Juhdum Al-Fihriya, and her two sons are Sahl and Suhail whom she bore to Wahab bin Rabi'a Al-Qurashi Al-Fihri. Sahl was the one who vetoed the Sabtifa (see glossary) written by Quraish to boycott Banu Hashim and the Muslims. It was said that he became a Muslim openly in Makkah. It was also reported that he concealed his Islamic faith and was forced to join the Quraish army to fight at Badr. He was then captured by the Muslims and 'Abdullah bin Mas'ūd witnessed for him that he had seen him praying at Makkah. So he was released and died at Al-Madinah. But Suhail had become a Muslim very early, participated in the Hijratain (two migrations) and attended Badr and all the important battles. He died at Al-Madinah in 9 H. after the expedition of Tabuk. A third son of Al-Baidā' is called Safwān who was martyred at Badr, it was also said that he died long after the death of the Prophet ﷺ.

^[4] He is an Ansāri and a Madani and a Kufi. He was one of the reliable elder Tābi'in in terms of Hadāub reporting. He is nicknamed Abu ¹sa and reported Abadāub from a group of the Sahāba. He was born at the beginning of the last six years of 'Umar's caliphate. He died in 86 H. at the battle of Al-Jamajim, and it was said that he drowned in Basra river.

^[5] The Prophet 纖 is reported to have pronounced four, five, six, seven and as many as eight *Takbīr*. 'Umar رضي الله عنه unified people on four by a common consensus and the same is acted upon to this day.

^[6] Sahal bin Hunaif is an Ansāri, an Ausi (from the tribe of Aus) and a Madani. He attended Badr and all the following battles. He stood firm with the Prophet 整 in the battle of Uhud.

companions who attended the battle of Badr." [Reported by Sa'īd bin Mansur. Its basic meaning is in Al-Bukbārt].

455. Narrated Jābir *: Allāh's Messenger sused to utter four *Takbīr* on our dead, and recite the opening of the Book (*Sūrat Al-Fātiba*)^[1] after the first *Takbīr*. [Reported by Ash-Shāfi'i through a weak chain of narrators].

456. Narrated Talha bin 'Abdullāh bin 'Aufl²] (秦): I prayed behind Ibn 'Abbās (秦) on a Janāza (dead person) and he recited Fātibat-ul Kitāb. He then said, "(I did that) so that you may know it is a Sunnab." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

457. Narrated 'Auf bin Mālik^[4] &: Allāh's Messenger & prayed on a dead body and I memorized from his supplication, [5] "O Allāh, forgive him, show him mercy, grant him well-being, pardon him, grant him a noble provision and a spacious lodging, wash him with water, snow, and ice and hail, purify him from sins as the white garment is purified from filth, give him

بَدَرِيِّ. رَوَاهُ سَعِيدُ بْنُ مَنْصُورٍ. وَأَصْلُهُ فِي البُخَارِيِّ. البُخَارِيِّ.

(60) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَى: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يُكَبِّرُ عَلَى جَنَائِزِنَا أَرْبَعًا، وَيَقْرُأُ بِفَاتِحَةِ الكِتَابِ فِي التَّكْبِيرَةِ الْإِنَادِ ضَعِيفٍ. التَّكْبِيرَةِ الْأُولَى. رَزَاهُ الشَّافِيقُ بِإِسْنَادٍ ضَعِيفٍ.

(٤٥٦) وَعَنْ طَلَحَةً بْنِرَ عَبْدِاللهِ بْنِرِ عَوْفَر، قَالَ: صَلَّيْتُ خَلْفَ ابْنِر عَبَّاسٍ عَلَى جَنَازَةٍ، فَقَرَأَ فَايِحَةً الكِتَابِ، فَقَالَ لِيَعْلَمُوا أَنَّهَا سُنَّةً. رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(٤٥٧) وَعَنْ عَوْفَ بَنِ مَالِكِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ بَمَالِكِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ بَمَالَكِ مَضْكَ اللَّهُ عَلَى رَسُولُ اللهِ عَلَى الْجَنَازَةِ، فَحَفِظْتُ مِنْ دُعَائِهِ «اللَّهُمَّ اغْفِرْ لَهُ، وَالْخِمْ نُزُلُهُ، وَعَافِهِ، وَاغْفُ عَنْهُ، وَأَكْمِهُ نُزُلُهُ، وَوَاللَّهُ بِالمَاءِ، وَالظَّلْجِ، وَالشَّلْجِ، وَالشَّلْجِ، وَالنَّلْجِ، وَالنَّلْجِ، وَالنَّلْجِ، وَالنَّلْجِ، وَالنَّلْجِ، وَالنَّلْجِ، وَالْبَيْفُ وَاللَّهِ، وَالْمَلْبُ وَاللَّهُ وَالنَّلْمِ، وَالْبَيْلُهُ وَالرَّوْبُ مَنْ النَّوْبُ مَنْ النَّسُ، وَأَبْدِلْهُ وَارا خَيْراً مَنْ أَمْنُ

Later, 'Ali appointed him to govern Basra, and he participated with him in the battle of Siffin. There was a brotherhood bond between 'Ali and him after the *Hijra*. He died in 38 H.

^[1] This *Hadith* stands as an evidence that the recitation of *Sūrat Al-Fātiba* during a Funeral prayer is a legislated *Sunnab* – or compulsory according to some of the scholars – since it is confirmed in the authentic *Hadith* which follows.

^[2] Talha was a Zuhri, a Qurashi and a Madani and son of 'Abdur-Rahmān bin 'Auf's brother. He is nicknamed Talha An-Nada and was reliable, learned and memorized many Abadītb. He was among the middle Tābi'in and died in 97 H. at the age of 72 years.

^[3] In a Funeral prayer, Sūrat Al-Fātiba should be recited with a subdued voice. The reason why Ibn Abbās ارضي الله عنه recited the same with a loud voice was explained by himself as he said, "I recited it aloud so that it becomes known to you all that the observance of the same is Sunnab."

^{[4] &#}x27;Auf was a Sabābi from the clan of Ashja' and he first took part in the battle of Khaibar. He carried the flag of Ashja' during the conquest of Makkah. He settled in Shām and died there in 73 H.

^[5] The possibility exists that the Prophet 醬 might have uttered this invocation aloud, from which he could have memorized it. Likewise, there is the possibility that 'Auf رضي الله عنه might himself have enquired of the Prophet 醬 regarding the same.

a better abode in place of his present one, a better family/spouse in place of his present one, admit him to Paradise and save him from the trial in the grave and the punishment of Hell-Fire."^[1] [Reported by Muslim].

458. Narrated Abū Huraira 🐟: When Allāh's Messenger a prayed over a dead body, he (鑑) said, "O Allāh, forgive those of us who are living and those of us who are dead, those of us who are present and those of us who are absent, our young and our old, our male and our female. O Allah, to whomsoever of us You give life, keep him faithful to Islam, and whomsoever of us You take in death take him as a believer. O Allāh, do not withhold from us the reward of our deeds (because) of him, nor try us [or cause us to go astray] after his death.[2] " [Reported by Muslim and Al-Arba'a].

459. Narrated (Abū Huraira) **毒**: The Prophet 鬈 said, "When you pray over the dead, make a sincere supplication for him."^[3] [Abū Dā'ud reported it. And Ibn Hibbān graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

460. Narrated Abū Huraira ♣: The Prophet ૠ said, "Hasten when carrying a Janāza, for if the dead person was righteous, then it is good that you will sending him on to. And if he was otherwise, then it is an evil of which you are ridding yourselves." [Agreed upon].

دَارِهِ، وَأَهْلاَ خَيْراً مِنْ أَهْلِهِ، وَأَدْخِلْهُ الجَنَّةَ، وقِهِ فِثْنَةَ القَبْرِ، وَعَذَابَ النَّارِ». رَوَاهُ مُشلِمٌ.

(404) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ،
قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ إِذَا صَلَّى عَلَى
جَنَارَةِ، يَقُولُ: ﴿اللَّهُمُ اغْفِرْ لِحَيْنَا، وَمَيْنِنَا، وَصَغِيرِنَا، وَكَبِيرِنَا،
وَشَاهِدِنَا، وَأَنْثَانَا، اللَّهُمُّ مَنْ أَخْيِنَهُ مِنَّا فَأَخِيهُ
عَلَى الإسْلَامِ، وَمَنْ تَوَفَّيْتُهُ مِنَّا فَتَوَقَّهُ عَلَى
الإسْلَامِ، وَمَنْ تَوَفَّيْتُهُ مِنَّا فَتَوَقَّهُ عَلَى
الإِسْلَامِ، لَا لَمُهِمَّ لَا تَحْرِمُنَا أَجْرَهُ، وَلَا تَفْتِلُهُ عَلَى
بَعْدَهُ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ.

(٤٠٩) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿إِذَا صَلَّئِتُمْ عَلَى المَيْتِ فَأَخْلِصُوا لَهُ الدُّعَاءُ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَصَحْحَهُ ابْنُ جِبَّانَ.

(٤٦٠) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنِ النِّبِيِّ ﷺ، قَالَ: "أَسْرِعُوا بِالجَنَازَةِ، فَإِنْ تَكُ صَالِحَةً، فَخَيْرٌ تُقَدِّمُونَهَا إِلَيْهِ، وَإِنْ تَكُ سِوَى ذَلِكَ، فَشَرَّ تَضَعُونَهُ عَنْ رِقَابِكُمْ!. مُثَقَّقً عَلَيْهِ.

^[1] Different supplications relating to the Funeral prayer have been ascribed to the Prophet 去。One is free to recite any of them he likes. In case the dead body belongs to a non-adult, he should say: "Allābumma tj'albu lana salafan wa ajran." (O Allāh! Make him/her a forerunner for us and a source of reward (in the Hereafter)).

 $^{^{[2]}}$ Many supplications of the Funeral prayer are from the Prophet $\frac{1}{20}$, this one is also one of them and being a short one, is more well-known.

^[3] This makes it clear too that even if the dead body belongs to a sinner, one should be earnest in supplicating to Allāh in the matter of his forgiveness. Some people maintain that such a person should be cursed. This view point is absolutely erroneous and detestable.

^[4] We are thus informed that we must not delay in burying the dead. Some people nowadays delay the burial proceedings which is against Islamic law.

461. Narrated (Abū Huraira) 🎄: Allāh's Messenger 🎉 said, "He who attends a funeral till the prayer is offered for (the dead), for him is the reward of one *Qīrāt*, and he who attends (and stays) till it is buried, for him is the reward of two *Qīrāt*." It was asked, "What are the two *Qīrāt*?" He said, "Like two huge mountains." [Agreed upon]. Muslim has: "till it (the dead) is placed in the niche inside the grave."

Al-Bukhāri has: "If anyone attends the funeral of a Muslim, out of faith and seeking reward from Allāh, and stays till prayer is offered and the burial is complete, he will return with a reward of two *Qīrāt*, each *Qīrāt* being similar to the Mountain of Uhud."

462. Narrated Sālim^[1] on the authority of his father: He saw the Prophet 鵝, Abū Bakr and 'Umar walking in front of the funeral (procession). [2] [Reported by Al-Kbamsa; Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic) and An-Nasā'i and others termed it as Mursal (missing link after the Tābi'i)].

463. Narrated Umm 'Atiya \sets: We (women) were forbidden to accompany the funerals, but it (i.e. the prohibition) was not stressed^[3] upon us. (Agreed upon].

(٤٦١) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: امّنْ شَهِدَ الجَنَازَةَ حَتَّى يُصَلَّىٰ عَلَيْهَا فَلَهُ قِيرَاطًا، وَمَرْطًا، وَمَنْ شَهِدَ الجَنَازَةَ حَتَّى يُصَلَّىٰ عَلَيْهَا فَلَهُ قِيرَاطًانِ، قَلَ: وَمَنْ لَلَهُ قِيرَاطًانِ، قَلَ: وَمِثْلُ الجَبَلَيْنِ وَمَا القِيرَاطَانِ؟ قَالَ: ومِثْلُ الجَبَلَيْنِ العَقِيمَيْنِ، مَثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَلِمُسْلِمٍ: احتَّى تُوضَعَ فِي اللَّحْدِهِ.

وَلِلْبُخَارِيِّ اِيضًا من حَديثِ أَبِي مُرَثِرةَ: "مَنْ تَبَعَ جَنَازَةَ مُسْلِم, إِيماناً وَالْحَيْسَاباً، وَكَانَ مَمُها خَتَّى يُصَلَّى عَلَيْهَا وَيُفْرَغَ مِنْ دَفْنِهَا، فَإِنَّهُ يَرْجِعُ بِقِيرَاطَيْنِ، كُلُّ قِيرًا لِمِ مُثْلُ جَبَلِ أُحُدِهِ.

(٤٦٧) وَعَنْ سَالِمِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ، أَنَّهُ رَأَى النَّبِيِّ وَأَبَا بَكُرِ وَعُمَرَ، يَهْشُونَ أَمَامَ الجَنَازَةِ، رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ، وَأَعَلَهُ النَّسَائِيُّ وَطَائِفَةٌ بِالإِرْسَالِ.

(٤٦٣) وَعَنْ أُمِّ عَطِيَّةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: نُهِينَا عَنِ اتَّبَاعِ الجَنَائِزِ، وَلَمْ يُغْوَمُ عَلَيْنَا. مُثَقِّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

^[1] He is Abū 'Abdullāh or Abū 'Umar Sālim bin 'Abdullah bin 'Umar bin Al-Khattab, one of the leading *Tābi'in* and among their eminent 'Ulamā'. He was one of the seven Fiqb scholars, and was a reliable Hadītib reporter, knowledgeable and virtuous. He resembled his father in his religious applications and knowledge. He died in Dhul Qa'da 106 H.

^[2] During a funeral procession, whether one should be ahead of the dead body or behind it, and whether one should be on the right or the left side of it, is in general an optional matter. What is better, is again a disputed point as there exists a difference of opinion among the scholars. Bin Mansūr, on the authority of Hasan bin 'Ali رضي الله عنها has narrated that the reward which one gains out of walking behind the dead body (in a funeral procession) is greater than the one walking ahead of it, the difference may be compared to the reward of individual prayer in comparison to the congregational prayer.

^[3] There is a difference of opinions among the scholars concerning whether or not it is permissible for women to accompany a funeral procession or to go to the graveyard to visit graves. The applicable ruling is that in case there is a possibility of their wailing, lamenting and bemoaning the dead, it should be disallowed. In case such a possibility does not exist, they may be allowed to go.

465. Narrated Abū Ishāq^[2]: 'Abdullāh bin Yazid^[3] & put the dead body in the grave from the side where his legs will be placed in it. He said, "This is a Sunnab." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud].

466. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: The Prophet said, "When you place your dead in the grave say, 'In the Name of Allāh, and following the religion of Allāh's Messenger. [4] " [Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i; Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic) and Ad-Dāraqutni termed it as Mawqūf (saying of a Companion)].

467. Narrated 'Aisha \$: Allāh's Messenger said, "Breaking a dead person's bone is like breaking it when he is alive." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud through a chain of narrators conforming with the conditions laid down by Muslim]. Ibn Mājah had the addition − from the Haditb of Umm Salama (\$): "as regards the sin."

(372) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿إِذَا رَأَيْتُمُ الجَنَازَةَ نَقُومُوا، فَمَنْ تَبِعَهَا فَلَا يَجْلِسْ حَتَّى تُوضَعَ». مُثَقَّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

(٤٦٥) وَعَنْ أَبِي إِسْحَاقَ، أَنَّ عَبْدَ اللهِ بْنَ يَوِيدَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَدْخَلَ المَيْتَ مِنْ قِبَلِ رِجْلَي الغَبْرِ، وَقَالَ: لهٰذَا مِنَ السُّنَّةِ. أَحْرَجُهُ أَنُو دَاوُدَ.

(٤٦٧) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَ رَصُولَ اللهِ عَنْهَا، أَنَّ رَصُولَ اللهِ عَلَى أَلَى تَعَلَيْ المَيْتِ عَلَى شَرْطِ تَكْشَرِهِ حَيَّاً. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ بِإِشْنَادِ عَلَى شَرْطِ مُسْلِمٍ، وَزَادَ ابْنُ مَاجَهُ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَمُّ سَلَمَةً: فِي الإِنْهُمِ،

^[1] The word 'sit' might also imply that all the people must make their respective efforts in burying the dead. It should not follow that only the relatives of the dead carry out everything whereas the rest of the people sit idly being silent spectators.

^{[2] &#}x27;Amr bin 'Abdullāh As-Sabi'i Al-Hamdāni Al-Kufi was a prominent Tābi'i, narrated many Abadītb, but was a Mudallis who became senile towards his last years. He was born two years before the end of 'Uthmān's caliphate and died in 129 H.

^{[3] &#}x27;Abdullah bin Yazid was a Khutami, an Ansāri and an Ausi. He attended Al-Hudaibiya at the age of 17 years and was with 'Ali at Al-Jamal and Siffin battles. He settled at Kūfa, became its governor during the time of Ibn Az-Zubair and died in it during his time.

^[4] Imām Baihaqi reported with a weak evidence (in terms of chain of narrators) that while Umm Kulthum 傷, the daughter of the Prophet 穩 was being put in the grave, the Prophet 癢 recited the following supplication:

[﴿]مُنها خَلَقْناكُم وفيها نعيدُكُم ومنها نخرجُكُم تارة أخرى﴾ (طه: ٥٥) بسم الله وفي سبيل الله وعلى ملة رسول.

468. Narrated Sa'd bin Abi Waqqas &: He said, "Make a niche for me in the side of the grave, and set up unbaked bricks over me (my grave) as it was done with Allah's Messenger # "[1] [Reported by Muslim].

Al-Baihagi reported something similar to the above on the authority of Jabir and added: "And his grave was raised about one span^[2] from the ground." [Ibn Hibban graded it Sabib (authentic)].

وَلِلْبَيْهَقِيِّ عَنْ جَابِر رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ نَحْوُهُ، وَزَادَ: وَرُفِعَ ۖ قَبْرُهُ عَن ِ الأَرْضِ قَدْرَ شِبْرٍ. وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ.

(٤٦٨) وَعَنْ سَعْدِ بْنِ أَبِي وَقَّاصٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ

تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: الْحَدُوا لِي لَحْداً وَانْصِبُوا

عَلَىَّ اللَّبِنَ نَصْباً، كَمَا صُنِعَ بِرَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ.

Narrated (Jābir) 🚓: Allāh's Messenger 鑑 forbade graves to be plastered with gypsum, to be sat upon, or any structure to be built over them.[3] [Reported by Muslim].

(٤٦٩) وَعَنْ عَامِر بْنِ رَبِيعَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى The هَ: The تَعَامِر بْنِ رَبِيعَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى Prophet 鑑 prayed on the body of

وَلِمُسْلِمِ عَنْهُ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ عِنْهُ، أَنْ يُجصَّصَ القَبْرُ، وَأَنْ يُقْعَدَ عَلَيْهِ، وَأَنْ يُبْنَى

غَثُهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ صَلَّى عَلَى عُثْمَانَ بَنِ 'Uthmān bin Maz'ūn, [4] then went to

[&]quot;There of (the earth) We created you, and into it We shall return you, and from it We shall bring you out once again. (V. 20:55). In the Name of Allah, in the cause of Allah and following the religion of the Messenger of Allah (is hereby this dead body being buried)."

There are also many other supplications mentioned in Abadītb, which one may recite according to his liking.

^[1] This Hadīth carries an evidence that the grave prepared for the Prophet 🕸 was a "Lahd". The Companions of the Prophet & differed in their opinions whether his grave should be a Labd or a Shiq. There were two undertakers (grave-diggers) in Al-Madinah those days, one specializing in digging Labd and the other one specializing in digging Sbig. It was agreed among the Companions of the Prophet # that whosoever (among the grave-diggers) comes first, should start his work. Hence the one specializing in digging Labd came first and prepared the grave accordingly.

^[2] It is against Shart'a (Islamic law) to raise the stature of a grave more than a Shibr (the span of a hand). The grave of the Prophet 25 was of the same stature. At first, it was in a flat shape but once the walls of Prophet's room had fallen down (out of disrepair or decay), Walid bin 'Abdul-Malik had the walls repaired and had the grave re-built in the shape of a camel-hump. The graves of Abu Bakr and 'Umar Farooq رضى الله عنهما are also hump-shaped.

^[3] At-Tirmidhi also includes the words that the graves should not bear any inscription, no construction be made on them and they should not be trampled upon. This Hadīth has been declared Sabtb (sound) by Tirmidhi, An-Nasā'i reports that no soil should be thrown over it except the one that has been excavated out of it.

^{[4] &#}x27;Uthmān was a Jumahi and a Qurashi. He was one of the virtuous and ascetic Sahāba and had prohibited alcohol to himself during the Jabiliya days. He was the 14th man to become a Muslim, made the two migrations and fought at Badr. He was the first person to die in Al-

his grave and threw three handfuls of earth over it while standing. [Reported by Ad-Dāraqutni].

470. Narrated 'Uthmān (bin 'Affān) &: When Allāh's Messenger & finished burying the dead, he stood by the grave and said, "Ask forgiveness for your brother, and ask that he be made firm^[1] for he is now being questioned." [Abū Dā'ud reported it and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

471. Narrated Damra bin Habib^[2] – one of the *Tābi'in*: They (the Companions) used to consider it commendable to say after the grave is leveled and the people had left; "O so-and-so say: *Lā ilāba ill-Allab* (Nothing deserves to be worshipped except Allāh) three times, O so-and-so say: My *Rabb* is Allāh, my religion is Islam and my Prophet is Muhammad 鑑." [Reported by Sa'īd bin Mansūr as a *Mawqūf* (saying of a Companion). At-Tabarāni reported the same by Abū Umāma as *Marfu'* (attributed to the Prophet)].

472. Narrated Buraida bin Husaib Al-Aslami &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "I had forbidden you to visit the graves, but you may now visit them. [3] " [Reported by Muslim]. At-Tirmidhi added to the above: "For it reminds one about the Hereafter." Ibn Mājah

مَظْعُون ، وَأَتَى القَبْرَ، فَحَثَى عَلَيْهِ ثَلَاثَ حَثَيَات ، وَهُوَ قَائِمٌ . رَوَاهُ الدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ .

(٤٧٠) وَعَنْ عُمْمَانَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ إِذَا فَرَغَ مِنْ دَفْنِ المَيْتِ وَقَفَ عَلَيْهِ، وَقَالَ: أَسْتَغْفِرُوا لِإخِيكُمْ، وَاشْأَلُوا لَهُ التَّلْبِيتَ، فَإِنَّهُ الآنَ يُشْأَلُ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَصَحَّحُهُ الحَاكِمُ.

(٤٧١) وَعَنْ صَمْرَةً بْنِرِ حَبِيبٍ - أَحِدِ
التَّابِعِينَ - قَالَ: كَانُوا يَسْتَحَبُّونَ إِذَا سُوْيَ عَلَى
المَيْتِ وَبَرُهُ وَٱلْصَرَفَ النَّاسُ عَنْهُ، أَنْ يُقَالَ
عِنْدَ قَبْرِهِ: يَا فُلَانُ ا قُلْ لَا إِلَهَ إِلَّا اللَّهُ، فَلَاتُ
مَرَّاتٍ، يَا فُلَانُ ا قُلْ: رَبِّي اللَّهُ، وَدِينِي
الإسْلَامُ، وَنَبِينِي مُحَمَّدٌ ﷺ. رَوَاه سَعِيدُ بْنُ
مَنْصُورٍ مَوْقُوفًا، وَلِلطَّبْرَانِيَّ نَحْوُهُ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَبِي
أَمَامَةً مَرْفُوعًا مُطُولًا.

(٤٧٢) وَعَنْ بُرَيْدَةَ بْنِ الْحُصَيْبِ الْأَسْلَمِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "كُنْتُ نَهَيْتُكُمْ عَنْ زِيَارَةِ القُبُورِ، فَوُورُوهَا». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ. زَادَ التَّزْمِذِيُّ: "فَإِنَّهَا تُذَكُّرُ الآخِرَةِ». زَادَ ابْنُ مَاجَهُ مِنْ حَدِيثِ ابْنِ

Madīnah among the *Mubajirin*. His death occurred in Sha'ban, in the second year after the *Hijra* and he was buried at Al-Baqi'. The Prophet ﷺ kissed his face after his death and said after he was buried, "He is a righteous predecessor for us."

^[1] It thus becomes known to us that after the burial, making an invocation for the forgiveness of a dead man's sins and to pray for his steadfastness while facing the questioning in the grave is *Mustahab* (desirable) and *Masnūn* (from the practice of the Prophet).

 $^{^{[2]}}$ Abu 'Utba Damra bin Habib bin Suhaib Az-Zubaidi Al-Himsi is a reliable $T\ddot{a}bi'i$ of the fourth grade.

^[3] The visiting of graves falls within the category of that which is desirable and not that which is compulsory. However, visiting the graves-of one's parents is certainly stressed upon. One should visit their graves and make supplications to Allāh for them.

added, from the Hadith of Ibn Mas'ūd: "and it makes one overlook the worldly pleasures."

473. Narrated Abū Huraira 🐟: Allāh's

Messenger & cursed[1] the women who visit the graves. [At-Tirmidhi reported it and Ibn Hibban graded it Sabib (authentic)].

474. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri &: Allah's Messenger & cursed the wailing woman and the woman who listens to her. [Reported by Abū Dā'ud].

475. Narrated Umm 'Ativa &: Allāh's Messenger # took a promise from us that we would not wail (if bereaved). [2] [Agreed upon].

476. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: The Prophet 纖 said: "The dead is punished in the grave^[3] because of wailing on it." [Agreed upon]. Al-Bukhari and Muslim reported a similar Hadith from Al-Mughira bin Shu'ba.

477. Narrated Anas &: I witnessed the burial of a daughter of the Prophet # and Allah's Messenger # was sitting beside the grave and I saw his eyes shedding tears.[4] [Reported by Al-Bukhāril.

مَسْعُودِ: ﴿ وَتُزَهِّدُ فِي الدُّنْيَا ﴾ .

(٤٧٣) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ لَعَنَ زَائِرَاتِ القُبُورِ. أَخْرَجَهُ التُرْمِذِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ جِبَّانَ.

(٤٧٤) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدٍ الخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: لَعَنَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ النَّائِحَةَ وَالمُسْتَمعَةَ. أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ.

(٤٧٥) وَعَنْ أُمَّ عَطِيَّةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: أَخَذَ عَلَيْنَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ أَنْ لَا نَنُوحَ. مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْه .

(٤٧٦) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، عَن النَّبِيِّ عَيْقٌ قَالَ: «المَيِّتُ يُعَذَّبُ فِي قَبرهِ بِمَا نِيحَ عَلَيْهِ». مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَلَهُمَا نَحْوُهُ عَنَ الْمُغِيرَةِ بْن شُعْنَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ.

(٤٧٧) وَعَنْ أَنَس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: شَهِدْتُ بِنْتًا لِلنَّبِيِّ بَيْلِغُ تُدْفَنُ، وَرَسُولُ اللهِ عِلَيْهِ جَالِسٌ عِنْدَ القَبْرِ، فَرَأَيْتُ عَيْنَيُّهِ تَدْمَعَان . رَوَاهُ النُخَارِيُّ.

^[1] There is a difference of opinion among the scholars whether or not women should go to visit graves. It is better that the women do not go there.

^[2] This Hadith tells us that the wailing, bemoaning and lamenting over the dead is forbidden. An emotional outburst of tears due to the feeling of sorrow is not prohibited as it only alludes to the tenderness of one's heart, which means that the prohibition does not apply to the actions of one's eyes. It only involves the actions of one's hands and tongue.

^[3] A dead man incurring torment due to the people's mourning apparently contravenes the Qur'ānic Verse لا تزر وازرة وزر أخرى (No one laden with burdens can bear another's burden). It alludes to certain situation whereby the mourning is observed in the houses of some rich people as a matter of pride and pomp. Some people leave their will to the effect that their death be mourned over, whereas some of them merely express their willingness to be mourned over. In these situations, the dead shall have to bear the torment. In case the dead person forbids his funeral to be mourned (in his lifetime), he will not be subjected to torment. Therefore, a man should disallow and forbid others from conducting such mourning after his death.

^[4] This tells us that the weeping and shedding of one's tears out of sorrow is not forbidden.

478. Narrated Jabir 泰: The Prophet 醬 said: "Do not bury your dead at night^[1] unless you are forced to." [Ibn Mājah reported it]. Its basic meaning is in Muslim, but he said: "He (美) prohibited that a man be buried at night until prayer is offered on him."

479. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Ja'far^[2]

When the news of Ja'far's death came – at the time when he was killed – Allah's Messenger said: "Prepare food for Ja'far's family, for that which has come to them (i.e. the news of his death) preoccupies^[3] them." [Reported by Al-Khamsa except An-Nasā'i].

(٤٧٨) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ اللَّهِ يَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿لَا تَدْفِئُوا مَوْنَاكُمْ بِاللَّيْلِ إِلَّا أَنْ نُضْطَرُوا ، أَخْرَجَهُ ابْنُ مَاجَهُ، وَأَصْلُهُ فِي مُسْلِمٍ، لَكِنْ قَالَ: زَجَرَ أَنْ يُقْبَرَ الرَّجُلُ بِاللَّيْلِ حَتَّى يُصَلَّى عَلَيْهِ.

(٤٧٩) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ جَغْفَرٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: لَمَّا جَاءَ نَعْيُ جَغْفَرٍ، حِينَ قُتِلَ، قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «اصْنَعُوا لآلِ جَغْفَرِ طَمَاماً، فَقَدْ أَتَاهُمْ مَا يَشْغَلُهُمْ». أَخْرَجَهُ الخَسْمَةُ إِلَّا الشَّمَائِقِ.

480. Narrated Sulaiman bin Buraida^[4] (🍪) on the authority of his father:

(٤٨٠) وَعَنْ سُلَيْمَانَ بْنِرِ بُرَيْدَةَ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يُعَلِّمُهُمْ إِذَا خَرَجُوا

When the son of the Prophet 幾, Ibrāhim passed away, the tears were streaming from his eyes. Upon seeing this, 'Abdur-Rahmān bin 'Auf عنه الله عنه said, "O Messenger of Allāh, do you weep too?" The Prophet 繼 answered, "This is out of affection and not lack of patience."

^[1] This has many reasons. One of the reasons is that not many people can participate in a funeral at night. Another reason is to protect the people from the harm of earthly insects that usually frequent such places like graveyards at night.

¹²¹ He is Ja far bin Abu Tālib, the elder brother of 'Ali, who was older than him by ten years. He migrated to Abyssinia (Ethiopia) and stayed there whereby An-Najāshi and those who followed him became Muslims through him. Then he migrated to Al-Madīnah and reached Khaibar after its conquest. The Prophet & kissed him between his eyes and said, 'I don't know whether I am more happy with the arrival of Ja'far or with the conquest of Khaibar?' Ja'far was one of the most generous people. He was martyred in the battle of Mu'ta in 8 H. while he was the army commander. Both of his hands were cut off, and the Prophet & said, "Allāh gave him – in the place of his two hands – two wings with which he flies wherever he wishes in Paradise.' And from that he was called "Ja'far the flier" and "Ja'far the two-winged".

^[3] This *Hadītb* is an evidence that feeding the relatives of the deceased person is *Sunnab* (supererogatory). In terms of rights concerning this, neighbors are the foremost. Offering food on the first day is *Sunnab* (supererogatory); on the second day, it is *Makrub* (undesirable), whereas the same is forbidden on the third day. In case the women belonging to a house in which the food is being prepared are themselves the mourners, then the viewpoints of the scholars concerning this food are different. The practice of gathering into the deceased person's house on the part of the relatives and thereby making themselves to be an unnecessary burden upon the family of the deceased person, which is very much in vogue nowadays, is extremely bad.

^[4] He is Ibn Al-Husaib and is an Aslami and a Marwazi. He was a Tābi'i whose reliability was verified by Ibn Ma'in and Abu Hātim. Al-Hākim said, "He did not mention having heard a

Allāh's Messenger sused to teach them (his Companions) to say – when they went out to the cemeteries: "Peace be upon you, inhabitants of the dwellings, who are of the believers and the Muslims. If Allāh wills, we shall join you. We ask Allāh to grant us and you well being". [Reported by Muslim].

481. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās \$\\$: Allāh's Messenger \$\mathbb{x}\$ passed by some graves in Al-Madīnah, turned his face towards them and then said, "Peace be upon you, inhabitants of the graves. May Allāh forgive us and you, you have gone before us and we are coming after you.\[^{11}\]' ' [At-Tirmidhi reported and graded it *Hasan* (good)].

482. Narrated 'Aisha \$: Allāh's Messenger \$\mathbb{g}\$ said: "Do not revile the dead, for they have reached what they have sent before them." [Al-Bukhāri reported it]. At-Tirmidhi reported something similar from Al-Mughira, but he said: "lest you hurt the living.\(^{12}\)"

إِلَى المَقَابِرِ أَنْ يَقُولُوا: السَّلَامُ عَلَى أَهْلِ النَّيَارِ مِنَ المُؤْمِنِينَ وَالمُسْلِمِينَ، وَإِنَّا إِنْ شَآءَ اللَّهُ بِكُمْ لَاحِقُونَ، نَسْأَلُ اللَّهَ لَنَا وَلَكُمُ العَاقِيَةَ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٤٨١) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما قَالَ: مَرَّ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ بِفُبُورِ المَدينةِ فَأَنْنَ مَالَكُمُ مَا لَكُمْ فَأَنْنِلَ عَلَيْهُمْ بِوَجْهِهِ، فَقَالَ: «السَّلَامُ عَلَيْهُمْ، يَا لَمُنْمُ لَنَا وَلَكُمْ، أَنْتُمْ سَلَفُنَا، وَنَحْمُ بِالأَثْرِهِ. رَوَاهُ التُرْمِذِيُّ، وَقَالَ: حَسَنٌ.

(٤٨٧) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «لَا تَسُبُّوا الأَمْوَات، فَإِنَّهُمْ قَدْ أَفْضُوا إِلَى مَا قَدَّمُوا». رَوَاهُ البُخَارِئُ، وَرَوَى النَّرْمِذِيُّ عَنِ المُغِيرَة نَخْرُهُ، لَكِنْ قَالَ: «فَتُؤْذُوا الأَخْيَاء».

Hadītb from his father." Al-Khazraji said, "The *Hadītb* that he narrated from his father are in a number of places in Muslim."

^[1] Going to the graveyard and making supplications to Allāh for the forgiveness of the dead is *Sunnab* and proven by several *Abadītb*. One can go to the graveyard keeping in view just two purposes: a) Making supplications to Allāh in favor of the dead, b) To remember death. Whoever goes to the graveyard pursuing a purpose other than the ones mentioned above, (i.e., lamenting, seeking redress, making bowings and prostrations and asking for the fulfillment of their wishes, etc.), his visiting of the graveyard is forbidden and unlawful.

^[2] This Hadith tells us that it is prohibited to mention the deceased person with bad things or vices and disseminating the same among people, but this ruling relates to the Muslims and pious people.

4. THE BOOK OF ZAKAT^[1]

483. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The Prophet & sent Mu'ādh & to Yemen... – [here he mentioned the rest of the *Hadīth* which has]: "Allāh has made obligatory for them, in their wealth, a *Sadaqa* to be taken from their rich and returned to their poor." [Agreed upon, and the wording is from Al-Bukhāri].

484. Narrated Anas 🚓 that Abū Bakr As-Siddig & wrote him (this letter): 'This is the obligatory Sadaqa which Allah's Messenger 102 imposed on Muslims[3] which Allah commanded him to impose.[4] For every twentyfour camels or less, a sheep is to be given for every five. When they reach twenty-five to thirty-five, a she-camel in her second year^[5] is to be given; if there is no she-camel, a he-camel in his third year is to be given. When they reach thirty-six to forty-five, a she-camel in her third year is to be given. When they reach forty-six to sixty, a she-camel in her fourth year^[6] which is ready to

٤ - كِتَابُ الزَّكَاةِ

(٤٨٣) وَعَنِ ابْنِرَ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنُهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ بَمَنَ مُعَاداً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنُهُ إِلَى النَّمَرِ، فَلَكُرَ الحَدِيثَ، وَفِيهِ:
إِنَّ اللَّهَ قَدِ افْتَرَضَ عَلَيْهِمْ صَدَقَةً فِي أَمْوَالِهِمْ،
تُؤخذُ مِنْ أَغْيَاتِهِمْ، فَتَرَدُّ فِي فَقَرَائِهِمْ، مُتَقَنِّ
عَلَيْهِمْ فَقَرَائِهِمْ، مُتَقَنِّ فَي فَقَرَائِهِمْ، مُتَقَنِّ
عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفُظُ لِلْبُخَارِيُ.

(4٨٤) وَعَنْ أَنَسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ أَبَا لِكُمْ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ أَبَا لِمُحْرِ وَضِيقَ اللَّهُ يَعْلَى اللَّهِ ﷺ عَلَى الصَّلَقِينَ، وَالَّتِي فَرَضَهَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عَلَى المُسْلِمِينَ، وَالَّتِي أَمْرَ اللَّهُ بِهَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عَلَى كُلُّ أَرْبَعِر وَعِشْرِينَ مِنَ الإبلِ فَمَا دُونَهَا الغَنَمُ: فِي كُلُّ خَمْسٍ شَاةً، فَإِذَا بَلَغَتْ خَصْلًا وَعِشْرِينَ إِلَى خَمْسٍ وَثَلَاثِينَ، فَفِيهَا بِنْتُ مَخَاصِرِ أَنْتَى، فَإِذَ بَلَغَتْ سِتًا وَعُشْرِينَ فَلِيهَا بِنْتُ مَخَاصِرِ أَنْتَى، وَتَلَاثِينَ المَانِينَ فَلِيهَا بِنْتُ لَبُونِ وَتَكَرِّ. فَإِذَا بَلَغَتْ سِتًا وَلَرْبَعِينَ فَلِيهَا بِنْتُ لَبُونِ مِثْنَى، أَلِينَ بَلَغَتْ سِتًا وَلَرْبَعِينَ فَلِيهَا بِنْتُ لَبُونِ مِثْنَى، فَإِذَ بَلَغَتْ سِتًا وَلَرْبَعِينَ فَلِيهَا بِنْتُ لَبُونِ مِثْنَى، فَإِذَ بَلَغَتْ سِتًا وَلَرْبَعِينَ فَلِيهَا بِنْتُ لَبُونِ مِشْنَى، إِلَى سِتُنْنَ إِلَى سِتُنْنَ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ ا

^[1] The meaning of Zakāt is "to increase and to become pure". Because the payment of Zakāt leads to an increase in wealth and considered to be a reason for its cleansing, this obligation has been named Zakāt by the Sbart'a (Islamic law). Zakāt was declared an obligation in the year 2 H., prior to the proclamation of the ruling concerning fasting.

 $^{^{[2]}}$ It becomes thus known to us that $Zak\bar{a}t$ is obligatory on the rich among the Muslims. This is meant to provide a financial assistance to the poor Muslims and that the same cannot be given to the disbelievers. We are further informed that the $Zak\bar{a}t$ originating from a certain city should be distributed among the poor belonging to the same city itself.

^[3] When Abū Bakr Siddiq عند الله عنه sent Anas رضي الله عنه deputing him as the Governor of Bahrain, he gave him these instructions regarding *Zakāt* in a written form.

^[4] This narration, in terms of its authenticity (i.e., in the context of the chain of narrators), is absolutely authentic. In terms of text, it is conspicuously clear and there is a consensus of the Companions of the Prophet 醬 on its validity. None of the Companions of the Prophet 醬 reported to have refuted it.

is a term used for a she-camel which is of one year and is in the second year of its age.

 $^{^{[6]}}$ Hiqqa $\stackrel{\text{\tiny 4.5}}{\leadsto}$ is a term used for a she-camel which is three-year-old, running in its fourth year

be mated with by a stallion-camel is to be given. When they reach sixty-one to seventy-five, a she-camel in her fifth year is to be given. When they reach seventy-six to ninety, two she-camels in their third year are to be given. When they reach ninety-one to a hundred and twenty, two she-camels in their fourth year which are ready to be mated with by a stallion-camel are to be given. When they exceed a hundred and twenty, a she-camel in her third year is to be given for every forty and a shecamel in her fourth year for every fifty. If anyone has only four camels, no Sadaga is payable on them, unless their owner wishes. Concerning the Sadaga on sheep which are pasturing, when they number from forty to a hundred and twenty, a sheep is to be given. On over a hundred and twenty, up to two hundred, two sheep are to be given. On over two hundred, up to three hundred, three sheep are to be given. If they exceed three hundred, a sheep is to be given for every hundred. If a man's pasturing sheep are one less than forty, no Sadaga is due on them unless their owner wishes. Those which are separate flocks are not to be brought together and those which are in one flock are not to be separated^[1] from fear of Sadaga. Regarding what

فَهْبِهَا حِقَّةٌ طَرُوقَةُ الجَمَلِ . فَإِذَا بَلَغَتْ وَاحِدَةً وَسِتِّينَ، إِلَى خَمْس وَسَبْعِينَ، فَفِيهَا جَذَعَةٌ. فَإِذَا بَلَغَتْ سِتًّا وَسَبْعِينَ، إِلَى تِسْعِينَ، فَفِيهَا بِنْتَا لَبُونِ . فَإِذَا بَلَغَتْ إِحْدَى وَتِسْعِينَ، إِلَى عِشْرِينَ وَمِائَةٍ، فَهْيِهَا حِقَّتَانَ طَرُوقَتَا الجَمَلِ. فَإِذَا زَادَتْ عَلَى عِشْرِينَ وَمِائَةٍ، فَفِي كُلِّ أَرْبَعِينَ بنْتُ لَبُون ، وَفِي كُلِّ خَمْسِينَ حِقَّةٌ. وَمَنْ لَّمْ يَكُنْ مَّعَهُ إِلَّا أَرْبَعٌ مِنَ الْإِبِلِ ، فَلَيْسَ فِيهَا صَدَقَةٌ، إِلَّا أَنْ يَشَاءَ رَبُّهَا. وَفِي صَدَقَةِ الغَنَمِ ، فِي سَائِمَتِهَا: إِذَا كَانَتْ أَرْبَعِينَ، إِلَى عِشْرِينَ وَمِائَةِ شَاةٍ، شَاةٌ. فَإِذَا زَادَتْ عَلَى عِشْرِينَ وَمِائَةِ إِلَى مِائتَيْنِ ، فَفِيهَا شَاتَانِ . فَإِذَا زَادَتْ عَلَى مِائتَيْن ، إِلَى ثُلَاثِمِائَةِ، فَفِيهَا ثَلَاثُ شِيَاهِ. فَإِذَا زَادَتْ عَلَى ثَلَاثِمِائَةِ، فَفِي كُلِّ مِائَةِ، شَاةً. فَإِذَا كَانَتْ سَائِمَةُ الرَّجُلِ نَاقِصَةً عِن أَرْبَعِينَ شَاةً، شَاةً وَاحِدَةً، فَلَيْسَ فِيهَا صَدَقَةً، إلَّا أَنْ يَّشَاءَ رَبُّهَا، وَلَا يُجْمَعُ بَيْنَ مُتَفَرِّقٍ، وَلَا يُفَرِّقُ بَيْنَ مُجْتَمِعٍ، خَشْيَةَ الصَّدَقَةِ. وَمَا كَانَ مِنَ خَلِيطَيْنِ فَإِنَّهُمَا يَتَرَاجَعَانِ بَيْنَهُمَا بِالسَّويَّةِ. وَلَا يُخْرَجُ فِي الصَّدَقَةِ هَرمَةٌ، وَلَا ذَاتُ عَوَار، وَلا تَيْسٌ، إِلَّا أَنْ يَشَاءَ المُصدِّقُ. وَفِي الرُّقَةِ: فِي مِاتَتَى دِرْهِمٍ، رُبْعُ العُشْرِ، فَإِنْ لَّمْ تَكُنْ إِلَّا

and is capable of mating.

^{[1] &#}x27;To separate cases of Zakāt' may be exemplified as follows:

There are two persons owning a flock of fifty goats each. Hence they are required to give one goat each out of their respective shares. If both of these persons merge their flocks into one, they can save one goat collectively as the Zakāt payable on 100 goats will still be one goat.

^{&#}x27;To separate a unified case of Zakāt' may be exemplified as follows:

Two persons own a flock of fifty goats (on an equal partnership basis). Therefore one goat among these shall be payable as Zakāt. If they split the flock into 25 goats each, they may avoid the Zakāt, as there is no Zakāt payable if their number is less than forty. Similarly, a person who is authorized to collect Zakāt payment, should not either split or gather the belonging of people, i.e., in case two people own a herd of 30 goats each, and are exempted from Zakāt, he should not gather these goats and treat them as one single flock to claim one goat out of it.

belongs to two partners, they can make claims for restitution from one another with equity.[1] An old sheep, one with a defect in the eve, or a male goat is not to be brought forth as Sadaqa unless the collector wishes.[2] On silver: For two hundred Dirhams.[3] a fortieth is payable, but if there are only a hundred and ninety nothing is payable, unless their owner wishes. If anvone, whose camels reach the number for which a she-camel in her fifth year is payable, does not possess one but possesses one in her fourth year. [4] that will be accepted from him along with two sheep if he can conveniently give them, or else twenty Dirhams. If anyone whose camels reach the number for which a she-camel in her fourth year^[5] is payable does not possess one but possesses one in her fifth year, that will be accepted from him, and the collector must give him twenty Dirhams or two sheep.' [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

485. Narrated Mu'ādh bin Jabal ఉ: The Prophet 藝 sent him to Yemen, and ordered him to take a one-year-old male or female calf for every thirty cattle, and a cow in its third year [6] for

يِشْعِينَ وَمِائَةً، فَلَيْسَ فِيهَا صَدَقَةً، إِلَّا أَن يَشَاءَ رَبُّهَا. وَمَنْ بَلَغَتْ عِنْدَهُ مِنَ الإبلِر صَدَقَةً اللَّبِيْرِ صَدَقَةً وَلَيْسَتْ عِنْدَهُ جَذَعَةً، وَعِنْدَهُ حِقَّةً، وَعِنْدَهُ حِقَّةً، وَعِنْدَهُ حِقَّةً، اسْتَيْسَرَنَا لَهُ، أَوْ عِشْرِينَ دِرْهَماً. وَمَنْ بَلَمَتْ عِنْدَهُ الحِقَّةُ، وَلَيْسَتْ عِنْدَهُ الحِقَّةُ، وَيَعْشِينَ عِنْدَهُ الجَذَعَةُ، وَيَعْشِينَ عِنْدَهُ الجَذَعَةُ، وَيَعْشِينَ مِنْهُ الجَذَعَةُ، وَيَعْشِينَ مِنْهُما أَوْ شَاتَيْنِ. وَيُعْظِيهِ المُصَدِّقُ عِشْرِينَ دِرْهَما أَوْ شَاتَيْنِ. وَرَوْما أَوْ شَاتَيْنِ. وَرَوْما أَوْ شَاتَيْنِ.

(٤٨٥) وَعَنْ مُعَاذِ بْنِ جَبَلِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ بَعَثُهُ إِلَى البَتَمَرِ، فَأَمَرُهُ أَنْ يَأْمُدُهُ أَنْ يَأْمُرُهُ أَنْ يَأْمُرُهُ أَنْ يَأْمُرُهُ أَنْ يَأْمُرُهُ أَنْ يَأْمُرُهُ أَنْ يَأْمُرُهُ أَنْ يَعِمْ وَمِنْ كُلُّ وَيَنْ كُلُّ حَالِمٍ دِينَاراً، أَوْ كُلُّ حَالِمٍ دِينَاراً، أَوْ

^[1] For instance, two person own 140 goats. One of them owns forty and another one a hundred. Therefore, two of these goats are to be given away as Zakāt. Now, if the owner of forty goats addresses the other person and says, "You'd better make a payment of one goat and a half, whereas I shall pay for the rest of the half goat", this is a wrong demand. The ruling is that the owner of 40 goats will have to pay one full goat and the owner of 100 goats will also have to give away one goat only as Zakāt.

^[2] It means that the one who is giving Zakāt should not try to pay his Zakāt from his defective property. Similarly, the receiving person should not exert himself in taking the best of the person's property. The goods given away as such should be of a moderate quality.

^{[3] 1/12}th of one *Uqiya* of gold (in value).

^[4] Jadba'a جذعة is a term used for a she-camel which is four-year-old and entering its fifth year.

is a term used for a she-camel which is three-year-old and entering its fourth.

^[6] Cows and buffaloes are the same species. All of them, of different sexes and ages, shall be included in the head count. No Zakāt is obligatory if someone owns less than thirty cows.

every forty, and one Dinar for every adult (disbeliever as fizya)^[1] of clothes of equivalent value manufactured in Yemen. [Reported by Al-Khamsa, and the wording is Ahmad's. At-Tirmidhi graded it Hasan (good), but pointed to the difference about whether or not it is Mawsul (unbroken chain). Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sahth (authentic)].

486. Narrated 'Amr bin Shu'aib on his father's authority from his grand father (♣): Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "The Sadaqāt of the Muslims are to be received at their watering points." [Reported by Ahmad]. Abū Dā'ud also has: "Their Sadaqāt are to be received only at their dwellings."

487. Narrated Abū Huraira **48**: Allāh's Messenger **48** said, "No Sadaqa is due from a Muslim on his slave or his horse." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri]. Muslim has: "There is no Sadaqa on a slave except Sadaqatul-Fitr."

488. Narrated Bahz^[2] bin Hakim on his father's ^[3] authority from his grandfather^[4] (**): Allāh's Messenger & said, "For forty pasturing camels, ^[5] one she-camel in her third year is to be

عَدْلَهِ مَعَافِرِيّاً. رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَاللَّفْظُ لِاحْمَدَ، وَحَسَّنَهُ الشَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَأَشَارَ إِلَى الْحَبْلَاف ِ فِي وَصْلَةِ، وَصَحَّحُهُ الزُّرُ جِبَّانَ وَالحَاكِمُ.

. (٤٨٦) وَعَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ شُعَيْبِهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ جَدِّهِ، عَنْ جَدِّهِ، وَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ. صَدَقَاتُهُمْ وَرَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ. وَلَا بِي دَاوُدَ: ﴿لَا تُؤْخَذُ صَدَقَاتُهُمْ إِلَّا فِي دُرُوهِمْ اللّهِ اللّهِ عَلَى مَا اللّهُ اللّهُ

(٤٨٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «لَيْسَ عَلَى المُسْلِمِ فَي عَبْدِهِ وَلَا فَرَسِهِ صَدَقَةً». رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُ. وَلِمُسْلِمٍ: «لَيْسَ فِي العَبْدِ صَدَقَةً» إِلَّا صَدَقَةً

(٤٨٨) وَعَنْ بَهْزِ بْنِر حَكِيمٍ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ جَدُّهِ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "فِي كُلُّ سَائِمَةِ إِبْلِرِ: فِي أَزْبَهِينَ بِنْتُ لَكُونَ,، لَا تُفَرِّقُ إِبْلُ عَنْ

Upon the ownership of 30 cows, one has to pay one-year-old calf. If the number of cows owned is between 40 and 69, the *Zakāt* shall be a two-year-old calf. If the number of the cattle owned is 70, the same shall be the *Zakāt* i.e. a one-year-old calf in addition to a two-year-old calf.

^[1] A head tax paid by a non-Muslim living in an Islamic state.

^[2] Abū 'Abdul Malik Bahz bin Hakim bin Mu'āwiya bin Haida Al-Qushairi Al-Basri was a Tābi'l of the sixth grade. His reliability has been disputed. Abū Dā'ud said, "His Abadīth are authentic." Also Ibn Ma'in, Ibn Al-Madīni and An-Nasā'i approved of him. But Abū Hātim said, He is not an authority (in Hadīth)." Ibn Hibbān also said, "He used to err a lot in the Hadīth." He died after the one hundred forties of Hijra or before the sixties.

 $^{^{[3]}}$ He is also a $T\ddot{a}bi'i$ and Ibn Hibbān included him among the reliable $Had\bar{a}tb$ reporters.

^[4] Mu'āwiya bin Haida bin Mu'āwiya bin Qushair bin Ka'b Al-Qushairi was a Sabābi who settled at Basra and he has narrated some Abadātb.

^[5] The condition of Zakāt concerning the cattle is that they should be authentic and robust enough to graze for themselves. This condition has been specifically mentioned with regard

given. The camels are not to be separated during the counting process. He who pays Zakāt with the intention of getting reward will be rewarded. If anyone evades Zakāt, we shall take it together with half (or some) of his property, this being a duty from that which has been made obligatory by our Rabb, the Exalted. There is no share in it (Zakāt) for the family of Muhammad." [Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i. Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)]. Ash-Shafi'i[1] held that acceptance of the ruling derived from this Hadith depends upon its authenticity being confirmed.

حِسَابِهَا، مَنْ أَعْطَاهَا مُؤْتَجِراً بِهَا، فَلَهُ أَجْرُهَا، وَمَنْ مَنْتَهَا، فَلَهُ أَجْرُهَا، وَمَنْ مَنْتَهَا، فَإِنَّ آخِذُوهَا وَشَطْرَ مَالِهِ، عَزْمَةً مِنْ عَزَمَاتٍ رَبُّنَا، لَا يَجِلُ لِآلِ مُحَمَّدٍ مِنْهَا شَيْءًا. وَوَانَ وَالنَّسَائِيُّ، وَعَلَى الشَّافِئِيُّ الْفَوْلَ بِهِ عَلَى الشَّافِئِيُّ الْفَوْلَ بِهِ عَلَى الشَّافِئِيُّ الْقَوْلَ بِهِ عَلَى الشَّافِئِيُّ الْقَوْلَ بِهِ عَلَى الثَّافِئِيُّ الْقَوْلَ بِهِ عَلَى الثَّافِئِيُّ الْقَوْلَ بِهِ عَلَى الثَّوْلِ فِ عَلَى الثَّوْلِ فِ عَلَى الثَّافِئِيُّ الْقَوْلَ بِهِ عَلَى الثَّافِئِيُّ الْقَوْلَ بِهِ عَلَى النَّافِئِيُّ الْفَوْلَ بِهِ عَلَى الْمُولِي فِي الْمُولَ فِي عَلَى النَّافِئِيُّ الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى النَّافِئِيُّ الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى النَّافِئِيْ الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى الْمُؤْلِ فَيْ الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى اللَّافِي الْمُؤْلِ فَيْ الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى اللَّالْفِيقُ الْمُؤْلِ فَيْ الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى اللَّهُ الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى الْمُؤْلُ فِي عَلَى الْمُؤْلُ فِي عَلَى الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَيْهِ عَلَى الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَيْهُ الْمُؤْلِ فَيْ الْمُؤْلُ فِي عَلَى اللَّالِ فَيْ الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى الْمُؤْلِ فَيْ الْمُؤْلِ فَيْ الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى الْمُؤْلِ فَيْ الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى الْمُؤْلِ فَيْ الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى الْمُؤْلِقِي الْمُؤْلِقِي الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى الْمُؤْلِقِي الْمُؤْلِقِ فَيْ الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى الْمُؤْلِقِ فَيْ الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى الْمُؤْلِقِ فَيْ الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى الْمُؤْلِقِي فَالْمُؤْلِ الْمِثْلِقِيْلِ الْمُؤْلِقِيْلِ الْمُؤْلِقِيْلِ فَالْمُؤْلِ فَالْمُؤْلِ فَيْلِ الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى الْمِؤْلِ فَيْلِ الْمُؤْلِ فَيْلِولِ الْمِؤْلِ فَيْلِ الْمُؤْلِ فَيْلِ فَيْلِولُ فَيْلِ فَيْلِ فَيْلِولُ الْمِؤْلِ فَيْلِ فَالْمُؤْلِ فَيْلِ فَالْمِؤْلِ فِي عَلَى الْمُؤْلِقِيْلِ فِي عَلَى الْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى الْمُؤْلِقِي فَالْمُؤْلِ فِي عَلَى الْمُؤْلِقِي فَالْمُؤْلِ فِي فَالْمُؤْلِ فِي فِي الْمُؤْلِقِي فِي فَالْلِولُ فِي فِي فَالْمُؤْلِ فِي فَالْمِؤْلُ فِي فَالْمُؤْلِ فِي فَا

489. Narrated 'Ali &: Allah's Messenger said, "If you possess two hundred Dirhams till one year passes, five Dirhams are payable on them; and you are not liable to pay anything till you possess twenty Dinars for one year, thereupon half a Dinar^[2] is payable on them. Whatever exceeds that, will be counted likewise. And no Zakāt is payable on wealth, till a year passes (from the time of its possession)." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud. It is Hasan (good), but they disagreed on its Marfū' status (i.e. being attributed to the Prophet)].

(404) وَعَنْ عَلِيُّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا كَانَتْ لَكَ مَاثَتَا وِرْهَمٍ، وَحَالَ عَلَيْهَا الحَوْلُ، فَفِيهَا خَسْسَهُ دَرَاهِمَ، وَلَيْسَ عَلَيْكَ شَيْءٌ، حَتَّى يَكُونَ لَكَ عِشْرُونَ وِينَارًا، وَحَالَ عَلَيْهَا الحَوْلُ، فَفِيهَا فِي مَال رَكَاةٌ، حَتَّى يَحُولَ عَلَيْهِ الحَوْلُ». وَلَيْسَ فِي مَال رَكَاةٌ، حَتَّى يَحُولَ عَلَيْهِ الحَوْلُ». وَوَلِيْسَ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَهُوَ حَسَنٌ، وَقَدِ اخْتَلَفُوا فِي رَفْعِهِ.

At-Tirmidhi has this from Ibn 'Umar (&): "He who acquires wealth is not

وَلِلتَّرْمِذِيِّ عَن ِ ابْن ِ عُمَرَ: مَن ِ اسْتَفَادَ مَالاً،

to goats and camels. However, the same ruling has been presumed to be applicable to cows and buffaloes also.

^[1] This Haditb specifies that if a person does not pay the Zakāt voluntarily, an Islamic Government may impose a fine on him amounting to the value of half of his goods and may do so forcibly. Collecting the Zakāt by force shall indeed fulfill the obligation binding on such a person, but he shall be deprived of the reward.

^[2] This *Hadītb* contains a statement concerning *Zakāt* to be levied on gold and silver. The ruling about the silver is that no *Zakāt* is payable on it if it is less than 200 Dirhams in its worth. The quantity of silver subject to *Zakāt* is fifty-two and a half *tolas* (611.5 grams) and the *Zakāt* thus levied on it shall be @ one-fortieth. Similarly, the quantity of gold subject to *Zakāt* is seven and a half *tolas* (87 grams) and *Zakāt* payable on it shall also be @ one fortieth. An identical one-fortieth ruling is applicable on currency notes also.

liable for Zakāt on it, till a year passes." [The stronger view is that this Hadītb is Mawqūf (saying of a Companion)].

490. Narrated 'Ali &: There is no Sadaqa on the working cattle. [1] [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and Ad-Dāraqutni. The stronger view is that this Hadīth is Mawqūf (saying of a Companion)].

491. Narrated 'Amr bin Shu'aib on his father's authority from his grandfather 'Abdullāh' bin 'Amr (*): Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "Whoever is the guardian of an orphan who has wealth, he must trade with it and not leave it till the Sadaqa consumes it.''[2] [Reported by At-Tirmidhi and Ad-Dāraqutni, and its Isnād (chain) is weak. It has a supporting narration which is Mursal (missing link in the chain after the Tābi'i) reported by Ash-Shafi'i].

492. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Abū 'Aufa Whenever people used to bring their Sadaqāt to Allah's Messenger ## he would say, "O Allāh, bless them." [Agreed upon].

493. Narrated 'Ali : Al-'Abbās (*) asked the Prophet * about paying his Sadaqa in advance before it became due, and he gave him permission [3] to do that. [Reported by At-Tirmidhi and Al-Hākim].

494. Narrated Jābir bin 'Abdullāh &: Allah's Messenger & said, "No Sadaga فَلَا زَكَاةَ عَلَيْهِ، حَتَّى يَحُولَ عَلَيْهِ الحَوْلُ. وَالرَّاجِعُ وَقْفُهُ.

(٤٩٠) وَعَنْ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: لَيْسَ فِي البَقَرِ العَوَامِلِ صَدَقَةٌ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ، وَالرَّاجِعُ وَقُفْهُ أَيْضًاً.

(٤٩١) وَعَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ شُعَيْبِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ جَدُو عَنْدِ اللهِ عَلَيْ قَالَتُ عَنْ جَدُو عَنْ اللهِ عَلَيْ قَالَاً ، فَأَيْتُجِرْ لَهُ، وَلَا يَتُومُذِيُّ وَلَا الطَّرَمِذِيُّ وَاللهِ التَّرْمِذِيُّ وَاللهِ الطَّرَمِذِيُّ وَاللهِ الطَّرَمِذِيُّ وَاللهُ الطَّرَمِذِيُّ وَاللهُ الطَّرَمِذِيُّ وَاللهُ الطَّرَمِذِيُّ وَاللهُ الطَّرَمِذِيُّ وَلَهُ شَاهِدُ مُرْسَلُ عِنْدُ الشَّافِعِيِّ . وَلِهُ شَاهِدُ مُرْسَلُ عِنْدُ الشَّافِعِيِّ .

(٤٩٧) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بَنِ أَبِي أَوْفَى رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ إِذَا أَنَاهُ قَوْمٌ بِصَدَقَتِهِمْ قَالَ: «اللَّهُمَّ صَلُّ عَلَيْهِمْ». مُتَغَنَّ عَلَنَهُ

(٩٩٣) وَعَنْ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ العَبَّاسَ سَأَلَ النَّبِيِّ عَلَيْهُ فِي تَمْجِيلِ صَدَقَيهِ قَبْلَ أَلَاتُونِينَيُّ أَلِكَ . رَوَاهُ النَّرُونِينِيُّ وَالْحَاكِمُ. وَاهُ النَّرُونِينِيُّ وَالْحَاكِمُ.

(٤٩٤) وُعَنْ جَابِرِ بْن ِ عَبْدِ اللهِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ

^[1] The cattle used for farming, watering or transportation, etc.

^[2] There is a difference of opinion among the scholars as to whether or not an orphan's wealth is subject to *Zakāt*, there is a difference of opinions among the scholars regarding it. There is a lengthy discussion about it. However, it is better to pay *Zakāt* on it.

^[3] The days and timings of *Hajj*, *Salāt*, and *Saum* (fasting) are all specified. As far as *Zakāt* is concerned, it's payment can be made in advance, even though it only becomes an obligation after it has been in the person's possession for a period of one year.

is payable on less than five *Uqtya*^[1] (595 grams) of silver, nor on less than five heads of camels, nor on less than five *Awsuq*^[2] (652.8 Kilograms) of dates." [3] [Reported by Muslim].

He (Muslim) reported from the *Hadith* of Abū Sa'īd (泰): Allāh's Messenger 囊 said, "No *Sadaqa (Zakāt)* is payable on less than five *Awsuq* of dates or grains." [The basic meaning of the *Hadith* is reported by al-Bukhari and Muslim].

495. Narrated Sālim bin 'Abdullāh on the authority of his father: The Prophet said, "A tenth is payable on what is watered by rain or springs or by underground water, and a twentieth on what is watered by irrigation [through human efforts]." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri]. Abū Dā'ud has: "When it (farm produce) is watered by underground water, a tenth is payable; but a twentieth is payable on what is watered by irrigation, [water-wheels or that which is drawn up from a well by a farm animal]."

تَعَالَى عَنْهُما، عَنْ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: اللَّيْسَ فِيمَا دُونَ خَمْسِ أَوَاقِ مِنَ الوَرِقِ صَدَقَةً، وَلَيْسَ فِيمَا دُونَ خَمْسِ ذَوْدٍ مِنَ الإِبلِ صَدَقَةً، وَلَيْسَ فِيمَا دُونَ خَمْسَةِ أَوْسُقٍ, مِنَ التَّمْرِ صَدَقَةً». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

وَلَهُ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَبِي سَعِيدِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ الَيْسَ فِيمَا دُونَ خَلْمَةِ أَوْسَاقٍ مِنْ تَمْرٍ وَلَا حَبُّ صَدَقَةٌ». وَأَصْلُ حَدِيثٍ أَبِي سَعِيدٍ. مُثَقَقٌ عَلَهِ.

(440) وَعَنْ سَالِمٍ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَلِيهِ، عَنْ أَلِيهِ، عَنْ السَّمَاءُ وَالْغَبُونُ، أَوْ كَانَ عَثْرِيّاً، ٱلْعُشْرُ، وَفِيمَا شُقِيَ بِالنَّضْحِ نِصْفُ العُشْرِ. وَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ. وَلِأْبِي وَالْمِي وَالْمَثْرُ، وَفِيمَا شُقِيَ بِالسَّوَانِي أَلُوشُرُ، وَفِيمَا شُقِيَ بِالسَّوَانِي أَلِو النَّضْحِ نِصْفُ العُشْرِ. وَقِيمَا شُقِيَ بِالسَّوَانِي أَلِو النَّصْحِ نِصْفُ العُشْرِ.

^[1] Since the value of an *Uqiya* is forty Dirhams (or 119 grams), five *Awaqin* shall be equivalent to 200 Dirhams or 595 grams of silver.

^[2] One Wasq is equivalent to 60 Saa' or 135 Kilograms; five Awsuq being equivalent to 675 Kilograms.

^[3] According to the present day measurement, the amount of Zakāt payable on every twenty maund of grain (8 quintals) shall amount to the value of one maund of grain (40 kilograms approx.) In case the quantity of grain happens to be less than 8 quintals, no Zakāt is obligatory on it. (8 quintals is equal to 5 Wasq which is stated in the Hadīth). In case someone owns more than 85 grams of gold, Zakāt becomes obligatory on him. In case someone owns silver exceeding 595 grams in quantity, it is an obligation on him to pay Zakāt.

^[4] Any grain which can be stored for a year, is liable to Zakāt payment. Wheat, barley, rice, millet, Indian corn, maize, pulses and grams, etc., fall in this category. The amount of Zakāt payable on these may differ according to the varying amount of labor and exertion spent on the produce. The produce of a land that is irrigated by floodwater, rain or a natural affluent or rivulet will be subject to the one-tenth of its production to be paid off as Zakāt. In case a land is irrigated by well-water or against a monetary payment like canal water, then its produce will be subjected to one-twentieth Zakāt payment only on the total.

496. Narrated Abū Musa Al-Ash'ari and Mu'ādh &: The Prophet ## said to them, "Collect Sadaqa only on these four kinds: barley, wheat, raisins and dates." [Reported by At-Tabarāni and Al-Hākim].

Ad-Dāraqutni has, on the authority of Mu'ādh: He said, "But cucumber, water melon, pomegranate and sugarcane were exempted (from Sadaqa) by Allāh's Messenger 續." [Its chain of narrators is weak].

497. Narrated Sahl bin Abū Hathma^[1]

& Allāh's Messenger & ordered us,
"When you estimate (the Sadaqa of
fruits like dates) take them leaving a
third; and if you do not leave a third,
leave a quarter (of the estimated
Sadaqa for the owners)" [2]. [Reported
by Al-Khamsa except Ibn Mājah. Ibn
Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sahib
(authentic)].

498. Narrated 'Attāb bin Asīd^[3] &: Allah's Messenger & ordered to estimate Zakāt on grapevines just as it is done with palm trees, then the Zakāt is to be paid in raisins (as the Zakāt on palm trees is paid in dried dates).

(٤٩٦) وَعَنْ أَبِي مُوسَى الأَشْعَرِيِّ وَمُعَاذِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ قَالَ لَهُمَا: لَا تَأْخُذَا فِي الصَّلَقَةِ إِلَّا مِنْ لَهٰذِهِ الأَصْنَافِ الأَرْبَعَةِ: الشَّعِيرِ، وَالحِنْطَةِ، وَالزَّبِيبِ، وَالثَّمْرِ. رَوَاهُ الطَّبَرَانِيُّ وَالحَاكِمُ.

وَلِلدَّارَقُطْنِيِّ عَنْ مُعَاذِ قَالَ: فَأَمَّا القِئَّاءُ وَالبِطِّبِحُ وَالرُّمَّانُ وَالقَصَبُ، فَقَدْ عَفَا عَنْهُ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ. وَإِسْنَادُهُ ضَعِيفٌ.

(٤٩٧) وَعَنْ سَهْلٍ بْنِرَ أَبِي حَثْمَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: أَمَرَنَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: اإِذَا خَرَصْتُمْ فَخُدُوا، وَدَعُوا الثَّلْفَ، فَإِنْ لَمْ تَدَعُوا الثَّلُف، فَدَعُوا الرُّبِعَ». رَوَاهُ الخَشْسَةُ إِلَّا ابْنَ مَاجَهُ، وَصَحَّمُهُ ابْنُ جِبَّانَ وَالحَاكِمُ.

(٤٩٨) وَعَنْ عَتَّابِ بْنِ أَسِيدٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: أَمَرَنَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ أَنْ يُخْرَصُ اليَّنْكُ، كَمَا يُخْرَصُ النَّخْلُ، وَتُؤْخَذُ زَكَاتُهُ زَبِينًا. رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَفِيهِ انْقِطَاعُ.

^[1] Sahl bin Abū Hathma's real name was 'Abdullāh or 'Aamir bin Sā'ida bin 'Aamir Al-Ansāri Al-Khazraji Al-Madani. He was a young *Sahābī* born in 3 H. He settled at Kufa and is considered as an inhabitant of Al-Madīnah where he died during the governorship of Mus'ab bin Az-Zubair.

is to guess or estimate; an expert's estimation by looking at the grape-vines or date-palms about the quantity of its produce after maturing and ripening. Such a person must perform his duty with the utmost sincerity. The ruling for a Zakāt collector is that he should leave one-third of the amount so speculated. In case he does not approve of it, he must leave one-fourth of the amount, as sometimes a traveler or a wayfarer may eat out of it (the fruits) or at times the owner may present some of it to his neighbors, etc.

^{[3] &#}x27;Attāb bin Asīd bin Abū Al-'Ais bin Umaiya bin 'Abd Shams Al-Umawi Al-Makki was a Sabābi. The Prophet appointed him over Makkah in the year of its conquest, as he was proceeding to Hunain. He continued to govern it until Abū Bakr died. It is said that he died on the same day that Abū Bakr died. It is also said that he lived until the end of 'Umar's Caliphate.

[Reported by Al-Khamsa. It has Inqitā' (missing links in the chain of narrators)].

499. Narrated 'Amr bin Shu'aib on his father's authority from his grand father (**): A woman came to the Prophet **, and she was accompanied by her daughter who wore two gold bangles in her hands. He asked her "Do you pay their Zakāt?" She said, "No." He then said, "Will you be pleased [1] if Allāh puts two bangles of fire on you, in their place, on the Day of Resurrection?" Thereupon she threw them away. [Reported by Ath-Thalatha, and its chain of narrators is strong. It is authenticated by Hākim from 'Aisha's Hadīth].

500. Narrated Umm Salama \$\square\$ that she was wearing gold bangles^[2] and she said, "O Messenger of Allāh! Is this a treasure?" He replied, "It is not a treasure if you pay the Zakāt due on it." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and Ad-Dāraqutni Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

501. Narrated Samura bin Jundub &: Allāh's Messenger # used to order us to pay the *Sadaqa* from what we have set aside for trade. [3] [Abū Dā'ud reported it and its chain is weak].

(\$99) رَعَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِر شُعَيْسِر، عَنْ أَبِيهِ،
عَنْ جَدِّهِ، أَنَّ امرَأَةً أَتَتِ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ وَمَعَها البُّةً
لَهًا، وَفِي يَدِ البُتِهَا مَسْكَنَانِ مِنْ ذَهَبِ، فَقَالَ
لَهًا، وَفِي يَدِ البُتِهَا مَسْكَنَانِ مِنْ ذَهَبِ، فَقَالَ
اللَّهُ إِيهَا يَوْمَ القِيَامَةِ
مَايَشُوُكِ أَنْ يُسُورُكِ اللَّهُ بِهِمَا يَوْمَ القِيَامَةِ
سِوَارَيْنِ مِنْ نَارِهِ؟ فَالْقَتْهُمَا. رَوَاهُ اللَّكَرَثَةُ،
وَإِسْنَادُهُ فَوِيًّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ مِنْ حَدِيثِ
عَائِشَةً.

(٥٠٠) وَعَنْ أُمُّ سَلَمَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّهَا كَانَتْ تَلْبَسُ أُوْضَاحاً مِنْ ذَهَبٍ، فَقَالَتْ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! أَكْثَرٌ مُوَ؟ فَقَالَ: ﴿إِذَا أَدَّيْتِ زَكَابَتُهُ فَلَيْسَ بِكَثْرِهِ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالدَّارَتُطْفَيْ، وَصَحَّحُهُ الحَاكِمُ.

(٥٠١) وَعَنْ سَمُرَةً بْنِ جُنْلُبٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ بَأَمُوْنَا أَنْ نُخْرِجَ الصَّدَقَةَ مِنَ الَّذِي نَعُدُّهُ لِلْبَيْمِ . رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوْدَ، وَإِسْنَادُهُ لَئِنْرٌ.

502. Narrated Abū Huraira 🐞: Allāh's مُرَيْرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ،

^[1] Whether or not Zakāt is payable on gold jewelry is a disputed matter, but the preponderant view is that the same is obligatory, and this Hadīth is an affirmative evidence regarding it.

is plural of Wadb. وضي This was a kind of jewelry that was originally manufactured out of silver. Owing to its glitteringly white appearance, it was called Audāb. Later the same was also being manufactured out of gold. This Hadīth is also an evidence that gold and silver jewelry are subjected to the payment of Zakāt. There are other types of jewelry, excluding the ones made of gold and silver, which are not liable to be subjected to a Zakāt payment. These are the jewelry made of pearls, emerald, sapphire, ruby, coral and other precious jewels.

 $^{^{[3]}}$ It thus becomes known to us that all commercial merchandise is subject to the obligation of $Zak\bar{a}t$ payment.

Messenger ﷺ said, "A fifth is payable on buried treasure." [Agreed upon].

503. Narrated 'Amr bin Shu'aib on his father's authority from his grand father (*): Allāh's Messenger * said, regarding a treasure which was found by a man at the site of ruins – "If you find it in an inhabited village you must make the matter known; but if you find it in an uninhabited village, a fifth is payable on it and on buried treasure." [Ibn Mājah reported it through a *Hasan* (good) chain of narrators].

504. Narrated Bilāl bin Al-Harith^[2] &: Allah's Messenger & received the *Sadaqa* on the mines of Al-Qabaliya.^[3] [Reported by Abū Dā'ud].

Chapter 1 SADAQAT-UL-FITR

505. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . Allāh's Messenger ﷺ made compulsory – as the Zakātul-Fitr – upon a slave, a freeman, a male and a female, the young and the old among the Muslims [on breaking the fast of Ramadān] a Sā' (about 21/2 kilograms) of dried dates, or a Sā' of barley. He ordered that this should be distributed before the people went out to the ('Eidul-Fitr') prayer. [Agreed upon].

Ibn 'Adi and Ad-Dāraqutni reported from Ibn 'Umar] through a weak chain

أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿وَفِي الرَّكَاذِ الخُمُسُ، مُثَقَّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

(٥٠٣) وَعَنْ عَمْرُو بْرَرِ شُعَبْبِر، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ جَدْهِ أَنْ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ فِي كَنْزٍ وَجَدَهُ رَجُلٌ فِي خَوِيَةٍ: ﴿إِنْ وَجَدْتُهُ فِي قَرْيَةٍ مَسْكُونَةٍ فَمَرَّفُهُ، وَإِنْ وَجَدْتُهُ فِي قَرْيَةٍ غَيْرٍ مَسْكُونَةٍ فَقِيهِ وَفِي الرُّكَازِ الخُمُسُّ». أَخْرَجَهُ ابْنُ مَاجَه بِإِسْنَادٍ حَسَنَد.

(٥٠٤) وَعَنْ بِلَالِ بْنِ الحَارِثِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ أَخَذَ مِنَ المَعَادِنِ القَبَلِيَّةِ الصَّدَقَةَ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ.

١ - بَابُ صَدَقَةِ الفِطْر

(٥٠٥) عَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: فَرَضَ رَشُولُ اللهِ ﷺ زَكَاةَ الفِطْرِ صَاعاً مِنْ شَعِيرٍ، عَلَى الغَبْدِ وَالحُرِيرِ، مِنَ وَالحُرِيرِ، مِنَ المُشْلِعِينَ، وَأَمَرَ بِهَا أَن تُؤدِّى قَبْلَ خُرُوجٍ النَّسِ إِلَى الصَّلَاقِيرِ، مَنَ النَّسِ الْمُدُورِةِ مَنَ النَّسِ إِلَى الصَّلَاقِ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

وَلَا بْنَ عَدِيٌّ وَالدَّارَقُطْنِيٌّ بِإِسْنَادٍ ضَعِيفٍ:

^[1] Any wealth excavated from earth is *Rikāz* ركاز (a hidden treasure) provided the same belongs to an era of non-Muslims. It is a must to pay one-fifth of its contents to the Islamic treasury. It does not involve the condition that the deposit be made after the lapse of one year period.

^[2] He is nicknamed Abū 'Abdur-Rahmān and was among the first delegation to visit the Prophet 遺 at Al-Madīṇah from the tribe of Muzaina in 5 H. He held Muzaina's flag during the conquest of Makkah. He lived at the outskirts of Al-Madīṇah then moved to Basra. He died in 60 H. at the age of 80 years.

^[3] Qabaliya is the name of a place located on the seacoast at a distance of about five-days journey by camel riding from Al-Madinah.

of narrators: "Relieve them (the poor) of the need to go around (begging) during this day (of 'Eidul-Fitr') [by distributing the Zakātul-Fitr on time]."

أَغْنُوهُمْ عَن ِ الطُّوَافِ فِي هٰذَا اليَوْمِ ِ.

506. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri 秦: At the time of Allāh's Messenger 鄉 we used to give out (as the Zakātul-Fitr) a Sā' of grain, [11] or of dried dates, or of barley, or of raisins. [Agreed upon]. In another narration: "a Sā' of sun baked yogurt." Abū Sa'īd said, "As for me, I am still distributing it (a Sa' in Sadaqa) as I used to distribute it (a Sā') in the lifetime of Allāh's Messenger 鄉." Abū Dā'ud has: "I will never give out (as Sadaqa) anything except a Sā'."

507. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās . Allāh's Messenger # prescribed Zakātul-Fitr as a purification of the fasting person from senseless and obscene talk, and as food for the poor. Whoever fulfills it before the ('Eid) prayer, it will be an acceptable Zakāt, and whoever fulfills it after the prayer, [2] it will be counted as a Sadaqa (voluntary alms). [Abū Dā'ud and Ibn Mājah reported it, and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

رَهُ •) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ عَنْهُ قَالَ: كُنَّا نُعْطِيهَا فِي زَمَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ ضَاعاً مِنْ تَمْرِ، أَوْ صَاعاً مِنْ تَمْرٍ، أَوْ صَاعاً مِنْ تَمْرٍ، أَوْ صَاعاً مِنْ رَبِيبٍ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيهِ. وَفِي رِوَاتِةِ: ﴿أَوْ صَاعاً مِنْ أَوْلِهِ. قَالَ أَبُو مَنْهِ وَالِهِ. قَالَ أَبُو سَعِيدِ: أَمَّا أَنَا فَلَا أَزَالُ أُخْرِجُهُ، كَمَا كُنْتُ أُخْرِجُهُ فِي زَمَنِ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ. وَلِابِي دَاوُدَ: ﴿لَا إِلَا صَاءاً». ﴿لَا إِلَا صَاءاً».

(٥٠٧) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: فَرَضَ رَسُولُ اللهِ اللهِ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: فَرَضَ رَسُولُ اللهِ اللهِ اللَّهُ وَكَاةً الفِطْ فُهُمَّةً لِلصَّائِمِ فَمَنْ أَدَّاهًا قَبْلَ الصَّلَاةِ فَهِيَ رَكَاةً مِنْ مُثْبُولَةً، وَمَنْ أَدًّاهًا بَعْدَ الصَّلَاةِ فَهِيَ صَدَقَةً مِنَ الصَّدَةِ فَهِيَ صَدَقَةً مِنَ الصَّدَة أَهُو دَاوُدَ وَالْبُنُ مَاجَهُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ الحَاكِمُ.

Chapter 2 VOLUNTARY ALMS

508. Narrated Abū Huraira 泰: The Prophet 靏 said, "There are seven whom Allāh will cover with His shade on a day when there will be no shade but His shade (and he mentioned among them)

٢ - بَابُ صَدَقَةِ التَّطَوُّعِ

(٥٠٨) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ،
 عَن النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «سَبْنَةٌ يُظِلُّهُمُ اللَّهُ فِي ظِلَّهِ
 يَوْمَ لَا ظِلَّ إِلَّا ظِلَّهُ - فَلَكَوَ ٱلْحَدِيثَ - وَفِيهِ
 «وَرَجُلُ تَصَدَّقَ بِصَدْقَةِ فَأَخْفَاهَا، حَتَّى لَا تَعْلَمَ

 $^{^{[1]}}$ The Arabic word Ta'am $_{1}$ $_{2}$ $_{3}$ $_{4}$ $_{4}$ $_{5}$ $_{6}$ is applicable to all kind of grain. It may be used for wheat, barley and even dates. In general, it can be used for any agricultural produce.

^[2] This implies that if someone pays *Sadaqatul-Fitr* (fast breaking charity) after the prayer, it does not absolve him from the obligation, nor does he get the reward associated with such a payment. However, his act shall not go in vain as he will get the reward of an ordinary act of charity. It is better to give one *Sa'* (2.6 kilogram) as *Sadaqatul-Fitr*, since the narration reporting it to be a half *Sa'* is incorrect.

- a man^[1] who gives charity so secretly that his left hand does not know what his right hand has spent." [Agreed upon].

شِمَالُهُ مَا تُنْفِقُ يَمِينُهُ ٩. مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

509. Narrated 'Uqba bin 'Aamir &: I heard Allāh's Messenger ﷺ say, "Everyone will be under the shade^[2] of his *Sadaqa* till the judgement between the people is finished." [Reported by Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim].

510. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri stree Prophet street said: If any Muslim clothes a Muslim when he is naked, Allāh will clothe him with some of the green garments of Paradise; if any Muslim feeds a Muslim when he is hungry, Allāh will feed him with the fruits of Paradise; and if any Muslim gives a Muslim a drink when he is thirsty, Allāh will give him a drink from the sealed nectar." [Abū Dā'ud reported; in its chain of narrators there is weakness].

(٥٠٩) وَعَنْ عُقْبَةً بْنِ عَامِرٍ رَضِيَ اللّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: صَبِغْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَتُولُ: كُلُّ الْمِرِيءَ فِي ظِلِّ صَدَقَتِهِ حَتَّى يُفْصَلَ بَيْنَ النَّاسِ. ٩. رَوَاهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ وَالحَاكِمُ.

(٥١٠) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُذْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «أَيُّمَا مُسْلِمِ كَسَا مُسْلِماً ثَوْباً عَلَى عُرْيِر كَسَاهُ اللَّهُ مِنْ خُضْرِ الجَنَّةِ، وَأَيْمَا مُسْلِم أَطْعَمَ مُسْلِماً عَلَى جُوعٍ أَطْعَمَهُ اللَّهُ مِنْ ثِمَارِ الجَنَّةِ، وَأَيُّمَا مُسْلِم سَقَى مُسْلِماً عَلَى ظَمَا سَقَاهُ اللَّهُ مِنَ الرَّحِيقِ المَخْتُومِ ، رَوَاهُ أَبُو وَاوْدَ، وَفِي إِسْنَادِهِ لِينٌ.

(011) وَعَنْ حَكِيم بْرَر حِزَام رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «الْكُدُ الغُلْيَا خَيْر مِنَ اللَّبِ الشَّفْلَى، وَالْبَدَأُ بِمَنْ تَعُولُ، وَخَيْرُ الطَّدَقَة مَا كَانَ عَنْ ظَهْرٍ غِنى، وَمَنْ يَسْتَغْفِفْ يُعِنَّهُ اللَّهُ، مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيه، وَاللَّهُ، مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيه، وَاللَّفَظُ لِلْبُخَارِيٌ.

^[1] In this *Hadīth*, the mention of males is incidental and includes both sexes. If a woman gives away the charity, she will get the same reward too.

^[2] "The shade" implies that the charity given away by a person in this world shall turn into a canopy for him and save him from the scorching heat on the Day of Judgement. One of the benefits of voluntary charity is that it makes up for any shortcoming in the obligatory Zakāt.

^[3] It is forbidden to give charity to others while ones family members are in a dire need of money. According to Muslim, it is reported by Thaubān that the better part of money is that which is either spent on one's family members, or spent on a horse used for Jibād (Fighting for the Cause of Allah), or the one spent on friends.

upon, and the wording is Al-Bukhāri's].

512. Narrated Abū Huraira 🐟: Allāh's Messenger 鑑 was asked, "What kind of Sadaga is the most preferable?" He replied, "What a man with little property can afford to give, and begin with your dependents." [Reported by Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud, Ibn Khuzaima and Ibn Hibban and Al-Hakim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

513. Narrated (Abū Huraira) 🐗: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Spend Sadaga (charity)." Then a man said, "O Messenger of Allah! I have a Dinār (gold coin)." He said, "Spend it on yourself." He said. "I have another one." He said, "Spend it on your children." He said, "I have another one." He said, "Spend it on your wife." He said, "I have another one." He said, "Spend it on your servant." He said, "I have another one." He said, "You know best (what to do with it)." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i. Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

514. Narrated 'Aisha &: The Prophet # said: "If a woman gives (for charity) some of the food in her house, without being wasteful,[1] she will have her reward for what she has given out, her husband will have his for what he has earned and the storekeeper will get the same. Yet nobody's reward[2] will be reduced due to the other." [Agreed upon].

(٥١٢) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قِيلَ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! أَيُّ الصَّدَقَةِ أَفْضَلُ؟ قَالَ: جُهْدُ المُقِلِّ، وَٱبْدَأَ بِمَنْ تَعُولُ. أَخْرَجَهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ خُزَيْمَةَ وَابْنُ حِبَّانَ وَالْحَاكِمُ.

(٥١٣) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «تَصَدَّقُوا»، فَقَالَ رَجُلٌ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! عِنْدِي دِينَارٌ، قَالَ: «تَصَدَّقْ بِهِ عَلَى نَفْسِكَ»، قَالَ: عِنْدِي آخَرُ، قَالَ: «تَصَدَّقْ بِهِ علَى وَلَدِكَ»، قَالَ: عِنْدِي آخَرُ، قَالَ: "تَصَدَّقْ بِهِ عَلَى زَوْجَتِكَ، قَالَ: عِنْدِي آخَرُ، قَالَ: "تَصَدَّقْ بِهِ عَلَى خَادِمِكَ، قَالَ: عِنْدِي آخَرُ، قَالَ: «أَنْتَ أَيْصَرُ بِهِ». رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَائِئُ وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حيَّانَ وَالْحَاكِمُ.

(١٤٥) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَم، عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: قَالَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ: «إِذَا ۖ أَنْفَقَتِ الْمَرْأَةُ مِنْ طَعَام بَيْتِهَا، غَيْرَ مُفْسِدَةِ، كَانَ لَهَا أَجْرُهَا بِمَا أَنْفَقَتْ، وَلِزَوْجِهَا أَجْرُهُ بِمَا اكْتَسَبَ، وَلِلْخَازِنِ مِثْلُ ذَلِكَ، لَا يَنْقُصُ بَعْضُهُمْ مِنْ أَجْر بَعْضِ شَنْئاً». مُتَّفَةٌ عَلَيْه.

(١٥) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ ﷺ : ﷺ 515. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri

^[1] It means that so long as the housewife does not nurse an ulterior motive of bringing harm and destruction to her husband's house, she may offer charity as is usually given away according to the prevalent customs. She may give away either bread or flour to a beggar. In case an increased amount of charity is required, then she must obtain permission from her husband.

^[2] It means that Allah the Most Exalted will give full reward to everybody by His kindness. It is not that He divides a single reward and distributes the same among all. This clarifies that one should assist everybody in his act of performing a good deed so that he may also be rewarded.

Zainab, [1] the wife of Ibn Mas'ūd () came and said, "O Allāh's Messenger, today you have commanded that Sadaqa be given out. And I had some jewelry of mine, so I wanted to give it as Sadaqa. However, Ibn Mas'ūd claimed that he and his children have more right for my Sadaqa to be spent on them." The Prophet said, "Ibn Mas'ūd told the truth; your husband and children have more right to be the beneficiaries of your Sadaqa." [2] [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

516. Narrated Ibn 'Umar 泰: Allāh's Messenger 義 said: "A person will continue asking people (for charity) until he comes on the Day of Resurrection without even a piece of flesh on his face." [Agreed upon].

517. Narrated Abū Huraira : Allāh's Messenger said: "He who begs for the property of others – to increase his own – is (in fact) asking for burning charcoals. So, let him ask for little or much." [3] [Reported by Muslim].

518. Narrated Zubair bin Al-'Awwām The Prophet said, "It is better for one of you to take his rope, bring a load of firewood on his back and sell it, thereby preserving his self-respect, than to beg reople whether they give him or تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: جَاءَتْ زَيْنَبُ امْرَأَةُ الْبَرِ مَسْمُودٍ، فَقَالَتْ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنَّكَ أَمْرَتَ البَرَمَ بِالصَّدَقَةِ، وَكَانَ عِنْدِي مُحلِيٍّ لِي، فَأَرَدْتُ أَنْ أَتَصَدَّقَ بِهِ، فَزَعَمَ الْبُنُ مَسْعُودٍ أَنَّهُ وَوَلَدَهُ أَحَقُ مَنْ تَصَدَّقْتُ بِهِ عَلَيْهِمْ، فَقَالَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ: «صَدَقَ ابْنُ مَسْعُودٍ، زَوْجُكِ وَوَلَدُكِ أَحَقُ مَنْ تَصَدَّقْتَ بِهِ عَلَيْهِمْ، رَوَاهُ البُخَارِئِي.

(017) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا يَزَالُ الرَّجُلُ يَشَالُ النَّاسُ، حَتَّى يَأْتِيَ يَوْمَ الفِيَّامَةِ، وَلَيْهَامَةِ، وَلَيْهَامَةِ، وَلَيْهَا عَلَيْهِ.

(٥٧٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «مَنْ يَسَأَلُ النَّاسَ أَمُوالَهُمْ تَكَثْرًا، فَإِنَّمَا يَسَأَلُ جَمْرًا، فَلْيَسْتَقِلَ أَوْ لِيَسْتَخِيْنُ، وَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٥١٨) وَعَن الزُّئِيْرِ بْن العَوَّامِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَن النَّيْ ﷺ قَالَ: لأَنْ يَأْخُذَ أَحَدُكُمْ حَنْلُهُ، فَيَأْتِي بِحُزْمَةِ الحَطَبِ عَلَى ظَهْرِه، فَيَبِيعُهَا، فَيَكُفَّ بِهَا وَجْهَهُ، خَيْرٌ لَّهُ مِنْ

^[1] She was from Banu Thaqif and her father was called Mu'āwiya, or 'Abdullāh bin Mu'āwiya or Abū Mu'āwiya. She narrated from the Prophet 鑑, her husband and 'Umar bin Al-Khattāb. Her son, her nephew and others narrated from her.

^[2] The word Sadaqa (charity) is applicable on all, whether it is a voluntary act of charity, or the obligatory payment of Zakāt or the Sadaqatul-Fitr. The glorious Qur'an has used the word Sadaqa only while elaborating on the matters concerning the disbursement and distribution of Zakāt funds. In case the voluntary charity is not considerable, it generally denotes and signifies the obligatory act of charity (Zakāt). Here it seems to be the obligatory payment of charity, as one does not have to ask anybody's permission concerning a voluntary charity payment. Majority of the scholars subscribe to the view that a woman can give the Zakāt to her husband. Similarly, there is an agreement of opinion among scholars to the effect that a man cannot give a Zakāt payment to his wife.

^[3] If a non-deserving person gathers money by begging, he will incur ignominy and disgrace on the Day of Judgement and will have to face an infernal torment. There are three categories of people who deserve the Zakāt money:

refuse him." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

أَنْ يَسْأَلَ النَّاسَ، أَعْطَوْهُ أَوْ مَنَعُوهُ. رَوَاهُ النَّاسَ، أَعْطَوْهُ أَوْ مَنَعُوهُ. رَوَاهُ النِّخَارِيُّ.

519. Narrated Samura bin Jundub &: Allah's Messenger & said: "Acts of begging are scratches with which a man disfigures his face, unless one begs a ruler, [1] or a situation in which begging is a must." [Reported by At-Tirmidhi, who graded it Sabib (authentic)].

(٥١٩) وَعَنْ سَمُرَةً بْنِ مُجْنُدُبِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: «المَسْأَلَةُ كَدُّ يَكُدُّ بِهَا الرَّجُلُ وَجَهُهُ، إِلَّا أَنْ يَسْأَلُ الرَّجُلُ سُلطًاناً أَوْ فِي أَمْرٍ لَا بُدَّ مِنْهُ. رَوَاهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَصَعَحْهُ.

Chapter 3 THE DIVISION OF SADAQAT

٣ - بَابُ قِسْمِ الصَّدَقَاتِ

520. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Sadaqa cannot lawfully be given to a wealthy person except of the five categories: one who collects it, or a man who buys it with his money, or one in debt, or one who fights in Allāh's Cause, or a poor man who after getting a Sadaqa gives part of it to a rich man as a aift." [2] [Reported by Ahmad, Abū

(٧٠٠) عَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيُّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا تَجِلُّ اللهُ الصَّدَقَةُ لِغَنِيُّ إِلَّا لِخَمْسَةِ: لِعَامِلِ عَلَيْهَا، أَوْ رَجُلِ اشْتَرَاهَا بِمَالِهِ، أَوْ عَارِمِ، أَوْ عَازِ فِي سَبِيلِ اللهِ، أَوْ مِسْكِينِ تُصُدِّقَ عَلَيْهِ مِنْهَا مَاجَهُ، وَصَحْعَهُ الحَاكِمُ، وَأَهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ، وَصَحْعَهُ الحَاكِمُ، وَأُعِلَّ بِالإِرْسَالِ.

a) The one whose wealth gets utterly destroyed by a sudden and unexpected calamity to such an extent that he has nothing to eat. Such a person may ask for Zakāt to make ends meet.

b) The one who has been unjustifiably penalized or has been unfairly involved into signing a bond of guarantee or liability for someone else and is now being subjugated to making a payment for the same even though he does not have enough financial resources to pay for it. Such a person is eligible to Zakāt so that he may be solvent enough to pay off his liability.

c) The one who works, or intends to work sincerely and in the earnest but does not find work, or has less income than his required minimum expenditure and thus forced to face starvation.

^[1] It becomes known to us that approaching a ruler and asking him for financial aid is permissible. A ruler is permitted either to give someone charity out of Zakāt payment or from Khumus (one-fifth of the wealth realized out of the spoils of war and allocated to be deposited in the government treasury). In case the asking person is really poor, he can take out of Zakāt payment. In case he is rich, he should not take money out of Zakāt, but he may take it from the funds belonging to Khumus (specific funds from the government treasury).

^[2] It is forbidden for a wealthy person to take any money out of Zakāt, but if a poor person receives a Zakāt money, purchases something out of this money and presents the same to

Dā'ud and Ibn Mājah. Al-Hākim graded it *Sahib* (authentic), while it has been declared *Mursal* (missing link after the *Tābi'i*) by others].

521. Narrated 'Ubaidullāh bin 'Adi bin Al-Khiyār^[1] (�): Two men informed him that they went to Allāh's Messenger ﷺ asking for Sadaga. He then looked at them up and down, and seeing that they were strong, said, "If you wish I will give you something, but there is no share in it for a rich man or for one who is strong and able to earn a living." [Reported by Ahmad. Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i considered its chain of narrators to be strong].

522. Narrated Oabisa bin Mukhārig Al-Hilāli[3] &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Begging is not allowed except for one of three people: A man who has become a guarantor for a payment, due to which he is allowed to beg till he gets it, after which he must stop begging; a man whose property has been destroyed by a calamity which has befallen him, to him begging is allowed till he gets what will provide him a reasonable sustenance; and a man who has been stricken by poverty, the genuineness of which is confirmed by three intelligent members of his people, to him begging is allowed till he gets what will provide him a

(٧٦) وَعَنْ عُمَيْدِ اللهِ بْنِ عَدِيٌ بْنِ الغِيَادِ، أَنَّ مَجَلَيْنَ حَدَّنَاهُ: أَنَّهُمَا أَتَيَا رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَشْأَلَانِهِ مِنَ الصَّدَقَةِ، فَقَلَّبَ فِيهِمَا البَصَرَ، فَقَالَ: إِنْ شِئْتُمَا أَعْطَيْتُكُمَا، وَلا خَطْ فِيهَا لِغَنْيُ، وَلا لِقَوِيً مُكْتَسِبٍ. رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ، وَنَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَائِيُ.

(٧٢) وَعَنْ فَيِصَةً بْنِرُ مُخَارِقِ الهِلَالِيُّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنُهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: اإِنَّ المَسْأَلَةُ نَ رَجُلِ تَحَمَّلُ اللهِ ﷺ: اإِنَّ كَمَّالَةً، فَحَلَّكَ أَهُ وَرَجُلٍ أَصَابَتُهُ جَائِحَةٌ اجْتَاحَتْ مَالُهُ، فَمَّ يَضِيبَ قِوَاماً مِنْ فَحَلَّتْ لَهُ المَسْأَلَةُ حَمَّى يُصِيبَ قِوَاماً مِنْ فَحَلَّتْ لَهُ المَسْأَلَةُ حَمَّى يُصِيبَ قِوَاماً مِنْ عَثْرِهِ، وَرَجُلٍ أَصَابَتُهُ فَاقَةً، حَمَّى يُصِيبَ قِوَاماً مِنْ عَثْولَ ثَلَاثَةً مِنْ ذَوِي الحِجَى مِنْ قَوْمِهِ: لَقَدْ أَصَابَتُ فَلَاناً مِنْ فَيْ وَاللهِ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ عَلْمَ مِنْ اللهِ عَلَى اللهُ اللهِ عَلَى اللهُ اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ عَلَى اللهُ اللهُ اللهِ عَلَى اللهُ الله

the rich person, the same becomes permissible for him.

^[1] He was a Qurashi from Banu Naufal. He was born during the life of Allāh's Messenger 癥, but is counted among the Tābi'in. He narrated Abadīth from 'Umar, 'Uthmān and others. It is said that his father was killed at Badr as a Kafir. 'Ubaidullāh is said to have been a grown up child at the time of the conquest of Makkah, and was therefore a Sabābi. He was among the Fiqh scholars and learned Quraishis. He died towards the end of the caliphate of Al-Walid bin 'Abdul Mālik in 90 H.

^[2] Some people infer from this Hadīth that a person, who is capable of earning, even though poor, must not accept charity, which is incorrect. Another Hadīth clarifies that a person who is on the brink of starving may ask for charity.

^[3] Abū Bishr Qabisa bin Al-Mukhāriq bin 'Abdullāh bin Shaddād Al-'Aamiri Al-Hilāli was a Sahābi who settled at Basra. He visited the Prophet and narrated Abadīth from him. He is a narrator of six Abadīth.

reasonable sustenance. Any begging besides these, O Qabisa is ill-gotten wealth, and one who engages in such, consumes it as a thing which is unlawful." [Reported by Muslim, Abū Đã'ud, Ibn Khuzaima and Ibn Hibbān].

523. Narrated 'Abdul-Muttalib bin Rab'a bin Al-Hārith^[1] &: Allāh's Messenger said, "These Sadaqāt are only people's impurities, and are not befitting for Muhammad's family." [12] Another narration has: "It is not lawful for Muhammad and Muhammad's family." [Reported by Muslim]

524. Narrated Jubair bin Mut'im \$\psi\$. 'Uthmān bin 'Affān \$\pi\$ and I went to the Prophet \$\pi\$ and said, "O Allāh's Messenger, You gave from \$Al-Kbumus\$ (the fifth) of the war booty of Khaibar to sons of Al-Muttalib and did not give us, although we are (all) of the same rank. [3] Allāh's Messenger \$\pi\$ then said, "Indeed, the sons of Al-Muttalib and the sons of Hāshim are one (and the same). [4]." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

دَاوُدَ وابْنُ خُزَيْمَةَ وَابْنُ حِبَّانَ.

(٥٢٣) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ المُطَّلِبِ بْنِ رَبِيعَةَ بْنِرَ الْحَارِثِ رَبِيعَةً بْنِرَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ يَعْلَقُ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِنَّ الصَّدَقَةَ لَا تَنْبُغِي لِآلِ مُحَمَّدٍ، وَإِنَّهَا إِنَّمَا هِيَ أَوْسَاخُ النَّاسِ ۗ. وَفِي رِوَاتَةٍ: ﴿وَإِنَّهَا لَا يَحِلُ لِمُحَمَّدٍ، رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ. لَا يَحِلُ لِمُحَمَّدٍ، رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٧٤) وَعَنْ جُبَيْرِ بْنِ مُعْلَمِهِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: مَشَيْتُ أَنَا وَعُثْمَانُ بْنُ عَفَّانَ إِلَى النَّبِيُّ ﷺ، فَقُلْنَا: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! أَعْطَلْبَ بَنِي المُطَّلِبِ مِنْ خُمُسِ خَبْيَرَ وَتَرَكْتَنَا، وَنَحْنُ وَهُمْ بِمَنْزِلَةِ وَاحِدَةِ، فَقَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: إِنَّمَا بَنُو المُطَّلِبِ وَبَنُو هَاشِم شَيْءً وَاحِدَه.

(رَدَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

^[1] Great grandson of 'Abdul-Muttalib bin Hāshim Al-Qurashi. He settled at Al-Madīnah then moved to Damascus where he died in 62 H.

^[2] It is forbidden on any of the descendants of Muhammad 鑑 to accept Zakāt payments, a ruling that is agreed upon. However, there is a difference of opinion among scholars regarding the status of voluntary charity. These are not the only descendants of Muhammad 鑑 who are forbidden to accept a Zakāt payment, but they also include the descendants of 'Ali, 'Abbās, Ja'far, 'Aqeel, 'Abdul-Muttalib bin Abd Munaf – which means that they are all included in the family of the Prophet 鑑 .

^[3] The statement of Jubair bin Muti'm and Uthmān رضي الله عنهما that they and Bani Muttalib (progeny of Muttalib) are equals has two meanings. The first one is that they gave allegiance to the Prophet 鑑,exactly in the same manner as done by the progeny of Muttalib. The second purported meaning is that Banu Muttalib does not exceed them in the matter of eligibility in terms of the bonds of affinity or relationship to the Prophet 鑑,'Uthmān نح نه الله addition to being bestowed with the honour of being a son-in-law to the Prophet 鑑, also belonged to Banu Umaiya. Banu Umaiya and Banu Hashim were considered to be tribe who were equal to each other in terms of status within the descendants of Ouraish.

^[4] The Prophet 鐵 stated: "There is no denying the fact that in terms of rank and lineage, Banu Hashim and Banu Umaiya are on an equal footing, but Banu Muttalib sided with Islam during adverse circumstances, whereas Banu Naufal and Banu Abdush-Shams stood against it. From this point of view, Banu Hashim and Banu Muttalib are the same, and when the time came, they were given out of *Khumus* money, whereas, you were given nothing out of it."

Rāfi'[1] 🚓: 525. Narrated Abū The Prophet 鑑 sent a man of the Banu Makhzum to collect Sadaga and he asked Abū Rāfi' to accompany him so that he might get some of it. Abū Rāfi' replied, "No, till I go to the Prophet 鑑 and ask him." He then went to him and asked him and he said, "It (the Sadaga) is not lawful for us [family of Muhammad], and the slave[2] of a people is (considered) one of them." [Reported by Ath-Thalatha, Ahmad, Ibn Khuzaima and Ibn Habban].

526. Narrated Sālim bin 'Abdullah bin 'Umar on the authority of his father that Allāh's Messenger # would offer a gift to 'Umar. And 'Umar would say: "Give it to one who is poorer than me." Upon this Allāh's Messenger # said, "Take it, keep it with your property or give it as charity. Take what comes to you from this wealth when you are neither seeking it nor begging, but in other circumstances do not make your heart subordinate to it." [Reported by Muslim].

(٥٧٥) وَعَنْ أَبِي رَافِع رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ،
أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ بَمَتَ رَجُلاً عَلَى الصَّدَقَةِ مِنْ بَنِي
مَخُرُومٍ، فَقَالَ لِأَبِي رَافِع : اصْحَبْنِي، فَإِنَّك
تُصِيبُ مِنْهَا، فَقَالَ: لَا، حَتَّى آتِيَ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ
فَأَسْأَلُهُ، فَأَتَاهُ فَسَأَلُهُ، فَقَالَ: «مَوْلَى القَوْم مِنْ
أَنْفُسِهِمْ، وَإِنَّهَا لَا تَجِلُ لَنَا الصَّدَقَةُ، رَوَاهُ
أَخْرَبُهُمْ وَابْنُ جَبَّانَ.

(٥٢١) وَعَنْ سَالِمِ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ عُمَرَ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ كَانَ يُعْطِي عُمَرَ المَعْلَاءَ، فَيَقُولُ: أَعْطِهِ أَفْقَرَ مِنِّي، فَيَقُولُ: غُذْهُ، فَتَمَوْلُهُ، أَوْ تَصَدَّقْ بِهِ، وَمَا جَاءَكَ مِنْ لَمُذْلِهُ، أَوْ تَصَدَّقْ بِهِ، وَمَا جَاءَكَ مِنْ لَمُذْلِهُ، وَمَا جَاءَكَ مِنْ مُمْذِفِهِ وَمَا جَاءَكَ مِنْ مُمْذِفِهُ وَمَا جَاءَكَ مِنْ مُمْذِهُ، وَمَا لَا فَلْا تُشْبِعُهُ نَفْسَكَ. رَوَاهُ مُسْذِمْ.

^[1] He was a slave of Allāh's Messenger 縣 and his name is Aslam or Hurmuz or Thābit or Ibrāhim. He was an Egyptian Copt and was owned by Al-'Abbās who gifted him to the Prophet 縣. He became a Muslim before Badr and did not witness it. He witnessed Uhud and the battles that followed. When Al-'Abbās became a Muslim, Abū Rafi' gave the good news to the Prophet 縣 who freed him. He died at the beginning of Ali's Caliphate in 36 H. at Al-Madīnah.

^[2] A person who is forbidden from partaking of Zakāt, the same ruling applies on his slave.

5. THE BOOK OF SIYAM^[1] (FASTING)

527. Narrated Abū Huraira : Allāh's Messenger : said, "Do not fast for a day or two days^[2] ahead of Ramadān except a person^[3] who is in the habit of observing a particular fast; he may fast on that day." [Agreed upon].

528. Narrated 'Ammār bin Yāsir . He who fasts on a day about which there is doubt (concerning the start of Ramadān)^[4] has disobeyed Abul-Qāsim [Al-Bukhāri reported it *Mu'allaq* (broken chain from his side), while *Al-Khamsa* reported it *Mawsul* (unbroken chain) and Ibn Hibbān graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

529. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . I heard Allāh's Messenger saying, 'Fast when you see the new moon, and break your fast when you see it; but if the sky is cloudy, calculate (the month as 30 days)." [Agreed upon]. Muslim has: "If it is cloudy, calculate (the month as) thirty days." Al-Bukhāri has: "Complete the number (of days) as thirty." Al-Bukhari reported the Hadith of Abu Huraira . "Complete the number of

٥ - كِتَابُ الصِّيَامِ

(٥٢٧) عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللّٰهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "لَا تَقَدَّمُوا رَمَضَانَ بِصَوْمٍ يَوْمٍ وَلَا يَوْمَيْنِ، إِلَّا رَجُلٌ كَانَ يَصُومُ صَوْماً فَلْيَصُمْهُ». مُثَنَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٨٢٥) وَعَنْ عَمَّارِ بْنِ يَاسِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: مَنْ صَامَ اليَومَ الَّذِي يُشَكُّ فِيهِ، فَقَدْ عَضَى أَبًا القَاسِمِ ﷺ. ذَكَرَهُ البُخَارِيُّ تَعْلِيقاً، وَوَصَلَهُ الجَمْسَةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ خُرَيْمَةً وَابْنُ جَرَائِمَةً وَابْنُ جَرَائِمَةً وَابْنُ جَرَائِمَةً وَابْنُ

(٥٢٩) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ: ﴿إِذَا رَأَيْتُمُوهُ فَصُومُوا، وَإِذَا رَأَيْتُمُوهُ فَأَفْطِرُوا، فَإِنْ غُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ فَاقْدُرُوا لَهُ". مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَلِمُسْلِمٍ: فَإِنْ غُلْمِيَّ عَلَيْكُمْ فَافْدُرُوا لَهُ ثَلَاثِينَ". وَلِلْبُخَارِيِّ: فَأَكْمِلُوا المِلَّةَ ثَلَاثِينَ". وَلَهُ فِي حَدِيثِ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةً: المِلَّةَ ثَلَاثِينَ". وَلَهُ فِي حَدِيثِ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةً:

^[1] The meaning of Styam and Saum is to "stop" and "refrain from". According to Shari'a terminology, it implies abstinence from eating, drinking and sexual intercourse, etc. starting from dawn till sunset, with a firm intention of carrying out the orders of Allāh. Fasting is one of the five pillars in Islam. One who rejects it, is a disbeliever; and who shuns it, is a disbeliedent Muslim. Fasting was prescribed as an obligation in the 2nd year of the Hijra calendar.

^[2] This *Hadith* tells us that the beeving of fast one day prior to the advent of Ramadān, which is a practice among some is orant and irreligious people, is forbidden.

^[3] In case, someone is in the hab of fasting on a particular day which incidentally happens to fall on the day just prior to the commencement of Ramadān, it is permissible for him to fast on that day.

^[4] In case the moon of Ramadan is not sighted on the 29th of Sha'ban due to the sky vision being blurred by dust or clouds, one should complete the 30 days of Sha'ban first and then observe fasting. The observance of fast merely on the basis of suspicion or assumption that the moon of Ramadan might possibly have been sighted on the 29th of Sha'ban itself, is forbidden.

210

(the month of) Sha'ban as thirty days^[1]."

530. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . The people tried to sight the new moon, so I informed the Prophet ## that I had seen it, so he fasted and commanded the people to fast. [2] [Abū Dā'ud reported it and Al-Hākim and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

531. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: A bedouin came to the Prophet and said, "I have seen the new moon (of Ramadan)." He asked, "Do you testify that nothing is worthy of worship except Allah?" He replied, "Yes." He then asked, "Do you testify that Muhammad is Allāh's Messenger?" He replied, "Yes." He then said, "Bilal, announce to the people that they should fast tomorrow." [Reported by Al-Khamsa. Ibn Khuzaima and Ibn Hibban graded it Sabib (authentic); An-Nasā'i held that the stronger view is that it is Mursal (missing link after the Tābi'i)].

532. Narrated Hafsa^[3] *, Mother of the Believers: The Prophet * said, "The fast of one who does not make intention^[4] to fast before dawn is not accepted' ^[5] [Reported by *Al-Khamsa*. At-Tirmidhi and An-Nasa'i are inclined

(٥٣٠) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَهُمَا وَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَهُمَا وَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَهُمَا فَالَّذِيُّ فَعُلَمَا النَّبِيِّ ﷺ أَنِّي رَأَيْتُهُ، فَصَامَ، وَأَمَرَ النَّاسَ بِصِيَامِهِ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ وَابْنُ حِيَّانَ.

(٣١٥) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ أَعْرَابِيَّا جَاءً إِلَى النَّبِيُ ﷺ فَقَالَ: عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ أَعْرَابِيًّا جَاءً إِلَى النَّبِيُ ﷺ فَقَالَ: إِلَّهُ النَّبِّ اللَّهُ وَقَالَ: اللَّهُ وَقَالَ: اللَّهُ وَقَالَ: اللَّهُ أَنَّ مُحَمَّداً رَسُولُ اللهِ ؟ قَالَ: فَقَالَ: فَأَذَّنْ فِي النَّاسِ رَسُولُ اللهِ ؟ قَالَ: فَقَالَ: فَأَذَّنْ فِي النَّاسِ يَا بِلَالُ أَنْ يُصُومُوا غَداً. رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَصَحَّدُ ابْنُ خُرْيُهَةً وَابْنُ جِبَّانَ، وَرَجَّحَ النَّسَائِيُ النَّسَائِيُ السَّالَةُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ النَّاسُ اللهُ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْلِقُلُولُ اللَّهُ اللَّه

(٥٣٧) وَعَنْ حَفْصَةَ أُمِّ المُؤْمِنِينَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ النِّيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «مَنْ لَمْ يُبَتِّتِ الصِّيَامَ قَبْلَ الفَجْرِ فَلَا صِبَامَ لَهُ». رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَمَالَ التُرْمِذِيُّ وَالنَّسَائِيُّ إِلَى تَرْجِيحِ

⁽¹⁾ This tells us that we should commence and terminate our fasting on the sighting of the moon.

^[2] We are thus informed that one witness suffices to herald the commencement of fasting where as to announce the sighting of the 'Eid crescent, two witnesses are required, according to the majority of the scholars of jurisprudence.

^[3] She was the daughter of 'Umar bin Al-Khattāb and was married to Khunais bin Hudhāfa As-Sahmi whom she migrated with to Al-Madīnah. When he died after Badr, Allāh's Messenger 鑑 married her in the year 3 H. She died in Sha'bān, 45 H. at the age of 60 years.

^[4] One of the elements of fasting is *Niyab* (intention). Hence one must make an intention of fasting prior to dawn.

^[5] One must make an intention of fasting before morning in case he is observing the obligatory (*Fard*) fast. But in case he is observing voluntary (*Nafl*) fasts, it is all right to do the same before noon.

toward the opinion that it is *Mauquf* (a saying of a Companion, i.e. Hafsa). Ibn Khuzaima and Ibn Hibban authenticated it as *Marfu'* (attributed to the Prophet)].

وَقْفِهِ، وَصَحَّحَهُ مَرْفُوعاً ابْنُ خُزَيْمَةَ وَابْنُ حِبَّانَ.

Ad-Dāraqutni has: "There is no fast for the one who does not make the intention to fast during the night."

intention to tast during the night."

533. Narrated 'Aisha 's: The Prophet 's:
came to visit me one day and asked,
"Do you have anything (to eat)?" I said,
"No." He said, "Then I am fasting." [1]
Then he came to me another day and I said, "I had been given a present of some Hais [2]. He said, "Show it to me, for I had began the day fasting." Then he ate. [3] [Reported by Muslim].

534. Narrated Sahl bin Sa'd 🎄: Allah's Messenger 🍇 said, "The people will continue to be on the right path as long as they hasten in the breaking of the fast." [Agreed upon].

At-Tirmidhi reports from the *Hadith* of Abū Huraira (ఉ) from the Prophet 鑑, who said that Allāh said, "The most beloved to Me of my slaves is the one who hastens most in breaking the fast."^[4]

535. Narrated Anas bin Mālik &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Take a meal (just) before dawn, for there is a blessing in Subur (taking a meal)^[5] at that time." [Agreed upon].

وَلِلدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ: «لَا صِيَامَ لِمَن لَمْ يَفْرِضْهُ مِنَ اللَّلِيِّ ». اللَّيْلِ ».

(٥٣٣) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، قَالَتْ: دَخَلَ عَلَيِّ النَّبِيُ ﷺ ذَاتَ يَوْمٍ فَقَالَ: «هَلْ عِنْدَكُمْ شَيْءٌ؟» قُلْنًا: لَا، قَالَ: ﴿فَإِنِّي إِذَا صَائِمٌ ۗ ثُمَّ أَتَانَا يَوْماً آخَرَ، فَقُلْنَا: أُهْدِيَ لَنَا حَيْسٌ، فَقَالَ: أُرِيشِهِ فَلَقَدْ أَصْبَحْتُ صَائِماً، فَأَكُلَ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٣٤٥) وَعَنْ سَهْلِ بْنِ سَمْدِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿لَا يَزَالُ النَّاسُ بِخَيْرِ مَا عَجَّلُوا الفِطْرَ». مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

وَلِلتَّرْمِذِيِّ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ، عَزِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: قَالَ اللَّهُ عَزَّ وَجَلَّ: ﴿أَحَبُّ عِبَادِي إِنِّيَّ، أَعْجَلُهُمْ فِطْراً».

(ه٣٥) وَعَنْ أَنْسِ بْنِرَ مَالِكِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "تَسَحَّرُوا، فَإِنَّ فِي السَّحُورِ بَرَكَةً". مُثَقَّنُ عَلَيْهِ.

^[1] This Hadith is an evidence that the intention of a voluntary observance of fasting does not have to be made necessarily before dawn, but the same could be done during daytime also.

^[2] A mixture of dates and ghee.

^[3] This *Hadīth* states that a voluntary fast may be terminated without an excuse.

^[4] As long as one is absolutely sure about the setting of the sun, he must not delay breaking his fast, as a delayed breaking of fast is the practice of Jews and Christians.

^[5] The Jews and Christians do not observe partaking of *Subur*. It is reported by Muslim that the eating of *Subur* is the difference between us and the people of the Scriptures. This facilitates fasting and one gets an increased amount of reward.

536. Narrated Salmān bin 'Aamir Ad-Dabbī^[1] 泰: The Prophet 樂 said, "When one of you breaks his fast, he should do so with some dates; but if he can not get any, he should break his fast with water, ^[2] for it is purifying." [Reported by Al-Khamsa. Ibn Khuzaima, Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

537. Narrated Abū Huraira 48: Allāh's Messenger & forbade continuous fasting. [3] A man from among the Muslims said, "You fast continuously, O Messenger of Allah!" He replied, "Which one of you is like me? During the night my Rabb (Allah) gives me food and drink." When they refused to stop the continuous fasting, he fasted with them for a day and then another. Then, they saw the moon. He then said. "If the new moon had not appeared, I would have made you fast more (in this way)." It is as though it would serve as a punishment for them, when they refused to stop. [Agreed upon].

538. Narrated (Abū Huraira) &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "Whoever does not abandon falsehood^[4] and action in accordance with it and foolishness, Allāh has no need that he should abandon his food and drink." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri, and Abū Dā'ud and the wording is his].

539. Narrated 'Aisha 🐁: Allāh's Messenger

(٥٣٦) وَعَنْ سَلْمَانَ بْنِ عَامِرِ الضَّبِّيِّ رَضِيَ اللهِّبِيِّ رَضِيَ اللهِّ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿إِذَا أَنْطَلُ أَحُدُكُمْ فَلَيُمْطِلُ عَلَى تَمْرٍ، فَإِنْ لَمْ يَجِدْ فَلَيُمْطِلُ عَلَى تَمْرٍ، فَإِنْ لَمْ يَجِدْ فَلَيُمْطِلُ عَلَى مَاءٍ، فَإِنَّهُ طَهُورٌه. رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ خُرْيَمَةَ وَابْنُ جَبَّانَ وَالحَاكِمُ.

(٣٧٥) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنُهُ قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عَن الوِصَالِ، فَقَالَ رَجُلٌ مِّنَ المُسْلِمِينَ: فَإِنَّكُ تُواصِلُ يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ؟ قَالَ: ﴿وَأَلِيْكُمْ مِثْلِي؟ إِنِّي أَبِيتُ بُطْمِمْنِي رَبِّي وَيَسْقِينِي، فَلَمَّا أَبُوا أَنْ يَنْتَهُوا عَن الوِصَالِ وَاصَلَ بِهِمْ يَوْمًا، ثُمَّ يَوْمًا، ثُمَّ يَوْمًا، ثُمَّ رَأُولُ الهِلال، فَقَالَ: ﴿لَوْ تَأَخَّرُ الهِلَالُ لَوْدُتُكُمْ ﴾ كَالْمُنَكُّلِ لَهُمْ حِينَ أَبُوا أَنْ يَنْتَهُوا. مَثَقَقَ عَلَيهِ.

(٣٨٥) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «مَنْ لَمُ يَكَعْ قَوْلَ الزُّورِ، وَالمَمَلَ بِهِ، والجَهْلَ، فَلَيْسَ لِلَّهِ حَاجَةٌ فِي أَنْ يَلَعَ طَعَامَهُ وَشَرَابَهُ».
رَوَاهُ الخارِقُ وَأَلُو دَاوُدَ، وَاللَّفْظُ لَهُ.

(٥٣٩) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا

^[1] Ibn Aus bin Hujr bin 'Amr bin Al-Harith Ad-Dabbi was a Sabābi who settled at Basra and was an old man during the lifetime of the Prophet ﷺ. He lived up to the caliphate of Mu'āwiya and it is said that he was killed in the battle of Al-Jamal at the age of 100 years. It is also said that there is no other Sabābi from Ad-Dabbi except him.

^[2] The best of the things one may break his fast with, are fresh dates, then dry dates, then water.

^[3] In Arabic Wisāl is a term used with reference to a person who does not break his fast in the evening but goes on observing it continuously on to the second day with no eating or drinking in between. This kind of fasting was only allowed to the Prophet.

^[4] The purpose behind fasting is that one should learn to exercise self-control on himself. The whole concept of fasting becomes abortive if one fails to learn the same.

纖 used to kiss^[1] and fondle while he was fasting, but he was the one among you who had most control^[2] over his sexual desire. [Agreed upon]. The wording is Muslim's, and in another narration, he has the addition: "during Ramadān."

540. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The Prophet 鑑 had himself cupped when he was wearing the *Ibrām* (during *Hajj* or '*Umrab*) and had himself cupped when he was fasting. [Reported by Al-Bukhari].

541. Narrated Shaddād bin Aus^[3] &: The Prophet & came across a man in Al-Baqi' who was being cupped in Ramadān. He said, "The one who cups and the one who is cupped have broken their fast." [4] [Reported by Al-Kbamsa except At-Tirmidhi. Ahmad, Ibn Khuzaima and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

542. Narrated Anas 毒: The first time when cupping – for one who is fasting – was disapproved was when: Ja'far bin Abū-Tālib had himself cupped while he was fasting; the Prophet 醬 came across him and said, "Both of these have broken their fast." Afterwards, the

قَالَتْ: كَانَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ يُقَبَّلُ وَهُوَ صَانِمٌ، وَيُبَاشِرُ وَهُوَ صَانِمٌ، وَلَكِنَّهُ كَانَ أَمْلَكَكُمْ لِإِرْبِهِ. مُثَقَّقَ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفْظُ لِمُشْلِمٍ، وَزَادَ فِي رِوَالَيْمَ: فَيِي رَمَضَانَهُ.

 (٠٤٠) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّه تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَذَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ أَخْتَجَمَ وَهُوَ مُحْرِمٌ،
 وَاحْتَجَمَ وَهُوَ صَائِمٌ. رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(٥٤١) وَعَنْ شَدًّادِ بْنِ أَوْسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّى عَلَى رَجُولِ لِللَّهُ اللَّهِ عَنْهُ أَنَى عَلَى رَجُولِ بِاللَّقِيمِ، وَهُوَ يَخْتَجِمُ فِي رَمَضَانَ، فَقَالَ: فَقَالَ: فَقَالَ: الْمُعْجُومُ . رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ إِلَّا النَّرِيدِيِّ، وَصَحْمَهُ أَخْمَدُ وَابْنُ خُزَيْمَةَ وَابْنُ جَزَيْمَةَ وَابْنُ جَزَيْمَةً وَابْنُ جَزِيْمَةً وَابْنُ جَزَيْمَةً وَابْنُ جَزَيْمَةً وَابْنُ

(٥٤٧) وَعَنْ أَنَسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: أُوَّلُ مَا كُرِهَتِ الحِجَامَةُ لِلصَّائِمِ، أَنَّ جَعْفَرَ ابْنَ أَبِي طَالِبِرِ أَحْتَجَمَ وَهُوَ صَائِمٌ، فَمَرَّ بِهِ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ فَقَالَ: أَفْطَرَ هَذَانٍ. ثُمَّ رَخَّصَ النَّبِيُ بَعْدُ فِي الحِجَاءَةِ لِلصَّائِمِ، وَكَانَ أَنْسٌ

^[1] It is not forbidden to kiss the wife or to embrace her during the state of fasting as the same does not nullify fasting.

^{[2] &#}x27;Aisha & advises that one should refrain from doing it lest one should make a slip and render his fasting null and void.

^[3] He is Abû Ya'la Al-Ansāri An-Najāri Al-Madani, the nephew of Hassān bin Thābit. He was learned and very tolerant. He died in Shām in 58 H. at the age of 75 years.

^[4] It is proven by the preceding Hadith that cupping (letting out blood for medical purposes) in the state of fasting is permissible. There seems to be an apparent contradiction here but in fact it is not so. This Hadith narrated by Shaddād bin Aus stands abrogated due to the fact that Shaddād arrived during the year of the conquest of Makkah, whereas 'Abdullāh bin 'Abbās described the same to have transpired during the year of the Hajjatul-Wada' (the last pilgrimage performed by the Prophet ূத்). As to the matter of undesirability, the cupping does not invalidate fasting according to the majority of 'Ulanna but the same is undesirable, and that too is in consideration of the fact that the bleeding may cause weakness, which in turn may force someone into breaking his fast. But in case someone is strong enough to withstand any such weakness or drowsiness resulting from the cupping, then the ruling concerning its undesirability is ineffective.

Prophet **a** allowed cupping for one who is fasting. Anas used to have himself cupped when he was fasting. [Ad-Dāraqutni reported it and declared it to be *Qawiy* (strong)].

543. Narrated 'Aisha 象: The Prophet 醬 applied kohl^[1] in Ramadān while he was fasting. [Reported by Ibn Mājah through a weak chain of narrators]. At-Tirmidhi said, "There is nothing authentic on this subject."

544. Narrated Abū Huraira 奉: Allāh's Messenger 瓣 said, "Whoever forgets while fasting and eats or drinks should complete his fast, for it is Allāh who has fed him and given him drink." [Agreed upon].

Al-Hākim has, "Whoever breaks his fast forgetfully does not have to make-up for that fast (Al-Qadā), nor expiate (Al-Kaffāra) for it." And the narration is authentic.

545. Narrated Abū Huraira 毒: Allāh's Messenger 瓣 said, "Whoever has a sudden attack of vomiting (while fasting), does not have to make-up the fast (Al-Qadā), but whoever vomits intentionally must make up the day." [Reported by Al-Kbamsa; Ahmad found it defective and Ad-Dāraqutni graded it Qawi (strong)].

546. Narrated Jābir bin 'Abdullāh &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ departed to Makkah in Ramadān in the year of the conquest. He and the people fasted till he came to Kurā' Al-Ghamim. He then يَحْتَجِمُ وَهُوَ صَاثِمٌ. رَوَاهُ الدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ وَقَوَّاهُ.

(04°) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ أَكْتَحَلَ فِي رَمَضَانَ وَهُوَ صَائِمٌ. رَوَاهُ النِّنْ مَاجَهُ بِإِشَادٍ ضَعِيفٍ، وَقَالَ النَّرْمِذِيُّ: لَا يَصِحُّ فِيهِ شَيْءً.

(\$£0) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: •مَنْ نَسِيَ وَهُوَ صَائِمٌ، فَأَكُلَ أَوْ شَرِبَ، فَلْيُرِمَّ صَوْمَهُ، فَإِنَّمَا أَطْمَمُهُ اللَّهُ، وَسَقَاهُ». مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

وَلِلْحَاكِمِرِ: مَنْ أَفْطَرَ فِي رَمَضَانَ نَاسِياً فَلَا قَضَاءَ عَلَيْهِ وَلَا كَفَّارَةً. وَهُوَ صَحِيخٌ.

(040) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «مَنْ ذَرَعَهُ القَيْءُ فَلَا قَضَاءَ عَلَيْهِ، وَمَن اسْتَقَاءَ فَعَلَيْهِ القَضَاءُ». رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَأَعَلُهُ أَخْمَدُ، وَقَوَاهُ الذَّارَتُطْنَيُّ.

(051) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ بْنِرِ عَبْدِ اللهِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ خَرَجَ عَامَ الفَتْحِ إِلَى مَكَّةً، فِي رَمَضَانَ، فَصَامَ، حَتَّى بَلغَ كُرَاعَ الغَيِيمِ، فَصَامَ النَّاسُ، ثُمَّ دَعَا بِقَدَحٍ

^[1] Kohl applied on the eyelashes for beauty or medicinal purposes.

^[2] We are thus informed that the eating or drinking out of forgetfulness does not invalidate fasting. Neither one is obliged to observe a compensational fast (Al-Qadā) nor pay any expiation.

^[3] There is a difference of opinion among the scholars as to whether or not vomiting invalidates fasting. The view which is based upon the evidence is that if the vomiting occurs by itself, the fasting remains valid, but if the vomiting is an induced one (i.e., someone vomits by himself on his own accord), it does invalidate fasting.

called for a cup of water which he raised till the people looked at it, and then he drank. He was told afterwards that some of the people had continued to fast, and he said, "Those are the disobedient ones; those are the disobedient ones." [2]

In another narration: "It was said to him: The people have found the fast difficult, and are waiting for what you will do." He then called for a cup of water after the 'Asr prayer and drank. [Reported by Muslim].

547. Narrated Hamza bin 'Amr Al-Aslamī^[3] &: He said, "O Allāh's Messenger! I find myself strong enough to fast while travelling, so is there any sin upon me (if I fast)?" Allāh's Messenger * said, "It is a permission given by Allāh and whoever acts upon it has done well. And whoever desires to fast would not be guilty of sin." [Reported by Muslim. Its basic meaning is found in Al-Bukbāri and Muslim from 'Aisha's report that Hamza bin 'Amr had asked].

548. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās . Permission was given for an old man to break his fast (in Ramadān) and feed a poor for every day, and no make-up (Al-Qadā) is required of him. [4] [Reported by Ad-

مِنْ مَّاءٍ فَرَفَعَهُ، حَتَّى نَظَرَ النَّاسُ إِلَيْهِ، ثُمَّ شَرِبَ، فَقِيلَ لَهُ بُعْدَ ذَلِكَ: إِنَّ بَعْضَ النَّاسِ قَدْ صَامَ، فَقَالَ: «أُولَٰئِكَ العُصَاءُ، أُولَٰئِكَ العُصَاهُ.

وَفِي لَفُظِ: ﴿فَقِيلَ لَكُ: إِنَّ النَّاسَ قَدْ شَقَّ عَلَيْهِمُ الصَّيَامُ، وَإِثْمَا يَتَتَظِرُونَ فِيمَا فَعَلْتَ، فَدَعَا يِقَدَحٍ مِن مَّاءٍ بَعْدَ العَصْرِ فَشَرِبَ». وَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٥٤٧) وَعَنْ حَمْزَةً بْنِ عَمْرِهِ الأَسْلَمِيْ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُ قَالَ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنِّي أَجْدَ بِي وَقُوْ عَلَى الشَّهْرِ، فَهَلْ عَلَيَّ أَجْدَ بِي الشَّمْرِ، فَهَلْ عَلَيَّ بُخَتَحٌ فِنَ الشَّهْرِ، فَهَلْ عَلَيْ اللهِ فَهَا وَحَدَّ بُويَ رُخْصَةٌ مِنَ الشَّهْرِ، فَمَنْ أَحَدُ بِهَا فَحَسَنٌ، وَمَنْ أَحَبَ أَنْ يَهُا لَمُعْرِمٌ فَلَا جُنَاحَ عَلَيْهِ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ مَنْ حَدِيثِ عَالِشَةً، أَنَّ حَمْزَةً بْنَ عَدِيثِ عَالِشَةً، أَنَّ حَمْزَةً بْنَ عَدِيثٍ عَالِيشَةً، أَنَّ حَمْزَةً بْنَ عَدِيثٍ عَلَيْهِ وَاللهَ اللهُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللّهَ اللهُ عَلَيْهِ اللهَ عَلَيْهِ مِنْ حَدِيثٍ عَلَيْهِ وَاللّهَ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهُولِ اللهُ اللّهُ اللهُ الله

(٥٤٨) وَعَن الْبُن عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّه تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: رُخُصَ لِلشَّيْخِ الكَبِيرِ أَنْ يُغْطِرَ وَيُطْعِمَ عَنْ كُلُ يَوْم مِشْكِيناً، وَلَا قَضَاءَ عَلَيْهِ.
رَرَاهُ النَّارَقُطْنِيْ وَالحَاكِمُ، وَصَحَّحَاهُ.

^[1] It is permissible to observe fasting during a journey, but it is better not to observe it. In case someone feels exhausted out of exertion during a travel, he is permitted to break his fast. He can compensate for it by fasting later on. But he is not obliged to pay expiation to atone for it.

^[2] As a general rule, it is permitted to fast during a journey. The people who did not break their fast were called the disobedient ones for the simple reason that as long as the Prophet 您 broke his fast, who are they to go on observing it? Obedience calls for a complete compliance with the instructions of the Prophet 您 Perhaps those who continued fasting were under the impression that the Prophet 您 had instructed them to break their fasting merely out of his love and affection for them. Otherwise, his Companions رضي الله عنه would never have disobeyed him.

^[3] He was a Sabābi considered to be from Al-Hijāz region. He was nicknamed Abū Saleh or Abū Muhammad. His son Muhammad and 'Aisha 'Mother of Believers' \$ narrated from him. He died in 61 H. at the age of 80 years.

^[4] An old man who is incapable of observing fast may atone for it by offering Fidya

Dāraqutni and Al-Hākim both of whom authenticated it].

549. Narrated Abū Huraira 🐟: A man [1] came to the Prophet 鑑 and said, "O Messenger of Allāh, I am ruined." He asked him, "What has ruined you?" He replied, "I had intercourse with my wife during Ramadan." He then asked him, "Can you get a slave to free?" He said, "No." He asked, "Can you fast two consecutive months?" He said, "No." He asked, "Can you provide food for sixty poor people?" He said, "No." He then sat down. Meanwhile an 'Arag^[2] containing dates was brought to the Prophet 鑑. He said, "Give this as Sadaga." The man said, "Am I to give to one who is poorer than we are? There is no family - between the two mountains of Al-Madinah - more in need of it than mine." The Prophet # thereupon laughed till his premolar teeth appeared. He then said, "Go and feed your family^[3] with it."^[4] [Reported by As-Sab'a and the wording is that of Muslim].

(٥٥٠) رَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ وَأُمُّ سَلَمَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ
 تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ كَانَ يُضْبِحُ جُنْبًا

⁽compensation). Similarly a sick and invalid person whose health is not likely to improve may also offer *Fidya*. A *Fidya* represents the offering of a full meal to a poor person. The same represents an atonement for one day's missed fasting.

^[1] This person was Salma bin Sakhr.

^[2] A basket containing thirty Sa' of dates.

^[3] It becomes thus known to us that in case a person is extremely impoverished, he can also feed his own kith and kin out of his own expiatory money (تكنرة). The majority of scholars do not approve of it and some of them claim that this *Hadītb* is null and void. Some regard it as a special ruling meted out specifically to the person in question. But both of these claims are not corroborated by evidence.

^[4] This *Hadīth* tells us that a woman is not liable to be subjected to *Kaffāra* (the payment of expiation). The majority of scholars do not approve of it. Some hold that if both man and woman mutually agree to sexual intercourse, they are both liable to make the payment of expiation. In case a man does it forcibly, he alone is required to make such a payment and not the woman.

^[5] If a man has sexual intercourse with his wife during a night of Ramadān, he must take a

(sexual impurity). Then, he would take a bath and fast, [Agreed upon]. And Muslim added in the Hadith of Umm-Salama: "He would not make up (the fast)."

551. Narrated 'Aisha &: The Prophet 鑑 said, "Whoever dies while some fast is due from him (which is unfulfilled), his heir must fast[1] on his behalf." [Agreed upon].

Chapter 1 THE VOLUNTARY FASTING AND THE DAYS FASTING HAS BEEN PROHIBITED

552. Narrated Abū Qatāda Al-Ansāri 🚓: Allāh's Messenger 🗱 was asked about the fast on the day of 'Arafa, whereupon he said: "It expiates the sins of the preceding year and the coming year." And he was asked about fasting on the day of 'Asburā', whereupon he said: "It expiates the sins of the preceding year." He was then asked about fasting on Monday, whereupon he said: "That is the day on which I was born, on it I was commissioned with Prophethood, and on it (the Qur'an) was revealed to me."[2] [Reported by Muslim].

مِنْ جَمَاعٍ، ثُمَّ يَغْتَسِلُ وَيَصُومُ. مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَزَادَ مُسْلِمٌ فِي حَدِيثِ أُمَّ سَلَمَةً: ﴿ وَلَا يَقْضِي ٩.

(٥٥١) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «مَنْ مَاتَ وَعَلَيْهِ صِيَامٌ، صَامَ عَنْهُ وَلِيُّهُ ١. مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

١ – بَابُ صَوْمِ التَّطَوُّعِ ، وَمَا نُهِيَ عَنْ

(٥٥٧) عَنْ أَبِي قَتَادَةَ الأَنْصَارِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ سُيْلَ عَنْ صَوْم يَوْم عَرَفَةَ، قَالَ: «يُكَفِّرُ السَّنَةَ المَاضيَّةَ وَالبَاقِيَةَ ١٠ وَشُئِلَ عَنْ صَوْم يَوْمِ عَاشُورَاءَ فَهَالَ: (يُكَفِّرُ السَّنَةَ المَاضيَّةَ)، وَسُبْلَ عَنْ صَوم يَوْم ٱلاثْنَيْنِ، فَقَالَ: الْذَلِكَ يَوْمٌ وُلِدَتُ فِيهِ، وَبُعِثْتُ فِيهِ، وَأُنْزِلَ عَلَى فِيهِ». رَوَاهُ

(٥٥٠) وَعَنْ أَبِي أَيُّوبَ الأَنْصَارِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ ﴿ \$53. Narrated Abū Ayub Al-Ansāri

bath in case he has sufficient time and then observe his fast. If the time is short, he may perform ablution and then fast. If he does not have time even for that, he must wash off his face and hands, eat Subūr and observe fast. Then he must take a bath immediately at dawn, in order to prepare for the Fajr prayer in congregation.

^[1] In case someone dies without observing his obligatory share of fasting, his inheritors - or relatives - can observe the same on behalf of the deceased and thus the dead person gets exonerated from his obligation.

^[2] This means that the minor sins are generally written off by the observance of such an act of fasting, but the major sins can only be forgiven by repentance. As far as the people's rights, liabilities and their monetary obligations as far as an indebted person is concerned, their forgiveness depends entirely on the will of the people one owes to. 'Arafab is a term used for the ninth day of Dhul-Hijja whereas 'Asbura' stands for the tenth of Muharram. The Prophet 鑑 liked fasting on Monday but did not elaborate on its reward.

Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "He who fasts Ramadān, then follows it with six (days of fasting) from Shawwal, [1] it will be (in terms of rewards) as if he has fasted a whole year." [Reported by Muslim].

554. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri 毒: Allāh's Messenger 續 said, "No slave (of Allāh) will fast for a day^[2] while engaged in *Jibād*, without Allāh removing the Hell-fire a distance of seventy years from his face for that day." [Agreed upon, and the wording is Muslim's].

555. Narrated 'Aisha : Allāh's Messenger used to fast to such an extent that we thought he would never break his fast, and he would go without fasting to such an extent that we thought he would never fast. I never saw Allāh's Messenger af fast a complete month except in Ramadān, and I never saw him fast more in any month than in Sha'bān. [Agreed upon, and the wording is that of Muslim].

556. Narrated Abū Dhar &: Allāh's Messenger & commanded us to fast three days in the month; on the thirteenth, the fourteenth and the fifteenth." [3] [Reported by At-Tirmidhi and An-Nasā'i; Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: «مَنْ صَامَ رَمَضَانَ، نُمَّ أَنْبَعُهُ سِنَّا مِنْ شَوَّال، كَانَ كَصِيَامٍ الدَّهْرِهِ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(004) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُلْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: ﴿مَا مِنْ عَبْدِ يَصُومُ يَوْماً فِي سَبِيلِ اللهِ إِلَّا بَاعَدَ اللَّهُ بِلَلِكَ اليَوْمِ عَنْ وَجْهِدِ النَّارَ سَبْعِينَ خَرِيفاً». مُثَقَقً عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفظُ لِمُسْلِمٍ.

(٥٥٥) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَصُومُ حَتَّى نَقُولَ لَا يُفْطِرُ ، وَيُفْطِرُ حَتَّى نَقُولُ لَا يَضُومُ، وَمَا رَأَيْتُ رَشُولَ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهُ

(٥٥٦) وَعَنْ أَبِي ذَرِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: أَمْرَنَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ أَن نَصُومَ مِنَ الشَّهْرِ فَلَاثَةَ أَيَّامٍ: فَلَاثَ عَشْرَةَ، وَأَرْبَعَ عَشْرَةَ، وَخَمْسَ عَشْرَةَ. رَوَاهُ النَّسَائِيُّ وَالتَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَضَحْحُهُ ابْنُ جَانَ.

¹¹ If the thirty days of Ramadān fasting are joined with the six days of fasting in Shawwāl, it makes 36 days. According to Shari'a (the Islamic law), each virtue is rewarded ten times. Therefore, if we multiply 36 with 10, it makes 360, a number which equals the days of a year. Some scholars are of the opinion that these six days of fasting in Shawwāl must be completed in a continuous order right after the end of Ramadān. Some believe that it is enough to merely complete six days of fasting in Shawwāl – in any order, either successive or with intervals – which is deemed to be the most correct opinion. Also, the voluntary fast of Shawwal may only be done after making up any missed days of the obligatory fast of Ramadan.

^[2] Fasting in the cause of Allah may imply the observance of fast while being in *Jibād* (battlefield). It may also mean a voluntary observance of fasting.

^[3] This is known as the fasting of Ayyām Al-Beed (bright days), as a brightness (due to the full moon) lingers all through the nights following these specified fasting days.

557. Narrated Abū Huraira **\$\simes\$**: Allah's Messenger **\$\simes\$** said: "It is not lawful for a woman to fast (optional fasting), when her husband is present, except with his permission. ^[1] [Agreed upon; The wording is that of Al-Bukhāri]. Abū Dā'ud added: "other than Ramadān."

558. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri 毒: Allāh's Messenger 穩 forbade fasting on two days, the day of Al-Fitr (breaking the fast of Ramadān) and the day of Al-Adba (offering sacrifices). [Agreed upon].

560. Narrated 'Aisha and Ibn 'Umar &: Nobody was allowed to fast on the days of *At-Tashriq* except those who could not afford the *Al-Hady* (sacrifices). [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

561. Narrated Abū Huraira : The Prophet said, "Do not single out the night (preceding) Friday – from among the nights – for prayer; and do not single out Friday – from among the days – for fasting, unless it occurs during a day of fasting, which one of you normally observes." [Reported by Muslim].

(٥٥٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿لَا يَجِلُّ لِلْمُرْأَةِ أَنْ تَصُرَمَ، وَزَوْجُهَا شَاهِدٌ، إِلَّا بِإِذْنِهِ». مُثَقَنَّ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفْظُ لِلْبُخَارِيِّ، زَادَ أَبُو دَاوُدَ: ﴿غَيْرَ

(٥٥٨) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيُّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ نَهَى عَنْ صِيَامِ يَوْمَيْنِ : يَوْمِ الفِطْرِ، وَيَوْمِ النَّعْرِ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ..

(٥٠٩) وَعَنْ بُنَيْشَةَ الهُذَائِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى
 عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «أَيَّامُ التَّشْرِيقِ
 أَيَّامُ أَكُل وَشُرْب وَذِكْرِ اللهِ عَزَّ وَجَلَّ*. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ

(٥٠٠) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ وَابْنِرَ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ
 تَعَالَى عَنْهُمْ قَالَا: لَمْ يُرَخَّصْ فِي أَيَّامِ
 التَّشْرِيقِ أَن يُصْمُنَ إِلَّا لِمَنْ لَمْ يَجِدِ الهَدْيَ.
 رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(٥٦١) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿لَا تَخُصُّوا لَٰلِلَةَ الجُمُمُةِ بِقِيَامٍ، مِنْ بَيْنِ اللَّيَالِي، وَلَا تَخُصُّوا يَوْمَ الجُمْمَةِ بِصِيَامٍ، مِنْ بَيْنِ الأَيَّامِ، إِلَّا أَنْ يَكُونَ فِي صَوْمٍ يَصُومُهُ أَحَدُكُمْ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

^[1] A woman is forbidden to observe a voluntary fast without acquiring her husband's permission. Even if she intends to observe a compensatory fast (in lieu of the missed obligatory one), she still need to ask for her husband's permission.

^[2] He is Abū Turaif Nubaisha bin 'Abdullāh bin 'Amr bin 'Itāb Al-Hudhali. He is a Sabābi who has eleven Abadītb. He settled at Basra and was called, Nubaisha the benevolent.

^[3] Ayyam At-Tashriq is a term used for the eleventh, twelfth, and thirteenth of Dhul Hijja. It is forbidden to fast during these days. Someone who is performing Hajj may observe fasting on the said days if he fails to get an animal for sacrifice; the others are not allowed. In addition to it, it is also forbidden to fast on the days of two 'Eid, irrespective of the fact whether the fasting happens to be a voluntary one or a compensatory one.

562. Narrated (Abū Huraira) 🐟: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "None of you should fast on Friday,^[1] unless he fasts (it together with) a day before it or a day after it." [Agreed upon].

563. Narrated (Abū Huraira) 🎄: Allah's Messenger 🍇 said: "When the (month of) Sha'bān is halfway through, do not fast." [2] [Reported by Al-Khamsa. Ahmad considered it Munkar (rejected)].

564. Narrated As-Sammā' bint Busr^[3] *: Allāh's Messenger ** said, "Do not fast on a Saturday^[4] except what has been made obligatory on you; and if one of you can get nothing but a grapeskin or a twig from a tree, he should chew it." [Reported by Al-Khamsa, and its narrators are reliable, but it is Mudtarib (narrated with irreconcilable contradictions in the chain). Mālik rejected it and Abū Dā'ud said, 'It is Mansūkb (abrogated).']

565. Narrated Umm Salama \$\ \text{: Allāh's} Messenger \$\ \pi \] used to fast mostly on Saturday and Sunday, and he used to say, "They are festival days for the polytheists, and I want to act contrary to them." [Reported by An-Nasā'i. Ibn Khuzaima graded it \$\ \text{Sabib}\) (authentic) and this is his wording].

(٥٦٧) وَعَنْهُ أَيْضًا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿ لَا يَصُومَنَّ أَحَدُكُمْ يَوْمَ الجُمُعَةِ، إِلَّا أَنْ يَصُومَ يَوْماً قَبْلُهُ، أَوْ يَوْماً بَعْدَهُ». مُقَنَّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

(٩٣٥) وَعَنْدُ أَيْضًا أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ:
 اإذَا انْتُصَفَ شَعْبَانُ فَلَا تَصُومُواً». رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَاشْتَنْكُورَهُ أَحْمَدُ.

(018) وَعَن الصَّمَّاءِ بِنْت ِ بُسْرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿لَا يَصُومُوا يَوْمَ النَّهُ عَلَيْكُمْ، تَصُومُوا يَوْمَ السَّبْت ِ إِلَّا فِيمَا افْتُرِضَ عَلَيْكُمْ، فَإِنْ لَمْ يَجِدُ أَحَدُكُمْ إِلَّا لِحَاءَ عِنَب ِ ، أَوْ مُودَ شَجَرَةٍ، فَلْيَمْضُغْهَا». رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَرِجَالُهُ يْقَاتْ، إِلَّا أَنَّهُ مُفْطَرِبٌ، وَقَدْ أَنْكَرَهُ مَالِكٌ، وَقَالَ أَبُو دَاوُدَ: هُوْ مَنْسُوخٌ.

(٥٦٥) وَعَنْ أُمُّ سَلَمَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ أَكْثَرَ مَا كَانَ يَضُومُ مِنَ الأَيَّامِ، يَوْمُ السَّبْتِ، وَيَوْمُ الأَحْدِ، وَكَانَ يَقُولُ: الْإِنَّهُمَا يَوْمًا عِيدِ لِلْمُشْرِكِينَ، وَأَنَا أُرِيدُ أَنْ أُخَالِهَهُمْ». أَخْرَجُهُ النَّسَائِيُّ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ

^[1] It is prohibited to observe fast on Friday alone. This prohibition may be due to the the mistaken belief of someone who deliberately observes fast on Friday thinking that he will get more reward for it on this particular day.

^[2] One can fast provided he has to observe a compensatory fasting (in lieu of the Fard-obligatory ones) or the other prescribed ones which may be categorized as Wäjib (compulsory). However, voluntary fasting is prohibited lest one should be subjected to exhaustion and weakness that may in turn render the Ramadān obligatory fasting difficult for him.

^[3] As-Sammā's name was Buhaiya or Bahima bint Busr. She was a *Sabābiya* from the clan of Māzin. She was said to be the sister or the aunt of 'Abdullāh bin Busr.

^[4] Since Saturday carries a special importance for the Jews and they observe fast on this day, and pay deference to it; and as long as the observance of fasting strikes a resemblance with the Jews, hence the Prophet 穩 has prohibited singling out Saturday only to this end. However, Umm Salama 象 narrates that the Prophet 穩 observed fast on Saturday and Sunday both. Since Saturday is the day of festivity among the Jews, the Prophet 戆 fasted on

خُزَنْمَةَ، وَهٰذَا لَفْظُهُ.

566. Narrated Abū Huraira **\$**: the Prophet **\$** prohibited fasting on the day of 'Arafa at 'Arafāt. [1] [Reported by Al-Khamsa except At-Tirmidhi; Ibn Khuzaima and Al-Hākim authenticated it, and Al-'Uqaili considered it *Munkar* (rejected)].

567. Narrated 'Abdullah bin 'Umar 泰: Allah's Messenger 繼 said, "He who observes perpetual fasting^[2], has not fasted." [Agreed upon]. Muslim reported it from Abū Qatada with the wording: "He has not fasted nor broken his fast."

(٥٦٠) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ نَهَى عَنْ صَوْمٍ يَوْمٍ عَرَفَةً بِعَرَفَةَ. رَوَاهُ الخَفْسَةُ غَيْرَ النَّرْمِذِيِّ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ خُرْيَمَةً وَالحَاجِمُ، وَاسْتَنْكَرَهُ العَقْيْلِيُّ.

(٥٦٧) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْمِنْ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا صَامَ مَنْ صَامَ الأَبْنَهِ. مُثَنَّ عَلَيْهِ، وَلِمُسْلِمٍ عَنْ أَبِي قَتَادَةً بِلْفُظِ: ﴿لَا صَامَ وَلَا أَفْطَرَ».

Chapter 2 AL-I'TIKAF AND OFFERING OF PRAYERS DURING THE NIGHTS OF RAMADAN

HE 1

٢ - بَابُ الاعْتِكَافِ وَقِيَامٍ رَمَضَانَ

568. Narrated Abū Huraira 毒: Allāh's Messenger 蹇 said, "He who prays during the night in Ramadān^[3] with faith and seeking his reward^[4] from

(٥٦٨) عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: «مَنْ قَامَ رَمَضَانَ إِيمَانَ وَاحْتِسَاباً غُفِرَ لُهُ مَا تَقَدَّم مِنْ ذُنْبِهِ». مُثَقَنْ

this day to oppose the Jewish norms, and in order to supplement the reward of it, he also fasted on Sunday.

^[1] It is prohibited for the one performing *Hajj* to fast on the day of 'Arafab (the ninth of Dhul-Hijja) since one has to face a lot of hardships and rigorous trials on this day. Therefore, the observance of fasting on this day may lead to exhaustion and weakness which in turn may prove to be a hindrance in performing the ritual components of *Hajj*. Other people (the ones who are not performing *Hajj*) are not prohibited to fast on this day. In fact, the same carries a great importance and reward.

^[2] Some ignorant people keep observing fast on a perpetual basis. This *Hadith* clearly proves that this practice is prohibited. The majority of scholars are of the opinion that it is forbidden to always observe fasting as the same enfeebles a person and thus causes hindrance in many of his religious and worldly activities. It is stated in a *Hadith* that a person owes some liability to his own physique and bodily existence too, thereby giving some rest to himself from time to time. Even the Prophet 餐 followed the same course of action by observing fast some day and leaving it the other day.

^[3] Qiyām stands for performing the voluntary prayers (Tarāwīb) during Ramadān nights. By the virtue of this prayer, one's previous sins are all absolved and forgiven, provided the one performing the same harbors a complete and absolute faith in the commitment made by Allāh in regard to it's reward.

^[4] It implies that the same should not be done for the purpose of merely showing-off. If so,

Allāh will have his past sins forgiven." [Agreed upon].

569. Narrated 'Aisha &: When the last ten days of Ramadān began, Allah's Messenger & used to tighten his waist belt (i.e. occupy himself with the worship of Allāh), stay awake all night, and awaken his family (for night prayers). [Agreed upon].

570. Narrated ('Aisha) **\$**: When the Prophet 鑑 intended *I'ttkaf* (seclusion in the mosque for worship), he prayed the dawn prayer and then entered his place of seclusion. [Agreed upon].

571. Narrated ('Aisha) *: The Prophet see used to engage in *I'tikaf* (seclusion in the mosque for worship) during the last ten days of Ramadān till Allāh, Who is Great and Glorious took his soul (to His Mercy). Then, his wives [1] engaged in *I'tikaf* after him (i.e. after his death). [Agreed upon].

572. Narrated ('Aisha) * Allāh's Messenger * would put his head in my room – while he was in the mosque – and I would then comb it. And he would never enter the house except for a need, [2] if he was in I'tikaf (seclusion). [Agreed upon; the wording is Al-Bukhāri's].

573. Narrated ('Aisha) \$: The Sunnah for one who is observing I'tikaf (seclusion in a mosque for worship) is not to visit a sick person, nor attend a funeral, nor touch nor fondle a woman

(٥٦٩) عَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ إِذَا دَخَلَ اللّمَشْرُ، – أَي العَشْرُ الأَخِيرَةُ مِنْ رَمَضَانَ – شَدَّ مِثْنَرَهُ، وَأَخْيَا لَيْلُهُ، وَٱلْقَظَ أَهْلُهُ. مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٥٧٠) وَعَنْهَا أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ كَانَ يَعْتَكِفُ العَشْرَ الأَوَاخِرَ مِنْ رَمَضَانَ، حَتَّى تَوَفَّاهُ اللَّهُ عَزَّ وَجَلَّ، ثُمَّ اعْتَكَفَ أَزْوَاجُهُ مِنْ بَعْدِهِ. مُتَفَقَّ عَلَه.

(٥٧١) وَعَنْهَا رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: كَانَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ إِذَا أَرَادَ أَنْ يَعْتَكِفَ، صَلَّى الفَّجْرَ ثُمَّ دَخَلَ مُعْتَكَفَهُ. مُثَقِّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(ovy) وَعَنْهَا قَالَتْ: إِنْ كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ لَيُدْخِلُ عَلَيَّ رَأْسَهُ، - وَهُوَ فِي المَسْجِدِ -فَأَرَجُلُهُ، وَكَانَ لَا يَدْخُلُ البَّيْتَ إِلَّا لِيَخَاجَوْ، إِذَا كَانَ مُعْتَكِفاً. مُثْقَقْ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفْظُ لِلْبُخَارِيِّ.

(ovr) وَعَنْهَا قَالَتْ: الشَّنَّةُ عَلَى المُعْتَكِفِ ِ أَن لَا يَمُودَ مَريضاً، وَلَا يَشْهَدَ جَنَازَةً، وَلَا يَنَسَّ امْرَأَةً، وَلَا يُبَاشِرَهَا، وَلَا يَخُرُجُ لِحَاجَةِ إِلَّا لِمَا لَا بُدَّ لُهُ مِنْهُ، وَلَا اعْتِكَافَ إِلَّا بِصَوْمٍ.

all of one's minor sins are forgiven and written off. Some scholars make this statement to be a conditional one that the forgiveness is only possible if the person performing it has sound 'Aqida (Belief – Creed).

^[1] According to this *Hadīth*, women too should observe *I'tikāf* (sitting in a complete confinement in a mosque and offering prayers and supplications during the last ten days of Ramadān).

^[2] Here, 'a need' (الحاجة) implies responding to the call of nature in terms of urination or defecation.

(one's wife),^[1] nor go out for any need, except for that which is an absolute necessity. There is no *I'tikaf* without fasting, and no *I'tikaf* except in a congregational mosque. [Abū Dā'ud reported it, and its narrators are acceptable, except that the strongest opinion is that the end of it (the last sentence) is *Mawqūf* (saying of a Companion, i.e. 'Aisha)].

574. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The Prophet said: "Fasting is not incumbent^[2] on one engaged in *l'tikaf* (seclusion in the mosque for worship) unless he imposes^[3] it on himself." [Reported by Ad-Dāraqutni and Al-Hākim. The strongest opinion is that it is also *Mawqūf* (saying of a Companion, i.e. Ibn 'Abbas)].

575. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: Some of the Prophet's & companions saw in their dreams that Lailatul-Qadr was among the last seven nights (of Ramadān). Hence, Allāh's Messenger & said, "I see that your dreams agree regarding the last seven nights. Therefore, whoever is to seek it, should do so during the last seven nights." [4] [Agreed upon].

وَلَا اعْتِكَافَ إِلَّا فِي مَسْجِدٍ جَامِعٍ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَلَا بَأْسَ بِرِجَالِهِ، إِلَّا أَنَّ الرَّاجِحَ وَقُفُ آخِرِهِ.

(٥٧٤) وَعَن إَبْنِ عَبَّاسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «لَيْسَ عَلَى المُمْتَكِف ِ صِيَامٌ، إلَّا أَنْ يَجْعَلُهُ عَلَى نَفْسِهِ». وَرَاهُ الذَّارَقُطْنِيُ وَالحَاجِمُ، وَالرَّاجِعُ وَقْفُهُ أَيْضاً.

(٥٧٥) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ رِجَالاً مِنْ أَصْحَابِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ أَرُوا لَيْنَ أَلَّهُ اللَّهِ الْلَّبِيِّ ﷺ أَرُوا لَيْنِهُ اللَّهِ المَثَامِ، فِي الشَّيْمِ الأَوَاخِرِ، فَقَالَأَتُ فَقَدْ تَوَاطَأَتُ فِي السَّبْمِ الأَوَاخِرِ، وَوَيَاكُمْ قَدْ تَوَاطَأَتُ فِي السَّبْمِ الأَوَاخِرِ، فَمَنْ كَانَ مُتَحَرِّيَهَا، فَلْيَةِ السَّبْمِ الأَوَاخِرِ». مُثَمَنْ كَانَ مُتَحَرِّيَهَا، فَلْيَةِ السَّبْمِ الأَوَاخِرِ». مُثَمَنْ عَلَيْهِ.

(٧٧٦) وَعَنْ مُعاوِيَةً بْنِ أَبِي شُفْيَانَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُمَا، عَنِ اللَّبِي ﷺ، قَالَ فِي لَيُلَةِ القَدْرِ: «لَلِلَّةُ سَبْمٍ وَعِشْرِينَ». رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَالرَّاجِحُ وَفُفْهُ.

^[1] Here, touching one's wife implies the act of sexual intercourse, which unanimously nullifies I'tikāf. Otherwise, touching one's wife, in itself, is not prohibited.

^[2] It implies the regular days, other than Ramadān.

 $^{^{[3]}}$ Fasting does not become binding on the one who is observing $l'tik\bar{a}f$ unless he himself vows to observe fasting.

^[4] A Haditb which is narrated by 'Abdullāh bin 'Umar رضي الله عنهما according to Sabibain, states that one should search for Lailatul-Qadr (Night of Decree) within the last ten nights of Ramadān. If the same is not possible, then one should look for it within the last seven nights, specially the odd ones like 21st, 23rd, 25th, 27th and 29th.

Mu'awiya].

Forty different sayings were mentioned regarding the exact night of *Lailatul-Qadr* and I mentioned them in *Fath Al-Bāri* [Explanation of *Sabib Al-Bukbari*, by Al-Haftz Ibn Hajar].

577. Narrated 'Aisha \$: I said, "O Allāh's Messenger, tell me, if I know which night is Lailatul-Qadr, [1] what (supplication) should I say in it?' He said, "Say, O Allāh, You are forgiving and love forgiveness, so forgive me." [Reported by the Al-Khamsa except Abū Dā'ud. At-Tirmidhi and Al-Hākim authenticated it].

578. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Do not set out on a journey except to three mosques; i.e., Al-Masjid Al-Harām (at Makka), my Masjid (at Al-Madīnah) and Al-Masjid Al-Aqsā (Mosque of Jerusalem)." [2] [Agreed upon].

وَقَدِ اخْتُلِفَ فِي تَغْيِينِهَا عَلَى أَرْبَعِينَ قَوْلاً. أَوْرَدْتُها فِي فَتْحِ البَّارِي.

(ovv) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهَا، قَالَتْ: قُلْتُ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! أَرَأَيْتَ إِنْ عَلِمْتُ أَيُّ لِنَلَةٍ لِنَلَةُ القَلْرِ، ما أقول فيها؟ قَالَ: •قُولِي اللَّهُمَّ إِلَّكَ عَفُوّ، تُحِبُّ العَفْوَ، فَاعْفُ عَنِّي، رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ غَيْرَ أَبِي دَاوُدَ، وَصَحَّحَهُ التَّرْمِلِيْيُ

(٥٧٨) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُذْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا تُشَدُّ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهَ المَسْجِدِ المَسْجِدِ اللَّفْضَى». الحَرَام، وَمَسْجِدِي هَذَا، وَالمَسْجِدِ الأَفْضَى». مُثَمَّة عَلَه.

^[1] The strongest view concerning Lailatul-Qadr is that this night occurs within the last ten nights of Ramadān particularly in its odd nights and the same may keep changing in Ramadān alternatively. This night sometimes may occur on 21st, or 23rd, or 25th etc. It can not be stated with an absolute certainty as to which of these particular nights is Lailatul-Qadr, but the same has been kept unknown and this is what the contents of Abādītb implacements.

^{12]} As mentioned in an earlier Hadīth, the observance of I'tikāf must take place in a mosque. Some of the scholars have conditioned I'tikāf with these three mosques. However, the compiler refutes and negates their viewpoint and maintains that the three above stated mosques have not been specified for the observance of I'tikāf. They have been specified for the purpose of visit and pilgrimage. This Hadīth further informs us that it is not permissible to proceed to any place other than these three mosques with the intention of getting reward. If someone goes to the Prophet's mosque, he must also enjoy the honour of visiting Prophet's (後) grave. As to those who travel to visit the entombed graves of Auliya-Allāb ('saints'), with the intention of earning reward, such are the people who are committing innovation in the relieion as well as sbirk.

6. THE BOOK OF HAJJ (PILGRIMAGE)

Chapter 1 HAJJ-ITS MERIT AND THE DEFINITION OF THOSE UPON WHOM IT WAS PRESCRIBED

579. Narrated Abū Huraira *****: Allah's Messenger ***** said, "An '*Umrab* is an expiation for sins committed between it and the next, but an accepted *Hajj* will receive no less a reward than Paradise." [1] [Agreed upon].

580. Narrated 'Aisha \$: I asked, Allāh's Messenger \$\mathbb{E}_{\text{a}}\$, "Is \$Jibād\$ incumbent upon women?" He replied, "Yes, Jibād which does not include fighting is incumbent upon them, it is the \$Hajj\$ and the 'Umrab." [Almad and Ibn Mājah reported it, and the wording is Ibn Majah's; its chain of narrators is \$Sabib\$ (authentic), and its basic meaning is found in the \$Sabib\$ (of Al-Bukhāri)].

581. Narrated Jābir bin 'Abdullāh 春: A bedouin came to the Prophet 鑑 and said, "O Allāh's Messenger, tell me about the 'Umrab, is it incumbent?" [3] He replied, "No, but it is better for you to perform 'Umrab.' [Reported by

٦ - كِتَابُ الْحَجِّ

١ - بَابُ فَضْلِهِ وَبَيَان مَنْ فُرِضَ عَلَيْهِ

(٥٧٩) عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ،
أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: «العُمْرَةُ إِلَى العُمْرَةُ
كَفَّارَةٌ لِمَا بَيْنَهُمَا، وَالحَجُّ المَبْرُورُ لَيْسَ لَهُ
جَزَاءٌ إِلَّا الجَبَّةُ، مُقَتَّى عَلَيْهِ.

(٥٨٠) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: قُلْتُ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! عَلَى النِّسَاءِ جِهَادٌ؟ قَالَ: انَعَمْ، عَلَيْهِنَّ جِهَادٌ لَا قِتَالَ فِيهِ؛ الحَجُّ وَالعُمْرَةُ». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ، وَاللَّفْظُ لَهُ، وَإِسْنَادُهُ صَحِيحٌ، وَأَصْلُهُ فِي الصَّحِيحِ.

(٥٨١) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللهِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: أَتَى النَّبِيَّ ﷺ أَعْرابِيٌّ، فَقَالَ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! أَخْبِرْنِي عَنِ العُمْرَةِ، أَوَاجِبَةٌ هِيَ؟ فَقَالَ: الآ، وَأَنْ تَعْتَمِرَ خَيْرٌ

^[1] No particular day has been specified for 'Umrab. One can perform it whenever he likes. Hajj Mabrūr (an accepted Hajj) is the one which is performed by someone with a right intention and sincerity. All the pertinent rituals should be performed, and observed to perfection, after which a Hajji (pilgrim) feels himself more inclined towards piety and righteousness.

^[2] It thus becomes known to us that there is no obligation on women to participate in the Jibād wherein one has to fight in the battlefield. This Hadīth tells us that the women, by performing Hajj, are entitled to the reward of Jibād.

^{[3] &#}x27;Umrab lexically means 'a visit'. According to Shart'a terminology, it implies "In the state of Ibrām the circumambulation of Al-Ka'ba, running between As-Safa and Al-Marwa and shaving or shortening one's hair..." There is a difference of opinion among the scholars as to whether or not 'Umrab is Wājib (compulsory). Some scholars regard it as Mustabab (desirable). And Allāh Knows best!

Ahmad & At-Tirmidhi. The strongest opinion is that it is *Mawqūf* (saying of a Companion, i.e. Jabir)].

Ibn 'Adi reported, through another chain of narrators which is Da'if (weak), from Jābir () Marfu' (attributed to the Prophet): Hajj and 'Umrah are two obligatory duties.

582. Narrated Anas &: It was said, "O Allah's Messenger, what is the meaning of As-Sabīt?" [1] He replied, "Provisions and a riding animal." [Reported by Ad-Dāraqutni. Al-Hākim authenticated it. The strongest opinion is that it is Mursal (missing link in the chain, after the Tābīt'i)]. At-Tirmidhi has also reported it from the Hadītb of Ibn 'Umar (\$), but its chain of narrators is weak.

583. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The Prophet ## met some riders at Ar-Rawhā' and asked, "Who are you?" They replied, "We are Muslims", and they asked, "Who are you?" He said, "Allāh's Messenger." Then, a woman lifted up a boy to him and asked, "Would this (child) be credited with having performed the *Hajj* (pilgrimage)?" He replied, "Yes, and you will have a reward." [Reported by Muslim].

لَكَ». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالتَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَالرَّاجِحُ وَقْفُهُ.

وَأَخْرَجُهُ ابْنُ عَدِيٍّ مِنْ وَجْوِ آخَرَ ضَعِيفٍ عَنْ جَابِرِ مَزْفُوعاً: «ٱلْحَجُّ وَالعُمْرَةُ فَرِيضَتَانِ».

(٥٨٧) وَعَنْ أَنَسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قِيلَ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! مَا السَّبِيلُ؟ قَالَ: اللَّالُهُ وَالرَّاحِلُهُ. رَوَاهُ اللَّارَقُطْنِيُّ، وَصَحَّحُهُ الحَاكِمُ، وَالرَّاجِحُ إِنْسَالُهُ، أَخْرَجَهُ النَّرْمِذِيُّ مِنْ حَدِيثِ ابْنِ عَمَرَ أَيْضاً، وَفِي إِشْنَادِهِ ضَغْفٌ.

(٥٨٣) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النِّبِيِّ ﷺ لَقِيَ رَكْباً بِالرُّوْحَاءِ، فَقَالُ ان مَنْ أَنْتَ؟ قَالَ: هَنْ أَنْتَ؟ قَالَ: «رَسُولُ اللهِ»، فَرَفَعَتْ إِلَيْهِ ٱلْمُرَأَةُ صَبِيًّا، فَقَالَتْ: أَيْهِ ٱلْمُرَأَةُ صَبِيًّا، فَقَالَتْ: أَيْهُا مُنْزَأَةً صَبِيًّا، فَقَالَتْ: أَيْهُا مُنْزَأَةً صَبِيًّا، فَقَالَتْ: مُسْلِمٌ، وَلَكِ أُجْرٌ». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

^[1] Allāh, the Exalted One, has said in the Qur'ān that the performance of Hajj is binding on those who are capable of making their way (to Makkab). Someone questioned the Prophet sa to what does the word As-Sabil (the way) stand for? He (35) answered that the same stands for one's own travel expenses, as well as the provisions of one's household, and then the availability of the means of transportation. Once all these things are available to him, it becomes binding on him to perform Hajj. But the expenses thus incurred should not be at the cost of indebtedness (i.e., he should be free from debt). For, as long as he is indebted to other people, he is not obligated to perform Hajj. The ones living near Makkah are exempted from the condition of possessing the means of transportation.

^[2] This Hadith tells us that the reward of a good deed done by a non-adult (child) reaches his parents. It further tells us that in terms of the performance of Hajj rituals, the infants are governed by the same ruling as their mother (i.e., their mother's Ibrām becomes their Ibrām and their mother's running becomes their own running, etc.). In case someone has performed Hajj before reaching puberty, he is obligated to perform another Hajj after attaining adulthood, provided he has sufficient funds to pay for its expenses and the means of transportation.

584. Narrated (Ibn 'Abbās) 🞄: Al-Fadl bin 'Abbās^[1] was riding behind Allāh's Messenger 3. A woman of Khath'am came, and Al-Fadl began to look at her and she looked at him. The Prophet 25 turned his face to the other side. She then asked, "O Allah's Messenger, Allāh's command that His slaves should perform the Hajj (pilgrimage) has come when my father is a very old man and is unable to sit firmly on a riding animal. Should I perform the Hajj on his behalf?" He replied, "Yes." That was at the Hajjatul-Wadā' (the Farewell pilgrimage). [Agreed upon, and the wording is that of Al-Bukhāri].

585. Narrated (Ibn 'Abbās) . A woman of Juhaina came to the Prophet and said, "My mother had taken a vow to perform the Hajj, but did not perform the Hajj till she died. Should I perform the Hajj on her behalf." He replied, "Yes, perform the Hajj on her behalf. What do you think – if your mother had a debt, would you pay it? Pay the debt due to Allāh, for Allāh has more right to the payment of debt (due to Him)." [3] [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

(٨٤) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ الفَضْلُ بُنُ عَبَّاسِهِ
رَمِيفَ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ، فَجَاءَتِ أَمْرَأَةً مِّنْ
خَنْمَ، فَجَعَلَ الفَضْلُ يَنْظُرُ إِلَيْها، وَتَنْظُرُ إِلَيْها،
وَجَعَلَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ يَضْرِفُ وَجُهُ الفَضْلِ إِلَى
الشَّقُ الاَّحْرِ، فَقَالَتْ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ إِلَّ فَرِيضَةَ
اللهِ عَلَى عِبَادِهِ فِي الحَجِّ أَذْرَكَتْ أَبِي شَيْخاً
كَيْرِاً، لاَ يَنْشُتُ عَلَى الرَّاحِلَةِ، أَفَاحُحُجُ عَنْهُ؟
قَالَ: "نَعَمْ"، وَذَلِكَ فِي حَجَّةِ الوَدَاعِ. مُتَقَقَّ عَلَيْه، وَاللَّهُ لِلْبُحَارِيِّ.

(000) وَعَنْهُ أَنَّ اَمْرَأَةً مِنْ جُهَيْنَةً جَاءَتْ إِلَى النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، فَقَالَتْ: إِنَّ أَمْي نَلْرَتْ أَنْ تَحُجَّ، فَلَمْ تُحُجَّ، عَنْهَا؟ قَالَ: «نَعَمْ، حُجِّي عَنْهَا، أَرَأَيْتِ لَوْ كَانَ عَلَى أُمُّكِ دَيْنٌ أَكُنْتِ قَافِياً اللَّهُ، فَاللَّهُ أَحَقُّ دِيْنٌ أَكُنْتِ قَالِيَةً الْمُصَادِ اللَّهُ، فَاللَّهُ أَحَقُّ بِالوَفَاءِ". رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

^[1] He was the Prophet's 繼 cousin and his mother was called Umm Fadl Lubaba Al-Kubra bint Al-Hārith Al-Hilāliya. Al-Fadl was elegant and handsome. He stood firm with the Prophet 繼 during the battle of Hunain and attended the washing of the Prophets body. He was the eldest son of Al-'Abbās. He went out for Jibād in Shām and it is said that he died in the plague called 'Amwās in Jordan in 18 H. It is also said that he was martyred in Yarmuk or in Damascus while wearing the armor of the Prophet 繼.

^[2] Hajj becomes an obligation on the person who possesses sufficient funds to undertake a pilgrimage, finds his way clear and safe, gets his government's permission and has access to the means of transportation. If this person enjoys good health, he must perform the pilgrimage for himself. In case this person sends someone else to perform Hajj on his behalf, the same is not acceptable. If a person happens to be such an old man who is incapacitated or is suffering from a debilitating illness, from which he has no hope of recovery, it is permissible for him to send someone else on his behalf by giving him money. Thus, he would be free from his own Hajj obligation. However, the condition which strictly applies in such a case is that a person sent to Hajj thereof, on someone else's behalf, must have already performed his own obligatory Hajf prior to this one.

^[3] Some scholars hold that if someone dies in a condition that the performance of Hajj was obligatory on him in his lifetime, then it becomes an obligation on the next of his kin to perform the same on his behalf, regardless of whether or not he made a will about it prior to

586. Narrated (Ibn 'Abbās) . Allāh's Messenger said, "If any minor performs the Hajj (pilgrimage) and afterwards attains the age of puberty he must then perform another Hajj; and if any slave performs the Hajj and afterwards is freed, he must then perform another Hajj." [Reported by Ibn Abi-Shaiba and Al-Baihaqi. Its narrators are reliable, but there is disagreement as to whether or not it is Marfū' (attributed to the Prophet). The correct opinion is that it is Mawqūf (saying of a Companion)].

587. Narrated (Ibn 'Abbās) . I heard Allāh's Messenger addressing (the people) and saying, "A man must not be alone with a woman unless a man who is a *Mabram*^[1] is with her. Likewise, a woman must not travel unless accompanied by a man who is a *Mabram*". A man stood up and said, "O Allāh's Messenger, my wife has gone out to perform the *Hajj* (pilgrimage), and I have been enrolled for such and such expedition." Thereupon he said, "Go and perform the *Hajj* with your wife." [Agreed upon, and the wording is Muslim's].

588. Narrated (Ibn 'Abbās) &: The Prophet # heard a man saying, "Labbatkal^[2] on behalf of Shubruma?" He asked, "Who is Shubruma?" He replied, "A brother of mine," or "A relative of mine." He asked, "Have you performed the Hajj on your own behalf?" He replied, "No." Whereupon,

(٨٦٥) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿أَيُّمَا صَبِي حَجَّ، ثُمَّ بَلَغَ الحِنْتُ، فَعَلَيْهِ أَنْ يَحُجَّ حَجَّةً أُخْرَى، وَأَيُّمَا عَبْدِ حَجَّ، ثُمَّ أُغْنِقَ فَعَلَيْهِ أَنْ يَحُجَّ أَخْرَى». رَوَاهُ ابْنُ أَبِي شَيْبَةً وَاليَّهَمِيْ، وَرِجَالُهُ لِقَاتُ، إِلَّا أَنَّهُ الْحُلُفَ فِي رَبِّعَالُهُ لِقَاتُ، إِلَّا أَنَّهُ الْحُلُفَ فِي رَبِّعَالُهُ لَقَاتُ، إِلَّا أَنَّهُ الْحُلُفَ فِي رَبِّعَالُهُ لَقَاتُ، وَلَوْفُ.

(٥٨٧) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَخْطُبُ يَثُولُ: ﴿لَا يَخْلُونَ رَجُلٌ إِامْزَأَةً إِلَّا وَمَمْهَا ذُو مَحْرَمٍ، وَلَا تُسَافِرُ المَرْأَةُ إِلَّا مَعَ ذِي مَحْرَمٍ ﴿، فَقَامَ رَجُلُ فَقَالَ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنَّ اَمْرَأَتِي خَرَجَتْ حَاجَّةً، وَإِنِّي اكْتُشِبُ فِي غَزْوَةِ كَذَا وَكَذَا، قَالَ: ﴿الْطَلِقْ فَحُجَّ مَعَ الْمُرَاتِكَ». مُتَّقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ، واللَّفْظُ لِمُسْلِمٍ.

(٥٨٨) وَعَنْهُ أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ سَمِعَ رَجُلاً يَقُولُ: لَبَيْكَ عَنْ شُبْرُمَة، قَالَ: "مَنْ شُبْرُمُةُ"، قَالَ: أَخْ لِي، أَوْ قَرِيبٌ لِي، قَالَ: "حَجَجْتَ عَنْ نَفْسِكَ»؟ قَالَ: لا، قَالَ: "حُجَّ عَنْ نَفْسِكَ، ثُمَّ حُجَّ عَنْ شُبْرُمَةً". رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَابْنَ مَاجَهْ،

his death. {Review Abkām Al-Janā'tz, by Shaykh Al-Albāni, Point 117, pgs. 168-178 for a full discussion of this issue.]

^[1] We know from this that a man and a woman who are strangers to each other must not meet privately. A woman may not undertake a journey, regardless of whether it is long or short, whether for religious purposes or out of necessity – except with her husband or a Mabram. A Mabram is a person to whom she is so closely related that marriage is not permissible (such the father, brother, son and uncle, but not including cousins).

^{[2] &}quot;I answer Your Call" or "I am at Your Service."

he said, "Perform the *Hajj* on your own behalf, then perform it on behalf of Shubruma." [1] [Abū Dā'ud and Ibn Mājah reported it and Ibn Hibbān graded it as *Sabib* (authentic). Ahmad held that the stronger opinion is that it is *Mawqūf* (saying of a Companion)].

589. Narrated (Ibn 'Abbās) \$: Allāh's Messenger \$\mathbb{a}\$ addressed us and said, "Allāh has made obligatory upon you the \$Hajj\$ (pilgrimage)." Al-Aqra' bin Hābisl²¹ then stood up and asked, "Is it to be performed annually, O Messenger of Allāh?" He replied, "If I were to say that it is, it would have become obligatory. However, the \$Hajj\$ is (to be performed) once (in a life-time), and any \$(Hajf)\$ extra is voluntary." [Reported by \$Al-Kbamsa\$ except AtTirmidhi and its basic meaning is in the \$Sabib\$ of Muslim from the \$Hadītb\$ of Abū Huraira (\$\pi\$)].

Chapter 2 MIQAT

590. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The Prophet appointed the following places as *Miqat* (the place for entering the state of *Ibrām*)^[3]: Dhul Hulaifa^[4] for the people of Al-Madīnah, Al-Juhfa for the people of Sham, Qarn Al-Manazil for the people of Najd, and Yalamlam for

وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ، وَالرَّاجِحُ عِنْدَ أَحْمَدَ وَقْفُهُ.

(٥٨٩) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: خَطَيَنَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ فَقَالَ: ﴿إِنَّ اللَّهَ كَتَبَ عَلَيْكُم الحَجَّّ، فَقَامَ الأَفْرَعُ بُنُ حَاسِي، فَقَالَ: أَفِي كُلَّ عَامِ يَا رَصُولَ اللهِٰ؟ قَالَ: ﴿لَوْ فُلْنُهَا لُوَجَبَتْ. الحَجُّ مَرَّةً، فَمَا زَادَ فَهُوَ تَطَوُّعٌ ﴾. رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ غَيْرَ اللّهِ لِهُمُرَّةً، وَأَصُلُهُ فِي مُسْلِمٍ مِنْ حَدِيثٍ أَبِي الثَّرِيقَ.

٢ - بَابُ الْمَوَاقِيتِ

(-00) عَن البن عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيَةِ ذَا الخُلْيَةِ، وَلِأَهْلِ الشَّامِ الجُحْفَةَ، وَلِأَهْلِ النَّامِ الجُحْفَةَ، وَلِأَهْلِ النَّمَانِ يَلَمْلُمَ، هُنَّ نَجْدِ قُزْنَ المَمَازِلِ، وَلِأَهْلِ البَمَن يَلَمْلُمَ، هُنَّ لَهُنَّ وَلِمَنْ أَتَى عَلَيْهَنَّ مِنْ غَيْرِهِنَّ، مِمَّنْ أَرَادَ

^[1] This *Hadith* tells us that so long as one has not performed his own obligatory *Hajj*, he is not permitted to perform it on someone else's behalf, irrespective of whether or not he is strong enough (monetarily and physically) to perform his own pilgrimage. The majority of the *Imāns* are of this opinion.

^[2] He was a Tamimi who was among the delegation of Banu Tamim that visited the Prophet 撼 after the conquest of Makkah. He was one among the Mu'allafati Qulūbubum (whose hearts were won for Islām and so given some Sadaqa to keep them firm in the fold of the religion). He was a respectable man in the Jabiliya (pre-Islamic era). He died during 'Umar's Caliphate.

^[3] The special clothes worn by the pilgrim who intends to perform Hajj or 'Umrab.

^[4] Dbul Hulaifa is a name of a place that lies 6 or 7 miles from Al-Madinah. Najd lexically means "the elevated land" and the same specifies the expanse of land between Tihama and Iraq. Al-Jubiab is a village between Al-Madinah and Makkah. It is the Migat for the people of

the people of the Yemen. So, these *Meeqats* are for those living at those places; and for people of other regions who come through them – if they are intending to perform *Hajj* and *'Umrab*. Whoever is living within these *Meeqats* (on the way to Makkah) should enter the state of *Ibrām* from where he sets out from (i.e. his home); even the inhabitants of Makkah (enter *Ibrām*), from it (for Hajj only). [Agreed upon].

591. Narrated 'Aisha *: The Prophet appointed Dhāt 'Irq^[1] as the place where the people of 'Irāq should enter the state of *Ibrām*. [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i]. Its basic meaning is reported by Muslim from the *Hadīth* of Jābir (*), except that its narrator doubted whether it is *Marfū*' (attributed to the Prophet).

Narrated in Sabib Al-Bukbāri: "It is 'Umar who appointed Dhāt 'Irq."

Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and At-Tirmidhi reported from Ibn 'Abbās (♣): "The Prophet ﷺ appointed Al-'Aqīq^[2] as the place where the people of the East should enter the state of *Ibrām*."

الحَجَّ وَالعُمَرةَ، وَمَنْ كَانَ دُونَ ذٰلِكَ فَمِنْ حَيْثُ أَنْشَأَ، حَتَّى أَهْلُ مَكَّةَ مِنْ مَكَّةً. مُثَقَّنٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(041) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ وَقَّتَ لِأَهْلِ العِرَاقِ ذَاتَ عِرْق. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَائِيُّ، وَأَصْلُهُ عِنْدَ مُسْلِمٍ مِنْ حَدِيثِ ِجَابِرٍ، إِلَّا أَنَّ رَامِيه شَكَّ فِي رَفْعِهِ.

وَفِي صَعِيحِ البُخَارِيِّ: أَنَّ عُمَرَ هُوَ الَّذِي وَقَّتَ ذَاتَ عِرْق_{َرٍ}.

وَعِنْدَ أَحْمَدَ وَأَبِي دَاوُدَ وَالثَّرْمِذِيِّ عَنِ ابْنِرَ عَبَّاسٍ,، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ وَقَّتَ لِأَهْلِ المَشْرِقِ المَقِينَ.

Sham (Syria, Palestine, etc.) and Egypt. It is not in use today, and its people enter *Ibram* in a place before it called Rābigh. Qarnul-Manazil is a place adjacent to Tā'if which is now known as 'Sail'. Yalamlam is the name of a hill which lies at about a two-day-journey from Yemen. These are the places specified for pilgrims to enter the state of *Ibrām*. The pilgrims who live outside the limits of the places specified herein, must enter the state of *Ibrām* at these points. Those living within the limits of the region fringed by the said points, may enter the state of *Ibrām* from their respective places of residence. It is not necessary for them to go back to the *Miqāt* (the said points) to enter *Ibrām* there.

^[1] The fact is that Dhat-Irq was appointed as a Miqāt for the pilgrims coming from Iraq by the Prophet 義 himself, as the decision in regard to this matter was taken during Hajjatul-Wada' (the Farewell Hajj of the Prophet 繼). It is reported by Al-Bukhāri that 'Umar أرضي الله عنه had appointed Dhat 'Irq as Miqāt, whereas the fact is that 'Umar منه merely reaffirmed it.

^[2] Al-Aqiq is the name of a place which lies adjacent to Dhat-'Irq.

Chapter 3 THE MANNERS AND NATURE OF THE IHRAM

592. Narrated 'Aisha &: We went out with Allah's Messenger & in the year of the Farewell Pilgrimage[1] while some of us said the Talbīya (intention) for a 'Umrab, some for Hajj and 'Umrab (combined), and others for the Haji (alone). But Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said the Talbīva for the Hajj. Those who made intentions for an 'Umrab. finished the state of *Ibrām* upon arrival (and completing the rites of 'Umrab); but those who made intention for the Hajj or who combined the Hajj and the 'Umrab did not finish the state of Ibrām till Yaum An-Nabr[2] [Agreed upon).

Chapter 4 THE IHRAM AND ITS RELATED ACTIVITIES

593. Narrated Ibn 'Umar 🞄: Allāh's Messenger 鑑 did not raise his voice in the Talbiya except from (near) the mosque (of Dhul Hulaifa).[3] [Agreed upon).

٣ - بَابُ وُجُوهِ الإحْرَامِ وَصِفَتُهُ

(٩٩٢) عَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: خَرَجْنَا مَعَ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ عَامَ حَجَّةِ الوَدَاعِ ، فَمِنَّا مَنْ أَهَلَّ بِعُمْرَةٍ، وَمِنَّا مَنْ أَهَلَّ بِحَجٌّ وعُمْرَةٍ، وَمِنَّا مَنْ أَهَلَّ بِحَجٍّ، وَأَهَلَّ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ بالحَجِّ، فَأَمَّا مَنْ أَهَلَّ بِعُمْرَةِ فَحَاً, عِنْدَ قُدُومِهِ، وَأَمَّا مَنْ أَهَلَّ بِحَجِّ، أَوْ جَمَعَ بَيْنَ الحَجِّ وَالعُمْرَةِ، فَلَمْ يَحِلُّوا حَتَّى كَانَ يَوْمُ النَّحْرِ. مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

٤ - بَابُ الإِحْرَامِ وَمَا يَتَعَلَّقُ بهِ.

(٩٣٥) عَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: مَا أَهَلَّ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ إِلَّا مِنْ عِنْدِ المَسْجد. مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَه.

594. Narrated Khallād^[4] bin As-Sāib on عَنْ أَبِيهِ السََّائِبِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ

^[1] Haff is of three kinds, namely Ifrād, Tamattu' and Qirān. In Ifrād, a pilgrim enters the state of Ibrām with the intention of performing Haff only. While performing Tamattu', a pilgrim enters the state of Ihrām at the point of Miqāt with the intention of performing 'Umrab and then performs Tawāf and Sa'y. In case he has brought a sacrificial animal with him, he should not get out of his Ibrām. Otherwise, he should go out of his Ibrām after Tawaf and Sa'y. With the commencement of Haff days, he must enter in the state of Ibrām again for the Haff. In Qirān, a pilgrim enters the state of Ibrām with the intention of performing 'Umrah and Hajj combined. According to some of the scholars, the residents of Makkah are not allowed to perform Tamattu' and Oirān. [See: Tafseer 2:196]

^[2] The day of slaughtering the sacrificial animals, i.e, the 10th of Dhul-Hijja.

^[3] This Hadith clarifies that the Prophet 🍇 entered in the state of Ihrām near the mosque of Dhul Hulaifa. We are further informed that entering the state of *Ibrām* before approaching the Miqāt is prohibited. This negates the view of those who deem the act of entering Ibrām beforehand as correct.

^[4] Khallād bin As-Sāib bin Khallād bin Suwaid Al-Ansāri Al-Khazraji is a reliable Tābi'i of the

his father's^[1] authority **毒**: Allāh's Messenger 鬟 said, "Jibrael (Gabriel) came to me and commanded me to order my Companions to raise their voices^[2] in the *Talbiya*^[3]." [Reported by *Al-Khamsa*. At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Hibbān graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

595. Narrated Zaid bin Thābit &: The Prophet & removed his (normal) clothing to put on his *Ibrām* and performed a *Ghusl* (complete bath). [4] [Reported by At-Tirmidhi who graded it *Hasan* (good)].

596. Narrated Ibn 'Umar \$\ : \ Allāh's Messenger \$\ \pi \ was asked what the Mubrim (person in Ibram) may wear. \(^{15}\) He said, "He should not wear a shirt, a turban, trousers, a hooded garment (burnus) or leather socks (kbuffs), except someone who does not find sandals. In that case, he may wear leather socks, but he must cut them below the ankles. Likewise, you must not wear clothing which has been to wear clothing which has been sented with saffron or Wars. \(^{16}\) [Agreed upon, and the wording is Muslim's].

رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: وأَتَانِي جِبْرِيلُ، فَأَمَرَنِي أَنْ آمَرُ أَصْحَابِي، أَنْ يَرْفَعُوا أَصْوَاتَهُمْ بِالإلهْلَالِ، رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَصَحْحَهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ وَانِثْمَ جِنَّانَ.

(٥٩٥) وَعَنْ زَيْدِ بْنِرِ ثَايِتِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنُهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ تَجَرَّدُ لِإهْلَالِهِ، وَاغْتَسَلَ. رَوَاهُ النَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَحَسَّنَهُ.

(٩٩٦) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَهُمَا اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَهُمَا اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَهُمَا اللَّهُ اللَّهُ لَعَلَم اللَّهُ وَلَا عَلَيْهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ وَلَا اللَّمَانِ اللَّهَ وَلَا اللَّمَانِ اللَّهَ اللَّهَ اللَّهَ اللَّهَ اللَّهَ اللَّهَ اللَّهَ اللَّهُ اللْمُولُولُولُ الللللْمُ اللللْمُ اللللْمُ اللللْمُ الللْ

(٩٧٥) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا I used to ﴿ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا 597. Narrated 'Aisha

third generation.

^[1] He is a *Sahābi* nicknamed Abū Sahla. He attended Badr and became Mu'āwiya's governor in Yemen. It is also said that 'Umar assigned him to Yemen. He died in 71 H.

^[2] This *Hadith* tells us that it is compulsory to pronounce *Talbiya* in a loud voice. Regarding women, there is difference of opinion among scholars whether they should pronounce the same with a loud voice or a subdued one, especially if their voice would be a source of temptation or attraction to men.

^[3] The act of saying "Labbaik Allābumma Labbaik, etc." (At Your Service O Allāh, at Your Service) during Haii.

^[4] This *Hadītb* tells us that the act of taking a bath for entering in the state of *Ibrām* is *Sunnab* (practice of the Prophet).

^[5] Once all these garments are discarded, the only clothing left are the two sheets, and these two very sheets constitute the cloths of *lbrām*. A woman may cover her head by a *Khimar* (head-dress) but may not cover her face with *Niqab* (face-veil). However, she should use her head covering to cover her face in the presence of strangers (men).

^[6] A yellow colored perfume.

perfume^[1] Allāh's Messenger ﷺ for his *Ibrām*^[2] before he entered the state of *Ibrām*, and when he finished the *Ibrām*, before he circumambulated the Sacred House (Ka'ba). [Agreed upon].

598. Narrated 'Uthmān bin 'Affān 本: Allāh's Messenger 靏 said: "One who is in the state of *Ibrām* should not marry, or give someone in marriage, ^[3] or make a proposal (to marry someone)." [Reported by Muslim].

599. Narrated Abū Qatāda Al-Ansāri aregarding the story when he hunted a wild donkey and was not in the state of Ibrām: Allāh's Messenger asked his companions who were in the state of Ibrām, "Did any one of you order him or suggest anything to him (regarding the hunting)." They replied, "No." He said, "Eat its remaining meat." [4] [Agreed upon].

600. Narrated As-Sa'b bin Jaththāma Al-Laithi^[5] 本: He presented to Allāh's Messenger 義 a wild donkey's (flesh)^[6] when he was at Al-Abwā' or Waddān, but he rejected it and said, "We have only rejected it because we are in the state of *Ibrām*." [Agreed upon].

قَالَتْ: كُنْتُ أُطَيِّبُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ لِإخْرَامِهِ قَتْلَ أَنْ يُخْرِمَ، وَلِجِلِّهِ قَبْلَ أَن يَطُوفَ بِالنَّيْتِ. مُتَقَنَّ عَلَيْهِ.

(
 (هُمُهُ) وَعَنْ عُشْمَانَ بْنِ عَشَانَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى
 عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: اللَّ يَنْكِحُ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهُ
 المُحْرِمُ، وَلَا يُنْكِحُ، وَلَا يَخْطُبُ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.
 مُسْلِمٌ.

(٥٩٩) وَعَنْ أَبِي قَنَادَةَ الأَنْصَادِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ - فِي قِصَّةِ صَبْدِهِ الحِمَارَ الوَحْشِيَّ وَهُوَ غَنِرُ مُحْدِمٍ - قَالَ: فَقَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ لِاصْحَابِهِ - وَكَانُوا مُحْرِمِينَ -: «هَلْ مِنْكُمْ أَحَدٌ أَمَرَهُ، أَوْ أَشَارَ إِلَيْهِ بِنَمْيَءٍ؟، قَالُوا: لَا، قَالَ: فَكُلُوا مَا بَقِيَ مِنْ لَحْمِهِ، مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَهِ.

ر (٦٠٠) وَعَنِ الصَّغْبِ بْنِ جَنَّامَةَ اللَّيْفِيُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُ أَهْدَى لِرَسُولِ اللهِ عَنَاهُ، أَنَّهُ أَهْدَى لِرَسُولِ اللهِ عَمَاراً وَخْشِيًا، وَهُوَ بِالأَبْوَاءِ أَوْ بِوَدَّانَ، فَرَدَّهُ عَلَيْكَ إِلَّا أَنَّا كُمْ نَرَدَّهُ عَلَيْكَ إِلَّا أَنَّا لَمْ نَرَدَّهُ عَلَيْكَ إِلَّا أَنَّا لَمْ نَرَدُّهُ عَلَيْكَ عَلَيْكَ إِلَى الْمُ

^[1] It thus becomes known to us through this *Hadītb* that perfume may be applied to one's body prior to entering in the state of *Ibrām*, and it does not matter if that fragrance remains on one's body after entering the state of *Ibrām*. Similarly, it is also permissible to apply perfume to one's body before performing *Tawāful-Wada'* (farewell circumambulation of the Ka'ba).

^[2] The state of consecration for one intending to perform Hajj or 'Umrab.

^[3] A person in the state of *lbrām* should not conduct a wedding of either a man or a woman or his own self or on the authority of someone else.

^[4] This incident belongs to the year of the Treaty of Al-Hudaibtya. In case a *Halal* person (the one not in *Ibrām* state) hunts an animal with the intention of presenting it to a *Mubrim*, or a *Mubrim* in any way assisted him in hunting it – the meat of the game thus hunted becomes prohibited for the *Mubrim*. It is only allowed for him if the animal is hunted for a non-*Mubrim*, unaided by any *Mubrim*, and not intending it for a *Mubrim*.

^[5] Sa'b bin Jaththāma Al-Iaithi used to live at Waddan and Al-Abwa' and his Hadith has been narrated by the people of Al-Hijaz. He died either during the caliphate of Abū Bakr or that of 'Uthmān.

^[6] This Hadith tells us that the Prophet # did not eat the meat of the hunted animal in the

601. Narrated 'Aisha \shi Allāh's Messenger \smallet said, "There are five living things which are all harmful and may be killed outside or inside the sacred areas: a scorpion, a kite, a crow, a rat, and a violent (biting) dog." [Agreed upon].

602. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās \understand: The Prophet \understand had himself cupped (al-Hijāmab) while he was in the state of *Ibrām*. [Agreed upon].

603. Narrated Ka'b bin 'Ujra^[2] : I was carried to Allāh's Messenger and lice were falling over my face. He said, "I did not think that the pain had affected you to this extent as I see (now). Can you sacrifice a sheep?" I replied, "No." He then said, " [Shave your head and] Fast three days or feed six poor people a half $Sa^{[3]}$ each [as compensation for shaving while in the state of Ibram]." [Agreed upon].

604. Narrated Abū Huraira 泰: When Allāh, the Most High, granted His Messenger (樂) victory by the conquest of Makkah, Allān's Messenger 樂 stood up (to address the people). So, he

(7٠١) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، قَالَتْ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: اخْمُسٌ مِنَ الدَّوَابُ كُلُّهُنَّ فَواسِقُ، يُفْتَلَنَ فِي الحِلَّ وَالحَرَمِ: العَقْرَبُ، وَالحِدَأَةُ، وَالغُرَابُ، وَالفَّارَةُ، وَالكَلْ العَقْرِبُ، مُثَنِّقَ عَلَيْهِ.

(٦٠٢) وَعَن الْبَن عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ اخْتَجَمَ وَهُوَ مُخْرِمٌ. مُثَقَّنَ عَلَيْ.

(٩٠٣) وَعَنْ كَعْبِ بْنِ عُجْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: حُمِلْتُ إِلَى رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ وَالقَمْلُ يَتَنَائُو عَلَى وَجْهِي، فَقَالَ: «مَا كُنْتُ أُرَى الوَجَعَ بَلَغَ بِكَ مَا أَرَى، أَنْجِدُ شَاةً؟» فُلْتُ: لاَ، قَالَ: «فَصُمْ ثَلَاثَةَ أَيَّامٍ، أَوْ أَطْجِمْ مُثَنَّةً مَسَاكِينَ، لِكُلُ مِسْكِينِ نِضْفُ صَاعٍ». مُثَقَدَّ عَلَه.

(7·٤) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: لَمَّا فَتَحَ اللَّهُ عَلَى رَسُولِهِ مَكَّةً، قَامَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ فِي النَّاسِ، فَحَمِدَ اللَّهُ، وَأَثْنَى عَلَيْهِ، ثُمَّ قَالَ: ﴿إِنَّ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى حَبَسَ عَنْ مَكَّةً

state of *Ilmām* due to the fact that Sa'b bin Jaththāma رضي الله عنه did the hunting with the intention of presenting it to the Prophet 艦.

^[1] The killing of these five animals, even within the precincts of the Sacred Mosque, is not a crime. Similarly, if someone kills the said animals in the state of *Ibrām* and within the precincts of the Sacred Mosque, he incurs no penalty (in terms of offering an animal sacrifice or charity). Based upon this precedence, some scholars have permitted the killing of all *Harām* animals (those whose meat is forbidden to be eaten in Islam) and have specified no penalty for their killing. In case a *Mubrim* kills an animal, after being attacked by it, he incurs no penalty.

^[2] He was an eminent Sabābi from the tribe of Al-Bali and was an ally of the Ansār. He settled at Kufa and died at Al-Madīnah in 51 H. at the age of 75 years.

^[3] From this we know that a *Mubrim* will be liable to pay *Fidya* (compensation) even if he shaves off his head with a legitimate excuse. *Fidya* is of three kinds: a) He should make an animal sacrifice, b) Observe three days of fasting, c) Feed six poor people – or giving them 1 kilogram (plus) of grain as a charity per person. The person has an option to choose between any one of these three types of *Fidya*, according to authentic *Hadttb*.

praised Allah and extolled Him. Then he said, "Allāh had withheld the Elephant[1] from Makkah and empowered His Messenger and the believers over it. (Fighting in it) has not been made lawful to anyone before me. And it has only been made lawful for me for an hour (portion) of a day. It will never be lawful to anyone after me. Therefore, its game is not to be chased (disturbed); its thorns are not to be uprooted; anything which falls (i.e. something lost) in it is lawful only to one who will announce it.[2] And whoever has someone (of his relatives) killed (in it), he will have the choice of the best of the two options."[3] Al-'Abbās said, "Except Al-Idbkbir (a kind of grass). O Messenger of Allah. because we use it in our graves and houses." He said, "Except Al-Idbkbir."[4] [Agreed upon].

605. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Zaid bin 'Asim ... Allāh's Messenger ... said, "Ibrāhim declared Makkah sacred^[5] and made supplication for its people; and I declare Al-Madīnah to be sacred as Ibrāhim declared Makkah sacred. And I make supplication for its 52° and

الفِيلَ، وَسَلَّطَ عَلَيْهَا رَسُولَهُ وَالمُؤْمِنِينَ، وَإِنَّهَا أُجِلَّتُ لِي لَمُ تَجِلٌ بِآلِهَا أُجِلَّتُ لِي سَاعَةً مِنْ نَهَارٍ، وَإِنَّهَا لَنْ تَجِلٌ لِاحَدِ بَعْدِي، سَاعَةً مِنْ نَهَارٍ، وَإِنَّهَا لَنْ تَجِلٌ لِاحَدِ بَعْدِي، فَلَا يُخْتَلَى شَوْكُهَا، وَلَا يَجْتَلُ سَاتِطَنَّهَا إِلَّا لِمُنْشِدٍ. وَمَنْ قُتِلَ لَهُ قَتِيلٌ فَهَوَ بِخَيْرٍ الشَّظَرَيْنِ، ، فَقَالَ العَبَّاسُ: إِلَّا الإَذْجِرَ، يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! فَإِنَّا نَجْعَلُهُ فِي تُبُورِنَا الْإِذْجِرَ، مَتَنَّ عَلَيْهِ. وَبُيْرِنَا الْفَارِيْنِ اللَّهَالِيقِيقَ عَلَيْهِ.

(7٠٥) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِرَ زَيْدِ بْنِرِ عَاصِمِر رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: اإِنَّ إِبْرَاهِيمَ حَرَّمَ مَكَّةً، وَدَعَا لِأَهْلِهَا، وَإِنِّي حَرَّمُتُ المَدِينَةَ، كَمَا حَرَّمَ إِبْرَاهِيمُ مَكَّةً؛ وَإِنِّي دَعُوْتُ فِي صَاعِهَا وَمُدُّمَا بِمِثْلِ مَا دَعَا بِهِ

^[1] This story has been mentioned in the noble Qur'ān. It is stated that Abraha Al-Athram, the Christian king of Yemen attacked Makkah with a contingent of elephants with the intention of destroying the Ka'ba. The Quraishites could not resist him, hence they vacated Makkah and fled. Allah sent against the invading army birds in flocks who had small pebbles in their beaks and talons. Whosoever was struck by these pebbles, through the torment sent by Allāh, perished. Abraha, along with his thundering legions was utterly doomed to devastation and thus Allāh the Exalted One saved His House from destruction.

^[2] It means that if someone picks up a fallen object with the intention of taking it himself, it is forbidden. However, if he picks it up with the intention of making an announcement and restoring the same to it's rightful owner, that is permitted.

^[3] This means that a person has two options. He may either accept *Diya* (the blood-money) or he may choose to retaliate by *Qisās* (taking the life of the murderer).

^[4] Idbkbtr is a kind of grass that is used in the process of melting down metals. The same is laid down on the roofs and floors of houses and is used for closing the gaps in the graves.

^[5] The Prophet Ibrāhim pronounced Makkah a sanctuary and prayed for it's sustenance and livelihood. Similarly, Prophet Muhammad ﷺ pronounced the sanctity of Al-Madīnah and prayed for the sustenance and livelihood of its residents.

Mudd (its measures) (that they be blessed) with the like of what Ibrāhim supplicated for the people of Makkah." [Agreed upon].

606. Narrated 'Ali bin Abū Tālib &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "Al-Madīnah is sacred from 'Air to Thaur.''^[1] [Reported by Muslim].

Chapter 5 THE NATURE OF THE HAJJ (PILGRIMAGE) AND ENTERING MAKKAH

607. Narrated Jābir bin 'Abdullāh 🞄: Allāh's Messenger # performed the Hajj (pilgrimage) and we went out with him. When we reached Dhul Hulaifa. Asmā' (%) daughter of 'Umais, gave birth, so Allāh's Messenger (鑑) said, "Take a bath, wrap your private parts with a cloth, and enter the state of Ibrām." Allāh's Messenger apprayed in the mosque, and then mounted Al-Oaswā^[2] and when it stood erect with him on its back at Al-Baidā'^[3], he raised his voice declaring Allāh's Oneness and saying, "I am at Your Service, O Allāh, at Your Service; You have no partner; at Your Service; praise and grace are Yours, and the dominion; You have no partner." When we came to the House[4] he touched the إِبْرَاهِيمُ لِأَهْلِ مَكَّةً٣. مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٦٠٦) وَعَنْ عَلِيٍّ بْنِنِ أَبِي طَالِبٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «المَدِينَةُ حَرَامٌ مَا بَيْنَ عَيْرٍ إِلَى نَوْرٍ». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

٥ - بَابُ صِفَةِ الحَجِّ وَدُخُولِ مَكَّةَ

(٦٠٧) عَنْ جَابِرِ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللهِ رَضِيَ اللّهُ تَعَلَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ حَجَّ ، فَخَرَجْنَا مَعَهُ، حَتَّى إِذَا أَتَيْنَا ذَا الحُلْيَقَةِ فَوَلَدَثُ أَسْمَاءُ مَعَهُ، حَتَّى إِذَا أَتَيْنَا ذَا الحُلْيَقَةِ فَوَلَدَثُ أَسْمَاءُ بِنْتُ عُمَيْسٍ، فَقَالَ: «اغْتَيلِي، وَاسْتَنْفِرِي بِيقُوبِ، وَصَلَّى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ فِي إِنَّهُ اسْتَوْثِ إِنَّهُ السَّتَوْنُ اللهِ عَلَى البَيْدَاءِ، أَمَّلَ بِالتَّوْجِيدِ: «البَّكَ اللَّهُمُ اللهِ اللهِ اللهُ اللهُمُ اللهُمُلُولُ اللهُمُ اللهُمُ اللهُمُ اللهُمُ اللهُم

are two mountains surrounding Al-Madīnah. 'Air is a well-known mountain south of Al-Madīnah and south west of Qubā' Mosque. Some people have a misunderstanding to the effect that the mount of Thaur belongs to Makkah. But the fact is that there is also a mountain in Al-Madīnah which is small and round shaped, situated in the north, beyond the mountain of Uhud, which is also known as Thaur.

^[2] The name of the Prophet's she-camel.

^[3] Baida stands for either forest or plains and there was a village also known as Baida. As mentioned earlier, the Prophet 穩 started reciting *Talbiya* from near the mosque. This *Hadtitb* states that he began the same in Baida. The fact is that the first statement is correct. But, since this narrator saw the Prophet 穩 reciting *Talbiya* in Baida, he concluded that-the Prophet 穩 had started reciting it beginning from Baida itself, whereas the fact is that he (the Prophet 穩) had already been reciting it (even prior to reaching Baida).

^[4] The Ka'ba.

corner.[1] and ran three (times round the House)[2] and walked four (times round the House). Then he came to the station of Ibrāhim and prayed. He then returned to the corner and touched it. after which he went out by the gate to As-Safa, on coming near to which he recited, "Verily, As-Safa and Al-Marwa are among the signs appointed by Allāh,"[3] adding: "I begin with what Allah began with." So he mounted As-Safa till he saw the House, then he faced the Qiblab, declared Allah's Oneness, proclaimed His Greatness, and said, "Nothing is worthy of worship except Allah Alone Who has no partner: to Him belongs the dominion, to Him praise is due, and He has power over everything; nothing is worthy of worship except Allah Alone Who Alone has fulfilled His Promise, helped His slave and defeated the Confederates." He then made supplication in the course of that, saying such words three times. He next descended from As-Safa to Al-Marwa, and when he came down into the belly of the valley, he ran; and when he ascend from it, he walked till he reached Al-Marwa. There he did as he had done at As-Safa - the narrator reported the rest of the Hadith - and it contains: When it was Yaum At-Tarwiva^[4] they went towards Minā^[5],

﴿ إِنَّ ٱلصَّهَا وَٱلْمَرُوةَ مِن شَعَآيِرِ ٱللَّهِ ﴾ «أَبْدَأُ بِمَا بَدَأَ اللَّهُ بهِ ، فَرَقِيَ الصَّفَا حَتَّى رَأَى البَيْتَ، فَاسْتَقْبَلَ القِبْلَةَ، فَوَحَّدَ اللَّهَ، وَكَبَّرَهُ، وَقَالَ: «لَا إِلَهَ إِلَّا اللَّهُ، وَحْدَهُ، لَا شَرِيكَ لَهُ، لَهُ المُلْكُ، وَلَهُ الحَمْدُ، وَهُوَ عَلَى كُلِّ شَيْءٍ قَدرٌ ، لَا إِلَهَ إِلَّا اللَّهُ ، أَنْجَزَ وَعْدَهُ ، وَنَصَرَ عَبْدَهُ، وَهَزَمَ الأَحْزَابَ وَحْدَهُ»، ثُمَّ دَعَا بَيْنَ ذٰلكَ قَالَ: مِثْلَ هٰذَا ثَلَاثَ مَرَّاتِ، ثُمَّ نَزَلَ مِنَ الصَّفَا إِلَى المَرْوَةِ، حَتَّى إِذَا انْصَبَّتْ قَدَمَاهُ فِي بَطْنِ الوَادِي سَعَى، حَتَّى إِذَا صَعِدَ مَشَى إِلَى المَرْوَةِ، فَفَعَلَ عَلَى المَرْوَةِ كَمَا فَعَلَ عَلَى الصَّفَا، فَذَكَرَ الحَديثَ، وَفيه: فَلَمَّا كَانَ يَوْمُ التَّرُويَةِ تَوَجَّهُوا إِلَى مِنِّي، وَرَكِبَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ، فَصَلَّى بِهَا الظُّهْرَ وَالعَصْرَ وَالمَغْرِبَ وَالعِشَاءَ وَالفَجْرَ، ثُمَّ مَكَثَ قَلِيلاً حَتَّى طَلَعَت الشَّمْسُ، فَأَجَازَ حَتَّى أَتَى عَرَفَةً، فَوَجَدَ القُّتَّة قَدْ ضُربَتْ لَهُ بنَورَةَ، فَنَزَلَ بِهَا، حَتَّى إِذَا زَالَتِ الشَّمْسِ أُمَرَ بِالقَصْوَاءِ فَرُحِلَتْ لَهُ، فَأَتَى بَطْنَ الوَادِي، فَخَطَبَ النَّاسَ، ثُمَّ أَذَّنَ، ثُمَّ أَقَامَ، فَصَلَّهِ، الظُّهْرَ، ثُمَّ أَقَامَ فَصَلَّى العَصْرَ، وَلَمْ يُصَلُّ بَيْنَهُمَا شَيْئاً، ثُمَّ رَكِبَ حَتَّى أَتَى المَوقف، فَجَعَلَ بَطْنَ نَاقَتِه القَصْوَاءِ إِلَى

^[1] In Arabic, Rukn stands for Al-Hajar Al-Aswad (the Black Stone) and Istalām implies touching it, and he also kissed it as mentioned in other authentic narrations.

^[2] When the Prophet 饗 arrived in Makkah along with his Companions to perform 'Umratul-Qada' the Quraishites started spreading lies about the Muslims by saying that the Muslims have become emaciated and grown weak, as some kind of fever had seized them in Al-Madīnah. Upon hearing these slurs the Prophet ূ commanded his Companions to walk quickly (like jogging), to demonstrate to the Quraishites that they were not weak. Since that day onwards, the act of walking quickly in this fashion, in first three rounds of circumambulation (Tawāf), has become a Sumab (legislated act).

^[3] Al-Bagarab, 2: 158.

^[4] The 8th day of the month of Dhul-Hijja when the pilgrims leave Makkah for Mina.

^[5] The literal translation of 'Mina' is 'to fell, to drop'. Since the blood of sacrificial animals is shed here, it has come to be known as Mina.

and the Prophet # rode and prayed there Az-Zubr, Al-'Asr, Al-Magbrib, Al-'Isba' and Al-Fajr prayers. After that he waited a little till the sun rose; then he proceeded till he came to 'Arafa and found that the tent had been set up for him at Namira[1]. There he dismounted, and when the sun had passed the meridian, he ordered Al-Qaswā' to be brought; and when it was saddled for him, he went down into the valley and addressed the people. He then ordered the Adban then the Igāma to be uttered, and he prayed Az-Zubr prayer; he then ordered the Igāma to be uttered and prayed Al-'Asr prayer, without performing any voluntary prayer between the two. He then mounted (his she-camel) and came to the place of standing, making his she-camel Al-Qaswa' turn its back to the rocks^[2] and having the path taken by those who went on foot^[3] in front of him. He faced the Qiblab and remained standing till sunset when the yellow light (of sunset) had somewhat gone and the disc of the sun had disappeared. He then went quickly pulling the halter of Al-Qaswa' forcefully, so that its head was about to touch the front part of his saddle, gesturing with his right hand and saying, "O people, be tranquil, be tranquil," and whenever he happened to pass over an elevated tract of sand, he slightly loosened the halter so that it should climb up. When he came to Al-Muzdalifa, he prayed Al-Magbrib and Al-'Isbā' prayers with one Adbān and

الصَّخَرَات ، وَجَعَلَ جَبَلَ المُشَاةِ بَيْنَ يَدَيْهِ، وَاسْتَقْبَلَ القِبْلَةَ، فَلَمْ يَزَلْ وَاقِفاً حَتَّى غَرَبَتِ الشَّمْسُ، وَذَهَبَت الصُّفْرَةُ قَلِيلاً، حَتَّى إِذَا غَابَ القُرْصُ دَفَعَ، وَقَدْ شَنَقَ لِلْقَصْوَاءِ الزُّمَامَ، حَتَّى إِنَّ رَأْسَهَا لِيُصِيبُ مَوركَ رَحْلِهِ، وَيَقُولُ بِيَدِهِ اليُمْنَى: «يَا أَيُّهَا النَّاسُ! ٱلسَّكِينَةَ، ٱُلسَّكِينَةَ»، وَكُلَّمَا أَتَى جَبَلاً أَرْخَى لَهَا قَلِيلاً حَتَّى تَصْعَدَ، حَتَّى أَتَى المُزْدَلِفَةَ، فَصَلَّى بِهَا المَغْرِبَ وَالعِشَاءَ، بأَذَانِ وَاحِدٍ وَإِقَامَتَيْنِ، وَلَمْ يُسَبِّحْ بَيْنَهُمَا شَيْئاً، ثُمَّ اضْطَجَعَ حَتَّى طَلَعَ الفَجْرُ، فَصَلَّى الفَجْرَ حِينَ تَبَيَّنَ لَهُ الصُّبْحُ، بأَذَانِ وَإِقَامَةٍ، ثُمَّ رَكِبَ حَتَّى أَتَى المَشْعَرَ الحَرَامَ، فَٱسْتَقْبَلَ القِبْلَةَ، فَدَعَا، وَكَبَّرَ، وَهَلَّلَ، فَلَمْ يَزَلْ وَاقِفاً حَتَّى أَسْفَرَ جِدًّا، فَدَفَعَ قَبْلَ أَنْ تَطْلُعَ الشَّمْسُ، حَتَّى أَتَى بَطْنَ مُحَسِّر، فَحَرَّكَ قَلِيلاً، ثُمَّ سَلَكَ الطَّريقَ الوُسْطَى الَّتِي تَخْرُجُ عَلَى الجَمْرَةِ الكُبْرَى، حَتَّى أَتَى الجَمْرَةَ الَّتِي عِنْدَ الشَّجَرَةِ، فَرَمَاهَا بِسَبْع حَصَيَات، يُكَبِّرُ مَعَ كُلِّ حَصَاةٍ مِّنْهَا، مِثْل حَصَى الخَذْفِ، رَمَى مِن بَطْن الوَادِي، ثُمَّ انْصَرَفَ إِلَى المَنْحَرِ، فَنَحَرَ، ثُمَّ رَكِبَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ فَأَفَاضَ إِلَى البَيْتِ، فَصَلَّى بِمَكَّةَ الظُّهْرَ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ مُطَوَّلاً.

^[1] A well-known spot just before 'Arafat where there is now a big mosque by that name.

^[2] In Arabic, As-Sakharāt (الصخرات) simply mean stones. Here these imply the ones that are scattered underneath the Mount of Mercy (جبل الرحمة). This is the very place where the Prophet 鑑 stayed.

^[3] Hablul-Mushāt (حبل المشاة): The region between the Namira Mosque and the Mount of Mercy (حبل المحنة). The pilgrims had to traverse this region by walking on the sand.

two Igama[1] without performing any voluntary prayers between them.[2] He then laid down (asleep) till dawn and prayed Al-Fajr with an Adban and an Igāma when the (first) morning light was clear. He then mounted till he came to Al-Mash'ar Al-Harām[3], he faced the Qiblab, supplicated Allah, declared His Greatness and His Oneness, and kept standing till the day light was very clear. He then went quickly before the sun rose till he came to the valley of Muhassir.[4] He hastened the she-camel a little and following the middle road^[5] which comes out at the big Jamra[6], till he came to the lamra which is beside the tree. At this he threw seven small pebbles, uttering the Takbir each time he threw a pebble, and each pebble was as small as a chickpea. He threw them from the bottom of the valley. then went to the place of sacrifice and sacrificed. After that Allah's Messenger 鑑 mounted, and went quickly to the House [performed Tawaf] and prayed Az-Zubr prayer in Makkah. [Reported by Muslim through a long Hadītb].

^[1] This *Hadīth* clarifies that when the two prayers are joined, one *Adbān* (call to the prayer) suffices them both. However *Iqāma* for both of the prayers must be different and pronounced separately for each one of them.

^[2] It becomes known to us that when the two prayers are offered consecutively one after another, one should not offer any Sunnah (supererogatory prayer) or Nafl (voluntary prayer) in between them.

^[3] The open space which lies between the two hills of Muzdalifa is known as Mash'ar-Al-Harām.

^[4] It is situated between Muzdalifa and Mina.

 $^{^{[5]}}$ The pilgrims are instructed to traverse this valley quickly, regardless of whether a pilgrim happens to be walking or riding. There are two reasons justifying it:

a) The Companions of the Elephant were doomed to the Divine Punishment here and hence one must pass through this place tearfully and rapidly.

b) While performing Hajj, polytheists used to stay here and the Prophet 58 intended to oppose them in this act of theirs.

^[6] Jamra means 'a heap of stones'. There are three Jamarāt and it is necessary to throw pebbles at them. The Jamra which is referred to here, is Jamratal-'Aqaba. It is Mustabab (desirable) to pick up seven pebbles from Muzdalifa to throw at Jamratal-'Aqaba.

608. Narrated Khuzaima bin Thabit^[1]

*: Whenever the Prophet finished his *Talbiya* at a *Hajj* or an '*Umrab*, he asked Allāh for His good pleasure and for Paradise, and sought refuge in His Mercy from the Hell-Fire. [2] [Ash-Shafi'I reported it through a weak chain of narrators].

609. Narrated Jābir &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "I have sacrificed here, but the whole of Mina is a place of sacrifice, so sacrifice where you are staying. I have stood here, but all 'Arafa is a place for standing. I have stood here, but all Jam' (Al-Muzdalifa) is a place for standing. [3] [Reported by Muslim].

611. Narrated Ibn 'Umar \$\insert\ : He (Ibn 'Umar \$\infty\) never used to come to Makkah without spending the night at Dhi-Tuwā^[5] till morning, after which he would bathe. He would mention this (practice) as being from the Prophet \$\mathbb{E}\]. [Agreed upon].

(٦٠٨) وَعَنْ خُزَيْمَةَ بْنِ ثَابِت, رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِئِ ﷺ كَانَ إِذَا فَرَغَ مِنْ تَلْبِيَهِ فِي حَجِّ أَوْ عُمْرَةٍ سَأَلَ اللَّه رِضْوَانَهُ وَالجَنَّة، وَاسْتَعَاذَ بِرَحْمَتِهِ مِنَ النَّادِ. رَوَاهُ الشَّافِعِثِ بِإِسْنَادِ ضَعِيف.

(٦٠٩) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «نَحَرْتُ لهْهَنَا، وَمِنَى كُلُّهَا مُنْحَرٌ، فَانْحَرُوا فِي رِحَالِكُمْ، وَوَقَفْتُ لهْهَنَا، وَعَرَفَةُ كُلُّهَا مَوْقِفٌ، وَوَقَفْتُ لهْهَنَا، وَجَمْعٌ كُلُّهَا مَوْقِفٌ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٦١٠) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا،
 أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ لَمَّا جَاءَ إِلَى مَكَّةَ دَخَلَهَا مِنْ
 أَغْلَاهَا، وَخُرَجَ مِنْ أَسْفَلِهَا. مُثَقَقْ عَلَيْهِ.

(٢٦١) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَمْهُمَا، أَنَّهُ كَانَ لِا يَقْدُمُ مَكُمَّ إِلَّا بَاتَ بِذِي طُوى، حَتَّى يُضِجَ، ويَعْتَسِلَ، وَيَذْكُو ذَٰلِكَ عَن النَّبِيِّ عَلَى مُثَقِّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

^[1] Ibn Al-Fakiha Al-Khatami Al-Ansāri Al-Ausi. He was nicknamed Abū 'Imarata. He witnessed Badr and the subsequent battles. He held the flag of Khatama during the conquest of Makkah and took part in the battle of Siffin with 'Ali and was killed in it.

^[2] This has two meanings: The first one is that after pronouncing Labbatk each time, one should make supplications to Allâh for His willingness, His approval and the grant of Paradise. Secondly, one should make supplication to Allâh at the end of Talbiya which is concluded at the stone-throwing of Jamratal-'Aqaba.

^[3] Jam' is another name of Muzdalifa. The whole of the plain of 'Arafāt is a standing place. Between noon of the ninth of Dhul-Hijja and dawn of the tenth of Dhul-Hijja, it is an obligation on the pilgrims to invariably spend some time in 'Arafāt. The one missing this fundamental constituent of Hajj, misses the Hajj itself. In another words, there is no Hajj without staying in 'Arafāt.

^[4] The name of the upper side is Ath-Thantyatul-Ulya and the lower side is Ath-Thantyatus-Sufla.

^[5] Dhi-Tuwa is the name of a place which lies within the limits of the sacred region and is near the city of Makkah.

ŗ

612. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās . He used to kiss the Black Stone and prostrate on it. [1] [Reported by Al-Hākim as Marfū' (attributed to the Prophet) and Al-Baihaqi as Mawquf (attributed to a Companion)].

613. Narrated (Ibn 'Abbās) 毒: The Prophet 鬟 ordered them to run three rounds^[2] and walk four^[3] (rounds), and walk between the two corners^[4]. [Agreed upon].

614. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: Whenever he went round the House in the first Tawaf (seven circuits), he used to run three rounds and walk four (rounds). A narration has: "I saw Allāh's Messenger when he performed the circumambulation at the Hajj or the 'Umrab immediately on his arrival, he used to run three times round the House and walk four (times). [Agreed upon].

615. Narrated (Ibn 'Umar) . I have not seen Allāh's Messenger ﷺ touching anything in the House (Al-Ka'ba) other than the two *Yamani* Corners. [Reported by Muslim].

616. Narrated 'Umar 本: He kissed the Black Stone and said, "I know for sure that you are (merely) a stone, which can neither harm nor benefit. If it were not that I had seen Allāh's Messenger 緣 kiss you, I would not have kissed you." [5] [Agreed upon].

ر (۲۱۲) وَعَن ِ ابْن ِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا۔ أَنَّهُ كَانَ يُقَبِّلُ الحَجَرَ الأَسْوَدَ، وَيَسْجُدُ عَلَيْهِ. رَوَاهُ الحَاكِمُ مُرْفُوعاً، وَالبَّيْهَيْقِ مُؤْفُوفاً.

(٢٦٣) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: أَمْرَهُمُ النَّبِيُ ﷺ أَنْ يَرْمُلُوا ثَلَائَةً أَشْوَاطٍ وَيَهْشُوا أَرْبَعاً، مَا بَيْنَ الرُّكْنَيْنِ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(118) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما: أَنَّهُ كَانَ إِذَا طَافَ بِالبَيْتِ الطَّوَافَ الأَوْلَ خَبُّ ثَلَاثًا وَمَشَى أَرْبَعاً. وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ: الأَوْلَ خَبُّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ إِذَا طَافَ فِي الحَجُّ أَوِ الخَمْرةِ أَوَّلَ مَا يَشْدُمُ فَإِلَّهُ يَسْمَى ثَلَاثَةً أَطْوَاف لِاللَّبِيّتِ وَيَمْشِي أَرْبَعَةً. مُثَقَقً عَلَيهِ.

(٢١٥) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: لَمْ أَرَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَشْتَلِمُ مِنَ النَّيْتِ غَيْرَ الرُّكْتَيْنِ البَمَانِيَّيْنِ . رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ .

رَهُ (٦١٦) وَعَنْ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّهُ قَبَّلَ الحَجَرَ الأَسْوَدَ، وَقَالَ: إِنِّي أَعْلَمُ أَنَّكَ حَجَرٌ، لَا تَشُرُّ وَلَا تَلْفَعُ، وَلَولَا أَنِّي رَأَيْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يُقَبِّلُكَ مَا قَبْلُتُكَ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

^[1] Prostrating upon the Black Stone does not mean that he (the Prophet 養) made his prostration to the Black Stone itse It can imply two meanings: The first one is that he kissed the Black Stone and also set his rehead on it [which is a confirmed fact], and this may denote that such an act was don to perform the act of kissing to a perfection. Another meaning is that after completing the circumambulation of the Ka'ba, the Prophet 繼 used to pray the two Rak'a of Nafl prayer near the Black Stone, behind Maqam Ibrahim.

^[2] The word used in Arabic is Ashwāt which is the plural of Shawt. Shawt stands for one complete circumambulation (circling around) of the Ka'ba.

^[3] Circumambulation of the Ka'ba.

^[4] Rukn Al-Yamāni and Rukn Al-Hajar Al-Aswad.

^{[5] &#}x27;Umar رضى الله عنه said so because the Arabs had only recently turned away from

617. Narrated Abū Tufail^[1] &: I saw Allāh's Messenger # performing Tawaf (circumambulation) of the House, touching the Corner (Black Stone) with a Mibjan^[2] which he had, and kissing the Mibjan. [3] [Reported by Muslim].

(٦١٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي الطُّفَيْلِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: رَأَيْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَطُوفُ بالبَيْت، وَيَسْتَلِمُ الرُّكُنَ بِمِحْجَنِ مَّعَهُ، وَيُقَبِّلُ المِحْجَنَ.

618. Narrated Ya'la bin Umaiya[4] &: Allāh's Messenger & performed Tawaf circumambulation) wearing a green mantle under his right armpit with the end over his left shoulder. [5] [Reported by Al-Khamsa except An-Nasa'i and At-Tirmidhi graded it Sabib (authentic)1.

(٦١٨) وَعَنْ يَعْلَى بْنِ أُمَيَّةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: طَافَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ مُضْطَبِعاً بِبُرْدٍ أَخْضَرَ. رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ إِلَّا النَّسَائِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ التَّوْمِذِيُّ .

619. Narrated Anas . The one from among us who recited the Talbiya did so without any objection (from others), and the one from among us who pronounced the Takbir did so without any objection (from others). [6] [Agreed upon].

(٦١٩) وَعَنْ أَنُس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ بُهِلُ مِنَّا المُهِلُّ فَلَا يُنْكُمُ عَلَيْهِ، وَيُكَنِّهُ مِنَّا المُكِّدُ فَلَا يُنْكُمُ عَلَيْهِ. مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

620. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās 磡: Prophet se sent me (to Mina) with the عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: بَعَنْنِي النَّبِيُ ﷺ فِي النَّقُلِ، أَوْ women and children or he said, with

(٦٢٠) وَعَن ِ ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى The

polytheism. During the days of Jabiliya (the era prior to the advent of Islam), they used to believe that the statues (which are made out of stone) possessed the strength and capability to benefit a human being. Hence, he said this to refute and contradict this false belief of the Arabs, fearing they might misunderstand his action.

^[1] He is 'Aamir bin Wāthila Al-Laithi Al-Kināni. He lived the last eight years of the Prophet's lifetime. He died in Makkah in 100 H. or 102 H. or 110 H. and was the last Sabābi to die.

^[2] A walking stick with a bent handle.

^[3] This Hadīth informs us that if someone in unable to reach the Black Stone due to the heavy crowd around it, it is permissible for him to touch the same with a stick and then kiss the stick.

^[4] He is Abū Safwān At-Tamimi Al-Makki, an ally of Quraish and a prominent Sahābi who became a Muslim during the conquest of Makkah. He witnessed the battles of Hunain, Ta'if and Tabuk and served Abū Bakr, 'Umar and 'Uthmān. He lived up to nearly the fifties of Al-Hijra.

^[5] This Hadīth elaborates on the Prophet's (鑑) manner (Al-Idtibā') of wearing the upper cloth (Ridā) while performing the arrival Tawaf for Hajj or 'Umrah. The Prophet 鑑 took the sheet from under his right armpit and placed it over his left shoulder, leaving the right shoulder bare. By doing so, he wanted to make a display of his health and strength. This act reflects the same wisdom exhibited in the act of running while circling the Ka'ba. This was not required after the dominance of Islam, but the act of the Prophet 36 became a Sunnab (legislated act) forever.

^[6] One is permitted to pronounce Takbīr (Allābu Akbar) but it is better to observe Talbīya.

the weak (members of his family)^[1] from *Jam*. (Al-Muzdalifa) at night. [Agreed upon].

621. Narrated 'Aisha 's: Sauda^[2] ('s) asked permission from Allāh's Messenger 's to go on (to Mina) before him on the night of Al-Muzdalifa. She was slow moving i.e. heavy, so he gave her permission. [Agreed upon].

622. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: Allāh's Messenger & said, to us "Do not throw (pebbles) at the *Jamra* till the sun rises." [Reported by *Al-Khamsa* except An-Nasā'i and it has *Inqitā*' (a break in the chain of narrators)]

623. Narrated 'Aisha \$: The Prophet \$\mathbb{g}\$ sent Umm Salama (\$\mathbb{g}\$) on the night (of \$Al-Muzdalifa\$) before the day of sacrifice, and she threw (pebbles) at the \$Jamra\$ before dawn. She then hastened (to Makkah) and performed (Tawaf) \$Al-Ifāda\$ (circumambulation of \$Hajj\$). [4] [Reported by \$Ab\$ Da'ud and its chain (of narrators) conforms with the conditions of Muslim].

 قَالَ: فِي الضَّعَفَةِ، مِنْ جَمْعٍ، بِلَيْلٍ. مُثَّفَقٌ عَلَهُ.

(٢٩١) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: ٱسْتَأْفَنْتُ سَوْدَةُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ لَلْلَهَ المُوْوَلِقَةِ أَنْ تَلْفَعَ قَبْلُهُ، وَكَانَتْ ثَبِطَةً، يَعْنِي تَقِيلَةُ، فَأَوْنَ لَهَا. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٣٢٣) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ لَنَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا تَرْمُوا المَجْمُرَةُ حَتَّى تَطْلُعُ الشَّمْسُ﴾. رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ إِلَّا الشَّمْسُ». رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ إِلَّا السَّمْعُ، وَفِو انْقِطَاعٌ.

(٦٢٣) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: أَرْسَلَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ بِأَمْ سَلَمَةَ لَلِلَةَ النَّمْوِ، فَرَمَتِ الجَمْرَةَ قَبْلَ الفَجْرِ، ثُمَّ مَضَتْ، فَأَفَاضَتْ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوْدَ، وَإِسْنَادُهُ عَلَى شَوْطِ مُسْلِمٍ.

(١٣٤) وَعَنْ عُرُوةَ بْنِرَ مُضَرَّسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «مَنْ شَهِدَ صَلَاتَنَا مَلْهِ، يَثْنِي بِالمُزْوَلَقِةِ، فَوَقَفَ مَمَنَا حَتَّى

^[1] The ruling is that the pilgrim should spend the whole night in Muzdalifa, stay at Al-Mash'ar-Al-Harām after offering the morning prayer and then proceed to Mina. But it is permissible for the weak, the old, the sick and the women to depart from Muzdalifa after spending most of the night there. This is so that they may reach Mina and complete the obligatory act of stoning before the people reach there and it gets too crowded.

^[2] She is Ummul-Mu'minīn (Mother of the Believers) Sauda bint Zam'a bin 'Abd Shams Al-Qurashiya Al-'Aamiriya. She became a Muslim in Makkah early and migrated with her husband to Abyssinia (Ethiopia) where he died. Then Allāh's Messenger 褒 married her in Makkah after the death of Khadijah and before engaging 'Aisha * . She died in 55 H.

^[3] People in general are not permitted to throw pebbles at Jamrāt before sunrise. However, the majority of scholars hold that those with legal excuse are allowed to do so.

^[4] Tawāf-Al-Ifāda – also referred to as Tawaf Az-Ziyāra – is the one that is performed after the throwing of pebbles on the 10th of Dhul-Hijja. This is one of the fundamental constituents (Rukn) of Hajj and there is no Hajj without it.

^{[5] &#}x27;Urwa bin Mudarris bin Aus bin Haritha bin Lām Atta'i was a Sahābi who witnessed Hajjatul-Wadā' and settled at Kufa. He reported this Hadīth.

till we move on (to Mina); and he has stood at 'Arafa before this – during the night or the day – his pilgrimage will then be complete^[1] and he will have fulfilled the ries.^[2] [Reported by *Al-Khamsa*. At-Tirmidhi and Ibn-Khuzaima graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

626. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās and Usama bin Zaīd^[5] ♣: The Prophet ﷺ kept raising his voice in the *Talbīya* till he threw pebbles^[6] at the *Jamrat-Al-'Aqaba*.^[7] [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

627. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Masūd &:
With the House on his left and Mina on
his right he threw seven pebbles at the

نَدْفَعَ، وَقَدْ وَقَفَ بِعَرَفَةَ قَبْلَ ذَلِكَ لَيْلاً أَوْ نَهَاراً، فَقَدْ تَمَّ حَجُهُ، وَقَضَى تَفَكُهُ. رَوَاهُ ٱلخَمْسَةُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ وَانْهُ خُزْنِهَةً.

(٦٢٥) وَعَنْ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: إِنَّ المُشْوِكِينَ كَانُوا لَا يُفِيضُونَ حَتَّى تَطْلُعَ الشَّمْسُ، وَيَقُولُونَ: أَشْوِقْ لَبِيرُ! وَإِنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ خَالْفَهُمْ، فَأَفَاضَ قَبَلَ أَنْ تَطْلُعُ الشَّمْسُ. رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(۲۲٦) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسٍ وَأَسَامَةَ بْنِ زَيْدٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهِ مَثَلِدِ النَّبِيُّ وَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُم، قَالَا: لَمْ يَزَلِدِ النَّبِيُّ يَخَلَّى حَنَّى رَمَى جَمْرَةَ العَقْبَةِ. رَوَاهُ النَّخَارِيُّ. النَّخَارِيُّ.

(٦٢٧) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِرَ مَسْعُودٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُ جَعَلَ البَيْتَ عَن يَسَارِهِ، وَيغَى

^[1] The most important part of Hajj is standing at 'Arafat.

^[2] Tafath means dirt and impurities. The said word implies the same because one gets his head shaven and his body washed of dirt and impurities after the completion of the main rite of Haij (standing at 'Arafat). Hence, the Haij of one who carries out these instructions is consummated and accomplished.

^[3] The highest mountains in Makkah, and it is on the left of the road to Mina.

^[4] The act of leaving Al-Muzdalifa before sunrise is regarded as Mashru' (required by the Shart'ah, Divine Law).

^[5] Abū Muhammad or Abū Zaid Usama bin Zaid bin Hāritha bin Sharāhil Al-Kalbi, was the beloved one of Allāh's Messenger 鑑, his manumitted slave and son of his manumitted slave. His mother was Umm Aiman who looked after the Prophet 繼 in his childhood. The Prophet 繼 appointed him few days before his death to lead an army including Abū Bakr and 'Umar while he was only 18 years old. However, that army was not dispatched due to the death of the Prophet 繼 . Then, Abū Bakr dispatched it. Usama died after the death of 'Uthmān. It is also said he died in 54 H.

^[6] One should pronounce the *Talbiya* continuously until he throws the pebbles at *Jamratal-'Aqaba*. The throwing of the first pebble marks the end of *Talbiya* according to the opinion of the majority of scholars. However, other authentic *Hadith* make clear that the *Talbiya* is discontinued with the completion of the stoning of *Jamratal-'Aqaba* – on the 10th of Dhul-Hijjah, as stated by Imam Ahmad.

^[7] The stone pillar at Mina where the pilgrims first throw stones on the day of slaughtering the sacrificial animals (the 10th of Dhul-Hijjah).

Jamra and said, "This is the standing place of he upon whom Sūrat Al-Baqarab^[1] was revealed." [Agreed upon].

628. Narrated Jābir &: Allāh's Messenger threw pebbles at the *Jamra* on the Day of Sacrifice in the forencon. As for the (other days of stoning) after that, (he would throw) when the sun had passed the meridian. [2] [Reported by Muslim].

629. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: He used to throw seven pebbles at the nearest Iamra^[3] saying the Takbīr with the throwing of each one. He would then go forward, and come to a plain (level area of the valley) [4] Then, he would stand, face the Oiblab, making supplication and raising his hands, standing for a long time. Then, he would throw pebbles at the middle one. He would then go to the left and seek out a plain (level) area, and stand facing the Oiblab, making supplication raising hands and (again) standing for a long time. Then, he would throw pebbles at the Jamratal-'Agaba from the bottom of the valley, but he did not stand beside it (to supplicate). Then, he would depart and say, "This is how I saw Allāh's Messenger # doing it." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

عَنْ يَمِينِهِ، وَرَمَى الجَمْرَةَ بِسَبْعِ حَصَيَاتٍ، وَقَالَ: هَذَا مَقَامُ الَّذِي أُنْزِلَتْ عَلَيْهِ شُورَةُ البَقَرَةِ. مُثَقَّةُ عَلَهِ.

(٦٢٨) وَعَنْ جَابِرٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: رَمَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ الجَمْرَةَ يَوْمَ النَّحْرِ ضُحَى، وَاللَّهِ اللَّهُ مُسْلَمٌ. وَوَاللَّهُ مُسْلَمٌ. مُسْلَمٌ. مُسْلَمٌ.

(۱۲۹) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّهُ كَانَ يَرْمِي الجَمْرَةَ اللَّنْيَا بِسَبْم حَصَيَات، يُكَبُّرُ عَلَى إِنْرِ كُلُّ حَصَاةٍ، ثُمَّ يَتَقَلَّمُ، ثُمَّ يُسْتِقُبِلُ القِبْلَة، فَيَقُومُ، فَيَسْتَقْبِلُ القِبْلَة، فَيَتَقُبُمُ طَوِيلاً، وَيَدْعُو، فَيَرْفَعُ يَكَيْهِ، ثُمَّ يَرْمِي الوَسْطَى، ثُمَّ يَأْخُذُ ذَاتَ الشَّمَالِ، فَيَسْقِلُ، وَيَقْومُ مُنْتَقْبِلَ، ثُمَّ يَرْمِي جَمْرةً ذَاتِ المَقَبِقِ، وَيَقُومُ مَنْتَقْبِلَ القِبْلَةِ، ثُمَّ يَرْمِي جَمْرةً ذَاتِ المَقَبِقِ، وَيَقُومُ طَوِيلاً، ثُمَّ يَرْمِي جَمْرةً ذَاتِ المَقَبِقِ، مِنْ بَطْن الوَادِي، وَلَا يَقِفُ عِنْدَهُ عَلَيْكُما، ثُمَّ يَرْمِي جَمْرةً ذَاتِ المَقَبِق، يَنْعُونُ عَنْدُونُ عَلَيْكُما، ثُمَّ يَرْمِي جَمْرةً ذَاتِ المَقَبِق، يَنْعُونُ عَنْدُونُ اللهِ عَنْدُهُ عَلَيْكُما، ثُمَّ يَرْمِي جَمْرةً ذَاتِ المَقَبِق، يَنْعُونُ عَنْدُونُ اللهِ عَنْدُونَ اللهِ عَنْهُونُ اللهِ عَنْهُونَ اللهِ عَنْهُونَ اللهِ عَنْهُونُ اللهِ عَنْهُونُ اللهِ يَعْمُدُهُ وَلَوْلَ اللهِ عَنْهُونَ اللهِ عَنْهُونَ اللهِ عَنْهُونَ اللهِ يَعْمُونَ اللهِ عَنْهُونَ اللهِ عَنْهُونُ اللهِ عَنْهُونَ اللهِ عَنْهُ وَلَوْلَ اللهِ الْمُؤْلِقُ لَوْلُونَ اللهِ يَقْمُ اللهِ الْمُعْمَاءُ وَلَوْلُ اللهِ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمَنْهُ لَهُ وَلَنْهُ الْمُلْونَ اللهِ عَنْهُ وَلَوْلُ اللّهِ عَنْهُونُ اللهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ اللهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمَالِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ اللهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ اللهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ اللهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ اللّهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ اللهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ اللّهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقِ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ اللّهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ اللّهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ اللّهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ اللّهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الْمُؤْلِقُ اللّهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ الللّهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ اللّهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ اللّهُ الْمُؤْلِقُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللللهُ الللهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ الللّهُ الللللهُ الللّهُ ال

¹¹ The Prophet # mentioned the revelation of Sūrat Al-Baqarab because its Verses contain most of the rulings and instructions about Haff.

^[2] One must complete the act of throwing pebbles before Zawāl (sun decline, noon) on the day of 'Eid. In case one fails to do so during the first part of the day, he must refrain from throwing pebbles at the time when the sun is directly over head (noon). After the sun passes the meridian, the above ritual may be performed. On the 11th, 12th and 13th the stoning may only be done after Zawāl (at the beginning of the time of the noon prayer).

^[3] The Arabic word *Dunya* may be translated as 'near'. Since the same is located near the Khaif Mosque, it is called *Jamratud-Dunya*. The same is also known as *Jamratul-Ula* or *Jamratus-Sugbra*. This is done on the 11th, 12th and 13th of Dhul-Hijja.

^[4] Here Sabl is an Arabic word used for a soft piece of land or a plain. This implies that the Prophet 醬, did not stand there after throwing pebbles at Jamra, but came out in the open, stood there at ease and then made supplications to Allāh.

630. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . Allāh's Messenger said, "O Allāh, have mercy on those who shave (the heads)." They said: "And those who cut short (their hair), [1] O Allāh's Messenger." He said in the third (supplication), "And those who cut short (their hair)." [Agreed upon].

631. Narrated 'Abdullah bin 'Amr bin Al-Aas &: Allāh's Messenger & stopped during the Farewell Pilgrimage, and the people began asking him. A man said, "Unknowingly, I shaved (my head) before sacrificing." He replied, "Sacrifice, for there is no harm (sin)." Another came and said, "Unknowingly, I sacrificed before throwing the pebbles." He replied, "Throw, for there is no harm (sin)." He was not asked about anything which had been done before or after its proper time, during that day, except that he said, "Do it for there is no harm (sin).[2] " [Agreed upon).

632. Narrated Miswar bin Makhrama^[3] \$: Allāh's Messenger \$\mathbb{a}\$ sacrificed before shaving (his head), and ordered his Companions to do the same. [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

633. Narrated 'Aisha 's: Allāh's Messenger said, "When you have thrown (the pebbles) and shaven (your hair), (the

(٣٣٠) وَعَنْهُ أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: «اللَّهُمَّ الْمُحَمِّ المُحَمِّ المُحَمِّ اللَّهُمَّ الْمُحَمِّ اللَّهُمَّ وَالمُقَصِّرِينَ، إِنَّا اللَّهُ وَالمُقَصِّرِينَ، إِنَّا اللَّهَ وَالمُقَصِّرِينَ، إِنَّهَ اللَّهَ عَلَيْهِ.

(٣٦١) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِرَ عَمْرِو بْنِرِ العَاصِرِ
رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ
وَقَفَ فِي حَجَّةِ الوَدَاعِ، فَجَمَلُوا يَسْأَلُونَهُ، فَقَالَ
رَجُلِّ: لَمْ أَشْعُرْ، فَحَلَقْتُ قَبْلَ أَنْ أَذْبَعَ، قَالَ:
﴿اذْبَعْ وَلَا حَرَجَ ﴾، وَجَاءَ آخَرُ فَقَالَ: لَمْ أَشْعُرْ،
فَمَا شُئِل أَنْ أَرْمِيَ، قَالَ: ﴿ارْمِ وَلَا حَرَجَ ﴾،
فَمَا شُئِل يَوْمَئِذِ عَنْ شَيْءٍ فُذُمْ وَلَا أَخْرَ إِلَّا
قَالَ: ﴿افْعَلْ وَلَا حَرَجَ ﴾،

(٦٣٧) وَعَن المِسْوَرِ بْنِ مَخْرَمَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ نَحَرَ قَبْلَ أَنْ يَخْلِقَ، وَأَمْرَ أَصْحَابُهُ بِلْلِكَ. رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(٦٣٣) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا رَمَيْتُمْ

^[1] It is important to have a haircut after performing either Hajj or 'Umrah. Both the shaving of the head and the shortening of one's head hairs are permissible, but a shaving is preferable.

^{12]} The pilgrims have four obligations on the 'Eid day (10th Dhul-Hijja). The first one is to throw pebbles at Jamra (Al-'Aqaba), then performing an animal sacrifice, then the shaving of one's head and finally the circumambulation of the House of Allāh. This circumambulation is called Tawāfaz-Ziyāra or Tawāfal-Ifāda. The respective order of these four acts according to the Islamic law is the same as mentioned here. The observance of this order is Sunnab (the Prophet's practice). There is no harm if this order is not followed due to ignorance. However, some scholars consider ignoring this order deliberately, without excuse, as sinful, even if it incurs no penalty.

^[3] Al-Miswar bin Makhrama is a Zuhri and a Qurashi. He was among the virtuous people. He moved to Makkah after the killing of 'Uthmān. He was hit and killed by a missile while praying during the siege of Makkah by Yazid bin Mu'āwiya in the year 64 H.

use of) perfume and everything else except women^[1] becomes lawful for you." [Reported by Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud. There is weakness in its chain of narrators].

634. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The Prophet said, "Shaving is not a duty laid on women, [2] but the duty upon women to cut short their hair." [Abū Dā'ud reported it with a *Hasan* (good) chain of narrators].

635. Narrated Ibn 'Umar 泰: 'Abbās bin 'Abdul-Muttalib' (泰) asked permission from Allāh's Messenger 鑑 to spend in Makkah the nights which were spent at Mina, on account of his office of supplying water (to the pilgrims in Makkah), so he gave him permission. [31] [Agreed upon].

636. Narrated 'Aasim bin 'Adi^[4] 本: Allāh's Messenger 縣 excused the herdsmen of camels from spending the nights at Mina; he allowed them to throw (pebbles) on the Day of Sacrifice (10th), then throw for the next day (11th) and the day after (12th) together (on the 12th); then to throw on the day of dispersal (from Mina, i.e. 13th). [Reported by Al-Kbamsa. At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

637. Narrated Abū Bakra 🎄: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 gave us a *Kbutba* وَحَلَقْتُمْ، فَقَدْ حَلَّ لَكُمُ الطِّيبُ، وَكُلُّ شَيْءٍ، إِلَّا النِّسَاءَة. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَفِي إِسْنَادِهِ ضَغْفٌ.

(٣٣٤) وَعَن ِ ابْن عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿لَيْسَ عَلَى النَّسَاءِ حَلُق، وَإِنْهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ بِإِسْنَادِ حَسْنِ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ بِإِسْنَادِ حَسْنِ.

(٣٥٠) وَعَرْرِ ابْمِنْ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ العَبَّاسَ بْنَ عَبْدِ المُطَّلِبِ اسْتَأَذَنَ رَصُولَ اللهِ ﷺ أَن يَبِيتَ بِمَكَّةَ لَيَالِيَ مِنْى، مِنْ أَجْلِ مِنْقَايَةِ.

(٦٣٦) وَعَنْ عَاصِم ِ بْنِرَ عَدِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ يَعَلَّى أَرْضِيَ اللَّهُ يَعَلَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ عَلَيْهُ أَرْخَصَ لِرُعَاةِ الإِبلِ فِي البَّيْتُوتَةِ عَن مِنِّى، يَرْمُونَ يَوْمَ النَّحْرِ، ثُمَّ يَرْمُونَ الغَدَ وَمِنْ بَعْدِ الغَدِ لِيَوْمَيْنِ، ثُمَّ يَرْمُونَ يَوْمَ النَّفْرِ. رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَصَحْحَهُ التَّوْمِيْنَ وَابْنُ جِبَّانَ. التَّوْمِيْنَ وَابْنُ جِبَّانَ.

(٦٣٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي بَكْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ وَعَنْ أَبِي بَكْرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ

^[1] This clarifies that after the throwing of pebbles at Jamratal-'Aqaba and the shaving of one's head, all the restrictions are lifted thereof except sexual intercourse with one's spouse. That is only allowed after performing Tawāfal-Ifāda.

^[2] From this it is known to us that women need not shave their heads, but they should cut something from the tips (ends) of their braids.

^[3] It is *Wājib* (compulsory) to spend the nights in Mina. In case one is unable to spend the whole night, he should at least be there for the majority of the night.

^[4] He is nicknamed Abū 'Ubaidullāh or Abū 'Amr and was an ally of Banu 'Amr bin 'Auf of the Ansār. He witnessed the battle of Badr and the later battles. He was the commander of Al-'Aaliya tribes during the battle of Badr and so the Prophet 養 gave him one portion of the booties. He died in 45 H. It is also said that he was martyred during the battle of Al-Yamama at the age of 120 years.

(religious talk – sermon) on the Day of Sacrifice. The narrator reported the rest of the *Hadīth*. [Agreed upon].

638. Narrated Sarrā' bint Nabhān^[1] &: Allāh's Messenger ## addressed us on the day after the Day of Sacrifice^[2] and said, "Is this not the middle day of the *Tasbrīq* days?" The narrator reported the rest of the *Hadīth*. [Abū Dā'ud reported it with a *Hasan* (good) chain of narrators!.

639. Narrated 'Aisha 's: The Prophet Assaid to her, "Your circumambulation of the House and your running between As-Safa and Al-Marwa are sufficient for your *Hafj* and '*Umrab*. [3] [Reported by Muslim].

640. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The Prophet ﷺ did not run in the seven (circuits)^[4] he made when he returned to Makkah (for *Tawafat-Ifāda*). [Reported by *Al-Kbamsa* except At-Tirmidhi; Al-Hākim graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

641. Narrated Anas 泰: The Prophet 総 prayed Az-Zubr, Al-'Asr, Al-Magbrib and Al-'Isbā' prayers — and then slept — at Al-Muhassab^[5] [on the 13th of Dhul-Hijjah]. He then rode to the House (Al-Ka'ba) and performed the (Farewell) Tawaf (circumambulation). ^[6]

قَالَ: خَطَبَنَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَوْمَ النَّحْرِ، ٱلْحَدِيثَ. مُثَنَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٣٣٨) وَعَنْ شَرَّاءً بِنْتِ بَنْهَانَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: خَطَبَنَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَرَمَ الرُّءُوسِ فَقَالَ: ﴿أَلَيْسَ هَذَا أَوْسَطَ أَيَّامٍ التَّشْرِيقِ؟ الحَدِيثَ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ بِإِسْنَادٍ حَسَنٍ.

(١٣٩) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيَ ﷺ قَالَ لَهَا: «طَوَاقُكِ بِالنَّبِتِ، وَسَمْيُكِ بَيْنَ الصَّفَا وَالمَرْوَةِ، يَخْفِيكِ لحَجُكِ وَعَمْرَيكِ. رَوَاهُ مُشْلِمٌ.

(٦٤٠) وَعَن الْبَن عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَىٰ عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ لَمْ يَرْمُلْ فِي السَّنِمِ الَّذِي أَفَاضَ فِيهِ. رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ إِلَّا التَّرْمِذِيِّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ أَلَا التَّرْمِذِيِّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ أَلَّا التَّرْمِذِيِّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ أَلَّاكِمُ.

(٦٤١) وَعَنْ أَنَسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ وَمَالًى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ عَلَى اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ وَالْعَصْرَ وَالْمَغْرِبَ وَالْعِشَاء، ثُمَّ رَقِبَ وَالْعِشَاء، ثُمَّ رَقِبَ إِللْمُحَصَّبِ، ثُمَّ رَقِبَ إِلْمُحَصَّبِ، ثُمَّ رَقِبَ إِلَى النَّيْتِ، فَطَافَ بِهِ. رَوَاهُ البُخَارِئُ.

^[1] Sarrā' bint Nabhān Al-Ghanawiya is a Sabābiya and Rabi'a bin Abū 'Abdur-Rahmān narrated the *Hadīth* from her.

^[2] Yaumur-Ru'oos (day of heads) is the name of the day following the 'Eid day.

^[3] This *Hadāth* informs us that performing one *Tawāf* and one *Sa'y* each, suffices for both 'Umrab and Hajj for a pilgrim who is doing Hajj Qirān. Conversely, the one who is intending a Hajj Tamattu' will, however, have to perform two Tawāf and two Sa'y each separately.

^[4] We thus know that there is no Raml (running) either in Tawāfal-Ifāda or Tawāfal-Wadā'. Raml is performed in Tawāfal-Qudām only. Tawāfal-Qudām is the one that is performed upon entering Makkah (upon arrival from ones land). One should also bear in mind that Raml (running) is meant for males only and not females.

^[5] Muhassab is a mountain passage closer to Mina than to Makkah. It is known as Batha and Khaif Banu Kināna, and it opens out to Al-Abtah.

^[6] This is Tawāfal-Wadā' which is performed at the time of departing from Makkah.

[Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

642. Narrated 'Aisha \$: She was not doing that i.e., stopping at Al-Abtah, explaining that Allāh's Messenger \$\mathbb{8}\$ only stopped there because it was resting place from which it was easier for him to depart from. [1] [Reported by Muslim].

643. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The people were commanded to make the House (*Tawāfal-Wadā'*) their last act (before leaving Makkah), except that the woman in menses was exempted. [2] [Agreed upon].

644. Narrated Ibn Zubair^[3] . Allāh's Messenger & said: "One prayer in this mosque of mine is better than a thousand elsewhere, except Al-Masjid Al-Harām (the Sacred Mosque in Makkah); and one prayer in the Sacred Mosque is better than a prayer in this mosque of mine by a hundred prayers." [Reported by Ahmad and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

(٦٤٢) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّهَا لَمْ تَكُنْ تَفْعَلُ ذٰلِكَ – أَيِ النُّرُولُ بِالْأَبْطَحِ – وَتَقُولُ: إِنِّمَا نَزَلُهُ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ لِائَةٌ كَانَ مَنْزِلاً أَسْمَحَ لِخُرُوجِهِ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٦٤٣) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّه تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: أَمِرَ النَّاسُ أَن يَكُونَ آخِرُ عَهْدِهِمْ يِالبَيْتِ ، إِلَّا أَنَّهُ خُفِّفَ عَن الحَايِض . مُتَفَقَ عَنِ الحَايِض . مُتَفَقَ عَنِ الحَايِض . مُتَفَقَ عَنِي الحَايِض . مُتَفَقًى عَلَى .

(718) وَعَن ابْنِ الزُّبِيرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿ صَلَاةٌ فِي مَسْجِدِي مَذَا، أَفْضَلُ مِنْ أَلْفِ صَلَاةٍ فِيمَا سِوَاهُ، إِلَّا المَسْجِدِ الحَرَامَ، وَصَلَاةً فِي المَسْجِدِ الحَرَامَ، أَفْضَلُ مِنْ صَلَاةٍ فِي مَسْجِدِي مَذَا بِمِائةِ صَلَاةٍ. أَوْضَلُ مِنْ صَلَاةٍ فِي مَسْجِدِي مَذَا بِمِائةِ صَلَاةٍ. رَرَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ جِبَانَ.

^[1] When leaving for Al-Madinah.

^[2] This is *Tawāfal-Wadā'* (farewell circumambulation of the Ka'ba), which is compulsory (*Wājtb*) according to all the *Imāms* except Imām Mālik. However, the menstruating women are exempted from it. Anyone missing it, is liable to make an animal sacrifice.

^[3] He is Abū Bakr 'Abdullāh bin Az-Zubair bin Al-'Awwām Al-Qurashi Al-Asadi. His mother Asma bint Abū Bakr migrated to Al-Madīnah while pregnant and gave birth to him at Qubā' and he thus became the first baby to be born after the Hifra. He fasted and prayed a lot, was a noble man who did not accept to be wronged and a ferce fighter. He was also eloquent, accepted that which was right, and used to take care of his next of kins. He was sworn as a Khalifa after the death of Yazid bin Mu'āwiya in 64 H. and so he conquered Al-Hijāz, the two 'Idaga, Yemen, Egypt and most of the Shām. Al-Hajjāj bin Yusūf Ath-Thaqafi sieged him in Makkah where he was martyred and crucified in the month of Jumada Al-Ukhra 73 H.

^[4] It is reported in *Tabarāni* that a prayer offered in Al-Aqsa Mosque (*Baitul-Maqdis*) shall be rewarded five hundred times; and the one offered in the Mosque of the Prophet substant shall be rewarded a thousand times; whereas the one offered in *Al-Masjidal-Harām* (the House of Allāh) shall be rewarded a hundred thousand times.

Chapter 6 MISSING THE HAJJ (PILGRIMAGE) AND BEING DETAINED

٣ - بَابُ الفَوَاتِ وَالْإِحْصَارِ

645. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās . Allāh's Messenger # had been detained, [1] so he shaved his head, had intercourse with his wives and sacrificed his animals. Then he performed the 'Umrah' in the following year. [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

646. Narrated 'Aisha *: The Prophet 瓣 went in to visit Dubā'a^[2] bint Zubair bin Abdul-Muttalib *s and she said, "O Allāh's Messenger, I have intended to perform the pilgrimage, but I am suffering from pain." The Prophet 瓣 said, "Perform the pilgrimage, but make a condition (sbart) that 'the place where I will get out of the state of Ibrām will be where You (Allāh) restrain me.'" [Agreed upon].

647. Narrated 'Ikrima^[3] from Al-Hajjāj bin 'Amr Al-Ansāri &: Allāh's Messenger said, "Whoever breaks a leg or becomes lame he (may) come out of the state of *Ibrām*. However, he must perform the pilgrimage the following year." 'Ikrima said, "I asked Ibn 'Abbās

(750) عَن الْبُن عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَبُّسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما قَالَ: قَدْ أُخْصِرَ رَشُولُ اللهِ ﷺ، فَحَلَقَ رَأْسُهُ، وَجَامَعَ نِسَاءَهُ، وَنَحَرَ هَذْيَهُ، حَتَّى اعْتَمَرَ عَاماً قَابِلاً. رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(٦٤٦) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: دَخَلَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ عَلَى ضُبَاعَةَ بِنْتِ الزَّبْرِ ابْنِ عَبْدِ المُطَلِّبِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، فَقَالَتْ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنِّي أُرِيدُ الحَجَّ، وَأَنَا شَاكِيَّةٌ، فَقَالَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ: ﴿ حُجْي وَالشَرِطِي أَنَّ مَحِلِّى حَيْثُ حَبْشَتِي، مُثَقِّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٦٤٧) وَعَنْ عِكْرِمَةً عَنْ الحَجَّاجِ بْنِ عَشْرِهِ الأَنْصَارِيِّ رَعْنِي اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ مَثَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ مَنْ قَابِلٍ ، قَالَ عِكْرِمَةُ: فَسَأَلْتُ وَعَلَيْهِ الحَجْمُ مِنْةً: فَسَأَلْتُ الْبَرِيْمَ عَنْ ذَٰلِكَ، فَقَالَا: ابْنَ عَبَّاسٍ وَأَبًا هُرُيْرَةً عَنْ ذَٰلِكَ، فَقَالَا:

⁽¹⁾ What are the factors that may be regarded as a hindrance or an impediment on the way to one's performing the pilgrimage? The majority of scholars are of the opinion that anything interfering with the pilgrim causes a hindrance, whether it happens to be an enemy, disease, fright or inability to travel. Some maintain that *Ibsār* (hindrance) is only caused due to an enemy who is a disbeliever. There is a difference of opinion among the scholars in regard to the sacrifice to be offered by such a stranded pilgrim. The majority are of the view that one must slaughter the sacrificial animal exactly at the same place where one gets out of the state of *Ibrām* whether that place lies within the limits of the sacred region or outside it.

^[2] She was called Umm Hakim Dubā'a bint Az-Zubair bin 'Abdul-Muttalib bin Hāshim bin 'Abd-Manaf, the daughter of the Prophet's uncle. She was married to Al-Miqdād bin Al-Aswad for whom she bore 'Abdullāh and Karima. She died during 'Ali's Caliphate.

^{(3) &#}x27;Ikrima was called Abū 'Abdullāh 'Ikrima Al-Madani, the manumitted slave of 'Abdullāh bin 'Abbās. He descended from the Barbar and was one of the learned *Imāms*, and among the *Fiqb* scholars of Makkah. He was among the middle *Tābi'in* (students of the Companions) and probably died in Al-Madīnah in 107 H. at the age of 80 years.

and Abū Huraira about that, and they replied, 'He has spoken the truth.' 'I [Reported by Al-Khamsa; At-Tirmidhi graded it Hasan (good)].

صَدَقَ. رَوَاهُ الخَسْمَةُ، وَحَسْنَهُ النَّرِيدِيُّ.

قَالَ مُصَنَّقُهُ - حَافِظُ العَصْرِ، قَاضِي القُصَّاةِ أَبُو الفَصْلِ أَخِيرٍ الكِتَانِيُّ أَبُن حَجْرِ الكِتَانِيُ المَسْمَقَلَانِيُ المِصْرِيُّ، أَبْقَاهُ اللَّهُ فِي خَيْرٍ -: آخِرُ الجَتَابِ المُبَارَكِ، قَالَ: وَكَانَ الفَرَاعُ مِنْهُ فِي الْكِتَابِ المُبَارَكِ، قَالَ: وَكَانَ الفَرَاعُ مِنْهُ فِي وَمِيرِينَ وَتَعَانَ الفَرَاعُ مِنْهُ فِي وَمِيرِينَ وَتَعَانَ الفَرَاعُ مِنْهُ فِي يَتَابُ اللَّهُ فِي عَشَرِ مَنْهُ لِوَيْسِيمِ الأَوَّلِ سَنَهُ سَنْهِ وَمِعْرِينَ وَتَعَانَ الفَرَاعُ مِنْهُ وَمِعْمَ الْعِبَادَاتِ، يَتَابُ البُيْوعِ. وَصَلَّى يَتَابُ البُيْوعِ. وَصَلَّى لِنَابُ البُيوعِ. وَصَلَّى لَتَلْهُ عَلَيْهِ وَلَيْهُ لِكَاتِيهِ وَلَيْهُ لِكَاتِيهِ وَلَوْلِينَهُ وَلَيْهُ لِكَاتِيهِ وَلَوْلِينَهُ وَلِيلُهُ لَكِنَا اللَّهُ لِكَاتِيهِ وَلَوْلِينَهُ وَلِكُلُّ المُسْلِمِينَ، وَحَسْبُنَا اللَّهُ وَيَعْمَ المَنْهُ وَيَعْمَ اللَّهُ وَيَعْمَ اللَّهُ وَيَعْمَ اللَّهُ وَيَعْمَ اللَّهُ وَيَعْمَ اللَّهُ وَيَعْمَ .

7. THE BOOK OF BUSINESS TRANSACTIONS

Chapter 1 CONDITIONS OF BUSINESS TRANSACTIONS AND THOSE WHICH ARE FORBIDDEN

648. Narrated Rifa'a bin Rāfi' &: The Prophet & was asked, 'What type of earning is best?' He replied, "A man's work with his hand and every business transaction which is free from cheating or deception." [Reported by Al-Bazzār; Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

649. Narrated Jäbir bin 'Abdullāh &: I heard Allāh's Messenger & saying in the year of the Conquest, while he was in Makkah, "Allah and His Messenger have forbidden the sale of intoxicants. dead animals, swine and idols," He was asked, "O Allah's Messenger, what about the fat of a dead animal, for it is used for greasing ships, greasing the hides (of animals), and making oils for lamps?' He replied, "No, it is unlawful." Allah's Messenger & then added: "May Allah curse the Jews, when Allah the Most High declared the fat of such animals unlawful they melted it, then sold it and devoured its price (profit)[2] ." [Agreed upon].

٧ - كِتَابُ البُيُوعِ

بَابُ شُرُوطِهِ وَمَا نُهِيَ عَنْهُ مِنْهُ

(٦٤٨) عَنْ رِفَاعَةَ بُمِن رَافِيعِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ شُئِلَ أَيُّ الكَسْبِ أَطْيَبُ؟ قَالَ: اعْمَلُ النَّبِي ﷺ مُبْرُورٍ. قَالَ بَيْعِ مَبْرُورٍ. وَكُلُّ بَيْعِ مَبْرُورٍ. وَرَاهُ البَيْرُارُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ الحَاكِمُ.

(189) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ بْنِرَ عَبْدِ اللهِ رَضِيَ اللّهُ تَعَلَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّهُ سَمِعَ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ عَامَ اللّهَ وَرَسُولُهُ حَرَّمَ عَامَ اللّهَ وَرَسُولُهُ حَرَّمَ عَامَ اللّهَ وَرَسُولُهُ حَرَّمَ بَنِعَ اللّهَ وَرَسُولُهُ حَرَّمَ بَنِعَ الخَفْرِ وَالأَصْنَامِ». فَقَيلَ: يَا رَسُولُ اللهِ أَرَائِتَ شُخُومَ المَيْنَةِ؟ فَإِنَّهَا تُطْلَى بِهَا الشَّفُنُ، وَتُدْهَنُ بِهَا المَجْلُودُ، وَتُدْهَنُ بِهَا الجُلُودُ، وَتُدْهَنُ بِهَا الجُلُودُ، وَتُدْهَنُ بِهَا الجُلُودُ، فَمَّ قَالَ: ﴿لَا هُو حَرَامٌ»، ثُمَّا قَالَ اللّهُ لَنَا حَرَّمَ عَلَيْهِمْ شُخُومَهَا اللّهَ لَمَا حَرَّمَ عَلَيْهِمْ شُخُومَهَا اللّهَ وَمَا اللّهَ عَلَى اللّهَ عَلَى اللّهُ اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ اللّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ الْعَلْمَ عَلَى اللّهُ اللّ

^[1] Which occupation is the best? Scholars differ on this issue. Imam An-Nawawi collected the Abādith on this subject, examined them all carefully, and in the end gave his verdict that the profession of agriculture is the best among all, since most of the creatures benefit from it. The second best profession is craftsmanship and industry, and third is honest trade. Some scholars have given priority to industry, while others have preferred honest trade. Allāh is the best knower of everything.

^[2] It means that trading in liquor, dead animals, carrion, swine, idols and statues is prohibited. This *Hadith* also makes the point clear that the profits – of anything which is unlawful in itself – are also unlawful, and the change in its form does not cancel the prohibition, as the noble Prophet ﷺ ruled concerning the profits from fat.

650. Narrated Ibn Mas'ūd 泰: I heard Allāh's Messenger 縣 saying, "When two people who are arranging a business transaction disagree and there is no proof to arbitrate between them, the seller's word is final, or they may break the deal." [Reported by Al-Khamsa and authenticated by Al-Hākim].

651. Narrated Abū Mas'ūd Al-Ansāri &: Allāh's Messenger # prohibited the money paid for a dog, [1] the payment made to a prostitute, [2] and the payment given to a soothsayer [3]." [Agreed upon].

652. Narrated Jābir bin 'Abdullāh 🞄 : I was travelling on a camel of mine's which had become exhausted, so I intended to let it go free. The Prophet s followed me and made supplication for me and struck it. Then, it went as it had never done before. He then said. "Sell it to me for one Uqiya[4]." I replied, "No." He again said, "Sell it to me." So I sold it to him for one Uqiva. However, I stipulated that I should be allowed to ride it home. Then when I reached (home), I took the camel to him and he paid me its price in cash. I then went back and he sent someone after me. (When I came), he said, "Do you think that I asked you to reduce the value of your camel's price^[5] to take it? Take your camel and your money, for it is yours." [Agreed upon; and this is Muslim's wording).

(٠٠٠) وَعَن ابْن مَسْمُودِ رَضِيَ اللهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ وَاللهِ عَنْهُ عَالَى اللهِ عَنْهُ يَقُولُ: «إِذَا الحَتَلَفَ المُتَبَاعِتَانِ، وَلَيْسَ بَيْنَهُمَا بَيْنَةً، فَاللّقَوْلُ مَا يَشْعُهُ بَيْنَةً، فَاللّقَوْلُ مَا يَشْعُهُمُ ابْنَيْةً، فَاللّقَوْلُ مَا يَشُولُ رَبُّ السَّلْعَةِ أَوْ يَتَنَارَكَانِ». رَوَاهُ الخَسْمَةُ وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاجِهُ.

(٣٠١) وَعَن أَبِي مَسْعُودِ الأَنْصَارِيُّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ نَهَى عَنْ نَبَمَرِ الكَلْبِ، وَمَهْرِ البَغِيِّ، وَمُحْلُوَانِ الكَاهِنِ. مُثَقَّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

رُورَ عَنْ جَابِرِ بْنَرَ عَبْدِ اللهِ رَضِيَ اللّهُ لَمْ اللّهُ لَمْ اللّهُ عَنْهُمَا أَنَّهُ كَانَ عَلَى جَمَلِ لَهُ قَدْ أَغْيَا، فَأَلَدَ أَنْ عَلَى جَمَلِ لَهُ قَدْ أَغْيَا، فَأَلَدَ أَنْ عَلَى جَمَلِ لَهُ قَدْ أَغْيَا، فَأَلَدَ فَلَرَهُ مَنْ النَّبِيُ عَلَيْهِ، فَدَعَا لِي، وَضَرَبُهُ، فَالَ: يغييهِ فَيغَنُه بِغْنِيهِ بأُوتِيَّةٍ، قالت: لا، ثم قال: يغييهِ فَيغَنُه بأُوتِيّةٍ، وَاسْتَرَطْتُ حُمْلاتُهُ إِلَى أَهْلِي، فَلَمَّا فَلَهُ إِلَى أَهْلِي، فَلَمَّا بَلَغْتُ أَنِيتُهُ بِالجَمَلِ، فَنَقَدَنِي ثَمَنَهُ، ثُمَّ رَجَعْتُ، فَأَلْنَ الرَّبِي فَعَدُ جَمَلَكَ؟ خُذْ جَمَلَكَ المُتَافَى وَدَدَا السَّيَاقُ وَدَا السَّيَاقُ.

(٦٥٣) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: أَعْنَقَ رَجُلٌ مُّنَا عَبْداً لَّهُ عَنْ A ۞: A أَعْنَقَ رَجُلٌ مُّنَا عَبْداً لَّهُ عَنْ

^[1] According to most of the religious scholars, trading in dogs is also unlawful.

^[2] Earned money of a prostitute is unlawful. There is a consensus of the Muslim nation on this issue.

^[3] Soothsayers tell the future news by guessing, and earn money in this way. So this type of money accepted by fortune-tellers, is unlawful unanimously. Similarly, singing and its payment is also prohibited.

^[4] One *Ugiya* is equal to forty Dirhams.

^[5] May be you are thinking that I purchased your camel at a low price.

man among us declared that a slave belonging to him would be free after his death. However, he had no other property. So, the Prophet a sent for him (the slave) and sold him.[1] [Agreed upon].

654. Narrated Maimuna &, the wife of the Prophet # : A mouse fell into some ghee and died. The Prophet & was asked about it and he replied, "Throw it and what is surrounding (touching) it - away and eat it (that which remained untouched)." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri. Ahmad and An-Nasā'i added: "into a solid ghee."]

655. Narrated Abū Huraira 🚓: Allāh's Messenger # said, "If a mouse falls into ghee which is solid, throw the mouse and what is surrounding it away; but if it is in a liquid state do not go near it." [Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud reported it: Al-Bukhāri and Abū Hātim ruled it to be Wahm (an error) (in reporting it from Abu Huraira)].

656. Narrated Abū Zubair^[2] &: I asked Jābir (&) about the payment for cats and dogs^[3] and he replied, "The Prophet # warned sternly against that." [Reported by Muslim and An-Nasā'i: the latter added: "except a hunting dog."]

دُبُر، وَلَمْ يَكُن لَّهُ مَالٌ غَيْرُهُ، فَدَعَا بِهِ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ فَيَاعَهُ مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

كِتَابُ البيوع

(٦٥٤) وَعَنْ مَيْمُونَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا زَوْجِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، أَنَّ فَأْرَةً وَقَعَتْ فِي سَمْنٍ.، فَمَاتَتُ فِيهِ، فَسُئِلَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ عَنْهَا فَقَالَ: «أَلقُوهَا وَمَا حَوْلَهَا وَكُلُوهُ». رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُ، وَزَادَ أَحْمَدُ والنَّسَائِئُ: «فِي سَمْن ِجَامِدٍ».

(٦٥٥) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُوَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «إِذَا وَقَعَت الفَأْرَةُ فِي السَّمْنِ ، فَإِنْ كَانَ جَامِداً فَأَلْقُوهَا وَمَا حَوْلَهَا، وَإِنْ كَانَ مَائعاً فَلَا تَقْرَبُوهُ». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَقَدْ حَكَمَ عَلَيْهِ البُخَارِيُّ وَأَبُو حَاتِم بالوَهْم .

(٢٥٦) وَعَنْ أَبِي الزُّبَيْرِ قَالَ: سَأَلْتُ جَابِراً عَنْ ثَمَنِ السِّنَّوْرِ وَالكَلْبِ . فَقَالَ: زَجَرَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ عَنْ ذٰلِكَ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ وَالنَّسَائِئُ وَزَادَ: «إِلَّا كَلْبَ صَبْد».

(٦٥٧) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا Barira^[4] came

^[1] It means that selling a Mudabbar slave is permissible. Mudabbar slave, a male or female, is that one who is told by the master that he or she will be free after his (master's) death.

^[2] He is Muhammad bin Muslim bin Tadrus Al-Asadi Al-Makki, a manumitted slave of Hakim bin Hizām. He was a Tābi'i whose reliability was agreed upon by the Hadīth scholars. He died in 128 H.

^[3] Buying and selling of cats is unanimously unlawful. Likewise, there is no difference of opinion about common or ordinary dogs, about their trade being unlawful. However, there is a difference of opinion about hunting dogs, which are considered legal by some.

^[4] Barira was the slave-girl of 'Aisha 🐁 'Mother of the Believers' and she was married to Mughith, the slave of the family of Abū Ahmad bin Jahsh. When she was freed, the Prophet 鑑 gave her the freedom of choice and she chose to be free from her husband who was still a slave and automatically became divorced from him.

to her and said, "I had arranged[1] to buy my freedom for nine Uqiva; one Uqiya to be paid annually, so help me." 'Aisha 🐁 replied, "If your people are pleased that I should pay (the amount) to them, and I shall have the right to inherit from you, I shall do so." Barira went to her people and told them about it, but they refused the offer. When she came back Allāh's Messenger # was sitting (in the house). She said, "I offered that to them, but they insisted that the right to inherit from me^[2] should be theirs." The Prophet 鑑 heard that and 'Aisha 🐁 told him about it. So, he said to 'Aisha \$, "Take her and stipulate that the right to inherit from her will be yours. for the right of inheritance belongs only to the one who has set a slave free."[3] 'Aisha 🐁 did so. Allāh's Messenger 🝇 then stood up among the people to address them. So, after praising and extolling Allāh, he said, "To proceed; what is the matter with some men who make conditions which are not in the Book of Allah, the Might, the Majestic? Any condition which is not in Allāh's Book is invalid. Even if there are a hundred conditions. Allāh's Decision is more valid and Allāh's Condition is more binding. The right of inheritance belongs only to the one who has set a slave free." [Agreed upon and the wording is Al-Bukhāri's]. Muslim has:

قَالَتْ: جَاءَتْنِي بَرِيرَةُ، فَقَالَتْ: إِنِّي كَاتَبْتُ أَهْلِي عَلَى تِسْعِ أَوَاقِ، فِي كُلِّ عَامَ أُوقِيَّةٌ، فَأَعَنَّىٰ ، قُلْتُ: إِنْ أَحَتَّ أَهْلُكِ أَنْ أَعُدَّهَا لَهُمْ، وَيَكُونُ ولآؤُكِ لِي فَعَلْتُ، فَذَهَبَتْ بَرِيرَةُ إِلَى أَهْلِهَا، فَقَالَتْ لَهُمْ، فَأَبُوا عَلَيْهَا، فَجَاءَتْ مِنْ عِنْدِهِمْ، وَرَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ جَالِسٌ، فَقَالَتْ: إِنِّي قَدْ عَرَضْتُ ذٰلِكَ عَلَيْهِمْ فَأَمَوْا، إِلَّا أَنْ يَكُونَ الولاءُ لَهُمْ، فَسَمِعَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ، فَأَخْبَرَتْ عَائِشَةُ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، فَقَالَ: «خُذِيهَا وَاشْتَرطِي لَهُمُ الوَلَاءَ، فَإِنَّمَا الوَلَاءُ لَمَنْ أَعْتَقَ»، فَفَعَلَتْ عَائِشَةُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، ثُمَّ قَامَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ فِي النَّاسِ خَطِيبًا، فَحَمِدَ اللَّهَ وَأَثْنَى عَلَيْهِ، ثُمَّ قَالَ: «أَمَّا بَعْدُ: فَمَا بَالُ رِجَالِ يَشْتَرطُونَ شُرُوطاً لَيْسَتْ فِي كِتَابِ اللهِ عَزَّ وَجَلُّ؟ مَا كَانَ مِنْ شَرْطٍ لَيْسَ فِي كِتَابِ اللهِ فَهُوَ بَاطِلٌ، وَإِنْ كَانَ مِائَةَ شُرْطِ، قَضَاءُ الله أَحَقُّ، وَشَرْطُ اللهِ أَوْثَقُ، وَإِنَّمَا الوَلَاءُ لِمَنْ أَعْتَقَ». مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْه، واللَّفْظُ لِلْبُخَارِي، وَعِنْدَ مُسْلِم قَالَ: «اشْتَريها، وَأَعْتِقِيهَا، وَاشْتَرطِي لَهُمُ ال لآءً».

^[1] Kitābat (غباض): or Mukātaba (خکاتی) means the written contract of liberation of a slave or slave-girl from his/her master against the payment of money. Either side can make this proposal, i.e. the master may ask for the money, or the slave can offer money for his freedom.

الأعلى After the death of a *Mukātab* slave (male or female) his/her left property is called *Wala'* (- $ext{y}_3$). If somebody pays the amount of the contract (مكانب) and liberates the *Makātab* (مكانب) – slave or slave-girl, than in case of the death of this slave or slave-girl, he who has paid the money, inherits the property; and if the contract money is paid by the slave himself, than his property goes to his kins.

^[3] It means that the freeing of a Makātab (a slave or slave-girl who has made a written contract for freedom) for a fixed amount is lawful.

"Buy her, set her free and make the stipulation that the right to inherit from her will be yours."

658. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: 'Umar () forbade the sale of the slave-women who have given birth to children [1] (of their owners). He said, "She is not to be sold, bestowed as a gift or inherited. He (the owner) enjoys her as long as he lives and when he dies, she becomes free." [Reported by Mālik and Al-Baihaqi. He said: Some of the narrators have attributed it to the Prophet mistakenly].

659. Narrated Jābir 本: We used to sell our slave-women who had borne (our) children while the Prophet 囊 was still living, and he saw no harm in that. [Reported by An-Nasā'i, Ibn Mājah and Ad-Dāraqutni. Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

660. Narrated Jäbir bin 'Abdulläh &: Alläh's Messenger # prohibited the sale of excess water^[2]. [Reported by Muslim]. In another narration, he added: "And hiring a camel to impregnate a she-camel."

661. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: Allāh's Messenger & forbade the sale of a stallion's semen (to use for impregnation). [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

662. Narrated (Ibn 'Umar) . Allāh's Messenger forbade the transaction called 'Habalal- Habala' which was

(٣٥٨) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: نَهَى عُمَرُ عَنْ بَنْع أُمَّهَات عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: نَهَى عُمَرُ عَنْ بَنْع أُمَّهَات الأُوْلَادِ، فَقَالَ: لَا تُبَاعُ، وَلَا تُوهَبُ، وَلَا تُورَثُ، يَشْتَمْتِعُ بِهَا مَا بَدَا لَهُ، فَإِذَا مَاتَ فَهِيَ حُرَّةً. رَوَاهُ البَّبَهَقِيُّ وَمَالِكٌ، وَقَالَ: رَفَعَهُ بَعْضُ الرُّواةِ فَوْجِمَ. الرُّواةِ فَوْجِمَ.

(٦٠٩) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كُنَّا نَبِيعُ سَرَارِيَنَا أُمِّهَاتِ الأَوْلَادِ، والنَّبِيُّ ﷺ حَيِّ، لَا يَرَى بِذٰلِكَ بَأْسَاً. رَوَاهُ النَّسَائِيُّ وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ وَالدَّارَفُطُنِيْ، وَصَحْمَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ.

ر (٦٦٠) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللهِ وَضِيَ اللّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عَنْ بَيْعِرِ فَضُّلِ المَاءِ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ، وَزَادَ فِي رِوَايَةٍ: «وَعَنْ بَيْعِرِ ضِرَابِ الجَمَلِرِ».

رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى
 عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عَنْ عَشبِرِ
 الفَّخلِ. رَوَاهُ اللَّبُخَارِيُّ.

(٦٦٢) وَعَنْهُ أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ نَهَى عَنْ بَيْعٍ ِ حَبَلِ الحَبَلَةِ، وَكَانَ بَيْعًا يَتَبَايَعُهُ أَهْلُ

ill Ummahātal-Aulād (أم الولد) or Ummul-Walad (أم الولد) is that slave-girl who bears a child for her master. Such a slave-girl has to stay with her master till his death and after the death of her master she is free. The master's children have no right or claim over her. Whether a master can sell or not the slave-girl after she has given birth to his child, is a disputed issue.

^[2] Withholding or selling of surplus water beyond what one needs is strictly prohibited, whatever may be the source of water, a well or spring, on one's own land or someone else's. However, water stored for personal use can be sold and it is lawful.

^[3] There were two forms of this trade. The example of first form is to buy the offspring of an animal which itself is yet to be born, by making the payment in advance. The second form is

one entered into in the *Jabiliya* era, whereby a man bought a she-camel which was to be the offspring of a she-camel which was still in its mother's womb. [Agreed upon, and the wording is Al-Bukhāri's].

663. Narrated (Ibn 'Umar) \$\.\ \text{Allāh's} Messenger \$\mathscr{#}\text{forbade selling or giving away the right of inheritance from a freed slave.} \text{[A]} [Agreed upon].

664. Narrated Abū Huraira &: Allāh's Messenger & forbade a transaction determined by throwing stones, and the transaction which involves some uncertainty (or cheating). [2] [Reported by Muslim].

665. Narrated (Abū Huraira) 🎄: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "If anyone buys grain he must not sell it till he weighs it." [Reported by Muslim].

666. Narrated (Abū Huraira) **4**: Allāh's Messenger **2** forbade two transactions combined in one. [3] [Reported by Ahmad and An-Nasā'i. At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sahih (authentic)].

Abū Dā'ud has: "If anyone makes two transactions combined in one he is entitled to take the lower price, or (it is considered) usury." [4]

الجَاهِلِيَّةِ، كَانَ الرَّجُلُ يَبْتَاعُ الجَزُورَ إِلَى أَنْ تُثْتَجَ النَّاقَةُ، ثُمَّ تُثْتَجَ النِّي فِي بَطْنِهَا. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفُظُ لِلْبُخَارِيُّ.

(٦٦٣) وَعَنْهُ أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ نَهَى عَنْ بَيْعٍ ِ الوَلاَءِ وَعَنْ هِبَتِهِ. مُتَّقَنَّ عَلَيْهِ.

(٦٦٤) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عَنْ بَيْعِ الحَصَاةِ، وَعَنْ بَيْعِ الغَرَرِ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٢٦٥) وَعَنْهُ أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: مَنِرِ المُنتَرَى طَعَاماً فَلَا يَبِعْهُ حَتَّى يَكْتَالُهُ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٢٦٦) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عَنْ بَيْعَتَيْنِر فِي بَيْعَةٍ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالنَّسَائِيُّ، وَصَحَّحُهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ وَابْنُ جِئَانَ.

وَلَأْمِي دَاوُدَ: «مَنْ بَاعَ بَيْعَتَيْنِ فِي بَيْمَةِ فَلَهُ أَوْكُسُهُمَا أَوِ الرِّبَا».

to sell an animal on condition to deliver it at the time when its offspring is born. Both forms of this kind of trade are prohibited due to unknown factors in the contract.

^[1] Al-Walā' (الراكا) is a right to inherit the property of a freed slave by the person who has freed him. The Hadith make it clear that Walā' is like lineage. One's lineage cannot be sold or gifted, and likewise selling Walā' or offering it as a gift is prohibited.

^{[2] &}quot;Pebble throwing trade" is another form of a trade containing the unknown. In this trade the seller asks the buyer to throw a pebble, and whatever the pebble falls upon, that thing is given to the buyer on a pre-fixed price. This form of trade is also prohibited because there is fraud in it. The price of the thing on which the pebble falls may be more or less than the pre-fixed price. There are many forms of this type of trade and all of them are prohibited. For example, to sell a lost slave or an animal, flying birds or fish in water, etc.

^[3] In this form of trade the seller fixes two prices for an article. One price for cash payment and the second price for credit purchase. The extra money added to the credit purchase is considered interest, and therefore unlawful.

^[4] Some scholars of *Hadīth* have disapproved of this last narration which has Muhammad bin

667. Narrated 'Amr bin Shu'aib on his father's authority from his grand father (*): Allāh's Messenger 鑑 said, "The condition of a loan combined with a sale is not lawful, [1] nor two conditions relating to one transaction. nor the profit arising from something which is not in one's charge, nor selling what is not in your possession." [Reported by Al-Khamsa. At-Tirmidhi, Ibn Khuzaima and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)]. Al-Hākim reported it in 'Uloom Al-Hadith, from the narration of Abu Hanifah, from 'Amr bin Shu'aib, with the wording: He (the Prophet) forbade a transaction (combined with) a condition. At-Tabarani reported it through this chain of narrators in al-Awsat, and it is Gbarib (reported by a single narrator).

668. Narrated ('Amr bin Shu'aib on his father's authority from his grand father &): Allāh's Messenger forbade the type of transaction in which a security deposit was paid. [2] [Reported by Mālik, who said, "It reached me (with mentioning its chain of narrators) on the authority of 'Amr bin Shu'aib that..." i.e., the aforesaid *Hadītb*].

669. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . I bought some oil in the market and when I had taken it (from the seller), a man met me and offered to give me a good profit

(٦٦٧) وَعَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ شُعْشِهِ عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ جَدِّهِ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا يَجِلُّ سَلَفُ وَيَتِكُّ، وَلَا شَرْطَانِ فِي بَشِهِ، وَلَا رِبْحُ مَا لَا يُضْمَنُ، وَلَا بَيْعُ مَا لَيْسَ عِنْدَكَ. رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ وَابْنُ خُزَيْمَةً وَالحَاجِهُ.

وَأَخْرَجُهُ فِي عُلُومِ الحَدِيثِ ، مِنْ رِوَايَةٍ أَبِي حَنْ عَنْ عَمْرِو المَذْكُورِ، بِلْفَظِ الْهَى عَنْ بَيْعِ وَسَلَمْ اللَّمْ اللَّمْ اللَّمْ اللَّمْ اللَّمْ اللَّمْ اللَّمْ اللَّمْ النِّي الأُوْسَطِ، وَهُوَ غَرِيبٌ. فِي الأَوْسَطِ، وَهُوَ غَرِيبٌ.

(٦٦٨) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عَنْ بَيْعِ الغُرْبَانِ . رَوَاهُ مَالِكٌ، قَالَ: بَلَغْنِي عَنْ عَمْرُو بُنِ شُعْنِب بِهِ.

(٦٦٩) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَهُمَا رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، قَالَ: أَبْتَعْتُ زَيْتًا فِي الشُّوقِ، فَلَمَّا اسْتَوْجَنْتُهُ لَقِبَنِي رَجُلٌ فَأَعْطَانِي بِهِ رَبُحًا حَسَنًا،

^{&#}x27;Amr as one of its narrators. However, it has been graded *Hasan* or *Sahib* by others. See: *Irwā' Al-Ghaleel*, Shaykh Al-Albani, 5/149-150.

^[11] This trade has two forms. The first form is of a man who sells a horse for one hundred riyals on credit with the condition that the buyer will make the payment in a certain period of time. If the buyer is unable to make the payment within the fixed time, than the seller purchases the horse back for fifty riyals and leaves him indebted for the balance fifty riyals. This is unlawful. The second form of this trade is that a house valued at twelve thousand riyals, is sold to someone for ten thousand riyals with the condition that the buyer would lend two thousand rivals to the seller.

 $^{^{[2]}}$ $Urb\bar{a}n$ (عربان) means a security deposit towards the purchase of an item. If somebody settles the price of an animal and pays a certain amount as a deposit such that if he did not buy this animal, the seller will keep the deposited money; and in case the deal is accomplished, the deposited amount will be deducted from the price. This is prohibited

for it. Then, when I was about to finalize the deal with him, a man caught hold of my forearm from behind. So I turned and found that he was Zaid bin Thābit (泰). He said, "Do not sell it in the place where you have bought it, till you take it to your dwelling. This is because Allāh's Messenger 鑑 forbade that commodities to be sold in the place where they were bought, till the traders take them to their dwellings." [Reported by Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud; this wording is from Abu Dawud. Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

فَارَدْتُ أَنْ أَضْرِبَ عَلَى يَدِ الرَّجُلِ ، فَأَخَذَ رَبِكُ مِّنْ خَلْفِي بِذِرَاعِي فَالتَفَتُّ فَإِذَا هُوَ زَيْدُ بْنُ ثَلْبِ ... فَقَالَ: لَا تَبِعُهُ حَيْثُ ابْنُعْتُهُ، حَتَّى تَتُحُوزَهُ إِلَى رَحْلِكَ، فَإِنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ نَهَى أَنْ تَتُحُوزَهُ إِلَى رَحْلِكَ، فَإِنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يُحُوزَهَا التُّجَّارُ لَبُوا اللهِ عَلَى يَحُوزَهَا التُّجَّارُ لِللهَ فَلَى رِحَالِهِمْ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو وَاوْدَ، وَاللَّفْظُ لُهُ، وَصَحَحَهُ ابْنُ جَبَّانَ وَالْحَاكِمُ.

670. Narrated (Ibn 'Umar) . I said, "O Allāh's Messenger, I sell camels at Al-Baqi'. I sell for Dinars and take Dirhams (for them), and sell for Dirhams, and take Dinars (for them), I take this for that and give that for this (i.e. Dinars and Dirhams)." Allāh's Messenger * replied, "There is no harm in taking them at the current rate^[2] so long as you do not separate leaving something still to be settled (from the exchange)." [Reported by *Al-Khamsa* and Al-Hākim graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

(٧٧٠) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: قُلْتُ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنَّي اللهِ اللَّذَانِيرِ، وَآخُدُ اللّهِ اللّهَ اللّهِ اللّهِ اللّهَ اللّهُ الللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ

671. Narrated (Ibn 'Umar) . Allāh's Messenger # forbade bidding against one another (to raise the price). [3] [Agreed upon].

(٦٧١) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عَنِ النَّجْشرِ. مُتَقَنَّ عَلَيْهِ.

(٦٧٢) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ بْن ِ عَبْدِ اللهِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ

according to this *Hadith.* However, some scholars consider the *Hadith* weak. Hence, it is prohibited by Imam Malik and Ash-Shaafi'i and allowed by Imam Ahmad.

^[1] It means that an article bought at a place should not be sold at the same place, until it is taken into the buyer's possession before reselling.

^[2] The Dirham (درهر) is a silver coin, and the Dinar (دیتار) is a gold coin. Exchange of Dinar and Dirham and vice versa is legal, provided the exchange is concluded at the rate of the day and each party receives the amount due to him in full. This is known as the 'trade of exchange (of currencies).'

^[3] Najsb (الجش) means making a bid merely to raise the price of an article by bidder who does not really intend to buy the item.

^[4] Mubāqala (المحاقلة) is selling unharvested grain in the field for an already harvested grain

Muzābana, [1] and Mukhābara. [2] He also forbade Thunya [3] unless it was explicit (a known amount). [Reported by Al-Khamsa excluding Ibn Mājah; At-Tirmidhi graded it Sabib (authentic)].

تَعَالَى عَنْهُمًا، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ نَهَى عَنِ المُحَافَلَةِ، وَعَنِ المُحَافِلَةِ، وَعَنِ الثُّيَّا، إِلَّ أَنْ تُعْلَمَ. رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ إِلَّا الْبَرَّ مَاجَهُ الرَّبِقِيْ. مَاجَهُ الرَّبِقِيْنَ.

673. Narrated Anas .: Allāh's Messenger forbade *Mubāqala*, *Mukbādara*^[4], *Mulāmasa*^[5], *Munābadba*^[6] and *Muzābana*. [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

(٣٧٣) وَعَنْ أَنْسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عَن المُحَاقَلَةِ، وَالمُخَاضَرَةِ، وَالمُلاَمَسَةِ، وَالمُنَابَلَةِ، وَالمُنَاتَةِ. وَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُ.

674. Narrated Tawus^[7] from Ibn 'Abbās , Allāh's Messenger said, "Do not go out to meet riders (to conduct business with them), [8] and a city-dweller must not sell for a man from

(۲۷٤) وَعَنْ طَاوُسِ عَنِ الْبَنِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا تَلَقُّوُا الرِّكْبُانَ، وَلَا يَبِيعُ حَاضِرٌ لِبَادٍ»، قُلْتُ

like wheat.

^[1] Muzābana (المزابة) is to exchange the fruit which is still on the tree with the dry fruit. This is not allowed.

^[2] Mukbābara (النجابرة) is renting land for a half or a third of its produce. This transaction is allowed in principle and even the Prophet ﷺ practiced it with the Jews of Khaibar. But what this Hadīth forbids is specifying the produce of a certain portion of the land belonging to the owner and the other portion to the tenant which involved a lot of conflicts between the land owners and the tenants when the crops of the owner's portion failed and the tenants produced or vice-versa. However, there is no harm if both parties agree to share the whole produce according to fixed percentages.

^[3] Thunya (نيا) is also a kind of trade in which a person sells the fruit of his garden still on trees for a certain price but on condition that he will keep some of its fruit. This is unlawful because 'some' is not a fixed measure and therefore evolves the unknown. However, if the condition specifies the amount to be withheld, it is allowed.

^[4] The buying of an unripe crop, before it is ready to be reaped is Mukbādara (المخاضرة).

^[5] Mulāmasa (السلامسة) is a buy for pre-fixed price with closed eyes or in darkness just by the first touch of the hand. For instance, a man goes to a cloth merchant and proposes to him to buy a roll of cloth for a pre-fixed price. He agrees to buy it on the condition that he will close his eyes and will go to touch the rolls, then he will buy whichever roll he touches first. This kind of trade is prohibited.

^[6] Munābadba (المنابذة) is to throw the roll of cloth in the dark to each other, and to accept whatever the catch is without seeing the goods.

^[7] He is Abū 'Abdur-Rahmān Tawus bin Kisān Al-Farisi and a manumitted slave of Al-Himyar. His name was Dhakwān and Tawus was his nickname. He was a reliable virtuous *Fiqh* scholar and a *Tābī'ī* of the third grade. He said, "I met 50 of the *Sabāba* alive." Ibn 'Abbās said, "I hink Fawus will enter Paradise." And 'Amr bin Dinār said, "I never saw anyone like him." He died in 106 H.

^[8] Receiving the trade caravans outside the town, with the intention of buying their goods at a lower price, and keeping them unaware of the market price of their merchandise is

the desert." I asked Ibn 'Abbās &, "What did he mean by 'A city-dweller must not sell for a man from the desert." He replied, "He should not act as a broker for him." [Agreed upon and the wording is Al-Bukhān's].

675. Narrated Abū Huraira 🚓: Allāh's Messenger 🙊 said, "Do not go out to meet what is being brought (to market for sale). Whoever has done so and bought some of it, when its owner comes to the market he has the choice (of canceling the deal)." [Reported by Muslim].

676. Narrated (Abū Huraira) &: Allāh's Messenger forbade, a city-dweller to sell for a man from the desert; one to bid against another (to raise the price); [11] that someone sell (his product) by canceling the sale of his brother; to propose (marriage) to a woman after his brother has done so; or a woman to ask to have her sister divorced in order to deprive her of what belongs to her. [2] [Agreed upon]. Muslim has: "A Muslim must not offer a price above that offered [3] by another Muslim."

677. Narrated Abū Ayub Al-Ansāri 🌲: I heard Allāh's Messenger ﷺ saying, "Whoever separates a mother from her لاِبْمِن عَبَّاسِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا: مَا قَوْلُهُ ﷺ: لَا يَبِيعُ حَاضِرٌ لِبَادٍ؟ قَالَ: لَا يَكُونُ لَهُ سِمْسَاراً. مُثَفَّقُ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّفْظُ لِلْبُخَارِئِي.

(٧٧٥) وَعَنْ أَبِي مُرْيَرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "لَا تَلَقُّوا الجَلَبَ، فَمَنْ تُلُقِّي فَاشْتُوِى مِنْهُ، فَإِذَا أَتَى سَيِّدُهُ السُّوقَ قَهُوَ بِالخِيَارِ». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(1۷٦) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ أَنْ يَبِيعَ حَاضِرٌ لِيَادٍ، وَلَا تَنَاجَشُوا، وَلَا تَنَاجَشُوا، وَلَا يَنَاجَشُوا، وَلَا يَبَعِلُبُ عَلَى بَيْعِرِ أَخِيدٍ، وَلَا يَخطُبُ عَلَى خِطْبَةٍ أَخِيدٍ، وَلَا تَشْأَلُ المَرْأَةُ طَلَاقَ أَخْتِهَا، لِتَكْفَأَ مَا فِي إِنَائِهَا. مُثَفِّقٌ عَلَيْهِ، أَخْتِهَا، لِتَكْفَأَ مَا فِي إِنَائِهَا. مُثَفِّقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَلِمُسْلِمُ عَلَى سَومِ أَخِيهِ.

(٦٧٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي أَيُّوبَ الأَنْصَارِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ:

prohibited. The caravans should be allowed to reach the trade center and know the rate of the market. Prior to this, buying and selling is prohibited. If somebody makes such a deal, and the seller comes to know that he has been tricked, he has the option to cancel the deal.

^[1] Najsh (النجش) has been explained before. Another explanation of the word is that if someone buys something from a shopkeeper, the other shopkeeper is not allowed to allure the buyer to buy from him instead by offering his goods at a lower price.

^[2] It is not allowed for a woman to cause hatred between a husband and wife, in order to cause a divorce between them, so that she may then marry that man. Similarly, it is also unlawful to marry one's daughter or sister or any other relation to a man by compelling him to divorce the first wife.

^[3] For example, someone is selling something for one riyal and the buyer has agreed to the price. It is not allowed for someone else to convince the seller not to sell his property for one riyal, by offering to pay him one and a quarter for that same thing. However, in an auction, bidding is allowed.

child, May Allāh separate him from his beloved ones on the Day of Resurrection." [Reported by Ahmad. At-Tirmidhi and Al-Hākim graded it *Sabib* (authentic). However, it's chain of narrators has some weakness. But, it has a supporting narration].

678. Narrated 'Ali bin Abū Tālib &: Allāh's Messenger @ commanded me to sell two youths who were brothers. I sold them and separated them (by selling them to different people). When I made mention of that to the Prophet @, he said, "Find them and get them back, [1] and do not sell them except that they are together." [Reported by Ahmad, and the narrators of his chain are reliable. Indeed Ibn Khuzaima, Ibn Al-Jārud, Ibn Hibbān, Al-Hākim, At-Tabarāni and Ibn Qattān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

679. Narrated Anas bin Mālik &: When prices were high in Al-Madīnah in the time of Allāh's Messenger ﷺ, the people said, "O Allāh's Messenger prices have become high, so fix them for us". Allāh's Messenger replied, "Allāh is the One Who fixes prices, Who withholds, gives lavishly and provides. [2] And I hope that when I meet Allāh, the Most High, none of you will have any claim on me for an injustice regarding blood or property." [Reported by Al-Khamsa excluding An-Nasā'i; Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

680. Narrated Ma'mar bin 'Abdullāh^[3]

الْمَنْ فَزَقَ بَيْنَ وَالِدَةِ وَوَلَدِهَا، فَزَقَ اللَّهُ بَيْنَهُ وَبَيْنَ أَجْبَّدِهِ يَوْمَ القِيَامَةِ". رَوَاهُ أَحْمَلُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ التُرمِذِيُّ وَالحَاكِمُ، لَكِنْ فِي إِسْنَادِهِ مَقَالٌ، وَلَهَ وَالرَّهِذِيُّ وَالحَاكِمُ، لَكِنْ فِي إِسْنَادِهِ مَقَالٌ، وَلَهَ

(٦٧٨) وَعَنْ عَلِيِّ بْنِ أَبِي طَالِبِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: أَمْرَنِي رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ أَنْ أَبِيعَ غُلامَيْنِ أَخَوَيْنِ، فَبِغْتُهُمَا، فَفَرَّفْتُ بَيْنَهُمَا، فَلَكُوثُ ذَٰلِكَ لِلنَّبِيِّ ﷺ، فَقَالَ: «أَدْرِكُهُمَا فَارْتَجِعْهُمَا، وَلَا تَبِغْهُمَا إِلَّا جَمِيعاً». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ، وَرِجَالُهُ لِقَاتُ، وَقَدْ صَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ خُزَيْمَةَ وَابْنُ الجَارُوهِ وَابْنُ حِبَّانَ وَالحَاكِمُ وَالطَّبَرَانِيُ وَابْنُ الجَارُوهِ وَابْنُ حِبَّانَ وَالحَاكِمُ وَالطَّبَرَانِيُ

(1۷۹) وَعَنْ أَنَسِ بْنِ مَالِكٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَهْدِ عَنْهُ قَالَ: غَلَا الشّعْرُ فِي المَدِينَةِ عَلَى عَهْدِ رَسُولِ اللهِ فقال النّاسُ: يا رسولَ اللهِ! غَلَا الشّعرُ، فَسَعْرُ النّا، فَقَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "إِنَّ اللّه لهُوَ المُسَعِّرُ القَايِضُ البّاسِطُ الرَّازِقُ، وَإِنِّي لاَرْجُو أَنْ أَلْقَى اللَّه يَعَالَى وَلَيْسَ أَحَدٌ مِنْكُمْ يَطْلُبُنِي بِمَطْلَمَةٍ فِي دَمٍ وَلَا مَالٍ". وَوَاهُ الخَسْسَةُ إِلَّا النّسَاعِيْ، وَصَحَّحَهُ أَبْنُ حِبَّانَ.

(٦٨٠) وَعَنْ مَعْمَرِ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللهِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ

^[1] The foregoing *Hadīth* indicates that creating separation is not permitted. This *Hadīth* makes it clear that if such business is conducted it stands cancelled.

^[2] This *Hadīth* indicates that controlling of price is prohibited because it causes loss to businessmen on one side, and on the other it creates a made-up famine. Bare necessities of life become scarce and many vices erupt from it.

^[3] Ma'mar bin 'Abdullāh bin Nāfi' bin Nadla bin Harthān Al-'Adawi, who was the son of Abū Ma'mar, was a senior *Sabābi* who had become a Muslim early and migrated to Abyssinia (Ethiopia). His migration to Al-Madīnah was delayed, then he migrated to it and settled there.

é: Allâh's Messenger ﷺ said, "None withholds goods till the price rises^[1] but a sinner." [Reported by Muslim].

681 Narrated Abū Huraira 🚓: The Prophet 鑑 said, "Do not tie up the udders of camels and goats. He who buys them after that (has been done) has two choices open to him after milking them: he may keep them if he wishes, or may return them along with one Sā' of dates." [Agreed upon]. Muslim has: "He has three days[2] in which to decide whether to keep them or not."[3] Another narration by Muslim. which Al-Bukhāri reported as Mu'llaq (with a broken chain), has: "He must return with it one Sā' of any grain but wheat." [Al-Bukhāri said, "(One Sā' of) dates" is mentioned in more narrations than not).

682. Narrated Ibn Mas'ūd 🐗: If anyone buys a goat whose udder has been tied up and he returned it, he must return with it one Sā'. [Reported by Al-Bukhāri]. Al-Isma'ili added: "of dates."

683. Narrated Abū Huraira s: Allāh's Messenger sonce came upon a heap of grain, and when he put his hand inside it, his fingers felt some dampness. So, he asked, "What is this, O owner of the grain?" He replied, "Rain had fallen on it, O Allāh's Messenger." He said, "Why did you not

تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنْ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ، قَالَ: «لَا يَحْكَكِرُ إِلَّا خَاطِئَ». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ

(٦٨١) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ،
عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، قَالَ: «لَا تُصَوَّوا الإلِلَ
وَالنَّنَمَ، فَمَن الْبَنَّاعَهَا بَعْدُ فَهُوَ بِخَيْرِ النَّظْرَيْنِ
بَعْدَ أَنْ يَحْلُبُهَا، إِنْ شَاءَ أَمْسَكُهَا، وَإِنْ شَاءَ
رَدَّهَا وَصَاعاً مِنْ تَمْرِه، مُثَنَّقُ عَلَيْهِ، وَلِمُسْلِمٍ:
«فَهُوَ بِالخِيَارِ ثَلَاثَةَ أَيَّامٍ». وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لَهُ عَلَقَهَا
البُخَارِئُ: «وَرَدَّ مَعَهَا صَاعاً مُنْ طَعَامٍ لَا النَّخَارِئُ: وَالنَّمُ أَنْثُهُ

(٦٨٧) وَعَن ابْن مَسْمُودِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَی عَنْهُ قَالَ: مَن اشْتَرَی شَاةٌ مُحَفَّلَةٌ فَرَدَّمَا فَلَیْرُدَّ مَمَهَا صَاعاً. رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ، وَزَادَ الإِسْمَاعِیلُیُّ؛ «بِهْ تَشْر». «بِهْ تَشْر».

(٦٨٣) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ مَرَّ عَلَى صُبْرَةٍ مِنْ طَعَامٍ، فَأَدْخَلَ يَدَهُ فِيهَا، فَنَالَتْ أَصَابِعُهُ بَلَلاً، فَقَالَ: «مَا هَذَا؟ يَا صَاحِبَ الطَّعامِ!» قَالَ: أَصَابَتُهُ السَّمَاءُ يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! قَالَ: «أَفَلًا جَعَلْتُهُ فَوْقَ الطَّعَامِ، كَنْ يَرَاهُ النَّاسِمُ؟ مَنْ غَشَّ فَلْنَسَ

^[1] Ibtikār (الاحتكار) means a planned hoarding of something for future profit. Ibtikār is prohibited and unlawful as it creates artificial scarcity of essential foodstuff.

^[2] In the mentioned Hadith, three days have been prescribed because at least three days are required to assess the actual quantity of milk in the udder. Sometimes fodder and change of place is also a cause in increase of milk. If the milk is suspended in the udder for personal need and not for sale, it is permissible. In any case, suspension of milk in the udder harms the animal.

 $^{^{[3]}}$ It means that if the buyer senses something wrong with the deal, he can return it within three days. If the purchase is a dairy cattle, it should be returned with a Sa^{\prime} (2.6 kg) of any kind of grain, not particularly dates.

put it (the damp part) on the top of the foodstuff so that people might see it? Whoever cheats has nothing to do with me." [1] [Reported by Muslim].

684. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Buraida on his father's authority &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Whoever hoards grapes in the vintage (harvest) season till he sells them to those who make wine from them, has hastily thrown himself into Hell-fire with clear knowledge." [At-Tabarāni reported it in Al-Awsat with a Hasan (good) chain of narrators]

685. Narrated 'Aisha &: Allāh's Messenger said, "Any profit goes to the one who bears responsibility." [Reported by Al-Khamsa. Al-Bukhāri and Abū Dā'ud graded it Da'if (weak). At-Tirmidhi, Ibn Khuzaima, Ibn Al-Jārud, Ibn Hibbān, Al-Hākim and Ibn Al-Qattān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

686. Narrated 'Urwa Al-Bāriqi^[4] s: The Prophet save him a Dinar to buy a sacrificial animal or a sheep. He bought two sheep with it, sold one of them for a Dinar and came back to him with a goat and a Dinar. So he invoked blessings on him in his business dealings,^[5] and he was such that if he had bought soil (of the earth) he would

مِنِّي﴾. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(1742) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِرِ بُرْيُدَةً، عَنِ أَبِيهِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: فَمَنْ حَبْسَ العِنْبَ أَيَّامَ القِطَاف ، حَتَّى يَبِيعَهُ مِثَنْ يَتَّخِذُهُ خَمْراً، فَقَدْ تَقَحَّمَ النَّارَ عَلَى بَصِيرَةً». رَوَاهُ الطَّبَرَانِيُّ فِي الأَوْسَطِ بِإِسْنَادِ حَسَن .

(٦٨٥) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: اللحَرَاجُ بِالضَّمَانِ ". رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَضَعَقْهُ البُخَارِيُّ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ؛ وَصَحَّحَهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ وَابْنُ خُرَيْسَةً وَابْنُ أَلْجَارُودِ وَأَبْنُ حِبَّانَ وَالحَاجِمُ وَابْنُ القَطَّانِ.

(٦٨٦) وَعَنْ عُرْوَةَ البَارِفِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ اللَّهِ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ اللَّهِ تَعَالَمُ لِيَشْتَرِيَ بِهِ أَضْحِيَّةٌ أَوْ شَاةً، فَاشْتَرَى بِهِ شَاتَيْنِ ، فَبَاعَ إِحْدَاهُمَا بِدِينَارٍ ، فَأَتَاهُ بِشَاقٍ وَدِينَارٍ ، فَدَعَا لَهُ بِالرَّكَةِ فِي بَيْعِو ، فَكَانَ لَو الشَّرَى تُواباً لَرَبحَ فِيه . رَوَاهُ الخَسْمَةُ إِلَّا الشَّائِيِّ ، وَقَدْ أَخْرَجَهُ فِيه . رَوَاهُ الخَسْمَةُ إِلَّا الشَّائِيِّ ، وَقَدْ أَخْرَجَهُ

^[1] It means that cheating is prohibited. This *Hadīth* means that the act of cheating is not worthy of my people. "He behaved the way of infidels" does not mean that he is infidel.

^[2] It is prohibited to sell the grapes to an alcohol producer. Extending any kind of help or assistance to an evil cause is prohibited. The Qur'an [5:2] orders us to help in good deeds and prohibits us from extending any kind of assistance to sinful and bad actions.

^[3] It means that till the return time (the time given to return the purchase if not needed) profit and loss goes to the buyer. Suppose the purchase is an animal, and it died within the period agreed for its return, then the loss goes to the buyer. In the same way, if the animal is sold again for a higher price, similarly, the profit will go to the buyer.

^[4] He is Ibn Ja'ad or Ibn Abū Ja'ad and it is said that his father was called 'Iyād Al-Bāriqi, a sub-clan of the tribe of Azd who is Bāriq bin 'Adi bin Hāritha . He was called Bāriq because he settled on a mountain called Bāriq. 'Urwa was a Sabābi who served 'Umar as the Qadi of Kufa, settling there and his Abadīth were narrated by the people of Kufa.

^[5] This Hadith makes clear four things:

have made a profit from it. [Reported by Al-Kbamsa except An-Nasā'i. Al-Bukhāri also recorded it within another *Hadīth* but did not report its exact wording. At-Tirmidhi reported a Sbābid (supporting narration of similar meaning) for it from the *Hadīth* of Hakim bin Hizam].

687. Narrated Abū Sa'id Al-Khudri &: The Prophet & forbade buying what is in the wombs of domestic animals till they give birth; selling what is in their udders; buying a runaway slave; buying (something from) the spoils of war until they are divided; buying Sadaqāt before they are received; and the unknown catch (find) of a diver. [1] [Ibn Mājah, Al-Bazzār and Ad-Dāraqutni reported it with a weak chain of narrators].

688. Narrated Ibn Mas'ūd 毒: Allāh's Messenger 藥 said, "Do not buy the fish that is in the water, for it involves uncertainty (risk)." [Reported by Ahmad who indicated that the correct view is that it is *Mawqūf* (saying of a Companion, i.e. Ibn Mas'ud)].

689. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās . Allāh's Messenger ## forbade the selling of a fruit till it becomes ripe, or the selling of fur which is (still) on the back (of an animal) or milk which is (still) in the

البُخَارِيُّ فِي ضِمْن حَدِيث، وَلَمْ يَسُقْ لَفْظَهُ، وَأَوْرَدَ التُرْمِذِيُّ لَهُ شَاهِداً مِنْ حَدِيث ِ حَكِيمٍ بُنِ حِزَامٍ.

(١٨٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ لَهُمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ نَهَى عَنْ شِرَاءِ مَا فِي بُعُونِ الأَنْعَامِ حَتَّى تَصَعَ وَعَنْ بَيْمِ مَا فِي ضُرُوعِهَا، وَعَنْ شِرَاءِ العَبْدِ وَهُوَ آبِقٌ، وَعَنْ شِرَاءِ المَعْذِيمِ حَتَّى تُفْسَمَ، وَعَنْ شِرَاءِ المَعْذِيمِ حَتَّى تُفْسَمَ، وَعَنْ شِرَاءِ المَعْدَاتِ حَتَّى تُفْسَمَ، وَعَنْ ضَرْبَةِ الغَايِصِ. الصَّدَقَاتِ حَتَّى تُفْبَضَ، وَعَنْ ضَرْبَةِ الغَايِصِ. رَوَاهُ أَبْنُ مَاجَهُ وَالبَرَّارُ وَالدَّارَقُطْنِيُ بِإِسْنَادِ ضَعِيفٍ.

(۲۸۸) وَعَنْ أَبِي مَشْعُوهِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا تَشْتَرُوا السَّمَكَ فِي المَاءِ، فَإِنَّهُ غَرَرٌ». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ، وَأَشَارَ إِلَى أَنَّ الصَّوَابَ وَقُفُهُ.

(7۸۹) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ أَنْ نُبُاعَ ثَمَرَةٌ حَتَّى تُطُعِمَ، وَلَا يُبَاعُ صُوفٌ عَلَى ظَهْرٍ، وَلَا لَبَنٌ فِي ضَرْعٍ. رَوَاهُ الطَّبْرَانِيُّ فِي الأَوْسَطِ

i) That the attorney is empowered to operate the wealth of his trustee.

ii) That with the consent and approval of another person his property and goods can be sold.
iii) That it is permissible to sell a sacrificial animal and buy another in its place, but this trade should not be for the purpose of profit. If there is any profit in this business, it should be given in charity.

iv) That kindness should be appreciated and rewarded.

^[1] Six kinds of prohibited trade have been mentioned in this *Hadith* and the causes of their unlawfulness vary. These six kinds have been explicitly stated in *Abādīth*. The unlawfulness of the first two is unanimous, and they involve taking a risk. The third is unlawful because the return or whereabouts of the run away slave is not certain. The fourth is unlawful because it is not the property of the seller. The fifth is unlawful because it is not in possession, and the sixth is unlawful because there is no surety that the diver will get something or not. It also involves taking a risk.

udder.^[1] [Reported by At-Tabarāni in Al-Awsat. Ad-Dāraqutni also reported it. Abū Dā'ud reported in Al-Marasil as a saying of 'Ikrima, and that is the strongest opinion. He also reported it Mauquif (as a saying of a Companion, i.e.) Ibn 'Abbas with a strong chain of narrators, and Al-Baihaqi held it to the most correct narration].

690. Narrated Abū Huraira 毒: The Prophet forbade the sale of what is in the womb of a she-camel, and the semen that is in the body of a malecamel. [2] [Reported by Al-Bazzār and there is weakness in its Isnād (chain of narrators)].

691. Narrated (Abū Huraira) 🎄: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "Whoever accepts back what he had sold to a Muslim, Allāh will forgive his fault." [3] [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and Ibn Mājah. Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic].

Chapter 2 CONDITIONAL BARGAINS

وَالدَّارَقُطْنَيُّ، وَأَخْرَجُهُ أَبُو دَاوَدَ فِي المَرَاسِيلِ لِلِكُومَةَ، وَهُوَ الرَّاجِحُ، وَأَخْرَجُهُ أَيْضاً مَوْقُوفاً عَلَى ابْنِ عَبَّاسِرٍ، بِإِسْنَادٍ قَوِيٌّ. وَرَجَّحَهُ البَّبْقِيْقِ.

(19.) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْزَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ،
 أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ نَهَى عَنْ بَنْعِ المَصَامِينِ
 والمَلاقيح . رَزَاهُ النَّزَارُ، وَفِي إِسْنَادِهِ ضَعْفٌ.

(791) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَنْ أَقَالَ مُسْلِماً بَيْعَتُهُ أَقَالَ اللَّهُ عَنْرَتَهُ». رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ جِبَّانَ وَالحَاكِمُ.

٢ - بَابُ الخِيَارِ

692. Narrated Ibn 'Umar 泰: Allāh's Messenger 續 said, "Both parties in a business transaction have a right to annul the transaction, [4] so long as

(197) عَن ٱبْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، عَنْ رَسُولِ اللَّهِ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿إِذَا تَبَايَعَ رَجُلانِ فَكُلُّ وَاحِدِ مِنْهُمَا بِالخَيَارِ مَا لَمْ يَتَقَرَّقًا

^[1] In this *Hadīth* three unlawful kinds of trade are mentioned. First is that the unripe fruit, still on trees should not be sold because there is a chance of their damage till they are ripe. The second point is that the trees are the property of the seller and their fruit is the property of the buyer. Their longtime partnership may not last long. The other two kinds are to sell the wool of a sheep or goat before it is shaved and the milk of an animal still in the udder. These are unlawful because the quantity of wool and milk is not known, so this is a sort of gambling (involving risks).

^[2] Madāmīn (المضامين) means the offspring which is not yet born and are still in mother's womb. Malāqīb (المداقيع) means the essence of life (sperm) which is still in father's spine.

^[3] If it is already agreed that the merchandise can be returned, then the buyer has full right to return it. However, if it is not agreed beforehand and the buyer wishes to return it, in this situation whoever takes back the merchandise Allāh will forgive his sins.

^[4] Ikhtiyār or Khiyār (الاختيار أو الخيار) means to reserve the right of breach of contract. This is of many kinds:

they have not separated and remain together; or one of them gives the other the choice (to conclude or annul the transaction); so, if one of them gives the other the choice (to conclude or annul the transaction) and then they make the transaction accordingly, the transaction then becomes binding; or if they separate after having made the transaction and none of them has annulled it, the transaction then becomes binding." [Agreed upon, and the wording is Muslim's].

693. Narrated 'Amr bin Shu'aib on his father's authority from his grandfather (&): The Prophet a said, "The two parties (seller and buyer) in a business transaction have a choice (to annul it) until they separate (from one another), unless it is a transaction with the right to annul it attached to it; and it is not allowed for one to separate from the other for fear that he may cancel the deal." [Reported by Al-Khamsa except Ibn Mājah, Ad-Dāragutni, Ibn Khuzaima and Ibn Al-Jārud also reported itl. Another narration has: "till they separate from their place (of transaction)."

694. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: A man^[1] told Allāh's Messenger ## that he was being deceived (cheated) in business transactions, and he replied, "When

وَكَانَ جَمِيعاً، أَوْ يُخَيِّرُ أَحَدُهُمَا الآخَرَ، فَإِنْ خَيِّرَ أَحَدُهُمَا الآخَرَ فَتَبَايَعَا عَلَى ذَلِكَ فَقَدْ وَجَبَ البَّيْعُ، وَإِنْ تَفَرَّقَا بَعْدَ أَنْ تَبَايَعَا وَلَمْ يَتُوْكُ وَاحِدٌ مِنْهُمَا البَّيْعَ فَقَدْ وَجَبَ البَّيْعُ». مُثَقِّقُ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفْظُ لِمُسْلِمٍ.

(٦٩٣) وَعَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِرْ شُعَيْب، عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ جَدِّه، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ قَالَ: «البَائِعُ وَالمُبْتَاعُ بِالخِيَارِ حَتَّى يَتَقَرَّقًا، إِلَّا أَنْ تَكُونَ صَفْقَةً خِيَارٍ، وَلَا يَجِلُّ لَهُ أَنْ يُفَارِقَهُ خَشْيَةً أَنْ يَشْتَقِيلَهُ». رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ إِلَّا ابْنَ مَاجَه، وَرَوَاهُ الدَّارَتُطْفِيُّ وابْنُ خُزَيْمَةً وَابْنُ الجَارُودِ، وَفِي رِوَايَّةٍ: اخَتَى يَتَفَرَّقًا عَنْ مَكَانِهِمًا».

(142) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا وَاللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: ذَكَرَ رَجُلُ لِرَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ أَنَّهُ لِيُخْمَعُ فِي البَّيُوعِ، فَقَالَ: ﴿إِذَا بَايَعْتَ قَفُلُ: لَا

i) Khiyār Majlis (خيار المجلس): As long as buyer and seller are together, each of them has the right to reject or accept the deal.

ii) Khiyār Shart (خيار الشرط): Buyer and seller make it conditional that in a certain period, either side has the right to reject or accept it.

iii) Khiyār 'Aib (خيار العيب): Buyer says that if merchandise is defective, he will return it.

iv) Khiyār Ru'yat (خيار الرزية): Buyer accomplishes the deal conditionally that it will be effective after seeing the goods.

v) Khiyār Ta'yin (خيار التعيين): It means that the buyer is allowed to select his choice.

^[1] His name was Habbān bin Munqadh. Due to an injury in the head, his memory was weakened and people usually deceived him in business, so the Prophet 鑑 taught him these words.

you make a purchase say, 'Deceiving (cheating) is not allowed (i.e. he has the choice to return the goods if he wills)' " [Agreed upon].

Chapter 3 AR-RIBA (INTEREST)

695. Narrated Jābir &: Allāh's Messenger cursed the one who accepts usury, the one who gives it, the one who records it and the two witnesses to it, saying, "They are all the same." [1] [Reported by Muslim]. Al-Bukhāri reported something similar from the Hadīth of Abū Juhaifa.

696. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Mas'ūd &: The Prophet said, "Usury has seventy-three categories, the least one in sin is as that of a man who marries (has sexual relations with) his mother, and the very essence of usury is the (violation of the) honor of a Muslim man." [Ibn Mājah reported it in a short form and Al-Hākim in a complete one. The latter also graded it Sabib (authentic)].

697. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri &: The Prophet ﷺ said, "Do not sell gold for gold unless it is the same amount for the same amount, and do not make one amount greater than the other. Do not sell silver for silver unless it is the same amount for the same amount, and do not make one amount greater than the other. And do not sell that (cash money) which is not present (at the time of the transaction) for that (cash money) which is present." [Agreed upon].

698. Narrated 'Ubāda bin As-Sāmit 泰: Allāh's Messenger 鑑 said, "Gold is to خِلَابَةَ». مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

٣ - بَابُ الرِّبَا

(740) عَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: لَمَنَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ آكِلَ الرِّبَا ومُوكِلَهُ وَكَاتِيهُ وَشَاهِدَيْهِ، وَقَالَ: هُمْ سَوَآةً. رَوَاهُ مُشلِمٌ، وَلِلْبُخَارِيُّ نَحُوهُ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَبِي جُحَيْفَةً.

(197) وَعَنْ عَنْدِ اللهِ بْنِرَ مَسْعُودِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «الرَّبَا ثَلاثَةٌ وَسَبْعُونَ بَاباً، أَيْسَرُهَا مِثْلُ أَنْ يَنْكِحَ الرَّجُلُ أُمَّهُ، وَإِنَّ أَرْمِىٰ الرَّبَا عِرْضُ الرَّجُلِ المُسلِم.». رَوَاهُ ابْنُ مَاجَهُ مُخْتَصَراً، وَالحَاكِمُ بِتَمَامِهِ، وَصَحَّحَهُ.

(٢٩٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللَّهِ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿لَا تَبِيعُوا اللَّهُ عَلَى بَعْضَر، وَلَا تَبِيعُوا الوَرِقَ بِالوَرِقِ إِلَوْرِقِ إِلَّهُ مِثْلًا بِيعُول الوَرِقَ بِالوَرِقِ إِلَّهُ مِثْلًا مِثْلًا بِمِثْلُم بِعِثْلُم، وَلَا تَبْعُوا بَعْضَم، وَلَا تَبْعُوا بَعْضَا عَلَى بَعْضَر، وَلَا تَبِيعُوا مِنْهَا غَائِياً بِنَاجِزٍ». مُتَقَنَّ عَائِهُ.

(٦٩٨) وَعَنْ عُبَادَةَ بْنِ الصَّامِتِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: «اللَّهُبُ

^[1] Interest (usury) is unlawful according to clear and definite Verses of the noble Qur'an. It is agreed upon that whoever gives the loan on interest, whoever receives it, whoever records it and whoever witnesses it, all are cursed.

be paid for with gold, silver with silver, wheat with wheat, barley with barley, dates with dates, and salt with salt, same quantity for same quantity and equal for equal, hand to hand [i.e. payment being made on the spot]. If these classes differ, sell as you wish as long as payment is made on the spot." [Reported by Muslim].

699. Narrated Abū Huraira *****: Allāh's Messenger ***** said, "Gold is to be paid for with gold, both being of equal weight and of same quantities; silver is to be paid for with silver, both being of equal weight and of same quantities. If anyone gives more or asks for more of it, it is then usury." [Reported by Muslim].

700. Narrated Abū Sa'id Al-Khudri and Abū Huraira &: Allāh's Messenger # appointed a man over Khaibar and he brought him dates of a very fine quality. Allah's Messenger & asked, "Are all the dates of Khaibar like this?" He replied, "I swear by Allah that they are certainly not. O Allāh's Messenger. We take one Sā' of this kind for two, and even for three (of lesser quality). So Allah's Messenger 鑑 said, "Do not do so. Sell the mixed dates for Dirhams, then buy the very fine dates with the Dirhams." And he said that the same applies when things are sold by weight. [Agreed upon]. Muslim has: "and so is (that which is sold by) weight."

701. Narrated Jābir bin 'Abdullāh 💩: Allāh's Messenger 🝇 forbade selling a

بِالذَّمَبِ، وَالفِضَّةُ بِالفِضَّةِ، وَالبُرُّ بِالبُرُّ، وَالشَّمِيرُ بِالشَّمِيرِ، وَالتَّمْرُ بِالتَّمْرِ، وَالمِلْحُ بِالمِلْحِ، مِثْلاً بِمِثْلُ، سَوَاء بِسَوَاء، يَداً بِيَدٍ، فَإِذَا اخْتَلَفَتْ هَلِهِ الأَصْنَافُ فَبِيمُوا كَيْفَ شِئْتُمْ، إِذَا كَانَ يَداً بِيدٍه. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(1947) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيُرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿اللَّمَبُ بِاللَّمَبِ وَزُنْا بِوَزْنِ، مِثْلاً بِمِثْلٍ ، وَالفِضَّةُ بِالفِضَّةِ وَزُنْاً بِوَزْنِ، مِثْلاً بِمِثْلٍ ، فَمَنْ زَادَ أَوِ اسْتَزَادَ فَهُوَ رِباً». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ عَنْهَا مَعَلَى خَيْبَرَ مَكَنَا؟ مَكَنَا؟ فَقَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ! إِنَّا لَتَأْخُذُ رَسُولُ اللهِ! إِنَّا لَتَأْخُذُ اللهِ! إِنَّا لَتَأْخُذُ رَسُولُ اللهِ! إِنَّا لَتَأْخُذُ رَسُولُ اللهِ عَنْهُ: وَلَلْمَاتِهِ مَنْهُ عَلَى المَحْمَعُ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهُ المَعْمَلُمُ عَلَيْهِ عَلَيْهِ، وَلِلْمُسْلِمِ: المَحْمَعُ عَلَيْهِ، وَلِلْمُسْلِمِ: وَلَلْمُسْلِمِ: وَلَلْمُسْلِمِ: وَلَلْمُسْلِمِ: وَلَلْمُسْلِمُ: وَلَلْمُسْلِمُ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهُ المِسْلُونُ اللهِ اللهِ اللهُ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ المِسْلُونُ اللهِ اللهِ اللهُ اللهُ المِسْلُونُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ المَالِمُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ المَسْلُونُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ المَالِمُ اللهِ اللهُ المَالَّذُ المَالِمُ اللهُ المَالَعُ المَالَّذَا المَالُونُ المَالُونُ اللهِ اللهُ المُعْلَى المَالَّذَالْمُ اللهُ المَالَّا المَالَّالُونُ المَالَّالِمُ اللهِ اللهُ المَالَّالُونُ المُعْلَى المَالَّالِيَا المُعْلَى المَالْمُ اللهِ اللهُ المُعْلَى المُعْلَى المُعْلَى المُعْلَى المُعْلَى المُعْلَى المُعْلَى المُعْلَى المُعْلَى المُعْلَمُ اللهِ اللهُ المُعْلَى المُعْلَى المُعْلَمُ اللهُ المُعْلَمُ اللهُ المُعْلَمُ اللهِ المُعْلَمُ اللهِ اللهُ المُعْلَمُ اللهِ اللهُ المُعْلَمُ اللهِ اللهُ المُعْلَمُ اللهُ المُعْلَمُ اللهُ المُعْلَمُ اللهِ اللهُ المُعْلَمُ اللهِ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهِ اللهُ المُعْلَمُ اللهِ اللّهِ اللهِ ا

(٧٠١) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللهِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عَنْ بَيْعِ

^[1] The items that the Prophet # has counted are: gold, silver, wheat, barley, dates and salt. There is no decrease or increase in the barter of these items. For example, a man has a good quality wheat and the other has an inferior quality. It is not permissible to exchange 20 kg. of good quality wheat with that of 30 kg. of inferior quality. If at all someone wishes to exchange the quality of his wheat with the other, he should sell this and buy the other quality with the money. Direct barter with increase or decrease is not allowed. Some religious scholars approve increase or decrease in the same kind other than these six items, but the four *Imāms* do not approve this exchange as long as they are of one kind.

quantity of dates whose measure was unknown for a specified (known) quantity of dates.^[1] [Reported by Muslim].

702. Narrated Ma'mar bin 'Abdullāh &: I used to hear Allāh's Messenger & say, "Food (may be sold) for food, of same quantities." Our food at that time consisted of barley. [Reported by Muslim].

703. Narrated Fadāla bin 'Ubaid 泰: I bought a necklace for twelve Dinars at the battle of Khaibar and it contained gold and gems. I considered them separately and found that it was worth more than twelve Dinars. I told the Prophet 鑑 about that and he said, "It must not be sold till the contents are considered separately." [Reported by Muslim].

704. Narrated Samura bin Jundub &: The Prophet \$\mathbb{E}\$ forbade selling animals for animals when payment was to be made at a later date. [Reported by Al-Kbamsa] Ibn Al-Jārud and At-Tirmidhi graded it Sabib (authentic).

705. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: I heard Allāh's Messenger & say, "If you sell anything on credit to anyone, on the condition that you will buy it back for a lower price (Al-Einab), [5] take hold of

الصَّبْرَةِ مِنَ التَّمْرِ لَا يُعْلَمُ مَكِيلُهَا بِالكَيْلِ المُسَمَّى مِنَ التَّمْرِ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٧٠٧) وَعَنْ مَعْمَرِ بْنِرَ عَبْدِ اللهِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: إِنِّي كُنْتُ أَسْمَعُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ: «الطَّمَامُ بِالطَّمَامِ مِثْلاً بِمِثْلٍ.، وَكَانَ طَعَامُنَا يَوْمَثِذِ الشَّعِيرَ». زَرَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٧٠٣) وَعَنْ فَضَالَةَ بْنِرِ عُبَيْدِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْدِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَادَةً بِأَثْنِي عَشَرَ وِيلَادَةً بِأَثْنِي عَشَرَ وِينَاراً، فِيهَا ذَهَبٌ وَخَرَزٌ، فَفَصَلْتُهَا، فَوَجَدْتُ فِيهَا أَكْثَرَ مِنَ اثْنَي عَشَرَ وِينَاراً، فَلَكَرْتُ ذٰلِكَ لِللَّمِيِّ ﷺ، فَقَالَ: "لَا تُبَاعُ حَتَّى تُفْصَلَ». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ. مُسْلِمٌ.

(٧٠٤) وَعَنْ سَمْرَةً بْنِ جُنْلُبٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ نَهَى عَنْ بَيْعِ الكَهُ الحَيْوانِ بَالحَيْوانِ نَسِيئةً. رَوَّاهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ التَّرْمِذِي وَابْنُ الجَارُودِ.

(٧٠٥) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى
 عَنْهُمَا، قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ:
 «إِذَا تَبَايْتُمْمُ بِالعِينَةِ، وَأَخَذْتُمْ أَذْنَابَ البَقَرِ،

^[1] It means that the commodities which are sold by measure and weight should be exchanged with exactness by measure and weight and not by guess only.

^[2] In another *Hadīth* it is stated that their food was wheat. Ma'mar wants to explain that barley and wheat are equal and should be treated as one foodstuff and in their exchange any increase or decrease is not correct. But other Companions of the Prophet 獲 do not agree with it. As in the *Hadīth* reported by 'Ubāda bin Sāmit رضي الله عند it is clearly told that wheat and barley are two different kinds.

^[3] This *Hadith* is a proof that gold if mixed with other substances should not be sold unless it is separated from them, because it is not possible to estimate the weight of gold mixed with other substances.

^[4] It is permitted to sell one animal for two or vice versa, even if the animals are of the same class. But swapping of animals on credit is not allowed.

^[5] Einab (النية): An example of Einab is that a person asks someone to lend him a certain amount of money. He refuses the money in cash and instead offers him an article at a higher

the tails of cattle, become pleased with agriculture and give up Jibād – Allāh will make disgrace prevail over you and will not remove it from you till you return to your religion." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud from the narration of Nafi·[1] on the authority of Ibn 'Umar , but there is a defect in its chain. Ahmad reported something similar from the narration of 'Ata. [2] Its narrators are reliable and Ibn Al-Qattān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

706. Narrated Abū Umāma &: The Prophet said, "Whoever intercedes for his brother and that one gives him a gift for that (intercession) which he accepts, he has engaged in one of the most terrible types of *Riba* (undeserving increase is something)." [3] [Reported by Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud, but one of its narrators' reliability has been doubted].

وَرَضِيتُمْ بِالزَّرْعِ، وَتَرَكْتُمُ الجِهَادَ، سَلَّطَ اللَّهُ عَلَيْكُمْ ذُلاَّ لاَ يَنْزِعُهُ حَتَّى تَرْجِعُوا إلِّى دِينِكُمْ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ مِنْ رَوَايَةٍ نَافِعِ عَنْهُ، وَفِي إِسْنَادِهِ مَقَالٌ، وَلِاحْمَدَ نَخُوهُ مِنْ رِوَايَةٍ عَطَاءٍ، وَرِجَالُهُ يَقَاتُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ القَطَّانِ.

(٧٠٦) وَعَنْ أَبِي أُمَامَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، قَالَ: «مَنْ شَفَعَ لِأَخِيهِ شَفَاعَةً فَأَهْدَى لَهُ مَدِيَّةٌ عَلَيْهًا، فَقَبِلَهَا، فَقَدْ أَتَى بَابًا عَظِيماً مِنْ أَبُوابِ الرِّبَا». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو ذَاوُدَ، وَفِي إِسْنَاوِهِ مَقَالً.

(۷۰۷) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْن ِ عَمْرِو بْن ِ العَاص ِ Amr bin Al- بن عَمْرِو بْن ِ العَاصِر (۷۰۷)

price than the amount of the requested loan. Then, he buys back the same article from him at a lower price i.e., equal to the amount of the requested loan. In this way he makes him indebted for the larger amount, which includes the amount of the requested loan in addition to the increase, which is in fact *Riba* (interest)... It shows that two things are the causes of Muslim' disgrace – one is giving up of *Jibād* and the second is fraud and swindling.

^[1] He is Abû 'Abdullâh Nafi' bin Sirjis Al-Madani, the manumitted slave of Ibn 'Umar whom he captured during one of the military expeditions. He was reliable and a prominent Figh scholar among the great Tābi'm (student of a Companion). He narrated most of the Abadīth reported by Ibn 'Umar (مَنْ اللهُ عَلَيْهُ اللهُ اللهُ

^[2] It is most likely that he is 'Atā' Al-Khurāsāni and he was called Abū 'Uthmān 'Atā' bin Abū Muslim Maisara, the manumitted slave of Al-Muhalab bin Abū Sufra. He settled at Shām and was one of its eminent men. He was reliable and used to be regular in after midnight prayers. However he had a bad memory and committed many errors in his narrations. He died in 135 H. at the age of 85 years.

^[3] If the gift is given before intercession in addition to the intercession being for a forbidden deed, its unlawfulness is agreed upon, and it is not a gift but bribery. Making recommendation in the case of an evil, and accepting a gift afterwards also falls into the same category. If the recommendation is made for a righteous deed, and acceptance of the gift is afterwards, and it was not something promised before, it is permissible.

Aas 卷: Allāh's Messenger 鑑 cursed the one who bribes and the one who takes bribes. [1] [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and At-Tirmidhi, who graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

708. Narrated ('Abdullāh bin 'Amr bin Al-Aas) & The Prophet (Commanded him to equip an army. Then, when the camels were insufficient, he commanded him to keep back the young camels of *Sadaqa*. He said, "I was taking a camel to be replaced by two when the camels of *Sadaqa* came." [Reported by Al-Hākim and Al-Baihaqi; its narrators are reliable].

709. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . Allāh's Messenger # forbade Al-Muzābana, which means that a man sells the fruit of his garden, if it consists of palm-trees (fresh dates), for dried dates by measure; or if it consists of grapes (on the vines), for raisins by measure; or if it is unpicked crops, he sells it for a measured amount of picked crops. He forbade all that. [2] [Agreed upon].

710. Narrated S'ad bin Abū Waqqās &: I heard Allāh's Messenger ﷺ being asked about buying fresh dates for dry ones. He replied, "Will fresh dates diminish when they become dry?'' They answered, "Yes." So he forbade that. [Reported by Al-Khamsa and graded Sabib (authentic) by Ibn Al-Madini, At-Tirmidhi, Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim].

711. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: The Prophet & forbade selling a debt to be paid at a future date for another i.e., a debt for a debt. [3] [Reported by Ishaq

رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، قَالَ: لَعَنَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ الرَّالشِينَ وَالسُّرْتَشِينَ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدُ وَالنَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ.

(٧٠٨) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ هُمْ أَمَرُهُ أَنْ يُحَهِّزَ جَيْشاً، فَنَهِلَت ِ الإِبلُ، فَأَمَرُهُ أَن يَأْخُذَ عَلَى فَلَائِصِ الصَّدَقَةِ، قَالَ: فَكُنْتُ ٱخُذُ البَعِيرَ بِالبَعِيرِيْنِ إِلَى إِبلِ الصَّدَقَةِ. رَوَاهُ الحَاكِمُ وَالبَيْهَةِيُّ، وَرَجَالُه بِقَاتُ.

(٧٠٩) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمْرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عَنِ اللَّهُ يَعْلَى اللَّهُ اللَّهِ ﷺ عَنِ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ اللَّهِ عَنْهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ اللَّهُ الللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُولَا اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللللْمُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللللْمُولَ

(٧١٠) وَعَنْ سَعْدِ بْنِ أَبِي وَقَاصِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ عَلَيْهُ، وَسَئِلَ عَنْ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ وَلَا اللهِ عَلَيْهُ، وَسَئِلَ عَنْ اللَّمْرِ، فَقَالَ: ﴿أَيَنْفُصُ الرُّطَبُ إِذَا يَبِسَ؟﴾ قَالُوا: نَعَمْ، فَنَهَى عَنْ ذٰلِكَ. رَوَاهُ الخَمْسَةُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ المَدِينِيُ وَالنَّرِيدِيُّ وَالنِّرُودِيُّ وَالنِّرُودِيُّ وَالنَّرِيدِيُّ وَالنَّرِيدِيُّ وَالنَّرِودِيُّ وَالنَّودِيْنُ وَالنَّودِيْنُ وَالنَّودِيْنُ وَالنَّودِيْنُ وَالنَّودِيْنُ وَالنِّودِيْنُ وَالنَّودِيْنُ وَالنَّودِيْنُ وَالنِّودِيْنُ وَالنَّودِيْنُ وَالنَّهُ وَالنَّهُ وَالنَّودُ وَالنَّودُ وَالنَّرِودِيْنُ وَالنَّودِيْنُ وَالنَّودِيْنُ وَالنَّودِيْنُ وَالنِّهُ وَالنَّهُ وَالنَّهُ وَالنَّهُ وَالنَّهُ وَالنَّهُ وَالنَّهُ وَالنَّهِ وَالنَّهُ وَلِلْهُ وَالنَّهُ وَالنَّهُ وَالْهُ وَالنَّهُ وَالنَّهُ وَالنَّهُ وَلِيْلُودُ وَالنَّهُ وَالْمُوالِيْلُودُ وَالنَّهُ وَالْمُؤْوِلُونُ وَالنَّهُ وَالْمُودِيْنُ وَالْمُودِيْنُ وَالْمَاكِمُ وَالْمُودِيْنُ وَالْمَاكِمُ وَالْمُودُونُ وَالنَّهُ وَالْمُودِيْنُ وَالْمَاكِمُ وَالْمُودِيْنُ وَالْمُؤْمِدُ وَالْمُودِيْنُ وَالْمَاكِمُ وَالْمُودِيْنُ وَالْمُودُولُ وَالْمُؤْمِدُولُ وَالْمُودِيْنُ وَالْمَاكِمُ وَالْمُودِيْنُ وَالْمُودُولِيْنُ وَالْمُودُولِيْنَالِ وَالْمُؤْمِولُ وَالْمُؤْمِنُ وَالْمُؤْمِنُ وَالْمُؤْمِولُولُ وَالْمُؤْمِولُ وَالْمُؤْمِولُولُ وَالْمُؤْمِولُولُولُولُ وَالْمُولُولُولُ وَالْمُؤْمِولُ وَالْمُؤْمِولُ وَالْمُؤْمِولُ وَالْمُؤْمِولُ وَالْمُؤْمِولُ وَالْمُؤْمِولُ وَالْمُؤْمِولُ وَالْمُؤْمِولُ وَالْمُؤْمِولُ وَالْمُولُولُ وَالْمُولُولُ وَالْمُولُولُ وَالْمُؤْمِولُ وَالْمُؤْمِولُ وَالْمُ

(٧١١) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنُهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ نَهَى عَنْ بَيْعِ الكَالِيءِ بِالكَالِيءِ، يَعْنِي الكَالِيءِ بِالكَالِيءِ، يَعْنِي الكَّيْنَ بِاللَّيْنِ. رَوَاهُ إِسْحَاقُ

^[1] Whoever accepts bribery is cursed. He who is compelled to offer bribery for his genuine and legitimate right, may Allāh forgive him. But, if the bribery is offered to deprive someone from his right, it is a cause to invoke the curse of Allāh.

^[2] This is because it involves selling something in an unknown amount for a known amount.

Therefore, this kind of trade is prohibited.

^[3] It has two forms: (1) for example, 'Ali buys a horse from Bakr for one hundred Dirhams and makes a promise to make the payment after one year, but after the lapse of a year, he is

وَالْبَزَّارُ بِإِسْنَادٍ ضَعِيفٍ.

and Al-Bazzār with a Da'if (weak) chain].

Chapter 4 PERMISSION REGARDING THE SALE OF AL-'ARAYA AND THE SALE OF TREES^[1]

AND FRUITS

\$ - بَابُ الرُّخْصَةِ فِي الْعَرَايَا، وَبَيْعِ
 الأُصُولِ وَالثَّمَارِ

712. Narrated Zaid bin Thābit &: Allāh's Messenger gave permission^[2] regarding Al-ʿArāya^[3] for its sale on the basis of a calculation (of what the dates would be when dry) by measure. [Agreed upon].

Muslim has: "He gave permission regarding Al-Arāya (for its sale) in which the household buys its fruit on the basis of a calculation (of what the dates would be when dry), yet they could eat them fresh (from the tree)."

713. Narrated Abū Huraira *****: Allāh's Messenger ***** gave permission regarding the sale of *Al-Arāya*, on the basis of calculation of their amount, for dry dates, on the condition that they be less than five *Awsuq*, or amounting to five *Awsuq*. [4] [Agreed upon].

(٧١٧) عَن زَيْدِ بْنِنَ ثَابِتٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنُهُ: أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ رَخَّمَنَ فِي المَرَايَا أَنْ تَبُاعً بِخُرْصِهَا كَيْلاً. مُثَقَّقً عَلَيْهِ.

وَلِمُسْلِمٍ: رَخَّصَ فِي العَرِيَّةِ يَأْخُذُهَا أَهْلُ البَيْتِ بِخُرْصِهَا تَمْرًا، يَأْكُلُونَهَا رُطَبًا.

(٧١٣) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ الله ﷺ رَخْصَ فِي بَيْمِ العَرَايَا بِخُرْصِهَا مِنَ التَّمْرِ فِيمَا دُونَ خَمْسَةِ أَوْسُقَرٍ، أَوْ فِيمَا خُونَ خَمْسَةِ أَوْسُقَرٍ، أَوْ فِيمَا خُونَ خَمْسَةِ أَوْسُقَرٍ، مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

not able to make the payment. He goes to Bakr and asks him to sell the horse again at a higher price. It means 'Ali is paying interest for not making the payment in time. (2) The second form is as explained in the following example: Suppose 'Umar owes ten Dirhams to Zaid, and he also owes a piece of cloth to Bakr. Bakr says to Zaid, "I will sell you the piece of cloth owed to me by 'Umar, for the ten Dirhams owed to you by 'Umar." So, 'Umar gives the cloth to Zaid instead of Bakr, and he gives the ten Dirhams to Bakr instead of Zaid. This type of transaction is prohibited.

^[11] The Arabic word *Usūl* (الأصرا is plural of *Asl* (الأصرا) and it means root. Because the roots are the origin of trees, there! ويم الأصول) means the trade of trees.

^[2] The literal meaning or verbal ense of the Arabic word Rukhsat (الرخصة) is 'leave or permission' but as a term in Shari'; it means legal permission to act against the prohibition or obligatory orders of Shari'a due to some genuine excuse or dire need.

^{[3] (}Plural of 'Ariya') It is a palm tree assigned by its owner to a person in need. He may eat the fresh dates from the tree, or sell them for dry dates of the same amount (by estimation).

^[4] Measure of five Awsuq (plural of Wasq (الوسن)) is a little more than eight quintals or three hundred Sa', which is approximately 650 Kilograms. If there is a need, taking less than this quantity by estimation is permitted. This grace is bestowed for the general need of the people.

714. Narrated Ibn 'Umar & : Allāh's Messenger & forbade the sale of fruits till they appear to ripe, forbidding it both to the seller and to the buyer. [Agreed upon].

A narration has: "When he was asked about (the words): 'appear to ripe'?" He 蹙 replied, "Till they were safe^[1] from damage or disease."

715. Narrated Anas bin Mālik &: The Prophet & forbade the sale of fruits till they become colourful. He was asked what that meant, he replied, "Till they become reddish and yellowish." [Agreed upon and the wording is Al-Bukhāri's].

716. Narrated (Anas bin Mālik) 泰: The Prophet 藥 forbade the sale of grapes till they become black (i.e. ripe) and the sale of grain till it becomes hard (i.e. ripe). [2] [Reported by Al-Kbamsa except An-Nasā'i and graded Sabib (authentic) by Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim].

717. Narrated Jābir bin 'Abdullāh 秦: Allāh's Messenger 蹇 said, "If you sell some fruit to your brother and it was struck by blight, it would not be lawful for you to take anything from him. [3] How can you take your brother's money unjustly?" [Reported by Muslim]. In another narration he has: "The Prophet 蹇 commanded that unforeseen loss be remitted [4] in

(٧١٤) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عَنْ بَيْعِ النَّمَادِ خَتَى يَبْدُو صَلَاحُهَا، نَهَى البَآلِيَّ وَالمُنْبَاعَ. مُثَقَنَّ عَلَيْهِ.

وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ: وَكَانَ إِذَا سُئِلَ عَنْ صَلَاحِهَا، قَالَ: حَتَّى تَذْهَبَ عَاهَتُهَا.

(٧١٥) وَعَنْ أَنْسِ بْنِ مَالِكِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النِّبِيِّ ﷺ نَفَى عَنْ بَيْعِ النِّمَارِ حَتَّى تُتُوهِيَّ ، قَبَلَ: وَمَا زَهُوْهَا؟ قَالَ: «تَحْمَارُ وَتَصْفَارُ». مُثَمَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفُظْ لِلْبُخَارِيُّ.

(٧١٦) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ نَهَى عَنْ بَشِرِ العِنَبِرِ حَتَّى يَسْوَقً، وَعَنْ بَشِع العَبَبِ حَتَّى يَسْوَقً، وَعَنْ بَشِع العَبِّ حَتَّى يَشْتَقً. وَوَاهُ الحَشْسَةُ إِلَّا النَّسَآئِقِ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ جِبَّانَ وَالعَاكِمُ.

(۷۱۷) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللهِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "لَوْ بِغْتَ مِنْ أَخِيكَ ثَمْراً، فَأَصَابَتْهُ جَائِحَةٌ، فَلَا يَحِلُ لَكَ أَنْ تَأْخُذَ مِنْهُ شَيْئًا، بِمَ تَأْخُذُ مَالَ أَخِيكَ بِغَيْرِ حَتَّى؟، رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لَّهُ: أَنَّ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ أَمْرَ يَوْضَعِ الْجَوَاتِعِ.

⁽عامة) The Arabic word 'Abat (عامة) means a 'sudden calamity'. This type of deal is prohibited because unripe fruit is useless, and before it is ripe and usable, a sudden calamity may fall it and destroy it. Due to this possibility of loss, it has been prohibited.

^[2] It means that when the grain is ripe in the spike, it is permitted to sell the crop, but only a needful measure and not more. Otherwise, the rule is to sell the grains after thrashing and cleaning.

^[3] If the yield is still on the trees and a calamity strikes, the owner of the trees has to endure the loss. But if the stroke comes after picking the fruit, the buyer has to bear the loss.

^[4] The Arabic expression Wad'al-Jawa'ib (وضع الجوائح) means even after picking the yield, if

respect of what is affected by blight."

718. Narrated Ibn 'Umar 泰: The Prophet 醬 said, "If anyone buys a palm tree after it has been pollinated, the fruits belong to the seller who has sold them unless the buyer makes a condition." [Agreed upon].

Chapter 5 PAYMENT IN ADVANCE,^[1] A LOAN AND A PLEDGE

719. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās \$\displays \text{When the Prophet \$\mathbb{m}\$ came to Al-Madīnah, they were paying one and two years in advance for fruits. So he (義) said, "Those who paid in advance for fruits must do so for a specified measurement and weight, and for a specified time." [Agreed upon]. Al-Bukhāri has: "Those who pay in advance for anything."

720. Narrated 'Abdur-Rahmān bin Abza^[2] and 'Abdullāh bin Abū Aufa 泰 "We were getting a portion of the spoils of war along with Allāh's Messenger 震, and some *Nabateans* (Arabs who mixed with non-Arabs and corrupted their language and lineage) from those of Syria used to come to us and we would pay in advance to them for wheat, barley and raisins — A narration has: 'and olive oil' — for a specified fixed time.'' It was asked, "Did they have standing crop?" They replied, "We were not asking them about that.^[3] " [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

(٧١٨) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى
 عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: "مَن ابْتَاعَ نَخْلاً
 بَعْدَ أَنْ تُؤَبِّر، فَتَمَرَّتُهَا لِلْبَائِعِ الَّذِي بَاعَهَا، إِلَّا
 الْمُبْتَاعُ . مُتَقَنِّ عَلَيْهِ .

ه - أَبْوَابُ السَّلَمِ وَالقَرْضِ وَالرَّهْنِ

(٧١٩) عَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَدِمَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ المَدِينَة، وَهُمُ يُعْلَى يُعْلِفُونَ فِي النَّمَادِ السَّنَةُ والسَّنَتِيْن، فَقَالَ: «مَنْ أَسْلَفَ فِي كَبْل مَعْلُوم وَوَزْن مَعْلُوم إِلَى أَجَل مَعْلُوم . مُتَّقَقٌ عَلَيْه، وَوَزْن مَعْلُوم إِلَى أَجَل مَعْلُوم . مُتَّقَقٌ عَلَيْه، وَوَزْن مَعْلُوم إِلَى أَجَل مَعْلُوم . مُتَّقَقٌ عَلَيْه، وَوَزْن مَعْلُوم إِلَى أَجْل مَعْلُوم . مُتَّقَقٌ عَلَيْه،

(۷۲۰) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ الرَّحْمٰنِ بْنَ أَبْزَى، وَعَبْدِاللهِ
بُنْ أَبِي أَوْفَى رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، قَالاَ:
كُنَّا نُصِيبُ المَمْاَنِمَ مع رسول الله ﷺ وكان
يأتينَا أَلْبَاطُ من أَلْبَاطِ الشَّامِ، فَنْسُلِقْهُم فِي
الحِنْطَةِ وَالشَّعِيرِ وَالرَّبِيبِ، - وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ:
﴿ وَالرَّئِت ِ * - إِلَى أَجَلِ مُّسَمَّى، قِيلَ: أَكَانَ لَهُمْ زَنْعُ ؟ فَالاَ: مَا كُنَّا نَسْأَلُهُمْ عَنْ ذَٰلِكَ. رَوَاهُ لَهُمْ رَبْعٌ فَلْكَ. رَوَاهُ الشَّارِيُّ.

there is a loss, the owner should be considerate and give some rebate to his customer.

^[1] Salam (السلم) means to buy a produce by making the payment in advance. For example, someone gives a certain amount of money to another person and says that he will have the produce after such a period on such and such price. This is permitted provided the exact amount and price is decided beforehand. This is also known as Bat' As-Salaf (سرا السلم).

^{[2] &#}x27;Abdur-Rahmān bin Abza, the manumitted slave of Banu Khuzā'a was a young *Sabābi* who met the Prophet 醬 and prayed behind him. He settled at Kufa and 'Ali bin Abū Talib appointed him to govern Khurasān. He died at Kufa.

^[3] This Hadīth makes it clear that Bai' As-Salam (ييم السلم) is legal even if the crop or kind is

721. Narrated Abū Huraira **\$:** The Prophet **\$\frac{1}{2}\$** said, "Whoever accepts other people's wealth intending to pay it back, Allāh will pay it back for him. And whoever anyone accepts it intending to waste it, Allāh, the Most High, will waste (destroy) him." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

722. Narrated 'Aisha \ : I said, "O Messenger of Allāh, so-and-so has brought clothes from Syria. What if you sent someone to him, and you get from him two garments on credit^[1] till it is easy for you to repay?" So he sent someone to him, but he refused. [Al-Hākim and Al-Baihaqi reported it, and its narrators are reliable].

723. Narrated Abū Huraira : Allāh's Messenger : said: "An animal may be ridden, due to what is spent on it, [2] when it is in pledge; and the milk of a camel may be drunk, due to what is spent on it, when it is in pledge. And the responsibility of spending on it is upon the one who rides (it) and drinks (its milk)." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri]."

724. Narrated (Abū Huraira) s: Allāh's Messenger said: "A pledge does not become lost to its owner when he does not redeem it in time. Any increase in its value goes to him and any loss must be borne by him." [Reported by Ad-Dāraqutni and Al-Hākim. Its narrators

(۷۷۱) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، عَرْ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: "مَنْ أَخَذَ أَمْوَالَ النَّاسِ ِ يُرِيدُ أَدَاءَهَا أَذَى اللَّهُ عَنْهُ، وَمَنْ أَخَذَهَا يُرِيدُ إِنَّاكُونِيَّ الْفَلَامُ يُرِيدُ إِنَّاكُهُ اللَّهُ تَمَالَىُّ». رَوَاهُ البُخَارِئِيُ.

(۷۷۷) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: قُلْتُ يَ رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنَّ فُلاناً قَدِمَ لَهُ بَرُّ مِّنَ الشَّامِ، فَلَوْ بَعَثْتَ إِلَيْهِ، فَأَخَذْتَ مِنْهُ تَوْبَيْنِ إِنِّينِ إِلَيْهِ، فَأَخَذْتَ مِنْهُ تَوْبَيْنِ إِنِينِيَةٍ إِلَى مُنْسَرَةٍ، فَأَرْسَلَ إِلَيْهِ، فَأَمْنَتَعَ. أَخْرَجَهُ الْحَرَجَهُ اللّهِ وَالشَّهَيْقُ، وَرَجَالُهُ يُقَاتْ.

(٧٧٣) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «الطَّهُمُ يُرْكَبُ بِنَقَقِيهِ إِذَا كَانَ مَرْهُونَا، وَلَيَنُ الدَّرِّ يُشْرَبُ بِنَقَقِهِ إِذَا كان مَرْهُونَا، وَعَلَى الَّذِي يَرْكَبُ وَيَشْرَبُ النَّقَقَةُ، رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(٧٧٤) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «لَا يَغْلَقُ الرَّهْنُ مِنْ صَاحِبِهِ النِّذِي رَمَنَهُ". رَوَاهُ النِّذِي عُرْمُهُ". رَوَاهُ الدَّارَتُطْنِيُّ وَالحَاجِمُ، وَرِجَالُهُ يُقَاتُ، إِلَّا أَنَّ المَّدَّفُوظَ عِنْدَ أَبِي دَاوُدَ وَغَيْرِهِ إِنْسَالُهُ.

not present at the time of the deal. The only condition is that the yield should be ready well in time.

 $^{^{[1]}}$ It means that to buy a thing on credit is permissible. The cloth merchant was a Jew and had enmity for the Prophet 86, therefore he refused.

^[2] It means that if somebody mortgages his horse or cow against a loan, there are two aspects of its interpretation. Either the debtor will feed his cow or horse and will get the benefit or the creditor will feed the cow or horse and will get the benefit. Whoever feeds the animal deserves the benefit. The Hadith confirms the second view.

^[3] According to Shari'a, Rahn (رهن) means mortgage, i.e. to give some property or belonging to a creditor as a security for payment of a loan or debt.

^[4] It means that mortgagee is not the owner of pledged possessions. He merely holds it in his possession. If the pledged possession is destroyed or died, the mortgagee is not

are reliable. However, the strongest opinion is that it is *Mursal* (missing link in the chain after the *Tābi'i*) as reported by Abū Dā'ud and others].

725. Narrated Abū Rāfi' 卷: The Prophet borrowed a young camel from a man. So, when some *Sadaqa* camels came to him he ordered Abū Rāfi' (秦) to re-pay the man his young camel. He told him (義), "I can only find an excellent camel in its seventh year." He said, "Give it to him, for the best of people is he who discharges his debt in the best manner." [Reported by Muslim].

726. Narrated 'Ali &: Allāh's Messenger said, "Every loan, which leads to a benefit, is usury." [Al-Hārith bin Abū Usama reported it, but its chain of narrators is *Saaqit* (containing an extremely weak narrator)].

The aforesaid *Hadītb* has a weak supporting narration, on the authority of Fadāla bin 'Ubaid & reported by Al-Baihaqi. It also has another *Mawqūf* (saying of a Companion) narration from 'Abdullāh bin Salām & reported by Al-Bukhāri.

Chapter 6 BANKRUPTCY AND SEIZURE

(٧٢٥) وَعَنْ أَبِي رَافِيم رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ اسْتَشْلُفَ مِنْ رَجُل بَكُواً، فَقَدِمَتْ عَلَيْهِ إِبِلَّ مِنْ إِبِلِ الصَّدَقَةِ، فَأَمَرَ أَبَّا رَافِيمِ أَنْ يَقْضِيَ الرَّجُلَ بَكْرَهُ، فَقَالَ: ﴿لَا أَجِدُ إِلَّا خِيَاراً رَبَاعِيًّا»، قَالَ: ﴿أَعْطِهِ إِيَّاهُ، فَإِنَّ خِيَارَ النَّاسِ أَحْسَنُهُمْ فَضَاءً». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(۷۷٦) وَعَنْ عَلِيمٌ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿كُلُّ قَرْضِرَ جَرَّ مَنْفَقَةٌ فَهُوَ رِباً». رَوَاهُ الخَارِكُ بْنُ أَبِي أَسَامَةً، وَإِسْنَادُهُ سَاقِطٌ.

وَلَهُ شَاهِدٌ ضَعِيفٌ عَنْ فَضَالَةَ بْنِ عُبَيْدٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ عِنْدَ البَّيْهَقِيِّ، وَآخَرُ مَوْقُوفٌ عَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ سَلَامٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ عِنْدَ البُخَارِيِّ.

٦ - بَابُ التَّفْلِيسِ وَالْحَجْرِ

(۷۲۷) عَنْ أَبِي بَكْرِ بْنِ عَبْدِ الرَّحْمٰنِ ، عَنْ مَلِي الرَّحْمٰنِ ، عَنْ أَبِي بَكْرِ بْنِ عَبْدِ الرَّحْمٰنِ ، عَنْ المَّامِّةِ Rahmān^[2] on the authority of Abū أَبِي هُورُيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَمِعْنَا

responsible for that. Similarly, if there is any addition in the pledged possession, he is not the owner of it. Loss and profit, whatever it is, goes to the owner (i.e., mortgager) and not to the mortgagee.

^[11] If the debtor gives some profit or something else with the principal money on his own, it is lawful for the creditor to take it. However, if the creditor makes it a condition to return the credit with something additional, it would be regarded as interest and it is unlawful. Returning something better is permissible and lawful for the creditor but if it is made as a compulsory condition to return something better, it is prohibited as it is interest on the principal money.

^[2] He is Abū Bakr bin 'Abdur-Rahmān bin Al-Hārith bin Hishām bin Al-Mughira Al-Makhzumi

Huraira **4**: We heard Allāh's Messenger **5** say, "If a creditor finds his very property with a debtor who becomes bankrupt, he is more entitled to it^[1] than anyone else." [Agreed upon].

Abū Dā'ud and Mālik reported the aforesaid Hadith from the narration of Abū Bakr bin Abdur-Rahmān, as Mursal (broken chain after the Tābi'i), with this wording: "If anyone sells some goods (on credit) and the one who buys them becomes bankrupt, and the seller does not recover any of the price of his goods, and he then finds his very goods (with him), he is more entitled to them (than anyone else). However, if the buyer dies, the owner of the goods finds his actual goods he has most right to them." [Al-Baihagi reported it with a full chain of narrators but graded it weak, following Abū Dā'ud].

Abū Dā'ud and Ibn Mājah reported the aforesaid *Hadītb* from the narration of 'Umar bin Khalda^[2] which has: "We went to Abū Huraira & regarding a friend of ours who was bankrupt. He said, 'I shall certainly pronounce judgement about him in accordance with the judgement of Allāh's Messenger & Whoever becomes bankrupt or dies, and a person finds his actual goods [remaining with that man], he has most right to them.' ''^[3] [Al-Hākim graded it

رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ تِقُولُ: «مَنْ أَذْرَكَ مَالُهُ بِمَنْيِهِ عِنْدَ رَجُلِ قَدْ أَفْلَسَنَ فَهُوَ أَحَقُّ بِهِ مِنْ غَيْرِهِ!. مُتَقَنَّ عَلَيْهِ.

وَرَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَمَالِكٌ مِّنْ رِوَايَةٍ أَبِي بَكْرٍ بْنِرَ عَبْدِ الرَّحْمُن ِ مُرْسَلاً، بِلْفَظِ: أَأَيُّمَا رَجُل ِ بَاعَ مَنَاعاً، فَأَفْلَسَ الَّذِي ابْنَاعَهُ، وَلَمْ يَقْبِض الَّذِي بَاعَهُ مِنْ ثَمَنهِ شَيْناً، فَوَجَدَ مَنَاعَهُ بِمَنْيِهِ، فَهُوَ أَحَقُ بِهِ، وَإِنْ مَاتَ المُشْتَرِي فَصَاحِبُ المَنَاعِ أَسْوَهُ الغَرْمَاءِ. وَوَصَلُهُ البَيْهَقِيُّ. وَصَعَّفَهُ بَعَا لأبِي دَاوُدَ.

وَرَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ مِنْ رِوَايَةٍ عُمَرُ بْنِرِ خَلْدَةَ، قَالَ: أَتَيْنَا أَبَا هُرُيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ فِي صَاحِبِ لِنَّا قَدْ أَفْلَسَ، فَقَالَ: لأَفْضِيَنْ فِيكُمْ بِقَضَاءِ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ: مَنْ أَفْلَسَ أَوْ مَاتَ، فَوَجَدَ رَجُلٌ مِّنَاعَهُ بِعَنْيِهِ فَهُوَ أَحَقُ بِهِ. وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ، وَضَعَفَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَضَعَفَهُ أَيْضاً هُلُوهِ الزِّيَّادَةَ فِي ذِكْرِ المَوْتِ.

Al-Madani, the *Qadt* of Al-Madinah. It is said that his name was Muhammad, Al-Mughira or Abū Bakr, and was nicknamed Abū 'Abdur-Rahmān. It is also said that his name and nickname were the same. He was reliable, knowledgeable and pious. He was a *Tābt'i* of the third generation and died during the caliphate of Al-Walid bin 'Abdul Mālik.

^[1] It means that the seller has the right to cancel the deal and take back his goods, if the buyer becomes bankrupt.

^[2] He is Abū Hafs Al-Ansāri Al-Madāni Al-Qadi. He was a respectable, strict, pious and reliable man. Abū Huraira and then Rabi'a Ar-Rāyi narrated from him. It was said that Khalda was his grandfather and his father's name was 'Abdur-Rahmān.

^[3] If the buyer becomes bankrupt after making a partial payment of a certain purchase, then the seller has not right over the price of the rest of the purchase. He will get his share

Sabib (authentic); Abū Dā'ud graded it Da'if (weak). He also considered this addition regarding the mention of 'death' to be weak].

728. Narrated 'Amr bin Ash-Sharīd^[1] on the authority of his father[2]: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Delay in payment on the part of one who possesses the means, makes it lawful to dishonor and punish him."[3] [Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i reported it. Al-Bukhāri reported it as Mu'allaq (broken chain from the side of the Hadith collector), and Ibn Hibban graded it Sabib (authentic)].

729. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri &: In the time of Allāh's Messenger 🕮 a man suffered loss affecting fruits he had bought, owed a large debt and became bankrupt. So, Allāh's Messenger & said to the people, "Give him Sadaga (charity)," Hence, the people gave him charity. However, that was not enough to repay his debt in full. Therefore, Allāh's Messenger # said to the creditors, "Take whatever you find,[4] and you will have nothing other than that." [Reported by Muslim].

(٧٢٨) وَعَنْ عَمْرو بْنِ الشَّريدِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «لَيُّ الوَاجِدِ يُحِلُّ عَ ْضَهُ وَعُقُوبَتَهُ". رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَائِيُّ، وَعَلَّقَهُ النُّخَارِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ انْنُ حِتَّانَ.

(٧٢٩) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: أُصِيبَ رَجُلٌ فِي عَهْدِ رَسُولِ اللهِ عَلَيْهُ فِي ثِمَارِ ابْتَاعَهَا، فَكَثْرَ دَيْنُهُ، فَأَفْلَسَ، فَقَالَ رَسُولُ الله ﷺ: «تَصَدَّقُوا عَلَيْهِ»، فَتَصَدَّقَ النَّاسُ عَلَيْهِ، وَلَمْ يَبْلُغْ ذٰلِكَ وَفَاءَ دَيْنِهِ، فَقَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ لِغُرَمَائِهِ: ﴿ خُذُوا مَا وَجَدْتُمْ، وَلَسْنَ لَكُمْ الَّا ذَلِكَ». رَوَاهُ مُسْلَمٌ.

730. Narrated Ibn Ka'b[5] bin Mālik المبيد عَنْ أَبِيهِ اللهُ عَنْ أَبِيهِ اللهُ عَنْ أَبِيهِ اللهُ عَنْ أَبِيهِ

according to proportionate division among all of his creditors. In case of death of the debtor, all creditors get proportionate share without any distinction whether who's commodities are sold and who's are unsold.

^[1] He is Abul-Walid 'Amr bin Ash-Sharid bin Suwaid Ath-Thaqafi At-Tā'ifi. He was a reliable Tābi'i of the third generation.

^[2] He is Sharid bin Suwaid Ath-Thaqafi. His name was Mālik, but Allāh's Messenger 鑑 renamed him Sharid (the runaway), because he killed one of his clansmen, ran away to Makkah and became a Muslim. It is said that he was from Hadramout, but was counted as a member of Banu Thaqif or the people of Tā'if.

^[3] If a debtor having the means to pay the debt does not pay it intentionally, then the creditor has all the rights to disgrace him in the public and drag him to court for punishment.

^[4] The Prophet 鑑 said that this is all that there is. So, he asked the creditors to divide his belongings among themselves proportionately.

^[5] Abū Al-Khattāb 'Abdur-Rahmān bin Ka'b bin Mālik Al-Ansāri Al-Madani was reliable and among the great Tābi'in. It is said that he was born during the lifetime of the Prophet 48 and died during the caliphate of Sulaiman bin 'Abdul-Malik

on the authority of his father^[1]: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ seized the wealth of Mu'ādh and sold it in return for a debt he was indebted for. [Ad-Dāraqutni reported it, and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic). Abū Dā'ud reported it as Mursal (missing like after the Tābi'i) and considered that the strongest opinion is that it is Mursal.

731. Narrated Ibn 'Umar **\$:** I was brought before the Prophet 幾 on the Day of Uhud^[2] when I was fourteen years old, but he did not give me permission (to fight). I was afterwards brought before him on the Day of Al-Khandaq (the battle of Trench) when I was fifteen years of age, [3] and he gave me permission (to fight). [Agreed upon].

Al-Baihaqi's narration has: "He did not give me permission (to fight), and did not consider me as having attained puberty." [Ibn Khuzaima graded it Sabib (authentic)].

رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ حَجَرَ عَلَى مُعَاذِ مَالُهُ، وَبَاعَهُ فِي دَيْنِرِ كَانَ عَلَيْهِ. رَوَاهُ الدَّارَقُطُنِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ، وَأَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ مُرْسَلاً، وَرَجَّحَ إِرْسَالَهُ.

(۷۳۱) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَهُمَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَهُمَا ، قَالَ : عُرِضْتُ عَلَى النَّبِيِّ ﷺ يَوْمَ أُخُورٍ، وَأَنَا ابْنُ أَرْبَعَ عَشْرَةَ سَنَةً ، فَلَمْ يُجِزْنِي، وَعُرْضَتُ عَلَيْهِ يَوْمَ الخَنْدَقِ، وَأَنَا ابْنُ خَمْسَ عَشَرَةَ سَنَةً ، فَأَجَازَنِي . مُثَنَّقُ عَلَيْهِ .

وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لِلْبَيْهَقِيِّ: فَلَمْ يُبِحِزْنِي وَلَمْ يَرَنِي بِلَغْتُ». وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ خُزَيْمَةَ.

(۷۳۲) وَعَنْ عَطِيَّةَ القُرَظِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: عُرِضْنَا عَلَى النَّبِيِّ ﷺ وَمَ قُرُنِظَةً، فَكَانَ مَنْ أَلْبَتْ فَيْلَ، وَمَنْ لَمْ يُنْبِتْ خَلَى سَبِيلِي. وَمَنْ لَمْ يُنْبِتْ، فَخَلَّى سَبِيلِي. وَوَالُ الشَّرْخَيْنَ، وَمَحْحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ وَالحَاكِمُ وَوَالَ: صَحِيحٌ عَلَى شَرْطِ الشَّيْخَيْنِ.

⁽¹⁾ Ka'ab bin Mālik bin Abū Ka'b Al-Ansāri As-Sulami Al-Madani the poet, was one of the poets of the Prophet 養. He attended the second Bai'atul-'Aqaba and all the battles except Badr and Tabuk. He was one of the three whose repentance was mentioned in Sūrat At-Taubab (Chapter 9) for remaining behind in Al-Madīnah during the Tabuk expedition. It is said that he died after becoming blind in 50 H. or 51 H. at the age of 77 years.

^[2] On the 'Day of Uhud', he was presented before the Prophet 幾 seeking permission to fight against the infidels.

^[3] This *Hadith* is mentioned here to show that the age of maturity is fifteen years and all the commands of *Sbari'a* become obligatory at this age. Therefore, all the deeds and transactions made at this age are valid and all the deals and transactions under the age of fifteen are invalid. Another sign of maturity is pubic hair.

^{[4] &#}x27;Atiya Al-Qurazi was a young *Sabābi* who reported one *Hadītb*. It is said that he settled at Kufa. Ibn 'Abdul-Barr said. "I never found his father's name." Muiahid and others narrated from him.

Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

733. Narrated 'Amr bin Shu'aib on his father's authority from his grandfather (**): Allāh's Messenger ## said: "It is not permissible for a woman to give a gift without her husband's permission."

Another wording is: "It is not permissible for a woman to dispose of anything of her wealth^[1] if her husband is responsible for her." [Reported by Ahmad and the collectors of As-Sunan except At-Tirmidhi and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

734. Narrated Oabisa bin Mukhārig Al-Hilali 🚓: Allāh's Messenger 🗱 said. "Begging is not lawful except to one of three (people): a man who has become a guarantor for a payment, for whom begging is lawful till he gets it, after which he must stop begging: a man whose wealth has been destroyed by a calamity which has befallen him, for whom begging is lawful till he gets what will support life; and a man who has been struck by poverty, the genuineness of which is confirmed by three intelligent members of his people, so it is lawful for him to beg." [Reported by Muslim].

Chapter 7 RECONCILIATION

(٧٣٣) وَعَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِر شُعَيْبٍ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ جَدُّو، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿لَا يَجُوزُ لامْرَأَةٍ عَطِيَّةً إِلَّا بِإِذْنِ زَوْجِهَا».

وفي لفظ: ﴿ لَا يَجُوزُ لِلْمَزَأَةِ أَمْرٌ فِي مَالِهَا، إِذَا مَلَكَ زَوْجُهَا عِصْمَتَهَا ﴿. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَصْحَابُ الشَّنَزِ، إِلَّا التَّرِمِذِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ.

(((((() وَمَنْ قَبِيصَةً بُنِر مُخَارِقِ الهِلَالِيُّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "إِنَّ المَسْأَلَةَ لَا تَجِلُ إِلَّا لِاحْدِ نَلَاثَةٍ: رَجُلٌ تَحَمَّلَ حَمَالَةً، فَحَمَّى مُصِيبَةً، فُمَّ مُصِيبَةً، فُمَّ مَحْمَلُ أَصَابَتُهُ جَائِحَةً اجْتَاحَتْ مَالُهُ، فَحَمَّى يُصِيبَ قِوَاماً مِنْ فَحَمَّى مُصِيبَ قِوَاماً مِنْ عَنْدر، وَرَجُلٌ أَصَابَتُهُ فَاقَةً، حَتَّى يُصِيبَ قِوَاماً مِنْ عَنْدر، وَرَجُلٌ أَصَابَتُهُ فَاقَةً، حَتَّى يَقُولُ ثَلاثَةً مِنْ ذَوِي الحِجْى مِنْ قَوْمِه: لَقَدْ أَصَابَتُ فَلَانَةً مِنْ وَمِه: لَقَدْ أَصَابَتُ فَلَانَةً فَاقَةً، وَقَامُ مُسْلِمٌ.

٧ - بَابُ الصُّلْحِ ِ

(۷۳۰) عَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ عَوْفِرِ الْمُزْنِيُّ رَضِيَ Auf Al- الْمُزَنِيُّ رَضِيَ Muzani^[2] اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ (مَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ

^[1] A woman can handle her own wealth without the permission of her husband. What is her own property? Her dowry, her inherited property, and the profit of business from her own wealth, is all considered her own property and her husband has no right over it. A woman can give to her husband whatever she wants, and it is lawful for the husband. The incident of 'Abdullāh bin Mas'ūd and his wife mentioned previously, would never have happened if the woman had no right to deal with her wealth.

^[2] He is Abû 'Abdullāh 'Amr bin 'Auf bin Zaid bin Milha Al-Muzani (of the Muzaina tribe), the grand father of Kathir bin 'Abdullāh. He became a Muslim early, attended Badr and the Prophet ূ appointed him over the *Haram* of Al-Madinah. He was one of those who used to

"Reconciliation^[1] is permissible between Muslims, except one which makes unlawful something which is lawful, or makes lawful something which is unlawful; [2] and Muslims must abide by their conditions (which they have made), except for a condition which makes unlawful something which is lawful, or makes lawful something which is unlawful." [At-Tirmidhi reported it and graded it Sabib (authentic). However, the Hadīth scholars renounced him [for grading this Hadith as Sabib] because the narration of Kathir bin 'Abdullah bin 'Amr bin 'Auf is weak.[3] It as though At-Tirmidhi considered it (reliable) due to its many chains of narration]. Ibn Hibban declared the aforesaid Hadith to be Sabib (authentic) from the narration of Abū Huraira 🚓.

736. Narrated Abū Huraira \$\ \text{:The Prophet } \square\ \text{said, "One must not prevent his neighbor from fixing a wooden peg in his wall." \(^{14}\) Abū Huraira \$\ \text{then said, "Why do I see you turning away (averse to this \$Sunnab)? I swear by Allāh that I will always narrate it to you." [Agreed upon].

الصَّلْعُ جَائِزٌ بَيْنَ المُسْلِمِينَ، إِلَّا صَلْحاً حَرَّمَ حَلَالاً، أَوْ أَحَلَّ حَرَاماً، وَالمُسْلِمُونَ عَلَى شُرُوطِهِمْ. إِلَّا شَرْطاً حَرَّم حَلَالاً، أَوْ أَحَلَّ حَرَاماً». رَوَاهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ، وَأَنْكَرُوا عَلَيْهِ، لِانَّ رَاوِيَه كَثِيرَ بْنَ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ عَمْرِو بْنِر عَوف ضَعِيفٌ، وَكَالَّهُ أَعْتَبَرُهُ بِكُلْرَةٍ طُرُوهِ، وَقَدْ صَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ سَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ مِنْ حَدِيثٍ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ

(٧٣٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ،

أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿لَا يَمْنَعُ جَارٌ جَارٌهُ أَنْ

يَغْرِزَ خَشَبَةً فِي جِدَارِهِ ﴾، ثُمَّ يَقُولُ أَبُو هُرَيْرَةَ

رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ: مَا لِي أَرَاكُمْ عَنْهَا

مُعْرِضِينَ ؟ وَاللَّهِ لاَّرْمِينَّ بِهَا بَيْنَ أَكْتَافِكُمُ ، مُتَقَنَّ

عَلَهُ

fear Allah much and shed tears. He died during the caliphate of Mu'āwiya.

^[1] In Arabic, Sulb (الصلح) means peace. There are many kinds of Sulb such as a treaty between Muslim and non-Muslims, a rapprochement between husband and wife, a truce between rebels and government, a concord of two angry persons and agreement in financial disputes. Here we mean the last mentioned. In financial disputes which agreement is lawful and which is unlawful and what are the conditions of agreements.

^[2] The basic principle about agreement is that it should not be against any law of Shart'a and it should not change unlawful into lawful and vice versa. The example of changing unlawful into lawful is to say that, in undue favor of someone, one would definitely disgrace so-and-so; and changing lawful into unlawful is to say that, in undue favor, someone would make a separation from one's wife.

^[3] Ash-Shāfi'i and Abū Dā'ud described him as, "one of the pillars of falsehood." Ahmad said, "His Abadītb are Munkar (rejected) and he is nothing." An-Nasā'i said, "He is not reliable," and Ibn Hibbān said, "He has a fabricated book of Hadītb purported to have been narrated by him from his father who narrated from his grandfather."

^[4] The Shart'a has decided in the course of social rights that a neighbor can place his beam in the wall of his neighbor [from his own side].

737. Narrated Abū Humaid As-Sā'idi &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "It is not lawful for a person to take his brother's stick except if he is pleased with such." [Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim reported it in their two Sabib books].

Chapter 8 THE TRANSFER OF A DEBT AND SURETY

738. Narrated Abū Huraira : Allāh's Messenger : said, "Delay in payment by a rich man is injustice. So, if one of you is referred for payment to a wealthy man^[1] he should accept the reference." [Agreed upon]. A narration by Ahmad has: "And if anyone is referred to another, let him accept that."

739. Narrated Jābir 🐟 : A man from among us died, so we washed, embalmed and shrouded him. We then brought him to Allāh's Messenger 🙊 and asked him to pray over him. He went forward some steps and then asked, "Does he have any debt against him?" We replied, "Two Dinars." He turned away, but Abū Qatāda (🚓) took upon himself the bearing of them. We then came to him (again) (鑑) and Abū Qatāda (&) said, "I shall discharge the two Dinars." Alläh's Messenger 继 thereupon said, "[Will you be responsible for paying them as] a right to the creditor; and the dead man will then be free from them?" He replied, "Yes." So, he prayed over him. [2]

(۷۲۷) وَعَنْ أَبِي حُمَيْدِ الشَّاعِدِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "لَا يَجِلُ لِإِمْرِيمُ أَنْ يَأْخُذُ عَصَا أَخِيهِ بِعَيْرِ طِيبِ يَضِي مُنْهُ، رَوَاهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ وَالحَاكِمُ فِي صَحِيحَتْهِمَا.

٨ - بَابُ الحَوَالَةِ وَالضَّمَانِ

(٧٣٨) عَنْ أَبِي هُرِيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «مَطْلُ الغَيْعُ ظُلْمٌ، وَإِذَا أُنْبَعَ أَحَدُكُمْ عَلَى مَلِيْ فَلْيَتَبْعْ». مُثَقَّنْ عَلَيْه، وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لأَحْمَدُ: فَلْيُحْتَلُ.

(٧٣٩) وَعَنْ جَايِر رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: ثُوفِي رَجُلُ مُثَا ، وَحَلَّمَاتُهُ، وَحَلَّمَاهُ، وَعَلَيْهُ، ثُمُّ أَنْيَنَا بِهِ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ ، فَقُلْنَا: تُصَلِّي عَلَيْهِ، فَخَطَأَ ، فُطَانَ، ثُمَّ أَنْكَ : أَعَلَيْهِ دَيْنٌ ؟ فُلْنَا: فَخَطَأَ ، فُطَانَ، ثُمَّ أَنْ فَانَ : أَعَلَيْهِ دَيْنٌ ؟ فُلْنَا: فَخَطَأَ ، فُطَانَ ، فَعَ أَنْصَرَفَ، فَتَعَمَّلَهُمُمَا أَبُو فَتَادَةَ، فَقَالَ أَبُو فَتَادَةَ؛ الدِّينَارَانِ عَلَيْ، فَقَالَ أَبُو فَتَادَةً؛ الدِّينَارَانِ عَلَيْ، فَقَالَ أَبُو فَتَادَةً؛ الدِّينَارَانِ عَلَيْ، فَقَالَ اللهِ ﷺ: "حقَّ الغيمريم ؟ وَبَرِئَ مِنْهُمَا المَيْتُ؟ " قَالَ: نَعَمْ، فَصَلَّى عَلَيْهِ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالنِّسَانِيُّ، وَصَحَحَهُ أَبْنُ جِبَّانَ وَالمُحَدِدُ أَبْنُ جِبَّانَ وَالمَحْدِدُ أَبْنُ جِبَّانَ وَالمَحْدِدُ أَبْنُ جِبَّانَ وَالمَحْدِدُ أَنْ وَالمَحْدِدُ أَنْ وَالْمَارِيْ، وَصَحَحَدُ أَبْنُ جِبَّانَ

⁽الحرالة) The word *Hawala* (الحرالة) has two meanings: First, a debtor can give a wealthy man's surety for the loan given to him. This is permitted by the *Sbart'a*. Secondly, a debtor is allowed to consign his creditor to his own debtor. For example, A owes ten Dirhams to B, and B owes ten Dirhams to C. Now B is allowed to consign A to C. This is also permitted by the *Sbart'a* provided A agrees to it.

^[2] It means that a loan, or other rights of human beings, will not be forgiven unless these are forgiven by the rightful person or creditor. Even after death, they stand payable.

[Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i. Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

740. Narrated Abû Huraira 🐟: A man who had died in debt would be brought to Allāh's Messenger & and he would ask, "Has he left anything to discharge his debt?" If he was told that he had left enough^[1] he would pray over him. Otherwise, he would say, "Pray over your companion." Then, when Allah brought the conquests (of other lands) at his hands he said, "I am closer to the believers than their own selves. So, whoever dies leaving a debt. the responsibility^[2] for repaying it shall be upon me." [Agreed upon]. A narration by Al-Bukhāri has: "Whoever dies and leaves nothing to discharge his debt "

741. Narrated 'Amr bin Shu'aib on his father's authority from his grandfather (本): Allāh's Messenger 經 said, "No surety is allowed regarding a prescribed punishment." [Reported by Al-Baihaqi with a *Da'if* (weak) chain of narrators).

(٧٤٠) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ،

أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللَّهِ ﷺ كَانَ يُؤتّى بِالرَّجُلِ المُتَوَفَّى
عَلَيْهِ اللَّذِيْرُ، فَيَسْأَلُ، "هَلْ تَوَكَّ لِدَيْنِهِ مِنْ

وَقَصَاءٍ" فَإِنْ خُدْتَ أَنَّهُ تَوَكَّ وَفَاءً، صَلَّى عَلَيْهِ،

وَلِلَّا قَالَ: "صَلُّوا عَلَى صَاحِبِكُمْ"، فَلَمَّا فَتَحَ

اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ الفُتُوحَ قَالَ: "أَنَّ أُولَى بِالمُؤْمِنِينَ مِنْ

اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ الفُتُوحَ قَالَ: "أَنَّ أُولَى بِالمُؤْمِنِينَ مِنْ

قَضَاؤُهُ". مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لِللُّبُخَارِيِّ:

«فَصَاؤُهُ". مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لِللُّبُخَارِيِّ:

«فَمَنْ مَاتَ وَلَمْ يَتُولُكُ وَفَاءً".

(٧٤١) وَعَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ شُعَيْبِرٍ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ جَدُّو، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا كَفَالَةَ فِي حَدُّه. رَوَاهُ السِّهَقِيمُ بِإِسْنَادٍ ضَيِفٍرٍ.

Chapter 9 PARTNERSHIP AND AGENCY

٩ - بَابُ الشَّرْكَةِ وَالوَكَالَةِ

742. Narrated Abū Huraira الله تَعَالَى عَنْ أَبِي هُويُرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْ أَبِي هُويُرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْ (۷٤٢) Messenger ﷺ said, "Allāh, the Most

[1] Enough wealth to pay off his debt.

^[2] My responsibility does not mean the person of the Prophet 選. In those days the public treasury was in the custody of the Prophet 選. Therefore he said, "My responsibility". After the Prophet 選, this responsibility shifted to the head of the state, as it is clear from another *Hadith*.

^[3] Hudūd (الحدود) – Legal prescribed punishments in Islam. There is no bail in Hudūd. For instance, there should be no bail in theft, adultery and fornication, slander and drinking wine. There are several reasons why there should be no bail for these crimes:

i) Basically bail is to strengthen the demand, whereas in applying *Hudūd*, the basic principle is that the proof against the accused should be made weak and benefit of doubt should go to the accused.

ii) Bail makes a delay in the process of decision making, and there is no surety that the accused will be proven innocent or punished. If the allegation is proven, than there is no

High, said, 'I am the third (partner) of two partners as long as one of them does not cheat his companion. Then, if he cheats (his partner) I depart from them.' '[1] [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

743. Narrated As-Sāib Al-Makhzumi^[2] s: That he was the partner of the Prophet se before the Prophethood. Then, he came (to Makkah) on the day of the Conquest (of Makkah), and he (the Prophet) said, "Welcome to my brother and my partner." [Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and Ibn Mājah].

744. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Mas'ūd &:
"Ammār, Sa'd, and I agreed to be partners in whatever we would get (from the spoils of war) on the day of Badr." The narrator quoted the rest of the *Hadīth* which concludes: "Then Sa'd brought two captives, but neither 'Ammār nor I brought anything." [Reported by An-Nasā'i and others].

745. Narrated Jābir bin 'Abdullāh .: I intended to go to Khaibar, so I went to the Prophet and he said, "When you meet my agent at Khaibar take fifteen Wasq (of dates) from him." [Abū Dā'ud reported and graded it Sabib (authentic)].

قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿قَالَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى: أَنَا ثَالِكُ الشَّرِيكُيْنِ مَا لَمْ يَخُنُ أَحَدُهُمَا صَاحِبَهُ، فَإِذَا خَانَ خَرَجْتُ مِنْ بَيْنِهِمَا». رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُد، وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ.

(٧٤٣) وَعَن السَّاتِب السَّخْزُومِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُ كَانَ شَرِيكَ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَبْلَ البِغْنَةِ، فَجَاءَ يَوْمَ الفَتْحِ، فَقَالَ: «مَرْجَباً بِأَخِي وَشَرِيكِي». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ.

(٧٤٤) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْمَنِ مَسْعُودِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى ءَنُهُ قَالَ: آشْتَرَكُتُ أَنَا وَعَمَّارٌ وَسَعْدٌ فِيمَا يُصِيبُ بَومَ بَدْرٍ، ٱلْحَدِيثَ، وَتَمَامُهُ: «فَجَآءً سَعْدٌ بِأُسِيرَيْنِرٍ، وَلَمْ أَجِئَ أَنَا وَعَمَّارٌ بِشَيءٍ». رَوَاهُ النَّسَائِنُ وَغَيْرُهُ.

(٧٤٥) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ بْنِ عَبْدَاهُو رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: أَرَدْتُ الخُرُوجَ إِلَى خَبْبَرَ، فَأَنْتُ النَّبِيُ ﷺ، فَقَالَ: "إِذَا أَنْبَتَ وَكِيلِي بِخَيْبَرَ، فَخُذْ مِنْهُ خَمْسَةً عَشَرَ وَسْقاً". رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَصَحْحَهُ.

question of pardon in Hudūd.

iii) The guarantor has to produce the accused for trial; and in the absence of accused, the guarantor has to bear the responsibility. However, the punishments of *Hudūd* are only applied on the culprit and not on anyone else.

^[1] It means that financial or physical partnership is lawful provided it is with honesty. Honest partnership brings profit and dishonest partnership brings loss to partners.

^[2] Ibn Al-Jawzi mentioned in *At-Talqib* that his name was Saifi bin 'Aaidh Al-Makhzumi. Ibn 'Abdul-Barr said he was among *Al-Mu'allafatul-Qulub* and he became a good Muslim. He was elderly and lived up to the caliphate of Mu'awiya.

^[3] It means partnership was customary before the Prophet ﷺ and Islam refined its shape and allowed it to continue.

^[4] It means that one can appoint an attorney regarding financial matters. There is another Hadith in which Jabir asked the Prophet ﷺ how he should answer if someone requested from him a sign for the surrender of the dates. The Prophet ﷺ told him to put his hand on the palm of the inquirer, as if the Prophet ﷺ had already decided the sign.

746. Narrated 'Urwa Al-Bāriqi &: Allah's Messenger sent him with a Dinar to buy a sacrificial animal for him. [The reporter mentioned the rest of the *Hadīth*. Al-Bukhāri reported it in the context of another previously mentioned *Hadīth*].

747. Narrated Abū Huraira **\$:** "Allāh's Messenger **\$\mathbelle{\mathbelle{\mathbelle{R}}}** sent 'Umar to collect the *Sadaqa*." The reporter mentioned the rest of the *Hadīth*. [Agreed upon].

748. Narrated Jābir &: "The Prophet & slaughtered sixty-three (sacrificial) camels and ordered 'Ali^[1] & to slaughter the remainder [thirty-seven]." The reporter mentioned the rest of the *Hadītb*. [Reported by Muslim].

749. Narrated Abū Huraira regarding the story of the hired servant: The Prophet said, "Unais, go (in the morning) to this man's wife, and if she confesses, stone her to death." The reporter mentioned the rest of the Hadīth. [Agreed upon].

Chapter 10 AL- IQRAR^[3] (THE CONFESSION)

750. Narrated Abū Dhar .: Allāh's Messenger : said to me, "Say the truth even though it is bitter (i.e. difficult to admit)." [Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic) as a part of a long Hadīth].

Chapter 11 AL-'AARIYA $^{[4]}$ (THE LOAN)

(٧٤٦) وَعَنْ عُرُوةَ البَّارِقِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللَّهِ ﷺ بَعْنَهُ بِدِينَا رِيشْتَرِي لَهُ أَضَاءً أَضْحِيَّةً، ٱلْحَدِيثَ. رَوَاهُ البُّخَارِيُّ فِي أَلْنَاءِ حَدِيثِر، وَقَدْ تَقَدَّمُ لِرَقِم ٢٨٦).

(٧٤٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: بَعَث رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عُمَرَ عَلَى الصَّدَقَةِ، ٱلْحَدِيثَ. مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٧٤٨) وَعَنْ جَايِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ اللَّهِ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنْ اللَّهِ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنْ يَلْبَعَ البَّافِيَ، ٱلْحَدِيثَ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٧٤٩) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، فِي قِصَّةِ الصَّسِيفِ، قَالَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ: «وَاغْدُ يَا أَنْيُسُ! عَلَى الْمُرَأَةِ هَذَا، فَإِن اعْتَرَفَتْ فَارْجُمُهَا»، ٱلْحَدِيثَ. مُقْفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

١٠ - بَابُ الْإِقْرَادِ

(٠٠٧) عَنْ أَبِي فَرَّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ لِي النَّبِيُّ ﷺ: "قُل ِ الحَقَّ وَلَوْ كَانَ مُرًا". وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ فِي حَدِيثٍ طَوِيلٍ.

١١ - بَابُ ٱلْعَارِيَةِ

751. Narrated Samura bin Jundub 🐞: ﴿ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ عَنْ سَمُرَةَ بْنِرَ جُنْدُبٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ عَنْ

^[1] It means that appointing an attorney for sacrifice (of animals) is also lawful.

 $^{^{[2]}}$ It means that appointment of an attorney to enforce the punishment of $Hud\bar{u}d$ is lawful.

^[3] Iqrār (الإنزار) means to confirm something, and according to Shart'a terminology, Iqrār means a person's admission of what he has done. It is the opposite of denial.

^{[4] &#}x27;Aariya (غربانا) means allowing someone else to use one's property, or its profit, while

Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "The hand (which takes) is responsible for what it has taken till it returns it." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a. Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

752. Narrated Abū Huraira 泰: Allāh's Messenger 義 said, "Give back what has been entrusted (to you) to him who entrusted you, and do not violate the trust of him who violates your trust." [Reported by At-Tirmidhi and Abū Dā'ud; At-Tirmidhi graded it Hasan (good) and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic). Abū Hātim Ar-Rāzi considered it Munkar (rejected)].

753. Narrated Ya'la bin Umaiya 本: Allāh's Messenger 慈 said to me, "When my messengers come to you, give them thirty coats of armor." I asked, "O Allāh's Messenger, is it a loan with a guarantee (of its return), or a borrowed object that must be returned?" He replied, "No, it is a borrowed object that must be returned." [Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i. Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

754. Narrated Safwān bin Umaiya^[2] At the battle of Hunain, the Prophet borrowed coats of mail from him and he asked, "Are you taking them by تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «عَلَى اليّدِ مَا أَخَذَتْ، حَتَّى تُؤَدِّيُهُ». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ والأَرْبَعَةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ.

(٧٥٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرُيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «أَدُّ الأَمَانَةَ إِلَى مَن التَمَنَكَ، وَلَا تَخُنْ مَنْ خَانَكَ». رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالشَّرْيِذِيُّ، وَحَسَّنَهُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ، وَاسْتَنْكَرُهُ أَبُو حَاتِمِ الرَّازِيُّ.

(٧٥٣) وَعَنْ يَعْلَى بْنِرِ أُمَيَّةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ لِي رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ الْإِذَا أَتَنْكَ رَبُسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ الْإِذَا أَتَنْكَ اللهِ اللهِ أَعَارِيَةٌ مُؤَدَّاةٌ؟ قَالَ: يَا رَسُولُ اللهِ! أَعَارِيَةٌ مُؤَدَّاةٌ؟ قَالَ: يَا رَسُولُ بَلْ عَارِيَةٌ مُؤَدَّاةٌ؟ قَالَ: بَلْ عَارِيَةٌ مُؤَدَّاةٌ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ وَاللّهَ عَالِيَةٌ مُؤَدَّاةٌ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ وَاللّهَ اللّهَ عِبّانَ.

(٧٥٤) وَعَنْ صَفْوَانَ بُنِ أُمَيَّةً، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ ٱسْتَعَارَ مِنْهُ دُرُوعًا يَوْمَ خُنَيْنٍ ، فَقَالَ: أَغَضْباً يَا

retaining the ownership of that thing.

الا In Arabic, 'Aariya Madmūna (عارية مضونة) means guaranteed-loan and 'Aariya Mu'adda (عارية مؤداة) means a borrowed object (without guarantee). Regarding the first, guarantee is essential. Suppose somebody takes an object as 'Aariya Madmūna and the object borrowed is destroyed or damaged while in his custody, it is agreed upon that the borrower will have to pay for its cost, that is why it is called 'Aariya Madmuna. However, if somebody borrows an object on trust for a while as Aariya Mu'adda (without guarantee) and that object is destroyed or damaged while in his custody – without any negligence on his part – he will not be charged for the loss or damage.

force, O Muhammad (鑑)?" He replied, "No, it is a loan with a guarantee of their return."¹¹ [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i; Al-Hākim graded it *Sabib* (authentic). He also reported for this *Haditb* a *Sbābid* (supporting narration) which is weak, from Ibn 'Abbas].

مُحَمَّدُ (ﷺ)! قَالَ: ﴿بَلْ عَارِيَةٌ مَصْمُونَةٌ». رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَأَحْمَدُ، وَالنَّسَآنِيُّ، وَصَحَّمَهُ الحَاكِمُ، وَأَخْرَجَ لَهُ شَاهِداً ضَعِيفاً عَن البْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا.

Chapter 12 AL-GHASB^[2] (THE WRONGFUL APPROPRIATION)

755. Narrated Sa'id bin Zaid 🎄: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "If anyone takes a span of land unjustly, on the Day of Resurrection Allāh will strangle him with it from seven earths." [Agreed upon].

756. Narrated Anas 🐟: The Prophet 🍇 was with one of his wives when one [4] of the Mothers of the Believers (another of his wives) sent a bowl containing food with a servant of hers. Then, she (in whose house he was) struck it with her hand and the bowl was broken. He collected the pieces of the bowl and began to collect the food in it and said, "You eat," [5] and gave an unbroken bowl to the messenger (servant) and kept the broken one. [Reported by Al-Bukhāri and At-Tirmidhi] The latter named the one who broke it as 'Aisha (参) and added: The Prophet 鑑 then said, "Food for food, and a vessel for a vessel." [At-Tirmidhi graded it Sabib (authentic)].

١٢ - بَابُ الغَصْبِ

(٧٠٥) عَنْ سَعِيدِ بْنِر زَيْدِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: الْمَرْ اقْتَطَعَ شِبْراً مِنْ الأَرْضِ طُلْماً، طَوَّقَهُ اللَّهُ إِنَّاهُ يَوْمَ القِيَامَةِ مِنْ القِيَامَةِ مِنْ اللَّهِ إِنَّاهُ يَوْمَ القِيَامَةِ مِنْ سَبْمٍ أَرْضِينَ». مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٧٥٦) وَعَنْ أَنَسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ اللَّهِيُ ﷺ كَانَ عِنْدُ بَغْضِ نِسَآنِهِ، فَأَرْسَلَتْ، النَّهُ عَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ إِخْدَى أُمَّهَاتِ الشُوْمِنِينَ مَعْ خَادِم لَّهَا بَقَضْعَةً، فِيهَا طَعَامٌ، فَضَرَبَتْ يَدَهَا فَكَسَرَتِ القَصْعَةَ، فَضَمَهَا، وَجَعَلَ فِيهَا الطَّعَامَ وَقَالَ: كُلُوا، فَضَمَّهَا، وَجَعَلَ فِيهَا الطَّعَامَ وَقَالَ: كُلُوا، المُخْدُورَةَ. رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ وَالتَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَسَمَّى الضَّارِةُ عَقِلَ النَّيْ فَيْهَ: (طَعَامُ النَّيِ عَلَيْهُ: (طَعَامُ النَّي اللَّهُ اللَّهِ الطَّعَامِ وَإِنَّا إِلَيْهِ إِلَيْهِ المَعْمَمُ وَقَالَ النَّي اللَّهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ الْعَلَى اللَّهُ الْمُنْ اللَّهُ اللْمُؤْمِنُونَ اللَّهُ اللْمُعْمِلَا اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللِهُ ال

^[1] If somebody borrows a thing, and it is damaged by chance, the borrower will not be charged for that, but if it is proved that the damage is intentional or the result of his carelessness then he will have to pay for it.

^[2] Ghasb (الغصب) means taking someone's property or belongings by force or usurpation.

^[3] It means that the usurpation of someone else's land is a major sin. Usurpation of land is to take over the land of others by force and start cultivation.

^[4] This was Safiya & who had sent this meal.

^[5] Speaking to those who were with him.

^[6] There is a difference of opinion on this issue. If a thing is broken or damaged from the

757. Narrated Rāfi' bin Khadij 泰: Allāh's Messenger 鑑 said, "Whoever sows in the land of a people without their permission, he has no right to any of the crop. However, he is entitled to what he spent^[1] on it." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a except An-Nasā'i. At-Tirmidhi graded it Sabib (authentic), but it has been said that Al-Bukhāri graded it Da'if (weak)].

758. Narrated 'Urwa bin Az-Zubair^[2] : A man among the Companions of Allāh's Messenger & said, "Two men brought a dispute before Allāh's Messenger 🍇 concerning a land in which one of them had planted palm trees and the land belonged to the other. So, Allāh's Messenger ﷺ ruled that the land belongs to its owner, and commanded the owner of the palm trees to uproot his palm trees. He said. "The labor of an unjust person[3] has no right." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and its chain of narrators is Hasan (good). The last (quoted) part of the aforesaid Hadith is found in the books of the collectors of As-Sunan, from 'Urwa's narration on the authority of Sa'id bin Zaid. However, there is disagreement regarding whether it is Mawsūl (an unbroken chain) or Mursal (missing link after the Tābi'i) as well as the determination of the name of the

(vov) وَعَنْ رَافِيمِ بْنِرِ خَدِيجِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «مَنْ زَرَعَ فِي أَرْضِ قَوْمٍ بِغَيْرٍ إِذْنِهِمْ، فَلَيْسَ لَهُ مِنَ الزَّرْعِ شَيْءٌ، وَلَهُ نَفَقَتُهُ». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ إِلَّا النَّسَاتِيَّ، وَحَسَّنَهُ النَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَيُقَالُ: إِنَّ اللَّخَارِيَّةَ ضَعْفَهُ.

عَنْهُ مَانَ عُرْوَةَ بُنِ الزَّيْشِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَجُلُ مُنْ أَصْحَابِ رَسُولِ اللهِ عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَجُلُ مُنْ أَصْحَابِ رَسُولِ اللهِ عَلَى اللهُ اللهِ عَلَى اللهُ عَلَى اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ إللهُ إللهُ رَضَا لِللهَ عَلَى اللهُ اللهِ عَلَى اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهُولِيْ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ

borrower, he will have to pay the price, or replace the thing with something similar to it. This difference of opinion is limited to priceable objects only; regarding other things, the object or thing should be similar to that of the broken or damaged one. This Hadīth prefers returning of similar objects.

^[1] If somebody starts cultivating someone else's land without the prior permission of the owner, he is no right to any of the produce. The most he can claim is the price of the seed, and rest of the produce will go to the owner.

^[2] He is Abû 'Abdullāh 'Urwa bin Az-Zubair bin Al-'Awwām bin Khuwailid Al-Asadi Al-Madāni who was one of the great *Tābi* 'in and one of the seven *Fiqh* scholars in Al-Madīnah. He was a reliable and prominent *Fiqh* scholar. He was born at the beginning of 'Umar's Caliphate. It is also said that he was born in 23 H. and died in 94 H. as has been correctly established.

^[3] The Arabic word Zālim (الله) in this context means cruel or unjust, or a person who builds a house, starts cultivation or plants trees in someone else's land.

Companion who heard it from the Prophet 藥.

759. Narrated Abū Bakra : In his Kbutba (religious talk – sermon) on the Day of Sacrifice at Mina, the Prophet said, "Your blood and your property and your honor are forbidden for you to violate, like the sacredness of this day of yours, in this month of yours, in this city of yours." [Agreed upon].

Chapter 13
ASH-SHUF'A^[2] (THE OPTION TO BUY A PARTNER'S SHARE IN PROPERTY)

760. Narrated Jābir bin 'Abdullāh 🞄: Allāh's Messenger # ruled that the option to buy a partner's share in property is applicable to everything that has not been divided. However, when boundaries are fixed and separate roads are made there is no partner's option." [Agreed upon; the wording is Al-Bukhāri's). Muslim's narration has: "The option to buy a partner's share in property is applicable to everything which is shared, whether land, a dwelling or a garden and it is not lawful to sell before informing one's partner."[3] At-Tahāwis narration has: "The Prophet # ruled for the right of partner's option regarding everything." [Its narrators are reliable].

(٧٠٩) وَعَنْ أَبِي بَكْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ فِي خُطْبَيْهِ يَوْمَ النَّحْرِ بِمِنَى: وإِنَّ دِمَاءَكُمْ وَأَمْوَالُكُمْ وَأَعْرَاضَكُمْ عَلَيْكُمْ حَرَامٌ، كَحُرْمَةِ يَوْمِكُمْ هَذَا، فَي بَلَدِكُمْ هَذَا، فِي شَهْرِكُمْ هَذَا». مُثَقَّنَ عَلَيْهِ.

١٣ - بَابُ الشُّفْعَةِ

(٧٦٠) عَنْ جَابِرِ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللهِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ اللهِ عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَضَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ إللَّهُ مُعْمَدً مَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ المُدُودُ وَصُرِقَتِ الطُّرُقُ فَلَا شُفْعَةً. مُتُقَنَّ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفْظُ لِلْبُحَادِيِّ. وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ مُسْلِمٍ: الشُفْعَةُ فِي كُلِّ شِرْكِ، فِي أَرْضِ، أَوْ رَبْع، أَوْ رَبْع، أَوْ رَبْع، أَوْ يَبِيطُ حَتَّى يَعْرِضَ عَلَى شَرِيكِهِ. وَفِي لَفْظ: ﴿لَا يَجِلُ - أَن يَبِيلُ حَتَّى يَعْرِضَ عَلَى شَرِيكِهِ. وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لِللْمُعْتَةِ فِي كُل شَرِيكِهِ. وَفِي رَوَايَةٍ الطَّحَادِيِّ: "قَضَى النَّبِيُ ﷺ بِالشَّفْعَةِ فِي كُل شَرِيكِهِ. وَفِي رَوَايَةٍ شَيْءٍ. وَرَجَالُهُ بْقَاتْ.

⁽¹⁾ This *Hadith* is mentioned here merely to show that to usurp the property of a Muslim is unlawful, and all agree on this point.

 $^{^{121}}$ It should be known that $Shuf^*a$ – pre-emption is on immovable property only, such as a house, shop, garden or land, etc. There is a difference of opinion among religious scholars on the question 'Who has the right of pre-emption?' Some of the scholars say that only a partner of the sold property has the right of pre-emption, while a mere neighbor has no right. Some others say that a neighbour has also got the right. Ibn Qaiyim says that a neighbour who is not a partner in the sold property but has the common entrance, also has the right of pre-emption, and that temporary absence of the partner does not annul his right.

^[3] It means that the seller should inform his partner about the sale of property beforehand.

761. Narrated Abū Rāfi' &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "The neighbor has more right (to be given preference) to the property which is near to him." [Al-Bukhāri reported it, and there is a story related to it. [1]

762. Narrated Anas bin Mālik 泰: Allāh's Messenger 繼 said, "The neighbor of the house has the most right to buy it." [Reported by An-Nasā'i. Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic), but it (this chain from Qatāda from Anas) has a defect].

763. Narrated Jābir &: Allah's Messenger & said, "The neighbor is most entitled to the right of option to buy his neighbor's property, and its exercise should be waited for, even if he is absent, if the two properties have one road." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a; its narrators are reliable (tbiqab)].

764. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: The Prophet said, "The option to buy neighboring property is like loosening the knot^[2] (which restrains the camel)" [Reported by Ibn Mājah and Al-Bazzār, who added: "And there is no option to buy a neighboring property for one who is absent." Its chain of narrators is Da'if (weak)].

(٧٦١) وَعَنْ أَبِي رَافِي_م رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "الحَارُ أَحَقُّ بِصَقَبِهِ". أَخْرَجُهُ البُخَارِيُّ، وَفِيهِ فِصَّةً.

(٧٦٧) وَعَنْ أَنْسِ بْمَنِ مَالِكِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: ﴿جَارُ اللَّالِ الْحَارِ اللَّهِ ﷺ: ﴿جَارُ اللَّالِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ عِيْلًا: وَلَهُ عِلَّةً.

(٧٦٣) وَعَنْ جَايِرٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "الجَارُ أَحَقُّ بِشُفْعَةِ جَارِهِ، يُشْظُرُ بِهَا، وَإِنْ كَانَ غَانِياً، إِذَا كَانَ طَرِيقُهُمَا وَاحِداً". رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، وَرِجَالُهُ ثِقَاتٌ.

(٧٦٤) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: "الشَّفْمَةُ كَحَلِّ اللَّهِيَّ اللَّهِ قَالَ: "الشُّفْمَةُ كَحَلِّ اللَّهِالِيِّ وَزَادَ: "وَلَا اللَّهُ اللَّهُ مَا اللَّهُ أَنْهُ وَزَادَ: "وَلَا شُفْعَةً لِغَالِبِ". وَإِسْنَادُهُ ضَعِيفٌ.

^[1] The story goes like this that Abū Rafi' – in the presence of Miswar bin Makhrama – approached Sa'd Ibn Abi Waqqas and asked him to buy his (Abū Rāfi') houses which were located within the boundary walls of Sa'd's property. Miswar talked to Sa'd about the matter. Sa'd agreed to pay four hundred Dinar (gold coin) only for his (Abū Rafi') house. He also offered to pay the money in a lump sum or in installments, as Abū Rafi' wishes. On hearing this Abū Rafi' said that he did not sell these houses for which he had been offered five hundred Dinars in cash because he had heard from the Prophet 養 that neighbors have more right than others. He also said that had he not heard it from the Prophet 善 he would have never sold him his house at this price.

^[2] Hall Al-Iqāl means that as soon as the knee of the camel is untied, he immediately stands up. Similarly, as soon as a property is sold, or the person having the right of pre-emption comes to know about the sale of property, he should immediately use his right; delay will make his right invalid and his right of pre-emption will not be accepted.

Chapter 14 AL-QIRĀD^[1] (SPECULATIVE PARTNERSHIP)

765. Narrated Suhaib^[2] &: The Prophet said, "There are three things which contain blessings: A business transaction in which payment is agreed on a fixed later time, *Al-Muqāradab* (speculative partnership), and mixing wheat and barley for one's household use but not for sale." [Reported by Ibn Mājah through a *Da'if* (weak) chain of narrators].

766. Narrated Al-Hākim bin Hizām ... He used to make a condition on the man to whom he gave his property in Al-Muqaaradah (to trade with, and the profit being shared between them), that: "You should not trade with my property in living beings, and do not transport it by sea, and do not settle with it at the bottom of a river-bed; and if you do any of the aforesaid acts you should then guarantee my property." [Ad-Dāraqutni reported it and its narrators are reliable (thiqah)].

Mālik said in *Al-Muwatta'* from Al-'Alā'^[3] bin 'Abdur-Rahmān bin Ya'qūb

١٤ - بَابُ الْقِرَاضِ

(٧٦٥) عَنْ صُهَيْب رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «ثَلَاثٌ فِيهِنَّ النَّرَكُةُ: النَّيْمُ إِلَى أَجَلَطُ البُرِّ بِالشَّعِيرِ أَجَلُطُ البُرِّ بِالشَّعِيرِ لِنُبَيْتِ، لَا لِلْبَيْعِ ﴿ وَوَاهُ البُنُ مَاجَةً بِإِشْنَادِ صَعِيفٍ. وَقَاهُ البُنُ مَاجَةً بِإِشْنَادٍ صَعِيفٍ.

رَبِهِ وَمَنْ حَكِيمٍ بُنِ جِزَامٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ لَمَانَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُ كَانَ يَشْتَرِطُ عَلَى الرَّجُلِ، إِذَا أَعْلَمُ مَالاً مُقَارَضَةً، أَنَّ لَا تَجْعَلَ مَالي فِي كَيْدٍ، وَلَا تَنْزَلَ بِهِ كَيْدٍ، وَلَا تَنْزَلَ بِهِ فِي بَعْرِ، وَلَا تَنْزَلَ بِهِ فِي بَعْرِ، وَلَا تَنْزَلَ بِهِ فِي بَعْرِ، وَلَا تَنْزَلَ بِهِ فِي بَعْلِن مَسِيلٍ، فَإِنْ فَعَلْتَ شُيْنًا مِنْ ذَٰلِكَ، فَقَدْ ضَمِئْتَ مَالِي. رَوَاهُ النَّارَقُطْنِيُّ، وَرِجَالُهُ فَقَدْ ضَمِئْتَ مَالِي. رَوَاهُ النَّارَقُطْنِيُّ، وَرِجَالُهُ فَيَاتُ.

وَقَالَ مَالِكٌ فِي المُوَطَّا عَن العَلاَءِ بْنِ عَبْدِالرَّحْمٰن بْنِ يَغْقُوبَ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ جَدُهِ:

^[1] In this context $\overline{Qir\bar{a}d}$ (الفراض – Loan) – or Al-Mugāradab – means a speculative partnership, in which one person invests the money (the loan) and the other invests his physical labor in the work, and both of them divide the profit, as partners. If loss occurs, it falls on the investor. It is lawful. It is also called Mudārabab (المناس).

^[2] He is Abū Yahya Suhaib bin Sinān Ar-Rumi. He was originally an Arab belonging to the tribe of An-Nimir bin Qāsit bin Wa'il and he was captured by the Byzantines while a young boy. He then grew up among them and was counted as one of them. It is said that when he grew up and became mature, he ran away from them and came to Makkah where he became the ally of 'Abdullāh bin Jad'ān. It is also said that Banu Kalb bought him from the Byzantines, brought him to Makkah and was then bought by 'Abdullāh bin Jad'ān. Suhaib was a prominent Sahābi who became a Muslim early and was persecuted because of Allāh. He then migrated to Al-Madīnah and died in it in 38 H.

^[3] He is Abū Shibl Al-'Alā' bin 'Abdur-Rahmān bin Ya'qūb Al-Juhani, the manumitted slave of Al-Huraqa Al-Madāni. He was one of the prominent young Tābi'in of the fifth generation. He was truthful but perhaps got confused at times regarding the Hadīth. Ahmad and others verified his reliability. Al-Wāqidi said that he died during the caliphate of Al-Mansūr.

from his father^[1] on the authority of his grandfather^[2] that he traded with some property belonging to 'Uthmān () so that the profit would be divided between them. [3] [This *Hadīth* is *Mawqūf* (saying of a Companion) *Sabib* (authentic)].

أَنَّهُ عَمِلَ فِي مَالرِ لِغُثْمَانَ، عَلَى أَنَّ الرِّبْحَ يَتْهُمًا. وَهُوَ مَوْقُوفٌ صَحِيحٌ.

Chapter 15 **AL-MUSAQAT^[4] AND **AL-IJARA^[5]

١٥ - بَابُ المُسَاقَاةِ وَالْإِجَارَةِ

(TENDING PALM-TREES AND THE WAGES)
767. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: Allāh's

767. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: Allāh's Messenger & had agreed with the people of Khaibar to give (to the Muslim authority) half what it produced of fruits or crops. [Agreed upon].

A narration by Al-Bukhāri and Muslim has: They asked him (ﷺ) to allow them to stay on the land, on condition that they should do all the cultivation and have half the dates. Allāh's Messenger ﷺ replied to them, "We shall allow you to stay on the land, on that condition, as long as we wish." So

(٧٦٧) عَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ عَامَلَ أَهْلَ خَبْيَرَ عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ عَامَلَ أَهْلَ خَبْيَرَ بِشَطْرٍ مَا يَخْرُجُ مِنْهَا مِنْ ثَمَرٍ أَوْ زَرْعٍ. مُتَفَقَّ عَلَيْهِ.

وَفِي رِوَاتِيَّةً لَهُمَا: فَسَأَلُوا أَنْ يُقِرَّهُمْ بِهَا، عَلَى أَنْ يَكُفُوا عَمَلَهَا، وَلَهُمْ نِضْفُ النَّمَرِ، فَقَالَ لَهُمْ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: انْقِرُكُمْ بِهَا عَلَى ذَلِكَ مَا شِئْنَا»، فَقَرُوا بِهَا، حَتَّى أَجْلَاهُمْ عُمَرُ.

^{[1] &#}x27;Abdur-Rahmān bin Ya'qūb Al-Juhani was among the middle *Tābi'in* and was counted among the third generation. He heard *Abadīth* from his father, Abū Huraira and from Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri.

^[2] Ya'qūb Al-Juhani was a manumitted slave of Al-Huraqa and was among the elders of the second generation of the Tābi'in. He lived during the lifetime of 'Umar bin Al-Khattāb and was among the narrators of few Abadītb.

القراض) or Al-Qtrād (القراض) is a sort of contract. In it ignorance of compensation / wage is pardoned as a leniency for the people. If the loss is due to the carelessness or deliberate mistake of the worker, he will be held responsible for it. Otherwise, he is free of responsibility. Similarly, in acting against the conditions or instructions of the investor, the co-partner in business will be held responsible in case of loss.

^[4] Watering and tending to the fields or gardens and sharing the produce or cultivating the land and sharing the produce with the owner is called Musāqāt (الصاقاء). This is also called Muzāra'ab (الصاقاء). The difference between Musāqāt and Muzāra'a is that Musāqāt is for fruit trees, while Muzāra'a is for grains.

^[5] Making someone partner in profit or to rent out a thing to someone is called *Ijārab* (زيالإجازة).

they remained on the land till 'Umar (�) expelled them.

Muslim has: Allāh's Messenger handed over to the Jews of Khaibar, the palm-trees and the land of Khaibar, on condition that they should employ their own resources in working on it and keep half of its produce.^[1]

768. Narrated Hanzala bin Qais (الله): I asked Rāfi' bin Khadij 🐞 about renting of land for gold and silver and he replied, "There is no harm in that, as the people used to rent land in the time of Allāh's Messenger 🗱 for what grew by the river-beds, and the edges of the brooks/streams, or for a portion of the crop. However, sometimes this portion of the crop would be destroyed^[2] while the other is saved, or vice-versa. Thus, there would be no wages to pay the people (the owners of the land) except for the portion which produced a crop." For this reason, he warned against this (practice). However, if it is (rented) for something known and guaranteed, then there is no harm in it. [Muslim reported it].

This narration contains a clarification of what was mentioned in general terms in the previous narration of Al-Bukhāri and Muslim, regarding the general prohibition of renting out land.

769. Narrated Thābit bin Dahhāk &: Allāh's Messenger & forbade Al-Muzara'ab (employing people on land for a share of the produce), [3] and ordered al-Mu'ajara (renting it out for

وَلِمُسْلِمٍ: أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ فَفَعَ إِلَى يَهُودِ خَيْبَرَ نَخْلَ خَيْبَرَ وَأَرْضَهَا، عَلَى أَنْ يَعْتَمِلُوهَا مِنْ أَمْوَالِهِمْ، وَلَهُمْ شَطْرُ ثَمَرِهَا.

(٧٦٨) وَعَنْ حَنْظَلَةَ بْنِ قَيْسٍ، قَالَ: سَأَلْتُ رَافِعَ بْنَ خَدِيجٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ عَنِ إِلَّالُهُ بَعَالَى عَنْهُ عَنِ إِلَّهُ بَعَالَى عَنْهُ عَنِ إِلَّمْ اللَّهُ يَعَالَى عَنْهُ عَنْ بِأَسَ بِهِ، إِنَّمَا كَانَ النَّاسُ يُوَاجِرُونَ عَلَى عَهْدِ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ عَلَى المَاذِيَانَاتِ ، وَأَفْبَالِ الجَدَاوِلِ، وَأَشْيَاءَ مِنَ الزَّرْعِ، فَيَهْلِكُ هَذَا، وَلَمْ الجَدَاوِلِ، وَأَشْيَاءً مِنَ الزَّرْعِ، فَيَهْلِكُ هَذَا، وَلَمْ يَكُن لِلنَّاسِ كِرَآءٌ إِلَّا هَذَا، فَلِذَا فَيَهْلِكُ هَذَا، وَلَمْ يَكُن لِلنَّاسِ كِرَآءٌ إِلَّا هَذَا، فَلِذَا فَلِلْكَ زَجَرَ عَنْهُ، فَلَا بَأْسَ بِهِ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ .

وَفِيهِ بَيَانٌ لِّمَا أُجْمِلَ فِي المُتَّفَقِ عَلَيْهِ مِنْ إِطْلَاقِ النَّهْيِ عَنْ كِرَاءِ ٱلأَرْضِ.

(٧٦٩) وَعَنْ ثَابِتِ بْنِ الضَّحَّاكِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ نَهَى عَنِ المُزَارَعَةِ، وَأَمَرَ بِالمُؤَاجِرَةِ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ أَيْضاً.

[[]المزارعة] This Hadīth provides the proof of Musāqāt (المساقاة) and Muzāra'ah (المساقاة).

^[2] It means that the fields in low lying areas or on the banks of canals would be ruined in times of floods while the fields on highlands would remain safe; and it would be the reverse in times of drought.

^[3] In Arabic, Muzāra'ab (النجازية) means to give the land for cultivation to someone and divide the produce. The Prophet ﷺ did not stop or prevent this. However, when land was scarce and the Ansār and Mubājirīn were more in number, he ordered – as a measure of expediency – that they cultivate the land as much as one could, and not to give the rest of

cash).[1] [Reported by Muslim].

770. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: Allāh's Messenger & had himself cupped and gave the one who cupped him his pay; and if it were prohibited he would not have given him (his pay). [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

771. Narrated Rāfi' bin Khadij &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "The earnings of a cupper (*Hajjām*) are impure." [Reported by Muslim].

772. Narrated Abū Huraira ... Allāh's Messenger ... said, "Allāh, the Great and Glorious, has said, "There are three whose adversary I shall be on the Day of Resurrection: A man who gave a promise in My Name and then betrayed; a man who sold a free man and consumed his price; and a man who hired a worker and, after receiving full service from him, did not give him his wages." "[3] [Reported by Muslim].

773. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "The most worthy thing for which you receive payment is Allāh's Book.''^[4] [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

774. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "Give the hired worker his wage before his sweat dries." [Reported by Ibn Mājah].

(۷۷۰) وَعَنِ الْبَنِ عَبَّاسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّهُ قَالَ: أَخْتَجَمَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ, وَأَعْطَى الَّذِي حَجَمَهُ أَجْرَهُ، وَلَوْ كَانَ حَرَاماً لَمْ يُعْطِهِ. رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُ.

(۷۷۱) وَعَنْ رَافِعِ بْنِرِ خَدِيعِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُّولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "كَشْبُ ٱلحَجَّامِ خَبِيثٌ. رَزَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ».

(۷۷۷) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرُيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: ﴿قَالَ اللَّهُ عَنْ وَجَلَّ:
ثَلَاثَةٌ أَنَا خَصْمُهُمْ يَوْمَ القِيَامِةِ: رَجُلٌ أَعْطَى بِي
نُمُّ عَكَدَر، وَرَجُلٌ بَاعَ حُرًّا فَأَكُلَ نَمْنَهُ، وَرَجُلٌ
اسْتَأْجَرَ أَجِيراً فَاسْتَوْفَى مِنْهُ وَلَمْ يُعْطِو أَجْرَهُ».
وَرَاهُ مُشْلِمٌ.

(٧٧٣) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿إِنَّ أَحَقَّ مَا أَخَدُتُمُ عَلَيْهِ أَجُوراً كِتَابُ اللَّهِ». أَخْرَجَهُ النِّحَارِيُّ.

(٧٧٤) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «أَعْطُوا الأَجِيرَ أَخْدُهُ، قَبْلُ أَنْ يَجِفًّ عَرَفُهُ». رَوَاهُ النُّ مَاجَهُ.

the land on produce-share basis or *Muzāra'ah*. Instead, they should give the land on *Ijārah* (rental basis), because *Ijārah* provided some ease to the tenants. Afterwards when land was enough for all, this restriction was lifted.

^[1] The word used in Arabic is *Ijārab* (الإجازة) which means to rent out the land for a fixed period, and it is lawful.

^[2] In Arabic Khabīth (خبيث means a mean and base work, it does not mean unlawful. Sometimes the word Khabīth is spoken metaphorically in the meaning of mean and base.

^[3] In this Hadith it has been emphasized to pay the wages of a laborer. Nowadays, many of the people are unfair in their dealing and dishonest in making the payment.

 $^{^{[4]}}$ This *Haditb* clearly shows that accepting the wages for copying and teaching the noble Qur'ān and *Haditb* is lawful.

^[5] It means that the wages of a laborer must be paid immediately. He who does not pay the

Abū Ya'la and Al-Baihaqi reported something to the same effect on the subject of wages from Abū Huraira & At-Tabarāni also reported something similar from Jābir. However, all these Ahādith are weak

775. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri &: The Prophet & said, "Whoever hires a worker should pay him his wages in full." [Reported by 'Abdur-Razzāq, and it has *Inqitā'* (a break) in it's chain of narrators. Al-Baihaqi reported it *Mausūl* (unbroken chain) through the narration of Abū Hanifah].

Chapter 16 THE CULTIVATION OF BARREN LANDS

776. Narrated 'Urwa from 'Aisha \si: The Prophet \subseteq said, "He who develops land that does not belong to anyone, has the most right to it." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri] 'Urwa said that 'Umar ruled according to that during his caliphate.

 وَفِي البَابِ عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ عِنْدَ أَبِي يَغْلَى وَالبَّيْهَقِيِّ، وَجَابِرٍ عِنْدَ الطَّبَرَانِيِّ، وَكُلُّهَا ضِمَافٌ.

(٧٧٥) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ قَالَ: «مَن ِ اسْتَأْجَرَ أَجِيراً فَلْيُسَمِّ لَهُ أُجْرَتُهُ»، رَوَاهُ عَبْدُ الرَّزَّاقِ، وَفِيهِ انْفِطَاعُ، وَوَصَلُهُ البَّيْهَقِيُّ مِنْ طَرِيقِرَ أَبِي حَيْفَةَ.

١٦ - بَابُ إِحْيَآءِ المَوَاتِ

(٧٧٧) وَعَنْ عُرُوةَ عَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ عَنْهَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: • مَنْ عَمَرَ أَرْضاً لَيَسَتْ لِأَخدِ فَهُو أَحَقٌ بِهَا»، رَواهُ البُخارِيُ. قَالَ عُرُوةُ: وَقَضَى بِهِ عُمَرُ في خِلاَقَتِ.
قَالَ عُرُوةُ: وَقَضَى بِهِ عُمَرُ في خِلاَقَتِ.

(۷۷۷) وَعَنْ سَعِيدِ بْنِرِ زَيْدِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «مَنْ أَحْيَا أَرْضاً مَيْتَةٌ. فَهِيَ لُهُ». رَوَاهُ الثَّلَانَةُ، وَحَسَّتُهُ الثَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَقَالَ: رُوِيَ مُرْسَلاً، وَهُوَ كَمَا قَالَ، والحُمْلِفَ فِي صَحَابِيْهِ، فَقِيلَ: جَابِرٌ، وَقِيلَ: عَاتِشَةُ، وَقِيلَ: عَاتِشَةُ، وَقِيلَ: عَاتِشَةُ، وَقِيلَ: عَاتِشَةُ، وَقِيلَ: عَاتِشَةُ،

wages of labor, Allah will be a claimant against him on the Day of Judgement.

^[1] It means that wages for the labor should be settled in advance to avoid the subsequent dispute. Similarly in all alike matters of Mudarabab, Salam, Muzara'ab, Muwajarab, etc. The same principle which Sbari'a has decided is applicable, and everybody should abide by this principle.

^[2] It means that whoever cultivates the uninhabited and barren land, it belongs to him, provided this land is not the property of any Muslim or *Dhimmi* – a non-Muslim living in a Muslim State). Some religious scholars have the opinion that prior permission of the state is also necessary, while according to others it is not.

or 'Abdullāh bin 'Umar, and the strongest opinion is that it was the first one (i.e. Jābir)]

778. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās & that As-Sa'b bin Jaththāma Al-Laithi & informed him that the Prophet & had said, "There is no preserve^[1] except what belongs to Allāh and His Messenger." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

779. Narrated (Ibn 'Abbās) &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "There should neither be harming (of others without cause), nor reciprocating harm (between two parties)." [2] [Reported by Ahmad and Ibn Mājah]. Ibn Mājah reported something similar to the aforesaid Hadāth from Abū Sa'īd's narration. It is found in Al-Muwatta' in a Mursal form (missing link after the Tābi'i).

780. Narrated Samura bin Jundub &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "If anyone puts a wall around a (barren) land, it belongs to him." [Reported by Abū Ba'ud and Ibn Al-Jārūd graded it Sabib (authentic)].

781. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Mughaffal 本: The Prophet 鑑 said, "Whoever digs a well, shall have forty cubits (of land) as resting place for his animals [4] near the water." [Reported by Ibn Mājah through a weak chain of narrators]. (٧٧٨) وَعَنْ ابْنِ عَبَّاسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ الصَّعْبُ بْنَ جَنَّامَةَ اللَّبْيِقِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ أَخْبَرُهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «لَا حِمَى إِلَّا لِلَّهِ وَلِرْصُولِهِ». رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(٧٧٩) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا ضَرَرَ وَلَا ضِرَارَ ٩. رَوَاهُ أَخْمَد وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ، وَلَهُ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَبِي سَمِيدِ مَثْلُهُ، وَهُوَ فِي المُوطَأَ مُرْسَلٌ.

(٧٨٠) وَعَنْ سَمْرَةَ بْنِ جُنْدُبِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ
 تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَنْ أَخَاطَ حَائِطًا عَلَى أَرْضٍ فَهِيَ لَهُ". رَوَاهُ أَبُو
 دَاوُد، وَصَحَّحَهُ أَبْنُ الجَارُرو.

(٧٨١) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ مُغَفَّارِ رَضِيَ اللهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ قَالَ: "مَنْ حَفَرَ بِشْراً فَلَهُ أَرْبَمُونَ ذِرَاعاً، عَطَناً لِمَاشِيتِهِ". رَوَاهُ ابنُ مَاجَه بإشنادِ ضعيف.

^[1] In the Period of Ignorance (before Islam), it was customary that the chief used to reserve the fertile piece of land as grazing grounds for his own cattle. This is prohibited in Islam. However, a ruler or head of the state can reserve the land for the cattle given as charity in the way of Allāh. The land reserved for "charity cattle" will belong to "Allāh and to His Messenger." The head of the state cannot use this land for his own herds.

^[2] In Arabic, Darar (ضرر) means to harm or to hurt somebody else without a legitimate cause; and Dirar (ضرار) means to reciprocate by harming someone who has caused harm to you first. This Hadith stands as a fundamental rule. Do not hurt anyone and do not allow anyone to hurt you. Other than this, there are many explanations of this Hadith.

^[3] For the purpose of building a house, erecting a boundary wall, at least three feet high, proves the possession of the land and its ownership – as long as it is not already owned by anyone. However, to prove the ownership of cultivation land, its tillage is necessary.

^[4] It means whoever digs a well for public welfare, Shari'a allows him a forty square yard

782. Narrated 'Alqama bin Wā'il^[1] from his father 🎄: "The Prophet 🍇 assigned him land^[2] in Hadramout." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and At-Tirmidhi. Ibn Hibbān graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

783. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: The Prophet assigned to Az-Zubair the land his horse could cover at a run. He made his horse run, and when it stopped he threw his whip. He then said, [3] "Give to him up to the spot his whip has reached." [4] [Reported by Abū Dā'ud, but it has weakness].

784. Narrated A man of the Companions : I went on an expedition with the Prophet and heard him say, "People are partners in three things: grazing pasture, water and fire." [Reported by Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud, and its narrators are reliable (thiqab)]. (۷۸۲) وَعَنْ عَلْقَمَةً بْنِرَ وَآئِل عَنْ أَبِيهِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ أَفْطَعَهُ أَرْضاً بِحَشْرَمُوتَ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالتَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ آئِنُ جِئَانَ.

(۷۸۳) وَعَن ابْن هُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ أَفْطَعَ الزَّبْيَرَ حُضْرَ فَرَسِه، فَأَمِهِ، فَأَجْرَى الفَرْسَ حَشَّى قَامَ، ثُمَّ رَمَى بِسَوْطِه، فَقَالَ أَعْطُوهُ حَيْثُ بَلَغَ السَّوْطُ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدُ، وَفه صَغْفٌ.

(٧٨٤) وَعَنْ رَجُل مِّنَ الصَّحَابَةِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: غَزَوْتُ مَعَ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، فَسَمِعْتُهُ يَقُولُ: النَّاسُ شُرَكَاتُه فِي تُلاحْر: فِي الكَمْلِ وَالنَّارِ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَرِجَالُهُ يَقِالًا.

Chapter 17 AL-WAQF^[5] (THE ENDOWMENT)

785. Narrated Abū Huraira 🌲: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "When a son of Adam (i.e. any human being) dies his deeds are discontinued, with three exceptions: Sadaqa, whose benefit is

١٧ - بَابُ الْوَقْفِ

(٧٨٥) عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: الإِنْسَانُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهِ اللهُ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهُ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهُ اللهِ اللهِ اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ اللهُو

piece of land around the well for his cattle, etc.

^{[1] &#}x27;Alqama bin Wa'il bin Hujr Al-Hadrami then Al-Kufi was authenticated by Ibn Hibban. He narrated the Hadith from his father and Al-Mughira.

^[2] It means that in an Islāmic State, it is permitted to give an estate to someone. There are two forms of this: (i) To give as his own property. (ii) To allow to use the produce for a fixed period.

^[3] Speaking to those who were with him.

^[4] It means that giving an estate to someone as a reward of his services rendered to Islam and Muslim *Ummah*, is permitted and lawful provided the land given as state is not a personal property of anyone nor it encroaches upon anyone's right. Estate awarded to a treacherous person, as a reward of his treachery by a Non-Muslim State, is unlawful.

^[5] Waqf (الرقف) means to make an endowment and to spend the income for public welfare,

continuous; or knowledge from which benefit continues to be reaped; or a righteous child who supplicates for him." [Reported by Muslim].

786. Narrated Ibn 'Umar 🞄: 'Umar 🐇 got some land in Khaibar and went to the Prophet asking his command regarding it and said, "O Allāh's Messenger, I have acquired a land in Khaibar which is the most valuable property that I have ever acquired." He replied, "If you wish you may make the property an endowment and give its produce as Sadaga." So 'Umar & gave the land as Sadaga (in endowment on the condition) that must not be sold, inherited, or given away. And he gave its produce as Sadaga to be devoted to the poor, relatives, the emancipation of slaves, in Allāh's Cause, for travelers and guests, and there is no sin upon the one who administers it if he eats something from it in a reasonable manner or gives something to a friend to eat, provided he does not store anything as goods (for himself). [Agreed upon; the wording is Muslim's1.

A narration by Al-Bukhāri has: "He gave the land in *Sadaqa* (as an endowment) that must not be sold^[1] or gifted, but its produce must be spent (as *Sadaqa*)."

787. Narrated Abū Huraira : "Allāh's Messenger : sent 'Umar : to collect Sadaqa..." The narrator reported the Hadīth and it contains: "As for Khālid. [2] he has kept back his coats of

(٧٨٦) وَعَن ابْن عُمَر رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنُهُ مَا فَيْمًا، قَالَ: أَصَابَ عُمَرُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنُهُ أَرْضًا بِخَيْرَ، قَالَى النَّبِيِّ ﷺ يَشْتَأْيُرُهُ فِيهَا، وَقَالَ: بَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنِّي أَصَبْتُ أَرْضًا بِخَيْرَ، لَقَمْ أَنْسُ عِلْدِي مِنْهُ، قَالَ: لَمْ أُصِبْ مَالاً قَطَّ هُوَ أَنْسُ عِلْدِي مِنْهُ، قَالَ: لَمْ أُصِبْ مَالاً قَطَّ هُوَ أَنْسُ عِلْدِي مِنْهُ، قَالَ: يَمْ أَصْلَهَا، وَتَصَدَّقْتَ بِهَا، قَالَ: يَمْاعُهَا، وَلَهُ يَوْمَبُ، فَنَصَدَّقَ بِهَا قَالَ: يَمْاعُها، وَلَا يُورَثُ، وَلَا يُوهَبُ، فَنَصَدَّقَ وَلِي الفُورَةِ، وَلِا يُوهَبُ، فَنَصَدَّقَ وَلِي الفُورَةِ، وَلِا يُومَلِيهَا أَن يَأْكُولَ مِنْهَا وَلِيلًا مَنْ وَلِيلِهَا أَن يَأْكُلُ مِنْهَا لِيلًا عَيْر مُتَمَوِّل مَالاً. لا المَّغَرُونِ، وَيُطْعِمَ صَدِيقاً غَيْر مُتَمَوِّل مَالاً. مُثَمَّقًا عَنْهُ مُتَمَوِّل مَالاً.

وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لُلُبُخَارِيِّ: تَصَدَّقَ بِأَصْلِهَا: لَا يُنَاعُ، وَلَا يُوهَبُ، وَلَكِن يُنْفَقُ ثَمَرُهُ.

(٧٨٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: بَبَّثَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عُمْرَ عَلَى الصَّدَقَةِ، ٱلْحَدِيثَ، وَفِيهِ «فَأَمَّا خَالِدٌ، فَقَدِ احْتَبَسَ

while keeping the original property in self custody or guardianship, not to be sold, inherited or given as a gift.

^[1] It is not permitted to sell the Waqf. However a trustee is allowed to take a mediocre maintenance allowance for his family, while drawing lavish allowance is prohibited.

¹²¹ He is Abū Sulaimān Khālid bin Al-Walid bin Al-Mughira Al-Makhzumi Al-Qurashi. His mother 'Asmā' was Lubabah As-Sughra, the daughter of Al-Hārith and she was the sister of Umm Fadl. Khālid became a Muslim in 8 H. before the conquest of Makkah. It is said that he

mail and weapons to use them in Allāh's Cause." [Agreed upon].

أَدْرَاعِهُ وَأَعْتَادَهُ فِي سَبِيلِ ِ اللهِ». مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

Chapter 18 HIBAH, 'UMRĀ AND RUQBA^[2] (GIFTS, LIFE-TENANCY, AND GIVING PROPERTY WHICH GOES TO THE SURVIVOR)

١٨ - بَابُ الهِبَةِ وَالْعُمْرَى وَالرُّقْبَى

788. Narrated An-Nu'mān bin Bashir 🞄 : His father brought him to Allah's Messenger 🗯 and said, "I have given this son of mine a slave, who was belonging to me." Allah's Messenger 25% asked, "Have you given all your children the like of him?" He replied, "No." Allāh's Messenger # then said, "Take him back then." A narration has: My father went then to the Prophet 55 to call him as witness to my Sadaga (i.e. gift) and he asked, "Have you done the same with all your children?" He replied, "No." He said, "Fear Allah and treat your children equally." [3] My father then returned and took back that gift. [Agreed upon].

(۷۸۸) عَنْ النَّعْمَانِ بْنِ بَشِيرٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ أَبَاهُ أَنَى بِهِ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ، نَقَالَ: إِنِّي نَحَلْتُ أَبْنِي هَذَا غُلَاماً كَانَ لِي، نَقَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "أَكُلُّ وَلَلِكَ نَحَلَتُه مِثْلَ هُذَا؟ فَقَالَ: لا، فَقَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "فَأَرْخِعْهُ، وَفِي لَفْظِ: فَأَنْطَلَقَ أَبِي إِلَى النَّبِي شَوْرُخِعْهُ، أَفَى صَدَقَتِي، فَقَالَ: "أَقْعَلَتَ هَذَا اللَّه، بِولَلِكَ كُلُّهِمْ؟» قَالَ: لا، قَالَ: "اتَّقُوا اللَّه، وَاعْلِلُوا بَيْنَ أَوْلَادِكُمْ، فَرَجَعَ أَبِي فَرَدً بَلكً السَّدَةَ. مُقَفَّقُ عَلَيه.

A narration by Muslim has: He said, "Call someone other than me as

وَفِي رِوَايَةِ لُمُسْلِمٍ قَالَ: فَأَشْهِدْ عَلَى لَهَذَا غَيْرِي، ثُمَّ قَالَ: ﴿أَيَسُرُكُ أَنْ يَكُونُوا لَكَ فِي

became a Muslim in 5 H. or 6 H. and he took part in the conquest of Makkah, Hunain and Tabuk. He broke nine swords with his hands while using them in the battle of Mu'ta, so Allāh's Messenger 鑑 called him the 'Sword of Allāh'. Abū Bakr sent him to fight in the battles of Ar-Ridda (apostasy), then he invaded the Persians. He was then sent to Shām, conquered most of it and remained the commander of the Muslim army in Shām till 'Umar bin Al-Khattāb retired him. He then became a voluntary vigilant at Hims till his death in 21 H. and he was buried at a village one mile outside Hims.

^{11] &#}x27;Umar رضي الله عنه thought that Khālid الله عنه has kept those coats of mail for business. The Prophet ﷺ told him that Khālid has endowed the coats of mail and weapons in the way of Allāh.

الهية) means to present something to some one as a gift for Allāh's sake. Waaff (الوقب) is a public property and Hiba is private. 'Umrā (العرق) is to gift a house to somebody for the duration of his lifetime. Ruqba (الرقب) is that house which is gifted to someone on the condition that if one of them dies, the house goes to the one who lives (the survivor).

^[3] According to some scholars, justice and equality among the sons (children) is preferable, but according to Imām Bukhāri and Imām Ahmad it is obligatory.

witness to this." He then said, "Would you like them to be equal in their kind treatment of you." He replied, "Yes." He said, "Don't do it, then."

789. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The Prophet said, "The one who repossesses a gift^[1] is like a dog which vomits and then returns to its vomit." [Agreed upon] A narration by Al-Bukhāri has: "An evil example does not apply to us, ^[2] one who repossesses a gift is like a dog which vomits and then returns to its vomit."

790. Narrated Ibn 'Umar and Ibn Abbās ... The Prophet said, "It is not lawful for a Muslim man to give a gift and then take it back, except a father [3] regarding what he gives his child." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a. At-Tirmidhi, Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

791. Narrated 'Aisha 拳: Allāh's Messenger 纖 would accept a gift and give something in return for it.^[4] [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

792. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: A man gave away a she-camel to Allāh's Messenger &: So he gave him something in return for it and asked, "Are you pleased?" He replied, "No." So he gave him more and asked, "Are you pleased?" He replied, "No." Again he gave him more and asked, "Are you pleased?" He replied, "Yes." [Reported by Ahmad and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

البَرِّ سَوَآءٌ؟ ۗ قَالَ: بَلَى. قال: ﴿فَلَا إِذَنْ ۗ.

(٧٨٩) وَعَن ِ ابْن ِ عَبَّاس ِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ: «العَائِدُ فِي هِبَيْهِ عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ: «العَائِدُ فِي هِبَيْهِ كَالنَّابِ بِيَقِيءُ ثُمَّ يَمُودُ فِي قَيْبُهِ.. مُثَقَنُّ عَلَيْهِ. وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لِلْبُخَارِيِّ: «لَيْسَ لَنَا مَثَلُ السَّوْء، الَّذِي يَمُودُ فِي هِبَيْهِ كَالْكَلْبِ يَقِيءُ ثُمَّ يَرْجِمُ فِي هَيْبُهِ. يَمُودُ فِي هِبَيْهِ كَالكَلْبِ يَقِيءُ ثُمَّ يَرْجِمُ فِي قَيْبُهِ..

(۷۹۰) وَعَن الْبَن عُمَرَ وَالْبَنِ عَبَّاسٍ, رَضِيَ اللَّهِ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمْ، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «لَا يَبَحِلُ لِرَجُلِ مُسْلِمٍ, أَنْ يُمْطِيَ العَطِيَّةَ ثُمَّ يَرْجِعَ يَبِحلُ لِرَجُل مُسْلِمٍ, أَنْ يُمْطِي وَلَيْنَهُ، رَوَاهُ أَخْمَلُ فِيهَا، إِلَّا الوَالِدَ فِيمَا يُمْطِي وَلَيْنَهُ، رَوَاهُ أَخْمَلُ وَلَانُهُ جِبَّانَ وَالْرُبُدِيُّ وَالْبُنُ جِبَّانَ وَالحَاكِمُ.

(٧٩١) وَعَنْ عَآئِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَقْبَلُ الهَدِيَّةَ، وَيُبِيبُ عَلَيْهَا. رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(۷۹۲) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَبُّسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: وَهَبَ رَجُلٌ لُرَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ نَاقَةً، فَأَلَتُهُ مَالُكُ لَا مُؤَادَهُ، فَزَادَهُ، فَقَالَ: لَا ، فَزَادَهُ، فَقَالَ: رَضِيتَ؟ قَالَ: لَا ، فَزَادَهُ، فَقَالَ: رَضِيتَ؟ قَالَ: لَا ، فَزَادَهُ، فَقَالَ: رَضِيتَ؟ قَالَ: كِنْ ، فَرَادُهُ أَخْمُدُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حَبِينًا.

^[1] It is agreed that a father can take back a thing from his son, given to him as a gift; while taking back of things presented to other relatives is unlawful.

^[2] i.e. Muslims.

^[3] It means that only a father can take back the *Hibah* (gift) from his son and taking back from others is unlawful. A father can revise his decision of *Hibah* and is allowed to take back the gift. A mother is also allowed to take back the *Hibah*, according to most scholars.

^[4] It means to accept a gift and to give a gift in return is Sunnah.

793. Narrated Jābir :: Allāh's Messenger said, "What is given in life-tenancy [1] belongs to the one to whom it is given." [Agreed upon].

(٧٩٣) وَعَنْ جَايِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «العُمْرَى لِمَنْ وُهِبَتْ لَهُ». مُثَقَقْ عَلَيْهِ.

Muslim has: "Keep your properties for yourselves and do not squander them, [2] for if anyone gives a lifetenancy it goes to the one to whom it is given, both during his life and after his death, and to his descendants."

رَلِمُسْلِمٍ: أَمْسِكُوا عَلَيْكُمْ أَمْوَالَكُمْ، وَلَا تُمْسِدُوهَا، فَإِنَّهُ مَنْ أَعْمَرَ عُمْرَى، فَهِيَ لِلَّذِي أَعْمِرَهَا، حَبًّا وَمُثِنَّا، وَلِعَقِبهِ.

A narration has: "The life-tenancy which Allāh's Messenger ﷺ allowed was only that in which one says, 'It is for you and your descendants.' However, if he says, 'It is yours as long as you live', it returns to its owner."

وَفِي لَفُطْ: إِنَّمَا الْعُمْرَى الَّتِي أَجَازَهَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ أَن يُقُولَ: هِيَ لَكَ وَلِعَقِبِكَ، فَأَمَّا إِذَا قَالَ: هِيَ لَكَ مَا عِشْتَ، فَإِنَّهَا تَرْجِعُ إِلَى صَاحِبِهَا.

Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i have: "Do not give property "to go to the survivor" [3] and do not give "life-tenancy", for if anyone is given either, the property goes to his heirs."

وَلِأْبِي دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَائِيِّ: لَا تُرْقِبُوا، وَلَا تُعْمِرُوا، فَمَنْ أَرْقِبَ شَيْنًا، أَوْ أُعْمِرَ شَيْنًا، فَهُوَ لِوَرَتَتِينِ

794. Narrated 'Umar .: I provided a man with a horse to ride in Allāh's Cause, but as he did not look after it well, I thought he would sell it at a cheap price. I therefore asked Allāh's Messenger about that and he said, "Do not buy it even if he gives it to you for a Dirham..." The narrator reported the rest of the *Hadīth*. [Agreed upon].

(٧٩٤) وَعَنْ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ:
حَمَلِتُ عَلَى فَرَس, فِي سَبِيل اللهِ، فَأَضَاعَهُ صَاحِبُهُ، فَظَنْتُ أَنَّهُ بَاتِعُهُ بِرُخْصٍ، فَسَأَلْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ عَنْ ذٰلِكَ، فَقَالَ: "لَا تَبْتَعْهُ، وَإِنْ أَعْطَاكُهُ بِدِرْهَمِ" الْحَدِيثَ. مُتَقَنَّ عَلَيْهِ.

(٧٩٥) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، The ﴿ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ ، 795. Narrated Abū Huraira

^[1] Giving a house as a gift to someone for lifetime is called "Umrā" (المرى). It has three forms: 1) to give for ever; 2) to give for lifetime; and 3) to give with a pre-condition (for it to be returned upon his death). Here what is meant is the first and the last.

^[2] At that time people thought 'Umrā is a loan given to the borrower for a certain period of time, and the owner retains the property with him after the time passes. However, the Prophet 鑑 made the matter clear by saying that the borrower becomes the owner of the property. The giver may have any intention at the time of giving the gift, but it has no consideration. It is, therefore, suggested to think carefully before gifting 'Umrā to avoid remorse.

الرفي) means that a person gives his house (or property) to another on the condition that if he (the borrower) outlived him, he will have the house. However, if he (the borrower) died before, than the house will be retained by the original owner. This is called *Rugba* because each of them wait for the death of the other.

Prophet said, "Give gifts[1] to one another and you will love one another." [Al-Bukhāri reported it in Al-Adab Al-Mufrad; Abū Ya'la reported it with a Hasan (good) chain of narrators).

796. Narrated Anas 🐞: Allāh's Messenger as said, "Give gifts to one another, for (giving) gifts gently extracts resentment and ill-will." [Al-Bazzār reported it through a Da'if (weak) chain of narrators).

797. Narrated Abū Huraira 🚓: Allāh's Messenger # said, "O Muslim women, a woman neighbour should not consider even a goat's hoof too insignificant [2] a gift to give to her neighbour." [Agreed upon].

798. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: The Prophet as said, "If anyone gives away a gift, he has most right to it as long as he is given nothing in return for it."[3] [Al-Hākim reported and graded it Sabib (authentic). However, the stronger narration is Ibn 'Umar's narration on the authority of 'Umar & as a saying of 'Umarl.

عَن النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «تَهَادُوا تَحَابُوا». رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ فِي الأَدَبِ المُفْرَدِ، وَأَبُو يَعْلَى بإسْنَادٍ

(٧٩٦) وَعَنْ أَنَس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «تَهَادُوا فَإِنَّ الهَدِيَّةَ تَسُلُّ السَّخِيمَةَ». رَوَاهُ ٱلبَزَّارُ بإِسْنَادِ ضَعِيفِ.

(٧٩٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى، عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «يَا نِسَاءَ المُسْلِمَاتِ لَا تَحْقِرَنَّ جَارَةٌ لِجَارَتِهَا وَلَوْ فِرْمِينَ شَاةٍ». مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٧٩٨) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «مَنْ وَهَبَ هِبَةً فَهُوَ أَحَقُّ بِهَا، مَا لَمْ يُثَنْ عَلَيْهَا». رَوَاهُ الحَاكِمُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ، وَالمَحْفُوظُ مِن رَوَايَةِ ابْنِ عُمَّ عَدُّ عُمَّ قَالُهُ.

Chapter 19 LUOATAH [4]

(LOST AND FOUND ITEMS)

١٩ - كَاتُ اللُّقَطَة

(٧٩٩) عَنْ أَنَس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: 799. Narrated Anas 🐞: The Prophet 🍇 came upon a date on the road and said,

^[1] It means that sending or giving a gift is commendable. All the chains of narrators (Asānīd) of this Hādith contain some defect. However, some of them support others and that is why this Hadīth is graded Hasan (good). See: Irwā' Al-Ghaleel by Shaykh Al-Albāni 6/44, no.

^[2] This example teaches the basic philosophy of gift giving. A gift should be given even if it is a very meager or an ordinary thing. And he who receives it, should also honor the intention

^[3] This Hadīth contains two points: 1) that a gift should be compensated for; 2) that if Hibah is not compensated for, the giver has the right to reconsider the Hibab and can take it back. However, this is a weak narration.

^[4] Lugatab (اللقطة) is a fallen or lost thing. Shari'a has divided Lugatab into three categories:

"Were it not that I fear it may be part of the Sadaqa I would eat it." [Agreed upon].

مَرَّ النَّبِيُ ﷺ بِتَمْرَةِ فِي الطَّرِيقِ, فَقَالَ: ﴿لَوَلَا أَنِّي أَخَافُ أَنْ تَكُونَ مِنَ الصَّدَقَةِ لأَكَلُّنُهَا ﴾. مُثَقَّنُ عَلَيْهِ.

800. Narrated Zaid bin Khālid Juhani^[1] &: A man came to Prophet a and asked him about an item found (in the street). He replied, "Note what it is contained in, and what it is tied with, and make the matter known for a year. Then, if its owner comes (give it to him). Otherwise, you can do what you like with it." He asked, "What about astray sheep?" He replied, "It is for you, your brother, or the wolf." He asked, "What about astray camels?" He replied, "What have you to do with them? They have their stomachs and their feet. They can go down to water and eat trees till their master finds them." [Agreed upon].

(٨٠٠) وَعَنْ زَيْدِ بْنِ خَالِدِ الجُهَنِيُّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: جَاءً رَجُلُّ إِلَى النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، فَسَأَلُهُ عَنْ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَنْ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَنْ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَنْ اللَّهُ عَنْ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَنْ اللَّهُ عَنْ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَنْ عَلَيْهِ اللَّهُ عَنْ عَلَيْهِ اللَّهُ عَنْ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَنْ عَلَيْهِ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَنْ عَلَيْهِ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَنْ عَلَيْهِ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَنْ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى الْهُ اللَّهُ عَلَى الْمُعَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى الْمُعَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى الْمُعَلَى الْمُعَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى الْمُعَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى الْمُعَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى الْمُعَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللْهُ الْمُعَلَى اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُعْلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللْهُ الْمُعْلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللْهُ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللْهُ الْمُعْلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ الْمُعْلَى اللَّهُ الْمُعْلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُعْلَى اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُعْلَى اللَّهُ الْمُعْلَى اللَّهُ الْمُعْلَى اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُعْلَى اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُعْلَى اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُعْلَى اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُعْلَى اللْمُعْلِقُ اللَّهُ الْمُعْلِقُولَ الللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُعْلَى اللَّهُ ال

801. Narrated (Zaid bin Khālid) &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "He who shelters a stray (animal) is astray himself, if he does not make it known." [2] [Reported by Muslim].

(A・۱) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَنْ
 آوَى ضَالَةٌ فَهُوَ ضَالٌ مَا لَمْ يُعَرِّفْهَا". رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

802. Narrated 'Iyād bin Himār^[3] 🎄: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "He who (٨٠٢) وَعَنْ عِيَاضِ بْنِ حِمَارٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: "مَنْ وَجَدَ

i) an ordinary and edible item - it can be picked up and eaten.

ii) an ordinary thing but not eatable – it can be picked up, but one has to announce it in the public places for three days.

iii) a valuable thing which the Shari'a orders – if it is picked up – to be announced for one year. Then, if the owner is found, it should be returned to him. Otherwise, it can be used. There is a difference of opinion on the point, whether to return it or not if the owner is found after its use.

^[1] His nickname is Abū 'Abdur-Rahmān or Abū Talha and was a resident of Al-Madīnah. He was a prominent *Sabābi* who held the flag of the tribe of Juhaina on the day of *Al-Fatb* (the conquest of Makkah). He settled at Kufa and died in it in the year 68 H. or 78 H. at the age of 85 years.

^[2] If someone picks up a lost or fallen thing with the intention to announce it, or with the intention to prevent it from getting into the hands of those who would not announce it, then this is permissible. Picking up a thing with bad intention to possess it, is not correct. It is an error of conduct.

^{[3] &#}x27;Iyad bin Himār At-Tamimi Al-Mujāshi'i was a Sabābi who settled at Basrah and lived up to about the fifties of the Hijra.

finds something should call two trusty people as witnesses, [1] keep in mind what it is contained in, and what it is tied with, and not conceal it or cover it up. Then, if its owner comes, he has then most right to it. Otherwise, it is Allāh's property which He gives to whomever He wills." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a excluding Tirmidhi. Ibn Khuzaima, Ibn Al-Jārūd and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

803. Narrated 'Abdur-Rahmān bin 'Uthmān At-Taimi^[2] 泰: The Prophet 選 prohibited taking what a pilgrim^[3] has dropped (lost). [Reported by Muslim].

804. Narrated Al-Miqdām bin Ma'dikarib^[4] &: Allāh's Messenger said, "A beast of prey with a fang, a domestic donkey, and a lost item from the property of a *Mu'ābid* (a disbeliever who has been given a covenant)^[5] — unless it is something worthless – are not lawful." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud].

لْقَطَةَ فَلْيُشْهِدُ ذَوْيُ عَدْلر، وَلَيْخَفَظُ عِفَاصَهَا، وَوَلِكَاءَهَا، ثُمَّ لَا يَكُثُمْ، وَلَا يُغَيِّب، فَإِنْ جَاءَ رَبُّهَا، فَهُوَ مَالُ اللهِ يُؤْتِيهِ مَنْ رَبُّهَا، فَهُوَ مَالُ اللهِ يُؤْتِيهِ مَنْ يَشَاءُ». رَوَّاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالْأَرْبَعَةُ إِلَّا الشَّرْمِذِيَّ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ خُرَيْهَةً وَابْنُ الجَارُوهِ وَابْنُ حِبَّانَ.

(٨٠٣) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ الرَّحْمَنِ بْنِ عُثْمَانَ التَّبِيعِيُّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ نَهَى عَنْ لُقَطَةِ الحَاتِّج. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٨٠٤) وَعَن المِفْنَامِ بْن مَعْدِيكُوبَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللْحَالَةُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللْحَالَةُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللْحَالَةُ اللْحَالَةُ اللَّهُ اللْحَالِمُ اللْحَالِمُ اللْحَالَةُ اللْحَالَةُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللْحَالَةُ اللْحَالَةُ اللَّهُ اللَّ

⁽¹⁾ Whenever a lost or fallen thing is found, two witnesses should be called at once. Similarly, at the time of its delivery, witnesses should also be called. Both witnesses are necessary. This is because of the possibility that after the delivery of the lost thing, another person may claim it giving true marks and signs of the thing thus creating a dispute and squabble.

^{[2] &#}x27;Abdur-Rahmān bin 'Uthmān bin 'Ubaidullah At-Taimi Al-Qurashi, the son of Talha bin 'Ubaidullah's brother, was a *Sabābī*. It was also said that though he lived during the lifetime of the Prophet 醬, he never met him. He became a Muslim on the day of *Al-Hudaibiya* or on the day of *Al-Fatb* and was killed with 'Abdullah bin Az-Zubair in 73 H.

^[3] Because a pilgrim is a traveler, and there is only a remote chance of a meeting between the pilgrim and the finder of lost thing, therefore it is ordered not to pick up the lost things of pilgrims.

^[4] Al-Miqdām bin Ma'dikarib bin 'A ar Al-Kindi who was nicknamed Abū Karima or Abū Yahya was a prominent Sabābi. He settled at Shām and his Abadīth spread among its people. He died in 47 H. at the age of 91 years.

^[5] Dbimmi (الني) is an infidel living in an Islamic State and abiding by the laws of the state and Mu'ābid (الني) is an infidel visiting an Islamic State with visa and performing his job peacefully. The Islamic State is responsible for his safety and his property, etc. There is no difference between the lost property of a Dbimmi and Mu'ābid or a Muslim as for as the laws of lost property are concerned. However, if it is a worthless thing, then there is no harm in picking it up.

Chapter 20 AL-FARA'ID [1]

(THE SHARES OF INHERITANCE)

805. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās 🞄: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Give the prescribed shares to those who are entitled to them, [2] and what remains goes to the nearest male relative (of the deceased)." [Agreed upon].

806. Narrated Usāma bin Zaid 🞄: The Prophet 鑑 said, "A Muslim does not inherit from an infidel and an infidel does not inherit from a Muslim."[3] [Agreed upon].

807. Narrated Ibn Mas'ūd 🐇 concerning the situation where there was a daughter, a son's daughter and a sister: The Prophet # ruled, "The daughter gets half and the son's daughter a sixth, completing two-thirds, [4] and what remains goes to the sister." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

808. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin 'Umar 🞄: Allāh's Messenger & said, "People of two different religions do not inherit from one another." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a except At-Tirmidhi; Al-Hākim reported it with Usāma's wording: An-Nasā'i reported Usāma's Hadīth with the aforesaid wording).

(٨٠٩) وَعَنْ عِمْرَانَ بْنِ خُصَيْنِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ 🛦 : 🛦 809. Narrated 'Imrān bin Husain man came to the Prophet and said,

٢٠ - يَاتُ الفَرَآئضِ

(٨٠٥) عَنِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «أَلْحِقُوا الفَرَائِضَ بأَهْلِهَا، فَمَا بَقِيَ فَهُوَ لِأَوْلَىٰ رَجُلٍ ذَكَرِ». مُتَّفَقُ عَلَيْهِ.

(٨٠٦) وَعَنْ أُسَامَةً بْنِ زَيْدٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿لَا يَرِثُ الْمُسْلِمُ الكَافِرَ، وَلَا يَرِثُ الكَافِرُ المُسْلِمَ». مُتَّفَقُ عَلَيْهِ.

(٨٠٧) وَعَنِ ابْنِ مَسْعُودٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، فِي بنْت ِ، وَبنْت ِ ابْن ِ، وَأُخْت ِ، فَقَضَى النَّبِيُّ ﷺ ولِلإِبْنَةِ النَّصْفُ، وَلاِبْنَةِ الابْن الشُّدُسُ، تَكْمِلَةَ الثُّلُثَيْنِ ، وَمَا يَقِيَ فَلِلأُخْتِ ٣. رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(٨٠٨) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ الله عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: «لَا يَتَوَارَثُ أَهْلُ مِلَّتَيْنِ ». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ إِلَّا التُّرْمِذِيُّ، وَأَخْرَجَهُ الحَاكِمُ بِلَفْظِ أُسَامَةً، وَرَوَىَ النَّسَآيْقُ حَدِيثَ أُسَامَةً بِهَذَا اللَّفْظِ.

^[1] Farā'id (الفرائفي) is plural of Faridab and it means the laws related to the distribution of

ذوالفرائض Those persons whose share is described in the Qur'an are called Dhul-Fara'id (ذوالفرائض while other possible inheritors are called 'Asabab (عصية); and some of the Dhul-Farā'id are 'Asabab too. In the noble Our'an, six kinds of shares are fixed. These are: One-half, onefourth, one-eight, two-thirds, one-third and one-sixth.

^[3] Among the deceased and the heir, if one is non-Muslim, they cannot be heir of each other.

^[4] Half to the daughter and one-sixth to the granddaughter (from father's side) and one-third will go to the sister. It means that the sister along with daughter and granddaughter becomes 'Asabab.

307

"My son's son (grandson) has died, so what do I receive from his estate (inheritance)?" He replied, "You receive a sixth;" then when he turned away he called him and said, "You receive another sixth;" and when he turned away he called him and said, "The other sixth is an allowance (beyond what is due)." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a. At-Tirmidhi graded it Sabib (authentic). It is from Al-Hasan Al-Basri's arration on the authority of 'Imrān. However, it has been said that Al-Hasan did not hear (Hadīth) from 'Imrān].

810. Narrated Ibn Buraida son the authority of his father: The Prophet appointed a sixth to a grandmother^[3] if no mother is left to inherit before her. [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i. Ibn Khuzaima and Ibn Al-Jārūd graded it Sabib (authentic) and Ibn 'Adi graded it strong].

811. Narrated Al-Miqdām bin Ma'dikarib &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "A maternal uncle^[4] is heir of him who has no inheritor." [Ahmad and Al-Arba'a reported it excluding At-Tirmidhi. Abū Zur'a Ar-Rāzi eraded it تَعَالَى عَنْهُما قَالَ: جَآءَ رَجُلٌ إِلَى النَّبِيِّ ﷺ فَقَالَ: إِنَّ النِّنِ النِّي اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ وَلَى دَعَاهُ، فَقَالَ: إِنَّ اللَّهُ اللَّ

(٨١٠) وَعَنِ النِّنِ بُرِيْدَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنْ أَبِعَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ جَمَلَ لِلْجَدَّةِ الشُّدُسِ، إِذَا لَمُ يَكُنْ دُونَهَا أَمَّ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَاتِيُّ، وَصَحَّحُهُ أَبْنُ خُرْنِهُمَةً وَابْنُ الجَارُودِ، وَقَوَّاهُ ابْنُ عَلِيْ.

(۸۱۱) وَعَن ٱلْمِفْدَامِ بْنِ مَعْدِيكَرِبَ رَضِيَ اللّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «الخَالُ وَارِثُ مَنْ لَا وَارِثَ لَهُ». وَأَخْرَجَهُ أَخْمَدُ وَالأَزْيَمَةُ، سِوَى التَّرْمِذِيِّ، وَحَسْنَةُ أَبُو

^[1] The deceased left two daughters and one grandfather as heirs. The daughters got twothirds, while the grandfather got one-sixth as *Dhul-Farā'id* and another one-sixth as *'Asabab*. The Prophet £8 told him only one-sixth at first, so that he would not think that his share is one-third, and then explained it to him again in the end.

^[2] Al-Hasan bin Abūl Hasan Al-Basri was an Ansari slave. His father was called Yasār. Al-Hasan was one of the righteous *Imāms*. He was also reliable, pious, famous, a devout worshipper, very learned, eloquent, handsome, elegant, a great and very knowledgeable scholar. He was the head of the third generation of the *Tābt'im* and was born when two years remained from 'Umar's Caliphate. He saw 'Uthmān and 'Ali but did not hear a *Hadāth* from them. He died in Rajab 110 H. when he was nearly ninety years of age.

^[3] Grandmothers in Arabic are *Jaddah Sabihah* (father's mother) and *Jaddah Fāsidah* (mother's mother). If the mother of the deceased is not alive, then the mother's share will go to father's mother or mother's mother. If both are present, they will share the fixed portion.

^[4] These Abādith prove that if there is no 'Asabah or Dhul-Farā'id heir, then the maternal uncle (mother's brother) will be an heir. It means that the maternal uncle is the last heir. If he too is not alive then the property will go to the public treasury (ابيت العال). The maternal aunt (mother's sister) has the same status as the maternal uncle.

Hasan (good), and Al-Hākim and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

812. Narrated Abū Umāma bin Sahl^[1] (♣): 'Umar ♣ wrote to Abū 'Ubaida^[2] ♣ that Allāh's Messenger ﷺ had said: "Allāh and His Messenger are the Patrons of him who has none and a maternal uncle is the heir of him who has no inheritor." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a except Abū Dā'ud. At-Tirmidhi graded it Hasan (good); Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

813. Narrated Jābir *: The Prophet *: said, "When a new born cries (at the time of birth) [3] (and then dies), it is treated as heir." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and graded as *Sahib* (authentic) by Ibn Hibbān].

814. Narrated 'Amr bin Shu'aib on his father's authority from his grandfather &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "One who kills a man cannot inherit anything from him." [Reported by An-Nasā'i and Ad-Dāraqutni. Ibn 'Abdul-Barr graded it *Qawiy* (strong), while An-Nasā'i declared it to be defective. The right opinion is that it is *Mawqūf* (a saying of a Companion) from 'Amr (bin Al-'Aas &)].

زُرْعَةَ الرَّازِيُّ وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ وَابْنُ حِبَّانَ.

(A1Y) وَعَنْ أَبِي أَمَامَةَ بُنِ سَهْلِ قَالَ: كَتَبَ مَمِيَ عُمَرُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ إِلَى أَبِي عُبَيْدَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللَّهِ ﷺ قَالَ: «اللَّهُ وَرَسُولُهُ مَوْلَى مَنْ لَا مَوْلَى لَهُ، والخَالُ وَارِثُ مَنْ لَا وَارِثَ لَهُ". رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، سِوَى أَبِي ذَاوُدَ، وَحَسَّنَهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ.

(٨١٣) وَعَنْ جَايِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿إِذَا اسْتَهَلَّ ٱلْمَوْلُودُ وَرِكَ». رَوَاهُ أَبُّو دَاوُدَ. وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ.

(A18) وَعَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ شَعَيْبٍ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ جَلَّهِ رَضِيلًا لَمُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: اللهِ ﷺ: وَوَاللهُ اللهِ عَنْهُ اللهُ عَبْدِ اللهُ عَبْدِ اللهُ عَلَى عَمْرو. وَاللهُ وَقَفْهُ عَلَى عَمْرو.

His name was As'ad or Sa'd but was known by his nickname Abu Umāma bin Sahl bin Hunaif bin Wāhib Al-Ansāri Al-Ausi Al-Madani. He was counted among the Sababa and he saw the Prophet # but never heard a Hadith from him. He died in 100 H. at the age of 92 H.

I²) He is Abû 'Ubaida 'Aamir bin 'Abdullāh bin Al-Jarrah bin Hilāl Al-Qurashi Al-Fihri who was one of the ten promised to enter Janna (Paradise). He became a Muslim early and migrated to Abyssinia (Ethiopia) during the second Hijra. He participated in Badr and the rest of the important battles. On the day of Uhud he removed with his teeth two metal points of the Prophet's helmet which had penetrated in his cheeks and lost two of his front teeth as a result. Abû 'Ubaida led the Muslim army during the conquest of Shām. He died in the plague of 'Amwäs in 18 H. at the age of 58 years.

^[3] The child who has a trace of life and whose Funeral prayer is offered, is also a heir and his inheritance is distributed as well.

^[4] It means that a murderer has no right of inheritance from the property of the murdered. The murderer gets no share at all even he is an 'Asabab or Dbul-Faridab of the murdered. Willful murder and unintentional murder are equal in this concern, according to the majority of the Imams. except Imam Mälik.

815. Narrated 'Umar bin Al-Khattāb 🐇 : I heard Alläh's Messenger # as saving. "The property which a parent or a child has a right to, goes to his 'Asabab (paternal relatives)[1] whoever it may be. [Reported by Abū Dā'ud, An-Nasā'i and Ibn Mājah. Ibn Al-Madini and Ibn 'Abdul-Barr graded it Sabib (authentic)].

816. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin 'Umar &: Allah's Messenger as said, "The right to inheritance from a freed slave[2] is a relationship like the relationship of blood relatives (lineage); it cannot be sold or given away." [Al-Hākim reported it through Ash-Shāf'i's narration from Muhammad bin Al-Hasan^[3] on the authority of Abū Yūsuf. [4] Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic), while Al-Baihagi graded it defective).

(٨١٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي فِلَابَةَ، عَنْ أَنَس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ on the 317. Narrated Abū Qilāba[5] authority of Anas 🐞 : Allāh's Messenger

(٨١٥) وَعَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِ الخَطَّابِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَم عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ: «مَا أَحْرَزَ الوَالِدُ أَوِ الوَلَدُ فَهُوَ لِعَصَبَتِهِ مَنْ كَانَ. رَواهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَآئِيُّ وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ وَصَحَّحَهُ اثنُ المَديني وَاثِنُ عَبْدِ البَرِّ.

(٨١٦) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «الوَلَاءُ لُحْمَةٌ كَلُحْمَةِ النَّسَبِ، لَا يُبَاعُ وَلَا يُوهَبُ. رَوَاهُ الحَاكِمُ مِنْ طَرِيقِ الشَّافِعِيِّ، عَنْ مُحَمَّدِ بْن الحَسَن ِ، عَنْ أَبِي يُوسُفَ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ، وَأَعَلُّهُ السَّفَقِينِ

^[1] Wala' (inheritance from the slave whom someone has freed) is not distributed like inheritance in Dbul-Farā'id. Instead, the nearest 'Asabab has the right to that inheritance (Wala'). This is the correct opinion, though some scholars differ on this point.

^[2] After the death of a freed slave or slave-girl his/her left property is called Wala' and he who pays the money for the freedom, becomes the heir after the death of the slave - if the freed slave has no blood relatives who are entitled to inheritance.

^[3] Abū 'Abdullāh Muhammad bin Al-Hasan bin Farqad, Ash-Shaibāni by clientship, was one of the Hanafi Imāms. He was born in 132 H. at Wasit and grew up at Kufa. He travelled to acquire the knowledge of Hadith and met a group of the eminent learned men. He attended the study circle of Abū Hanifa for years, then acquired the knowledge of Figb from Abū Yūsuf. He then wrote many valuable books and spread the knowledge of Abū Hanifa. He also studied under Imam Malik for three years. The Hadith scholars considered his Abadith to be weak due to his memory. He died in 189 H. at Ranbuwaih, a village of Ar-Ray.

^[4] He was the Figh scholar of 'Iraq and the learned Imam Al-Qādi Abū Yūsuf Ya'qūb bin Ibrāhim Al-Ansāri Al-Kufi, the companion of Abu Hanifa. He grew up in the acquisition of knowledge. His father was poor and Abū Hanifa used to give him a hundred after a hundred. Yahya bin Ma'in said, "There is no person among the Figh scholars who knows more Abadith or is more reliable (in the narration of Hadīth) than Abū Yūsuf." Yahya bin Yahya At-Tamimi said, "I heard Abu Yusuf say at the time of his death, I have withdrawn from any (Figb) opinion which I gave in the past except that confirming with the Book (the Qur'an) and the Sunnah - and in another version - except what is in the Qur'an and the Muslims have agreed upon." He died in Rabi' Al-Akhir of the year 182 H. at the age of 69 years.

^[5] The name of Abū Qilāba is 'Abdullāh bin Zaid bin 'Amr or 'Aamir Al-Jurmi Al-Basri. He was a great Tābi'i, reliable, virtuous and the narrator of many Mursal Abadīth. He was among the

said, "The most versed in the rules of inheritance among you is Zaid bin Thābit." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a except Abū Dā'ud. At-Tirmidhi, Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic). However, it was considered defective due to being Mursal (missing link in the chain after the Tābi'f).

تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿أَفْرَضُكُمْ زَيْدُ بْنُ ثَابِتٍ ﴾. أَخْرَجَهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، سِوَى أَبِي دَاوُدَ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الشَّرْمِذِيُّ وَابْنُ حِبَّانَ وَالحَاكِمُ. وَأُعِلَّ بَالإَرْسَالِ.

Chapter 21

(THE WILLS AND TESTAMENTS)

819. Narrated Sa'd bin Abī Waqqās ♣: I said, "O Allāh's Messenger, I have wealth and no one to inherit from me except my one daughter. Shall I give

٢١ - بَابُ الوَصَايَا

(٨١٨) عَن ابْن عُمَر رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: «مَا حَقُّ الْمِوعُ مُشْلِم لَهُ شَيْءٌ بُرِيدُ أَنْ يُوصِيَ فِيهِ، يَبِيثُ لَلْتَيْنِ إِلَّا وَوَصِيَّتُهُ مَكْتُوبَةٌ عِنْدُهُ. مُثَمَّنُ عَلَيْهِ.

(٨١٩) وَعَنْ سَعْدِ بْنِرَ أَبِي وَقَاصِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قُلْتُ: يَا رَسُولَ اللَّهِ! أَنَا ذُو مَالٍ، وَلَا يَرثُنِي إِلَّا النِّهُ لِّي وَاحِدَةٌ، أَفَأَتَصَدُّقُ

sixth generation and died in Shām in 104 H. or 106 H. or 107 H. while refusing the responsibility of holding the office of the *Qadi*.

^[1] The Prophet 織 said, "The most merciful of my *Ummab* is Abu Bakr; the most firm of them in religion is 'Umar; the most sincere in modesty amongst them is 'Uthmān; the best judge amongst them is 'Uhi bin Ka'b; the one who possesses the best knowledge of the lawful and the unlawful things is Mu'ādh bin Jabal; the one who possesses the best knowledge of obligatory shares (regarding descent and division of inheritance) is Zaid bin Thābit. Behold, verily, every *Ummab* has a trustworthy guardian and the trustworthy guardian of this *Ummab* is Abu 'Ubaida bin Jarrah."

On the basis of this *Hadīth*, the word of Zaid bin Thābit is preferred concerning disputed issues of inheritance.

^[2] Linguistically Wastyah (الوصية) means: to command, advise or recommend something. According to the Shari'a it is a will or testament – to use a portion (one third) of a person's wealth in a particular manner – to be acted upon after the death of the person who made it.

^[3] Prior to the revelation of the Verses of Inheritance, making a will was obligatory. However, after the revelation this order was cancelled. Likewise, one can make a will for matters other than inheritance. Today, a bequest is sometimes very necessary, for example, in the presence of one's son to make a will for the grandson from a deceased son. The written form of will is not a necessity. However, it is important for the confirmation of an oral will, and to avoid any misunderstanding arising afterwards.

two-thirds of my property as Sadaqa?" He replied, "No." I said, "Shall I give half of it as Sadaqa?" He replied, "No." I said, "Shall I give a third of it as Sadaqa?" He replied, "You may give a third^[1] as Sadaqa, which is still a lot. To leave your heirs rich is better than to leave them poor and begging from people." [Agreed upon].

820. Narrated 'Aisha \$: A man^[2] came to the Prophet \$\mathbb{E}\$ and said, "O Allāh's Messenger, my mother had died suddenly, and did not make a will. And I think she would have given out Sadaqa if she had been able to speak, so will she get a reward if I gave out Sadaqa on her behalf?" He replied, "Yes." [Agreed upon; the wording is Muslim's].

821. Narrated Abū Umāma Al-Bāhili 緣: I heard Allāh's Messenger 織 saying, "Allāh has appointed for everyone who has a right what is due to him, and no Wasiyab (will) should be made to an heir." [8] [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a except An-Nasā'i. Ahmad and At-Tirmidhi graded it Hasan (good), while Ibn Khuzaima and Ibn Al-Jārūd graded it Qawī (strong)]. Ad-Dāraqutni reported the aforesaid Haaīth from the narration of Ibn 'Abbās (緣); and he added in its end: "unless the other heirs wish so." [Its chain of narrators is Hasan (good)].

يِمُلَقِيْ مَالِي؟ قَالَ: ﴿لَا»، قُلْتُ: أَفَاتَصَدَّقُ بِمُلُمِهِ؟ بِشَطْرِهِ؟ قَالَ: ﴿لَا»، قُلْتُ: أَفَاتَصَدَّقُ بِمُلُمِهِ؟ قَالَ: ﴿الثَّلُثُ، وَالثَّلْثُ كَثِيرٍ إِنَّكَ أَنْ تَلَرَ وَرَثَنَكَ أَغْنِيَاءَ خَيْرٌ مِّنْ أَنْ تَلَرَمُمْ عَالَةَ يَتَكَفَّفُونَ النَّاسِ؟»، مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٨٢٠) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ رَجُلاً أَنَى النَّبِيَّ ﷺ، فَقَالَ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنَّ أُمِّي ٱفْتُلِتَتْ نَفْسُهَا، وَلَمْ تُوصِرٍ، وَأَظُنُّهَا لَوْ تَكَلَّمَتْ تَصَدَّقَتْ، أَفَلَهَا أَجْرٌ إِنْ تَصَدَّقَتُ عَنْهَا؟ قَالَ: «نَعَمْ». مُثَقَنَّ عَلَيْه، وَاللَّفْظُ لِمُسْلِمٍ.

(۸۲۱) وَعَنْ أَبِي أَمَامَةَ البَاهِلِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ لِتَعَلَّى رَضِيَ اللَّهُ لَمَالًا وَلَمِي رَضِيَ اللَّهُ اللَّهَ عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ لِللَّهِ يَلِلُهُ وَمِنَالًا فَا اللَّهُ قَلْدُ عَلَى ذِي حَقْ حَقَّهُ. فَلَا وَصِيَّةً لِوَارِثِهِ، رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ إِلَّا النَّسَآنِيَّ، وَعَسَنَّةً أَخْمَدُ وَالتَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَقَوَّاهُ ابْنُ النَّسَآنِيَّ، وَتَقَاهُ ابْنُ الجَارُودِ، وَرَوَاهُ الدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ مِنْ خُرْبُمَةً وَابْنُ الجَارُودِ، وَرَوَاهُ الدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ مِنْ خَيْبَهِ ابْرِدِ عَبْاسِرٍ، وَزَادَ فِي آخِرِهِ: "إِلَّا أَنْ خَيْبَ الرَّرِقَةُ، وَإِسْنَادُهُ حَسَنٌ.

822. Narrated Mu'ādh bin Jabal ﷺ تَعَالَى The اللَّهُ تَعَالَى جَبَلِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى (A۲۲)

^[1] A will can be made at the most for one-third of the whole of the property. If it is less than one-third, it is better. However, with the permission of other heirs it is permitted for more than one-third. If the heirs are alive, than it is not allowed to make it for more than one-third. [2] This man was Sa'd bin 'Ubāda منه الله الله الله We come to know through this Hadith that sons and daughters are allowed and permitted to give something in charity from the property left as inheritance without a bequest for doing so, parents do get the reward for this virtuous deed.

^[3] It means that a will cannot be made for a heir, but with the permission of other heirs it is permitted, just as a bequest for more than one-third is permitted for a stranger with the permission of heirs.

Prophet said, "Allāh gave (a favor)^[1] as Sadaqa to you a third of your property, when you are about to die, as an increase in your good deeds." [Reported by Ad-Dāraqutni]. Ahmad and Al-Bazzār reported the aforesaid narration from the Hadīth of Abū Ad-Dardā, while Ibn Mājah reported it from the Hadīth of Abū Huraira (♣). All of them (i.e. these three chains of narrators) are weak. However, they may strengthen one another [becoming Hasan], and Allāh Knows Best.

Chapter 22 AL-WADI'A (TRUSTS)

823. Narrated 'Amr bin Shu'aib on his father's authority from his grandfather: The Prophet 醬 said, "There is no liability^[2] on him who is entrusted with something." [Ibn Mājah reported it, but its chain of narrators is *Da'if* (weak)].

[The Chapter on the division of Sadaqa has preceded at the end of the Book of Zakāt. The Chapter on the division of tributes from territories the Muslims have conquered, and spoils of war, will follow the Book of Jihād, if Allāh the Most High wills.]

عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ: ﴿إِنَّ اللَّهَ تَصَدَّقَ عَلَيْكُمْ بِثُلُثِ أَمْوَالِكُمْ عِنْدَ وَفَاتِكُمْ، زِيَادَةً فِي حَسَنَاتِكُمْ، رَيَادَةً فِي حَسَنَاتِكُمْ، رَيَادَةً لِلْمَاتُونُطُنِيُّ. وَأَخْرَجَهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالبَرَّالُ مِنْ حَدِيثِ إَلِي الدَّوْدَةِ، وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَبِي الدَّوْدَةِ، وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَبِي مُرْيُرَةً، وَكُلُّهَا ضَعِيفَةً، لَكِن فَذَ تَقُوْى بَغْضُهَا يَبْغُضِ، وَاللَّهُ أَعْلَمُ.

٢٢ - بَابُ الوَدِيعَةِ

(٨٣٣) عَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ شُعْيْبِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ جَدُهِ، عَنْ جَدُهِ، عَنْ أَوْدِعَ وَبِيعَةً فَالْنِ مَمْنُ أُودِعَ وَبِيعَةً فَلَيْسَ مَلْنُهِ ضَمَانٌ». أَخْرَجُهُ ابْنُ مَاجَهُ، وَإِسْنَادُهُ
يَ : "

وَبَابُ قِسْمِ الصَّدَفَاتِ تَقَدَّمَ فِي آخِرِ الرَّكَاةِ، وَبَابُ قِسْمِ الفَيءِ وَالغَنِيمَةِ يَأْتِي عَقِبَ الجِهَادِ إِنْ شَاءَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى.

^[1] In Arabic, Ibsān (الحسان) is a favor because in the lifetime, while hale and hearty one had the privilege to spend his money according to his free will, but after death he has no concern with his own wealth. This is Allāh Who allowed him to spend one-third of his wealth near death and make addition to his good deeds.

الكارية Difference between Amānab (الالتاب trust) and 'Aariyab (الكارية – loan) is that what a person borrows for his own purpose and use is 'Aariyab; while Amānab is that thing which a person entrusts another for safety. One can use 'Aariyab as he has borrowed it for use but the use of Amānab is prohibited. If 'Aariyab is destroyed, the borrower has to pay for it. As for Amānab, if it is destroyed by accident, with any negligence on the part of the trustee, he does not have to pay for it. However, if the trustee has used the Amānab or a part of it, than he has to pay for any damage.

8. THE BOOK OF MARRIAGE

824. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Mas'ūd &: Allāh's Messenger & said to us, "O young men, those of you who can support a wife should marry, [1] for it (marriage) controls the gaze and preserves one from immorality. And whoever cannot (marry) should fast, for it is a means of reducing the sexual desire." [Agreed upon].

825. Narrated Anas bin Mālik ♣: The Prophet ૠ praised Allāh, extolled Him and said, "Yet I pray^[2] and sleep; I fast and break my fast; and I marry women. He who is displeased with my *Sunnab* (practices) is not my follower." [Agreed upon].

826. Narrated (Anas bin Mālik) &: 'Allāh's Messenger & used to command us to marry and sternly forbid celibacy^[3] and say, "Marry women who are beloved (due to their good characteristics), prolific in bearing children, for I shall outnumber the Prophets by you on the Day of Resurrection.'' [Reported by Ahmad and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sahih (authentic)]. The aforesaid Hadīth has a supporting narration reported by Abū Dā'ud, An-Nasā'i and Ibn Hibbān from Ma'qal bin Yasār's Hadīth.

٨ - كِتَابُ النِّكَاحِ

(AY4) عَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِرِ مَسْعُودٍ رَضِيَ اللّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ لَنَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "يَا مَعْشَرَ الشَّبَابِ! مَن اسْتَطَاعَ مِنْكُمُ البَّاءَ فَالْيَتْزَوَّجُ، فَإِنَّهُ أَغَضُ لِلْبُصِرِ، وَأَخْصَنُ لِلْفَرْجِ، وَمَنْ لَمْ يَسْتَطِعُ فَعَلَيْهِ بِالصَّوْمِ، فَإِنَّهُ لَهُ وِجَاءًه. مُثَقَّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

(٨٧٥) وَعَنْ أَنَسِ بْمَرْ مَالِكِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبَّ ﷺ حَمِدَ اللَّهَ، وَأَنْنَى عَلَيْهِ، وَقَالَ: «لَكِنِّي أَنَا أَصَلِّي، وَأَنَامُ، وَأَصْرِمُ، وَأَنْرَمُ، وَأَنْرَمُ، وَأَنْرَمُ، وَأَنْرَمُ، وَأَنْدَمُ، وَأَنْدَمُ، وَأَنْمُ مَنْ مَثْنِي فَلْهُ . وَأَنْدَمُ مُنْ مَثْنِي فَلْهُ مَنْهُ عَلَيْهِ.

(A۲۸) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَأْمُرُ بِالبَّاءَةِ، وَيَنْهُى عَنِ التَّبْتُلِ نَهْياً شَدِيدًا، وَيَقُولُ: "ثَنَّوَجُوا الوَلُودَ الوَدُودَ، فَإِنِّي مُكَايْرٌ بِكُمُ الأَنْبِيَاءَ يَوْمَ القِيَامَةِ، رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ جِبَّانَ، وَلَهُ شَاهِدٌ عِنْدَ أَبِي دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَائِيْ وَابْنِ جِبَّانَ أَيْضاً مِنْ حَدِيثِ مَعْقِلِ بْنِ يَسَادٍ.

827. Narrated Abū Huraira 🐗: The اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَرْشِقَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ،

^[1] It means that if one has enough power (physical and financial) for *Nikāb* (marriage), he should do it. Some of the scholars consider it obligatory and some others regard it only desirable

^[2] It means exaggeration in supererogatory worship is unlawful. It makes a man tired and he even fails to perform obligatory worship. A man becomes goes out of Islam if he starts thinking that his way of worship is better than the way of the Prophet 繼.

^[3] Tabattul (النبتار)) means not to marry, thinking that avoiding marriage is a form of worship, and thinking that engaging in marriage is a hindrance to worship. It is agreed by all that Tabattul is an unlawful action. However, not marrying due to some unavoidable circumstances or some other reasons is quite a different matter.

Prophet 繼 said, "A woman is married for four qualities, ^[1] for her wealth, her family status, her beauty and her religion; so get the religious one and prosper." [Agreed upon, with the rest of *As-Sab'a*].

828. Narrated (Abū Huraira) &: When the Prophet & congratulated a man on his marriage he would say, [2] "Allāh bless for you (your spouse), grant you blessing, and join you together in goodness." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a. At-Tirmidhi, Ibn Khuzaima and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

829. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Mas'ūd 🐠: Allāh's Messenger 🗯 taught us At-Tashahhud in case of some need, which is:[3] "Praise is due to Allah, Whom we praise and from Whom we ask help and forgiveness. We seek refuge in Allah from the evils of ourselves. He whom Allah guides has no one who can lead him astray, and he whom He leads astray has no one to guide him. I testify that there is nothing deserving of worship except Allah, and I testify that Muhammad is His slave and Messenger." He (then) recites three Verses. [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a. At-Tirmidhi and Al-Hākim graded it Hasan (good)].

830. Narrated Jābir \(\sigma :: Allāh's \) Messenger \(\sigma : \) said, "When one of you proposes (marriage) to a woman, if he is able to look at what will induce him

عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: "تُتَكُمُ المَرْأَةُ لِأَرْبَعِ: لِمَالِهَا، وَلِحَسَبِهَا، وَلِجَمَالِهَا، وَللِبِينِهَا، فَاظْفُرْ بِذَاتِ الدِّينِ، تَوِبَتْ يَدَاكَ». مُثَفَّقُ عَلَيْهِ مَعَ بَقِيَّةٍ السَّنَعَةِ.

(٨٢٨) وَعَنْهُ أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ كَانَ إِذَا رَفَّا إِنْسَاناً، إِذَا تَزَوَّجَ، قَالَ: ﴿ إِرَكَ اللَّهُ لَكَ، وَبَارَكَ عَلَيْكَ، وَجَمَعَ بَيْتُكُمَا فِي خَيْرٍ . رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ وَابْنُ خُرِيْهَةً وَابْنُ جِبَّانَ.

(A۲۹) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِر مَسْعُودِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ لَمُنَا عَنْهُ قَالَ: عَلَّمَنَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ التَّشَهُّدَ فِي الحَاجَةِ الإِنَّ الحَمْدَ للهِ، نَحْمَدُهُ، وَنَسْتَعِينَهُ، وَنَسْتَغِينَهُ، وَنَعُودُ بِاللهِ مِنْ شُرُورِ أَنْفُسِنَا، مَنْ يَهْدِهِ اللَّهُ فَلَا مُفِيلً لَهُ، وَمَنْ يُشْلِلْ فَلَا هَادِيَ يَهْدِهِ اللَّهُ فَلَا مُؤْلِدُ أَنْ الله وَأَشْهَدُ أَنْ لا إِلَّهَ إِلَّا اللَّهُ، وَأَشْهَدُ أَنْ لا الله وَالله وَأَشْهَدُ أَنْ لا الله وَالشَهَدُ أَنْ مَرَسُولُهُ، وَيَشْرَأُ فَلَاتَ آبَاتِهِ. مُحَمَّدًا التَّرْمِذِي وَالحَاكِمُ. وَرَسُولُهُ، وَيَشْرَأُ فَلَاتَ آبَاتٍ. وَالسَّالِ فَلَا اللّه وَالصَاكِمُ.

(٨٣٠) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا خَطَبَ أَحَدُكُمُ ٱلْمَرْأَةَ فَإِن ِ اسْتَطَاعَ أَنْ يَنْظُرُ مِنْهَا إِلَى مَا يَدْعُوهُ إِلَى

¹¹ The Prophet 👸 said that there are four qualities for which a man might marry a woman. From these a Muslim should prefer a religious woman for marriage because the company one keeps affects a person. If a woman is married for another quality, there is possibility of man's going astray and leaving the religion. Another reason for choosing a religious woman is that she is the first teacher of children, and she can lead the children, the way she wants – right or wrong.

^[2] The Prophet 巍 used to ask Allāh's blessing, unity, harmony and love for the newly married couple in these words.

^[3] The Prophet staught this supplication for the fulfillment of every need.

315

to marry her,^[1] he should do so." [Reported by Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud. Its narrators are *Thiqa* (reliable) and Al-Hākim declared it to be *Sabih* (authentic)]. The aforesaid *Hadīth* has a supporting narration reported by At-Tirmidhi and An-Nasā'i from Al-Mughira. It also has a supporting narration reported by Ibn Mājah and Ibn Hibbān from the *Hadīth* of Muhammad bin Maslama.^[2]

831. Muslim reported from Abū Huraira 🎄: The Prophet 🍇 asked a man who had intended to marry a woman, "Have you looked at her?" He replied, "No." He said, "Go and look at her."

832. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "No one of you should ask a woman in marriage when his brother has done so already, [3] until the one who has proposed (to her) before him gives her up, or gives him permission." [Agreed upon. The wording is Al-Bukhāri's].

833. Narrated Sahl bin Sa'd As-Sā'idi &: A woman came to Allāh's Messenger & and said, "O Allāh's Messenger, I came to offer myself to you (in marriage)." Allāh's Messenger & looked her up and down (carefully), and then Allāh's Messenger & lowed his head. When the woman saw that he had not made any decision regarding her she sat down. A man of his companions then stood up and said, "O Allāh's Messenger, if you have no need for her, marry her to me." He asked, "Do you

نِكَاحِهَا فَلْيَفْعَلُ. رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَرِجَالُهُ نِثَاتٌ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ. وَلَهُ شَاهِدٌ عِنْدَ التُرْمِذِيْ وَالنَّسَآئِيْ عَن المُفِيرَةِ، وَعِنْدُ ابْن مَاجَهُ وَابْن حِبَّانَ مِنْ حَدِيثُ مُحَمَّدِ بْن مَسْلَمَةً.

(ATN) وَلَمُسْلِمِ عَنْ أَبِي هُرِيُوهَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ لِرَجُلِ تَزَوَّجَ ٱمْرَأَةً: «أَنظَرْتَ إِلَيْهَا؟» قَالَ: لَا، قَالَ: «أَذْهَتْ فَآنظُرُ إِلَيْهَا».

(A۳۲) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَهُمَا وَصَي اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا يَخْطُبُ أَحَدُكُمْ عَلَى خِطْبَةٍ أَخِيهِ، حَتَّى يَتُرُكُ الخَاطِبُ قَبْلُهُ، أَوْ يَأْذَنَ لَهُ الخَاطِبُ». مُتَفَقَّ عَلَيْهِ، وَللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ، مُتَفَقِّ عَلَيْهِ، وَللْفُظُ لِلْبُخَارِيُ.

(۸۳۳) وَعَنْ سَهْلِ بْنِ سَعْدِ الشَّاعِدِي رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: جَآءَتِ آهُرَأَةٌ إِلَى رَصُولِ اللهِ عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: جَآءَتِ آهُرَأَةٌ إِلَى رَصُولِ اللهِ عِنْهُ أَهُمُ لَا يَعْ رَسُولُ اللهِ عَنْهُ أَهُمُ طَأَطاً رَسُولُ اللهِ عَنْهِ وَصَوَّبُهُ ءُمَّ طَأَطاً رَسُولُ اللهِ عَنْهُ رَأْسُهُ، فَلَمَّا رَأْتِ المَوْأَةُ أَنَّهُ لَمْ يَغْضِ فِيهَا شَيْنًا جَلَسَتْ، فَقَالَ رَأْتِ المَوْأَةُ أَنَّهُ لَمْ يَغْضِ فِيهَا شَيْنَا جَلَسَتْ، فَقَالَ: عَمْنُ لَكُنْ لِنَهُ عِهَا حَاجَةٌ يَا رَسُولُ اللهِ إِنْ لَمْ تَكُنْ لَكَ بِهَا حَاجَةً يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ إِنْ لَمْ تَكُنْ لَكَ بِهَا حَاجَةً فَوَالَ: «فَهَلْ عِنْدَانَ مِنْ شَيْءٍ؟»

^[1] i.e. her external features like the height, face, hands and the like.

^[2] He was an Ansāri, a Hārithi and among the virtuous *Sabāba*. He witnessed all the major battles except Tabuk. He became a Muslim through the efforts of Mus'ab bin 'Umair and died in 43 H. at the age of 77 years.

^[3] This prohibition is to evade an already settled betrothal (engagement to marry). If a girl is already promised to someone, the second person should not make a proposal. However, if the first is cancelled, than it is permitted to make a proposal.

have anything (to give her as dowry)?" He replied, "No, I swear by Allah, O Allah's Messenger." He thereupon said, "Go to your family and see if you can find something." He went and then returned and said, "No, I swear by Allāh I found nothing." Allāh's Messenger 🚒 then said, "Look for something, even if it should be an iron ring." He went and then returned and said, "No, I swear by Allāh, O Allāh's Messenger, not even an iron ring: but I have only this lower garment of mine - [Sahl said, 'He had no upper garment'] - and I shall give her half of it." Allāh's Messenger 🕮 then said, "What will she do with your lower garment? For if you wear it, there would be nothing of it on her, and if she wears it, there would be nothing of it on you." The man then sat down and when he had sit for a long time he stood up and Allāh's Messenger & saw him departing, so he commanded him and he was called back. When he came back, he said, "What do you have (i.e. memorized) from the Our'an?" He replied, "I have Sūrat such and such and Sūrat such and such," he counted them. He then asked "Can you recite them by heart?" He replied, "Yes". He said, "Go, for I have given her to you in . marriage for the part of the Qur'an which you know." [Agreed upon: the wording is Muslim's). Another narration has: "Go for I have given her to you in marriage, so teach her some of the Qur'an." A narration by Al-Bukhāri has: "I have married her to you for the part of the Our'an which you know."

فَقَالَ: لَا، وَالله يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! فَقَالَ: «أَذْهَتْ إِلَى أَهْلِكَ، فَٱنْظُرْ هَلْ تَجِدُ شَيْئاً؟» فَذَهَبَ، ثُمَّ رَجَعَ، فَقَالَ: لَا وَاللهِ، مَا وَجَدْتُ شَيْئًا. فَقَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «أَنْظُرْ وَلَوْ خَاتِماً مِنْ حَديد»، فَذَهَبَ ثُمَّ رَجَعَ، فَقَالَ: لَا وَاللهِ يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! وَلَا خَاتَماً مِنْ حَدِيدٍ، وَلَكِن هَٰذَا إِزَارِي (-قَالَ سَهْلٌ: - مَالَهُ رِدَآءٌ -) فَلَهَا نَصْفُهُ، فَقَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «مَا تَصْنَعُ بِإِزَارِكَ؟ إِنْ لَبِسْتَهُ لَمْ يَكُنْ عَلَيْهَا مِنْهِ شَيْءٌ، وَإِنْ لِسَنَّهُ لَمْ يَكُنْ عَلَيْكَ مِنْه شَيْءٌ"، فَجَلَسَ الرَّجُلُ، حَتَّى إِذَا طَالَ مَجْلِسُهُ ۚ قَامَ، فَرَآهُ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ مُولِّياً فَأَمَرَ بِهِ فَدُعِيَ بِهِ، فَلَمَّا جَآءً، قَالَ: "مَاذَا مَعَكَ مِنَ القُوْآنِ؟ قَالَ: مَعِيَ سُورَةُ كَذَا، وَسُورَةُ كَذَا، عَدَّدَهَا، فَقَالَ: «تَقْرَؤُهُنَّ عَنْ ظَهْرٍ فَلْبِكَ؟» قَالَ: نَعَمْ، قَالَ: «أَذْهَتْ فَقَدْ مَلَّكُتُكَهَا بِمَا مَعَكَ مِنَ القُرْآنِ». مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفْظُ لِمُسْلِم. وَفِي رُوَايَةً لَّهُ: «ٱنْطَلِقْ فَقَدْ زَوَّجُتُكَهَا فَعَلَّمُهَا مِنَ القُرْآن». وَفِي روايَة لللبُخَارِيُ: «أَمْلَكُنَاكَهَا بِمَا مَعَكَ مِنَ القُرْآن».

. وَلِأَبِي دَاوُدَ عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى Abū Dā'ud has a narration from Abū

⁽¹⁾ This *Hadith* clarifies many issues, among them one is that teaching Qur'an can also be a marriage dowry. Another thing made clear is that the amount of the dowry is not fixed. Some people bring a *Hadith* as a proof that the minimum amount is ten Dirhams. This is not correct and this *Hadith* has no base.

Huraira *: He asked, "What have you memorized?" He replied, "Gürat Al-Baqarah and the one that follows it." He then said, "Get up and teach her twenty Verses."

834. Narrated 'Aamir bin 'Abdullāh^[1] bin Az-Zubair on the authority of his father: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "Make marriage publicly known." ^[2] [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

835. Narrated Abū Burda bin Abū Mūsa on the authority of his father; Allāh's Messenger said, "There is no marriage without a guardian." [3] [Ahmad and Al-Arba'a reported it. Ibn Al-Madīnī, At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sahib (authentic), but it was regarded defective for being Mursal (missing link after the Tābi'i)].

Imām Ahmad reported from Al-Hasan from 'Imrān bin Al-Husain as *Marfu*' (attributed to the Prophet): "There is no marriage without a guardian and two witnesses."

836. Narrated 'Aisha . Allāh's Messenger said, "If any woman marries without the consent of her guardian, her marriage is invalid. If there is cohabitation, she is entitled to the

عَنْهُ قَالَ: مَا تَحْفَظُ؟ قَالَ: سَورَةَ البَقَرَةِ وَالَّتِي تَلِيهَا، قَالَ: «فَقُمْ، فَعَلَّمْهَا عِشْرِيْنَ آيَّة».

(A۳٤) وَعَنْ عَامِرِ بْنِ عَبْدِ للهِ بْنِرِ الزَّبْيَرِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: "أَعْلِنُوا النَّكَاحَ". رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ الحَاكِمُ.

(هa) وَعَنْ أَبِي بُرُدَةَ عِن أَبِي مُوسَى، عَنْ أَبِي مُوسَى، عَنْ أَبِيهِ اللهِ عَنْ أَبِي مُوسَى، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا يَكُاحَ إِلَّا لِيَهِ، وَوَصَحَّحُهُ النُّنْ اللهِ اللهَّذِينِ وَالخُرْبَعَةُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ النُّ المَدِينِيْ وَالخُرْبِينِيُّ وَالْبُنُ حِبَّانَ، وَأَعِلَ اللهِ إِلاَرْسَادِي. وَالخُرْمِينِيُّ وَالبُنُ حِبَّانَ، وَأَعِلَ

[وَرَوَى الإِمَامُ أَخْمَدُ، عَن ِ الحَسَن ِ، عَنْ عِمْرَانَ بُن ِ الحُصَيْنِ مَرْفُوعاً: لَا نِكَاحَ إِلَّا بِوَلِيْ وَشَاهِدَيْنِ].

(٨٣٦) وَعَنْ عَآئِشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "أَيُّمَا المْرَأَةِ نَكَحَتْ بِغَيْرٍ إِذْنِ وَلِيْهَا فَيَكَاحُهَا بَاطِلٌ، فَإِنْ دَخَلَ بِهَا

⁽¹⁾ He is 'Aamir bin 'Abdullâh bin Az-Zubair bin Al-'Awwam Al-Asadi Al-Qurashi Al-Madani. He was a *Tābi'i* and heard *Abadīth* from his father and others. He was reliable and pious, and died in 124 H.

^[2] After the matrimonial ceremony, its announcement is essential to avoid the disgrace and unnecessary criticism of people and for many other reasons. There are many forms of this announcement. Witnesses at the time of matrimonial rites are also a form of announcement. To announce in the assembly of people is another form. It can also be announced by playing Duff (small tambourine) but a musical band or fireworks are not allowed.

¹³⁾ This Hadith has been reported by about thirty Companions of the Prophet & Some of its chains of narrators are authentic. The first guardian is the father and the grandfather, then the brothers, and afterwards the uncles. If there is a difference of opinion among two guardians, whoever is nearer, his opinion will be preferred, and if both of them are equally near in relation as brothers and uncles, than the present ruler will be the guardian and authority to decide. If two guardians of equal status marry a woman separately, then the first marriage will be legal and the later will be considered invalid. If the married woman agrees to one guardian and differs with the other, than the opinion of the woman will be preferred.

dowry, due to the sexual intercourse made lawful with her. If there is a dispute (between her guardians), the ruler is the guardian of one who has no guardian." [Reported by Al-Arba'a except An-Nasā'i. Abū 'Awāna, Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

838. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The Prophet said, "A woman who has been previously married has more right over her person than her guardian, [2] and a virgin must be consulted, and her consent is her silence." [Reported by Muslim].

Another narration has: "A guardian has no authority over a woman who has been previously married; and an orphan girl must be consulted." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i; Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

839. Narrated Abū Huraira 🐇: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "A woman may not

فَلَهَا المَهْرُ بِمَا اسْتَحَلَّ مِنْ فَرْجِهَا، فَإِنِ اشْتَجَرُوا فَالشُّلُطَانُ وَلِيُّ مَنْ لَا وَلِيَّ لَهُ». أَخْرَجُهُ الأَرْبَعَةُ إِلَّا النَّسَائِيِّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ أَبُو عَوَانَةً وَابُنُ جِئَانَ وَالحَاكِمُ.

(ARV) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ،
أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: "لَا تُتُكُحُ الأَيْمُ حَتَّى
تُسْتَأْمَرَ، وَلَا تُتُكُحُ البِكُرُ حَتَّى تُسْتَأَذَنَ،
قَالُوا: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! وَكَيْفَ إِذْنُهَا؟ قَالَ: "أَنْ
تَشْكُتُ». مُقَفَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٨٣٨) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيُ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيُ اللَّيْبُ أَحَقُّ بِنَفْسِهَا مِنْ وَلِيُّهَا، وَالبِكُرُ تُسْتَأْمَرُ، وَإِذْنُهَا شُكُوتُهَا».

وَفِي لَفْظِ: "لَيْسَ لِلْوَلِيِّ مَعَ الظَّيْبِ أَمْرٌ وَالْبَتِيمَةُ تُسْتَأْمُرُ». رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالشَّسَاتِيُّ وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ جِئَانَ.

(A٣٩) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا تُزَوِّجُ المَرْأَةُ

 $[\]overline{^{(1)}}$ Consent of the woman is essential for marriage. If a guardian, even the father marries his daughter without her consent, she has got the right to cancel it.

Atyim is the word in Arabic for a woman who already has sexual experience, she may be widowed or divorced. An unmarried adulteress in reality is an Atyim, but under the orders of Shari'a, she is not Atyim. Atyim must give her consent by word for her marriage otherwise the marriage is not legal. As for a virgin who has not reached puberty, then her consent is not necessary, only the permission of the Wali is sufficient.

^[2] It only means that an *Aiyim* cannot be married without her consent, but it does not mean that she can marry without a guardian. If there is a difference of opinion among *Aiyim* and her guardian on the choice of spouse, and the woman's choice is from her kin and she has no illicit relation with him, then the guardian will be compelled to agree with *Aiyim*, and if he does not agree, she can ask the permission of the ruler and marry. *Dhul Arhām* (relatives on the maternal side) can not be *Wali* (guardian).

give a woman in marriage, nor may she give herself in marriage." [Reported by Ibn Mājah and Ad-Dāraqutni. Its narrators are reliable (thiqab)].

840. Narrated Nāfi' from Ibn 'Umar &: Allāh's Messenger ## prohibited \$Sbighār, which means that a man gives his daughter in marriage on condition that the other gives his daughter to him in marriage [in exchange] without any dowry being paid by either. [Agreed upon]. And they both agreed that the explanation of the meaning of \$Sbigbār is the saying of Nāfi'.

841. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: A virgin girl came to the Prophet and mentioned that her father had married her against her will, so Allāh's Messenger allowed her to exercise her choice. [Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and Ibn Mājah. If it is considered defective for being Mursal (missing link in the chain after the Tābi'i)].

842. Narrated Al-Hasan from Samura E. The Prophet said, "If two guardians have given a woman in marriage, she marries the man she was first married to." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a. At Tirmidhi graded it Hasan (good)].

المَوْأَةَ، وَلَا تُزَوِّجُ المَوْأَةُ نَفْسَهَا». رَوَاهُ ابْنُ مَاجَهْ وَالدَّارِقُطْنِيُّ، وَرجَالُهُ ثِقَاتٌ.

(A٤٠) وَعَنْ نَافِعٍ عَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عَنِ الشَّغَارِ، وَالشَّغَارُ أَنْ يُزَوِّجَ الرَّجُلُ ابْنَتُهُ عَلَى أَنْ يُزَوِّجَهُ الآخَرُ ابْنَتُهُ، وَلَيْسَ بَيْنَهُمَا صَدَاقٌ. مُثَّقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَاثْفَقَا مِنْ وَجُو آخَرَ عَلَىٰ أَنَّ تَفْسِيرَ الشَّغَارِ مِنْ كَلَامٍ نَافِعٍ.

(٨٤١) وَعَنِ ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَبُّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا أَنَّ بِكُمْ أَنْت النَّبِيَّ ﷺ، فَذَكَرَتُ أَنَّت النَّبِيَّ ﷺ، فَذَكَرَتُ أَنَّ أَبَاهَا زَوْجَهَا وَهُمِيَ كَارِهَةٌ، فَخَيْرَهَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ. رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ، وَأَعُو دَاوُدَ وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ، وَأَعُو دَاوُدَ وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ،

(A&Y) وَعَن الحَسَن ، عَنْ سَمُوةَ، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «أَلِّهُمَا امْرَأَةٍ زَوَّجَهَا وَلِيَّان ِ فَهِيَ لِلأَوْلِ مِنْهُمَا». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، وَحَسَّنُهُ النَّهُمَدُيُ.

(٨٤٣) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قال رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ أَأَيُّمَا عَبْدِ تَزَقَّجَ بِغَيْرِ إِذْنِ

^[1] It means that regarding marriage, a woman cannot be a guardian. She cannot marry herself of her own and she cannot permit the marriage of another woman. She is also not allowed to become attorney concerning marriage.

^[2] It means that without the consent of woman, virgin or *Aiyim*, she cannot be married. If she is married without her consent, she has the right to cancel it or confirm it, even if her father or brother arranged this marriage.

^[3] It means that if two guardians marry a woman to two different men, the first marriage is lawful and the second is unlawful. If the two marriages take place at the same time, then both are unlawful. And there is no difference of opinion in it.

^[4] It means that for the marriage of a slave the permission of his master is essential. Without the permission of master, marriage is not accomplished. If the slave is unaware of the fact

masters or owners is (like) a fornicator." [Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud, An-Nasa'i and At-Tirmidhi; the later graded it *Sahih* (authentic), as did lbn Hibbān].

844. Narrated Abū Huraira &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "A man must not join together (in marriage to him) a woman and her paternal aunt, or a woman and her maternal aunt." [Agreed upon].

846. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The Prophet married Maimūna (*) when he was in the state of *Ibrām* (during pilgrimage). [Agreed upon]. Muslim reported from Maimūna (*) herself: "The Prophet * married her when he was not in the state of *Ibrām*."

847. Narrated 'Uqba bin 'Aamir **Allāh's Messenger **said, "The most worthy conditions to be fulfilled^[2] are those by which you make sexual intercourse lawful for yourselves (in marriage)." [Agreed upon].

 مَوَالِيهِ وَأَهْلِهِ فَهُوَ عَاهِرٌ». رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالثَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَصَحَّحُهُ، وَكَذْلِكَ ابْنُ جِبَّانَ.

(٨٤٤) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿لَا يُجْمَعُ بَيْنَ المَوْأَةِ وَعَمَّيْهَا، وَلَا بَيْنَ المَوْأَةِ وَخَالَتِهَا». مُثَقَّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

(٨٤٥) وَعَنْ عُنْمَانَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ،
قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «لَا يَتَكِحُ المُحْرِمُ،
وَلَا يُتُكِحُ». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ. وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لَّذَ: «وَلَا يُخْطَبُ». زَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.
يَخْطُبُ». زَادَ ابْنُ جِبَّانَ: «وَلَا يُخْطَبُ عَلَيْهِ».

(A&7) وَعَن الْبِن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَبُّسُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: تَرَوَّجُ النَّبِيُ ﷺ مَنْهُونَةَ نَفْسِهَا: أَنَّ النَّبِيُ مُثْقُنُ عَلَيْهِ. وَلِمُسْلِم عَنْ مَيْمُونَةَ نَفْسِهَا: أَنَّ النَّبِيَ ﷺ تَرَوَّجُهَا وَهُو خَلالٌ.

(٨٤٧) وَعَنْ عُفْبَةً بْنِ عَامِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: ﴿إِنَّ أَحَقَّ اللَّهِ ﷺ ﴿ إِنَّ أَحَقَّ اللَّهُ وَعَلَى اللَّمُوطِ أَنْ يُوقَى بِدٍ، مَا اسْتَحْلَلْتُمْ بِهِ اللَّهُوجَ». مُقَفَّقُ عَلَيْدِ. اللَّمُوجَ». مُقَفَّقُ عَلَيْدِ.

(٨٤٨) وَعَنْ سَلَمَةَ بْنِ الأَكْوَعِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: رَخَّصَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ عَامَ

that the permission of master is essential, and he performs the sexual intercourse, then he will not be punished for it, but if he knows it, he will be punished.

^{11]} While in the state of *Ibrām*, taking part in engagement to marry or marriage of one's ownself or of someone else, is not permitted, according to most scholars. As regards the next *Hadāth* reported by Ibn 'Abbās نرضي الله عنها، its chain of narrators is correct, but he was mistaken that the Prophet ﷺ married Maimuna \$ while he was in *Ibrām*. Maimuna herself has contradicted this in the *Hadāth* coming after it.

^[2] It means that the payment of a dowry is essential.

marriage)^[1] for three nights, then he prohibited it (afterwards). [Reported by Muslim].

849. Narrated 'Ali 秦: Allāh's Messenger 鑑 forbade *Mut'a* (temporary marriage) in the year of Khaibar. [Agreed upon].

850. Narrated ('Ali) &: On the Day (Battle) of Khaibar, the Prophet # forbade the temporary marriage (i.e. Mut'a) of women, and eating the flesh of domestic donkeys. [As-Sab'a except Abū Dā'ud reported it].

851. Narrated Rabī' bin Sabra^[2] on the authority of his father: Allāh's Messenger said, "I had permitted to you the temporary marriage of women, but Allāh has (now) prohibited you from that till the Day of Resurrection. So, if anyone has any of these woman (in temporary marriage), he should let her go; and do not take back anything of what you have given them." [Reported by Muslim, Abū Dā'ud, An-Nasā'i, Ibn Mājah, Ahmad and Ibn Hibbān].

852. Narrated Ibn Mas'ūd 泰: Allāh's Messenger 獎 cursed the man who made a woman lawful for her first husband and the one for whom she was made lawful (the men involved in Halāla). [3] [Reported by Ahmad, An-Nasā'i and At-Tirmidhi; the latter declared it to be Sabib (authentic)]. Al-Arba'a except An-Nasā'i reported

أَوْطَاسِرِ فِي المُتْعَةِ ثَلَانَةَ أَيَّامٍ، ثُمَّ نَهِي عَنْهَا. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(AtA) وَعَنْ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عَن المُتَعَةِ عَامَ خَيْبَرَ. مُثَقَنُّ عَلَيْهِ.

(٥٥٠) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيَ
 ﴿ وَعَنْ أَكُولِ النَّمَاةِ، وَعَنْ أَكُولِ الحُمُولِ
 الأَمْلِيَّةِ يَوْمَ خَيْبَرَ. أَخْرَجُهُ السَّبْمَةُ إِلَّا أَبَا دَاوُدَ.

(٨٥٧) وَعَن الْبَن مَشْمُودِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: لَعَنَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ أَلْمُحَلَّلَ وَالمُحَلَّلَ وَالمُحَلَّلَ وَالمُحَلَّلَ وَالمُحَلَّلَ وَالمُحَلَّلَ وَالمُحَلَّلَ وَالمُحَلَّلُ وَالمُحَلَّلُ وَالمُخْمَّهُ، وَصَحْحَهُ، وَصَحْحَهُ، وَضَحْحَهُ، وَفِي البَابِ عَنْ عَلِيٍّ، أَخْرَجَهُ الأَرْبَعَةُ إِلَّا النَّمَاتِيَّيْ. الْخَرَجَهُ الأَرْبَعَةُ إِلَّا النَّسَاتِيَّيْ.

[[]ا] Mut'a (المتمنة) is a marriage for a stipulated period only. This form of marriage was customary among the Arabs in the past. Islam at times put restrictions on it and at times permitted it under specific conditions, and at last it was declared unlawful forever at Hajjatul-Wada' (Farewell Hajj of the Prophet ﷺ).

^[2] Rabi' bin Sabra bin Ma'bad Al-Juhani Al-Madani was verified to be reliable by An-Nasà'i and Al-'Aili.

العالم means to marry a divorced woman temporarily, with the intention of making her remarriage to her former husband lawful. This act is unlawful. Marriage based on intended divorce is unlawful, whether its period is prescribed or not.

something related to this matter, on the authority of 'Ali &.

853. Narrated Abū Huraira 泰: Allāh's Messenger 義 said, "A man guilty of fornication, who has been flogged (for it), should not marry any but a woman like him (similarly guilty)."[1] [Reported by Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud, and its narrators are reliable (thiqab)].

854. Narrated 'Aisha *: A man divorced his wife by three pronouncements and another man married her and divorced her before cohabiting with her. Then, her first husband intended to remarry her and asked Allāh's Messenger **about that. He said, "No, until the other one (second husband) has enjoyed sexual intercourse ^[2] with her as the first (husband) had." [Agreed upon; the wording is Muslim's].

Chapter 1 EQUALITY IN MARRIAGE^[3] AND RIGHT OF CHOICE

855. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . Allāh's Messenger said, "The Arabs are equal to one another and the *Mawāli*⁽⁴⁾ are equal to one another; [5] except a weaver or a cupper." [Reported by Al-Hākim, but there is a nameless narrator

(٨٥٣) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "لَا يَنْكِحُ الزَّانِي المَجْلُودُ إِلَّا مِثْلَهُ». رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُد، وَرَجَالُهُ بِثَافٌ. مِنْهُ

(004) وَعَنْ عَاتِشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: طَلَّقَ رَجُلٌ امْرَأَتُهُ ثَلَاثًا، فَتَزَوْجَهَا رَجُلٌ، ثُمَّ طَلَّقَهَا قَبْلَ أَنْ يَدْخُلَ بِهَا. فَأَرَادَ رَوْجُهَا الأَوَّلُ أَنْ يَتَزَوَّجَهَا، فَسَأَلَ رَسُولَ اللهِ عَنْ خُسَيْلَتِهَا مَا ذَاقَ الأَوَّلُ». مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ. وَنْ خُسَيْلَتِهَا مَا ذَاقَ الأَوَّلُ». مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

١ - بَابُ الكَفَآءَةِ وَالخِيَارِ

(٨٥٥) عَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «العَرْبُ بَعْضُهُمْ أَكْفَاءُ بَعْضُهُمْ أَكْفَاءُ بَعْضِهُمْ أَكْفَاءُ بَعْضِرٍ، وَالمَوَالِي بَعْضُهُمْ أَكْفَاءُ بَعْضِرٍ، وَالمَوَالِي بَعْضُهُمْ أَكْفَاءُ بَعْضِرٍ، وَلِي اللّهَ عَلِيكاً أَوْ حَجَّاماً». رَوَاهُ الحَاكِمُ، وَفِي

 $[\]overline{^{[1]}}$ It means that a pious man should not marry a woman guilty of adultery or fornication, and a pious woman should not marry a man guilty of adultery or fornication.

^[2] It means that an irrevocably [three times] divorced woman, if remarried to another man, and after having sexual relations with him is divorced again, or her husband dies, then she is allowed to marry her first husband. However, if she has not had sexual relations with the second husband, she is not allowed to marry her first husband.

^[3] In Arabic Kufu' (ﮐﻨެ) means to be similar or resembling or peer. Similarity or equality in four things – religion, lineage, profession and freedom is regarded reliable. Among these four, religion is agreed upon. The others are disputed. To marry other than Kufu, is not prohibited but it is better to marry in Kufu' for many reasons.

^[4] Non-Arabs, and originally former slaves.

^[5] It means that the Shari'a has kept the profession in view merely to make the social life easy. Otherwise, it has no consideration for marriage purposes. Fatima bint Qais Qurashiyah was asked to marry Usama (son of freed slave). It means that lineage has no special prestige in Islam.

in its chain of narrators; Abū Hātim graded it *Munkar* (rejected). It has a supporting narration reported by Al-Bazzār from Mu'ādh bin Jabal with a *Munqati*' (broken) chain].

856. Narrated Fatima 售, daughter of Qais: The Prophet 總 told her, "Marry Usāma."^[1] [Reported by Muslim].

857. Narrated Abū Huraira &: The Prophet said, "O sons of Bayada', marry to Abu Hind^[2] (someone of your women) and marry from his women (i.e. his daughters)," (even though) he was a cupper. [Abū Dā'ud and Al-Hākim reported it with a *Hasan* (good) chain of narrators].

858. Narrated 'Aisha *: Barira was given her choice regarding her husband [to remain with him or separate] when she was freed. [Agreed upon; it is a part of a long *Hadīth*].

Muslim has from 'Aisha \\$: "Her husband was a slave." Another narration from her has: "He was a free man." The first (narration) is more well established. It has been authentically reported from Ibn 'Abbās \\$ by Al-Bukhāri: "...that he was a slave."

859. Narrated Ad-Dahhāk^[3] bin Fairūz Ad-Dailami on the authority of his father^[4] &: I said, "O Allāh's Messenger,

إِشْنَادِهِ رَاوٍ لَمْ يُسَمَّ، وَاسْتَنْكَرَهُ أَبُو حَاتِمٍ، وَلَهُ شَاهِدٌ عِنْدَ البَرَّادِ عَنْ مُعَاذِ بْنِ جَبَل_{ِم} بِسَنَدِ مُثْقَطِعِہِ.

(٨٥٦) وَعَنْ فَاطِمَةَ بِنْتَ ِ قَيْسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ قَالَ لَهَا: "ٱلْكِحِي أَسَامَةً». رَوَاهُ مُسْلمٌ.

(٥٥٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: "يَا بَنِي بَيَاضَةَ أَنْكِحُوا أَبَا هِنْهِ وَانْكِحُوا إِلَيْهِ، وَكَانَ حَجَّامًا». رَوَاهُ أَبُو ذاوُدَ وَالحَاكِمُ بِسَنَدٍ جَيِّدٍ.

(٨٥٨) وَعَنْ عَآئِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: خُيْرَتْ بَرِيرَةُ عَلَى زَوْجِهَا حِينَ عَتَقَتْ. مُثَقِّقُ عَلَيْهِ فِي حَدِيثٍ طَوِيلٍ.

وَلِمُسْلِم عَنْهَا: (أَنَّ زَوْجَهَا كَانَ عبداً)، وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ عَنْهَا: (كَانَ حُوًّا)، وَالأَوَّلُ أَثْبَتُ، وَصَحَّ عَنِ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما عِنْدَ الْبَنْ عَبَّاسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما عِنْدَ النَّخَارِيّ: (أَنَّهُ كَانَ عَبْداً).

(٨٥٩) وَعَن الضَّحَّاكِ بْنِ فَيْرُوزَ الدَّيْلَمِيِّ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قُلْتُ: يَا

^[1] Usamah's father was a former slave.

^[2] His name was Yasār or Sālim bin Abū Sālim or 'Abdullāh bin Hind, and he used to cup the Prophet 囊. He was a slave of Banu Bayada'. Ibn 'Abbās, Abū Huraira, Jābir and Khālid narrated *Abadātb* from him.

^[3] Ad-Dahhāk bin Fairuz Ad-Dailami - Ad-Dailam being a famous mountain in Persia - was a renowned Tābi'i whose reliability has been verified by Ibn Hibbān. He narrated Abadātb from his father, and his Abadātb have been mastered by the people of Basra.

^[4] He is Abū 'Abdullāh Fairuz Ad-Dailami or Al-Himyari – for selling at Himyar – was a Persian from San'ā and among those who visited the Prophet 鑑. He fought Al-'Ansi 'the impostor' who claimed prophethood in Yemen, whom he managed to kill towards the last days of the life of Allāh's Messenger 饗 who received the news during the illness in which he died. Fairuz died during the caliphate of 'Uthmān.

I have accepted Islam and I am married to two sisters." Allāh's Messenger ## then said, "Divorce whichever of them you wish." [I] [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a, except An-Nasā'i. Ibn Hibbān, Ad-Daraqutni and Al-Baihaqi graded it Sahih (authentic) but Al-Bukhāri considered it defectivel.

رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنِّي أَشَلَمْتُ، وَتَخْتِي أُخْتَانِ، فَقَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿طَلْقُ أَيْتُهُمَا شِئْتُ». رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ والأَرْبَعَةُ إِلَّ النَّسَاتِيِّ، وَصَحْحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ وَالدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ وَالبَيْهَةِيُّ، وَأَعَلَّهُ البُخَارِئُ.

860. Narrated Salim on the authority of his father: Ghailan bin Salama[2] accepted Islam and he had ten wives who accepted Islam along with him. So, the Prophet & commanded him to, "Choose four of them."[3] [Reported by Ahmad and At-Tirmidhi. Ibn Hibban and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic): but Al-Bukhāri, Abū Zur'a and Abū Hātim considered it defective). 861. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The Prophet 鑑 returned his daughter Zainab (巻) to [her husband] Abul-'Aas bin Ar-Rabi' (&) based upon the first marriage, after six years [of separation], [4] and he did not perform a new marriage. [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a except An-Nasā'i. Ahmad and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

(٨٦٠) وَعَنْ سَالِمٍ, عَنْ أَبِيهِ، أَنَّ غَيْلَانَ بُنِ سَلَمَةً أَشْلَمَ، وَلَهُ عَشْرُ بِشُوةٍ، فَأَشْلَشْنَ مَعْهُ، فَأَمَرُهُ النَّبِيُ ﷺ أَنْ يَتَخَيَّرُ مِنْهُنَّ أَرْبَعاً. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالنَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ وَالحَاكِمُ، وَاعَلَّهُ البُخَارِيُّ وَأَبُو زُرْعَةً وَأَبُو حَاتِمٍ.

(٨٦١) وِعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: رَدَّ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ ابْنَتُهُ زَيْنَبَ عَلَى أَبِي النَّعَاص بُنْ النِّيعِ بَعْدَ سِتَّ سِنِنَ بِالنَّكَاحِ الغَاصِ بْنِنَ بِالنَّكَاحِ الأَوَّلِيمِ بَعْدَ سِتَّ سِنِنَ بِالنَّكَاحِ الأَوَّلِيمِ بَعْدَ شِتَّ سِنِنَ بِالنَّكَاحِ الأَوَّلِيمِ بَعْدَ وَكَاماً. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالْوَاكِمُ. وَلَامَا لَحَالَمَهُ وَالْوَاكِمُ .

^[1] This *Hadīth* makes clear two things: One is that, if two real sisters are married to one man, he must divorce one of them; and second that, the marriages performed before Islam are accepted by Islam though they were not in accordance with Islamic way. In any case, a woman cannot be free from this marriage without divorce. This *Hadīth* also clarifies that if a married couple accepts Islam, they have no need to marry again, since their first marriage is considered legal in Islam.

^[2] Ghailān bin Salama Ath-Thaqafi was one of the elders of Thaqif. He became a Muslim after the conquest of Tā'if and did not migrate to Al-Madīnah. He was a poet with a nice voice. He died during 'Umar's Caliphate.

^[3] Having more than four wives in marriage at one time is unlawful and there is no difference of opinion in this regard. Having nine wives by the Prophet 變 at one time was exclusively for him.

^[4] If the woman accepts Islam and her husband remains infidel, according to most of the scholars, their marriage is cancelled and after the completion of 'Iddab (period during which a widow or a divorcee may not remarry) she will be deemed free from the bond of marriage. The story of Zainab & has many explanations, and actually marriage is not cancelled in such a case, but marrying afresh is better.

862. Narrated 'Amr bin Shu'aib on his father's authority from his grandfather: The Prophet # returned his daughter Zainab[1] (%) to [her husband] Abūl-'Aas^[2] (by a new marriage. [At-Tirmidhi said, "The Hadīth of Ibn 'Abbās () is better than 'Amr's Hadīth in consideration of the chains of narrators. However, that which is being observed in practice is 'Amr bin Shu'aib's Hadīth''].

863. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: A woman had accepted Islam and then remarried, so her (previous) husband came and said, "O Allāh's Messenger, I had accepted Islam and she knew that I had done so." So Allāh's Messenger # took her away from her second husband and returned her to her first one.[3] [Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and Ibn Mājah. Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

864. Narrated Zaid bin Kaʻb 'Uira^[4] & on his father's authority: 'Allāh's Messenger 🛎 married Al-'Aaliya^[5] of Banu Ghifār. When she اللهِ ﷺ العِالِيَّةَ مِنْ بَنِي غِفَارٍ، فَلَمَّا دَخَلَتْ

(٨٦٢) وَعَنْ عَمْرُو بْنِ شُعَيْبٍ، عَن أَبيهِ، عَنْ جَدِّهِ أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ رَدَّ ابْنَتَهُ زَيْنَبَ عَلَى أَبِي العَاصِ بِنِكَاحٍ جَدِيدٍ. قَالَ التُّرْمِذِيُّ: حَدِيثُ اثن عَبَّاسِ أَجْوَدُ إِسْنَاداً، وَالعَمَلُ حَدِيث عَمْرُو بْنِ شُعَيْبٍ.

(٨٦٣) وَعَن ِ ابْن ِ عَبَّاس ِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى، عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: أَسْلَمَت آمْرَأَةٌ، فَتَزَوَّ جَتْ، فَجَآءَ زَوْجُهَا، فَقَالَ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنِّي كُنْتُ أَسْلَمْتُ، وَعَلِمَتْ بإسْلَامِي، فَٱنْتَزَعَهَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ مِنْ زَوْجِهَا الآخَر، وَرَدَّهَا إلى زَوْجِهَا الأوَّل. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَنُو ذَاوُدَ وَانْنُ مَاجَهُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ جِنَّانَ وَالْحَاكِمُ.

(ATE) وَعَنْ زَيْدِ بْن كَعْب بْن عُجْرَةَ رَضِيَ bin اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، قَالَ: تَزَوَّجَ رَسُولُ

^[1] She was the eldest of Allah's Messenger's daughters, and her mother was Ummul-Mu'minin Khadija Al-Kubra 🐁 She was married to her maternal aunt's son Abul 'Aas bin Ar-Rabi' and she bore him 'Ali, but he died as a grown-up child. Abūl 'Aas rode on the back seat of the Prophet's camel on the day of Al-Fath. Zainab also bore Umama to Abūl 'Aas. She migrated after the battle of Badr and died in 8 H. The Prophet 36 entered her grave in the process of burying her.

^[2] He is called Migsam bin Ar-Rabi' bin 'Abdul-'Uzza. It is also said that he was called Laqit. He was the son-in-law of the Prophet 25 and the husband of his daughter Zainab. He was captured during the battle of Badr as a Kafir, but was set free without ransom on condition that he bring Zainab to Al-Madinah and he did so. He later migrated to Al-Madinah himself and took the Prophet as as his Muslim brother and his confidant. He was martyred during the battle of Yamama.

^[3] It means that if the separation is due to the difference of religion, and during 'Iddah' the man also accepts Islam, and the woman comes to know, then she cannot marry another person. If she marries unknowingly, her marriage will be cancelled, but her having had sexual relations during this period will not be a punishable act according to Shari'a.

^[4] It is said that he was from Banu Sālim bin 'Auf or Banu Sālim bin Bali and was an ally of Al-Khazraj. Adh-Dhahabi mentioned in Talkhis Al-Mustadrak that Ibn Ma'in said, "He is not reliable", but Ibn Ma'in actually said that regarding Jamil bin Zaid.

^[5] It was said that she was from Banu Bakr bin Kilāb and she is Al-'Aaliya bint Zubyān. It was also said that this Al-'Aaliya was not from Banu Kilāb. Some reporters said that he kept her

had entered in his presence and removed her clothes, he saw whiteness (of leprosy) around her waist area [1] and the Prophet \$\mathbb{E}\$ said, "Put on your clothes and return to your family." He ordered her dowry to be given to her. [Reported by Al-Hākim]. In its chain of narrators, is Jamil bin Zaid^[2], who is \$Majhūl\$ (an unaccredited narrator). There is also a great difference of opinion as to who was his \$Shaykb\$.

865. Narrated Sa'īd bin Al-Musaiyab: 'Umar bin Al-Khattāb & said, 'If any man marries a woman and after sleeping with her finds that she is affected with leprosy or insane, she gets her dowry (if he divorces her) for having intercourse with her, and it is returned to him from the one who has deceived him^[3] with her.' [Sa'īd bin Mansūr, Mālik and Ibn Abū Shaiba reported it. Its narrators are reliable (thiaab)].

Sa'id (bin Mansur) also reported something similar from 'Ali (ﷺ) and added: "And (if) she has something like a horn (*Qarn*) (coming out of her vagina), her husband then has the right to divorce her or keep her. And if he had intercourse with her, she gets her dowry for the intercourse her husband has had."

866. Narrated Sa'id bin Al-Musaiyab this *Hadīth* also: 'Umar & gave a decree regarding a husband who is impotent that he must be given delay for one year. [4] [Its narrators are reliable].

عَلَيْهِ، وَوَضَعَتْ ثِيَابَهَا، رَأَى بِكَشْجِهَا بَيَاضاً،
فَقَالَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ: ﴿أَلْبَسِيْ لِيَابَكِ، وَٱلْحَقِي
بالهَلِكِ، وَأَمْرَ لَهَا بِالصَّدَاقِ. رَوَاهُ الحَاكِمُ، وَفِي
إِسْنَادِهِ جَدِيلُ بْنُ يَزِيدَ، وَهُوَ مَجْهُولٌ، وَاخْتُلِفَ عَلَيْهِ فِي شَيْخِهِ أَخْتِلافاً كَثِيراً.

(٨٦٥) وَعَنْ سَعِيدِ بْنِ المُسَيَّبِ، أَنَّ عَمَرَ بْنَ المُسَيَّبِ، أَنَّ عَمَرَ بْنَ المُضَاّبِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: أَيُّمَا رَجُلِ تَزَوَّجَ أَمْرَأَةً، فَلَخَلَ بِهَا، فَوَجَدُهَا بَرْضَاءً، أَوْ مَجْدُومَةً، فَلَهَا الصَّدَاقُ بِمَسِيدِهِ إِيَّاهَا، وَهُوَ لَهُ عَلَى مَنْ غَرَّهُ مِنْهَا. أَخْرَجَهُ سَعِيدُ بْنُ مَنْصُورٍ وَمَالِكُ وَابْنُ أَبِي مِنْهَا. أَخْرَجَهُ سَعِيدُ بْنُ مَنْصُورٍ وَمَالِكُ وَابْنُ أَبِي مَنْ غَرَّهُ مَنْهُمَا وَهُوَ لَهُ عَلَى مَنْ غَرَّهُ مَنْهَا. وَهُوَ لَهُ عَلَى مَنْ غَرَّهُ مَنْهُمُورٍ وَمَالِكُ وَابْنُ أَبِي مَنْ غَرَّهُ مَنْهُمُورٍ وَمَالِكُ وَابْنُ أَبِي

وَرَوَى سَعِيدٌ أَيْضاً عَنْ عَلِيمٌ نَحْوَهُ، وَزَادَ: "وَبِهَا قَرَنٌ، فَزَوْجُهَا بِالخِيَارِ، فَإِنْ مَسَّهَا فَلَهَا المَهُرُ بِمَا اسْتَحَلَّ مِنْ فَرْجِهَا».

(٨٦٦) وَمِنْ طَرِيقِر سَعِيدِ بْنِ المُسَيَّبِ أَيْضاً قَالَ: قَضَى بِهِ عُمَرُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ فِي العِنْينِ أَنْ يُؤَجَّلَ سَنَةً. وَرِجَالُهُ بْقَاتْ.

for some time and then divorced her.

^[1] It means that if the guardians of a woman, by cheating, marry a physically deformed, permanently sick, insane or woman afflicted with leprosy etc., the marriage is cancelled due to their fraud. Similarly, if a woman is married by cheating to a defective or an abnormal man, she has the right to end it. If both man and woman agree, the marriage is valid.

^[2] He was from the Tā'i tribe and Ibn Ma'in and An-Nasā'i said, "He is not reliable." Al-Bukhāri also said, "His *Hadītb* is not authentic." The *Imāms* of *Hadītb* verified him as weak.

^[3] It means that if man does not want to keep such a woman, the dowry is an unjust burden on him.

^[4] It means that according to Shari'a, an impotent man is he who lacks sufficient strength to insert his penis into the vagina. If he inserts it even one time, he will not be regarded impotent.

٢ - بَابُ عِشْرَةِ النِّسَآءِ

Chapter 2 THE RELATIONS WITH THE WIVES

867. Narrated Abū Huraira s: Allāh's Messenger said, "He who has intercourse with a woman through her anus is accursed." [1] [Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i reported it and the wording is his (An-Nasā'i). Its narrators are reliable, but it was considered to be defective for being *Mursal* (a missing link after the *Tābi'i*)].

868. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās . Allāh's Messenger said, "Allāh will not look at a man who has intercourse with a man or a woman through the anus." [Reported by At-Tirmidhi, An-Nasā'i and Ibn Hibbān, but it was considered to be defective for being Mawqūf (saying of a Companion, i.e. Ibn 'Abbas)].

869. Narrated Abū Huraira 拳: The Prophet 養 said, "He who believes in Allāh and the last Day should not harm his neighbor;^[2] and take my advice regarding good treatment of women, for they were created from a rib. And indeed the most crooked part of the rib is its upper part. If you attempt to straighten it, you will break it, ^[3] and if you leave it alone it will remain crooked. So, take my advice regarding good treatment of women." [Agreed upon; the wording is Al-Bukhāri's]. Muslim has: "So if you enjoy her you will do so while crookedness remains

(٨٦٧) عَنْ أَبِي مُرْتِرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: امْلُعُونٌ مَنْ أَتَى الهُزَاةً فِي دُبُرِهَا». رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوْدَ وَالنَّسَاتِيّْ، وَاللَّفْظُ لُهُ، وَرِجَالُهُ فِعَاتٌ، لَكِنَ أُعِلَ بِالإِرْسَالِ.

(٨٦٩) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ،
عَنْ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: "مَنْ كَانَ يُؤْمِنُ بِاللَّهُ
وَالْبَوْمِ الْآخِرِ فَلَا يُؤْفِ جَارَهُ، وَاسْتَوْصُوا
بِالنَّسَاءِ خَيْرًا، فَإِنَّهِنَّ خُلِفْنَ مِنْ ضِلَعٍ، وَإِنَّ
تَقِيمُهُ كَسَرْتُهُ، فَإِنْ تَرَكْتُهُ لَمْ يَزَلُ أَعْرَبُهُ،
فَانْ ذَمْنِتُ لَلْهُ فَلَا يُؤِلِّ بَرَكْتُهُ لَمْ يَزَلُ أَعْرَبُهُ وَاللَّفْظُ
فَاسْتُوصُوا بِالنَّسَاءِ خَيْرًا». مُتَقَنِّ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفْظُ
الْمُبْخَارِيْ. وَلِمُسْلِمٍ: فَإِن اسْتَمْتَعْتَ بِهَا أَسْتَمْتَعْتَ بِهَا مَسْتَمْتَعْتَ بِهَا مَنْمَنَتُ تُقِيمُهَا عَرِبُوا عَرْبُوا عَرْبُوا عَرْبُوا فَاللَّهُ اللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُنْ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْلِدُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُنْ اللَّهُ الْمُنْ اللَّهُ الْمُنْ الْمُنْ الْمُنْ الْمُنْ الْمُنْ الْمُنْ الْ

 $^{^{\}overline{(1)}}$ All the religious scholars are of the opinion that anal sexual intercourse with woman is unlawful.

 $^{^{[2]}}$ Harming or hurting a Muslim is absolutely unlawful, and harming the neighbor is a major sin.

^[3] This *Hadith* teaches that women should be treated with kindness. The woman's temperament is different than man's, by nature. There are many reasons for its crookedness and it is very difficult to tackle her. The woman is like a rib, and a healthy rib is crooked by nature. Therefore, one should not try to straighten the rib otherwise it will break and cause pain. The nature of the woman can not be changed.

in her; but if you attempt to straighten her you will break her, and breaking her is divorcing her."

870. Narrated Jābir &: We were with the Prophet son an expedition. Then, when we arrived at Al-Madīnah and were about to enter he said, "Wait^[1] so that you may enter by night – i.e. in the evening in order that the woman with disheveled hair may comb it and the woman whose husband has been away may shave her pubic hairs (getting ready for her husband)." [Agreed upon].

A narration by Al-Bukhāri has: "When one of you has been away from home for a long time, he must not come to his family during the night."

871. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "The worst of people in position before Allāh on the Day of Resurrection is the man who has intercourse with his wife, and she with him, and then spreads her secrets." [Reported by Muslim].

872. Narrated Hākim bin Mu'āwiya on the authority of his father (ﷺ): I asked, "O Messenger of Allāh, what are the rights of a wife of one of us on her husband?" He replied, "You should give her food when you eat, clothe her when you clothe yourself, not strike her on the face, and do not revile her or desert her except within the house." [Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud, AnNasā'i and Ibn Mājah. Al-Bukhāri mentioned part of it [the last sentence]

(AV۰) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كُنَّا مَعَ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ فِي غَزَاةٍ، فَلَمَّا قَلِمْنَا المَدِينَةَ، ذَمَنْنَا لِنَلْخُلَ، فَقَالَ ﷺ: ﴿أَمْهِلُوا حَتَّى تَلْخُلُوا لَئِلاً، يَغْنِي عِشَاء، لِكَنْ تَلْمَشْطَ الشَّيْفَ، وَتَسْتَحِدًّ المُغْيِنَةُ». مُثَقَنْ عَلَيْهِ.

وَفِي رِوَايَةِ لِلْبُخَارِيِّ: "إِذَا أَطَالَ أَحَدُكُمُ الغَيْبَةِ، فَلا يَطُرُقُ أَهْلُهُ لَيْلاً».

(٨٧١) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِنَّ شَرَّ النَّاسِ عِنْدَ اللهِ مَنْزِلَةً يَوْمَ القِيَامَةِ الرَّجُلُ يُفْضِي إِلَى الْمَرْآتِهِ، وَتُفْضِي إِلَيْدِ. ثُمَّ يَنْشُرُ سِرَّهَا». أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(AVY) وَعَنْ حَكِيمٍ بْنِ مُعَاوِيَةَ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ قَالَ: قُلْتُ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! مَا حَقَّ زَوْجٍ أَحَدِنَا عَلَيْهِ؟ قَالَ: قُلْتُ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! مَا حَقَّ زَوْجٍ أَحَدِنَا الْحَنْبُ؟ وَلَكُسُوهَا إِذَا الْحَنْتُ، وَلَكُسُوهَا إِذَا الْحَنْتُ، وَلَكُسُوهَا إِذَا الْحَنْتُ، وَلَا تُقْبُحُ، وَلَا تُقْبُحُ، وَلَا تَقْبُحُ، وَلَا تَقْبُحُ، وَلَا تَقْبُحُ، وَاللّهَ اللّهَانِيُ وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ، وَعَلَقَ اللّهَخَارِيُ بَعْضَهُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ جَالِدَ وَالحَاكِمُ.

^[1] It means that if anyone returns home from a long journey, he should not go directly to his house. It is better to send the information of arrival. There are many reasons for this. In the absence of the husband, a woman may not attend to her appearance, or give attention to certain personal matters like shaving the hair from the private areas of the body. This untidiness may disturb the husband and may be a cause of his disliking her, etc.

^[2] It means that describing to others what has taken place between husband and wife regarding their private marital relations is a major sin.

as *Mu'allaq* (a broken chain from the side of the collector, i.e. Al-Bukhari). Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

874. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās . Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "If anyone who intends to have intercourse with his wife says, 'In the Name of Allāh. O Allāh, keep us away from the devil and keep the devil away from what You have provided us (of children)', should it be ordained that a child be born to them thereby, Satan will never harm it." [Agreed upon].

875. Narrated Abū Huraira &: The Prophet said, "When a man calls his wife to come to his bed (for marital relations), and she refuses to come, and he spends the night in anger, the angels curse her till the morning." [Agreed upon; the wording is Al-Bukhāri's]. Muslim has: "He Who is in heaven is displeased with her till her husband is pleased with her."

876. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: The Prophet cursed the woman^[1] who joins false hair to her real hair [extensions] and the one who asks for it to be done to her; and the woman who tattoos (others) and the one who has it done (for her). [Agreed upon].

(٨٧٣) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللهِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: كَانَتِ اليَّهُوهُ تَقُولُ إِذَا أَتَى الرَّجُلُ أَمْرَأَتُهُ مِنْ دُبُرِهَا فِي قُبْلِهَا كَانَ الوَلَهُ أَحْوَلَ، فَنَزَلَتْ ﴿فِينَاقُكُمْ مَرْكُ لَكُمْ قَالُوا مَرْتَكُمْ أَنَّ مِنْفَتِهِ الآيَةُ. مُثَنَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ. وَاللَّفُظُ لِمُسْلِمٍ.

(AV\$) وَعَن ِ ابْن ِ عَبَّاسٍ ِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿ لَوْ أَنَّ أَخَدُكُمْ إِذَا أَرَادَ أَنْ يَأْتِيَ أَهْلُهُ قَالَ: بِسْم ِ اللهِ، اللَّهُمَّ جَنِّبُنَا الشَّيْطَانَ، وَجَنْبِ الشَّيْطَانَ مَا رَرَقْتَنَا، فَإِنَّهُمَا وَلَلَّ فِي ذَلِكَ، لَمْ يَضُولُ اللَّهُمُّا وَلَلَّ فِي ذَلِكَ، لَمْ يَضُولُ اللَّهُمُّا وَلَلَّ فِي ذَلِكَ، لَمْ يَضُولُ اللَّهُمُّا لَنَّيْطَانَ أَبَداً، مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٥٧٥) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: "إِذَا دَعَا الرَّجُلُ امْرَأَتُهُ إِلَى فِرَاشِهِ، فَأَبَتْ أَنْ تَجِيَّ، فَبَاتَ عَضْبَانَ، لَمَتَنَّهَا المَلَائِكَةُ حَتَّى تُصْبَعَ». مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيهِ، وَاللَّفْظُ لِلْبُخَارِيِّ. وَلِمُسْلِم: 'كَانَ اللَّهِي فِي السَّمَاةِ سَاخِطاً عَلَيْهَا، حَتَّى يُرْضَى عَنْهَا».

(٨٧٦) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِعَ ﷺ لَعَنَ الوَاصِلَةَ وَالْمُسْتَوْصِمَةَ، مُثَنَّقُ وَالْمُسْتَوْصِمَةً، مُثَنَّقً عَلَيْهِ.

^[1] In this *Hadīth* four types of women have been cursed: Those who use extensions to make their hair look long and those who are involved in this business. Those who tattoo their bodies and those who are tattoo designers. These four types have been cursed. Nowadays the use of artificial hair is very common among the women for beautification.

877. Narrated Judāma^[1] 🐁 daughter of Wahb: I was with Allāh's Messenger 鑑 along with some people when he was saying, "I have intended to prohibit Ghila (sexual intercourse with a woman who is breast-feeding),[2] but I considered the Romans and the Persians and saw that they engaged in Gbila without any injury being caused to their children thereby." Then they asked him about 'Azl[3] (withdrawing the penis before emission of semen, to avoid conception), and Allah's Messenger ﷺ replied, "That is the secret (way of) burying alive." [Reported by Muslim].

878. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri 🐟: A man said, "O Allāh's Messenger, I have a slave-girl and I withdraw the penis while having intercourse with her ('Azl). I dislike that she become pregnant, but I want (from her) what a man wants (from a woman). And the Jews say - withdrawing the penis to avoid conception is the minor (form of) burying alive." He replied, "The Jews told a lie, for if Allāh intended to create it you would not be able to turn it away." [Reported by Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud, the wording is Abū Dā'ud's. An-Nasā'i and At-Tahāwi also reported it. Its narrators are reliable).

(A۷۹) وَعَنْ جَابِر رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: n the lifetime of : اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ Allāh's Messenger & when the Our'an

(٨٧٧) وَعَنْ جُذَامَةَ بنْتِ وَهْبِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَمِ عَنْهَا، قَالَتْ: حَضَرْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ فِي أُنَاسٍ، وَهُوَ يَقُولُ: «لَقَدْ هَمَمْتُ أَنْ أَنْهَـ. عَن الغِيلَةِ، فَنَظَرْتُ فِي الرُّوم وَفَارسَ، فَإِذَا هُمْ يُغِيلُونَ أَوْلَادَهُمْ، فَلَا يَضُرُّ ذَٰلِكَ أَوْلَادَهُمْ شَيئاً» ثُمَّ سَأَلُوهُ عَن العَزْل ، فَقَالَ رَسُولُ الله ﷺ: «ذَلِكَ الوَأْدُ الخَفِيُّ». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٨٧٨) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَم عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَجُلاً قَالَ: يَا رَسُولَ الله! إِنَّ لِي جَارِيَةً، وَأَنَا أَعْزِلُ عَنْهَا، وَأَنَا أَكْرَهُ أَنْ تَحْمِلَ، وَأَنَا أُرِيدُ مَا يُرِيدُ الرِّجَالُ، وَإِنَّ اليِّهُودَ تَحَدَّثُ أَنَّ الْعَزْلَ ٱلْمَوْؤُدَةُ الصُّغْرَى، قَالَ: «كَذَبَتِ اليَهُودُ، لَوْ أَرَادَ اللَّهُ أَنْ يَخْلُقَهُ مَا اسْتَطَعْتَ أَنْ تَصْرِفَهُ». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَاللَّفْظُ لَهُ، وَالنَّسَآئِينُ وَالطَّحاوِيُّ، وَرجَالُهُ ثقَاتٌ .

^[1] She is Judāma, daughter of Wahb - also called Jundal Al-Asadiya, the maternal sister of 'Ukāsha bin Mihsan. She was a Sababiya among the early Muslims and she migrated to Al-Madinah. She became a Muslim at Makkah and boycotted her people. She was married to Anis bin Qatāda.

^[2] In Arabic, it is called Gbila (الغبلة) which means to have sexual intercourse with the wife during the period of the child's breast-feeding (before weaning the child). It is also said that Gbila means breast feeding a child during a new pregnancy.

^{[3] &#}x27;Azl' (الحزل) means coitus interruptus, i.e. withdrawing the penis from the vagina at the time of ejaculation of semen, for the purpose of birth control. As to whether 'Azl is lawful or unlawful, there are different Abādith concerning this issue. If it is decided that 'Azl is not unlawful, as the same time it is also not recommended. In case of a woman who is in poor health, 'Azl may be resorted to, so that she is saved from undue hardship.

was being revealed, we used to engage in 'Azl. Hence, if it had been something to be forbidden, the Qur'ān would have forbade us from doing it. [Agreed upon].

And Muslim has: "That (which we were doing) reached the Prophet # and he did not forbid us from doing it."

880. Narrated Anas bin Mālik 🎄: The Prophet 🍇 used to have intercourse with his wives (one after another), with a single bathing. [1] [Agreed upon. The wording is Muslim's].

Chapter 3 THE BRIDAL GIFT (MAHR)

882. Narrated Abū Salama bin 'Abdur-Rahmān^[4] (&): I asked 'Aisha &, "How much had Allāh's Messenger & given as dowry?" ^[5] She replied, "His dowry to his wives was twelve *Uqtya* and *Nasbsb*. She asked, "Do you know what a *An-Nasbsb* is?" I replied, "No." She said, "It is half an *Uqtya*. Hence,

كُنَّا نَمْزِلُ عَلَى عَهْدِ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ وَالقُرْآنُ يَنْزِلُ، وَلَوْ كَانَ شَيْءٌ يُنْهَى عَنْهُ، لَنَهَانَا عَنْهُ القُرْآنُ. مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

وَلِمُسْلِمٍ: فَبَلَغَ ذٰلِكَ نَبِيَّ اللهِ ﷺ فَلَمْ يَنْهَنَا ءَنْهُ

(٨٨٠) وَعَنْ أَنْسِ بْنِرَ مَالِكِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ،
 أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ كَانَ يَطُوفُ عَلَى نِسَائِهِ بِغُشلرِ
 وَاحِدٍ. أَخْرَجَاهُ، وَاللَّفْظُ لِمُسْلِمٍ.

٣ - بَابُ الصَّدَاقِ

(٨٨١) عَنْ أَنْسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنِرِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، أَنَّهُ أَعْتَقَ صَفِيَّةً، وَجَمَلَ عِثْقَهَا صَدَافَهَا. مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(۸۸۲) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَلَمَةً بْنِ عَبْدِ الرَّحْمُور، أَنَّهُ قَالَ: سَأَلْتُ عَآلِشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهَا، كَمْ كَانَ صَدَاقُ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ؟ فَالَتْ: كَانَ صَدَاقُهُ لِإِزْوَاجِو ثِلْتَي عَشَرَةً أُوقِيَّةً، وَنَشًا، قَالَتْ: أَتَدْرِي مَا النَّشُّ؟ قَالَ: قُلْتُ: لَا،

¹¹ The purpose of mentioning this *Hadīth* here is to show that the division of time for wives (in a plural marriage) was not obligatory for the Prophet ﷺ. If it were compulsory for him, as it is upon others, he would not have gone to all his wives in one night.

^[2] She is the 'Mother of the Believers' Safiya bint Huyai bin Akhtab, from the descendants of Prophet Harun . She was married to Kināna bin Abūl-Huqaiq who was killed during the battle of Khaibar. She was captured, then the Prophet 養 chose her and she became a Muslim. He then freed her and married her – making her freedom as her dowry. She died in 50 H. and was buried in Al-Baqi'.

^[3] It means that non-financial things can also be the dowry; and it also clarifies that a master himself can marry his freed slave-girl, and there is no need of a guardian for this marriage.

^[4] He is Abū Salama bin 'Abdur-Rahmān bin 'Auf Az-Zuhri Al-Qurashi, one of the seven most famous Figh scholars in Al-Madīnah and also among the eminent Tābi'in. He narrated many Abadīth which he heard from a group of the Sahāba and also a group of people narrated from him. He died in 74 H. or 104 H. at the age of 70 years.

^[5] There is no fixed limit of *Mahr* (dowry) in *Shart'a*, but keeping it to a small amount is preferred, to make marriage easy for the common people.

the total was five hundred Dirhams, and that was Allāh's Messenger's ## dowry to his wives." [Reported by Muslim].

قَالَت: نِصْفُ أُوثِيَّةٍ، فَتِلْكَ خَمْسُمِائَةِ دِرْهَمٍ، فَهَذَا صَدَاقُ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ لِأَزْوَاجِدِ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

883. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: When 'Ali (*) married Fatima & Allāh's Messenger said to him, "Give her something (as dowry)." He replied, "I have nothing." He said, "Where is your Hutamiya coat of mail?" [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i; Al-Hākim graded it Sahib (authentic)].

(۸۸۳) وَعَن إَبْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، قَالَ: لَمَّا تَزَوَّجَ عَلِيٌّ فَاطِمَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، قَالَ: لَهُ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "أَعْطِهَا شَيْئاً» قَالَ: «فَا عِنْدِي شَيْءً» قَالَ: «فَا يُنْ شَيْءً» قَالَ: «فَا يُنْ يَرْعُكَ الحُطَيِيَّةُ؟» رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَآيَيُّه، وَصَعْحَهُ الحَاكِمُ.

884. Narrated 'Amr bin Shu'aib on his father's authority from his grandfather: Allāh's Messenger said, "If any woman marries for a dowry, a gift, or a promise before contracting the marriage, it belongs to her. [1] As for whatever is fixed to her after contracting the marriage, it belongs to whomever it has been given. The most worthy gift a man is honored with is what he gets on account of (the marriage of) his daughter or sister." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a except At-Tirmidhi].

(AAA) وَعَنْ عَمْرِهِ بْنِرِ شُعَيْبِر، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ جَدِّهِ، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "أَيُّمَا المُرَاةِ نُكِحَتْ عَلَى صَدَاقٍ أَوْ جِبَاءٍ أَوْ عِدَةٍ قَبْلَ عِضْمَةٍ لِمَنْ أَعْطِيتُهُ، وَأَحَقُ مَا أَكْرِمَ النَّحُلُ عَلَيْهِ البُنْتُهُ أَوْ أَعْتُهُ، وَأَحَقُ مَا أَكْرِمَ الرَّجُلُ عَلَيْهِ البُنْتُهُ أَوْ أَخْتُهُ». رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ وَالْأَرْبَدَةُ إِلَّا التَّرْمِذِيقِ.

885. Narrated 'Alqama^[2] on the authority of Ibn Mas'ūd &: He was asked about a man who had married a woman and had not fixed a dowry for her. And he did not consummate (the marriage) with her till he died. Ibn Mas'ūd replied, "She should receive a

(٨٨٥) وَعَنْ عَلْقَمَةً، عَن البن مَسْمُودِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُ شُيلَ عَنْ رَجُل تَزَوَّجَ أَمْرَأَةً، وَلَمْ يَغْرِضُ لَهَا صَدَاقاً، وَلَمْ يَدْخُلْ بِهَا، حَتَّى مَات، فَقَالَ البُنُ مَسْمُودٍ: لَهَا مِثْلُ صَدَاقِ يَسَاتِهَا، لَا وَكُسَ، وَلَا شَطَطَ، وَعَلَيْهَا المِدَّةُ،

^[1] It means that whatever is decided before the marriage is a *Mabr* (dowry), and it belongs to the woman. Whether it is in form of money, gold, ornaments, clothes, land, a house or anything else, she is the sole owner of that thing. If anything is given to her relatives after the marriage, that will not be considered as part of the dowry, and it will not belong to her. It is a gift for him to whom it is given. Things decided before the marriage as dowry, and delivered later to her relatives, is dowry and she is the owner of all those things.

^[2] He is 'Alqama bin Qais Abū Shibil bin Mālik from Banu Bakr bin An-Nakha'. He narrated from 'Umar and Ibn Mas'ūd. He was a great Tābi'i and was famous for narrating the Abadītb of Ibn Mas'ūd and for accompanying him. He was the uncle of Al-Aswad An-Nakha'i. He died in the year 61 H.

dowry similar to what the women of her community receive without decrease or increase. [1] She must observe the 'Iddah period (of waiting before re-marrying) and is entitled to a share of the inheritance." Ma'qil bin Sinān Al-Ashja'i^[2] then got up and said, "Allāh's Messenger ﷺ ruled the same as your ruling regarding Birwa', daughter of Wāshiq^[3], a woman of our tribe." Ibn Mas'ūd was delighted with it. [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a. At-Tirmidhi graded it Sabib (authentic), while a group (of Hadīth scholars) graded it Hasan (good)].

886. Narrated Jābir bin 'Abdullāh &: The Prophet said, "If anyone gives as a dowry to a woman some flour or dates, he has made her lawful for himself." [Abū Dā'ud reported it, and indicated that the stronger opinion is that it is Mawqūf (saying of a Companion)].

887. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin 'Aamir bin Rabi'a^[4] on the authority of his father: The Prophet ﷺ gave his approval of the marriage of a woman for two sandals as a dowry. ^[5] [At-Tirmidhi reported it and graded it *Sabib* (authentic), but he was opposed in that (grading of the

وَلَهَا الهِيرَاكُ، فَقَامَ مَعْقِلُ بْنُ سِنَانِ الأَشْجَعِيُّ، فَقَالَ: قَضَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ فِي بِرُوعَ بِنْتِ وَاشِقِر أَمْرَأَةٍ مِنَّا مِثْلَ مَا فَضَيْتَ، فَقَالَى عَنْهُ. فَقَرِحَ بِهَا ابْنُ مَسْعُودِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، وَصَحَحَهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَحَسَّنَهُ حَمَادًةً.

(٨٨٦) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ بْنِ عَبْدِ اللهِ رَضِيَ اللّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: "مَنْ أَعْطَى فِي صَدَاقِ امْرَأَةِ سَوِيقاً أَنْ تَمْراً فَقَدِ اسْتَحَلَّ". أَخْرَجُهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَأَشَارَ إِلَى تَرْجِيحِ وَقْفِهِ.

(۸۸۷) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِرِ عَامِرِ بْنِرِ رَبِيعَةَ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ أَجَازَ نِكَاحَ المُرَّأَةِ عَلَى نَعْلَيْنِ . أَخْرَجَهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ، وَخُولِكَ فِي فَلْكَ. فِي فَلْكَ. فِي فَلْكَ. فِي فَلْكَ.

^[1] If the dowry is decided before marriage it is well and good, she will have whatever is decided. However, if it is not decided then the dowry will be the same as the dowry of other women of that family. This kind of dowry is called *Mabr Mitbl* (peer dowry). If the man divorces a woman before sexual intercourse, then she will get half of the dowry decided before marriage, while if it was not decided before marriage, she will not get anything. In case of death of the man, the woman gets the full dowry whether it be a *Mabr Muqarrar* (fixed dowry) or *Mabr Mitbl* (peer dowry). She is also a heir of the property of her late husband.

^[2] He is Abû Muhammad Ma'qil bin Sinān Al-Ashja'i. He was a *Sabābi* who attended the conquest of Makkah and settled at Kufa. The people of Kufa narrated his *Abadīth*, and he was imprisoned and killed on the day of Al-Harra.

^[3] Birwa', daughter of Wāshiq was a Sahābiya.

 $^{^{[4]}}$ He is Abū 'Imrān 'Abdullāh bin 'Aamir bin Rabi'a Al-'Anzi. He was four or five years old when the Prophet 繼 died and he died in the year 85 H. or 90 H.

^[5] It means anything can be a dowry, if it has some value.

Hadith)].

889. Narrated 'Ali &: The dowry should not be less than ten Dirhams. [Ad-Dāraqutni reported it as *Mawqūf* (saying of a Companion, i.e. 'Ali). Also, there is a defect in its chain of narrators].

890. Narrated 'Uqba bin 'Aamir &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "The best dowry is that which is most easy." [Abū Dā'ud reported it and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

891. Narrated 'Aisha &: 'Amra & daughter of Al-Jaun^[2] sought refuge (in Allāh) from Allāh's Messenger when she was brought in to him — meaning when he married her — and he said, "You have sought refuge in the One Worthy of seeking refuge in."^[3] Then, he divorced her, and commanded Usāma who gave her three garments as a gift (i.e. her dowry). [Ibn Mājah reported it, but there is a rejected narrator in its chain of narrators]. The origin of the aforesaid story is found in the Sabib of Al-

(۸۸۸) وَعَنْ شَهْلِ بْنِ سَعْدِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: زَوَّجَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ رَجُلاً آمْرَأَةً بِخَاتَهُم مِنْ خَدِيدٍ. أَخْرَجَهُ الحَاكِمُ، وَهُوَ طَرَفٌ مِنَ الحَديثِ الطَّوِيلِ المُنتَقَدِّم. فِي أُوائِلِ النَّكَاح. (۸۸۸) وَعَنْ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: لا يَكُونُ المَهْرُ أَقَلَ مِنْ عَشْرَةٍ دَرَاهِمَ. أَخْرَجَهُ لا يَكُونُ المَهْرُ أَقَلَ مِنْ عَشْرَةٍ دَرَاهِمَ. أَخْرَجَهُ لا يَكُونُ المَهْرُ أَقْلَ مِنْ عَشْرَةٍ دَرَاهِمَ. أَخْرَجَهُ لا يَكُونُ المَهْرُ أَقْلَ مِنْ عَشْرَةٍ دَرَاهِمَ. أَخْرَجَهُ

(٨٩٠) وَعَنْ عُفْبَةً بْنِ عَامِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: اخْبُرُ الصَّدَاقِ أَيْسَرُهُ. أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو وَاوْدَ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ.

الدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ مَوْقُوفاً، وَفِي سَنَدِهِ مَقَالٌ.

(A91) وَعَنْ عَآئِشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ عَمْرَةً بِنْتَ الجَوْنِ تَعَوَّذَتْ مِن رَسُولِ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ، حِينَ أُدْخِلَتْ عَلَيْهِ، تَعْنِي لَمَّا تَزُوَّجَهَا، فَقَالَ: «لَقَدْ عُذْتِ بِمَعَاذِ، فَطَلَّقَهَا وَأَمَرَ أُسَامَةً يُمتَّعُهَا بِثَلَاتَةِ أَنُوابٍ». أَخْرَجَهُ ابْنُ مَاجَهُ، وَفِي إِسْنَادِهِ رَاوِ مَثْرُوكٌ، وَأَصْلُ القِصَّةِ فِي الصَّجِيحِ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَبِي أَمِيدِ السَّاعِدِي.

^[1] This piece of narration is from the *Hadith* in which a woman presented her person to the Prophet 韉 as a gift. Though she was not married for an iron ring, the Prophet ূ accepted – in principle – that an iron ring could be given as her dowry, and this is the reason for relating this *Hadith* at this place.

^{(2) &#}x27;Amra daughter of Al-Jaun's real name was disagreed upon for some said her name was Asmā' daughter of An-Nu'mān bin Abūl Jaun bin Al-Hārith Al-Kindiya. While the most likely name was Umaima, daughter of An-Nu'mān bin Sharāhil.

^[3] This Hadīth is mentioned here to show that the Prophet 醬 did not fix the dowry of that woman, and before having sexual relations with her divorced and gave her three pieces of clothes. It means that if the dowry is not decided and the woman is divorced before sexual intercourse, she must be given some clothing at least. The maximum she can be given a slave or a slave-girl. This is called Mut'ab At-Talāa.

Bukhāri from Abū Usaid As-Sā'idi's^[1] *Hadītb.*

Chapter 4 AL-WALĪMA^[2] (THE WEDDING FEAST)

892. Narrated Anas bin Mālik \$\insigma\$: The Prophet \$\mathbb{\mathbb{g}}\$ saw the trace of yellow color on 'Abdur-Rahmān bin 'Auf (\$\infty\$) and asked, "What is this?" He replied, "O Messenger of Allāh, I have married a woman for a Nawāt weight (equal to the weight of a date-stone) of gold." He said, "May Allāh bless you! Hold a wedding feast, [3] even if with a sheep (only)." [Agreed upon; the wording is Muslim's].

893. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: Allāh's Messenger said, "When one of you is invited to a wedding feast he must attend it." [Agreed upon]. Muslim has: "When one of you invites his brother, he must respond (i.e. attend), whether it is a wedding feast or something similar."

894. Narrated Abū Huraira : Allāh's Messenger : said, "The worst kind of food^[5] is that at a wedding feast from which those who come (i.e. the poor) are turned away, and to which those who refuse to come (i.e. the rich) are invited. If anyone does not accept an

٤ - بَابُ الوَلِيمَةِ

(٨٩٨) عَنْ أَنْسِ بْنِ مَالِكِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهِ الرَّحْمْنِ بْنِ مَالِكِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهِ الرَّحْمْنِ بْنِ عَنْهِ الرَّحْمْنِ بْنِ عَوْفِ أَثَرَ صُفْرَةٍ، فقال: الله هذا؟، قَال: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنِّي تَزَوَّجْتُ أَمْرَأَةً عَلَى وَزُنِ نَوَاةٍ مِنْ ذَهَبِ، قَالَ: افْبَارَكُ اللَّهُ لَكَ، أُولِمْ وَلُو بِشَاةٍ، مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيهِ، وَاللَّهُ لُكَ، أُولِمْ وَلُو بِشَاةٍ، مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيهِ، وَاللَّهُ لُكَ لِمُسْلِمٍ.

(AAP) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، قال: وَاللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، قال: قال رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: اإِذَا دُعِيَ أَخَدُكُمْ إِلَى الوَلِيمَةِ فَلْيَأْتِهَا». مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ. وَلِمُسْلِم: اإِذَا دَعَا أَحَدُكُمْ أَخَاهُ فَلْيُحِبْ، عُرْساً كَانَ أَوْ تُحْوَهُ.

^[1] Abū Usaid was called Mālik bin Rabi'a bin Al-Badn. He witnessed Badr and other battles and died in 30 H at Madā'in. It was also said that he died in 60 H. and was the last to die among those who participated in the battle of Badr.

^[2] Walima (الوليمة) is a meal which is eaten on occasion of the union of husband and wife. Afterwards, food for every occasion of happiness was named Walima.

^[3] According to some scholars, the wedding feast is obligatory. However, according to the majority it is Sunnab. There is a difference of opinion about the time of the wedding feast. It is considered better to have the wedding feast when the sexual relations are accomplished.

 $^{^{[4]}}$ Refusing an invitation of wedding feast is disobedience of the Prophet x as mentioned in this $\it Hadith$, and the one which follows.

^[5] It means that along with relatives and friends the poor and needy should also be invited for *Waltma* food.

invitation he has disobeyed Allāh and His Messenger." [Reported by Muslim].

895. Narrated (Abū Huraira) &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "When one of you is invited (to a meal) he must accept. If he is fasting he should pray (i.e. make supplication for the host) and if he is not fasting he should eat." [Muslim reported it too]. Muslim has something similar to the above from the Hadith of Jābir &, it goes: "If he wishes he may eat, and if he wishes he may leave (the food alone)."

896. Narrated Ibn Mas'ūd 🐟: Allāh's Messenger & said, "The food of Walīma on the first day is a duty, that on the second day is a Sunnah, while the third day is showing off. Whoever (does something) to show-off, Allah will expose him (in the Hereafter)."[1] Reported by At-Tirmidhi who considered it Gharib (transmitted through a single narrator). [It is incorrectly claimed that] its narrators are those who are reported from in the Sabib (collection of Al-Bukhari)]. This Hadith also has a supporting narration [which is also weak] collected by Ibn Mājah on the authority of Anas (46).

897. Narrated Safiya **\$**, daughter of Shaiba:^[2] The Prophet **#** held a wedding feast for one of his wives with two *Mudd* of barley. [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

898. Narrated Anas (): The Prophet stayed three nights between Khaibar and Al-Madīnah when he consummated his marriage with Safiya (). I called the Muslims to his wedding feast which did not include bread or meat. He just

(Aqo) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "إِذَا دُعِي َ أَحَدُكُمْ فَلْيُعِبْ، فَإِنْ كَانَ صَائِماً فَلْيُصَلِّ، وَإِنْ كَانَ مُفْطِراً فَلْيَطْعَمْ، أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ أَيْضاً. وَلَهُ مِنْ حَدِيثِ جَابِرِ نَحْوُهُ، وَقَالَ: "فَإِنْ شَآء طَجِمَ، وَإِنْ شَآءَ نَرَكَ».

(٨٩٦) وَعَن البُن مَسْعُودِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ الطَّعَامُ الوَلِيمَةِ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ وَطَعَامُ آيَوْمِ اللَّالِي اللَّهُ وَطَعَامُ آيَوْمِ اللَّالِي اللَّهُ بَعْهُ وَرَجَالُهُ اللَّهِ بِعِهِ . وَوَاهُ اللَّهُ وَلِيجًالُهُ وَرِجَالُهُ الصَّجِيحِ ، وَلَهُ شَاهِدٌ عَنْ أَنسِ عِنْدَ البُن مِنجَهُ . وَمَنْ السَّعْ عَنْ أَنسِ عِنْدَ البن مِنجَالُهُ المَّاجِيحِ ، وَلَهُ شَاهِدٌ عَنْ أَنسٍ عِنْدَ البن مِنجَهُ .

(۸۹۷) وَعَنْ صَفِيَّةً بِنْتِ شَيْبَةً قَالَتْ: أَوْلَمَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ عَلَى بَمْضِ نِسَآلِهِ بِمُدَّيْنِ مِنْ شَعِيرٍ. أَخْرَجَهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

^[1] Whoever invites the people for show, and to be praised, Allâh will disgrace him before all His creation on the Day of Judgement.

^[2] She is Safiya, daughter of Shaiba bin 'Uthmān bin Abū Talha Al-Hijji of Banu 'Abdud-Dār. It is said that she saw the Prophet 嬪 while others said that she never saw him. Ibn Sa'd confirmed that she was a *Tābi'tya*.

ordered some leather dining sheets to be spread, and [Hais, a food made from] dates, sun-baked yogurt and butter were thrown on them. [Agreed upon; the wording is Al-Bukhāri's].

899. Narrated a Companion of the Prophet ﷺ: "When two people come together to issue an invitation, accept that of the one whose door is nearer to you. However, if one of them comes before the other, accept the invitation of the first." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud, its chain of narrators is weak].

900. Narrated Abū Juhaifa *****: Allāh's Messenger ***** said, "I do not eat *Muttaki'an* (sitting with the support of something, so as to eat more)." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

901. Narrated 'Umar bin Abū Salama^[2]

\$\displaystyle{\psi}\$: Allāh's Messenger \$\frac{\psi}{\psi}\$ said to me, "Dear child, mention Allāh's Name, eat with your right hand, and eat from what is next to you." [Agreed upon].

902. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The Prophet was brought a dish containing *Tharid* and said, "Eat from its sides and not from the middle, for the blessing descends in the middle of it." [Reported by *Al-Arba'a*. This is the wording of An-Nasā'i. Its chain of narrators is *Sabib* (authentic)].

903. Narrated Jābir 🎄: The Prophet 🍇 said, "Do not eat with the left hand, for the devil eats with the left hand." [Reported by Muslim].

بِالأَنْطَاعِ فَبُسِطَتْ، فَأَلْقَى عَلَيْهَا التَّمْرَ وَالأَقِطَ وَالسَّمْنَ. مُثَقِّقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفْظُ لِلْبُخَارِيِّ.

(٨٩٩) وَعَنْ رَجُل مِنْ أَصْحَابِ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ، قَالَ: إِذَا اجْتَمَعَ دَاعِيَانِ فَأَجِبْ أَفْرَيَهُمَّا بَاباً، فَإِنْ سَبَقَ أَحَدُهُمَا فَأَجِبِ اللَّذِي سَبَقَ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَسَنَدُهُ ضَعِيفٌ.

(٩٠٠) وَعَنْ أَبِي جُحَيْقَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا آكُلُ مُتَكِنَاً». رَوَاهُ النِّخَارِيُّ.

(٩٠١) وَعَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِرِ أَبِي سَلَمَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ لِي رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "يا عُكْرُمُ! سَمِّ اللَّهَ، وَكُلْ بِيَعِينِكَ، وَكُلْ مِمَّا تَلكَ». مُتَقَنِّ عَلَنه.

(٩٠٢) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ أَيْنَ بِقَصْمَةٍ مِنْ ثَرِيدٍ، عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ أَيْنَ بِقَصْمَةٍ مِنْ ثَرِيدٍ، فَقَالَ: «كُلُوا مِنْ جَوَانِيهَا، وَلَا تَأْكُلُوا مِنْ وَسَطِهَا». رَوَاهُ النَّسَائِيِّ، وَسَنْهُ صَحِيحٌ. الأَرْبَعَةُ، وَلَهَا لَفُظُ النَّسَائِيِّ، وَسَنْهُ صَحِيحٌ.

(٩٠٣) وَعَنْ جَابِرٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿لَا تَأْكُلُوا بِالشَّمَالِ فَإِنَّ الشَّيْفَانَ يَأْكُلُ بِالشَّمَالِ». وَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

⁽¹⁾ If there are two invitations for Walima, the first one should be accepted. However, if both come at the same time, then the one which lives nearer should be preferred. Some take the meaning of near to mean near in kinship. However, the wording of the Hadith suggest that it means whoever's house is nearer.

^[2] He is 'Umar bin Abū Salama 'Abdullāh bin 'Abdul-Asad bin Hilal Al-Makhzumi, the son of *Ummul-Mu'mitin*i Umm Salama 象 and the stepson of the Prophet 瓣. He was born in Abyssinia (Ethiopia) between the time of the migration to Abyssinia and the migration to Al-Madīnah. He died in Al-Madīnah in 83 H.

904. Narrated Abū Qatāda **\$**: The Prophet **\$\mathstree{8}\$** said, "When one of you drinks, he must not breathe into the vessel." [Agreed upon]. Abū Dā'ud reported something similar from Ibn 'Abbās (**\$\mathstree{8}\$**) and he added: "or blow into it," [At-Tirmidhi graded it *Sahib* (authentic)].

(٩٠٤) وَعَنْ أَبِي قَتَادَهَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿إِذَا شَرِبَ أَحَدُكُمْ فَلَا يَتَنَفَّسْ فِي الإنّاءِ». مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَلِإِسِي دَاوُدَ عَنِ ابْن عَبَّاس نَحُوُهُ، وَزَادَ: ﴿وَ يَنْفُخُ فِيهِ * وَصَحَّحَهُ الثُّرْمِيْذِيُّ.

Chapter 5 DIVISION OF VISITS TO ONE'S WIVES

ه - بَابُ الْقَسْمِ

905. Narrated 'Aisha \$: Allah's Messenger we used to divide visits to his wives equally and say, "O Allah, this is my division^[2] concerning what I possess, so do not blame me concerning what You possess and I do not." [Reported by Al-Arba'a; Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic). At-Tirmidhi held that the stronger view is that it is Mursal (a missing link in the chain after the Tābi'i)].

(٩٠٥) عَنْ عَاتِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، قَالَتْ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَقْسِمُ لِيسَآتِهِ، فَيَعْدِلُ، وَيَقُولُ: «اللَّهُمَّ هَذَا قَسْمِي فِيمَا أَمْلِكُ، فَلَا تَلْمُنِي فِيمَا تَمْلِكُ، وَلَا أَمْلِكُ». رَوَاهُ الأَرْبَعَةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ وَالحَاكِمُ، وَلَكِنْ رَجَّحَ التَّرْفِيقِ إِرْسَالَهُ.

906. Narrated Abū Huraira **\$:** The Prophet **\$\frac{1}{2}\$** said, "Anyone who has two wives and inclines to one of them^[3] will come on the Day of Resurrection with a side (of his body) inclining." [Reported by Ahmad and *Al-Arba'a*; its chain of narrators is *Sabib* (authentic)].

(٩٠٦) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: "مَنْ كَانَتْ لَهُ امْرَأَتَانِ فَمَالَ إِلَى إِخْدَاهُمَا دُونَ الأُخْرَى جَاءَ يَوْمَ الْقِيَامَةِ وَشِقُهُ مَائِلٌ *. رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، وَسَنَدُهُ صَحِيتً

907. Narrated Anas : It is from the Sunnah that when a man who has a wife marries a virgin, he should spend

(٩٠٧) وَعَنْ أَنْسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: 'مِنَ الشَّنَّةِ إِذَا تَزَوَّجَ الرَّجُلُ البِكْرَ عَلَى

^[1] It means that while drinking, one should not breathe into the utensil, as it is a cause of transmitting the germs from the breath into the water, and from the water to the stomach, which could negatively affect one's health.

^{12]} It was not essential for the Prophet ﷺ to go to his wives by turn, and even though he had more love for 'Aisha 🕏 in his heart, even then he did justice with his wives, and always asked Allah's forgiveness for this.

^[3] In this context, justice means maintenance allowance, other necessities and night stay. All of these are in one's power to do or not to do, so these are accountable for justice. Having love for someone in the heart is not a sin, as long as it does not hinder one from doing justice.

with her seven nights, and thereafter divide the time between them (equally). And if he marries a formerly married woman he should spend with her three nights and thereafter divide the time between his wives (equally). [Agreed upon; the wording is Al-Bukhāri's].

908. Narrated Umm Salama . When the Prophet married her he stayed with her for three nights and said, "You are not being humbled in my estimation. If you wish I shall stay with you for seven nights, and if I stay with you for seven nights I shall do the same with my other wives." [Reported by Muslim].

909. Narrated 'Aisha \$: Sauda (\$) daughter of Zam'a gave away^[1] her day to 'Aisha (\$). So the Prophet # allotted a share to 'Aisha (\$) of her day and Sauda's. [Agreed upon].

910. Narrated 'Urwa (): 'Aisha 's said, "O My nephew, Allāh's Messenger would not prefer some of us over others regarding the division of the time he would spend with us. It was very rare that he would not visit us all, and come near each of his wives without having intercourse with her, till he reached the one whose day^[2] it was, and spent the night with her.' [Reported by Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud, the wording is Abū Dā'ud's. Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

Muslim reported 'Aisha 's as saying: "When Allāh's Messenger # offered the 'Asr (afternoon) prayer, he would visit his wives in turn, then come close to

النَّبِ ِ، أَقَامَ عِنْدَهَا سَبْعاً، ثُمَّ فَسَمَ، وَإِذَا تَرَوَّجَ النَّبِّبَ، أَقَامَ عِنْدَهَا ثَلَاثًا، ثُمَّ فَسَمَّه. مُثَقَقُ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفْظُ لِلْبُخَارِيُ.

(٩٠٨) وَعَنْ أُمْ سَلَمَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ النَّيِيِّ ﷺ لَمَّا تَزَوَّجَهَا، أَقَامَ عِنْدَهَا ثَلَاثًا، وَقَالَ: ﴿إِنَّهُ لَئِسْ بِكِ عَلَى أَهْلِكِ هَوَانٌ، إِنْ شَبَّعْتُ لَكِ سَبَّعْتُ لَكِ سَبَّعْتُ لَكِ سَبَّعْتُ لَكِ سَبَّعْتُ لَكِ سَبَّعْتُ لِلِ سَبَّعْتُ لِلِ سَبَّعْتُ لِلِ سَبَّعْتُ لِلِ سَبَعْتُ لِلْ سَبَعْتُ لِلْ سَبَعْتُ لَكِ سَبَعْتُ لَكِ سَبَعْتُ لَكِ سَبَعْتُ لَكِ سَبَعْتُ لَكِ سَبَعْتُ لَلْ سَبَعْتُ لِلْ سَبَعْتُ لَلْ لَهِ سَلِيَهِ إِلَيْ سَلِيْ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللّهُ اللَّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُو

(٩٠٩) وَعَنْ عَلَيْشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ سَوْدَةَ بِنْتَ زَمْمَةَ وَهَبَثْ يَوْمَهَا لِعَالِيْشَةَ، وَكَانَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ يَفْسِمُ لِعَالِيْشَةَ يَوْمَهَا وَيَوْمَ سَوْدَةَ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَهُ.

(٩١٠) وَعَنْ عُرُوةَ قَالَ: فَالَثْ عَآئِشَةٌ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهَا: يَا ابْنَ أُخْتِي، كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ لَا يُفَضُّلُ بَعْضَنَا عَلَىٰ بَعْضِ فِي القَسْمِ، عَنْ مُكْثِهِ عِنْدَنَا وَكَانَ قَلَّ يَومٌ إِلَّا وَمُو يَطُوفُ عَلَيْنَا جَمِيعاً، فَيَدْنُو مِنْ كُلِّ أَمْرَأَةٍ، مِنْ غَيْرِ مَرِيسِ، حَتَّى يَبُلُغُ النِّي هُو يَوْمُهَا، فَيَيِتُ عَيْرِ عِنْهِ عَبْرِ عَنْهَا. وَيَوْمُهَا، فَيَيتُ عَلْمُ وَابُو دَاوُدَ، وَاللَّفُظُ لَهُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ الحَاكِمُ.

وَلِيُمُسْلِمٍ عَنْ عَآتِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ إِذَا صَلَّى العَصْرَ دَارَ عَلَى نِسَاتِهِ، ثُمَّ يَلْدُنُو مِنْهُنَّ. ٱلْحَدِيثَ.

^[1] It means that if a woman makes a voluntary decrease in her maintenance allowance or in her turn (for night stay), it is lawful and the man is not to be blamed for it. However, she reserves the right to reclaim her right at anytime.

^[2] Here 'turn' means night stay. Otherwise, one is allowed to talk to the other wives and go to their houses.

them (to kiss or hug them)." [The narrator reported the rest of the *Hadīth*].

911. Narrated 'Aisha \$: During the illness of which Allāh's Messenger \$\mathbb{E}\$ died, he was asking, "Where shall I be tomorrow?" He desired that it would be 'Aisha's day. His wives therefore permitted him to stay where he wished, and he stayed in 'Aisha's house. [Agreed upon].

912. Narrated ('Aisha) **\$:** When Allāh's Messenger 養 intended to go on a journey, he cast lots among his wives. Then, he would take with him the one who was chosen by the lot.^[2] [Agreed upon].

913. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Zam'a^[3] is: Allāh's Messenger is said, "None of you should whip his wife like the whipping of a slave." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri]. (٩١١) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ كَانَ يَسْأُلُ فِي مَرَضِهِ الَّذِي مَاتَ فِيهِ: أَيْنَ أَنَا غَدَا؟ يُرِيدُ يُومَ عَائِشَةَ، فَأَذِنَ لَهُ أَزْوَاجُهُ، يَكُونُ حَيْثُ شَآءً، فَكَانَ فِي بَيْتِ

(٩١٧) وَعَنْهَا قَالَتْ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ إِذَا أَرَادَ سَفَراً أَقْرَعَ بَيْنَ نِسَآلِهِ، فَأَيْتُهُنَّ خَرَجَ سَهْمُهَا، خَرَجَ بِهَا مَعُهُ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٩١٣) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ ِ زَمْعَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا يَبْدِلِدُ أَحَدُكُمُ امْرَأَتُهُ جَلْدَ العَبْدِ». رَوَاهُ اللَّبِخَارِيُّ.

٧ - بَاتُ الخُلْعِ

Chapter 6

(SEPARATING FROM A WIFE FOR A COMPENSATION)

(٩١٤) عَن ِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى 914. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The wife of

^[1] It means that during illness, mere intention of permanent stay with one of the wives is not an offense. It also means that with the permission of the other wives, one can stay with one of them. The illness of the Prophet 纖 began at the house of Maimuna \$.

^[2] The one whose name came up in the draw was to accompany the Prophet ﷺ in the journey. The days spent during a journey were not accounted for in turns. The wives are also allowed to agree on one without drawing lots.

^[3] He is 'Abdullāh bin Zam'a bin Al-Aswad bin 'Abdul-Muttalib bin Asad bin 'Abdul-'Uzza Al-Asadi, the brother of *Ummul-Mu'minin* Sauda bint Zam'a . He was a famous *Sabābi* considered to be among the residents of Al-Madīnah. He was martyred during the day of Ad-Dār.

^[4] It is strictly forbidden to beat the woman except for one violation, and that is in the case of illegal sexual relations. It is not allowed to hit her on face or to beat her so severely that would break a bone, in which case one will have to bear the penalty.

^[5] Kbul' (الخلا) means to take off the clothes. According to Shari'a terminology Kbul' means the woman's right of cancellation of her marriage. She has the right to cancel her marriage after returning the dowry (Mabr). The man can divorce if he has a genuine reason. Similarly, a woman can also have Kbul' – after returning the dowry – if she has a genuine excuse.

Abū Dā'ud and At-Tirmidhi reported this *Hadāth* and the later graded it *Hasan* (good): "The wife of Thābit bin Qais got a divorce from him in return for a compensation (paid by her), and the Prophet amade her 'Iddah' (period of waiting before re-marrying) one menstruation course."

Ibn Mājah reported the narration of 'Amr bin Shu'aib, on his father's authority, from his grandfather: "Thābit bin Qais was very unattractive and his wife said, 'Were it not for fear of Allāh, when he entered my presence I would spit in his face.' "

Ahmad reported from Sahl bin Abū Hathma's *Hadīth* that it was the first ever husband and wife separation for compensation in Islam. عَنهُمَا، أَنَّ آمْرَأَةً ثَابِتِ بْمِرْ فَسِ أَتَتِ النَّبِيَّ هُلَّ، فَقَالَتْ: يَا رَسُولَ الله! ثَابِتُ بْنُ قَيْسِ مَا أَعِيبُ عَلَيْهِ فِي خُلُقِ وَلا دِينِر، وَلٰكِتِي أَكْرُهُ الْكُفْرَ فِي الإِسْلَامِ، فَقَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ هِيَّا: «أَتُودُينَ عَلَيْهِ حَدِيقَتُهُ؟» فَقَالَتْ: نَمَمْ، فَقَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ هِجُ: «افْبَلِ الحَدِيقَةَ وَطَلَّفْهَا تَطْلِيقَةً». رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ. وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لَّهُ: ﴿وَأَمَرُهُ

وَلِابِي ذَاوُدَ وَالتَّرْمِذِيِّ - وَحَسَّنَهُ -: أَنَّ امْرَأَةَ ثَابِت ِ بْن ِ قَيْسِ ٱخْتَلَعَتْ مِنْهُ، فَجَعَلَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ عِدْتَهَا حَيْضَةً.

وَفِي رِوَايَةِ عَمْرِو بْنِ شُمَيْبٍ. عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ جَدُّو. عِنْدَ ابْنِ مَاجَهُ: أَنَّ ثَابِتَ بْنَ قَيْسٍ كَانَ دَبِيمًا، وَأَنَّ امْرَأَتُهُ قَالَتْ: لَوَلًا مَخَافَةُ اللهِ إذا دَخَلَ عَلَيَّ لَبَصَفْتُ فِي وَجْهِهِ.

وَلِأَحْمَدَ مِنْ حَدِيثِ سَهْلِ بْنِرِ أَبِي حَثْمَةً:
﴿ وَكَانَ ذَٰلِكَ أَوَّلَ خُلْعٍ فِي الْإِسْلَامِ ۗ .

According to some scholars *Kbul'* is divorce, while others consider *Kbul'* as cancellation of marriage. There is a difference of opinion about taking back more than the original dowry. However, it seems reasonable that the man take back only that amount which was originally give to the woman as dowry, without any demand for more.

^[1] Thābit bin Qais Al-Ansāri Al-Khazraji was among the elder *Sabāba* and was the spokesman of *Al-Ansār* and Allāh's Messenger 癜. He witnessed Uhud and the battles that followed it. The Prophet 癜 confirmed that he will enter the *Jannab* and he was martyred during the battle of Al-Yamama in 12 H.

Chapter 7 AT-TALĀO (DIVORCE)

٧ - مَاتُ الطَّلَاق

915. Narrated Ibn 'Umar 🞄: Allāh's Messenger z said, "The lawful thing which Allah hates most is divorce."[1] [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and Ibn Mājah, Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic), while Abū Hātim held that the stronger view is that it is Mursal (missing link after the Tābi'i)].

916. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: In the time of Allāh's Messenger 48, he divorced his wife while she was menstruating, so 'Umar asked Allāh's Messenger 25 about that and he replied, "Command him to take her back and keep her till she is purified (from menses), has another period, and is then purified. If he then wishes he may keep her and if he wishes he may divorce her before having intercourse with her. That is the 'Iddab (period of waiting) which Allah commanded for the divorce of women."[2] [Agreed upon].

A narration by Muslim has: "Command him to take her back, then divorce her when she is pure from the menstrual discharge, or pregnant."

was regarded as one divorce."

(٩١٥) عَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «أَبْغَضُ الحَلَال الِّي الله الطَّلَاقُ». رَوَاهُ أَنُو ذَاوُدَ وَالنُّرُ مَاجَهُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ، وَرَجَّحَ أَبُو حَاتِم إِرْسَالَهُ.

(٩١٦) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّهُ طَلَّقَ امْرَأَتَهُ، وَهِيَ حَآئِضٌ، فِي عَهْدِ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ، فَسَأَلَ عُمَرُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ عَنْ ذٰلِكَ، فَقَالَ: «مُرْهُ، فَلْيُرَاجِعْهَا، ثُمَّ لْيُمْسِكْهَا حَتَّى تَطْهُوَ، ثُمَّ تَحِيضَ، ثُمَّ تَطْهُرَ، ثُمَّ إِنْ شَاءَ أَمْسَكَ بَعْدُ، وَإِنْ شَاءَ طَلَّقَ قَبْلَ أَنْ يَمَسَّ، فَتِلْكَ العِدَّةُ الَّتِي أَمَرَ اللَّهُ أَنْ تُطَلَّقَ لَهَا النِّسَاءُ". مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْه.

وَفِي رَوَايَةِ لِمُسْلِمٍ: «مُرْهُ فَلْيُرَاجِعْهَا، ثُمَّ لِمُطَلِّقُهَا طَاهِ أَ أَوْ حَامِلاً».

وَفِي رَوَايَةٍ أُخْرَى لِلْبُخَارِيُّ: "وَحُسِبَتْ Another narration by Al-Bukhāri has: "It

^[1] This Hadīth contains many points [if it were proven to be authentic]. That all Halāl (legal and lawful) things are not dear to Allah, i.e. there are some legal things which are though legal but not liked by Allah. Divorce is among the things which are Halal but it is not always good. It is Halāl because sometimes the situation is so complicated that man is compelled to divorce. In such situation, it is acceptable, if there is no other way out. Divorce is bad, because it is a cause of enmity and also a cause of Satan's delight. Talāq (divorce) means to set free and according to Shart'a, Talāq is to free the woman from the bond of marriage.

^[2] This Hadīth also makes clear many points: 1) It is prohibited to divorce during menstruation period. 2) Without the consent of woman, man can withdraw his decision. 3) It is Btd'ab (innovation) to divorce a woman in the state of Tubr (period of purification after menses) in which sexual intercourse is carried out, just as it is to divorce during menses. There are four kinds of divorce, out of which two are lawful and two are unlawful: To divorce during pregnancy or in the state of Tuhr in which sexual intercourse is not carried out are

A narration of Muslim has: "Ibn 'Umar (\$\\$) said, 'If you had only made one or two pronouncements of divorce [it would have been better]. Indeed Allāh's Messenger \$\% \text{commanded me to take her back, then keep her till she has another period, then give her a reprieve till she is purified, then divorce her before having intercourse with her. As for you, you have divorced her with three pronouncements (at once), and have therefore disobeyed your *Rabb* [your Lord, the Creator] concerning what He commanded you regarding the divorce of your wife.' "

Another narration [of Muslim] has: "Abdullāh bin 'Umar (♣) said, 'So he returned her to me and did not regarded it as anything, and said: When she is purified, either divorce her or keep her.' "

917. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās 春: In the time of Allāh's Messenger 繼, Abū Bakr (本) and the first two years of the caliphate of 'Umar (本), the three pronouncements of divorce were regarded as one divorce. [1] So 'Umar said, "People have made haste in an

وَفِي رِوَاتِقِ لِمُسْلِمِ: قَالَ ابْنُ عُمَرَ: أَمَا أَنْتَ طَلَّقَتُهَا وَاجِدَةً أَوِ الْنَتَيْنِ فَإِنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ أَمْرِي أَنْ أُرَاجِعَهَا، ثُمَّ أُمْسِكَهَا حَتَّى تَطْهُرَ، ثُمَّ خَصْةً أُخْرَى، ثُمَّ أَمْهِلَهَا حَتَّى تَطْهُرَ، ثُمَّ أُطْلَقُهَا قَبْلَ أَنْ أَمَسَهَا، وَأَمَّا أَنْتَ طَلَّقْتَهَا نَلَانًا، فَقَدْ عَصَيْتَ رَبَّكَ فِيمَا أَمْرَكَ بِهِ مِنْ طَلَاقٍ إِمْرَأَيْكَ.

وَفِي رِوَايَقٍ أُخْرَى: قَالَ عَبْدُاللهِ بْنُ عُمْرَ: فَرَدُهَا عَلَيٍّ، وَلَمْ يَرَهَا شَيْناً، وَقَالَ: إِذَا طَهُرَتْ فَلْيَطُلُقْ، أَوْ لِيُمْسِكْ.

(91٧) وَعَنِ ابْنِرِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، قَالَ: كَانَ الطَّلَاقُ عَلَىٰ عَهْدِ رَسُولِ عَنْهُمَا، قَالَ: كَانَ الطَّلَاقُ عَلَىٰ عَهْدِ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ، وَأَبِي بَكْرٍ، وَسَتَتَمْرِ مِنْ خِلَاقَةٍ عُمَرَ، طَلَاقُ النَّلَاثِ وَاحِدَةً، فَقَالَ عُمَرُ: إِنَّ النَّاسَ قَدِ النَّهُ فِيهُ أَنْهُ فِيهِ أَنَاةً، فَلَوْ تَانَتْ لَهُمْ فِيهِ أَنَاةً، فَلَوْ

lawful, while to divorce during menses and in the *Tubr* in which sexual intercourse is carried out are unlawful. From another point of view there are three kinds of divorce: These are: (i) Absan, (ii) Hasan and (iii) Bid'a. Absan is to divorce once during pregnancy or *Tubr* period and let the 'Iddab pass away. (Iddab is a prescribed period of waiting, during which a divorced or widowed woman can not remarry. It varies according to different circumstances). Hasan is to divorce three times, in three separate periods of Tubr. Up to two divorces or two Tubr, one can cancel the divorce. However, after the third pronouncement of divorce he can neither cancel the divorce nor remarry her without her marriage to someone else, consummation, and then being divorced again or becoming a widow. Bid'a is to divorce two or three times in one sitting. Most of the scholars are of the opinion that divorce pronounced during menses will be counted, though in this case revoking it is obligatory.

(1) What is the legal status of three divorces given together at a time? There is difference of opinion on this issue among the scholars. 1) First opinion is that three divorces given together at a time are nothing and have no legal status at all. 2) Second opinion is that three divorces given together at a time are counted, and the woman is divorced. 3) Third opinion is that this is only one divorce. 4) Fourth opinion is that if the woman has carried out the sexual intercourse, then three will count, and if she has not carried out sexual intercourse, then only one will happen. Among these different views the third is stronger and more

affair which they are required to take slowly. What if we execute it on them.' So, he executed it on them. [Reported by Muslim].

918. Narrated Mahmūd bin Labid^[1] &: When Allāh's Messenger & was informed about a man who had divorced his wife with all the three pronouncements (without any interval between them), he stood up in anger and said, "Is Allāh's Book being played with while I am among you?" As a result a man got up and said, "O Allāh's Messenger, shall I kill him?" [Reported by An-Nasā'i; its narrators are reliable (tbiqab)].

919. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: Abū Rukāna^[2] divorced Umm Rukāna. So Allāh's Messenger ﷺ told him, "Take your wife back." And he replied, "I have divorced her with three pronouncements." He said, "I have understood, take her back." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud].

A wording by Ahmad has: Abū Rukāna divorced his wife with three pronouncements in one sitting. Then, he was grieved about her and Allāh's Messenger ﷺ told him, "They (the three pronouncements) are reckoned as a single (utterance of divorce)." [The

أَمْضَيْنَاهُ عَلَيْهِمْ. فَأَمْضَاهُ عَلَيْهِمْ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ

(٩٦٨) وَعَنْ مَحْمُودِ بْنِ لَبِيدِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: أُخْيِرَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عَنْ رَجُل طَلَّقَ الْمَرَاتُهُ فَالَاتُ تَعْلَيْقَاتِ جَبِيعاً، فَقَامَ عَضْبَانَ، ثُمَّ قَالَ: أَيْلُعَبُ بِكِتَابِ اللهِ، وَأَنَا بَئِنَ أَظْهُرِكُمْ؟ حَتَّى قَامَ رَجُلٌ، فَقَالَ: يَا رَسُولَ بَئِنَ أَظْهُرُكُمْ؟ حَتَّى قَامَ رَجُلٌ، فَقَالَ: يَا رَسُولَ بَئِنَ أَظْهُرُكُمْ؟ حَتَّى قَامَ رَجُلٌ، فَقَالَ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! أَلاَ أَقْتُلُهُ. رَوَاهُ الشَّائِيْ، وَرُواتُهُ مُوثَقُونَ.

(٩١٩) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، قَالَ: طَلَّقَ أَبُو رُكَانَّةً، فَقَالَ لَهُ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «رَاجِع المُوَأَتَكَ». فَقَالَ: إِنِّي طَلَقْتُهَا لَلَهُ رَاجِعَهَا». رَوَاهُ أَبُو كَانُّ، وَاجِعَهَا». رَوَاهُ أَبُو كَانُدُ. وَادْهُ أَبُو كَانُهُ أَبُو كَانُهُ أَبُو كَانُهُ وَادْدَ.

وَفِي لَفْظِ لأَحْمَدَ: طَلَّقَ أَبُو رُكَانَةَ أَمْرَأَتُهُ فِي مَجْلِسِ وَاحِدِ ثَلاثاً، فَحَزِنَ عَلَيْهَا، فَقَالَ لَهُ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿فَإِنَّهَا وَاحِدَهُۥ وَفِي سَنَدِهِمَا اللهُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿فَإِنَّهَا وَاحِدَهُۥ وَفِي سَنَدِهِمَا اللهُ إِسْحَاقَ، وَفِي مَقَالً.

reasonable. The same was customary in the time of the Prophet 瓣, therefore, Abu Rukāna was ordered by the Prophet 鐏 to return his wife after giving three divorces together. If the three divorces had counted, the Prophet 鑕 would not have ordered him to return his wife. This mode of divorce is also logically understandable. For three divorces, the Prophet ূ fixed the period of three months.

^[1] He is Mahmūd bin Labid bin Abū Rāfi: Al-Ansāri Al-Ashhali. He was born during the lifetime of (the Prophet 酱). Al-Bukhāri said, "He attained the companionship of the Prophet 酱", but Abū Hātim said that his Companionship is unknown, and Muslim counted him among the *Tabi'in*. He was among the *'Ulamā* and he died in the year 96 H.

^[2] Abū Rukāna bin 'Abd Yazid bin Hāshim bin 'Al-Muttalib bin Abd Munāf Al-Muttalibi was among those who became Muslims during the conquest of Makkah. It is said that he wrestled with the Prophet 機 who beat him and that was the cause of his Islam. He settled at Al-Madīnah and died there at the beginning of Mu'āwiya's Caliphate. It is also said that he died during his caliphate. It is also said that he died in the year 41. His wife was Suhaima, daughter of 'Uwaimir Al-Muzaniya.

two *Abadīth* have Ibn Ishāq^[1], in their chains of narrators, and his reliability has been questioned].

Abū Dā'ud have reported (a *Hadātb*) better than the aforesaid one through another chain, it has: "Abu Rukāna divorced his wife Suhaima irrevocably and said, 'I swear by Allāh that I meant it to be only a single utterance of divorce,' so the Prophet ## returned her to him."

920. Narrated Abū Huraira s: Allāh's Messenger said, "There are three things which, whether undertaken seriously or in jest, are treated as serious! marriage, divorce and taking back a wife after a divorce which is not final." [Reported by Al-Arba'a except An-Nasa'i. Al-Hākim graded it Sahib (authentic)].

In a narration of Ibn 'Adi, through another chain of narrators, which is *Da'if* (weak), it has: "Divorce, emancipation and marriage."

Al-Hārith bin Abū Usāma reported from the *Hadīth* of 'Ubāda bin As-Sāmit (ఉ) – tracing it to the Prophet ﷺ: "It is not permissible to play in three things: divorce, marriage and emancipation. Therefore, whoever pronounces (either of) them, they certainly become binding." [Its chain of narrators is *Da'if* (weak)].

921. Narrated Abū Huraira . The Prophet said, "Allāh, the Most High, has forgiven my followers what they contemplate on within themselves (i.e. evil thoughts) as long as they do not act

وَقَدْ رَوَى أَبُو دَاوُدَ مِنْ وَجُو آخَرَ أَحْسَنَ مِنْهُ، أَنَّ أَبَا وُكَانَةً طَلَقَ آمْرَأَتُهُ سُهَيْمَةً ٱلبَّنَّةَ، فَقَالَ: وَاشْهِ مَا أَرْدُتُ بِهَا إِلَّا وَاحِدَةً، فَرَدَّهَا إِلَيْهِ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ.

(٩٧٠) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «فَلَاثُ جِدُّهُنَّ جِدُّ، وَهَزْلُهُنَّ جِدُّ: النَّكَاحُ، وَالطَّلَاقُ، وَالرَّجْعَةُ». رَوَاهُ الأَرْبَعَةُ إِلَّا النَّسَآنِيَّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ.

وَفِي رِوَايَةِ لاِبْنِ عَدِيُّ، مِنْ وَجْهِ آخَرَ ضَعِيفٍ : *الطَّلَاقُ، وَالنَّنَاقُ، وَالنُّكَاحُ*.

وَلِلْحَارِثِ بْنِرَ أَيِي أَسَامَةً، مِنْ حَدِيثِ عُبَادَةً ابْنِرَ الصَّامِتِ، رَفَعَهُ: ﴿لَا يَجُوزُ اللَّعِبُ فِي ثَلَاثِرِ: الطَّلَاقِ، وَالنَّكَاحِ، وَالنَّنَاقِ، فَمَنْ قَالَهُنَّ لَقَدْ وَجَبْنَ». وَسَنَّدُهُ ضَعِيفٌ.

(٩٢١) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَبْهُ، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، قَالَ: ﴿إِنَّ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى تَجَاوَزَ عَنْ أُمْنِي مَا حَدَّثَتْ بِهِ أَنْفُسُهَا، مَا لَمْ تَعْمَلُ، أَوْ تَكَلَّمُ. مُثَنَّنُ عَلَيْهِ.

^[1] Abū 'Abdullāh Muhammad bin Ishāq bin Yasār Al-Muttalibi, the manumitted slave of Qais bin Makhrama Al-Madani was the master of the history of the military expeditions of the Prophet ﷺ and his Companions رضى الله عنهم. He died in 51 H.

^[2] It means that the following four things happen merely because of utterances even if spoken by way of joke: 1) *Nikāb* – marriage. 2) *Talāq* – divorce. 3) Revocation of a divorce, and 4) Freeing of a slave.

upon or speak about them." [Agreed upon].

922. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The Prophet said, "Allāh, the Most High, has overlooked my follower's mistakes and forgetfulness, and what they are forced to do against their will." [Reported by Ibn Mājah and Al-Hākim. Abū Hātim said that it is not an established (authentic) *Hadātb*].

923. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: "If anyone makes his wife unlawful^[2] for himself – it is nothing." He said, "Indeed you have a good example in Allāh's Messenger.''^[3] [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

Muslim has: "When a man makes his wife unlawful for himself, it is (treated like) an oath for which atonement must be made (if broken)."

924. Narrated 'Aisha \(\begin{align*}{ccc} \) When the daughter of Al-Jaun was admitted into the presence of Allāh's Messenger \(\beta \) and he went near her, she said, "I seek refuge in Allāh from you." He replied, "You have sought refuge in the Supreme [One Who is worthy of refuge being taken in], return to your family." [4] [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

925. Narrated Jābir &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "There is no divorce

(٩٢٧) وَعَنِ الْبَنِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَهُمَا، عَنِ اللَّهِ تَعَالَى عَهُمَا، عَنِ اللَّهِ تَعَالَى عَهُمَا، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، قَالَ، وَالنَّسْيَانَ، وَمَا اصْتُكْرِهُوا عَلَيْهِ. رَوَاهُ ابْنُ مَاجَهُ. وَالحَاكِمُ. وَقَالَ أَبُنُ مَاجَهُ. وَالحَاكِمُ.

(٩٢٣) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، قَالَ: إِذَا حَرَّمَ أَمْراتَهُ، لَيْسَ بِشَيْء وَقَالَ: لَقَدْ كَانَ لَكُمْ فِي رَسُول ِ اللهِ أَسْوَةً حَسَنَةً. رَوَاهُ البُخِارِيُّ.

وَلِمُسْلِمٍ: إِذَا حَرَّمَ الرَّجُلُ عَلَيْهِ ٱمْرَأَتَهُ، فَهُوَ يَمِينٌ، يُكَفِّرُهَا.

(974) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ الْبَقُ الْجَوْنِ لَمَّا أَذْخِلَتْ عَلَى رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ، وَدَنَا مِنْهَا: قَالَتْ: أَعُوذُ بِاللهِ مِنْكَ، فَقَالَ: «لَقَدْ عُذْتِ بِمَظِيمٍ، الْحَقِي بِأَهْلِكِ». رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(٩٢٥) وَعَنْ جَابِرٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ،

^[1] It means that mere thinking of divorce does not effectuate it. It also means that the divorce given under compulsion is not a divorce. Similarly marriage under compulsion is also not a marriage.

^[2] If a man says to his wife that he will not keep any relation with her and makes her unlawful for himself, it will not be regarded as a divorce, it is only a vow and has to be expiated.

^[3] The Prophet's example here refers to his boycotting of his wives for a period of time.

^[4] Another division of divorce is made clear in this Hadīth, which is as follows: 1) Evident and clear divorce: In this form no intention is involved because of the clear and definite words. Just the words spoken are deemed enough to accomplish the divorce. 2) Indirect or by hint: In this form the words are equivocal, and may or may not mean divorce. For example: 'You are free' or 'Go to your parents', etc. When such words are spoken, their intention will be considered, and not the words. If the speaker means divorce, then it will be effected, and if he does not mean divorce then it will not happen.

except after marriage, and no freeing (of a slave) till one has possession (of one)."[1] [Reported by Abū Ya'la and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic), but it is Ma'lul (containing a hidden defective). Ibn Majah reported a similar narration, on the authority of Al-Miswar bin Makhrama, and its chain of narrators is (or appears to be) Hasan (good), but it is also Ma'lul (hidden defect)].

926. Narrated 'Amr bin Shu'aib on his father's authority from his grandfather: Allāh's Messenger 1 said. "No descendant of Adam may make a vow concerning something he does not possess, or set free (a slave) that he does not possess, or divorce (a woman) whom he does not possess (in marriage)." [Abū Dā'ud and At-Tirmidhi reported it; the latter graded it Sabib (authentic), and transmitted from Al-Bukhāri his statement that it is the most authentic Hadīth on this subject].

927. Narrated 'Aisha &: The Prophet & said, "There are three people whose actions are not recorded:[2] a sleeping person till he awakes, a child till he is a grown up, and an insane person till he is restored to reason or recovers his senses." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a, except At-Tirmidhi. Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

Chapter 8 AR-RAJ'A (TAKING BACK A WIFE AFTER A DIVORCE WHICH IS NOT FINAL)

928. Narrated 'Imrān bin Husain 🞄: He was asked about a man who divorces

قَالَ: قَال رَسُولُ الله ﷺ: «لَا طَلَاقَ إِلَّا يَعْدَ نِكَاحٍ ، وَلَا عِنْقَ إِلَّا بَعْدَ مِلْكِ». رَوَاهُ أَبُو يَعْلَى، وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ، وَهُوَ مَعْلُول، وَأَخْرَجَ ابْنُ مَاجَهْ عَن المِسْوَر بْن مَخْرَمَةً مِثْلَهُ، وَإِسْنَادُهُ حَسَنٌ، لَكِنَّهُ مَعْلُولٌ أَنْضاً.

(٩٢٦) وَعَنْ عَمْرُو بْنِ شُعَيْبٍ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ جَدِّهِ، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «لَا نَذْرَ لإنْن آدَمَ فِيمَا لَا يَمْلِكُ، وَلَا عِنْقَ لَهُ فِيمَا لَا يَمْلكُ، وَلَا طَلَاقَ لَهُ فِيمَا لَا يَمْلِكُ». أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالتَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ، وَنَقَلَ عَن البُخَارِيُّ أَنَّهُ أَصَحُّ مَا وَرَدَ فِيهِ.

(٩٢٧) وَعَنْ عَآئِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «رُفِعَ القَلَمُ عَنْ ثَلَاثَةٍ: عَنِ النَّائِمِ حَتَّى يَسْتَيْقِظَ، وَعَنِ الصَّغِيرِ حَتَّى تَكْبَرَ، وَعَنِ المَجْنُونِ حَتَّى بَعْقِلَ، أَوْ نُفِيقَ». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ إِلَّا النُّرْمِذِيَّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ وأخرجه ابْنُ حِبَّانَ.

٨ - بَاتُ الرَّجْعَةِ

(٩٢٨) عَنْ عِمْرَانَ بْنِ حُصَيْنِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ

^[1] It means that one can only divorce that woman who is married to him.

^[2] It means that if anybody divorces during sleep, it will not be regarded a divorce. If a minor divorces, it will not be considered divorce. Similarly, if an insane person divorces, it will not be counted as divorce.

his wife, then takes her back without taking witnesses (on either). So he replied, "Get witnesses on her divorce, and on her return."[1] [Abū Dā'ud reported it Mawquf (saying of a Companion), and its chain of narrators is Sabib (authentic)]. Al-Baihaigi reported the aforesaid Hadith with this wording: 'Imrān bin Husain 🞄 was asked about someone who takes his wife back (after a divorce that is not final), but he does not take witnesses. So, he replied, "It is not Sunnab, and he should get witnesses now." At-Tabarāni added in a narration: "and he should ask Allāh's forgiveness."

تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّهُ شُيْلَ عَنِ الرَّجُلِ يُطَلُّقُ، ثُمَّ يُرَاجِعُ، وَلَا يُشْهِدُ، فَقَالَ: أَشْهِدُ عَلَى يُرَاجِعُ، وَلَا يُشْهِدُ، فَقَالَ: أَشْهِدُ عَلَى طَلَاقِهَا، وَعَلَى رَجْعَتِها. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ لَمُكَذَا مَرُوفُونًا، وَسَنَدُهُ صَحِيعٌ وَأَخْرَجَهُ البَيْهَيْ يِلْفَظِ: وَأَنْ عِمْرَانَ بُورِ حُصَيْنِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما شُيْلً عَمَّنُ رَاجَعَ امْرَأَتُهُ وَلَمْ يُشْهِدُ، فَقَالَ: فِي غَيْرِ سُتُونٌ عَلَيْشُهِدِ الآنَ وَزَادَ الطَّبَرَائِينُ فِي رِوَايَةٍ غَيْرِ سُتُغُورِ اللَّهُ عَلَيْشُهِدِ الآنَ) وَزَادَ الطَّبَرَائِينُ فِي رِوَايَةٍ (وَيَسَتَغُورِ اللَّهُ).

929. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . When he divorced his wife the Prophet said to 'Umar, "Command him to take her back." [Agreed upon].

(٩٢٩) وَعَنِ ابْنِ غُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّهُ لَمَّا طَلَّقَ أَمْرَأَتُهُ، قَالَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ لِهُمَّرَ: (مُرُّهُ، فَلْيُرَاجِمُهُا». مَثَقَقُ عَلَيْهِ.

Chapter 9 AL-'IYLA', [2] AZ-ZIHĀR[3] AND AL-KAFFĀRAH[4]

٩ - بَابُ الإيلاءِ وَالظُّهَارِ وَالكَفَّارَةِ

930. Narrated 'Aisha &: Allāh's Messenger swore that he would stay away from his wives for a period. He made

(٩٣٠) عَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: آلَىٰ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ مِنْ نِسَآئِهِ، وَحَرَّمَ،

^[1] It means that for *Talāq* (divorce) and *Raj'a* (revocation of divorce), two witnesses should be present. If there are no witnesses, the man or woman can go back on one's word for some of their interests and it cause many evils. To call for witnesses is either obligatory or desirable. Consensus is that it is desirable, but actually it is obligatory.

^{[2] &#}x27;אָרֵאל' (אַרְאָלֵין) means to make a vow that one is not going to maintain sexual relations with his wife; or to say to her directly – swearing by Allāh – that no sexual relationship will be maintained with her in the future. Allāh has prescribed a four months period to restore the relationship. It is better to revive the relationship, by paying expiation for the oath within the prescribed period. Otherwise, divorce will become effective by itself; or according to others, the man will be compelled to divorce her or bring back the relationship to normal again.

^[3] Ztbār (الظهر) is derived from the word Zabr (الظهر) meaning back, making resemblance between one's wife and the mother's back. This is a figure of speech in Arabic language which means that you are like my mother and unlawful for me for marriage. According to Sbari'a terminology, Ztbār means comparing one's wife and to one's mother, and making her unlawful for oneself. It is not considered a divorce in Sbari'a but one has to expiate for it before returning to his wife. Its expiation is to free a slave or to fast for sixty days consecutively or to feed sixty poor persons. It is compulsory to bear one of these punishments.

^[4] Kaffarab (الكفارة) means making atonement (for either of the above two cases).

something unlawful (for himself) (i.e. something not in itself unlawful). So, he made the lawful unlawful, and he made atonement for breaking an oath. [Reported by At-Tirmidhi, and its narrators are reliable (thiqab)].

931. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . When a period of four months elapses, the one who swears to stay away from his wife must be made to return to her or divorce her, and the divorce is not valid till the husband himself pronounces it. [1] [Al-Bukhāri reported it].

932. Narrated Sulaimān bin Yasār^[2] (為): I met thirteen or more of the Companions of Allāh's Messenger 鑑, all of them made the one who swears to stay away from his wife, return to her or divorce her (at the end of the period). [Reported by Ash-Shāfi'ī].

933. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The swearing to stay away from one's wife in *Al-Jāhiliya* era^[3] was for one or two years. Then, Allāh appointed a period of four months for it. So, if it is less than four months, it is not swearing to stay away from one's wife. [4] [Al-Baihaqi reported it].

934. Narrated (Ibn 'Abbās) 🐇: A man had vowed to make his wife like his mother (i.e. forbidden for him). Then

فَجَعَلَ الحَلَالَ حَرَاماً، وَجَعَلَ لِلْيَمِينِ كَفَّارَةً. رَوَاهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَرُوَاتُه ثِقَاتٌ.

(٩٣١) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، قَال: إِذَا مَضَتْ أَرْبَعَةُ أَشْهُرٍ وُقِفَ المُولِي، حَتَّى يُعلِّقَ، وَلاَ يَقِعُ عَلَيْهِ الطَّلَاقُ حَتَّى يُطلُقَ. أَخْرَجُهُ البُخَارِئِي.

(٩٣٧) وَعَنْ شَلَيْمَانَ بْنِ يَسَارِ قَالَ: أَذَرَكُتُ بِضْمَةَ عَشَرَ رَجُلاً مِنْ أَصْحَابِ رَسُول ِ اللهِ ﷺ، كُلُهُمْ يَتِفُونَ ٱلْمُولِيَ. رَوَاهُ الشَّافِعِيُّ.

(٩٣٣) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: كَانَ إِيلاءُ الجَاهِلِيَّةِ السَّنَةَ وَالْمَسَتَثَيْن ، فَوَقَّتَ اللَّهُ أَرْبَعَةَ أَشْهُرٍ، فَإِنْ كَانَ أَرْبَعَةَ أَشْهُرٍ، فَإِنْ كَانَ أَرْبَعَةً أَشْهُرٍ فَلَيْسَ بِإِيلاءٍ. أَخْرَجَهُ الشَّهَرِيُّ

(٩٣٤) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ رَجُلاً ظَاهَرَ مِن ِ امْرَأَتِهِ، ثُمَّ وَقَعَ عَلَيْهَا، فَأَتَى

^[1] In case of 'lylā' the man should be asked either to divorce or restore the relationship, after the passing of four months. If he is not willing in either case, then she can get her marriage cancelled with the permission of the ruler, and after passing her 'lddab period, she is allowed to marry.

^[2] He is Abū Ayub Sulaimān bin Yasār, the manumitted slave of 'Ummul-Mū'mtntn Maimuna . He was one of the seven Fiqh 'Ulamā of the elder Tabt'tn in Al-Madīnah. He was reliable, virtuous, pious and knowledgeable. He died in the year 107 H at the age of 73 years.

^[3] In the Period of Ignorance the woman was very unfortunate. Sometimes, for years she stood in the middle of nowhere, neither married nor divorced, hanging in between. Also, she was not allowed to remarry after passing her *'Iddab* period. Sometimes, severance of relations is necessary for the purpose of teaching her a lesson. However, separation for years at a time is injustice to her, so Allâh fixed the period as four months.

^[4] This *Hadith* makes it clear that if the relations are re-established within the period of four months, then it is not *Tylā'* and there is no penalty for it.

he had intercourse with her, so he went to the Prophet and said, "I had intercourse with her before making the atonement." He replied, "Do not go near her till you do what Allāh has commanded you to do." [Reported by Al-Arba'a. At-Tirmidhi graded it Sabib (authentic) but An-Nasā'i held that the stronger view is that it is Mursal (missing link after the Tābi'i)]. Al-Bazzār reported it through another chain, from Ibn 'Abbās (&) and he added: "Make an atonement and do not repeat it."

935. Narrated Salama bin Sakhr^[1] &: When the month of Ramadan came, I feared lest I would have intercourse with my wife. So, I vowed Az-Zibar (that she was like my mother). Then, one night something of her was uncovered to me and I had intercourse with her. Allāh's Messenger # afterwards said to me, "Set a slave free," and I replied, "I do not possess one (that I can free)." He said, "Then fast two consecutive months." I replied, "Have I fallen into that which I have fallen into except due to fasting!?" He said, "Feed sixty poor people with an 'Araq (basket) of dates." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a except An-Nasā'i. Ibn Khuzaima and Ibn Al-Jārūd graded it Sabib (authentic)].

Chapter 10 AL-LI'ĀN^[2] (INVOKING CURSES)

936. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . So-and-so asked and said, "O Allāh's Messenger, what you think if one of us finds his

النَّبِيُّ ﷺ، فَقَالَ: إِنِّي وَقَعْتُ عَلَيْهَا قَبْلُ أَنْ أَكُفُّرَ، قَالَ: «فَلَا نَشْرَبْهَا، حَتَّى تَشْمَلَ مَا أَمْرَكَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى بِهِ". رَوَاهُ الأَرْبَعَةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الثّرمِذِيُّ، وَرَجَّعَ الشَّمَاتِيُّ إِرْسَالُهُ، وَرَوَاهُ البَّرَارُ مِنْ وَجُو آخَرَ عَنِ الْبَنِ عَبَّاسٍ، وَزَادَ فِيهِ: "ثَغَنْرُ وَلَا تَمُدْهُ.

(٩٣٥) وَعَنْ سَلَمَةً بُنِ صَخْرٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: دَخَلَ رَمَصَانُ، فَخِفْتُ أَنْ أَصِبَ الْمُرَاتِي، فَظَاهَرْتُ مِنْهَا، فَانْكَشْفَ لِي مَشِيَّ مِنْهَا، فَانْكَشْفَ لِي رَسُولُ شَيْءٌ مِّنْهَا لَيْلَةً، فَوَقَعْتُ عَلَيْهَا فَقَالَ لِي رَسُولُ اللَّهِ عَنْهَا وَمَنْ مَتَقَابِعَيْنِ»، اللَّهِ عَنْهَا اللَّهِ عَنْهَا فَقَالَ لِي رَسُولُ اللَّهَا وَصَمَّحَهُ الْهَانُ خُولِهَا وَالْأَرْبَعَةُ إِلَّا اللَّهَاتِيَ اللَّهَا وَصَمَّحَهُ اللَّهَانُ وَمَنْ الْمُؤْمِعُةُ وَالْأَرْبَعَةُ إِلَّا اللَّهَانِيَا اللَّهَانِيَةِ وَمَلْ اللَّهَا وَالْمُؤْمِعُةُ اللَّهَا اللَّهَانِيَةُ وَالْمُؤْمِعُةُ وَالْمُؤْمُوعُومُ وَمَنْهُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَمَا أَنْ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَمُؤْمُومُ وَمِنْهُ وَالْمُؤْمُةُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَمُؤْمُومُ وَمُؤْمِنُهُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَمُؤْمِنُهُ وَالْمُؤْمُةُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَمُؤْمِنُهُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَمُؤْمِنُهُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَمُؤْمِنُهُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَمُؤْمِهُ وَمُؤْمِنُهُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَمُؤْمِنُهُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَمُؤْمِنُهُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَمُؤْمِنُهُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَمُؤْمِنُهُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَمُومُ وَمُؤْمِنُهُ وَالْمُؤْمِلُهُ وَمُؤْمِنُهُ وَالْمُؤْمِلِهُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَمُؤْمُومُ وَالْمُؤْمِلُهُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَمُؤْمِهُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ و اللْمُؤْمُومُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَالْمُؤْمِلُومُ وَالْمُؤْمِلُومُ وَالْمُؤْمِلُومُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَالْمُؤْمُ وَالْمُؤْمُومُ وَالْمُؤْمُ وَالْمُؤْمُ وَالْمُؤْمُ وَالَمُومُ وَالْمُؤْمُ وَالْمُؤْمُ وَالْمُؤْمُ وَالْمُؤْمُ وَالْمُومُ وا

١٠ - بَابُ اللِّعَانِ

(٩٣٦) عَن ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: سَأَلَ فُلَانٌ فَقَالَ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! أَرَائِتَ

^[1] He is Salama bin Sakhr bin Sulaimān bin As-Samma Al-Bayādi – a descendant of Banu Bayād, a clan of Al-Khazraj – was one of the Al-Bukā'un (the wailers) among the Sabāba.

^[2] Li'ān (الليان) means to accuse one's wife of adultery, without any solid proof in hand. In case the woman denies the allegation, the man has to swear four times repeating the allegation and for the fifth time he would say: May Allāh's Wrath fall on me if I am a liar. If

wife committing adultery, how should he act? If he talks he would talk about a grievous affair, and if he keeps silent he would keep silent about something similar (a grievous affair)." He gave no answer. Afterwards he came to him (鑑) and said. "I have been afflicted with the very problem which I had asked you about." Then Allah revealed the verses of Surāt An-Nur (the Light). He then recited them to him and exhorted. admonished and informed him that the punishment of this world is easier than that of the Hereafter. He said, "No, by Him Who sent you with the Truth, I have not lied against her." He then summoned the woman and exhorted her in the same way. She said, "No, by Him Who sent you with the Truth, he is a liar." He began with the man; and he (the man) bore witness four times with an oath by Allah; he then did the same with the woman, then he separated them. [Reported by Muslim].

937. Narrated (Ibn 'Umar) . Allāh's Messenger said to the two who were invoking curses regarding one another, "Your reckoning is in Allāh's Hands^[1] for one of you is lying. You cannot remarry her." He (the man) said, "O Allāh's Messenger, what about my property (dowry)?" He replied, "If you have spoken the truth, it is the price of your having had the right of intercourse with her; [2] and if you have lied against her, it is even more remote for you (to get it back) from her." [Agreed upon].

أَنْ لَو وَجَدَ أَحُدُنَا آمْرَأَتُهُ عَلَىٰ فَاحِشَةِ كَيْفَ
يَضْتُعُ ۚ إِنْ تَكَلَّمَ تَكَلَّمَ بِأَمْرِ عَظِيمٍ ، وَإِنْ سَكَتَ
يَضَتَعُ ۚ إِنْ تَكَلَّمَ تَكَلَّمَ بِأَمْرِ عَظِيمٍ ، وَإِنْ سَكَتَ
بَعْدَ ذٰلِكَ أَتَاهُ ، فَقَالَ: فَإِنَّ الَّذِي سَأَلُئُكَ عَنْهُ قَدِ
ابْثَلِيتُ بِهِ ، فَأَنْزَلَ اللَّهُ الآبَاتِ فِي شُورَةِ النَّرِ ،
فَنَلَاهُنَ عَلَيْهِ وَوَعَظَهُ ، وَذَكَّرَهُ ، وَأُخْبَرَهُ أَنَّ
لَا ، وَالَّذِي بَمَنَكَ بِالحَقِّ ، مَا كَذَبْتُ عَلَيْهَا ، ثُمَّ
بَمَنَكَ بِالحَقِّ ، وَلَا لَكِنْ ، فَالَتْ : لا ، وَالَّذِي
بَمَنَكَ بِالحَقِّ ، إِنَّهُ لَكَاذِبٌ ، فَبَدَأَ بِالرَّجُلِ ،
فَنَهُمَا أَرْبَعَ شَهَادَاتِ باللهِ ، ثُمَّ نَنَى بِالمَرْأَةِ ، ثُمَّ
فَقَهِدَ أَرْبَعَ شَهَادَاتِ باللهِ ، ثُمَّ نَنَى بِالمَرْأَةِ ، ثُمَّ
فَقَهِدَ أَرْبَعَ شَهَادَاتٍ باللهِ ، ثُمَّ نَنَى بِالمَرْأَةِ ، ثُمَّ
فَقَقَ بَيْنَهُمَا . رَوَاهُ مُعْلِمٌ .

(٩٣٧) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ رَصُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ لِلْمُتَلَاعِتَين : "حِسَابُكُمَا عَلَى اللهِ عَلَى اللهِ اللهِ عَلَيْهَا»، فَالَ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! مَالِي؟ فَقَالَ: "إِنْ كُنْتَ صَدَفْتَ عَلَيْهَا، فَهُوَ بِمَا اسْتَحْلُلْتَ مِنْ فُرْحِهَا، وَإِنْ كُنْتَ كَذَبْتَ عَلَيْهَا، فَذَاكَ أَبْعَدُ لَلْكَ مِنْ لَكَ مِنْهَا». فَقُو بِمَا اسْتَحْلُلْتَ مِنْ لَلْهَا، فَذَاكَ أَبْعَدُ لَكَ مِنْهَا». مَتْفَقَ عَلَيْهَا، فَذَاكَ أَبْعَدُ لَكَ مِنْهَا». مَتْفَق عَلَيْهِا، فَذَاكَ أَبْعَدُ

the woman keeps silent, she will be punished. However, if she denies the allegation, she will have to swear four times denying the allegation and the fifth time she would say: If he is speaking the truth, may Allah's Curse fall on me. Since Allah's Curse is invoked in this matter, it is referred to as Lt'ān Lt'ān makes a separation between a man and his wife automatically, and there is no way for them to remarry.

^[1] In this *Hadīth* attention is called to repentance for sins.

^[2] It relates that dowry cannot be taken back from the woman. It is a unanimous issue.

938. Narrated Anas &: The Prophet & said, "Observe her, and if she gives birth to a child which is white complexioned with dark hair, her husband would be its father. But if she gives birth to a child with eves looking as if they have antimony (Kubl) in them and curled hair, the man whom her husband charged her with committing adultery is its father." [Agreed upon].

939. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās 🞄: Allāh's Messenger 2 ordered a man to put his hand on his mouth [2] when he came to the fifth pronouncement and said. "It would be the deciding one." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i. Its narrators are reliable].

940. Narrated Sahl bin Sa'd concerning the story of the two (husband and wife) who invoked curses regarding one another: When they finished invoking curses regarding one another the man said, "I shall have lied against her, O Allāh's Messenger, if I keep her (as a wife)." He, then, pronounced her divorce three times.[3] even before Allāh's Messenger ## commanded him to do so. [Agreed upon].

(٩٤١) وَعَن ابْنِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى A man فَعَن ابْنِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى came to the Prophet ﷺ and said, "My عَهُمَا، أَنَّ رَجُلاً جَآءَ إِلَى النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، نَقَالَ: عَهُمَا، أَنَّ رَجُلاً جَآءَ إِلَى النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، wife rejects no hand of a man who wishes to touch her^[4]." He said,

(٩٣٨) وَعَنْ أَنَس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّمِيُّ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿أَبْصِرُوهَا، فَإِنْ جَاءَتْ بِهِ أَيْبُضَى، سَبطاً، فَهُوَ لِزَوْجِهَا، وَإِنْ جَاءَتْ بِهِ أَكْحَلَ، جَعْداً، فَهُوَ لِلَّذِي رَمَاهَا بِهِ». مُتَّفَقٌ

(٩٣٩) وَعَن ِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ أَمَرَ رَجُلاً أَنْ يَضَعَ يَدَهُ عِنْدَ الخَامِسَةِ عَلَىٰ فِيهِ، وَقَالَ: "إِنَّهَا مُوجِبَةٌ». رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَآئِيُ، وَرجَالُهُ

(٩٤٠) وَعَنْ سَهْلِ بْنِ سَعْدِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما - فِي قِصَّةِ المُتَلَاعِنَيْن - قَالَ: فَلَمَّا
 قَا مِنْ تَلَاعُنهما، قَالَ: كَذَبْتُ عَلَيْهَا يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنْ أَمْسَكْتُهَا، فَطَلَّقَهَا ثَلَاثًا قَبْلَ أَنْ نَأْمُ وَ رُسُولُ الله ﷺ. مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

إِنَّ امْرَأَتِي لَا تَرُدُّ يَدَ لَامِس، قَالَ: «غَرِّبْهَا»،

^[1] This Hadīth relates three points: First, about the things not made clear by Revelation, the Prophet a exercised his judgement in them. Second, if the primary sources for decision making are not available, making decision by conjecture is allowed. Third, in case of Lt'an, even if the conjecture is correct, the woman is not punished for adultery.

^[2] Putting the hand on the mouth is a sign to be heedful and conscious on the last pronouncement; after it one has to bear the consequences in this world or in the Hereafter. If the man stops for the fifth time he will be punished for slandering. Woman has also the right of Li'an if she wishes.

^[3] After Li'an there is no need of divorce, it automatically befalls. After Li'an woman is not entitled to receive any maintenance allowance or lodging.

^[4] It has various meanings: Firstly, she is of loose character with strangers. Seconding, she is

"Banish her.^[1]" He replied, "I am afraid my soul may desire her." He said, "Then enjoy her." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and Al-Bazzār, and its narrators are reliable]. An-Nasā'i reported it with through another chain, from Ibn 'Abbās (♣) with this wording: He said, "Divorce her." He replied, "I can not endure the desire for her." He said. "Then keep her."

942. Narrated Abū Huraira &: He heard Allāh's Messenger ﷺ say, when the Verse^[2] about invoking curses came down, "Any woman who brings into a family one who does not belong to it,^[3] is not an observer of Allāh's (religion), and Allāh will not admit her into His Paradise. Likewise, Allāh will veil Himself from any man who disowns his child while he knows that it is his child, and will humiliate him in the presence of the first and last (creatures)." [Abū Dā'ud, An-Nasā'i and Ibn Mājah reported it; and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

943. Narrated 'Umar &: If anyone acknowledges that he is the father of his child just for the blinking of an eye, he has no right to disown it. [41] [Al-Baihaqi reported it. The *Hadīth* is *Hasan* (good) and *Mawqūf* (saying of a Companion)].

قَالَ: أَخَافُ أَنْ تَتَبَعَهَا نَفْسِي، قَالَ: ﴿فَاسْتَمْتِغُ بِهَا ﴾. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالبَرَّارُ، وَرِجَالُهُ فِقَاتٌ. وَأَخْرَجَهُ النَّسَاتِيُّ مِنْ وَجُو آخَرَ عَن ابْن عَبَّاس، بِلَفْظِ قَالَ: ﴿طَلَّقُهَا ﴾ قَالَ: لَا أَصْبِرُ عَنْهَا، قَالَ: ﴿فَأَسْكُهَا ﴾.

(٩٤٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ،
أَنَّهُ سَمِعَ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ حِينَ نَزَلَتْ آيَةُ
المُتَكَاحِيَيْنِ: ﴿ أَيُّمَا امْرَأَةِ أَدْخَلَتْ عَلَى قَوْمٍ مَنْ
لَيْسَ مِنْهُمْ فَلَيْسَتْ مِنَ اللهِ فِي شَيْءٍ، وَلَنْ
يُدْخِلَهَا اللَّهُ جَتَّتُهُ، وَأَيُّمَا رَجُل جَحَدَ وَلَدَهُ،
وَهُوَ يَنْظُرُ إِلَيْهِ، الحَتَجَبَ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ، وَفَضَحَهُ
عَلَى رُدُوسِ الأَوْلِينَ وَالآخِرِينَّ. أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو
كَالُودُ وَالنَّمَايِنُ وَابُنُ مَاجَهُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ جَبَّانَ.

(٩٤٣) وَعَنْ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: مَنْ أَقَرَّ بِوَلَدِهِ طَرْفَةَ عَيْنِ فَلَيْسَ لَهُ أَنْ يَنْفِيهُ. أُخْرَجُهُ البَّيْهَتِيُّ، وَهُوَ حَسَنٌ مؤفُوفٌ.

an adulteress. Thirdly, she is not good custodian of his wealth. The first meaning is the closest to being correct. If the second meaning was correct, the accuser would have had to produce witnesses, or Li'ān would take place, or the woman would have been punished. However, none of this happened. On the contrary, the Prophet \$\mathbb{E}\$ ordered him to tolerate her. If the second meaning was correct, it means, the Prophet \$\mathbb{E}\$ had permitted him to be a Dayyāth (a man who doesn't care about the moral behavior of the women under his care).

^[1] i.e., Divorce her.

^[2] Sürat An-Nür 24:6.

^[3] It means to give birth to an illegitimate child and to present him as legitimate child. This creates many troubles and problems in inheritance, legacy and marriage, etc.

^[4] Merely on doubts one should not disown his child. Once the parentage is accepted, it cannot be denied. On account of disowning the child, on one side, he becomes an illegitimate child, and on the other, his mother is blamed for adultery and the child is deprived of heredity.

944. Narrated Abū Huraira 🐠: A man said, "O Allāh's Messenger, my wife has given birth to a black son," He asked, "Have you any camels." He replied, "Yes." He asked, "What is their color?" He replied, "They are red." He asked, "Is there a dusky (dark) one among them?" He replied, "Yes." He asked, "How has that come about?" He replied, "It is perhaps a strain to which it has reverted (i.e. heredity)." He said. "It is perhaps a strain to which this son of yours has reverted." [Agreed upon]. A narration by Muslim has: "he was intending to disown him." Muslim concluded the Hadīth as follows: "He did not permit him to disown him."

(444) وَعَنْ أَبِي مُرِيْرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ،

أَنَّ رَجُلاً قَالَ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنَّ ٱمْرَأَتِي وَلَدَتُ
عُلاماً أَسْوَدَ، قَالَ: «مَلْ لَكَ مِنْ إِبِلٍ؟» قَالَ:
نَعَمْ، قَالَ: «فَمَا أَلْوَانَهَا؟» قَالَ: حُمْرٌ، قَالَ: «فَأَنِّى وَلَدَقِ وَلِكَ؟

ذَهِلْ فِيهَا مِنْ أَوْرَقَ؟» قَالَ: نَعَمْ، قَالَ: «فَلَمَلَ وَلِكَ؟

وَلِكَ؟» قَالَ: لَعَلَّهُ نَزَعَهُ عِرْقٌ، قَالَ: «فَلَمَلَ لَلْهُ عَلَيْهِ. وَقِي رِوَابِةٍ لَمُسْلِمٍ: «وَهُو يُعَرِّضُ بِأَن يَنْفِيهُ وَقَالَ فِي آخِرِهِ:

وَلَمْ يُرَخِّصْ لَهُ فِي ٱلْاَنْفِنَاءِ مِنْهُ.

Chapter 11 AL-IDDAH^[1], AL-IHDĀD^[2], AL-ISTIBRA ^[3], AND OTHER PERTINENT MATTERS

١١ - بَابُ العِدَّةِ وَالإَحْدَادِ وَالاَسْتِبْرَاءِ
 وَغَيْرِ ذَٰلِكَ

945. Narrated Al-Miswar bin Makhrama (*): Some nights after her husband's death, Subai'a Al-Aslamiya (*) gave birth to a child. Then she went to the Prophet * and asked permission to marry. He gave her permission and she married.' [Reported by Al-Bukhāri]. Its basic meaning is found in the two Sahib books of Al-Bukhāri and Muslim.

(٩٤٥) عَن المِسْوَرِ بْن مَخْرَمَةَ، أَنَّ سُبَيْمَةً الْأَسْتَيْهَةً وَاللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا أَفِسَتْ بَلْدَ وَقَاةٍ زَوْجِهَا بِلَيَالِر، فَجَآءَت إِلَى النَّبِيُ ﷺ، فَاسْتَأَذَتُهُ أَنْ تَنْكِحَ، فَأَذِنَ لَهَا، فَنَكَحَتْ. رَوَاهُ الشَّعَارِيُ، وَأَصْلُهُ فِي الصَّجِيحَيْنِ. وَفِي لَفْظِ: البُخَارِيُ، وَأَصْلُهُ فِي الصَّجِيحَيْنِ. وَفِي لَفْظِ: أَنَّهَا وَضَعَتْ بَلْدَ وَفَاةٍ زَوْجِهَا بِأَرْبَعِينَ لِبَلَةً.

case of a newly purchased slave-girl.

^{[1] &#}x27;Iddab (الحدة) is a period of waiting in which a woman is not allowed to remarry, after the death of her husband or divorce. There are three kinds of 'Iddab: 1) 'Iddab of Birth 2) 'Iddab of Menses and 3) 'Iddab of Months. For a pregnant woman, in either case – death of the husband or divorce – her 'Iddab is up to the birth of the child. For example, she is divorced or her husband dies today, and the next day she gives birth to a child. Her 'Iddab ends with the birth of child. She is allowed to marry at anytime, but as long as she is not free from the post-childbirth bleeding, it is not proper to have a sexual intercourse with her.

^[2] Ibdad (الإحداد) is the observing of mourning, by a woman, for her husband who has died.
^[3] Istibra' (الاستياء) is the time of waiting, till one menstruation period has passed, in the

^[4] Subai'a, daughter of Al-Härith Al-Aslamiya of Banu Aslam was a Sabābiya and Ibn Sa'd mentioned that she was among the Mubajirāt. She was married to Sa'd bin Khawla, who died in Makkah during the Hajjatul-Wadā', then she was married by a young man from her people. They also mentioned that she married Abū Sanābil.

A wording has: "She gave birth to a child after forty nights of her husband's death."

A wording by Muslim has: Az-Zuhri^[1] said, "I think there is no harm if she marries when she is still bleeding (due to child-birth), but her husband should not go near her till she is purified."

946. Narrated 'Aisha *: Barira (*) was ordered to wait till three menstrual periods of hers have passed (before she could remarry). [2] [Reported by Ibn Mājah. Its narrators are reliable, but it is *Ma'lul* (having a hidden defect)].

947. Narrated Ash-Sha'bī^[3] from Fātima & daughter of Qais on the authority of the Prophet & regarding a woman who was divorced by three pronouncements: "She has no right to accommodation or maintenance." [Reported by Muslim].

948. Narrated Umm 'Atiya (\$): Allāh's Messenger \$\mathbb{\omega}\$ said, "A woman must not observe mourning for more than three nights for the one who has died, except for the four months and ten days in the

وَفِيْ لَفُظٍ لِمُسْلِمٍ: قَالَ الزُّهْرِيُّ: وَلَا أَرَىَ بَأْسًا ۚ أَنْ تَرَوَّجَ وَهِيَ فِي دَمِهَا، غَيْرَ أَنَّهُ لَا يَقْرَبُهَا زَوْجُهَا حَتَّى تَطْهُرَ.

(٩٤٦) وَعَنْ عَآئِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، قَالَتْ: أُمِوَتْ بَرِيرَةُ أَنْ تَغَتَّدُ بِثَلَاثِ حِيَضٍ. وَوَاهُ ابْنُ مَاجَهُ، وَرُوَاتُهُ يَقَاتُ، لُكِئَّةُ مَعْلُولٌ.

(9٤٧) وَعَن ِ الشَّعْمِيُّ عَنْ فَاطِمَةَ بِنْت ِ قَيْسٍ، عَن ِ النَّمِيُّ فَيْت ِ لَيْسَ لَهَا عَن ِ النَّمِلُّةِ وَ ثَلَاثاً لَيْسَ لَهَا سُكْنَى، وَلاَ نَفَقَة. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(94A) وَعَنْ أُمِّ عَطِيَّةً، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿لَا تُبَعِثُ الْمُرَأَةُ عَلَى مَيِّتِ فَوْقَ ثَلَاثٍ، إِلَّا عَلَى وَعَشْراً، وَلَا تَلْبَسُ وَعَشْراً، وَلَا تَلْبَسُ ثُوبًا مَشْبُوغاً، إِلَّا ثَوْبَ عَصْبِ، وَلا تَكْتَجِلُ،

^[1] He is Muhammad bin Muslim bin 'Ubaidullāh bin Abdullāh bin Shihāb Al-Qurashi Az-Zuhri, one of the eminent *Imāms* and '*Aalim* of Hijāz and Shām. He was among the elders of the 4th generation of *Tābi'tn* and his mastery and greatness was conscientiously agreed upon. Al-Laith said that he never saw an '*Aalim* who accumulated so much knowledge like Ibn Shihāb and Mālik said that Ibn Shihāb was among the most generous people and had no equal. He died in 124 H.

^[2] Barira's husband was a slave. After being manumitted from slavery, as a free woman, she was given an option concerning her wedlock. Barira (\$) chose to have her previous wedlock nullified and hence she had to spend an 'Iddah of a free woman consisting of three menstrual periods. This Hadīth implies that the duration of 'Iddah thus spent is determined according to the status of the woman and not the man.

^[3] He is Abû 'Amr 'Aamir bin Sharāhil bin 'Abdullah Ash-Sha'bi Al-Hamdāni Al-Kufi. He was a great *Tābi'i* and an eminent *Fiqb* scholar. Az-Zuhri said, "The 'Ulama are four: Ibn Al-Musaiyab at Al-Madīnah, Ash-Sha'bi at Kufa, Hasan Al-Basri at Basra and Mak-hul at Shām." Ash-Sha'bi was born during 'Umar's Caliphate and it was said that he was born when six years were remaining from 'Uthmān's Caliphate.

^[4] The ruling according to Shari'a is that in case a Talāq (divorce) is gradually pronounced, a man is liable to pay for a woman's accommodation and livelihood until the termination of her Talaa period. A man is not liable to pay her any of the expenses concerning her food and lodging after the pronouncement of the third Talāq [which is irrevocable].

case of a husband;^[1] and she must not wear a dyed garment except one of the type made of 'Asb (dyed yarn)^[2] or apply Kubl (antimony), or apply perfume except for a little Qust or Azfār,^[3] when she has been purified after her menstruation." [Agreed upon. The wording being of Muslim]. Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i have an addition: "nor apply henna." An-Nasā'i added: "nor comb (her hair)."

949. Narrated Umm Salama 卷: I put Sabir (a type of medicine) on my eyes after Abū Salama (秦) had died. So Allāh's Messenger 鑑 said, "It gives the face a glow, so apply it only at night and remove it in the daytime, and do not comb (your hair) with scent or henna, ^[4] for it is a dye." I asked, "What should I use when combing (my hair)?" He replied, "You should use lote-tree leaves." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasāi; its chain of narrators is Hasan (good)].

950. Narrated (Umm Salama) *: A woman said, "O Allāh's Messenger, my daughter's husband has died and her eye is troubling her, so may we apply *Kubl* (antimony) to it?" He replied, "No." [Agreed upon].

951. Narrated Jābir 🐟: My maternal aunt was divorced and wanted to cut down fruit from her palm-trees. A man

وَلَا تَمَسُّ طِيبًا، إِلَّا إِذَا طَهُرَتُ، نُبُذَةَ مِنْ فُسْطٍ أَوْ أَطْفَارٍ». مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَهْذَا لَفْظُ مُسْلِمٍ، وَلِأْسِي دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَآتِينِ مِنَ الزِّيَادَةِ: "وَلَا تَخْتَضِبُ». وَلِلنَّسَآئِنِ: "وَلَا تَنْتَشِطُ».

(٩٤٩) وَعَنْ أَمُّ سَلَمَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، قَالَتْ: جَعَلْتُ عَلَى عَنْيِي صَبِراً، بَغْدَ أَنْ تُوفِّي أَبُو سَلَمَةً، فَقَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: الإِنَّهُ يَشُبُ الوَّجَةَ، فَلَا تَجْعَلِيهِ إِلَّا بِاللَّيْلِ، وَالْزِعِيهِ إِللَّهَادِ، وَلَا تَمْتَشِطِي بِالطَّيْبِ، وَلَا بِالجِنَّاءِ إِللَّهَادِ، وَلَا تَمْتَشِطِي بِالطَّيْبِ، وَلَا بِالجِنَّاءِ إللَّهُ خِصَابٌ»، قُلْتُ: بِأِيِّ شَيْءٍ أَمْتَشِطُ؟ قَالَ: "إِللَّهُ ذِصَابٌ» وَلَا مَانُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَاتِيُّ، وَإِسْنَادُهُ حَسَنٌ.

(٩٠٠) وَعَنْهَا أَنَّ ٱمْرَأَةً قَالَتْ: يا رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنَّ ابْنَتِي مَاتَ عَنْهَا زَوْجُهَا، وَقَدِ الشُتَكَٰتُ عَيْنَهَا، أَفَتَكُحُلُهَا؟ قَالَ: (لَا». مُثَقِّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

(٩٥١) وَعَنْ جَابَرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: طُلُقَتْ خَالَتِي، فَأَرَادَتْ أَنْ تَجُدَّ نَخْلَهَا،

^[1] The duration of *'Iddah* for a widow, (in case not pregnant) is four months and ten days. The duration for a divorced woman (non-pregnant) is three menstrual periods, provided she is young. If the divorcee is an old woman who has already entered the phase of menopause, or if she is merely a non-adult adolescent girl, then their *'Iddah* duration is three months. In case the women in the said category are widows, their *'Iddah* duration shall be similar to the ones mentioned earlier (i.e., four months and ten days).

^{[2] &#}x27;Asb was a Yemeni garment which was dyed before being woven.

^[3] A nice smelling substance which resembles fingernails.

^[4] The instructions concerning the spending of *'Iddab'* duration are that such a woman should not use perfume, antimony or colored silken clothes and should not make a decision about entering into a matrimony with a man. This ruling includes all the women in general, whether they are the non-adults, the young or the old ones.

forbade her to go out, so she went to the Prophet and he said, "Certainly, cut down fruit from your palm-trees, for perhaps you may give Sadaqa (charity) or do an act of kindness." [1] [Reported by Muslim].

952. Narrated Furai'a, daughter of Mālik^[2] : Her husband had gone out in search of some slaves of his and they killed him. She said, "I asked Allāh's Messenger 🕸 to be allowed to return to my family, for my husband had not left for me a house which belonged to him, nor had he left any maintenance." He then said, "Yes, (I agree)," but when I was in the courtyard, he called me and said, "Stay in your house till the prescribed period expires."[3] She said, "I observed the period in it for four months and ten days." She said, "Afterwards Uthmän gave judgement in accordance with that." [Ahmad and Al-Arba'a reported it. Al-Tirmidhi, Adh-Dhuhli, Ibn Hibban, Al-Hakim and others graded it Sabib (authentic)].

953. Narrated Fātima (*) daughter of Qais: I said, "O Allāh's Messenger, my husband has divorced me by three pronouncements (of divorce) and I am afraid that I may get broken into. Hence, he commanded her, and she moved (to another house)." [Reported by Muslim].

954. Narrated 'Amr bin Al-'Aas &: "Do not confuse us about our Prophet's *Sunnab*: The period that a slavewoman, whose master dies, and she has

فَرَجَرَهَا رَجُلُ أَنْ تَخْرُجَ، فَأَتَتِ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ، فَقَالَ: «بَلْ جُدِّي نَخْلَكِ، فَإِنَّكِ عَسَى أَنْ تَصَدَّقِي، أَوْ تَفْمَلِي مَعْرُوفًا». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٩٥٢) وَعَنْ فُرِيْعَةً بِنْتِ مَالِكِ، أَنَّ رَوْجَهَا خَرَجَ فِي طَلَبِ أَعْبُهِ لَّهُ، فَقَتُلُوهُ، قَالَتْ: خَرَجَ فِي طَلَبِ أَعْبُهِ لَّهُ، فَقَتُلُوهُ، قَالَتْ: فَيَالُتُ مَشَكَناً يَمْلِكُهُ، وَلَا أَهْلِي، فَيَوْلُكُ فِي مَسْكَناً يَمْلِكُهُ، وَلَا مَفْقَةً، فَقَالَ: نَعَمْ، فَلَمَّا كُنْتُ فِي الخُجُرُةِ نَادَانِي، فَقَالَ: تَعَمْ، فَلَمَّا كُنْتُ فِي الخُجُرُةِ نَادَكُ اللّهَا كُنْتُ فِي الخُجُرَةِ الكِتَابُ أَجَلُهُ، قَالَتْ: فَأَعْتَدُدُتُ فِيهِ أَرْبَعَةً أَلْكَ اللّهَا كُنْتُ فِي بَيْتِكِ حَتَّى يَبُلُغُ أَلْهُمُ وَكَالَتُ: فَأَعْتَدُدُتُ فِيهِ أَبْعَةً ذَٰلِكَ أَنْهُمُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ وَصَحْحَهُ وَالْأَرْبَعَةُ وَاللّهَا وَالْخَرَبَعَةُ وَصَحْحَهُ وَالْمَرْبَعَةُ وَاللّهَ وَلَا التَّرْبَعَةُ وَاللّهَا وَاللّهَا وَاللّهَا وَاللّهَا وَاللّهَا وَاللّهَا فِي وَاللّهُ وَاللّهَ وَاللّهُ وَاللّهَ وَاللّهُ وَلَا لَلْهُ وَاللّهُ ولَا لَاللّهُ وَاللّهُ وَاللّهُ

(٩٥٣) وَعَنْ فَاطِمَةَ بِنْتَرِ قَيْسٍ قَالَتْ: قُلْتُ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنَّ زَوْجِي طَلَّقَنِي ثَلَاثًا، وَأَخَافُ أَنْ يُقْتَحَمَ عَلَيَّ، قَالَ: فَأَمَرَهَا فَتَحَوَّلَتْ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٩٠٤) وَعَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ العَاصِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: لَا تُلبِسُوا عَلَيْنَا، سُنَّةُ نَبِيْنَا: عِدَّةُ أُمَّ الوَلَدِ، إِذَا تُؤْفِّيَ عَنْهَا سَبِّدُهَا، أَرْبَعَةُ

^[1] The women are instructed to spend their *'Iddab* duration within the houses of their husbands whether it is a case of divorce or widowhood. However, a woman upon whom the *Talāap* has been pronounced three times is an exception, for such a woman shall not live in her husband's house.

^[2] She is Furai'a, daughter of Mālik bin Sinān Al-Khudria, the sister of the famous Sahābi Sa'īd Al-Khudri. She witnessed the Bai'atur-Ridwān.

^[3] A widow must spend the days of her 'Iddah in the house of her late husband. Such is the ruling given by the majority of the religious scholars.

begotten a child from him must wait for, is four months and ten days."^[1] [Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and Ibn Mājah. Al-Hākim graded it *Sabib* (authentic), but Ad-Dāraqutni considered it defective due to *Inqitā*' (broken link)].

955. Narrated 'Aisha . Al-Aqra' is the period of a woman's purity (which occurs between two menses). [2] [Mālik, Ahmad and An-Nasā'i reported it in the course of a story with a Sabib (authentic) chain of narrators].

956. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: The divorce of a slave-woman occurs by saying it (the divorce word) twice, and her 'Iddab' (waiting period) is two menses. [3] [Reported by Ad-Dāraqutni. He reported it as Marfū' (a saying of the Prophet) and graded it Da'if (weak)]. Abū Dā'ud, At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Mājah reported the aforesaid Hadīth from the narration of 'Aisha (&), which Al-Hākim graded as Sabib (authentic), but the Hadīth scholars disagreed with him, and they agreed that it is Da'if (weak).

957. Narrated Ruwaifi' bin Thābit^[4] &: The Prophet ﷺ said, "It is not lawful for a man who believes in Allāh and the Last Day to water what another person أَشْهُرٍ وَعَشْرٌ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ. وَصَحَّحُهُ الحَاكِمُ، وَأَعَلَّهُ الدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ بِالانْقِطَاعِ.

(٩٥०) وَعَنْ عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، قَالَتْ: إِنَّمَا الأَقْرَاءُ الأَطْهَارُ. أَخْرَجُهُ مَالِكُ [وَأَحْمَدُ وَالنِّمَايِّيْ] فِي قِصَّةٍ، بِسَنَدٍ صَحِيحٍ.

(٩٥٦) وَعَن ابْن عُمَر رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، قَالَ: طَلَاقُ اللَّمَةِ تَطَلِيقَتَانِ ، وَعِدَّتُهَا حَنْهُمَا، قَالَ: طَلَاقُ الأَمَةِ تَطْلِيقَتَانِ ، وَعِدَّتُهَا حَنْهُمَانِ ، رَوَاهُ اللَّارَقُطْنِيُّ ، وَأَخْرَجَهُ مَرْفُوعاً ، وَضَعْقَهُ ، وَأَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالتَّرْمِيذِيُّ وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ مِنْ حَدِيثِ عَاتِشَةَ ، وَصَحْحَهُ الحَاكِمُ ، وَخَالَفُوهُ ، مِنْ خَلِيثِ عَالِشَةً ، وَصَحْحَهُ الحَاكِمُ ، وَخَالَفُوهُ ،

رُونِيَ بُنِرَ ثَابِتِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ، عَنْهُ، عَنْهُ، عَرْ اللَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «لَا يَجِلُّ الإَمْرِيءَ يُؤْمِنُ بِاللهِ وَاليَّرْمِ الآخِرِ أَنْ يَشْفِيَ مَاءَهُ

^[1] As to the duration of 'Iddab' in regard to a Ummul-Walad' (a slave-woman who has already mothered a child for her master), if she is widowed, some scholars are of the opinion that it is four months and ten days, whereas some of them maintain that it is one menstrual period only, a ruling which is correct.

^[2] There are a few words in Arabic which have two meanings which are opposite to each other. Such words are known as Dhawātul-Addad (the words that are their own antonyms). One such word is Qar' ((iz, j)) which stands for menstrual blood or period, and at the same time also means Tubr i.e., the state of being free from impurities. 'Aisha $\$ construed the same to be as Tubr whereas its predominant connotation happens to be that of a menstrual blood cycle.

^[3] This makes us know that a male-slave may consummate his divorce by pronouncing it two times, whereas the duration of a female-slave's 'Iddab comprises her two menstrual cycles.

^[4] Ruwaifi bin Thabit Al-Ansāri of Banu Mālik bin An-Najār and was counted among the settlers in Egypt. He died in the year 46 H.

has sown^[1] " [Abū Dā'ud and At-Tirmidhi reported it. Ibn Hibbān graded it *Sabib* (authentic), and Al-Bazzār graded it *Hasan* (good)].

958. Narrated 'Umar & regarding a wife of a lost husband: She should wait for four years and then observe the 'Iddah for four months and ten days. [2] (before she may remarry). [Mālik and Ash-Shāfi'i reported it].

959. Narrated Al-Mughira bin Shu'ba &: Allāh's Messenger
& said, "The spouse of a lost husband remains his wife till she gets a certain news about his death." [Ad-Dāraqutni reported it with a Da'tf (weak) chain of narrators].

960. Narrated Jābir &: Allāh's Messenger said, "A man must not spend the night in the house of woman^[3] unless he is her husband or a *Mahram*." [Reported by Muslim].

961. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās 毒: The Prophet 醬 said, "A man must not be alone with a woman except in the presence of a *Mabram*." [Al-Bukhāri reported it].

962. Narrated Abū Saʿīd ♣: The Prophet ﷺ said in regard to the captives taken زَرْعَ غَيْرِهِ». أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو· دَاوُدَ وَالنَّرْمِلِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ أَبْنُ جِبَّانَ، وَحَسَّنُهُ البَرَّارُ.

(٩٥٨) وَعَنْ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، فِي آشْرَأَةِ ٱلْمَثْفُودِ، تَرَبِّصُ أَرْبَعَ سِنِينَ، ثُمَّ تَعْتَدُ أَرْبَعَةَ أَشْهُرٍ وَعَشْراً. أَخْرَجَهُ مَالِكٌ وَالشَّافِيثِ.

(٩٠٩) وَعَن المُفِيرَةِ بْنِ شُعْبَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «المُرَأَةُ المَفْقُودِ الْمَرَأَثُهُ حَتَّى يَأْتِيَهَا البَيّانُ». أُخْرَجَهُ الدَّارُقُطْنِيُّ بِإِسْنَادِ صَعِيفٍ.

(٩٦٠) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لا يَبِيتَنَّ رَجُلٌ عِنْدَ امْرَأَةِ، إِلَّا أَنْ يَكُونَ نَاكِحاً، أَوْ ذَا مَحْرَمٍ». أَخْرَجَهُ مُشْلِمٌ.

(٩٦١) وَعَنرِ ابْنِرِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، عَن ِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «لَا يَخْلُونَّ رَجُلٌ بِامْزَأَةٍ إِلَّا مَعَ ذِي مَحْرَمٍ». أَخْرَجَهُ البُخَارِئِيُ.

(٩٦٢) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ قَالَ فِي سَبَايًا أَوْطَاسٍ: «لَا تُوطَأُ

^[1] It may imply two meanings. First of all, one should not commit fornication. Secondly, one should not perform a sexual intercourse with a female-slave who is already pregnant by her ex-husband or previous master until she gives birth to a child.

^[2] A woman whose husband is reported to be lost, shall have to wait four years (before she can remarry). This waiting period of four years was determined by 'Umar وضي الله عنه Later, the Companions of the Prophet ﷺ had a consensus to this effect and the religious scholars also pronounced their judgement based on this ruling.

^[3] This *Hadītb* informs us that it is forbidden for a man to be in seclusion with a non-Mahram woman. The reason for this ruling, also mentioned in another *Hadītb*, is that Satan interferes between them and coaxes them into committing the abominable act of fornication. Even if they refrain from committing this unlawful act, they are still threatened to be accused as such and thus fall into disrepute. It is also an obligation to avoid such suspicious situations.

^[4] Mabram is the one who is so closely related to a woman that marriage between them is permanently forbidden.

at Autās, "There must be no intercourse with a pregnant woman till she gives birth, or with one who is not pregnant till she has had one menstrual period." [Abū Dā'ud reported it, and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)]. The aforesaid Hadītb has a supporting narration from Ibn 'Abbās (\$) reported by Ad-Dāraqutni.

963. Narrated Abū Huraira s: The Prophet said, "The child (born out of wedlock) belongs to the one on whose bed it is born, [1] and stoning to death is for the fornicator." [Agreed upon, regarding Abū Huraira's Hadīth]. The aforesaid Hadīth is also a part of 'Aisha's Hadīth in the course of a story, and from Ibn Mas'ūd by An-Nasā'i, and from 'Uthmān by Abū Dā'ud.

خاولٌ حَتَّى تَضَعَ، وَلَا غَيْرُ ذَاتِ حَمْلِر، حَتَّى تَجِيضَ حَيْضَةً . أُخْرَجَهُ أَبُو ذَاوُذَ، وَصَحَّحَهُ اللهِ ذَاوُذَ، وَصَحَّحَهُ اللهِ الْكَاكِمُ، وَلَهُ شَاهِدٌ عَن ابْن عَبَّاسٍ فِي الدَّارَعُطَنِيُّ.

(٩٦٣) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ،
عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالِنَ: «اَلْوَلَدُ لِلْفِرَاشِ، وَلِلْمَاهِرِ
النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالِنَ: «الْوَلَدُ لِلْفِرَاشِ، وَلِلْمَاهِرِ
الْمُحَبِّرُ"، مُثَقَّقُ عَلَيْهِ مِنْ حَدِيثِهِ، وَمِنْ حَدِيثِ
عَائِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا فِي قَصَّةٍ، وَعَنِ
ابْنِ مُسْعُودٍ عِنْدَ النَّسَآنِينُ وَعَنْ عُنْمَانَ عِنْدَ أَبِي

Chapter 12 AR-RIDA' (SUCKLING OF ONE'S CHILD BY A WOMAN OTHER THAN HIS MOTHER)

١٢ - بَابُ الرِّضَاعِ

(٩٦٤) عَنْ عَاتِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، قَالَتْ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا تُحَرِّمُ المَصَّةُ [وَلاً] المَصَّنَانِ». أَخْرَجُهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

^[1] It means that a woman's child will always be attributed to her husband and shall remain in his custody. If someone claims that he had an unlawful sexual intercourse with a certain woman and that the child which is in her custody belongs to him – in this situation, the child will still belong to the woman's husband and so long as the man in question has confessed to committing an act of fornication, Shari'a ruling shall be enforced on him. No ruling, however, shall be pronounced on the woman merely on the statement of the fornicator unless four witnesses support the same. Otherwise, a ruling of calumny (accusing her falsely) shall also be pronounced against him.

^[2] This *Hadītb* tells us that the suckling baby's act of sucking on a woman's milk once or twice does not confirm and prove *Tabrīm* (prohibition). A *Hadītb* narrated by 'Aisha & clearly states that in order to prove such a prohibition a woman has to breast feed a baby at least five times.

965. Narrated ('Aisha) &: Allāh's Messenger said, "Be sure (you women) who your brothers^[1] are, for suckling is that which is the result of hunger (i.e. when milk is the child's only food)." [Agreed upon].

966. Narrated ('Aisha) *: Sahla (*) daughter of Suhail^[2] (*) came and said, "O Allāh's Messenger, Sālim^[3] the manumitted slave of Abū Hudhiafa^[4] lives with us in our house; and he has attained what men attain (i.e. puberty). He said, "Suckle him so you would become unlawful^[5] to him (in marriage)." [Reported by Muslim].

967. Narrated ('Aisha) . Aflah [her foster suckling uncle], brother of Abūl-Qu'ais [6], came and asked her permission to enter after the *Hijāb*

(٩٦٥) وَعَنْهَا قَالَتْ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «انْظُرُنَ مَنْ إِخْوَانُكُنَّ، فَإِنَّمَا الرَّضَاعَةُ مِنَ المَجَاعَةِ». مُثَقَّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

(٩٦٦) وَعَنْهَا قَالَتْ: جَآءَتْ سَهْلَةُ بِنْتُ سُهَلَةُ بِنْتُ سُهُلَةً بِنْتُ سُهُلَةً بِنْتُ سُهُلَةً بِنْتُ سُهُلَةً مِنْكَ مَا يَبْلُغُ أَبِي مُثَنِّئَةً وَقَدْ بَلَغَ مَا يَبْلُغُ الْرَجْالُ، فَقَالَ: «أَرْضِعِيهِ، تَحْرُمِي عَلَيْهِ». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ. مُسْلِمٌ.

(٩٦٧) وَعَنْهَا أَنْ أَفْلَحَ أَخَا أَبِي ٱلْقُعْشِ جَآءَ يَشْتَأْذِنُ عَلَيْهَا بَعْدَ الحِجَابِ ، قَالَتْ: فَأَبَيْتُ أَنْ آذَنَ لَهُ، فَلَهًا جَآءَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: أَخْبَرُتُهُ الَّذِي

^[1] It happened that a certain person was sitting by 'Aisha **, while the Prophet 经 came. He (the Prophet 经) did not like the idea of someone sitting with her in seclusion. 'Aisha ** informed the Prophet 经 that the person was her foster brother (in the sense that both of them were breast-fed by the same woman in their infancy). Upon hearing this, the Prophet 经 observed a general instruction to the effect that one should thoroughly investigate, and confirm, the validity of such a statement in relation to one's breast-fed brothers. This is because only breast-feeding in one's infancy — when the child has no other source of food except the breast milk — proves this prohibition. This was a special instruction applicable to such a case only, excluding others.

^[2] Sahla, daughter of Suhail bin 'Amr Al-Qurashiya was from Banu 'Aamir bin Lu'ai. She became a Muslim early and migrated with Abū Hudhaifa to Abyssinia (Ethiopia) and bore for him there Muhammad bin Abū Hudhaifa.

^[4] It was said that his name was Muhashim or Hāshim bin 'Utba bin Rabi'a bin 'Abd Shams. He was among the virtuous *Sabāba* and witnessed Badr, Uhud and all the other important battles. He was martyred in the battle of Al-Yamama at the age of 53 years.

^[5] The Majority of the 'Ulama hold the opinion that the suckling which makes marriage unlawful between two people is the one that takes place within the first two years of age and the case of Sālim in this Hadāth is an exception, not applicable to anyone after him.

^[6] He is Abul-Ja'd Aflah, the manumitted slave of Allāh's Messenger ﷺ or the manumitted slave of Umm Salama. His brother Abul-Qu'ais was called Al-Ja'd or Wa'il bin Aflah Al-Ash'ari, so his brother Aflah's name is the same as that of his father. 'Aisha \$ has two uncles-in-suckling one of them being her father Abū Bakr's brother-in-suckling who died during the

(was instituted for women). She said, "I refused to allow him in and when Allāh's Messenger ﷺ came, I told him about what I had done, so he commanded me to give him permission to enter where I am and said, 'He is your paternal uncle.' "[1] [Agreed upon].

968. Narrated ('Aisha) \$\\$: In what was sent down in the Qur'ān was 'ten known sucklings made marriage unlawful'. Afterwards, they were abrogated by 'five known ones.' Then, when Allāh's Messenger \$\mathbb{a}\$ died these words were among what was recited in the Qur'ān. [Reported by Muslim].

969. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The Prophet was offered to marry the daughter of Hamza. He said, "She is unlawful to me for she is the daughter of my brother in suckling; and what is unlawful by reason of blood relationship [2] is unlawful by reason of suckling relationship" [Agreed upon].

970. Narrated Umm Salama \$\ :\ Allāh's Messenger \$\ \sigma\ \text{said}, "The suckling that makes marriage unlawful is that which reaches the intestines (i.e. nourishes the child), and is taken before the (two years) time of weaning." [Reported by At-Tirmidhi, he and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

971. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās \\$: Suckling applies only (to infants) during the first two years (of their life). [Reported by

صَنَعْتُهُ، فَأَمَرَنِي أَنْ آذَنَ لَهُ عَليَّ، وَقَالَ: إِنَّهُ عَمُّكِ. مُثَّقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٩٦٨) وَعَنْهَا فَالَتْ: كَانَ فِيمَا أُنْوِلَ القُوْآنُ عَشُرُ رَضْعَاتِ مَعْلُومَاتِ يُحَرِّمُنَ، ثُمَّ نُسِخْنَ بِخَسْسِ مَعْلُومَاتٍ، فَتُوفِّي رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ وَهِيَ فِيمَا يُقَرَّأُ مِنَ القُوْآنِ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٩٦٩) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا اللَّيِّ ﷺ أُولِدَ عَلَى ابْنَةِ حَمْزَةً، فَقَالَ: "إِنَّهَا ابْنَةً أَخِي مِنَ فَقَالَ: "إِنَّهَا ابْنَةُ أَخِي مِنَ الرَّضَاعَةِ مَا يَحُرُمُ مِنَ الرَّضَاعَةِ مَا يَحْرُمُ مِنَ الرَّسَاعِةِ مَا يَحْرُمُ مِنَ الرَّسَاعِةِ مِنْ اللَّهُ اللْعُلِمُ اللَّهُ اللْعُلْمُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللْعُلِمُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللْعُلْمُ ا

(٧٠) وَعَنْ أَمُّ سَلَمَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، قَالَتْ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: اللَّه يَخْرُمُ مِنَ الرَّصَاعِ إِلَّا يَخْرُمُ مِنَ الرَّصَاعِ إِلَّا مَا فَتَقَ الأَمْمَاء، وَكَانَ قَبْلَ الفِظَامِ». وَوَاهُ الفُرْمِيذِئي، وَصَحَّحَهُ هُوَ الفَرْمِيذِئي، وَصَحَّحَهُ هُوَ وَالحَاجِهُ.

(٩٧١) وَعَن ِ ابْن ِ عَبَّاس ِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: لَا رَضَاعَ إِلَّا فِي الحَوْلَيْنِ. رَوَاهُ

lifetime of the Prophet ﷺ and the second one being Aflah the brother of her father-in-suckling Abul-Qu'ais.

⁽¹¹⁾ A woman, on whose milk an infant is fed, shall be considered and regarded as its real mother, just as if she had herself physically given birth to him. Hence, her husband shall be considered as his father and all matters which are prohibited by parental lineage shall similarly be effective on such breast-feeding infants in relation to their foster parents.

¹²¹ One must also bear in mind that an infant shall be related to his foster mother as well as her relatives. However, she will have no relationship with the relatives of the infant. Hence, the rulings (of prohibition of marriage, etc.) applicable to the suckling child will not be applicable to his blood relatives.

Ad-Dāraqutni and Ibn 'Adi as *Marfū*' (a saying of the Prophet) and *Mawqūf* (a saying of a Companion). However, they both held that the stronger view is that it is (*Mawqūf*) (i.e. saying of Ibn 'Abbasl.

972. Narrated Ibn Mas'ūd 🕸: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "The only suckling (to be considered) is that which gives life to the bones and causes the flesh to grow." [Abū Dā'ud reported it].

973. Narrated 'Uqba bin Al-Hārith^[1]: He married Umm Yahya,^[2] daughter of Abū Ihāb, and a woman came and said, "I have suckled both of you." So he asked the Prophet sand he replied, "How (can you hesitate) while it has been said (that you are foster brothers and sisters)?' '[3] 'Uqba therefore separated from her and she married another husband. [Al-Bukhāri reported it].

974. Narrated Ziyād As-Sahmi^[4]: Allāh's Messenger 囊 forbade that a stupid woman may be asked to suckle an infant. [Abū Dā'ud reported it. It is *Mursal* (missing link after the *Tābi'i*) and Ziyād is not a *Sabābi*].

الدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ وَابْنُ عَدِيٍّ مَرْفُوعاً وَمَوْفُوفاً. وَرَجَّحَا المَوْقُوفَ.

(٩٧٧) وَعَنِ ابْنِ مَسْعُودِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا رَصَاعَ إِلَّا مَا أَنْشَرَ العَظْمَ، وَأَنْبَتَ اللَّحْمَ». أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ.

(٩٧٣) وَعَنْ عُفْبَةٌ بْنِ الحَارِثِ أَنَّهُ تَزَوَّجَ أَمَّ يَحْمَى بِنْتَ أَبِي إِهَابٍ، فَجَآءَتِ ٱمْرَأَةً، فَقَالَتْ قَدْ أَرْضَمْتُكُمَّا، فَسَأَلَ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ، فَقَالَ: «كَنْفَ؟ وَقَدْ فِيلَ»، فَفَارَقَهَا عُقْبُهُ، وَنَكَحَتْ زَوْجًا غَيْرَهُ، أَخْرَجَهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(٩٧٤) وَعَنْ زِيَادٍ السَّهْمِيِّ قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ أَنْ تُسْتَرْضَعَ الحُمْفَى. أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ. وَهُوَ مُرْسَلٌ، وَلَيْسَتْ لِزِيَادٍ صُحْبَةً.

^[1] He was called Sirwa'ta 'Uqba bin Al-Hārith bin 'Aamir bin Naufal bin 'Abd Manāf Al-Makki. He was a Sabābi among those who became Muslims during Fath Makkab and he lived up to after the fifties of the Hijra.

^[2] Her name is Ghaniya, daughter of Abū Ihāb bin 'Uwair At-Tamimi. It was also said that her name was Zainab.

^[3] This Hadith lets us know that in order to prove the breast-feeding relationship (brotherhood or sisterhood between two persons established as such), just a single evidence of a (the breast-feeding) woman is sufficient. This also shows that evidence provided by a female, in the matters concerning women, is stronger and more authentic than the one given by her male counterpart.

^[4] It is mentioned in At-Taqrib that he is a Tābi'i of the third generation and is unconfirmed (as a reliable reporter). He reported a Hadītb which is Mursal. It is also said that he was a manumitted slave of 'Amr bin Al-'Aas. Both the authors of Usud Al-Gbāba and Al-Isti'āba did not mention him among the Sabāba.

Chapter 13 MAINTENANCE

١٣ - بَابُ النَّفَقَاتِ

975. Narrated 'Aisha \$: Hind daughter of 'Utba^[1] – wife of Abū Sufyān^[2] – came to Allāh's Messenger ﷺ and said, "O Allāh's Messenger, Abū Sufyān is a miser who does not give me and my sons enough maintenance, except what I take from his wealth without his knowledge. Is there any blame on me for doing this?" He replied, "Take from his wealth what is reasonable and enough for you and your sons." [3] [Agreed upon].

(٩٧٥) عَنْ عَاتِشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا وَلَاكُ: دَخَلَتْ هِنْدٌ بِنْتُ عُنْبَةً، آمُرَاةً أَبِي اللَّهُ عَنْبَةً، آمُرَاةً أَبِي اللَّهُ عَنْبَةً، آمُرَاةً أَبِي اللَّهُ الللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللِمُوالِمُ اللَّهُ

976. Narrated Tāriq^[4] Al-Muhāribi (🌤): We arrived at Al-Madīnah when Allāh's Messenger 🍇 was standing on the *Minbar* addressing the people and saying, "The hand of the giver is the upper one,^[5] and spend first on those who are dependent on you: your mother and father, your sister and

(٩٧٦) وَعَنْ طَارِق المُحَارِيِّ، قَالَ: قَلِمْنَا المَمْدِية ، فَإِذَا رَسُولُ اللهِ اللهِ فَقَالِمُ عَلَى المِنْبَرِ، وَيَقُولُ: «يَدُ المُعْطِي العُلْبَا، وَيَقُولُ: «يَدُ المُعْطِي العُلْبَا، وَالْبَدَأُ بِمَنْ تَعُولُ، أُمَّك، وَأَبَاكَ، وَأَخْتَكَ، وَأَخَاكَ، مُمَّ أَذْنَاكَ عَأْذَنَاكَ». رَوَاهُ النَّسَاتِينُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ جَالاً وَالدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ.

^[1] Hind bint 'Utba bin Rabi'a bin 'Abd Shams became a Muslim in the year of Al-Fatb in Makkah after her husband Abū Sufyān became a Muslim in the year of Al-Fatb in Makkah. The killing of her father 'Utba, her uncle Shaiba and her brother Al-Walid at Badr saddened her a lot so when Hamza was killed at Uhud by the Musbrikūn, she opened up his body, chewed his liver and spat it out. It was reported that she died in Muharram 14 H.

^[2] His name was Sakhr bin Harb bin Umaiya bin 'Abd Shams who held the flag of the Kuffär and was their leader in their fight against the Prophet 續. He became a Muslim on the day of Fath Makkab when Al-'Abbās took him to the Prophet 續 before entering Makkah and he later on became a good Muslim. He died during the caliphate of 'Uthmān in 32 H.

^[3] The purpose of citing this *Hadīth* here is to demonstrate that it is an obligation on a man to bear the expenses incurred by his wife and children. It also shows that in case someone denies someone else his lawful claims or rights that he is legally entitled to, then such a person is permitted to secure them even by other means. In other words, if someone is deprived of his lawful entitlements by way of oppression, he may resort to other means for the redemption of his rights.

^[4] Tăriq bin 'Abdullah Al-Muhāribi was a Sahābi who reported some Abadītb. He descended from Muhārib bin Khasfa, a clan of Banu Ghatafān.

^[5] A giving hand is better than a receiving one. One should avoid borrowing money as far as possible. This Hadith does not mention wife and children as they are already included in the expenses. This further elaborates that a rich man's family (according to Islamic law) includes his poor brothers and sisters so that they may live well, without any financial difficulty.

brother, then your relatives in order of their closeness to you." [Reported by An-Nasā'i. Ibn Hibbān and Ad-Dāraqutni graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

978. Narrated Hakim bin Mu'āwiya Al-Qushairi on his father's authority .: I asked, "O Allāh's Messenger, what is the right of the wife of one of us upon her husband?" He replied, "That you should give her food when you eat, and clothe her when you clothe yourself, and do not strike her on the face and do not revile her." [The narrator narrated the rest of the Hadāth that has been mentioned in the chapter on the treatment of wives].

979. Narrated Jābir 🔹: The Prophet 🕸 – in the *Hadīth* of pilgrimage which is long – said in regard to women, "They (women) have rights over you (the men) to provide them with their sustenance and clothing in a reasonable^[2] manner." [Muslim reported it].

980. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin 'Umar &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "It is enough for a person to be considered sinful, that he neglects those whom he is (٩٧٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لِلْمَمْلُوكِ طَعَامُهُ وَكِشْرَتُهُ، وَلَا يُكَلِّفُ مِنَ العَمَلِ إِلَّا مَا يُطِيقُ». رَوَاهُ مُشْلِمٌ.

(٩٧٩) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنر النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، في حَدِيثِ الحَجِّ بِطُولِهِ، قَالَ في ذِكْرِ النِّسَآء: «وَلَهَنَّ عَلَيْكُمْ رِزْفُهُنَّ وَكِسُوتُهُنَّ بِالمَعْرُوفِ». أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٩٨٠) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِرَ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُمَا، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "كَفَى بِالمَرْءِ إِنْمَا أَنْ يُضَبِّعَ مَنْ يَقُوتُ». رَوَاهُ

^[1] The better way of conduct is that one should offer one's male or female slave exactly the same kind and quality of food he himself partakes of, while the same is not an obligation on him. However, it is an obligation on the master to provide them with the bare minimum necessities such as food and clothes. It further informs us that no assignment should be given to a male or female slave that far exceeds their capacity. If their master forces them to undertake such an assignment, there is no obligation on them to comply with such an instruction of their master.

^[2] The purpose of citing this *Hadith* here is that the expenses should be taken into consideration in accordance with the financial status of a man. If a man is rich, his wife may claim an increased amount of expenditure money, as befits his wealthy status. If he is poor, she must claim her expenses according to his finances.

responsible to sustain."[1] [Reported by An-Nasā'i]. Muslim has this wording: "... to withhold (food) from the one whose food he possesses."

981. Narrated Jäbir & in a *Hadūtb* which he attributed to the Prophet regarding a pregnant (woman) whose husband died: "She has no maintenance rights." [Al-Baihaqi reported it. Its narrators are reliable, but Al-Baihaqi said, "The correct narration is that which is *Mawqūf*" (a saying of a Companion)]. It was established that no maintenance is due (to a woman who was divorced by three pronouncements) in the *Hadūth* of Fātima (\$) daughter of Qais, which has preceded. [Reported by Muslim].

982. Narrated Abū Huraira :: Allāh's Messenger :: said, "The upper hand is better than the lower one, and one of you should spend first on those he is responsible to provide for, lest a woman^[3] would say, 'Feed me or divorce me.''' [Reported by Ad-Dāraqutni, and its chain of narrators is *Hasan* (good)].

983. Narrated Sa'id bin Al-Musaiyab regarding a man who finds nothing to spend on his wife: "They are to be separated." Reported by Sa'id bin

النَّسَانَيُّ، وَهُوَ عِنْدَ مُسْلِمٍ بِلَفْظِ «أَنْ يَحْسِسَ عَمَّنْ يَمْلِكُ قُوتَهُ».

(٩٨١) وَعَنْ جَابِرٍ، يَرْفَعُهُ، فِي الحَامِلِ الْمُكَافِّةُ فَي الحَامِلِ الْمُكَوِّقِي عَنْهَا زُوْجُهَا، قَالَ: لَا نَفَقَةَ لَهَا. أَخْرَجَهُ البَيْهَقِيُّ، وَرِجَالُهُ لِقَاتُ، لَكِن قَالَ: المَحْفُوظُ وَقَفُهُ، وَثَبَتَ نَفْيُ النَّقَقَةِ فِي حَدِيثِ فَاطِمَةً بِنْتِ قَيْسٍ، كَمَا تَقَدَّمُ، رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(٩٨٧) وَعَنْ أَيِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «اليّذ الغُلْيًا خَيْرٌ مِنَ اليّدِ الشُّفْلَى، وَيَبْذَأُ أَحَدُكُمْ بِمَنْ يَعُولُ، تَقُولُ المَرْأَةُ: أَطْمِمْنِي أَوْ طَلَّقْنِي». رَوَاهُ الدَّارَقُطْنِيُ، وَإِشْنَادُهُ حَسَنٌ.

(٩٨٣) وَعَنْ سَعِيدِ بْنِ المُسَيَّبِ، فِي الرُّجُلِرِ لَا يَجِدُ مَا يُنْقِقُ عَلَىٰ أَهْلِهِ، قَالَ: يُفَرَّقُ بَيْنَهُمَا. أَخْرَجُهُ سَعِيدُ بْنُ مَنْصُورٍ، عَنْ شَفْيَانَ، عَنْ أَبِي

^[1] This makes it known that it is an enormous sin to not to cater to the needs of one's kith and kin. The ones whose expenditure is binding on a man are his wife, children, his male and female slaves and his parents.

^[2] A non-pregnant, thrice divorced woman, by a common consensus, is neither entitled to a house or expenses. A pregnant, thrice divorced woman is only entitled to her living expenses and not the house. A non-pregnant widow is only entitled to a house and not the expenses. A pregnant widow is entitled to a house, there is a difference of opinions among the scholars whether or not is she entitled to her living expenses. The discussion concerning the boarding and lodging prolongs concerning the woman during 'Iddab (i.e., waiting period). Once her 'Iddab period is over, she is not entitled to anything at all.

^[3] This *Hadith* tells us that in case a man does not or cannot meet the living expenses of his spouse, there must be a separation between them if his spouse demands such a separation. However, if a woman is willing to be patient with him through the thick and thin of it, great shall be her reward.

Mansūr, from Sufyān, [1] from Abū Az-Zinād, [2] from Sa'īd bin Al-Musaiyab. He said, "I asked Sa'īd (bin Al-Musaiyab), 'Is this Sunnab?' And he replied, 'Yes, it is Sunnab!''' [This Hadītb is a strong Mursal (missing link after the Tābī'f)].

984. Narrated 'Umar \$\pi\$: He wrote (letters) to the commanders of the armies regarding some men (soldiers) who have been absent from their wives, that they should impose upon them to spend on their wives or divorce them; and if they divorce them they should then send the maintenance \$\frac{1}{2}\$ which they have withheld. [Ash-Shāfi'i reported it, then Al-Baihaqi with a *Hasan* (good) chain of narrators].

985. Narrated Abū Huraira : A man came to the Prophet and said, "I have a Dinār." He said, "Spend it on yourself." He said, "I have another." He replied, "Spend it on your children." He said, "I have another." He replied, "Spend it on your wife." He said, "I have another." He replied, "Spend it on your servant." He replied, "Spend it on your servant." He said, "I have another." He replied, "You know best (what to do with it)." [Ash-Shāfi'i and Abū Dā'ud reported it, and the wording is Abū Dā'ud's. An-Nasā'i and Al-Hākim reported it with the wife preceding the children].

986. Narrated Bahz bin Hakim on his father's authority from his grandfather

الزَّنَادِ، عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قُلْتُ لِسَعِيدِ: سُنَّةٌ؟ فَقَالَ: سُنَّةً. وَلهٰذَا مُرْسَلٌ قَوِيِّ.

(٩٨٤) وَعَنْ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُ كَتَبَ إِلَىٰ أَمْرَآءِ الأَخْنَادِ، فِي رِجَال عَابُوا عَنْ يِسَآنِهِمْ: أَنْ يَأْخُذُوهُمْ بِأَنْ يُنْفِقُوا، أَوْ يُطَلِّقُوا، فَإِنْ طَلَّقُوا بَعَثُوا بِنَفَقَةِ مَا حَبَسُوا. أَخْرَجَهُ الشَّافِعِيُّ ثُمَّ البَيْهَقِيُّ بِإِسْنَادٍ حَسَن.

(٩٨٥) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنُهُ قَالَ: يَا وَلَمْ اللَّبِيِّ ﷺ فَقَالَ: يَا رَجُلٌ إِلَى النَّبِيِّ ﷺ فَقَالَ: يَا نَضُولَ اللهِ! عِنْدِي إِخَرُ، قَالَ: «أَنْفِقُهُ عَلَىٰ نَفْسِكَ»، قَالَ: عِنْدِي آخَرُ، قَالَ: «أَنْفِقُهُ عَلَىٰ أَفْلِكَ»، قَالَ: عِنْدِي آخَرُ، قَالَ: «أَنْفِقُهُ عَلَىٰ أَفْلِكَ»، قَالَ: عِنْدِي آخَرُ، قَالَ: «أَنْفَقُهُ عَلَىٰ خَادِيكَ»، قَالَ: عِنْدِي آخَرُ، قَالَ: «أَنْفَقُهُ عَلَىٰ أَعْلَمُهُ. أَخْرَجَهُ الشَّافِيقُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَاللَّفْظُ لَهُ، وَأَخْرَجُهُ الشَّانِيقُ وَالحَاكِمُ بِتَقْدِيمِ الزَّوْجَةِ عَلَى الزَّوْبَةِ عَلَى النَّوْلُولُ.

(٩٨٦) وَعَنْ بَهْزِ بْنِ حَكِيمٍ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ عَنْ جَدِّهِ، قَالَ: قُلْتُ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! مَنْ أَبَرُّ؟

^[1] Sufyān bin Sa'īd bin Masrūq Ath-Thawri Abū 'Abdullāh Al-Kufi was one of the eminent *Imāms* whose imamate, accuracy, memorization and knowledge of *Abadīth*, and asceticism were unanimously confirmed. He was born in 77 H. and died in Basra in the year 161 H.

^[2] His real name is 'Abdullāh bin Dhakwān, Al-Amawi by clientship of Al-Madīnah. He was among the eminent *Imāms*. Ahmad said, "He was reliable and a commander of the believers." Al-Bukhāri said, "The most authentic chain of narration is: Abū Az-Zinād narrated from Al-A'raj from Abū Huraira (who narrated from the Prophet 鑑)." He died in the year 130 H or 131 H.

^[3] Another *Hadith* states that the money which one spends on his own kith and kin is of a far greater value in terms of reward than that which is spent on the poor strangers.

(**): I asked, "O Allāh's Messenger, to whom should I be kind and dutiful?" He replied. "Your mother." I asked, "Who comes next?" He replied, "Your mother." I asked, "Who comes next?" He replied, "Your mother." I asked, "Who comes next?" He replied, "Your father, then your relatives in order of nearness (of relationship)." [Abū Dā'ud and At-Tirmidhi reported it; the latter graded it *Hasan* (good)].

Chapter 14 *AL-HIDĀNA*^[1] (GUARDIANSHIP)

987. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin 'Amr &: A woman said, "O Allāh's Messenger, this son of mine: my womb was a receptacle for him, my breasts were a source of suckling for him, and my lap was a place for him to curl up in, yet his father has divorced me and wants to take him away from me." Allāh's Messenger ## replied her, "You have more right to him as long as you do not remarry." [Reported by Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud. Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

 قَالَ: ﴿أُمِّكُ*، فَلُتُ: ثُمَّ مَنْ؟ قَالَ: ﴿أَمَّكَ*، فَلُتُ: ثُمَّ مَنْ؟ وَلَكَ: ثُمَّ مَنْ؟ قَالَ: ﴿أَمَّكَ*، فَلُتُ: ثُمَّ مَنْ؟ قَالَ: ﴿أَمَّكَ*، فَلُتُ: ثُمَّ مَنْ؟ قَالَ: ﴿أَبُورَجُهُ أَلُورُتِهُ وَحَسَّنَهُ. أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالْتُرْفِذِيُّ، وَحَسَّنَهُ.

١٤ - بَابُ الحِضَانَةِ

(٩٨٧) عَنْ عَبْدِاللهِ بْنِ عَمْرِو رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهِمَا، أَنَّ أَمْرَأَةً قَالَتْ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنَّ ابني عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ أَمْرَأَةً قَالَتْ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنَّ ابني لَهُ سِقَاءً، وَلَذِي لَهُ سِقَاءً، وَيَلْبِي لَهُ سِقَاءً، وَيَلْبِي لَهُ سِقَاءً، وَإِنَّ أَبَاهُ طَلَقَنِي، وَأَرَادَ أَنْ يَبْرِعَهُ مِنِّي، فَقَالَ لَهَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "أَنْتَ مِنْهُ مِنْهُ النَّالِمُ اللهِ ﷺ: "أَنْتَ مَا لَمْ تَنْكِحِي". رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو كَاللهِ وَاللهِ وَمَحْمَهُ النَّاكِمُ.

(٩٨٨) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ امْرَأَةً قَالَتْ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنَّ زَوْجِي يُرِيدُ أَنْ يَذْهَبَ بِٱبْنِي، وَقَدْ نَفَعَنِي، وَسَقَانِي مِنْ بِثْمِ أَبِي عِبَنَّهُ، فَجَآءَ زَوْجُهَا، فَقَالَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ: المَا

^[1] Hidāna literally means preservation and safety. According to the terminology of the Islamic law, it implies the proper upbringing and care accorded to a minor. If a man divorces his wife in such a condition that both of them are Muslims and have small children, then the woman has more right to claim the custody of her children. The man cannot deprive her of the children by snatching them away from her by force. In case such a child happens to be a milk-sucking infant, the expenses concerning her livelihood and the infant's clothing shall have to be borne by the man until the end of the child's infancy period. Once this span is over, the expenses of the child shall be the liability of his father regardless whether this child lives with his mother or father. As long as the woman does not remarry, such a child shall remain under her custody until he reaches adulthood. In case she marries his custody shall be transferred to his father. According to the Hanafi Madbhab, if she marries one of the relatives of the child, he will remain in her custody.

the well of Abū 'Inaba.' Then her husband came and the Prophet 鑑 said, "Young man, this is your father and this is your mother, so take whoever of them you wish by the hand." He took his mother's hand and she went off with him. [1] [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a. At-Tirmidhi graded it Sabib (authentic)].

غُلامُ! هَذَا أَبُوكَ، وَهَذِهِ أَشُكَ، فَخُذْ بِيَدِ أَيُهِمَا شِئْتَ، فَأَخَذَ بِيَدِ أَمُّو، فَانْطَلَقَتْ بِدِ". رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ النَّرْمِذِيُّ.

989. Narrated Rāfi' bin Sinān^[2] (�): He accepted Islam but his wife refused to accept it. The Prophet ﷺ then made the mother sit down to a side and the father to another side and made the son sit down between them. He (the son) then inclined to his mother, so the Prophet ﷺ then said, "O Allāh, give him guidance." Then he inclined to his father and he took him.^[3] [Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i reported it. Al-Hākim graded it *Sahib* (authentic)].

(٩٨٩) وَعَنْ رَافِيمِ بْنِ سِنَانِ أَنَّهُ أَسْلَمَ، وَأَفْعَدَ النَّبِيُّ يُثَلِّقُ اللَّمُ وَأَفْعَدَ النَّبِيُ يُثَلِّقُ الأُمَّ فَاخْعَدَ الضَّبِيَّ بَيْنَهُمَا، فَاخْعَدَ الصَّبِيَّ بَيْنَهُمَا، فَاخَالَ إِلَى فَمَالَ إِلَى أُمُّو، فَقَالَ: «اللَّهُمَّ الْهَدِهِ، فَمَالَ إِلَى أَبِيهِ، فَأَخَدُهُ». أَخْرَجُهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَاقِيُّ، وَصَحَحُهُ الحَاكِمُ.

990. Narrated Al-Barā bin 'Azib .: The Prophet sagave a ruling regarding Hamza's daughter in favor of her maternal aunt, saying, "The maternal aunt is in the position of the mother." [Al-Bukhāri reported it].

(٩٩٠) وَعَن البَرْآءِ بْنِ عَاذِبْ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَضَى فِي أَبْنَةِ حَمْزَةَ لِخَالِتِهَا، وَقَالَ: «اَلحَالَةُ بِمَنْزِلَةِ الأُمَّ». أَخْرَجَهُ البُخَارِئِي.

Ahmad reported it from the *Hadīth* of 'Ali , he said, "The little girl must be with her maternal aunt for the maternal aunt is (the same as) a mother."

وَأَخْرُجَهُ أَخْمَدُ مِنْ حَدِيثِ عَلِيَّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: وَالجَارِيَةُ عِنْدَ خَالَيْهَا فَإِنَّ الخَالَةَ وَالِدَةُ.

991. Narrated Abū Huraira 🌸: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "When one's servant

(٩٩١) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «إِذَا أَتَى أَحَدَكُمْ

⁽II) According to the prior *Hadith*, a mother has been declared as more rightful in keeping the custody of her children, whereas to see that the child gives an option to the child that he may choose to live with either of his parents a cording to his own free will and choice. The reason for giving him such an option is that the child was grown up and sensible enough to decide as to where he could possibly be better off. Thus we understand that if a child is grown up and does not need the care of his parents in the matters related to his safety, he can choose either of his parents.

^[2] Abul-Hakam Al-Ansāri Al-Ausi Al-Madani was a Sabābi. Abul-Qasim bin Salām said in Al-Ansāb that he is a descendant of Al-'Atbun who is 'Aamir bin Tha'laba.

^[3] This *Hadīth* makes it clear that even being a polytheist does not nullify the right of a mother on her child. But once the child comes of age, he will not continue to live with her.

serves him with his food, if he does not make him sit down with him (and eat) he should give him one or two morsels^[1] (of it)." [Agreed upon, and the wording is Al-Bukhāri's].

992. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: The Prophet said, "A woman was punished on account of a cat which she held captive till it died. Hence, she entered the Hell-Fire due to (her mistreatment of) the cat. [2] She did not feed it or give it water while she held it captive, nor did she let it out so that it may eat the things that creep on the earth." [Agreed upon].

خَادِمُهُ بِطَعَامِهِ فَإِنْ لَمْ يُجْلِسُهُ مَعَهُ فَلْيُنَاوِلُهُ لُقْمَةً أَوْ لُقُمَتَيْنِ ۗ . مُثَقَّنُ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفْظُ لِلْبُخَارِيِّ.

(٩٩٢) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَهُمَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَهُمَا، عَن النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: اعْمُلْبَتِ المُرَاةُ فِي هِرَّةٍ سَجَنَتُهَا حَتَّى مَاتَتْ، فَلَخَلَت النَّارَ فِيهَا، لَا هِيَ حَبَسَتُهَا، وَسَقَنْهَا، إِذْ هِيَ حَبَسَتُهَا، وَسَقَنْهَا، إِذْ هِيَ حَبَسَتُهَا، وَلَا هِيَ كَبَسَتُهَا، وَلَا هِيَ كَبَسَتُهَا، وَلَا هِيَ تَرَكُتُهَا تَأْكُلُ مِنْ خَشَاشِ الأَرْضِ».

^[1] This Hadith tells us that a master should give something out of his food to his servant.

^[2] This *Hadith* makes it known that bearing the expenses of the pet animals is also the liability of the master. In case he fails to cover those liabilities, he shall be punished accordingly.

9. THE BOOK OF JINAYAT^[1] (OFFENSES)

993. Narrated Ibn Mas'ūd 泰: Allāh's Messenger 續 said, "The blood of a Muslim who testifies that, 'nothing deserves to be worshipped except Allāh and that I am Allāh's Messenger' may not be lawfully shed but for one of three reasons. [2] a married man who commits fornication; a life for a life; and one who turns away from his religion and abandons the community." [Agreed upon].

994. Narrated 'Aisha \$: Allāh's Messenger \$\mathbb{g}\$ said, "A Muslim may not be lawfully killed except in one of three cases: a married man who commits fornication, in which case he should be stoned to death; a man who kills a Muslim deliberately, for which he should be killed; and a man who apostatizes from Islam and fights against Allāh and His Messenger, in which case he should be killed, or crucified, or banished from the land." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i. Al-Hākim graded it Sahib (authentic)].

995. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Mas'ūd &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "Shedding of blood will be the first matter^[3] on

٩ - كِتَابُ الجِنَايَاتِ

(٩٩٣) عَنِ ابْنِ مَسْعُودٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا يَحِلُ دَمُ امْرِيءُ مُسُلِم يَشْهَدُ أَنْ لَا إِلَهَ إِلَّا اللَّهُ، وَأَنِّي رَسُولُ اللهِ إِلَّا بِإِحْدَى ثَلَاثِر: النَّيْبُ الزَّانِي، وَالنَّفْسُ بِالنَّفْسِ، وَالنَّارِكُ لِدِينِهِ المُفَارِقُ لِلْجَمَاعَةِ». مُثَقَّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

(998) وَعَنْ عَاتِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، عَنْ رَسُولِ اللهِ عَلَى اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، عَنْ رَسُولِ اللهِ عَلَى اللَّهَ عَلَى اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهِ اللَّهِ عَلَى اللَّهَ اللَّهَ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهَ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلَى الْعَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلَى الْعَلَى الْعَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلَى الْعَلَى الْعَلَى الْعَلَى الْعَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلَى الْعَلَى الْعَلَى اللْعَلَى الْعَلَى الْعَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلَى الْعَلَى الْعَلَى الْعَلَى الْعَلَى الْعَالِمُ اللَّهُ عَلَى الْعَلَى الْع

(٩٩٥) وَعَنْ عَبْدِاللهِ بْنِ مَسْعُودٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «أَوَّلُ مَا

^[1] Jinayāt is the plural form of Jinaya which means, 'inflicting bodily harm on someone' whether it is done intentionally or by mistake.

^[2] It is not permissible to kill someone who has pronounced the Testimony of Faith. A married adulterer, murderer and an apostate are however exceptions. One *Hadith* states that it is permissible to kill someone in self-defense in case he attacks somebody with the intention of life-taking. This is the fourth one within the category of exceptions. The words 'life' against 'life' which are mentioned in this *Hadith* suggest that it is permissible and fair to kill (in retaliation) a man for a (murdered) woman, a freeman for a (murdered) slave and a believer for a (murdered) non-believer. However, there is a difference of opinion concerning these three cases.

^[3] This explains that committing a murder is one of the greatest sinful acts. It is a general rule that the biggest task is undertaken first; and so long as the murder is the biggest crime within the context of one's obligations towards people, its accountability will start first on the Day of Judgement. Likewise, Salāt features the foremost in relation to a slave's obligations towards Allāh, hence its accountability will also start first.

which Judgement will be given on the Day of Resurrection." [Agreed upon].

996. Narrated Samura & Allāh's Messenger said, "If anyone kills his slave we will kill him, and if anyone maims his slave we will maim him." [1] [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a. At-Tirmidhi graded it Hasan (good), and it is from Hasan Al-Basri's narration on the authority of Samura. However, it was disagreed upon whether he has heard from Samura or not].

The narration of Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i has: "If anyone castrates his slave, we will castrate him." [Al-Hākim authenticated this addition].

997. Narrated 'Umar bin Al-Khattāb i I heard Allāh's Messenger saying, "A father is not to be killed for a son." [2] [Reported by Ahmad, At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Mājah. Ibn Al-Jārūd and Al-Baihaqi graded it Sabib (authentic), but At-Tirmidhi said, "It is Mudtarib (containing irreconcilable contradictions, i.e. in its various chains)."

998. Narrated Abū Juhaifa (\$): I asked 'Ali (\$), "Have you any Revelation other than the Qur'an?" [3] He replied, "No, by Him Who split the seed (causing germination) and created the soul, (I have nothing) but the

يُقْضَى بَيْنَ النَّاسِ، يَوْمَ القِيَامَةِ، فِي الدِّمَآءِ». مُثَفَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(٩٩٦) وَعَنْ سَمُرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَنْ قَتَلَ عَبْدَهُ قَتَلْنَاهُ، وَمَنْ جَدَعَ عَبْدَهُ جَدَعْنَاهُ". رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، وَحَسَّنَهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَهُوَ مِنْ رِوَايَةِ الحَسَنِ البَصْرِيِّ عَنْ سَمُرَةً، وَقَدِ اخْتُلِفَ فِي سَمَاعِهِ مِنْهُ.

وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ أَبِي دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَآئِيِّ: "وَمَنْ خَطَى عَبْدَهُ خَصْيْنَاهُ". وَصَحَّحَ الحَاكِمُ لهٰذِهِ الزِّيَادَةَ.

(٩٩٧) وَعَنْ عُمَرَ بُنِ الخَطَّابِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ: ﴿لَا يُقَادُ الوَالِدُ بِالوَلَدِ». رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ وَالنَّرْمِذِيُّ وَابْنُ الجَارُودِ وَالنَّرْمِذِيُّ وَابْنُ الجَارُودِ وَالنَّبِيَقِيْ، وَقَالَ التَّرْمِذِيُّ: إِنَّهُ مُضْطَوِبٌ.

(٩٩٨) وَعَنْ أَبِي مُحَنِّفَةً قَالَ: كُلُتُ لِعَلِيَّ: هَلْ عِنْدَكُمْ شَيْءٌ مِنَ الوَحْمِرِ، غَيْرُ القُرْآنِ؟ قَالَ: لَا، وَالَّذِي فَلَقَ الحَبَّةُ، وَبَرَأَ النَّسَمَةَ، إِلَّا فَهُمْ يُعْطِيهِ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى رَجُلاً فِي القُرْآنِ، وَمَا

^[1] The scholars unanimously agree that a slave may be decapitated in retaliation for the murder of a freeman. But there is a difference of opinions as to whether or not a freeman is decapitated in retaliation for the murder of a slave.

^[2] The majority of earlier scholars are of the opinion that if a father kills his son, he shall not be put to death in retaliation for it. However, he cannot escape the penalty thus incurred in the Hereafter. The reason for this discriminatory treatment is that the father is the source of his son's existence and a son is not the source of his father's existence and therefore, he posses no right to put an end of his father's life.

^[3] Abū Juhaifah asked this question because one of the Shi'ite sects was of the view that even though Muhammad ﷺ did have the Prophethood, part of the Revelations was also shared by his family members. Abū Juhaifah wanted this view of theirs to be refuted.

understanding which Allāh, the Most High, endows a man regarding the Qur'ān and what is in this document." I asked, "What does this document contain?" He replied, "Al-'Aql (rules related to Blood money), the setting free of a prisoner of war, and that a Muslim should not be killed for a Kafir (disbeliever)." [1] [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i through another chain of narrators, from 'Ali () and he said in it, "The blood (lives) of all Muslims are equal (in retaliation for killing); the guarantee of protection (for a Kafir) from the lest of the Muslims must be observed (by all Muslims), and they are one hand (united) against others (i.e. their enemies). A Muslim should not be killed for a Kafir, nor should one who has been given a covenant be killed while his covenant holds." [Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

999. Narrated Anas bin Mālik &: A girl was found with her head crushed between two stones and they asked her, "Who has done this to you? Is it so-and-so, or so-and-so," till they mentioned a Jew, whereupon she gave sign with her head. The Jew was brought in, and he then confessed (to it). Hence, Allāh's Messenger ## gave command that his head should be crushed between two stones. [2]

فِي لَمْذِهِ الصَّحِيفَةِ، قُلُتُ: وَمَا فِي لَمْذِهِ الصَّحِيفَةِ؟ قَالَ: ٱلْمُقُلُ، وَفِكَاكُ الأَسِيرِ، وَأَنْ لا يُقْتَلَ مُشْلِمٌ بَكَافِرٍ. رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

وَأَخْرَجَهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَآئِيُّ مِنْ وَجُهِ آخَرَ عَنْ عَلِيٌّ، وَقَالَ فِيهِ: «اَلْمُؤْمِنُونَ تَتَكَافَا مِثَاوِهُمْ، وَيَسْعٰى بِذِمَّتِهِمْ أَذْنَاهُمْ، وَهُمْ يَدُّ عَلَىٰ مَنْ سِوَاهُمْ، وَلَا يُقْتَلُ مُؤْمِنٌ بِكَافِرٍ، وَلا ذُو عَهْدِ فِي عَهْدِهِ. صَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ.

(٩٩٩) وَعَنْ أَنَسِ بْنِ مَالِكِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنْ جَارِيَةً وَجِدَ رَأْسُهَا فَدْ رُضَّ بَئِنَ حَجَرَيْنِ ، فَسَالُوهَا، مَنْ صَنَعَ بِكِ لهذا؟ فُلَانٌ؟ خَجَرَيْنِ ، فَسَالُوهَا، مَنْ صَنَعَ بِكِ لهذا؟ فُلَانٌ؟ فُلَانٌ؟ فَلَانٌ؟ فَلَانٌ؟ فَلَانٌ؟ فَلَانٌ؟ فَلَانٌ؟ فَلَانًا أَنْ مِرَالِسِهَا، فَلَانٌ؟ وَشُولُ اللهِ عَلَى أَنْ فَلَانًا اللهِ عَلَى أَنْ فَلَانًا اللهُ اللهِ اللهُ ال

^[1] This *Hadīth* tells us that a Muslim should not be killed in retaliation for the murder of a disbeliever. In case such a disbeliever happens to belong to a state that is at war with the Muslim state, a Muslim shall not be killed in retaliation for his murder, according to the consensus of the scholars. This is owing to the fact that an Islamic government is not accountable to it. However, if the disbeliever in question happens to be a *Dhimmi* (a tax-paying non-Muslim who lives within the Islamic state and who is considered to be a liability to the Islamic state), the three major *Imams* are of the opinion that a Muslim shall not be executed in retaliation for his murder whereas Imām Abu Hanifa is of the view that a Muslim must be executed for his murder.

^[2] This *Hadith* clarifies that a man shall be executed for the murder of a woman. Similarly, there is no discrimination – in terms of blood – between the poor and the rich or between

[Agreed upon, and the wording is Muslim's].

1000. Narrated 'Imrān bin Husain 毒: The slave of some poor^[1] people cut off the ear of a slave of some rich people, so they came to the Prophet 繼, and he did not appoint any compensation for them. [Ahmad and Ath-Thalatha reported it with a Sahib (authentic) chain of narrators].

1001. Narrated 'Amr bin Shu'aib on his father's authority from his grandfather (&): A man stabbed the knee of another with a horn and the latter went to the Prophet and said, "Retaliate for me." He replied, "Wait till you recover." He afterwards went to him and said, "Retaliate for me," and he allowed him to retaliate upon the offender. After some time, he came to him and said, "O Alläh's Messenger, I have become lame," and he replied, "I had forbidden you, but you disobeyed me, so may Allāh dismiss you and discontinue your lameness."[2] Then Allāh's Messenger & forbade the execution of retaliation until the victim recovers. [Reported by Ahmad and Ad-Dāragutni, but it was considered defective for being Mursal (missing link after the Tābi'i)].

(١٠٠٠) وَعَنْ عِمْرَانَ بْنِرْ خَصَيْنِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ لَمَنَا وَعَنْ عِمْرَانَ بْنِرْ خَصَيْنِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُما أَنَّ كُلاماً لأَنَاسِ فَقَرَآءَ قَطَعَ أَذُنَ عُكْمٍ لأَنَاسِ أَغْنِيَآءً، فَأَنُوا النَّبِيِّ ﷺ فَلَمْ يَجْعَلُ لَهُمْ شَيْناً. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالنَّلَاثَةُ إِلْسَنادِ صَحِيحٍ.

(۱۰۰۱) وَعَنْ عَمْرِو بَنِ شُعَيبِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ جَلَّهِ، أَنَّ رَجُلاً طَعَنَ رَجُلاً بِقَرْادٍ، فِي رُكْبَيهِ، فَجَاءَ إِلَيْهِ، فَقَالَ: أَفِدْنِي، فَقَالَ: خَمَّى تَبْرَأً، ثُمَّ جَاءَ إِلَيْهِ، فَقَالَ: أَوِدْنِي، فَقَالَ: كَمْ جَاءَ إِلَيْهِ، فَقَالَ: كَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! عَرَجْتُ، فَقَالَ: عَرَجُكَ، فَقَالَ عَرَجُكَ، ثُمَّ بَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ عَمْ اللهِ، وَبَطَلَ عَرَجُكَ»، ثُمَّ نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ أَنْ فَيَعَلَى مَسُولُ اللهِ عَلَيْهُ أَنْ يَشْرَأً صَاحِبُهُ. رَوَالُ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ أَلْ بِالإرْسَالِ. . أَنْ مَنْ عُرْرٍ حَمَّى يَبْرَأً صَاحِبُهُ. رَوَالُ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ أَلْ بِالإرْسَالِ. .

the young and the old.

^[11] A slave cut off an ear of another slave. Now the people had only two options: Either retaliation be meted out to the slave, or blood money be paid to the victim of this inequity. The masters of the victimized slave did not ask for *Qisās* (retaliation) but solicited blood money. The master of the slave who committed the crime did not have anything to pay to the claimants and a slave does not own anything by himself, and hence the claimants consequently failed to get anything. This clarifies that a beggar is not subjected, to the obligation of paying the blood money and bears no responsibility to pay any indemnity to anyone and thus his family members are also free from any such obligation. Paying indemnity becomes an obligation on the family members only on the condition that they are expecting to gain something out of the inheritance of the concerned person. But, as long as the person in question himself has no inheritance, the question of paying indemnity does not arise.

^[2] This Hadith informs us that one must not accept any compensatory payment until the wounds are completely healed up and must wait until such a time that he absolutely recovers from those injuries. The wisdom behind it is based on the fact that the said wound may

1002. Narrated Abū Huraira &: Two women of Hudhail fought and one of them threw a stone at the other killing both her and what was in her womb. So they brought the dispute before Allāh's Messenger 趣. Then Allāh's Messenger se gave judgement that the blood money for her unborn child[1] should be a male or female slave. He also gave judgement that the blood money for the woman (who was killed), is the responsibility of the 'Aaqila (relatives from the fathers side) of the woman (who did the killing). Then, he made her son and those who were with them her heirs. Then Haml^[2] bin An-Nābigha Al-Hudhali said, "O Allāh's Messenger, how should we be fined for one who has not eaten or drunk, or raised his voice, and a compensation is not to be paid for such." Allāh's Messenger & then said, "This man simply belongs to the Kubbān[3] due to the rhyming of words that he has used." [Agreed upon].

Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i reported the aforesaid *Hadīth* from Ibn 'Abbās, that 'Umar & asked, "Who witnessed the judgement of Allāh's Messenger & regarding the unborn child?" Haml bin An-Nābigha stood up and said, "I was standing before two women and one of them struck the other." [The narrator narrated the *Hadīth* in brief. Ibn

(١٠٠٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى
عَنْهُ، قَالَ: ٱفْتَنَكْتِ ٱمْرَأَتَانِ مِنْ هُلَيْلِ،
فَرَمَتْ إخْدَاهُمَا الأُخْرَى بِحَجْرٍ، فَقَتَلْتَهَا وَمَا
فِي بَطْنِهَا، فَأَخْتَصَمُوا إلى رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ،
فَقَضَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ أَنَّ دِينَةَ جَنِينِهَا غُرَّةٌ: عَبْدُ
وَوَرَّتَهَا وَلَدَهَ وَقَضَى بِدِيَةِ المَرْأَةِ عَلَى عَاقِلَتِهَا،
وَوَرَّتَهَا وَلَدَهَا وَمَنْ مَعَهُمْ، فَقَالَ حَمَلُ بُنُ
وَوَرَّتَهَا لَهُذَائِيُّ: يَا رَسُولُ اللهِ! كَيْفَ نَغْرَمُ مَن
النَّابِغَةِ الهُذَائِيُّ: يَا رَسُولُ اللهِ! كَيْفَ نَغْرَمُ مَن
فَينُلُ ذَلِكَ يُعَلَّلُ، فَقَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "إِنِّمَا
هَذَا مِنْ إِخْوَانِ النَّهُانِ، مِنْ أَجْلِ سَجْعِهِ. هَنَقَى عَلَيْهِ.
هَذَا مِنْ إِخْوَانِ النَّهُانِ، مِنْ أَجْلِ سَجْعِهِ. مَثْنَقُ عَلَيْهِ.

وَأَخْرَجُهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَآئِيُّ مِنْ حَدِيثِ ابْنِ عَبْسِ ابْنِ عَبْسِ اللهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، سَأَلَ مَنْ شَهِدَ قَضَاءً رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ فِي الجَنِينِ قَالَ: كُنْتُ بَيْنَ قَالَ: كُنْتُ بَيْنَ النَّابِعَةِ، فَقَالَ: كُنْتُ بَيْنَ المُؤْخِرَى، فَذَكَرَهُ مُخْتَصَرًا وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ وَالحَاكِمُ.

either prove to be a negligible one or it may deteriorate into being a fatal one. Be it as it may, the compensatory payment in these two cases is bound to be different from each other.

^[1] In case the fetus dies before birth inside the womb of a woman or comes out still-born at the time of parturition, the compensation thus incurred shall be an amount equal to the price of a male or a female slave. If the infant dies after birth, the compensation payable shall be the price of a hundred camels. A quasi-deliberate murder or an accidental murder do not require Qisās, but call for blood money. In the case of a deliberate murder, the heirs of the victim may either opt for Qisās or the blood money. The Arabic word 'Aaajla is translated as 'Asaba (next of kin), which means that the compensation is not obligatory on a murderer alone, but also lies on his next of kin and immediate relatives.

^[2] Hamal bin Mālik bin An-Nābigha Al-Hudhali Abū Nadla Al-Basri was a Sabābi.

^[3] i.e., plural of Kāhin, meaning a soothsayer.

Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

1003. Narrated Anas 🐟: Ar-Rubaiyi' daughter of An-Nadr[1] - his paternal aunt - broke the front tooth of a girl and they (the people of Ar-Rubaiyi') asked the girl's people to pardon her, but they refused. Then, they offered the compensation for wounds, but they refused. Then, they went to Allah's Messenger ﷺ, but they refused (any offer) except retaliation. So Allah's Messenger & ordered retaliation to be taken. Then Anas bin An-Nadr^[2] asked. "O Allah's Messenger, will the front tooth of Ar-Rubaiyi' be broken? No, by Him Who has sent you with the Truth, her front tooth will not be broken." Allāh's Messenger & then replied, "O Anas, Allāh's Decree is retaliation." Then, the people agreed, and pardoned her. So, Allāh's Messenger a said, "Among Allāh's slaves are those who, if they take an oath by Allah, He responds to it (i.e. fulfills it).[3] " [Agreed upon, and the wording is Al-Bukhāri's].

1004. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās 🞄: Allāh's Messenger said, "If anyone is killed Immiyan (in obscurity), [4] or by the عِمِّيًا، أَوْ فِي رمِّيًّا بِحَجَر أَوْ سَوْطٍ أَوْ عَصاً، throwing of a stone, or with a whip, or

(١٠٠٣) وَعَنْ أَنَس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ الرُّبَيُّعَ بِنْتَ النَّضْرَ - عَمَّتَهُ - كَسَرَتْ ثَنِيَّةً جَارِيَةِ، فَطَلَبُوا إِلَيْهَا العَفْقِ، فَأَبُوا، فَعَرَضُوا الأَرْشَ، فَأَنُوا، فَأَتُوا رَسُولَ اللهِ عَلَى فَأَنُوا، إلَّا القِصَاصَ؛ فَأَمَرَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ بالقِصَاص، فَقَالَ أَنَسُ بْنُ النَّضْرِ: يَا رَسُولِ اللهِ: أَتُكْسَرُ ثَنِيَّةُ الرُّبَيِّعِرِ؟ لَا، وَالَّذِي بَعَثَكَ بالحَقِّ، لَا تُكْسَرُ ثَنِيُّتُهَا، فَقَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿يَا أَنَسُ! كِتَابُ اللهِ القِصَاصُ"، فَرَضِيَ القَوْمُ، فَعَفَوْا، فَهَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «إنَّ مِنْ عِبَادِ اللهِ مَنْ لَوْ أَقْسَمَ عَلَى اللهِ لأَبَرَّهُ». مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفْظُ للُهُ خَارِيّ.

(٢٠٠٤) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى

عَنْهُمَا، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿مَنْ قُتِلَ فِي

[1] Ar-Rubaiyi', daughter of An-Nadr bin Damdam bin Zaid bin Harām, was the paternal aunt of Anas bin Mālik, the servant of the Prophet 2 and the mother of Hāritha bin Surāqa who was martyred at the battle of Badr.

^[2] He was the brother of Ar-Rubaiyi and the paternal uncle of Anas bin Mālik. He did not participate in the battle of Badr and used to regret that. So, on the day of the battle of Uhud, when some Muslims fled, he went forward towards the defense line of the Musbrikūn, expressing to Allāh his sorrow for what the Muslims did, saying, "I can smell the fragrance of the Jannah before the mountain of Uhud." He then fought till he was martyred.

^[3] This utterance made by Anas رضي الله عنه was not to oppose the Shart'a commandment. In fact he made every possible effort to intercede on behalf of the concerned person and he had an absolute faith in Allāh's mercy. Had it been otherwise, the Prophet 鑑 would never have commended him, but would have denounced and repudiated him instead. This Hadīth further elaborates that the loss of teeth also involves Oisās.

^[4] Being killed 'Immiyan (in obscurity) refers to a slain person whose murderer is unknown or the manner in which he was killed can not be established. Similarly, if someone gets killed

with a stick, then his blood money is that which is due for an accidental death. As for he who is killed deliberately, retaliation is due. And if anyone tries to prevent it Allāh's curse will be upon him." [Abū Dā'ud, An-Nasā'i and Ibn Mājah reported it with a *Qawi* (strong) chain of narrators].

1005. Narrated Ibn 'Umar \(\begin{align*}{l} : The Prophet \(\psi \) said, "If a man seizes a man and another kills him, the one who killed him is to be killed and the one who seized \(\begin{align*}{l} 1 \) him is to be imprisoned." [Ad-Dāraqutni reported it as Mausail (connected chain) and Mursal (missing link after the Tābi'i). Ibn Al-Qattān graded it Sabib (authentic), and its narrators are reliable. However, Al-Baihaqi held that the stronger view is that it is Mursal.

1006. Narrated 'Abdur-Rahman^[2] bin Al-Bailamāni: The Prophet killed a Muslim for a man who had made a covenant, ^[3] and said, "I am the most worthy of those who fulfill their responsibility (i.e. guarantee of protection)." [Abdur-Razzāq reported it thus in a *Mursal* form (missing link after the *Tābi'i*). Ad-Dāragutni

فَعَلْلُهُ مُثَلِّلُ الغَطَّا، وَمَنْ قُتِلَ عَمْدًا، فَهُوَ قَوْدٌ، وَمَنْ مُحَالَ دُونُهُ، فَعَلَيْهِ لَعْنَةُ اللهِ». أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَآئِيُّ وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ بِإِسْنَادِ قَوِيٍّ.

(١٠٠٥) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رُضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَلَمَ رُضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى اللَّهِ تَعَالَى اللَّهِ تَعَالَى الرَّجُلُ الرَّجُلُ الرَّجُلُ الرَّجُلُ الرَّجُلُ الرَّجُلُ الرَّجُلُ الرَّعُلَمْ اللَّهُ اللَّمْنِ مُقْتَلُ اللَّهُ اللَّمْنِ مُقْتَلُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّمْنَ اللَّهُ اللَّمُ اللَّهُ الْمُنْعِلِيْمُ اللَّهُ الْمُنْعِلِيْمُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُنْعِلِيْمُ اللْمُل

(١٠٠٣) وَعَنْ عَنْدِ الرِّحْمَٰنِرِ بْنِ البَّيْلَمَانِيّ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ فَقَلَ مُشْلِماً بِمُعاهَدٍ، وَقَالَ: «أَنَا أَوْلَى مَنْ وَقَى لِنَّهِمِهِ أَخْرَجُهُ عَبْدُ الرَّزْانِ لَمُكَذَا أُولَى مَنْ وَقِيهِ، أَخْرَجُهُ عَبْدُ الرَّزْانِ لَمُكَذَا مُرْسَلاً، وَوَصَلَهُ الدَّارَقُطْنِيُ بِذِنْحِ ابْنِ عَمَرَ فِيهِ، وَإِسْمَادُ المُوصُولِ وَاهِ.

in a riot, no Qisās is involved, since the ruling which applies here is Dtya (i.e., blood money). In case someone dies as a result of being struck by a bludgeon, whip or stone, such a murder is regarded as quasi-deliberate and also involves blood money.

^[11] This *Hadith* proves that a person who holds a murder victim, shall not be executed. Such a person will only be subjected to imprisonment. Determining the duration of his imprisonment depends on the view of the judge, and it can either be a long or short one, depending on the nature of the murder.

l^{2]} He is 'Abdur-Rahman bin Abū Zaid, the manumitted slave of 'Umar رضي الله عنه . He was a resident of Al-Madinah who settled at Harān. He was a *Tābi'i* of the sixth generation. Abū Hātim said, "He was weak (in *Hadāth* narration), but Ibn Hibbān verified him as reliable. Al-Hāfiz Abdul-'Azim said, "He is not an authority (in *Hadāth*)." He hailed from Bailamān.

^[3] The word used in Arabic is Mu'ābid and refers to a non-believer who does not have permanent residence in the Islamic state and has arrived in the Islamic state to carry out an assignment after securing the necessary permission and shelter from the Islamic state. The murder of such a person is unanimously forbidden. However, his Muslim murders tall not be executed in retaliation, according to the majority of scholars, except the Hanafi School.

reported it *Mawsul* (connected chain) by mentioning Ibn 'Umar in it. However, the *Mawsul* (connected chain of narrators) is *Wābin* (extremely weak)].

1007. Narrated Ibn 'Umar ♣: A boy was killed treacherously, ^[1] so 'Umar said, "If all the people of San'ā had shared in shedding his blood, I would have killed them for him." [Al-Bukhāri reported it].

1008. Narrated Abū Shuraih^[2] Al-Khuzā'i &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "If a relative of anyone is killed, after this speech of mine, his family will have a choice: either to accept blood money or to kill (the murderer) (in retaliation)." [Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i reported it]. Its basic meaning is found in As-Sabībain from Abū Huraira's Hadīth, which is similar.

(١٠٠٧) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَمْرُ: لَوِ عَنْهُمَا، قَالَ: قُتِلَ غُلَامٌ غِيلَةً، فَقَالَ عُمْرُ: لَوِ الْمُنْمَاءَ فَقَالَتُهُمْ بِهِ. أَخْرَجَهُ النَّخَارِيُّ. الْخُرَجَهُ النَّخَارِيُّ.

(١٠٠٨) وَعَنْ أَبِي شُرَئِيمِ الخُزَاعِيِّ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ الغُزَاعِيِّ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "فَمَنْ قُتِلَ لَهُ قَتِيلٌ، بَغَدُ مَقَالَتِي مَنْهِ، فَأَهُلُهُ بَيْنَ خِيرَتَيْنِ، إِمَّا أَنْ بَأَخُذُوا المَقْلَ، أَوْ يَقْتُلُوا . أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَائِيُّ ، وَأَشْدُهُ فِي الصَّجِيحَيْنِ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةً وَاصْلُهُ فِي الصَّجِيحَيْنِ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةً بِمَعْنَاهُ.

Chapter 1 TYPES OF DIYAT^[3] (BLOOD MONEY)

1009. Narrated Abū Bakr^[4] bin Muhammad bin 'Amr bin Hazm, on his father's authority from his grandfather (�): The Prophet 🕸 wrote to the people of Yemen – the narrator narrated the *Hadītb* – and it contains:

١ - بَابُ الدِّيَاتِ

(١٠٠٩) عَنْ أَبِي بَكْرِ بْنِرَ مُحَمَّدِ بْنِرَ عَفْرِهِ ابْنِ حَزْمٍ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ جَدِّهِ أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ كَتَبَ إِلَىٰ أَهْلِ البَّمَنِ فَذَكَرَ ٱلْحَدِيثَ. وَفِيهِ: أَنَّ مَنِ اغْتَبَطَ مُؤْمِناً قَتْلاً عَنْ بَيْنَةٍ، فَإِنَّهُ قَوْدٌ،

عنه. ^[2] 'Amr bin Khuwailid or Khuwailid bin 'Amr Al-Ka'bi Al-'Adawi Al-Khuza'i became a Muslim before the Conquest of Makkah and died in Al-Madinah in the year 68 H.

^[3] Diya is the blood money which is paid to the victim's legal heir.

^[4] Abū Bakr bin Muhammad bin 'Amr bin Hazm Al-Ansāri An-Najāri Al-Madani Al-Qadi. He was reliable, devoted in Allāh's worship and was among the contributors to the six books of Abadītb. He was also a Tābi'i of the fifth generation. His wife said that he didn't sleep on his bed at night for forty years, meaning that he used to perform voluntary night prayers. Ibn Ma'īn verified him as reliable, and Ibn Sa'd said that he died in the year 120 H.

"If anyone kills a believer unjustly - a deliberate killing - retaliation is then due unless the relatives of the one who is killed are pleased (with some other settlement).[1] It also contains that the Diva (blood money) for a life (being taken) is a hundred camels; that full Diva (blood money) must be paid [in each of the following): the complete cutting off of a nose, the two eyes, the tongue, the two lips, the penis, the two testicles and the backbone; that for one foot half the Diva (blood money) must be paid, for a wound in the head (which reaches the brain) a third of the blood money, for a thrust which penetrates the body a third of the blood money, for a wound which causes the broken bones to come out fifteen camels, for each finger and toe ten camels, for a tooth five camels, and for a wound which lays bare the bone five camels; that a man may be killed in retaliation for a woman; and that those who have gold should pay a thousand Dinārs."[2] [Reported by Abū Dā'ud in his book Marasīl - An-Nasā'i, Ibn Khuzaima, Ibn Al-Jārūd, Ibn Hibbān and Ahmad. However, they disagreed regarding its authenticity].

1010. Narrated Ibn Mas'ūd 🐠: The Prophet 🍇 said, "The blood money for murder by error should be in five types

(١٠١٠) وَعَن ابْنِ مَسْعُودٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، قَالَ: «دِيَّةُ الخَطَاءِ

^[1] This *Hadītb* implies that in the case of a deliberate murder, the successors of a victim, regardless of whether by blood or through adoption, are free to choose among the four options. These options are: a) retaliation by life-taking (death penalty to the murderer); b) *Diya* (acceptance of blood money); c) pardoning or excusing the murderer; d) making a settlement on more or less the equivalent of the blood money.

This Hadith demonstrates that the legal successors of a person, killed without any fault on his part, are free either to opt for Diya (a blood money payment) or Qisās (execution of the murderer in retaliation). The amount of Diya payable is 100 camels or their collective price. There is a statement listing separate amounts as compensations payable against the loss of different bodily organs. Ma'mumab (الجاشة) is a blow which affects the brain. Jā 'ifab (الماروة) is a wound inflicted between a bodily region spanning from one's throat to the urinary bladder and rips open the upper layer of one's belly. Moudibab (المواقعة) is a wound inflicted in such a way that it flays off the bodily flesh and makes the bone revealed and visible.

of camels: Twenty she-camels in their fourth year, twenty she-camels in their fifth year, twenty she-camels which had entered their second year, twenty shecamels which had entered their third year, and twenty male camels which had entered their third year." [Ad-Dāragutni reported it. Al-Arba'a reported it with the wording: "twenty male camels which had entered their second year" instead of "twenty male camels which had entered their third year," and the chain of narrators of the first (Ad-Dăraqutni's) is stronger (than the one reported by Al-Arba'a). Ibn Abū Shaiba reported it through another chain which is Mawaūf (a saving of a Companion, i.e. Ibn Mas'ud), [1] it is more authentic than the Marfū' narration (attributed to the Prophet)].

Abū Dā'ud and At-Tirmidhi reported the aforesaid *Hadītb* through 'Amr bin Shu'aib on his father's authority from his grandfather (&) who narrated it as *Marfū'* (a saying of the Prophet) that, "The blood money should be thirty shecamels in their fourth year, thirty shecamels in their fifth year, and forty shecamels in their sixth year and which are pregnant."

1011. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: The Prophet said, "The people most insolent with Allāh are three: He who kills someone in the Haram^[2] (Sacred Territory) of Allāh, he who kills someone other than the killer who has killed a relative of his, and he who kills someone for the revenge of the pre-Islamic times." [Ibn Hibbān reported it in a Hadāth which he held to be Sahih (authentic)].

أَخْمَاساً: عِشْرُونَ حِقَّةً، وَعِشْرُونَ جَلَقَةً، وَعِشْرُونَ بَنَاتِ وَعِشْرُونَ بَنَاتِ لَبُونِ, وَعِشْرُونَ بَنَاتِ لَبُونِ, وَعِشْرُونَ بَنِي لَبُونِ, أَخْرَجَهُ الدَّارَتُطُنِيُ. وَأَخْرَجَهُ الأَرْبَعَةُ بِلَغْظِ: «وَعِشْرُونَ بَنِي مَخَاضٍ, كَلْ وَبَنِي لَبُونٍ، وَإِسْنَادُ الأَوْلِ بَنِي مَخَاضٍ, وَلَمْنَادُ الأَوْلِ أَنِي مَخَاضٍ, وَلَمْنَادُ الأَوْلِ أَنِي مَخَاضٍ، وَأَخْرَجَهُ النُنُ أَبِي شَيْبَةً مِنْ وَجُو آخَرَ مَوْفُونَ، وَلَمْ وَجُو آخَرَ مَوْفُونَا، وَهُو آخَرَ مَوْفُونَا، وَهُو آخَرُ وَالمَرْفُوعِ.

وَأَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّرْمِذِيُّ مِنْ طَرِيقِ عَمْرِو ابْنِ شُمَيْبٍ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ جَدُّهِ، رَفَعَهُ: الدَّيَّةُ فَلاَنُونَ حِقَّةً، وَثَلاثُونَ جَذَعَةً، وَأَرْبَعُونَ خَلِقَةً، فِي بُطُونِهَا أَوْلاَدُهَا.

(١٠١١) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَهُمَا، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: اإِنَّ أَعْتَى النَّاسِرِ عَلَى اللَّهِ ﷺ قَالَ: اإِنَّ أَعْتَى النَّاسِرِ عَلَى اللهِ ثَلَاثُةٌ: مَنْ قَتَلَ فِي حَرَمِ اللهِ، أَوْ قَتَلَ غَيْرَ فَاتِلَ عَلَى الجَاهِلِيَّةِ». أَخْرَجَهُ عَيْرُ وَالجَاهِلِيَّةِ». أَخْرَجَهُ إِنْ فِي حَدِيثِ صَحَّحَهُ.

^[1] The majority of the Ummah (Islamic nation) acts upon the narration of Ibn Mas'ūd.

^[2] This *Hadith* informs us that a sinful act committed within the confines of *Haram* (sacred territory) incurs a far greater penalty than a similar act committed elsewhere.

1012. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin 'Amr bin Al-'Aas &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "The blood money for murder by error^[1] and quasi-deliberate murder with resembles intentional murder] such as the one committed with a whip and a stick is a hundred camels, forty of which are pregnant." [Abū Dā'ud, An-Nasā'i and Ibn Mājah reported it, and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sahih (authentic)].

1013. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās \\$: The Prophet \\$\mathscr{\mathscr{\mathscr{\mathscr{m}}}}\since{\mathscr{m}}: and this are equal (regarding blood money), meaning the little finger and the thumb." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

Abū Dā'ud and At-Tirmidhi have: "The blood money for the fingers and toes is equal, the teeth are equal, (even) the front tooth and the molar tooth are equal."

Ibn Hibbān has: "The blood money for the fingers and toes is equal, and ten camels must be paid for each finger or toe."

1014. Narrated 'Amr bin Shu'aib on his father's authority from his grandfather (﴿*): The Prophet (﴿*) said, "Anyone who practices medicine – while he is not known as a practitioner – then, he kills someone or inflicts (some bodily

(١٠١٣) وَعَنْ عَبْدِاللهِ بْنَرَ عَمْرِو بْنِ العَاصِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: «أَلَا إِنَّ دِيَةَ أَلْخَطَاءِ وَشِبْهِ العَمْدِ، مَا كَانَ بِالشَّوْطِ وَالمَصَا، مِائَةٌ مِنَ الإِبلِرِ، مِنْهَا أَرْبَعُونَ فِي بُطُونِهَا أَوْلاَدُهَا». أَخْرَجُهُ أَبُو دَاوْدَ وَالنَّسَآلِيْ وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ أَبْنُ جِبَّانَ.

(١٠١٣) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، قَالَ: الْهَٰذِهِ وَلَهٰذِهِ وَلَهٰذِهِ أَسَالًا: الْهَٰذِهِ وَلَهٰذِهِ سَنْوَاءٌ يُنْهُنِي الخِنْصَرَ وَالاَبْهَامَّ؟. رَوَاهُ البُنْهَارِيُّ.

وَلِأْبِي وَاذْدَ وَالتَّرْمِذِيِّ: دِيَّهُ ٱلاَّصَابِعِ سَوَآةً وَالْأَسْنَادُ سَوَآءٌ، الثَّنِيُّةُ والضَّرْسُ سَوَآءٌ.

وَلاِيْنِ حِبَّانَ: وِيَةُ أَصَابِعِ اليَدَيْنِ وَالرِّجْلَيْنِ سَوَاءٌ، عَشْرٌ مِنَ الإِبلِ لِكُلِّ إِصْبَعٍ.

(١٠١٤) وَعَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ شُعَيْبِر، عَنْ أَبِيه، عَنْ جَدَّهِ، رَفَعَهُ، قَالَ: مَنْ تَطَبَّب، وَلَمْ يَكُنْ بِالطَّبِّ مَعْرُوفاً، فَأَصَابَ نَفْساً فَمَا ذُونَهَا، فَهُوَ ضَامِنٌ. أُخْرَجَهُ الدَّارَقُطْنِيْ، وَصَحْحَهُ الحَاجِمُ،

⁽¹⁾ A Hadith narrated by Ibn Mas'ûd concerning the blood money payable in the event of a murder by error has already been mentioned earlier. Some people, on the basis of this Hadith, deem this kind of blood money to be correct and valid. The rationale behind it seems to be that each murder case should be treated individually and separately in accordance with the condition of the victim. If a person is killed in a cold blooded and brutal fashion, the blood money shall be severe. A deliberate murder is the one in which someone intentionally uses such a weapon which generally proves to be lethal and causes death to the victim. A murder by error is the one in which the weapon thus used happens to be indeed a lethal one but the real intention was not to kill the man. For instance an arrow, which was originally aimed at a game of pray, missed the intended target and struck a human being. A quasi-deliberate murder is the one in which the intention of hitting a person was actually involved, but the instrument used was one which does not usually cause death; i.e., a whip, a baton and brick, etc.

^[2] All the fingers, whether big ones or small ones, are to be treated exactly on an equal footing in terms of compensatory payment.

harm) less than death, he will be held responsible." [Ad-Dāragutni reported it, and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic). It occurs in the books of Abū Dā'ud, An-Nasā'i and others. However, its Mursal form (missing link after the Tābi'i) is stronger than its Mausūl (connected chain)].

1015. Narrated ('Amr bin Shu'aib on his father's authority from his grandfather) &: The Prophet & said. "Five camels must be paid for every wound that lays bare a bone." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a]. Ahmad added: "The fingers and toes are all equal, and ten camels must be paid for each of them." [Ibn Khuzaima and Ibn Al-Jārūd graded it Sabib (authentic)].

1016. Narrated ('Amr bin Shu'aib on his father's authority from his grandfather) 📤: Allāh's Messenger ِ said, "The blood money for Abl Adb-Dbimmab is half^[2] of that for a Muslim." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a]. Abū Dā'ud's wording has: "The blood money for a Mu'aahad (one with whom a covenant has been made) is half that for a freeman." An-Nasā'i has: "The blood money for a woman Ifor wounds inflicted, less than death] is the same as that for a man, until it reaches a third of the blood money for her life." [Ibn Khuzaima graded it Sabib (authentic)].

وَهُوَ عِنْدَ أَبِي دَاوُدَ والنَّسَآئِيُّ وَغَيْرِهِمَا، إِلَّا أَنَّ مَنْ أَرْسَلَهُ أَقْوَى مِمَّنْ وَصَلَّهُ.

(١٠١٥) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ عَيْدٌ قَالَ: «فِي المَوَاضِعِ خَمْسٌ خَمْسٌ مِنَ الْإبل ". رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ. وَزَادَ أَحْمَدُ: «وَالأَصَابِعُ سَوَآةٌ كُلُهُنَّ، عَشْرٌ عَشْرٌ مِنَ الإبلِ »، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ خُزَيْمَةً وَابْنُ الجَارُودِ.

(١٠١٦) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «عَقْلُ أَهْلِ الذِّمَّةِ نِصْفُ عَقْلِ المُسْلِمِينَ» رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ. وَلَفْظُ أَبِي دَاوُدَ: «دِيَةُ ٱلْمُعَاهَدِ نِصْفُ دِيَةِ ٱلْحُرِّ». وَلِلنَّسَآئِينُ: «عَقْلُ المَرْأَةِ مِثْلُ عَقْلِ الرَّجُلِ ، حَتَّى يَبْلُغَ النُّلُثَ مِنْ دِيَتِهَا». وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ خُزَيْمَةً.

(١٠١٧) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ: قَالَ: قَالَ: قَالَ: قَالَ: عَانُهُ قَالَ: عَانُهُ عَالًى عَنْهُ وَاللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ عَانُهُ عَالَى عَنْهُ عَالَى عَنْهُ عَالَى عَنْهُ عَالَى اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ عَالَى عَنْهُ عَالَى اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ عَالَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ عَالَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ عَالَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَنْهُ عَالَى عَنْهُ عَالَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَّى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَّى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَّى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَّى اللَّهُ عَلّ

^[1] As long as one is not a qualified physician, he must not recommend a dangerous and poisonous medicine to any of his patients. In case a patient, who is under such a physician's care, dies out of using a poisonous medicine or as a result of a dangerous surgical operation, this physician will be bound to pay the blood money for causing his death.

^[2] This Hadīth clarifies two things. Firstly, the blood money payable to Abl Adh- Dhimmah will be half of the amount that is normally paid to a Muslim. Dhimmi is a term used for a non-believer who resides as a citizen in an Islamic country. Secondly, the compensation of a women for injuries (less than loss of life), is equal to the compensation of a man for injuries, until it reaches one-third of a full Diva (blood money for loss of life). Whatever exceeds onethird will be half of the compensation given to a man (for similar injuries).

father's authority from his grandfather)

Alläh's Messenger said, "Blood money for quasi-deliberate murder is to be made as severe as that for deliberate murder, but the offender is not to be killed, [1] [so that there is no chance for] the devil to rise up and thereby cause shedding of blood between the people – [even though the initial killing involved] no ill-will nor the use of (deadly) weapons." [Al-Dāraqutni reported it, and graded it Da'if (weak)].

رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «عَقْلُ شِبهِ العَمْدِ مُغَلِّظٌ، مِثْلُ عَقْلِ العَمْدِ، وَلَا يُثْتَلُ صَاحِبُهُ، وَذَٰلِكَ أَنْ يَنْزُوَ الشَّيْطَانُ فَتَكُونُ دِمَاءً بَيْنَ النَّاسِ فِي غَيْرِ ضَغِينَةٍ، وَلَا حَمْلِ سِلَاحٍ». أَخْرَجَهُ الدَّارَقُطْنِيُّ وَضَغَفَهُ.

1018. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās . A man killed another in the time of Allāh's Messenger . so the Prophet . fixed his blood money at twelve thousand (*Dirhams*). [Reported by *Al-Arba'a*. An-Nasā'i and Abū Hātim held that the stronger view is that it is *Mursal* (missing link after the *Tābi't*)].

(١٠١٨) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَلْمُ مَالَى وَعُمْد اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَلْمُ عَلْمُ عَلْمُ عَلَى عَلْمِد رَسُول ِ اللَّهِ عَلَى النَّيْقُ عَمْد النَّسَاقِيُّ وَأَبُو عَمْد النَّسَاقِيُّ وَأَبُو عَلَيْم إِرْسَالَهُ.

1019. Narrated Abū Rimtha^[2]: I came to the Prophet ﷺ with my son and he asked, "Who is this?" I replied, "He is my son and I bear witness to the fact." He said, "For sure, you will neither be held responsible for his offence nor hel^[3] for yours." [Reported by An-Nasā'i and Abū Dā'ud. Ibn Khuzaima and Ibn Al-Jārūd graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

(١٠٠٩) وَعَنْ أَبِي رِمْتَةَ قَالَ: أَتَيْتُ النَّبِيُّ النَّبِيِّ وَمُعَقِّ أَلَانَ النَّبِيِّ الْمُنْ هَذَا؟ فَقُلْتُ: أَنِينَ وَأَشْهَدُ بِهِ، فَقَالَ: «أَمَا إِنَّهُ لَا يَجْنِي عَلَيْهِ، وَأَمَّا إِنَّهُ لَا يَجْنِي عَلَيْهِ، وَوَاهُ النَّسَائِيُّ وَأَبُو كَارُو. وَاهُ النَّسَائِيُّ وَأَبُو كَارُو. وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ خُرْيَهُمَّ وَابْنُ الجَارُودِ.

^[1] The amount of blood money in the case of a quasi-deliberate murder depends upon the opinion of the ruling judge. In case the murder incidents abound in the region or the murderer happens to be an extremely mischievous and emotional character, the judge may equate the amount of blood money with that of the one realized in the case of a deliberate murder. If the prevalent conditions appear to be otherwise, he is empowered to decrease the amount of blood money to be at par with the one realized in the case of a murder by error.

^[2] It is said that his name was Habib bin Haiyān or Rifā'a bin Yathribi or 'Amāra bin Yathribi, - Balawi or Taimi of Banu Taim Ar-Rabab. It is also said he was a Tamimi and a descendant of Imra'ul-Qais bin Zaid Manāt bin Tamim. He was a Sahābi counted among the people of Kufa.

^[3] The purpose of mentioning this *Hadīth* here is to explain that a son is not accountable for a crime committed by his father. Similarly, a father shall not be held answerable for a wrong deed committed by his son. They cannot be punished for the wrongs of each other.

Chapter 2 ACCUSATION WITH A MURDER AND TAKING AN OATH

٢ - بَابُ دَعْوَى الدَّم ِ وَالقَسَامَةِ

1020. Narrated Sahl bin Abū Hathma (&) on the authority of some elderly men of his tribe: 'Abdullāh bin Sahl^[1] and Muhaiyisa[2] bin Mas'ŭd went out to Khaibar owing to some difficulties which had afflicted them. Muhaivisa came and told that 'Abdullah bin Sahl had been killed and thrown into a well. He came to the Jews and said, "It is you - I swear by Allah - who have killed him." They replied, "We swear by Allah that we have not killed him." He, his brother Huwaiyisa[3] and 'Abdur-Rahmān bin Sahl^[4] came and Muhaiyisa was about to speak when Allah's Messenger said, "Kabbir, Kabbir," (i.e. let the oldest speak first). So Huwaivisa spoke, then Muhaivisa spoke. Alläh's Messenger 🝇 thereupon said, "They should either pay the blood money for your friend, or take notice of war. He wrote to them a letter regarding that, and they answered, "By Allāh, we have not killed him." He then said to Huwaiyisa, Muhaiyisa and

(١٠٢٠) وَعَنْ سَهْلِ بْنِ أَبِي حَثْمَةً، عَنْ رَجَالَ مِنْ كُبَرَآءِ قَوْمِهِ، أَنَّ عَبْدَ اللهِ بْنَ سَهْلِ وَمُحَيِّضَةَ بْنَ مَسْعُودٍ خَرَجَا إِلَى خَيْبَرَ، مِنْ جَهْدٍ أَصَابَهُمْ، فَأَتَى مُحَيِّصَةُ، فَأَخْبَرَ أَنَّ عَبْدَاللهِ بْنَ سَهْل قَدْ قُتِلَ، وَطُرِحَ فِي عَيْنٍ، فَأَتَى يَهُودَ، فَقَالَ: أَنْتُمْ وَاللَّهِ فَتَلْتُمُوهُ، قَالُوا: وَالله مَا فَتَلْنَاهُ، فَأَقْبَلَ هُوَ وَأَخُوهُ حُويِّصَةً، وَعَبْدُ الرَّحْمٰن بْنُ سَهْل، فَذَهَبَ مُحَيِّضَةُ لِيَتَكَلَّمَ، فَقَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «كَبِّرْ كَبِّرْ»، يُريدُ السِّنَّ. فَتَكَلَّمَ حُوَيْصَةُ، ثُمَّ تَكَلَّمَ مُحَيِّصَةُ، فَقَالَ رَسُولُ الله ﷺ: «إِمَّا أَنْ يَدُوا صَاحِبَكُمْ، وَإِمَّا أَنْ يَأْذَنُوا بِحَرْبِ »، فَكَتَبَ إِلَيْهِمْ فِي ذٰلِكَ كِتَاباً، فَكَتَبُوأَ: إِنَّا وَاللهِ مَا قَتَلْنَاهُ، فَقَالَ لِحُويِّصَةً، وَمُحَيِّصَةً، وَعَبْدِ الرَّحْمٰنِ بْنِ سَهْلٍ: «أَتَحْلِفُونَ، وَتَسْتَحِقُونَ دَمَ صَاحِبِكُمْ؟» قَالُوا: لًا، قَالَ: «فَيَحْلِفُ لَكُمْ يَهُودُ»، قَالُوا: لَيْسُوا مُسْلَمِينَ، فَوَدَاهُ رَسُولُ الله ﷺ مِنْ عِنْده،

^{(1) &#}x27;Abdullāh bin Sahl bin Zaid bin Ka'b bin 'Aamir Al-Ansāri Al-Hārithi was killed at Khaibar and his body was found in a spring with his neck broken.

^[2] Abū Sa'id Muhaiyisa bin Mas'ūd bin Ka'b Al-Hārithi Al-Ansāri Al-Madani, the paternal cousin of the murdered 'Abdullāh was a well-known Sabābi, who had become a Muslim before the Hijra and took part in the battle of Uhud, Al-Khandaq (the Trench) and the rest of the other important battles. Allāh's Messenger 鑑 also sent him to the people of Fadak to call them to Islam

^[3] He was the elder brother of Muhaiyisa who became a Muslim through Muhaiyisa's efforts. It is said that he took part in Al-Khandaq (the Trench), Uhud and the rest of the other important battles with the Prophet ﷺ.

^[4] He is the brother of the aforementioned 'Abdullāh bin Sahl and his mother was Laila, daughter of Nāfi' bin 'Aamir. It is said that he fought at Badr, Uhud and at all the other important battles. He is also the one who was bitten by a snake and 'Amāra bin Hazm treated him with Ar-Ruqya (i.e. Qur'ānic reading and prayers) by order of the Prophet 選. However, Ibn Hajar found that unlikely to be the case and hesitated to accept it as factual in his book Al-Isābā.

Abdur- Rahmān bin Sahl, "Would you take an oath and make your claim regarding the blood money of your companion?" They replied, "No." He said, "Will the Jews then swear to you (that they are innocent)?" They replied, "They are not Muslims." So Allāh's Messenger 鄉 himself paid his blood money [1] and sent them one hundred she-camels. Sahl said, "A red she-camel among them kicked me." [Agreed upon].

1021. Narrated a man from Al-Ansār: "Allāh's Messenger ﷺ affirmed the practice of Qasama (taking an oath in a murder case) as it was in the Jahiliya times. [2] Allāh's Messenger ﷺ gave a ruling according to it for some people of Al-Ansār regarding a slain person whom they claimed was killed by the Jews." [Reported by Muslim].

Chapter 3 KILLING OF THE PEOPLE OF TRANSGRESSION

1022. Narrated Ibn 'Umar 泰: Allāh's Messenger 鑫 said, "He who takes up arms against us is not one of us."[3]

فَبَعَثَ إِلَيْهِمْ مِائَةً نَاقَةٍ، قَالَ سَهْلٌ: فَلَقَدْ رَكَضَنْنِي مِنْهَا نَاقَةٌ حَمْرَاءُ. مُثَقَقْ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٠٢١) وَعَنْ رَجُلِر مِنَ الأَنْصَادِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ أَقَرَّ القَسَامَةَ عَلَىٰ مَا كَانَتْ عَلَيْهِ فِي الجَاهِلِيَّةِ، وَقَطْمِ بِهَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ بَيْنَ نَاسٍ مِنَ الأَنْصَادِ، فِي قَبِيلِ أَذْعَوْهُ عَلَى النَّهُودِ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ

٣ - بَابُ قِتَالِ أَهْلِ البَغْيِ

(١٠٢٧) عَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: امَنْ حَمَلَ

^[1] Qasāmab (الفيامة) implies a condition where the actual murderer not being identified, the suspected persons or the people of a tribe are made to make a sworn statement. Should such an incident occur, fifty people are supposed to give sworn statement to the effect that they, their tribesmen, or the people of their village have not committed the murder. This kind of oath is administered during murder trials only. No such oath is administered in the trials of other Hudūd. Qasāma may be undertaken by either of the two parties (i.e. the claimant or the defendant). In case the claimants (successors of the victims) present an evidence, or resort to this kind of swearing (in the absence of a proof) claiming that these are indeed the murderers of the victims, it becomes imperative on the defendant to pay blood money to the claimant. If the claimants are unable to do so, the defendants may similarly choose to undertake a similar oath substantiated by fifty persons. Such an oath-taking will absolve the defendants of the murder charges. The said oath-taking shall only be undertaken by those persons who are singled out and selected by none other than the petitioner himself. This is the one and only ruling of its kind that legitimizes the oath-taking on the part of a petitioner too.

^[2] In this matter, the Islamic law also accepts an oath undertaken by a disbeliever. *Qasāma* does not take effect merely on an allegation made by a petitioner unless the same is supported by some strong and substantial evidence concerning the murder.

^[3] To fight against a law abiding Muslim is an act incurring enormous sin. Similarly,

[Agreed upon].

1023. Narrated Abū Huraira **\$**: The Prophet **\$** said, "He who disobeys (the legitimate Muslim ruler), separates from the community and then dies, his death is as that of those of the *Jabiltya* era [i.e. the ignorance before Islam]."[1] [Muslim reported it].

1024. Narrated Umm Salama *: Allāh's Messenger # said, "The party of transgressors will kill 'Ammār.'' [Reported by Muslim].

1025. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . Allāh's Messenger said, "Do you know, son of Umm 'Abd [i.e. Abdullah ibn Mas'ud], what is Allāh's ruling regarding those of this community who transgress (against the legitimate ruler)?" He replied, "Allāh and His Messenger know best." He said, "A wounded man among them should not be finished off (killed), nor should the captive (from them) be killed, nor should those who escape be pursued and no booties from them should be divided." [Reported by Al-Bazzār and

عَلَيْنَا السَّلَاحَ فَلَيْسَ مِنَّا». مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ. (١٠٢٣) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى

(١٠٢٤) وَعَنْ أُمِّ سَلَمَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى

عَنْهَا، قَالَتْ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "تَقْتُلُ عَمَّاراً الفِتَةُ البَاغِيَةُ». رَوَاهُ مُشلِمٌ.

(١٠٧٥) وَعَنِ الْبَنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «هَلْ تَدْدِي يَا الْبَنَ أُمَّ عَبْدٍ! كَيْفَ حُكُمُ اللَّهِ فِيمَنْ بَغَى مِنْ مَذِهِ الأَثْقَةِ؟» قَالَ: اللَّهُ وَرَسُولُهُ أَغْلَمُ، قَالَ: «لَا اللَّهُ وَرَسُولُهُ أَغْلَمُ، قَالَ: «لَا يُخْفَرُ عَلَى جَرِيحِهَا، وَلَا يُقْتَلُ أَسِيرُهَا، وَلَا يَقْتَلُ مَنْ اللّهَ وَاللّهُ وَلّهُ وَاللّهُ وَاللّه

threatening a Muslim with murder or frightening and intimidating him by brandishing a weapon is also a great sinful act. In case someone legitimizes the murder of a Muslim, or kills him by deeming it permissible, then there is no doubt about the apostasy of such a person. He is declared an unbeliever by a common consensus. It is permissible, however, to wage a war against the law-less Muslims who rise in rebellion against the lawful authority as mentioned in the Qur'ānic Verse: "...Fight against the one that rebels, until it complies with the Command of Allah..." 49:9, as well as other sound Abbaditb.

^[11] Obedience to an Amir (ruler) is obligatory as long as he does not issue a decree which requires the people to disobey the codes of Islamic law. Likewise, it is not permitted to break away from his pledge of allegiance, as long he does not commit manifest acts of apostasy. Insubordination to the Amir who rules according to Islamic law is an act of rebellion. Anyone breaching the authority of an Amir or falling out from the group, even though not reckoned a disbeliever, dies the death of those people who have gone astray. The similarity between them is that neither of them have an Imam or legitimate authority.

^[2] He was martyred during the battle of Siffin by those who fought against 'Ali.

^[3] There is no disagreement concerning the permissibility to wage a war against the people of transgression. However, there is a difference of opinion among the scholars as to the confiscation of their belongings, doing away with their wounded warriors and pursuing those who try to escape.

Al-Hakim. The latter graded it *Sabib* (authentic), but he made a mistake because Kauthar^[1] bin Hakim is in its chain of narrators, and he is *Matrūk* (totally rejected)].

Something similar to the aforesaid *Hadīth* was authenticated from 'Ali & as *Mawqūf* (a saying of a Companion, i.e. 'Ali). [Ibn Abū Shaiba and Al-Hākim reported it].

1026. Narrated 'Arfaja bin Shuraih^[2] (�): "I heard Allāh's Messenger ﷺ say, "If anyone comes to you when you are united, intending to divide your community, kill him.'' [Muslim reported it].

Chapter 4 FIGHTING AGAINST OFFENDERS AND KILLING APOSTATES

1027. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin 'Umar &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "He who is killed protecting his property is a martyr." [3] [Reported by Abū Dā'ud, An-Nasā'i and At-Tirmidhi. The latter graded it Sabib (authentic)].

1028. Narrated 'Imrān bin Husain &: Ya'lā bin Umaiya fought with a man and one of them bit the other. So, he pulled his hand from his mouth, pulling out one of his front teeth (in the process). Then, they brought a dispute before the Prophet and he said, "Does one of

وَصَحَّ عَنْ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ مِنْ طُوُق_{َرٍ} نَحُوُهُ مَوْقُوفًا . أَخْرَجَهُ ابْنُ أَبِي شَيْبَةَ وَالحَاكِمُ.

(١٠٢٦) وَعَنْ عَرْفَجَةَ بْنِر شُرِيْحِ قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ: "مَنْ أَثَاكُمْ، وَأَمْرُكُمْ جَمِيعٌ، يُرِيُد أَنْ يُفَرَقَ جَمَاعَتَكُمْ، فَاقْتُلُوهُ". أَخْرَجُهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

٤ - بَابُ قِتَالِ الجَانِي وَقَتْلِ المُرْتَدِّ

(١٠٢٧) عَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِي عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللهُ تعالى عنهما قال: قال رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَنْ قُتِلَ دُونَ مَالِهِ فَهُوَ شَهِيدٌ». رَوَاهُ أَبُنُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَآئِيُّ وَالتَّامِدُقُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ.

(١٠٢٨) وَعَنْ عِمْرَانَ بْنِر حُصَيْنِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَاتَلَ يَعْلَى بْنُ أُمَيَّةً رَجُلاً، فَعَنْ مَنْ فَيهِ، فَقَالَتَزَعَ يَدَهُ مِنْ فَيهِ، فَنَتَزَعَ يَدَهُ مِنْ فَيهِ، فَقَالَ: «أَيْنَصَّمَا إِلَى النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، فَقَالَ: «أَيْنَصُ أَخَاهُ، كَمَا يَعَضُ الضَّخُلُ؟ لَا

^[1] He was a resident of Kufa and later settled at Halab. Ibn Ma'īn said about him, "He is nothing (regarding the narration of *Hadīth*)." Ahmad bin Hanbal said, "His *Ahadīth* are false."

^{[2] &#}x27;Arfaja bin Shuraih Ashja'i was a Sahābi who settled at Kufa.

^[3] Another *Hadīth* relates that whosoever gets killed while safeguarding his wealth, life, progeny and religion, is a martyr, and hence secures Paradise. If a criminal attacks someone's life, wealth, spouse and children, regardless of whether the wealth happens to be scanty or abundant, and the defending person murders the attacker in the process, such a killing incurs absolutely no sin on him. This ruling is collectively agreed.

you bite as a male camel bites? "There is no blood money [1] for him.'' [Agreed upon, and the wording is Muslim's].

1029. Narrated Abū Huraira **\$\ointimes\$**: Abul Qāsim **\$\ointimes\$** said, "If any person were to look at you [in your place of privacy] without permission, and you were to throw a pebble at him and put out his eye, you would be guilty of no offence." [Agreed upon]. The wording of Ahmad and An-Nasā'i, which Ibn Hibbān declared to be *Sabib* (authentic), has: "He is neither entitled to blood money nor retaliation."

1030. Narrated Al-Barā' bin 'Azib &: Allāh's Messenger ## ruled that: "The owners of gardens are responsible for guarding them by day; and the owners of animals are responsible for guarding them during the night, and that any damage done by animals during the night is the responsibility of their owners." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a except At-Tirmidhi. Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic). However, there is disagreement regarding its chain of narrators].

1031. Narrated Mu'ādh bin Jabal & regarding a man who had accepted Islam then became a Jew: "I will not sit down till he is killed. [4] that is the

دِيَةَ لَهُ». مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفْظُ لِمُسْلِمٍ.

(١٠٢٩) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ أَبُو الفَّاسِمِ ﷺ: ﴿ لَوْ أَنَّ الْمُرَءَ اطَلَعَ عَلَيْكَ بِغَيْرٍ إِذْنِ، فَخَذَفْتُهُ بِحَصَاةٍ، فَفَقَأْتُ عَيْنَهُ، لَمْ يَكُنْ عَلَيْكَ جُنَاحٌ». مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ. وَفِي لَفُظٍ لأَحْمَدَ وَالنَّمَاتِينَ، وَصَحْحَهُ ابْنُ جِبَّانَ: ﴿ فَلَا لَيْمَاتُهُ ابْنُ جِبَّانَ: ﴿ فَلَا لِيَعْمَلُهُ ابْنُ جِبَّانَ: ﴿ فَلَا لِيَعْمَلُهُ ابْنُ جَبَّانَ: ﴿ فَلَا لِيَعْمَلُهُ ابْنُ جَبَّانَ: ﴿ فَلَا

(١٠٣٠) وَعَن البَرَآءِ بْنِ عَاذِبِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، قَالَ: قَطْم رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ أَنَّ جِفْظَ الحَوَانِطِ بِالنَّهَارِ عَلَىٰ أَهْلِهَا، وَأَنَّ جِفْظَ المَاشِيَةِ بِاللَّيْلِ عَلَىٰ أَهْلِهَا، وَأَنَّ عَلَىٰ أَهْلِ المَاشِيَةِ مَا أَصَابَتُ مَاشِيتُهُمْ بِاللَّيْلِ. وَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالاَبُرْبَعَةُ، إِلَّا التَّرْمِذِيَّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ جَبَّانَ، وَفِي إِسْنَادِهِ الْحَيَادَةُ.

(١.٣١) وَعَنْ مُعَاذِ بْنِ جَبَلِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ - فِي رَجُلِ أَشْلَمَ، ثُمَّ تَهَوَّدَ -: لَا أَجْلِسُ حَتَّى يُقْتَلَ، قَضَاءُ اللهِ وَرَسُولِهِ، فَأَمِرَ بِهِ

⁽¹⁾ Any action necessitating the payment of compensation, if undertaken to protect oneself from pain or unjust harm, is subject to be excused.

^[2] This is regarding a house (or place) that is forbidden to enter without permission.

^[3] This *Hadīth* implies that if a herd of cattle causes harm to someone's garden or agricultural produce during the daytime, the cattle-owner will not be subjected to any penalty. This is because it is customary for cattle to graze during the daytime. Therefore, the garden owner is supposed to take the necessary care of his garden himself. Similarly, it is also a matter of daily routine to secure one's cattle at night. Hence, it is an obligation on the cattle-owner to secure his cattle at night, and if the cattle causes harm during the night, he is responsible for that.

rhis Hadītb and the one which follows narrated by Ibn 'Abbās وضي الله عنهما provide a clear evidence that the penalty of apostasy is death. If someone is forced into being a disbeliever, or forced into uttering words characterizing apostasy, he is exempted and is not

Judgement of Allāh and His Messenger (ﷺ). Hence, an order was given and he was killed." [Agreed upon]. A narration by Abū Dā'ud has: "He was asked to repent (i.e. return to Islam) before that."

1032. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Kill whoever changes his religion." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

1033. Narrated (Ibn 'Abbās) * "A blind man had a slave-woman who gave birth to his child and she was reviling the Prophet * and speaking evil of him. He forbade her but she did not desist. One night he took a pickax, put it on her belly and leaned on it killing her. The Prophet * was informed about that and said, "Be witness that the spilling of her blood is lawful (with impunity)." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and its narrators are reliable].

فَقُتِلَ. مُثَّغَقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَفِي رِوَايَةِ لأَبِي دَاوُدَ: "وَكَانَ قد اسْتُنَسَ قَتْلَ ذٰلكَ».

(۱۰۳۲) وَعَن ِ ابْن ِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَی عَنْهُمَا، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَنْ بَدَّلَ دِینَهُ فَاقْتُلُوهُ». رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(١٠٣٣) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ أَعُمَى كَانَتْ لَهُ أُمُّ وَلَدِ، تَشْنِمُ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ، وَتَقَعُ وَيَقَعُ وَيَقَعُ النَّبِيَ ﷺ، وَتَقَعُ وَيَقَعُ النَّبِيَ اللَّهِ اللَّبِيَّ ﷺ، وَاتَّكَا عَلَيْهَا، وَاتَّكَا النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، فَقَالَ: ﴿أَلَا النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، فَقَالَ: ﴿أَلَا النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، وَقَالَ: ﴿أَلَا النَّبِيِّ اللَّهِيَّ اللَّهِيَّ اللَّهِيَّ اللَّهِيَّةَ اللَّهُ وَاوْدَ، وَرُواتُهُ الْمِودَانُ وَاللَّهُ وَاوْدَ، وَرُواتُهُ اللَّهِيَّ اللَّهِيَّةَ اللَّهُو وَالْوَدُ، وَرُواتُهُ اللَّهُونَ اللَّهُ وَالْوَدُ، وَرُواتُهُ اللَّهِيَّةَ اللَّهُ وَالْمُونَانُ اللَّهُ وَالْمُونَانُ اللَّهُ وَالْهُ وَالْمُونَانُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ وَالْمُونَانُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ وَالْمُونَانُ اللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ اللَّهُ وَالْمُؤْلُ اللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ اللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ اللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ اللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ اللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ وَالْمُونُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْلِلْمُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الللْمُؤْلِمُ الللْ

considered to be guilty by Allāh. Some scholars regard the female apostate as an exception, arguing that the ruling of death penalty does not apply to her. This is an erroneous view as she too is punishable with death, according to the majority of the Muslim scholars.

^[1] This *Hadith* amply clarifies that anyone uttering words of abuse about the Prophet ﷺ is punishable with death.

10. THE BOOK OF HUDUD^[1] (PRESCRIBED PUNISHMENTS)

Chapter 1 THE PRESCRIBED PUNISHMENT FOR COMMITTING FORNICATION

1034. Narrated Abū Huraira and Zaid bin Khālid Al-Juhani &: A man of the desert Arabs came to Allāh's Messenger and said, "O Allāh's Messenger, I beg you by Allah that you judge for me in accordance with the Book of Allah. The other one - who was more learned than him - said, "Yes, judge between us in accordance with Allah's Book and allow me (to speak)." He said, "Speak." He said, "My son who was a hired servant for this man committed fornication with his wife. When I was told that my son must be stoned to death I ransomed him with a hundred sheep and a slave-girl. However, when I asked the learned people they told me that my son should receive a hundred lashes and be banished for a year, and that stoning to death applied to this man's wife." Allah's Messenger 😹 replied, "By Him in Whose Hand my soul is, I shall certainly judge between you in accordance with Allāh's Book. The slave-girl and the sheep are to be returned to you, and your son shall receive a hundred lashes and be banished for a year. Unais, go to this man's wife, and if she confesses, stone^[2] her to death." [Agreed upon,

١٠ - كِتَابُ الحُدُودِ

١ - بَابُ حَدِّ الزَّانِي

(١٠٣٤) عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ وَزَيْدِ بْنِ خَالِدٍ الجُهَنِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ رَجُلاً مِنَ الأَعْرَابِ أَتَى رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ، فَقَالَ: يَا رَسُولَ الله! أَنْشُدُكَ باللهِ إلَّا قَضَيْتَ لِي بِكِتَابِ اللهِ! فَقَالَ الآخَرُ - وَهُوَ أَفْقَهُ مِنْهُ -: نَعَمْ، فَٱقْض يَئْنَنَا بِكِتَابِ اللهِ، وَٱلْذَنْ لِي، فَقَالَ: قُلْ، قَالَ: إِنَّ ابْنِي كَانَ عَسِيفاً عَليْ هٰذَا، فَزَنَى بٱمْرَأَتِهِ، وَإِنِّي أُخْبِرْتُ أَنَ عَلَى ابْنِي الرَّجْمَ، فَأَفْتَدَيْتُ مِنْهُ بِمِائَةِ شَاةٍ وَوَلِيدَةٍ، فَسَأَلْتُ أَهْلَ العِلْم ، فَأَخْبَرُونِي أَنَّ عَلَى ابْنِي جَلْدَ مِائَة وَتَغْرِيبَ عَام، وَأَنَّ عَلَى ٱمْرَأَةِ لَهٰذَا الرَّجْمَ. فَقَالَ رَسُولٌ اللهِ ﷺ: «وَالَّذِي نَفْسِي بِيَدِهِ لأَقْضِيَنَّ بَيْنَكُمَا بِكِتَابِ اللهِ، الوَلِيدَةُ وَالغَنَمُ رَدٌّ عَلَيْكَ، وَعَلَى ابْنِكَ جَلْدُ مِائَةٍ وَتَغْرِيبُ عَامِ، وَاغْدُ يَا أُنَيْسُ! إِلَى امْرَأَةِ هٰذَا، فَإِن اعْتَرَفَتْ فَارْجُمْهَا». مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْه، وَهٰذَا اللَّفْظُ لِمُسْلِم.

^[1] Hudūd is a plural form of Hadd, which means 'to deter'. The legal punishments for fornication and similar acts are called Hudūd because these prescribed punishments deter the people from such acts. Sometimes the word Hadd is also used to denote a particular sinful act.

^[2] This Hadith demonstrates with evidence that the penalty of fornication for Al-Bikr - man

and the wording is Muslim's].

1035. Narrated 'Ubāda bin As-Sāmit &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Take from me, take from me, Allāh has indeed made a way for them (women)^[1]. Al-Bikr (one who has not had sexual relations in a legitimate marriage) (if he commits fornication) shall receive one hundred lashes and be banished for a year. Atb-Tbaiyib (one who has had sexual relations in a lawful marriage) (if he commits fornication) shall receive one hundred lashes ^[2] and be stoned to death." [Reported by Muslim].

1036. Narrated Abū Huraira 🐗: A man of the Muslims came to Allah's Messenger & when he was in the mosque and called him saying, "O Allāh's Messenger, I have committed fornication." He turned away from him, so the man came round facing him and said, "O Allāh's Messenger, I have committed fornication." He turned away from him till he repeated that four times. When he had testified four times against his own self. Alläh's Messenger 鑑 called him and said, "Are you insane?" He replied, "No." He asked, "Have you married?" He replied, "Yes." The Prophet & thereupon said, "Take him away and stone him to death." [3] [Agreed upon].

(١٠٣٥) وَعَنْ عُبَادَةَ بْنِرِ الصَّامِتِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "خُذُوا عَنِّي، خُذُوا عَنِّي، فَقَدْ جَعَلَ اللَّهُ لَهُنَّ سَبِيلاً، البِكُورُ بِالبِكْرِ جَلْدُ مِائَةِ وَنَفْيُ سَنَةٍ، وَالنَّبُّبُ بِالنَّبِبِ جَلْدُ مِائَةِ وَالرَّجْمُّ. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

الله تَعَلَّى وَعَنْ أَبِي مُرثِرْةَ رَسِيَ الله تَعَلَى عَنَهُ، قَالَ: أَنَى رَجُلٌ مِنَ اللهُ اللهِ مِنَ اللهُ تَعَلَى عَنَهُ، قَالَ: أَنَى رَجُلٌ مِنَ المُسْلِمِينَ رَسُولَ اللهِ عَنْهُ، وَمُو فِي المَسْجِدِ، فَنَادَاهُ، فَقَالَ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنِّي رَنَيْتُ، فَأَعْرَضَ عَنْهُ، فَتَنَعَى يَلْقَ ذَلِكَ عَلَيْهِ أَرْيَمَ مَرَّاتٍ، فَنَامًى فَلْمًا شَهِدَ عَلَىٰ نَشْهِ أَرْبَعَ شَهَادَاتٍ دَعَاهُ رَسُولُ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ أَرْبَعَ مَرَّاتٍ، فَلَمَّا شَهِدَ عَلَىٰ نَشْهِ أَرْبَعَ شَهَادَاتٍ دَعَاهُ رَسُولُ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ أَرْبَعَ شَهَادَاتٍ دَعَاهُ رَسُولُ اللهِ عَلَىٰ فَلْمَانَ اللهِ عَلَىٰ فَلْمَانَ اللهِ عَلَىٰ فَلْمَانَ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ أَرْبَعَ شَهَادَاتٍ دَعَاهُ رَسُولُ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ أَخْصَلْتَ؟» قَالَ: اللهِ عَلَيْهِ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ اللهِ اللهِ عَلَىٰ اللهِ اللهِي اللهِ الل

or woman – is their flogging with a hundred lashes each and their expatriation from the Islamic state for the period of one year. The punishment of a hundred lashes is according to the Qur'anic injunctions, while the banishment is an addition that is accepted by all the narrators of Abāditb. The punishment for adultery – committed by Atb-Tbatyib – is Rajm (being stoned to death) according to a general consensus of all the scholars. This also proves that a single confession made by an adulterer or adulteress is sufficient to establish a penal ruling on them and thus subject them to punishment.

^[1] This refers to the saying of Allah in Sūrat Al-Mā'idah, 5:15.

^[2] This *Hadīth* proves that a married adulterer or adulteress should at first be flogged and then stoned to death. However, the majority of the scholars are of the view that there is no need of flogging in this case and only *Rajm* is sufficient. They maintain that the penalty of flogging for an adulterer is no longer valid as the Prophet £ did not flog Mā'iz and others, but only stoned them to death.

^[3] The one who made this confession was Mā'iz Aslami. This *Hadīth* explains that a judge

1037. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās 🞄: "When Mā'iz bin Mālik came to the Prophet [1] me he (the Prophet) said to him, "Perhaps you (only) kissed or touched or looked at (her)," he replied, "No, O Allāh's Messenger." [Reported by Al-Bukhāril.

عِيرِهِ قَالَ لَهُ: «لَعَلَّكَ قَبَّلْتَ، أَوْ غَمَرْتَ، أَوْ نَظَ ْتَ»، قَالَ: لَا، يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ. (١٠٣٨) وَعَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِ الخَطَّابِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَم، عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُ خَطَبَ، فَقَالَ: إِنَّ اللَّهَ بَعَثَ مُحَمَّداً بِالحَقِّ، وَأَنْزَلَ عَلَيْهِ الكِتَابَ، فَكَانَ فِيمَا أَنْزَلَ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ آيَةُ الرَّجْمِ ، قَرَأْنَاهَا، وَوَعَيْنَاهَا،

(١٠٣٧) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى

عَنْهُمَا، قَالَ: لَمَّا أَتَى مَاعِزُ بْنُ مَالِكِ إِلَىٰ النَّبِيِّ

1038. Narrated 'Umar bin Al-Khattāb &: He addressed the people and said, "Indeed, Alläh sent Muhammad with the Truth and revealed to him the Book, and the Verse of stoning was included in what Allah revealed. We recited, memorized and understood it. Alläh's Messenger & had people stoned to death and we have done it also since his death. I am afraid that when a long time passes people may say, "We do not find stoning in Allāh's Book, and thus they may go astray by abandoning an obligation sent down by Allah. Stoning is an obligation laid down in the Book[2] of Allah, the Most High, for men and women who have married, if they commit fornication - when proof is established, or there is pregnancy, or a confession." [Agreed upon].

وَعَقَلْنَاهَا، فَرَجَمَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ، وَرَجَمْنَا بَعْدَهُ، فَأَخْشَى إِنَ طَالَ بِالنَّاسِ زَمَانٌ أَنْ يَقُولَ فَآئِلٌ: مَا نَجدُ الرَّجْمَ فِي كِتَابِ ٱللهِ، فَيَضِلُّوا بِتَرْكِ فَريضَةِ أَنْزَلَهَا اللَّهُ، وَإِنَّ الرَّجْمَ حَتٌّ فِي كتَاب الله تَعَالِيٰ عَلَىٰ مَنْ زَنَى، إِذَا أَحْصَنَ، مِنَ الرُّجَالِ وَالنِّسَاءِ، إِذَا قَامَتِ السِّيُّنَّةُ، أَوْ كَانَ الحَيْلُ، أَو ٱلاغْتِرَافُ. مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

1039. Narrated Abū Huraira 🐗: I heard Allāh's Messenger ﷺ say, "When the (١٠٣٩) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُوَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَىٰ عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ تَقُولُ: «إِذَا زَنَتْ

must make a thorough investigation prior to passing a verdict in regard to the prescribed punishment lest someone should be deprived of his life due to some judgmental error.

^[1] Mā'iz had confessed to have committed fornication (after having married).

^[2] This Hadīth has been reported by all the Muhaddithīn except An-Nasā'i, and narrated by various Companions of the Prophet 2 . It has been reported by Ubai bin Ka'b that Surab Al-Abzāb (in its originally revealed form) used to be as voluminous as Sūrab Al-Bagarab. It only exists now in its present form while the rest of it was abrogated. Ubai bin Ka'b reports, "We used to recite this verse to the effect that whenever a married man and woman commit an act of adultery, stone them to death!" Later, the recitation of this Verse was declared abrogated but its ruling still remained effective, which is also a kind of abrogation. A ruling concerning fornication requires one of three types of evidence, which are: a) Four witnesses, b) a confession thus made to this effect, c) pregnancy. This third condition applies to women only, but is not accepted by Imam Ash-Shafi'i and Imam Abu-Hanifa. According to those who accept it as evidence, a woman - who is neither married? nor a slave - will be subjected to the punishment ruling in case her pregnancy becomes manifest.

slave-woman [1] of any of you commits fornication and the matter is clear, he should give her the prescribed flogging, but he should not revile her severely. If she does it again he should give her the prescribed flogging, but he should not revile her severely. If she does it a third time and the matter is clear, he should sell her, even if only for a rope (made) of hair.'' [Agreed upon, and the wording is Muslim's].

أَمَّةُ أَخِدِكُمْ، فَتَبَيَّنَ زِنَاهَا، فَلْيَجْلِدُهَا الحَدَّ، وَلَا يُتَرَّبُ عَلَيْهَا، ثُمَّ إِنْ زَنَتْ فَلْيَجْلِدُهَا الحَدَّ، وَلَا يُتَرَّبُ عَلَيْهَا، ثُمَّ إِنْ زَنَتِ الثَّالِثَةَ، فَتَبَيَّنَ وَلَا يُتَرِّبُ فَلْيَبِعْهَا، وَلَوْ بِحَبْلِرِ مِنْ شَعْرٍه. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْه، وَلهٰذَا لَفْظُ مُسْلِمٍ.

1040. Narrated 'Ali &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Carry out the prescribed punishments on your slaves." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud. It occurs in Muslim's book as Mawqūf (a saying of a Companion, i.e. 'Ali)].

(۱۰٤٠) وعن عليِّ رضي الله عنه قال: قال رسولُ الله ﷺ: ﴿أَقِيمُوا الحُدُودَ عَلَى مَا مَلَكَتُ أَيُمانُكُمُ ، رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وهو في مُسْلِم مَوْقُوفٌ.

1041. Narrated 'Imrān bin Husain &: A woman of Juhaina [Al-Ghamidiyah] came to the Prophet & - when she was pregnant owing to fornication - and said, "O Allāh's Prophet, I have committed something for which a prescribed punishment is due, so execute it on me." Allāh's Messenger & called her guardian and said, "Treat her well and when she delivers! D bring her to me," and he did so. Then he gave

(١٠٤١) وَعَنْ عِمْرَانَ بْنِ حُصَيْنِر رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما، أَنَّ ٱمْرَأَةً مِنْ جُهَيْنَةً أَنْتِ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ، وَهِيَ حُبْلِىٰ مِنَ الزَّنَا، فَقَالَتْ: يَا نَبِيَّ اللهِ ا أَصَبْثُ حَدًّا، فَأَقِمْهُ عَلَيَّ، فَدَعَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ وَلِيَّهَا، فَقَالَ: «أَحْسِنْ إِلَيْهَا، فَإِذَا وَضَعَتْ فَأْتِنِي بِهَا»، فَقَعَلَ، فَأَمْرَ بِهَا فَمُجْمَتْ، ثُمَّ صَلَّى عَلَيْهَا، فَيْ أَمْرَ بِهَا فَمُجْمَتْ، ثُمَّ صَلَّى عَلَيْهَا،

^[1] This authority of subjecting a male or female slave to the appropriate punishment has been vested in the hands of his/her master. The rest of the people shall be governed by the state in this matter. If the female-slave happens to be a married one, then there is a difference of opinion among the scholars as to whether the responsibility of subjecting her to a Sbari'a ruling devolves on the state or the master himself. Moreover, a female slave may only be flogged and the ruling of the death penalty by stoning does not apply to her. In flogging too, her punishment is limited to fifty lashes only. An evidence to this effect is a Verse from the Qur'ān which says, "...Their punishment is half that of the punishment of the (free) women." Sūrab An-Nisā', 4:25

^[2] This *Hadith* clarifies that a woman must not be subjected to an immediate punishment of adultery; but the possibility of her becoming pregnant should also be taken into consideration. In case she does become pregnant, she will not be subjected to the death penalty until she gives birth to her baby. After the birth of the child, the woman may be subjected to the punishment on the condition that the milk-feeding and raising of the child is arranged and taken care of by another woman. If no such woman can be arranged, her death penalty will be postponed until such a time that the child is weaned off her milk. Even if such a woman happens to be an unmarried one, no punishment will take effect until she gives birth to a child. It is stressed upon her kith and kin to treat her nicely, as usually in such a case the relatives of a woman keep uttering curses and other calumnious remarks about her.

order regarding her and her clothes were tied around her body. Then he gave command regarding her and she was stoned to death. He then prayed over her. 'Umar thereupon said, "Do you pray over her, O Allāh's Prophet, while she has committed fornication?" He replied, "She has repented to such an extent that if it were divided among seventy people of Al-Madīnah, it would be enough for them all. Have you found any (repentance) better than she having sacrificed herself for the sake of Allāh, the Most High?" [Reported by Muslim].

1042. Narrated Jābir bin 'Abdullāh 泰: The Prophet 織 stoned to death a man of Aslam, another man of the Jews and a woman."^[1] [Reported by Muslim]. The story of stoning to death of the two Jews occurs in the two Sabib books from Jbn 'Umar's Hadītb.

1043. Narrated Sa'īd^[2] bin Sa'd bin 'Ubāda &: A small weak man was living in our clan and he had illicit intercourse with a slave-woman of theirs. Sa'īd informed Allāh's Messenger & about that and he said, "Strike him according to his due *Hadd* (prescribed punishment)." They replied, "Indeed, he is weaker than (to bear)

فَقَالَ عُمَرُ: أَتُصَلِّي عَلَيْهَا يَا نَبِيَّ اللهِ! وَقَدْ زَنَتْ؟ فَقَالَ: (لَقَدْ تَابَتْ تَوْبَةً، لَوْ قُسِمَتْ بَيْنَ سَبْعِينَ مِنْ أَهْلِ المَدِينَةِ لَوَسِمَتْهُمْ، وَمَلْ وَجَدَتَ أَفْضَلَ مِنْ أَنْ جَادَتْ بِنَفْسِهَا لِلَّهِ تَعَالَى؟». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(۱۰٤٣) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ بْنِرَ عَبْدِ اللهِ رَضِيَ اللّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: رَجَمَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ رَجُلاً مِنْ أَسْلَمَ، وَرَجُلاً مِنَ البَهُودِ، وَأَمْرَأَةً. رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ وَقِصَّةً رَجْمِ البَهُرويَّيْنِ فِي الصَّحِيحَيْنِ مِنْ حَدِيثِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ.

(١٠٤٣) وَعَنْ سَعِيدِ بْنِرِ سَعْدِ بْنِرِ عُبَادَةَ رَضِيَ اللّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ فِي أَثْيَاتِنَا رُوثِيجِلٌ ضَعِيفٌ، فَخَبُثَ بِأَمَةٍ مِنْ إِمَاتِهِمْ فَلَكَرَ دَٰلِكَ سَعْدٌ لِرَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ، فَقَالَ: «اضْرِبُوهُ حَدَّهُ»، فَقَالُوا: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنَّهُ أَضْمَفُ مِنْ ذَٰلِكَ، فَقَالَ: خُذُوا عِنْكَالاً فِيهِ مِائَةُ شِمْرَاخٍ، ثُمَّ

Observing any such remark, except the one concerning the Divine interdiction and punishment, is considered as inflicting an injury on her heart, which is an atrocity, and thus unfair and not permissible.

^[1] The Prophet 鑑 executed four people by stoning in his time. The first one is the above mentioned incident of a woman, the second one was a person belonging to Banu Aslam Tribe (i.e., Mā'iz bin Mālik) and two Jewish people (a man and a woman). This explains that the Shart'a penal rulings will also apply to the non-believers just as they apply to Muslims.

^[2] Sa'īd bin Sa'd bin 'Ubada Al-Ansāri As-Sā'idi was a Sabābi. It is also said that he was a Tābi'ī who was reliable and narrated few Abadītb. He governed Yemen for 'Ali bin Abū Tālib.

^[3] This *Hadith* states that a unmarried fornicator, due to some natural cause or sickness, if becomes so weak and incapacitated that he is most likely to die after being stricken with the complete punishment of 100 lashes, some leniency may be observed in his penalty. The number of 100 lashes shall not be decreased, however, a smaller stick instead of a big stick for lashing may be used. Moreover, there may be a difference in the manner of striking as the

that." He then said, "Get a date-palm stalk with a hundred twigs and strike him just once," and they did so. [Reported by Ahmad, An-Nasā'i and Ibn Mājah. Its chain of narrators is Hasan (good). However, there was disagreement regarding whether it is Mawsul (a connected chain) or Mursal (missing link after the Tābi'f)].

1044. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The Prophet said, "If you find anyone doing the deed of Lot's people, [1] kill the one who does it and the one to whom it is done; [2] and if you find anyone having sexual intercourse with an animal, kill him and kill the animal." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a. Its narrators are reliable. However, there is some difference regarding it (i.e. its legal rulings)].

1045. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: The Prophet had punished (the people) with lashes and banished (them). Abu Bakr & also punished (the people) with lashes and banished (them)." [Reported by At-Tirmidhi. Its narrators are reliable. However, it was disagreed whether it is Mawqūf (a saying of a Companion) or Marfū' (attributed to the Prophet)].

اضْرِيُوهُ بِهِ ضَرْبَةً وَاحِدَةً"، فَفَعَلُوا. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالنَّسَآيَنِيُّ وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ، وَلِشْنَادُهُ حَسَنٌ، لَكِنِ آخْتُلِفَ فِي وَصْلِهِ وَإِرْسَالِهِ.

(1044) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ اللَّبِيَّ ﷺ قَالَ: "مَنْ وَجَدْتُمُوهُ يَعْمَلُ وَجَدْتُمُوهُ وَالمَّفْعُولَ الفَاعِلَ وَلَمْتُمُوهُ وَالمَفْعُولَ بِهِ، وَمَنْ وَجَدْتُمُوهُ وَقَعَ عَلَى بَهِيمَةٍ فَاتَّتُلُوا البَهِيمَةَ". رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، وَرَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، وَرَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، وَرَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، وَرَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ،

(١٠٤٥) وَعَنِ الْبَنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا. أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ ضَرَبَ وَغَرَّبَ، وَأَبُو بَكْمِ ضَرَبَ وَغَرَّبَ، وَإَبُو بَكْمِ ضَرَبَ وَغَرَّبَ. وَوَاهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَرِجَالُهُ ثِقَاتٌ، إِلَّا أَنَّهُ الْخُلِكَ فِي وَثْفِهِ وَرَفْهِهِ.

same could be done lightly instead of whacking the same down on him with a tremendous force.

^[1] i.e. Homosexuality.

^[2] There is a difference of opinion among scholars in regard to the punishment for the one who commits an act of sodomy with a man or woman, even though there is no other punishment prescribed in any of the sound *Abādith* except the death penalty. This means that the difference of opinion is in regard to the mode or manner of carrying out the capital punishment. Some are of the opinion that such a person should be stoned to death. Some observe that he should be thrown from a high place. Another group is of the view that he should be set aftre. Another opinion is that the ruling of a fornicator shall be applicable on him: if married, he will be stoned to death; otherwise, he will be subjected to the penalty of 100 lashes with a possible extradition from the land. Allāh knows the best!

^[3] Some scholars are of the opinion that the punishment of banishment has been abrogated and is therefore not valid any more. This *Hadīth* refutes this viewpoint on the plea that as long as the offenders were being sent into exile during the reign of the righteous caliphs, where is the evidence proving that such a ruling has been abrogated?

1046. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: Allāh's Messenger & cursed the effeminate men [i.e. in manners and dress etc.], and women who imitate men [in manners and dress] [1] and said, "Turn them out of your houses." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

1047. Narrated Abū Huraira 🚓: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "Avert the infliction of prescribed punishments as much as you can." [Ibn Mājah reported it with a Da'tf (weak) chain of narrators].

At-Tirmidhi and Al-Hākim reported the aforesaid *Hadāth* from 'Aisha & with the wording: "Avert the infliction of prescribed punishments^[2] on Muslims as much as you can." [It is *Da'tf* (weak) too].

Al-Baihāqi reported the aforesaid Hadīth on the authority of 'Ali () from his saying (i.e. Mauquf) with the wording: "Avert the infliction of prescribed punishments by rejecting doubtful evidences."

1048. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . Allāh's Messenger said, "Avoid these filthy things (in speech and actions) which Allāh, the Most High, has forbidden. If anyone commits any of them he should conceal himself with the veil of Allāh, Most High, and turn to Allāh in repentance. Indeed, if anyone uncovers his hidden faults (to which prescribed

(١٠٤٦) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنَهُمَا، قَالَ: لَعَنَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ ٱلْمُخَنَّئِنَ مِنَ المُخَالِينَ مِنَ اللَّمَاءِ، وَقَالَ: وَقَالَ: وَقَالَ: وَقَالَ: وَقَالَ: وَقَالَ: وَقَالَ: وَقَالَ:

(١٠٤٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "آذَفْعُوا الحُدُودَ مَا وَجَدْتُمُ لَهَا مَدْفَعًا". أَخْرَجَهُ ابْنُ مَاجَهُ، وَسَنْدُهُ صَعِيفٌ.

وَأَخْرَجَهُ النَّرْمِلِيُّ وَالحَاكِمُ، مِنْ حَدِيثِ عَآتِشَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، بِلَفْظِ: "أَدْرُءُوا الحُدُودَ عَنِ المُسْلِمِينَ مَا اسْتَطَعْتُمْ". وَهُوَ ضَعِيفٌ أَيْضاً.

وَرَوَاهُ النَّيْهَةِيُّ، عَنْ عَلِيٌّ، مِنْ قَوْلِهِ، بِلَفْظِ: «آذَرَعُوا الحُدُودَ بالشُّبُهَاتِ».

(١٠٤٨) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "أَجْتَنِبُوا هَذِهِ القَّهُ: "أَجْتَنِبُوا هَذِهِ القَّهُ وَاللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، فَمَنْ أَلَمَّ بِهَا فَلْبُسْتَيْرُ بِسَنْرِ اللهِ تَعَالَى، وَلْيَتُبُ إِلَى اللهِ تَعَالَى، وَلْيَتُبُ إِلَى اللهِ تَعَالَى، وَلْيَتُبُ إِلَى اللهِ لَعَالَى، وَلْيَتُبُ إِلَى اللهِ اللهِ تَعَالَى، وَلِيتُ إِلَى اللهِ مَعَالَى، وَوَلْتُهُ عِلَيْهِ كِتَابَ لَعَالَى، وَوَلْهُ فِي المُوطَإِ مِنْ مَرَاسِيل زَيْدِ بْنِ أَسْلَمَ.

^[1] This *Hadītb* proves that a man and woman practicing transvestism – assuming the manners of the opposite gender – are accursed and this is a tremendous sinful act. The eunuchs are of two kinds. Some, in their instincts and bodily physique, resemble women whereas the others resemble males. The eunuch must assume the dress and manners of the gender he naturally resembles and physically conforms to.

^[2] If there is a doubt concerning the veracity of an evidence leading to a punishment verdict, such a ruling and trial must be dismissed forthwith. This *Hadith* does not imply that no ruling should be pronounced at all, but it only implies that no punishment verdict be pronounced unless the commission of a crime becomes proven without a shadow of doubt. The people are instructed to refrain from entering a case in a court of law unless they have a complete set of evidence in their support to prove someone guilty of a crime.

punishments apply) we shall inflict on him the punishment ordained by Allāh, the Most High." [Reported by Al-Hākim, and it occurs in *Muwatta*' of Imām Mālik among Zaid bin Aslam's^[1] Abadītb which are *Marasil* (having a missing link after the *Tābi*'i)].

Chapter 2 THE PRESCRIBED PUNISHMENT FOR FALSE ACCUSATION OF FORNICATION

٢ - بَابُ حَدِّ القَذْفِ

1049. Narrated 'Aisha &: "When my vindication came down^[2] Allāh's Messenger # mounted the *Minbar* and mentioned that, then he recited the (respective Verses of) the Qur'ān. Then, when he came down, he ordered that two men and a woman ^[3] should be given the prescribed punishment (i.e. lashes)." [4] [Ahmad and *Al-Arba'a* reported it, and Al-Bukhāri referred to it].

(۱۰٤٩) عَنْ عَاتِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا،
قَالَتْ: لَمَّا نَزَلَ عُلْمِي، قَامَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ
عَلَى المِنْبَرِ، فَلْكَرَ ذٰلِكَ، وَتَلَا اللهُوَّانَ، فَلَمَّا
نَزَلَ أَمْرَ بِرَجُلَيْنِ وَآمْرَأَةٍ فَشُرِبُوا الحَدَّ. أَخْرَجُهُ
أَخْمَهُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، وَأَشَارَ إِلَيْهِ البُخَارِيُّ.

1050. Narrated Anas bin Mālik &: Li'an (Invoking curses) in Islam was first applied when Hilāl bin Umaiya^[5]

(١٠٥٠) وَعَنْ أَنَسِ بْنِ مَالِكِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: أَوَّلُ لِعَانَ كَانَ فِي الإِشْلَامِ

^[1] He was a Sabābi from the tribe of Al-Balawi. He belonged to Banu Al-'Ajlān clan, the allies of Banu 'Amr bin 'Auf of Al-Ansar. He witnessed Badr and it is said that he also witnessed Siffin with 'Ali. However, Hishām Al-Kalabi said, he was killed by Tulaiha bin Khuwailid Al-Asadi on the day of Bazākha in the year 11 H. at the beginning of Abū Bakr's Caliphate.

^[2] Sūrat An-Nūr, 24:11.

^[3] The men were said to have been Mistah bin Athātha and Hassān bin Thābit and the woman Hamna, daughter of Jahsh.

^{14]} If someone accuses a man or woman of fornication, and is unable to prove it by presenting four witnesses, his punishment shall be eighty lashes. Some hypocrites slandered 'Aisha & accusing her of adultery. They publicized and propagated this calumny with such a slyness that some of the sincere and pious believers fell prey to their machination, believed the accusation to be based on fact and did participate in gossip mongering about it. When 'Aisha & was exonerated from this accusation by the revelation of the Verses in Qur'ān, the Prophet ﷺ announced a corporal punishment for the believers, but said nothing to the hypocrites, for he left their punishment to Allāh. These three believers who were thus punished are Hassān bin Thābit, Mistah bin Athatha and Hamna bint Jahsh Atio

^[5] He was an Ansari, an Ausi and a Waqifi and was among the prominent Sahaba. He became a Muslim early and used to break the idols of Banu Waqif. He witnessed Badr, Uhud and held

accused his wife of having committed fornication with Sharik bin Sahmā^[1]." Hence, Allah's Messenger ﷺ told him, "You must produce evidence or receive the prescribed punishment (i.e. lashes) on your back..." [2] [Abū Ya'la reported it, and its narrators are reliable]. Something similar to the aforesaid Hadīth occurs in Al-Bukhāri's book from the Hadīth of Ibn 'Abbās &.

1051. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin 'Aamir bin Rabi'a: "I have witnessed the time of Abū Bakr, 'Umar and 'Uthmān (🏇) and those who came after them, but I did not see them beat the slave – who has made an accusation of fornication (against someone) – except with forty lashes." [Reported by Mālik and Ath-Thauri, the latter has it in his book Al-Jāmi'.

أَنَّ شَرِيكَ بْنَ سَحْمَاءَ فَلَفَهُ هِلَالُ بْنُ أُمَّيَةً إِنْمُرَأَتِي، فَقَالَ لَهُ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "البَّيْنَة، وَإِلَّا فَحَدُّ فِي ظَهْرِكَ"، آلْحَدِيثَ. أَخْرَجُهُ أَبُو يَعْلَىٰ، وَرِجَالُهُ لِقَاتٌ، وَفِي البُخَارِيِّ نَحْوُهُ مِنْ حَدِيثِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسٍ, رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا.

(١٠٥١) وَعَنْ عَبْدِاللهِ بْنِ عَامِرِ بْنِ رَبِيمَةً قَالَ: لَقَدْ أَذْرَكْتُ أَبَّا بَكْرٍ وَعُمَرَ وَعُثْمَانَ وَمَنْ بَعْدَهُمْ، فَلَمْ أَرْهُمْ يَضْرِبُونَ المَمْلُوكَ فِي القَذْفِ إِلَّا أَرْبَعِينَ. رَوَاهُ مَالِكٌ وَالثَّوْرِيُّ فِي جَامِعِهِ.

(١٠٠٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَنْ قَلَفَ مَمْلُوكَهُ يُقَامُ عَلَيْهِ الحَدُّ يَوْمَ القِيَامَةِ، إِلَّا أَنْ يَكُونَ كَمَا قَالَ». مُثَمَّقُ عَلَيْه.

the flag of Banu Wāqif on the day of the conquest of Makkah. He was one of the three who failed to join the expedition to Tabūk and were boycotted for 50 days and then pardoned.

^[1] He was a Balawi and an ally of the *Ansār*. Hilāl bin Umaiya accused him of committing fornication with his wife. It is said that he attended Uhud with his father. He was the maternal brother of Barā' bin Mālik, his father's name is 'Abada bin Mu'tib and As-Sahmā' was his mother's name.

^[2] If a man accuses his wife of committing adultery, he is required either to produce witnesses or invoke a curse of Allāh on him if he be of those who tell a lie (against her), or else he will have to face the punishment of slandering. If he names a person to be her accomplice in this matter, he will have to produce witnesses invariably to this end. As far as his own wife is concerned, he could escape the punishment of slandering by invoking a curse of Allāh on himself (in case he is lying about her), but what about the man whom he has accused of being an accomplice in this sinful act? He has no choice but: a) either to produce witnesses in support of his claim or b) to be ready to face the punishment for slandering.

^[3] This proves that the punishment prescribed for a male or female slave is just half of what is prescribed for a free person, according to the majority of the scholars

^[4] This states that if someone slanders his male or female slave with a false accusation of committing adultery, he will not be subjected to any punishment, in this life.

Chapter 3 THE PRESCRIBED PUNISHMENT FOR THEFT

٣ - بَابُ حَدِّ السَّرِقَةِ

1053. Narrated 'Aisha * Allāh's Messenger said, "A thief's hand should not be cut off except for a quarter of a Dinār^[1] and upwards." [Agreed upon, and the wording is Muslim's]. Al-Bukhāri's wording is: "A thief's hand is to be cut off for a quarter of a Dinār and upwards."

In a narration by Ahmad: "Cut off a thief's hand for a quarter of a Dinār, but do not cut it off for what is less than that."

1054. Narrated Ibn 'Umar 泰: "The Prophet 養 cut off a thief's hand for (stealing) a shield worth three Dirhams." [Agreed upon].

1055. Narrated Abū Huraira 🌲: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "May Allāh curse a thief who steals an egg and has his hand cut off, and steals a rope and has his hand cut off." [Agreed upon].

1056. Narrated 'Aisha 🐁: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "Are you

gold in value.

(١٠٥٣) عَنْ عَآئِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا تُقْطَعُ يَدُ سَارِقٍ إِلَّا فِي رُبْعٍ دِينَارٍ فَصَاعِداً». مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفْظُ لِمُسْلِمٍ. وَلَفْظُ البُخَادِيِّ: "تُقْطَعُ يَدُ السَّادِقِ فِي رُمُع دِينَارٍ فَصَاعِداً».

وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لأَحْمَدَ: «ٱقْطَعُوا فِي رُبْع ِ دِينَارٍ، وَلَا تَقْطَعُوا فِيمَا هُوَ أَذْنَىٰ مِنْ ذَٰلِكَ».

(١٠٠٤) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا أَنَّ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ قَطَعَ فِي مِجَنَّ ثَمَنُهُ ثَلَاثُهُ عَنْهُمَا أَنَّ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ قَطَعَ فِي مِجَنَّ ثَمَنُهُ ثَلَاثُهُ دَرَاهِمَ. مُثَقِّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٠٠٥) وَعَنْ أَيِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «لَعَنَ اللَّهُ السَّارِقَ، يَشْوِقُ البَيْضَةَ فَتَقْطَعُ يَدُهُ، وَيَشْرِقُ الحَبْلَ فَتَقْطَعُ يَدُوهُ. مُقَقَّقُ عَلَيْهِ أَيْضاً.

(١٠٥٦) وَعَنْ عَآئِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا أَنَّ

رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: «أَتَشْفَعُ فِي حَدٍّ مِنْ حُدُودٍ

[1] There is a difference of opinions among scholars regarding the value and worth of the goods stolen which makes a thief subjected to the punishment of his hand being cut. A study of Abādith, and the quotations from the majority of 'Ulama, prove that any act of theft which is less than one-fourth of a Dinār in its worth (which used to be equivalent to 3 Dirhāms during the days of the Companions of the Prophet 繼) shall not subject a thief to the punishment of the severance of his hand. A quarter Dinār is less than one-and-a-half grams of

^[2] In this *Hadith*, one is instigated to develop an attitude of hatred towards the act of stealing. One is made to think how wretched and miserable the life of a thief is who has his hand cut for a mere pittance! After all, what is the worth of a quarter Dinār? Had it not been used to commit a theft, this very hand was worth the price of fifty camels. However, since it has been used to commit a criminal act, it is only worth a quarter Dinār. This *Hadith* expresses the idea that as long as this hand was trustworthy, it was precious, but since it turned out to be a treacherous one, it has fallen into disgrace. The stealing of an egg or a rope does not call for someone's hand to be cut off by a common consensus of all the

scholars. This might be an exaggeration, since stealing is one of the major sinful acts.

interceding[1] regarding one of the punishments prescribed by Allah?" He then got up and gave an address saving. "O people, what destroyed your predecessors was just that when a person of rank (Sharif) among them committed a theft, they left him alone, but when a weak one (Da'if) of them committed a theft, they inflicted the prescribed punishment on him." [Agreed upon, and the wording is Muslim's]. Muslim reports through another chain, from 'Aisha & that she said, "A woman used to borrow (people's) properties and deny having received them, so the Prophet # ordered her hand to be cut off."

1057. Narrated Jābir 🐗: The Prophet 🍇 said, "Cutting off the hand is not to be inflicted on a *Kbā'in* (one who steals by deception), *Mukhtalis* (one who takes by force, looting) and a *Muntabib* (embezzler)." [2] [Reported by Ahmad and *Al-Arba'a*. At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Hibbān graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

اللهِ تَعَالَى؟، ثُمَّ قَامَ، فَخَطَبَ، فَقَالَ: ﴿أَيُّهَا النَّاسُ! إِنَّمَا أَهْلَكَ اللَّذِينَ مَنْ تَبْلَكُمْ أَنَّهُمْ كَانُوا إِذَا سَرَقَ فِيهِمُ الشَّرِيفُ تَرَكُوهُ، وَإِذَا سَرَقَ فِيهِمُ الضَّعِيفُ أَقَامُوا عَلَيْهِ الحَدَّ. مُتَقَنَّ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفُظُ يُمُسْلِمٍ. وَلَهُ مِنْ وَجُو آخَرَ عَنْ عَاتِينَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: كَانَتِ أَمْرَأَةٌ تَسْتَعِيرُ ٱلْمَتَاعَ، وَتَجْحَدُهُ فَأَمْرَ النَّيْ ﷺ بَقَطْمٍ يَدِهَا.

(١٠٥٧) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ عَرْرِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «لَيْسَ عَلَى خَائِنرِ وَلَا مُخْتَلِسٍ وَلَا مُنْتَهِب مِ قَطْعٌ». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ الثَّرْمِذِيُّ وَابْنُ جِنَّانَ.

¹¹ The incidence goes that a lady known as Fātima bint Aswad Makhzumiya, who belonged to a prominent and respectable family, committed an act of theft. As the verdict regarding the severance of her hand was pronounced, people started interceding for her acquittal. Usama bin Zaid also interceded for her. The Prophet made a statement comprising words mentioned in this Hadītb. The owner of the goods that are stolen has a right to grant a pardon to the thief and to cancel having his/her hand cut off, prior to bringing the matter in a court of law. However, once the case has been handed over to the court, there is no way that the offender can be excused. His/her hand must, then, necessarily be cut off, and making an intercession for his pardon at this juncture is forbidden.

^[2] Armed robbery, embezzlement and treachery do not involve the punishment of cutting the hand off. Treachery implies that a person who has been entrusted with the obligation of safeguarding the wealth belonging to another person, secretly and insincerely makes away with that person's wealth, while affecting false sincerity to his face. Robbery is depriving a person of his wealth in an open heavy-handed manner. Embezzlement is the act of taking away the unpreserved wealth of another person in his absence. The penalties for these acts of felony differ according to the opinion of the ruler just like other financial matters. The definition of stealing is thus also explained, i.e., it implies the act of taking away the safely preserved wealth of a person in his absence or making away with the safely preserved wealth while the owner is unaware of it. However, if a person borrows something from someone and later denies and flatly refuses having borrowed it at all, the prescribed punishment for such a person is the cutting off of his hand.

1058. Narrated Rāfi' bin Khadij 泰: I heard Allāh's Messenger 續 say, "The hand is not to be cut off for taking fruits or the pith (pulp) of the palm-tree." [1] [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a. At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

1059. Narrated Abū Umaiya Makhzūmi^[2] 🚓: A thief who had made a confession was brought to Allah's Messenger ﷺ, but no goods were found with him. Allah's Messenger & told him, "I do not think you have stolen." He replied, "Yes, I did."[3] He repeated it to him two or three times. so he gave command regarding him and his hand was cut off. He was then brought to him and Allāh's Messenger aid, "Ask Allāh's forgiveness and turn to Him in repentance." And he replied, "I ask Allāh's forgiveness and turn to Him in repentance." He then said three times, "O Allah, forgive him." [Abū Dā'ud, Ahmad and An-Nasā'i reported it. The wording is Abū Dā'ud's, and its narrators are reliable (thigab)].

(١٠٥٨) وَعَنْ رَافع بْنَرِ خَدِيج رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ اللَّ قَطْعَ فِي ثَمَرٍ، وَلَا فِي تَشَرِّ. رَوَاهُ الْمُذْكُورُونَ وَصَحْحَهُ أَيْضاً التُرْمِذِيُّ وَابْنُ حِبَّانَ.

(١٠٠٩) وَعَنْ أَيِ أَمَئِةً الصَّخُرُومِيْ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: أَتِيَ رَسُولَ اللَّهِ ﷺ بِلِحِنُّ قَلِا لَهُ الْحَتَرَفُ الْعَرِيَّا إِلَّا وَلَمْ يُؤْجَدُ مَعْهُ مَتَاعٌ، فَقَالَ لَهُ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَا إِخَالُكَ سَرَفْتَ»، قَالَ: بَلْيْ، فَأَعَادَ عَلَيْهِ مَرَّئِينِ أَوْ ثَلَانًا، فَأَمَرَ بِهِ، فَقُطِعَ، وَجِيءَ بِهِ، فَقَالَ: "أَسْتَغْفِرِ اللَّه، وَتُثِنُ إِلَيْهِ، فَقَالَ: أَسْتَغْفِرُ اللَّه، وَأَثُوبُ إِلَيْهِ. فَقَالَ: «اللَّهُمَّ تُبْ عَلَيْهِ» فَلَانًا. أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوْدَ، وَالشَّفْظُ لَهُ، وَأَحْمَدُ وَالنَّمَائِيْهِ. وَوَجَالُهُ بِقَاتْ.

^[1] The stealing of fruits and flowers does not necessitate the severance of a thief's hand in case there is no wall around the garden. If the garden happens to be surrounded by a wall, its contents shall be regarded as preserved ones. However, a wayfarer, who has not been offered food by the residents of the town, has a right to eat the fruits off the walled garden too.

^[2] He is a Sahābi from Al-Hijāz who has narrated one Hadāth. Hammād bin Salama said, "He is a Makhzumi," and Humam bin Yahya said, "He is an Ansāri."

^[3] This *Haddith* explains that two factors have been taken into consideration regarding the punishment of a thief. Either the solen goods should be recovered from him, or he himself confesses about it. It is not cond sonal that he confesses twice, just a single affirmation is sufficient to render him liable to unishment. There is a difference of opinion among the scholars as to whether or not a pussishment be given on the basis of witnesses in case a theft occurs. In another words, if a suspect neither makes a confession nor anything is recovered out of his possession, whereas the people stand witness to the fact that he has indeed stolen the goods. The ruling concerning such a case is not unanimous on the part of all the scholars. Once the hand is severed from the wrist of a thief, it is necessary to keep it immersed in sizzling hot oil to stop bleeding. If this norm is not observed and someone dies out of an excessive bleeding, a death thus caused will make the state treasury liable to pay blood money to the successors of the dead person.

402

Al-Hakim reported the aforesaid Hadīth from the narration of Abū Huraira & with the same mean. He said in it, "Take him away and cut off (his hand), then cauterize him." [Al-Bazzār reported it too saying its chain of narrators is acceptable (i.e. not bad)1.

1060. Narrated 'Abdur-Rahmān bin 'Auf : Allāh's Messenger 鑑 said, "A thief is not to be fined if the prescribed punishment has been inflicted[1] on him." [Reported by An-Nasa'i who graded it Munqati'(a broken chain of narrators). Abū Hātim said, "It is Munkar (rejected)."]

1061. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin 'Amr bin Al-'Aas 🞄: Allāh's Messenger 鑑 was asked about dates that are hanging (on the tree). He said, "If a needy person eats some, without taking away a supply in his garment, he is not to be blamed. However, whoever takes away any of it, he is to be fined and punished. As for one who takes away any of it - after it is put in the place where it is dried - and what he has taken amounts to the price of a shield. he must have his hand cut off." [Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i reported it. Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

1062. Narrated Safwan bin Umaiya &: On the occasion when the Prophet & ordered the cutting off of the hand of the thief who had stolen his cloak, and he [2] interceded regarding him, the Prophet said to him: "Why did you not do so before bringing him to me?" [Ahmad and Al-Arba'a reported it. Ibn Al-Jārūd and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib

وَأَخْوَجَهُ الحَاكِمُ، مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، فَسَاقَهُ بِمَعْنَاهُ، وَقَالَ فِيهِ: ٱذْهَبُوا بِهِ فَاقْطَعُوهُ، ثُمَّ احْسِمُوهُ. وَأَخْرَجَهُ الْيَزَّارُ أَيْضًا، وَقَالَ: لَا بَأْسَ بِإِسْنَادِهِ.

(١٠٦٠) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ الرَّحْمٰنِ بْنِ عَوْفٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: «لَا يُغَرَّمُ السَّارِقُ إِذَا أُقِيمَ عَلَيْهِ ٱلْحَدُّ». رَوَاهُ النَّسَآئِيُّ، وَبَيَّنَ أَنَّهُ مُنْقَطِعٌ، وَقَالَ أَبُو حَاتِمٍ: هُوَ مُنْكُرٌ".

(١٠٦١). وَعَنْ عَبْدِاللهِ بْنِ عَمْرُو بْنِ العَاصِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، عَنْ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ، أَنَّهُ سُئِلَ عَن ِ التَّمْرِ المُعَلَّقِ ، فَقَالَ: "مَنْ أَصَابَ بِفِيهِ، مِنْ ذِي حَاجَةِ، غَيْرَ مُتَّخِذِ خُبْنَةً، فَلَا شَيْءَ عَلَيْهِ، وَمَنَ خَرَجَ بِشَيْءٍ مِنْهُ فَعَلَيْهِ الغَرَامَةُ وَالعُقُوبَةُ، وَمَنْ خَرَجَ بشَيْءٍ مِنْهُ بَعْدَ أَنْ يُؤُويَهِ الجَرينُ، فَبَلَغَ ثَمَنَ المِجَنِّ، فَعَلَيْهِ القَطْمُهُ. أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَآئِيُّ وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ.

(١٠٦٢) وَعَنْ صَفْوَانَ بْنِ أُمَيَّةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَم، عَنْهُ أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ قَالَ لَهُ - لَمَّا أَمَرَ بِقَطْمِ الَّذِي سَرَقَ رِدَآءَهُ فَشَفَعَ فِيهِ -: «هَلَّا كَانَ ذٰلِكَ قَبْلَ أَنْ تَأْتِيَنِي بِهِ؟» أَخْرَجَهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ الجَارُودِ وَالحَاكِمُ.

^[1] If the stolen goods are recovered from the thief, the same shall be returned to its rightful owner and the hand of the thief shall be cut according to a common consensus of all scholars. In case the stolen goods are destroyed, then there is a difference of opinion among the scholars regarding whether or not he should also be fined.

^[2] i.e. Safwān.

(authentic)].

1063. Narrated Jabir &: A thief was brought to the Prophet and he said, "Kill him." The people said, "He has only stolen, O Allah's Messenger." Then he said, "Cut of (his hand)," so this was done. He was brought a second time and he said. "Kill him." and he mentioned the same as he had said before. He was brought a third time and he mentioned the same as he had said before. He was brought a fourth time and the same as before was said. He was brought a fifth time and he said, "Kill him.",[1] [Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i reported it; the latter graded it Munkar (rejected)]. An-Nasā'i reported something similar to the aforesaid Hadīth from Al-Hārith bin Hātib[2]. Ash-Shāfi'i mentioned that the killing in the fifth time is abrogated.

قَالَ: جِيءَ بِسَارِقِ إِلَى النَّبِيُّ ﷺ نَعَالَى عَنَهُ،
قَالَ: جِيءَ بِسَارِقِ إِلَى النَّبِيُّ ﷺ، فَقَالَ:
«اقْتُلُوهُ»، فَقَالُوا: إِنَّمَا سَرَقَ يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ!
قَالَ: «اقْتُلُوهُ»، فَقُطِعَ، ثُمَّ جِيءَ بِهِ التَّالِيَّةَ،
فَقَالَ: «اقْتُلُوهُ»، فَلَكَرَ مِثْلَهُ، ثُمَّ جِيءَ بِهِ الرَّابِعَةَ كَذَلِكَ،
التَّالِثَةَ، فَذَكَرَ مِثْلُهُ، ثُمَّ جِيءَ بِهِ الرَّابِعَةَ كَذَلِكَ،
ثُمَّ جِيءَ بِهِ الخَامِسَةَ فَقَالَ: «اقْتُلُوهُ». أَخْرَجَهُ
أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَاتِيْءُ، وَاسْتَلْكُوهُ، وَأَخْرَجَ مِنْ
حَدِيثِ الحَارِثِ بْنِ خَاطِبٍ نَخْوَهُ، وَذَكَرَ الشَّلَ فِي الخَامِيةِ مَنْسُوخٌ.

Chapter 4 THE PRESCRIBED PUNISHMENT FOR DRINKING AND EXPLANATION OF INTOXICANT

1064. Narrated Anas bin Mālik . A man who had drunk wine [3] was brought to the Prophet . (and he gave command regarding him) and the man was given about forty stripes (lashes)

٤ - بَابُ حَدِّ الشَّارِبِ وَبَيَانِ المُسْكِرِ

(١٠٦٤) عَنْ أَنْسِ بْنِرَ مَالِكِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ أَيْقِ بِرَجُلِ قَدْ شُوبَ الخَمْرَ، عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ أَيْقِ بِرَجُلِ قَدْ شُوبَ الخَمْرَ، فَجَلَدُهُ بِجَرِيدَتَيْنِ نَمُو أَرْبَعِينَ. قَالَ: وَفَعَلَهُ أَبُو بَكُور رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، فَلَمَّا كَانَ مُحْمَرُ رَضِيَ

^[1] Most scholars hold that the proper order prescribed in cutting the hands and feet of a thief is that on the first commission of the crime, his right hand shall be cut off. Second time it will be his left foot, the third time his left hand and the fourth time his right foot.

^[2] He was a Jumahi, a Qurashi and was born in Abyssinia (Ethiopia). He governed Makka in 66 H. for 'Abdullāh bin Az-Zubair. He served him for six years and was in charge of Al-Masā'ī for Marwān while he was the governor of Al-Madīnah for Mu'āwiya.

^[3] In Arabic, the literal meaning of *Khamr* is to hide, cover or conceal. When the wine induces intoxication, it overwhelms the mind of its user and hence it is known as *Khamr*. In the terminology of *Shari'a* (the Islamic Law), anything which induces intoxication is *Harām* (forbidden), and anything which causes a person to loose his senses is a wine (intoxicant). There is a common consensus among the scholars to the effect that it is forbidden and that there is a punishment prescribed for the one who partakes of it. However, there is a

with two palm branches. Anas said: 'Abū Bakr & also did that. However, when 'Umar & became the caliph, he consulted the people and 'Abdur-Rahmān bin 'Auf () said, "The mildest punishment (for drinking wine) is eighty (stripes)." So 'Umar & fixed that. [Agreed upon. (The wording is Muslim's)].

Muslim has from 'Ali & regarding the story of Al-Walid bin 'Uqba^[1]: "The Prophet & issued the punishment of forty stripes; Abū Bakr (&) also issued punishment of forty stripes, but 'Umar (&) issued punishment of eighty stripes, all of them are *Sunnab*, but this one (i.e. forty stripes) is dearer to me. The *Hadītb* contains: A man gave witness that he had seen him^[2] vomiting wine. 'Uthmān (&) said, "He would not have vomited it unless he had drunk it (first)."

1065. Narrated Mu'āwiya . The Prophet . regarding a drunkard – said, "If he drinks wine, flog him, then if he drinks it for the second time, flog him, then if he drinks it for the third time flog him; then if he drinks it for

اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، ٱسْتَشَارَ النَّاسَ، فَقَالَ عَبْدُالرَّحْمٰنِ بْنُ عَوْف ِ: أَخَفُ ٱلْحُدُودِ ثَمَانُونَ، فَأَمَرَ بِهِ عُمَرُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ. مُثَقَّقَ عَلَيْهِ.

وَلِمُسْلِمِهِ عَنْ عَلِيْ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ فِي قِطَّةِ الوَلِيدِ بْنِر مُفْنِةً : جَلَدَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ أَرْبَعِينَ، وَأَبُو بَكُو الرَّبَعِينَ، وَعُمَرُ ثَمَانِينَ، وَكُلُّ سُنَةً، وَهُذَا أَحُبُ إِلَيَّ. وَفِي الحَدِيثِ : أَنَّ رَجُلاً شَهِدَ عَلَيْهِ أَنَّهُ رَآهُ يَتَقَيَّا الخَمْرَ، فَقَالَ عُنْمَانُ إِنَّهُ لَمْ يَتَغَيَّاهُمَا حَتَّى شَرِيَهَا.

(١٠٦٥) وَعَنْ مُمَاوِيَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهَ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، أَنَّهُ قَالَ فِي شَارِبِ الخَمْرِ: «إِذَا شَرِبَ فَاجْلِلُوهُ، ثُمَّ إِذَا شَرِبَ النَّائِيَّةَ فَاجْلِلُوهُ، ثُمَّ إِذَا شَرِبَ النَّائِيَّةَ إِذَا فَاجْلِلُوهُ، ثُمَّ إِذَا شَرِبَ النَّائِثَةَ فَاجْلِلُوهُ، ثُمَّ إِذَا

difference of opinion as to what is the prescribed punishment for the person using it. During the days of the Prophet 鸞 and Abu Bakr Siddiq المنافعة والمنافعة والمن

[11] Al-Walid bin 'Uqba bin Abū Mu'ait Al-Qurashi was the maternal brother of 'Uthmān bin 'Affān. He became a Muslim on the day of Al-Fath. He was among Quraish's most humorous, tolerant, brave and poetic men. 'Uthmān appointed him to govern Kufa and then retired him for alleged alcohol drinking. He abstained from involving himself in the Fitna after the killing of 'Uthmān, settled at Ruqa and died there. He was buried at Bulaikh.

^[2] i.e. Al-Walid.

the fourth time, you should strike his neck (i.e. kill him)." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a, and the wording is Ahmad's. At-Tirmidhi mentioned what indicates that it is abrogated, [1] while Abū Dā'ud reported that clearly, from Az-Zuhri].

1066. Narrated Abū Huraira ♣: Allāh's Messenger ♣ said, "When one of you beats someone (in the prescribed punishments or otherwise), he should avoid (striking on) the face." [2] [Agreed upon].

1067. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "The prescribed punishments are not to be executed in the mosques." [3] [Reported by At-Tirmidhi and Al-Hākim].

1068. Narrated Anas \(\pi\): Allāh has sent down the verses regarding the prohibition of \(Khamr\) (intoxicants) when there was no other liquor being drunk in Al-Madīnah except what was prepared from dates. [Muslim reported it].

1069. Narrated 'Umar &: "The prohibition of *Khamr* (intoxicants) was revealed and it was (made from) five things: grapes, dates, honey, wheat and barley. [4] *Khamr* (intoxicants) includes

شَرِبَ الرَّابِعَةَ فَاضْرِبُوا عُنْقُهُ". أَخْرَجَهُ أَحْمَدُ وَلهٰذَا لَفْظُهُ، وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، وَذَكَرَ النَّرْمِذِيُّ مَا يَكُلُّ عَلىٰ أَنَّهُ مَنْسُوخٌ، وَأَخْرَجَ ذٰلِكَ أَبُو دَاوُدَ صَرِيحاً عَن الزَّقْرِيِّ.

(١٠٦٦) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرِيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا ضَرَبَ أَحَدُكُمْ فَلْنِتَّقِ الوَجْهَ*. مُثَقِّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٠٦٧) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَبُّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ ثَقَامُ اللهِ ﷺ: «لَا ثَقَامُ الحُدُودُ فِي المَسَاجِدِ». رَوَاهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ وَالْحَاكُمُ.

(١٠٦٨) وَعَنْ أَنْسِر رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: لُقَدْ أَلْزَلَ اللَّهُ تَحْرِيمَ الخَمْرِ، وَمَا بِالْمَدِينَةِ شَرَابٌ يُشْرَبُ إِلَّا مِنْ تَمْرِ. أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(١٠٦٩) وَعَنْ عُمْرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ
 قَالَ: نَزَلَ تَحْرِيمُ الخَمْرِ وَهِيَ مِنْ خَمْسَةِ: مِنَ الخَمْرِ وَهِيَ مِنْ خَمْسَةِ: مِنَ الجَمْسَةِ: مِنَ الجَمْسَةِ:

^[1] Imām Shāfi'i reported a general consensus [except the Zābiri Madb-bab and Imam Ibn Hazm] to the effect that a wine-drinker, in no way, can be sentenced to death, no matter how often he drinks it. Similarly, each time a person is caught drinking wine, a fresh punishment ruling will be pronounced on him, regardless how often he has been penalized earlier under the same ruling, and there is a consensus of all the scholars to this end.

^[2] Whenever a person is being whipped, according to a prescribed punishment thus pronounced on him, the person implementing such a sentence must avoid striking the offender's face. Even if someone disciplinary punishes a child or a woman, he must not strike them on the face.

^[3] This is because the mosques are constructed for the specific purpose of worshipping Alläh. Hence, they should be kept clean and free from impurities at all times. The blood of the person (sentenced to punishment) should not be spilled there. Such places of worship are sanctified ones and that is where Alläh's mercy abounds, while prescribed punishments are Alläh's revenge.

^[4] The purpose of mentioning this Hadīth is to explain that it is not only the wine brewed

whatever covers (i.e. affects) the mind. [Agreed upon].

1070. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . The Prophet said, "Every intoxicant is *Khamr* and every intoxicant is forbidden." [Muslim reported it].

1071. Narrated Jābir 泰: Allāh's Messenger 霧 said, "Whatever intoxicates in a large amount, (even) a small amount^[1] of it is prohibited." [Ahmad and Al-Arba'a reported it. Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

1072. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās' Raisins were soaked in the water skin for Allāh's Messenger and he would drink it on that day, the next day and the day following. When it was the evening of the third day, he would drink it and give it (to others) to drink. Then, if something of it was left over he would pour it out. [2] [Muslim reported it].

1073. Narrated Umm Salama **\$**: The Prophet 籌 said, "Allāh did not make your cure^[3] in what He had made unlawful to you." Al-Baihaqi reported it, and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

1074. Narrated Wāil Al-Hadrami: Tāriq bin Suwaid^[4] asked the Prophet & about the *Khamr* which he prepares to

وَالشَّعِيرِ، وَالخَمْرُ مَا خَامَرَ العَقْلَ. مُثَقَّقُ عَلَيْهِ. (۱۰۷۰) وَعَن الْبَن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: اكْلُّ مُشْكِرٍ خَمْرٌ، وَكُلُّ مُشْكِر خَرَامٌ، أَخْرَجَهُ مُشْلِمٌ.

(١٠٧١) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: "مَا أَشكَرَ كَثِيرُهُ فَقَلِيلُهُ حَرَامٌ". أَخْرَجُهُ أَخْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ.

(۱۰۷۷) وَعَن ِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسِر رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنَهُمَا قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يُنْبَذُ لَهُ الزَّبِيبُ فِي الشَّقَاءِ، فَيَشْرُبُهُ يَوْمَهُ، وَالغَدَ، وَبَغَدَ النَّذِ، فَإِذْ فَضَلَ إِذَا كَانَ مَسَاءً النَّالِيَةِ شَرِيّهُ، وَسَقَاهُ، فَإِنْ فَضَلَ ضَمَّةً أَهُمُ اقَدُ أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِيةً.

(١٠٧٣) وَعَنْ أَمَّ سَلَمَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، عَنِ اللَّهِ يَجْعَلْ فَعَالَى: ﴿إِنَّ اللَّهُ لَمْ يَجْعَلْ فِيغَاءُكُمْ وَلَمَّا اللَّهُ لَمْ يَجْعَلْ فِيفَاءَكُمْ وَيَعْمَدُهُ اللَّهُ وَمَّا اللَّهُ وَمَّا عَلَيْكُمْ ﴿ اَلْحَرْجَهُ اللَّهُ وَمَّا اللَّهُ وَمَا اللَّهُ وَمُوا اللَّهُ وَمَا اللَّهُ وَمِنْ اللَّهُ وَمِنْ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ وَمَا اللَّهُ وَمِنْ اللَّهُ وَمَنْ اللَّهُ وَمِنْ اللَّهُ وَمُؤْمِنُ وَمِنْ اللَّهُ وَمُنْ اللَّهُ وَمِنْ اللَّهُ وَمِنْ اللَّهُ وَمُنْ اللَّهُ وَمُؤْمِنُهُ وَمِنْ اللَّهُ وَمِنْ أَنْ اللَّهُ وَمِنْ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ وَمِنْ أَنْ اللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ وَمِنْ أَنْ اللَّهُ وَمِنْ أَنْ اللَّهُ وَمُنْ أَنْ اللَّهُ وَمُنْ أَنْ اللَّهُ وَمُوا اللَّهُ وَمُنْ أَلِمُ اللَّهُ وَمُنْ أَنْ اللَّهُ وَمُنْ أَنْ أَلَا اللَّهُ اللَّهُ وَمُؤْمِنُ وَمُنْ أَلِمُ اللَّهُ وَمُؤْمِنُونُ وَالْمُوالِمُونُ وَمُؤْمِنُونُ وَاللَّهُ وَمُؤْمِنُونُ وَالْمُؤْمِنُ وَاللّهُ وَمُؤْمِنُونُ وَاللّهُ وَمُؤْمِنُونُ وَمُؤْمِنُونُ وَاللّهُ وَالْمُؤْمِنُ وَالْمُونُونُ وَاللّهُ وَالْمُوالِمُونُ وَاللّهُ وَالْمُؤْمِنُ وَالِ

(١٠٧٤) وَعَنْ وَآئِلِ الحَضْرَمِيِّ، أَنَّ طَارِقَ بْنَ سُوَيْدِ سَأَلَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ عَن ِ الخَمْرِ يَصْنَعُهَا

from grapes which is forbidden. In fact, any kind of liquor, brewed from any object whatsoever, is forbidden. Moreover, anything that intoxicates is forbidden.

^[1] It means that anything inducing senselessness and intoxication – when used in a big quantity – is forbidden even if the same is used in a small quantity. This is irrespective of whether or not a small dose of such an intoxicant creates a feeling of tipsiness or not.

^[2] There is a possibility that such a beverage may generate an intoxicating quality. When such a beverage starts turning musty and becomes distasteful, one should destroy it. If more than three days old, such a drink is prohibited to be used. In case it degenerates into an intoxicant prior to a period of three days, the same should be destroyed immediately.

^[3] This informs us that it is prohibited to utilize the forbidden articles, even for a medicinal purpose. These articles include wine, marijuana, opium and hemp, etc.

^[4] He is a Sabābi who was also called Suwaid bin Tāriq. He was a Hadrami and also said to be a Ju'fi. He has this Hadīth which the people of Kufa narrated from him.

be used as a medicine. He replied, "Surely, it is not a medicine; on the contrary, it is a disease." [Reported by Muslim, Abū Dā'ud and others].

Chapter 5 FLOGGING AND THE ORDINANCE REGARDING AN ASSAILANT

1076. Narrated 'Aisha 's: The Prophet said, "Overlook the minor slips of the people of good qualities (i.e. those not known for being evil doers), [3] but not offenses for which prescribed punishments have been fixed." [Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud, An-Nasā'i and Al-Baihaqi].

1077. Narrated 'Ali ... "I would not feel any regret concerning a man who dies when I enforce a prescribed punishment on him, with the exception of one who has drunk *Khamr* (intoxicants). Indeed, if he were to die, I would pay blood money^[4] for him..." [Al-Bukhāri

لِلدَّوَآءِ، فَقَالَ: ﴿إِنَّهَا لَيْسَتْ بِدَوَاءٍ، وَلَكِنَّهَا دَاءٌ». أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ وَغَيْرُهُمَا.

ه - بَابُ التَّعْزِيرِ وَحُكْمٍ ٱلصَّائِلِ

(١٠٧٥) عَنْ أَبِي بُرُدَةَ ٱلأَنْصَارِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُ سَمِعَ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ: «لَا يُجْلَدُ فَوْقَ عَشْرَةِ أَسْوَاطٍ إِلَّا فِي حَدٌّ مِنْ مُحُدُودِ اللهِ تَمَالَى». مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٠٧٦) وَعَنْ عَاتِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «أَقِيلُوا ذَوِي الهَيْنَاتِ عَنَرَاتِهِمْ إِلَّا الحُدُودَ». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّمَاتِيْ وَالبَيْهَةِيْ.

(١٠٧٧) وَعَنْ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: مَا كُنْتُ لأَقِيمَ عَلَىٰ أَحَدِ حَدًّا فَيَمُوتَ، فَأَجِدَ فِي نَفْسِي، إِلَّا شَارِبَ ٱلْخَدْرِ، فَإِنَّهُ لَوْ مَاتَ وَدَيْتُهُ. أُخْرَجُهُ البُخَارِئِي.

^[1] He is Hāni' bin Niyār who was a *Sabābt* from the Balawi tribe. He was an ally of *Al-Ansār*, witnessed Badr and the other battles. He died in the year 41 H. or 42 or 45 H.

^[2] This *Hadith* has been understand by some scholars as a proof that no one may be subjected to a punishment of more than ten lashes except in case of a punishment thus prescribed for a certain crime. Imam Malik and Imam Ash-Shafi'i hold that an increase is permissible as long as it does not reach the least of the prescribed punishments. Others hold that there may be no increase in offenses for which there is a fixed prescribed punishment, while that for which there is no fixed punishment might be increased beyond ten lashes if it is a major offense, while minor offenses can not be punished with more than ten lashes.

^[3] As far as the prescribed punishments (*Hudud*) related to the Shari'a prohibitions are concerned, they will apply to everyone, whether rich or poor, ordinary or influential, with no discrimination or distinction made to this end. However, in the matters of minor delinquencies, consideration may be given according the circumstances of time, nature of the offense and in consideration of the person involved.

^[4] This Hadith implies that there had also been a difference of opinion among the

reported it].

1078. Narrated Sa'īd bin Zaid 🎄: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "He who is killed protecting his wealth is a martyr." [Reported by Al-Arba'a, and At-Tirmidhi graded it Sabib (authentic)].

1079. Narrated 'Abdullāh^[1] bin Khabbāb^[2] ♣: I heard my father say, "I heard Allāh's Messenger ૠ say, 'There will be *Fitan* (dissension and strife)^[3] so be – in it – the slave of Allah who is killed, and do not be the killer.''^[4] [Ibn Abū Khaithama and Ad-Dāraqutni reported it]. Ahmad reported something similar from Khālid bin 'Urfuta ^[5]

(١٠٧٨) وَعَنْ سَعِيدِ بْنِ زَيْدِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَنْ قُتِلَ دُونَ مَالِهِ عَلَى مَالِهِ مَهْوَ شَهِيدٌه. رَوَاهُ ٱلأَرْبَعَةُ، وَصَحْحَهُ التَّرْبِذِيُّ.

(١٠٧٩) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِرِ خَبَّابِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ أَبِي يَقُولُ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ: سَمِعْتُ وَسَعْتُ مَنْفِيهَا عَبْدَ اللهِ المَقَقُولُ، وَلَا تَكُن ِ القَاتِلَ، أَخْرَجَهُ الْخُرَجَةُ اللهِ المَقْتُولُ، وَلَا تَكُن ِ القَاتِلَ، أَخْرَجَهُ المُحْرَةُ أَخْمَتُ نَحْرَهُ عَنْ خَالِدٍ بْنِ عُرْفُظَةً.

Companions of the Prophet 醬 as to whether his flogging of the wine drinker with forty lashes was in fact a Hadd i.e., prescribed punishment, or the same should be construed as Ta'zir i.e., discretionary punishment. The same was thought to be a discretionary punishment because no prescribed punishment is mentioned in the Qur'an. There should be no concern for the one who dies while a prescribed punishment is being carried out on him. However, if someone dies while being punished with a discretionary punishment, the state treasury shall be liable to pay blood money to the successors of the deceased person. Hence, if a wine-drinker dies due to flogging, the majority of the scholars are of the opinion that such a death shall incur blood money payment.

^[11] He was among the famous *Tābi'in* and a resident of Al-Madinah. The Haruriya (Khawārij) killed him in the year 27 H. after they disobeyed 'Ali and were on their way to An-Naharwān. After killing him they entered his house, cut open the abdomen of his slave woman and (killed the fetus) in her womb. That led to the famous battle of An-Naharwān in which 'Ali killed all the Khawārij except nine who were instrumental in the occurrence of the big *Fitna* later on.

^[2] Khabbāb bin Al-Arat bin Jandala At-Tamimi was one of those who were persecuted in Allāh's cause, and one of those who took part in the battle of Badr. He died in Kufa while boycotting the battle of Siffin in 37 H. at the age of 73 years.

^[3] Plural of Fitna meaning trials, afflictions, persecution and confusion in the religion. It also means conflicts and strifes among the Muslims.

^[4] It has been stated in a previous *Hadītb* that in case a person dies defending his life, wealth and family, he will be regarded as a martyr. If he kills the assailant in the process, he incurs no sin on such a killing. This ruling applies only if the reason of contention is clearly known. If there is an uncertainty about the reason of contention, as to whether it is fair or unfair, one should not raise his hand. The safer position is to refrain from killing, since murdered one is destined to Paradise, and the murderer faces Hell-fire. If they both fight each other, they both will be subject to punishment in the Hell-Fire, if Allah Wills.

^[5] He is a *Sabābi* belonging to the Qudā'a tribe and 'Udhr clan. He was the representative of Sa'd bin Abū Waqqās in Kufa. He died in the year 61 H. and it was said that Al-Mukhtār bin Abū 'Ubaid killed him after the death of Yazid i.e. after 64 H.

11. THE BOOK OF JIHAD^[1]

1080. Narrated Abū Huraira &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "He who dies without having gone out for *Jibād*, nor has he thought about doing so, will die guilty of a kind of hypocrisy." [2] [Reported by Muslim].

1081. Narrated Anas 毒: The Prophet 靏 said, "Use your wealth, your selves and your tongues in striving against the polytheists." [Ahmad and An-Nasā'i reported it, and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

1082. Narrated 'Aisha 's: I said, "O Allāh's Messenger. Is *Jihād* prescribed for women?" He replied, "Yes, a *Jihād* which is without fighting, ^[4] it is the *Hajj* and the '*Umrah*''. [Reported by Ibn Mājah and its basic meaning is in *Sabih Al-Bukhāri*].

1083. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin 'Amr &: A man came to the Prophet asking his permission to take part in *Jibād*. He asked him, "Are your parents still alive?" He replied, "Yes." He said, "Strive in their service." [Agreed upon].

١١ - كِتَابُ الجِهَادِ

(۱۰۸۰) عَنْ أَبِي هُرْيَرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْ أَبِي هُرُيرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: "مَنْ مَاتَ، وَلَمْ يَغْذُ، وَلَمْ يُحَدِّثُ نَفْسَهُ بِعِ، مَاتَ عَلَى شُعْبَةٍ مِنْ يَقَاقَ.". رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(١٠٨١) وَعَنْ أَنَسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ اللَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: "جَاهِدُوا المُشْوِكِينَ بِأَمْوَالِكُمْ، وَأَلْضِتَكُمْ، وَأَلَهُ أَخْمَدُ وَالنَّسَاتِيُّ، وَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ وَالنَّسَاتِيُّ، وَصَحَّحُهُ الحَاكِمُ.

(١٠٨٢) وَعَنْ عَآئِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، قَالَتْ: قُلْتُ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! عَلَى النِّسَآءِ جِهَادٌ؟ قَالَ: «نَعَمْ، جِهَادٌ لَا قِتَالَ فِيهِ، هُوَ الحَجُّ وَالمُمْرَةُ». رَوَاهُ ابْنُ مَاجَهُ، وَأَصْلُهُ فِي النَّخُارِيِّ.

(١٠٨٣) وَعَنْ عَبْدِاللهِ بْنِرَ عَمْرُو رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: جَآءَ رَجُلٌ إِلَى النَّبِيِّ ﷺ يَسْتَأْذِنُهُ فِي الجِهَادِ، فَقَالَ: «أَحَيُّ وَالِدَاكُ؟» فَقَالَ: نَعَمْ، قَالَ: «فَفِيهِمَا فَجَاهِدْ». مُثَقَّقٌ

^[1] Jihād literally means striving or struggling. In the Shari'a terminology it is a word used for expending one's efforts in a battle against the disbelievers. It is sometimes used to refer to striving against Shaytan (Satan), or against the transgressing Muslims, or one's lower desires.

 $^{^{[2]}}$ Jibād is applicable at all times, sometimes it is with sword, sometimes by spending money and sometimes merely by one's verbal endeavors. One must physically participate in an armed Jibād if he gets a chance to, and if not, he must at least nurse a sincere intention about it. A person who does not even harbor a least intention to take part in it, is a hypocrite.

^[3] This Hadith states that in accordance with the call of time, Jihād is obligatory on every believer, in every age. If a person becomes insensitive about it and throws the same into oblivion altogether, there remains no difference between his being a believer or a disbeliever. Jihād by the tongue involves establishing proofs of the Truth and inviting to Allah.

^[4] It thus becomes known to us that armed Jibād is not an obligation on the woman. By performing Hajj and 'Umrab, a woman gets the reward which a man earns from fighting on the battlefield.

^[5] This Hadīth is an evidence that before proceeding to a battlefield, it is necessary to secure

Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud have reported something similar, from the *Hadītb* of Abū Sa'īd, and has added: "Go back and ask their permission. If they permit you (then fight in Allāh's Path), and if not, then be devoted to them."

1084. Narrated Jarir^[1] Al-Bajli &: Alläh's Messenger & said, "I am not responsible for any Muslim who stays among the polytheists." [2] [Reported by Atb-Tbalātba, and its chain of narrators is Sabib (authentic). However, Al-Bukhāri held that the strongest view is that it is Mursal (missing link after the Tābi'i)].

1085. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās **\$**: Allāh's Messenger **\$\frac{\pi}{20}\$** said, "There is no emigration ^[3] after *Al-Fath*, ^[4] but only *Jibād* and good intentions." [Agreed upon].

1086. Narrated Abū Mūsa Al-Ash'ari &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "The one who fights so that Allāh's Word وَلِاحْمَدَ وَأَبِي دَاوُدَ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَبِي سَعِيدِ نَحْوُهُ، وَزَادَ: «ٱرْجِعْ، فَٱسْتَأْذِنْهُمَا، فَإِنْ أَذِنَا لَكَ، وَإِلَّا فَبَرَّهُمَا».

(١٠٨٤) وَعَنْ جَرِيرِ البَجَلِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ عَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: قَالَ بَرِيءٌ مِنْ كُلُّ مُسْلِمٍ يُقِيمُ بَيْنَ المُشْرِكِينَّ. رَوَاهُ الثَّلَاثَةُ، وَرَجَّحَ البُخَارِيُّ إِرْسَالَهُ.

(١٠٨٥) وَعَنِ ابْنِرَ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا هِجُرَةُ بَعْدَ الفَتْحِرِ، وَلَكَنْ جِهَادٌ وَيَيْتُهُۥ مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٠٨٦) وَعَنْ أَبِي مُوسَى الأَشْعَرِيُّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: امَنْ

permission from one's parents provided they are Muslims. It is not allowed for someone to go to the battlefield if his parents forbid him to do so, since serving them is also regarded as an individual duty. However, their permission is not needed in the obligatory *Jibād*, when one has been called out by the Muslim ruler.

[1] Abū 'Amr Jarir bin 'Abdullāh bin Jābir Al-Bajli became a Muslim in 10 H., then the Prophet 選 spread out a cloth for him to sit on and sent him to Dhil-Khalasa and he destroyed it. He also served in Yemen during the lifetime of the Prophet 選 He said, "Since I became a Muslim, the Prophet 選 smiled whenever he saw me." His shoes measured one foot. He took part in the conquest of Al-Madāinh and he was commanding the right wing of the Muslim army during the battle of Al-Qādisiyah. He was known as the Yūsuf of this *Ummab* and died in the year 52 H. or 54 H.

[2] Since the number of Muslims in the early days of Islam was extremely small and negligible and it was necessary to strengthen their stronghold in Al-Madīnah, Islam was not viable without migration. Hence, migration was an obligation. This Hadīth which is reported by Jarir belonged to the same era. However, once the conquest of Makkah was accomplished, and the tribes started entering into Islam everyday, and the region of the Islamic empire was expanded considerably, the migration to Al-Madīnah was no longer an obligation. The next Hadīth which is reported by Ibn 'Abbās ورضي الله عنه نه concerned with the same matter. Even to this day, if a person feels constrained and fettered for the sake of Islam in Darul-Kufr (the land of disbelievers), it is an obligation on him to migrate towards Darul-Islam (the land of the Muslims).

^[3] i.e. from Makkah to Al-Madinah.

^[4] i.e. the conquest of Makkah.

becomes supreme is (striving) in Allāh's Path." [Agreed upon].

1087. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin As-Sa'dī^[2]: Allāh's Messenger 繼 said, "Emigration^[3] will not come to an end so long as an enemy is fought." [Reported by An-Nasā'i; Ibn Hibbān graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

1088. Narrated Nāfi: Allāh's Messenger made an attack on Banu Al-Mustaliq when they were unaware. [4] He killed the fighting men and took the children [and women] as captives. [5] 'Abdullāh bin 'Umar told me about that. [Agreed upon].

1089. Narrated Sulaimān bin Buraidah on his father's authority (from 'Aisha '\$): Whenever Allāh's Messenger ## appointed a commander over an army or a Sariyah, [6] he instructed him to fear Allāh himself, and consider the welfare of the Muslims who were with him. He then used to say, "Go out for

قَاتَلَ لِتَكُونَ كَلِمَةُ اللهِ هِيَ العُلْيَا فَهُوَ فِي سَبِيلِ. اللهِ» مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٠٨٧) وَعَنْ عَنْدِ اللهِ بْنِ السَّمْدِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «لَا تَتَقَطِعُ الهِجْرَةُ مَا قُوتِلَ العَدُوُّ». رَوَاهُ النَّسَاقِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ جِنَّانَ.

(۱۰۸۸) وَعَنْ نَافِيرِ قَالَ: أَغَارَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عَلَىٰ بَنِي المُصْطَلِقِ ، وَهُمْ غَارُونَ، فَقَتَلَ مُمُعَاتِلَقَهُمْ ، حَدَّنَتِي بِلْلِكَ عَبْدُهُمْ ، حَدَّنَتِي بِلْلِكَ عَبْدُاللهِ ، وَفِيهِ (وَأَصَابَ يَوْمَنِوْ جُونُرْيَةً).

(١٠٨٩) وَعَنْ شَلَيْمَانَ بْنِرَ بُرِيْدَةَ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ إِذَا أَمَّرَ أَمِيراً عَلَىٰ جَيْشِ أَوْ سَرِيَّةِ، أَوْصَاهُ فِي خَاصَّتِهِ بِتَقْوَى اللهِ، وَبِمَنْ مَّعَهُ مِنَ المُسْلِمِينَ خَيْراً، ثُمَّ قَالَ: "اغْزُوا بِشْم اللهِ فِي سَبِيلِ اللهِ، قَاتِلُوا مَنْ كَفَرَ باللهِ، أَغْزُوا، وَلَا تَغْلُوا، وَلا تَغْدِرُوا، وَلاَ تَعْدِرُوا، وَلاَ تَغْدِرُوا، وَلاَ تَغْدِرُوا، وَلاَ تَعْدِرُوا، وَلاَ تَعْدِرُوا، وَلاَ تَعْدِرُوا، وَلاَ تَعْدِرُوا، وَلاَ اللهِ فَيْرِوْرا، وَلاَ تَعْدِرُوا، وَلاَ اللهِ فَيْرُوا، وَلاَ الْعَرْدُولَ، وَلاَ تَعْدِرُوا، وَلاَ اللهِ اللهِل

^[1] It means that a battle fought for the sake of valor, integrity, retaliation, pillage, hypocrisy and an insatiable lust for land-grabbing, etc., are not Islamic wars even though they may be fought by the Muslim soldiers. Islamic war is the one that is fought solely for the purpose and intention of propagating Islam. During the course of events, if such a war also yields some secondary benefits, there is no harm in it and the soldiers are allowed to benefit from such.

^[2] He was a Sabābi from the 'Aamir clan of Quraish. Al-Wāqidi said, "He died in the year 57 H." and As-Sa'di's name is 'Amr or Qadāma or 'Abdullāh bin Waqdān.

^[3] i.e. from enemy-held territories to the Muslim dominated lands.

^[4] When Allah's Messenger 纏 was informed that they were preparing to fight him, he invaded them, killed ten men and took the rest as captives. When the Prophet 繼 freed and married Juwainya 象 the Sabāba released all the hundred captives of her people and they all became Muslims.

^[5] This explains that in case the message of invitation to Islam has already been conveyed to some people, who in turn have rejected and denounced it, then it is not obligatory to send them a formal invitation to war prior to waging a war against them. It also explains that attacking an enemy by making an ambush on their territory is permissible and that the Arabs may also be enslaved.

^[6] Sariyab is a term used for an army unit – or raiding party – which moves about at night stealthily.

Iibād in Allāh's Name in Allāh's Path and fight with those who disbelieve in Allāh. Go out for *Jibād* and do not indulge in *Gbulul*, [1] or be treacherous (violating trust), or mutilate^[2] anyone, or kill a child. When you meet your enemy - the polytheists, summon them to three things, and accept whichever of them they are willing to agree to, and leave them alone: Call them to Islam, and if they agree accept it from them, and summon them to leave their homes (i.e. their lands) and transfer to the land of Al-Mubajirin (the Emigrants).[3] But if they refuse, then tell them they will be like the desert Arab Muslims. Thus, they will have no Ghanimah [4] or Fai' [5] unless they participate in the Jibad with the Muslims. If they refuse Islam, demand the Jizya^[6] from them, and if they agree accept it from them. If they refuse seek help with Allah, the Most High, and fight them. When you besiege a fortress and its people wish you to grant them the protection of Allah and His Prophet, do not do so. Instead, grant them your protection, for it is less serious to break your guarantee of protection than to break the guarantee of protection of Allah. And if they offer to (surrender and) have the matter تُمَثُّلُه []، وَلَا تَقْتُلُوا وَليداً، وَإِذَا لَقِتَ عَدُوَّكَ منَ المُشْرِكِينَ، فَادْعُهُمْ إِلَى ثَلَاثِ خِصَالِ، فَأَيَّتُهُنَّ أَجَابُوكَ إِلَيْهَا فَاقْبَلْ مِنْهُمْ، وَكُفُّ عَنْهُمْ: ادْعُهُمْ إِلَى الإسْلَامِ ، فَإِنْ أَجَابُوكَ فَاقْنَا ، مِنْهُمْ، ثُمَّ ادْعُهُمْ إِلَى التَّحَوُّلِ مِنْ دَارِهِمْ إِلَى دَارِ المُهَاجِرِينَ، فَإِنْ أَبَوْا فَأَخْبِرْهُمْ أَنَّهُمْ يَكُونُونَ كَأَعْرَابِ المُسْلِمِينَ، وَلَا يَكُونُ لَهُمْ فِي الغَنِيمَةِ والفَيْءِ شَيْءٌ إِلَّا أَنْ يُجَاهِدُوا مَعَ المُسْلِمِينَ، فَإِنْ هُمْ أَبَوْا، فَاسْأَلْهُمُ الجِزْبَةَ، فَإِنْ هُمْ أَجَابُوكَ، فَاقْتَلْ مِنْهُمْ، فَإِنْ هُمْ أَبَوْا فَاسْتَعِنْ عَلَيْهِمْ بِاللهِ تَعَالَى وَقَاتِلْهُمْ، وَإِذَا حَاصَوْتَ أَهْلَ حِصْرَ ، فَأَرَادُوكَ أَنْ تَجْعَلَ لَهُمْ ذَمَّةَ الله وَذَمَّةَ نَبِيِّهِ فَلَا تَفْعَلْ، وَلَكِن اجْعَلْ لَهُمْ ذِمَّتَكَ، فَإِنَّكُمْ أَنْ تُخْفِرُوا ذِمَمَكُمْ أَهْوَنُ مِرْ أَنْ تُخْفُرُوا ذُمَّةَ الله، وَإِذَا أَرَادُوكَ أَنْ تُنْزَلَهُمْ عَلَى حُكْم الله فَلَا تَفْعَلْ، بَلْ عَلَى حُكْمكَ، فَإِنَّكَ لَا تُدْرى أَتُصِيتُ فِيهِمْ حُكْمَ اللهِ أَمْ لَا». أَخْرَحَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

^[1] Ghulūl means stealing the war booty before its distribution.

^[2] Muthla implies cutting off one's nose, ear or other bodily organs.

^[3] This further explains that *Hijra* (migration) is valid forever, since permanently residing in a land of disbelievers makes it difficult for one to acquire instructions of the Islamic law.

^[4] Ghanimab is the Arabic word applied to spoils of war one acquires after fighting the disbelievers and defeating them. One-fifth of the goods thus acquired is taken out, and the rest of it is distributed amongst the army. A soldier of an infantry regiment gets one share while a cavalryman acquires three.

^[5] Fai' is a term used for the war-booty which is acquired from disbelievers without fighting them. Its one-fifth portion is not separated and the same is to be spent on the needs of the orphans, the poor, the wayfarers, the poor emigrants, and in the cause of Allah according to the decision of the caliph.

^[6] Jizya is a monetary payment as a head-tax which a Muslim government receives from its non-Muslim subjects.

referred to Allāh's Judgement, do not grant this. Instead, let them have the matter referred to your judgement, for you do not know whether or not you will concur with the Judgement of Allāh, the Most High, regarding them." [Muslim reported it].

1090. Narrated Ka'b bin Mālik &: "Whenever the Prophet ﷺ intended to go on a military expedition, he would pretend to be going somewhere else." [Agreed upon].

1091. Narrated Ma'qil bin An-Nu'mān bin Muqarrin^[1] ﷺ "I have witnessed (battles with) Allāh's Messenger ﷺ and if he did not fight at the beginning of the day, he deferred fighting till the sun had passed the meridian, the wind blew and help came down." [2] [Reported by Ahmad and Ath-Thalatba. Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic) and its basic meaning occurs in Al-Bukhāri's Sabib].

1092. Narrated As-Sa'b bin Jaththāma Allāh's Messenger 獨 was asked about the polytheists whose settlements (housing women and children) were attacked at night, so that some of their women and children were harmed." He replied, "They are from them. [3] " [Agreed upon].

1093. Narrated 'Aisha 's: The Prophet said to a man who followed him on the Day of Badr, "Go back, for I will never ask help from a *Musbrik* (polytheist)." [4] [Reported by Muslim].

(١٠٩٠) وَعَنْ كَمْبِ بْنِرَ مَالِكِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ كَانَ إِذَا أَرَادَ غَزْوَةً وَرَّى بغَيْرِهَا. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(1.91) وَعَنْ مَغْقِلْ ، أَذَّ النَّغْمَانَ بْنَ مُقَرَّنْ رَصِي اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: شَهِدْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ عَنْهُ قَالَ: شَهِدْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ عَلَى إِلَّهُ اللَّهَارِ أَخْرَ اللِقَالَ حَتَّى تَزُولَ النَّهْالُ أَخْرَ اللِقَالَ حَتَّى رَزُولَ النَّهْرُ. وَتَهْبُ الرِّيَاحُ وَيَنْزِلَ النَّصْرُ. وَرَهُ أَخْمَدُ الخَاكِمُ، وَأَصْلُهُ فِي البُخَارِيُ. فَاللَّهَ وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ، وَأَصْلُهُ فِي البُخَارِيُ.

(١٠٩٢) وَعَنِ الصَّعْبِ بْنِ جَثَامَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: سُئِلَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عَنِ الذَّرَادِيِّ مِنَ المُشْوِكِينَ، يُبَيِّئُونَ، فَيُصِيبُونَ مِن نِسَاتِهِمْ وَذَرَادِيَّهِمْ، فَقَالَ: "هُمْ مِنْهُمْ". مُثَقَّنَ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٠٩٣) وَعَنْ عَآتِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ لِرَجُل تَبِعَهُ فِي يَوْم بَدْرٍ: «ارْجِعْ، فَلَنْ أَشْتَعِينَ بِمُشْرِكِ». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

^[1] He was a *Sabābi* from the tribe of Muzaina and was one of the Muslim army commanders during Abū Bakr's Caliphate and 'Umar Al-Farooq رضي الله عنها . He had migrated with seven of his brothers. He conquered Asbahān and was killed in the battle of Nahawand in the year 21 H.

^[2] The best time to attack is the morning time, whereas the best time to fight the battle is the noontime, as the blessing and mercy of Allāh descend on the believers during the prayer times. An invocation made for victory during these timings is quickly accepted.

^[3] The women and children of the polytheists should not be killed. However, if women and children are not discernible during a night attack and thus get killed in an ambush, there is no blame for such.

1094. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: The Prophet saw a woman who had been killed in one of his military expeditions, so he disapproved of the killing of women and children.^[1] [Agreed upon].

(١٠٩٤) وَعَن ِ اثْن ِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّه تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ رَأَى آمْرَأَةً مَثْتُولَةً فِي بَعْض مَعَازِيهِ، فَأَنْكَرَ قَتْلَ النَّسَاءِ وَالصَّبْيَان ِ. مُثَقَّ عَلَيه.

1095. Narrated Samura **4**: Allāh's Messenger **2** said, "Kill the old men^[2] who are polytheists but spare their children." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud. At-Tirmidhi graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

(١٠٩٥) وَعَنْ سَمْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "أَقْتُلُوا شُيُوخَ المُسْوِخَ المُسْوِخَةُمْ". رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَصَحَّحُهُ التَّرْمِذِينُ.

1096. Narrated 'Ali ♣: At the battle of Badr, they (the Muslims and the polytheists) engaged in one-on-one combats. [Reported by Al-Bukhāri. Abū Dā'ud reported it in a long Hadītb].

(١٠٩٦) وَعَنْ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُمْ تَبَارَزُوا يَوْمَ بَدْرٍ. رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ، وَأَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ مُطَوِّلًاً.

1097. Narrated Abū Ayūb ♣: This Verse was sent down concerning us – Al-Ansār, meaning the saying of Allāh, the Most High: "And do not throw yourselves into destruction". Abū Ayūb said that in refutation of those who disapproved of the action of he who attacked the Romans (alone) till he was amidst them. [5] [Reported by Atb-

(١٠٩٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي أَيُّوبَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: إِنَّمَا نَزَلَتُ هٰذِهِ الآيَّةُ فِينَا مُمْشَرَ الأَنْصَارِ، يَمْنِي قَوْلُهُ تَعَالَى ﴿ وَلَا لَمُنُوا بِأَيْنِيكُم لِلَّ الشَّلَكَةُ ﴾ قَالَهُ رَدًّا عَلَىٰ مَنْ أَنْكَرَ عَلَىٰ مَنْ حَمَلَ عَلَىٰ صَفِّ الرُّومِ حَتَّى دَخَلَ فِيهِمْ. رَوَاهُ الثَّلَاثَةُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ وَابُنُ جِبَّانَ وَالحَاكِمُ.

^[1] At first, it was forbidden to obtain any assistance from a polytheist during a war. This restriction was lifted at a later stage. There is a *Hadītīb* to this effect that you will strike a peace accord with the Romans and you – Muslims and Romans – will unite to encounter the enemy.

^[2] It is absolutely forbidden to deliberately murder children. It is permissible to kill a woman only in case she attacks a Muslim, otherwise the same is forbidden. The old among the disbelievers – who are strong and capable of fighting – and assist the enemy in any way, even if by offering them a piece of advice, are permitted to be killed. Otherwise, the non-combatant elderly people are not to be killed.

^[3] i.e. those who are capable to fight.

^[4] The Arabic word *Mubaraza* means sending an invitation to an opponent to fight and giving him an account of one's heroic deeds and acts of valor in a loud voice. Even though such an act is regarded as a vain glorious display of one's power and a boastful show of pomp and self-conceit, which is not permitted under normal circumstances, but the same is permissible during war for the sole purpose of intimidating an enemy.

^[5] Sūrat Al-Baqarah, 2:195.

^[6] This Hadith clarifies that while making an attack, one should also take into account the

Thalatha. At-Tirmidhi, Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sahib (authentic)].

1098. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ burnt the palm trees^[1] of Banu An-Nadir and cut them down. [Agreed upon].

1099. Narrated 'Ubāda bin As-Sāmit 泰: "Allāh's Messenger 藥 said, "Do not be take anything from the booty (before it is distributed). Verily, it will be a fire and disgrace to those who are guilty of it, in this world and in the Hereafter." [Ahmad and An-Nasā'i reported it, and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sahib (authentic)].

1100. Narrated 'Auf bin Mālik &: "The Prophet ﷺ gave judgement that the killer should have whatever is taken from the man he killed^[2] (in Jibād)." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and its basic meaning occurs in Muslim's Sabib].

1101. Narrated 'Abdur-Rahmān bin 'Auf : regarding the story of the killing of Abū Jahl: They then hastened to him with their swords till they killed him, after which they went to Allāh's Messenger : and informed him. He asked, "Which of you killed him? Did you wipe your swords?" They replied, "No." He looked at the swords and said, "Both of you killed him." He then ruled that what was taken from him should go to Mu'ādh bin 'Amr bin Al-Jamūh. [3] [Agreed upon].

(١٠٩٨) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: حَوَّقَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ نَخْلَ بَني النَّضيرِ، وَقَطَّمَ مُثَنِّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٠٩٩) وَعَنْ عُبَادَةَ بْنِ الصَّامِتِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "لَا تَمُلُّوا، فَإِنَّ الغُلُولَ نَارٌ وَعَارٌ عَلَى أَصْحَابِهِ فِي الدُّنْيَا وَالآخِرَةِ". رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالنَّسَآئِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ أَبُنُ جِبَّانَ.

(١٩٠٠) وَعَنْ عَوْفِ بْنِ مَالِكِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَضَى بِالسَّلَبِ لِلْقَاتِلِ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَأَصْلهُ عِنْدَ مُسْلِمٍ.

اللَّهُ تَمَانَى عَنْهُ - فَي قِصَّةِ قَتْل أَبِي جَهْل - اللَّهُ تَمَانَى عَنْهُ - فَي قِصَّةِ قَتْل أَبِي جَهْل - قَالَتَكَرَاهُ بِسَنَفَيْهِمَا، حَتَّى قَتَلاهُ، ثُمُّ الْمُصَرَفَا إِلَىٰ رَسُول ِ اللهِ ﷺ، فَأَخْبَرَاهُ، فَقَالَ: الْمُكَمَا قَتَلَهُ؟ مَلْ مَسَحْتُمَا سَيْفَيْكُمَا؟» قَالا: لاَه قَلَلَ: الْكِلاكُمَا قَتَلَهُ، فَقَالَ: الْكِلاكُمَا قَتَلَهُ، فَقَالَ: الْكِلاكُمَا قَتَلَهُ، فَقَالَ: الْكِلاكُمَا قَتَلَهُ، لَا مُعَلَوْ بُن عَمْوه بُن المُعَلوْ بُن عَمْوه بُن المُعُموح ِ مُثَقَّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

ratio of the head count. If the army of the disbelievers numbers twice as much, the Muslims are obligated to fight them. However, if their ratio is greater than that, it is no more an obligation on the Muslims to fight them. This *Hadīth* is a proof of the permissibility of a single soldier attacking the enemy ranks, if he knows himself to be strong and fierce in battle.

^[1] This Hadith explains that anything which turns out to be a stumbling block in a war or anything providing strength to an enemy's fortification is permitted to be destroyed.

^[2] The Arabic word Salb stands for the articles which are attached to the body of the killed person, like vestments and armors, etc. The majority of the scholars are of the view that the killer is the owner of the said articles.

^[3] He was an Ansāri and a Khazraji of Sulami clan. He attended Al-'Aqaba and Badr. He is

1102. Narrated Makhul^[1]: "The Prophet set up the catapult^[2] while attacking the people of Tā'if." [Abū Dā'ud reported it in Al-Marasīl, and its narrators are reliable. Al-'Uqaili reported it with a Mausūl (complete chain), that is Da'if (weak), from 'Ali & l.

1103. Narrated Anas &: The Prophet sentered Makkah with a helmet on his head. When he took it off, a man came to him and said, "Ibn Khatal is hanging on to the curtains of the Ka'ba." He replied, "Kill him." [Agreed upon].

1104. Narrated Sa'id bin Jubair^[4] 泰: "On the Day of Badr, Allāh's Messenger 癥 killed three people while they were in bonds."^[5] [Abū Dā'ud reported it in *Marasīl*, and its narrators are *Thiqab* (reliable)].

(١١٠٣) وَعَنْ مَكْخُول ِ، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ نَصَبَ المَنْجَنِيقَ عَلَىٰ أَلِمُل ِ الطَّائِف ِ . أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ فِي المَرَاسِيل ِ ، وَرِجَالُهُ ثِقَاتٌ ، وَوَصَلَهُ الْغُقَيْليُ بِإِشَادٍ ضَعِيف ِ عَنْ عَلِيَّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ.

(11.٣) وَعَنْ أَنْسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ وَعَلَىٰ رَأْسِهِ ٱلْمِغْفَرُ، فَلَمَّا نَزَعَهُ جَاءَهُ رَجُلٌ، فَقَالَ: ابْنُ خَطَلِ مُتَعَلِّنٌ إِلْمُنْتَارِ الكَمْبَةِ، فَقَالَ: «اقْتُلُوهُ». مُتَقَلِّ عَلَيْهِ.

(١١٠٤) وَعَنْ سَعِيدِ بْنِرِ جُبَيْرٍ رَحِمَهُ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَتَلَ يَوْمَ بَدُرٍ ثَلَاثَةً صَبْراً. أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ فِي المَرَاسِيلِ، وَرِجَالُهُ فَقَاتُ.

the one who cut off Abū Jahl's leg and put him down. Then, 'lkrima bin Abū Jahl cut off Mu'ādh's hand, yet he fought the battle till it was over. He died during 'Uthmān's Caliphate.

 $^{^{[1]}}$ Makhul Ad-Dimashqi was the Fiqb scholar of Shām and one of the eminent people. Abū Hātim said, "I do not know of someone who is more learned in Fiqb than him." He died in the year 113 H.

^[2] Manjaniq is a contrivance (i.e., a catapult) which hurls heavy stones at the enemy's fortifications. The purpose of mentioning this Hadīth here is to show that even though women, children and the elderly are likely to be killed in such indiscriminate firing, it is still permissible, especially in a situation where the enemy cloisters itself within a certain fortification and no option is left except resorting to firing the Manjaniq to facilitate the conquest.

^[3] The name of Ibn Khatal was Abdullah. This wicked person first accepted Islam. So, the Prophet ## deputed him along with an Ansāri on a mission to collect Zakāt whereupon this person apostatized and murdered his Ansāri companion. He stole the Zakāt money and fled away to Makkah. After the conquest of Makkah by the Muslims, Ibn Khatal took refuge within the premises of the Ka'ba. The Prophet ## instructed his Companions to execute him forthwith. This explains that a rebellious renegade and a murderer is not eligible for asylum even within the confines of the Ka'ba.

^[4] He was Al-Wālibi by clientship and a resident of Kufa. He was a Faqib, eminent Imām and an authority in the Tafsir and Hadītb. He was the last man to be killed by Hajjāj bin Yusuf. Maimūn bin Mahrān said, "Sa'īd bin Jubair died when everybody in the world (by then) was in need of his knowledge." He was killed in 95 H. while an old man.

^[5] These three persons were Tua'ma bin 'Adi, Nadr bin Hārith and 'Uqaba bin 'Abi Mu'ait. This explains that killing a person out of thirst and hunger (i.e., starving him to death) is permissible.

1105. Narrated 'Imrān bin Husain &: "Allāh's Messenger & exchanged two Muslim men^[1] from captivity for a *Musbrik* man." [At-Tirmidhi reported it and graded it *Sabib* (authentic). Its basic meaning is in *Sabib* Muslim].

1106. Narrated Sakhr bin Al-'Aila^[2] &: The Prophet & said, "If the people (polytheists) embrace Islam, they will protect their blood and their wealth." [3] [Abū Dā'ud reported it, its narrators are reliable].

1107. Narrated Jubair bin Mut'im . The Prophet said regarding the prisoners taken at Badr, "If Al-Mut'im bin 'Adi^[4] had been alive and spoken to me about these filthy ones (i.e. pagans), I would have freed them for him." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

1108. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri &:
On the Day of (the battle of) Autās, we took (women) captives who had husbands. They (the Sabāba) were hesitant to have intercourse with them.^[5] Then Allāh, the Most High, sent down regarding that: "[Prohibited

(١٩٠٥) وَعَنْ عِمْرَانَ بْنِرْ خَصَيْنِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُما، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ فَدَى رَجُلَيْن مِنَ المُسْلِمِينَ بِرَجُلِ مِنَ المُشْوِكِينَ. أَخْرَجَهُ التُّرْيِذِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ، وَأَصْلُهُ عَنْدَ مُسْلِمٍ.

(١١٠٦) وَعَنْ صَخْرِ بْنِ التَّبْلَةِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿إِنَّ القَوْمَ إِذَا أَشْلَمُوا أَحْرَزُوا مِمَاءَهُمْ [وَأَمْوَالَهُمْ]». أَخْرَجُهُ أَبِو دَاوْدُ، وَرِجَالُهُ مُؤْتُقُونَ.

(١١٠٧) وَعَنْ جُبَيْرِ بْنُرَ مُطْعِمْ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ فِي أَسَارِىٰ بَلْدٍ: "لَوْ كَانَ المُطْعِمُ بْنُ عَدِيًّ حَيَّا، ثُمَّ كَلَّمَنِي فِي هَؤُلَاءِ النَّشَيْرِ، لَتَرَكَّمُهُمْ لُهُ". رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(١١٠٨) وَعَن أَبِي سَعَيدِ الْخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللهُّ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: أَصَبْنَا سَبَايًا يَوْمَ أَوْطَاسِ لَهُنَّ أَزْوَاجٌ، فَـتَــَحَـرَّجُــوا، فَـأَلْــزَلَ اللهُ تَعَالَى﴿وَالْمُحْصَنَاكُ مِنَ النَّسَاءِ إِلَّا مَا مَلَكَتُ أَيْمَانُكُمْ﴾ الْأَيَّة، أَخْرَجُهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

^[1] This Hadith states that an exchange of prisoners is permissible. The people of Banu Thaqif captured two Companions of the Prophet 選 As the Banu 'Aqil were their (Banu Thaqif's) allies, the Companions of the Prophet 選 captured a man from Banu 'Aqil. When the polytheists released the Companions of the Prophet 選, he reciprocally released that polytheist.

^[2] Sakhr bin Al-'Aila Al-Ahmasi Abū Hāzim was a Sabābi who narrated this Hadīth.

^[3] Whenever a *Harbi* (a person from the land of disbelievers) embraces Islam on his own accord and out of his free will, all his wealth and property, whether movable or immovable, remains in his possession regardless of whether such a person embraces Islam in the land of disbelievers or in the land of Islam. However, if he embraces Islam after being conquered, his life is protected, but his wealth will be distributed as spoils of war.

^[4] When the Prophet # returned from Ta'if after being wounded there, Muti'm bin 'Adi sheltered him and kept serving him and taking good care of him. The Prophet # here remembers his favorable acts.

^[5] The previous marriages, of women who are captured in a war, are rendered null and void the moment they are captured. If such a woman is pregnant, it is permissible to have a sexual intercourse with her only after the delivery. In case not pregnant, copulation is permissible after her clearance from one menstrual period. This is irrespective of the fact whether they embrace Islam or not. Another restriction which applied to such a situation is that it is permissible to

are]... women already married, except those whom your right hands possess (captives)"^[1] [Muslim reported it].

1109. Narrated Ibn 'Umar .: Allāh's Messenger sent a Sariyab (raiding party) to Najd and I was with them. They got many camels as spoils (of war). Each one's share was twelve camels, and they were given an additional camel each. [2] [Agreed upon].

1110. Narrated (Ibn 'Umar) 泰: "On the Day of Khaibar, Allāh's Messenger 藥 allotted two shares for a horse and one for a foot soldier." [Agreed upon, and the wording is Al-Bukhān's]

Abū Dā'ud has: "He allotted three shares for a man and his horse, two for his horse and one for him."

1111. Narrated Ma'n bin Yazid & [3]: I heard Allāh's Messenger ﷺ say, "Additional booties (*Nafl*) are to be distributed only after the *Khumus* [4] (has been separated)." [Reported by Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud. At-Tahawi graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

1112. Narrated Habib bin Maslama^[5]

(11.9) وَعَن ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: بَمَتَ رَصُولُ اللهِ ﷺ سَرِيَّةً، وَأَنَا فِيهِمْ، فِيَلَ نَجْدِ، فَعَلَنْتُ فِيهِمْ، فَيَانَتُ سُهْمَانُهُمُ أَثْنَي عَشَرَ بَعِيرًا، وَنُقُلُوا بَعِيرًا بَعِيرًا. مُثَقَدً عَلَه.

(۱۱۱۰) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَسَمَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَوْمَ خَيْبَرَ لِلْفَرَسِ سَهْمَيْنِ، وَلِلرَّاجِلِ سَهْماً. مُتَّقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفْظُ لِلْمُغَرِّنَ.

وَلِأْبِي دَاوُدَ: أَسْهَمَ لِرَجُلِ وَلِفَرَسِهِ ثَلَاثَةَ أَسْهُم، سَهْمَدْر لِفَرَسِه، وَسَهْماً لَهُ.

(۱۱۱۱) وَعَنْ مَعْنِ بْنِرِ بَزِيدَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَغْتَلْى عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ: «لَا نَفْلَ إِلَّا بَعْدَ الخُمُسِ». وَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ وَأَبُودَاوُدَ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الطَّحَادِئُ.

(١١١٢) وَعَنْ حَبِيبٍ بْنِ مَسْلَمَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ

copulate with a female-slave strictly on the condition that she must fall to one's lot by a lawful distribution through a proper channel of authority and not by a random choice.

^[1] Sürat Al-Mä'idab, 5:24. Meaning they were allowed to cohabit with them after they were purified from one menstrual period.

^[2] An infantry soldier is eligible for one share of the war booty, whereas a cavalry soldier is entitled to three shares. The commander has a right to award the eligible members of the army – on the basis of their capabilities – an additional amount of goods (*Nafl*) other than their prescribed share, out of the captured goods. This matter is collectively agreed.

^[3] Ma'n bin Yazid bin Al-Akhnas As-Sulami was a Sabābi and son of a Sabābi. He witnessed the conquest of Damascus and used to reside in Kufa. He also entered Egypt and lived in Damascus. He witnessed the battle of Marj Rāhit with Ad-Dahhāk bin Qais in 64 H. and was killed in it. It was said that he used to be with Mu'āwiya during his battles.

^[4] A Khumus was one-fifth of the booties that Allāh allocated to His Messenger ﷺ for his families' upkeep, the assistance of his relatives and the needy Muslims and spending in the cause of Allāh.

^[5] Abū 'Abdur-Rahmān Al-Fihri Al-Makki was a *Sahābi* known as Habib of the Romans due to his many battle campaigns against them. He died in Armenia in the year 41 H. or 42 H. while

毒: I witnessed Allāh's Messenger 鑑give a quarter of the additional spoils (to a detachment) on the outward expedition and a third on the return journey. [11] [Reported by Abū Dā'ud. Ibn Al-Jārud, Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)]

1113. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ used to give to some of the detachments he sent out, additional booties (Nafl)^[2] apart from the division made to the whole army. [Agreed upon].

1114. Narrated (Ibn 'Umar) &: While on our military expeditions, we used to get honey and grapes and eat them, without bringing these to the Prophet^[3] [Reported by Al-Bukhāri. Abū Dā'ud has: "A *Khumus* was not taken from them." Ibn Hibbān graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

1115. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Abū Aufa : "On the Day of Khaibar we captured food and a man would come and take as much of it as he needed and then go away." [Abū Dā'ud reported it. Ibn Al-Jārūd and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

1116. Narrated Ruwaifi' bin Thābit &: Allāh's Messenger said, "He who believes in Allāh and the Last Day must not ride a riding animal belonging to the booty of the Muslims and return it when he has emaciated it; [4] or wear a

تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: شَهِدْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ، نَفَّلَ اللهِ ﷺ، نَفَّلَ اللهِ ﷺ، نَفَّلَ الرَّجْعَةِ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ الجَارُودِ وَابْنُ حِبَّانَ الجَارُودِ وَابْنُ حِبَّانَ وَالْحَاكِمُ.

(۱۱۱۳) وَعَنِ ابْنِر عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يُنْفُلُ بَغْضَ مَنْ يَبْعَثُ مِنَ السَّرَايَا لِانْفُسِهِمْ خَاصَّةً، سِوَى قِشْمٍ عَامَّةِ الجَيْشِرِ. مُثَقِّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(١١١٤) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كُنَّا نُعِيبُ فِي مَغَازِينَا العَسلَ وَالعِنْبَ فَنَأْكُلُهُ، وَلَا نُوْفَهُهُ. رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ، وَلِإِبِي دَاوُدُ: "فَلَمْ يُؤْخُذُ مِنْهُمُ الخُمُسُرُّ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ جِبَّانَ.

(١١١٥) وَعَنْ عَبْدِاللهِ بْنِرَ أَبِي أَوْفِي رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: أَصَبْنَا طَعَاماً يَوْمَ خَيْبَرَ، فَكَانَ الرَّجُلُ يَجِيءُ، فَبَأْخُذُ مِنْهُ مِفْدَارَ مَا يَكْفِيهِ، ثُمَّ يَنْصَرِفُ. أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَصَحَّحَهُ إِنْ الجَارُودِ وَالحَاكِمُ.

(١١١٦) وَعَنْ رُوَيْفِي بْنِ ثَابِتِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَنْ كَانَ يُؤْمِنُ بِاللهِ وَالبَوْمِ الآخِرِ فَلَا يَرْكُبُ دَابَّةً مِنْ فَنْ: المُسْلِمِينَ، حَتَّى إِذَا أُعْجَفْهَا رَدَّمَا فِيهِ،

being its governor.

^[1] The greater amount granted them was due to the extra difficulties and dangers involved in fighting the enemy for a second time, while returning to the Muslim land.

 $^{^{[2]}}$ This *Hadith* states that the Prophet $\frac{1}{2}$ also used to distribute gifts to some people as a reward for them.

^[3] The one-fifth portion is not taken out from the foodstuff as these are meant to be consumed by eating and not to be stored. Every soldier may partake of it even prior to the formal distribution of goods. No restriction applies to it.

^[4] The vestments and horses thus captured may be used on the battlefield for necessity, and

garment belonging to the booty of the Muslims and return it when he has worn it out." [Abū Dā'ud and Ad-Dā'mi reported it, and its narrators are acceptable].

1117. Narrated Abū 'Ubaida bin Al-Jarrāh : I heard Allāh's Messenger say, "Muslims^[1] give protection on one another's behalf." [Ahmad and Ibn Abū Shaiba reported it, but there is weakness in its chain of narrators].

At-Tayālisi has, from 'Amr bin Al-'Aas: "The least of the Muslims (in status) may give protection on their behalf."

In the two Sabib books, on the authority of 'Ali &: "The protection given by one Muslim is on behalf of the rest, and the least of them can grant it." Ibn Mājah added, through another chain: "The most distant of them may give protection on their behalf."

In the two *Sabib* books, Al-Bukhāri and Muslim, it is reported from the *Hadītb* of Umm Hani^[2]: "We (the Muslims) have given protection to those to whom you (Umm Hani) have granted it."

1118. Narrated 'Umar &: He heard Allah's Messenger & say, "I will certainly expel the Jews and the Christians from the Arabian Peninsula^[3] until I have not left (in it) anyone except a Muslim." [Reported by Muslim].

وَلَا يَلْبُسْ نَوْبًا مِنْ فَيْءِ الْمُسْلِمِينَ، حَتَّى إِذَا أَخْلَقُهُ رَدَّهُ فِيهِا. أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدُ وَالدَّارِمِيُّ. وَرَجَالُهُ لَا بَأْسَ بِهِمْ.

(١١١٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي عُبَيْدَةً بْنِ الجَوَّاحِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ [تَمَالَى] عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ: (يُجِيرُ عَلَى المُشْلِمِينَ بَعْضُهُمْ". أَخْرَجَهُ إِنْنَ أَبِي شَيْبَةً وَأَخْمَدُ، وَفِي إِسْنَادِهِ ضَعْفٌ.

وَلِلطَّيَالِيتِيِّ مِنْ حَلِيثِ عَمْرِو بْنِ العَاصِ ِ قَالَ: "يُجِيرُ عَلَى المُسْلِمِينَ أَدْنَاهُمْ".

وَفِي الصَّحِيحَيْنِ عَنْ عَلِيٍّ قَالَ: «ذِمَّةُ النُسْلِمِينَ وَاحِدَةٌ، يَسْعَى بِهَا أَذْنَاهُمْ». زَادَ ابْنُ مَاجَهُ مِنْ وَجُهِ آخَرَ: "وَيُجِيرُ عَلَيْهِمْ أَقْصَاهُمْ».

وَقِي الصَّحِيحُيْنِ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أُمَّ هَانِيءٍ: "قَدْ أَجَوْنَا مَنْ أَجَرْت ».

(١١١٨) وَعَنْ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُ سَمِعَ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ: لأُخْرِجَنَّ اليَهُورَ وَالنَّصَارَى مِنْ جَزِيرَةِ العَرَبِ، حَتَّى لا أَدَعَ إِلَّا مُسْلِماً». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

then returned to the spoils. Otherwise, it is prohibited to utilize them. Some scholars are of the opinion that such things must not be utilized even momentarily, except on the condition of securing a formal permission from the concerned commander-in-chief.

^[1] This *Hadīth* implies that not only the *Imām* may grant the disbelievers asylum. In fact, anyone among the Muslims, whether a woman or a man, young (adult) or old, rich or poor, an ordinary soldier or a commander, has a right to grant asylum. In case a Muslim grants such an asylum to a disbeliever, it becomes an obligation on all the Muslims to honor it. Even a reigning *Imām* may not breach an asylum thus granted.

^[2] She was the daughter of Abū Tālib Al-Hashimiya and sister of 'Ali bin Abū Tālib مرضي الله عنه الله عنه. Her name was Fakhita or Hind and she became a Muslim at the conquest of Makkah.

^[3] The Arabian Peninsula is that part of the earth which is surrounded by the Indian Ocean, the Mediterranean Sea, and the rivers of Tigris and Euphrates. Lengthwise, it extends from 'Aden to the outer fringes of Syria. In terms of its breadth, it spans from Jeddah to the

1119. Narrated ('Umar) *: "The wealth of Banu An-Nadir was part of what Allāh bestowed (as Fai' -Booty) on His Messenger * from that which the Muslims had not gained by riding on horses or camels. Hence, they belonged specially to the Prophet * who would give his family (from it) their sustenance for a year. Then, he used whatever remained * [1] for horses and weapons, as preparations (for Jihad) in the Path of Allāh, the Mighty and the Majestic." [Agreed upon].

1120. Narrated Mu'ādh (bin Jabal) &: "We went on an expedition to Khaibar along with Allāh's Messenger & and we captured some sheep. So, Allāh's Messenger & divided some of them among us and assigned the rest of them as booty." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud, and its narrators are acceptable].

1121. Narrated Abū Rāfi' :: Allah's Messenger :: said, "I do not break a covenant^[2] or imprison messengers." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i, and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

(١١١٩) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَتْ أَمْوَالُ بَنِي النَّضِيرِ مِمَّا أَفَآة اللَّهُ عَلَىٰ رَسُولِهِ، مِمَّا لَمْ يُوجِفْ عَلَيْهِ المُسْلِمُونَ بِخَيْلِم وَلَا رِكَابٍ، فَكَانَتْ لِلنَّبِيِّ ﷺ خَاصَّةً، فَكَانَ يُشْهِنُ عَلَىٰ أَهْلِهِ نَفَقَةَ سَنَةٍ، وَمَا بَقِيَ يَجْعَلُهُ فِي الكُرْاعِ وَالسَّلَاحِ، عُدَّةً فِي سَبِيلِ اللهِ عَزَّ

(١١٢٠) وَعَنْ مُعَادٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: غَرَوْنَا مَعَ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ خَيْبَرَ، فَأَصَبْنَا فِيهَا غَنَماً، فَقَسَمَ فِينَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ طَآيَفَةً، وَجَعَلَ بَقِيتُهَا فِي المَغْنَمِ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَرِجَالُهُ لَا بَأْسَ بِهِمْ.

(١٩٢١) وَعَنْ أَبِي رَافِيم رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "إِنِّي لَا أَخِسِنُ بِالعَهْدِ، وَلَا أَخْسِنُ الرُّسُلَ». رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ والنَّسَآيْنُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ.

surrounding regions of Iraq. Some people observed that the Arabian Peninsula is meant to be the region of Hijāz comprising Makkah, Al-Madīnah, Yamamah, Tā'if and their outskirts. This is how the term Hijāz is used in some of the old narratives. It thus becomes known that it is compulsory to expel all the Jews and polytheists from the Arabian Peninsula but their ouster from Hijāz has been solicited more emphatically.

^[1] The soldiers have no share in the goods of Fai' – the chattels seized upon by the Muslims without having to fight – in their capacity as soldiers. The Prophet $\frac{1}{28}$ and later on his caliphs, in accordance with the Divine instructions, used to distribute and spend the money realized from it on: the expenditure incurred by the family members of the Prophet $\frac{1}{28}$; payments made to the orphans; financial assistance provided to the poor; and on hospitality offered to the travelers and wayfarers. The remainder of the money (if saved) was spent for the purchase of horses and other armaments.

12] This Hadith indicates that causing the breach of a war-related treaty and thereby arresting and stopping the disbelievers is not permitted. The incidence goes that Abū Rāfi (the freed-slave of the Prophet 囊) came to the Prophet 囊, prior to his embracing Islam, as an emissary on behalf of the disbelievers. The moment he sighted the Prophet 囊, he embraced Islam. Then he requested the Prophet 囊 to stop him then and there, as he did not like to go back to the disbelievers. Upon hearing this, the Prophet 囊 expressed these words mentioned in this Hadith.

1122. Narrated Abū Huraira 🎄: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "Whatever town you take peacefully, [1] your portion (Fai') is in it; but whatever town disobeys Allāh and His Messenger, a fifth of (its booty) goes to Allāh and His Messenger and what remains (Ghanima) is yours." [Reported by Muslim].

Chapter 1

JIZYA AND HUDNA^[2]
(HEAD TAX AND TRUCE)

1123. Narrated 'Abdur-Rahmān bin 'Auf is: The Prophet it took it – i.e., the Jizya – from the Magians of Hajar. [Reported by Al-Bukhāri. It has another chain in Al-Muwatta' of Imām Mālik which is Munqati' (a broken chain)].

1124. Narrated 'Aasim^[3] bin 'Umar from Anas and from 'Uthmān bin Abū Sulaimān^[4] &: The Prophet & sent Khālid bin Al-Walid (&) to Ukaidir of Daūmat-al-Jandal,^[5] and then they seized him and brought him. He then spared his life and made peace with him on condition that he should pay *Jizya*. [Reported by Abū Dā'ud].

1125. Narrated Mu'ādh bin Jabal 🕸: The Prophet 🍇 sent me to Yemen and

(١١٢٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: «أَيُّمَا قَرْيَةٍ أَيْتُمُا فَرَيَّةٍ أَيْتُمُا فَلَيْمًا أَنْيَتُمُوهَا، فَأَيَّمَا فَيَهَا، وَأَيُّمَا فَرَيَّةٍ وَرَسُولُهُ، فَإِنَّ خُمُسَهَا لِلَّهِ وَرَسُولُهُ، فَإِنَّ خُمُسَهَا لِلَّهِ وَرَسُولُهُ، فَإِنَّ خُمُسَهَا لِلَّهِ وَرَسُولُهُ، فَإِنَّ خُمُسَهَا لِلَّهِ وَرَسُولُهُ، وَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

١ - بَابُ الجِزْيَةِ وَالهُدْنَةِ

(١١٢٣) عَنْ عَبْدِ الرَّحْمُنِ بْنِ عَوْفٍ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ مِنْ مُجُوسِ النِّبِيِّ ﷺ مِنْ مُجُوسِ هَجَرَ. رَوَاهُ البُخَارِئِيُّ، وَلَهُ طَرِيقٌ فِي المُوَطَّإِ، فَيَهُ الْمُؤطَّإِ، فِيهُ الْمُؤطَّإِ، فِيهَا النَّهُوطَاعٌ.

(1172) وَعَنْ عَاصِمِ بْنِ عُمَرَ، عَنْ أَنسِ، وَعَنْ عُمْرَ، عَنْ أَنسِ، وَعَنْ عُمْمَانَ بْنِ أَبِي شُلْئِمَانَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى أَنْ التَّبِيِّ ﷺ بَمَتَ خَالِدَ بْنِ الوَلِيدِ إِلِىٰ أَكْلِيرِ وَوَهَ التَّبَلِيرِ عَلَىٰ أَكْلِيرِ وَمِنْ أَكْلِيرٍ وَمَا الْجَنْدُو، فَأَتُوا بِهِ فَحَقَنَ دَمَهُ وَصَالَحَهُ عَلَى الجَنْيَةِ. رَوَاهُ أَنُو دَاوْدَ.

(١١٢٥) وَعَنْ مُعَاذِ بْنِ جَبَلِ قَالَ: بَعْنَنِي النَّهِيُّ ﷺ إِلَى اليَمَنِ فَأَمْرَنِي أَنْ آخُذَ مِنْ كُلِّ

^[1] The first township alludes to the one where there is no fighting or bloodshed involved. The share of the warriors in a booty thus acquired from such a township is equal to the share of other Muslims. The second township implies the one where the fighting occurs. The one-fifth portion of the booty thus acquired shall be first taken out, then the rest of it shall be distributed among the soldiers.

^[2] Jizya is a monetary payment which an Islamic government realizes from its non-believing citizens as a head tax, which in turn is spent for their safety and welfare. Hudna implies a truce or armistice that is a temporary suspension of war for a stipulated period.

^[3] Abū 'Umar 'Aasim bin 'Umar bin Qatāda bin An-Nu'mān Al-Ansāri was a reliable *Tābi'i* who narrated many *Abāditi*b. He was also knowledgeable regarding the accounts of the Islamic history from the advent of the Prophet 繼 and the military expeditions. The year of his death has been differed on as being 119 H., 120 H., 121 H., 127 H., and 129 H.

^{[4] &#}x27;Uthmān bin Abū Sulaimān bin Jubair bin Mut'im was the Qādi of Makkah; and Ahmad, Ibn Ma'īn and Abū Hātim verified him as reliable.

^[5] Damatal-Jandal was a fortress near Tabūk held by Ukaidir who was a Christian, and this incident took place in the year 9 H. during the expedition of Tabūk.

commanded me to take (Jizya) from everyone, [1] who had reached puberty, a Dinār or its equivalent in Ma'āfiri, '[2] [Atb-Tbalātba reported it. Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

1126. Narrated 'A'idh bin 'Amr Al-Muzani^[3] &: The Prophet & said, "Islam is always superior and can never be surpassed." [Ad-Dāraqutni reported it].

1127. Narrated Abū Huraira 卷: Allāh's Messenger 鑑 said, "Do not initiate greeting the Jews and Christians (saying: As-Salaamu Alaikum) (before they salute you), ^[5] and when you meet one of them on the road force him to go through the narrowest part of it." [Reported by Muslims].

1128. Narrated Al-Miswar bin Makhrama and Marwān^[6]: The Prophet 癈 went out in the year of Al-Hudaibiya – the narrator narrated the complete Hadītb and it contains: "This is what Muhammad bin 'Abdullāh has

حَالِم دِينَاراً، أَوْ عِدْلَهُ مُعَافِرِيًّا. أَخْرَجَهُ الثَّلاَثَةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ جِئَّانَ وَالحَاكِمُ.

(١١٢٦) وَعَنْ عَآتِلا بْنر عَمْرِو الْمُزَيْقِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ عَن ِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «الإشلَامُ يَعْلُو، وَلَا يُعْلَى» أَخْرَجُهُ الدَّارَفُطْنِيُّ.

(١١٢٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرِيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿لَا تَبْدَءُوا البَهُودَ وَالنَّصَارَى بِالسَّلَامِ، وَإِذَا لَقِتُ أَحَدَهُمْ فِي طَرِيْنِ فَاضْطَرُوهُ إِلَى أَصْبِيَهِ». رَوَاهُ سَمْلِمٌ.

(١١٢٨) وَعَن المِسْوَدِ بْنِ مُخْرَمَةً وَمُرُوانَ أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ خَرَجَ عَامَ الحُكْنِيبَةِ، فَلْكَرَ الخديث بِطُولِهِ، وَفِيهِ: الْمُذَا مَا صَالَحَ عَلَيْهِ مُحَمَّدُ بْنُ عَلِيالِهِ، سُهَيْلَ بْنَ عَلْمِوه، عَلَيْ

^[1] Jizya is of two kinds – an individual one, and a collective one. If realized individually, it will include the rich and the poor alike, from free, male, adults. The least amount that may be realized from a person is one Dinār per year. However, the non-adult minors are exempted from it. Any such tax payment which a government realizes, will have to be above the said rate and not below it. In case the non-believers choose to pay it collectively saying that they shall be paying a certain lump sum amount to the state annually, then such a payment shall not include the poor, but will be solely realized from the rich among them.

^[2] i.e., garments of Yemen origin.

^[3] Abū Hubaira, who settled at Basra, was among the righteous Sahāba. He attended Bat'atur-Ridwān and died during the caliphate of Yazid bin Mu'awiya.

^[4] This *Hadīth* has been mentioned as an introduction to signing a truce. Even if one of the conditions of a treaty thus signed supposedly appears to be unfavorable to Muslims, they shall not lose heart, for Allāh will always uphold Islam.

^[5] This Hadith clarifies that one should not be the first to greet a non-Muslim with the word Salām and a Muslim should not clear his way for them in case he comes across one of them on the way.

^[6] Marwän bin Al-Hakam Al-Umawi was the father of 'Abdul-Mālik (the Kbalifa). He governed Al-Madinah for Mu'āwiya. He competed with 'Abdullāh bin Az-Zubair over the caliphate after the death of Yazid and the abdication of his son Mu'āwiya. So he took over Egypt and Shām. He died in Damascus in the Year 65 H.

agreed^[1] with Suhail bin 'Amr^[2] – to abandon war for ten years during which the people would have security, and refrain from (harming) one another." [Abū Dā'ud reported it. Its basic meaning occurs in Al-Bukhāri].

Muslim reported part of the aforesaid *Hadīth* from Anas and it contains: "If anyone came to us (the pagans) from you (the Muslims), we will not send him back, but if anyone came to you from us, you should send him back." They asked, "Will you write that down, O Allāh's Messenger?" He replied, "Yes! May Allāh remove far (from His Mercy) anyone who goes from us to them, but Allāh will make an escape and a way out for anyone who comes to us from them."

1129. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin 'Umar &: The Prophet ﷺ said, "Whoever kills a *Mu'ābia*^[3] will not smell the fragrance of Paradise, even though its fragrance can be smelt at a distance of forty year's journey." [Al-Bukhāri reported it].

وَضْعِ الحَرْبِ عَشَرَ سِنِينَ، وَيَأْمَنُ فِيهَا [النَّاسُ]، وَيَكُفُّ بَعْضُهُمْ عَنْ بَعْضٍ.*. أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَأَصْلُهُ فِي النَّخَارِيُّ.

وَأَخْرَجَ مُسْلِمٌ بَعْضَهُ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَنَسٍ، وَفِيهِ: أَنَّ مَنْ جَاءَ مِنْكُمْ لَمْ نُرَدُهُ عَلَيْكُم، وَمَنْ جَاءَكُمْ مِنَّا رَدَتُمُوهُ عَلَيْنَا، فَقَالُوا: أَنْكُتُبُ هُلَا؟ يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! قَالَ: •نَمَمْ، إِنَّهُ مَنْ ذَهَبَ مِنَّا إِلَيْهِمْ فَأَبْعَدَهُ اللّهُ، وَمَنْ جَاءَنَا مِنْهُمْ فَسَيْجُعَلُ اللّهُ لَهُ فَرَجاً وَمَخْرَجاً».

(1119) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ عُمْرَ رَضِيَ اللّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُما عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: هَمْنْ قَتَلَ مُمَاهَداً لَمْ يَرَحْ رَائِحَةَ الجَنَّةِ، وَإِنَّ رِيحَهَا لَيُوجَدُ مِنْ مَسِيرَةِ أَرْبَعِينَ عَاماً». أَخْرَجَهُ النّخاريُّ.

This proves legitimacy of a peace accord being struck between the Muslims and non-Muslims. It further elaborates that if an *Amir*, as a prudent measure, realizes that such a treaty shall do the Muslims good in the long run, he should sign it without caring about the opposition or resentment of the public, which such a step may cause among them.

^[2] He was one of Quraish's noble, wise, orators and statesmen. He was captured at Badr as a Kāfir, but became Muslim on the day of the conquest of Makkah. The Quraish remained in Islam during Ar-Ridda period due to his influence. It was said that he was martyred in the battle of Yarmūk in the year 14 H. or at Marj As-Safr or in the plague of Amwās in the year 18 H.

^[3] $Mu\ddot{a}bid$ is a non-believer who is basically a resident of a non-Muslim territory and has entered an Islamic country pursuant to acquiring an asylum from the Islamic government. This also must be made clear that the murder of a $Mu\ddot{a}bid$ is very serious – in terms of consequences – since the murder of a $Mu\ddot{a}bid$ is a matter which involves the whole nation thus bringing a bad name to all the Muslims. There is a common consensus to the effect that the murder of a $Mu\ddot{a}bid$ is forbidden. This is a proof that the Muslim will not be killed for a disbeliever – $Mu\ddot{a}bid$ or Dhimmil.

Chapter 2 RACING AND SHOOTING

٢ - بَابُ السَّبْقِ وَالرَّمْيِ

1130. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . The Prophet ﷺ held a race between the horses^[1] which had been made lean by training from Al-Hafyā' to Thaniyat Al-Wadā', ^[2] and he held a race, from Thaniya to the mosque of Banu Zuraiq, between the horses which had not undergone such training. Ibn 'Umar (🏶) was among those who took part in the race. [Agreed upon].

Al-Bukhāri added: Sufyān said, "From Al-Hafyā' to Thaniyat Al-Wadā' is a distance of five or six miles, and from the Thaniya to the mosque of Banu Zuraiq is a distance of one mile."

1131. Narrated (Ibn 'Umar) **\$**: The Prophet **\$**/**8** held a race between horses and made the destination for the full-grown ones at a longer distance. [Reported by Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud. Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

1132. Narrated Abū Huraira 🎄: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "Wagers are allowed only for racing camels, shooting arrows or racing horses," [8] [8] [8] Reported by Ahmad and Atb-Thalātba. Ibn Hibbān declared it to be Sabib (authentic)].

1133. Narrated (Abū Huraira) . The Prophet said, "If anyone enters a horse in a race with two others –

(١١٣٠) عَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: سَابَقَ النَّبِيُ ﷺ بِالخَيْلِ النَّبي قَد ضُمُّرَتْ، مِنَ الحَفْيَاءِ، وَكَانَ أَمَدُهَا نَيْبَةُ الوَدَاعِ، وَسَابَقَ بَيْنَ الخَيْلِ النِّبي لَمْ تُضَمَّرْ، مِنَ النَّبِي لَمْ تُضَمَّرْ، مِنَ النَّبِيَّةِ إِلَى مَسْجِد بَنِي زُرْيُقِر، وَكَانَ ابْنُ عُمْرَة فِيمَنْ سَابَقَ مُشَعِدٍ بَنِي زُرْيُقِر، وَكَانَ ابْنُ عُمْرَة فِيمَنْ سَابَقَ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

زَادَ البُخَارِيُّ اقَالَ سُفْيَانُ: مِنَ الحَفْيَاءِ إِلَىٰ ثَيْيَةِ الوَدَاعِ خَمْسَةُ أَمْيَال_{َم}، أَوْ سِئَّةٌ، وَمِنَ الثَّيْيَّةِ إِلَىٰ مَسْجِدِ بَنِي زُرِيْقِر مِيلٌ».

(١١٣١) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ سَابَقَ بَيْنَ الخَيْلِ، وَفَضَّلَ الفُرَّحَ فِي الغَايَةِ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ.

(۱۱۳۲) وَعَنْ أَيِي هُرَيَرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا سَبَقَ إِلَّا فِي خُفٌ، أَوْ نَصْل_ى، أَوْ خَافِرٍ". رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ. وَالثَّلَاثَةُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ الْبُنْ جَبَّانَ.

(١١٣٣) وَعَنْهُ عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: "مَنْ أَذْخَلَ فَرَساً بَيْنَ فَرَسَيْنِ، وَهُوَ لَا يَأْمَنُ إَنْ

^[1] This *Hadith* states that the horse racing is permissible. However, the strength and the age of a horse also must be taken into consideration. An ordinary horse may be made to run a mile without any scruple, whereas a five mile run will cause no strain on a trained horse.

^[2] A mountain pass near Al-Madinah on the way to Al-'Aqabah.

^[3] This implies that racing and prize-giving or taking is permissible on camels and horses provided that the pre-determined prize for such a race is only from one of the contestants, according to the Majority of Scholars. If the prize is from a third party, there is no difference about its permissibility.

^[4] The original purpose of horse racing is to test the strength of a horse in terms of running, and the prize giving is secondary. If the predetermined condition is stipulated by the

when he is not certain that it cannot be beaten, there is no harm in it. However, if he is certain (it cannot be beaten), it is then gambling." [Reported by Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud, and its chain of narrators is Da'if (weak)].

1134. Narrated 'Uqba bin 'Aamir : I heard Allāh's Messenger : saying, while he was on the *Minbar*: "And make ready against them all you can of power, including steeds of war (tank, planes, etc.)^[2] – Surely strength is in shooting; surely strength is in shooting." [8] [Reported by Muslim].

يُسْبَقَ فَلَا بَأْسَ بِهِ، فَإِنْ أَمِنَ فَهُوَ قِمَارٌ» رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَإِشْنَادُهُ ضَعِيفٌ.

(1178) وَعَنْ عُفْبَةً بْنِ عَامِرٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ، وَهُوَ عَلَى الطِنْبِرِ، يَقُولُ: ﴿ وَأَصِدُّوا لَهُم مَّا اَسْتَقَلَمْتُم مِن قُوُّةٍ وَمِن زِبَاطٍ الْفَيْلِ﴾ آلآية، ألا إِنَّ القُوَّةَ الرَّمْيُ، أَلا إِنَّ الفُوَّةَ الرَّمْمُ، أَلَا إِنَّ الفُوَّةَ الرَّمْيُ، رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

competing parties in such a way that: "If your horse excels, I will pay you twenty Riyals or my horse shall be yours otherwise, you pay me twenty Riyals or your horse shall be mine," then such a practice is forbidden by a common consensus. In case the horse racing is based on a one-sided commitment only by one party stating: "I will pay you twenty Riyals, if your horse excels", such a thing is permissible (according to the majority opinion). Another permissible situation is an announcement by a third party stating: "I shall pay the winning party such and such amount."

^[1] If it is known that such and such horse is definitely going to win, it is not permissible to make it run solely for the purpose of prize-winning.

^[2] Sūrat Al-Anfāl, 8:60.

^[3] Archery was the pinnacle of warfare in those days. In modern times, the learning of new armaments and war techniques shall be considered as power and strength.

12. THE BOOK OF FOODS

1135. Narrated Abū Huraira 🐞: The Prophet 鑑 said, "Every beast of prey with canine teeth is forbidden to eat."[1] [Reported by Muslim].

Muslim reported the aforesaid Hadīth from the narration of Ibn 'Abbas. with this wording: "He prohibited." And he added: "And every bird with claws."

1136. Narrated Jābir 🐟: On the Day of Khaibar, Allāh's Messenger # forbade the flesh of domestic donkeys, [2] but permitted horse flesh. [Agreed upon]. A wording of Al-Bukhāri has: "He gave permission."

1137. Narrated Ibn Abū Aufā &: We went on seven military expeditions with Allāh's Messenger # and we ate locusts. [Agreed upon].

1138. Narrated Anas & regarding the story of the rabbit: He (Abū Talha) slaughtered it and sent its thigh to Allāh's Messenger #, and he accepted it.[3] [Agreed upon].

1139. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās 📥: "Allāh's Messenger ## prohibited the killing of four creatures: ants, bees, hoopoes and shrikes (a small bird which eats insects)." [Reported by Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud. Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)1.

(١١٤٠) وَعَنِ ابْنِ أَبِي عَمَّارِ قَالَ: قُلْتُ 1 : [4] 140. Narrated Ibn Abū 'Ammār asked lābir (&), "Is hyena a game

١٢ - كتَاتُ الأَطْعِمَةِ

(١١٣٥) عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «كُلُّ ذِي نَابِ مِنَ السِّبَاعِ فَأَكْلُهُ حَرَامٌ". رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

وَأَخْرَجَهُ مِنْ حَدِيثِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسٍ، بِلَفْظِ: «نَهَى». وَزَادَ: «وَكُلُّ ذِي مِخْلَبٍ مِّنَ الطَّيْر».

(١١٣٦) وَعَنْ جَابِر رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَوْمَ خَيْبَرَ عَنْ لُحُوم الحُمُر الأَهْلِيَّةِ، وَأَذِنَ فِي لُحُومِ الخَيْلِ. مُتَّفَقُ عَلَيْهِ، وَفِي لَفْظِ لِلْبُخَارِيِّ: "وَرَخُصَ".

(١١٣٧) وَعَن ِ ابْنِ أَبِي أَوْفَىٰ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: غَزَوْنَا مَعَ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ سَبْعَ غَزَوَاتِ، نَأْكُلُ الجَرَادَ. مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(١١٣٨) وَعَنْ أَنَس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ – فِي قِصَّةِ الأَرْنَبِ - قَالَ: فَذَبَحَهَا فَبَعَثَ بِوَرِكِهَا إِلَىٰ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ، فَقَبِلُهُ. مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(١١٣٩) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ الله ﷺ عَن قَتْل أَرْبَعِ مِنَ الدَّوَآبُ: النَّمْلَةِ، وَالْنَحْلَةِ، وَالْهُدْهُدِ، وَالصُّرَدِ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَنُو دَاوُدَ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حِتَّانَ.

^[1] This Hadīth mentions a clear-cut and exhaustive indication of a standard stating that any flesh-eating beast of prey with canine teeth is forbidden to be eaten. Similarly, any of the birds nibbling at its waste with the grip of its talons is forbidden.

^[2] A wild donkey (zebra) is not forbidden.

^[3] Rabbit is permissible according to the majority of the scholars.

^[4] He is 'Abdur-Rahmān bin 'Abdullāh bin Abū 'Ammār Al-Qurashi Al-Makki. He was a devoted worshipper and An-Nasāi verified him as reliable.

(animal)?" He replied, "Yes."^[1] I asked, "Did Allāh's Messenger 鑑 say that?" He replied, "Yes." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a. Al-Bukhāri and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sahib (authentic)].

1141. Narrated Ibn 'Umar 拳: He was asked about the hedgehog and he recited "Say (O Muhammad 婆): I find not in that which has been inspired to me anything forbidden..."^[2] An old man who was present said: I heard Abū Huraira 拳 say, 'It was mentioned in the presence of the Prophet 繼 and he said, "It is an abomination from those things which are abominable." '[Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud reported it, and its chain of narrators is Da'tf (weak)].

1142. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . Allāh's Messenger prohibited eating of the animal which feeds on filth, and (he prohibited) it's milk. [3] [Al-Arba'a except An-Nasā'i reported it. At-Tirmidhi graded it Hasan (good)].

1143. Narrated Abū Qatāda ఉ regarding story of the wild donkey: The Prophet 繼 ate from it. [Agreed upon].

1144. Narrated Asmā' bint Abū Bakr \$\instrumenthal{s}\$. In the time of Allāh's Messenger \$\mathbb{\mathbb{g}}\$, we sacrificed a horse and ate it. [4] [Agreed upon].

لِجَايِرٍ: الضَّبُعُ صَيْلًا هِيَ؟ قَالَ: نَعَمْ، قُلْتُ: قَالُهُ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ؟! قَالَ: نَعَمْ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالْأَرْبَقَةُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ البُخَارِيُّ وَابْنُ حِبَّانَ.

(1111) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا أَنَّهُ شَيْلً عَنِ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا أَنَّهُ شَيْلً عَنْهِ اللَّهَ يَقَالَ: ﴿ وَلَى لَآ اللَّهُ فَالَ شَيْخُ عِنْهُ اللَّهِ فَقَالَ شَيْخُ عِنْهُ اللَّهِ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ يَقُولُ: ذُكِرَ عِنْهَ اللَّبِيِّ ﷺ فَقَالَ: ﴿ إِنَّهَا حَبِينَةٌ مِنْ الخَبَائِثِ عِنْهُ اللَّبِيِّ ﷺ فَقَالَ: ﴿ إِنَّهَا حَبِينَةٌ مِنْ الخَبَائِثِ فَقَالَ ابْنُ عُمْرَ: إِنْ كَانَ رَسُولُ مِنْ الخَبَائِثُ مُنْ عَلَمُ اللَّهِ عَلَمُ اللَّهِ عَلَمُ اللَّهِ عَلَمُ اللَّهِ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَمَ اللَّهُ عَلَمَ اللَّهُ عَلَمَ اللَّهُ عَلَمَ اللَّهُ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَى اللَّهُ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَمُ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْمِلُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْمِلُولُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْمِلُولُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْمِلُولُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْمِلُولُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْمِلُولُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْمِلُولُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ الْمُؤْمِلُولُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ

(۱۱٤٢) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَمْدَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ عَنْ الجَلَّالَةِ وَأَلْبَانِهَا. أَخْرَجَهُ الأَرْبَعَةُ إِلَّا النَّسَاتِيَّ، وَحَسَّنَهُ التَّمِيدُيُ.

(١١٤٣) وَعَنْ أَبِي قَنَادَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ - فِي قِصَّةِ الحِمَارِ الوَحْشِيِّ -: فَأَكَلَ مِنْهُ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ. مُثَمَّنُ عَلَيْهِ.

(١١٤٤) وَعَنْ أَسْمَآءَ بِنْتِ أَبِي بَكْرٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهِما قَالَتْ: نَعَوْنَا عَلَىٰ عَهْدِ رَسُولِ اللهِ فَرَساً فَأَكْلَنَاهُ. مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

^[1] This *Hadītb* indicates that the eating of a hyena is permissible. According to some *Imāms*, (i.e. Ash-Shafi'i) it is permissible, whereas according to some others (Al-Hanafiya), it is forbidden. One of the reasons it is said to be forbidden is that it likes to feed on the human flesh and therefore digs into the graves.

^[2] Sūrat Al-An'ām, 6:145.

^[3] In Arabic, *Jallala* is a term used for the animals that feed on waste and filth, whether it is a she-camel, a cow, or a goat and similarly whether a male or a female. Whether or not it is permissible to use the flesh and milk of such an animal, is a matter of difference among the scholars from the very beginning. Some regard it as permissible whereas the others consider it forbidden. An animal shall be considered a *Jallala* if the major part of its feed consists of the human waste and refuse. If the greater part of what it consumes comprises the things that are permissible, the animal shall not fall under this category.

^[4] A Hadīth has been mentioned prior to this one regarding the permissibility of horse meat.

1145. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās . The *Dabb* (sand lizard) was eaten on the dinning sheet of Allāh's Messenger^[1] . [Agreed upon].

(١١٤٥) وَعَن ِ ابْن ِ عَبَّاس ِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما قَالَ: أَكِلَ الضَّبُّ عَلَىٰ مَآتِدَةِ رَسُولِ اللهِ عَنْهُما قَالَ: أَكِلَ الضَّبُّ عَلَىٰ مَآتِدَةِ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ مُثَفِّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

1146. Narrated 'Abdur-Rahmān bin 'Uthmān Al-Qurashi &: A physician consulted Allāh's Messenger & about extracting medicine from frogs and he prohibited killing them. [2] [Ahmad reported it, and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic].

(1181) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ الرَّحْمُنِ بْنِ عُثْمَانَ القُرْشِيِّ عَنْ اللَّوْشِيِّ عَنِ الطَّفْدُعِ يَجْعَلُهَا فِي دَوَآءٍ، فَنَهَى عَنْ قَتْلِهَا. الضَّفْدُعِ يَجْعَلُهَا فِي دَوَآءٍ، فَنَهَى عَنْ قَتْلِهَا. أَخْرَجُهُ أَخْمَلُهُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ.

Chapter 1 GAME AND ANIMALS WHICH MAY BE SLAUGHTERED

١ - بَابُ الصَّيْدِ وَالذَّبَآئِعِ ِ

1147. Narrated Abū Huraira 🌼: Allāh's Messenger 🎉 said, "Whoever keeps a dog except a sheepdog or a hunting dog or a farm dog, [3] a *Qirāt* of his reward will be deducted daily." [Agreed upon].

1148. Narrated 'Adi bin Hātim^[4] &:
Allāh's Messenger & said to me, "When
you send off your dog, mention Allāh's
Name over it.^[5] If it catches anything
for you and you reach it while it is still

(١١٤٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرِيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «مَنِ اتَّخَذَ كُلْبًا إِلَّا كُلْبِ مَاشِيَةٍ، أَوْ صَيْبٍ، أَوْ زَرْعٍ، انْتُقِصَ مِنْ أَجْرِهِ كُلَّ يَوْمٍ قِيرَاطٌ». مُتَّقَقْ عَلَيْهِ.

(۱۱٤۸) وَعَنْ عَدِيِّ بْنِر حَاتِيمٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قَالَ لِي رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: اإِذَا أَرْسَلْتَ كَلَبْكَ فَاذْكُرِ اسْمَ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ، فَإِنْ أَمْسَكَ

All these Abādith state that the eating of its meat is permissible.

^[1] It is deduced from certain Abāditb that Dabb (a kind of sand lizard) should not be eaten. The Prophet ## never ate it himself, but his Companions did eat the same in his presence while eating off his dining sheet. He was invited to eat it, but refused to partake of it. However, he did not forbid the people around him from eating it. The scholars, in their writings have mentioned it as Makrūb Tanzibi (things or actions rated as a lesser degree of the undesirables).

^[2] We learn through this *Hadīth* that it is forbidden to kill the frog, and therefore eating its meat is also forbidden.

^[3] For the reasons other than hunting or safeguarding a property, it is prohibited to raise a dog as a pet. A *Qirāt* indicates a very large amount of something.

^{[4] &#}x27;Adi bin Hātim At-Tā'i and his father were famous for their generosity. He visited the Prophet 變 in the year 7 H. and both him and his people held firm to Islam during the Ridda period. The first Zakāt to reach Abū Bakr was that of 'Adi and his people. He witnessed the conquest of Madā'in and was with 'Ali during his campaigns loosing an eye in the battle of Al-Jamal, and died in 120 H. at the age of 68 years.

^[5] Hunting for the purpose of earning a livelihood or eating is allowed. But the same is undesirable if done merely as a recreation or pastime. It is permissible to use either a dog or

alive, slaughter it. Likewise, if you reach it when the dog has killed it but not eaten any of it, eat it. However, if you find another dog with yours and the game has been killed, do not eat, for you do not know which of them killed the animal. When you shoot your arrow, mention Allāh's Name. If the game goes out of your sight for a day and you only find in it the mark of your arrow, eat if you wish, but if you find it drowned in water, do not eat." [Agreed upon, and the wording is Muslim's].

1149. Narrated 'Adi &: I asked Allāh's Messenger & about hunting with featherless arrows (Mi'rād) and he replied, "If the game is killed with its sharp edge, [1] eat it; but if it strikes with the middle part and the kill is beaten to death, it is considered a Mauqūdba, [2] so do not eat it." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

1150. Narrated Abū Thaʻlaba .: The Prophet se said, "When you shoot your arrow and the animal goes out of your sight, [3] eat it when you come upon it, provided it has not become rotten." [Muslim reported it].

1151. Narrated 'Aisha . Some people said to the Prophet ., "There are people who bring us meat and we do

عَلَيْكَ فَأَدْرَكُمُهُ حَبُّا فَاذْبَحْهُ، وَإِنْ أَدْرَكُمُهُ فَذَ فَيْلَ، وَلِنْ وَجَدْتَ مَعَ فَيْلِكَ كَلِمْ وَلَمْ يَأْكُلْ مِنْهُ فَكُلْهُ، وَإِنْ وَجَدْتَ مَعَ كَلْمِكَ كَلَبْ كَلْمَ كَلْمَ تَأْكُلُ. فَإِنَّكَ لَا تَذْدِي أَيُّهُمَا فَنَكُهُ، وَإِنْ رَمَيْتَ مِسَهُمِكَ فَادْكُو السَمَ اللهِ تَعَالَىٰ، فَإِنْ غَابَ عَنْكَ يَوْماً فَلَمْ تَجِدْ لِيهِ إِلَّا أَنْرَ سَهْمِكَ فَكُلْ إِنْ شِنْتَ، وَإِنْ وَجَدْتَهُ غَرِيقاً فِي المَاءِ فَلَا تَأْكُلْ، مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَلَمْلَا لَنَظْ مُسْلِمٍ.

(1114) وَعَنْ عَدِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، تَ قَالَ: سَأَلْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ عَنْ صَيْدِ المِعْرَاضِ فَقَالَ: ﴿إِذَا أَصَبْتَ بِحَدَّهِ فَكُلْ، وَإِذَا أَصَبْتَ بِمَرْضِهِ فَقْتِلَ فَإِنَّهُ وَقِيدٌ، فَلَا تَأْكُلُ». رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(١١٥٠) وَعَنْ أَبِي ثَغْلَبَةً، رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنِ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَبْلُ النَّبِيِّ اللَّهِ قَالَ: ﴿إِذَا رَمَنِكَ سِمَهْمِكَ، فَغَابَ عَلْكُ، مَا لَمْ يُنْتِنْ اللَّهِ مُنْلِلًا .
أَخْرَجُهُ مُسْلِمٌ .

(١١٥١) وَعَنْ عَآئِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ قَوْماً قَالُوا لِلنَّبِى ﷺ: إِنَّ قَوْماً يَأْتُونَنَا

other animals of prey in hunting. However, there are two conditions governing it. First of all, the dog must be unleashed by reciting Bismillāb and secondly, the dog thus released should be a one trained for the purpose of hunting. If the dog eats of the hunted animal, it becomes unlawful for human consumption. Otherwise, the same is lawful.

⁽¹⁾ One of the rulings governing hunting is that if the animal thus preyed upon dies out of bleeding by being wounded through a razor-sharp object, it is permissible to be eaten. However, if the same dies out of being hit by an object and sustaining some bruises or wounds, the consumption of the same becomes unlawful.

^[2] i.e., an animal beaten to death with a stick, a stone and the like without proper slaughtering.

^[3] If an animal, struck by an arrow, runs out of sight and is later found dead lying in water, it is forbidden to be eaten. However, if the same is found alive, it must be slaughtered. If the same is found to be dead lying on the ground visibly sustaining no injury other than the one inflicted by an arrow, it is lawful to be eaten. But if the same is found to be sustaining a wound other than that of an arrow, it becomes forbidden for human consumption.

not know whether or not they have mentioned Allāh's Name over it." He replied, "Mention Allāh's Name yourselves and eat it." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

1152. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Mughaffal : Allāh's Messenger forbade throwing pebbles forbade throwing pebbles for and said, "A game (animal) is not caught by such means, neither is an enemy injured, but you may sometimes break a tooth or put out an eye (of someone accidentally)." [Agreed upon, and the wording is Muslim's].

1153. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās \$: The Prophet \$\mathbb{m}\$ said, "Do not take any living creature as a target." [Reported by Muslim].

1154. Narrated Ka'b bin Mālik 泰: A woman slaughtered a sheep with a (sharp-edged) stone, so the Prophet 戀 was asked about that and he ordered it to be eaten. [3] [Reported by Muslim].

1155. Narrated Rāfi' bin Khadij .: The Prophet said, "Whatever causes the blood to gush out, and Allāh's Name is mentioned over it, then eat (from the animal slaughtered in such a way). But, do not slaughter with a tooth or a nail (claw). [4] This is because the tooth is a bone and the nail (claw) is the knife of the Abyssinians (Ethiopians)." [Agreed upon].

بِاللَّحْمْ, لَا نَدْرِي أَذَكُرُوا اسْمَ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ، أَمْ لَا؟ فَقَالَ: "سَمُّوا اللَّهَ عَلَيْهِ أَنْتُمْ، وكُلُوهُ». رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(١١٥٣) وَعَنْ عَبْدِاهُو بْنِ مُغَفَّلِ المُزَنِيُّ وَضِي اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ نَهَى عَنْ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ نَهَى عَنِ الخَذْفِ ، وَقَالَ: ﴿إِنَّهَا لاَ تَصِيدُ صَيْداً، وَلَكِنَّهَا تَكْدِرُ اللَّمَنَّ، وَتَفْقاً الْمُثَنِّهِ، وَتَفْقاً المَثْنَّ، وَتَفْقاً المُثَنِّةِ، وَلَقْفاً لِمُسْلِمٍ.

(١١٥٣) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهما، أَنَّ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿لَا تَتَّخِذُوا شَبْناً فِيهِ الرُّوحُ عَرَضاً». رَوَاهُ مُشلِمٌ.

(١١٥٤) وَعَنْ كَمْبِ بْنِرِ مَالِكِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ امْرَأَةً ذَبَحَتْ شَاةً بِحَجْرٍ، فَمُثْلِلَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ عَنْ ذَٰلِكَ، فَأَمْرَ بِأَكْلِهَا. رَوَاهُ مُشْلِمٌ.

(١٩٥٥) وَعَنْ رَافِعِ بْنُرْ خَدِيجٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: "مَا أَنْهَرَ اللَّمَ وَذُكِرَ اسْمُ اللهِ عَلَيْهِ، فَكُلْ، لَيْسَ اللَّشَّ وَالظَّفُرَ، أَمَّا اللَّمِنُ فَعَظَمٌ، وَأَمَّا الظَّفُرُ فَمُدَى الخَيْشَةِ». مُقَفَّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

^[1] This *Haditb* establishes the principle that as long as one is not absolutely sure that a certain meat is unlawful, he may not declare it to be as such merely on the basis of doubt, particularly when it is being offered by a Muslim.

^[2] The pebbles here allude to small pebbles that are harmful and at the same time offer no benefit.

^[3] This *Hadīth* informs us that an animal slaughtered by a woman is lawful on the condition that: a) she is a Muslim and, b) she recites the standard formula of pronouncing *Bismillāh*, *Allāhu Akbar* while slaughtering an animal.

^[4] Any sharp object (other than a tooth, a nail, or a bone) which makes the blood flow out of an animal's body, is permissible to be used for the purpose of slaughtering an animal.

1156..Narrated Jābir bin 'Abdullāh &: Allāh's Messenger prohibited that an animal be tied up and then killed (by beating or shooting). [Reported by Muslim].

1157. Narrated Shaddād bin Aus 本: Allāh's Messenger 撰 said, "Verily. Allāh has prescribed proficiency in all things. Thus, if you kill, kill well; and when you slaughter an animal, do it in a good way. Everyone of you should sharpen his blade so that the animal may be spared from the suffering of the slaughtering." [Reported by Muslim].

1158. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "The slaughter of the *Janin* (fetus) is included when its mother is slaughtered." [Ahmad reported it, and Ibn Hibbān graded it *Sahih* (authentic)].

1159. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The Prophet ﷺ said, "A Muslim's name is sufficient for him. So, if he forgets to mention Allāh's Name when he slaughters (an animal), he should mention Allāh's Name [before eating], and then eat it.''^[4] [Ad-Dāraqutni reported it. There is a transmitter in its chain of narrators who had weakness in memory, i.e. in its chain is Muhammad

(١١٥٦) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ بْنِرَ عَبْدِاللهِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: نَهَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ أَنْ يُقْتَلَ شَيْءٌ مِنَ الدَّرَآبٌ صَبْراً. رَزَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(١١٥٨) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْدِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «ذَكَاةُ الجَنِينِ ذَكَاةُ أُمِّهِ». رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حِئَانَ.

(١١٥٩) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَبُّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «المُسْلِمُ يَكْفِيهِ اسْمُهُ، فَإِنْ نَسِيَ أَنْ يُسَمِّيَ حِينَ يَذْبَحُ فَلْيُسَمُّ ثُمَّ لِيَّأَكُلُّ، أَخْرَجُهُ الدَّارَقُطْئِيْ، وَفِيهِ رَاوٍ فِي حِفْظِهِ صَعْفَ، وَفِيهِ رَاوٍ فِي حِفْظِهِ صَعْفَ، وَفِيهِ رَاوٍ فِي حِفْظِهِ صَعْفَ، وَفِي إِسْنَادِهِ مُحَمَّدُ بَنُ يَزِيدَ بَنِ سِنَانِ، وَمُحَمَّدُ بَنُ يَزِيدَ بَنِ سِنَانِ، وَهُو صَدُوقٌ صَعِيفُ الحِفْظِ، وَأَخْرَجَهُ عَبْدُالرَّزَاقِ إِسْنَادِ صَحِيحٍ إِلَى ابْنِ عَبَّاسٍ، مَوْفُوفًا عَلَيْهِ.

^[1] In Arabic, the word Sabr has two meanings: a) To kill an animal by subjecting him to extreme hunger and thirst (i.e. starving it to death). b) Using an animal as a target and killing it by throwing darts at it as if practicing a sport and thus piercing the animal to death in the process. Both of these acts are forbidden.

^[2] Even if someone has to be executed, he should be killed in such a manner that he faces the least amount of agony and that his soul passes away quickly. This *Hadīth* implies exactly the same point.

^[3] This *Hadītb* implies that if a dead fetus emerges out of a slaughtered animal (a female one), the flesh of that fetus is lawful too. In case it emerges alive, it will then be slaughtered by a common consensus of all the scholars.

^[4] If a Muslim does not pronounce a *Takbīr* (saying *Allābu Akbar*) deliberately while slaughtering an animal, it becomes unlawful. However, if he omits pronouncing it due to forgetfulness, the same is permissible. This is the strongest opinion of the scholars.

bin Yazid bin Sinān, [1] who is truthful but weak in memory. 'Abdur-Razzāq reported the aforesaid Hadītb with an authentic chain of narrators stopping at Bin 'Abbās (*) Mauquf (saying of a Companion). It has a Sbābid (supporting narration) reported by Abū Dā'ud in his Marāsil (missing links after the Tābī'i) with the wording: "The slaughtered animal of any Muslim is lawful, whether he mentions Allāh's Name over it or not." Its narrators are reliable (tbiqab)].

وَلَهُ شَاهِدٌ عِنْدَ أَبِي دَاوُدَ، فِي مَرَاسِيلِهِ: بِلَفْظِ: «فَهِيحَةُ المُسْلِمِ حَلَالٌ، ذَكَرَ اسْمَ اللهِ عَلَيْهَا أَمْ لَمْ يَذْكُرُنُ. وَرِجَالُهُ مُوَثَّقُونَ.

Chapter 2 THE SACRIFICES^[2]

٢ - بَابُ الأَضَاحِي

1160. Narrated Anas bin Mālik **: "The Prophet ** used to sacrifice two black and white two-horned rams, mention Allāh's Name and say Allāh is the Greatest, and place his foot on their sides." Another wording has: 'He slaughtered them with his own hands.' [Agreed upon]. Another wording has: 'Saminain' (two fat rams). Abū 'Awāna has in his Sahib: 'Thaminain' — with 'Tb' instead of 'S' — (meaning two precious rams). A wording of Muslim has: 'And he said, "In the Name of Allāh' and "Allāh is the Greatest."

Muslim has reported from the *Hadīth* of 'Aisha 卷: 'He (藥) ordered a horned ram with black legs, black belly and black around the eyes, and it was brought for

(١١٦٠) عَنْ أَنَسِ بْنِرَ مَالِكِ، رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ النَّبِيُّ عَلَيْهُ كَانَ يُضَحِّي بِكَيْشَيْنِ أَقْلَاكَمِيْنِ أَقْوَنَيْنِ، وَيُسَمِّي، وَيُكَبِّرُ، وَيَصَعُ لَلْغَلَمْ عَلَىٰ صِفَاحِهِمَا. وَفِي لَفْظِ: «تَمَيِيْنِنِ». ولأبي يبدوه مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ. وَفِي لَفْظِ: «سَمِيتِينِ». ولأبي عَوَانَةً فِي صَحِيجِو: "تَعِينَيْنِ" بِالمُثَلَّمَةِ بَدَلَ السِينِ. ويُقُولُ بِسْمِ اللهِ السِّينِ. ويَقُولُ بِسْمِ اللهِ وَاللهُ أَكْبُرُهُ.

وَلُهُ مِنْ حَدِيثِ عَلَيْثَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَمَرَ بِكَبْشِرِ أَقْرَنَ، يَطَأً فِي سَوادٍ، وَيَبْرُكُ فِي سَوَادٍ، وَيَنْظُرُ فِي سَوَادٍ، لِيُضَحِّي بِهِ، فَقَالَ:

^[1] He was nicknamed Abū 'Abdul. 1 and was from At-Tamimi tribe. Abū Hātim said, 'He was not a strong *Hadātb* authority. For was however, a pious man.' Abū Dā'ud said, 'He is nothing', and An-Nasā'i said, 'he was not strong.' Ibn Hibbān mentioned in *Ath-Thiqāt* that he died in 220 H.

^[2] Sacrificing is of two kinds. The first one is known as *Hady* and the other one as *Udbtya*. *Hady* is the one offered by the pilgrims as one of the *Hatji* rituals in Mina, and *Udbtya* is the one offered by the Muslims worldwide either on the day of *'Eidul-Adba* or during the days of *Tasbriq*. According to the majority of the scholars, offering *Udbtya* sacrifices is a *Sunnab* (a supercrogatory act); whereas according to some of them, the same is compulsory. This sacrifice is called *Udbtya* because it is offered at *Duba* (the forenoon time).

him to sacrifice and he said to 'Aisha (集), "'Aisha, get the knife." Then he said, "Sharpen it with a stone." When she had done so he took it (the knife), then took it (the ram) and placed it on the ground and (began to) slaughter it, saying: "In the Name of Allāh, O Allāh, accept it from Muhammad, Muhammad's family and from Muhammad's family and from Muhammad's Ummah (followers)," offering it as a sacrifice."

1161. Narrated Abū Huraira **\$:** Allāh's Messenger **\$\mathstreeta\$** said, "He who has the means and did not sacrifice must not come near our place of prayer." [1] [Reported by Ahmad and Ibn Mājah. Al-Hākim graded it *Sahih* (authentic). The other *Imāms* held that the stronger view is that it is *Mauqūf* (saying of a Companion)].

1162. Narrated Jundub bin Sufyān^[2] E: I witnessed 'Eidul-Adba' with Allāh's Messenger 慈 When he finished his prayer with the people, he looked at a sheep which had been sacrificed, and said, "Anyone who has sacrificed before prayer must sacrifice a sheep in its place.^[3] And if anyone has not sacrificed he must do so in Allāh's Name." [Agreed upon]. أَشْخَذِي المُدْيَّةَ، ثُمَّ أَخَذَهَا فَأَضْجَعَهُ، ثُمَّ ذَبَحَهُ، وَقَالَ: بِسْمِ اللهِ، اللَّهُمَّ تَقَبَّلْ مِنْ مُحَمَّدٍ، وَآلِ مُحَمَّدٍ، وَمِنْ أُمَّةٍ مُحَمَّدٍ ثُمَّ صَحَّى به ﷺ.

(١١٦١) وَعَنْ أَيِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَنْ كَانَ لَهُ سَمَةٌ وَلَمْ يُضَحِّ فَلَا يَقْرَبَنَّ مُصَلَّدَاً». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ٱلْحَاكِمُ ورَجَّعَ الأَيْمَةُ غَيْرُهُ وَقَفَهُ.

(١١٦٧) وَعَنْ لَجَنْدُبِ بْنِ سُفْيَانَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: شَهِدْتُ الأَصْحَى مَعَ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ، فَلَمَّا فَضَى صَلَاتَهُ بِالنَّاسِ نَظْرَ إِلَىٰ عَنْمٍ قَدْ ذُبِحَتْ، فَقَالَ: "مَنْ ذَبَحَ قَبْلَ الصَّلَاةِ فَلَيْدُبُخْ شَاةً مَكَانَهَا، وَمَنْ لَمْ يَكُنْ ذَبَحَ فَلْيَذُبُخْ عَلَيْدُبُخْ عَلَى الشّهِ اللهِ "، مُثَنَّقٌ عَلَيْد.

^[1] Some scholars conclude from this *Hadīth* that the act of offering sacrifice is *Wājth* (compulsory). However, the majority of scholars hold that it is *Sunnat Mu'akkada* (a supererogatory act which was practiced and stressed upon by the Prophet & During modern times, there are some derelict and delinquent people who reject the concept of offering sacrifice itself. Still, no one among the adherents of Islam till recent times was bold or ignorant enough to reject it in an outright manner. *Abādīth* are replete with the statements that encourage and inform the people about its significance and importance.

^[2] Jundub bin 'Abdullāh bin Sufyān Al-Bajali Al-Alaqi was a *Sabābi*. He died in the year 60 H.
[3] This *Hadātib* states that in case a sacrificial animal is slaughtered before performing the 'Eid prayer, this slaughtering shall not earn the reward of a proper sacrifice. Instead, it will amount to a general act of charity in terms of reward and virtue thus earned. This matter relates to the beginning of the prescribed time concerning the offering of the sacrifices. As to the end of such a prescribed duration, there is a difference of opinions among the scholars about it. Hāfiz Ibn Kathīr has discussed about it at length and has accorded preference to the ruling that the sacrifice period spans four days, the day of 'Eid as well as three days of Tasbrīq in full. However, one must slaughter his sacrificial animal on the fourth day before 'Asr without fail.

1163. Narrated Al-Barā bin 'Azib &: Allāh's Messenger ## stood up among us and said, "There are four types^[1] of sacrificial animals which are not permitted: A one-eyed animal whose loss of sight is obvious, a sick animal whose sickness is obvious, a lame animal whose limp is obvious, and an old (emaciated) animal which has no (bone) marrow." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a: At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

1164. Narrated Jābir &: Allāh's Messenger said, "Sacrifice only a Mustima (full-grown animal)^[2] unless it is difficult for you, in which case you should sacrifice a Jadha'a (six to ten months old) sheep." [Reported by Muslim].

1165. Narrated 'Ali &: Allāh's Messenger ## enjoined us to pay great attention to the eye and the ear, and not sacrifice a one-eyed animal, or an animal with a slit which leaves something hanging at the front or back of the ear, or with a hold pierced in the ears, or an animal with broken (or fallen out) front teeth. [3] [Ahmad and Al-Arba'a reported it. At-Tirmidhi, Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

(١١٦٣) وَعَنِ البَرَآءِ بْمَنِ عَادِبٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُما، قَالَ: قَامَ فِينَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ فَقَالَ: «أَرْبَعُ لا تَجُوزُ فِي الضَّحَايًا: العَوْرَاءُ البَّيِّنُ عَوَرُهَا، وَالمَرِيضَةُ البَيِّنُ مَرْضُهَا، والمَرْجَاءُ البَيِّنُ صَرَضُهَا، وَالمَرْجَاءُ البَيِّنُ صَلَمُهَا، وَالكَبِيرَةُ الَّتِي لاَ تَتُنِيدٍ لَا المَرْبَعُةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ التَّوْمِذِيقُ وَالْمُرْبَعُةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ التَّوْمِذِيقُ وَالْمُرْبَعَةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ التَّوْمِذِيقُ وَالْمُرْبَعْةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ التَّوْمِذِيقُ

(١١٦٤) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنُهُ، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا تَلْبَحُوا إِلَّا مُسِنَّةً، إِلَّا أَنْ تَعْسُرَ عَلَيْكُمْ، فَتَلْبَحُوا جَذَعَةً مِنَ الضَّاْنِ». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(١١٦٥) وَعَنْ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: أَمْرَنَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ أَنْ نَسْتَشْرِفَ المَيْنَ وَالأَذُنَ، وَلَا نُصَّحِّي بِعَوْرَآء، وَلَا مُقَابَلَةٍ، وَلَا مُدَابَرَةٍ، وَلَا شَرْفَآء». أَخْرَجَهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ وَالْبُنُ حِبَّانَ وَالْحَاكِمُ.

^[1] The sick, lame, one-eyed and weak-structured animals are not permitted to be slaughtered in the sacrifice. The scholars observe that a similar ruling applies to animals suffering from other bodily defects. In case an animal suffers from an imperfection of a far greater order than the ones mentioned above, the permissibility of slaughtering such an animal as a ritual sacrifice is totally ruled out. An animal that may be categorized as such is a completely blind animal or the one that is totally deprived of one of its legs.

^[2] In Arabic, Mustinna is an animal whose milk-teeth have fallen down and thus replaced by the regular teeth. Different species have different age groups for the emergence of the regular teeth. When the goat, sheep and ram are one year old and enter the second year of their age, they become Mustinna. Cows and buffaloes gain this status while entering the third year of their age. A camel usually becomes Mustinna after having entered the sixth year of its age.

^[3] An animal whose ear is either cut or lacerated, or the one having a broken horn, is not permitted to be slaughtered as a sacrifice. The factual ruling covering an ear and a horn is, that if more than half of these bodily organs are cut off or lacerated, such animals are not to be sacrificed, but in case more than half of the said bodily organs are in a good shape, such

1166. Narrated 'Ali bin Abū Tālib 💩: Allāh's Messenger appointed me to be in charge of his sacrificial animals, and commanded me to distribute the whole of their meat, hides, and saddle clothes to the poor, [1] and not to give the butcher anything out of them. [Agreed upon].

1167. Narrated Jābir bin 'Abdullāh 🞄: In the year of Al-Hudaibiya, we sacrificed along with Allāh's Messenger #: a camel on behalf of seven (people), and a cow on behalf of seven. [2] [Reported by Muslim].

(١١٦٦) وَعَنْ عَلِيٌّ بْنِ أَبِي طَالِبِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَمِ عَنْهُ قَالَ: أَمَرَنِي رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ أَنْ أَقُومَ عَلَىٰ يُدْنِهِ، وَأَنْ أَقْسِمَ لُحُومَهَا وَجُلُودَهَا وَجِلَالَهَا عَلَى المَسَاكِين، وَلَا أُعْطِيَ فِي حزَارَتهَا شَنْئًا مِنْهَا. مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَنه.

(١١٦٧) وَعَنْ جَابِر بْنِ عَبْدِاللهِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما قَالَ: نَحَرْنَا مَعَ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ عَامَ الحُدَيْبِيَةِ ٱلْبَدَنَةَ عَنْ سَبْعَةِ، وَالبَقَرَةَ عَنْ سَنْعَة . رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ .

٣ - بَاثُ العَقِيقَةِ

Chapter 3 AL- 'AOIOAH[3]

(١١٦٨) عَن ابْنِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى The هِ: The عَن ابْنِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى Prophet sa slaughtered a ram [4] each

for Al-Hasan and Al-Husain^[5] (at their عَنْهُ عَنْ عَنِ الْحَسَنِ أَنَّ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيُّ

animals are deemed fit for sacrifice. If an animal is naturally born without a horn, it will not be considered as a defective one, but if the horn gets broken after the birth of an animal, it is bound to be regarded as defective. If the remainder of the broken horn constitutes more than half of its complete entity, the animal shall be considered to be fit for sacrifice. But if the rest of the horn turns out to be less than half of it, the animal shall be regarded as unfit for the purpose.

^[1] The hide, wool and the meat of an animal thus sacrificed should all be dispensed as charity. A person offering a sacrifice is allowed to eat from its meat, may put its hide to personal use, but is not allowed to sell it. The giving away of sacrificial meat to the butcher as the payment of his wages is forbidden. Some people do not pay wages to the butcher at all, a practice that is prohibited. In case the butcher does not take his wages willingly, then it is permissible.

^[2] The sacrifice offered by slaughtering a single goat suffices the whole household even if it comprises twenty persons. The sacrifice of a single cow, buffalo or a camel may include seven households. Whether the sacrifice is voluntary or obligatory, it makes no difference. It is not a must that the same must be shared by seven persons. It is also right if one person sacrifices the whole animal (alone).

^{[3] &#}x27;Aaiaab is a term used for an animal, to be slaughtered for the sake of a newborn baby.

^[4] The observance of 'Aqiqab is Sunnab (a supererogatory act). The next Hadith states that the slaughtering of two goats should be made in case the baby happens to be a male child, whereas this Hadith states that the Prophet a slaughtered one goat each for the two male children. This could be due to the non-availability of two goats each on the occasion of slaughtering at that particular time. Otherwise, the slaughtering of two goats each is a must according to Sunnab. While conducting 'Aqiqab ceremony, it makes no difference whether the animal to be slaughtered happens to be male or female.

^[5] Husain was the younger brother of Al-Hasan bin 'Ali and was younger than him by a year.

birth). [Reported by Abū Dā'ud. Ibn Khuzaima, Ibn Al-Jārūd an d 'Abdul-Haqq graded it *Sabib* (authentic). However, Abū Hātim held that the strongest view is that it is *Mursal* (missing link after the *Tābi'i*)]. Ibn Hibbān reported something similar from the *Hadītb* of Anas.

1169. Narrated 'Aisha '&: Allāh's Messenger gordered them that two sheep – equal (in age) – are to be slaughtered for a boy, and one for a girl (at their birth). [Reported by At-Tirmidhi who graded it Sahib (authentic)]. Ahmad and Al-Arba'a reported something similar to the aforesaid Hadith on the authority of Umm Kurz Al-Ka'biya^[1].

1170. Narrated Samura **4:** Allāh's Messenger **4:** said, "Every child is pawned^[2] against his 'Aqiqab, (an animal) to be slaughtered on his behalf on his seventh day,^[3] his head is to be shaved and he is to be given a name," [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a. At-Tirmidhi graded it Sabib (authentic).

وَالحُسَيْنِ كَبْشاً كَبْشاً. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَصَحْحَهُ ابْنُ خُزَيْمَةَ وَابْنُ الجَارُودِ وَعَبْدُ الحَقِّ، لَكِن رَجَّحَ أَبُو خَاتِم إِرْسَالَهُ، وَأُخْرَجَ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَنْسِ نَحْوَهُ.

(١١٦٩) وَعَنْ عَاتِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا،
أَنَّ رَشُولَ اللهِ أَمَرهُمْ أَنْ يُعَقَّ عَنِ الغُلامِ
شَاتَانِ مُكَافِئْتَانِ، وَعَن الجَارِيّةِ شَاةً. رَوَاهُ
النُّرْمِذِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ، وَأَخْرَجَهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ
عَنْ أَمْ كُرْزِ الْكُغْبِيَّةِ نَحْوَهُ.

(۱۱۷۰) وَعَنْ سَمُوَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنُهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: «كُلُّ غُلامٍ مُوْتَهِنَّ بِمَقِيقَتِهِ، تُلْبَكُ عَنْهُ يَوْمَ سَابِعِهِ، وَيُحْلَقُ وَيُسَمِّى. رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ وَصَحْحَهُ التَّرْهِذِيُّ.

He was one of the grandsons of the Prophet ﷺ and famous for his righteousness. He was killed at Karbala in 'Irāq on the tenth of Muharram, 61 H.

^[1] She was a Sabābiya from the tribe of Khuzā'a and has narrated some Abadīth.

^[2] It means that similar to a property or a possession lying in a state of being pledged, they may not utilize their child to their advantage, i.e., such a child shall not be able to intercede with Allāh on behalf of his parents on the Day of Judgement.

^[3] It is all right if a cow, instead of a goat is slaughtered on the occasion of an 'Aqīqab ceremony. The day a child is born, Adbān should be recited in his right ear and Iqāma in his left one, according to some of the scholars. However, the Hadith reported by Abu Da'ud and At-Tirmidhi concerning this practice is not authentic. 'Aqīqab should be conducted on the seventh day of his birth. On the same day, a child should be named and the hair from his head shaved off. Then, the shaved hair should be weighed and an equal amount of silver – equal to the weight of the shaved hair – be given away as charity. Likewise, Du'a (supplication) should be made for the child, and At-Tabnik [chewing a date or something similar, and placing it in the child's month – on the palate.

13. THE BOOK OF OATHS AND VOWS

1171. Narrated Ibn 'Umar 泰: Allāh's Messenger 繼 overtook 'Umar bin Al-Khattāb when he was with a party of riders of about ten and 'Umar was swearing by his father. Allāh's Messenger 繼 called them and said, "Verily! Allāh forbids you from swearing by your fathers. [1] Therefore, if anyone swears, he must swear by Allāh or keep silent." [Agreed upon].

In a narration which is *Marfū* '(attributed to the Prophet) reported by by Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i from Abū Huraira & it has: "Do not swear by your fathers, nor by your mothers, nor by the rivals ^[2] (set up as equals with Allāh); and do not swear by Allāh except when you are speaking the truth."

1172. Narrated Abū Huraira stallāh's Messenger said, "Your oath will be about that matter which your adversary. has required you to swear about so that he will believe you." In another narration: "An oath is to be interpreted according to the intention of the one who requested it (Al-Mustablif)." [Muslim reported both narrations].

١٣ - كِتَابُ الأَيْمَانِ وَالنُّذُورِ

(۱۱۷۱) عَن أَبْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، عَنْ رَسُول ِ اللهِ ﷺ، أَنَّهُ أَذْرُكُ عُمَرَ بْنَ الخَطَّابِ فِي رَكْب، وَعُمَرُ يَخْلِفُ بِأَبِيهِ، فَنَادَاهُمْ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "أَلَا إِنَّ اللَّهَ يَنْهَاكُمْ أَنْ تَخْلِفُوا بِآبَائِكُمْ، فَمَنْ كَانَ حَالِفاً فَلْيَحْلِفْ بِاللهِ أَلْ يَتَفَاقُونُ بِاللهِ أَلْ يَتَفَاقُونُ بِاللهِ أَلْ يَتَفَاقُونُ بِاللهِ أَلْ يَتَفَاقُونُ بِاللهِ أَلْ يَتَفَاقُ عَلَيْهِ.

َوْفِي رِوَايَةٍ لأَبِي دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَآئِيِّ عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ مَرْفُوعاً: الَّا تَخْلِفُوا بِآبَائِكُمُ، وَلَا بِأَمَّهَائِكُمْ، وَلَا بِالأَنْدَادِ، وَلَا تَحْلِفُوا بِاللهِ إِلَّا وَأَنْتُمْ صَادِفُونَ».

(١١٧٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُوثِيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «يَمِينُكَ عَلَى مَا يُصَدُّقُكَ بِهِ صَاحِبُكَ». وَفِي رِوَايَّةِ: «ٱلْيَمِينُ عَلَىٰ نِيَّةِ المُسْتَخْلِفِ». أَخْرَجُهُمَا مُسْلِمٌ.

^[1] It was a custom among the Arabs to swear by the names of their fathers and grandfathers. When 'Umar رضي الله عن observed such an oath in the presence of the Prophet 纏, he prohibited him from doing so, saying that one should not administer an oath in anyone's name except in the Name of Allah. The expressions like, "I swear by you, I swear by your head, I swear by Husain or I swear by the Prophet 繼" which are very much in vogue and are used by many people, are all improper and forbidden ones.

^[2] i.e., the idols.

^[3] This Hadīth indicates that whatever a defendant (Al-Hālif) observes an oath about, on the demand of the claimant (Al-Mustablif) who has a legitimate right, the oath thus taken will be considered to be related to that specific matter only. The hidden intentions of the one taking an oath (Al-Hālif) – about an explicit matter – will not be considered. That which is considered is the intention of the one (Al-Mustablif) that requested the oath to be taken in the first place. However, if someone takes an oath by himself – without being requested to do so – whatever he intends is what is considered.

'Abdur-Rahman 1173. Narrated hin Samura^[1] &: Allāh's Messenger # said, "When you swear an oath and then consider something else to be better than it, make atonement^[2] for your oath and do the thing that is better." [Agreed upon]. A wording of Al-Bukhāri has: "Do the thing that is better and make atonement for your oath." In a narration by Abū Dā'ud: "Make atonement for your oath, then do the thing that is better." [The chains of narrators of both Abadīth are Sabib (authentic)].

1174. Narrated Ibn 'Umar **&**: Allāh's Messenger **&** said, "Whoever swears an oath, and then says: "If Allāh Wills", he is not held accountable [^{3]} if he breaks it." [Ahmad and *Al-Arba'a* reported it, and Ibn Hibbān graded it *Sahib* (authentic)].

1175. Narrated (Ibn 'Umar) . The Prophet's oath ﷺ used to be: [4] "No, by Him Who turns (changes) the hearts." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

1176. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin 'Amr . A desert Arab came to the Prophet and said, "O Allāh's Messenger, what are the major sins?" The narrator reported the Hadīth and it contains: "The false oath." I contains also: I asked, "What

(11۷٣) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ الرَّحْمَٰنِ بْنِرِ سَمُرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عِنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "قَإِذًا حَلْفُتَ عَلَى بَمِينِهِ، فَرَائِتَ غَيْرُهَا خَيْرًا مِنْهَا، فَكُفَّرْ عَنْ يَمِينِكَ وَالنَّهِ اللّذِي هُوَ خَيْرٌ، مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ. وَفِي لَفْظِ لِلْبُخَارِيِّ: "فَأَلْتَ اللّذِي هُوَ خَيْرٌ، وَكَفَّرْ عَنْ يَمِينِكَ. وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لأَبِي دَاوُدَ: فَكَفِّرْ عَنْ يَمِينِكَ. ثُمَّ النَّ اللّذِي هُوَ خَيْرٌ».

(١١٧٤) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَمْرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَمْدًم رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: «مَنْ حَلَفَ عَلَى يَوْمِينِ ، فَقَالَ: إِنْ شَاءَ اللَّهُ، فَلَا حِنْثَ عَلَيْهِ. رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ أَبَنُ حِبَّانَ. وَصَحَّحَهُ أَبَنُ

(١١٧٥) وَعَنْهُ، قَالَ: كَانَتْ يَمِينُ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ: ﴿لَا، وَمُقَلِّبِ القُلُوبِ». رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(١١٧٦) وَعَنْ عَبْدِاللهِ بْنِرَ عَمْرُو رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما قَالَ: جَاءَ أَعْرَابِيُّ إِلَىٰ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ، فَقَالَ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! مَا الكَبَآلِيُّ؟ - فَذَكَرَ الحَدِيثَ، وَفِيهِ - «اليّمِينُ الغَمُوسُ» - وَفِيهِ -

^[1] He was nicknamed Abû Sa'īd and was a *Sahābi* and an 'Abshami. He became a Muslim after the *Fatb* and conquered Sijistan and Kabûl. He settled at Basra and died there in 50 H. or after it.

^[2] The expiation of an oath is: a) freeing a slave, or b) feeding ten poor people, or c) providing them with clothing, or d) fasting for three days.

^[3] This *Hadāth* implies that restricting one's oath by subjecting it to the Will of Allāh does not make a person to be oath-bound, provided that he says *In shā' Allāh* at the time of administering the oath.

^[4] This Hadīth states that oath-taking is not restricted to the Proper Names (Al-Asmaa') of Allāh Alone, but it is permissible to swear by the Qualities and Attributes (As-Sifāt) of Allāh. This is allowed whether one swears by those qualities which refer to His Divine Being (As-Sifāt Adb-Dhātiyah) such as Knowledge and Power or those qualities which refer to His Divine Actions (As-Sifāt Al-Fi'liyah) such as Anger, Pleasure, Ascending etc.

^[5] In Arabic, Yamīn Ghamus (a false oath) is the one that is taken to deceive, cheat and take

is the false oath?" The Prophet 鑑 replied, "It is that (oath) by which one takes possession of the property of a Muslim person, while he is lying." [Al-Bukhari reported it].

1177. Narrated 'Aisha regarding the saying of Allah the Most High: "Allāh will not punish you for what is unintentional in your oaths". She said: It (was sent down about such phrases as) a person's saying: 'No, by Allāh' and 'Yes, by Allāh. [2] [Al-Bukhāri reported it (Mauquf, i.e. as a saying of 'Aisha)]. Abū Dā'ud reported it as Marfū' (attributed to the Prophet)].

1178. Narrated Abū Huraira 🌼: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "Verily! Allāh has ninety-nine Names [3] concerning which he who retains them in his memory^[4] will enter Paradise." [Agreed upon]. At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Hibbān listed the Names. However, investigations show that their listing is *Idrāj* (an insertion) from one of the narrators [not from the words of the Prophet].

1179. Narrated 'Usāma bin Zaid &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "If one is done a kindness and [expresses his gratitude] to his benefactor by saying 'May Allāh give you a good reward', he has fully expressed his

قُلْتُ: وَمَا الْيَمِينُ الغَمُوسُ؟ قَالَ: «الَّتِي يُقْتَطَعُ بِهَا مَالَ امْرِى: مُسْلِم,، هُوَ فِيهَا كَاذِبٌ. أَخْرَجَهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(١١٧٧) وَعَنْ عَآئِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، فِي قَوْلِهِ تَعَالَى: ﴿ لَا يُؤَاعِدُكُمُ اللَّهُ إِلَّالِهِ فِي الْبَيْحَيْمُ اللَّهُ إِلَّلَهِ فِي الْبَيْحَيْمُ فَاللَّهُ. وَأَلْدُهُ أَلِهُ وَاللهِ، وَيَلْمُ وَلَوْدُهُ أَلِهُ وَاللهِ، وَلَمْدَهُ أَلِهُ وَاللهِ، وَأَوْرَدُهُ أَلِمُ وَالْوَدُهُ مَرْهُ عَالَى وَالْمَدَهُ مَرْهُ عَالَى .

(۱۱۷۸) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: الْإِنَّ لِلَّهِ تِسْعَةً وَتِشْعَةً اللَّهَ اللَّهُ تَقَالَ وَيَشْعِبُ اللَّهَ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ مَثَقَلًا عَلَيْهِ. وَسَاقًا الخَيْقَة مُثَقَلًا عَلَيْهِ. وَالنُّنُ جِبَّانُ ٱلأَسْمَاءَ، عَلَيْهِ. وَالنُّنُ جِبَّانُ ٱلأَسْمَاءَ، وَالنُّوجِينُ أَنَّ سَرْدَهَا إِذْرَاجٌ مِنْ بَغْضِ الرُّوَاةِ.

(١١٧٩) وَعَنْ أَسَامَةً بْنِ زَيْدٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿مَنْ صُنِعَ إِلَيْهِ مَعْرُوفٌ، فَقَالَ لِفَاعِلِهِ: جَزَاكَ اللَّهُ خَيْراً، فَقَدْ أَبْلُغَ فِي الثَّنَاءِ، أَخْرَجُهُ الشَّهِدِيُّ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ

someone's wealth unlawfully. If the same does not involve wealth, it will be called *Yamīn Fājir*. There is no atonement for *Yamīn Ghamus*. The only atonement for this kind of oath is that one should make a payment of the dues belonging to other people, repent and ask for Allāh's foreiveness.

^[1] Sūrat Al-Mā'idah, 5:89.

^[2] The words of oath which a person merely blurts out as a thoughtless expression, merely out of habit, are neither considered to be an oath, nor do they incur an atonement penalty. However, this is a bad habit one should be weaned away from.

^[3] In addition to this, there are also other names that are attributed to Allāh. Some names are additional ones but these Names are far superior to the other additional Names of Allāh.

^[4] Its meaning may also include mastering them, praising Allāh by them all and acting according to them.

appreciation." [1] [At-Tirmidhi reported it, and Ibn Hibbān graded it *Sahib* (authentic)].

1180. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: The Prophet forbade making vows, [2] and said, "It does not bring good. Indeed, it is only a means by which something is extracted from the miserly." [Agreed upon].

1181. Narrated 'Uqba bin 'Aamir &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "The atonement for a vow (Nadhr) is (the same as) the atonement for an oath (Yamin)." [3] [Reported by Muslim]. Attirmidhi added, "If he did not specify it." [And he graded it Sahih (authentic)].

Abū Dā'ud has from the narration of Ibn 'Abbās (&) (who reported Allāh's Messenger ﷺ as saying): "If anyone takes a vow but does not name it, its atonement is the same as that for an oath. If anyone takes a vow to do an act of disobedience, its atonement is the same as that for an oath. If anyone takes a vow which he is unable to fulfill, its atonement is the same as that for an oath." [Its chain of narrators is authentic, but the *Hadītb* scholars held that the strongest view is that it is *Mawqūf* (saying of a Companion)].

حِيَّانَ .

(١٩٨٠) وَعَن اللَّهِي عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، عَنِ اللَّهِي ﷺ أَنَّهُ نَهَى عَن النَّلْدِ، وَقَلْهَا عَنْهُ لَكَ عَن النَّلْدِ، وَقَلْما يُسْتَخْرَجُ بِهِ مِنْ النَّجْولِ، وَقِلْما يُسْتَخْرَجُ بِهِ مِنْهُ النَّجْولِ، وَقَلْما يُسْتَخْرَجُ بِهِ مِنْ النَّجْولِ، وَقَلْمَا لَيُسْتَخْرَجُ بِهِ النَّجْولِ، وَمُثَمَّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

(١١٨١) وَعَنْ عُشْبَةً بْنِرَ عَامِرٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «كَفَّارَةُ النَّذْرِ كُفَّارَةُ بَمِينِرِ». رَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ، وَزَادَ التَّزْمِذِيُ فِيهِ: ﴿إِذَا لَمْ يُسَمِّهِ. وَصَحَّحَهُ.

وَلِأَيِي دَاوُدَ مِنْ حَلِيتْ ابْنِ عَبَّاسٍ مَوْفُوعاً: امَنْ نَلْرَ نَذْراً لَمْ يُسَمَّ فَكَفَّارَتُهُ كَفَّارَهُ كَفَّارَةُ يَمِينِ، وَمَنْ نَذَرَ نَذْراً فِي مَعْمِينَةِ فَكَفَّارَتُهُ كَفَّارَةُ كَفَّارَةُ يَمِينٍ، وَمَنْ نَذَرَ نَذْراً لَا يُعلِيقُهُ فَكَفَّارَتُهُ كَفَّارَةُ تَقَارَةُ يَمِينٍ، وَإِشْنَاهُهُ صَحِيحٌ إِلَّا أَنَّ الْحُفَّاظَ رَجُحُوا وَفْقَهُ.

⁽¹⁾ This means that a favor must be reciprocated by a favor only. If the same is not possible, then the beneficiary must at least pray for the prosperity of his benefactor and express his thanks to him.

^[2] A forbidden vow is like affirming that: 'if my sick person recovers, I will give away such and such amount as charity.' This means that he is not offering a charity purely for Allāh's sake but in fact intends to trade it in for a reward. Exactly a similar situation applies to a miserly person who does not undertake to perform a good thing except in return for a recompense. One must also bear in mind that making a vow or an offering does not affect a change in one's destiny. This is with regard to a vow that is made in the Name of Allāh. What about a vow that is made on someone's grave believing that 'the one who is lying in this grave will change my destiny or relieve my troubles or bring me some benefit? This kind of vow is absolutely forbidden, and it is a form of Sbirk.

^[3] If the vow (Nadbr) is an independent one – without specifying anything in particular – as one supposedly says, "I make such and such vow in the Name of Allāh", a vow of this kind, if unaccomplished, will involve an oath atonement penalty (Kaffarah Al-Yamin). In case a vow

Al-Bukhāri has reported from the *Hadith* of 'Aisha 's: (Allāh's Messenger said) "If anyone vows to disobey Allāh, then he must not disobey Him."

Muslim has reported from the *Hadith* of 'Imrān &: (Allāh's Messenger & said) "There is no fulfillment of a vow involving an act of disobedience." [Reported by Muslim].

1182. Narrated 'Uqba bin 'Aamir &: His sister took a vow to walk to Allāh's House (for pilgrimage) barefooted. [1] Then, she ordered him to consult Allāh's Messenger ﷺ, so he consulted him for a religious verdict and the Prophet ﷺ replied, "Let her walk and ride." [Agreed upon, and the wording is Muslim's].

Ahmad and Al-Arba'a have: He said, "Verily! Allāh, the Most High, will not do anything with the affliction your sister imposes on herself. Command her to cover her head and to ride, and to fast three days."

1183. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: Sa'd bin 'Ubāda^[2] asked Allāh's Messenger & for a ruling regarding a vow taken by his mother^[3] who had died before

وَلِلْبُخَارِيِّ مِنْ حَدِيثِ عَآئِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا: «وَمَنْ نَذَرَ أَنْ يَعْصِىَ اللَّهَ فَلَا يَعْصِهِ».

وَلِمُسْلِمٍ, مِن حَلِيثِ عِمْرَانَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ: ﴿لَا وَفَاءَ لِنَدْرِ فِي مَعْصِيّةٍ».

(١١٨٧) وَعَنْ عُقْبَةً بْنِنَ عَامِرٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: نَذَرَتْ أُخْنِي أَنْ تَمْشِيَ إِلَىٰ بَيْتِ اللهِ حَافِيّةٌ، فَأَمَرَتْنِي أَنْ أَسْتَقْنِي لَهَا رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ فَاسْتَقْتَبُهُ. فَقَالَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ: الْإِتَّمْشِرِ وَلُتُرْكَبُ، مُثَقِّقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَاللَّفْظُ لِمُسْلِمٍ.

وَلِاحْمَدَ وَالأَرْبَعَةِ، فَقَالَ: ﴿إِنَّ اللَّهَ لَا يَضْنَهُ بِشَقَاءِ أُخْتِكَ شَيْنًا، مُرْهَا فَلْتَخْتَمِرْ، وَلُتُرْكَبْ، وَلَتُصُمْ ثَلَاثَةَ أَيَّامٍ».

(١١٨٣) وَعَن ِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: أَسْتَقْنَى سَعْدُ بْنُ عُبَادَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالُى عَنْهُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ فِي نَذْرِ كَانَ عَلَىٰ

thus made is a specified one, and one has the capability to fulfill it, it is compulsory for him to do so. If the person does not have the capability to do it, he will incur the same atonement penalty (Kaffarab) as applicable to an oath-taking (Al-Yamin). If the same involves disobedience of Allah or a sinful act, some scholars are of the opinion that it will not incur any atonement penalty (Kaffarab), whereas according to some of them it will incur an oath atonement penalty (Kaffarab Al-Yamin).

^[1] This *Hadīth* states that if someone makes a vow of making a barefooted journey all the way to the House of Allāh (the Ka'ba), it is not binding on him to do so. It further informs us that a vow made in the disobedience of Allāh also incurs an atonement penalty (*Kaffarab*), i.e. the fast of three days. This is in reference to her uncovering her hair.

^[3] This narration does not explain the nature of the vow thus made. Another *Hadīth* states that it involved the manumission of a slave. This explains that a deceased person's financial

fulfilling it, and he said, "Fulfill it on her behalf." [Agreed upon].

1184. Narrated Thābit bin Ad-Dahhāk &: that in the time of Allah's Messenger 鑑 a man took a vow to slaughter camels at Bawana. So, he came to Allāh's Messenger and asked him (about that). Allāh' Messenger 4 asked. "Did the place contain any idol which was worshiped (during the Jāhiliya era)?''[1] He said, "No." He asked "Were any of their (Jābiliya) festivals observed there?" He said, "No." He then said (to the man), "Fulfill your yow, for there is no fulfillment of a yow to do an act of disobedience to Allāh. nor to break the ties of relationship. nor to do something over which a human being has no control." [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and, and the wording is his (At-Tabarāni). It has a sound chain of narrators). It has a Shābid (supporting narration) from the Hadīth of Kardam[2] reported by Ahmad.

1185. Narrated Jābir (bin 'Abdullāh) * : A man said on the day of the Fatb, "O Messenger of Allāh, I have vowed that if Allāh opens the conquest of Makkah at your hands I shall pray in Jerusalem." He replied, "Pray here." [3] He asked

أُمِّهِ، تُوُفِّيَتْ قَبْلَ أَنْ تَقْضِيَهُ، فَقَالَ: «ٱقْضِهِ عَنْهَا». مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(١١٨٤) وَعَنْ ثَابِتِ بْنِ الضَّحَّاكِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَىٰ عَلَىٰ عَلَىٰ عَلَىٰ عَلَىٰ وَمُولِ لَمَالَىٰ عَلَىٰ عَلَىٰ عَلَىٰ عَلَىٰ عَلَىٰ وَمُولِ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ عَلَىٰ عَلَىٰ عَلَىٰ عَلَىٰ عَلَىٰ وَمُولَ اللَّهِ اللَّهِ عَلَىٰ أَنْ يَنْحَرَ إِللَّا بِبُوانَةُ، فَأَتَى رَسُولَ اللهِ عَلَىٰ فَيْهَا وَثَنَ يُعْبَدُهُ وَاللَّهُ فَالَىٰ: "قَالَ: "قَالَ: "قَالَ: "قَالَ: "أَوْفِ بِيَلْوِكَ، وَقَالَ: "أَوْف ِ بِنَلْوِكَ، وَقَالَ: "أَوْف بِيَلْوِك، وَقَالَ: "أَوْف بِيَلْوِك، وَقَالَ: "أَوْف بِيَلْوك، رَوَاهُ أَبُو رَحِيم، وَلا فِيهَ قَطِيعَةِ رَحِيم، وَلا فِيهَ اللهُ عَمْلِكُ أَبْنُ آدَمٌ ، . رَوَاهُ أَبُو رَدَو وَالطَّبَرَائِيُّ ، وَاللَّفْظُ لَهُ، وَمُو صَحِيحُ وَالطَّبَرَائِيُّ ، وَاللَّفْظُ لَهُ، وَمُو صَحِيحُ وَالطَّبَرَائِيُّ ، وَاللَّفْظُ لَهُ، وَمُو صَحِيحُ وَالطَّبَرَائِيُّ ، وَاللَّفْظُ لَهُ، وَمُو مَعِيمٍ عِنْدَا أَخْمَد. وَكُو مَنْ مِنْدَا أَخْمَد.

(١١١٨٥) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَجُلاً قَالَ يَوْمَ الفَتْحِ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنِّي نَذَرْتُ - إِنْ فَتَحَ اللَّهُ عَلَيْكَ مَكَةً - أَنْ أُصَلِّيَ فِي بَيْتِ المَفْدِسِ. فَقَالَ: صَلَّ هَامُنَا.

obligations – incurred by invoking such vows – must be met by his successors. However, some scholars hold that they are not obligated to do so.

^[1] This *Hadith* informs us that if someone makes a vow to perform a certain act of worship in a certain place, it is obligatory upon him to fulfill his vow, as long as no ritual ceremonies of the polytheists, and none of their festivals and fairs, are observed in that particular place. However, though it is permissible, it is not required to fulfill the vow in that particular place.

^[2] Kardam bin Sufyān Ath-Thaqafi was a *Sabābi* and his daughter Maimuna who was a *Sabābīya* and 'Abdullāh bin 'Amr bin Al-'Aas narrated the *Hadātb* from him.

^[3] This *Hadīth* alludes to one of the cardinal principles to the effect that if a person makes a vow to perform a prayer at a certain house of worship, his vow may be fulfilled by performing his prayer in a mosque which is either equal – or greater – in status than that of the vowed one. However, if he prays in a mosque of a lesser status, his vow shall not be accomplished. However, his offering a prayer in the Mosque of the Prophet ﷺ or in Al-Masjid-al-Harām will

him again and he replied, "Pray here." He asked him again and he replied, "It's up to you, then." [Reported by Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud. Al-Hākim graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

1186. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri &: The Prophet & said, "No (religious) journey is to be undertaken except to (pray in) the three mosques: The Sacred Mosque (Makkah), the Aqsa Mosque (Jerusalem), and this Mosque of mine (Al-Madīnah)." [Agreed upon, and the wording is Al-Bukhāri's].

1187. Narrated 'Umar : [concerning his consultation with the Prophet] He said: I said: O Allāh's Messenger (ﷺ), I made a vow in the *Jabiliya* times^[1] to spend a night in devotion (*l'tikāf*) in the Sacred Mosque. He (the Prophet) said, "Fulfīll your vow." [Agreed upon]. Al-Bukhāri added in another narration: "Then, spend a night in devotion (in the Sacred Mosque)."

فَسَأَلُهُ، فَقَالَ: صَلِّ هاهنا، فَسَأَلُهُ فَقَالَ: فَشَأَنُكَ إِذَنْ. رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الخَاكِمُ.

(١١٨٦) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «لَا تُشَدُّ الرِّحَالُ إِلَّا إِلَى ثَلَاثَةِ مَسَاجِدَ: الْمَسْجِدِ الحَرَامِ، وَمَسْجِدِ الأَقْصَى، وَمَسْجِدِي هَذَا». مُثَقَقً عَلَيْه، وَالنَّفْظُ لِلْبُخَارِيِّ.

(١١٨٧) وَعَنْ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قُلْتُ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! إِنِّي نَذَرْتُ فِي الجَاهِلِيَّةِ أَنْ أَعْتَكِفَ لَيْلَةً فِي المَسْجِدِ الحَرَامِ. قَالَ: فَأُوْفِ بِنَذْرِكَ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ، وَزَادَ البُخَارِئِي فِي رِوَايَةِ: فَأَعْتَكِفْ لَيَلَةً.

fulfill his vow. A vow undertaken to perform a prayer in Al-Masjid-al-Harām will not be fulfilled by praying in either the Mosque of the Prophet 幾 or the Mosque of Baitul-Maqdis. A person undertaking this vow must perform his prayer necessarily in Al-Masjid-al-Harām to fulfill his vow.

^[1] The people who uphold the view that a vow made by a non-believer has no bearing or is not a lawful one refer to this *Hadith* as an evidence. Al-Bukhari, Ibn Jarir and others hold that a non-believer must fulfill his vow if he enters Al-Islam.

14. THE BOOK OF JUDGEMENT

1188. Narrated Buraida Allāh's Messenger & said: "Al-Qudat (judges) are of three types, two[1] of whom will go to Hell and one to Paradise. The one who will go to Paradise is a man who knows what is right and gives judgement accordingly. However, a man who knows what is right, and does not give judgement accordingly and acts unjustly in his judgement, will be in the Hell-Fire. Likewise, a man who does not know what is right and judges people with ignorance, will be in the Hell-Fire." [Reported by Al-Arba'a, and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

1189. Narrated Abū Huraira 🚓: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "He who has been appointed a *Qādi* (Judge) has been slaughtered without a knife." [2] [Reported by Ahmad and *Al-Arba'a*. Ibn Khuzaima and Ibn Hibbān graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

1190. Narrated (Abū Huraira) & Allāh's Messenger said, "You will eagerly seek out the office of governorship, but it will become a cause of regret on the Day of Resurrection. How excellent it is

١٤ - كِتَابُ القَضَاءِ

(١١٨٨) عَنْ بُرِيْدَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «القُصَّاةُ ثَلاَثَةٌ، اثْنَانِ فِي النَّارِ، وَوَاحِدٌ فِي الجَنَّةِ، وَجُلٌ عَرَفَ الحَقَّ فَقَضَى بِهِ، فَهُو فِي الجَنَّةِ، وَرَجُلٌ عَرَفَ الحَقَّ فَلَمْ يَقْضِ بِهِ، وَجَارَ فِي الحُكْمِ فَهُو فِي النَّارِ. وَرَجُلٌ لَمْ يَعْرِفِ الحَقَّ، فَقَضَى لِلنَّاسِ عَلَى جَهُلٍ فَهُو فِي النَّارِ". رَوَاهُ الأَرْبَعَةُ، وَصَعَّحُهُ الحَاكِمُ.

(١٨٩٩) وَعَنْ أَيِي هُرَثِيرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَنْ وَلِيَ القَضَاءَ فَقَدْ ذُبِحَ بِغَيْرِ سِكِّينِ". رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، وَصَحَّحُهُ ابْنُ خُرَبُهَةً وَابْنُ جِئَانَ.

(١٩٩٠) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: الإِنْكُمْ سَتَحْرِصُونَ عَلَى الإمَارَةِ، وَسَتَكُونُ نَدَامَةً يَوْمَ القِيَامَةِ، فَيْغَمَت ِ المُمْرَضِعَةُ، وَيِشْتَ

⁽¹⁾ This *Hadītb* states two points. First, a person who does not know the truth and another person, who does not act upon the truth despite being aware of it, such persons shall equally be condemned to Hell-fire. It means that knowledge without action has no value. Secondly, the possibility of committing a judgmental error exists for anyone who exercises a judgement. Had it not been so, people would not have been divided as such and making of such fine distinctions among them would have been out of place.

^[2] By reading this *Hadīth*, one may gather an idea about the extent of severity, the court magistrates are subjected to. Whoever takes the position of *Qadī*, it is a though he is subjecting himself to be slaughtered, i.e. destroyed. If the magistrate *(Qadī*) is a pious person, he has to make a great effort in searching out the correct and just judgement. Despite all this, he will be subjected to an ordeal of an extremely difficult accountability on the Day of Judgement. Another *Hadīth* states that a righteous magistrate will be called for on the Day of Judgement and will be subjected to such an intense and severe interrogation that he will say, "Would that I never have exercised a judgement even between two people." In case a magistrate turns out to be an oppressor and a bribe-taker, he will dwell in the Hellfire.

as a *Murdi'ab* (wet nurse)! And how evil it is as a *Fātimab* (one who weans)!^[1]." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

1191. Narrated 'Amr bin Al-'Aas . He heard Allāh's Messenger say, "When a judge gives a ruling, having tried his best to decide correctly, and is right (in his decision), he will have a double reward; and when he gives a ruling, having tried his best to decide correctly, and is wrong (in his decision), he will have a single reward." [Agreed upon].

1192. Narrated Abū Bakra 🖝: I heard Allāh's Messenger 🎉 say, "No judge should give judgement between two people while he is angry." [Agreed upon].

1193. Narrated 'Ali &: Allāh's Messenger said, "When two men bring a case before you, do not decide in favor of the first till you hear what the other has to say, [3] then you will know how to judge." 'Ali & said, "Since then, I have continued to judge (in accordance with that)." [Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and At-Tirmidhi. The latter graded it *Hasan* (good), while Ibn Al-Madini graded it *Qawi* (strong), and Ibn Hibbān graded it *Sabib* (authentic). It

الفَاطِمَةُ». رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(١١٩١) وَعَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ العَاصِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُ سَمِعَ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَتُمُولُ: اإِذَا حَكَمَ الحَاكِمُ فَاجْتَهَدَ ثُمَّ أَصَابَ فَلَهُ أَجْرَانِ، وإِذَا حَكَمَ فاجْتَهَدَ ثُمَّ أَخْطَأَ فَلَهُ أَجْرًا. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَهُ.

(١١٩٢) وَعَنْ أَبِي بَكْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: «لَا عَنْهُ، قَالَ: «لَا يَشْقُ يَقُولُ: «لَا يَخْكُمْ أَحَدٌ بَيْنَ اثْنَيْنِ وَهُوَ غَضْبَانُ». مُتَقَنَّ عَلَك.

(114٣) وَعَنْ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا تَقَاضَى إِلَيْكَ رَجُلَانٍ فَلَا تَقْضِ لِلأَوْلِ حَتَّى تُسْمَعَ كَلَامَ الآخَرِ، فَسُوفَ تَدْرِي كَيْفَ تَقْضِي؟». قَالَ عَلِيٍّ: فَمَا زِلْتُ قَاضِياً بَعْلُ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالتَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَحَسَّنَهُ وَقَوَّاهُ أَبُنُ المَدِينِيِّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ أَبْنُ جِبَّانَ، وَلَهُ شَاهِدٌ عِنْدَ الحَاكِم.

^[1] Meaning such authority is a source of many pleasures for the ruler in this world. However, when he dies and is weaned, i.e. deprived of these pleasures and taken to account on the Judgement Day, evil is its end for the one who has failed to live up to its responsibilities.

الم judge should not pronounce his verdict in the condition of being overpowered and driven by anger or similar conditions, such as thirst, sickness, worry or sleepiness. If he does so, his judgement may incline towards what is unjust. This action has been graded as نجريتي (strictly forbidden) in *Shart'a* terminology. In case, a judge does happen to pass a verdict while seething with anger, whether or not such a verdict will be considered as valid and effective is also a disputed point. Some scholars regard it to be valid, whereas the others do not. Similarly, in the light of common sense, such a verdict does not appear to be acceptable.

^[3] This Hadith states that passing a judgement merely by listening to the statement of a claimant is wrong, unless a defendant is given an opportunity to clarify his position also. In case a defendant observes silence, refuses to answer an interrogation or does not care to attend the court on the specified dates of hearing, then a judge has a right to pronounce the judgement.

has a *Shāhid* (supporting narration) reported by Al-Hākim from the *Hadīth* of Ibn 'Abbās].

1194. Narrated Umm Salama *: Allāh's Messenger * said, "Indeed, you bring your disputes to me, and perhaps some of you are more eloquent in their plea than others, so that I give judgement on their behalf according to what I hear from them. Therefore, whatever I rule for anyone which by right belongs to his brother, I am only granting him a portion of Hell-Fire." [1] [Agreed upon].

(١٩٩٤) وَعَنْ أَمْ سَلَمَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتُ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: الْإِنْكُمْ تَخْتَصِمُونَ اللهِ ﷺ: الْإِنْكُمْ تَخْتَصِمُونَ الْحَقْ بِحُجِّيْهِ مِنْ بَعْضَى مُ أَنْ يَكُونَ أَلْحَنَ بِحُجِّيْهِ مِنْ بَعْضَى مُ أَنْ يَكُونَ أَلْحَنَ بِحُجِّيْهِ مِنْ بَعْضَى مُ مِنْهُ مَنْ فَصَلَّحُ مِنْهُ مَنْهُ الْمُطَعُ لَهُ مِنْ حَقِّ آخِيهِ مَنْهُمَا مَ فَإِنَّمَا أَفْطَعُ لَهُ مِنْ النَّارِ». مُنْفَقَلُ عَلَيْهِ.

1195. Narrated Jābir 🚓: I heard Allāh's Messenger 🗱 saying, "How could an *Ummab* (people) be purified (of its sins) where the right of its weak is not taken from its strong." [Reported by Bh Hibbān. It has a *Shābid* (supporting narration) from the *Hadīth* of Buraida, reported by Al-Bazzār, and another from the *Hadīth* of Abū Sa'īd, reported by Ibn Mājah].

(١٩٩٥) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ: «كَيْفَ ثَقَدَّسُ أُمَّةً لَا يُؤَخَذُ مِنْ شَدِيدِهِمْ لِضَعِيفِهِمْ». رَوَاهُ ابْنُ جِئَانَ، وَلَهُ شَاهِدٌ مِنْ حَدِيثٍ بُرُيْلَةً عِنْدَ ابْنِ البَرَّارِ. وَآخَرُ مِنْ حَدِيثٍ أَبِي سَعِيدٍ عِنْدَ ابْنِ مَاجَهُ.

1196. Narrated 'Aisha &: I heard Allāh's Messenger & saying, "The just *Qādi* (Judge) will be called (forth) on the Day of Resurrection and he will wish he had never given judgement even between two men throughout his life, due to the severity of the account he will face." [Reported by Ibn Hibbān. Al-Baihaqi reported it with the wording: "... concerning a single *tamrah* (date fruit)."]

(1197) وَعَنْ عَلَيْشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ: "يُدْعَى بِالقَاضِي العَادِلِ يَوْمَ القِيَامَةِ، فَيَلْقَى مِنْ شِدَّةِ الحِسَابِ مَا يَتَمَنَّى أَنَّهُ لَمْ يَقْضَرِ بَيْنَ اثْنَيْنِ فِي عُمُرِهِ. رَوَاهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ، وَأَخْرَجَهُ البَيْهَةِيُّ، وَلَفْظَهُ فِي تَمْرَةٍه.

^[1] This *Hadith* apprises us of a couple of very important points. The first one is that if a judge passes a verdict contrary to what the mores and norms of propriety and justice call for, then Allāh shall consider such an unjust verdict invalid, and a final verdict shall be pronounced about it on the Day of Judgement. Secondly, the Prophet $\frac{1}{2}$ did not possess knowledge of the unseen. Otherwise, he would have refrained from making such a statement.

^[2] This *Hadītb* implies that redressing the rights of the weaker sections against the encroachment of the powerful (i.e., restoration of the rights of the poor which have been impinged upon by the rich) is obligatory. If the oppression and injustice become rampant among the rulers of a nation, then that entire nation is called to account.

1197. Narrated Abū Bakra *: The Prophet said, "A people who make a woman their ruler [1] will never be successful." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

1199. Narrated Abū Huraira :: Allāh's Messenger :: cursed (4) the one who bribes and the one who takes bribes to influence the judgement. [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a. At-Tirmidhi graded it Hasan (good), and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic). It has a Shābid (supporting narration) from 'Abdullāh bin 'Amr's Hadāth, reported by Al-Arba'a except An-Nasā'il.

1200. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Az-Zubair ♣: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ ruled that the (١١٩٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي بَكْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: *لَنْ يُفْلِحَ قَوْمٌ وَلَوْا أَمْرُهُمُ أَمْرَأَةً". رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(١١٩٨) وَعَنْ أَبِي مَرْيَمَ الأَزْدِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَّالَى عَنْهُ عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «مَنْ وَلَاهُ اللَّهُ شَيْنَا مِنْ أَمْرِ المُشلِيسِنَ، فَاحْتَجَبَ عَنْ حَاجَتِهِمْ وَقُشْرِهِمُ، احْتَجَبَ اللَّهُ دُونَ حَاجَتِهِهُ. أَخْرَجَهُ أَنْ وَاوْدَ مَا النَّهُ مَدْنُ.

(١١٩٩) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: لَعَنَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ الرَّاشِيَ وَالمُوْتَشِي فِي المُحُكْمِ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، وَحَسْنَهُ الرُّعِيْةِ، وَصَحْحَهُ ابْنُ جِبَّانَ، وَلَهُ شَاهِدٌ مِنْ خَدِيثِ عَبْدِاللهِ بْنِ عَمْدِو عِنْدَ الأَرْبَعَةِ إِلَّا النَّسَاتِيْمَ. وَنَدَ الأَرْبَعَةِ إِلَّا النَّسَاتِيْمَ.

(١٢٠٠) وَعَنْ عَبْدِاللهِ بْنِ الزُّبَيْرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما قَالَ: قَضَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ أَنَّ

^[1] The Prophet ﷺ uttered these words at the time when the Iranians enthroned Khosru's (Kisra's) daughter and made her their empress. Whether or not a woman may be assigned the duties of a judge in a court of law to exercise judgements in the matters related to public affairs, is a disputed point. However, the majority of scholars hold that a woman may not be appointed a judge to a criminal court where murder and other crime related trials are conducted.

^[2] This Sahābi, also called Al-Asadi, was a Hadrami. He paid a visit to Mu'āwiya in Shām and told him this Hadīth.

^[3] This *Hadith* implies that it is prohibited for a ruler to appoint a sentinel on the point of entry. Similarly, it is forbidden to shut the gate of a court. Instead, everybody, whether rich or poor, should be able to enter the court without hindrance.

^[4] Both the bribe givers and bribe takers are accursed ones. Now, there are two applied situations. The first one involves a person who pays a bribe in order to acquire what lawfully belongs to him. In this situation, the bribe thus given becomes forbidden for the one accepting it and not for the one giving it. The second situation involves a person who pays a bribe in order to acquire more than what lawfully belongs to him and thereby encroaching upon the rights of another person. A bribe thus given will be regarded as forbidden for the giver and the taker equally.

two opposing parties in a dispute should sit^[1] in front of the judge. [Reported by Abū Dā'ud. Al-Hākim graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

Chapter 1 THE TESTIMONIES

1201. Narrated Zaid bin Khālid Al-Juhani ﷺ The Prophet ﷺ said, "Shall I not inform you who is the best witness? He is the one who produces his testimony before he is asked^[2] for it." [Reported by Muslim].

1202. Narrated 'Imrān bin Husain &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Verily! The best of you (i.e. Muslims) are my generation, then their immediate followers, then their immediate followers. After them there will be people who will give (false) testimony without being asked (to testify), [3] who will be treacherous and are not to be trusted, who will make vows and will not fulfill them, among whom obesity will appear." [Agreed upon].

1203. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin 'Umar &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "It is not permissible to accept the testimony of a man or a woman who does not fulfill their trusts, or of one who harbors a grudge against his brother, or the testimony of one who is dependent on a family (to testify) for members of the

الخَصْمَيْنِ يَقْعُدَانِ بَيْنَ يَدَي الخَاكِمِ. رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَصَحَّحُهُ الحَاكِمُ.

١ - بَابُ الشَّهَادَاتِ

(١٢٠١) عَنْ زَيْدِ بْنِ خَالِدِ الجُهَنِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿أَلَا أُخْبِرُكُمْ بِخَيْرِ الشَّهَدَاءِ؟ هُوَ الَّذِي يَأْتِي بِالشَّهَادَةِ قَبْلَ أَنْ يُشَالِّهَا». رَوَاهُ مُشلِيْهٌ.

(۱۲۰۳) وَعَنْ عِمْرَانَ بْنِرَ خُصَيْنِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِنَّ خَيْرُكُمْ قَرْنِي، ثُمَّ الَّذِينَ يَلُونَهُمْ، نُمُّ الَّذِينَ يَلُونَهُمْ، نُمُّ الَّذِينَ يَلُونَهُمْ، نُمُّ الَّذِينَ يَلُونَهُمْ، نُمَّ الَّذِينَ يَلُونَهُمْ يَشْهَدُونَ، وَلَا يُمْتَشْهَدُونَ، وَيَتُورُونَ فَلَا يُؤْتَسَنُونَ، وَيَتُلُورُونَ فَلَا يُؤْتَسَنُونَ، وَيَتُلُورُونَ وَلَا يُؤْتَسَنُونَ، وَيَتُلُورُونَ وَلَا يُؤْتَسَنُونَ، وَيَتُلُورُونَ وَلَا يُوتَسَنُونَ، وَيَتُلُورُونَ وَلَا يُؤْتَسَنُونَ». مُتَقَنِّ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٢٠٣) وَعَنْ عَبْدِالْهِ بْنِرَ مُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «لَا تَجُورُ شَهَادَةُ خَائِينِ وَلَا خَائِثِةٍ، وَلَا ذِي غِمْرٍ عَلَى أَخِيهِ، وَلَا تَجُورُ شَهَادَةُ القَانِعِ لِأَهْلِ البَّيْتِ». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ رَأَبُو دَاوُدَ.

⁽¹⁾ This inculcates two things. The first thing is that both the plaintiff and defendant be treated on an equal footing, none of them should be accorded a preferential treatment. Secondly, both the plaintiff and defendant should take their statements before the magistrate in a sitting posture and not the standing one.

^[2] These are the ones who testify promptly for the sake of Allāh alone so that justice could be done. They do not wait until such a time that the oppressed should approach them and implore them to testify for him.

^[3] These are the kind of people who testify on their own in order that their reliability be established by any means, fair or unfair. These are in fact driven by an ulterior motive to establish a misleading and fictitious groundwork for the trial so that it may progress on the basis of misrepresentation and distortion of facts. These are witnesses of the worst kind.

family." [Reported by Ahmad and Abū Dā'ud].

1204. Narrated Abū Huraira **毒**: He heard Allāh's Messenger 藥 say, "The testimony of a bedouin against a city dweller is not permissible." ^[2] [Reported by Abū Dā'ud and Ibn Mājah].

1205. Narrated 'Umar bin Al-Khattāb &: He addressed the people and said, "People were sometimes judged by the revealing of a Divine Revelation during the lifetime of Allāh's Messenger &, but now the Divine Revelation has been discontinued [i.e. there is no longer any new revelation coming]. Now we will judge you by the deeds you practice publicly." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

1206. Narrated Abū Bakra &: The Prophet geonsidered Shahādah Az-Zur (giving a false testimony) among the most serious of major sins. [Al-Bukhāri and Muslim reported it in a long Hadīth].

1207. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās 泰: The Prophet 藥 said to a man, "Do you see the sun?" He replied, "Yes." He said,

(١٢٠٤) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُ سَمِعَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُ سَمِعَ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: «لَا تَجُوزُ شَهَادَةُ بَدَوِيً عَلَىٰ صَاحِبِ قَوْيَةٍ». رَوَاهُ أَبُو دَاوُدُ رَائِهُ أَبُو

(١٢٠٥) وَعَنْ عُمَرَ بْنِ الخَطَّابِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّهُ خَطَبَ فَقَالَ: إِنَّ أَنَاساً كَانُوا يُؤْخَذُونَ بِالوَحْيِ فِي عَهْدِ رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ، وَإِنَّ الوحْيَ قَدِ انْقَطَعَ، وَإِنَّمَا نَأْخُذُكُمُ الآنَ بِمَا ظَهَرَ لَنَا مِنْ أَعْمَالِكُمْ. رَوَاهُ الْخَارِيُ.

(١٢٠٦) وَعَنْ أَبِي بَكْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَرْرِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، أَنَّهُ عَدَّ شَهَادَةَ الزُّورِ فِي أَثْبُ عَدَّ شَهَادَةَ الزُّورِ فِي أَثْبُ عَدَّ سُهَادَةَ الزُّورِ فِي أَثْبُرِ النَّبَاتِرِ. مُثْقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ فِي حَدِيثٍ طَوِيلٍ.

(۱۲۰۷) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ لِرَجُل ِ: "تَرَى

^[1] A testimony given by an unfaithful person, an enemy or the one testifying in favour of his relative, is not acceptable as the same involves the possibility that such persons, more often than not, may go to brash extremes while testifying (due to the built-in prejudices). Similarly, a person may not testify for someone who feeds him since there is a possibility that such a person may show partiality favouring his benefactor. A witness must be a just person who is not inclined to favor either of the two parties.

¹²¹ The only reason for this restriction is that since the bedouins usually have no idea about the prevailing conditions and circumstances of the city and village dwellers, they are prohibited to testify for them. Since the people living in a city are better informed about their fellow city inhabitants, their testimonies in regard to a trial concerning a fellow city-dweller, are acceptable. If a bedouin is fully knowledgeable about the relevant circumstances, his testimony shall also be acceptable, provided that he is a just person.

^[3] This *Hadīth* states that the judgements shall be pronounced according to what seems to be justified and appropriate (apparently). In case someone commits perjury and makes a statement contrary to what the facts are, the sin thus incurred shall be solely credited to the perjurer. The court judge is hereby absolved of any sin whatsoever and bears no accountability in this matter.

"Give witness in a similar case [which is as clear as the sun], or leave it [11]." [Ibn 'Adi reported it with a *Da'if* (weak) chain of narrators, and Al-Hākim graded it *Sabib* (authentic), but he was mistaken].

1208. Narrated (Ibn 'Abbās) 🔹 Allāh's Messenger 🎕 ruled on the basis of an oath and a single witness. [2] [Muslim, Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i reported it, the latter said that it has a *Jayyid* (good) chain of narrators].

1209. Narrated Abū Huraira Something similar to the aforesaid Hadītb. [Abū Dā'ud and At-Tirmidhi reported it; Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

الشَّمْسَ؟، قَالَ: نَعَمْ. قَالَ: "عَلَى مِثْلِهَا فَاشْهَدْ، أَوْ دَعُّ. أَخْرَجُهُ ابْنُ عَدِيُّ بِإِسْنَادِ ضَعِيفَ ، وَصَحَّحُهُ الحَاكِمُ فَأَخْطَأً.

(١٢٠٨) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَضَى بِيَمِين وَشَاهِدٍ. أَخْرَجَهُ مُسلِمٌ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَائِيُّ، وَقَالَ: إِسْنَادُهُ جَيِّدٌ.

(١٢٠٩) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ مِثْلُهُ. أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدُ وَالتَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ.

Chapter 2 DAWA AND BAIYINAT^[3] (CLAIMS AND EVIDENCES)

1210. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The Prophet said, "If people were given whatever they claimed (in disputes), some people would claim the lives and wealth of others; [4] but the oath (of denial) must be taken by the defendant." [Agreed upon].

٢ - بَابُ الدَّعْوَى وَالبَيِّنَاتِ

(۱۲۱۰) عَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا ، إَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ قَالَ: «لَوْ يُعْطَى النَّاسُ بِدَعْوَاهُمْ النَّاسُ بِدَعْوَاهُمْ النَّاسُ وَمَاءَ رِجَال وَأَمْوَالُهُمْ، وَلَكِنَّ النَّوْلَهُمْ، وَلَكِنَّ النَّوْلَةُمْ، وَلَكِنَّ النَّمَةُ مَعْنَى عَلَى المُدَّعَى عَلَيْهِ. مُثَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

^[1] It means that a person should only testify to something that facts of which he is absolutely certain about. One should not testify to something merely upon conjecture, or upon hearing a rumor that may be of doubtful accuracy.

^[2] It is clarified by this *Hadīth* that if two witnesses are not available then one witness, along with an oath by the claimant with be sufficient. In case no witness is available, then the oath of the claimant will not be sufficient to establish his claim. In such a situation, the defendant will be required to make an oath denying the claim made against him.

^[3] The definition of *Da'wa* (claim) is to lay one's claim on something by asserting: "I have a right on such and such thing", regardless of whether the claim thus laid is true or false.

Baiyināt implies a clear evidence, since it establishes and proves the right of the lawful owner to the contested item.

^[4] One of the major principles of jurisprudence is that a claimant must prove his claim by providing evidences, producing witnesses, or else, the defendant must verify and confess to the truth of what he claims. If this is not done, the defendant should bring forth evidences refuting the claim or take an oath to this end. The suspected murder trial is the only trial where the defendant (if the situation warrants), will have to produce 50 different persons administering an oath as witnesses. If the defendant fails to do so, or the claimant does not

Al-Baihaqi has reported with a *Sabib* (authentic) chain of narrators: "But the proof (*Bayyinab*) lies on the one who is making the claim, and the oath (*Yamin*) must be taken by the one who rejects the claim."

1211. Narrated Abū Huraira .: The Prophet :: suggested to some people that they should take an oath (*Yamin*) and when they hastened to do so he ordered that lots should be cast^[1] among them concerning the oath, as to which of them should take it. [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

1212. Narrated Abū Umāma Al-Harithi^[2]

Æ: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "If anyone seized − by his oath − what rightly belongs to a Muslim, Allāh has made the Hell-Fire compulsory for him and forbidden for him the Paradise." A man asked, "O Allāh's Messenger, even if it were something insignificant?" He replied, "Even if it were a stick^[3] from an *Arāk* tree." [Reported by Muslim].

وَلِلْبَيْهَةِيِّ بِإِسْنَادٍ صَحِيحٍ: "البَيِّنَةُ عَلَى المُدَّعِي، وَالبَيِّنَةُ عَلَى مَنْ أَنْكَرَ".

(١٢١١) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ عَرْضَ عَلَىٰ قَوْمِ اليَمِينَ فَأَشْرَعُوا، فَأَمْرَ أَنْ يُسْهَمَ بَيْنَهُمْ فِي اليَمِينِ، أَيُّهُمْ يَخْلِفُ. رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(۱۲۱۲) وَعَنْ أَبِي أَمَامَةَ الحَارِثِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: "مَنِ اللَّهُ الْتَعَلَمَ حَقَّ امْرِيءِ مُسْلِم, بِيَعِينِهِ فَقَدْ أَوْجَبَ اللَّهُ لَهُ النَّارَ، وَحَرَّمَ عَلَيْهِ الجَنَّةَ». فَقَالَ لَهُ رَجُلٌ: وَإِنْ كَانَ شَيْئًا يَسِيرًا يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ؟ قَالَ: "وَإِنْ كَانَ شَيْئًا يَسِيرًا يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ؟ قَالَ: "وَإِنْ كَانَ قَضِيبًا مِنْ أَرَاكِ». وَوَاهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

believe the oaths thus undertaken to be creditable, he can administer a similar oath and claim the blood money.

[11] If the nature of the claim happens to be such that both the parties seem to be the claimants and defendants at the same time, then both the parties have a right to undertake an oath. In case one of the parties refuses to undertake an oath, the opponent may do the same and take the disputed item. If both the parties are prepared to undertake an oath, their eligibility will be decided by casting a lot. Whoever's name appears out of this process, shall undertake an oath and take away the thing disputed. This applies to conditions where none of the parties have proof substantiating their claim. If one of them does have an evidence, then the right to administer such an oath belongs to him alone.

[2] He is Abū Umāma Iyās bin Tha'laba Al-Ansāri Al-Hārithi Al-Khazraji. It was also said that he was a Balawi and an ally of *Al-Ansār*. He was one of the old *Sahāba*, but did not attend Badr, because he was nursing his mother.

[3] This *Hadītb* clearly indicates that if a person, by administering a false oath, takes away even a minor thing belonging to someone else, or deprives someone of his right by doing so, he shall be forbidden to enter Paradise.

[4] Ash'ath bin Qais bin Ma'dikarib Al-Kindi, Abū Muhammad was a *Sabābi* who settled at Kufa. He lost both eyes at the battle of Yarmūk. He was generous, kind and once made an oath and atoned it by fifteen thousand. He was appointed as the governor of Azerbaijān and

anyone swears a firm oath – knowingly, intentionally – taking by it property belonging to a Muslim, Allah will be angry with him when he meets Him (on the Day of Resurrection)." [Agreed upon].

1214. Narrated Abū Mūsa 秦: Two men had a dispute over an animal, and neither of them had a proof. So Allāh's Messenger (養) gave a ruling that it be divided in halves between them. [1] [Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i, and the wording is his (An-Nasā'i) who said that it's chain of narrators is Jayyid (good)].

1215. Narrated Jābir *: The Prophet *: said, "If anyone swears a false oath on this *Minbar* of mine, he will have prepared his seat in the Hell-Fire." [2] [Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i. Ibn Hibbān graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

1216. Narrated Abū Huraira ♣: Allāh's Messenger ₤ said, "There are three^[3] to whom Allāh will not speak to on the Day of Resurrection, nor will He look at them, nor will He purify them, and they will have a painful punishment: (a) a man at a place with excess water in the desert and who withholds it from the travelers; (b) a man who sold a commodity to another person in the afternoon (or after the 'Asr prayer) and

عَلَي يَمِين ، يُقْتَطِعُ بِهَا مَالَ امْرِىءِ مُسْلِم ، هُوَ فِيهَا فَاجِرٌ ، لَقِيَ اللَّهَ وَهُوَ عَلَيْهِ غَصْبَانُ » . مُثَقَّقُ عَلَيْهِ .

(١٢١٤) وَعَنْ أَبِي مُؤْسَى رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَجُلَيْنِ الْحَتَصَمَا فِي دَابَّةٍ، وَلَيْسَ لِوَاجِدِ مِنْهُمَا بَيْنَهُمَا يَئِيَّةً، فَقَضَى بِهَا رَسُولُ اللهِ بَيْنَهُمَا يَضْفُنْ . رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَآئِيُّ، وَلَهُذَا لَنْظُهُ، وَقَالَ: إِسْنَادُهُ جَيْدٌ.

(١٢٠٥) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ أَنَّ اللَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: "مَنْ حَلْفَ عَلَى مِثْبَرِي مَلَمَا بِيَمِينِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: "مَنْ أَخْمَدُ أَنْ النَّارِ". رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ وَأَنْ النَّارِ". رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ وَأَنْ النَّارِ".

(١٢١٦) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "ثَلَاثَةٌ لَا يَكُلْمُهُمُ اللَّهُ يَوْمُ القِبَامَةِ، وَلَا يَنْظُرُ إِلَيْهِمْ، وَلَا يُرَكِّمُهُمْ وَلَا يُرَكِّمُهُمْ وَلَا يُرَكِّمُهُمْ وَلَا يُرَكِّمُهُمْ مَاءِ وَلَهُمْ عَنَالِ مَاءِ بِالفَلَاةِ يَمْنَعُهُ مِنَ ابْنِ السَّبِيلِ. وَرَجُلٌ بَاتِمَ رَجُلًا عِسْلَمَةٍ بَغْدَ العَصْرِ، فَحَلَفَ لَهُ بِاللهِ: لَا يَعَمَ رَجُلًا عِسْلَمَةٍ بَغْدَ العَصْرِ، فَحَلَفَ لَهُ بِاللهِ: لَا يَعَمَ عَلَى عَلَى غَلَى اللهُ يَتَابِعُهُ إِلَّا لِللَّذُنّا، وَلَا يَتَابِعُهُ إِلَّا لِللَّذُنّا، وَلَا يَتَعَ إِلَاهًا لَا لِللَّذُنّا، وَلَا يَتَعَلَمُ اللَّهُ لِللَّهُ لِللَّالِيلَةُ لِللَّالِيلَةُ الْمَامِلُ لَا يُتَلِيعُهُ إِلَّا لِللَّذُنّا، وَلَمُ عَلَى عَلَى وَلَا يَلِمُ لِللَّالِلَهُ لِلللَّالِيلَةُ لِلللَّهُ لِلللَّهُ لِلللَّهِ اللَّهُ لِللَّهُ لِلللَّهُ لِلللَّهُ لِلللَّهُ لِلللَّهُ لِلللَّهُ لِلِنَا لِلللَّهُ لِلللَّهُ لِلللَّهُ لِلللَّهُ لِللللَّهُ لِلللَّهُ لِلللَّهُ لِلللَّهُ لِلللَّهُ لِلللَّهُ لَوْلَا لِلللَّهُ لِللَّهُ لِلللَّهُ لَهُ اللَّهُ لَلْ اللّٰهُ لِلللَّهُ لَلَالَةً لَاللَّهُ لَهُ لَلِللَّهُ لِلللَّهُ لِلللَّهُ لَلْ الللّٰهُ لِلللّهُ لَهُ لَلِهُ لَلِهُ لَلِهُ لَلِهُ لَلِهُ لَلِهُ لَلِهُ لَيْلِهُ لِلللّٰهُ لَلِهُ لَلِهُ لَلِهُ لَلِهُ لَلِهُ لَلِهُ لَهُ لِلللْهُ لَهُ لِلللّٰهُ لِلللّٰهُ لِلللّٰهُ لَلِهُ لَهُ لِلللّٰهُ لَعَلَّمُ لِلللْهُ لِلللّٰهُ لَلِهُ لَهُ لِلللّٰهُ لَلِهُ لَلِهُ لَهُ لَلِهُ لَهُ لَلْهُ لَهُ لَلْهُ لَلْهُ لِللللْهُ لَلْهُ لَلْهُ لَلْهُ لَلْهُ لَلْهُ لِللللّٰهُ لَلْهُ لِللللّٰهُ لِللللّٰهُ لَهُ لِلللْهُ لِللللْهُ لِلللْهُ لِللللّٰهُ لَلْهُ لِلللللّٰهُ لِللللللّٰهُ لِلللللْهُ لِللللْهُ لِلللللْهُ لِلللللّٰهُ لِللللللْهُ لِللللْهُ لِلللللّٰهُ لِللللللّٰهُ لِلللللّٰهُ لِلللللّٰهُ لِللللللْهُ لِللللْهُ لِللللللْهُ لِلللللْهُ لِلللللللّٰهُ لِلللللّٰ لِلللللْهُ لِلللللْهُ لِللللللللِهُ لِلللللْهُ لِللللللْهِ لِلللللْهُ لِللللللْهُ لِلللللللْهُ لِلللللللْهُ لِللللْهُ لِللللْهُ لِللللللْهِ لِللللْهُ لِللللللْهُ لِلللْهُ لِللللْهُ لِلللللْهُ لِلللللّٰهُ لِللللْهُ لِللللْهُ لِلللللْهِ لِلللْهُ لِلللللْهُل

witnessed Siffin with 'Ali. He died forty days after the death of 'Ali in 40 H. at the age of 63 years.

^[1] This is a situation where the two parties claim the ownership of the same thing. They are neither prepared to undertake an oath, nor do they have a witness to substantiate their claim. This means that they are equal in terms of their status. Should such a situation arise, the disputed thing shall be awarded to the party who has possession. In case neither of them possess it, or the same lies in an equal possession of both the parties, the same shall be divided into two equal halves and each of them given a share.

^[2] This *Hadith* states that the intensity of a sin and punishment may vary depending on the time and place of their commission and occurrence.

^[3] This *Hadīth* states that in comparison to other sinners, their condition will be worst and more deplorable, as such people shall incur the anger and torment of Allāh.

swore to him by Allāh that he had bought it at such and such price and he (the buyer) believed him yet that was not the case; (c) and a man who pledged allegiance to an *Imām* only for the sake of the world (material gains). Hence, if the *Imām* bestowed on him something out of that (i.e. worldly riches) he stood by his pledge of allegiance, and if he did not give him, he did not fulfill the pledge of allegiance." [Agreed upon].

1217. Narrated Jābir &: Two men disputed about a she-camel. Then, each of them said: this she-camel was born at my place, and each of them brought a proof (that it was his animal). Allāh's Messenger ## then ruled that it be taken by the one who had it in his possession.

1218. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: The Prophet re-directed Al-Yamin (the oath to be sworn by the defendant) to the one making the claim to some right. [Ad-Dāraqutni reported the two aforesaid Abadīth, and there is weakness in their chain of narrators].

1219. Narrated 'Aisha \$: One day the Prophet \$\mathbb{X}\$ came to me overjoyed, his face shinning (from happiness) and said, "Did you not see that Mujazziz Al-Mudliji^[1] (a physiognomist) looked at Zaid bin Hāritha and Usāma bin Zaid^[2], and then said, 'These feet (of Zaid and Usaama) are related to one another.' "^[3] [Agreed upon].

فَإِنْ أَعْطَاهُ مِنْهَا وَفَى، وَإِنْ لَمْ يُعْطِهِ مِنْهَا لَمْ يَف.ِ». مُتَفَقّ عَلَيْهِ.

(۱۲۷۷) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَجُلَيْنِ اخْتَصَمَا فِي نَاقَةٍ، فَقَالَ كُلُّ وَاحِدِ مِنْهُمَا: نُبِحَتْ عِنْدِي، وَأَقَامَا بَيْنَةً، فَقَضَى بِهَا رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ لِمَنْ هِيَ فِي يَدِهِ.

(١٢١٨) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ رَقَّ النَّيْوِينَ عَلَىٰ طَالِبِ الخَقِّ، وَفِي إِسْنَادِهِمَا الدَّارَقُطُنِيُّ، وَفِي إِسْنَادِهِمَا مَنْفُنْ

(١٢١٩) وَعَنْ عَاتِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، قَالَتْ: دَخَلَ عَلَيَّ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ ذَاتَ يَوْمِ، مَسْرُوراً، تَبْرُقُ أَسَارِيرُ وَجْهِهِ، فَقَالَ: «أَلَمْ تَرَ أَنَّ مُجَزِّزاً المُدْلِجِيِّ نَظَرَ آيِفاً إِلَىٰ زَيْدِ بْنِ حَارِثَةَ وَأَسَامَةَ بْنِ زَيْدٍ، فَقَالَ: هٰذِهِ الأَقْدَامُ بَعْضُهَا مِنْ بَعْضِيًّ، مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

¹¹ He was a *Sahābi* from the tribe of Mudlij, and was called Mujazziz bin Al-A'war bin Ju'da Al-Kināni Al-Mudliji. He was one of most famous physiognomist during the *Jābiliya* era. Ibn Yunus mentioned him among the *Sahāba* who conquered Egypt. A *Qā'if* (physiognomist) is someone who is able to recognize the resemblance between two people – e.g. between a man and his father or brother – by examining their physical features.

^[2] The Prophet see was happy because some people used to doubt Zaid's fatherhood to Usāma, since Zaid was fair complexioned while Usāma was very dark. Usama's mother – Umm Ayman, whose name was Barakah see was a black Abyssinian (Ethiopian) woman.

^[3] It is narrated that Zaid bin Haritha رضى الله عنه the freed slave of the Prophet ﷺ was of a

15. THE BOOK OF **EMANCIPATION**

1220. Narrated Abū Huraira 🐟: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Any Muslim man who emancipates a Muslim man, Allah will rescue from the Hell-Fire [1] an organ of his body for every organ of his (the emancipated man's body)." [Agreed upon].

Narrated Abu Umama (46): Allah's Messenger 🍇 said, "Any Muslim man who emancipates two Muslim women, they will be his ransom from the Hell-Fire." [At-Tirmidhi reported it, and graded it Sabib (authentic)]. Ka'b bin Murra^[2] (為) narrated: (Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said) "Anv Muslim woman who emancipates a Muslim woman, she will be her ransom from the Hell-Fire." [Reported by Abū Dā'udl.

1221. Narrated Abū Dhar 🐟: I asked the Prophet 鑑: Which action was most excellent? He replied, "Faith in Allah and Jibād in His Path." I then asked, Which slaves were most excellent (for the purpose of emancipating them)? He replied, "Those whose prices are highest and are the most precious to their people." [Agreed upon].

10 - كتَاتُ العِتْقِ

(١٢٢٠) عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿أَيُّمَا امْرِيءٍ مُسْلِمٍ أَعْتَقَ امْرَءًا مُسْلِماً اسْتَنْقَذَ اللَّهُ بِكُلِّ عُضْو مِنْهُ عُضُواً مِنْهُ مِنَ النَّارِ». مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

وَللتُّ مذيّ - وَصَحَّحَهُ - عَنْ أَبِي أُمَامَةَ: «أَتُّمَا أَمْرِيءٍ مُسْلِمٍ أَعْتَقَ آمْرَأَتَيْنِ مُسْلِمَتَيْنِ كَانَتَا فِكَاكُهُ مِنَ النَّارِ». وَلِأبِي دَاوُدَ مِنْ حَدِيث كَعْبِ ابْنِ مُرَّةَ: «أَيُّها امْرَأَةِ مُسْلِمَةِ أَعْتَقَت أَمْ أَةً مُسْلَمَةً كَانَتْ فَكَاكُها مِنَ النَّارِ».

(١٢٢١) وَعَنْ أَبِي ذَرٌّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَأَلْتُ النَّبِيَّ عِنْ اللَّهِ: أَيُّ العَملِ أَفْضَلُ؟ قَالَ: ﴿إِيمَانٌ بِاللهِ، وَجِهَادُ فِي سَبِيلِهِ». قُلْتُ: فَأَيُّ الرِّقَابِ أَفْضَلُ؟ قَالَ: «أَغْلَاهَا ثَمَناً، وَأَنْفَسُهَا عِنْدَ أَهْلِهَا». مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْه.

1222. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: Allāh's عَنْهُمَا يَعْلُهُمَا أَلَهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا مِنْهُمَا اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا

was rather dark-complexioned. Because رضى الله عنه was rather dark-complexioned. of this, some of the disbelievers started casting slurs on him regarding his lineage. Mujazziz Al-Mudliji saw them lying down, their faces wrapped up with linen and their feet lying bare. When he saw their feet, he uttered these words which in turn pleased the Prophet 鑑. This proves that while making a conclusion about a certain thing, one may resort to his personal intuition (Al-Farāsah) and the gift of deducing facts out of reading a person's physiognomy (Al-Qiyāfab).

^[1] The said reward may only be earned by manumitting a believing slave, although there is virtue in freeing a disbeliever as well. Indeed, the manumission of a believing slave earns the greater reward.

^[2] He was a Sabābi and was also said to be called Murra bin Ka'b. He settled at Basra, then at Jordan where he died in the year 57 H. or 59 H.

Messenger said "If anyone emancipates his share in a (jointly owned) slave and has enough money to pay the full price for him, a fair price for the slave should be fixed, his partners given their shares, and the slave be thus emancipated. [1] Otherwise, he is emancipated only to the extent of the first man's share." [Agreed upon].

Narrated Abū Huraira : (The Prophet said), "Otherwise, a price should be fixed for him, and work should be found for him (to earn his freedom), without overburdening him." [Agreed upon]. And it is said that 'to earn his freedom' is *Mudrajab* (inserted) in the text.

1223. Narrated Abū Huraira 🎄: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "A son does not repay what he owes his parent unless he finds him in slavery, then buys him and emancipates him." [2] [Reported by Muslim].

1224. Narrated Samura (bin Jundub) in The Prophet is said, "If anyone owns (in slavery) a blood-relative, who is Mabram (permanently prohibited in marriage), [3] that person becomes free." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a. A group of Hadīth scholars held that the strongest view is that it is قَالَ: قَالَ رُسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «مَنْ أَعْتَقَ شِرْكَا لَهُ فِي عَبْدٍ، فَكَانَ لَهُ مَالٌ يَبْلُغُ ثَمَنَ العَبْدِ، قُومٌ [الْعَبْدُ عَلَيْهِ] فِيمَةَ عَدْلُهِ، فَأَعْطَى شُرَكَاءُهُ حِصْصَهُمْ، وَعَتَقَ عَلَيْهِ العَبْدُ، وَإِلَّا فَقَدْ عَتَقَ مِنْهُ مَا عَتَقَ». مُتَفَقَّ مَانِهُ

وَلَهُمَا عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ: «وَإِلَّا قُوَّمَ عَلَيْهِ، وَاسْتُشْعِيَ غَيْرَ مَشْفُوق. عَلَيْهِ». وَقِيلَ: إِنَّ السَّعَايَةَ مُدْرَجَةٌ فِي الخَبْرِ.

(۱۲۲۳) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيَرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: الآل يَجْزِي وَلَدُ وَالِدَهُ إِلَّا أَنْ يَجِدُهُ مَمْلُوكًا فَيَشْتَرِيّهُ، فَيُمُثِقَهُ». رَوَاهُ مُشْلِمٌ.

(۱۷۲8) وَعَنْ سَمُرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: "مَنْ مَلَكَ ذَا رَحِمٍ مَحْرَمٍ فَهُوَ حُرَّ". رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعَةُ، وَرَجَّعَ جَمْعُ مِنَ الخُفَّاظِ أَنَّهُ مَوْقُوفٌ.

^[1] This *Hadith* states that a slave, who has been partially freed, acquires the status of a bonded slave who may not be sold to someone or given as a gift.

^[2] In accordance with this *Hadith* the *Zābiriyah* scholars hold that a father is not considered to be free, merely on the condition that he has been paid for by his son, but that he will be regarded lawfully free only if manumitted and declared as such by his son. The other scholars hold that a father is freed merely upon being purchased by his son. This ruling is similarly applicable to a mother. This *Hadith*, on one hand, enlightens us on the parental rights whereas on the other hand, it highlights the tremendous virtuousness ascribed to the act of freeing slaves.

^[3] This *Hadith* proves that the close relatives [e.g. father, son, brother, brother's child, father's brother and mother's brother] who are so close to each other that they could not be bound in wedlock, may not have the relationship of a master and a slave. If the enslaved person is a woman, the ruling becomes all too clear. But if such a person happens to be a male one, then the criteria to determine the applicability of this ruling is that one of those

Mawquf (saying of a Companion)].

1225. Narrated 'Imrān bin Husain . A man – who had no other property – emancipated six of his slaves, at the time of his death. [1] Allāh's Messenger sent for them, divided them into three sections, had lots casts among them, and then set two free and kept four in slavery. He said a harsh word about him. [2] [Reported by Muslim].

1227. Narrated 'Aisha **%**: Allāh's Messenger **%** said, "The right of inheritance from an emancipated slave (Al-Walā) belongs to the one who set him free." [Agreed upon, in a long Hadīth].

1228. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . Allāh's Messenger said, "The right of inheritance from an emancipated slave (Al-Walā) is a relationship like the relationship of blood relatives: it should

(۱۲۲۰) وَعَنْ عِمْرَانَ بُنِرَ حُصَيْنِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما، أَنَّ رَجُلاً أَعْتَقَ سِنَّةً مَمَالِيكَ لَهُ، تَعَالَى عَنْهُما، أَنَّ رَجُلاً أَعْتَقَ سِنَّةً مَمَالِيكَ لَهُ، وَنَمَا بِهِمْ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ، فَجَرَّأَهُمْ أَنْلاناً، ثُمَّ أَقْرَعَ بِيَهُمْ، فَأَعْتَقَ أَنْقِينٍ، وَأَرَقً أَرْبَعَةً، وَقَالَ لَهُ قَوْلًا مَيْلِهُ. وَوَلاً مَنْلِهُ.

(١٢٢٦) وَعَنْ سَفِينَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ نَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كُنْتُ مَمْلُوكاً لِأَمْ سَلَمَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ عَنْهَا، فَقَالَتْ: أُغْتِفُك، وَأَشْتَرِطُ عَلَيْكَ أَنْ تَعْفُك، وَأَشْتَرِطُ عَلَيْكَ أَنْ تَعْفِيكَ مَا عِشْتَ. رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدُ وَالنَّسَائِيُّ وَالحَاكِمُ.

(۱۲۲۷) وَعَنْ عَاتِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿إِنَّمَا الوَلَاءُ لِمَنْ أَعْتَنَ». مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ فِي حَدِيثِ طَوِيلٍ.

(١٢٧٨) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَمْرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «الوَلَاءُ لُخْمَةٌ كَلُخْمَةٍ النَّسَبِ، لَا يُبَاعُ وَلَا يُوهَبُّ. روَاهُ الشَّافِعِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ جِبَّانَ وَالحَاكِمُ، وَأَصْلُهُ

persons (i.e., the master and the slave) is hypothetically presumed to be a woman. In the light of such a presumption, it can be determined as to whether or not they could be bound in wedlock. If affirmative, the said ruling applies to them, as they are *Mabram* to each other.

^[1] This *Hadīth* informs us that a charity made during one's sickness has the same ruling as bequeathing something by making a will. A sick person cannot donate more than one-third of his property as a gift or an endowment. The harsh words used by the Prophet $\frac{18}{2}$ about the said person were: "Had I been informed about the unlawful act of that person beforehand, I would have disallowed his burial in the graveyard of the Muslims."

^[2] Because two-thirds of a dead man's property must go to his heirs.

^[3] This Hadith denotes that while freeing a slave, it is permissible to make such a manumission a conditional one with his word of promise to the effect that the will keep serving his former master for the period of time agreed upon. What proves the permissibility of this practice is that the Prophet so upheld this condition and did not pronounce it null and void.

^[4] This states that Walā' (the inheritance of a freed slave) belongs to the one who manumits the slave. It is improper either to sell it or present it to someone (as a gift).

not be sold, nor gifted." [Reported by Ash-Shāfi'i. Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic). It's basic meaning occurs in the Sabibain but with a different wording].

Chapter 1 MATTERS PERTAINING TO MUDABBAR^[1], MUKATAB^[2] AND UMMUL-WALAD^[3]

1229. Narrated Jābir &: A man of the Ansār declared that his slave lad would be free after his death, [4] while he had no other property. So when the Prophet & heard of that he said, "Who will buy him from me?" And Nu'aim bin 'Abdullāh^[5] bought him for eight hundred Dirhams. [Agreed upon]. A narration of Al-Bukhāri has: "The man became needy."

A narration of An-Nasā'i has: "The man had a debt, so (the Prophet 鑑) sold the slave for eight hundred Dirhams and gave him the money and said, "Pay off your debt."

1230. 'Amr bin Shu'aib, on his father's authority, told that his grandfather narrated the Prophet 續 as saying: "A slave who entered into an agreement to buy his freedom is a slave as long as a

فِي الصَّحِيحَيْنِ بِغَيْرِ هٰذَا اللَّفْظِ.

١ - بَابُ المدَبِّرِ وَالمُكَاتَبِ وَأُمُّ الوَلَدِ

(۱۲۲۹) عَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَجُلاً مِنَ الأَنْصَارِ أَعْتَقَ غُلاماً لَهُ عَنْ دُمُرِ، رَجُلاً مِنَ الأَنْصَارِ أَعْتَقَ غُلاماً لَهُ عَنْ دُمُرِ، وَلَمْ يَكُنْ لَهُ مَالٌ غَيْرَهُ، فَبَلَغَ ذٰلِكَ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ، فَقَالَ: "مَنْ يَشْتَرِيهِ مِثْنِي؟» فَاشْتَرَاهُ نُعَيْمُ بْنُ عَلِيهِ بِنَمَانِهِاتُهِ دِرْهَم. مُثَقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ. وَفِي لَفْظِ لِلْبَخَارِيُّ: فَأَخْتَاجٍ.

وَفِي رِوَايَةٍ لِّلنَّسَايِّيِّ: وَكَانَ عَلَيْهِ دَيْنٌ فَبَاعَهُ بِثَمَانِمِاتَةٍ دِرْهَمٍ,، فَأَعْطَاهُ، وَقَالَ: "أَقْض دَتْنَكَ».

(۱۲۳۰) وَعَنْ عَمْرِهِ بْنِنِ شُعَيْبٍ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ جَدُّو، عَنْ الشَّكَاتَبُ عَبْدُ، مَا بَقِيَ عَلَيْهِ مِنْ مُكَاتَبَيّةِ وِرْهَمُّ، أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ بِإِسْنَادِ حَسَنٍ. وَأَصْلُهُ عِنْدَ أَخْمَدَ أَخْمَدُ أَخْمَدَ أَخْمَدَ أَخْمَدَ أَخْمَدَ أَخْمَدَ أَخْمَدُ أَخْمَدُ أَخْمَدَ أَخْمَدَ أَخْمَدَ أَخْمَدَ أَخْمَدَ أَخْمَدَ أَخْمَدُ أَخْمَدُ أَخْمَدُ أَخْمَدُ أَخْمَدُ أَنْهُ أَنْهُ إِنْ إِنْ يَعْمُ إِنْ إِنْ يَعْمُ إِنْ إِنْهُ إِنْ إِنْ يُعْمِدُ إِنْهِ إِنْهُ إِنْهُ إِنْهُ إِنْهِ إِنْهُ إِنْهُ إِنْهُ إِنْهِ إِنْهُ إِنْهِ إِنْهُ أَنْهُ إِنْهُ إِنْهُ إِنْهُ إِنْهُ إِنْهُ إِنْهُ أَنْهُ إِنْهُ أَنْهُ أَنْهُ أَنْهُ أَنْهُ أَنْهُ إِنْهُ إِنْهُ إِنْهُ أَنْهُ إِنْهُ إِنْهُ أَنْهُ أَنْهُ أَنْهُ أَنْهُ إِنْهُ إِنْهُ إِنْهُ أَنْهُ أَ

^[1] A slave told by his master, "You are free after my death."

^[2] A slave who enters into an agreement with his master to buy his freedom.

^[3] A slave-woman who bears her master's children.

^[4] We learn through this Hadīth that a master can declare one of his male or female slaves as Mudabbar, provided that he is not in a state of sickness. The majority hold that it should be taken from the one-third (of his inheritance) allowed to be given to as he wills (Al-Wastyah. Some scholars hold that it is not permissible to sell a Mudabbar except in case of need, or to pay the master's debt.

^[5] He was nicknamed An-Nakhkhām and was a Qurashi of 'Adi clan. He became a Muslim long ago and kept his faith secret, and when he wanted to migrate Banu 'Adi, his clansmen requested him to stay and believe in any religion of his choice, because he used to spend on their widows and orphans, so he stayed. Then he migrated in the year of Al-Hudaibiya. He was martyred during the conquests of Shām in the lifetime of Abū Bakr As-Siddiq or 'Umar Al-Farūq his was martyred.

Dirham of the agreed price remains to be paid."^[1] [Abū Dā'ud reported it with a good chain of narrators. Its basic meaning occurs in the books of Ahmad and *Ath-Tbalātha*. Al-Hākim graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

1231. Narrated Umm Salama *: Allāh's Messenger *: said, "When one of you women has a slave who has made an agreement to buy his freedom, and he accumulates enough to pay the full price, she must veil herself from him." [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Arba'a, and At-Tirmidhi graded it Sabib (authentic)].

1232. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: The Prophet & said, "The blood money of a slave who had made an agreement to buy his freedom (*Mukātab*) [and has been killed], is paid at the rate of blood money paid for a free man – for that portion of his freedom that has been paid, and at the rate of blood money paid for a slave – for that portion of is freedom which has not been paid." [3] [Reported by Ahmad, Abū Dā'ud and An-Nasā'i].

وَالثَّلاثَةِ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ.

(۱۲۳۱) وَعَنْ أُمِّ سَلَمَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا كَانَ لِإِحْدَاكُنَّ مُكَاتَبٌ، وَكَانَ عِنْدَهُ مَا يُؤدِّي، فَلْتَحْتَعِبْ مِنْهُ. رَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ وَالأَرْبَعُةُ وَصَحْحَهُ التُرْمِذِيُّ.

(۱۲۳۲) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، أَنَّ النَّبِيَّ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿يُودَى المُكَاتَبُ مِنْهُ وَيَهَ المُحَرِّ، وَيِقَدُو مَارَقٌ مِنْهُ وَيَهَ المُحَرِّ، وَيِقَدُو مَارَقٌ مِنْهُ وَيَهَ المُحَرِّ، وَيِقَدُو مَارَقٌ مِنْهُ وَيَهَ المُحْرِدُ وَأَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالنَّسَائِيُّ.

^[1] It implies that as long as a *Mukātab* does not make a full payment of his bond, he will continue to be governed by the same rulings as are applicable to a slave. This clarifies one more thing that a slave is considered the owner of his earnings. It does not mean that a slave does not become an owner of anything at all. *Mukātab* may be defined as a certain male or female slave who makes an agreement with his master to the effect that in case the master manumits him, he will pay him such and such amount in lieu of freedom. This kind of an agreement is known as *Mukātabab* and a slave who enters such an agreement is called *Mukātab*.

^[2] A mistress, as a matter of *Sbari'a* regulation, does not have to cover her face from her slave, as he is just like a child to her. But if a *Mukātab* accumulates a sufficient amount of money to emancipate himself from the bonded agreement, she should start veiling herself completely in front of him. This act is preferable since the above *Hadītib* states that as long as a *Mukātab* does not make a full payment of his bonded agreement, he will be considered a slave.

⁽³⁾ Al-Khattabi said, "The general consensus of the Fiqb scholars is that a Mukātab is a slave as regards penalties and blood money, so long as he owed one Dirham. However, Ibrāhim An-Nakha'i and an opinion narrated from 'Ali have relied on the apparent meaning derived from this Hadītb.

1233. Narrated 'Amr bin Al-Hārith, [1] the brother of Juwairiya, the mother of the Believers &: When Allāh's Messenger & died, he did not leave a Dirham or a Dinār, a slave or a slave-woman, or anything except his white she-mule, his weapons and some land which he appointed as *Sadaqa*. [2] [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

1234. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "When a man's slave-woman bears him a child she becomes free at his death." [Ibn Mājah and Al-Hākim reported it with a Da'if (weak) chain of narrators. A group of Hadīth scholars held that the stronger view is that it is Mawquf (a saying of a Companion) i.e. 'Umar &].

1235. Narrated Sahl bin Hunaif &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "He who assists a Mujābid in Allāh's Path, a debtor when he is in distress or a slave who had made an agreement to buy his freedom, Allāh will cover him (with His Shade) on the Day when there will be no shade but His shade." [Reported by Ahmad, and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

(١٢٣٣) وَعَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ الحَارِثِ، أَخِي جُوْرِينَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا جُوْنِيقَ أَمِّ المُؤْوِنِينَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: مَا تَرَكَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ عِنْدَ مَوْتِهِ وِرْهَماً، وَلَا فَيْنَا، وَلَا أَمَةً، وَلَا شَيْنًا، إِلَّا بَعْلَتُهُ البَيْضَاءَ، وَسِلَاحَهُ، وَأَرْضاً جَعَلَهَا صَدَقَةً. رَوَاهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(۱۲۳۹) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «أَيُّمَا أَمَةٍ وَلَكُنْ مِنْ سَيِّدِهَا فَهِيَّ بَعْدَ مَوْتِهِ. أَخْرَجَهُ وَلَكَنْ مِنْ سَيِّدِهَا فَهِيَ حُرَّةٌ بَعْدَ مَوْتِهِ. أَخْرَجَهُ ابْنُ مَاجَهُ وَالتَحَاكِمُ بِإِسْنَادٍ ضَعِيف. وَرَجَّحَ جَمَاعَةً وَقَفْهُ عَلَى عُمْدَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ.

(١٢٣٥) وَعَنْ سَهْلِ بْنِرَ حُنَيْفٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: «مَنْ أَعَانَ مُجَاهِداً فِي سَبِيلِ اللهِ، أَوْ غَارِماً فِي عُسْرَتِهِ، أَوْ مُكَاتَباً فِي رَفَتِيهِ، أَظْلَهُ اللَّهُ يَوْمَ لَا ظِلَّ إِلَّا ظِلْهُ». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَصَحَّمُ الحَاكِمُ.

^[1] He is Ibn Al-Hārith bin Abū Dirār bin Habib Al-Khuzā'i Al-Mustaliqi. He was a Sabābi and has only this Hadāth according to the Hadāth scholars.

^[2] When the Prophet 鑑 passed away, Maria Qibitya, the mother of the Prophet's son Ibrāhim was alive. She was a slave of the Prophet 鑑. Since she had mothered a child, she became free after the death of the Prophet 鑑. The sole purpose of mentioning this Hadith here is that Ummul-Walad [i.e. a female slave who has given birth to the child of her master], becomes free after the death of her master.

16. THE COMPREHENSIVE BOOK

١٦ - كَتَابُ الجَامِعِ

Chapter 1 GOOD MANNERS

١ - يَاتُ الأَدَب

1236. Narrated Abū Huraira 📥: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "A Muslim has six duties[1] towards another Muslim: When you meet him, greet him (with peace); when he invites you, respond to him; when he asks your advice, advise him; when he sneezes and praises Allāh, say 'May Allāh have mercy on you': when he is ill, visit him: and when he dies follow his funeral." [Reported by Muslim].

1237. Narrated Abū Huraira 🐟: Allāh's Messenger # said, "Look at those who are less fortunate than you[2] but don't look at those who are more fortunate than you, so that you will not underestimate the favors Allah has bestowed upon you." [Agreed upon].

1238, Narrated An-Nawwās bin Sam'ān^[3] &: I asked Allāh's Messenger about righteousness and sin and he replied, "Righteousness is good وَالْإِنْمُ مَا الْخُلُقِ، وَالْإِنْمُ مَا لَاكُمُ مَا الْخُلُقِ، وَالْإِنْمُ مَا للجَاهِ وَالْمُعُمْ مَا للجَاهُ اللهُ وَالْمُعُمْ الْخُلُقِ، وَالْإِنْمُ مَا للجَاهِ الْحَامِينِ وَالْحَامِينِ الْحَامِينِ الْحَامِينِ الْحَامِينِ الْحَامِينِ الْحَامِينِ الْحَامِينِ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ ال

(١٢٣٦) عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿حَقُّ المُسْلِمِ عَلَى المُسْلِم سِتٌّ، إِذَا لَقِيتَهُ فَسَلِّمْ عَلَيْهِ، وَإِذَا دَعَاكَ فَأَجِنْهُ، وَإِذَا اسْتَنْصَحَكَ فَانْصَحْهُ، وَإِذَا عَطَسَ فَحَمِدَاللَّهَ فَشَمَّتُهُ، وَإِذَا مَرضَ فَعُدُهُ، وَإِذَا مَاتَ فَاتَّبِعْهُ". رَوَاهُ مُشلِمٌ.

(١٣٣٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ الله ﷺ: "ٱنْظُرُوا إِلَى مَنْ هُوَ أَسْفَلُ مِنْكُمْ، وَلَا تَنْظُرُوا إِلَى مَنْ هُوَ فَوْقَكُمْ، فَهُوَ أَجْدَرُ أَنْ لَا تَزْدَرُوا نِعْمَةَ الله عَلَيْكُمْ ٣. مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٢٣٨) وَعَنِ النَّوَّاسِ بْنِ سَمْعَانَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَأَلْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ عَن البرِّ

^[1] We learn through this Hadith that the carrying out of these obligations is compulsory (Wājib). Some scholars have regarded them as a commendable act (Mandub) which should not be abandoned.

^[2] This Hadīth is an encouragement to always compare one's financial condition with that of someone less fortunate, as such a thing generates the feeling of God-consciousness within one's heart. Constantly reflecting upon the people who are financially better off than oneself only helps to enhance one's greed, which in turn leads to a feeling of dissatisfaction and iealousy.

^[3] An-Nawwās bin Sam'ān bin Khālid Al-Kilābi Al-'Aamiri was a Sabābi counted among the people of Shām. It was said that his father visited the Prophet 🕸 who prayed for him. He then gave the Prophet a pair of sandals that he accepted.

^[4] Good character includes obedience to Allah, charity, treating people with affection, being patient when one is wronged, good companionship, keeping ties of relations etc.

^[5] The sins are of two kinds. The first are the ones about which there are clear prohibitions

revolves (being doubtful) in your heart, and you dislike that people come to know about it." [Muslim reported it].

حَاكَ فِي صَدْرِكَ، وَكَرِهْتَ أَنْ يَطَلِعَ عَلَيْهِ النَّاسُ". أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

1239. Narrated Ibn Mas'ūd 毒: Allāh's Messenger 義 said, "When three of you are together, two must not talk privately ignoring the other, [1] till you mix with other people, since that will cause him grief." [Agreed upon, and the wording is Muslim's].

(۱۲۲۹) وَعَنِ ابْنِ مَسْعُودِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا كُنْتُمْ ثَلَاثَةً فَالَانَةِ لَا يَتَنَاجَ اثْنَانِ دُونَ الآخَرِ، حَتَّى تَخْتِلُطُوا بِالنَّاسِ، مِنْ أَجْلِ أَنَّ ذَلِكَ يُخْزِنُهُ اللَّمُقَلِّ عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّفُظُ لِمُسْلِمٍ. عَلَيْهِ وَاللَّفُظُ لِمُسْلِمٍ.

1240. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "A man must not make another get up from his place and then occupy it himself, [2] but you should spread out and make room." [Agreed upon].

(۱۲٤٠) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَمُونَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَمْهُما قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا يُقِيمُ الرَّجُلُ الرَّجُلُ الرَّجُلُ مِنْ مَجْلِسِهِ ثُمَّ يَجْلِسُ فِيهِ، وَلَكِنْ تَضَعُوا وَتَوَسَّعُوا». مُثَقَّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

1241. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "When one of you eats, he must not wipe his hand till he licks it, or give it to someone to lick." [Agreed upon].

(۱۲٤١) وَعَن ِ ابْن عَبَّاسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا أَكُلَ أَحُدُكُمْ طَعَاماً فَلَا يَمْسَعْ يَدَهُ حَتَّى يَلْعَقَهَا أَوْ يُلْعِقَهَا أَوْ يُلْعِقَهَا أَوْ يُلْعِقَهَا أَوْ يُلْعِقَهَا أَوْ اللّهِ اللّهَ عَلَيْهِ . مُتَّقَقْ عَلَيْهِ .

(۱۲٤٢) عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: اللِّسُلَّمِ الطَّغِيرُ عَلَى الكَبِيرِ، وَالمَارُّ عَلَى القَاعِدِ، وَالقَلِيلُ عَلَى القَاعِدِ، وَالقَلِيلُ عَلَى الدَّعِيرِ، مُثَقِّقٌ عَلَيْهِ. وفي رواية لمسلم:

in Shari'a. It is an obligation upon all to avoid them. Other ones are those whose prohibition is not to be found apparently but their commission is reproached and condemned by the human nature and thus one feels uneasy about them. Therefore, it is better to avoid them.

^[1] The respect of human sentiments is proven and enjoined upon by this *Hadītb*. One should never do a thing that hurts the feelings of others.

^[2] This *Hadith* states that if a person happens to occupy a space in a Masjid, or any other place (which is not owned by anyone), the space thus occupied belongs to him alone (i.e., no one has a right to remove him from it).

^[3] The reason for this act is explained by the Prophet's 攤 saying, "You don't know in what portion of your meal is the *Barakab* (blessings)." This *Hadītb* further clarifies that it is not obligatory to wash one's hands after having a meal. It is sufficient if one cleans them by using a towel or a napkin.

^[4] Another *Hadīth* states that a rider must greet a pedestrian and a passer-by must greet the standing person. If two persons are walking, either of them may commence greeting.

[Agreed upon]. A narration by Muslim has: "And the one who is riding should greet the one who is walking."

1243. Narrated 'Ali &: Allāh's Messenger 鑑 said, "When people are passing by, it is enough if one of them offers the greeting (of peace) on their behalf, and it is enough for those who are sitting if one of them replies."[1] [Reported by Ahmad and Al-Baihagil.

1244. Narrated Abu Huraira 🚓: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Do not initiate greeting Jews and Christians (with peace) [before they greet you], [2] and when you meet one of them on the road force him to go to its narrowest side."[3] [Muslim reported it].

1245. Narrated (Abu Huraira) 🐟: The Prophet said, "When one of you sneezes, he should say, 'Albamdu Lillāb (Praise is to Allāh)', [4] and his brother should say to him, 'Yarbamukallāb (May Allāh have mercy on you)'. When he says this he should reply, 'Yabdīkumullāb wa Yuslibu Bālakum (May Allāh guide vou and give you well being.)' " [Al-Bukhāri reported it].

Messenger # said, "None of you

والراكب على الماشي.

(١٧٤٣) وَعَنْ عَلِيٍّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «يُجْزىءُ عَن الجَمَاعَةِ - إِذَا مَرُّوا - أَنْ يُسَلِّمَ أَحَدُهُمْ، وَيُجْزِيءُ عَنِ الجَمَاعَةِ أَنْ يَرُدَّ أَحَدُهُمْ». رَوَاهُ أَحْمَدُ وَالسَّهَقِينُ.

(١٧٤٤) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «لَا تَبْدَءُوا اليَهُودَ وَالنَّصَارَى بِالسَّلَامِ ، وَإِذَا لَقِيتُمُوهُمْ فِي طَريق فَاضْطَرُّوهُمْ إِلَى أَضْيَقِهِ». أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(١٢٤٥) وَعَنْهُ عَنِ النَّبِيِّ عِلَى قَالَ: «إِذَا عَطَسَ أَحَدُكُمْ فَلْيَقُلْ: الحَمْدُ لِلَّهِ، وَلْيَقُلْ لَهُ أَخُوهُ: يَوْحَمُكَ اللَّهُ، فَإِذَا قَالَ لَهُ: يَوْحَمُكَ اللَّهُ، فَلْيَقُلْ لَهُ: يَهْدِيكُمُ اللَّهُ وَيُصْلِحُ بَالَكُمْ». أَخْرَجَهُ النُّخَارِيُّ.

يَشْرَبَنَّ أَحَدُكُمْ قَائِماً». أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

However, he is better who greets first. The scholars agree that this is only a matter of preference and is not a compulsory ruling.

^[1] The commencement of Salām (greetings) is a collective duty and similarly answering a Salām is also a collective obligation. If one person among a group pronounces Salām, the obligation will be met and completed on behalf of all.

^[2] The majority of the earlier scholars are of the opinion that one should not commence greeting a non-Muslim first. If he greets, then his greeting should be answered. But some scholars have allowed that the non-Muslims may be greeted first in case such a thing becomes unavoidable out of necessity.

^[3] Forcing them to pass through a narrow path implies that they should not be shown the respect of clearing the way for them. If it is too crowded, one should let a Muslim pass first and then only a non-Muslim may be allowed to pass.

^[4] One is required to answer until the third sneeze. If someone still keeps sneezing more than three times (in a quick succession), his sneezing needs not be answered.

should drink standing." [Muslim reported it].

1247. Narrated (Abu Huraira) &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "When one of you puts on shoes, he should put on the right one first; and when he takes them off, he should take off the left one first, so that the right (shoe) should be the first to be put on and the last to be taken off." [2] [Agreed upon].

1248. Narrated (Abu Huraira) &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "None of you should walk with one shoe. One must either wear both (shoes) or remove both." [Agreed upon].

1249. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "Allāh will not look (on the Day of Resurrection) at him who trails his garment out of arrogance (or pride)." [Agreed upon].

1250. Narrated (Ibn 'Umar) *****: Allāh's Messenger ***** said, "When any of you eats he should eat with his right hand, and when he drinks he should drink with his right hand, for the devil eats and drinks with his left hand." [5] [Muslim reported it].

(۱۲٤٧) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "إِذَا الْتَكُلُمُ فَلَيْبُدُأُ بِالنِمِينِ، وَإِذَا نَزَعَ فَلَيْبُدُأُ بِالنِمِينِ، وَإِذَا نَزَعَ فَلَيْبُدُأُ بِالنِمِينِ، وَإِذَا نَزَعَ فَلَيْبُدُأُ بِالنِّمْنَى أَوَّلُهُمَا تُتُعَلُ، وَأَخْرَجَ بَاقِيْهُ مَالِكُ وَأَخْرَجَ بَاقِيْهُ مَالِكُ وَالْمُرَجَ بَاقِيهُ مَالِكُ وَالْمُرَجَ بَاقِيهُ مَالِكُ وَالْمُرَجَ بَاقِيهُ مَالِكُ وَالْمُرَجَ بَاقِيهُ مَالِكُ وَالْمُرْدَى

(۱۲۶۸) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا يَمْشِرُ أَحَدُكُمْ فِي نَعْلِ وَاحِدَةٍ، وَلَيُنْيَلِهُمَا جَمِيعاً، أَوْ لِيَخْلَغَهُمَا جَمِيعاً». مُثَقَّنُ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٢٤٩) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا يَنْظُرُ اللَّهُ إِلَى مَنْ جَرَّ ثُوْبَهُ خُيَلَاءً». مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٢٥٠) وَعَنْهُ أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿إِذَا أَكُولُمُ مُ فَلْيَأْمُلُ بِيَمِينِهِ، وَإِذَا شَوِبَ فَلْيَشْرَبُ بِيَمِينِهِ، وَإِذَا شَوِبَ فَلْيَشْرَبُ بِيَمِينِهِ، وَإِذَا شَوِبَ فَلْيَشْرَبُ بِيَمِينِهِ، وَوَشْرُبُ بِيْمَالِهِ، وَوَشْرُبُ بِيشِمَالِهِ، وَمَشْرَبُ بِيشِمَالِهِ، وَمَشْرَبُ

^[1] Drinking water while standing does not fall under the category of an absolute prohibition, but the same is regarded as a suggestive prohibition, unless one has a legal excuse.

^[2] As a matter of principle, every honorable act should be started from the right side, whereas other things should be started from the left side. For instance, putting one's shoes on, combing one's hair and performing ablution should be started from the right side, whereas taking one's shoes off, and cleansing and purifying one's private parts should be from the left.

^[3] This is also a suggestive prohibition and not an absolute one, according to the Majority of scholars.

^[4] A person whose clothing (trousers, etc.) hangs below his ankles due to forgetfulness, or the one whose belly is so huge that he cannot keep his clothing from falling, are however exceptions. Even though the punishment – in this narration – is conditioned with pride, there is a general prohibition – even without exhibiting any air of pride – from allowing the clothing to hang below the ankles, according to other authentic narrations. This ruling concerns men only, as women are instructed to deliberately lengthen their dress to the extent of at least one hand span, so as to cover the surface of their feet.

^[5] This *Hadīth* states that the use of ones left hand for the purpose of eating and drinking is forbidden.

1251. Narrated 'Amr bin Shu'aib, on his father's authority, that his grandfather narrated Allāh's Messenger as saying, "Eat, drink, wear clothes and give Sadaqa without extravagance or pride." [Abū Dā'ud and Ahmad reported it. Al-Bukhāri mentioned it as Mu'allaq (a broken chain from the side of the Hadith collector)].

Chapter 2 KINDNESS, AND JOINING THE TIES OF RELATIONSHIP

1252. Narrated Abū Huraira 🌼: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "He who wishes to have his provisions expanded and his term of life prolonged, must treat his relatives well." [Reported by Al-Bukhāri].

1253. Narrated Jubair bin Mut'im 参: Allāh's Messenger 織 said, "The one who severs ties, i.e. of blood relations, will not enter Paradise." [Agreed upon].

1254. Narrated Al-Mughira bin Shu'ba 事: Allāh's Messenger 總 said, "Allāh has made unlawful for you disobedience to your mothers, burying your daughters alive, holding back (١٢٥١) وَعَنْ عَمْرِو بْنِ شُعَشِر، عَنْ أَبِيو، عَنْ أَبِيو، عَنْ أَبِيو، عَنْ أَبِيو، عَنْ أَبِيو، عَنْ جَدِّهِ قَالَ: اكُلْ، وَالْسَرْبُ، وَالْبَيْنُ، وَتَصَدَّقُ، فِي غَيْرِ سَرَف وَلَا مَذِيلَةٍ». أَخْرَجُهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَأَخْمَدُ، وَعَلَّقُهُ الْبُخَارِيُّ.

٢ - بَابُ البِرِّ وَالصَّلَةِ

(١٢٥٢) عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْزَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «مَنْ أَحَبَّ أَنْ يُشَطَّ لَهُ فِي رِزْقِهِ، وَأَنْ يُشْتَأَ لَهُ فِي أَثْرِهِ، فَلْيُصِلْ رَحِمَهُ». أُخْرَجَهُ البُّخَارِئِ.

(١٢٥٣) وَعَنْ جُبَيْرِ بْنِرِ مُطْعِمٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "لَا يَدْخُلُ الجَنَّةَ قَاطِعٌ" يَعْنِي قَاطِعَ رَحِمٍ. مُثَقَقٌ عَلَهُ.

(١٢٠٤) وَعَنِ ٱلْمُغِيرَةِ بْنِ شُغْبَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿إِنَّ اللَّهَ حَرَّمَ عَلَيْكُمْ مُفُوقَ الأُثْهَاتِ، وَوَأَدُ البَّنَاتِ،

⁽¹⁾ This Hadītb is an elaboration of a Qur'ānic Verse which says, "Eat and drink but do not spend excessively". This Hadītb implies that as long as an excessive spending is prohibited in the permitted matters, how could such a thing be justified in the matters which are forbidden altogether? In Arabic, the word Isrāf stands for overspending.

^[2] The question which arises here is that as long as the time of death is predetermined, how does it happen that an act of kind so to one's relatives causes an increase in the life span of a person. The answer to this quest on is that the life span of a certain person which is in the Knowledge of Allāh, remains consont without a change, but the one which lies within the knowledge of the Angel responsible for life span may diminish and increase accordingly. In other words, the Angel is given the knowledge of a suspended destiny and not the final and absolute one. For instance, he is told that if a certain person treats his relatives well, he will have a life span of a hundred years, otherwise the same will be reduced to sixty.

^[3] This is a severe threat for the one who cuts the ties of blood relations. The Arabic word *Rabim* includes those relations with whom a matrimonial alliance is not permissible, or those between whom there is the right of inheritance.

(what Allah has ordered), and demanding (what you are not entitled to), and He hates for you engaging in gossip, asking many questions (about what is not necessary), and squandering wealth" [Agreed upon].

1255. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin 'Amr &: The Prophet said, "Allāh's Pleasure is in what is pleasing to parents, and Allāh's Displeasure is in what is displeasing to parents." [1] [At-Tirmidhi reported it. Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

1256. Narrated Anas . The Prophet said, "By Him in Whose Hand is my soul, a slave (of Allāh) does not believe (perfectly) till he loves for his brother what he loves for himself." [Agreed upon].

1257. Narrated Ibn Mas'ūd . I asked Allāh's Messenger . "Which sin is most serious?" He said, "To attribute a partner to Allāh, though He (Alone) has created you." I asked, "What next?" He replied, "To kill your child, fearing that it will share with you your food." I asked, "What next?" He said, "To commit adultery with your neighbor's wife." [Agreed upon].

1258. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin 'Amr bin Al-'Aas 秦: Allāh's Messenger 囊 said, "A man's reviling of his parents is one of the major sins." It was asked, "Does a man revile his parents?" He replied, "Yes, he reviles the father of a man who then reviles his father, and he reviles a

وَمَنْعاً وَهَاتِ، وَكَرِه لَكُمْ فِيلَ وَقَالَ، وَكَثْرَةَ الشَّوَالِ، وَإِضَاعَةَ المَال.ِ*. مُثَنَّقٌ عَلَيْدِ.

(١٢٥٥) وَعَنْ عَبْدِاللهِ بْنِرَ عَفْرُو رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُمَا، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: (رِضَا اللهِ فِي رِضَا الوَالِدَيْنِ، وَسَخَطُ اللهِ فِي سَخَطِ الوَالِدَيْنِ، أُخْرَجَهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ وَالْحَاكِدُ.

(١٢٥٦) وَعَنْ أَنْسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَنْ اللَّبِي ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿وَالَّذِي نَفْسِي بِيَدِو لَا يُوبُ يُؤْمِنُ عَبْدُ حَتَّى يُجِبُ لِجَارِهِ أَوْ لِاخْمِهِ مَا يُحِبُ لِجَارِهِ أَوْ لِاخْمِهِ مَا يُحِبُ لِجَارِهِ أَوْ لِاخْمِهِ مَا يُحِبُ لِيَعْلِيهِ. وَعَلَيْهِ.

(١٢٥٧) وَعن ابْن مَسْعُودٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَأَلْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ أَيُّ الذَّبُ أَعُ الذَّبُ أَعُ الذَّبُ أَعُ الذَّبُ أَعُ الذَّبُ أَعُ الذَّبُ أَعُ الذَّبُ عَلَمَتُ لَهُ يَدَّا، وَهُوَ خَلَقَكَ»، قُلْتُ: ثُمَّ أَيُّ؟ قَالَ: «ثُمَّ أَنْ تَقْتُلَ وَلَدَكَ خَشْيَةً أَنْ يَأْكُلُ مَعَكَ». قُلْتُ: ثُمَّ أَيُّ؟ قَالَ: مُثَقِّقٌ عَلَيْهِ. قَلْتُ: ثُمَّ أَيُّ؟ قَالَ: ثُمَّ أَنْ يَأْكُلُ مَعَكَ». قُلْتُ: ثُمَّ أَيْ

^[1] Disobedience of one's parents is considered to be a major sin, as long as they have not ordered you to do something contrary to the injunction of the Shart'a.

^[2] This *Hadīth* indicates that one has a tremendous obligation towards his neighbor (and brother) since the same has been declared as the sign of Faith.

^[3] This *Hadītb* alludes to a principle that the major sins, depending on their severity, differ from each other. A sinful act of adultery is forbidden in general, but committing such an act with a neighbor's wife is the most despicable crime.

man's mother who then reviles his."[1] [Agreed upon].

1259. Narrated Abū Ayūb 🐟: Allāh's Messenger said, "It is not permissible for a Muslim to avoid his brother for more than three nights.^[2] When they meet, this one turns away (from this one) and that one turns away (from the other), and the best of them is the one who greets (the other one) first." [Agreed upon].

1260. Narrated Jäbir &: Alläh's Messenger 鑑 said, "Every act of goodness is Sadaga."[3] [Al-Bukhāri reported it].

1261. Narrated Abū Dharr 🐟: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Do not consider any act of goodness insignificant, [4] even if it is meeting your brother with a cheerful face."

1262. Narrated (Abū Dharr) 🐟: Allāh's Messenger 鑑 said, "When you make some soup, increase its water and keep your neighbors in mind."[5] [Muslim reported the two Haditb).

(١٢٥٩) وَعَنْ أَبِي أَيُّوبَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ قَالَ: «لَا يَحِلُّ لِمُسْلِم أَنْ يَهْجُرَ أَخَاهُ فَوْقَ ثَلَاث لَيَالٍ. يَلْتَقِيَان فَكُوْ ضُ هَٰذَا وَيُعْرِضُ هَٰذَا، وَخَيْرُهُمَا الَّذِي تَنْدَأُ بِالسَّلَامِ ». مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٢٦٠) وَعَنْ جَابِر رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «كُلُّ مَعْرُوفِ صَدَقَةٌ ١٠ أَخْرَجَهُ النُّخَارِيُّ.

(١٢٦١) وَعَنْ أَبِي ذَرٌّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا تَحْقِرَنَّ مِنَ المَعْرُوفِ شَيْئًا، وَلَوْ أَنْ تَلْقَى أَخَاكَ بِوَجْهِ

(١٢٦٢) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ الله ﷺ: «إذَا طَبَخْتَ مَرَقَةً فَأَكْثِرْ مَآءَهَا، وَتَعَاهَدْ جِيرَانَكَ». أَخْرَجَهُمَا مُسْلِمٌ.

(١٢٦٣) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ Allāh's ﷺ 1263. Narrated Abū Huraira

^[1] The principle which is inferred from this Hadīth is that any action which leads to the forbidden is also forbidden, even if the one who does such an action has not intended anything forbidden.

^[2] If the reasons of such an ill will are personal matters, it is not permitted that an estrangement thus caused be continued longer than three days. But if the same is based on a religious matter, there is no limit specified to such an estrangement, as the same is a part of Faith itself.

^[3] This states that Sadaqa (charity) does not mean giving away something out of one's wealth alone. In fact, the performing of any good deed, or refraining from any evil deed, is an act of charity.

^[4] Cheerfulness, as it appears, seems to be a very small thing but the same is rated and classified as a great virtue.

^[5] This ruling is to be treated as compulsory if the neighbor is poor. But if one's neighbor is rich, then this ruling is to be treated as a matter of preference. The Prophet # stated, "Whenever Gabriel came to me, he persistently kept emphasizing on the rights of one's neighbor - to such an extent that it led me into thinking perhaps a neighbor may be declared as the inheritor of one's legacy."

Messenger ﷺ said, "If anyone removes one of the anxieties of this world from a believer, [1] Allāh will remove one of the anxieties of the Day of Resurrection from him; if anyone relieves (the burden) of one who is destitute, Allāh will relieve (his burden) in this world and in the next; and if anyone conceals (the faults of) a Muslim, Allāh will conceal (his faults) in this world and in the next. Allāh helps (His) servant as long as the servant helps his brother." [Muslim reported it].

1264. Narrated Ibn Mas'ūd 🛎: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "He who guides to something good will have a reward similar to that of the one who acts upon it." [Muslim reported it].

1265. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . The Prophet said, "If anyone seeks protection in Allāh's Name, grant him protection; if anyone asks you (for something) in Allāh's Name, give him; and if anyone does a good deed for you, recompense him; but if you do not have the means to do so, supplicate for him." [Al-Baihaqi reported it].

Chapter 3 ASCETISM AND PIETY^[2]

1266. An-Nu'mān bin Bashir . I heard Allāh's Messenger saying — Nu'mān pointed with his two fingers to his ears — "What is lawful is clear and what is unlawful is clear, but between them are certain doubtful matters^[3] which many people do not know. Thus, he who

قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَنْ نَفَّسَ عَنْ مُسْلِمٍ كُرْبَةً مِنْ كُربِ الدُّنْيَا، نَفِّسَ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ كُرْبَةً مِنْ كُربِ الدُّنْيَا، نَفِّسَ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ مُعْمِي، يَشَرَ اللَّهُ عَلَيهِ فِي الدُّنْيَا وَالأَخِرَةِ. وَمَنْ مَشْلِماً، سَتَرَهُ اللَّهُ فِي الدُّنْيَا وَالآَخِرَةِ، وَمَنْ المَبْدِمَ عُونِ المَبْيِدِ مَا كَانَ العَبْدُ فِي عَوْنِ إِلَيْهِ مَا كَانَ العَبْدُ فِي عَوْنِ أَخِيرَةً، أَخِيرَةً، أَخْرِبَهُ مُسْلِماً، أَخْرَجُهُ مُسْلِمًا، أَخْرِبَهُ مُسْلِمًا، أَخْرَجُهُ مُسْلِمًا،

(۱۲۲۹) وَعَنِ ابْنِ مَسْعُودٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَنْ دَلَّ عَلَى خَيْرِ فَلَهُ مِثْلُ أَجْرٍ فَاعِلِهِ". أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(١٢٦٥) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَهُمَا، عَنِ اللَّهِ تَعَالَى عَهُمَا، عَنِ اللَّهِ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا، عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: "مَن اسْتَعَادَكُمْ بِاشْ فَأَعْطُوهُ، وَمَنْ أَتَى إِلَيْكُمْ مَعُرُوفًا فَكَافِئُوهُ، فَإِنْ لَمْ تَجِدُوا فَادَعُوا لَهُ». أَخْرَجَهُ البَيْهَتِيُّ.

٣ - بَابُ الزُّهْدِ وَالوَرَعِ

(١٢٦٦) وَعَن النُّعْمَان بْن بَشِيرٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ
تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللَّهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ
- وَأَهْوَى النُّعْمَانُ بِإِصْبَعَيْهِ إِلىٰ أُذْنَيهِ -: "إِنَّ الحَرَامَ بَيِّنْ، وَبَيْنَهُمَا الحَرَامَ بَيِّنْ، وَبَيْنَهُمَا مُشْتَهِهَاتٌ، لَا يَعْلَمُهُنَّ كَثِيرٌ مِنَ النَّاسِ، فَمَن

^[1] This Hadīth proves the superiority of help provided for other Muslims.

^[2] The Arabic word translated here as piety is *Wara*, which means to keep oneself aloof from doubtful matters lest one should indulge in forbidden things unknowingly.

^[3] This Haditb pertains to the principles of Islam. Mushtabibāt are the things and matters whose arguments whether for them or against them seem to be equal. Hence, the religious scholars differ about their prohibition or allowance. The corruption or reformation of one's body is based on the corruption or reformation of one's heart. The reason for this phenomenon is that the heart governs the whole body. If a king happens to be morally

guards against doubtful matters keeps his religion and his honor safe, but he who falls into doubtful matters falls into what is unlawful, just as a shepherd who pastures his animals around a sanctuary, all but grazing therein. Surely, every king has a sanctuary, and Allāh's sanctuary is His prohibitions. Surely, there is a piece of flesh in the body, if it is healthy, the whole body is healthy, but if it is diseased, the whole body will be diseased. Surely, it is the heart." [Agreed upon].

1267. Narrated Abū Huraira : Allāh's Messenger : said, "Wretched is the slave of the Dinār, the Dirham, and the plush cloth. If such a one is given (anything of the worldly pleasures) he is pleased (with Allah), but if he is not given (these thing), he is displeased (with Allah)." [Al-Bukhāri reported it].

1268. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . Allāh's Messenger ﷺ caught hold of my shoulders and said, "Be in the world as though you were a stranger or a wayfarer." Ibn 'Umar (*) used to say, "If you are alive in the evening, do not expect to be alive till the morning and if you are alive in the morning do not expect to be alive till the evening, and take from your health for your sickness, and from your life for your death." [Al-Bukhāri reported it].

1269. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: Allāh's Messenger # said, "He who imitates

اتَّقَى الشُّبُهَاتِ فَقَدِ اسْتَبْراً لِدِينِهِ وَعِرْضِهِ، وَمَنْ وَقَعَ فِي الشُّبُهَاتِ وَقَعَ فِي الحَرَامِ. كالرَّاعِي يَرْعَى حَوْلَ الجِمَى يُوشِكُ أَنْ يَقَعَ فِيهِ. أَلَا! وَإِنَّ لِكُلِّ مَلِكِ حِمَّى، أَلَا! وَإِنَّ حِمَى اللهِ مَحَارِمُهُ. أَلَا! وَإِنَّ فِي الجَسَدِ مُضْغَةً إِذَا صَلَحَتْ صَلَحَ الجَسَدُ كُلُّهُ، وَإِذَا فَسَدَتْ فَسَدَ الجَسَدُ كُلُهُ، أَلَا! وَهِيَ القَلْبُ». مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٣٦٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرِئِرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "تَعِسَ عَبْدُ الدِّينَارِ وَالدِّرْهُمْ, وَالقَطِيفَةِ، إِنْ أَعْطِيَ رَضِيَ، وَإِنْ لَمْ يُعْطُ لَمْ يُرْضَّ. أَخْرَجُهُ البُّخَارِيُّ.

(١٢٦٨) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَهُمَا قَالَ: أَخَذَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ بِمَنْكِيَتَ، فَقَالَ: اللهِ ﷺ بِمَنْكِينَةً، فَقَالَ: اللهُ عَلَى اللهُ ثَنَا كَأَنَّكَ غَرِبِّ أَوْ عَابِرُ مَسِيلٍ، وَكَانَ ابْنُ عُمَرَ يَقُولُ: إِذَا أَمْسَيْتَ فَلَا تَنْتَظِرِ الصَّبَاحَ، وَإِذَا أَصْبَحْتَ لَيسَقَمِكَ، وَمِنْ عَجْتِكَ لِسَقَمِكَ، وَمِنْ عَجْتُهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(١٢٦٩) وَعَن ِ ابْن ِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى

warped, his subjects are likely to be corrupt also. Similarly, if a king is pious, his subjects are likely to be pious also.

^[1] This refers to a greedy person. If he continues to enjoy the worldly pleasures, he will continue to be pleased and contended with Allah. However, if he does not receive these things, he will not only be displeased with Allah, but will also become dissatisfied with himself, subjecting himself to constant misery.

^[2] This means that one should not be inclined towards the worldly enticements, but instead should be content on acquiring what suffices his needs.

any people is one of them." [Abū Dā'ud reported it, and Ibn Hibbān graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ، «مَنْ تَشَبَّة بِقَوْمٍ فَهُوَ مِنْهُمْ". أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ.

1270. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: One day I was riding behind the Prophet # when he said, "Young man, be mindful of Allāh and He will protect you. Be mindful of Allāh^[1] and you will find Him before you, when you ask (for anything) ask it from Allāh, and if you seek help, seek help in Allāh." [Reported by At-Tirmidhi, who verified it as *Hasan* (good) and *Sabib* (authentic)].

(۱۲۷۰) وَعَن ِ ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَهُمَا قَالَ: كُنْتُ خَلْفَ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ يَوْماً فَقَالَ:

هَا غُلَامُ ! الْحَفْظِ اللَّه يَحْفَظْكَ، الْحَفْظِ اللَّه
تَجِدُهُ تُجَاهَكَ، وَإِذَا سَأَلْتَ فَاسْأَلِ اللَّه، وَإِذَا اسْتَعَنْتَ فَاسْتَعِنْ بِاللهِ ، رَوَاهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ ، وَقَالَ:
حَسَنٌ صَحِيمٌ .

1271. Narrated Sahl bin Sa'd &: A man came to the Prophet and said, "O Allāh's Messenger, direct me to a deed which, if I do it, I shall be loved by Allāh and by the people." He replied, "Practice Zubd (abstinence) in the world and Allāh will love you, [2] and abstain from people's possessions and they will love you." [Ibn Mājah and others reported it, and it has a Hasan (good) chain of narrators].

(۱۲۷۱) وَعَنْ سَهْلِ بُنِرَ سَعْدِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما قَالَ: جَآءَ رَجُلٌ إِلَى النَّبِيِّ ﷺ فَقَالَ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! دُلَّنِي عَلَىٰ عَمَلِ عَمَلِ إِذَا عَمِلْتُهُ أَحَبَّنِيَ اللَّهُ، وَأَحْتَنِيَ النَّاسُ. فَقَالَ: الزَّهَدُ فِي الدُّنْيَا، يُحِبَّكَ اللَّهُ، وَازْهَدُ فِيمَا عِنْدَ النَّاسِ، يُحِبُّكُ النَّاسُ». رَوَاهُ ابْنُ مَاجَهُ وَغَيْرُهُ، وَسَنَدُهُ حَسَنٌ.

1272. Narrated Sa'd bin Abū Waqqās 毒: I heard Allāh's Messenger 爨 saying, "Allāh loves the servant who is *taqi* (pious), *gbani* (free of needs), *kbafi* (unnoticed)."[3] [Muslim reported it].

(۱۲۷۲) وَعَنْ سَغْدِ بْنِرِ أَبِي وَقَاصِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَمِغْتُ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ يَتُمُولُ: "إِنَّ اللَّهَ يُحِبُّ العَبْدَ التَّقِيَّ الغَنِيَّ العَبْدَ التَّقِيَّ الغَنِيَّ العَبْدَ التَّقِيَّ الغَنِيَّ العَبْدَ التَّقِيَّ الغَنِيَّ العَبْدَ التَّقِيَّ العَنْمَ المَّنِيِّ العَبْدَ التَّقِيَّ العَبْدَ التَّقِيَّ العَنْمَ المَّذِينَ العَبْدَ التَّقِيَّ العَنْمَ المَّذِينَ العَنْمَ المَّذِينَ العَبْدَ التَّقِيَّ العَنْمَ المَّذِينَ العَنْمَ المَّذِينَ العَنْمَ المَّذِينَ العَلْمُ المَّذِينَ العَلْمَ المَّذِينَ العَبْدَ التَّقِيْمَ المَنْمَ المَّذِينَ المَنْمَ المَّذِينَ المُنْمَالِمُ المَّالِمُ اللهِ المُنْمَلِمُ المَّالِمُ المَالِمُ اللهُ المُنْمَالِمُ اللهُ المُنْمُ المُنْمَالِمُ اللَّهُ المُعْلَقِيْمُ المَّالِمُ اللَّهِ اللَّهُ المُنْمَالِمُ اللَّهُ المُنْمُ المَّلَمُ المُنْمُ المَّلِمُ اللَّهُ المُنْمِقِينَ المُنْمُ المَّالِمُ المُنْمُ المَّالِمُ المَّلِمُ المَّلِمُ المُنْمِلُ المُنْمِقِينَ المُعْلِمُ المُنْمِقِينَ المُعْلِقُ المُنْمُ المَّذِينَ المُعْلِقُ المُنْمُ المَالِمُ المُنْمِلِيمُ المَالِمُ المَالِمُ المَالِمُ المُعْلِمُ المَالِمُ المُعْلِمُ المُعْلِمُ المُعْلِمُ المَالِمُ المِنْمُ المَالِمُ المُعْلِمُ المِنْمُ المِنْمُ المَالِمُ المُعْلِمُ المَالِمُ المُعْلِمُ المُعْلِمُ المُعْلِمُ المَالِمُ المُعْلِمُ المُعْ

^[1] Being mindful (Ht/z) of Allāh suggests that one should have full cognizance of and pay attention to both the Divine commands as well as the prohibitions. Being protected by Allāh (Ht/z) means that Allāh will deliver his slave from the hardships of this world and the Hereafter. This Hadāth inculcates an absolute monotheism that is to be cherished and imbedded with perfection. The Hadāth thus goes that the world in its entirety, is neither capable of inflicting any harm on you, nor could it do you any good. Whatever Allāh wills and commands, shall be.

^[2] The right and the most appropriate course of action for one to become a beloved of Allāh is that he should be totally independent from the world, to put one's trust in what is with Allah, and avoid any desires for what is with the people.

^[3] When Allāh loves His servant He wills for him that which is good, guides him to the right path and is merciful to him. *Taqi* (pious) is the one who carries out the commands of Allah and avoids His prohibitions. *Ghant* (rich) is the one who is rich at heart and thankful to Allah

1273. Narrated Abū Huraira 毒: Allāh's Messenger 靏 said, "Part of a man's good observance of Islam is that he leaves the matters that do not concern him'^[1] [Reported by At-Tirmidhi, who said it is *Hasan* (good)].

(۱۲۷۳) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرِيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: امِنْ مُحْسَنِ إِلْسُلَامِ المَّدِّةِ المِنْ مُحْسَنِ إِلْسُلَامِ المَدْءِ تَرْكُهُ مَا لَا يَغْنِيهِ. رَوَاهُ النَّرْمِيْنَيْ، وَقَالُ: حَسَنْ.

1274. Narrated Al-Miqdām bin Ma'dikarib 本: Allāh's Messenger 織 said, "A human being has not filled any vessel, which is more evil to be filled, than his stomach." [2] [At-Tirmidhi reported it and graded it *Hasan* (good)].

(۱۲۷٤) وَعَن المِفْدَامِ بْن مَعْدِيكَوِبَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «مَا مَلاً ابْنُ آدَمَ وِعَاءَ شَرًّا مِنْ بَطْن.». أَخْرَجَهُ النُّرْدِدِيُّ، وَحَسَنَهُ.

1275. Narrated Anas **a**: Allāh's Messenger **a** said, "All the sons of Adam are sinners, but the best of sinners are those who repent often." [At-Tirmidhi and Ibn Mājah reported it, and it has a *Qawi* (strong) chain of narrators].

(١٢٧٥) وَعَنْ أَنْسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: فَكُلُّ بَنِي آدَمَ خَطَّاءٌ، وَخَيْرُ الخَطَّالِينَ التَّوَّالُمِونَّ». أَخْرَجَهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ وَابْنُ مَاجَهُ، وَسَنَدُهُ قَوِيًّ.

1276. Narrated Anas &: Allāh's Messenger said, "Silence is Wisdom, [4] and few are those who practice it." [Al-Baihaqi reported it in Asb-Shu'ab with a Da'if (weak) chain of narrators, and the correct view is that it is Mawquf i.e. a saying of Luqmān Al-Hakīm].

(۱۲۷٦) وَعَنْ أَنْسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «الصَّمْتُ حِكْمَةٌ، وَقَلِيلٌ فَاعِلُهُ». أَخْرَجُهُ النَّهْقِيُّ فِي الشَّعْبِ بِسَنَدٍ ضَعِيفِ.. وَصَحَّحَ أَنَّهُ مَوْقُوفٌ مِنْ قَوْلِ لَقْمَانَ الحَكِيمِ..

for what He has given him. Khaft (unnoticed) implies a person who is free from hypocrisy and showing-off, while busying oneself with the worship of Allah.

^[1] When a person has an absolute conviction that Allah has a perfect knowledge of whatever I say and do, he is sure to withhold himself from any unnecessary action or speech.

^[2] This *Hadith* explains that going to extremes in one's requirements concerning food (i.e. developing extremely dainty and fastidious tastes regarding culinary delicacies) is very much despised. This is the cause of many religious and worldly vices.

^[4] Many Abādith have been reported comprising instructions in regard to abstinence from idle gossip-mongering. One Hadīth advises that a man should either say that which is good or remain silent.

Chapter 4 WARNING AGAINST EVIL CONDUCT

3 - بَابُ التَّرْهِيبِ مِنْ مَسَاوِيءِ الأَخْلَاقِ

1277. Narrated Abū Huraira 卷: Allāh's Messenger 鑑 said, "Avoid envy,^[1] for envy devours the good deeds just as fire devours firewood." [Abū Dā'ud reported it]. Ibn Mājah reported something similar to the aforesaid Hadīth from the Hadīth of Anas (卷).

(۱۲۷۷) عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ وَالحَسَدَ، وَالَّ قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "إِنَّاكُمْ وَالحَسَدَ، فَإِنَّ الحَسَنَاتِ، كَمَا تَأْكُلُ النَّارُ الخَسَنَاتِ، كَمَا تَأْكُلُ النَّارُ الحَسَنَاتِ، كَمَا تَأْكُلُ النَّارُ الحَصَنَاتِ، وَلاَبْنِ مَاجَهُ مِنْ الحَطَبَ، أَنُو دَاوُدَ، وَلاَبْنِ مَاجَهُ مِنْ حَدِه. حَدِيثِ أَنْسٍ نحوه.

1278. Narrated (Abū Huraira) \$\infty\$: Allāh's Messenger \$\s\vec{\sigma}\$ said, "The strong man is not the good wrestler; but the strong man is he who controls himself when he is angry." [2] [Agreed upon].

(١٢٧٨) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَيْسَ الشَّدِيدُ بِالصُّرَعَةِ، إِنَّمَا الشَّدِيدُ الَّذِي يُمْلِكُ نَفْسَهُ عِنْدَ الغَضَبِ». مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

1279. Narrated Ibn 'Umar &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Az-Zulm (Oppression)^[3] will turn into darkness on the Day of Resurrection." [Agreed upon].

(۱۲۷۹) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «الظَّلْمُ ظُلُمَاتٌ يَوْمَ القِيَامَةِ». مُثَقَّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

1280. Narrated Jābir &: Allāh's Messenger said, "Beware of oppression, for oppression will turn into darkness on the Day of Resurrection; and beware of niggardliness, for niggardliness destroyed those who were before you." [Muslim reported it]. (١٢٨٠) وَعَنْ جَابِرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ نَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «اتَّقُوا الظُّلْمَ، فَإِنَّ الظُّلْمَ ظُلُمَاتٌ يَوْمَ القِيَّامَةِ. وَاتَّقُوا الشُّحَّ فَإِنَّهُ أَلْمَاكَ مَنْ كَانَ قَبْلَكُمْ». أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

^[1] The Arabic word *Hasad* (envy, jealousy) refers to a person who is envious of another person's possessions and desires that that person be deprived of them and at the same time aspires for those advantages for himself. This is forbidden. If a man desires something for himself but does not want another person to be deprived of it, such a feeling is called *Ghibta*. This feeling is very much desirable in religious matters. A nursing of this kind of feeling in one's worldly affairs is forgiven. We learn through this *Hadītb* that jealousy is one of the major vices as it nullifies good deeds. We should bear in mind that these are none but the major vices that nullify and destroy one's good deeds.

¹²¹ This proves the excellence of the spirit of forgiveness and pardoning to the extent that one should refrain from taking retaliatory action when provoked by anger, and thus should learn to control himself. Of those things that aid in controlling anger are: Seeking refuge in Allah from Satan, performing ablution or bath, and sitting or lying down.

^[3] Zulm (oppression, injustice) means putting something in other than it proper place, or concealment of truth by hiding it so that the truth becomes invisible. On the Day of Judgement, it will appear to be in the form of darkness. This Hadith informs us that oppression is forbidden whether it be on someone's life, honor or wealth.

1281. Narrated Mahmūd bin Labīd 毒: Allāh's Messenger 經 said, "The thing I fear most for you is the lesser *Shirk* (polytheism) – the showing-off^[1] (of good deeds)." [Ahmad reported it with a *Hasan* (good) chain of narrators].

1282. Narrated Abū Huraira &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "There are three signs of a hypocrite; [2] when he speaks, he lies; when he makes a promise, he breaks it; and when he is trusted, he betrays his trust." [Agreed upon]. Al-Bukhāri and Muslim also reported the *Hadīth* of 'Abdullāh bin 'Amr & (with this addition): "and when he quarrels, he abuses (i.e. insults others)."

1283. Narrated Ibn Mas'ūd 🎄: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "Reviling a Muslim is disobedience (to Allāh), and fighting with him is *Kufr*^[3] (infidelity)." [Agreed upon].

1284. Narrated Abū Huraira *****: Allāh's Messenger ***** said, "Avoid suspicion, ^[4] for indeed suspicion is the worst of false speech." [Agreed upon].

(۱۲۸۱) وَعَنْ مُخْمُودِ بْنِ لَبِيدٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: اإِنَّ أَخُوفُ مَا أَخَافُ عَلَيْكُمُ الشَّرُكُ الأَصْمَرُ: الرَّيَاءُ». أَخْرَجَهُ أَخْمَدُ بِإِسْنَادِ حَسَن.

(۱۲۸۷) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنُهُ وَاللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنُهُ وَلَا وَ الْمُنَافِقِ وَاللَّهُ الْمُنَافِقِ وَاللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ وَاللَّهُ الْمُنَافِقِ وَلَا اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ. وَلَهُمَا مِنْ خَلِيثَ عَلَيْهِ. وَلَهُمَا مِنْ خَيْتُ مَنْفُقٌ عَلَيْهِ. وَلَهُمَا مِنْ خَيْرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا: وَوَلَهُمَا مِنْ وَلَهُمَا مِنْ مُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا: وَوَلَهُمَا مَنْمُونَ وَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا:

(۱۲۸۳) وَعَن ِ ابْنِ مَسْعُودٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "سِبَابُ المُسْلِمِ فُسُوقٌ، وَقِنَالُهُ كُفُرْ*. مُتَّقَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٢٨٤) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَئُوهَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "إِيَّاتُحُمْ وَالظَّنَّ، فَإِنَّ الظَّنَّ أَكْذَبُ الحَدِيثِ». مُتَقَنَّ عَلَيْهِ.

^[1] Riya' (showing-off) is when someone fulfill any of the commands of Allah or abstains from what Allah has prohibited, but he does the same to please someone other than Allah, or for the purpose of acquiring some worldly benefit. This showing-off is of two kinds role is that some one performs a good deed, displaying it in front of the people. The second one is that if someone has done a good deed which the people do not know about, he should himself proclaim it and make it known to the public. This kind of showing-off is called Sum'a and the former one Riya'. Both of these are forbidden.

^[2] Hypocrisy is of two kinds: hypocrisy in action and hypocrisy in faith. Hypocrisy in action has already been mentioned in this *Hadith*. The hypocrisy in faith is when someone conceals disbelief in his heart but outwardly pretends to be a believer. The hypocrisy in faith is worst than disbelief itself. Hypocrisy in action is one of the major sins which can be forgiven.

^[3] Fisq is that a man should fall into disobedience of Allāh. For example, Allāh has forbidden a Muslim to use words of abuse, and so long as a Muslim defies Allāh's commands by calling someone names, he becomes a Fāsiq (a sinner). If someone deems the murder of a Muslim permissible and fights that person while he is a Muslim, this is what is referred to in the Hadith as Kufr (disbelief). If these two things are not to be found in him, then the word Kufr (disbelief) may only be applied on him metaphorically, in that fighting a Muslim in from the actions of the disbelievers.

^[4] Zann (baseless suspicion) has been construed as a calumny – false and malicious accusation – by the scholars and calumny is one of the major sinful acts.

1285. Narrated Ma'qil bin Yasār 泰: I heard Allāh's Messenger 鄉 saying, "There is no one whom Allah has placed in charge of people, and who dies while acting unjustly towards those who are under his charge, except that Allāh has forbidden him from Paradise."[1] [Agreed upon].

1286. Narrated 'Aisha &: Allāh's Messenger said, "O Allāh, whoever is given charge over any affair of my *Ummah* (the Muslim people) and causes them distress, then cause him distress." [Muslim reported it].

1287. Narrated Abū Huraira ◆ Allāh's Messenger 義 said, "When any of you fights, he must avoid (hitting) the face."^[2] [Agreed upon].

(١٢٨٥) وَعَنْ مَعْقِلِ بْنِ يَسَارٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ لَمَانَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَمِعْتُ رَسُولَ اللَّهِ عَلَيْهِ يَقُولُ: هَمَا مِنْ عَنْهِ يَسْقِرْعِيهِ اللَّهُ رَعِيَّةً يَمُوتُ يَوْمَ يَوْمَ يَعُومُ لَيَوْمَ لِكَوْمَ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ لِلَّا حَرَّمَ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ الجَنَّةَ مُتُوتُ اللَّهُ عَلَيْهِ الجَنَّةَ مُتَّالِهِ مُثَقَّقً عَلَيْهِ.

(١٢٨٦) وَعَنْ عَآتِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْها قَالَتْ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «اللَّهُمَّ مَنْ وَلِيَ مِنْ أَمْرِ أُمْتِي شَيْناً فَشَقَّ عَلَيْهِمْ فَاشْقُقْ عَلَيْهِهُ. أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(۱۲۸۷) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِذَا قَاتَلَ أَحَدُكُمْ فَلْيَجْتَنِبِ الرَّجْةَ». مُثَنَّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

1288. Narrated (Abū Huraira) 🎄: A man said, "O Messenger of Allāh, advice me." He (ﷺ) said, "Do not get angry." [3] The man repeated that several times and he replied, "Do not get angry." [Al-Bukhāri reported it].

 (۱۲۸۸) وَعَنْهُ، أَنَّ رَجُلاً قَالَ: يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ! أَوْصِنِي. قَالَ: «لَا تَغْضَبْ». فَرَقَّدَ مِرَاراً، وَقَالَ: «لَا تَغْضَبْ». أَخْرَجُهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(١٢٨٩) وَعَنْ خَوْلَةَ الأَنْصَارِيَّةِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِنَّ رِجَالاً يَتَخَوِّضُونَ فِي مَال ِ اللهِ بِغَيْرِ حَقٌ، فَلَهُمُ

 $[\]overline{^{(1)}}$ This states that Ghash is one of the major sins because nothing forbids one from entering Paradise except the one who has committed a major sinful act. The rulers are hereby instructed that they must treat Muslims justly. It warns that a great penalty awaits the tyrant rulers.

^[2] This Hadīth indicates the prohibition of striking someone in the face, even while carrying out a prescribed punishment for a sinner. Even animals should not be hit in the face.

⁽³⁾ This Hadith is an embodiment of the virtues in this world and the Hereafter. This is due to the fact that a man is deprived of soft-heartiness as a result of anger on one hand, while on the other hand the people suffer from an unfair uneasiness and torture as a result of his anger. This is a double-edge crime, which affects the angry person as well as those whom he is angry with.

^[4] Khaula, daughter of Thāmir Al-Ansāriya was nicknamed Umm Muhammad and her father was Qais bin Qahad, otherwise nicknamed Thāmir. She was from Banu Mālik bin An-Najār and was married to Hamza bin 'Abdul-Muttalib, and when he was killed at Uhud she was married by An-Nu'mān bin Al-'Ajlān Al-Ansāri Az-Zuraqi.

^[5] This *Hadith* is an evidence that even the ruler may not unfairly misappropriate the funds of *Baitul-Māl* (a state treasury) as this too is a major sin.

the Hell-Fire on the Day of Resurrection." [Al-Bukhāri reported it].

1290. Narrated Abū Dharr & quoted the Prophet saying among what he narrated from his Lord [Allāh, the Most High] that He has said, "O My slaves, I have made Zulm (oppression, injustice) unlawful for Myself and I have made it unlawful among you, so do not oppress one another". [Muslim reported it].

1291. Narrated Abū Huraira *: Allāh's Messenger *: asked, "Do you know what is backbiting?" They replied, "Allāh and His Messenger know best." He said, "It is saying something about your brother which he dislikes." Someone asked, "What if what I said about my brother was true?", He replied, "If what you say about him is true you have backbitten 11 him, and if it is not true you have slandered him." [Muslim reported it].

1292. Narrated (Abū Huraira) 🐟: Allāh's Messenger # said, "Do not envy one another, do not outbid one another (with a view to raising the price), do not have hatred for one another, do not boycott one another, and do not enter into a transaction when the other has already entered into it; and be brothers (to one another) O servants of Allāh. A Muslim is the brother of a Muslim. He does not wrong him, nor desert him, nor despise him. Piety is found here -(pointing three times to his chest) despising his Muslim brother is enough evil for any man to do. Every Muslim's blood, property and honor are unlawful^[2] to be violated by another Muslim." [Muslim reported it].

النَّارُ يَوْمَ القِيَامَةِ». أَخْرَجَهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(۱۲۹۰) وَعَنْ أَبِي ذَرِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، عَن النَّبِيِّ ﷺ، فِيمَا يَرْوِيهِ عَنْ رَبُّهِ، قَالَ: "يَا عِبَادِي! إِنِّي حَرَّمْتُ الظَّلْمَ عَلَى نَفْسِي، وَجَعَلْتُهُ بَيْتُكُمْ مُحَرَّمًا، فَلَا تَظَالَمُوا». أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(۱۲۹۱) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى
عَنُهُ، أَنَّ رَسُولُ اللهِ قَالَ: «أَتَذْرُونَ مَا الغِيبَةُ؟»
قَالُوا: اللَّهُ وَرَسُولُهُ أَعْلَمُ. قَالَ: «ذِكْرُكَ أَخَاكَ
بِمَا يَكُرُهُ». قَالَ: أَفَرَأَيْتَ إِنْ كَانَ فِي أَخِي مَا أَقُولُ فَقَدِ اخْتَبَتُهُ،
أَوْلُ؟ قَالَ: «إِنْ كَانَ فِيهِ مَا تَقُولُ فَقَدِ اخْتَبَتُهُ،
وَإِنْ لَمْ يَكُنْ فِيهِ فَقَدْ بَهَنَّهُ». أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(۱۲۹۳) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "لَا تَخَاسَدُوا، وَلَا تَبَاعَشُوا، وَلَا تَبَاعَشُوا، وَلَا تَبَاعَشُوا، وَلَا تَبَاعَشُوا، وَلَا تَبَاعَشُوا، وَلَا تَبَاعُشُوا، وَلَا تَخْرَنُوا عِبَادَ اللهِ إِخْوَاناً، المُسْلِمُ أَخُو المُسْلِمُ الْحُولُانِ المُسْلِمُ الْحُولُانِ المُسْلِمُ الْحُورُهُ، وَلَا يَخْفَرُهُ، وَلَا يَخْفَرُهُ، وَلَا يَخْفَرُهُ، مَوْلا يَخْفَرُهُ، مَوَلا يَخْفَرُهُ، مَوْلا المُسْلِم عَلَى المُسْلِم حَرَامٌ وَعِرْضُهُ». أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

^[1] This *Hadīth* has been reported by many of the Companions of the Prophet $\frac{1}{2}$ and it has been narrated in different ways. There is a common consensus that backbiting is forbidden and the majority of the scholars observe it to be one of the major sins.

^[2] We learn through this *Hadith* that it is forbidden for a Muslim to bear a grudge against another Muslim.

1294. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Don't dispute with your brother; don't make jokes about him (maliciously); and don't make him a promise, and then break it." [At-Tirmidhi reported it with a Da'if (weak) chain of narrators].

1295. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri &: Allāh's Messenger said, "There are two characteristics which are not combined in a believer; miserliness and bad character." [At-Tirmidhi reported it and there is weakness in its chain of narrators].

1297. Narrated Abū Sirma^[3] &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "He who causes harm to a Muslim will be harmed by Allāh,^[4] and he who acts in a hostile

(۱۲۹۳) وَعَنْ قُطْبَةَ بْنِ مَالِكِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ: «اللَّهُمَّ جَبِّنِي مُنْكَرَاتِ الأَخْلَاقِ، وَالأَغْمَالِ، وَالأَخْرَاتِ الأَخْلَاقِ، وَالأَغْمَالِ، وَالأَخْرَاءِ». أَخْرَجَهُ النِّنْوِيذِيُّ، وَاللَّمُؤَلِّةُ لَدُ.

(١٢٩٥) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: "خَصْلْتَانِ لَا تَجْتَمِعَانِ فِي مُؤْمِنِ: البُخْلُ وَسُوءُ الخُلُقِ". أَخْرَجَهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَفِي سَنَدِهِ ضَعْفٌ.

(١٢٩٦) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَثِيرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «المُشتَبَّانِ مَا قَالَا فَعَلَى البَادِىءِ، مَا لَمْ يَعْتَدِ المَظْلُومُ». أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(١٢٩٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي صِرْمَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَنْ ضَارً مُسْلِماً ضَارًهُ اللَّهُ، وَمَنْ شَاقً مُسْلِماً شَاقً اللَّهُ

⁽¹⁾ He was a *Sahābi* from Banu Tha'laba bin Sa'd bin Dhubyān, also called Adh-Dhubyāni. He was a resident of Kufa and has narrated some *Abadīth* narrated from him by his nephew Ziyād bin 'Alāqa.

^[2] This *Hadith* clarifies two things. The first is that the act of avenging oneself, on someone who has committed an inequity, is fair and permissible. Secondly, the whole sin shall be incurred by the one who starts the quarrel and perpetrates it, as long as the other party does not exceed limits by committing an aggression. Despite all of this, it is better to grant one's forgiveness to such evildoers.

^[3] He is Mālik bin Qais or Qais bin Mālik and was a Sabābi from the tribe of Māzin. He took part in Badr and the rest of the other battles and has narrated some Abadītb.

^[4] This *Hadīth* bears a warning against causing any harm to a Muslim, even if it seems to be of a very minor nature.

manner against a Muslim, will be treated in a hostile manner by Allāh." [Abū Dā'ud and At-Tirmidhi reported it, and the latter graded it *Hasan* (good)].

1298. Narrated Abū Ad-Dardā'^[1] Allāh's Messenger 鸞 said, "Verily! Allāh hates Al-Fāhish (who acts shamelessly) and Al-Badhi' (who uses obscene language)." [At-Tirmidhi reported and graded it Sahib (authentic)].

1299. He (At-Tirmidhi) reported from the *Hadīth* of Ibn Mas'ūd & who narrated (the Prophet & as saying): "A believer is not given to accusing others (falsely), nor cursing them, [2] nor acting shamelessly, nor speaking obscenities." [At-Tirmidhi graded it *Hasan* (good), and Al-Hākim graded it *Sabīth* (authentic). However, Ad-Dāraqutni held that the stronger view is that it is *Mawqūf* (a saying of a Companion)].

1300. Narrated 'Aisha 's: Allāh's Messenger said, "Do not revile the dead, [3] for they have come to what they have sent before them." [Al-Bukhāri reported it].

عَلَيْهِ». أَخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ وَالتَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَحَسَّنَهُ.

(١٢٩٨) وَعَنْ أَبِي الدَّرْدَآءِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِنَّ اللَّهَ يَبْغُضُ الفَاحِشُ البَذِيءَ». أَخْرَجُهُ النُّرْمِذِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ.

(١٢٩٩) وَلَهُ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَبْنِ مَنْعُودِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ - رَفَعَهُ -: «لَيْسَ المُؤْمِنُ بِالطَّعَّانِ، وَلَا اللَّئَانِ، وَلَا الفَاحِشِ، وَلَا البَّذِيءِ. وَحَسَّنَهُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ، وَرَجَّحَ الدَّارُقُطْنِهُ وَفَفْهُ.

(١٣٠٠) وَعَنْ عَلَيْشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا
 قَالَتْ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «لَا تَسُبُّوا الأَمْوَاتَ، فَإِنَّهُمْ قَدْ أَفْضَوْا إِلَى مَا قَدَّمُوا».
 أَخْرَجَهُ البُّخَارِيُ.

1301. Narrated Hudhaifa 🐠: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "A *Qattāt* (scandalmonger) will not enter

(١٣٠١) وَعَنْ حُذَيْفَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "لَا يَذْخُلُ الجَنَّة

^[1] Abū Ad-Dardā' was called 'Uwaimir bin Zaid or Ibn 'Aamir or Ibn Mālik bin 'Abdullāh bin Qais. He was an Ansāri from Al-Khazraj tribe. He was among the greatest and most ascetic Sabāba. He became a Muslim on the day of the battle of Badr and took part in Uhud. 'Umar نوضي الله عنه included him among those who took part in Badr. He compiled the Qur'ān and was appointed as the Qādi of Damascus. He has many merits and was quoted to have said, "A fame of one hour could cause a long sadness." He died in 32 H.

^{12]} This *Haddith* clarifies that it is not the behavior of a Muslim to call someone bad names or curse them. It is, however, permissible to curse someone who has specifically been cursed by Allah and His Messenger (ﷺ), or to pronounce the curse of Allah – in general – upon the disbelievers, evildoers, etc. Otherwise, it is not permissible to curse – by name – specific people.

^[3] It, thus, becomes known to us that the act of calling a dead person bad names is forbidden. This is primarily in reference to the Muslim dead, and may include a disbeliever, if cursing him would cause harm to a believer who is related to him

Paradise."[1] [Agreed upon].

قَتَّاتٌ». مُتَّفَقٌ عَلَيْه.

ارْنِ أَبِي الدُّنْيَا.

1302. Narrated Anas : Allāh's Messenger said, "Whoever restrained his anger, Allāh will keep His punishment from him (on the Day of Resurrection)." [At-Tabarāni reported it in Al-Awsat]. The aforesaid Hadīth has a Shāhid (supporting narration) in the Hadīth of Ibn 'Umar (s), reported by Ibn Abū Ad-Dunya.

(١٣٠٣) وَعَنْ أَبِي بَكْرِ الصَّدِّيقِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ يَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا يَتَخُلُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿لَا يَخِيلُ، وَلَا سَيِّءُ يَلْخُلُ الجَنَّةُ خَبُّ، وَلَا بَخِيلٌ، وَلَا سَيِّءُ المَلَكَةِ». أَخْرَجُهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَفَرَقَهُ حَدِيثَيْنِ.، وَفَرَقَهُ حَدِيثَيْنِ.، وَفَرَقَهُ حَدِيثَيْن

(١٣٠٢) وَعَنْ أَنَس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ

قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «مَنْ كَفَّ غَضَبَهُ

كَفَّ اللَّهُ عَنْهُ عَذَانَهُ". أَخْرَجَهُ الطَّبَرَانِيُّ فِي

الأَوْسَطِ. وَلَهُ شَاهِدٌ مِنْ حَدِيثِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ عِنْدَ

1303. Narrated Abū Bakr As-Siddiq &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "A deceiver, a stingy person, and one who abuses those under his authority (human or animal) will not enter Paradise." [Reported by At-Tirmidhi who separated it into two *Hadīth*, and there is weakness in its chain of narrators].

(١٣٠٤) وَعَن ابْن عَبَّاس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: امْنُ تَسَمَّعَ حَدِيثَ قَوْم ، وَهُمْ لُهُ كَارِهُونَ، صُبَّ فِي أُذُنَّيهِ الأَنْك يَوْمُ القِيَامَةِ". يَعْني الرَّصَاص. أَخْرَجَهُ البُّنَادِيُّ. الرَّصَاص. أَخْرَجَهُ البُّنَادِيُّ.

(١٣٠٥) وَعَنْ أَنَس رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ

قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «طُوبَى لِمَنْ شَغَلَهُ

1304. Narrated Ibn 'Abbās &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "If anyone listened to the talk of some people, while they dislike him doing so, then molten lead will be poured into his ears on the Day of Resurrection." [Al-Bukhāri reported it].

عَيْثُهُ عَنْ عُمُوبِ النَّاسِ ۗ. أَخْرَجَهُ البَرَّارُ بِإِسْنَادِ حَسَنر. (١٣٠٦) وَعَنرِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَامُمُنا قَالَ: قَالَ كَشْدارُ اللهِ ﷺ: هَذْ تَعَالَمَ

1305. Anas 秦: Allāh's Messenger 選 said, "Tubā (a tree in paradise) will be for he who is too occupied with his own defects to mention the defects of other people." [Al-Bazzār reported it with a Hasan (good) chain of narrators].

(١٣٠٦) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَنْ تَعَاظَمَ فِي يَفْيِدِهِ وَاللَّهَ وَهُوَ عَلَيْهِ فِي نَفْسِهِ، وَالْحَتَالَ فِي مِشْيَتِهِ لَقِيَ اللَّهَ وَهُوَ عَلَيْهِ غَضْبَانُ». أَخْرَجُهُ الحَاكِمُ، وَرِجَالُهُ يَقَاتُ.

1306. Ibn 'Umar &: Allāh's Messenger said, "Whoever exalts himself and walks proudly, Allāh will be angry with him when he meets Him (on the Day of Resurrection)." [2] [Al-Hākim reported it, and its narrators are reliable].

^[1] Hāfiz Mundhiri observes that according to a common consensus of the scholars of the *Ummab*, the practice of scandalmongering – i.e. carrying tales from one person to another to sow dissension between them – is forbidden. This is one of the major sins.

^[2] This *Hadīth* informs us that pride and arrogance is forbidden and is considered to be a major sin. It is reported by At-Tirmidhi that, the one who has even an iota of pride in his heart, shall not enter Paradise.

1307. Narrated Sahl bin Sa'd ♣: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "Haste is from Satan." [At-Tirmidhi reported it and said it is *Hasan*].

1308. Narrated 'Aisha 's: Allāh's Messenger said, "Shu'm (Misfortune) is (the result of) bad character." [1] [Ahmad reported it, but there is weakness in its chain of narrators].

1309. Narrated Abū Ad-Dardā' &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "Those accustomed to cursing will not be sbufa'ā (intercessors) nor Sbubadā (witnesses or martyrs) on the Day of Resurrection." [Muslim reported it].

1310. Narrated Mu'ādh bin Jabal &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Whoever insults his brother due to a sin (which he has committed), will not die until he commits it himself." [2] [At-Tirmidhi reported it and graded it as *Hasan* (good), while its chain is *Munqati* '(broken)].

1311. Bahz bin Hakim, on his father's authority, that his grandfather sanarrated Allāh's Messenger sanarrated Allāh's Messenger sanarrated sana

1312. Narrated Anas 🐟: The Prophet 🍇 said, "The atonement of backbiting a

(۱۳۰۷) وَعَنْ سَهْلِ بُنِ سَعْدِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُما قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: «المَجَلَةُ مِنَ الشَّيْطَانِ». أَخْرَجَهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَقَالَ: حَسَدٌ.

(١٣٠٨) وَعَنْ عَآتِشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «الشَّؤْمُ سُوءُ الخُلُقِ.". أَخْرَجَهُ أَخْمَدُ، وَفِي إِسْنَادِو ضَعْفٌ.

(١٣٠٩) وَعَنْ أَبِي الدُّرْدَآءِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِنَّ اللَّمَّانِينَ لَا يَكُونُونَ شُفَعًا وَلَا شُهَدَاءَ يَوْمَ الفِيَامَةِ». أَخْرَجَهُ مُشْلِمٌ.

(۱۳۱۰) وَعَنْ مُعَاذِ بُنِرِ جَبَلِر رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَنْ عَيَّرَ أَخَاهُ بِذَنْبِرِ لَمْ يَمُثْ حَتَّى يَعْمَلُهُ". أَخْرَجَهُ النُّرْمِذِيُّ، وَحَشَّنُهُ، وَسَنْلُهُ مُنْقَطِعٌ.

(۱۳۱۱) وَعَنْ بَهْزِ بْنِ حَكِيمٍ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ أَبِيهِ، عَنْ جَدُّهِ رَضِي اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "وَنْلٌ لِلَّذِي يُحَدِّثُ يَبْخُذِبُ لِيُضْجِكَ بِهِ الطَّرْمَ، وَيْلٌ لَهُ، أَمَّمُ وَيْلٌ لَهُ». أَخْرَجَهُ الثَّلَاثَةُ، وَاسْنَادُهُ وَيْلٌ لَهُ». أَخْرَجَهُ الثَّلَاثَةُ، وَاسْنَادُهُ وَيْقً.

(١٣١٢) وَعَنْ أَنَسٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ،

^[1] The evil that befalls a human being is caused by his own bad behavior. This *Hadith* also suggests that good and bad character is something acquired by every person by choice.

^[2] We thus know that the mere mention of the defects of another person is a sinful act. It is even worse to mention someone's shortcomings in front of others, with the intention of putting him to shame. A *Hadith* states that one should not remind anyone of his sin in reply to something he has said (which you may not like).

^[3] Telling a lie – even while joking – is one of the major sins and one of the characteristics of a hypocrite. A lie which neither pays someone in terms of worldly gains nor the Hereafter, is the worst kind of lie. Listening to lies is also forbidden, and one must speak out against it or get up and leave.

man is to ask Allāh to forgive him."^[1] [Al-Hārith bin Abū Usāma reported it with a weak chain of narrators].

عَن ِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: «كَفَّارَةُ مَن اغْتَبْتُهُ أَنْ تَسْتَغْفِرَ لَهُ». رَوَاهُ الحَارِثُ بْنُ أَبِي أَسَامَةَ بِإِسْنَادِ تَسْتَغْفِرَ لَهُ». رَوَاهُ الحَارِثُ بْنُ أَبِي أَسَامَةَ بِإِسْنَادِ

(١٣١٣) وَعَنْ عَلَيْشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْها قَالَتْ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: •أَبْغَضُ الرِّجَالِ إِلَى اللهِ الأَلَّدُ الخَصِمُّ». أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

Chapter 5 EXHORTATION TO GOOD CHARACTER

ه - بَابُ التَّرْغِيبِ فِي مَكَارِمِ الأُخْلَاق

1314. Narrated Ibn Mas'ūd 🎉: Allāh's Messenger 🐉 said, "Adhere (you people) to truthfulness, indeed truthfulness leads to righteousness and righteousness leads to Paradise, and if a man continues to speak the truth and makes truth his object he will be recorded as truthful before Allah. Avoid (you people) falsehood, indeed falsehood leads to wickedness and wickedness leads to Hell-Fire, and if a man continues to speak falsehood and makes falsehood his object he will be recorded as a liar before Allah." [Agreed upon].

(۱۳۱٤) عَن ابْنِ مَسْعُودٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: عَالَى رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "عَلَيْكُمْ بِالسَّدْقِ، فَإِنَّ الصَّدْقَ يَهْدِي إِلَى البِرِّ، وَإِنَّ اللَّهِ، وَمَا يَزَالُ الرَّجُلُ اللَّهِ عَنْدَ اللهِ يَشْدُقُ، وَيَتَحَرَّى الصَّدْقَ حَتَّى يُكْتَبَ عِنْدَ اللهِ يَصْدُيقًا، وَإِيَّاكُمْ وَالكَذِب، فَإِنَّ الكَذِب يَهْدِي إِلَى النَّهُورِ، وإن الفُجُورَ يَهْدِي إِلَى النَّارِ، وَمَا يَزَالُ الرَّجُلُ يَكْدُب، وَيَتَحَرَّى الكَذِب يَهْدِي إِلَى النَّارِ، وَمَا يَزَالُ الرَّجُلُ يَكْذِب، وَيَتَحَرَّى الكَذِب حَتَّى الكَذِب حَتَّى يَكُنْت عَنْد اللهِ كَذَالِ مَعْقَدًا عَلَى النَّارِ، وَمَا يَزَالُ الرَّجُلُ يَكُولُ، وَيَتَحَرَّى الكَذِب حَتَّى الكَذِب حَتَّى الكَذِب حَتَّى الكَذِب عَنْد الله كَذَالُه، مُقَانًا عَلَى النَّارِ، وَمَا يَعْدَلُ اللهُ عَلَى النَّارِ، وَمَا يَعْدِلُ اللهِ كَذَالِ اللهِ عَلَى النَّارِ، وَمَا يَعْدَلُ اللهِ عَلَى النَّارِ، وَمَا يَعْدَلُ اللهُ كَذَالِهُ عَلَى النَّارِ، وَمَا يَعْدَلُ مَا عَلَيْهِ عَلَى النَّارِ، وَمَا يَعْدَلُ اللهِ عَلَى النَّارِ، وَمَا يَعْدَلُ اللهُ عَلَى النَّارِ، وَمَا يَعْدَلُ اللهِ عَلَى النَّارِ، وَمَا يَعْدُلُ مَا عَنْدَ اللهِ عَلَى النَّارِ، وَمَا عَلَى النَّارِ عَلَى النَّارِ عَلَى النَّارِ عَلَى النَّارِ عَلَى النَّارِ، وَمَا عَلَى النَّارِ عَلَى النَّارِ عَلَى النَّالِ المُعْدَلُ عَلَيْهُ عَلَى النَّالِ الْمِنْ اللْعَلْمَ عَلَى النَّالِ الْعَلْمِ الْعَلْمُ عَلَى الْعَلْمَ عَلَى الْعَلْمَ عَلَى الْعَلْمِ اللْعَلْمُ عَلَيْمَ عَلَى الْعَلْمِ الْعَلْمِ الْعَلْمِ الْعَلْمُ الْعَلْمُ عَلَى الْعَلْمُ عَلَى الْعَلْمَ عَلَى الْعَلْمُ الْعِلْمُ عَلَى الْعَلْمُ الْعَلْمُ الْعَلْمُ الْعَلْمُ الْعَلْمُ الْعَلْمُ الْعَلَى الْعَلْمُ الْعُلْمُ الْعَلْمُ الْعَلْمُ الْعَلْمُ الْعَلْمُ اللْعَلْمُ الْعَلْمُ الْعَلْمُ الْعَلْمُ الْعَلْمُ اللْعَلْمُ الْعَلْمُ الْعَلْمُ اللْعُلْمُ اللْعَلْمُ اللْعُلْمُ اللّهُ اللْعُلْمُ اللْعِلْمُ اللْعَلْمُ اللْعُلْمُ اللْعُلْمُ اللْعُلْمُ اللّهُ الْعَلْم

1315. Narrated Abū Huraira 🌲: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "Avoid (you people) suspicion for indeed suspicion is the worst form of false speech." [Agreed upon].

(١٣١٥) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنُهُ ثَلاَ: قَالَ رَسُولَ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِيَّاكُمْ وَالظَّنَّ، فَإِنَّ الظَّنَّ أَتَٰذَبُ الحَدِيثِ ِ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

1316. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri &: Allāh's Messenger said, "Avoid sitting by the road side."^[2] They (the *Sabāba*)

(١٣١٦) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُدْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِيَّاكُمْ

^[1] The atonement for backbiting is that, if someone backbites another person, he must apologize to that very person and ask his forgiveness. In case he could not find that person, one must pray for his sins to be forgiven.

^[2] Five of the obligations of sitting on the road sides have been mentioned here. Abādith contain some other obligations as well, namely, giving directions to a wayfarer and

asked, "O Allāh's Messenger, we cannot do without those meeting places in which we converse," so he said, "Well, if you insist (on that) give the road its dues." They asked, "What are the road's dues?" He replied, "Lowering the eyes, returning from anything offensive, returning salutations, enjoining good and forbidding evil." [Agreed upon].

1317. Narrated Mu'āwiya &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Whoever Allāh wishes good for, He gives him understanding of the religion." [1] [Agreed upon].

1318. Narrated Abū Ad-Dardā & Allāh's Messenger & said, "There isn't anything, which will be put on the scales (on the Day of Resurrection), heavier than good character." [Abū Dā'ud and At-Tirmidhi reported it, and the latter graded it Sabib (authentic)].

1319. Narrated Ibn 'Umar 泰: Allāh's Messenger 霧 said, "Modesty is part of Faith."[2] [Agreed upon].

1320. Narrated Abu Mas'ūd 🎄: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "One of the things people have learned from the earlier prophecies is, 'If you don't feel any shame, do whatever you like.' "[3] [A]-

وَالجُلُوسَ عَلَى الطُّرُقَاتِ"، قَالُوا: يَا رَسُولَ الهُ! هَا رَسُولَ الهُ! مَا لَنَا بُدُّ مِنْ مَجَالِسِنَا، نَتَحَدَّثُ فِيهَا، قَالَ: فَقَالًا: فَقَالًا إِذَا أَبَيْتُهُمْ فَأَعْطُوا الطَّرِيقَ حَقِّهُه، قَالُ: فَعَشْ البَصَرِ، وَكَفُّ الأَذَى، وَرَدُ السَّلَامِ، وَالأَمْرُ بِالمَعْرُوفِ، وَلَكُنَّ وَالنَّهُمْ عَن المُنْكَرِ، مُنْفَقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٣٦٧) وَعَنْ مُعَاوِيَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنَهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «مَنْ يُرِدِ اللَّهُ بِهِ خَيْراً يُفَقَهُهُ فِي الدِّينِ». مُثَنِّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٣١٨) وَعَنْ أَبِي النَّرْدَآءِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: هَا مِنْ شَيْءٍ عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: همَا مِنْ شَيْءٍ فِي المِيزَانِ أَثْقَلُ مِنْ حُسْنِ الخُلُقِ. *. أَخْرَجُهُ أَبُو دَاوْدَ وَالثَّرْفِذِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ.

(١٣١٩) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَهُمَ وَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «الحَيَاءُ مِنَ الْإِيَّمَانِ». مُثَمِّقُ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٣٢٠) وَعَنْ أَبِي مَسْعُودٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِنَّ مِمَّا أَذْرَكَ النَّاسُ مِنْ كَلَامٍ النَّبُوَةِ الأُولَى: إِذَا لَمْ تَسْتَحِ

responding to someone who sneezes, etc., which are about fourteen obligations. In Arabic, *Gbaddul-Basar* implies that one should keep one's eye downcast by avoiding staring at women and looking at other forbidden things.

^[1] The knowledge of the lawful and unlawful matters and Islamic rules is called *Fiqb*. This statement shows the greatness o. ^[2]*iqb*. What is referred to here is the knowledge of the Qur'an and *Sumnab* of the Proph , not the complex maze of arguments and philosophy found in some of the present day wooks of jurisprudence, which can not be understood by an ordinary person.

^[2] This *Hadīth* implies that modesty helps a person avoid committing sinful acts, or falling short in fulfilling the rights of those who have rights over him. It makes a person think about his reputation, which might be at stake in case his sinful act gains publicity. In other words, the non-occurrence of vices was due to the modesty, which is one of the constituents forming Islam. This is why this special branch of Faith has been mentioned here.

^[3] Even though the previous systems of law - revealed to the earlier Prophets - have all been

Bukhāri reported it].

1321. Narrated Abū Huraira 🌲: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "The strong believer is better and more beloved to Allāh^[1] than the weak believer, and in each of them there is goodness. Be keen on what benefits you, seek help in Allāh, and do not give up. If anything afflicts you, do not say, 'If I had done such and such thing, such and such would have happened.' Instead say, 'Allāh has decreed (this), and what He wills He does.' Indeed! (the utterance) 'If provides an opening for the work of the devil.' [Muslim reported it].

1322. Narrated 'Iyād bin Himār &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Allāh, the Most High, has revealed to me that you should be humble, so that no one transgresses against another, and no one boasts to another." [Muslim reported it].

1323. Narrated Abū Ad-Dardā' : The Prophet : said, "Whoever defends his brother's honor in his absence, [3] Allāh will protect his face from the Hell-Fire on the Day of Resurrection." [At-Tirmidhi reported it, and graded it Hasan (good). Ahmad has something similar from the Hadīth of Asmā', [4]

فَاصْنَعْ مَا شِئْتَ». أَخْرَجَهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(١٣٢١) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ وَالَّهُ وَيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ وَالَّهُ وَالَّهُ وَيَ اللَّهُ يَعَالَى عَنْهُ وَالَّهُ وَاللَّهُ وَيَلَ القَوِيُّ خَيْرٌ وَفِي كَثِرٌ الضَّعِيفِ، وَفِي كُلُّ خَيْرٌ، اخْرِصْ عَلَى مَا يَنْفُمُكُ ، وَاسْتَعِنْ إِللَّهِ، وَلَا تَعْجَزْ، وَإِنْ أَصَابَكَ شَيْءٌ فَلَا تَقُلْ: لَوَ أَنِي فَعَلْتُ كَذَا وَكَذَا، وَلَكِنْ فَلْ: فَلَا تَقُلْ: فَلَا تَقُلْ: فَلَا تَقُلْ: فَلْ اللَّهُ، وَمَا شَاءً فَعَلَ، فَإِنْ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَمَلَ الشَّيْطَانِ إِلَّهُ اللَّهُ ، وَمَا شَاءً فَعَلَ، فَإِنَّ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَمَلَ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ ، وَمَا شَاءً فَعَلَ، هَإِنَّ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ عَمَلَ اللَّهُ اللْهُ اللَّهُ اللْمُؤْمِلُولَ اللَّ

(۱۳۲۷) وَعَن عِنَاصَد بْنِن حِمَارٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿إِنَّ اللَّهَ تَمَالَى أَوْحَى إِلَيَّ أَنْ تَوَاصَعُوا، حَتَّى لَا يَبْغِيَ أَحَدٌ عَلَى أَحَدٍ، وَلَا يَفْخَرَ أَحَدٌ عَلَى أَحَدٍ». أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(١٣٢٣) وَعَنْ أَبِي الدَّرْدَآءِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْ عِرْضِ عَنْ عِرْضِ عَنْ عَرْضِ عَنْ عَرْضِ أَخِيهِ بِالنَّارِينَ وَقَلْ اللَّهُ عَنْ وَجْهِهِ النَّارَ يَوْمَ القِيَامَةِ". أَخْرَجَهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ، وَحَسَّنَهُ، وَلِاحْمَدَ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَسْمَاءَ بِنْتَ يَزِيدَ نَحُوْهُ.

nullified, the element of modesty, which is one of the contents of all the previous systems, has not been cancelled. Modesty is the only deterrent, which if taken out of a human being, shall allow his conscience to go berserk and do whatever he likes.

^[1] What is meant by a strong believer? This does not allude to one's physical health. Instead, it only points to one's strength of will power, in relation to his doing virtuous acts for the reward of the Hereafter.

^[2] We see here that both transgression and pride are blameworthy characteristics. It is reported in a Hadith that the Prophet ﷺ stated that transgression is one of the worst of the criminal acts that are punishable in this world as well as in the Hereafter. Indeed, lack of humbleness fosters and breeds both transgression and pride.

^[3] If someone backbites a third person before somebody, the listener must stop him on the spot; and if possible, one should mention his virtuous deeds and qualities instead.

^[4] She is Asma', daughter of Yazid bin As-Sakan Al-Ashhaliya. She was the spokesperson of the women. She participated in the battle of Yarmūk and killed nine people with a pole on that day.

daughter of Yazid].

1324. Narrated Abū Huraira 🍪: Allāh's Messenger 🎉 said, "Sadaqa does not reduce (one's) wealth; and Allāh increases the honor of him who pardons (others); and no one will humble himself for Allāh's sake without Allāh raising him up." [1] [Muslim reported it].

1325. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin Salām *: Allāh's Messenger * said, "O people extend greetings (of peace), join the ties of blood relations, provide food, and pray at night while the people are asleep. Then, you will enter Paradise in peace." [At-Tirmidhi reported it and graded it Sabib (authentic)].

1326. Narrated Tamim Ad-Dāri^[2] &: Allāh's Messenger & said three times, "The religion is *Nasiba* (sincerity)." ^[3] We asked, 'Who is it (directed) to, O Messenger of Allah? He replied, "To Allāh, His Book, His Messenger, the leaders of the Muslims, and their common folk." [Muslim reported it].

1327. Narrated Abū Huraira ♣: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said, "The fear of Allāh

(١٣٧٤) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "مَا نَقَصَتْ صَدَقَةً مِنْ مَالرٍ، وَمَا زَادَ اللَّهُ عَبْداً بِعَفْرٍ إِلَّا عِزًا، وَمَا تَوَاضَعَ أَحَدٌ لِلَّهِ إِلَّا رَفَعَهُ اللهُ تَعَالَى". أَخْرَجَهُ مُشْلِمٌ.

(١٣٢٥) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ سَلَامٍ رَضِيَ اللّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "يَا أَيُّهَا النّاسُ! أَفْشُوا السَّلَامَ، وَصِلُوا الأَرْحَامَ، وَأَطْمِمُوا الطَّعَامَ، وَصَلُوا بِاللَّيْلِ، وَالنَّاسُ يَيَامٌ، تَذْخُلُوا الجَنَّةَ بِسَلَامٍ.". أَخْرَجَهُ التُرْمِذِيُّ، وَصَحَّحَهُ

(١٣٢٦) وَعَنْ تَعِيمِ الدَّارِيُّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: وَعَنْ تَعِيمِ الدَّارِيُّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ: فَلْنَا: لِمَنْ هِيَ يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ؟ قَالَ: فَلْنَا: لِمَنْ هِيَ يَا رَسُولَ اللهِ؟ قَالَ: فَلْمَا: فِلْكَتَابِهِ وَلِرَسُولِهِ، وَلاَئِشَّةِ المُسْلِمِينَ وَعَامَتِهِمْ». أَخْرَجُهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(١٣٢٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿أَكْثُرُ مَا يُدْخِلُ

^[1] The three qualities that have been mentioned in this Hadith have been named as 'the root of politeness and good disposition'. It teaches charity, forgiveness and humbleness.

^[2] He is Abū Ruqaiya, Tamim bin Aus bin Khārija Ad-Dāri. He became a Muslim in the year 9 H. and settled at Bait-ul-Maqdis (Jerusalem). Ibn Sirin said that he compiled the Qur'ān and used to recite it all in a single night. He died in 40 H.

^[3] This Hadith should be reckoned as the pivotal base of Islam. It needs to be explained at length, but this is not the place for such. Nasiba to Allāh is that one should have faith in Allāh, not associate partners with Him and obey His injunctions. The Nasiba to the Book of Allāh is believing that it is the Speech of Allāh, taking what is allows as permissible, and taking what is prohibits as forbidden, and reading it properly, reflecting upon its meanings and acting according to it. The Nasiba to the Prophet 義 is to testify to his Prophethood and to follow his Sunmab. The Nasiba to the Muslim rulers is to assist them in that which is right, obey their commands, remind them of the needs of the people, advise them with gentleness and respect and encourage them to be just. The Nasiba to the common Muslim people is that the things concerning their prosperity in this world and the next should be explained to them, protecting them from harm, commanding them with good and forbidding them from evil.

and good character^[1] are the major things which lead to Paradise." [At-Tirmidhi reported it, and Al-Hākim graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

1328. Narrated (Abū Huraira) &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "You can not satisfy (all) the people with your wealth, but satisfy them with a cheerful face and good character." [Abū Ya'la reported it and Al-Hākim graded it Sahih (authentic)].

1329. Narrated (Abū Huraira) &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "The believer is the mirror^[2] of his believing brother." [Abū Dā'ud reported it with a *Hasan* (good) chain of narrators].

1330. Narrated Ibn 'Umar .: Allah's Messenger said, "The believer who mixes with people and patiently endures their harm, is better than the one who does not mix with them and does not endure their harm." [Ibn Mājah reported it with a Hasan (good) chain of narrators. At-Tirmidhi also reported this Hadīth but he did not mention the name of the Companion].

1331. Narrated Ibn Mas'ūd 拳: Allāh's Messenger 繼 said, "O Allāh as You have made my (physical) form beautiful, so make my character beautiful.'' [Reported by Ahmad, and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

الجَنَّةَ تَقْوَى اللهِ وَحُسْنُ الخُلُقِ. ۚ أَخْرَجَهُ التَّوِيْدِيِّ أَخْرَجَهُ التَّوْمِيْنِيُّ وَصَحَّحَهُ التَّاكِمُ.

(۱۳۲۸) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: اإِنَّكُمْ لَا تَسَمُونَ النَّاسَ بِأَمْوَالِكُمْ، وَلَكِنْ لِيَسَمْهُمْ مِنْكُمْ بَسْطُ الوَجْهِ وَحُسْنُ الخُلُقِ». أَخْرَجُهُ أَبُو يَعْلَىٰ وَصَحَّحُهُ الحَاكِمُ.

(١٣٢٩) وَعَنْهُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "المُؤْمِنُ مِزْأَةُ أَخِيهِ المُؤْمِنِ". أُخْرَجَهُ أَبُو دَاوُدَ بإشَاهِ حَسَنٍ.

(۱۳۳۰) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُما قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "المُؤْمِنُ اللهِ ﷺ: "المُؤْمِنُ اللهِ ﷺ: "المُؤْمِنُ اللهِ ﷺ: "المُؤْمِنُ عَلَى أَذَاهُمْ، خَيْرٌ مِنَى أَذَاهُمْ، خَيْرٌ مِنَى اللّهِ يَعْنِيرُ عَلَى أَذَاهُمْ". أَخْرَجُهُ ابْنُ مَاجَهُ بِإِسْنَاوِ حَسَنِ، وَهُوَ عَلَى عِنْدَالِثُومِدِيَّ، إِلَّا أَلَّهُ لَمْ يُسَمِّ الصَّحَابِيَّ.

(۱۳۳۱) وَعَن ِ ابْن ِ مَسْعُودٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ وَاللَّهُمَّ كَمَا عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «اللَّهُمَّ كَمَا حَسَّنْتَ خَلْقِي. وَوَاهُ أَخْمَدُ، وَصَحْحَهُ ابْنُ جَالَنَ.

[[]I] Good character here includes treating people good, refraining from causing them any harm and maintaining a cheerful appearance while interacting with them. The Arabic word *Taqwa* stands for one's compliance with the Divine commands and avoiding the prohibitions.

^[2] One learns about his own pleasant appearance or ugliness, by looking at oneself in a mirror. Similarly, a Muslim should apprise another Muslim of his shortcomings, so that he may become one of those loved of Allāh and people, by getting rid of his defects.

Chapter 6 REMEMBRANCE OF ALLAH AND SUPPLICATIONS

٦ - بَابُ الذِّكْرِ وَالدُّعَآءِ

1332. Narrated Abū Huraira 🎄: Allāh's Messenger 🎉 said, "Allāh the Most High says: 'I am with My slave^[1] when he remembers Me and his lips move with My mention.' "[Ibn Mājah reported it, Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic) and Al-Bukhāri mentioned it as Mu'allaq (with a broken chain from his side].

1333. Narrated Mu'ādh bin Jābal ♣: Allāh's Messenger ᅟ said, "No human being has done any deed more likely to save him from Allāh's punishment than the remembrance of Allāh." [Reported by Ibn Abū Shaiba and At-Tabarāni it with a *Hasan* (good) chain of narrators].

1334. Narrated Abū Huraira 🌼: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 said, "People will not sit in an assembly in which they remember Allāh without the angels surrounding them, [2] mercy covering them, and Allāh mentioning them among those who are with Him." [Muslim reported it].

1335. Narrated (Abū Huraira) 秦: Allāh's Messenger 藥 said, "If people sit in an assembly in which they do not remember Allāh or invoke blessings on the Prophet 藝, [3] it will be a cause of grief to them on the Day of

(١٣٣٧) عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: «يَقُولُ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى: أَنَا مَمَ عَبْدِي مَا ذَكَرِنِي وَنَحَرَّكُ بِي شَفَتَاهُ. أَخْرَجَهُ ابْنُ مَاجَهُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ، وَذَكَرُهُ البُخْارِيُّ تَعْلِيقاً.

(١٣٣٣) وَعَنْ مُعَاذِ بْنِ جَلِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «مَا عَمِلَ ابْنُ آدَمَ عَمَلاً أَنْجَى لَهُ مِنْ عَذَابِ اللهِ مِنْ ذِنْحِ اللهِ». أَخْرَجَهُ ابْنُ أَبِي مُنْئِنَةً وَالطَّبْرَائِيُّ بِإِسْنَادِ حَسَن.

(١٣٣٤) وَعَنْ أَيِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: (مَمَا جَلَسَ قَوْمٌ مَجْلِساً يَذْكُرُونَ اللَّهَ فِيهِ إِلَّا حَفَّتُهُمُ ٱلْمُلَائِكَةُ، وَغَنِيتُهُمُ الرَّحْمَةُ، وَذَكَرَهُمُ اللَّهُ فِيمَنْ عِنْدَهُ».
أَخْرَجُهُ مُسْلِةً.

(۱۳۳٥) وَعَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: "مَا قَمَدَ قَوْمٌ مَقْمَداً لَمْ يَذْكُرُوا اللَّهَ فِيهِ، وَلَمْ يُصَلُّوا عَلَى النَّبِيِّ ﷺ إِلَّا كَانَ عَلَيْهِمْ حَسْرةً يَوْمَ الفِيَامَةِ". أَخْرَجَهُ النَّرْمِذِيْ، وَقَالَ: حَسَنٌ.

^[1] Here is this *Hadith* Allah proclaims His 'being with' His servant through His Knowledge (of everything) and Omnipotence (over everything), and not that Allah is 'with' His servant physically. The Qur'an proclaims that Allah is High above His Throne.

^[2] We learn through this *Hadīth* that the remembrance of Allāh is also observed by sitting together praising Him, supplicating Him, reciting the Qur'an and teaching the matters related to Islam, etc. It is not necessary to observe remembrance of Allāh in solitude only. It further brings it to our knowledge that some of Allāh's angels are also the ones who roam the streets and attend the gatherings where the remembrance of Allāh is being observed.

^[3] Another *Hadītb* states, "If He wills, He will punish them, and if He wills, He will forgive them". These words denote that the remembrance of Allāh and sending peace and blessing

Resurrection." [At-Tirmidhi reported it and said that it is a *Hasan* (good) *Hadīth*].

1336. Narrated Abū Ayūb Al-Ansāri &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "Whoever says ten times: 'There is nothing worthy of worship except Allāh, Alone, Who has no partner. His is the Kingdom, and His is the Praise, and He has Power over everything' will be (in reward) like he who freed four of the descendants of Ismā'il (Ishmael) from slavery.''^[1] [Agreed upon].

1338. Narrated Juwairiya \$\\$ daughter of Al-Hārith\(^{2}\) : Allāh's Messenger \$\%\$ said to me, "Since leaving you I have said four phrases which, if weighed against all you have said today, would prove to be heavier.\(^{15}\) 'Allah is free from every imperfection, and His is the praise

(١٣٣٦) وَعَنْ أَبِي أَيُّوبَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «مَنْ قَالَ: لَا إِلَهُ إِلَّهُ اللَّهُ، وَحُدَهُ، لَا شَوِيكَ لَهُ، لَهُ المُمْلُكُ، ولَهُ الحَمْلُ، بِيَدِهِ الخَيْرُ، يُحْيِي وَيُوبِيتُ، وَهُو عَلَى كُلُّ شَيْءٍ قَدِيرٌ، عَشْرَ مَوَّاتٍ، كَانَ كَمَنْ أَعْتَنَ أَرْبَعَةَ أَنْهُى مِنْ وَلَدِ إِسْمَاعِيلَ. مُثَقَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(١٣٣٧) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: (مَنْ قَالَ: سُبْحَانَ اللَّهِ وَبِحَمْدِهِ، مِاثَةَ مَرَّةٍ، خُطَّتْ عَنْهُ خَطَايَاهُ، وَإِنْ كَانَتْ مِثْلَ زَبَدِ البَخْرِ». مُثَقَنٌ عَلَيْهِ.

(۱۳۲۸) وَعَنْ جُوَيْرِيَةَ بِنْتِ العَارِثِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهَا قَالَتْ: قَالَ لِي رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: اللَّهُ ثَمَالَى بَعْدَكِ أَرْبَعَ كَلِمَاتِ لَوْ وُزِنَتْ بِمَا قُلْتِ مُنْذُ البَرْمِ لَوَزَنَتْهُنَّ: سُبْحَانَ اللهِ وَبِحَمْدِو، عَدَدَ خَلْقِهِ، وَرِضَا نَفْسِهِ، وَزِنَة

on the Prophet s are compulsory, as only failing to perform what is compulsory, or engaging in what is prohibited involves a threat of punishment.

^[11] We should know that this *Hadīth*, as well as other similar *Abādīth*, contain words to the effect that whosoever does such and such thing, shall acquire such and such reward or all of his sins shall be forgiven. There is a difference of opinion among the scholars as to what this actually means. Some maintain that the reward shall be given to the one who always does it, whereas others do not consider this a condition. They hold that one who performs such a act, must avoid committing any of the major sins. This means that such good deeds shall only remove the minor sins and not the major ones. Other scholars are of the opinion that it does not involve the controversy of the major and minor sins, but it is merely a statement of the reward to be earned. Some scholars hold that the minor sins are forgiven by every virtuous act, whereas the major sins require repentance and asking Allāh's forgiveness.

^[2] She was an Ummul-Mu'minin and was among the captives of the battle of Al-Muraisi'. She was part of the share of Thäbit bin Qais bin Shammäs, who agreed with her to buy her freedom. The Prophet 護 then paid him and married her. The Sabāba then freed her people while saying, "These are the in-laws of Allāh's Messenger 囊." So she was the most beneficial woman for her people. She died in the year 56 H.

^[3] This *Hadith* is so narrated that the Prophet 瓣 left for prayer while Juwairiya was busy in Allāh's remembrance. When the Prophet 纖 came back after the prayer at the time of

(equal) to the number of His creatures, in accordance with His Good Pleasure, (equal) to the weight of His Throne and to the (extent) of the ink of His Words.'" [Muslim reported it].

1339. Narrated Abū Sa'īd Al-Khudri &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "The lasting good deeds^[1] are: (the saying of) 'Nothing deserves to be worshipped except Allāh; Allāh is free from every imperfection; Allāh is the Greatest; Praise be to Allāh; there is no might and no power except in Allāh.''' [Reported by An-Nasā'i. Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

1340. Narrated Samura bin Jundub &: Allāh's Messenger said, "The most beloved words to Allāh are four. It does not matter which of them you begin with: 'Allāh is free from every imperfection; Praise be to Allāh; nothing deserves to be worshipped except Allāh; and Allāh is the Greatest."' [Muslim reported it].

1341. Narrated Abū Mūsa Al-Ash'ar &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ said to me, "O Abdullāh bin Qais, shall I not direct you to one of the treasures of Paradise?^[2]: There is no might and no power except in Allāh." [Agreed upon]. An-Nasā'i added, "There is no refuge from Allāh except (by returning) to Him."

1342. Narrated An-Nu'man bin Bashir

عَرْشِهِ، وَمِدَادَ كَلِمَاتِهِ». أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(١٣٣٩) وَعَنْ أَبِي سَعِيدِ الخُلْرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ يَتَعَلَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «البَاقِيَاتُ الصَّالِخَاتُ: لَا إِلَّهَ إِلَّا اللَّهُ، وَسُبْحَانَ اللهِ، وَاللَّهُ أَكْبَرُ، وَالحَمْدُ لِلَّهِ، وَلَا حَوْلَ وَلَا قُوَّةً إِلَّا اللَّهُ، وَلَا حَوْلَ وَلَا قُوَّةً إِلَّا اللَّهُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ حِبَّانَ وَالحَاجُمُ. وَالحَاجِمُ.

(۱۳٤٠) وَعَنْ شَمُوَةَ بْنِ ِ مُجْنُلُبٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ: "أَحَبُّ الكَلَامِ إِلَى اللهِ أَرْبَعٌ، لَا يَضُولُكَ بِأَيْهِنَّ بَدَأْتَ: سُبْحَانَ اللهِ، وَالحَمْدُ للهِ، وَلَا إِلَهَ إِلَّا اللَّهُ، وَاللَّهُ أَكْبَرُهُ، أَخْرَجَهُ مُشْلِمٌ.

(١٣٤١) وَعَنْ أَبِي مُوْسَى الأَشْعَرِيِّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ لِي رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "يَا عَبْدَ اللهِ بْنَ قَيْسٍ! أَلَا أُذَلِّكَ عَلَى كُثْرِ مِنْ كُنُوزِ الجَنِّبُ؟ لَا حَوْلُ وَلَا ثُوَّةً إِلَّا بِاللهِ». مُثَقَّقً عَلَيْهِ. زَادَ النَّسَائِيُّ: "وَلَا مُلْجَأً مِنَ اللهِ إِلَّا إِلَيْهِ".

(١٣٤٢) وَعَنِ النُّعْمَانِ بْنِ بَشِيرِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ

Duba (a time between sunrise and noon), he still found Juwairiya & engrossed in the remembrance of Allah. Thereupon, the Prophet stated the above words. This Hadith regards these words to be of an extremely lofty and virtuous import. It further elaborates that the reward of such unlimited repetition of words of remembrance shall be earned by reciting the words prescribed in this Hadith. In the narration of Ibn 'Abbas, reported by Muslim, it is mentioned that the Prophet recited these four phrases three times each.

^[1] Various explains suggest that the reward of all acts of obedience to Allah and good deeds, shall remain to the credit of the one who performs them. One of those deeds is the invocation of these five *Kalima* (words).

^[2] It means that the reward for the recitation of these words is a valuable and precious reward kept stored with Allah in paradise, just as a treasure – the most precious of a person's wealth – is kept stored in a safe and secure place.

*: The Prophet ﷺ said, "Verily, supplication is worship." [Reported by Al-Arba'a and At-Tirmidhi graded it Sabib (authentic)].

He (At-Tirmidhi) also reported from the *Hadith* of Anas 毒: attributing it to Allāh's Messenger 篝 – with the wording: "Supplication is the essence of worship."

He (At-Tirmidhi) also reported from the *Hadith* of Abū Huraira 🎄: attributing it to Allāh's Messenger 🎉 that he said: "Nothing is more honorable before Allāh than supplication." [Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it *Sahih* (authentic)].

1343. Narrated Anas &: Allāh's Messenger said, "Supplication between the Adhān and Iqāmal^[2] is not rejected." [An-Nasā'i and others reported it, and Ibh Hibbān and others graded it Sahib (authentic)].

1344. Narrated Salmān **\$:** Allāh's Messenger **\$\mathbelle{\mathbelle{\mathbelle{A}}}** said, "Indeed! Your *Rabb* is *Hayiy* (Shy) and *Karim* (Generous), and is ashamed to turn away empty the hands of a slave when he raises them^[3] to Him." [Reported by *Al-Arba'a* except An-Nasā'i. Al-Hākim graded it *Sahib* (authentic)].

1345. Narrated 'Umar &: Whenever Allāh's Messenger # raised his hands in supplication. he did not lower them till

تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا عَنِ النَّبِيِّ ﷺ قَالَ: ﴿إِنَّ الدُّعَاءَ هُوَ العِبَادَةُۗ﴾. رَوَاهُ الأَنْبَعَةُ وَصَحَّحَهُ التَّرْمِلِيُّ.

وَلَهُ مِنْ حَدِيثِ أَنْسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، مَرْفُوعاً، بِلَفْظِ: «الدُّعَاءُ مُخُ العِبَادَةِ».

وَلَهُ مِنْ حَدِيْثِ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، رَفَعَهُ: «لَيْسَ شَيْءٌ أَكْرَمَ عَلَى اللهِ مِنَ الدُّعَاتِهُ. وَصَحَّحَهُ ابْنُ جِبَّانَ وَالحَاكِمُ.

(۱۳۲۳) وَعَنْ أَنْسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ، قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: «الدُّعَاءُ بَيْنَ الأَذَانِ وَالإَقَامَةِ لَا يُرَدُّهِ. أَخْرَجَهُ النَّسَآئِيُّ وَغَيْرُهُ، وَصَحَّحَهُ إِنْنُ جَانَ وَغَيْرُهُ،

(١٣٤٤) وَعَنْ سَلْمَانَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: "إِنَّ رَبَّكُمْ حَيِيٌّ كَرِيمٌ، يَشْتَحْيِي مِنْ عَلْبُو إِذَا رَفَعَ يَدَيْهِ إِلَيْهِ أَلِّهِ أَنْ يُرِدُّهُمَّا صِفْراً». أَخْرَجَهُ الأَرْبَعَةُ إِلَّا النَّسَاتِيَّ وَصَحَّحَهُ الحَاكِمُ.

(١٣٤٥) وَعَنْ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ إِذَا مَدَّ يَدَيْهِ فِي

^[1] It means that supplication is a kind of worship. It may also mean that 'supplication' in the Verse "Supplicate Me and I will respond to you. Verily, those who scorn My worship, will surely enter Hell in humiliation" (Surat Ghafir, 40:60), here implies worship, i.e. "worship Me and I will respond to you..."

 $^{^{[2]}}$ We are thus informed that certain times are preferable for supplication, like in the middle of the night and after the obligatory prayers. People enquired of the Prophet $\frac{1}{2}$ as to what should they ask for between the $Adb\bar{a}n$ and $Iq\bar{a}ma$. The Prophet $\frac{1}{2}$ stated that they should ask Allāh for their safety in their day-to-day worldly matters as well as the soundness of their Faith while pursuing their religious activities.

^[3] This *Hadith* states that the raising of one's hands while making a supplication is *Mustababb* (a commendable act).

he wiped his face with them. [1] [At-Tirmidhi reported it]. It has Shawāhid (supporting narrations) such as The Hadāth of Ibn 'Abbās (*) reported by Abū Dā'ud and others. These narrations – considered as a group – warrant it being considered a Hasan (good) Hadāth.

1346. Narrated Ibn Mas'ud s: Allāh's Messenger said, "The people who have the most right over me (for intercession or nearness to me) on the Day of Resurrection, are those who are most in invoking *Salat* upon me [2]." [At-Tirmidhi reported it, and Ibn Hibbān graded it *Sabib* (authentic)].

1347. Narrated Shaddād bin Aus &: Allāh's Messenger & said, "The most superior manner of asking for forgiveness^[3] is for the servant to say: 'O Allāh, You are my Rabb (Lord). Nothing deserves to be worshipped except You, You have created me, and I am Your slave. I hold to Your covenant and promise as much as I can. I seek refuge in You from the evil of what I have done. I acknowledge before You Your favors upon me, and I confess to You my sins, so forgive me, since no one can forgive sins except You." [Al-Bukhāri reported it].

1348. Narrated Ibn 'Umar 象: Allāh's Messenger 🍇 never failed to use these الدُّعَآءِ لَمْ يُرُدُّهُمَا حَتَّى يَمْسَحَ بِهِمَا وَجْهَهُ. أَخْرَجَهُ التَّرْمِذِيُّ. وَلَهُ شَوَاهِدُ مِنْهَا حَدِيثُ الْبنِ عَبَّاسٍ عِنْدَ أَبِي دَاوُدَ وَغَيْرِهِ، وَمَجْمُوعُهَا يُقْتَضِي أَنَّهُ حَدِيثٌ حَسَنٌ.

(١٣٤٦) وَعَنِ ابْنِ مَسْعُودٍ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ وَالَّهِ عَنْهُ فَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَى اللهِ ﷺ: "إِنَّ أَوْلَى اللهِ ﷺ: "إِنَّ أَوْلَى اللهِ ﷺ: "إِنَّ مَلَاةً". النَّاسِ بِي يَوْمَ القِيَامَةِ أَكْثَرُهُمُ عَلَيَّ صَلَاةً". أَخْرَجَهُ النَّرُهِيُّ وَلَيْ صَلَاةً".

(١٣٤٧) وَعَنْ شَدَّادِ بْنِ أَوْسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ : سَيِّدُ الاَسْتِغْفَارِ أَنْ يَقُولُ العَبْدُ: اللَّهُمَّ! أَلْتَ رَبِّي، لا إِلَهَ إِلَا أَنْتَ، خَلَفْتني، وَأَنَا عَبْدُك، وَأَنَا عَبْدُك، وَأَنَا عَبْدُك، وَأَنَا عَلَى عَهْدِكَ وَوَغْدِكَ مَا اسْتَعَلَّمْتُ، أَعُوذُ بِكَ مِنْ شَرٌ مَا صَنعْتُ، أَبُوءُ لَكَ بِينِعْمَتِكَ عَلَيْ، وَأَبُوءُ لَكَ بِينِعْمَتِكَ عَلَيْ، وَأَبُوءُ لَكَ بِينِعْمَتِكَ عَلَيْ، وَأَبُوءُ لَكَ بِنَعْمَتِكَ عَلَيْ، وَأَبُوءُ لَكَ بِنَعْمَتِكَ عَلَيْ، وَأَبُوءُ لَكَ بِنَعْمَرُ الذُّنُوبَ إِلَّا أَنْتَ». أَخْرَجُهُ البُخَارِيُّ.

(١٣٤٨) وَعَنِ ابْنِ عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: لَمْ يَكُنْ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَدَعُ هُؤُلَاءِ

^[1] It thus becomes known that after completing one's supplication, one is advised to wipe his face with the palms of his hands. If we know that Allah does not turn one away empty handed, then it is as though His *Rahma* (mercy) has descended upon one's palms. It is thus fitting that this *Rahma* be transferred to the face, which is the noblest part of the body and the most entitled to be honored.

^[2] We must know that invoking Salat upon the Prophet 鑑 is a supplication to Allāh to praise the Prophet 鑑 in the highest assembly of the angels, and it is an act of worship. The best words of invocation after Lā ilaba illa-Allāb is the noble act of sending Salat and Salām upon the Prophet 鑑.

^[3] Since this supplication of forgiveness epitomizes all the meaning and senses of repentance and forgiveness, it has been given the name of Sayyidul-Istighfär (the master supplication for seeking forgiveness).

words^[1] in the evening and morning: "O Allāh, I ask You for 'Aafiyah (well being) in my religion and my worldly affairs, in my family and my wealth; O Allāh, conceal my faults and keep me safe from the things which I fear; O Allāh, guard me from my front and from my back, and from my right hand side and from my left side, and from above me, and I seek refuge in Your Greatness from being swallowed up (by the earth) from below me." [An-Nasā'i and Ibn Mājah reported it, and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

1349. Narrated Ibn 'Umar . Allāh's Messenger # used to supplicate: "O Allāh, I seek refuge in You from the decline of Your favor, [2] transforming of Your (favor) of well-being [to sickness], the sudden strike of Your vengeance and Your total wrath.'' [Muslim reported it].

1350. Narrated 'Abdullāh bin 'Amr &: Allāh's Messenger ﷺ used to say: "O Allāh, I seek refuge in You from being overcome by debt, from being overpowered by the enemy, [3] and the malicious joy of the enemies (at an evil I am afflicted with)." [Reported by An-Nasā'i, and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

الكَلِمَات، حِينَ يُمْسِي وَحِينَ يُصْبِحُ: «اللَّهُمَّ! إِنِّي أَسْأَلُكَ المَّالِيَّةَ فِي دِينِي وَدُنْيَايَ وَأَهْلِي وَأَمْلِي وَأَهْلِي وَأَمْلِي وَأَمْلِي وَأَمْلِي وَمَالِي، اللَّهُمَّ السُّرُّ عَوْرَاتِي، وَآمِنْ رَوْعَاتِي، وَعَن خَلْفِي، وَعَن يَمْسِنِي، وَعَن خَلْفِي، وَعَن يَمْسِنِي، وَعَن خَلْفِي، وَعَن يَمْسِنِي، وَعَن فَوْقِي، وَأَعُودُ يَبِعَظَمَيْكَ أَنْ أُغْتَالَ مِنْ تَعْمِي، أَخْرَجَهُ السَّمَائِيُ وَاللَّهُ مَا السَّمَائِيُ وَاللَّهُ مَا السَّمَائِيُ وَاللَّهُ مَا السَّمَائِيُ وَاللَّهُ مِن مَعْمِيهُ السَّمَائِيُ وَاللَّهُ مَا السَّمَائِيُ وَاللَّهُ مَا السَّمَائِيُ وَاللَّهُ مَا السَّمَائِيةُ وَصَحْحَهُ السَّمَائِيةُ السَّمَائِيةُ وَصَحْمَتُهُ السَّمَائِيةُ وَصَحْحَهُ السَّمَائِيةُ وَصَحْحَهُ السَّمَائِيةُ وَصَحْحَهُ السَّمَائِيةُ وَصَحْحَهُ السَّمَائِيةُ وَصَحْمَعُهُ السَّمَائِيةُ وَصَحْمَعُونَا أَنْ الْمُعْمَلِيةُ وَصَعْمَةِ السَّمَائِيةُ وَصَلَيْعِيْ وَمَائِيةً وَصَحْمَعُونُ السَّمَائِيقُ وَالْمَعْمُ وَالْمَائِيةُ وَصَائِعِيْمُ السَّمَانُ وَالْمُعْمُ السَّمَانِيْمُ وَصَحْمَةُ السَّمَانِيْمُ وَالْمُؤْمِنَالَ وَمِنْ الْمُعْمَلِيْمُ وَالْمُنْ الْمُعْمَالِهُ وَالْمَائِيلُ وَالْمَالَعُمُ السَّمَانِيْمُ السَّمِائِيلُولُ وَالْمُنْ الْمُعْمَالُولُ وَالْمُنْعِمُ وَالْمُعْمُ السَّمَالُولُ وَالْمُعْمُ السَّمَانِيْمُ وَالْمُعْمَالُ وَالْمُعْمُ الْمُعْمَالُولُ وَالْمُعْمَالُ وَالْمُعْمَالُولُ وَالْمُعْمُ السَّمِائِيلُولُ وَالْمُعْمِلُولُ وَالْمُعْمَالُ وَالْمُعْمُولُ وَالْمُعَالُولُ وَالْمُعْمِلُولُ وَالْمُعِلَّالِ وَالْمُعْمِلُولُ وَالْمُعِلَّ وَالْمُعْمُ وَالْمُعْمِلُولُ وَالْمُعْمُ وَالْمُعْمِلُولُ وَالْمُعْمِلُولُ وَالْمُعْمُ الْمُعْمِلُولُ وَالْمُعِمْ وَالْمُعِمْ وَالْمُعْمُ الْمُعْمِلُولُ وَالْمُعُلِمُ وَالْمُعُمُ وَالْمُو

(١٣٤٩) وَعَن ابْن عُمَرَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَتُولُ: "اللَّهُمَّ إِنِّي أَعُولُ: "اللَّهُمَّ إِنِّي أَعُولُ: وَتَحَوُّلُ وَيَعَرُّلُ وَيَحَوُّلُ وَيَحَوُّلُ عَالِيَتِكَ، وَفَجَاءَةِ يَشْمَتِكَ، وَجَمِيعِ سَخَطِكَ». عَالِيَتِكَ، وَجَمِيعِ سَخَطِكَ». أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

(۱۳۵۰) وَعَنْ عَبْدِ اللهِ بْنِ عَشْرِو رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُمَا قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ: «اللَّهُمَّ! إِنِّي أَعُودُ بِكَ مِنْ غَلَبَةِ الدِّيْنِ. وَغَلَبَةِ الدَّيْنِ. وَغَلَبَةِ الدَّيْنِ. وَغَلَبَةِ وَالنَّسَآئِقُ، وَصَعَحْهُ الخَاكَمُ.

⁽i) The 'Aaftyab (well-being) in religion lies in avoiding sin and innovation, or taking lightly one's obligatory duties or failing to perform them totally. 'Aaftyab in one's family lies in being saved from bad marital relations, sickness and disease, and the excessive requests for worldly pleasures. 'Aaftyab in wealth lies in it being saved from that which destroys it. In this Hadītb, Allāh's protection has been solicited from the harms that may inflict a person from all of the six directions, since a man is always surrounded by his enemies – devils from among the humans and the jinns. He is like a sheep among wolves; if he doesn't have a protector from Allah, then he has no power to protect himself.

^{12]} The favors of Allah are destroyed by one's sins. In other words, this supplication is being made to Allāh by supplicating Him with these words: "O Allāh! We hereby seek Your protection from (the effects and consequences of) our bad deeds." This supplication was devised for the sole purpose of educating the *Ummah* (followers) since the Prophet 續 is free from sins.

^[3] Being overcome by debt means that a person becomes incapable of paying up his debts and this situation occurs when a person no longer harbors any intention of paying it at all.

1351. Narrated Buraida &: The Prophet heard a man saying, "O Allāh, I ask You by virtue of the fact that I testify that You are Allāh; nothing deserves to be worshipped except You, the Unique — the Self-Sufficient Master, Who did not beget and was not begotten, and to Whom no one is equal." Allāh's Messenger then said, "He has asked Allāh by His Name by which when asked, He gives, and by which when asked, He gives, and by which when applicated, He answers." [Al-Arba'a reported it, and Ibn Hibbān graded it Sabib (authentic)].

1352. Narrated Abū Huraira 泰: Allāh's Messenger 癥 would say in the morning: "O Allāh, by (permission from) You we reach the morning, by You we live, by You we reach the evening, by You we reach the evening he would say the same except for the last phrase: "And to You is the end (Masir)." [Al-Arba'a reported it].

1353. Narrated Anas &: The most frequent supplication of Allāh's Messenger # was: "Our *Rabb* (Lord), give us good in this world and good in the Hereafter, [3] and protect us from

(١٣٥١) وَعَنْ بُرِيْدَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: سَمِعَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ رَجُلاً يَقُولُ: اللَّهُمَّ! إِنِّي أَشَالُكَ بِأَنِّي أَشْهَدُ أَنَّكَ أَنْتَ اللَّهُ، لَا إِلَٰهَ إِلَّا أَلْتُ اللَّهُ، لَا إِلَٰهُ إِلَّا أَنْ أَنْتَ، الأَحَدُ الطَّمَدُ، الَّذِي لَمْ يَلِدْ وَلَمْ يُولَدْ، وَلَمْ يَكُنْ لَهُ كُفُواً أَحِدٌ. فَقَالَ: اللَّهَ سَأَلَ اللَّهَ إِلَيْهِ أَعْطَى، وَإِذَا دُعِيَ بِهِ أَعْلَى اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ وَسَعَّحَهُ أَبْنُ حِبَّانًا وَعَلَى بَاللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهُ اللَّهَ اللَّهُ الْعَلَى اللَّهُ الللّهُ الللّهُ الللّهُ اللّهُ اللّهُ الللّهُ الللّهُ الللللّهُ اللْمُؤْمِنِ الللللللللّهُ الل

(۱۳۵۲) وَعَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ: إِذَا أَصْبَحَ، يَقُولُ: «اللَّهُمَّ! بِكَ أَصْبَحْنَا، وَبِكَ أَمْسَئِنَا، وَبِكَ نَخْيَا، وَبِكَ نَمُوتُ، وَإِلَيْكَ الشُّمُورُا. وَإِذَا أَمْسَى قَالَ مِثْلَ ذَٰلِكَ، إِلَّا أَنَّهُ قَالَ: «وَإِلَيْكَ المَصِيرُا. أَخْرَجُهُ الأَرْبَةُ.

(١٣٥٣) وَعَنْ أَنْسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ أَكْثَرُ دُعَلَو رَسُولِ اللهِ ﷺ: ﴿رَبَّنَا آتِنَا فِي اللَّنْيَا حَسَنَةً، وَفِي الأَخِرَةِ حَسَنَةً، وَقِنَا عَذَاتِ النَّارِ». مُثَمَّقٌ عَلَيْهِ.

Whoever makes a sincere effort to pay his debts, Allāh will certainly assist him in accomplishing this by giving him solvency [as mentioned in a *Hadatib* reported by Al-Bukhari]. The overpowering of an enemy is that a man finds himself incapable of even avenging himself against a tyrant or a transgressor who has wronged him.

^[1] In Arabic, *Su'al* (asking) denotes asking for a specific thing, whereas *Du'a* (supplication) is more general. Also, when asking Allah for something, one must use the same words, found in this *Hadith*, which have been accorded the privilege of acceptance.

^[2] It is said that 'sleep is the sister of death', due to the obvious relationship between these two states. Whenever someone falls asleep, it is as though he is returning his soul to its origin. Hence, the Arabic word Masir (destination, end) has been used in this Hadith ['to You is the end'] for one who is preparing to sleep. Likewise, when someone gets up from sleep, it is as if he regains life from a state of death. Hence, the Arabic word Nusbür (resurrection) has been used in this Hadith ['to You is the resurrection'] for one who is awakening from sleep.

^[3] The 'good' of this world includes virtuous deeds, a righteous spouse, pious progeny, spacious and abundant livelihood and useful knowledge, etc. The good of the Hereafter is entering Paradise, and its other related factors like, being free from tension, easiness in the

the punishment of the Fire." [1] [Agreed upon].

1354. Narrated Abū Mūsa Al-Ash'ari 🚓: The Prophet & used to supplicate: "O Allāh, forgive me my sins, my ignorance, my extravagance in my affairs, and what You know better than I do. O Allāh, forgive me (what I have done in) my seriousness and joking, (what I have done) unintentionally and intentionally, for I am guilty of all that. O Allāh, forgive me (what I have done) in the past and (what I will do in) the future, what I have kept secret and what I have done openly, and what You know better than I do. You are the Advancer (if You Grant Success), You are the One Who Delays (if You abandon anyone), and You have Power over everything." [Agreed upon].

1355. Narrated Abū Huraira *: Allāh's Messenger *: used to say: "O Allāh, set right for me my religion which is the safeguard of my affairs; set right for me my worldly affairs in which is my livelihood, set right for me my Hereafter to which will be my return; make life for me a means of increase in all that is good; and make death a rest for me from every evil." [Muslim reported it].

1356. Narrated Anas . Allāh's Messenger . weed to say: "O Allāh, grant me benefit in what You have taught me, teach me what will benefit

(١٣٥٨) وَعَنْ أَبِي مُوسَى الأَشْعَرِيُّ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ النَّبِيُّ ﷺ يَدْعُو اللَّهُمُّ اغْفِرْ لِي خَطِيتَتِي وَجَهْلِي وَإِسْرَافِي فِي أَمْرِي، وَمَا أَنْتَ أَغْلَمُ بِهِ مِنِّي، اللَّهُمَّ اغْفِرْ لِي جَلَيْتِي وَعَمْدِي، وَكُلُّ ذَلِكَ عِنْهِي، وَكُلُّ ذَلِكَ عِنْهِي، وَكُلُّ ذَلِكَ وَعَلْيَي، وَمَا أَخُرْتُ، وَمَا أَخْرَتُ، وَمَا أَخْرَتُ، وَمَا أَخْرَتُ، وَمَا أَنْتَ أَعْلَمُ بِهِ مِنْهِ، أَنْتَ المُقَدِّمُ، وَمَا أَنْتَ أَعْلَمُ بِهِ مِنْه، أَنْتَ المُقَدِّمُ، وَأَنْتَ المُؤَخِّرُ، وَأَنْتَ عَلَى كُلُ شَيْء، أَنْتَ المُقَدِّمُ، وَأَنْتَ عَلَى كُلُ شَيْء قَلِيرٌ». مُثَقَلَّ عَلَيْه.

(١٣٥٥) وَعَنْ أَيِي هُرَيْرَةً رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: كَانَ رَسُولُ اللَّهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ: «اللَّهُمَّ! أَصْلِحْ لِي دِينِيَ الَّذِي هُوَ عِضْمَهُ أَمْرِي، وَأَصْلِحْ لِي دُنْنَايَ الَّتِي فِيهَا مَعَاشِي، وَأَصْلِحْ لِي آخِرَتِيَ الَّتِي إلَيْهَا مَعَادِي، وَاجْعَلِ الحَبَاةَ زِيَادَةً لِي فِي كُلُّ خَيْرٍ، وَاجْعَلِ المَوْتَ رَاحَةً لِي مِنْ كُلُّ شَرِّه. أَخْرَجَهُ مُسْلِمٌ.

Allāh's عَنْهُ آَنُسِ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ (١٣٥٦) وَعَنْ آَنُسُ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ Allāh, اللَّهُمُّ ٱنْفُعْنِي كَانَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ يَقُولُ: «اللَّهُمُّ ٱنْفُعْنِي اللَّهُمُّ انْفُعْنِي اللَّهُمُّ انْفُعْنِي اللَّهُمُّ الْفُعْنِي

^[1] Sūrat Al-Bagarab, 2:201.

^[2] In this invocation, the good things of both the worlds have been solicited. It does not suggest that one should ask for his own death. It merely expresses a desire that whenever death occurs, it should be a cause to provide a blissful peace and an eternal rest, from every evil – before death (in this world) and after it (in the grave).

me, and provide me with knowledge which will benefit^[1] me." [Reported by An-Nasā'i and Al-Hākim].

At-Tirmidhi reported something similar from the *Hadīth* of Abū Huraira &, he said in its end: "And increase me in knowledge. Praise be to Allāh in every circumstance, and I seek refuge in Allāh from the condition of the people of the Hell-Fire." [Its chain of narrators is *Hasan* (good)].

1357. Narrated 'Aisha 🐁: The Prophet 鑑 taught her this supplication: "O Allāh, I ask You for every good, at present and later, what I have known of it and what I have not; I seek refuge in You from every evil, at present and later, what I have known of it and what I have not. O Allāh, I ask You for the best of what Your slave and Prophet has asked You, and seek refuge in You from the worst of what Your slave and Prophet has sought refuge from. O Allāh I ask You for Paradise and whatever brings one near to it of speech or deed, and seek refuge in You from Hell and whatever brings one near to it of speech or deed. And I ask You to make every decree You have decreed for me to be good." [Reported by Ibn Mājah. Ibn Hibbān and Al-Hākim graded it Sabib (authentic)].

1358. The two Shaykhs [Al-Bukhāri and Muslim], reported this Hadīth from Abū Huraira &: Allāh's Messenger said, "Two words (expressions) which are beloved to the Compassionate One (Allah) and are light on the tongue but heavy on the scales are: 'O How Perfect is Allāh, and praise be to Him; O How Perfect is Allāh, the Supreme.'" [2]

بِمَا عَلَّمْتَنِي، وَعَلِّمنِي مَا يَثْغَمْنِي، وَارْزُفْنِي عِلْمَا يَنْفَعْنِي». رَوَاهُ النَّسَآيَقُ وَالحَاكِمُ.

وَلِلتَّرْمِذِيُّ مِنْ حَلِيثِ أَبِي هُرَيْرُةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَمَالَى عَنْهُ نَحُوْهُ، وَقَالَ فِي آخِرِهِ: "وَزِفْنِي عِلْماً. ٱلْحَمْدُ للهِ عَلمَىٰ كُلِّ حَالَمِ، وَأَعُوذُ بِاللهِ مِنْ حَالِ أَلْهَلِ التَّارِ». وَإِشْنَادُهُ حَسَنٌ.

(١٣٥٧) وَعَنْ عَلَيْشَةَ رَضِيَ اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهَا، أَنَّ اللَّبِيِّ ﷺ عَلَمْهَا لَمْنَا اللَّمَاةَ: «اللَّهُمَّا إِنِّي اللَّهُ مَا اللَّهَاةِ: «اللَّهُمَّا إِنِّي أَشْأَلُكَ مِنْ اللَّهُمَّ الْمُعْمَّ مِنْهُ وَمَا لَمْ أَعْلَمْ، وَأَعُودُ بِكَ مِنْ الشَّرِّ كُلِّهِ عَاجِلِهِ وَآجِلِهِ، مَا عَلِمْتُ مِنْهُ وَمَا لَمْ أَعْلَمْ، اللَّهُمَّ إِنِّي أَشْأَلُكَ مِنْ خَيْرِ مَا سَأَلُكَ عَبْدُ مَنْ مَا عَادَ مِنْهُ وَمَا لَمْ عَبْدُكَ وَنَبِيْكَ، وَأَعُودُ بِكَ مِنْ شَرِّ مَا عَادَ مِنْهُ وَمَا لَمْ عَبْدُكَ وَنَبِيْكَ، وَأَعُودُ بِكَ مِنْ أَشْلُكَ الجَنَّة، وَمَا عَبْدُ مِنْ وَلُولِ وَعَمْلِهِ، وَأَعُودُ بِكَ مِن قَوْلِ أَوْ عَمَلِهِ، وَأَعُودُ بِكَ مِن وَلُولِ أَوْ عَمَلِهِ، وَأَعُودُ بِكَ مِن وَلُولِ أَوْ عَمَلِهِ، وَأَعُودُ بِكَ مِن وَلُولُ أَوْ عَمَلِهِ، وَأَعُودُ بِكَ مِنَ وَلُولُ أَوْ عَمَلِهِ، وَأَعُودُ بِكَ مِنَ وَلُولُ أَوْ عَمَلِهِ، وَأَعُودُ بِكَ مِن قَوْلِ أَوْ عَمَلِهِ، وَأَعُودُ بِكَ مِنَ وَلُولُ أَوْ عَمَلِهِ، وَأَعُودُ بِكَ مِنَ عَوْلِهِ أَوْ عَمَلِهِ، وَأَعُودُ بِكَ مِنْ قَوْلِ أَوْ عَمَلِهِ، وَأَعُودُ بِكَ مِنَ أَوْلُولُ أَوْ عَمَلُهِ، وَأَعُودُ بِكَ مِنْ قَوْلُ وَلَا وَالْحَاكِمُ. وَأَعُودُ بِكَ مِنْ وَلُولُ وَالَوْكَ أَنْ مَاجَهُ وَ وَسَحَمَعُهُ ابْنُ وَمِنْ وَلُولُ وَالْحَاكِمُ وَالْحَاكِمُ.

(١٣٥٨) وَأَخْرَجَ الشَّيْخَانِ عَنْ أَبِي هُرَيْرَةَ رَضِي اللَّهُ تَعَالَى عَنْهُ قَالَ: قَالَ رَسُولُ اللهِ ﷺ وَكَلِمَتَانِ حَيِينَتانِ إِلَى الرَّحْمُن، خَيْيفَتَانِ عَلَى اللَّمْوَلُ: سُبْحَانَ اللهِ وَيَكَانِ فِي المِيزَانِ: سُبْحَانَ اللهِ وَيَحَمُّوهِ سُبْحَانَ اللهِ العَظِيمِ.

^[1] This *Hadūth* enlightens us that we should ask Allāh for useful knowledge. Similarly, we should ask Allāh's protection from the useless knowledge. Useless knowledge is that which does not bring one benefit in the Hereafter.

^[2] Imām Bukhāri concluded Sabib Al-Bukbāri by quoting this Hadīth. Following his example,

[The author – Ash-Shaykh, Al-Imām, Al-'Aalim, Al-'Aamil, Al-'Allāmah, Qādi Al-Qudāt, Shaykhul-Islam – May Allah grant humanity pleasure by his presence – said: "The one who summarized it, Ahmad bin Ali bin Muhammad bin Hajar Al-Asqalāni, finished this book on 11th Rabi-ul-Awwal 828 H., praising Allah, the Most High, and asking for Salat (praise by Allah in the highest assemblies of the angels) on His Messenger, and honor, respect and exaltation.

قَالَ مُصَنَّقُهُ - الشَّيْعُ الإَمَامُ العَالِمُ العَالِمُ العَالِمُ العَالِمُ العَالِمُ العَلَمْ العَلَّامَةُ قَاضِي القُصَاةِ شَيْحُ الإسلامِ أَمْتَعَ اللَّهُ بِوْجُودِهِ الأَنَامَ - فَرَغَ مِنْهُ مُلَخَصُهُ أَخْمَهُ أَخْمَهُ بُنُ عَلِي عَلِي عَلَيْ مُخَمَّدٍ فِي حَادِي عَشَرَ شَهْرِ رَبِيعِ الأَوَّلِ سَنَةً ثَمَانٍ وَعِشْرِينَ وَتَمَانِهِاتَةٍ، عَلِيدًا للهِ عَلَى رَسُولِهِ عَلَى وَمُصَلِّياً عَلَىٰ رَسُولِهِ عَلَيْ وَمُعَلِّمًا.

many of the authors and compilers have concluded their books by mentioning this Hadith. This Hadith proves the existence of Mizan (the scales for measuring deeds on the Day of Judgement) as mentioned clearly in the noble Qur'an. There is a difference of opinion among the scholars in regard to the nature and condition of things thus weighed and measured on the pair of scales. Some of the scholars hold that the Records of Deeds themselves shall be measured, as proven by the Hadith of the 'Bitaga' reported by Ahmad, At-Tirmidhi, Ibn Majah and others. [Silsilah Ahādith As-Sahihah, 1/212, no. 135]. Other scholars hold the view that each action has a definite shape and thus every deed shall be measured individually in its very shape (appearance), as proven by the final Hadith of Bulugh Al-Maram (no. 1358). This Hadīth informs us about the vastness of Allāh's Mercy, that He generously gives away a great amount of rewards for actions which are relatively small and negligible. The fact is that Allāh's Mercy is all-encompassing, to the extent that the people are often forgiven under one pretext or another. Oh my All-Forgiving and All-Merciful Rabb! Arrange the means of deliverance from the unseen for this delinquent slave of Yours and accept him for Your forgiveness by Your sheer mercy. Amin. Oh You the Cherisher of the worlds. Oh Allah! Forgive the sins of the writer of this book!

GLOSSARY

'Abd:

(العد) A male slave, a slave of Allah.

'Ād:

(sle) An ancient tribe that lived after Nuh (Noah). It was prosperous, but disobedient to Allāh, so Allāh destroyed it

with a violent destructive westerly wind.

Adhān:

Willia violeti destructive wisetry wildi.

(Bišyl) The call to Salāt (prayer) pronounced loudly to indicate that the time of praying is due. And it is as follows: Allābu Akbar, Allābu-Akbar; Allābu-Akbar, Allābu-Akbar, Asb-badu an lā ilāba illallāb, Asb-badu anna lā ilāba illallāb, Asb-badu anna Mubammadan Rasūl-Ullāb, Asb-badu anna Mubammadan Rasūl-Ullāb, Hayya 'alas-Salāb, Hayya 'alas-Salāb, Hayya 'alal-Falāb, Hayya 'alal-Falāb, Allābu-Akbar, Allābu-Akbar, Lā ilāba illallāb. (See Sabīb Al-Bukbāri, The Book of Adbān).

Ahkām:

(الأحكام) "Legal status". According to Islamic law, there are

five kinds of Abkām:

1. Compulsory (Wājib

2. Desirable but not compulsory (Mustabab المستحب)

3. Forbidden (Muharram المحرم)

4. Disliked but not forbidden (Makrūb المكروه)

5. Lawful and allowed (Halāl الحلال)

Al-Ahzāb:

(الأحزاب) The Confederates. The term is used for the disbelievers of Quraish and the Jews residing at Al-Madīnah and some other Arab tribes who invaded the Muslims of Al-Madīnah but were forced to withdraw.

'Ajwah: Ālim: (العجوة) A kind of dates.

(السائم) A knowledgeable person or a religious scholar in Islam.

Allāhu Akbar:

(الله أكبر) Allāh is the Most Great. (الأمة) A female slave.

'Amah: Al-'Amānah:

(בּוֹשׁאַ) The trust or the moral responsibility or honesty,

Ai- Amanan:

and all the duties which Allāh has ordained. (الَسِيرُ) O Allāh, accept our invocation.

Āmīn: Amma Ba'du:

(الما بدلاً) An expression used for separating the introductory part from the main topics in a speech; the introductory being usually concerned with Allah's Praises and Glorification. Literally it means, "whatever comes after." It is generally translated as "then after" or "to proceed."

Ansār:

الأنصار) The Companions of the Prophet ﷺ from the inhabitants of Al-Madinah, who embraced Islam and supported it and who received and entertained the Muslim emigrants from Makkah and other places.

Al-'Aqīq:

(العقين) A valley in Al-Madīnah about seven kilometers west

of Al-Madīnah.

'Aaīaah:

(العقيقة) It is the sacrificing of one or two sheep on the

	occasion of the birth of a child, as a token of gratitude to
	Allāh. (See Sahīb Al-Bukhāri, 'The Book of 'Aqīqah).
'Aqrā Halqā:	ا (عقرى حلقى) It is an exclamatory expression. It expresses
	disapproval.
'Arafah (day of):	(عرفة) The ninth day of the month Dhul-Hijjah, on which
	the pilgrims stay in the Arafat plain till sunset.
'Arafāt:	(عرفات) A famous place of pilgrimage on the southeast of
	Makkah about twenty-five kilometers from it.
Arāk:	(الأراك) A tree from which Siwāk (الأراك) (tooth brush) is
	made.
47 4 7 7 7	6 \$10 mm 6 11 6 47 314 41 50= =1

Al-Arba'ah: (الأربعة) The four compilers of Abadith — Abu Dāwūd, Nasā'i, Tirmidhi and Ibn Mājah.

(العصة) All male relatives of a deceased person from the 'Asabah: father's side.

Ashāb As-Suffah: They were about eighty or more men who اصحاب الصفة) used to stay and have religious teachings in the Prophet's Mosque in Al-Madīnah, and they were very poor people.

(أصحاب السنز) The compilers of the prophetic Abadith on Ashāb As-Sunan: Islamic jurisprudence.

'Ashūra: The 10th of the month of Muharram (the first (العاشوراء) month in the Islamic calendar). 'Acr. (العصر) Afternoon, 'Asr prayer time.

> (العربة) That part of the body which is illegal to expose to others.

ارسة) Plural of Wasq, which is a measure equal to 60 Sā' Awsuq: = 135 kgms. (approx). It may be less or more.

(الآسات) Proofs. evidences, verses, lessons,

revelations, etc. (آية الكرسي) Qur'ānic Verse no. 255 of Sūrat Al-Baqarah. Ayyām At-Tashriq: It is a term used for the eleventh, twelfth and (أيام التشريق)

> thirteenth of Dhul-Hijjah. (الأحم) A woman who already has had a sexual experience;

she may be a widow or a divorcee. (العزل) Coitus interruptus, i.e., pulling out the penis from

vagina at the time of ejaculation of semen for the purpose of birth control.

(الأزلام) Literally means "arrows". Here it means arrows used to seek good luck or a decision, practised by the 'Arabs of Pre-Islamic Period of Ignorance.

(لنة) (Plural: Budn). A camel or a cow or an ox driven to be offered as a sacrifice, by the pilgrims at the sanctuary of Makkah.

لير) A place about 150 kilometers to the south of Al-Madinah, where the first great battle in Islamic history took place between the early Muslims and the infidels of

Ouraish.

Radr:

Radanah:

'Aurah:

Āvāt:

Ayyim:

'Azl:

Azlām:

Ayatul-Kursi:

Banü Al-Asfar:

Al-Rahīra: (الحيرة) A milking she-camel, whose milk used to be spared

for idols and other false deities. Bai'a: (البيعة) A pledge given by the citizens to their Imam

(Muslim ruler) to be obedient to him according to the

Islamic religion.

Al-Baitul-Ma'mūr: (الست المعمور) Allāh's House over the seventh heaven.

Baitul-Maqdis: (ست المقلس) Bait literally means 'House': a mosque is frequently called Baitullab (the House of Allah). Bait-ul-Magdis is the famous mosque in Jerusalem which is regarded as the third sacred mosque in Islam, the first and second being Al-Masjid-al-Haram at Makkah and the

mosque of the Prophet & at Al-Madinah, respectively.

Raitul-Midras: (ببت المدراس) A place in Al-Madinah (and it was a Jewish centre).

Bai'atur-Ridwān: (بيعة الرضوان) The oath and pledge taken by the Sahāba at Al-Hudaibiyyah in the year 6 H to fight Quraish in case they harmed 'Uthman رضي الله who had gone to negotiate with them and reported to have been taken

captive.

(بنو الأصفر) The Byzantines.

(القيم) The cemetery of the people of Al-Madinah; many of Baai*:

the Companions of the Prophet # are buried in it.

Barr: (اله) Pious. Rid'ah: (البدعة) Any innovated practice in religion. Bint Labūn: (نت لبون) A two-year-old she-camel. Bint Makhād: (بنت مخاض) One-year-old she-camel.

(راق) An animal bigger than a donkey and smaller than a Burāq:

horse on which the Prophet & went for the Mi'rāj. (The

Ascent of the Prophet see to the heavens.)

(الدبان) Allāh; it literally means the One Who judges people Daiyyān:

from their deeds after calling them to account.

(الدجال) Pseudo Messiah (Al-Masīb-ad-Dajjāl) or Antichrist. Dajjāl: Literally a liar, quack, deceiver. (See the footnote of V.6:158 the Qur'an and also Hadith no.3441 and 3439,

Sabib Al-Bukbāri).

Dānia: (دانة) A coin equal to one-sixth of a Dirham.

Dār-al-Qadā': (دار القضاء) Justice House (court).

Dhāt-'Irg: (ذات عرق) Migāt for the pilgrims coming from Iraq.

رضى الله عنهما Asmā', the daughter of Abū Bakr (ذاتُ النطاقين) Dhātun-Nitāgain:

It literally means a woman with two belts. She was named so by the Prophet 鑑.

Dhawul-Arhām: (فوو الأرحام) Relatives on the maternal side.

Dhimmi: (الذمي) A non-Muslim living under the protection of an

Islamic government.

Dhul-Fara'id: Those persons whose share of inheritance is described in the Qur'an are called Dhul-Fara'id, and the rest are Asabab (العصبة).

Dhul-Hijjah: (ذوالحجة) The twelfth month in the Islamic calendar.

Dhul-Hulaifa: (ذوالحليفة) The Mīqāt of the people of Al-Madīnah now

called 'Abyār 'Alī.

Dhul-Khalasa: (ذوالخلصة) Al-Ka'bah Al-Yamaniyah. (A house in Yemen

where idols used to be worshipped. It belonged to the

tribe of Khath'am and Bujailah).

(ذو القعدة) The eleventh month of the Islamic calendar. Dhul-Oa'da:

Dhul-Oarnain: (ذوالقرنين) A great ruler in the past who ruled all over the world, and was a true believer. His story is mentioned in

the Qur'an. (V.18:83)

Dhū-Mahram: (ذر محرم) A man, whom a woman can never marry because

of close relationship (e.g. a brother, a father, an uncle); or her own husband.

Dhū-Tuwa: (ذرطوي) It is one of the valleys (districts) of Makkah and

there is a well-known well in it. In the lifetime of the Prophet & Makkah was a small city and this well was outside its precincts. Nowadays Makkah is a larger city

and the well is within its boundaries.

(الديباج) Pure silk cloth. Dībāi:

Dinār: (الدينار) An ancient gold coin. Dirham:

(الدرهم) A silver coin weighing 50 grains of barley with cut ends. It is equal to 1/12 of one *Ugivyab* of gold in value.

(الدية) (Plural: Dīyāt) Blood money (for wounds, killing Diya:

etc.), as compensation paid by the killer to the relatives of

the victim (in unintentional cases).

Duha: (الضحى) Forenoon.

Fadak: (ندك) A town near Al-Madinah. Fahish: (الفاحش) One who talks evil.

Fai': (الفرء) War booty gained without fighting.

(الفجر) Dawn or early morning before sunrise, or morning Fair:

Salāt (prayer).

Faqih: (الفقيه) A learned man who can give religious verdicts.

Farā'id: (القرائضي) Shares fixed for the relatives of a deceased. Such

shares are prescribed in the Qur'an (1/2, 1/4, 1/3, 1/6 1/8, 2/3). [V.4:11, 12, 176]

Fard 'Ain: (نرض العين) It is an individual duty – an obligation

essentially to be performed by each individual.

قرض الكفاية) It is a collective duty - an obligation which, if Fard Kifāyah:

performed by one person, suffices for the rest; as it does not have to be performed essentially by all.

Faridah: (الفريضة) (Plural: Farā'id) An enjoined duty. Fatāt: (الفتاة) A female slave or a young lady. Al-Fātihah: (الفاتحة) The first Sūrab in the Our'an.

Fidyah: (الفدية) Compensation for a missed or wrongly practised religious obligation (like in Hajj), usually in the form of money or foodstuff or offering (animal by slaughtering it).

Fiqh: (الفقه) Islamic jurisprudence.

Al-Firdaus: (الفردوس) The middle and the highest part of Paradise.

Fitnah: (النفان) (Plural: Fitan) Trials, persecution, mischief, confusion in the religion, conflicts and strifes among the

Muslims.

Ghairah: (الغيرة) This word covers a wide meaning : jealousy as

regards women, and also it is a feeling of great fury and anger when one's honour and prestige is injured or

challenged.

Ghāzī: (النازى) A Muslim fighter returning after participation in Jibād

(Islamic holy fighting).

Ghazwah: (النزوة) (Plural: Ghazawāt). A holy battle or fighting in the Cause of Allāh consisting of a large army unit with the

Prophet & himself leading the army.

Ghazwatul-Khandaq: (غزوة الخندق) The name of a battle between the early

Muslims and the infidels in which the Muslims dug a Khandaq (trench) round Al-Madinah to prevent any

advance by the enemies.

Ghulūl: (الغلول) Stealing from the war booty before its distribution.

Ghuraf: (الغرف) Special abodes.

Al-Ghurrul-Muhajjalūn: (الغر المحجلون) A name that will be given on the Day of

Resurrection to the Muslims because the parts of their bodies which they used to wash in ablution will shine then.

шеп.

Ghusl: (الغسل) A ceremonial bath. This is necessary for one who is

Junub, and also on other occasions. This expression 'taking a bath' is used with the special meaning of Gbusl men-

tioned here.

Habalul-Habala: (حبل الحبلة) There were two forms of this trade called

Habalul-Habalab. The example of first form is that to buy an offspring of an animal which itself is yet to be born by making the payment in advance. Second form is to sell an animal on condition to have the offspring of the sold animal. Both forms of this kind of transaction are prohib-

ited.

Al-Hadath Al-Akbar: (الحدث الأكبر) State of uncleanliness because of sexual

discharge.

Al-Hadath Al-Asghar: (الحدث الأصغر) Passing wind or urine or answering the call

of nature.

Hadūh: (الحديث) (Plural: Abadith أحاديث). The sayings, deeds and

approvals accurately narrated from the Prophet 28.

Hady: (الهدى) An animal (a camel, a cow, a sheep or a goat)

offered as a sacrifice by the pilgrims.

Hajj: (الحج) Pilgrimage to Makkah.

Al-Hajj-al-Akbar: (الحج الأكبر) The day of Nabr (i.e the 10th of Dhul-Hijjah).

Al-Hajjal-Asghar: (الحج الأصغر) 'Umrah.

Hajjal-Ifrād: حج الإفراد) In it a pilgrim enters in the state of Ibrām with

the intention of performing Hajj only.

Hajjal-Qirān: (حج القران) In it a pilgrim enters in the state of Ibrām with

the intention of performing *Umrab* and *Hajj* together.

Hajjat-Tamattu': (حج النصني) In it a pilgrim enters in the state of *Ibrām* with the intention of performing *Umrab*, and then after performing *Tawāf* and *Sa'v*, he comes out of his *Ibrām*. With

forming *Tawāf* and *Sa'y*, he comes out of his *Ihrām*. With the commencement of *Hajj* days, he enters in the state of

Ibrām again and performs Hajj.

Hajjatul-Wadā': (حجة الوداع) The last Hajj of the Prophet ﷺ the year before

he died.

Hajj Mabrūr: (الحج المبرور) Hajj accepted by Allāh for being perfectly performed according to the Prophet's Sunnah and with

legally earned money.

Halāl: (الحلال) Lawful.

Hanīf: (الحنيف) Pure Islamic Monotheism (worshipping Allāh

Alone and nothing else).

Hantāh: (هنتاه) An expression used when you don't want to call somebody by her name. (It is used for calling a female).

Harām: (الحرام) Unlawful, forbidden and punishable from the

viewpoint of religion.

Haram: (الحرم) Sanctuaries of Makkah and Al-Madinah.

Harbah: (الحربة) A short spear.

Harj: (الهرج) Killing.

Harrah: (الحرة) A well-known rocky place in Al-Madinah covered

with black stones.

Al-Harūriyyah: (الحرورية) A special unorthodox religious sect.

Al-Hasbā': (الحصباء) A place outside Makkah where pilgrims go after

finishing all the ceremonies of Hajj.

Hawālah: (الحوالة) The transference of a debt from one person to another. It is an agreement whereby a debtor is released

from a debt by another becoming responsible for it.

Hawāzin: (الهوازن) A tribe of Quraish.

Hayā': (الحياء) This term covers a large number of concepts. It may mean 'modesty', 'self-respect', 'bashfulness', 'hon-

may mean 'modesty', 'self-respect', 'bashfulness', 'honour', etc. $Hay\bar{a}'$ is of two kinds: good and bad; the good $Hay\bar{a}'$ is to be ashamed to commit a crime or a thing which Allāh $= \frac{1}{2} \sqrt{\frac{1}{2}} \sqrt{\frac{1}{2}}$

Bukbāri, Hadītb no. 9).

Hibah: (الهبة) It means to present something to someone as a gift

for Allāh's sake.

Al-Hidanah: (الحضانة) The nursing and caretaking of children.

Hijāb: (الحجاب) A long dress prescribed for Muslim women to

cover their whole body from head to feet.

Al-Hijr: (الحجر) The unroofed portion of the Ka'bah which at present is in the form of a compound towards the north

of the Ka'bah.

Hijrah: (ناهجرة) Literally it means 'migration'. This term is used for:
(i) the migration of Muslims from an enemy land to a

(i) the migration of Muslims from an enemy land to a secure place for religious causes, (ii) the first Muslims migration from Makkah to Abyssinia (Ethiopia) and later to Al-Madīnah, (iii) the Prophet's migration journey from Makkah to Al-Madīnah, and (iv) the Islamic calendar year which started from the Prophet's migration journey from Makkah to Al-Madīnah.

Hilāb: (حلاب) A kind of scent.

Hima: (الحمى) A private pasture.

Himyān: (حميان) A kind of belt, part of which serves as a purse to

keep money in it.

Hinna': (الحناء) (Henna) A kind of plant used for dyeing hair etc.

Hiqqah: (الحقة) A three-year-old she-camel.

Hira': (الحراء) A well-known cave in a mountain near Makkah.

Hubal: (الحراء) The name of an idol in the Ka'bah in the Pre-Islamic

Period of Ignorance.

Hublā: (الحبلي) A kind of desert tree.

Hudā: (الحداء) Chanting of camel-drivers keeping time of camel's

walk.

Al-Hudaibiyyah: (الحديية) A well-known place about 16 kilometers from

Makkah on the way to Jeddah. At this place a treaty was made in 6 H. between the Prophet and the Quraish who stopped him and his Companions from performing

'Umrab.

Hudūd: (الحدود) (Plural of Hadd) Allāh's boundary limits for Halāl

(lawful) and Harām (unlawful).

Hujrah: (الحجرة) Courtyard or a room.

Hums:

Hukm: (الحكما) A judgement of legal decision (especially of Allāh)

(حسن) The tribe of Quraish, their offspring and their allies were called *Hums*. This word implies enthusiasm and strictness. The *Hums* used to say, "We are the people of Allāh and we shall not go out of the sanctuary of Makkah." They thought themselves superior to the other

people.

Hunain: (الحنين) i valley between Makkah and Tā'if where the battle

took place between the Prophet # and Ouraish pagans.

Hūr: (انحور) Very fair females created by Allāh as such not from the offspring of Adam, with intense black irises of their

the offspring of Adam, with intense black irises of their eyes and intense white scleras. [For details see the book

Hādi Al-Arwab by Ibn Al-Qayyim, Chapter 54].

'Idal-Adha: (عيد الأضحى) The four days' festival of Muslims starting on

'Id-al-Fitr:

the tenth day of Dhul-Hijjah (month).

(عد الفط) The three days' festival of Muslims starting from

the first day of Shawwal, the month that follows Ramadan. Fitr literally means 'breaking the Saum (fast).' Muslims observe Saum (fast) the whole of Ramadan, the ninth month of the Islamic calendar and when Shawwal comes.

they break their Saum (fast).

(العدة) Allāh's prescribed waiting period for a woman after Iddah: divorce or death of her husband, after the expiry of which

she can remarry another person. (See the Our'an, Sūrat

65).

Idhkhir: الإذخر) It is a kind of grass which is used in the process of melting of the metals. The same is laid down on the roofs and floors of houses, and is also used in spreading in the

(الإنطار) The opposite of Saum (fasting), (breaking the

fast).

Al-Ihdād: (الإحداد) Mourning for a deceased husband.

(الاحرام) A state in which one is prohibited to practise certain deeds that are lawful at other times. The duties of 'Umrab and Hajj are performed during such state. When one assumes this state, the first thing one should do is to express mentally and orally one's intention to assume this state for the purpose of performing Hajj or 'Umrab. Then Talbivab is recited, two sheets of unstitched clothes are the only clothes one wears, (1) Izār: worn below one's waist; and the other (2) Rida': worn round the upper part

of the body.

(الاحسان) The highest level of deeds and worship, (perfection i.e. when you worship Allah or do deeds, consider yourself as if you see Him and if you cannot achieve this feeling or attitude, then you must bear in

mind that He sees you).

(الاحتياء) A sitting posture, putting one's arms around one's legs while sitting on the hips.

(צאלוו) The oath taken by a husband that he would not

approach his wife for a certain period.

(ايلاء) Jerusalem.

(ועשוم) The person who leads others in the Salāt (prayer)

or the Muslim caliph (or ruler).

(الاسان) Faith, Belief.

(المنة) A kind of transaction. One form of it is that if a person asks someone to lend him a certain amount of

money, he refuses the money in cash, but instead offers him an article at a higher price than his demand of the required money, and later on buys the same article from

Iftār:

Thrām:

Ihsān:

ΊΙā':

Iliva': Imām:

Al-Ihtibā':

Imān:

Inah:

him at a less price i.e., equal to the money he wants. In this way he makes him indebted for the difference. It shows that two things are the causes of Muslim disgrace—one is giving up of *Jibād* and the second is fraud and swindling.

Iaāmah:

(גְּעְשׁה) The wording of Adbān is reduced so that the wording that is repeated twice in the Adbān is said once in Iqāmab, except the last phrase of Allābu Akbar, and the prayer is offered immediately after the Iqāmab.

Iaāmatas-Salāt:

- (إنَّامَ الصَّلاة) The performing of As-Salāt (the prayers). This is not understood by many Muslims. It means:
- (A) Every Muslim, male or female, is obliged to offer his Salāt (prayers) regularly five times a day at the specified times; the male in a mosque in congregation and as for the female it is better to offer them at home. As the Prophet has said: "Order your children to offer Salāt (prayers) at the age of seven and beat them (about it) at the age of ten". The chief (of a family, town, tribe) and the Muslim ruler of a country are held responsible before Allāh in case of non-fulfillment of this obligation by the Muslims under his authority.
- (B) One must offer the Salāt (prayer) in a way just as Prophet Muhammad ﷺ used to offer it with all its rules and regulations, i.e. standing, bowing, prostrating, sitting as he ﷺ has said: "Offer your Salāt (prayer) the way you see me offer it." [7246 O.B.] Please see Abādith nos. 735, 736, 737, 756, 823, 824, Sabib Al-Bukbāri for the Prophet's way of offering Salāt (prayer), in the Book of Characteristics of the Salāt (prayer) and that the Salāt (prayer) begins with Takbīr (Allābu Akbar) with the recitation of Sūrat Al-Fātibab etc. along with its various postures, standing, bowing, prostrations, sitting etc. and it ends with Taslīm.

Isha':

العشاء) Late evening *Salāt* (prayer). Its time starts about one and a half hour after sunset, till the middle of the night.

Istabraq: Istihādah: (استرق) Thick Dībāj (pure silk cloth).

(الاستحاضة) Any bleeding from the womb of a woman in between her normal periods. (See *Sabīb Al-Bukbāri*, *Hadītb* no. 306 and Chapter no. 10).

Istikhārah:

الاستخارة) A Salāt (prayer) consisting of two Rak'ab in which the praying person appeals to Allāh to guide him on the right way, regarding a certain matter he wants to undertake. (See Hadāth no. 1162, Hadāth no.6382, Hadāth no. 7390, Sahih Al-Bukhārī).

Istisgā':

(الاستسقاء) A Salāt (prayer) consisting of two Rak'ab,

invoking Allah for rain in seasons of drought,

(الاعتكاف) Seclusion in a mosque for the purpose of I'tikāf:

worshipping Allah only. The one in such a state should not have sexual relations with his wife, and one is not allowed to leave the mosque except for a very short period, and that is only for very urgent necessity e.g. answering the call of nature or joining a funeral proces-

sion etc.

(الإزار) A sheet worn below the waist to cover the lower-Izār:

half of the body.

Iadha'ah: (الجذعة) A four-year-old she-camel.

Jahannam: (حهنم) Hell-fire.

Jahiliyyah: (ألجاهلية) (i) Ignorance belonging to the period before the advent of the Prophet 26. (ii) Un-Islamic practices which

> either existed or were inherited from the era before the advent of the Prophet 變.

Ialsatul-Istirāhah: The brief sitting between rising up from a (جلسة الاستراحة)

prostration position to the standing position in a prayer. (الجمع) Al-Muzdalifah, a well-known place near Makkah. Jam': Jamrah: (الجيرة) A small stone-built pillar in a walled place. There

are three Jamrah situated at Mina. One of the ceremonies of Hajj is to throw pebbles at these Jamrah on the four

days of 'Id-al-Adha at Mina.

One of the three stone-built pillars situated at (الجمرة العقبة) Jamratul-'Aaabah: Mina. It is situated at the entrance of Mina from the

direction of Makkah.

Janābah: (الجناية) The state of a person after having sexual intercourse with his wife or after having a sexual discharge in a wet dream. A person in such a state should perform

Ghusl (i.e. have a bath) or do Tayammum, if a bath is not

possible.

Janāzah: (الجناز: Plural: Janā'iz) (الجنازة) Funeral.

Jannah: (الجنة) Paradise.

Jihād: (الجهاد) Holy fighting in the Cause of Allah or any other

kind of effort to make Allah's Word (i.e. Islam) superior. Jihād is regarded as one of the fundamentals of Islam.

[See the footnote of (V.2:190) The Noble Qur'an].

Jimār: (الحمار) Plural of Jamrah. Jinn: (الجز) A creation, created by Allah from fire, like human

beings from dust, and angels from light.

Al-Ji'rānah: (الحدانة) A place, few kilometers from Makkah. The

Prophet # distributed the war booty of the battle of Hunain there, and from there he assumed the state of Ibrām to perform 'Umrab.

(الجزية) Head tax imposed by Islam on all non-Muslims

Jizyah: living under the protection of an Islamic government. [See Sabīb Al-Bukbāri, Chapter 1, and Abādītb no. 3156,

3157, 3158 and 3159.]

Al-Juhfah: (الجحفة) The Mīqāt of the people of Shām.

Jumu'ah: (الجمعة) Friday.

Junub: (الجنب) A person who is in a state of Janāba.

Jurhum: (جرهم) Name of an Arab tribe.

Ka'bah: (الكعبة) A square stone building in Al-Masjid-al-Harām (the

great mosque at Makkah) towards which all Muslims face

in Salāt (prayer).

Kafālah: (الكفالة) The pledge given by somebody to a creditor to

guarantee that the debtor will be present at a certain specific place to pay his debt or fine, or to undergo a

punishment etc.

Kaffārah: (الكفارة) Making atonement for uttering or committing an

unlawful thing in Islam.

Kāfir: (الكفار Plural: Kuffār). The one who disbelieves in

Allāh, His Messengers, all the angels, all the holy Books, Day of Resurrection and in the *Al-Qadar* (Divine Preor-

dainments).

Kanz: (الكنة) Hoarded up gold, silver and money, the Zakāt of

which has not been paid. (See the Qur'ān V. 9:34).

Katm: (الكتم) A plant used for dyeing hair.

Al-Kauthar: (الكوذ) A river in Paradise (see the Qur'ān, Sūrab no.108).

Al-Khamsah: (الخسنا) The five compilers of Abadith — Abu Dāwūd,

Nasā'i, Tirmidhi, Ibn Mājah and Ahmad.

Khaibar: (خيبر) An oasis and date-growing village, about 100

kilometers from Al-Madīnah. During the Prophet's time, it was inhabited by a Jewish tribe called Banu Nadīr. It was

conquered by the Muslims in 5 H.

Khalifah: (الخليفة) (Plural: Khulafā (الخليفة) Caliph, a successor, an

Islamic term used for the first four rulers after the death

of the Prophet 鑑.

Khalil: (الخليا) The one whose love is mixed with one's heart and

it is superior to a friend or beloved. The Prophet # had only one *Kbalīl*, i.e. Allāh, but he had many friends.

Khamr: (الخمر) Wine, Alcohol, intoxicant etc.

Khamīsah: (الخمصة) A black woollen square blanket with marks on it.

Khandaa: (الخندق) See Ghazwatul-Khandaa.

Kharāj: (الخراج) Zakāt imposed on the yield of the land (1/10th or

1/20th).

Khawārij: (الخوارج) The people who dissented from the religion and

disagreed with the rest of the Muslims.

Khazīr or Khazīrah: (الخزير، الخزير) A special type of dish prepared from barleyflour, meat-soup, fat etc.

Khilafah: (الخلافة) (i) Succession. (ii) Islamic leadership.

Khimār: (الخمار) A piece of cloth with which a woman covers her

Kunvah:

head and neck area.

Khuff: (الخف) Leather socks.

Khul': (الخلع) A kind of divorce in which a wife seeks divorce from her husband by giving him a certain compensation, or

returning back the Mabr which he gave her.

Khumrah: (الخمرة) A small mat just sufficient for the face and the

hands [on prostrating during Salāt (prayers)].

Khumus: (الخمير) One-fifth of war booty given in Allāh's Cause (The

Our'ān, V.8:41).

Khushū": (الخشوع) Humility before Allāh.

Khusūf: (الخسوف) Lunar eclipse.

Khutbah: (الخطبة) Religious talk (sermon).

Khutbatun-Nikāh: (خطبة النكاح) A speech delivered at the time of concluding

the marriage contract.

Khuzā'ah: (الخزاعة) Banu Khuzā'ah, an Arabian tribe.

Kohl: (الكحل) Antimony eye powder. Kūfah: (الكونة) A town in 'Irāq.

Kufr: (الكفر) It is basically disbelief in any of the articles of

Islamic Faith and they are: to believe in Allāh (God), His angels, His Messengers, His revealed Books, the Day of Resurrection, and *Al-Qadar* (i.e. Divine Preordainments

whatever Allāh has ordained must come to pass).

(الكية) Calling a man, 'O father of so-and-so!' or calling a woman, 'O mother of so-and-so!' This is a custom of the

Arabs.

Kusūf: (الكسوف) Solar eclipse.

Labbaika wa sa'daika: (لبيك وسعديك) I respond to your call and I am obedient to

your orders.

Lā ilāha illallāh: (الا إله إلا الله) None has the right to be worshipped but

Allāh.

Lailatul-Qadr: (ليلة القدر) One of the odd last ten nights of the month of

Saum (fasting) (i.e. Ramadān), Allāh who describes it as better than one thousand months, and the one who worships Allāh during it by performing optional prayers and reciting the Noble Qur'ān, etc. will get a reward better than that of worshipping Him for one thousand months (i.e. 83 years and four months). [See the Qur'ān Sūrat 97 (V.97: 1-5)]. (See Sabib Al-Bukbāri, Hadīth no.

2014 and Chapter no.1).

Lāt and Uzza: (اللات والعزى) Well-known idols in Hijāz which used to be worshipped during the Pre-Islamic Period of Ignorance.

Li'ān: (اللامان) An oath which is taken by both the wife and the husband when the husband accuses his wife of commit-

ting illegal sexual intercourse. (The Qur'ān, *Sūrat An-Nūr*, 24:6,7,8,9,).

Luqatah: (اللقطة) Article or a thing (a pouch or a purse tied with a

string) found by somebody other than the owner who has

(معافری) A type of garment of Yemen origin. Ma'āfiri:

Al-Madinah: (المدينة) Well-known city in Saudi Arabia, where the

Prophet's Mosque is situated. It was formerly called

Yathrib.

Maghāfīr: (المغافي) A bad smelling gum.

Al-Maghāzi: (المغازي) Plural of Magbza, i.e. holy battle; or the place

where the battle took place; or the deeds and virtues of

Gbāzi (fighters in Allāh's Cause)

Maghrib: (المغرب) Sunset, evening Salāt (prayer).

Mahr: (المهر) Bridal money given by the husband to the wife at the time of marriage.

Mahram: (المحرم) See Dhu-Mahram.

Makruth: (المكروة) Not approved of, undesirable from the point of

view of religion, although not punishable.

Mamlūk: (المملوك) A male slave.

Al-Manāsī*; (المناصع) A vast plateau on the outskirts of Al-Madinah.

Manāsik Al-Haii wal-Timrah:

(مناسك الحج والعمرة) Acts connected with Hajj like Ibrām; Tawaf of the Ka'bah and Sa'y of As-Safa and Al-Marwah; stay at 'Arafat, Muzdalifah and Mina; Ramy (throwing pebbles) of *Jamarāt*; slaughtering of *Hady* (animal) etc. For details, see The Book of Hajj and 'Umrab, Sabib Al-Bukbāri.

Manihah:

(المنبحة) (Plural: Manā'ib) A sort of gift in the form of a she-camel or a sheep which is given to somebody temporarily so that its milk may be used and then the animal is returned to its owner.

Maqām Ibrāhīm:

عليه (The stone on which Ibrāhīm (Abraham) عليه were عليه السلام (Ishmael) stood while he and Ismā'īl السلام building the Ka'ba.

Maqām Mahmūd:

(المقام المحمود) A station of praise and glory, i.e. the honour of intercession on the Day of Resurrection. (See Hadīth

no. 4718, Sabib Al-Bukbāri).

Al-Marwah:

(المروة) A mountain in Makkah, neighbouring the Sacred Mosque (i.e. Al-Masjid-al-Harām)

Mā shā' Allāh:

(ماشاء الله) An Arabic expression meaning literally, "What

Allāh wills," and it indicates a good omen.

Al-Mash'aral-Haram: (المشعر الحرام) A sacred place at Muzdalifah.

Al-Masihad-Dajjāl: (المسيح الدجال) Pseudo Messiah or Antichrist (see the footnote of V.6:158 the Our'an and also Hadith no. 3439.

3440 and 3441, Sabib Al-Bukbāri).

Masjid: (المسجد) Mosque.

Al-Masjidal-Aqsa: (المسجد الأقصى) The most sacred mosque in Jerusalem. Al-Masjidal-Harām: (المسجد الحرام) The Sacred Mosque in Makkah. The Ka'ba is situated in it.

Mathānī: (المثاني) Oft repeated Verses of the Qur'an, and that is

Sūrat Al-Fātibab, recited repeatedly in the Salāt (prayer).

(المرلي) It has many meanings. Some are: a manumitted Maula:

slave, or a patron, protector, supporter, or master or the Rabb [Lord (Allāh)].

(مولای) My lord, my master (an expression used when a Maulāva:

slave addresses his master) (also used for freed slave). (الموقودة) An animal beaten to death with a stick, a stone or Maugūdhah:

the like without proper slaughtering.

Mawālī: (الموالي) Non-Arabs and originally former slaves.

Mavāthir: (المباثر) Silk cushions.

Mihjan: (المحجن) A walking stick with a bent handle.

Mijann: (المجن) A place at Makkah.

Mina: (مني) A pilgrimage place outside Makkah on the road to 'Arafat. It is eight kilometers away from Makkah and about

sixteen kilometers from 'Arafat.

Mīgāt: (الميقات) (Plural: Mawaqit المرانيت) One of the several places specified by the Prophet & for the people to

assume Ibrām at, on their way to Makkah, when intending

to perform *Hajj* or 'Umrab.

(المعراج) The Ascent of the Prophet ﷺ to the heavens (by Mi'rāi: soul and body). (See Hadith no. 349, Hadith no. 3207

and Hadīth no.3887, Sabib Al-Bukhāri). [Also see

(V.53:12) the Qur'an]

Miswāk: (المسواك) A tooth brush made of Arāk-tree roots.

(المثقال) A special kind of weight (equals 42/7 grams Mithqāl: approx., used for weighing gold). It may be less or more.

[20 Mithaal = 94 grams approx.]

Mu'adhdhin: (المؤذن) A call-maker who pronounces the Adhān loudly calling people to come and perform the Salāt (prayer).

(مولفة القلرب) New Muslims who were given Sadagab by the Mu'allafatul-Qulub:

Prophet # to keep them firm in the fold of Islam.

Mu'arras: (المعرس) A place nearer to Mina than Ash-Shajarah.

Mu'awwidhāt: (المعوذات) i.e. Sūrat Al-Falag (113) and Sūrat An-Nās

(114). [The Qur'an].

Mubashshirāt: (الميشرات) Glad tidings. [See the footnote of (V. 10:64),

Sabīb Al-Bukbāri, Hadītb no. 6990].

(المربقات) Great destructive sins. Mūbiaāt:

Mudabbar: (المدير) A slave who is promised by his master to be

manumitted after the latter's death.

(المد) A measure of two-thirds of a kilogram (approx.) It Mudd:

may be less or more.

Mufassal or Mufassalāt: (المنصل المنصل) The Sūrab starting from Qāf to the end of the Noble Qur'an (i.e. from no. 50 to the end of the Qur'an, no. 114).

Muhājir:

المهاجر) Anyone of the early Muslims who had migrated from any place to Al-Madīnah in the lifetime of the Prophet ﷺ before the conquest of Makkah and also the one who emigrates for the sake of Allāh and Islam and also the one who quits all those things which Allāh has forbidden.

Muhāqalah:

(المحاقلة) It is selling un-harvested grain in the field with an already harvested grain like wheat.

Muharram:

(المحرم) The first month of the Islamic calendar.

Al-Muhassab:

(المحسية) A valley outside Makkah sometimes called Khaif

Banī Kinanah.

Muhkam:

(المحكم) Qur'anic Verses the contents of which are not

abrogated.

Muhrim:

(المحرم) One who assumes the state of Ibrām for the

purpose of performing the Hajj or 'Umrah.

Muhrimah:

(المحرمة) A female in the state of Ibrām.

Muhsar:

(المحصر)) A Muhrim who intends to perform the Hajj or Umrah but cannot because of some obstacle.

Mujāhid:

(المجاهد) (Plural: *Mujāhidūn*) A Muslim fighter in *Jihād*. (المجاز) A *Qā'if*: a learned man who reads the foot and

Mujazziz:

hand marks.

Mujtahidūn:

المجتهدون) Independent religious scholars who do not follow religious opinions except with proof from the Our'ān and the Prophet's *Sunnab*.

Mukātab:

(الـمـكـانــــ)) A slave (male or female) who makes an agreement with the master to pay a certain ransom for his (or her) freedom.

Mukhadram:

(المخضرم) (Plural: *Mukhadramun*) A person who became a Muslim during the Prophet's lifetime but did not see him.

Mulā'anah:

(الملاعنة) The act of performing Li'an.

Mulhidūn:

(الملحدون) Heretics.

Musallā:

(المصلى) A praying place. (المشركون) Polytheists, pagans, idolaters and disbelievers in

Mushrikün:

the Oneness of Allah and His Messenger Muhammad 幾.

Mustahādah:

(المستحاضة) A woman who has bleeding from the womb in

between her normal periods.

Mutafahhish:

(المتفحش) A person who conveys evil talk.

Mut'ah: (المتحة) A temporary marriage which was allowed in the early period of Islam when one was away from his home,

but later on it was cancelled (abrogated).

Mu'takif:

(المعتكف) One who is in a state of I'tikāf.

Mutashābihāt:

(المتشابهات) Qur'ānic Verses which are not clear and are difficult to understand.

Mutras: Muttafaq 'Alaih: (مترس) A Persian word meaning "don't be afraid."

faq 'Alaih: (منن عليه) Meaning 'Agreed upon'. The term is used for such Abadith which are found in both the collections of

Abadith: Bukhari and Muslim.

(المتقرن) The pious believers of Islamic Monotheism who Muttagūn: fear Allāh much (abstain from all kinds of sins and evil

deeds which He has forbidden) and love Allah much (perform all kinds of good deeds which He has ordained). (الموطأ) A Hadītb book compiled by Imām Mālik bin Anas,

one of the four Fiah Imam.

Muzābanah: (المزانة) The sale of fresh dates for dried dates by measure,

> and the sale of fresh grapes for dried grapes by measure. In both cases, the dried fruits are measured while the fresh ones are only estimated as they are still on the trees.

Muzdalifah: (المزدلفة) A place between 'Arafat and Mina where the pilgrims while returning from 'Arafat, have to stop and stay for the whole night or greater part of it (the night),

between the ninth and tenth of Dhul-Hijjah and to perform the Magbrib and 'Isba' prayers (together) there.

(النحر) (Literal: slaughtering of the camels only and is done by cutting the carotid artery at the root of the neck); the day of Nabr is the tenth of Dhul-Hijjah on which pilgrims

slaughter their sacrificial animals. (النجاشي) (Title for the) king of Ethiopia (Abyssinia) —

Negus. (النجش) A trick (of offering a very high price) for something without the intention of buying it but just to

allure and cheat somebody else who really wants to buy it although it is not worth such a high price.

(النجوي) The private talk between Allah and each of His slaves on the Day of Resurrection. It also means a secret counsel or conference or consultation. [See the Our'an (V.58: 7-13), and also see the footnote of (V.11:18)].(See Sabīb Al-Bukbāri, Hadīth no. 2441).

(النمسة) (Calumnies) conveyance of disagreeable false information from one person to another to create hostility between them.

(النقيب) A person heading a group of six persons in an expedition: a tribal chief.

(النش) A measure of weight equal to 1/2 Ugiyyab (64 grams approximately).

(الهاظ) (Plural of Nāfilab) Optional practice of worship in contrast to obligatory (Faridab).

(النكاح) Marriage (wedlock) according to Islamic law.

(النصاب) Minimum amount of property liable to payment of the Zakāt, e.g. Nisāb of gold is twenty (20) Mithqāl i.e. approx. 94 grams; Nisāb of silver is two hundred (200) dirhams, i.e. approx. 640 grams; Nisāb of food-grains and fruit is 5 Awsuq, i.e. 673.5 kgms. Nisāb of camels is 5

Muwatta':

Nahr:

An-Najāshi:

An-Najsh:

An-Najwa:

Namīmah:

Naqib:

Nash:

Nawāfil:

Nikāh:

Nisāb:

Oassiyyi

Al-Qisās:

camels; Nisāb of cows is 5 cows; and Nisāb of sheep is 40

sheep.

Nūn: (نون) Fish.

Nusub: (النصب) An-Nusub were stone alters at fixed places or

graves, etc., whereon sacrifices were offered during fixed periods of occasions and seasons in the name of idols. jinn, angels, pious men, saints, in order to honour them.

or to expect some benefit from them.

Nusuk: (النسك) Religious act of worship. Qadar: (القدر) Divine Preordainment. Oādi: (القاضي) A Muslim judge.

Oalib: (القلت) A well.

Qāri': (القاريء) Early Muslim religious scholars were called Ourrā'

(plural of Qāri' — this word is also used for a person who knows the Qur'an by heart). The plural is Qurra'.

The Qurrā' were teachers of the early Muslims.

Oārin: (القارن) One who performs Hajjal-Qirān.

Oarnal-Manāzil: ق ن المنازل) The Mīgāt of the people of Naid. It is situated

on the way to Makkah. (Now it is known as As-Sail-al-Kabeer)

Qasab: (القصب) Pipes made of gold, pearls and other precious stones.

> (القسى) A kind of cloth containing silk; some say it is called so because it is manufactured in Egypt at a place called

Qiss.

Qatifah: (القطفة) Thick soft cloth.

(القتات) A person who conveys information from someone Qattāt:

to another with the intention of causing harm and enmity

between them. (Sabīb Al-Bukbāri, Hadīth No.6056). The direction towards which all Muslims face in (القبلة) Oiblah:

Salāt (prayers) and that direction is towards the Ka'bah in

Makkah (Saudi Arabia).

Oil wa Oāl: (قبل وقال) Sinful, useless talk (e.g. backbiting, lies, etc.).

(القنطار) A weight-measure for food-grains, etc., e.g. wheat, Ointār:

maize, oat, barley (1 Qintar = 256.4 kg.).

(القراط) A special weight; sometimes a very great weight Qīrāt: like Uhud mountain. 1 $Q\bar{t}rat = 1/2 D\bar{a}niq & 1 D\bar{a}niq = 1/2 D\bar{t}rat$

6 Dirham.

(القصاص) Laws of equality in punishment for wounds etc.

in retaliation. Qithām: (القثام) A plant disease which causes fruit to fall before

ripening.

Oivām: (القيام) The standing posture in Salāt (prayer).

(القياس) Verdicts and judgements given by the Islamic Qiyās:

religious scholars. These are given on the following proofs respectively:- (A) From the Qur'an; (B) From the Prophet's

Sunnab. (C) From the unanimously accepted verdict of the Mujtabidūn; (D) Qtyās: i.e. the verdict given by a Mujtabid who considered the case similar in comparison with a case judged by the Prophet &. Qtyās is not to be practised except if the judgement of the case is not found in the first three above mentioned proofs, A, B and C.

Oubā':

((الغا)) A place on the outskirts of Al-Madinah. The Prophet established a mosque there, which bears the same name. A visit to that mosque on Saturday forenoon and offering a two Rak'ab Salāt (prayer) is regarded as a performance of 'Umrab in reward according to the Prophet's saying.

Qumqum: Ounüt: (تمقم) A narrow-headed vessel.

(القنوت) An invocation in the Salāt (prayer).

Quraish:

(رَيْن) One of the greatest tribes in Arabia in the Pre-Islamic Period of Ignorance. Prophet Muhammad غلافا belonged to this tribe, which had great powers spiritually and financially both before and after Islam came.

Qurashi:

(القرشي) A person belonging to the Quraish (well-known Arab) tribe.

Rabb:

(الرس) There is no proper equivalent for *Rabb* in the English language. It means the One and the Only Lord for all the universe, its Creator, Owner, Organizer, Provider, Master, Planner, Sustainer, Cherisher, and Giver of security. *Rabb* is also one of the Names of Allāh. We have used the word "Lord" as nearest to *Rabb*. All occurrences of "Lord" actually mean *Rabb* and should be understood as such.

Rabbuka: Rahi'ul-Awwal: (ربك) Your Lord, your Master.

(ربيع الأول) Third month of the Islamic calendar.

Rāhilah:

(الراحلة) A she-camel used for riding. (Literally means: a mount to ride).

Rahn:

الرهن) According to *Sbari'ab*, *Ar-Rabn* (mortgage) means to give some property or belonging to a creditor as a security for payment of a loan or debt.

Raiyyān:

الريان) The name of one of the gates of Paradise through which the people who often observe *Saum* (fasts) will enter.

(رجب) The seventh month of the Islamic calendar.

Rajab: Ar-Rajʻah:

(الرجية) The bringing back of a wife by the husband after the first or second divorce.

Rajaz:

(الرجز) Name of poetic metre.

Ar-Rajm:

(الرجم) To stone to death those married persons who commit the crime of illegal sexual intercourse.

Rak'ah:

الركمة) The Salāt (prayer) of Muslims consists of Rak'āt (singular-Rak'ab, which is a unit of prayer and consists of

Ramadān:

one standing, one bowing and two prostrations).

(رمضان) The month of observing Saum (fasts). It is the

ninth month of the Islamic calendar. In it the Noble Qur'an started to be revealed to our Prophet and in it occurs the night of Qadr and in it also occurred the great decisive battle of Badr.

Ramal: (الرمل) Fast walking accompanied by the movements of the arms and legs to show one's physical strength. This is to be observed in the first three rounds of the Tawaf around the Ka'ba, and is to be done by the men only and not by the women.

(الرمي) The throwing of pebbles at the Jimār at Mina.

الـــا) Usury, which is of two major kinds: (a) Riba Nasī'ab, i.e. interest on lent money; (b) Riba Fadl, i.e. taking a superior thing of the same kind of goods by giving more of the same kind of goods of inferior quality, e.g., dates of superior quality for dates of inferior quality in greater amount. Islam strictly forbids all kinds of usury. (الرداء) A piece of cloth (sheet) worn around the upper

part of the body.

(ال كان) Buried wealth.

(روح الله) According to the early religious scholars from among the Companions of the Prophet 2 and their students and the Mujtabidun, there is a rule to distinguish between the two nouns in the genitive construc-

(A) When one of the two nouns is Allah, and the other is a person or a thing, e.g., (i) Allāh's House (Baitullah ... الله), (ii) Allāh's Messenger; (iii) Allāh's slave ('Abdullah' عدالله); (iv) Allāh's spirit (Rūbullāb عدالله)) etc.

The rule of the above words is that the second noun, e.g., House, Messenger, slave, spirit, etc. is created by Allah and is honourable with Him and similarly Allāh's spirit may be understood as the spirit of Allāh, in fact, it is a soul created by Allāh, i.e. 'Īsā (Jesus), and it was His Word: "Be!" - and he was created (like the creation of Adam).

(B) But when one of the two is Allah and the second is neither a person nor a thing, then it is not a created thing but is a quality of Allāh, e.g., (i) Allāh's Knowledge ('Ilmullāh الله (iii) Allāh's Life (Hayatullāh علم الله); (iii) Allāh's Statement (Kalāmullāh كلام الله); (iv) Allāh's Self (Dhātullāh ذات الله) etc.

(رقين) It is the house which is gifted to someone for lifetime only to live at, and not as a belonging.

(الرقية) (Incantation) Divine Speech recited as a means of

Ramy: Riba:

Ridā':

Rikāz: Rūhullah:

Ruqba:

Ar-Rugyah:

curing disease. (It is a kind of treatment, i.e. to recite *Sūrat Al-Fātibab* or any other *Sūrab* of the Qur'ān and then blow one's breath with saliva over a sick person's body-part).

 $S\bar{a}$: (الصاع) A measure that equals four *Mudd* (3 kg. approx).

As-Saba: (الصباً) Easterly wind.

As-Sab'aal-Mathāni: (السبع المثاني) The seven repeatedly-recited Verses i.e. Sūrat

Al-Fātihah. [See the Noble Qur'an (V.15:87)].

As-Sab'ah: (السبعة) The seven compilers of Abadith Bukhari, Muslim,

Abū Dāwūd, Nasā'i, Tirmidhi, Ibn Mājah and Ahmad.

Sabāhāh: (صباحاه) An exclamation indicating an appeal for help.

Sābi'ūn: (الصابئون) A people who lived in Iraq and used to say Lā ilāba illallāb (none has the right to be worshipped but

Allāh) and used to read Az-Zabūr (the Psalms of the Sābi'ūn) and they were neither Jews nor Christians.

Sa'dān: (السعدان) A thorny plant suitable for grazing animals.

Sadaqah: (الصدقة) Anything given in charity.

Safa and Marwah: (الصفا والمروة) Two mountains at Makkah neighbouring Al-Masjid-al-Harām (the Sacred Mosque) to the east. One

who performs 'Umrah and Hajj should walk seven times between these two mountains and that is called Sa'v.

Sahbā': (صياء) A place near Khaibar.

Sahihain: (الصحيحين) The two Hadīth books of Imam Bukhari and

Muslim.

Sahūr: (السحور) A meal taken at night before the Fajr (morning)

prayer by a person observing Saum (fast).

Sahw: (السهر) Forgetting (here it means forgetting how many

Rak'at a person has prayed in which case he should

perform two prostrations of Sahw).

As-Sā'ibah: (السائية) A she-camel which used to be let loose for free

pastures in the name of idols, gods, and false deities. (See

the Noble Qur'an V.5:103).

Sakīnah: (السكينة) Tranquillity, calmness, peace and reassurance.

Salab: (السلب) Belongings (arms, horse, etc.) of a deceased

warrior killed in a battle.

As-Salāt: (الصلاة) See Iqāmatas-Salāt. Sami' Allāhu

liman hamidah: (سمع الله لمن حمده) Allāh hears him who praises Him.

Samur: (السمر) A kind of tree. Sarif: (سون) A place about ten kilometers away from Makka

Sarif: (سرف) A place about ten kilometers away from Makkah. Sariyyah: (السرية) A small army-unit sent by the Prophet 鑑 for Jibād,

without his participation in it.

without his participation in it.

As-Saum: (الصرع) The fasting, i.e., not to eat or drink or have sexual

relations from before the Adhan of the Fajr (early morn-

ing) prayer till the sunset.

Sawīq: (السويق) A kind of mash made of powdered roasted wheat

or barley grain (also with sugar and dates).

Sa'y: (السعي) The going for seven times between the mountains of As-Safā and Al-Marwah in Makkah during the perfor-

mance of Haii and 'Umrab.

Sha bān: (شعبان) The eighth month of the Islamic calendar.

Ash-Shahādah: (الشهادة) (i) Testimony of Faith. (ii) "None has the right to be worshipped but Allāh, and Muhammad ﷺ is the

Messenger of Allāh."

Shām: (الشام) The region comprising Syria, Palestine, Lebanon

and Jordan.

Shawwāl: (شوال) The tenth month of the Islamic calendar.

Shighār: (الشغار) A type of marriage in which persons exchange

their daughters or sisters in marriage without Mabr.

Ash-Shiqāq: (الشفاق) Difference between husband and wife or any two

persons.

Shirk: (الشرك) Polytheism and it is to worship others along with

Allāh.

Shufah: (الشفعة) Pre-emption.

Siddiq and Siddiquin: (الصديق والصديقون) Those followers of the Prophets who

were first and foremost

to believe in them (See the Qur'an, V.4:69).

Sidr: (السدر) Lote tree (or Nabiq tree).

Sidratul-Muntaha: (السدرة المنتهى) A Nabiq tree over the seventh heaven near

the Paradise (the lote tree of the utmost boundary)

Siffin (battle of): (صفير) A battle that took place at Siffin between 'Ali's

followers and Mu'āwiyah's followers after the killing of 'Uthmān رضي الله عنه.

As-Sihāh As-Sittah: (الصحاح السنة) The six books of Abadith: Compiled by

Bukhari, Muslim, Abū Dāwūd, Nasā'i, Tirmidhi and Ibn

Mājah.

As-Sirāt: (الصراط) Strāt originally means 'a road'; it also means the bridge that will be laid across Hell-fire for the people to

pass over on the Day of Judgement. It is described as sharper than a sword and thinner than a hair. It will have

hooks over it to snatch the people.

As-Sittah: (الستا) The six compilers of Abadith — Bukhari, Muslim, Abū Dāwūd, Nasā'i, Tirmidhi, Ibn Mājah; and their six

collections are called Sibab Sittab.

Siwāk: (السواك) A piece of a root of a tree called Al-Arāk, used as a

toothbrush.

Subhān Allāh: (شابحان اش) Glorified is Allāh. Sundus: (السندس) A kind of silk cloth.

Sunnah: ((السنة) The legal way or ways, orders, acts of worship and statements of the Prophet (48), that have become models to

be followed by the Muslims.

Sutrah: (السترة) An object like a pillar, wall or stick, a spear etc., the

height of which should not be less than a foot and it

516

Tābah: Tābi'i: should be in front of a person offering *Salāt* (prayer) to act as a symbolical barrier between him and the others. (الطا) Another name for Al-Madīṇah Al-Muṇawwarah.

(الطابة) Another name for Al-Madīnah Al-Munawwarah.
(الطابة) One who has met or accompanied any Companion

of the Prophet ﷺ . (نبوك) A well-known town about 700 kilometers north of Al-Madinah

الطاغرون) The word *Tāgbūt* covers a wide range of meanings: it means anything worshipped other than the Real God (Allāh), i.e. all the false deities. It may be Satan, devils, idols, stones, sun, stars, angels, human beings, who were falsely worshipped and taken as *Tāgbūt*. Likewise saints, graves, rulers, leaders, are falsely worshipped, and wrongly followed. [See *Tafsir Ibn Kathir* and (V.2:51)].

الرجون) Night optional prayer offered at any time after 'Isba' prayer and before the Fajr prayer.

النحيك) It is the Islamic customary process of chewing a piece of date etc. and putting a part of its juice in the child's mouth and pronouncing Adhan in child's ears.

(See Sahīh Al-Bukhāri, the Book of 'Aqīqah). (الطية) One of the names of Al-Madīnah city. (الطائف) A well-known town near Makkah.

(التكبير) Saying *Allābu-Akbar* (Allāh is the Most Great). (التكبية ة) A single utterance of *Allābu-Akbar*

(التابية) A dish prepared from flour and honey. (التابية) Saying *Labbaik, Allābumma Labbaik* (O Allāh! I am

obedient to Your Orders, I respond to Your Call). (التنجيم) A place towards the north of Makkah outside the sanctuary from where Makkans may assume the state of *Ibrām* to perform *'Umrah*.

التقايم) Putting coloured garlands around the necks of *Budn* (animals for sacrifice).

الزاريح) Optional Salāt (prayers) offered after the 'Ishā' prayers on the nights of Ramadān. These may be performed individually or in congregation.

الترجيم) Repetition of the words of the Adhān twice by the Mu'adhdhin (call-maker).

التنهيز) The recitation of the invocation: At-tabiyātu lillābi... (up to) ... wa asb-badu anna Muhammadan Rasālullāb", while in Qu'ūd, i.e. sitting posture in Salāt (prayer). [See Sabīb Al-Bukbārī, Hadīth no. 831, and it also means: to testify Lā ilāba illallāb Muhammadun Rusūl Allāb (none has the right to be worshipped but Allāh and Muhammad is the Messenger of Allāh).

Tabūk: Tāghūt:

Tahajjud:

Tahnik:

Taibah:

Tā'if: → Takbīr:

Takbīrah: Talbīnah:

Talbiyah:
At-Tan'ūn:

Taqlīd:

Tarāwih:

Tarji':

Tashahhud:

Taslīm:

(التسليم) On finishing the *Salāt* (prayer), one turns one's face to the right and then to the left saying, *Assalāmu 'Alaikum wa Rahmatullāh* (Peace and Mercy of Allāh be on you).

Tauhīd (Islamic Monotheism):

- (التوحيد) *Taubid* (Islamic Monotheism) is to believe in the following six Articles of Faith:
- (1) Allāh, (2) His Angels, (3) His Messengers, (4) His revealed Books, (5) The Day of Resurrection, and (6) Al-Qadar (Divine Preordainments, i.e., whatever Allāh has ordained must come to pass).

And to act on the following five Principles of Islam.

(1) To testify Lā ilāba illāllāb, wa anna Mubammad-ur-Rasūl Allāb (none has the right to be worshipped but Allāh and that Muhammad is the Messenger of Allāh), (2) to offer the (compulsory congregational) prayers dutifully and perfectly (Iqāmat As-Salāt), (3) to pay Zakāt, (4) to perform Hajj (i.e., pilgrimage to Makkah), and (5) to observe Saum (fast) during the month of Ramadān.

And to believe in Allāh means declaring Allāh to be the only God in the heavens and the earth and all that exists. It has three aspect; (A), (B) and (C):

- (A) Oneness of the Lordship of Allāh; *Taubīdar-Rubū-biyyab*: To believe that there is only one Lord for all the universe and He is its Creator, Organizer, Planner, Sustainer, and the Giver of security, and that is Allāh.
- (B) Oneness of the worship of Allāh; *Taubīdal-Ulūbiyyab*: To believe that none has the right to be worshipped [e.g. praying, invoking, asking for help (from the unseen), swearing, slaughtering sacrifices, giving charity, fasting, pilgrimage, etc.], but Allāh.
- (C) Oneness of the Names and the Qualities of Allāh; Taubīd-al-Asmā' was-Sifāt: To believe that: (i) we must not name or qualify Allāh except with what He or His Messenger 酱 has named or Qualified Him; (ii) none can be named or qualified with the Names or Qualifications of Allāh; e.g. Al-Karīm; (iii) we must believe in all the Qualities of Allāh which Allāh has stated in His Book (the Qur'ān) or mentioned through His Messenger (Muhammad 鑑) without changing their meaning or ignoring them completely or twisting the meanings or giving resemblance to any of the created things; e.g. Allāh is present over His Throne as mentioned in the Qur'ān. (V.20:5): "The Most Gracious (i.e. Allāh) rose over (Istawa) the (Mighty) Throne' over the seventh heaven; and He comes down over the first (nearest) heaven (to us)

during the day of 'Arafah (Hajj, i.e. 9th Dhul-Hijjah) and also during the last third part of the night, as mentioned by the Prophet ﷺ, but He is with us by His Knowledge, not by His Personal Self (Bi-Dhātibi), "There is nothing like Him, and He is the All-Hearer, the All-Seer." (The Our'ân, V. 42:11).

This Noble Verse proves the quality of hearing and the quality of sight for Allāh without likening it (or giving resemblance) to others; and likewise He also says:

"To one whom I have created with Both My Hands," (The Qur'ān, V. 38:75); and He also says:

"The Hand of Allāh is over their hands.": (V. 48:10, the Qur'ān). This confirms two Hands for Allāh, but there is no similarity for them.

This is the Faith of all true believers, and was the Faith of all the Prophets of Allāh from Nūh (Noah), Ibrāhīm (Abraham), Mūsa (Moses) and 'Īsā (Jesus) till the last of the Prophets, Muhammad . It is not like as some people think that Allāh is present everywhere, here, there and even inside the breasts of men.

These three aspects of *Taubīd* are included in the meanings of *Lā tlāha tllallāh* (none has the right to be worshipped but Allāh).

It is also essential to follow Allāh's Messenger Muhammad 響: Wajūb Al-Ittibā' and it is a part of Taubīd-al-Ulūbiyyab. This is included in the meaning: "I testify that Muhammad 醬 is the Messenger of Allāh' and this means, "None has the right to be followed after Allāh's Book (the Qur'ān), but Allāh's Messenger 鑑." [See the Qur'ān (V. 59:7) and (V. 3:31)].

Tawāf: Tawāfal-Ifādah: (الطواف) The circumambulation of the Ka'ba.

أطراف الإناضة) The circumambulation of the Ka'bah by the pilgrims after they come from Mina on the tenth day of Dhul-Hijjah. This *Tawāf* is one of the essential ceremonies

(Rukn) of the Hajj.

Tawāful-Wadā':

(طواف الوداع) The *Tawāf* made before leaving Makkah after

performing Haff or 'Umrab.

Tayammum:

(التيمم) To put or strike lightly the hands over clean earth and then pass the palm of each on the back of the other, blow off the dust and then pass them on the face. This is performed instead of ablution (Wudū') and Ghusl (in case of Ianaba').

Ath-Thalathah:

(نابلانا) The three compilers of *Abadith* — Abū Dāwūd, Nasa'i and Tirmidhi.

Thaniyatal-Wadā':

A place near Al-Madīnah.

Tharīd:

(الثريد) A kind of meal, prepared from meat and bread.

(الثور) A well-known mountain in Al-Madīnah. Thaur.

Tulaga?: (الطلقاء) Those persons who had embraced Islam on the

day of the conquest of Makkah.

Tür: (الطور) A mountain.

Uhud: (حد) A well-known mountain in Al-Madinah. One of the great battles in the Islamic history took place at its foot.

This battle is called Gbazwab Uhud.

Umrah: (العمرة) A visit to Makkah during which one performs the Tawāf round the Ka'ba and the Sa'v between As-Safā and

Al-Marwah. It is also called 'lesser Hajj'. (See Sabib Al-

Bukbāri, the Book of Al-'Umrab).

Urfut: (العرفط) The tree which produces Maghāfīr.

One-tenth of the yield of land to be levied for 'Ushr:

public assistance (Zakāt). (See Sabīb Al-Bukbāri, Hadīth no. 1483).

The Revelation or Inspiration of Allah to His (الوحي Wahv:

Prophets.

Waihaka: (پيحك) 'May Allāh be Merciful to you.'

Wailaka: (پلك) 'Woe upon you!'

Walā': (الرلاء) Al-Walā' is a right to inherit the property of a freed slave to the person who has freed him. Abadīth has made

it clear that Walā' is a part like a lineage. It cannot be sold or gifted, so selling it or offering it as a gift is prohibited.

(الـلـا) (Plural Auliyā') Protector, guardian, supporter, Wali: helper, friend.

Walimah: (الدليمة) The marriage feast. (الرقف) Religious endowment. Waaf:

(الجريم) A kind of shrub used for colouring yellow. Wars: (الرصايا) Wills or testaments. (Singular: Wasiyyab الرصايا) Wasāvā: Al-Wāsil: (الراصل) One who keeps good relations with his kith and

Wasilah: الرسلة) The means of approach or achieving closeness to

Allāh by getting His favours.

Wasa: (الرسق) (Plural: Awsag or Awsug) A measure equal to 60

 $S\bar{a}'=180$ kg. approx. It may be less or more.

(الرصال) Observing Saum (fast) for more than one day Wisāl:

continuously.

Witr: (ال ال ال) An odd number of Rak'at with which one finishes one's Salāt (prayers) at night after the night prayer or the

'Ishā' prayer.

Wudu': (الرضوء) Ablution, which is washing the face and the hands up to the elbows, wiping the head and ears with wet

fingers, and washing the feet up to ankles for the purpose of offering prayers or doing circumambulation round the

Ka'ba.

Yalamlam: (يلملم) The Migāt of the people of Yemen. Yaqin:

(اليقين) Perfect absolute Faith.

Yarmük: Yathrib: (اليرموك) A place in Shām. (پثر ب) One of the names of Al-Madīnah.

Yaum-An-Nafr:

ريرم النفر) The 12th or 13th of *Dhul-Hijjah* when the pilgrims leave Mina after performing all the ceremonies of

Hajj at 'Arafat, Al-Muzdalifah and Mina.

when the pilgrims leave Makkah for Mina.

Yaum An-Nahr:

(يوم النحر) The day of slaughtering the sacrificial animals, i.e.,

the 10th of Dhul-Hijjah.

Yaum-Ar-Ru'ūs:

(يوم الرؤوس) Meaning 'day of heads'. It is the name of the day following the 'Īd day ('Īd-al-Adba').

Yaum At-Tarwiyah:

(يوم الترية) The eighth day of the month of Dhul-Hijjah,

Zakāt:

(الزكاة) (Obligatory charity) A certain fixed proportion of the wealth and of every kind of the property liable to Zakāt of a Muslim to be paid yearly for the benefit of the poor in the Muslim community. The payment of Zakāt is obligatory as it is one of the five pillars of Islam. Zakāt is the major economic means for establishing social justice and leading the Muslim society to prosperity and secur-

ity.[See Sabīb Al-Bukbāri, the Book of Zakāt]

Zakātul-Fitr:

(كاة الفطر) An obligatory Sadaqab to be given by Muslims before the prayer of 'Id-al-Fitr (See Sabīb Al-Bukbāri. The

Book of Zakāt).

Zamzam:

(زسـزم) The sacred well inside the *Haram* (the grand mosque) at Makkah.

Zanādiaah:

(الزنادقة) Átheists.

Zarnab:

(زرنب) A kind of good smelling grass.

Az-Zihār:

One's telling to his wife, "You are unlawful to me (الظهار)

for cohabitation like my mother."

Zuhr:

(الظهر) Noon, mid-day Salāt (prayer) is called Zubr prayer.

